# PART 1

# Mathematics Scope



# **Table of Contents**

seq	Title	Researchers	
1	An Intuitionistic Fuzzy Pseudo Enlarged Ideal of a BH-Algebra	Hussein Hadi Abbas Khoudair Obeas Kadem	
2	Laguerre and Touchard Polynomials for Linear Volterra Integral and Integro Differential Equations	Jalil T. Abdullah Haleema S. Ali	
3	Domination Polynomial of the Composition of Complete Graph and Star Graph	Ihsan A. Alwan Ahmed A. Omran	
4	Unit Regular Clean Rings	Israa Th. Younis Prof .Dr. Nazar H. Shuker	
5	Using Modified Conjugate Gradient Method to Improve SCA	Ayad Hamad Khalaf Ban Ahmed Mitras	
6	Solving Max-Cut Optimization Problem	Basim Rabaa Jumaa Ahmed Sabah Al-Jilawi	
7	Qualitative Analysis and Traveling wave Solutions for the Nonlinear Convection Equations with Absorption	Bashayir N. Abed Salam J. Majeed Habeeb A. Aal-Rkhais	
8	Comparison between Confine MO- Connectedness and Connectedness, Confine MO-Countability and Countability	Hasanain Al-Abbasi and Luay A A Al-Swidi	
9	The Split Anti Fuzzy Domination in Anti Fuzzy Graph	H J Yousif A A Omran	
10	On Certain Types of Topological Spaces Associated with Digraphs	Khalid Shea Khairallah Al Dzhabri	

		Mohammad Falih Hani Al'murshidy
11	Matroidal Structure Based On Soft-Sets	Kholod M. Hassan Saied A. Johnny
12	On spectral asymptotic for the second- derivative operators	Ehsan Hameed Yahea Saleem
13	Locally Finite Associative Algebras and Their Lie Subalgebras	HASAN M. SHLAKA
14	The role of media coverage on the dynamical behavior of smoking model with and without spatial diffusion	Ahmed Ali Mohsen Raid Kamel Naji
15	Trigonometric Neural Networks <i>L<sub>p</sub></i> , p<1 Approximation	Eman Samir Bhaya Zaineb Hussain Abd Al- sadaa
16	Impress of rotation and an inclined MHD on waveform motion of the non- Newtonian fluid through porous canal''	T Sh Alshareef
17	Intuitionistic fuzzy S-filter in Q- algebra	Habeeb Kareem Abdullah Rakzan Shaker Naji
18	Lie group Method for Solving System of Stochastic Differential Equations	Zainab Mohammed Alwan
19	Some Results on (N, k)-Hyponormal Operators	Nidaa Muraeh Atheab Salim Dawood Mohsen
20	Uniqueness Solution Of Abstract Fractional Order Nonlinear Dynamical Control Problems	Sameer Qasim Hasan
21	Computations in the Pre-Bloch group	D. Al Baydli A. Rahm

22	Topological Dynamics and the Space of Continuous Mappings	Mohammed Nokhas Murad Kaki Reyadh.D.Ali
23	Study about fuzzyω-paracompact space in fuzzy topological space	Munir Abdul Khalik AL- Khafaji and Gazwan Haider Abdulhusein
24	Normed Space Of Measurable Functions With Some Of Their Properties	Asawer J.Al-Afloogee Noori F. Al-Mayahi
25	δ-Fuzzy measure on fuzzy δ-Algebra	Alaa M Jasim Noori F Al-Mayahi
26	Weak* topology on modular space and some properties	Murtda Mohammed Jabber Noori Farhan Al- Mayahi
27	On Nano soft-J-semi-g- closed sets	R.B. Esmaeel R.J.Mohammad
28	Soft Simply Connected Spaces And Soft Simply Paracompact Spaces	S. Noori Y. Y. Yousif
29	Fuzzy Precompact Space	Saad Mahdi Jaber
30	Generalized Rough Digraphs and Related Topologies	Samah Sarmad Yousif Yaqoub Yousif
31	MHD Peristaltic Flow of a Couple - Stress with varying Temperature for Jeffrey Fluid through Porous Medium	Samah F. Jaber AL- khulaifawi Dheia Gaze Salih Al – Khafajy
32	Soft Closure Spaces	Shahad Thaar Ekram, Rasha Naser Majeed
33	Application of Algebraic Geometry In Three Dimensional projective space PG (3,7)	Ali Ahmed A.Abdullaa Nada Yassen Kasm
34	The Reverse construction of complete (k, n)- arcs in three-dimensional projective space PG(3,4)	Aidan Essa Mustafa Sulaimaan

		Nada Yassen Kasm Yahya
35	The Reverse construction of complete (k, n)- arcs in PG(2,q) where q=2,4,8	Aidan Essa Mustafa Sulaimaan
	related with linear codes	Nada Yassen Kasm Yahya
36	On Generalized ( $\alpha$ , $\beta$ ) Derivation on	Maryam K. Rashee Fatin A Hamee
	Prime Semirings	Abdulrahman. H. Majee
27	The $M$ - Projective Tensor of $G_1$ - Manifold	
3/		Nawaf Jaber Mohammed
38	Chaos in Beddington-DeAngelis food	Hiba Abdullah Ibrahim
	chain model with fear	Raid Kamel Naji
20	Focal Function in i-Topological Spaces	Yiezi Kadham Mahdi Altalkany Luay A. A. Al
39	via Proximity Spaces	Swidi
40	Improved Alternating Direction Implicit	Esraa Abbas Al-taai
40	Method	Adel Rashed A. Ali
<i>/</i> 1	A Multilevel Approach for Stability	K. Youssef
71	Conditions in Fractional Time Diffusion Problems	Auel Kasheu A. Ali
	A Modified Generalization of Fractional	
42	Calculus Operators in A Complex Domain	Zainab E. Abdulnaby
43	A New Iterative Methods For a Family	
	of Asymptotically Severe Mappings	Z H Malbed
44	On Third-Order Sandwich Results for	Waggas Galib Atshan,
	Analytic Functions Defined by Differential Operator	All Hussein Battor Abeer Farhan Abaas
		Alaa Hussein Ali
45	Von Neumann Regular Semiring	Asaad Mohammed Ali
		Alhossaini

46	A Study of Equicontinuous Maps On Uniform G – Spaces	Ansam A A ,Ihsan J K		
47	intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideals in Q- algebra	Habeeb Kareem Abdullah Mortda taeh shadhan		
48	independent (non-adjacent vertices) topological spaces associated with undirected graphs, with some applications in biomathematices	Asmhan Flieh Hassan Zainab Irhayyim Abed		
49	On $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular rings	Raida D. Mahmood Khedher J. khider		
50	Separation axioms via $\alpha g_{1}$ -open set	Sufyan G Saeed R B Esmaeel		
51	HYERS-ULAM STABILITY OF INTEGRAL EQUATIONS WITH TWO VARIABLES	Qusuay H. Alqifiary		
52	Some results of Mixed Fuzzy Topological Ring	Munir Abdul Khalik AL- Khafaji Basim Mohammed Melgat		
53	The irreducible modular projective characters of the symmetric groups $S_{21}$ modulo $p = 19$	Jenan Abd Alreda Resen Enas Wahab Abood		
54	Numerical Solutions of Boundary Value Problems by using A new Cubic B-spline Method	Bushra A. Taha Renna D. Abdul-Wahhab		
55	The Formula for the product of Sines of multiple Arcs	Ahmed Khalaf Radhi		
56	Semi-Analytical Method with Laplace Transform for Certain Types of Nonlinear Problems	Areej Salah Mohammed Sinan H. Abd Almjeed		
57	On the Dirichlet Problem for the	Habeeb A. Aal-Rkhais		

	Nonlinear Diffusion Equation with		
	<b>Convection and Reaction</b>		
	A new conjugate gradient method for	H A Wasi	
58	solving a large scale systems of	M A K Shiker	
	monotone equations.		
59	Jordan Left Derivation and Centralizer	Rajaa C Shaheen	
	on Skew Matrix Gamma Ring	Najaa .C.Bhancen	
60	<b>On Some Generalized Continuous</b>	Rasha A.Isewi	
	Mappings in Fuzzy Topological Spaces	Samer R.Yaseen	
	Soft Compact linear operator and soft	Sabah A. Khaleefah	
61	adjoint linear operator on soft linear	Buthainah A A Ahmed	
	spaces	Duthaman A. A. Anneu	
62	On the soft stability of soft Picard and	Sabah A. Khaleefah	
	soft Mann iteration processes	Buthainah A. A. Ahmed	
63	<b>BS-algebra and Pseudo Z-algebra</b>	Adel Hashem Nouri	
		Zinah Makki Kadhim AL-	
64	<b>Related to Non – Vanishing Parts of the</b>	Shuhaib	
UT	<b>Dihedral Set D</b> <sub>3</sub>	Mohammed Baqer	
		Hashim al Hakeem	
65	On Fuzzy pα-Separation Axioms	Marwa vasir Mohsen	
66	Classification of $(k; 4)$ -arcs up to projective	Z.S. Hamed	
	$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$	J.W.P. Hirschfeld	
	Best multiplier Approximation in $I = (\mathbf{X})$	Saheb K. AL-Saidy	
67	$\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{p},\emptyset_{\mathbf{n}}}(\mathbf{A})$	Naseif J. AL-Jawari	
	Poussin Operator	Ali H.Zaboon	
	Presentation of the subgroups of	NT* A1-11 *	
68	Mathiau Crown using Crownoid	Nisreen Alokbi	
		Faik Mayah	
		Amina Kassim Hussain	
60	Iteration Variational Method for	Fadhel SUBHI Fadhel	
09	Solving Two-Dimensional Partial	NursalasawatiRusli	
	integro-Differential Equations	Lainor Kidzuan Yahya	

70	The Space of Strongly Prime Gamma Subacts	Mehdi S Abbas
71	On IR - rings and S I F-rings	Raida D.Mahmood Khedher J.khider
72	، مسألة البائع المتجول في دراسة مشكلة تصريف مياه لطار في مركز محافظة الديوانية لعام2019 -2020	سعيد عبد الكاظم جوني
73	كيف تفلت من جاذبيةالارض؟	علي حسن عبد الخالق ايمان سمير بهيه

# An Intuitionistic Fuzzy Pseudo Enlarged Ideal of a BH-Algebra

#### Hussein Hadi Abbas<sup>1</sup> and Khoudair Obeas Kadem<sup>2</sup>

 $\mathbf{1}_{Department}$  of Mathematics,Faculty of Education for Girls,University of Kufa,Iraq.

 $^2$ Department of Mathematics,Faculty of Computer Science and Mathematics,University of Kufa,Iraq

#### khudhayer1981@gmail.com

**Abstract.** In this Work the concepts of an intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal of a pseudo BH-algebra are insert. several propositions and examples are scrupulous to study properties of this idea.

**Keywords.** BH-Algebra, Pseudo BH-Algebra, intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal in pseudo BH-algebra, intuitionistic Enlarged ideal in pseudo BH-algebra.

#### **1. Introduction:**

The algebraic design named BCK-algebra & BCI- algebra a generality of BCK-algebra are come in by K. ISEKI and Y. IMAI in 1966[2]. In 1998 Y. B. Jun, et al show the idea of a BH-algebra [8]. furthermore, Y.B.Jun, et al introduce the idea of a pseudo BH-algebra in 2015[8]. In 2017, A.H. Nouri andH.H. Abbass thoughtful some kinds of ideals of pseudo BH-algebra [9]. The most writer deem the year 1965 is the starting of a fuzzy logic when L. A. Zadeh knew a subset in fuzzy sets [1]. In 1991Xi. O thoughtful BCK-algebra a fuzzy sense [10]. Ever after then, the researchers have on a comprehensive scale. fuzzy Ideals about an Element of Pseudo BH-algebra defined by A. A. mutesher & H. H. Abbass[11]. H.H. Abbass & H.A. Dahham offer a fuzzy completely closed ideal of BH-algebra in 2012[5]. A fuzzy closed ideal relies on an element in BH-algebra thoughtful by H. M. A.Saeed & H. H. Abbass in 2011 [7], we intuitionistic fuzzy if pseudo ideal and pseudo enlarged ideal in a pseudo BH-algebra.

#### 2. Preliminaries.

In this work, several basic connotations about a BH-algebra, ideal in BH-algebra, intuitionistic enlarged ideal in BH-algebra, pseudo ideal pseudo BH-algebra, intuitionistic fuzzy ideal in BH-algebra are given

#### 2.1. **Definition**

A set X is not equal  $\emptyset$  with a dual operation (\*) and a constant 0 is named a **BH** – algebra if achieved :  $\forall \mu, \lambda \in X$ 

- $\mu * \mu = 0$
- $\mu * \lambda = 0$  and  $\lambda * \mu = 0 \implies \mu = \lambda$
- $\mu * 0 = \mu$

#### 2.2. **Definition**

Assume that  $S \neq \emptyset$  is a subset of a BH-X is named a BH-subalgebra of X signify by BH-S if  $\mu * \lambda \in S$ ,  $\forall \mu, \lambda \in S$ .

#### 2.3. Definition

Assume that  $I \neq \emptyset$  and a subset of a BH-X. Therefore I is named an ideal of X if that was achieved:  $\forall \mu, \lambda \in X$ 

- 0 ∈ I.
- $\mu * \lambda \in I \text{ and } \lambda \in I \Longrightarrow \mu \in I.$

#### 2.4. Definition

Assume that  $I \neq \emptyset$  and a subset of a P.BH-algebra X and there is no need an ideal of X, a subset J of X is named an Enlarged ideal of X related to I, and signify by E. I if that was achieved : for every  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda \in X$ 

- I is a subset of J
- 0 ∈ **J**
- $\mu * \lambda \in I \text{ and } \lambda \in I \Longrightarrow \mu \in J.$

#### 2.5. Definition

A pseudo **BH** indicates **P.BH** is a set X is not equal  $\emptyset$  with a fixed 0 and dual operations \*,# check the next conditions :

- $\mu * \mu = \mu \# \mu = 0, \forall \mu \in X$
- $\mu * \lambda = 0 \& \lambda \# \mu = 0 \implies \mu = \lambda, \forall \mu, \lambda \in X$
- $\mu * 0 = \mu \# 0 = \mu, \forall \mu \in X.$

#### 2.6. Definition

Assume that  $S \neq \emptyset$  is a subset of a P.BH-X is named a P.BH-subalgebra of X signify by P.BH-S if that was achieved :  $\mu * \lambda$  and  $\mu \# \lambda \in S, \forall \mu, \lambda \in S$ .

#### 2.7. Definition

Assume that  $I \neq \emptyset$  and subset of a P.BH-X. Therefore I is named a pseudo ideal & signify by **P. I** of X if achieved :  $\forall \mu$ ,  $\lambda \in X$ 

- $0 \in I$ .
- $\mu * \lambda, \mu \# \lambda \in I \text{ and } \lambda \in I \Longrightarrow \mu \in I.$

#### 2.8. **Definition**

Assume that  $I \neq \emptyset$  and subset of a P.BH-algebra X, a subset J of X is named a **pseudo Enlarged ideal** of X related to I, and signify by **P. E. I** if that was achieved :  $\forall \mu, \lambda \in X$ 

- I is a subset of J
- $0 \in \mathbf{J}$
- $\mu * \lambda \in \mathbf{I}, \mu \# \lambda \in \mathbf{I} \text{ and } \lambda \in \mathbf{I} \Longrightarrow \mu \in \mathbf{J}.$

#### 2.9. Definition

Assume X that is a non-empty set, fuzzy subset  $\omega$ ,  $\sigma$  in X are a formula from X into [0, 1] of the real number.

#### 2.10. Definition

Assume that *A* is an intuitionistic fuzzy set in X, shortened by **I. F. S** and the set U ( $\omega$ ,  $\alpha$ ) = {  $\mu \in X$ :  $\omega_A(\mu) \ge \alpha$  } is named upper  $\alpha$  -level cut of *A* and L ( $\sigma$ ,  $\alpha$ ) ={  $\mu \in X$  :  $\sigma_A(\mu) \le \alpha$  } is named lower  $\alpha$  - level cut of *A*.

#### 2.11. Definition

Assume A = ( $\omega_A(\mu), \sigma_A(\mu)$ ) &  $\mathcal{B} = (\omega_{\mathcal{B}}(\mu), \sigma_{\mathcal{B}}(\mu))$  are I. F. S in X :  $\forall \mu \in X$ 

- $(A \cup B)(\mu) = \{ < \mu, \max(\omega_A(\mu), \omega_B(\mu)), \min(\sigma_A(\mu), \sigma_B(\mu)) > | \mu \in X \}$
- $(A \cap \mathcal{B})(\mu) = \{ < \mu, \min(\omega_A(\mu), \omega_B(\mu)), \max(\sigma_A(\mu), \sigma_B(\mu)) > | \mu \in X \}$

 $A \cup \mathcal{B} \& A \cap \mathcal{B}$  are I. F. S in X,  $\forall \mu \in X$  in broadly, if  $\{A_i, i \in \Omega\}$  be a chain of intuitionistic sets in X

 $(\cap_{A_i})(\mu) = (\inf \omega_{A_i}(\mu), \sup \sigma_{A_i}(\mu))$ 

 $(U_{A_i})(\mu) = (\sup \omega_{A_i}(\mu), \inf \sigma_{A_i}(\mu))$ 

Which are too I. F. S in X.

#### 3. The Main Results

In the work, is defined the concepts of intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo enlarged ideal in **P.BH**-algebra. for our conversation, we will study the advantages of these concepts.

#### 3.1. Definition

Assume A & B are two I. F. S of a BH-algebra X, so that  $A \subseteq B$  then B is named **intuitionistic fuzzy** enlarged ideal of X related to A & signify by I. F. E. I if that was achieved :

- $\omega_B(0) \ge \omega_B(\mu) \& \sigma_B(0) \le \sigma_B(\mu), \forall \mu \in \mathbf{X}.$
- $\omega_B(\mu) \ge \min \{ \omega_A(\mu * \lambda), \omega_A(\lambda) \}, \forall \mu, \lambda \in \mathbf{X}.$
- $\sigma_B(\mu) \le \max \{ \sigma_A(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_A(\lambda) \}, \forall \mu, \lambda \in \mathbf{X}.$

#### 3.2. Example

Assume that  $X = \{ 0, k, v, h \}$  is a BH-algebra with the next cayley tables :

*	0	k	v	h

0	0	0	0	0
k	k	0	0	k
v	v	v	0	v
h	h	h	h	0

Define A = ( $\omega_A(\mu), \sigma_A(\mu)$ ), B = ( $\omega_B(\mu), \sigma_B(\mu)$ ) are two I. F.S of X by

(1) $(1)$ $(0.5)$	if	$\mu=0$ , $h$
$\omega_A(\mu) = \{0.4$	if	$\mu=k$ , $ u$

$\sigma_{A}(\mu) = \begin{cases} 0.2 & if \\ 0.4 & if \end{cases}$	$\mu = 0$ $\mu = k, v, h$
$\omega_B(\mu) = \begin{cases} 0.6 & if \\ 0.5 & if \end{cases}$	$\mu = 0, k$ $\mu = v, h$
$\sigma_B(\mu) = \begin{cases} 0.2 & if \\ 0.3 & if \end{cases}$	$\mu = 0, \nu$ $\mu = k, h$

Then B is an I. F. E. I of X related to A.

#### 3.3. **Definition**

Assume A & B are an I. F. S of a BH-algebra X so that  $A \subseteq B$  then B is named **intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo enlarged ideal** of X related to A, signify by **I. F. P. E. I** if that was achieved :  $\forall \mu$ ,  $\lambda \in X$ 

- $\omega_B(0) \ge \omega_B(\mu) \& \sigma_B(0) \le \sigma_B(\mu)$
- $\omega_B(\mu) \ge \inf \{ \omega_A(\mu * \lambda), \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_A(\lambda) \}$
- $\sigma_B(\mu) \leq \sup \{ \sigma_A(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_A(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_A(\lambda) \}$

#### 3.4.Example

Assume that  $X = \{0, k, v, h\}$  is a P.BH with the following cayley tables :

*	0	k	v	h
0	0	0	0	0
k	k	0	0	k
v	v	v	0	v
h	h	h	h	0

#	0	k	v	h
0	0	0	0	0
k	k	0	0	h
v	v	v	0	v
h	h	h	h	0

Define A = ( $\omega_A(\mu)$ ,  $\sigma_A(\mu)$ ), B = ( $\omega_B(\mu)$ ,  $\sigma_B(\mu)$ ) are two I. F. S of X by

$\omega_A(\mu) = \begin{cases} 0.5\\ 0.4 \end{cases}$	if	$\mu=0$ , $k$
	if	$\mu = v$ , $h$

$$\sigma_A(\mu) = \begin{cases} 0.2 & if & \mu = 0\\ 0.3 & if & \mu = k, v, h \end{cases}$$

$$\omega_B(\mu) = \begin{cases} 0.6 & if \qquad \mu = 0\\ 0.5 & if \qquad \mu = k, v, h \end{cases}$$

$\tau(u) = \int_{0}^{0}$	.1 <i>if</i>	$\mu = 0, h$
$o_B(\mu) = \{0.1\}$	3 if	$\mu = k$ , $v$

Then B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A.

#### 3.5. Theorem

Assume that  $\{B_i | i \in \Omega\}$  is a family of I. F. P. E. I of a P.BH-algebra X related to A. Then  $\bigcap_{i \in \Omega} Bi$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A.

#### Proof :-

- Assume that  $\mu \in X$ ,  $i \in \Omega$ ,  $\omega_{Bi}(0) \ge \omega_{Bi}(\mu) \Rightarrow inf_{i\in\Omega}\omega_{Bi}(0) \ge inf_{i\in\Omega}\omega_{Bi}(\mu) \Rightarrow \omega_{\cap Bi}(0) \ge \omega_{\cap Bi}(\mu)$ . Let  $\mu \in X$ ,  $i \in \Omega$ ,  $\sigma_{Bi}(0) \le \sigma_{Bi}(\mu) \Rightarrow sup_{i\in\Omega}\sigma_{Bi}(0) \le sup_{i\in\Omega}\sigma_{Bi}(\mu) \Rightarrow \sigma_{\cup Bi}(0) \le \sigma_{\cup Bi}(\mu)$ .
- Assume  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda \in X$ ,  $i \in \Omega$ ,  $\omega_{\cap Bi}(\mu) = \inf \{ \omega_{Bi}(\mu) \}$   $\geq \inf \{ \inf \{ \omega_{Ai}(\mu * \lambda), \omega_{Ai}(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_{Ai}(\lambda) \}$ [since  $B_i$  is an I. F.P. E. I of X related to A,  $\forall i \in \Omega \} \Rightarrow$  $\omega_{\cap Bi}(\mu) \geq \inf \{ \omega_{\cap Ai}(\mu * \lambda), \omega_{\cap Ai}(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_{\cap Ai}(\lambda) \}.$
- Assume  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda \in X$ ,  $i \in \Omega$ ,  $\sigma_{\cup Bi}(\mu) = \sup\{\sigma_{Bi}(\mu)\}\$   $\leq \sup\{\sup\{\sigma_{Ai}(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_{Ai}(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_{Ai}(\lambda)\}\$ [since  $B_i$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A,  $\forall i \in \Omega$ ]  $\Rightarrow$   $\sigma_{\cap Bi}(\mu) \leq \sup\{\sigma_{\cup Ai}(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_{\cup Ai}(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_{\cup Ai}(\lambda)\}.$ Then  $\cap_{i\in\Omega} Bi$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A.

#### 3.6. Theorem

Assume that X is a P.BH-algebra.  $A = (\omega_A, \sigma_A) \& B = (\omega_B, \sigma_B)$  are two I. F. S of X, such that  $A \subseteq B$  then B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to  $A \Leftrightarrow$  the set upper level  $U(\omega_B, \alpha_1)$  is P. E. I of X related to  $U(\omega_A, \alpha_1)$  or empty of X,  $\forall \alpha_1 \in [0,1]$  and the set lower level L  $(\sigma_B, \alpha_2)$  is P. E. I of X related to L  $(\sigma_A, \alpha_2)$  or empty of X,  $\forall \alpha_2 \in [0,1]$ .

Proof:- Let  $B = (\omega_B, \sigma_B)$  be an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A & U  $(\omega_B, \alpha_1) \neq L (\sigma_B, \alpha_2) \neq \emptyset$ , for every  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in [0,1]$ . Obviously  $0 \in U (\omega_B, \alpha_1) \cap L (\sigma_B, \alpha_2)$  since  $\omega_B(0) \ge \alpha_1 \& \sigma_B(0) \le \alpha_2$ .

Assume  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda \in X$  such that  $\mu * \lambda$ ,  $\mu \# \lambda \in U(\omega_A, \alpha_1)$  &  $\lambda \in U(\omega_A, \alpha_1)$ 

Then  $\omega_A(\mu * \lambda) \ge \alpha_1, \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda) \ge \alpha_1$ , and  $\omega_A(\lambda) \ge \alpha_1$ .

Therefore,  $\inf \{ \omega_A(\mu * \lambda), \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_A(\lambda) \} \ge \alpha_1$ , but

 $\omega_B(\mu) \ge \inf \{\omega_A(\mu * \lambda), \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_A(\lambda)\}$  [since B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A] previously,  $\omega_B(\mu) \ge \alpha_1 \Rightarrow \mu \in U(\omega_B, \alpha_1)$ .

Of above  $U(\omega_B, \alpha_1)$  is P. E. I of X. Now assume  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda \in X$  such that

 $\mu * \lambda, \mu \# \lambda \in \mathbf{L} (\sigma_A, \alpha_2) \& \lambda \in \mathbf{L} (\sigma_A, \alpha_2) \text{ then } \sigma_A(\mu * \lambda) \leq \alpha_2, \quad \sigma_A(\mu \# \lambda) \leq \alpha_2 \text{ and } \sigma_A(\lambda) \leq \alpha_2, \text{ therefore, sup} \{\sigma_A(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_A(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_A(\lambda)\} \leq \alpha_2 \text{ but}$ 

 $\sigma_B(\mu) \leq \sup\{\sigma_A(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_A(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_A(\lambda)\}$ [since B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A] previously,  $\sigma_B(\mu) \leq \alpha_2 \Rightarrow \mu \in U(\omega_B, \alpha_2)$ 

then L ( $\sigma_B, \alpha_2$ ) is an P. E. I of X. Conversely, assume that  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in [0,1]$  and U ( $\omega_B, \alpha_1$ ) & L ( $\sigma_B, \alpha_2$ ) are P. E. I of X related to U( $\omega_A, \alpha_1$ ) & L ( $\sigma_A, \alpha_2$ ) respectively,  $\forall \mu \in X$ .

Let  $\omega_B(\mu) = \alpha_1 \& \sigma_B(\mu) = \alpha_2$  then  $\mu \in U(\omega_B, \alpha_1) \cap L(\sigma_B, \alpha_2) \& U(\omega_B, \alpha_1) \neq L(\sigma_B, \alpha_2) \neq \emptyset$  since  $U(\omega_B, \alpha_1) \& L(\sigma_B, \alpha_2)$  are P. E. I of X then  $0 \in U(\omega_B, \alpha_1) \cap L(\sigma_B, \alpha_2)$  Hence  $[\omega_B(0) \ge \alpha_1 = \omega_B(\mu)] \& [\sigma_B(0) \le \alpha_2 = \sigma_B(\mu)], \forall \mu \in X$ , we take the opposite. Let  $u, v \in X$  such that,  $\omega_B(u) < \inf \{\omega_A(u * v), \omega_A(u # v), \omega_A(v)\}$ , now let

$$\alpha_3 = \frac{1}{2} (\omega_B(u) + \inf \{ \omega_A(u * v), \omega_A(u \# v), \omega_A(v) \} ),$$

then  $\omega_B(u) < \alpha_3 < \inf \{ \omega_A(u * v), \omega_A(u \# v), \omega_A(v) \}.$ 

Hence  $u \notin U(\omega_B, \alpha_3)$ , u \* v,  $u \# v \in U(\omega_A, \alpha_3)$  and  $v \in U(\omega_A, \alpha_3)$ , then  $U(\omega_B, \alpha_3)$  is not P. E. I. And let  $k, h \in X$  such that

 $\sigma_B(k) > \sup \{ \sigma_A(k * h), \sigma_A(k \# h), \sigma_A(h) \},\$ 

now let  $\alpha_4 = \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_B(k) + \sup \{\sigma_A(k * h), \sigma_A(k \# h), \sigma_A(h)\})$ 

then sup { $\sigma_A(k * h)$ ,  $\sigma_A(k # h)$ ,  $\sigma_A(h)$  }< $\alpha_4 < \sigma_B(k)$ Hence k \* h,  $k # h \in \mathbf{L}$  ( $\sigma_A, \alpha_4$ ) and  $h \in \mathbf{L}$  ( $\sigma_A, \alpha_4$ ), but  $k \notin \mathbf{L}$  ( $\sigma_B, \alpha_4$ ), then  $\mathbf{L}$  ( $\sigma_B, \alpha_4$ ) is not P. E. I. This is impossible from the assumption, therefore,  $\mathbf{B} = (\omega_B, \sigma_B)$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A.

#### 3.7. Remark

Assume that  $A = (\omega_A, \sigma_A)$  is an I. F.S of X then the mappings  $A = (\omega_A, \sigma_A)$  is define as follows  $\omega_A(\mu) = \omega_A(\mu) + 1 - \omega_A(0)$  and  $\sigma_A(\mu) = \sigma_A(\mu) - \sigma_A(0)$ .

#### 3.8. Theorem

Assume that X is a P.BH such that  $\hat{B}$  is an I. F. S of X so that  $\omega_B(0) = \omega_A(0) \& \sigma_B(0) = \sigma_A(0)$ , then B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A  $\Leftrightarrow \hat{B}$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to  $\hat{A}$ . Proof :- Suppose B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A and  $\mu \in X \Rightarrow$ 

$$\omega_B(\mu) \ge \omega_A(\mu), \, \omega_B(0) \ge \omega_A(0) \, \& \, \sigma_B(\mu) \le \sigma_A(\mu), \, \sigma_B(0) \le \sigma_A(0)$$

$$\Rightarrow \omega'_B(\mu) = \omega_B(\mu) + 1 - \omega_B(0) \& \omega'_A(\mu) = \omega_A(\mu) + 1 - \omega_A(0) \Rightarrow$$

 $\omega_B(\mu) + 1 - \omega_B(0) \ge \omega_A(\mu) + 1 - \omega_A(0)$  [since B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A]. Then  $[\omega_B(\mu) \ge \omega_A(\mu)]$  &

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma_B(\mu) &= \sigma_B(\mu) - \sigma_B(0) \& \ \sigma_A(\mu) = \sigma_A(\mu) - \sigma_A(0) \text{ then} \\ \sigma_B(\mu) - \sigma_B(0) &\leq \sigma_A(\mu) - \sigma_A(0) \text{ [since B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A]} \Rightarrow [\ \sigma_B(\mu) \leq \sigma_A(\mu)] \\ \text{i. } \omega_B(0) &= \omega_B(0) + 1 - \omega_B(0) \Rightarrow \ \omega_B(0) = 1 \Rightarrow [\omega_B(0) \geq \omega_B(\mu)] \text{ for every } \mu \in X. \text{ And} \\ \sigma_B(0) &= \sigma_B(0) - \sigma_B(0) \Rightarrow \sigma_B(0) = 0 \Rightarrow [\sigma_B(0) \leq \sigma_B(\mu)] \\ \text{ii.} \omega_B(\mu) &= \omega_B(\mu) + 1 - \omega_B(0) \\ &\geq \inf \{ \ \omega_A(\mu * \lambda), \ \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \ \omega_A(\lambda) \} + 1 - \omega_A(0) \\ &\geq \inf \{ \ \omega_A(\mu * \lambda), \ \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \ \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda) + 1 - \omega_A(0), \ \omega_A(\lambda) + 1 - \omega_A(0) \} \\ &\geq \inf \{ \ \omega_A(\mu * \lambda), \ \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \ \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \ \omega_A(\lambda) \} \ \Rightarrow \end{aligned}$$

 $\omega_B(\mu) \geq \inf \{ \omega_A(\mu \ast \lambda), \omega_A(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_A(\lambda) \}$ 

iii.
$$\sigma'_B(\mu) = \sigma_B(\mu) - \sigma_B(0)$$

 $\leq \sup\{ \sigma_A(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_A(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_A(\lambda) \} - \sigma_A(0)$  $\leq \sup\{ \sigma_A(\mu * \lambda) - \sigma_A(0), \sigma_A(\mu \# \lambda) - \sigma_A(0), \sigma_A(\lambda) - \sigma_A(0) \}$  $\leq \sup\{ \sigma_A(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_A(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_A(\lambda) \} \Rightarrow$ 

 $\sigma'_B(\mu) \leq \sup \{ \sigma'_A(\mu * \lambda), \sigma'_A(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma'_A(\lambda) \}$ 

Thence  $\dot{B}$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to  $\dot{A}$ . Conversely,

assume that  $\hat{B}$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to  $\hat{A} \& \mu \in X$ 

 $\acute{\omega_B}(\mu \ ) \geq \acute{\omega_A}(\mu \ ) \ \Rightarrow \acute{\omega_B}(0) \geq \acute{\omega_A}(0) \Rightarrow$ 

 $\omega_B(\mu) = \omega'_B(\mu) + 1 - \omega_B(0) \& \omega_A(\mu) = \omega'_A(\mu) + 1 - \omega_A(0)$ 

 $\omega_B(\mu) + 1 - \omega_B(0) \ge \omega_A(\mu) + 1 - \omega_A(0)$ 

[since  $\dot{B}$  is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to  $\dot{A}$ ] therefore, [ $\omega_B(\mu) \ge \omega_A(\mu)$ ] &

 $\sigma_{\!B}'(\mu \ ) \leq \sigma_{\!A}'(\mu \ ) \Rightarrow \sigma_{\!B}'(0) \leq \sigma_{\!A}'(0) \Rightarrow$ 

$$\begin{split} \sigma_{B}(\mu) &= \sigma_{B}(\mu) - \sigma_{B}(0) \& \sigma_{A}(\mu) = \sigma_{A}(\mu) - \sigma_{A}(0) \\ \sigma_{B}(\mu) - \sigma_{B}(0) &\leq \sigma_{A}(\mu) - \sigma_{A}(0) \\ \text{[since } \dot{B} \text{ is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to } \dot{A} \text{] therefore, } [\sigma_{B}(\mu) \leq \sigma_{A}(\mu) ]. \text{ Now} \\ \text{i. } \omega_{B}(0) &= \omega_{B}(0) - 1 + \omega_{B}(0) \geq \omega_{B}(\mu) - 1 + \omega_{A}(0) = \omega_{B}(\mu) \Rightarrow \\ [\omega_{B}(0) \geq \omega_{B}(\mu)] \text{ for every } \mu \in X \& \\ \sigma_{B}(0) &= \sigma_{B}(0) + \sigma_{B}(0) \leq \sigma_{B}(\mu) + \sigma_{B}(0) = \sigma_{B}(\mu) \Rightarrow [\sigma_{B}(0) \leq \sigma_{B}(\mu)] \text{ for every } \mu \in X. \\ \text{ii. } \omega_{B}(\mu) &= \omega_{B}(\mu) - 1 + \omega_{B}(0) \geq \inf \{\{\omega_{A}(\mu * \lambda), \omega_{A}(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_{A}(\lambda)\} - 1 + \omega_{A}(0)\} \\ &\geq \inf \{\omega_{A}(\mu * \lambda) - 1 + \omega_{A}(0), \omega_{A}(\mu \# \lambda) - 1 + \omega_{A}(0), \omega_{A}(\lambda) - 1 + \omega_{A}(0)\} \\ &\geq \inf \{\omega_{A}(\mu * \lambda), \omega_{A}(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_{A}(\lambda)\} \Rightarrow \\ \omega_{B}(\mu) \geq \inf \{\omega_{A}(\mu * \lambda), \omega_{A}(\mu \# \lambda), \omega_{A}(\lambda)\} \\ &\text{ii. } \sigma_{B}(\mu) = \sigma_{B}(\mu) + \sigma_{B}(0) \leq \sup\{\sigma_{A}(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_{A}(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_{A}(\lambda) + \sigma_{A}(0)\} \\ &\leq \sup\{\sigma_{A}(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_{A}(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_{A}(\lambda)\} \Rightarrow \\ \sigma_{B}(\mu) \leq \sup\{\sigma_{A}(\mu * \lambda), \sigma_{A}(\mu \# \lambda), \sigma_{A}(\lambda)\} \end{cases}$$

Then B is an I. F. P. E. I of X related to A.

#### 4. Conclusion

In this work, the ideas (I.P.I & I.P.E.I & I.F.P.I)of a P.BH-algebra are offered. moreover, the consequences are studied in idiom of the relationship WITH an I.P.E.I, I.F.P.I & I.F.P.E.I of a P,BH- algebra.

#### **5. References**

- [1] Zadeh L. A. 1965, Fuzzy sets, J. Information and control, 8(3): 338-353.
- [2] Imai Y. and Iseki K.1966 On axiom system of propositional calculi XIV. Proc. Japan Acad., 42(1): 19-20.
- [3] Jun Y.B. Roh, E.H. and Kim, H.S. 1998 On BH-algebras. Scientiae Mathematicae, 1 (1): 347–354.
- [4] Zhang Q. Roh, E.H. and Jun, Y.B. 2001 On fuzzy BH-algebras. J. Huanggang, Normal Univ. 21 (3): 14–19.
- [5] Abbass H. H. and Dahham H. A. 2012 On Completely Closed Ideal With Respect to an Element of a BH-Algebra. Journal of kerbala university, 10 (3): 302-312
- [6] Kim E. M. and Ahn S. S. 2013 Fuzzy Strong Ideals Of Bh-Algebras With Degrees In The Interval (0,1). Journal of applied mathematics & informatics, 31 (1-2): 211-220.

- [7] Abbass H. H. and Saeed H. M. A. 2014 The Fuzzy Closed BH-Algebra With Respect To an Element. Journal of College of Education for Pure Science, 4 (1): 92-100.
- [8] Jun Y.B. Roh, E.H. and Kim H.S. 2015 On pseudo BH-algebra. Honam Mathematical J. 37 (2): 207-219.
- [9] Abbass H. H. and Nouri A. H. 2017 Some types of pseudo ideals. J. Applied Mathematical Sciences, 11 (43): 2113-2120.
- [10] Kaviyarasu M. and Indhira K. 2017 Review on BCI/BCK-Algebras and development. International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 117 (11): 377-383.
- [11] Abass H. H. and Mutesher A. A. 2018 fuzzy ideals with respect to an element of pseudo BH-algebra,
- [12] Ejegwa, P. A., et al. 2014 An overview on intuitionistic fuzzy sets, international journal of scientific & technology research 3 (3): 142-145.

# Laguerre and Touchard Polynomials for Linear Volterra Integral and Integro Differential Equations

Jalil T. Abdullah<sup>1</sup> and Haleema S. Ali<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Wasit University/ Iraq <sup>2</sup> Al Karkh University of Science / Iraq

#### jalil.talab@gmail.com

**Abstract**. In this paper, efficient numerical methods are given to solve linear Volterra integral (VI) equations and Volterra Integro differential (VID) equations of the first and second types with exponential, singular, regular and convolution kernels .These methods based on Laguerre polynomials (LPs) and Touchard polynomials (TPs) that convert these equations into a system of linear algebraic equations. The results are compared with one another method and with each other. The results show that these methods are applicable and efficient. In addition, the accuracy of solution is presented and also the calculations and Graphs are done by using matlab2018 program.

Keywords: Volterra integral and integro differential equation, Laguerre polynomials, Touchard

polynomials, approximate numerical solutions

الخلاصة:

في هذه الورقة البحثية، تم اعطاء طرق عددية فعالة لحل معادلات فولتيرا التكاملية والتفاضلية التكاملية الخطية من النوع الاول ثانوية اسية، منفردة، منتظمة والالتفافية. هذه الطرق التي تستند على اساس متعددتي حدود لكويروتشارد تؤدي الى والثاني مع تحويل هذه المعادلات الى نظام المعادلات الجبرية الخطية . تمت مقارنة النتائج مع طريقة اخرى واحدة ومع بعضها البعض. وتبين النتائج ان هذه الطرق قابلة للتطبيق وفعالة. بالإضافة الى ذلك، تم تقديم دقة الحل وكذلك الحسابات والرسوم البيانية برنامج الماتلاب 2018.

**الكلمات المفتاحية:** معادلة فولتيرا التكاملية والتفاضلية التكاملية ، كثيرات حدود لكوير ، كثيرات حدود تشارد، الحلول العددية التقريبية.

#### 1. Introduction:

The idea of this work is to illustrate the results of the solutions for linear Volterra integral (VI) equations and linear Volterra integro differential (VID) equations in two methods using the (LPs) and (TPs). Such equations are model of problems in many applications, like, heat conduction, dynamics of viscoelastic, electrodynamics [1]. The solutions of integral and integro differential equations have an essential role in several applied areas which include "mechanics, chemistry, physics, biology, astronomy and potential theory" [2]

astronomy and potential theory" [2].The general formulas of the linear (VI) equations of the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 1<sup>st</sup> types [3, 4] respectively are defined by:

$$Q(\alpha) = w(\alpha) + \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) Q(\tau) d\tau \qquad b_1 \le \alpha \le b_2 \qquad \dots (1)$$

$$-w(\alpha) = \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) Q(\tau) d\tau \quad . \qquad b_{1} \le \alpha \le b_{2} \qquad \dots (1a)$$

Also the general formula of linear Abel's singular of the  $1^{st}$  type [4, 5 and 6] is defined as follows:

$$w(\alpha) = \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha - \tau}} Q(\tau) d\tau \quad , \qquad b_1 \le \alpha \le b_2 \qquad \dots (2)$$

The general formula of the linear (VID) equation of the 1<sup>st</sup> order and 2<sup>nd</sup> type [4] is defined as follows:

$$Q'(\alpha) = w(\alpha) + \gamma \int_{0}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) Q(\tau) d\tau, \quad , \quad b_{1} \leq \alpha \leq b_{2}, \qquad \dots (3)$$

with initial condition  $Q(0) = Q_0$ ,

 $Q(0) = Q_0,$  ... (3a)

where  $Q'(\alpha) = \frac{dQ}{d\alpha}$ ,  $b_1$ ,  $b_2$  are constants,  $Q(\alpha)$  is the unknown function that must be determined,  $\gamma$  is a known constant, it represents the physical meaning of the material, and  $Y(\alpha, \tau)$  is a kernel of the Integral equations (IEs), which is a known continuous or dis-continuous function holds characteristic or property of the material,  $w(\alpha)$  is a known function represents the integration surface and  $Q(0) = Q_0$  is a constant initial condition for eq. (3).

There are many approximate numerical methods used and developed by the scientific researchers to obtain the approximate numerical solutions for the (VI) equations and (VID) equations, mentioned as follows: [7] proposed numerical methods to solve weakly (VI) equations of the 1<sup>st</sup> type. [8] gave numerical method for the approximation of the (VI) equations with oscillatory Bessel kernels. [9] applied Chebyshev wavelet method to solve the (VI) equations with weakly singular of kernels. [10] used the standard Galerkin polynomial method to solve weakly singular kernels for the (VI) equations. [11] extended the single step pseudo spectral method to the multi step pseudo spectral method for the (VI) equations of 2<sup>nd</sup> type. [12] applied the Galerkin weight residual method and (LPs) as a trial function for solving the (VI) equations of the 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> type with singular and regular kernels. [13] used the (LPs) for solving system of generalized Abel integral equations. [14] used iterative methods to solve the (VID) equations. [16] applied "Galerkin the weight residual method" with the (TPs) as a trial function to get numerical solutions to (IEs).

This article is arranged as follows: Laguerre polynomials, function of approximation using the (LPs), Touchard polynomials, function of approximation using the (TPs), solution the (VI) equation using the (LPs) method, accuracy of solutions, convergence rate, illustrative examples, tables and figures are provided, summary of conclusions and recommendations. Finally the references are mentioned.

#### 2. Laguerre Polynomials [12 and 13]:

This section, begin with definition of the (LPs) which was studied in 1782 by Adrien-Marie Legendre. The (LPs) consisting of the polynomial sequence of binomial type, it's defined on  $[0, \infty)$  as follows:

$$V_{k}(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{k} (-1)^{s} \frac{1}{s!} {k \choose s} \alpha^{s} = \sum_{s=0}^{k} \frac{(-1)^{s}}{(s!)^{2} (k-s)!} \alpha^{s} , k = 0, 1, 2, ... n \text{ and } \alpha \in [0, \infty) \cdots (4)$$

where k and s represent the degree and the index for the (LPs) respectively.

The first five polynomials of the (LPs) are given below:

$$\begin{split} V_0(\alpha) &= 1 \\ V_1(\alpha) &= 1 - \alpha \\ V_2(\alpha) &= \frac{1}{2}(2 - 4\alpha + \alpha^2). \\ V_3(\alpha) &= \frac{1}{6}(6 - 18\alpha + 9\alpha^2 - \alpha^3) \\ V_4(\alpha) &= \frac{1}{24}(24 - 96\alpha + 72\alpha^2 - 16\alpha^3 + \alpha^4) \end{split}$$

#### 3. Function of Approximation using the (LPs):

Suppose that the function  $Q_k(\alpha)$  is approximated using the (LPs) as follows:

$$Q_{k}(\alpha) = \vartheta_{0}V_{0}(\alpha) + \vartheta_{1}V_{1}(\alpha) + \dots + \vartheta_{k}V_{k}(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s}V_{s}(\alpha) \quad 0 \le \alpha < \infty, \qquad \dots (5)$$

for s $\geq 0$ , the function  $\{V_s(\alpha)\}_{s=0}^k$  denotes the Laguerre basis polynomials of kth degree, as defined in Eq. (4).  $\vartheta_s$  (s = 0,1, ..., k) are the unknowns Laguerre coefficients that calculate later. Writing Eq. (5) as a dot product:

$$Q_{k}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} V_{0}(\alpha) & V_{1}(\alpha) \dots & V_{k}(\alpha) \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \cdots (6)$$

Eq. (6) can be written in the following form:

where  $\theta_{\rho\rho}$  ( $\rho = 0, 1, 2, ..., k$ ) are known values of the power basis that are used to find the (LPs), also the square matrix is an upper triangular and non-singular. For example, if k= 1, and 2, the operational matrices are shown as in Eqs. (8) and (9) respectively:

$$Q_1(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \alpha \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_0 \\ \vartheta_1 \end{bmatrix} \qquad \dots (8)$$

$$Q_{2}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \alpha \ \alpha^{2} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 & 1/2 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vartheta_{2} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \dots (9)$$

Since the derivative of Eq. (4) is:

$$V'_{k}(\alpha) = \frac{d}{d\alpha} \sum_{s=0}^{k} (-1)^{s} \frac{1}{s!} {k \choose s} \alpha^{s} = \sum_{s=1}^{k} \frac{(-1)^{s}}{(s!)^{2}(k-s)!} s \alpha^{s-1} , k = 1, 2, ..., n, and \alpha \in [0, \infty) \cdots (10)$$
  
so the derivative of Eqs. (7) (8) and (9) is respectively:

so, the derivative of Eqs. (7), (8) and (9) is respectively:

$$Q'_{k}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ \alpha \dots k \alpha^{k-1} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{00} & \theta_{01} & \theta_{02} & \dots & \theta_{0k} \\ 0 & \theta_{11} & \theta_{12} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \theta_{22} & \dots & \theta_{2k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \theta_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \dots (10a)$$

$$Q'_{1}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \dots (10b)$$

$$Q'_{2}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 2\alpha \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 & 1/2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vartheta_{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(10c)

#### 4. Touchard Polynomials [16, 17, 18 and 19]:

(TPs) were first studied by the French mathematician Jacques Touchard 1885–1968, consisting of the polynomial sequence of binomial type, it's defined on [0, 1] as following:

$$O_{k}(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{k} A(k,s)\alpha^{s} = \sum_{s=0}^{k} {\binom{k}{s}}\alpha^{s} , \quad {\binom{k}{s}} = \frac{k!}{s! (k-s)!} , \qquad \dots (11)$$

where k and s represent the degree and the index for the (TPs) respectively. The first five polynomials of the (TPs) are written below:

 $0_0(\alpha) = 1$  $0_1(\alpha) = 1 + \alpha$  $0_2(\alpha) = 1 + 2\alpha + \alpha^2$  $0_3(\alpha) = 1 + 3\alpha + 3\alpha^2 + \alpha^3$  $O_4(\alpha) = 1 + 4\alpha + 6\alpha^2 + 4\alpha^3 + \alpha^4.$ 

#### 5. Function of Approximation using the (TPs):

Suppose that the function  $Q_k(\alpha)$  is approximated using the (TPs) as follows:

$$Q_{k}(\alpha) = \vartheta_{0}O_{0}(\alpha) + \vartheta_{1}O_{1}(\alpha) + \dots + \vartheta_{k}O_{k}(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s}O_{s}(\alpha), 0 \le \alpha \le 1 \qquad \dots (12)$$

for s $\geq 0$ , the function  $\{O_s(\alpha)\}_{s=0}^k$  denotes the Touchard basis polynomials of kth degree, as defined in Eq. (11).  $\vartheta_s$  (s = 0,1, ..., k) are the unknowns Touchard coefficients that determine later.

Writing Eq. (12) as a dot product:

$$Q_{K}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} O_{0}(\alpha) & O_{1}(\alpha) \dots O_{k}(\alpha) \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix} , \qquad \dots (13)$$

Eq. (13) can be written as follows:

$$Q_{k}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \alpha \ \alpha^{2} \dots \alpha^{k} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon_{00} & \varepsilon_{01} & \varepsilon_{02} & \dots & \varepsilon_{0k} \\ 0 & \varepsilon_{11} & \varepsilon_{12} & \cdots & \varepsilon_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \varepsilon_{22} & \cdots & \varepsilon_{2k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \varepsilon_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \dots (14)$$

where  $\varepsilon_{\rho\rho}$  ( $\rho$ = 0, 1, 2,..., k) are known constants of the power basis that are used to find the (TPs), also the square matrix is an upper triangular and non-singular. For instance, if k=2 and 3, the operational matrices are shown in Eqs. (15) and (16) respectively:

$$Q_{2}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \alpha \ \alpha^{2} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vartheta_{2} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \dots (15)$$

$$Q_{3}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \alpha \ \alpha^{2} \ \alpha^{3} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vartheta_{2} \\ \vartheta_{3} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \dots (16)$$

Since, the derivative of Eq. (11) is:

$$0'_{k}(\alpha) = \frac{d}{d\alpha} \sum_{s=0}^{k} A(k,s) \alpha^{s} = \sum_{s=1}^{k} {k \choose s} s \alpha^{s-1}, \text{ where } {k \choose s} = \frac{k!}{s! (k-s)!}, \quad \dots (17)$$

then, the derivative of Eqs. (14), (15) and (16) respectively is:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Q'}_{\mathbf{k}}(\alpha) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 2\alpha \dots \mathbf{k}\alpha^{\mathbf{k}-1} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon_{00} & \varepsilon_{01} & \varepsilon_{02} & \dots & \varepsilon_{0k} \\ 0 & \varepsilon_{11} & \varepsilon_{12} & \cdots & \varepsilon_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \varepsilon_{22} & \cdots & \varepsilon_{2k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \varepsilon_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix}, & \dots (17a) \\ \mathbf{Q'}_{2}(\alpha) &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 2\alpha \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vartheta_{2} \end{bmatrix}, & \dots (17b) \end{aligned}$$

$$Q'_{3}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 2\alpha \ 3\alpha^{2} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{0} \\ \theta_{1} \\ \theta_{2} \\ \theta_{3} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \dots (17c)$$

6. Solution the (VI) Equation of the 2<sup>nd</sup> type using the (LPs):

In this section, the (LPs) is used to find the solutions for the (VI) equation. Since Eq. (1) is:

$$Q(\alpha) = w(\alpha) + \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) Q(\tau) d\tau , \qquad b_1 \le \alpha \le b_2 \qquad \dots (18)$$

by using Eq. (5), suppose that:

$$Q(\alpha) \cong Q_k(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{n} \vartheta_s V_s(\alpha),$$
 ... (19)

now, substituting Eq. (19) into Eq. (18), gives:

$$\sum_{s=0}^{K} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha) = w(\alpha) + \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) \sum_{s=0}^{K} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\tau) d\tau , \qquad ... (20)$$

By using Eq. (6), then Eq. (20) becomes:

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{0}(\alpha) & V_{1}(\alpha) \dots V_{k}(\alpha) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix} = w(\alpha) + \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\gamma, \tau) \begin{bmatrix} V_{0}(\tau) & V_{1}(\tau) \dots V_{k}(\tau) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix} d\tau \quad , \dots (21)$$

And by using Eq. (7), so, Eq. (21) is converted to:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \alpha \ \alpha^{2} \ \dots \ \alpha^{k} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{00} & \theta_{01} & \theta_{02} & \dots & \theta_{0k} \\ 0 & \theta_{11} & \theta_{12} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \theta_{22} & \dots & \theta_{2k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \theta_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= w(\alpha)$$

$$+ \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \tau \ \tau^{2} \ \dots \ \tau^{k} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{00} & \theta_{01} & \theta_{02} & \dots & \theta_{0k} \\ 0 & \theta_{11} & \theta_{12} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \theta_{22} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \theta_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{0} \\ \vartheta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \vartheta_{k} \end{bmatrix} d\tau \dots (22)$$

Now, after simplifying Eq. (22), the unknown Laguerre coefficients  $(\vartheta_0, \vartheta_1, ..., \vartheta_k)$  are obtained by selecting points  $\alpha_\beta$  ( $\beta = 0, 1, ..., k$ ) in the interval  $[b_1, b_2]$ . Consequently, Eq. (22) converts to a system of (k+1) linear algebraic equations in (k+1) unknown coefficients, this system can be solved using "Gauss elimination method" to obtain these coefficients, which have the unique solutions. These coefficients are substituted into Eq. (5), to get the approximate numerical solution for Eq. (1).

The same procedure can be applied to Eqs. (1a) and (2) when using the (TPs).

#### 7. Solution the (VID) Equation of the 1<sup>st</sup> order and 2<sup>nd</sup> type using the (LPs):

In this section, the (TPs) is used to find the solutions for the (VID) equation. Since Eq. (3) is:

$$Q'(\alpha) = w(\alpha) + \gamma \int_{0}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) Q(\tau) d\tau, \quad , \quad b_1 \le \alpha \le b_2, \qquad \dots (23)$$

$$Q(0) = Q_0,$$
 ... (23a)

by using Eqs.(7) and (10a), suppose that:

$$\begin{aligned} & Q(\alpha) \cong Q_{k}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \alpha \ \alpha^{2} \dots \alpha^{k} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{00} & \theta_{01} & \theta_{02} & \dots & \theta_{0k} \\ 0 & \theta_{11} & \theta_{12} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \theta_{22} & \dots & \theta_{2k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \theta_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{0} \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ \theta_{k} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \dots (24) \end{aligned}$$
$$& Q'(\alpha) \cong Q'_{k}(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ \alpha \dots & k\alpha^{k-1} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{00} & \theta_{01} & \theta_{02} & \dots & \theta_{0k} \\ 0 & \theta_{11} & \theta_{12} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \theta_{22} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \theta_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{0} \\ \theta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \theta_{k} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \dots (25) \end{aligned}$$

now, by substituting Eqs. (24) and (25) into Eq. (23), gives:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \ \alpha \ \alpha^{2} \ \dots \ \alpha^{k} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{00} & \theta_{01} & \theta_{02} & \dots & \theta_{0k} \\ 0 & \theta_{11} & \theta_{12} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \theta_{22} & \dots & \theta_{2k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \theta_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{0} \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ \theta_{k} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= w(\alpha)$$

$$+ \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ \tau \ \dots \ k \tau^{k-1} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{00} & \theta_{01} & \theta_{02} & \dots & \theta_{0k} \\ 0 & \theta_{11} & \theta_{12} & \dots & \theta_{1k} \\ 0 & 0 & \theta_{22} & \dots & \theta_{2k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & \theta_{kk} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \theta_{0} \\ \theta_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \theta_{k} \end{bmatrix} d\tau \ \dots (26)$$

So, after simplifying Eq. (26), the unknown Touchard coefficients  $(\vartheta_0, \vartheta_1, ..., \vartheta_k)$  are obtained by selecting points  $\alpha_\beta$  ( $\beta = 0, 1, ..., k$ ) in the interval  $[b_1, b_2]$ , with the initial condition Eq. (23a). Therefore, Eq. (26) converts to a system of (k+1) linear algebraic equations in (k+1) unknown coefficients, this system can be solved using "Gauss elimination method" to obtain theses coefficients, which have unique solutions. These coefficients are substituted into Eq. (5), to get the approximate numerical solution for Eq. (3).

The same procedure can be applied when using the (TPs).

#### 8. Accuracy of Solutions:

In this section, the accuracy of the proposed methods is tested.

#### 8.1: For the (VI) equation:

Since Eq. (20) has the following formula:

$$\sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha) = w(\alpha) + \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\tau) d\tau, \qquad \dots (27)$$

Since Eq. (5) has the following form:

$$Q_k(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^k \vartheta_s V_s(\alpha),$$

And the unknown Laguerre coefficients  $(\vartheta_0, \vartheta_1, ..., \vartheta_k)$  were determined by using Eq. (22). Also, by using Eq. (19), we have:

$$Q(\alpha) \cong Q_k(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{\kappa} \vartheta_s V_s(\alpha), \qquad \dots (28)$$

then, Eq. (28) is the unique approximate solution for Eq. (27), and it's substituted into Eq. (27). Now, suppose that  $\alpha = \alpha_{\theta} \in [0, 1], \theta = 0, 1, 2, ..., k$ , and then, the error function:

$$AR(\alpha_{\theta}) = \left| \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha_{\theta}) - w(\alpha_{\theta}) - \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha_{\theta}, \tau) \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\tau_{\theta}) d\tau \right| \approx 0, \text{ then}$$
$$AR(\alpha_{\theta}) \leq \epsilon, \text{ for each } \alpha_{\theta} \text{ in } [0, 1] \text{ and } \epsilon > 0.$$

Then, the difference for error function AR ( $\alpha_{\theta}$ ) at each point  $\alpha_{\theta}$  will be smaller than any positive integer  $\epsilon > 0$ . Thus, the error function AR ( $\alpha$ ) can be estimated using the relation:

$$AR_{k}(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha) - w(\alpha) - \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\tau) d\tau,$$

then,  $AR_k(\alpha) \leq \epsilon$ .

This procedure is suitable for Eqs. (1a) and (2). Also this procedure can be applied using the (TPs).

#### 8.2 For the (VID) equation:

Since Eq. (3) with initial condition is:

$$Q'(\alpha) = w(\alpha) = \gamma \int_{0}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) Q(\tau) d\tau, \quad , \quad b_1 \le \alpha \le b_2, \qquad \dots (29)$$
$$Q(0) = Q_0,$$

since Eq. (5) has the following form:

$$Q_{k}(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha),$$

and the unknown Laguerre coefficients  $(\vartheta_0, \vartheta_1, ..., \vartheta_k)$  were determined by using Eq. (26). Also, by using Eq. (19), we have:

$$Q(\alpha) \cong Q_{k}(\alpha) = \sum_{s=0}^{\kappa} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha), \qquad \dots (30)$$

is the approximate numerical solution for Eq. (29) also, Eq. (30) and its derivative is substituted into Eq. (29). Now, suppose that  $\alpha = \alpha_{\theta} \in [0, 1], \theta = 0, 1, 2, ..., k$ , and then, the error function:

$$AR(\alpha_{\theta}) = \left| \left( \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha_{\theta}) \right)' - w(\alpha_{\theta}) - \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha_{\theta}, \tau_{\theta}) \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\tau_{\theta}) d\tau_{\theta} \right| \approx 0 \text{, then}$$
  
$$AR(\alpha_{\theta}) \leq \epsilon, \text{ for each } \alpha_{\theta} \text{ in } [0, 1] \text{ and } \epsilon > 0.$$

Then, the difference for error function AR ( $\alpha_{\theta}$ ) at each point  $\alpha_{\theta}$  will be smaller than any positive integer  $\epsilon > 0$ .

Thus, the error function AR  $(\alpha_{\theta})$  can be estimated using the relation:

$$AR_{k}(\alpha) = \left(\sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\alpha_{\theta})\right)' - w(\alpha) - \gamma \int_{a}^{\alpha} Y(\alpha, \tau) \sum_{s=0}^{k} \vartheta_{s} V_{s}(\tau) d\tau,$$

then,  $AR_k(\alpha) \leq \epsilon$ .

Note: This procedure can be applied using the (TPs) for Eq. (3).

#### 9. Convergence Rate:

In this section, the error function can be defined by the following relation [20]:

$$\|AR_{k}(\alpha)\| = \left(\int_{0}^{1} AR_{k}^{2}(\alpha)d\alpha\right)^{1/2} \cong \left(\frac{1}{k}\sum_{s=0}^{k} ER_{s}^{2}(\alpha_{s})\right)^{1/2},$$

where  $||AR_k(\alpha)||$  is an arbitrary vector norm of error function,  $AR_k(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) - Q_k(\alpha)$ , where Q ( $\alpha$ ) and  $Q_k(\alpha)$ , are the exact and approximate numerical solutions respectively.

#### **10. Illustrative Examples:**

In this section, the (LPs) and (TPs) are used to solve linear (VI) and (VID) equations. These two polynomials have been applied to six numerical examples, and the convergence of solutions using the error function is given.

**Example 1:** Solve the linear (VI) equation of 1<sup>st</sup> type with the exponential kernel [20]:

$$\int_{0}^{\tau} e^{(\alpha-\tau)} Q(\tau) d\tau = \sin(\alpha) , \ \alpha \in [0,1],$$

where  $Q(\alpha) = \cos(\alpha) - \sin(\alpha)$  is the exact solution.

For k = 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, the approximate results using: 1. The (LPs) are:  $Q_2(\alpha) = -0.8489V_0(\alpha) + 2.6884V_1(\alpha) - 0.8392V_2(\alpha).$   $Q_3(\alpha) = 0.1621V_0(\alpha) - 0.4997V_1(\alpha) + 2.5137V_2(\alpha) - 1.1761V_3(\alpha).$   $Q_4(\alpha) = 0.7515V_0(\alpha) - 2.9774V_1(\alpha) + 6.4215V_2(\alpha) - 3.9166V_3(\alpha) + 0.7210V_4(\alpha).$   $Q_5(\alpha) = -0.2178V_0(\alpha) + 2.1162V_1(\alpha) - 4.2887V_2(\alpha) + 7.3473V_3 - 5.2041V_4 + 1.2472V_5.$   $Q_6(\alpha) = -0.6581V_0 + 4.8926V_1 - 11.5853V_2 + 17.5776V_3 - 13.2746V_4 + 4.6438V_5 - 0.5958V_6$ 2. The (TPs) are:  $Q_2(\alpha) = 1.5906O_0(\alpha) - 0.1707O_1(\alpha) - 0.4196O_2(\alpha).$   $Q_3(\alpha) = 1.2960O_0(\alpha) + 0.6034O_1(\alpha) - 1.0954O_2(\alpha) + 0.1960O_3(\alpha).$   $Q_4(\alpha) = 1.3568O_0(\alpha) + 0.3984O_1(\alpha) - 0.8371O_2(\alpha) + 0.0519O_3(\alpha) + 0.0300O_4(\alpha).$   $Q_5(\alpha) = 1.3872O_0(\alpha) + 0.2747O_1(\alpha) - 0.6368O_2(\alpha) - 0.1097O_3 + 0.0950O_4 - 0.0104O_5.$  $Q_6 = 1.3835O_0 + 0.2923O_1 - 0.6713O_2 - 0.0738O_3 + 0.0741O_4 - 0.0039O_5 - 8.2750E - 4O_6.$ 

The solutions were approximated in five different degrees. The comparison of error functions of the proposed methods and those in [20] is shown in Table 1, showing the (LPs) and the (TPs) methods having a higher accuracy than in [20] with the same degrees, and that both proposed methods having the same accuracy.

Figure 1 shows the comparison of result for k=6 with exact solution. They seem to be identical.

Table1. Comparison of the Error Function of Example1.

k	AR <sub>k</sub>		
	Method in [20]	(LPs) Method	(TPs) Method
2	5.06401E-02	1.1940E-01	1.1940E-01
3	2.07936E-03	6.7190E-03	6.7191E-03
4	6.14967E-04	1.2897E-03	1.2897E-03
5	1.42477E-04	3.3898E-05	3.3775E-05
6	5.41139E-05	3.7027E-06	3.5964E-06



**Example 2:** Solve the Abel's (IEs) (linear (VI) equation of 1<sup>st</sup> type with singular kernel) [20]:  $\int_{0}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha - \tau}} Q(\tau) d\tau = \frac{2\sqrt{\alpha}}{105} (105 - 56\alpha^{2} + 48\alpha^{3}), \quad \alpha \in [0, 1],$ where  $Q(\alpha) = \alpha^{3} - \alpha^{2} + 1$  is the exact solution. For k = 2, 3 and 4, the approximate results using: 1. The (LPs) are:  $Q_{2}(\alpha) = -0.0441V_{0}(\alpha) + 2.0183V_{1}(\alpha) - 0.9714V_{2}(\alpha).$   $Q_{3}(\alpha) = 5V_{0}(\alpha) - 14V_{1}(\alpha) + 16V_{2}(\alpha) - 6V_{3}(\alpha).$   $Q_{4}(\alpha) = 5V_{0}(\alpha) - 14V_{1}(\alpha) + 16V_{2}(\alpha) - 6V_{3}(\alpha) + 4.5324E - 12V_{4}(\alpha).$ 2. The (TPs) are:  $Q_{2}(\alpha) = 0.5925 O_{0}(\alpha) + 0.8960 O_{1}(\alpha) - 0.4857O_{2}(\alpha).$   $Q_{3}(\alpha) = -O_{0}(\alpha) + 5 O_{1}(\alpha) - 4 O_{2}(\alpha) + O_{3}(\alpha) + 1.8885E - 13 O_{4}(\alpha).$ The solutions were approximated in three different degrees. The comparison of error functions of the proposed methods and those in [20] is shown in Table 2, showing the (LPs) and (TPs) methods having a higher accuracy than in [20] with the same degrees, and that both proposed methods having the same accuracy.

Figure 2 shows the comparison of result for k=4 with exact solution. They seem to be identical.

		AR <sub>k</sub>	
k			
	Method of [20]	(LPs) Method	(TPs) Method
2	6.39819E-02	5.1892E-01	5.1892E-01
3	2.42366E-02	4.2274E-07	5.4209E-07
4	3.26226E-03	3.6611E-07	4.6947E-07

Table2. Comparison of the Error Function of Example 2.



**Example 3:** Solve the linear (VI) equation of 2<sup>nd</sup> type with the regular kernel [4]:

$$Q(\alpha) = \alpha + \alpha^{4} + \frac{1}{2}\alpha^{2} + \frac{1}{5}\alpha^{5} - \int_{0}^{\alpha} Q(\tau) d\tau \quad , \quad \alpha \in [0, 1],$$

where the exact solution is  $Q(\alpha) = \alpha + \alpha^4$ . For k = 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, the approximate results using: 1. The (LPs) are:  $Q_2(\alpha) = 1.4402 V_0(\alpha) - 1.9327 V_1(\alpha) + 0.4959 V_2(\alpha)$ .  $Q_3(\alpha) = 6.3321 V_0(\alpha) - 17.5993 V_1(\alpha) + 17.2449 V_2(\alpha) - 5.9799 V_3(\alpha)$ .  $Q_4(\alpha) = 25 V_0(\alpha) - 97 V_1(\alpha) + 144 V_2(\alpha) - 96V_3(\alpha) + 24 V_4(\alpha)$ .  $Q_5(\alpha) = 25V_0(\alpha) - 97V_1(\alpha) + 144V_2(\alpha) - 96V_3(\alpha) + 24V_4(\alpha) - 4.2929E - 11V_5(\alpha)$ .  $Q_6(\alpha) = 25V_0 - 97V_1 + 144V_2 - 96V_3 + 24V_4 + 4.4567E - 09V_5 - 7.9628E - 10V_6$ 2. The (TPs) are:  $Q_2(\alpha) = -0.68955 O_0(\alpha) + 0.44500 O_1(\alpha) + 0.24796 O_2(\alpha)$ .

$$\begin{aligned} Q_3(\alpha) &= -2.3957 \ O_0(\alpha) + 4.7342 \ O_1(\alpha) - 3.3374 \ O_2(\alpha) + 0.99666 \ O_3(\alpha). \\ Q_4(\alpha) &= -2.8232E - 13 \ O_0(\alpha) - 3 \ O_1(\alpha) + 6 \ O_2(\alpha) - 4 \ O_3(\alpha) + O_4(\alpha). \\ Q_5(\alpha) &= -1.5673E - 12 \ O_0(\alpha) - 3 \ O_1(\alpha) + 6 \ O_2(\alpha) - 4 \ O_3(\alpha) + O_4(\alpha) + 3.5774E - 13 \ O_5(\alpha). \\ Q_6(\alpha) &= -7.9198E - 12 \ O_0 - 3 \ O_1 + 6 \ O_2 - 4 \ O_3 + O_4 + 9.3103E - 12 \ O_5 - 1.1059E - 12 \ O_6 \end{aligned}$$

The solutions were approximated in five different degrees. The comparison of error functions of the (LPs) method and those in the (TPs) method is shown in Table 3, showing the (TPs) method having a higher accuracy than in the (LPs) method with the same degrees. Figure 3 shows the comparison of result for k=6 with exact solution. They seem to be identical.

	AR <sub>k</sub>	
k	(LPs) Method	(TPs) Method
2	7.1586E-01	7.1586E-01
3	2.0767E-01	2.0767E-01
4	3.3525E-06	1.2191E-06
5	2.9986E-06	1.0904E-06
6	2.7373E-06	9.9539E-07

Table 3. Comparison of the Error Function of the (LPs) and (TPs) of Example 3.



**Example 4:** Solve the linear (VI) equation of  $2^{nd}$  type with the convolution kernel [4]:

$$\mathbf{Q}(\alpha) = \alpha + \int_{0}^{\alpha} (\tau - \alpha) \mathbf{Q}(\tau) d\tau, \alpha \in [0, 1],$$

where  $\mathbf{Q}(\alpha) = \sin(\alpha)$  is the exact solution. For k= 2, 3, 4 and 5, the approximate results using:

1. The (LPs) are:  $Q_2(\alpha) = 0.8187 V_0(\alpha) - 0.6212 V_1(\alpha) - 0.1985 V_2(\alpha).$   $\begin{array}{ll} Q_3(\alpha) = & 0.0277V_0(\alpha) + 1.9126 \, V_1(\alpha) \, -2.9081V_2(\alpha) + 0.9677 \, V_3(\alpha). \\ Q_4(\alpha) = & 0.2570V_0(\alpha) + 0.9372V_1(\alpha) - 1.3506V_2(\alpha) - 0.1387V_3(\alpha) + 0.2950V_4(\alpha) \\ Q_5(\alpha) = & 0.9497V_0(\alpha) - 2.7377V_1(\alpha) + 6.4523V_2(\alpha) - 8.4278V_3(\alpha) + 4.7009V_4 \\ & - & 0.9374V_5. \end{array}$ 2. The (TPs) are:  $\begin{array}{l} Q_2(\alpha) = & -1.1184 \, 0_0(\alpha) + 1.2167 \, 0_1(\alpha) - 0.0993 \, 0_2(\alpha). \\ Q_3(\alpha) = & -0.8416 \, 0_0(\alpha) + 0.5215 \, 0_1(\alpha) + 0.4814 \, 0_2(\alpha) - 0.1613 \, 0_3(\alpha). \\ Q_4(\alpha) = & -0.81210_0(\alpha) + 0.42620_1(\alpha) + 0.59630_2(\alpha) - 0.22270_3(\alpha) + 0.0123 \, 0_4(\alpha) \\ Q_5(\alpha) = & -0.84020_0(\alpha) + 0.53580_1(\alpha) + 0.42620_2(\alpha) - 0.09110_3 - 0.03850_4 \\ & + 0.00780_5 \end{array}$ 

The solutions were approximated in five different degrees. The comparison of error functions of the (LPs) method and those in the (TPs) method is shown in Table 4, showing the (LPs) method having a higher accuracy than in the (TPs) method with the same degrees. Figure 4 shows the comparison of results for k=4 and 5 with exact solution. They seem to be identical.

k	AR <sub>k</sub>		
	(LPs) Method	(TPs) Method	
2	7.0865E-02	7.0865E-02	
3	3.2692E-03	3.2693E-03	
4	6.3587E-04	6.3589E-04	
5	1.6865E-05	1.6908E-05	

Table4. Comparison of the Error Function of the (LPs) and (TPs) of Example 4.



**Example 5**: Solve the (VID) equation of the  $2^{nd}$  type with constant kernel [4]:

$$Q'(\alpha) = 6 - 3\alpha^2 + \int_0^\alpha Q(\tau) d\tau, \ Q(0) = 0,$$

where  $Q(\alpha) = 6\alpha$  is the exact solution.

For k= 2, 3 and 4, the same exact solution is obtained, so, using the (LPs), we have:

$$Q_2(\alpha) = 6V_0(\alpha) - 6V_1(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 6\alpha$$

$$Q_3(\alpha) = 6V_0(\alpha) - 6V_1(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 6\alpha$$

$$Q_4(\alpha) = 6V_0(\alpha) - 6V_1(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 6\alpha$$

Also using the (TPs), we have:

 $Q_{2}(\alpha) = -6 O_{0}(\alpha) + 6 O_{1}(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 6\alpha$  $Q_{3}(\alpha) = -6 O_{0}(\alpha) + 6 O_{1}(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 6\alpha$  $Q_{4}(\alpha) = -6 O_{0}(\alpha) + 6 O_{1}(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 6\alpha$ 

The solutions were approximated in three different degrees and the exact solution was obtained the same and this shows that the error function is zero in this case. Figure 5 displays the comparison of results for k=2, 3 and 4 with exact solution. They seem to be identical.



**Example 6**: Solve the generalized Abel's integro differential equation of the 2<sup>nd</sup> type [2]:

$$Q'(\alpha) = -Q(\alpha) - \alpha + 0.2 \int_{0}^{\alpha} \frac{Q'(\tau) + 1}{\sqrt{(\alpha - \tau)}} d\tau, \ 0 < \alpha \le 1, Q(0) = 1,$$

where  $Q(\alpha) = 1 - \alpha$ , is the exact solution.

For k= 2, 3 and 4, the same exact solution is obtained, then, using the (LPs) and (TPs), the results are respectively:

$$Q_2(\alpha) = Q_3(\alpha) = Q_4(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 1 - \alpha$$
 and  $Q_2(\alpha) = Q_3(\alpha) = Q_4(\alpha) = Q(\alpha) = 1 - \alpha$ .

The solutions were approximated in three different degrees and the exact solution was obtained the same and this shows that the error function is zero in this case. Figure 6 displays the comparison of results for k=2, 3 and 4 with exact solution. They seem to be identical.



#### **11. Conclusions and Recommendations:**

In this work, two effective approximate numerical methods base on the (LPs) and (TPs) have been used to get approximate numerical solutions for four examples of linear (VI) equation and two examples of the linear (VID) equation. The error function of these methods were established and appeared its accuracy. The results of both proposed methods in Tables 1 and 2 were better than in [20]. The results of error function for example 3 in Table 3 were decreasing with increased polynomials degrees, also, the results in Table 4 have shown that the (LPs) method is better than the (TPs) method. In examples 5 and 6, the approximate solutions were exactly the same as exact solution, so, the error functions were zero in these cases for both proposed methods. In general, all results indicate that the errors function decreasing with increasing the degree of polynomials as shown in the relevant Tables and Figures. Therefore, the methods used in this article can be applied to other types of integral equations, like, nonlinear integral and integro differential equations.

#### References

- [1]. Cardone, A., Conte, D., D'Ambrosio, R., & Paternoster, B. (2018). Collocation methods for Volterra integral and integro-differential equations: A review. *axioms*, 7, p 1-19.
- [2]. Sakran, M. R. A. (2019). Numerical solutions of integral and integro-differential equations using

Chebyshev polynomials of the third kind. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 351, p 66-82.

- [3]. Jerri, A. (1999). Introduction to integral equations with applications. John Wiley & Sons. p 73-74.
- [4]. Wazwaz, A. M. (2011). *Linear and nonlinear integral equations* (Vol. 639). Berlin: Springer. p 35-36.
- [5]. Daşcıoğlu, A. and & Salınan, S. (2019). Comparison of the orthogonal polynomial solutions for fractional integral equations. *Mathematics*, 7, 1-10.
- [6]. Mohamed, M. S., Gepreel, K. A., Al-Malki, F. A., & Al-Humyani, M. (2015). Approximate solutions of the generalized Abel's integral equations using the extension Khan's homotopy analysis transformation method. *Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 2015. p 1-9.
- [7]. Muftahov, I., Tynda, A., & Sidorov, D. (2017). Numeric solution of Volterra integral equations of the first kind with discontinuous kernels. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, 313, p 119-128.
- [8]. Uddin, M., & Taufiq, M. (2019). On the approximation of Volterra integral equations with highly oscillatory Bessel kernels via Laplace transform and quadrature. *Alexandria Engineering Journal*, 58, p 413-417.
- [9]. Zhu, L., & Wang, Y. (2015). Numerical solutions of Volterra integral equation with weakly singular kernel using SCW method. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, *260*, 63-70.
- [10]. Huang, C., & Stynes, M. (2017). Spectral Galerkin methods for a weakly singular Volterra integral equation of the second kind. *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis*, *37*, 1411-1436.
- [11]. Xiao-yong, Z. (2016). A multistep Legendre pseudo-spectral method for Volterra integral equations. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, *274*, 480-494.
- [12]. Rahman, M. A., Islam, M. S., & Alam, M. M. (2012). Numerical solutions of Volterra integral equations using Laguerre polynomials. *Journal of scientific research*, 4, 357-357.
- [13]. Setia, A., & Pandey, R. K. (2012). Laguerre Polynomials based numerical method to solve a system of Generalized Abel integral Equations. *Procedia engineering*, *38*, 1675-1682.
- [14]. Behzadi, S. S., Abbasbandy, S., & Allahviranloo, T. (2013). A study on singular integrodifferential equation of abel's type by iterative methods. *Journal of applied mathematics & informatics*, 31, 499-511.
- [15]. Agbolade, O. A., & Anake, T. A. (2017). Solutions of first-order volterra type linear integrodifferential equations by collocation method. *Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 2017.

p 5-10

- [16]. Nazir, A., Usman, M., & Mohyud-Din, S. T. (2014). Touchard Polynomials Method for Integral Equations. *International Journal of Modern Theoretical physics*, *3*, 74-89.
- [17]. Paris R. B. 2016. The Asymptotes of the Touchard Polynomials: a uniform approximation. Math. Æterna. 6, p 765-779.
- [18]. Mihoubi, M., & Maamra, M. S. (2011). Touchard polynomials, partial Bell polynomials and polynomials of binomial type. *J. Integer Seq*, *14*, 1-9.
- [19]. Sun, Z. W., & Zagier, D. (2011). On a curious property of Bell numbers. *Bulletin of the Australian Mathematical Society*, *84*, 153-158.
- [20]. Maleknejad, K., Hashemizadeh, E., & Ezzati, R. (2011). A new approach to the numerical solution of Volterra integral equations by using Bernstein's approximation. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, 16, 647-655.

# **Domination Polynomial of the Composition of Complete Graph and Star Graph**

Ihsan A. Alwan Ihsan.ab92@gmail.com

Ahmed A. Omran pure.ahmed.omran@uobabylon.edu.iq Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science, University of Babylon, Babylon, Iraq

Abstract. Graph domination by vertices is finding a subset D from the vertex set V(G), "in a graph G such that D is a dominating set if every vertex in set V - D is adjacent to at least one vertex in set D". In this paper,  $\mathcal{D}(G, i)$  when G is a composition of complete graph  $K_r$  and star graph  $S_m$ , is constructed where "D(G, i), is the family of all dominating sets of a graph G with cardinality i and  $d(G, i) = |\mathcal{D}(G, i)|^{"}$ . A recursive formula for  $d(K_r[S_m], i)$  is obtained. The domination polynomial of graph  $K_r[S_m]$  is determined by using this recursive formula.

Keywords: Domination number, Domination polynomial, Dominating set, composition.

#### Introduction 1

Assume that G = (V, E) with n vertices is a simple graph. The set  $N(v) = \{u \in V | uv \in E\}$  and the set  $N[v] = N(v) \cup \{v\}$  are the open and closed neighborhood of  $v, v \in G$  respectively [1-5]. A degree for every vertex  $v \in V$ , is the number of edges incident with v or equivalently, deg(v) =|N(v)|. "The minimum degree and the maximum degree of vertices of G are  $\delta(G)$  and  $\Delta(G)$ , respectively" [6-11].

In a graph G, the set  $D \subseteq V$  is a "dominating set" if every vertex  $v \in V$  is either an element of D or is adjacent to an element of D. The minimum cardinality of a dominating set in a graph G is the "domination number  $\gamma(G)$ ". Any dominating set with cardinality equal to  $\gamma(G)$  is called  $\gamma - set$ . For a detailed treatment of this parameter, see some types of domination by vertices [12-21]. In a graph Gan *i*-subset is a subset of V(G) with cardinality equal to "*i*". "The family of all dominating sets of G which *i*-subsets D(G,i)where,  $d(G,i) = |\mathcal{D}(G,i)|''.$ are is The polynomial  $D(G, x) = \sum_{i=\gamma(G)}^{|V(G)|} d(G, i) x^i$  "is defined as domination polynomial of G" [4-6]. "The composition of two graphs  $G_1$  and  $G_2$ , is the graph  $G_1[G_2]$  where, the vertex set of the graph  $G_1[G_2]$  is  $V(G_1) \times$  $V(G_2)$  such that the vertex (r, x) is adjacent to vertex (t, y) if and only if r is adjacent to t in the graph  $G_1$  or r = t and x is adjacent to y in the graph  $G_2$ ". [21], and [22].

**Theorem 1.1.** [21] Suppose K and L be two graphs with at least two vertices. If  $\gamma(L) = 1$ , then  $\gamma(K[L]) = \gamma(K).$ 

**Theorem 1.2.** [21] The following some properties of a composition held for all graph M, L and K.  $M[I] \rightarrow I[M]$ :

i. 
$$M[L] \neq L[M].$$
  
ii.  $(M[L])[K] \cong M([L[K]]).$ 

- 11.
- iii.  $K_1[M] \cong M$ .
- iv.  $M[K_1] \cong M$ .
- $(M \cup L)[K] = M[K] \cup L[K].$ V.

"Lemma 1.3. [4] The following properties held for all graph G of order n.
- i. If G is connected, then d(G, n) = 1 and d(G, n-1) = n.
- ii. d(G, i) = 0 if and only if  $i < \gamma(G)$  or i > n.
- iii. D(G, x) has no constant term.
- iv. D(G, x) is a strictly increasing function in  $[0, \infty)$ .
- v. Let G be a graph and H be any induced subgraph of G. Then
- vi.  $deg(D(G, x)) \ge deg(D(H, x))$ ."

#### 2 Dominating sets for composition of complete graph and star graph

Suppose  $K_r$  be a complete graph of order r and, suppose  $S_m$  be a star graph of order  $m, m \ge 3$ . The composition of complete graph and star graph is  $K_r[S_m]$  with n = rm vertices. Let  $\mathcal{D}(K_r[S_m], i)$ , be the family of dominating sets of  $K_r[S_m]$  of cardinality "*i*".

**Theorem 2.1**. [23] the following properties held for each star graph  $S_m$  with order  $m, \forall m \geq 3$ 

$$d(S_m, i) = \binom{m-1}{i-1} \,\forall i < m-1, \ m \ge 3.$$
$$D(S_m, x) = \sum_{i=1}^n \binom{m-1}{i-1} x^i + x^{m-1}$$

**Theorem 2.2.** [23] Let  $K_{a_j} = K_{a_1, a_2, a_3, \dots, a_r}$  be complete *r*-partite graph with order  $n = a_1 + a_2 + a_3 + \dots + a_r$ , the following properties held  $\forall 2 \le a_1 \le a_2 \le a_3 \le \dots \le a_r$ 

i. 
$$d(K_{a_{j}}, i) = {n \choose i} - {a_{1} \choose i} - {a_{2} \choose i} - \dots - {a_{r} \choose i} \quad \forall i < a_{1} \le a_{2} \le \dots \le a_{r}$$
  
ii.  $d(K_{a_{j}}, i) = {n \choose i} \quad \forall i \ge a_{1} \ge a_{2} \ge \dots \ge a_{r}$   
iii.  $D(K_{a_{j}}, x) = \sum_{i=2}^{n} {n \choose i} x^{i} - \sum_{i=2}^{a_{1-1}} {a_{1} \choose i} x^{i} - \sum_{i=2}^{a_{2-1}} {a_{2} \choose i} x^{i} - \dots - \sum_{i=2}^{a_{r-1}} {a_{r} \choose i} x^{i}$ 

**Theorem 2.3.** Let the graph  $K_r[S_m]$  be a composition of complete graph and star graph with order  $n = rm, m \ge 3$ , then

i.  $d(K_r[S_m], i) = \binom{n}{i} - r\binom{m-1}{i} \quad \forall \ 1 \le i < m-1$ 

ii. 
$$d(K_r[S_m], i) = \binom{n}{i} \quad \forall m - 1 \le i \le n$$

#### Proof:-

i. The number of subsets with cardinality *i* of  $K_r[S_m]$  is  $\binom{n}{i}$ . Let  $v \in S_m$  be the center vertex of  $S_m$ , the vertices of star except v forms be the dominating set of  $S_m$ . Since every vertex of  $K_r$  composition with the vertices of star except v then there exist  $r\binom{m-1}{i} \forall i < m-1$  of subsets which are not dominating sets of  $K_r[S_m]$ , then

$$d(K_r[S_m], i) = \binom{n}{i} - r\binom{m-1}{i} \quad \forall \ 1 \le i \le m-1.$$

ii. By (i) and since every subset with cardinality  $i, \forall i \ge m-1$  is the dominating set of  $K_r[S_m]$  then  $\binom{n}{i}$  is the number dominating sets with cardinality  $i, \forall i \ge m-1$  then  $d(K_r[S_m], i) = \binom{n}{i} \forall m-1 \le i \le n$ .  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 2.4.** The graph  $K_r[S_m]$  be a composition of complete graph and star graph with order  $n = rm, m \ge 3$ , then

i. 
$$d(K_r[S_m], i) = d(S_n, i) + d(S_{n-1}, i) + d(S_{n-2}, i) + \dots + d(S_{n-r+1}, i) + d(K_{a_j}, i)$$

$$\forall a_j = \frac{rm - r}{r} = m - 1, \ j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, r, \ \forall \ i < n - r$$

ii.  $d(K_r[S_m], i) = d(S_n, i) + d(S_{n-1}, i) + d(S_{n-2}, i) + \dots + d(S_{n-r+1}, i) + d(K_{a_j}, i) - 1$  $\forall a_j = \frac{rm - r}{r} = m - 1, \ j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, r, \ \forall \ n - r \le i \le n - 1$ 

#### Proof:-

- i. let  $u_1, u_2, ..., u_r \in S_n$  such that  $u_1$  is the center vertex of  $S_n$ . It is obvious that  $S_n$  be a spanning subgraph of  $K_r[S_m]$ ,  $S_n \setminus u_1$  be a subgraph of  $K_r[S_m]$  such that  $u_2$  is the center vertex of subgraph star $S_{n-1}$ , and so on ... That means in general  $S_n \setminus \{u_1, ..., u_{r-1}\}$  be a subgraph of  $K_r[S_m]$  such that  $u_r$  is the center vertex of  $S_{n-r+1}$  and since  $K_r[S_m] \setminus \{u_1, u_2, ..., u_r\}$  is a complete r-partite subgraph of  $K_r[S_m]$ , then  $S_n \cup S_{n-1} \cup S_{n-2} \cup ... \cup S_{n-r+1} \cup K_{m-1,...,m-1} = K_r[S_m]$ . The  $d(S_j, i)$  is the number of dominating sets with cardinality i of  $S_j$ , j = n r + 1, n r + 2, ..., n. The number  $d(K_{m-1,...,m-1}, i)$  represent the number of dominating sets with cardinality i of  $(K_{m-1,...,m-1})$ , and  $d(K_r[S_m], n) = 1$  by lemma (1.3),  $d(S_{n-r+1}, n-r) \cap d(K_{m-1,...,m-1}, n-r) = 1$ , and  $d(K_r[S_m], i) = d(S_n, i) + d(S_{n-1}, i) + d(S_{n-2}, i) + \cdots + d(S_{n-r+1}, i) + d(K_{a_j}, i)$  for  $a_j = \frac{rm-r}{r} = m 1$ , j = 1,2,3, ..., r,  $\forall i < n r$
- ii. By (1)  $d(S_{n-r+1}, n-r) \cap d(K_{m-1,\dots,m-1}, n-r) = 1$  and  $d(S_{n-r+1}, n-r+1) \cap d(S_{n-r+2}, n-r+1) = 1 \dots d(S_{n-1}, n-1) \cap d(S_n, n-1) = 1$ , then  $d(K_r[S_m], i) = d(S_n, i) + d(S_{n-1}, i) + d(S_{n-2}, i) + \dots + d(S_{n-r+1}, i) + d(K_{a_j}, i) 1$ ,  $\forall a_j = \frac{rm-r}{r} = m-1, j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, r, \forall n-r \le i \le n-1$ .  $\Box$

#### **Example 2.5.** Let r = 2, $m \ge 3$ then $n \ge 6$ and $1 \le i \le n$ .

By using Theorems 2.4 and 2.5 we calculate the coefficients of  $D(K_r[S_m], x)$  for  $6 \le n \le 14$  in Table1. Let  $d(K_r[S_m], i) = |D(K_r[S_m], i)|$ . There are interesting relationships between the numbers of  $d(K_r[S_m], i)(1 \le i \le n)$  in the next table.

		i	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
n	r	m														
6	2	3	2	15	20	15	6	1								
8	2	4	2	22	56	70	56	28	8	1						
10	2	5	2	33	112	210	252	210	120	45	10	1				
12	2	6	2	46	200	485	792	924	792	495	220	66	12	1		
14	2	7	2	61	324	971	1990	3003	3432	3003	2002	1001	364	91	14	1

Table 1:  $|\mathcal{D}(G, i)|$  of  $K_r[S_m]$  with cardinality *i* 

**Corollary 2.6.** The following properties held for coefficients of  $D(K_r[S_m], x)$  with order  $n = rm, \forall m \ge 3$ 

- i.  $\gamma(K_r[S_m]) = 1$
- ii.  $d(K_r[S_m], 1) = r$
- iii.  $\delta(K_r[S_m]) = n m + 1$
- iv.  $\Delta(K_r[S_m]) = n 1$

#### Proof

- since  $\gamma(S_m) = 1$ , and by definition of the composition of complete graph and star graph, then i.  $\gamma(K_r[S_m]) = 1.$
- let v be the center vertex of  $S_m$  and since  $K_r$  of order r, and by (i), then  $d(K_r[S_m], 1) = r$ . ii.
- iii. Let  $S_m$  be a star graph contain m-1 end vertices, v be any end vertex of  $S_m$  and u be any vertex of  $K_r$ . So by definition of composition, (u, v) is not adjacent to (m-1) vertices of  $K_r[S_m]$  but adjacent to other vertices of  $K_r[S_m]$ , therefore,  $\delta(K_r[S_m]) = n - (m-1) = n - (m$ m + 1.
- iv. Let  $v \in S_m$ , and v is the center vertex of  $S_m$ , and let  $u_j \in K_r$ , j = 1, 2, ..., r, then by definition of composition  $(u_i, v)$  is adjacent to all vertices of  $K_r[S_m]$ , then  $\Delta(K_r[S_m]) = n - 1$ .  $\Box$

**Proposition 2.7.** The following properties held for all  $D(K_r[S_m], x), \forall m \ge 3$ 

- i.  $D(K_r[S_m], x) = \sum_{i=1}^{m-2} {n \choose i} x^i \sum_{i=1}^{m-2} r {m-1 \choose i} x^i + \sum_{m-1}^{n} {n \choose i} x^i$ ii.  $D(K_r[S_m], x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_n, i) x^i + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n-1}, i) x^i + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n-r+1}i) x^i + \dots$  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} d\left(K_{a_i}, i\right) x^i - \sum_{n-r}^{n-1} x^i$

#### **Proof** :-

i. According to definition of domination polynomial and Theorem 2.4, then

$$D(K_r[S_m], x) = \sum_{i=1}^n d(K_r[S_m], i) x^i = \sum_{i=1}^n \left[ \binom{n}{i} - r\binom{m-1}{i} + \binom{n}{i} \right] x^i$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m-2} \binom{n}{i} x^i - \sum_{i=1}^{m-2} r\binom{m-1}{i} x^i + \sum_{m-1}^n \binom{n}{i} x^i.$$

By using definition of domination polynomial and according to Theorem 2.5, then ii.  $D(K_r[S_m], x) = \sum_{i=1}^n d(K_r[S_m], i) x^i = \sum_{i=1}^n \left[ d(S_n, i) + d(S_{n-1}, i) + d(S_{n-2}, i) + \dots + \right]$  $d(S_{n-r+1},i) + d\left(K_{a_i},i\right) - 1\right]x^i$  $= \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n}, i) x^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n-1}, i) x^{i} + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n-r+1}, i) x^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(K_{a_{i}}, i) x^{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n-1}, i) x^{i} + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n-r+1}, i) x^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(S_{n-r+1}, i$  $\sum_{n=r}^{n-1} x^i \quad \forall \ a_i = m-1, \ j = 1, 2, 3, \dots, r.$ 

**Example 2.8.** Let the graph  $K_2[S_4]$  with order 8, be the composition of  $K_2$  and  $S_4$ , then by Proposition (2.7) we have

$$D(K_{2}[S_{4}], x) = \sum_{i=1}^{2} {\binom{8}{i}} x^{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{2} 2{\binom{3}{i}} x^{i} + \sum_{3}^{8} {\binom{8}{i}} x^{i}$$
  
=  $[8x + 28x^{2}] - [6x + 6x^{2}] + [56x^{3} + 70x^{4} + 56x^{5} + 28x^{6} + 8x^{7} + x^{8}]$   
=  $2x + 22x^{2} + 56x^{3} + 70x^{4} + 56x^{5} + 28x^{6} + 8x^{7} + x^{8}.$  (see figure 2.1)



Figure 2.1:  $K_2[S_4]$ 

#### Conclusion

In this paper, we studied the dominating sets for composition of complete graph and star graph and find the formula of domination polynomial of the composition of a complete graph and star graph.

#### References

1 [1] Ahmed A. O. and Haneen H. O. (2019). " Hn-Domination in Graphs", Baghdad Science Journal, Vol.16(1) Supplement.

[2] Saeid A. and Yee H. P. (2008). "Dominating sets and domination polynomial of cycles", Global Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics,4(2),151–162.

[3] Saeid A. and Yee H. P. (2011). "Domination polynomials of cubic graphs of order 10", Turk. J. Math., 35(3), 355–366.

[4] Saeid A. and Yee H. P. (2014). "Introduction to domination polynomial of a graph", Ars Combin., Vol. 114, 257–266.

[5] Saieed A., Saeid A. and Yee H. P. (2010). "Characterization of graphs using domination polynomial", Europ. J. Combin., Vol 31, 1714–1724.

[6] Saeid A. (2013). "On the domination polynomial of some graph operations", ISRN Combin., Volume 2013, Article ID 146595, 3 pages.

[7] Manal N. A. and Mohammed A. A. (2020). "Pitchfork domination in graphs", Discrete Mathematics, Algorithem and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1142/S1793830920500251.

[8] Manal N. A. and Athraa T. B. (2019). "Variant types of domination in spinner graph", Al-Nahrain Journal, 2, 127-133.

[9] Saeid A. (2013). "Graphs whose certain polynomials have few distinct roots", ISRN Discrete Math., Volume 2013, Article ID 195818, 8pages.

[10] Manal N. A. and Mohammed A. A. (2019). "Pitchfork Domination and It's Inverse for Corona and Join Operations in Graphs", Proceedings of International Mathematical Sciences, 1(2), 51-55.

[11] Brown J. I. and Hickman C. A. (2002). "On chromatic roots of large subdivisions of graphs", Discr. Math., 242, 17–30.

[12] Brown J. I., Hickman C. A. and Nowakowski R. J. (2003). "The Independence Fractal of a Graph", J. Combin. Theory, Series B 87(2), 209–230.

[13] Brown J. I. and Tufts J. (2014). "On the Roots of Domination Polynomials", Graphs Combin., 30(3), 527–547. doi:10.1007/s00373-013-1306-z.

[14] Chudnovsky M. and Seymour P. (2007). "The roots of the independence polynomial of a clawfree graph", J. Comb. Th., B 97(3), 350–357.

[15] Gutman I. (1991). "An Identity for the Independence Polynomials of Trees", Publications Institut Mathematique (Belgrade), 50,19–23.

[16] Gutman I. (1992). "Some Analytic Properties of the Independence and Matching Polynomials", Match. 28, 139–150.

[17] Teresa W. H., Stephen T. H. and Peter J. S. (1998). "Fundamentals of domination in graphs", Marcel Dekker, NewYork.

[18] Kotek T., Preen J. and Tittmann P. "Subset-sum representations of domination polynomials", Graphs Combin. doi:10.1007/s00373-013-1286-z.

[19] Kotek T., Preen J., Simon F., Tittmann P. and Trinks M. (2012). "Recurrence relations and splitting formulas for the domination polynomial", Elec. J. Combin. 19(3), # P47.

- 2 [20] Ali A. J. and Ahmed A. O. (2019). "Domination in discrete topology graph" AIP Conference Proceedings 2183, 030006.
- 3 [21] Saeid A. and Somayeh J. (2018). "Domination polynomial of lexicographic product of specific graph" Journal of information and Optimization Sciences, 39(5), 1019-1028.
- 4 [22] Frank H. (1969). "Graph Theory" Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA.
- 5 [23] Abdul Jalil M. K. and Sahib S. K. (2013). "Dominating Sets and Domination Polynomial of Special Graph with Applications", (un published thesis). University of Kufa, Fauculty of Mathematics and Computer Science, Department of Mathematics.

# Unit Regular Clean Rings

## <sup>1</sup>Israa Th. Younis <sup>2</sup> Prof .Dr. Nazar H. Shuker

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, college of computer science and Mathematics, University of Mosul.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, college of computer science and Mathematics, University of Mosul.

israthanon8080@gmail.com

Abstract. A ring R is called unit regular clean, if every element is the sum of an idempotent and a unit regular elements. In this paper we introduce the notion of unit regular clean ring. we investigate some of it's basic properties and it's relation with clean ring.

Keyword: Clean ring , unit regular ring , unit regular element ,r-clean ring

#### 1- Introduction:

Throughout this paper, R is an associative ring with identity. U(R), Ur(R) and Id(R) are respectively, the set of units, unit regular and idempotent elements. J(R) is the Jacobson radical of R

An element x of a ring R is said to be clean if x = e + u for some  $u \in U(R)$  and  $e \in Id(R)$ . A ring R is called clean if each of its element is clean. Clean ring, was firstly presented by, Nicholson [7]. Many researchers worked on this subject and investigated properties of clean rings, see for example [2, 5, 8, 10]. In 1936 Von Newmann defined that: an element  $r \in R$  is called regular if r = ryr for some  $y \in R$ . The ring R is said to be regular if each of its element is regular, some of the properties of regular rings have been studied in [6]. A ring R is called abelian if every idempotent in R is central [3].

A ring R is said to be unit regular if for each  $a \in R$ , there exists a unit  $u \in R$  such that a = aua. Camillo and Yu [5, Theorem 5] proved that: "every unit regular ring is clean".

In [7], Nicholson and Varadrajan proved that the converse is not necessarily be true. In [1] Ashrafi and Nasibi defined that a ring R is said to be r-clean if every element of it can be written as the sum of idempotent and regular elements.

We say that an element x of a ring R is a unit regular clean (briefly, ur- clean) if x = e + awhere  $a \in (R)$  and  $e \in Id(R)$ .

A ring *R* is said to be *ur*-clean if each of its element is *ur*-clean.

Clearly unit regular rings and clean rings are ur-clean. we also provide an example of ur- clean ring which is not clean. In this work we give some properties of ur- clean rings and its relation with clean ring.

#### 2- Unit regular clean ring

In this section we introduce the notion of unit regular clean ring, we give some of it's properties and provide some examples.

**Definition 2.1** An element x of a ring R is unit regular clean, (briefly, ur- clean) if x = r + e where  $r \in ur(R)$  and  $e \in Id(R)$ . A ring R is ur- clean if each of its elements is ur-clean.

Clearly, unit regular rings and clean rings are *ur*-clean. but the converse is not necessarily be true. as the following example shows.

**Example 2.2** The ring of integers, Modulo 4, Z4 is not unit regular because 2 is not unit regular in Z4. However it is easy to check that Z4 is ur- clean. In general ur- clean is not necessarily be clean see [11, Theorem 4.1].

Next, we shall give part of basic properties of *ur*-clean rings.

**Proposition 2.3:** If *R* is a ring, then  $x \in R$  is *ur*-clean element if and only if (1 - x) is *ur*-clean element.

**Proof:** Let x is ur-clean element then x = e + a where,  $e \in Id(R)$  and  $a \in Ur(R)$ , then

1 - x = (1 - e) + (-a), but (1 - e) is idempotent since

 $(1 - e)^2 = 1 - 2e + e^2 = 1 - 2e + e = 1 - e$ . Clearly  $(-a) \in Ur(R)$  since [a = e. u, a] is unit regular then -a = e(-u) is a unit regular

Hence 1 - x is *ur*-clean element.

Conversely: let (1 - x) is *ur*-clean element then

1 - x = e + a where  $e \in Id(R)$  and  $a \in Ur(R)$ 

-x = e + a - 1 =then, x = (1 - e) - a = (1 - e) + (-a)

(1 - e) is an idempotent and -a is unit regular which implies that x is ur-clean element.

Note that, for any ring R, and any ideal I of R, if R/I is ur-clean then R is not necessarily to be urclean as the following examples shows.

#### Example 2.4:

1- If *P* is prime number then  $Z/p \cong Zp$  is *ur*-clean, but the ring *Z* is not clean.

2- The ring of integers modulo 12, Z12. Let  $I = \{0, 3, 6, 9\}$  be an ideal of Z12. Now Z12/I is *ur*-clean since Z12/I is a field; but Z12 is not *ur*-clean ring.

Following [9], idempotent can be lifted modulo, as one sided ideal I of a ring R if for  $x \in R$ with  $x - x^2 \in I$ , there exists an idempotent  $e \in R$  such that  $e - x \in I$ .

The following result, gives a sufficient condition for R to be ur-clean

**Theorem 2.5:** Let  $I \subseteq J(R)$  be any ideal, of a ring R then R is ur-clean if and only if the quotient ring R/I is ur-clean and idempotent lift modulo I.

Proof: Let  $x + I \in R/I$ ,  $x \in R$  such that x = e + a where e is an idempotent and a is unit regular element.

Now, x + I = e + a + I = (e + I) + (a + I).

Clearly, (e + I) is an idempotent element of R/I and

(a + I) = (aua + I) = (a + I)(u + I)(a + I).

So (a + I) is unit regular then R/I is *ur*-clean ring.

Conversely: Suppose that the quotient ring R/I is ur- clean and idempotent lift modulo I and let r be any element in R. since R/I is ur-clean we can Write

r + I = x + e + I for some unit regular x + I, and idempotent lift modulo I, we assume e is an idempotent of the ring R, since r - e + I = x + I is unit regular element of R/I. So r - e is unit regular of R, it follows that r may be written as the sum of idempotent and unit regular of R by writing, r = (r - e) + e, This proves the sufficiency.

**Theorem 2.6:** If *R* is abelian ur-clean ring and  $2 \in u(R)$ , then every element of *R* can be written as a sum of idempotent and two units.

Proof: Let  $x \in R$ , then x = e + a, where  $e \in Id(R)$ , a = aua, since ua is idempotent say e', then a = u.e'

Let  $v = 2e^{-1}$ , clearly  $v^{2} = 1$  So  $2e^{-1} = v + 1$ , Since  $2 \in U(R)$  then  $e^{-1} = 2 - 1v + 2 - 1$ . So  $a = u \cdot e^{-1} = u(2 - 1v + 2 - 1)$ 

= u 2 - 1 v + u 2 - 1 = u 1 + u 2

Hence  $x = e^{+} + u1 + u2$ .

In [4] Camillo and Khurana gave the following result.

If *a* is unit regular element then a = e + u and  $a \in \mathbb{R} = 0$ .

**Theorem 2.7:** Let R be abelian ur-clean ring , for any  $x \in R$  there exists an idempotent e, such that ex is idempotent.

Proof: Since x is ur- clean, then  $x = e_1 + a$  where  $e_1$  is idempotent and a is unit regular then a = e + u and  $a \in R \cap e = 0$ 

Since  $ae = ea \in aR \cap eR$ , then ae = 0. So  $ex = ee_1 + ea$ , then  $ex = e.e_1$ , since e and  $e_1$  are central idempotents, then  $ee_1$  is idempotent.

In [1] Ashrafi proved that "if R be an abelian r-clean ring, then *eRe* is also r-clean ring". We do like wise of ur- clean ring.

**Theorem 2.8:** Let R be an abelian *ur*-clean ring then *eRe* is also ur- clean ring.

**Proof:** Let  $a \in eRe \subseteq R$ , then  $a = e_1 + r$  and  $e_1r = re_1$  where  $e_1$  is idempotent and  $r \in Ur(R)$  where R is ur-clean.

Since  $a \in eRe$ , then  $a = ee_1e + er'e$ , it follows that  $a = e_1e + r'e$  we want to show that re is unit regular and  $e_1e$  is an idempotent.

for this consider  $(e_1e)^2 = (e_1e) \cdot (e_1e) = e_1 (e_1)e = e_1 (e_1e) e$ 

$$= e_1 e_1$$
 (ee)  $= (e_1^2 e_2^2) = e_1 e_1^2$ 

Therefore  $e_1e$  is idempotent.

Now consider  $eue \in eRe$ 

$$(re) (eue) (re) = (re) (eue)(er) = (re) u (er)$$
  
=  $(er) u (er) = e (rur) e = ere \in eRe$ 

Then *re* is unit regular, implies that eRe is *ur*-clean ring.

**Theorem 2.9**: Let *R* be a ring with every  $a \in R$  there is  $b \in R$ , such that  $a + b \in J(R)$  and  $a \cdot b = a$ , Then R is ur-clean

**Proof:** Let  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ , then there is  $b \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $a + b \in J(\mathbb{R})$  and  $a \cdot b = a$ 

Then  $a + b - 1 \in U(R)$ . Let a + b - 1 = u. Now  $au = a(a + b - 1) = a^2 + ab - a = a^2$ 

So  $au = a^2$  , and hence  $a = a^2u - 1$ 

Therefore *a* is unit regular. If we write a = 0 + a, then *R* is *ur*-clean.

**Theorem 2.10:** Let R be a ring with every a in R there is b in R such that a + b is unit and a. b = 0, Then R is reduced ur-clean ring.

Proof: Let *a* ∈ *R*, then there exists *b* ∈ *R* such that *a* + *b* is unit and *a*. *b* = *o* Now, if we set *a* + *b* = *v* then *av* = a(a + b) = a2 + ab = a2. Clearly R is reduced ring, if a2 = o, then av = 0 implies that, a = o. So a = a2 v - 1 this implies a (1 - av - 1) = 0. Hence  $1 - av - 1 \in r(a) = e(a)$ . Then (1 - av - 1) a = o. Hence a = av - 1 a, so it unit regular. If we set a = 0 + a then *a* is *ur* -clean.

#### 3- The relation between *ur*-clean and clean rings

In this section we give the relationship between ur-clean and clean rings. Clearly every clean ring is ur-clean ring since unit is unit regular, but the converse is not necessarily be true.

**Theorem 3.1:** Let *R* be an abelian ring, then *R* is *ur*-clean if and only if *R* is clean.

Proof: One direction is trivial.

Conversely: let R be ur-clean ring and  $x \in R$ , then x = e + r where  $e \in Id(R)$  and  $r \in Ur(R)$ . So there is  $u \in R$  such that rur = r

Clearly e = r.u and u.r are idempotents and

(re' + (1 - e')(ue' + (1 - e')) = 1, also since R is abelian we have

$$(ue` + (1 - e`))(re` + (1 - e`)) = 1$$
 then

(re` + (1 - e`)) is unit and hence e`u + (1 - e`) is unit

-(e`u + (1 - e`)) is a unit ,since 1 - e is idempotent

So,  $-r = (1 - e^{i}) + (-(e^{i}u + (1 - e^{i})))$  is clean that is x is clean. ■

**Theorem 3.2:** Let R be abelian *ur*-clean ring such that each pair of distinct idempotents in R are orthogonal then *R* is clean.

**Proof:** Since every abelian regular ring is clean then for each  $\in R$ , x can be written as  $x = e_1 + e_2 + a$  where  $e_1, e_2 \in Id(R)$  and  $a \in ur(R)$ 

Now since  $e_1, e_2$  are orthogonal then  $e = e_1 + e_2 \in Id(R)$  and hence x = e + a which shows that R is clean.

- **Theorem 3.3:** If *R* is a directly finite *ur*-clean ring, and 0 and 1, are the only idempotents in *R*, then *R* is clean.
- **Proof:** Since R is ur-clean ring, each  $x \in R$  can be written as x = r + e, where r is a unit regular element and e is an idempotent element of R.

If r = 0, then

x = e = (2e - 1) + (1 - e). Also, since (2e - 1) is a unit of R and (1 - e) is an idempotent element of R, so x is a clean. Hence R is clean.

If  $r \neq 0$ , then there exists  $u \in R$  such that rur = r. Thus ru an idempotent element of R.

So by hypothesis, ru = 0 or ru = 1.

Now if ru = 0, then r = rur = 0, which is contradiction. Therefore

ru = 1 and since R is directly finite so ur = ru = 1.

Thus, r is a unit of R. So x is clean element, and hence R is clean ring.

- **Theorem 3.4:** Let R be abelian ring and for every  $a \in R$ , there exists  $b \in R$  such that  $a + b \in Ur(R)$ and a. b = 0, then there is e in R such that ae is clean element.
- **Proof:** Let  $a \in R$ , and  $a + b \in Ur(R)$  then  $a + b = e_1 \cdot u$  where e is idempotent and u is unit. Now
- $a (a + b) = ae_1 \cdot u$  so,  $a^2 = ae_1 u$  and hence  $ae_1 = a^2 u - 1$ , so  $ae_1 = (ae_1)^2 \cdot u - 1$  clearly  $ae_1e_2 + (e_2 - 1)$  is unit since

 $(ae_1e_2 + )(e_2 - 1))(e_2u - 1 + (e_2 - 1)) = 1$  where  $e_2 = ae_1u - 1$ 

So  $ae_1e_2 + e_2^{-1} = v$  and hence  $ae_1e_2 = 1 - e_2 + v$  but  $e_1e_2$  is idempotent say e so  $ae = (1 - e_2) + v$ 

This means that ae is clean element and hence it is ur-clean.

#### References

- [1] Ashrafi, N., Sheibani, M., Chen, H.: Rings involving idempotent, units and nilpotent elements. arXiv:1411.0119 (2014)
- [2] Anderson D.D. and V.P. Camillo, Commutative rings whose elements are a sum of a unit and an idempotent. Comm. Algebra 30 (7) (2002), 3327–3336.
- [3] Agayev N., A. Harmanci and S. Halicioglu, On Abelian Rings 34(2010), 465-474.

- [4] Camillo V.P., Khurana D. A characterization of unit-regular rings. Comm Algebra 29 (5) (2001), 2293-2295.
- [5] Camillo V.P. and H.-P. Yu, Exchange rings, unit and idempotent. Comm. Algebra 22 (12)(1994), 4737–4749.
- [6] Goodearl K.R., Von Neumann Regular Rings. Second Edition, Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co. Inc., Malabar, FL, 1991.
- [7] Nicholson W.K., and K. Varadarajan, Countable liner transformations are clean. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 126 (1998), 61–64.
- [8] Nicholson W.K. and Y. Zhou, Rings in which elements are uniquely the sum of an idempotent and a unit. Glasg. Math. J. 46 (2) (2004), 227–236.
- [9] Nicholson W.K., Lifting idempotent and exchange rings. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 229 (1977), 269–278.
- [10] Nicholson W.K. and J., Extensions of clean rings. Comm. Algebra 29 (6) (2001), 2589–2595.
- [11]Wu Y., Tang G., Deng G., Zhou Y., Nil-clean and regular elements, Research Gate, June 2017

# Using Modified Conjugate Gradient Method to Improve SCA

# Ayad Hamad Khalaf<sup>1</sup>, Prof. Dr. Ban Ahmed Mitras<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Student, department of mathematics, college of computer sciences & mathematics, Mosul University. Email: <u>ayadlohebe@Gmail.com</u>

<sup>2</sup> Prof. Dr. department of mathematics, college of computer sciences & mathematics, Mosul University. Email: <u>dr.banah.mitras@Gmail.com</u>

Abstract: This research is to improve Sine - Cosine Algorithm (SCA) that is like any other intelligent techniques that encounter some problem such as slow convergence and the dropping in local solution. To overcome these problems. SCA has been developed and improved through three directions, First: Hybrid of SCA with Modified conjugate gradient method (MCG) that has improved through that derivation of parameter of new conjugate factor ( $\beta^{new}$ ) and attest its characteristic such as descent and global to construct improve algorithm called SCA-MCG. The second direction was a hybrid of SCA with classic optimization methods such as conjugate gradient (CG) algorithm to construct SCA-CG, , and parallel Tangent (PT) algorithm to construct SCA-PT. Third combining both previous methods, using the Hybrid value with SCA to construct SCA-CG-PT Algorithm of high quality accounts in all directions mentioned above. To improve the initial population which randomly generated by using excellent characteristics of MCG-CG-PT as well as using this improvement as initial population for SCA. Numerical results have proved the efficiency of improved Algorithm and the results was excellent if we compared with SCA. In addition, we got optimum global values for most functions by achieving functions minimum.

Keyword: SCA algorithm, meta-heuristic algorithms, conjugate gradient and PARTAN methods

#### 1. Introduction:

Optimization refers to the finding optimum values of the given system facts, for all possible values. In mathematics, it means to find minimum or maximum value of a function contains a certain number of variants. It can found in all fields of study that seek to develop basic optimization techniques so it is of a high importance for most researchers in their works. Optimization started in 1960 through many directions and methods through 2 main parts of algorithms, the first is Deterministic, and the other is Stochastic. Most of classical algorithms are deterministic, such as CG, PARTAN, QN, and others. Most of them based on slope or what called derivation, (derivation base algorithm). The second part of algorithm, Stochastic that is divided into Heuristic and meta-heuristic. It is important to mention that, recent trends of study refer to the lack of certain definition of these Heuristic and Meta Heuristic. (Glover 1986).

SCA is a Heuristic and inspired by sine and cosine functions. It suggested by (Seyedali Marjalili 2016) to solve optimization and apply it to improve airplanes' performance [9]. Many improvement and modifications as well as Hybrid suggested. In 2017, (simye ,Busra,Pakite) present a study about Constructed optimization problems using SCA[6]. Same year witnessed presenting another study of a Hybrid of SCA to solve global optimization problems by (R.M,rizk Allah) [13], In 2018 Zhiliujun, Chiver, et al) present a study about Modifuing SCA based on search of circular uninvited adjunct. In

the same year, (Ramzy Ali, Dunisis) present a study about Chaotic SCA[12]. Finally, in 2019 (yasmin, R.sindhu et. al.) present a study of SCA Hybrid using biogeography for problems of choosing merit [14]. In the same year (mouhoub, Mohamed, et al.) present a study about improving SCA to choose merit in sorting texts [2]. Two researchers (Lalit, Kusum) present a research paper about choosing merit [8]. (Chandrasekaran), also, present a study to improve SCA on the problem of sending Dynamic economy [3]. (Gholizadeh1, S. & Sojoudizadeh) present a study to modified sine cosine algorithm for Sizing Optimization of Truss Structures [7]. With an explanation of CG method to show its characteristic. Since it is one of the classical methods and use it in generating initial community used with SCA, using its characteristics to get optimum and global solution. PT and its uses with SCA had referred to also. After checking results, we made third modification by combining CG and PT with SCA. The numerical results were better when applied on special functions. Finally, new conjugate factor had derived, and then its globalization and slope was a tested.

It show efficiency when used in Hybrid SCA plus combining suggested and Classical and Heuristic to produce improved and Hybrid algorithm of high Characteristic tested on a set of special functions. The problem of the research focused on finding global optimum solutions for optimization problems to get rid of slow convergence, and fall in local solutions.

The study aims at presenting improved algorithm that hybrid of sine-cosine algorithm SCA with a set of classical algorithms named as SCA-MCG, SCA-CG, SCA-PT and SCA-CG-PT.

#### 2. Conjugate Gradient Method:

In unconstrained optimization, we minimize an objective function that depends on real variables with no restrictions on the values of these variables. The unconstrained optimization problem is:

$$Min \quad f(x): x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{1}$$

Where  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuously differentiable function, bounded from down. A nonlinear conjugate gradient method generates a sequence  $\{x_k\}, k$  is integer number,  $k \ge 0$ . Starting from an initial point  $x_0$ , the value of  $x_k$  calculate by the following equation:

$$x_{k+1} = x_k + \lambda_k d_k \,, \tag{2}$$

Where the positive step size  $\lambda_k > 0$  obtained by a line search and the directions  $d_k$  generated as:

$$d_{k+1} = -g_{k+1} + \beta_k d_k,$$
(3)

Where  $d_0 = -g_0$ , the value of  $\beta_k$  is determine according to the algorithm of Conjugate Gradient (CG), and its known as a conjugate gradient parameter,  $s_k = x_{k+1} - x_k$  and  $g_k = \nabla f(x_k) = f'(x_k)$ , consider  $\|.\|$  is the Euclidean norm, and  $y_k = g_{k+1} - g_k$ . The termination conditions for the

conjugate gradient line search often based on some version of the Wolfe conditions . The standard Wolfe conditions [4]:

$$f(x_{k} + \lambda_{k}d_{k}) - f(x_{k}) \leq \rho\lambda_{k}g_{k}^{T}d_{k}, \qquad (4)$$

$$g(x_k + \lambda_k d_k)^T d_k \ge \sigma g_k^T d_k, \qquad (5)$$

Where  $d_k$  is a descent search direction and  $0 < \rho \le \sigma < 1$ , where  $\beta_k$  defined by one of the following formulas:

$$\beta_{k}^{(HS)} = \frac{y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1}}{y_{k}^{T} d_{k}}; \quad \beta_{k}^{(FR)} = \frac{g_{k+1}^{T} g_{k+1}}{g_{k}^{T} g_{k}}; \quad \beta_{k}^{(PRP)} = \frac{y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1}}{g_{k}^{T} g_{k}}$$
(6)

$$\beta_{k}^{(CD)} = -\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}g_{k+1}}{g_{k}^{T}d_{k}} ; \beta_{k}^{(LS)} = -\frac{y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1}}{g_{k}^{T}d_{k}} ; \beta_{k}^{(DY)} = \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}g_{k+1}}{y_{k}^{T}s_{k}}$$
(7)

Al-Bayati and Al-Assady In (Al-Bayati and Al-Assady, 1986) proposed three forms for the scalar  $\beta_k$  defined by [1]:

$$\beta_{k}^{AB1} = \frac{\left\|y_{k}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k}\right\|^{2}} \quad ; \quad \beta_{k}^{AB2} = -\frac{\left\|y_{k}\right\|^{2}}{d_{k}^{T}g_{k}} \quad ; \quad \beta_{k}^{AB3} = \frac{\left\|y_{k}\right\|^{2}}{d_{k}^{T}y_{k}} \tag{8}$$

#### 3. Extension Dai and Yuan Method:

Yabe and Sakaiwa in 2005 extended the Dai and Yuan method as [4]:

$$\beta_{k} = \frac{\left\| g_{k+1} \right\|^{2}}{\tau_{k+1}}$$
(9)

Where  $\tau_{k+1}$  be a positive parameter.

By setting  $\tau_k = d_k^T y_k$  formula (9) reduce to this DY method as:

$$\beta_{k}^{DY} = \frac{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{d_{k}^{T} y_{k}}$$
(10)

#### 4. Proposed A New Conjugancy Coefficient:

We have the quasi-Newton condition

$$y_k = G_k s_k \tag{11}$$

Where  $G_k = \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_k^2}$  is the Hessian Matrix

We multiply both sides of equation (11) by  $s_k$  and we get

$$\left[y_k = G_k s_k\right] * s_k \tag{12}$$

$$\Rightarrow y_k^T s_k = G s_k^T s_k \tag{13}$$

$$G = \frac{y_k^T s_k}{\left\|s_k\right\|^2} I_{nxn}$$
(14)

Where I is the identity matrix

Let 
$$d_{k+1}^N = -G_k^{-1}g_{k+1}$$
 (15)

Eq. (15) is the Newton direction. From eq.(15) and (15) we get:

$$d_{k+1}^{N} = -\frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\left\|s_{k}\right\|^{2}} g_{k+1}$$
(16)

Multiply both sides of equation (16) by  $y_k^T$  and we get

$$y_{k}^{T}d_{k+1}^{N} = -\left[\frac{y_{k}^{T}s_{k}}{\left\|s_{k}\right\|^{2}}\right]y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1}$$
(17)

$$\Rightarrow y_k^T d_{k+1}^{CG} = -y_k^T g_{k+1} + \beta_k d_k^T y_k$$
<sup>(18)</sup>

From (17) and (18) we have:

$$-y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1} + \beta_{k}d_{k}^{T}y_{k} = -\left[\frac{y_{k}^{T}s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1}$$
(19)

-

We assume that 
$$\beta_k = \beta_k^{(DY)} = \frac{g_{k+1}^T g_{k+1}}{y_k^T d_k}$$

Then we have

$$-y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1} + \frac{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{d_{k}^{T}y_{k}}d_{k}^{T}y_{k} = -\left[\frac{y_{k}^{T}s_{k}}{\left\|s_{k}\right\|^{2}}\right]y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1}$$
(20)

From eq. (9) we get:

$$-y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1} + \beta_{k}\tau_{k} = -\left[\frac{y_{k}^{T}s_{k}}{\left\|s_{k}\right\|^{2}}\right]y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1}$$
(21)

Then, we have

$$\beta_{k} = \frac{-\left[\frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right] y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} + y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1}}{\tau_{k}}$$
(22)

Since  $\tau_{k+1} > 0$  then from [5], we have:  $\tau_k = \lambda = \left[\frac{\|s_k\|^2}{2(f_k - f_{k+1}) + 2g_{k+1}^T s_k}\right]$  then:

$$\beta_{k} = \left( -\left[ \frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\left\| s_{k} \right\|^{2}} \right] y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} + y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \right) \div \frac{\left\| s_{k} \right\|^{2}}{2(f_{k} - f_{k+1}) + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k}}$$
(23)

$$\beta_{k} = \left( -\left[ \frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}} \right] y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} + y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \right) \times \frac{\left( 2(f_{k} - f_{k+1}) + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k} \right)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}$$
(24)

$$\beta_{k} = \left(1 - \left[\frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \cdot \left(2(f_{k} - f_{k+1}) + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k}\right)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}$$
(25)

Let  $A = f_k - f_{k+1}$  then:

$$\beta_{k} = \left(1 - \left[\frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \cdot \left(2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k}\right)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}$$
(26)

Or

$$\beta_{k} = \frac{1}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}} \left( \left[ 1 - \frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}} \right] y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \left( 2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k} \right) \right)$$
(27)

#### 4.1 Outlines of the Proposed Algorithm:

Step (1):*The initial step*: We select starting point  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and we select the accuracy solution  $\varepsilon > 0$  is a small positive real number and

we find 
$$d_k = -g_k$$
,  $\lambda_0 = Min ary(g_0)$ , and we set  $k = 0$ .

Step (2): *The convergence test*: If  $||g_k|| \le \varepsilon$  then stop and set the optimal

solution is  $x_k$ . Else, go to step (3).

Step (3): *The line search*: We compute the value of  $\lambda_k$  by Cubic method and that satisfy the Wolfe conditions in Eqs. (4),(5) and go to step(4).

Step (4): Update the variables:  $x_{k+1} = x_k + \lambda_k d_k$  and compute  $f(x_{k+1}), g_{k+1}$ 

and  $s_k = x_{k+1} - x_k$ ,  $y_k = g_{k+1} - g_k$ .

Step (5): *Check:* if  $\|g_{k+1}\| \leq \varepsilon$  then stop. Else continue.

Step (6): *The search direction*: We compute the scalar  $\beta_k^{(New)}$  by use the

equation (27) and set k = k + 1, and go to step (4).

#### 5. The Convergence Analysis:

#### Theoretical Properties for the New CG-Method.

In this section, we focus on the convergence behavior on the  $\beta_k^{New}$  method with exact line searches. Hence, we make the following basic assumptions on the objective function.

#### Assumption 1:

f Is bounded below in the level set  $L_{x_0} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n | f(x) \le f(x_0)\}$ ; in some neighborhood U of the level set  $L_{x_0}$ , f is continuously differentiable and its gradient  $\nabla f$  is Lipchitz continuous in the level set  $L_{x_0}$ , namely, there exists a constant L> 0 such that:

$$\left\|\nabla f(x) - \nabla f(y)\right\| \le L \|x - y\| \text{ for all } x, y \in L_{x_0}$$

$$\tag{28}$$

#### 5.1 Sufficient Descent Property:

We will show that in this section the proposed algorithm that defined in the equations (27) and (3) satisfy the sufficient descent property that satisfy the convergence property.

#### **Theorem 1:**

The search direction  $d_k$  that generated by the proposed algorithm of modified CG satisfy the descent property for all k, when the step size  $\lambda_k$  satisfied the Wolfe conditions (4),(5).

**Proof:** we will use the indication to prove the descent property, for k = 0,  $d_0 = -g_0 \Longrightarrow d_0^T g_0 = -||g_0|| < 0$ , then we proved that the theorem is true for k = 0, we assume that  $||s_k|| \le \eta$ ;  $||g_{k+1}|| \le \Gamma$  and  $||g_k|| \le \eta$ 1 and assume that the theorem is true for any k i.e.  $d_k^T g_k < 0$  or  $s_k^T g_k < 0$  since  $s_k = \lambda_k d_k$ , now we will prove that the theorem is true for k+1 then:

$$d_{k+1} = -g_{k+1} + \beta_k^{(New)} d_k$$
<sup>(29)</sup>

$$\beta_{k}^{new} = \left(1 - \left[\frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \cdot \left(2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k}\right)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}$$
(30)

i.e. 
$$d_{k+1} = -g_{k+1} + \left(1 - \left[\frac{y_k^T s_k}{\|s_k\|^2}\right]\right) \frac{y_k^T g_{k+1} \cdot (2A + 2g_{k+1}^T s_k)}{\|s_k\|^2} d_k$$
 (31)

Multiply both sides of the equation (31) by  $g_{k+1}^T$  we get:

$$g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} = -\|g_{k+1}\|^{2} + \left(1 - \left[\frac{y_{k}^{T}s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1} \cdot \left(2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T}s_{k}\right)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}} \cdot g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}$$
(32)

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \|g_{k+1}\|^{2}}{\|g_{k+1}\|^{2}} \leq \left(1 - \left[\frac{\|y_{k}\|\|s_{k}\|}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1} \cdot (2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T}s_{k})}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}} \cdot \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}}{\|g_{k+1}\|^{2}}$$
(33)

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \leq \left(y_{k}^{T}g_{k+1}\right) \frac{\left(2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T}s_{k}\right)}{\left\|s_{k}\right\|^{2}} \cdot \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}$$
(34)

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \leq \left(\left\|y_{k}\right\|\right\|g_{k+1}\right\|\right) \frac{\left(2A + 2\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|\|s_{k}\right\|\right)}{\left\|s_{k}\right\|^{2}} \cdot \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}$$
(35)

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \le \left(2A + 2\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|\right\|s_{k}\right\|\right) \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|\left\|s_{k}\right\|}$$
(36)

Using strong Wolfe condition

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \leq 2A \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|\left\|s_{k}\right\|} + 2\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|\left\|s_{k}\right\| \frac{-\rho g_{k}^{T}d_{k}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|\left\|s_{k}\right\|}$$
(37)

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \leq 2A \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|\left\|s_{k}\right\|}$$
(38)

Using S=λd

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \leq \frac{2A}{\lambda} \frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\| \left\|d_{k}\right\|} \leq 1$$
(39)

Where  $0 < \lambda < 1$ 

$$\frac{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \ge \frac{\lambda}{2A} \frac{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\| \left\|d_{k}\right\|}{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k}} = \delta > 1$$
(40)

$$\frac{g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}}{\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}} \le \frac{1}{\delta}$$
(41)

$$g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} + \left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2} \le \frac{1}{\delta}\left\|g_{k+1}\right\|^{2}$$
(42)

$$g_{k+1}^{T}d_{k+1} \le -(1-\frac{1}{\delta}) \|g_{k+1}\|^{2}$$
(43)

Let 
$$c = (1 - \frac{1}{\delta})$$
 (44)

Then  $g_{k+1}^T d_{k+1} \le -c \|g_{k+1}\|^2$  (45)

For some positive constant c>0. This condition has often used to analyze the global convergence of conjugate gradient methods with inexact line search.

#### 5.2 Global Convergence Property:

The conclusion of the following lemma used to prove the global convergence of nonlinear conjugate gradient methods, under the general Wolfe line search.

#### Lemma 1:

Suppose assumptions (1) (i) and (ii) hold and consider any conjugate gradient method (27) and (3), where  $d_k$  is a descent direction and  $\lambda_k$  is obtained by the strong Wolfe line search. If

$$\sum_{k\geq 1}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{\left\|\boldsymbol{d}_{k}\right\|^{2}} = \boldsymbol{\alpha}$$

$$\tag{46}$$

Then 
$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \inf \|g_k\| = 0 \tag{47}$$

For uniformly convex functions that satisfy the above assumptions, we can prove that the norm of  $d_{k+1}$  given by (27) is bounded above. Assume that the function f is a uniformly convex function, i.e. there exists a constant  $\mu \ge 0$  such that for all  $x, y \in S$ ,

$$(g(x) - g(y))^{T} (x - y) \ge \mu \|x - y\|^{2},$$
(48)

Using lemma 1 the following result can be proved.

#### Theorem 2:

Suppose that the assumptions (i) and (ii) hold. Consider the algorithm (3), (27). If  $||s_k||$  tends to zero, and there exists nonnegative constants  $\eta 1$  and  $\eta 2$  such that:

$$\|g_k\|^2 \ge \eta 1 \|s_k\|^2, \qquad \|g_{k+1}\|^2 \ge \eta 2 \|s_k\|$$
(49)

and f is a uniformly convex function, then.

$$\lim \inf_{k \to \infty} \|g_k\| = 0 \tag{50}$$

# *Proof:* From eq. (27) We have:

$$\beta_{k}^{new} = \left(1 - \left[\frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \cdot \left(2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k}\right)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}$$

$$\left|\beta_{k}^{new}\right| = \left|\left(1 - \left[\frac{y_{k}^{T} s_{k}}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{y_{k}^{T} g_{k+1} \cdot \left(2A + 2g_{k+1}^{T} s_{k}\right)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right|$$
(51)

(52)

$$\leq \left(1 - \left[\frac{\|y_{k}\| \|s_{k}\|}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}\right]\right) \frac{\|y_{k}\| \|g_{k+1}\| (2A+2\|g_{k+1}\| \|s_{k}\|)}{\|s_{k}\|^{2}}$$
(53)

$$\leq \left( \left\| y_{k} \right\| \left\| g_{k+1} \right\| \right) \frac{\left( 2A + 2 \left\| g_{k+1} \right\| \left\| s_{k} \right\| \right)}{\left\| s_{k} \right\|^{2}}$$
(54)

But  $||y_k|| \le L ||s_k||$ ,. Then

$$\leq \left(L \| s_{k} \| \| g_{k+1} \| \right) \frac{\left(2A + 2 \| g_{k+1} \| \| s_{k} \| \right)}{\| s_{k} \|^{2}}$$
(55)

$$\leq \left(L \|g_{k+1}\|\right) \frac{\left(2A + 2 \|g_{k+1}\| \|s_k\|\right)}{\|s_k\|} \tag{56}$$

$$\leq \left(L\Gamma\right)\frac{\left(2A+2\Gamma\eta\right)}{\left\|s_{k}\right\|}\tag{57}$$

Hence,

$$\|d_{k+1}\| \le \|g_{k+1}\| + |\beta_k^N| \|s_k\|$$
(58)

#### 6. Parallel Tangent Method:

The name of parallel tangent (PARTAN) has no significance as far as the mechanics of the search procedure are concerned; however, the name has an interesting geometrical origin, which shown in the two-dimensional case of Fig. 1. [10].



Figure 1. Locus of the search for a quadratic function.

The strong point common to all PARTAN methods, is that the acceleration step from  $x_0$  through  $x_2$  to  $x_3$  is taken through the two points  $x_0$  and  $x_2$  at which the two parallel lines  $L_0$  and  $L_2$  are tangent to the equi-magnitude contours. To see this consider any two lines in the  $x_1x_2$  plane which are parallel and which intersect a straight ravine of  $f(x_1, x_2)$  (Fig. (2)). Observed that the point of tangency defines a line, which parallels the ravine. Hence, by searching along the parallel ravine-line, we effectively follow the ridge. The gradient descent searches are used to find  $x_1, x_2, x_4, x_6, \ldots$  and acceleration steps are used to locate  $x_3, x_5, x_7, x_9, \ldots$ . With PARTAN, the acceleration steps conducted through the following pairs of points:

$$(x_0, x_2), (x_1, x_4), (x_3, x_6), \dots, (x_{2k-3}, x_{2k}), \dots$$

The locus of the gradient-PARTAN search would look as depicted in Fig. (3) below.



Figure 2. The path taken by the gradient-PARTAN.

6.1. A General Outlines of the PARTAN Algorithm:

Starting procedure: For the first step,

Let,  $d_0 = -g_0$  and  $x_1 = x_0 + \lambda_0 d_0$ , Next, choose  $d_2 = -g_2$ 

Then, the fourth point is generated by moving in direction that is collinear with  $(x_3-x_1)$  so that  $d_3 = -(x_3-x_1)$ 

This referred to as an acceleration step. Continuing the procedure:

After determining  $x_4$ , the procedure continued by successively alternating gradient and acceleration steps. Thus

$$d_i = -g_i$$
 for  $i = 0, 2, ..., 2n-2$  (62)

$$d_i = -(x_i - x_{i-2})$$
 for  $i = 3, 5, ..., 2n - 1$  (63)

This method will reach the minimum of an n dimensional quadratic surface in no more than 2n steps[11].

#### 7. Sine - Cosine Algorithm (SCA):

Mathematical sine - cosine algorithm is one of the meta-heuristic suggest by (Seyedali Marjalili 2016) which depends in general on sine and cosine functions that starts with improving a set of arbitrary solutions , then we estimate these solutions repeatedly using objective function which improved by a set of rules representing the essence of improving technique . Since techniques based on community aim at optimization for improving problems, there no guarantee to find solution in one term. With existence of a sufficient number of arbitrary solutions and improving steps (repetition), there is high probability to get optimum solutions and global values. SCA method based on finding and improving solutions, changing

$$X_{k}^{t+1} = X_{k}^{t} + r_{1} \times \sin(r_{2}) \times \left| r_{3} P_{k}^{t} - X_{k}^{t} \right|$$
(64)

$$X_{k}^{t+1} = X_{k}^{t} + r_{1} \times \cos(r_{2}) \times \left| r_{3} P_{k}^{t} - X_{kk}^{t} \right|$$
(65)

Where sine and cosine, are the well know Mathematic functions.  $X_i^{t}$  is the present solution position in dimension i-th, With repetition t-th . r1, r2, r3, are arbitrary numbers, as well as || absolute value, r4 is an arbitrary number with in period [0,1]. [9]

If we combined eqs.(64) and (65), we get the following:

$$X_{k}^{t+1} = \begin{cases} X_{k}^{t} + r_{1} \times \sin(r_{2}) \times \left| r_{3} P_{k}^{t} - X_{k}^{t} \right|, & r_{4} < 0.5 \\ X_{k}^{t} + r_{1} \times \cos(r_{2}) \times \left| r_{3} P_{k}^{t} - X_{kk}^{t} \right| & r_{4} \ge 0.5 \end{cases}$$
(66)

Where  $r_4$  is a random number

The range of sine and cosine in Eqs. (64) to (66) changed using:

$$r_1 = a - t \frac{a}{T} \qquad . \tag{67}$$

Where t is current iteration; T maximum number of iterations and a is a constant.

#### 7.1. Outlines of SCA :

Step (1): Select arbitrary initial community (search agents) solutions X.

Step (2): Calculate cost function for each search agents.

- Step (3): Return best solution.
- Step (4): Select best search agent according to cost function.
- Step (5): Update  $r_1, r_2, r_3$  and  $r_4$ .
- Step (6): Update search agent position using the equation (64).

Step (7): While t < max no. iterations, go to step 2.

Step (8): Return best solution you got according to its degree to get global solution [9].

#### 8. Modified Conjugate Gradient method (MCG)

It is a Hybrid method, where a conjugate factor that derived and used in Modifying conjugate Gradient algorithm CG, PT in addition to SCA method to produce on improved algorithm of high efficiency:

#### Below Improved method.

Step (1): Preparing and generating the initial community.

Step (2): improving Initial community by MCG, CG and PT.

Step (3): Calculating suitability function of improved community.

- Step (4): Calculating the best position of all search agents to produce Improved new generation.
- Step (5): Updating position of each search agents using the SCA algorithm
- Step (6): SCA works by using certain repetitions until to reach optimum value or achieve the stop condition when it finish repetition case.
- Step (7): To get either minimum value of the function or about or to get the global value.

The following figure represent the new SCA-MCG algorithm



Figure (3): The Proposed SCA-MCG algorithm

#### 9. Practical part:

To evaluate action and probability of the suggested algorithm in solving optimization problems and getting best results. It applied on a set of standard functions mentioned in table (1), to compare with SCA itself. This table includes test functions, functions extends, minimums and maximums, as well as its ( $F_{min}$ ).

Function	Dim	Range	$\mathbf{F}_{\min}$
$F_1(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2$	30	[-100,100]	0
$F_2(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n (\sum_{j=1}^n x_i)^2$	30	[-100,100]	0
$F_3(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} ix_i^4 + random[0,1)$	30	[-1.28,1.28]	0
$F_4(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n [x_i^2 - 10\cos(2\pi x_i) + 10]$	30	[-5.12,5.12]	0
$F_5(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2 - \prod_{i=1}^{n} \cos\left(\frac{x_i}{\sqrt{i}}\right) + 1$	30	[-600,600]	0
$F_6 = 4x_1^2 - 2.1x_1^4 + \frac{1}{3}x_1^6 + x_1x_2 - 4x_2^2 + 4x_2^4$	2	[-5,5]	-1.031
$F_7(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n -x_i \sin(\sqrt{ x_i })$	30	[-500,500]	-418.9
$F_8(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n  x_i  + \prod_{i=1}^n  x_i $	30	[-10,10]	0
$F_9(x) = max_i \{  x_i  . 1 \le i \le n \}$	30	[-100,100]	0
$F_{10}(x) = -20 \exp\left(-0.2\sqrt{\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^{n}x_{i}^{2}}\right) - \exp\left(\frac{1}{n}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\cos^{2}x_{i}^{2}\right)$	$r(2\pi x_i) + 20$	0+e 30 [-32,32]	0

Table 1. Test Function

In Tables (2-4) Functions mentioned below have been applied on all mentioned algorithm. Results show the difference SCA and its improving methods, we notice that we got global values in most function which refers that improving methods for SCA, were of high efficiency, and In Tables (2-4) we notice the efficiency of the algorithms that are directly proportional to the increase in the number of search elements. The more the number of search elements increases, the better the numerical results. Note that function  $F_{10}$  gives constant results for all methods used and for all the number of different elements.

Function	SCA	SCA-CG	SCA-PT	SCA-CG-PT	SCA-MCG
F1	2.00E-30	1.46E-226	1.27E-227	0	0
F2	2.13E-26	6.41E-210	1.64E-222	0	0
F3	4.17E-78	0	0	0	0
F4	0	0	0	0	0
F5	0.0026593	0	0	0	0
F6	-1.0316	-1	-1	0	0
F7	-1257.2739	-6.70E-18	-4.08E-22	-6.05E-173	0
F8	<b>7.</b> 04E-20	1 <b>.</b> 23E-117	1 <b>.</b> 22E-116	2.27E-215	0
F9	3.71E-13	6.54E-111	2.09E-109	5.50E-211	0
F10	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16

Table 2. compare SCA with all other Proposed Hybrid methods at No. of element =10and iteration=500

Table 3. compare SCA with all other Proposed Hybrid methods at No. of element =30and iteration=500

Function	SCA	SCA-CG	SCA-PT	SCA-CG-PT	SCA-MCG
F1	1.26E-49	2.70E-239	3.68E-238	0	0
F2	1.72E-34	3.48E-225	8.68E-227	0	0
F3	1.47E-80	0	0	0	0
F4	0	0	0	0	0
F5	0.030856	0	0	0	0
F6	-1.0316	-1	-1	0	0
F7	-1357.09	-418.983	-418.983	-1.32E-124	0
F8	1.92E-23	3.06E-120	1.21E-122	1.86E-220	0
F9	3.66E-18	2.08E-115	2.70E-113	7.51E-215	0
F10	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16

Function	SCA	SCA-CG	SCA-PT	SCA-CG-PT	SCA-MCG
F1	3.58E-47	4.04E-242	4.04E-242	0	0
F2	9.74E-40	6.08E-229	6.08E-229	0	0
F3	1.01E-88	0	0	0	0
F4	0	0	0	0	0
F5	0	0	0	0	0
F6	-1.0316	-1	-1	0	0
F7	-1401.8469	-4.19E+02	-4.19E+02	-1.18E-108	0
F8	1.15E-26	1.10E-124	1.10E-124	6.63E-225	0
F9	2.48E-20	7.79E-119	7.79E-119	3.23E-218	0
F10	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16	8.8818E-16

Table 4. compare SCA with all other Proposed Hybrid methods at No. of element =50and iteration=500

#### **10. Conclusions:**

The process of improving and hybrid of Heuristic SCA with the suggested method of MCG and other classical ones such as CG and PT leads to increase the convergence speed and avoid falling in local solutions. It also assists in improving the resulted solution kind through the increase of detecting algorithm efficiencies. Where the results show the possibility of the improved algorithm to solve different optimization problems, after comparison, results were excellent, where global optimum value had reached in most test function. This shown in the numerical results of this study.

#### 11. References:

- [1] Al-Bayati, A.Y. and Al-Assady, N.H. (1986). "*Conjugate gradient method*", Technical Research, school of computer studies, Leeds University.
- Belazzoug, Mouhoub & Touahria, Mohamed & Nouioua, Farid & Brahimi, Mohammed.
   (2019). "An improved sine cosine algorithm to select features for text categorization". Journal of King Saud University Computer and Information Sciences, pp1-11
- [3] Chandrasekaran, K. (2019)" Improved Sine Cosine Algorithm for Solving Dynamic Economic Dispatch Problem ". International Journal of Engineering and Advanced Technology (IJEAT) ISSN: 2249 – 8958, Volume-8 Issue-3.
- [4] Dai Y.H. and Yuan Y., "A nonlinear conjugate gradient method with a strong global convergence property", SIAM J. of Optimization, 10 (1999), 177–182.
- [5] Dai, Y. H. and Zhang, H.,(2001),"An Adaptive Two-Point Step-size Gradient Method", Numerical Algorithm,27(2001) 377-385.

- [6] Ekiz ,Simge & Erdoğmuş ,Pakize & Özgür ,Büşra .(2017) " Solving Constrained Optimization Problems with Sine- Cosine Algorithm". Periodicals of Engineering and Natural Sciences ISSN 2303-4521, Vol.5, No.3, November 2017, pp. 378~386
- [7] Gholizadeh1, S. & Sojoudizadeh, R. (2019). "Modified Sine-Cosine Algorithm for Sizing Optimization of Truss Structures with Discrete Design Variables". Int. J. Optim. Civil Eng., 2019; vol.(9), no.(2):pp.195-212.
- [8] Kumar1, Lalit & Bharti1, Kusum Kumari.( 2019)." *A novel hybrid BPSO–SCA approach for feature selection*". Natural Computing. Springer, published online
- [9] Mirjalili, S. (2016)." SCA: A Sine Cosine Algorithm for solving optimization problems". Knowledge Based Systems, 96, pp120–133.
- [10] Mitras, B.A. and Abdul-Jabbar, S., "Pattern Recognition Using Particle Swarm Optimization with Proposed a New Conjugate Gradient Parameter in Unconstrained Optimization", Journal of Al-Nahrain University Vol.19 (3), September, 2016, pp.138-147.
- [11] Mitras, B. A., and Rasheed, K. B., (2006), "*Two new approaches for PARTAN method*". Raqi journal of Statistical Science (9), pp.40-56.
- [12] Ramzy, S.A. and <u>Dunia, S.,</u> (2018). "*Chaotic Sine-Cosine Optimization Algorithms*". International Journal of Soft Computing 13(3):108-122.
- [13] Rizk-Allah ,R. M. (2017) "A Hybrid Sine Cosine Optimization algorithm for Solving Global optimization Problems". Basic Engineering sciences Dept. – Menoufia University- Egypt Scientific Research Group in Egypt (SRGE) May, 13, 20.
- [14] Sindhu ,R. & Ngadiran ,Ruzelita & Yacob, Yasmin Mohd & Zahri ,Nik Adilah Hanin & Hariharan ,M. & Polat ,Kemal. (2019)." A Hybrid SCA Inspired BBO for Feature Selection Problems" Hindawi Mathematical Problems in Engineering Volume 2019, Article ID 9517568, 18 pages.

# **Solving Max-Cut Optimization Problem**

Basim Rabaa Jumaa College of Education for Pure Sciences University of Babylon basim4345@gmail.com (07712276044)

Dr Ahmed Sabah Al-Jilawi College of Education for Pure Sciences University of Babylon aljelawy2000@yahoo.com (07719409850)

**Abstract :** The goal of this paper is to find a better method that converges faster of Max-Cut problem. One strategy is to the comparison between Bundle Method and the Augmented Lagrangian method. We have also developed the theoretical convergence properties of these methods.

**Keywords**: Max-Cut, Augmented Lagrangian Method, Bundle Methods and Constrained Optimization problems.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Optimization is a primary mathematical method aimed at finding the value of variables that provide the minimum value for a mathematical function. Optimization algorithms are a basic and efficient technique in mathematical programming, to arrive at a solution, generally with the help of a computer. Optimization algorithms start with a first estimate of the value of the variables and by an iterative technique generates a sequence of get better estimates, or iterates, until an optimal solution is reached.

A great algorithm should be accurate, fast, efficient and robust. A good approximation of an optimal solution should be generated.

We here present a short overview of multiplier methods [1]. The beginning in the field of multiplier methods begins with Joh (1943). Kuhn and Tucker (1951) are eminent scientists who have conducted extensive research in the field of multiplier methods. Its results on the necessary conditions and adequate conditions are important in this field. Arrow and Hurwicz (1956) introduced the Lagrangian function [2]. King (1966) [3] developed the augmented Lagrangian algorithms.

Hestenes and Powell [4] showed that the algorithm is locally convergent if the second-order sufficient conditions are satisfied. Miele et al. (1971) [5] and Rockafellar (1970) [6] introduced an augmented Lagrangian method for inequality constrained convex programming.

This method has been studied by Rockafellar in several papers [7]. The augmented Lagrangian method has got a powerful theoretical tool for convex programming. Arrow, Gould, and Howe (1971) [8] studied Rockafellar's augmented Lagrangian method and Pierre (1971) [9] introduced a special augmented Lagrangian method with local convergence properties. This method

was also studied by Lowe (1974) [**10**], Bertsekas (1982) [**11**], Humes (2000), R. A. Polyak (2001), R. A. Castillo (2003), J. M. Martinez (2006), S. Leyffer (2007) and H. Z. Luo et al. (2011).

Recently, many researchers have been interested in Lagrange's enhanced methods, such as Leyffer (2016) [12], Kanzow et al. (2018) [13] and Lourenço (2018) [14]. The benefit of the augmented Lagrangian method is that it is robust, and we do not need a feasible beginning point. The augmented Lagrangian method has been used to solve optimization problems with both equality and inequality constraints [11].

Also, the Bundle method was independently created by Claude Lemarechal [15] and Philip Wolfe [16] in (1975). Since then a large number of variants of bundle methods have been developed, such as proximal bundle (1990) [17], trust region bundle (2001) [18]. Bundle methods are at the moment the most efficient and promising methods for smooth optimization and they have been successfully used in many practical applications, for example, in engineering, economics, mechanics and optimal control.(2002) [19]. The convergence of the minimization algorithm was studied and compare them with different versions of the bundle methods using the results of numerical experiments (2013) [20]. Bundle methods have been extensively studied to solve convex and nonconvex optimization problems (2015) [21]. The a simple version of the bundle method with linear programming is suggested. (2019) [22].

#### 2. MAX-CUT Problem

The maximum cut (MAX-CUT) problem is an fascinating area of combinatorial optimization and has several applications in different fields, for instance, physics, computer science, and mathematics. This problem is NP-hard [23] The abbreviation NP denoting for non-deterministic polynomial time, which means NP-hard is a difficult problem that can not be solved accurately. Several papers have studied the MAX-CUT problem. This line of research was started by Goemans-Williamson (1995) [24] with their approximation for the MAX-CUT problem based on semidefinite programming relaxation. Poljak showed that linear programming techniques cannot accomplish a better approximation solution [25], which is why semidefinite programming has attracted great importance and research activity. (For more details see [26]).

Suppose G = (V, E) A nondirected graph is with the vertex set V and edge set E, and suppose  $w_{ij} = w_{ji}$  be edge weight  $ij \in E$  and  $w_{ij} = 0$  if  $ij \notin E$ . The adjacency matrix of G is given by  $A = [a_{ij}]$  such that  $a_{ij} = w_{ij}$ .

We can write the Mac-Cut problem model as

$$(MC) \begin{cases} \text{maximize} & \sum_{i < j} w_{ij} \left( \frac{1 - x_i x_j}{2} \right) \\ \text{such that} & x \in \{-1, 1\}^n, \end{cases}$$

the objective function  $\sum_{i,j \in E} w_{ij} \left(\frac{1-x_i x_j}{2}\right) =$  number of cut edges. For example, if

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} -1\\1\\1\\1\\-1 \end{pmatrix} \in \{-1,1\}^n.$$

Then

$$\begin{cases} x_1 x_2 = (-1)(1) = -1 \\ x_2 x_3 = (1)(1) = 1 \\ x_1 x_5 = (-1)(-1) = 1 \\ x_4 x_5 = (1)(-1) = -1 \end{cases} \rightarrow \begin{cases} edge(1,2) \text{ is cut} \\ edge(2,3) \text{ is not cut} \\ edge(1,5) \text{ is not cut} \\ edge(4,5) \text{ is cut} \end{cases}$$



Figure 1: Example MAX-

### 3. The bundle and Augmented Lagrangian Methods

In the optimization problem, we wish to minimize or maximize some function subject to some constraint. The general problem of optimization given by [27, 28]:

minimize
$$f(x)$$
suchthat $x \in X.$ 

The function f is defined from a convex set  $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  into  $\mathbb{R}$ . A point  $x^* \in X$  is a local solution of problem (1) if there exists a neighborhood  $B(x^*, k)$  where  $f(x^*) \leq f(x)$  for every  $x \in B(x^*, k) \cap X = \{x \in X \mid \|x - x^*\| \leq k\}$ .

### 3.1 Optimality Conditions for Unconstrained Optimization

In this section ,We consider the problem of unconstrained optimization. If  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ , i.e., minimize f sans constraints [27, 28], it can be expressed by:

$$\min_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \qquad f(x). \tag{2}$$

• If *f* is continuously differentiable, then a necessary condition for  $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a solution of

CUT .

problem (2)

$$\nabla f(x^*) = 0.$$

• If *f* is twice continuously differentiable, then a necessary condition for  $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a solution of problem (2)

$$\nabla f(x^*) = 0, \quad \nabla^2 f(x^*) \ge 0.$$

• The sufficient conditions for  $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a local solution of problem (3)

$$\nabla f(x^*) = 0, \quad \nabla^2 f(x^*) > 0.$$

#### Theorem 3.1(First-Order Necessary Condition (FONC)) [28]

Suppose f:  $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be differentiable. If  $x^*$  is a local minimizer of f, then  $\nabla f(x^*) = 0$ .

**Proof:** Define  $h: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  as  $h(\rho) = f(x^* + \rho w)$  for some  $w \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , then

$$h'(\rho) = w^T \nabla f(x^* + \rho w)$$
. If  $\rho = 0$ , then  $h'(0) = w^T \nabla f(x^*)$ . By definition,  
$$h'(0) = \lim_{\rho \to 0} \frac{f(x^* + \rho w) - f(x^*)}{\rho}.$$

Since  $x^*$  is a local minimizer, there exists k > 0, where  $f(x^* + \rho w) \ge f(x^*)$  for every  $0 < \rho \le k$ , thus we get  $w^T \nabla f(x^*) \ge 0$ . Since w it is arbitrary, we can substitute w by -w, and thus  $-w^T \nabla f(x^*) \ge 0$ . So,  $w^T \nabla f(x^*) = 0$ , for every  $w \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Thus,  $\nabla f(x^*) = 0$ .

#### Theorem 3.2 (Second-Order Necessary Condition (SONC) ) [28]

Suppose f:  $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be twice differentiable. If  $x^*$  is a local minimizer of f, then  $\nabla f(x^*) = 0$ and  $\nabla^2 f(x^*)$  is positive semidefinite.

**Proof:** Suppose  $w \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . We want to prove that  $w^T \nabla^2 f(x^*) w \ge 0$ .

By using Taylor expansion of f at  $x^*$ , we get

$$f(x^* + \rho w) = f(x^*) + \rho w^T \nabla f(x^*) + \frac{\rho^2}{2} w^T \nabla^2 f(x^*) w + o(\rho^2).$$

Since  $\nabla f(x^*) = 0$  by (FONC) theorem, we have

$$f(x^* + \rho w) = f(x^*) + \frac{\rho^2}{2} w^T \nabla^2 f(x^*) w + o(\rho^2).$$

Divide the sides on  $\rho^2$ , we have

$$\frac{f(x^* + \rho w) - f(x^*)}{\rho^2} = \frac{1}{2} w^T \nabla^2 f(x^*) w + \frac{o(\rho^2)}{\rho^2}$$

We take the limit to both sides, and use the fact of that  $x^*$  is a local minimizer, we get

$$0 \le \lim_{\rho \to 0} \frac{f(x^* + \rho w) - f(x^*)}{\rho^2} = \lim_{\rho \to 0} \{ \frac{1}{2} w^T \nabla^2 f(x^*) w + \frac{o(\rho^2)}{\rho^2} \}.$$

Since

$$\lim_{\rho\to 0}\frac{o(\rho^2)}{\rho^2}=0,$$

we conclude that  $w^T \nabla^2 f(x^*) w \ge 0$ . So,  $\nabla^2 f(x^*)$  is positive semidefinite.

#### Theorem 3.3 (Second-Order Sufficient Condition (SOSC)) [28]

Suppose f:  $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be twice continuously differentiable. If  $\nabla f(x^*) = 0$  and  $\nabla^2 f(x^*)$  is positive definite, then  $x^*$  is a strict local minimizer.

#### 3.2. The Augmented Lagrangian Method

This method started to be used in the 1970s. Initially, it was called the multipliers method. Now, this method is called the augmented Lagrangian method. The goal of this method is to solve constrained optimization problems. This is done by substitute a constrained problem with a series of unconstrained problems [4]. The augmented Lagrangian method is analogous to the bundle method since in both of them a bundle term is added to the objective. The difference in the augmented Lagrangian method is the Lagrange multiplier term is added to it [27].

The augmented Lagrangian method was introduced by Hestenes [4]. To introduce the augmented Lagrangian method, we change the constraint  $h_i(x) = 0$  to the constraint  $h_i(x) + \beta \alpha = 0$ . therefore, we get the problem

minimize 
$$f(x)$$
  
subject  $h_i(x) + \beta \alpha = 0, \quad i = 1, ..., E,$  (3)  
 $x \in X.$ 

We apply the bundle method to the problem (3), can get the augmented Lagrangian function as follows. We start with the bundle problem for the problem (3)
$$\underset{x}{\operatorname{argmin}} f(x) + \frac{1}{2\beta} (h(x) + \beta \alpha)^{T} (h(x) + \beta \alpha),$$

this expands to

$$\underset{x}{\operatorname{argmin}} f(x) + \frac{1}{2\beta} (h(x)^T h(x) + 2\beta \alpha^T h(x) + \beta^2 \alpha^T \alpha),$$

after simplification we get

$$\underset{x}{\operatorname{argmin}} f(x) + \alpha^{T} h(x) + \frac{1}{2\beta} \parallel h(x) \parallel^{2}.$$

Thus, the augmented Lagrangian function is

$$\mathcal{F}(x,\alpha,\beta) = f(x) + \alpha^T h(x) + \frac{1}{2\beta} \parallel h(x) \parallel^2.$$

We apply the equality augmented Lagrangian and the bundle methods to the linear programming (LP) problem. The initial results will provide an idea to work in semidefinite programming. The bundle method and augmented Lagrangian methods can be used for equality

The generally LP problem is given as

$$(LP) \begin{cases} \text{minimize} & \langle c, x \rangle \\ \text{subjectto} & \langle a_i, x \rangle = b_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, m \\ & x \ge 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$

where  $a_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , for i = 1, ..., m, the numbers  $b_i \in \mathbb{R}$ , for i = 1, ..., m, and the vector  $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $x_i \ge 0$ , for i = 1, ..., n. The Lagrangian is given by

$$\mathcal{L}(x, y) = \langle c, x \rangle + \langle y, b_i - \langle a_i, x \rangle \rangle$$

The general form for the augmented Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\alpha}(x,y) = f(x) + \langle y, b_i - \langle a_i, x \rangle \rangle + \frac{1}{2\alpha} \parallel b_i - \langle a_i x \rangle \parallel^2.$$

Consider the primal (*P*) and the dual (*D*) standard linear programming problem:

$$(P) \begin{cases} maximize & \langle c, x \rangle \\ subject to & Ax = b \\ & x \ge 0 \end{cases}$$

and

$$(D) \begin{cases} \text{minimize} & \langle b, y \rangle \\ \text{subjectto} & A^T y \ge c \end{cases}$$

Example 3.1 Consider the following simple linear programming problem:



Figure 2: Biq Mac library (100 nodes and 2475 edges)

$$(P) \begin{cases} \text{maximize} & x_1 + 2x_2 + 4x_3 \\ \text{subjectto} & x_1 + x_2 + x_3 = 9 \\ & x \ge 0. \end{cases}$$
(4)

The dual of problem (4) is given by

$$(D) \begin{cases} \begin{array}{c} \text{minimize} & 9y_1 \\ \text{subjectto} & y_1 \ge 1 \\ & & y_1 \ge 2 \\ & & & y_1 \ge 4 \end{cases} \tag{5}$$

The optimal solution of problem (4) is  $x_1 = x_2 = 0$ ,  $x_3 = 9$  and the optimal value is  $x_1 + 2x_2 + 4x_3 = 36$ ; an optimal solution of problem (5) is  $y_1 = 4$ , and the optimal value is  $9y_1 = 36$ .

## 4. Algorithms and Numerical Computation

In this section, We discuss the numerical results of the algorithms by using Julia Language (JuliaBox). The numerical results were generated using the augmented Lagrangian method, which was Validated with the bundle method. This test was done on a specific graph that was imported from the Biq Mac library [29] in Figure 2. This graph consists of 100 nodes connected with 2475 edges. The figure shows that the exact MAX-CUT solution equals 1430

## 4.1. Augmented Lagrangian Methods

The multiplier method is to update the Lagrange Multiplier estimate [29]  $\alpha$  and sometimes the bundle parameter  $\beta$  in all iteration. The method of the multiplier is summarized in the Algorithm [1].

Algorithm [1] : The Augmented Lagrangian Methods

- 1. Choose  $x^0$ , and  $\beta^0 > 0$ , choose  $\alpha^0$ .
- 2. Find  $x^{k+1}$  such that

 $x^{k+1} = \underset{x}{\operatorname{argmin}} \ \mathcal{F}(x, \alpha^k, \beta^k).$ 

3. Update  $\beta^k$  and  $\alpha^k$ .

4. Set k = k + 1 and repeat.

## 4.2. Bundle Methods [30]

We define another method that can be considered as a stabilization of the plane's cutting method. We start by adding an additional point called the center,  $y^k$ , to the bundle of information. We will continue to use the same linear model for our function f, but it is no longer a solution **LP** on each iteration. Instead, we will compute the next iterate of the Algorithm [2].

Algorithm [2] : Bundle Method

- 1. Let  $\delta > 0, m \in (0; 1), y^0, x^0 = y^0$ , and k = 0. Compute  $f(y^0)$
- 2. Compute the next iterate

$$x^{k+1} = \operatorname*{argmin}_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} f_k(x) + \frac{\alpha}{2} \parallel x - y^k \parallel^2$$

- 3. Define  $\delta_k := f(y^k) [f_k(x^{k+1}) + \frac{\alpha}{2} || x^{k+1} y^k ||^2] \ge 0$
- 4. If  $\delta_k < 0$  Stop
- 5. Compute  $f(x^{k+1})$
- 6. Update the model

$$f_{k+1}(x) := max\{f_k(x), f(x^{k+1}) + \langle s^{k+1}, x - x^{k+1} \rangle\}$$

7. Set k = k + 1 and go to Step 2

## 4.3. Numerical Resultes

In this section, we will review our results and we are assessing the performance of the development algorithm proposed. The figures in this section illustrate the number of function calls of the approaches being used to solve the max-cut problems. Different sizes of cases were tested, results were extracted and shown in this section.

In Figure [3] and Figure[4], it is obvious that the Augmented Lagrangian Method provides a more rapid convergence. The bundle methods converge after 4s, while the augmented Lagrangian methods required only 3s for the convergence.



Figure 3: Augmented Lagrangian



Figure 4: The Bundle

CPU time may change between runs due to the use of other software on the same computer. Accordingly, it was more accurate to plot the number of function calls rather than the CPU time, Which cannot be affected by any other program that is run at the same time by using our program, it is evident that the augmented Lagrangian method performed faster and required fewer function calls, while the bundle method required more function calls.

## 4.4. L-BFGS and BFGS methods [**31**]

In the section, we present methods solve of minimizing the problem optimization [L-BFGS, BFGS and CQ methods]

- Limited-memory BFGS (L-BFGS) is an optimization algorithm in the quasi-Newton method family that is using a limited amount of computer memory to approximate the Broyden Fletcher Goldfarb Shanno algorithm (BFGS).
- It is a common algorithm for parameter estimation in machine learning. The target problem for the algorithm is to minimize over unconstrained values for the real vector.
- The algorithm L-BFGS solves the problem of minimizing an objective, given its gradient, by Iteratively measure approximations of the Hessian inverse matrix.
- The conjugate gradient (CQ) method Is an algorithm for the numerical solution of specific linear equation systems, namely those whose matrix is symmetric positive-definite.

Augmented Lagrangian Method										
	Aug.		Aug.		Aug.		Aug.		Aug.	
	(LBFGS)		(LBFGS)		(LBFGS)		(BFGS)		(CQ)	
	m=1		m=2		m=10					
Problem	time	fcalls	time	fcalls	time	fcalls	time	fcalls	time	fcalls
g05_100.0	1.22	112	1.31	120	1.38	118	1.88	161	0.75	80
g05_100.1	1.19	118	1.22	108	1.25	102	1.39	119		
g05_100.2	1.24	115	1.31	125	1.34	118	1.60	158	0.73	82
g05_100.3	1.37	130	1.27	122	1.70	139	2.15	181		
g05_100.4	1.80	163	1.68	150	1.63	152	1.72	158	0.65	81
g05_100.5	1.44	120	1.50	130	1.47	122	1.71	155		
g05_100.6	1.30	110	1.30	109	1.49	117	1.35	116	0.87	100
g05_100.7	1.25	106	1.20	108	1.26	108	1.20	100	0.00	100
g05_100.8	1.43	119	1.45	119	1.50	126	1.46	126	0.88	100
g05_100.9	1.46	102	1.30	96	1.36	100	2.01	91	0.80	90
									0.74	86
									0.77	79
									0.88	90
									1.12	72

Table [1] and Table [2] reports the CPU time and number of function calls for several graphs in the Biq Mac library that have 100 nodes and 2475 edges [29].

Dundle Method											
Buildle Method											
	Bundle.		Bundle.		Bundle.		Bundle.		Bundle.		
	(LDFOS) m-1		(LDIOS) m-2		(LDIOS) m-10		(DI/OS)		(0,0)		
Problem	time	fcalls	time	fcalls	time	fcalls	time	fcalls	time	fcalls	
g05_100.0	2.65	240	2.50	233	2.46	234	3.21	302	1.44	161	
g05_100.1	2.00	204	2.01	202	2.40	203	3.31	255	1.05	133	
g05_100.2	2.30	250	2.52	260	2.82	261	3.18	355	1.58	187	
g05_100.3	2.85	295	2.65	270	2.79	270	5.44	444	1.65	218	
g05_100.4	3.15	338	3.00	329	3.40	322	5.27	515	2.00	234	
g05_100.5	2.50	266	2.68	282	2.58	267	4.02	416	1.70	192	
g05_100.6	3.00	234	2.88	240	2.37	242	3.22	340	1.47	160	
g05_100.7	2.26	238	2.10	212	2.21	222	2.72	281	1.18	150	
g05_100.8	2.61	267	2.26	234	2.55	239	3.81	355	1.81	186	
g05_100.9	3.00	229	2.82	218	2.75	216	3.77	315	1.82	149	

Table 1: CPU time and function calls number of iterations for augmented Lagrangian method

Table 2: CPU time and function calls number of iterations for bundle method



Figure 5: Bounds vs CPU time for augmented Lagrangian and bundle methods.

In figure [5] we plotted the bounds against the CPU time to compare the performance of the augmented Lagrangian methods and the bundle methods. This test was performed on a specific graph imported from the Biq Mac library [29]. It is evident that the augmented Lagrangian method performed faster and required 28 function calls to converge, while the bundle method required more than 37 function calls.

## 5. The Theoretical Convergence Properties of the bundle and Augmented Lagrangian Methods

In this section, we discuss the current major convergence theorems. We start with the convergence of the bundle and augmented Lagrangian methods. Recall that

$$P_q(x,\beta) = f(x) + \frac{1}{2\beta} \| h(x) \|^2,$$

and, the augmented Lagrangian function is

$$\mathcal{F}(x,\alpha,\beta) = f(x) + \alpha^T h(x) + \frac{1}{2\beta} \parallel h(x) \parallel^2.$$

suppose us define D(x) to be  $E \times n$  Jacobian of h(x), such that

$$h(x) = [h_1(x), ..., h_E(x)]^T$$
.

Hence

$$D(x)^T = [\nabla h_1(x), \dots, \nabla h_E(x)].$$

#### Theorem 5.1 (Convergence of augmented Lagrangian method) [32]

Suppose *f* and *h* be twice continuously differentiable functions. suppose

$$y^k = \alpha^k + \frac{h(x^k)}{\beta^k},$$

and

$$\| \nabla_{x} \mathcal{F}(x^{k}, \alpha^{k}, \beta^{k}) \| \leq \epsilon^{k},$$

where  $\epsilon^k \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . If  $x^k$  converges to  $x^*$ , where  $\nabla h_i(x^*)$ , i = 1, ..., E, are linearly independent, then  $y^k \to y^*$  with  $y^*$  satisfying  $\nabla f(x^*) = D(x^*)^T y^*$ . If additionally, either  $\beta^k \to 0$  with bounded  $\alpha^k$ or  $\alpha^k \to y^*$  with bounded  $\beta^k$ , then  $x^*$  satisfies the (FONC) and  $y^*$  is the vector of Lagrange multipliers.

Proof: Since the augmented Lagrangian function is

$$\mathcal{L}(x,\beta,\alpha) = f(x) + \beta^T h(x) + \frac{1}{2\alpha} h(x)^T g(x),$$

we have that

$$\nabla_{x}\mathcal{L}(x,\beta,\alpha) = \nabla f(x) + D(x)^{T}\beta + \frac{1}{\alpha}D(x)^{T}h(x),$$

It can be rewritten

$$\nabla_{x}\mathcal{L}(x,\beta,\alpha) = \nabla f(x) + D(x)^{T}\left(\beta + \frac{h(x)}{\alpha}\right)$$

So, we have that

$$\| \nabla_{x} \mathcal{L}(x^{k}, \beta^{k}, \alpha^{k}) \| = \| \nabla f(x^{k}) + D(x^{k})^{T} y^{k} \| \le \epsilon^{k},$$

by assumption  $y^k \to y^*$ , where  $y^* = -(D(x^*)^+)^T \nabla f(x^*)$ , and that

$$\nabla f(x^*) + D(x^*)^T y^* = 0. \text{ Now, by definition of } y^k,$$
$$\| h(x^k) \| = \alpha^k \| \beta^k - y^k \| \le \alpha^k \| y^k - y^* \| + \alpha^k \| \beta^k - y^* \|.$$

By assumption,  $\alpha^k \to 0$  with bounded  $\beta^k$  or  $\beta^k \to y^*$  with bounded  $\alpha^k$ , so we have that  $h(x^k) \to 0$  in either case. Since  $x^k$  converges to  $x^*$  and *h* is continuous,

 $h(x^*) = 0$ . Thus  $(x^*, y^*)$  satisfies the (FONC).

## The Bundle Method [33]

The aim is to provide the rate convergence of the bundle method for solving convex optimization problems of a form below

$$\min_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} F(x) \tag{6}$$

and  $F: \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow R$  is a convex function.

The bundle method is linked to the basic idea of the proximal point method, who uses the Moreau-Yosida regularization for F(.),

$$F_{\rho}(y) = \min_{x} \{F(x) + \frac{\rho}{2} \parallel x - y \parallel^{2}\}, \ \rho > 0,$$

to build the proximal step for (6),

$$prox_F(y) = \underset{x}{\operatorname{argmin}} \{F(x) + \frac{\rho}{2} || x - y ||^2\}$$

The proximal point method apply the iteration  $x^{k+1} = prox_F(x^k)$ ,

k = 1,2,... and is converging to a minimum of F(.), if a minimum exists [34]. The basic idea of the bundle method is to replace the problem (1) with a series of approximate problems of the following form:

$$\min_{x} F^{k}(x) + \frac{\rho}{2} \| x - y \|^{2}$$

Here k = 1, 2, ... is the iteration number,  $x^k$  is the best approximation to the solution, and  $F^k(.)$  is a piecewise linear convex lower approximation of the function F(.). Two versions of the method differ in the way it constructs this approximation.

## Theorem 5.2 (Convergence of bundle method): [33]

Let Argmin 
$$F \neq \emptyset$$
 and  $\varepsilon = 0$ . Then a point  $x^* \in ArgminF$  exists such that :

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} x^k = \lim_{k \to \infty} z^k = x^*$$

**Proof:** The proof of this result (in slightly different versions) it can be found in many references, such as [[**34**] Thm.4.9],[[**35**] Thm.XV.3.2.4], [[**36**] Thm.7.16]

## 6. Conclusions

The aim of the research has been achieved, and the following points have been clarified :

- 1- We test comparison between two methods the bundle method and Lagrangian augmentation method.
- 2- We prove the properties of theoretical convergence and we studied algorithms.
- 3- The graphs available in the Big Mac library were used to evaluate the method. These drawings included different features with a large number of edges and nodes
- 4- The results showed that the augmented Lagrangian method reached the goal in fewer the number of function calls of the bundle method and also was timed faster in CPU time.

## References

- Judah Ben Rosen, Olvi L Mangasarian, and Klaus Ritter. Nonlinear Programming: Proceedings of a Symposium Conducted by the Mathematics Research Center, the University of Wisconsin, Madison, May 4-6, 1970. Number 25. Elsevier, 2014.
- [2] Kenneth J Arrow and Leonid Hurwicz. Reduction of constrained maxima to saddle-point problems. *In Traces and Emergence of Nonlinear Programming*,

pages 61-80. Springer, 2014.

- [3] RP King. Necessary and sufficient conditions for inequality constrained extreme values. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Fundamentals*, 5(4):484–489, 1966.
- [4] Magnus R Hestenes. Multiplier and gradient methods. *Journal of optimization* theory and applications, 4(5):303–320, 1969.
- [5] Angelo Miele, EE Cragg, RR Iyer, and AV Levy. Use of the augmented penalty function in mathematical programming problems, part 1. *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, 8(2):115–130, 1971.
- [6] RT Rockafellar. New applications of duality in convex programming. In Proceedings of the 4th Conference of Probability, Brasov, Romania, pages 73–81, 1971.
- [7] R Tyrell Rockafellar. The multiplier method of hestenes and powell applied to convex programming. *Journal of Optimization Theory and applications*, 12(6):555–562, 1973.
- [8] Kenneth Joseph Arrow, Floyd J Gould, and Stephen Mills Howe. A general saddle point result for constrained optimizations. Technical report, North Carolina State University. Dept. of Statistics, 1971.
- [9] Pierre Ramond. Dual theory for free fermions. *Physical Review D*, 3(10):2415, 1971.
- [10] Michael James Lowe. Nonlinear programming: augmented Lagrangian techniques for constrained minimization. PhD thesis, Montana State University-Bozeman, College of Engineering, 1974.
- [11] Dimitri P Bertsekas. Constrained optimization and Lagrange multiplier methods. Academic press, 2014.
- [12] Sven Leyffer and Charlie Vanaret. Augmented lagrangian filter method. 2016.
- [13] Christian Kanzow, Daniel Steck, and Daniel Wachsmuth. *An augmented lagrangian method for optimization problems in banach spaces*. SIAM Journal on Control

and Optimization, 56(1):272–291, 2018.

- [14] Bruno F Lourenço, Ellen H Fukuda, and Masao Fukushima. Optimality conditions for nonlinear semidefinite programming via squared slack variables. *Mathematical Programming*, 168(1-2):177–200, 2018.
- [15] Claude Lemarechal. An extension of davidon methods to non differentiable problems. In Nondifferentiable optimization, pages 95–109. Springer, 1975.
- [16] Philip Wolfe. A method of conjugate subgradients for minimizing nondifferentiable functions. In Nondifferentiable optimization, pages 145–173.
   Springer, 1975.
- [17] Krzysztof C Kiwiel. Proximity control in bundle methods for convex nondifferentiable minimization. Mathematical programming, 46(1-3):105–122, 1990.
- [18] Stephan Dempe and Jonathan F Bard. *Bundle trust-region algorithm for bilinear bilevel programming*. Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 110(2):265–288, 2001.
- [19] Marko Mäkelä. Survey of bundle methods for nonsmooth optimization.Optimization methods and software, 17(1):1–29, 2002.
- [20] Kaisa Joki. Nonsmooth optimization: Bundle methods. 2013.
- [21] Shuai Liu, Andrew Eberhard, and Yousong Luo. *A version of bundle method with linear programming*. arXiv preprint arXiv:1502.01787, 2015.
- [22] Shuai Liu. A simple version of bundle method with linear programming.Computational Optimization and Applications, 72(2):391–412, 2019.
- [23] Michael R Garey and David S Johnson. Computers and intractability, vol. 29, 2002.
- [24] Michel X Goemans and David P Williamson. Improved approximation algorithms for maximum cut and satisfiability problems using semidefinite programming.
   Journal of the ACM (JACM), 42(6):1115–1145, 1995.
- [25] Svatopluk Poljak and Zsolt Tuza. *The expected relative error of the polyhedral approximation of the max-cut problem*. Operations Research Letters,

16(4):191-198, 1994.

- [26] Samuel Burer, Renato DC Monteiro, and Yin Zhang. *Rank-two relaxation heuristics for max-cut and other binary quadratic programs*. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 12(2):503–521, 2002.
- [27] Dimitri P Bertsekas and Athena Scientific. *Convex optimization algorithms*. Athena Scientific Belmont, 2015.
- [28] P Dimitri Bertsekas. Nonlinear programming. 1999. Athena, Scientific, Belmont CA.
- [29] Angelika Wiegele. *Biq mac library a collection of max-cut and quadratic 0-1 programming instances of medium size*. Preprint, 2007.
- [30] Alexandre Belloni. *Lecture notes for iap 2005 course introduction to bundle methods*. Operation Research Center, MIT, Version of February, 11, 2005.
- [31] Jorge Nocedal and Stephen Wright. *Numerical optimization*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.
- [32] N. Gould. A course on continuous optimization.
  http://www.numerical.rl.ac.uk/people/nimg/course/index.shtml, 2006. [Accessed 3-12-2019].
- [33] Yu Du and Andrzej Ruszczyński. *Rate of convergence of the bundle method*.Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 173(3):908–922, 2017.
- [34] Claude Lemarechal. *Methods of descent for nondifferentiable optimization* (krzysztof c. kiwiel). SIAM Review, 30(1):146, 1988.
- [35] JB Hiriart-Urruty and C Lemaréchal. Convex analysis and minimization algorithms. no. 305-306 in grund. der math. wiss, 1993.
- [36] Andrzej Ruszczynski. Nonlinear optimization. Princeton university press, 2011.

## Qualitative Analysis and Traveling wave Solutions for the Nonlinear Convection Equations with Absorption

Bashayir N. Abed<sup>1</sup> Salam J. Majeed<sup>2</sup> Habeeb A. Aal-Rkhais<sup>3</sup>

<sup>123</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Computer Science and Mathematics,

University of Thi-Qar, Iraq

**ABSTRACT:** We discuss qualitative behavior of the solutions for the nonlinear parabolic equation which modeling nonlinear convection equation with absorption. This model represents the movement of growing population that is ruled by convection process. In this paper, we concentrate on proving the existence of traveling wave solutions for the nonlinear convection-reaction equations. In addition, we consider the model when the speed of advective wave may breakdown and the problem has a shock wave solution. The mathematical interesting of the waves comes from the behaviors of singular differential equation and discussing the stability of the solution.

Keywords: traveling-waves, convection-reaction process, characteristic methods, stability.

## 1. Introduction

The traveling waves have played a very important role in many nonlinear parabolic equations modeling reaction-diffusion-convection processes. In this paper we are interested in solutions of nonlinear advection equation model

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = a \frac{\partial \phi^{\gamma}}{\partial x} + b \phi^{\beta} (1 - \phi)$$
(1)

where  $\beta > 0, \gamma > 1, \gamma + \beta > 2$ ; a and b are positive constants and  $\varphi = \varphi(x; t)$  is a nonnegative unknown density (concentration), with space x and time t. The study and application of this model clearly appeared in many areas of science such as biological and physical models including shock waves and traveling waves of oscillatory chemical reactions. Existence and uniqueness of the local solution and traveling waves for reaction-diffusion-convection equation are introduced in [1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 12]. Several models of partial differential equations are represented as pattern formations, critical patch sizes, traveling waves, ecological invasion and many others in [5, 9, 10].Combining population growth dynamics with models of movement has ecological interest. the Fisher model is one of the classical model of ecology that represents dispersion and population growth see [6]. In addition, we consider the standard nonlinear reaction-diffusion-convection equation in one dimension. Generally, this equation can show shock wave solutions [4, 5, 11].

In this paper, we considerate on the problem of a nonlinear advection-absorption process which has traveling wave solutions for special situations in one dimensional space. Particularly, we consider the population at a particular position which grows according to the diffusion process that is very weak with respect to the advection effects. It is interesting that we discuss the solutions in the form  $\varphi = \varphi(x \pm \lambda t)$  where  $\lambda > 0$  represents the speed of the wave and it travels without changing shape.

## 2. Traveling Wave Solutions

In this section, we find travelling-wave solutions for the equation (1), and give the asymptotic behavior of these solutions of (1) and a description of a nonlinear convection process with a logistic population growth. The second part of (1) represents the nonlinear absorption term. the solution represents population density which is changed per unit time. In the spatially homogeneous status, the steady states of equation (1) for b > 0,  $\varphi = 0$  and  $\varphi = 1$  which are unstable and stable respectively. Before we discuss the existence of solutions, it is appropriate to change the variable  $\varphi = v^{1/(\gamma-1)}$  in the equation (1) and it becomes

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} - a\gamma v \frac{\partial v}{\partial x} = b(\gamma - 1)v^{\alpha} \left(1 - v^{\frac{1}{\gamma - 1}}\right)$$
(2)

where  $\alpha = (\gamma + \beta - 2)/\gamma - 1$ .

**Theorem 1.** If  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $\gamma > 1$ ,  $\beta > 0$ ,  $\gamma + \beta > 2$ ; then the traveling wave solution  $v(x; t) = f(\xi)$ ,  $\xi = x + \lambda t$  of (2) is satisfied for  $0 \le f \le 1$ , with the boundary conditions  $\lim_{\xi \to -\infty} f(\xi) = 0$  and  $\lim_{\xi \to +\infty} f(\xi) = 1$ .

*Proof.* Let us use rescaling technique to equation (2) by writing new variables as  $\tau = bt$  and  $y = (b/a\gamma)x$ . Then equation (2) becomes

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} - \mathbf{v} \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial \mathbf{x}} = (\gamma - 1) \mathbf{v}^{\alpha} \left( 1 - \mathbf{v}^{\frac{1}{\gamma - 1}} \right), \tag{3}$$

where  $\gamma > 1$ . We consider nonnegative solution to (3) for  $v \le 1$  because the uniformly steady states of the solutions are only v = 0 and v = 1. We can formulate the traveling wave solution as

$$v(x;t) = f(\xi), \quad \xi = x + \lambda t \tag{4}$$

where  $\lambda > 0$  is the wave speed. Then the wave fronts of the solutions move to the left in the  $\xi$ -plane. We substitute the function (4) in the equation (3), then  $f(\xi)$  satisfies

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial \xi} = (\gamma - 1)(\lambda - f)^{-1} f^{\alpha} \left( 1 - f^{\frac{1}{\gamma - 1}} \right)$$
(5)

where differentiation is satisfied according to the variable  $\xi$ . A singularity of the solution happens at  $f(\xi) = \lambda$ . We can get the wave front solution  $f(\xi)$  to have limiting values. The problem is to govern the traveling wave solution with respect to  $\lambda$  where the solution of (5) is nonnegative and exists. It satisfies  $f'(\xi) > 0$  and,

$$\lim_{\xi\to-\infty} f(\xi) = 0$$
 and  $\lim_{\xi\to+\infty} f(\xi) = 1$ , (6)

which are steady states and also  $f(\xi)$  can be monotonically increasing. Where equation (5) has steady states at  $f(\xi) = 0$  and  $f(\xi) = 1$  and stability of them relies too much on value of  $\lambda$ . Linearity of the equation (5) displays that the solution  $f(\xi) = 0$  is unstable for  $\lambda > 0$ , and  $f(\xi) = 1$  is stable for  $\lambda > 0$ . Also, it is generally unstable for  $0 < \lambda < 1$ . If  $\lambda = 1$ , we can reduce equation (5) into  $f'(\xi) = f(\xi)$  provided that  $f(\xi) \neq 1$ . Definitely,  $f(\xi) = 1$  is a singularity of (5), and  $f(\xi)$  is exponentially increasing.

Next, we introduce in particular case the traveling wave of (5) with  $\gamma = 2$  and  $\alpha = \beta$ , for  $\lambda > 1$ . Let us consider the equation (2) which becomes the following equation

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} - 2\mathbf{a}\mathbf{v}\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial \mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{b}\mathbf{v}^{\beta}(1-\mathbf{v}),\tag{7}$$

and after rescaling equation (7) by assuming  $\tau = bt$  and y = (b/2a)x, we get

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} - \mathbf{v} \frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial \mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{v}^{\beta} (1 - \mathbf{v}). \tag{8}$$

Then the similar way in Theorem 1, the traveling wave solution  $f(\xi)$  satisfies

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial \xi} = f^{\beta} (\lambda - f)^{-1} (1 - f) \tag{9}$$

Then for  $0 < f(\xi) < 1$ , we have three cases to get the solution of the ODEs. First, if  $\beta = 1/2$ , then the solution of (9) is

$$ln\left(\frac{1+\sqrt{f}}{1-\sqrt{f}}\right)^{\lambda-1} = \xi - 2\sqrt{f} + 2C_1.$$
 (10)

If the parameter  $\beta = 1$ , then the solution of (9) is in the following form

$$ln\frac{f^{\lambda}}{(1-f)^{\lambda-1}} = \xi + C_2.$$
 (11)

Finally, let us choose that  $\beta = 2$ , then the solution of (9) has the following form

$$ln\left(\frac{f}{1-f}\right)^{\lambda-1} = \frac{\lambda}{f} + (x - C_3), \qquad (12)$$

where  $C_i$ , i = 1,2,3; are constants of integration. The solutions (10)-(12) of the equation (9) for  $\beta = 1/2, 1, 2$ ; respectively are satisfied with the initial condition f(0) = 1/2, for all  $\lambda > 0$  with the boundary conditions (6) at  $-\infty$  for any constants  $C_1 = (1 + (\lambda - 1) \ln 3)/2$ ,  $C_2 = -\ln 2$ ,  $C_3 = (2\lambda + 2(\lambda - 1) \ln 2)$ . Also, the boundary conditions (6) are satisfied at  $+\infty$  for  $\lambda > 1$  but they are not satisfied for  $\lambda < 1$ . The solution f is exponentially increasing and satisfied travelling wave solutions for  $\lambda = 1$ . Because the traveling wave solutions are invariant, the equation (9) is unchanged if  $\xi \rightarrow \xi + c$ , where c is any constant. Let us take  $\xi = 0$  to be the origin point so the behavior of solutions is invariant to any shifting from the origin.



**Fig.1:** Traveling wave solution  $f(\xi)$  where  $\beta = 1/2, \gamma = 2, \alpha = 1/2$ 



**Fig.2:** Traveling wave solution  $f(\xi)$  where  $\beta = 1, \gamma = 2, \alpha = 1$ 



**Fig.3:** Traveling wave solution  $f(\xi)$  where  $\beta = 2, \gamma = 2, \alpha = 2$ .

Therefore, traveling wave solution  $f = f(\xi)$  of (9) with  $\beta = 1/2, 1, 2$  are shown in Figs.1-3; respectively. They are matching to values  $\lambda = 1.5, \lambda = 2, \lambda = 3$  and  $\lambda = 4$ . We observe that the derivative of the solution at  $\xi = 0$  explains the steepness of the traveling waves is decreasing but the wave speed is increasing.

## 3. Methods of Characteristics

Let us consider in this section the stability of the traveling wave solution. If we impose a small perturbation on the wavefront at initial time such as t = 0, then it decays away. Also, the behavior of the initial conditions effects on the speed of propagation of the wave. Development of traveling wave solutions the partial differential equation (3) with the initial condition  $v(x, 0) = v_0(x)$  are satisfied. Now,

we use the characteristic methods to solve the initial value problem of characteristic equations

$$\frac{dx}{d\tau}=-v, \ \, \frac{dt}{d\tau}=1, \ \, \frac{dv}{d\tau}=v^{\alpha}(1-v). \label{eq:alpha}$$

With the initial conditions that can be parameterized in the following forms

$$x(s, 0) = s$$
,  $t(s, 0) = 0$ ,  $v(s, 0) = v_0(s)$ 

Integrating the equation for t yields  $t = \tau$ . For v, after substituting t for  $\tau$ , we consider particular case when  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $\beta = 1$ ,  $\gamma > 1$ ; explicit solution

$$v(s,t) = e^{t}v_{0}(s) [(e^{t} - 1)v_{0}(s) + 1]^{-1}$$
(13)

Also, we obtain the characteristic curves as follow

$$x = s - \ln((e^{t} - 1)v_0 + 1).$$
(14)

On the other hand, if we suppose that such  $\alpha = 2$ ,  $\beta = \gamma$ ,  $\gamma > 1$ ; we get implicit solution which has a complicated form and is not easy to consider its characteristic curves and behavior. The solution of equation (13) evolves along the characteristic curve (14) at (s, 0),  $s \in R$ . We can assume initial guess of initial conditions

$$v_0(x) = 1$$
 if  $x \le a$  and  $v_0(x) = 0$  if  $x \ge b$ ,

where a < b and  $v_0(x)$  is continuous in  $a \le x \le b$ . Let us begin with the above initial condition, and because the slope equals to the origin point (zero) for all x when  $v_0(x) = 0$  for  $x \le a$ , the characteristic curves will intersect. Also, the derivative of  $v_0(x)$  is nonnegative and will move up to be shocks. Depending on the nature of traveling wave and the observation of the above initial data, we should consider the initial condition with the following inequality

$$0 \le v'_0(x) \le v_0(x) \le 1, \ \forall x \in R,$$

should be satisfied. This restriction is significant because if  $v'_0(x) > v_0(x)$ , then  $\partial v / \partial x$  may blow up at some t > 0.

Therefore, we observe that if initial conditions are smooth, then the curves may steepen into shocks-like solutions. Thus, from the above analysis, we shall assume the form of the initial data as

$$\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x},0) = \begin{cases} Ce^{\mu(\mathbf{x}-50)}, & \mathbf{x} \le 50, \\ C(2-e^{-\mu(\mathbf{x}-50)}), & \mathbf{x} > 50, \end{cases}$$
(15)

with the nonnegative constant *C* and  $C \le 0.5$  and  $0 < \mu < 1$  we consider the traveling wave in the form (4) with the initial condition (15) and boundary conditions (6). Then, for  $\mu > 1$ , the derivative of the solution  $\partial v / \partial x$  with the initial condition (15) for  $x \le x_0$  will be blows up for some t > 0. Also for  $\mu = 1$ , then  $\partial v / \partial x$  is unbounded and the solution v does not represent the traveling wave. We observe numerically that the traveling wave solutions for equation (3) with the initial condition (15) for  $0 < \mu < 1$  are satisfied with the wave speed  $\lambda$  depends on the value of  $\mu$  and is inversely proportional to  $\mu$ .

In Fig.4, numerical development of the traveling wave solutions is shown for  $\mu = 0.2$ , 0.4 and 0.8 with wave speeds  $\lambda = 1.5$ , 2, 3 and 4. For more motivation, the wave speed depending on the parameter  $\mu$  has a fundamental analysis in [10].





Fig.4: Development of solutions of (3) starting from initial condition (16) with

C = 0.3. Top: $\mu = 0.2$ , middle:  $\mu = 0.4$ , bottom:  $\mu = 0.8$ 

## 4. Stability of Traveling Wave Solutions

In this section , we try to investigate the stability of traveling wave solutions in particular cases where  $\gamma = 2$ ,  $\alpha = \beta$  and for  $\lambda > 1$ . Let us write the equation (8) by assuming  $v(x,t) = \psi(y,t)$  where  $y = x + \lambda t$ , and we get

$$\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t} + (\lambda - \psi) \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y} = \psi^{\beta} (1 - \psi).$$
(16)

Suppose that f(y) is a traveling wave solution of the equation (9) which is defined for  $\lambda > 0$ . Let us consider the equation (14) that has a solution in the form

$$\psi(y,t) = f(y) + P(y,t)$$
 (17)

where P(y, t) is a small perturbations of f(y). Thus, for some  $x_0 \in IR$ , we suppose that P(y,t) = 0 for  $y < x_0$ , which means that the perturbation can be vanished on the interfaces of the waves. Let us substitute the form (17) in the equation(16), then we obtain a partial differential equation of the perturbation P(y,t) as

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} + (\lambda - f(y))\frac{\partial P}{\partial y} + (2f(y) - 1 - f'(y))P - P\frac{\partial P}{\partial y} + P^2 = 0, \quad (18)$$

By varnishing the last two terms since *P* is too small and  $\frac{dP}{dy}$  is very small at low density (if is advection). Also if  $\beta = 2$ , we use the similar calculation thus (18) becomes

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} + (\lambda - f(y))\frac{\partial P}{\partial y} + (2f(y) - 1 - f'(y))P = 0.$$
(19)

Since  $\lim_{t\to\infty} P(y,t) = 0$  for any fixed *y*. We shall apply the same technique that introduced in [10], for  $\lambda > 1$  to investigate the stability of the traveling wave solution f(y) of (19) to small perturbations P(y,t).

## **5.** Conclusion

Existence and uniqueness of the solutions for the nonlinear parabolic equation which modeling nonlinear convection equation with absorption have introduced in several studies in [1, 2, 7, 8, 12]. Proving the existence of traveling wave solutions for the nonlinear convection-reaction equations in some cases was discussed. Also, Shock wave solutions happens in some restrictions of the parameters where the speed of traveling wave may breakdown. Qualitative techniques displayed the traveling wave depends on the behavior of the initial conditions particularly at the edges of the waves. The equation(1) with  $\gamma = \beta = 1$  has speed of the traveling wave that depends on the initial conditions at infinity. We satisfy that traveling wave solution which has a compact support cannot grow from the initial data.

## References

- Aal-Rkhais, H. A. 2018 On the Qualitative Theory of the Nonlinear Degenerate Second Order Parabolic Equations Modeling Reaction-Diffusion-Convection Processes (Florida, USA: FIT).
- [2] Habeeb A. Aal Rkhais, Ayed E. Hashoosh; Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions to the NonlinearFokker-Planck Equation with Absorption; Jour of Adv Research in Dynamical & Control Systems, Vol. 10,10-Special Issue, 2018
- [3] Abdulla, Ugur G., and Habeeb A. Aal-Rkhais. "Development of the Interfaces for the Nonlinear Reaction-Diffusion equation with Convection." IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering. Vol. 571. No. 1. IOP Publishing, 2019.
- [4] Dai, J. L. H. (2007). On the study of singular nonlinear traveling wave equations: Dynamical system approach.
- [5] Fife, P. C. Mathematical Aspects of Reacting and Diffusing Systems Lecture Notes in Biomathematics, Vol 28, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1979.
- [6] Fisher, R. A. The wave of advance of advantageous. Ann. Eugenics, 7: 335-369, 1937.
- [7] Huang, J., Lu, G., & Ruan, S. (2003). Existence of traveling wave solutions in a diffusive predator-prey model. Journal of Mathematical Biology, 46(2), 132-152.
- [8] Li, J., & Liu, Z. (2002). Traveling wave solutions for a class of nonlinear dispersive equations. Chinese Annals of Mathematics, 23(03), 397-418.
- [9] Malchow, H. Flow- and locomotion-induced pattern formation in nonlinear population dynamics. Ecological Modelling, 82: 257-265, 1995
- [10] Mollison, D. Spatial contact models for ecological and epidemic spread. J. Roy. Stat. Soc., B39: 283-326, 1977.
- [11] Smoller, J. Shock Waves and Reaction-Diffusion Equations. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, 1994.
- [12] Zhang, Z. Y., Liu, Z. H., Miao, X. J., & Chen, Y. Z. (2011). Qualitative analysis and traveling wave solutions for the perturbed nonlinear Schrödinger's equation with Kerrlaw nonlinearity. Physics Letters A, 375(10), 1275-1280.

# **Comparison between Confine MO-Connectedness and Connectedness, Confine MO-Countability and Countability**

Hasanain Al-Abbasi<sup>1</sup> and Luay A A Al-Swidi<sup>2</sup>

University of Babylon, College of Education for Pure Sciences, Department of Mathematics<sup>1</sup> University of Babylon, College of Education for Pure Sciences, Department of Mathematics<sup>2</sup>

> Tel: +964 7811242210, E-mail: <u>hasanainalabbasi@gmail.com</u><sup>1</sup> Tel: +964 7812914256, E-mail: <u>drluayha11@yahoo.com</u><sup>2</sup>

**Abstract.** The main goal of this work is to introduce a comparison between connected and confine MO-connected space, locally connected and confine MO-locally connected space, extremally disconnected and confine MO-first countable space and first countable space, confine MO-second countable space and second countable space. New properties and relations are introduced.

**Keyword.** confine MO-topology, connected space, locally connected, extremally disconnected, first countable space, second countable space.

## 1. Introduction

There are numerous different types of function spaces, and there are several various topologies that can be configured on a given collection of functions [2]. A function space is an precious example of a topological space. There are numerous researchers studied various kinds of function spaces via placing various topologies on the collection of functions [11]. In 1945 Ralph Fox defined the compact-open topology by using a collection of continuous functions between two topological spaces [12]. In 1981 Panos Lambrions introduced the bounded-open topology [9]. In 1996 Kathryn Porter introduced the regular open-open topology by using a collection of continuous maps between two topological spaces [7]. In 2016 R. Saadati introduced the quasicompact-open topology by using continuous real-valued maps on space C(X) [10]. In 2017 Sanjay Mishra and others introduced the generalized pre-open compact topology by using collection of real-valued continuous maps respecting a Tychonoff space [13]. In the paper that was accepted for publication at the International Scientific Conference of the University of Babylon (ISCUB-2019) we presented a new kind of topology on function spaces was the confine measurable open topology (confine MO-topology) which was defined as follows: Let  $(X, \Sigma_{\mathcal{T}_X})$  and  $(II, \Sigma_{\mathcal{T}_{II}})$  be two Borel measurable spaces, a function  $F: X \longrightarrow \Sigma_{\mathcal{T}_{II}}$  is said to be set-valued Borel function (su-function), a collection of su-functions denoted by S. The pair  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{S})$  is said to be  $\mathfrak{s}\mathfrak{B}$ -function space ( $\mathfrak{A}$ -space) where  $\mathfrak{F} = (\mathfrak{X} \times P(\mathfrak{U}))$ . So that  $F \in \mathfrak{S}$  is said to be measurable şB-function (MşB-function) if,  $F^{-1}(U) \in \sum_{\mathcal{T}_X}$ , for every open subset U of  $\sum_{\mathcal{T}_U}$ . A collection of MSB-functions denoted by M. The pair (F, M) is said to be measurable SB-functions space (Pspace).

Let  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}) = \{F \in M; F(\mathfrak{b}) \subseteq \mathbb{U}, \text{ for fixed } \mathfrak{b} \in X, \{\mathfrak{b}\} \in \sum_{\mathcal{T}_X} \text{ and } \mathbb{U} \in \mathcal{T}_{IJ}\}$  then  $S_{M_{\mathfrak{b}}} = \{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}), \text{ for fixed } \mathfrak{b} \in X, \{\mathfrak{b}\} \in \sum_{\mathcal{T}_X} \text{ and } \mathbb{U} \text{ is an open set of } IJ\}$  is a subbase in M and the union of finite interaction of  $S_{M_{\mathfrak{b}}}$  is a topology on M is called the confine MO-topology of M denoted by  $\mathcal{T}_{M_{\mathfrak{b}}}$ . The pair  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_{\mathfrak{b}}})$  is called the confine MO-topology as a confine MO-topology of M denoted by  $\mathcal{T}_{M_{\mathfrak{b}}}$ .

The main goal of this study is to provide a comparison between the topological space and the confine measurable open topology (confine MO-topology), which this comparison includes a many properties

of topological space such as connected space, locally connected, first countable and second countable space, thus we obtain new relationships between various types of topological spaces.

## 2. Preliminaries

**Definition 2.1 [3].** Let  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{M})$  be a  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space and  $x \in \mathcal{X}$  then  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{M})$  is said to be

- a) First scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at x, if  $\forall \mu \in \mu \exists F \in M$  such that  $F(x) = \{\mu\}$ .
- **b**) Second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at x, if  $\forall F \in M$ ,  $\exists \mu \in \mu$  such that  $F(x) = \{\mu\}$ .
- c) Principle scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at  $\mathfrak{X}$ , if  $\forall \mathfrak{u}_1, \mathfrak{u}_2 \in \mathfrak{U}, \mathfrak{u}_1 \neq \mathfrak{u}_2$  there exist  $F_1, F_2 \in M$  such that  $\mathfrak{u}_1 \in F_1(\mathfrak{X}), \mathfrak{u}_2 \in F_2(\mathfrak{X})$  and  $F_1 \neq F_2$ .

**Definition 2.2 [3].** Let  $(M, T_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $\Re(\mathfrak{b}, U) \subseteq M$  then:

- a)  $\beta(b, U)$  is said to be exact set if  $\bigcup_{F \in \beta(b, U)} F(b) = U$ .  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is said to be exact space, if  $\forall \beta(b, U) \subseteq M, \beta(b, U)$  is an exact set.
- **b**)  $\beta(b, U)$  is said to be plenary set if  $(\beta(b, U))^c = \beta(b, U^c)$ .  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is said to be plenary space if  $\forall \beta(b, U) \subseteq M, \beta(b, U)$  is a plenary set.

**Definition 2.3 [3].** Let  $(M, T_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space, then  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is said to be

- a) United space if  $\forall \ \&(b, U_1), \&(b, U_2) \subseteq M, \ \&(b, U_1) \cup \&(b, U_2) = \&(b, U_1 \cup U_2).$
- **b**) limpid space if  $\forall \beta(b, U_1), \beta(b, U_1) \subseteq M$  such that  $\beta(b, U_1) \cap \beta(b, U_1) = \Phi \Longrightarrow U_1 \cap U_2 = \Phi$ .

**Definition 2.4 [3].** Let  $(M, T_{M_b})$  be an exact united plenary limpid space then  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is said to caliper topological space.

**Definition 2.5 [3].** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space. The union of all confine MO-open subsets of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is called the confine MO-interior of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  and is denoted by  $(\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A}))^{\circ}$ . The confine MO-interior of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is a confine MO-open subset of M.

**Definition 2.6** [3]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A}) \subset M$ . The intersection of all confine MO-closed supersets of  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is called the confine MO-closure of  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  and is denoted by  $\overline{\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})}$ . The confine MO-closure of  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is a confine MO-closed subset of M.

**Definition 2.7** [3]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $F \in M$ . A confine MO-neighbourhood of F is a subset  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, N)$  of M such that there exists a confine MO-open set  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U) \subset M$  such that  $F \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, N)$ . The set of all confine MO-neighbourhood of F is denoted  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, N)(F)$ .

**Definition 2.8** [3]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A}) \subset M$ . A confine MO-neighbourhood of  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is a subset  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, N)$  of M such that there exists a confine MO-open set  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, U) \subset M$  such that  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A}) \subset \beta(\mathfrak{b}, U) \subset \beta(\mathfrak{b}, N)$ . The set of all confine MO-neighbourhood of  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is denoted  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, N)(\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A}))$ .

**Definition 2.9 [3].** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space. A collection **B** of subsets of M is said to form a confine MO-base for  $\mathcal{T}_{M_b}$  iff  $\mathbf{B} \subset \mathcal{T}_{M_b}$  and if for each point  $F \in M$  and each confine MO-neighbourhood  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{B})$  there exist  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{B}) \in \mathbf{B}$  such that  $F \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{B}) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$ .

**Theorem 2.10 [3].** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_h})$  be an exact united space then:

- a) If  $\beta(b, N)$  is a confine MO-neighbourhood of  $\beta(b, A)$  then N is a neighbourhood of A.
- **b**) If N is a neighbourhood of  $\mathcal{A}$  then  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, N)$  is a confine MO-neighbourhood of  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$ .

## **Proof:**

- a) Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united space and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  be a confine MO-neighbourhood of  $\beta(b, A)$  then there is a confine MO-open set  $\beta(b, U)$  of M such that  $\beta(b, A) \subseteq \beta(b, U) \subseteq \beta(b, U)$  $(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  since  $(\mathbb{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathbb{M}_{\mathfrak{h}}})$  is an exact space then by lemma 2.12 (a) we have  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{U} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  and since  $(M, T_{M_5})$  is an exact united space then  $U \in T_{II}$  hence N is a neighbourhood of  $\mathcal{A}$ .
- **b**) Let N be a neighbourhood of  $\mathcal{A}$  then there is an open set U of I such that  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq U \subseteq N$  then by lemma 2.11 (c) we have  $\beta(b, A) \subseteq \beta(b, U) \subseteq \beta(b, N)$  such that  $\beta(b, U)$  is a confine MO-open set hence &(b, N) is a confine MO-neighbourhood of &(b, A).

**Lemma 2.11** [4]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-Topological space then:

- a)  $f(\mathfrak{b}, \{\mathfrak{U}\}) = M$ .
- **b**) If  $U_1, U_2 \subseteq U, U_1 \cap U_2 = \Phi$  then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2) = \Phi$ .
- c) If  $U_1, U_2 \subseteq U, U_1 \subseteq U_2$  then  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1) \subseteq \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2)$ .

**Lemma 2.12** [4]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact space and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1)$ ,  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2)$  are subsets of M such that:

- a)  $\&(b, U_1) \subseteq \&(b, U_2)$  then  $U_1 \subseteq U_2$ . b)  $\&(b, U_1) = \&(b, U_2)$  then  $U_1 = U_2$ .

**Theorem 2.13 [4].** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united space then  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  be an open set of M iff U be an open set of U.

**Proposition 2.14 [4].** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MSB-function topological space and  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a subset of M then  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}^\circ) \subseteq (\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}))^\circ$ .

**Proposition 2.15** [4]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_h})$  be an exact united space and  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a subset of M then  $(\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}))^{\circ} \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}^{\circ}).$ 

**Theorem 2.16 [4].** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a plenary space, if  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a subset of M, then  $\overline{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U)} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U})$ .

**Proposition 2.17** [4]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space,  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U) \subseteq M$ , then  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U}) \subseteq M$  $\overline{R(b, U)}$ .

**Result 2.18** [4]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a caliper space,  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U) \subseteq M$  then  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U}) = \overline{\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)}$ .

**Proposition 2.19** [4]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a plenary space and U be a closed subset of II then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a closed subset of M.

**Proposition 2.20** [4]. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united plenary space and  $\mathcal{B}(b, U)$  is a closed subset of M then U be a closed subset of U.

## 3. Confine MO-connectedness and connectedness.

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A}) \subset M$  then  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is said to be confine MO-connected set iff cannot be represented as the union of two disjoint non-empty confine MO-open subsets in  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$ .

**Definition 3.2.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space then M is said to be a confine MO-connected space iff cannot be represented as the union of two disjoint non-empty confine MO-open subsets.

**Theorem 3.3.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space then M is a confine MO-connected space iff the only subsets of M which are both confine MO-open and confine MO-closed are M and the empty set.

**Definition 3.4.** The maximal confine MO-connected subsets of a confine MO-topological space  $(M, T_{M_b})$  are called the confine MO-connected components of M.

**Definition** 3.5. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $F \in M$  then M is said to be a confine MO-locally connected at a point F if every confine MO-neighbourhood of F contains a confine MO-connected open neighbourhood. A space M is said to be a confine MO-locally connected at each of its points.

**Definition 3.6.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $F \in M$  then M is said to be a confine MO-weakly locally connected at a point F if every confine MO-neighbourhood  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, N)$  of F contains a confine MO-connected set  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  such that  $F \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})^{\circ} \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, N)$ . A space M is said to be a confine MO-weakly locally connected iff M is a confine MO-weakly locally connected at each of its points.

**Definition 3.7.** A confine MO-topological space  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is said to be a confine MO-extremally disconnected space iff the confine MO-closure of every confine MO-open set is a confine MO-open set.

**Lemma 3.8.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an united space and  $\mathcal{B}(b, U)$  be a confine MO-connected set in M then U is a connected set in H.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an united space and  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  be a confine MO-connected set in M. Suppose that U is a disconnected set in II then there exist two disjoint open sets  $U_1, U_2$  such that  $U = U_1 \cup U_2$  thus  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U) = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1 \cup U_2)$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an united space then  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U) = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1 \cup U_2) = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1) \cup \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2)$  but  $U_1, U_2$  are two disjoint open sets in II therefore  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1), \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2)$  are two disjoint open sets in M thus  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a disconnected set in M, this contradiction hence U is a connected set in II.

**Lemma 3.9.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space and U is a connected set in II then  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a confine MO-connected set in M.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space and U be a connected set in II. Suppose that  $\beta(b, U)$  is a disconnected set in M then there exist two disjoint open sets  $\beta(b, U_1)$ ,  $\beta(b, U_2)$  such that  $\beta(b, U) = \beta(b, U_1) \cup \beta(b, U_2)$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an united space then  $\beta(b, U) = \beta(b, U_1) \cup \beta(b, U_2) = \beta(b, U_1 \cup U_2)$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact space then  $U = U_1 \cup U_2$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united limpid space then we have  $U_1, U_2$  are two disjoint open sets in II thus U is a disconnected set in II this contradiction hence  $\beta(b, U)$  is a confine MO-connected set in M.

**Theorem 3.10.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an united confine MO-connected space then  $(I, \mathcal{T}_{I})$  is a connected space.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an united confine MO-connected space. Suppose that  $(I, \mathcal{T}_{I})$  is a disconnected space then there exist two disjoint open sets  $U_1, U_2$  such that  $I = U_1 \cup U_2$  thus  $M = \beta(b, I) =$ 

 $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}_1 \cup \mathbb{U}_2)$  since  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  be an united space then  $\mathfrak{M} = \beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{U}) = \beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}_1 \cup \mathbb{U}_2) = \beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}_1) \cup \beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}_2)$  but  $\mathbb{U}_1, \mathbb{U}_2$  are two disjoint open sets in  $\mathfrak{U}$  therefore  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}_1), \beta(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{U}_2)$  are two disjoint open sets in  $\mathfrak{M}$  thus  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is a disconnected space this contradiction hence  $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}})$  is a connected space.

**Theorem 3.11.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space and  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  be a connected then  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is a confine MO-connected space.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space and  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  be a connected space. Suppose that  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is a disconnected space then there exist two disjoint open sets  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1), \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2)$  such that  $M = \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1) \cup \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2)$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an united space then  $M = \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1) \cup \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_2) = \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U_1 \cup U_2)$  since  $M = \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, II)$  and  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact space then  $II = U_1 \cup U_2$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united limpid space then we have  $U_1, U_2$  are two disjoint open sets in II thus  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  is a disconnected space this contradiction hence  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is a confine MO-connected space.

**Theorem 3.12.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{C})$  be a confine MOcomponent set in M iff  $\mathcal{C}$  is a component set in  $\mathbb{H}$ .

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{C})$  be a confine MO-component set in M, then  $\mathcal{C}$  is a connected set in  $\mathcal{I}$ . Suppose that  $\mathcal{C}^*$  is a connected set in  $\mathcal{I}$  such that  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{C}^*$  thus  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{C}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{C}^*)$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{C}^*)$  is a connected set in M, but  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{C})$  be a confine MO-component set in M, this contradiction hence  $\mathcal{C}$  is a component set in  $\mathcal{I}$ .

Now let C be a component set in  $\amalg$  then &(b, C) is a confine MO-connected set in M. Suppose that  $\&(b, C^*)$  is a confine MO-component set in M such that  $\&(b, C) \subseteq \&(b, C^*)$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact space then  $C \subseteq C^*$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united space then  $C^*$  is a confine MO-connected set in  $\amalg$  but C be a component set in  $\amalg$  this contradiction hence &(b, C) is a component set in M.

**Theorem 3.13.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-locally connected space. If  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  is a principle scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  is a locally connected space.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-locally connected space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  be a principle scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b. Suppose that  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space and  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathfrak{U}$ , U is an open set of  $\mathfrak{U}$  such that  $\mathfrak{u} \in U$  then there exist  $F \in M$  such that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}}$  thus  $F(\mathfrak{b}) \subseteq U$  so that  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  such that  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is an open set in M then there exist a confine MO-connected open set  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, V)$  such that  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, V) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact space then  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}} \subseteq V \subseteq U$  so that  $\mathfrak{u} \in V \subseteq U$  but  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space then V is a connected open set hence  $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}})$  is a locally connected space.

**Theorem 3.14.** Let  $(II, T_{II})$  be a locally connected. If  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is an exact united limpid space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  is a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is a confine MO-locally connected space.

**Proof:** Let  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  be a locally connected space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{M})$  be second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b. Suppose that  $(\mathsf{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathsf{M}_b})$  is an exact united limpid space and  $F \in \mathsf{M}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U})$  is an open set such that  $F \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U})$  then  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = \{\mathfrak{u}\} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  thus  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathsf{U}$  since  $\mathsf{U}$  is an open set of II and  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  is a locally connected space then there exist a connected open set  $\mathsf{V}$  such that  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathsf{V} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  thus  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = \{\mathfrak{u}\} \subseteq \mathsf{V} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  so that  $F \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U})$  but  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{M})$  is an exact united limpid space and  $\mathsf{V}$  is a connected open then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U})$  but  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{M})$  is an exact united limpid space and  $\mathsf{V}$  is a connected open then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V})$  confine MO-connected open in  $\mathsf{M}$  hence  $(\mathsf{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathsf{M}_b})$  is a confine MO-locally connected space.

**Theorem 3.15.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-weakly locally connected space. If  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  is a principle scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  is a weakly locally connected space.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-weakly locally connected space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  be a principle scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b. Suppose that  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space and  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathfrak{U}$ , N is a neighbourhood of  $\mathfrak{u}$  then there exist  $F \in M$  such that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}}$  thus  $F(\mathfrak{b}) \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  then  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  such that  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  is a confine MO-neighbourhood of F then there exist a confine MO-connected set  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V})$  such that  $F \in (\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}))^{\circ} \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united space then  $(\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}))^{\circ} \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V})$  so that  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact space then we have  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}} \subseteq \mathbb{V}^{\circ} \subseteq \mathbb{V} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  thus  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathbb{V}^{\circ} \subseteq \mathbb{V} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  but  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space then  $\mathbb{V}$  is a connected set hence  $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}})$  is a weakly locally connected space.

**Theorem 3.16.** Let  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  be a weakly locally connected space. If  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united limpid space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is a confine MO-weakly connected space.

**Proof:** Let  $(\amalg, \mathcal{T}_{\amalg})$  be a weakly locally connected space and  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space. Suppose that  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b and  $F \in \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  is a confine MOneighbourhood of F then  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{P} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  thus  $\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{N}$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space then N is a neighbourhood of  $\mathfrak{p}$  since  $\mathfrak{l}$  is a weakly locally connected space then there exist a connected set V such that  $\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{V}^\circ \subseteq \mathbb{V} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  thus  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{p} \subseteq \mathbb{V}^\circ \subseteq \mathbb{V} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  so that  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}^\circ) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$ since  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}^\circ) \subseteq (\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}))^\circ$  then  $F \in (\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}))^\circ \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  but  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is an exact united limpid space and  $\mathbb{V}$  is a connected set then  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V})$  is a confine MO-connected set in  $\mathbb{M}$  hence  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$ is a confine MO-weakly locally connected space.

**Theorem 3.17.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a caliper then is a confine MO-extremally disconnected space iff  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  is an extremally disconnected space.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a caliper confine MO-extremally disconnected space and U be an open sets in II then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a confine MO-open set in M therefore  $\overline{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U)}$  is a confine MO-open set in M since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is a caliper MO-space then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U}) = \overline{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U)}$  thus  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U})$  is a confine MO-open set in M since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is a caliper space then  $\overline{U}$  is an open set in II hence  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  is an extremally disconnected space.

Now let  $(IJ, T_{IJ})$  be an extremally disconnected space and  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a confine MO-open set in M then U is an open sets in II therefore  $\overline{U}$  is an open set in II thus  $\overline{\beta}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a confine MO-open set in M since  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is a caliper MO-space then  $\beta(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U}) = \overline{\beta}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  thus  $\overline{\beta}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a confine MO-open set in M hence  $(M, T_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-extremally disconnected.

#### 4. Confine MO-Countability and Countability.

**Definition 4.1**. A confine MO-topological space  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is said to be a confine MO-first countable space if each point has a countable confine MO-neighboruhood basis.

**Definition 4.2.** A confine MO-topological space  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is said to be a confine MO-second countable space if  $\mathcal{T}_{M_b}$  has a countable confine MO-basis.

**Definition 4.3.** A confine MO-topological space  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is said to be a confine MO-separable space if it contains a countable confine MO-dense subset.

**Definition** 4.5. Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a confine MO-topological space and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A}) \subset M$  then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})$  is said to be confine MO-dense in M iff  $\overline{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{A})} = M$ .

**Lemma 4.6.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a caliper confine MO-topological space and  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  be a confine MO-dense set in M then U is a dense set in II.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a caliper confine MO-topological space and  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  be a confine MO-dense set then  $\overline{\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)} = M$  since  $M = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, L)$  then  $\overline{\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)} = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, L)$  so that by result 2.15 we have  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U}) = \overline{\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, U)} = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, L)$  implies that  $\mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \overline{U}) = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{b}, L)$  thus  $\overline{U} = L$ , hence U is a dense set in L.

**Lemma 4.7.** Let  $(M, T_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space and U be a dense set in  $\amalg$  then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{b}, U)$  is a confine MO-dense set in M.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united limpid space and U be a dense set in U then  $\overline{U} = U$  thus  $\beta(b, \overline{U}) = \beta(b, U)$  so that  $\beta(b, U) = \beta(b, \overline{U}) \subseteq \overline{\beta(b, U)}$  implies that  $\beta(b, U) \subseteq \overline{\beta(b, U)}$  but  $\overline{\beta(b, U)} \subseteq \beta(b, U) = \beta(b, U) = \beta(b, U) = M$ , hence  $\beta(b, U)$  is a confine MO-dense set in M.

**Theorem 4.8.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be a countable caliper confine MO-topological space and  $(I, \mathcal{T}_{I,I})$  is a countable topological space then  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is a confine MO-separable space iff  $(I, \mathcal{T}_{I,I})$  is a separable space.

**Theorem 4.9.** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united confine MO-first countable space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  be a first scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(II, \mathcal{T}_{II})$  is a first countable space.

**Proof:** Let  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united confine MO-first countable space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  be a first scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b. Suppose that  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathfrak{U}$  then there exist  $F \in M$  such that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}}$  so that F has a countable confine MO-neighbourhood basis  $N_F$ . Consider  $N_{\mathfrak{u}} = {V: \mathfrak{L}(\mathfrak{b}, V) \in N_F}$  since  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  is an exact united space then  $N_{\mathfrak{u}}$  is a countable collection of confine MO-neighbourhood of  $\mathfrak{u}$ . Now we confirm  $N_{\mathfrak{u}}$  is a basis of  $\mathfrak{u}$ . Let N be a neighbourhood of  $\mathfrak{u}$  then  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, N)$  is a confine MO-neighbourhood of F thus there exist  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, V) \in N_F$  such that  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, V) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, N)$  so that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}} \subseteq V \subseteq N$  thus  $\mathfrak{u} \in V \subseteq N$  but  $V \in N_{\mathfrak{u}}$  therefore  $N_{\mathfrak{u}}$  is a basis of  $\mathfrak{u}$  hence  $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}})$  is a first countable space.

**Theorem 4.10.** Let  $(II, T_{II})$  be a first countable space. If  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is an exact united and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  is a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(M, T_{M_b})$  is a confine MO-first countable space.

**Proof:** Let  $(\amalg, \mathcal{T}_{\amalg})$  be a first countable space and  $(M, \mathcal{T}_{M_b})$  be an exact united. Suppose that  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b and  $F \in \mathfrak{M}$  then there exist  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathfrak{U}$  such that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}}$  so that  $\mathfrak{u}$  has a countable neighbourhood basis  $N_{\mathfrak{u}}$ . Consider  $N_F = {\mathfrak{K}}(\mathfrak{b}, V): V \in N_{\mathfrak{u}}$  then  $N_F$  is a countable collection of confine MO-neighbourhood of F. Now we confirm  $N_F$  is a confine MO-basis of F. Let  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  be a confine MO-neighbourhood of F since  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is an exact united space then  $\mathbb{N}$  is a neighbourhood of  $\mathfrak{u}$  thus there exist  $V \in N_{\mathfrak{u}}$  such that  $\mathfrak{u} \in V \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  so that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = {\mathfrak{u}} \subseteq V \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  thus  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{N})$  but  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathbb{V}) \in N_F$  therefore  $N_F$  is a confine MO-basis of F hence  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is a confine MO-basis of F hence  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is a confine MO-basis of  $\mathcal{F}$ .

**Theorem 4.11.** Let  $(M, T_{M_b})$  be an exact united confine MO-second countable space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, M)$  be a first scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(II, T_{II})$  is a second countable space.

**Proof:** Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  be a confine MO-second countable space such that  $\boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  is a countable basis of  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$ . Suppose that  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is a first scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b and consider  $\boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{U}} = \{V: V \text{ is a subset of } \mathfrak{U} \text{ such that } \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, V) \in \boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}\}$  since  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is an exact united space then  $\boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{U}}$  is a countable collection of open subsets of  $\mathfrak{U}$  now we confirm  $\boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{U}}$  is a basis of  $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}})$ . Let  $\mathcal{U} \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}}$  and  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{U}$  since  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is a first scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then there exist  $F \in \mathfrak{M}$  such that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = \{\mathfrak{u}\}$  thus  $F(\mathfrak{b}) \subseteq \mathcal{U}$  implies that  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{U})$  since  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{U})$  is a confine MO-open subset of  $\mathfrak{M}$  then there exist  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{V}) \in \boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  such that  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{V}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathcal{U})$  so that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = \{\mathfrak{u}\} \subseteq \mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{U}$  thus  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{U}$  but  $\mathcal{V} \in \boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{U}}$  therefore  $\boldsymbol{B}_{\mathfrak{U}}$  is a basis of  $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}})$  hence  $(\mathfrak{U}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{U}})$  is a second countable space.

**Theorem 4.12.** Let  $(II, T_{II})$  be a second countable space and  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  be a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then  $(\mathfrak{M}, T_{\mathfrak{M}_{\mathfrak{h}}})$  is a confine MO-second countable space.

**Proof:** Let  $(\amalg, \mathcal{T}_{\amalg})$  be a second countable space such that  $\mathbf{B}_{\amalg}$  is a countable basis of  $(\amalg, \mathcal{T}_{\amalg})$ . Suppose that  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b and consider  $\mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{M}} = \{\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}): \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}) \text{ is a confine MO-open subsets of } \mathfrak{M}$  now we confirm  $\mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  is a confine MO-basis of  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$ . Let  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U}) \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b}$  and  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U})$  then  $F(\mathfrak{b}) \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  since  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{M})$  is a second scarce  $\mathfrak{P}$ -space at b then there exist  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathfrak{L}$  such that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = \{\mathfrak{u}\}$  thus  $\{\mathfrak{u}\} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  implies that  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathsf{U}$  since  $\mathsf{U}$  is an open sub set of  $\mathfrak{L}$  then there exist  $\mathsf{V} \in \mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{L}}$  such that  $\mathfrak{g} \in \mathsf{V} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  so that  $F(\mathfrak{b}) = \{\mathfrak{u}\} \subseteq \mathsf{V} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  thus  $F \in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U})$  but  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}) \in \mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  therefore  $\mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  is a confine MO-basis of  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is a confine  $\mathsf{MO}$ -basis of  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is a confine  $\mathfrak{M}$  set of  $\mathfrak{L}$  so that  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{b}) = \mathfrak{L}$  such that  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{b}) = \mathfrak{L}$  is an open sub set of  $\mathfrak{L}$  then there exist  $\mathsf{V} \in \mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{L}}$  such that  $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathsf{V} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  so that  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{b}) = \mathfrak{L} \mathfrak{L} \subseteq \mathsf{U}$  thus  $\mathfrak{L} \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}) \subseteq \mathfrak{L}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{U})$  but  $\mathfrak{L}(\mathfrak{b}, \mathsf{V}) \in \mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  therefore  $\mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  is a confine MO-basis of  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  hence  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{M}_b})$  is a confine MO-second countable space.

#### 5. References

[1] A. Geletu 2006 "Introduction to Topological Spaces and Set-Valued Maps" Ilmenau University of Technology August 25.

[2] Belk 2015 "Function Spaces" math351 faculty.bard.edu.

[3] H. Al-Abbasi, L. Al-Swidi 2019 "Measurable şв-Functions Space And Confine мşв-Function Topology" International Scientific Conference of the University of Babylon (ISCUB-2019).

[4] H. Al-Abbasi, L. Al-Swidi 2019 "On Confine MSB-Compactness And Confine MSB-Separation Axioms" International Scientific Conference of the University of Babylon (ISCUB-2019).

[5] I. Wilde 2005 "Measure Integration and Probability" King's College London.

[6] J. Sharma 1977 "Topology" Krishna Prakahan Mandir, Mearut.

[7] K. Porter 1996 "the regular open-open topology for function spaces" International J of Math and Math Sci. Vol 19. No. 2 (1996) 299-302.

[8] M. Papadimitrakis 2004 "Notes on Measure Theory" University of Crete.

[9] P. Lambrions 1981 "the bounded-open topology on function spaces" Manuscripta Math 36, 47-66

[10] R. Saadati 2016 "Some properties of the quasicompact-open topology on C(X)" J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. 9 (2016), 3511–3518.

[11] R. Arens, J. Dugundji 1951 "Topologies for function spaces" Pacific J. Math. 1(1951) 5-31.

[12] R.H. Fox 1945 "On topologies for function spaces" Bull. Amer. Math Soc. 51 (1945) 429-432.

[13] S. Mishra, S. Kang, M. Kumar 2017 "The Generalized Pre-Open Compact Topology on Function Spaces" International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics Vol. 114 No. 1 (2017) 1-15.

# The Split Anti Fuzzy Domination in Anti Fuzzy Graphs

## H J Yousif<sup>1</sup> and A A Omran<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1,2</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science, University of Babylon, Iraq.

Email:\* hayderjasim36@gmail.com and Pure.Ahmed.Omran@uobabylon.edu.iq

Abstract. We will discuss the concept of a split anti-fuzzy dominating set (SAFD) in anti fuzzy graph (GAF) and investigate the relationship of  $\gamma_{sAf}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>)(split anti fuzzy domination number) with other known parameters of anti-fuzzy graph. Some bounds and interesting results for this parameter are obtained. The split anti-fuzzy domination on some standard anti-fuzzy graph has been discussed with some suitable graphs.

Keywords: anti fuzzy graph (G<sub>AF</sub>), Anti fuzzy dominating set (AFD) and Split anti fuzzy Domination number.

#### 1. Introduction

The fuzzy set introduced by L.A. Zadeh [1] to explain vagueness mathematically and tried to resolve problems by giving a particular grade of membership to every member of a given set, which laid the basis of set theory. In (1975) the fuzzy Graph introduced by A. Rosenfeld [2]. The basic idea of fuzzy graph introduced by Kauffmann [3], and fuzzy relation represents the relationship between the objects of the given set. Domination in fuzzy graphs has been introduced by A.Somasundaram and S. Somasundaram [4] and they defined by effective edge. Domination in fuzzy graphs by strong edge it was discussed by A. Nagoorgani and V. T. Chandrasekaran [5] Anti fuzzy structures on graphs has been introduced by Muhammad Akram [6] and discussed the concepts of self-centroid anti fuzzy graphs and constant anti fuzzy graphs and other concepts. on anti fuzzy graph and domination on anti fuzzy graph has been discussed by Seethalakshmi, R.B. Gnanajothi [9]. Split domination in Fuzzy graph has been introduced by C.Y.Ponnappan, P.Surulinathan and S. Basheer Ahamed [11]. In this paper, we introduce the concept of Split anti fuzzy domination on Anti Fuzzy Graph. Some theorems are discussed and suitable examples are given.

## 2. Basic Definitions:

2.1. Definition [6]: Let  $\eta: V \to [0, 1]$  and  $\rho: V \times V \to [0, 1]$ , then  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  is known as anti fuzzy Graph if  $\rho$   $(u_1, u_2) \ge \eta$   $(u_1) \vee \eta$   $(u_2) \forall u_1, u_2 \in V$  and is denoted by  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  and V: refer to maximum.

2.2. Definition [6]:  $G_A^* = (\eta^*, \rho^*)$  is known as underlying crisp graph of  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$ Where  $\eta^* = \{w \in V / \eta(w) > 0\}$  and  $\rho^* = \{(u, w) \in V \times V / \rho(u, w) > 0\}$ .

*Note:*  $\rho$  is taken into account as reflexive and symmetric. For each example,  $\eta$  is selected suitably. i.e., only undirected G<sub>AF</sub> are studied.

2.3. Definition [7]: The size § and order P of  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  are defined to be  $\S = \sum_{uv \in E} \rho(u, v)$ 

And  $P = \sum_{v \in V} \eta(v)$ , Denoted by S (G<sub>AF</sub>) and O (G<sub>AF</sub>) respectively.

2.4. Definition [8]:  $G_{AF}$  is complete if  $\rho(u, w) = \max[\eta(u), \eta(w), \forall u, w \in \eta^*]$  and it is denote by  $K_{\eta}$ 

2.5. Definition [9]: The complement of  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  is an anti-fuzzy graph such that:  $\eta = \overline{\eta}$  and  $\overline{\rho(x, y)} = 1 - \rho(u, w) + \max[\eta(u), \eta(w)]$  for all  $\rho(u, w) \in E$ .

2.6. Definition [8]: The effective edge e = (u, w) in  $G_{AF}$  is defined as if  $\rho(u, w) = \max[\eta(u), \eta(w)]$ .

2.7. Definition [8]: Let w be a vertex in  $G_{AF}$ , N (w) = {u: (w, u) is an effective edge} is known as The Neighbourhood of w and N[w] U {w} is known as the closed neighbourhood of w.

2.8. Definition [6]: The  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  is connected if there exist a fuzzy path between any two vertices of  $G_{AF}$ .

2.9. Definition [12]: The  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  is a strong anti fuzzy graph if  $\rho(u, w) = \max [\eta(u), \eta(w)], \forall \rho(u, w) \in \rho^*$ .

2.10. Definition [12]: The v-nodal in  $G_{AF}$  is defined as every vertex has equal fuzzy values. i.e  $\eta$  (x) = k,  $\forall x \in V$  ( $G_{AF}$ ).

2.11. Definition [12]: The e-nodal in  $G_{AF}$  is defined as every edge has an equal fuzzy values. i.e.  $\rho(x, y) = k \forall (x, y) \in E(G_{AF})$ .

2.12. Definition [12]: The uninodal in  $G_{AF}$  is defined as for every vertices and edges in  $G_{AF}$  have the equal Fuzzy values i.e.  $\eta(x) = k = \rho(x, y)$ .

2.13. Definition [13]: Let  $A \subseteq V(G_{AF})$  is known as an anti-fuzzy vertex cover of  $G_{AF}$  if for each effective

Edge e = (u, w), at least (one) of u, w is in A. The maximum anti-fuzzy cardinality of anti-fuzzy vertex cover is known as anti-fuzzy vertex covering number of  $G_{AF}$  and is represented by  $\alpha_0(G_{AF})$ .

*Note:* If e = (v, w) is an effective edge in an anti fuzzy graph  $G_{AF}$ , then we say that v and e cover each other.

2.14. Definition: A vertex w is known as an isolated vertex if  $\rho(w, u) > \eta(w) \lor \eta(u) \lor u \in V-\{w\}$ .

2.15. Definition: Let  $S \subseteq V(G_{AF})$  is known as the independent anti-fuzzy set if  $\begin{cases} \rho(w, u) = 0 & \forall u, w \in S \text{ such that } \rho(w, u) \notin E(GAF) \\ \rho(w, u) > \eta(w) \lor \eta(u) \forall u, w \in S \text{ such that } \rho(w, u) \in E(GAF) \end{cases}$ 

2.16. Definition: An independent anti – fuzzy set S of  $G_{AF}$  is called the maximal independent anti fuzzy set if there is no independent anti- fuzzy set S\* of  $G_{AF}$  such that  $|S^*| > |S|$ .

2.17. Definition: The maximum fuzzy cardinality over all maximal independent anti fuzzy set of  $G_{AF}$  is known as the independence number of  $G_{AF}$  and is denoted by  $\beta_0$  ( $G_{AF}$ ).

2.18. Definition: Two vertices  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  of  $G_{AF}$  dominate each other if  $\rho(u_1, u_2) = \max[\eta(u_1), \eta(u_2)]$ .

2.19. Definition: A vertex subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of V(G<sub>AF</sub>) is known as anti-fuzzy dominating (AFD) set of G<sub>AF</sub> if for each vertex  $u_1 \in V - \mathcal{D}$  there exists a vertex  $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}$  such that  $u_2$  dominates  $u_1$ . The AFD set  $\mathcal{D}$  of G<sub>AF</sub> is called minimal AFD set of G<sub>AF</sub> if no proper subset  $\mathcal{D}$  \* of  $\mathcal{D}$  is AFD of G<sub>AF</sub>.

2.20. Definition: The maximum fuzzy cardinality among all minimal AFD set of  $G_{AF}$  is called the anti fuzzy domination number and is denoted by  $\gamma_{Af}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ).

#### 3. Split anti fuzzy Domination of GAF.

In this section the SAFD set and split anti fuzzy domination number on  $G_{AF}$  are defined, uninodal anti fuzzy graph is discussed, and these concepts are studied on some kinds of simple  $G_{AF}$ .

3.1. Definition: AFD set  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $G_{AF}$  is known as SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  if the induced anti fuzzy subgraph

< V - D > is disconnected.

3.2. Definition: The SAFD set  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $G_{AF}$  is known as minimal SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  if no proper subset  $\mathcal{D}^*$  of  $\mathcal{D}$  is SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ .

3.3. Definition: The maximum fuzzy cardinality among all minimal SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  is known as the split anti fuzzy domination number of  $G_{AF}$  and is denoted by  $\gamma_{sAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ).

*3.1. Example:* Consider G<sub>AF</sub> in Figure1.

Such that V = {v<sub>1</sub>, v<sub>2</sub>, v<sub>3</sub>, v<sub>4</sub>, v<sub>5</sub>, v<sub>6</sub>, v<sub>7</sub>, v<sub>8</sub>, v<sub>9</sub>, v<sub>10</sub>, v<sub>11</sub>, v<sub>12</sub>, v<sub>13</sub>} and I? (u, v) =  $\eta$  (u)  $\lor \eta$  (v)  $\forall$ (u, v)  $\in$  E (G<sub>AF</sub>)



Figure.1

We see that the vertex subset  $\mathcal{D}_1 = \{v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \mathcal{D}_2 = \{v_1, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}\},$ 

 $\mathcal{D}_{3} = \{v_{4}, v_{5}, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}\}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_{4} = \{v_{2}, v_{3}, v_{6}, v_{7}, v_{8}, v_{9}\}$  are minimal SAFD Set of  $G_{AF}$  and hence,  $\gamma_{SAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ) = max { $|\mathcal{D}_{1}|, |\mathcal{D}_{2}|, |\mathcal{D}_{3}|, |\mathcal{D}_{4}|\}$  = max {1, 4.3, 2.8, 2.3} = 4.3

Observation 3.1: A minimal SAFD set of GAF with  $|\mathcal{D}| = \gamma_{SAf}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>) is denoted by  $\gamma_{SAf}$ - set of G<sub>AF</sub>.

3.1. Preposition: Let anti fuzzy graph  $G_{AF} = K_n$  then SAFD set does not exist.

3.2. Preposition: Let  $G_{AF} = K_{1,\eta}$  a star anti fuzzy graph then  $\gamma_{sAf}$  ( $K_{1,\eta}$ ) =  $\eta$  (v), v is a root vertex.

3.3. Preposition: Let  $G_{AF} = K_{\eta 1,\eta 2}$  be a complete anti fuzzy bipartite graph where  $|V_1| = m$  and  $|V_2| = n$  where  $m = \sum \eta(v)$ ,  $v \in V_1$  and  $n = \sum \eta(v)$ ,  $v \in V_2$  then  $\gamma_{sAf}$  ( $K_{\eta 1,\eta 2}$ ) = max {m, n}.

3.1. Theorem: Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a (SAFD) set of  $G_{AF}$  be a minimal SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  if and only if for every vertex  $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}$  one of the next situations holds:

(a) There exists a vertex  $u_1 \in V - \mathcal{D}$  such that  $N(u_1) \cap \mathcal{D} = \{u_2\}$ ;

(b)  $u_2$  is an isolated in  $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{D}}$ ;

(c) <  $(V - D) \cup \{u_2\}$  > is connected.

*Proof*: Consider  $\mathcal{D}$  is a minimal SAFD of GAF and  $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}$  such that  $u_2$  does not satisfy any one of the three situations, Then by (a) and (b)  $\mathcal{D}^* = \mathcal{D} - \{u_2\}$  is AFD set of GAF and by condition (c)  $\langle V - \mathcal{D}^* \rangle$  is disconnected. This implies that  $\mathcal{D}^*$  is a minimal SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ ; this is a contradiction with minimalist  $\mathcal{D}$ . Therefore, for every vertex  $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}$  satisfies one of the above conditions.

Conversely, assume that for every vertex  $u_2 \in D$  one of the above situations holds. Further,

if  $\mathcal{D}$  is not minimal, then there exists a vertex  $u_2 \in \mathcal{D}$  such that  $\mathcal{D} - \{u_2\}$  is SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  and there exists a vertex  $u_1 \in \mathcal{D} - \{u_2\}$  such that  $u_1$  dominates  $u_2$ . That is  $u_1 \in N(u_2)$ . Therefore,  $u_2$  does not satisfy the conditions (b) and (c), thus it must satisfy the condition (a). Then there exists  $u_1 \in V - \mathcal{D}$  such that  $N(u_1) \cap \mathcal{D} = \{u_2\}$ . Since  $\mathcal{D} - \{u_2\}$  is a SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ , then there exists  $h \in \mathcal{D} - \{u_2\}$  such that  $h \in N(u_1)$ . Therefore,  $h \in N(u_1) \cap \mathcal{D}$ ,  $h \neq u_2$ , is a contradiction with  $N(u_1) \cap \mathcal{D} = \{u_2\}$ . Clearly,  $\mathcal{D}$  is a minimal SFD set for  $G_{AF} \square$ 

3.2. Theorem: The AFD set  $\mathcal{D}$  of GAF is a (SAFD) set of  $G_{AF}$  if and only if there exist  $u_1, u_2 \in V - \mathcal{D}$  such that every  $u_1$ - $u_2$  path contains a vertex of  $\mathcal{D}$ .

*Proof:* Suppose that  $\mathcal{D}$  is a minimal SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ , then  $\langle V - \mathcal{D} \rangle$  is disconnected, take  $u_1, u_2 \in V - \mathcal{D}$  such that every  $u_1$ - $u_2$  path-joining  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  must contain a vertex of  $\mathcal{D}$ .

Conversely, assume that  $u_1, u_2 \in V - \mathcal{D}$  such that every  $u_1 - u_2$  path contains a vertex of  $\mathcal{D}$ . Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be an AFD set of  $G_{AF}, < V - \mathcal{D} >$  either connected or disconnected.  $< V - \mathcal{D} >$  is connected, then for any two vertices  $u_1, u_2 \in V - \mathcal{D}$  there is a  $u_1 - u_2$  path joining  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  in  $< V - \mathcal{D} >$  which does not contain a vertex of  $\mathcal{D}$ , this impossible with our assumption. Therefore,  $\mathcal{D}$  is a SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ .  $\Box$ 

3.4. Preposition: Let  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  be a strong anti fuzzy graph and  $\mathcal{D}$  be a  $\gamma_{sAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ) – set of  $G_{AF}$ . Then  $V - \mathcal{D}$  is AFD set of  $G_{AF}$ .

*Proof:* Assume that  $\mathcal{D}$  is a minimal SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ . If  $V - \mathcal{D}$  is not AFD set of  $G_{AF}$ , then there exists  $w \in \mathcal{D}$  which does not dominate any vertex of  $V - \mathcal{D}$ . Thus  $\mathcal{D}^* = \mathcal{D} - \{w\}$  is a SADF set of  $G_{AF}$ , this is a contradiction, therefore  $V - \mathcal{D}$  is AFD set of  $G_{AF}$ .  $\Box$ 

3.5. Preposition: For any strong anti fuzzy graph  $G_{AF}$ = ( $\eta$ ,  $\rho$ ),

$$\gamma_{Af} (GAF) + \gamma_{sAf} (GAF) \leq$$
 'P.

*Proof:* Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a  $\gamma_{sAf}$  – set of  $G_{AF}$ , thus from Preposition 3.3, V –  $\mathcal{D}$  is AFD set of  $G_{AF}$ . Therefore

 $\gamma_{Af}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>)  $\leq$  |V –  $\mathcal{D}$  | = 'P –  $\gamma_{SAf}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>). Hence  $\gamma_{Af}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>) +  $\gamma_{SAf}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>)  $\leq$  'P.  $\Box$ 

3.6. Preposition: Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a  $\gamma_{sAf}$  – set of  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$ . If  $\langle \mathcal{D} \rangle$  is disconnected anti fuzzy subgraph of  $G_{AF}$ , then  $\gamma_{sAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ )  $\leq$  P /2.

*Proof:* Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a  $\gamma_{SAf}$  – set of  $G_{AF}$ , thus  $V - \mathcal{D}$  is AFD set of  $G_{AF}$ , since  $\langle \mathcal{D} \rangle$  is disconnected, then  $V - \mathcal{D}$  is a SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ . Therefore,  $\gamma_{SAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ )  $\leq |V - \mathcal{D}| = P - \gamma_{SAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ). Hence  $\gamma_{SAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ )  $\leq P/2$ .  $\Box$ 

3.7. Preposition: For any anti fuzzy graph  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho), \gamma_{Af} (G_{AF}) \leq \gamma_{sAf} (G_{AF});$ 

*Proof:* from definitions of  $\gamma_{Af}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>) and  $\gamma_{SAf}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>).  $\Box$ 

3.8. Preposition: V – A is a SAFD set of strong anti fuzzy graph  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  If A is maximal Independent anti fuzzy set of  $G_{AF}$ .

*Proof:* Since A is maximal independent anti fuzzy set of strong anti-fuzzy graph  $G_{AF}$ , then V – A is AFD set of  $G_{AF}$ . Further < A > =< V – (V – A) > is disconnected. This implies V – A is a SAFD set.  $\Box$ 

3.3. Theorem: A set  $S_i \subseteq V(G_{AF})$  is independent anti fuzzy set of GAF if and only if  $V(G_{AF})$ - $S_i$  is an antivertex covering of  $G_{AF}$ .

*Proof:* Let  $S_i$  be an independent anti-fuzzy set of  $G_{AF}$ . By the definition of independent anti fuzzy set, there exist no effective edge between any two vertices in  $S_i$ , thus no edges of  $G_{AF}$  has at least one end in  $S_i$  Then  $V(G_{AF})$  -  $S_i$  contains at least one end for every edge, Hence , $V(G_{AF})$ - $S_i$  is an anti-vertex covering of  $G_{AF}$ . And similarly if  $S_c$  is anti-vertex covering then it is clear that  $V(G_{AF})$ - $S_c$  is independent anti-fuzzy Set.  $\Box$ 

3.4. Theorem: If  $G_{AF}$  is an anti-fuzzy graph, then  $P \leq \alpha_0 + \beta_0$ , where  $\alpha_0$ ,  $\beta_0$  are anti-fuzzy covering number and independence number respectively.

*Proof:* Let  $G_{AF}$  be an anti-fuzzy graph. Let  $S_i$  be a maximal anti independent set and  $S_C$  be an anti-vertex covering of  $G_{AF}$ . By theorem3.3, we get  $V(G_{AF})$ - $S_C$  is an anti-independent set of  $G_{AF}$ .

Hence  $|V - S_C| \le |S_i| \Rightarrow P - \alpha_0 \le \beta_0 \Rightarrow P \le \alpha_0 + \beta_0$ .  $\Box$ 

3.5. Theorem: Let  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  be a uninodal anti-fuzzy graph then  $\gamma_{SAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ )  $\leq \alpha_0(G_{AF})$ , where  $\alpha_0(G_{AF})$  is a vertex covering number of  $G_{AF}$ .

*Proof:* Let A be a maximal independent anti-fuzzy set of  $G_{AF}$ , then it is contains at least two vertices and for each vertex  $u \in A$  there exists  $w \in V - A$  such that I?  $(u, w) = \eta(u) \vee \eta(w)$ . Thus V - A is a SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ . Hence  $\gamma_{SAf}$   $(G_{AF}) \leq |V - A| = P - \beta_0 (G_{AF}) = \alpha_0 (G_{AF})$ .  $\Box$  3.6. Theorem: Let  $G_{AF}$  = ( $\eta$ ,  $\rho$ ) be any anti fuzzy graph with end-vertex,  $\gamma_{Af}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ) =  $\gamma_{SAf}(G_{AF})$ . Furthermore, there exists a SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  containing all vertices adjacent to anti fuzzy end-vertices.

*Proof:* Suppose that  $\mathcal{D}$  is AFD set of  $G_{AF}$  and v be an end vertex of  $G_{AF}$ , then there exists a cut vertex u adjacent to v and I? (u, v) =  $\eta(u) \vee \eta(v)$ . Assume that  $u \in \mathcal{D}$ , then  $\mathcal{D}$  is a SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$ , if  $u \in V - \mathcal{D}$  then  $v \in \mathcal{D}$  Hence  $\mathcal{D} - \{v\} \cup \{u\}$  is SAFD set. Repeating this process for all such cut-vertices adjacent to end-Vertices, we obtain a SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  containing all cut-vertices adjacent to end-vertices of  $G_{AF}$ .  $\Box$ 

3.7. Theorem: Let  $G_{AF}$  = ( $\eta$ ,  $\rho$ ) be any anti fuzzy graph, then  $\gamma_{SAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ) = t, t  $\in$  [0, 1],

t =  $\eta$  (w), w  $\in$  V (G<sub>AF</sub>) if and only if GAF has only one cut vertex w  $\in$  V(G<sub>AF</sub>) which has n – 1

neighbors of vertices.

*Proof:* Assume that  $\mathcal{D} = \{w\}$  is a  $\gamma_{SAf}$  —set of  $G_{AF}$ , thus  $\langle V - \{w\}\rangle$  is disconnected. Hence v is a cut vertex of  $G_{AF}$ , so N (w) =  $\{V - \{w\}\}$  then w has n – 1 neighbors in  $G_{AF}$ . Assume that there exists another cut vertex say u in  $G_{AF}$  which has n – 1 neighbors in  $G_{AF}$ , then u is adjacent to all remaining vertices of  $G_{AF}$ . In this case  $\langle V - \{w\}\rangle$  is connected, this is a contradiction. Then w is only the cut vertex of  $G_{AF}$  has n – 1 neighbors in  $G_{AF}$ .

Conversely, assume that w is only one cut vertex of  $G_{AF}$  has n - 1 neighbors in  $G_{AF}$ , then w is adjacent to all vertices of  $G_{AF}$ . Hence there exists  $u \in V - \{w\}$ ,  $u \neq w$  which it is not adjacent with other vertex of  $V - \{w\}$ , the  $\langle V - \{w\} \rangle$  is disconnected. Thus  $= \{w\}$  is SAFD set of  $G_{AF}$  and hence  $\gamma_{sAf}$  ( $G_{AF}$ ) = t, t =  $\eta$  (w).  $\Box$ 

3.8. Theorem: Every SAFD set of  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  is a split dominating set in crisp graph  $G_{A}^* = (\eta *, I? *)$ .

*Proof*: Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a SAFD set of  $G_{AF} = (\eta, \rho)$  then for each vertex  $u \in V$ - $\mathcal{D}$  there exist  $w \in \mathcal{D}$  such that I? (u, w) =  $\eta$  (u)  $\vee \eta$  (w) > 0, and  $\langle V - \mathcal{D} \rangle$  is disconnected. Thus I? (u, w)  $\in \mu^*$ , hence each vertex in V- $\mathcal{D}$  is dominated by at least one vertex in  $\mathcal{D}$  and  $\langle V - \mathcal{D} \rangle$  is disconnected, thus  $\mathcal{D}$  is a split dominating set in  $G_A^* = (\eta *, I?^*)$ .

Note: The convers theorem 3.8 is not true.

3.8.1. Example: Let  $G_A^* = (\eta *, I?^*)$  and  $G_{AF} = (\eta, I?)$ , be a crisp graph of GA and anti fuzzy graph are considered in figure (2) and figure (3) respectively.


We see that the split dominating set in crisp graph  $G_A^* = (\eta *, \rho *), \mathcal{D} = \{x, u\}$  which is not a split anti fuzzy dominating set in anti fuzzy graph  $G_{AF} = (\sigma, \mu)$ .

# 4. Conclusion

In this work, we studied (SAFD) set and a split anti fuzzy domination number of an anti-fuzzy graph  $(G_{AF})$ . For some standard an anti-fuzzy graphs, we found the exact value of  $\gamma_{sAf}$  (G<sub>AF</sub>). In addition, we got some relationships between split anti-fuzzy domination number and for some parameters. **References:** 

- [1] Zadeh L A 1965 Fuzzy sets, *Information Sciences*. No.**8** 338-353.
- [2] Rosenseld A 1975 Fuzzy graphs, Academic *Press*, New York 77-95.
- [3] Kaufmann A 1973 Introduction to the theory of Fuzzy Subsets, *Academic Press*, New York.
- [4] Somasundaram A and Somasundaram. S 1998 Domination in fuzzy graphs *I*, *Pattern Recognition Letters*, 19 **9** 787-791.
- [5] Nagoor Gani A and Chandrasekaran V T 2006 Domination in Fuzzy Graph , *Advances in Fuzzy Sets and Systems*", 1 **1** 17-26.
- [6] Akram M 2012 Anti fuzzy structure on graphs, Middel- East journal of scientific research, 11 12 1641-1648.
- [7] Muthuraj R and Sasireka A 2017 On anti fuzzy graphs, Advances in Mathematics 12 5 1123-1135.
- [8] Muthuraj R and Sasireka A 2018 Domination on anti fuzzy graph , *International Journal. of Mathematical Archive*, 9 **5** 82-92.
- [9] Seethalakshmi R., Gnanajothi R B 2017 On antipodal antifuzzy graph, *International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, 112 **5** 47-55.
- [10] Mahioub Q M. and Soner N D 2008 The split domination number of fuzzy graph , *Far East Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 30 **1** 125-132.
- [11] Ponnappan C Y, Surulinathan P, Basheer S A 2014 The Strong Split Domination Number of Fuzzy Graphs, International Journal of Computer & Organization Trends, 8 1 May.
- [12] Muthuraj R , Sasireka A 2018 Connected Domination on Anti Fuzzy Graph , *Journal of Applied Science and Computations* 5(8) p19.
- [13] Somasundaram A 2005 Domination in fuzzy graphs-II, Fuzzy Mathematics, 13 2 281–288.

# On Certain Types of Topological Spaces Associated with Digraphs

Khalid Shea Khairallah Al' Dzhabri<sup>1</sup> and Mohammad Falih Hani Al'murshidy<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Al-Qadisiyah, College of Education, Department of mathematics <sup>2</sup>Ministry of Education, Babylon Education Directorate

<sup>1</sup><u>khalid.aljabrimath@qu.edu.iq</u>, <sup>2</sup><u>mohfalih17@yahoo.com</u>

Abstract. In this work, we constructed a new types of topological structures by associated with digraphs called  $DG_E^{\sigma}$  – topological space and  $DG_E^{\mu}$  – topological space by induced two alternate definitions  $DG^{\sigma}$  – open set and  $DG^{\mu}$  – open set respectivally. Investigated some properties of the topologies determined by a digraph with respect to each of these alternated definitions.

# 1. Introduction

Graph theory is important mathematical tool in many subjects ply an important role in discrete mathematic. There is a closed connection between topologies and digraphs. In 1967, J.N. Evans, et al. [3] There was found a correlation between the set of all topologies and the set of all transitive digraphs. In 1968, T.N. Bhargve and T.J. Ahllborn [7] studied and dissect the topological spaces with digraphs explain that every digraph D = (V, E) is offset by topology  $(V, T_E)$  where  $T_E = \{U: U \in 2^V, Uopen\}$ ;. In 2013, A. H.Mahdi and S.N.Al-khafaji [1], constructed a topology on finite undirectd graphs and a topology on subgraphs on the set of edges and discussed the connectedness of each of the graph and the topological space that induces by that finite undirectd graph . In 2015, Khalid Al'Dzhabri in [6] find the correspondnce between the finite topology and the graph of finite reflexive –transitive relations. In 2018, K. A. Abdu and A. Kilicman[4] by using the set of edges of any digraph studied associated of applying the topology on digraphs called compatible edge topology and incompatible edge topology and studied new operators called DG –operators. In our work, we constructed a new types of topological space by induced two alternate definitions  $DG^{\sigma}$  – open set and  $DG^{\mu}$  – open set respectivally.

# 2. Preliminaries

In this part, we recall that some definitions and facts and update another definition by using our new concepts .

Definition2.1[2]: A digraph (directed graph) is a set V of vertices and a set E of order pairs of vertices such that  $\emptyset \subseteq E \subseteq V \times V$  and denoted by D = (V, E) or simply by D(V) if the set E is fixed.

Definition2.2[2]:Let  $\acute{V} \subseteq V$ ,the digrph  $D = (\acute{V}, E \cap \acute{V} \times \acute{V})$  denoted simply by  $D(\acute{V})$ , is a subdigrph of the digraph D = (V, E).

Definition2.3[2]:An element of E is called an arc or (directed edge) of the digraph D = (V, E) and is denoted by  $uv \in E$ ; and said to be an arc from u to v.

Definition 2.4 [2]: A directed path (dipath) of length L from  $u_i$  to  $u_j$  is an ordered (L + 1) –tuple of vertices of D = (V, E),  $u_i, u_{k_1}, u_{k_2}, u_{k_3}, ..., u_{k_{(L-1)}}, u_j$  in which L is a positive integer and  $\{u_i u_{k1}, u_{k2}, u_{k2} u_{k3}, u_{k(L-1)} u_j\}$  is a subset of the arc set E of D = (V, E). The vertex  $u_i$  is called the initial vertex ,the vertices  $u_{k_1}, u_{k_2}, ..., u_{k_{(L-1)}}$  is called intermediate vertices ,and  $u_j$  is called the terminal vertex of the digraph.

Definition2.5[2]:An directed edge from  $u_i$  to $u_i$  is called a loop at  $u_i$  and denoted by  $u_iu_i \in E$ .

Definition 3.6: If there exists a dipath from  $u_i$  to  $u_j$  in D = (V, E), we say that  $u_i$  indegree to  $u_j$  or  $u_j$  outdegree from  $u_i$  and denoted by  $\psi(i, j)$ . The ordered pair  $(u_i, u_j)$  is called an indegrees pair. If  $u_i$  is not indegree to  $u_i$ , we write  $\tilde{\psi}(i, j)$ .

Definition 2.7: If both  $\psi(i, j)$  and  $\psi(j, i)$  that is if  $u_i$  is indegree to  $u_j$  and  $u_j$  indegree to  $u_i$  we say that  $u_i$  and  $u_i$  are symmetrically indegrable and denoted by  $\psi^*(i, j)$ 

Remarrk2.8:We note that the relation  $\psi^*$  is an equivalence relation on a set V in D = (V, E).

Definition 3.9[2]:Let D = (V, E) be a digraph .Then D = (V, E) is called a transitive digraph if  $uv \in E$  and  $vw \in E$  implies that  $uw \in E$ .

Now by using  $\psi(i, j)$  in the definition 3.6 we give the following definitions.

Definition2.10:Let D = (V, E) be a digraph. Then D is called

i)  $\psi$  - stronglly connected , if  $\psi^*(i, j)$  , for every  $u_i$  and  $u_j$  in V.

ii)  $\psi$  –unilaterally connected, if  $\psi(i, j)$  or  $\psi(j, i)$  for every  $u_i$  and  $u_j$  in V.

iii) $\psi$  –weakly connected, if  $D = (V, E \cup E^c)$  is  $\psi$  –strongly connected where  $E^c = \{vu: uv \in E\}$ .

iv)  $\psi$  -disconnected if D = (V, E) is not even  $\psi$  -weakly connected.

Remark 2.11: 1) Adigraph D = (V, E) is called be of type:

i) $\psi_4$ , if D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  -strongly connected.

ii)  $\psi_3$ , if D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  –unilaterally connected but not $\psi$  –strongly connected.

iii)  $\psi_2$ , if D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  –weakly connected but not  $\psi$  –unilaterally connected.

iv)  $\psi_1$ , if D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  –disconnected.

2) A digraph D = (V, E) of type  $\psi_i$  is said to be in the connectedness state  $\psi_i$ , for i = 1,2,3 or 4.

# 3. On DG – open set.

This section, introduced by Khalid Al'Dzhabri, Abd Alhamza Mahdi and Yousif Saheb [5]by constructed a topology which associated with digraph called DG – topological space induced by DG –open set.

Definition 3.1[5]: Let D = (V, E) be a digraph a subset A of V is called DG – open set if for  $u_i \in A$  and an directed edgeu<sub>i</sub> $u_i \in E$ , then  $u_i \in A$ .

Remark 3.2 [5]:From the definition above the topology associated with the digraph D = (V, E) denoted by  $\tau_{DG}$  and  $\tau_{DG} = \{A: AisDG - open set\}$ .And  $(V, \tau_{DG})$  is called DG – topological space.

Example 3.3: consider the digraph D = (V, E) where  $V = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}$ 



 $v_2$ 

And the topology corresponding to the above digraph  $\tau_{DG} = \{\emptyset, V, \{v_2\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_2, v_4\}, \{v_2, v_4\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_5\}\}$ 

Theorem3.4 [5]:Let D = (V, E) be a digraph then  $(V, \tau_{DG})$  is topology on a set V associated with the digraph D = (V, E).

Proof:

[O1] Clearly  $\emptyset$  and  $V \in \tau_{DG}$ 

[O2] Let  $\{U_{\alpha}\}\$  be a collection of subsets of V in  $\tau_{DG}$ , let  $u \in U_{\alpha}U_{\alpha}$  and  $uv \in E$  then  $\exists U_{\alpha_0} \in U_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha$  with  $uv \in E$  implies that  $v \in U$ , so  $U_{\alpha}U_{\alpha} \in \tau_{DG}$ .

[O3] Let  $U_i \in \tau_{DG}$ ,  $\forall i = 1,2,3 \dots, n$ . Now let  $u \in \bigcap_{i=1}^n U_i$  and  $vu \in E$ , then  $u \in U_i$  for all i and  $v \in U_i$  and therefore a family  $\bigcap_{i=1}^n U_i \in \tau_{DG}$ . Hence  $\tau_{DG}$  is topology on V.

Definition 3.5: Let  $(V, \tau_{DG})$  be a DG – topological space, then  $(V, \tau_{DG})$  is called a DG – topologically connected if V can not be expressed as union of two disjoint non empty a DG – open set and other wise  $(V, \tau_{DG})$  is called a DG – disconnected space.

Theorem3.6: The digraph D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  – weakly connected iff  $(V, \tau_{DG})$  is a DG – topologically connected.

Proof: Suppose that  $(V, \tau_{DG})$  is a DG – connected space, then V cannot be expressed as the union of two disjoint DG – open sets and this iff every non empty proper subset of V is not a DG – open or is not DG – closed. Equivalently, by definition 3.1, for each proper subset say A of V, there exists an directed edge from A<sup>c</sup> to A or there exists an directed edge from A to A<sup>c</sup> in the digraph D(V), that is in D = (V, E \cup E<sup>c</sup>), where E<sup>c</sup> = {uv: vu \in E} there exists an directed edgefrom A<sup>c</sup> to A and there exists an directed edgefrom A to A<sup>c</sup> for each proper subset A of V. Hence by definition 3.1the only DG – open set in D = (V, E \cup E<sup>c</sup>) are@and V. ThusD = (V, E \cup E<sup>c</sup>) is  $\psi$ -strongly connected and hence D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  – weakly connected.

# 4. On $DG^{\sigma}$ –open set.

In this section, we constructed a topology associated with digraph called  $DG_E^{\sigma}$  –topological space which induced by  $DG^{\sigma}$  –open set.

Definition 4.1:Let D = (V, E) be a digrph, subset A of V is called  $DG^{\sigma}$  –opeen set if for  $u_i \in A$  and  $u_j \in A^c$  implies that  $u_i u_j \notin E$ . In other words, a subst A of V is  $DG^{\sigma}$  –opeen set, if there does not exist an directed edge in D = (V, E) from A to  $A^c$ .

Theorem 4.2:Let D = (V, E) be a digraph then:

a subset A of a digraph D = (V, E) is  $DG^{\sigma}$  -opeen set, iff A is  $DG^{\sigma}$  -closed.

A subset A of a digraph D = (V, E) is  $DG^{\sigma}$  - open set, iff A is  $DG^{\sigma}$  - open of a digraph  $D = (V, E^{c})$ , where  $E^{c} = \{u_{i}u_{i} \in E : u_{i}u_{i} \in E\}$ .

Proof: we can compare between the definition 4.1 and the definition 3.1 then we note that  $(E^c)^c = E$  and that the digraph  $D = (V, E^c)$  obtained from the digraph D = (V, E) by reversing the direction of each and every directed edge of D = (V, E) and this operation does not alter the connectedness state  $\psi_i$ , for i = 1,2,3 or 4. of a digraph.

Theorem 4.3:Each digraph D = (V, E) determines, with respect to  $DG^{\sigma}$  -open sets, a unique  $DG_{E}^{\sigma}$  - topological space (V,  $\tau_{DG_{E}^{\sigma}}$ ) and this topological space is identical to the  $DG_{E^{c}}^{\sigma}$  - topological space (V,  $\tau_{DG_{E^{c}}^{\sigma}}$ ) determined with respect to  $DG^{\sigma}$  -open set by digraph  $D = (V, E^{c})$ , where  $E^{c} = \{u_{j}u_{i} \in E: u_{i}u_{j} \in E\}$ .

Proof: Let A be an arbitrary subset of V. By theorem 4.2 a subst A of a digraph D = (V, E) is  $DG^{\sigma}$  -opeen set, iff A is  $DG^{\sigma}$  - open of a digraph  $D = (V, E^{c})$ , where  $E^{c} = \{u_{j}u_{i} \in E: u_{i}u_{j} \in E\}$ . And thus  $\tau_{DG_{E}^{\sigma}} = \{A: A \subseteq V \text{ of } D = (V, E), \text{ is } DG^{\sigma} - \text{ open set}\}$  and this  $DG_{E}^{\sigma} - \text{ topology is identical to the } DG_{E^{c}}^{\sigma} - \text{ topology such that } \tau_{DG_{E^{c}}^{\sigma}} = \{A: A \subseteq V \text{ of } D = (V, E^{c}), \text{ is } DG^{\sigma} - \text{ open set}\}$  and hence by theorem 3.4,  $D = (V, E^{c})$  determines a unique  $DG_{E^{c}}^{\sigma} - \text{ topological space } (V, \tau_{DG_{E^{c}}}^{\sigma})$  which is identical to the  $DG_{E}^{\sigma} - \text{ topological space } (V, \tau_{DG_{E^{c}}}^{\sigma})$ .

Definition 4.4: Let(V,  $\tau_{DG_E^{\sigma}}$ ) be a  $DG_E^{\sigma}$  – topological space , then  $(V, \tau_{DG_E^{\sigma}})$  is called a  $DG_E^{\sigma}$  – topologically connected if V can not be expressed as uniion of two disjoint non empty a  $DG^{\sigma}$  – opeen set and other wise  $(V, \tau_{DG_E^{\sigma}})$  is called a  $DG_E^{\sigma}$  –disconnected space.

Theorem 4.5: The digraph D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  – weakly connected iff  $(V, \tau_{DG_E^{\sigma}})$  is a  $DG_E^{\sigma}$  – topologically connected.

Proof: D = (V, E) is of the same connectedness states  $\psi_i$ , for i = 1,2,3 or 4. of a digrph D = (V, E<sup>c</sup>), E<sup>c</sup> = { $u_j u_i \in E$ :  $u_i u_j \in E$ }. In particular, D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  – weakly connected iff D = (V, E<sup>c</sup>) is  $\psi$  – weakly connected and from theorem 4.3 (V,  $\tau_{DG_E^{\sigma}}$ ) is identical to the (V,  $\tau_{DG_E^{\sigma}}$ ) and similarly from theorem 3.6 D = (V, E) is  $\psi$  – weakly connected iff (V,  $\tau_{DG_E^{\sigma}}$ ) is a DG<sup> $\sigma$ </sup> – topologically connected with respect to DG<sup> $\sigma$ </sup> – open set.

# 5. On DG<sup>µ</sup> – open set

In this section, we constructed a topology associated with digraph called  $DG_E^{\mu}$  –topological space which induced by  $DG^{\mu}$  –open set.

Definition 5.1:Let D = (V, E) be a digraph a subset A of V is called  $DG^{\mu}$  –open set if for  $u_i \in A^c$  and  $u_j \in A$  implies that  $u_i u_j \in E$ . In other words, a subset A of V is  $DG^{\mu}$  –open set, if there exist an directed edge in D = (V, E) from  $A^c$  to A.

Theorem 5.2: A set  $A \subseteq V$  of digraph D = (V, E) is  $DG^{\mu}$  –open set iff a set  $A \subseteq V$  of digraph  $D = (V, E^*)$  is  $DG^{\mu}$  –open set, where  $E^* = V \times V \setminus E$ .

Proof: we can compare between the definition 5.1 and the definition 3.1 we note that  $(E^*)^* = E$  and the digraph  $D = (V, E^*)$  may be determine from the digraph D = (V, E) be including in  $D = (V, E^*)$  iff the directed edges which do not appear in the digraph D = (V, E) and this operation does in some cases, change the connectedness states  $\psi_i$ . For example the digraph  $D = (V, V \times V)$  is type of  $\psi_4$  but the digraph  $D = (V, \emptyset)$  is type of  $\psi_1$ .

Theorem 5.3:Each digraphD = (V, E) determines, with respect to  $DG^{\mu}$  –open sets, a unique  $DG_{E}^{\mu}$  – topological space (V,  $\tau_{DG_{E}^{\mu}}$ ) and this topological space is identical to the  $DG_{E^*}^{\mu}$  – topological space (V,  $\tau_{DG_{E}^{\mu}}$ ) determined with respect to  $DG^{\mu}$  –open set by digraph D = (V, E<sup>\*</sup>), where E<sup>\*</sup> = V × V\E.

Proof: Let A be an arbitrary subset of V. By theorem 5.2 a subset A of a digraph D = (V, E) is  $DG^{\mu}$ -open set, iff A is  $DG^{\mu}$ - open of a digraph  $D = (V, E^*)$ , where  $E^* = V \times V \setminus E$ . And thus  $\tau_{DG_{E}^{\mu}} = \{A: A \subseteq V \text{ of } D = (V, E), \text{ is } DG^{\mu}$ - open set} and this  $DG_{E}^{\mu}$ - topology is identical to the  $DG_{E^*}^{\mu}$ - topology such that  $\tau_{DG_{E^*}^{\mu}} = \{A: A \subseteq V \text{ of } D = (V, E^*), \text{ is } DG^{\mu}$ - open set} and hence by theorem 3.4  $D = (V, E^*)$  determines a unique  $DG_{E^*}^{\mu}$ - topological space  $(V, \tau_{DG_{E^*}}^{\mu})$  which is identical to the  $DG_{E}^{\mu}$ - topological space  $(V, \tau_{DG_{E^*}}^{\mu})$ .

Definition 5.4:Let( $V, \tau_{DG_E^{\mu}}$ ) be a  $DG_E^{\mu}$  – topological space, then  $(V, \tau_{DG_E^{\mu}})$  is called a  $DG_E^{\mu}$  – topologically connected if V can not be expressed as union of two disjooint non empty a  $DG^{\mu}$  – open set and other wise  $(V, \tau_{DG_E^{\mu}})$  is called a  $DG_E^{\mu}$  –disconnected space.

Remark 5.4:In general, the "connectedness classification" of a digraph D = (V, E) is not consistent with  $DG_E^{\mu}$  – topologically connected of the  $DG_E^{\mu}$  – topological space  $(V, \tau_{DG_E^{\mu}})$ . For example : let  $V = \{u_1, u_2\}$ . The digrph  $D = (V, E^*)$  is type of  $\psi_1$ , but the  $DG_{E^*}^{\mu}$  – topological space  $(V, \tau_{DG_E^{\mu}})$ determine with respect  $DG^{\mu}$  – open sets, by  $D = (V, E^*)$  is an indiscrete space and hence is  $DG_E^{\mu}$  – topologically connected.

## References

- [14] A.H. Mahdi and S. N. Al-khafaji , Construction A Topology On Graphs, *Journal of Al-Qadisiyah for computer science and mathematics*, 5(2), (2013), 39-46
- [15] C. Vasudev, Graph Theory with Applications, *New Age International Publishers*, New Delhi, 2006.
- [16] K.A. Abdu, and A. Kilicman, topologies on the edges set of directed graphs, International Journal of Mathematical Analysis, 12(2), (2018), 71-84. https://doi.org/10.12988/ijma.2018.814
- [17] Kh. Sh. Al' Dzhabri., The graph of reflexive-transitive relations and the graph of finite topologies. *Vestn. Udmurt. Univ. Mat. Mekh. Komp'yut. Nauki.* 1 (2015) 3-11. In (Russian) http://doi.org/10.20537/vm150101.
- [18] Kh. Sh. Al' Dzhabri, A. Mahdi Hamza and Y. Saheb Eissa ., On DG-toplogical operators associated with digraphs., *Journal of Al-Qadisiyha for computer and mathematics*, 12(1) (2020).
- [19] T. N. Bhargave, T. J. Ahllborn, On topological spaces associated with digraphs, Acta Mathematica Academiae Scientiarum Hungaricae, 19 (1968), 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01894678
- [20] R. N. Lieberman, Topologies on Directed Graphs, *Technical Reports Server TR-214*, *University of Maryland*, 1972.

# Matroidal Structure Based On Soft-Sets

# Kholod M. Hassan and Saied A. Johnny

AL-Diwaniyah Education Directorate, AL-Diwaniyah, Iraq

Email: <u>kholodmohamed@qu.edu.iq</u> Email: <u>saiedjhonnykh@gmail.com</u>

**Abstract:** A matroidal structure that generalizes the properties of independence. Relevant applications are found in graph theory and linear algebra. This paper will focus on the definitions of a matroid in terms of generalization for a crisp set called soft-set and soft-point, also we give some results related to this concept. A soft-matroid is defined and examples of soft-systems which form are given. The novel concept of independent soft-set is introduced. The notion maximal of independent soft-sets and minimal dependent soft-sets, with examples from linear algebra and soft-graph theory, are illustrated. Finally, we investigate some fundamental properties of soft-matroid.

# 1. Introduction:

Soft-set theory was initiated by the Russian researcher Molodtsov in 1999, [1] as a new mathematical tool for many mathematical theories. Up to now, the algebraic structure of the soft-sets has been investigated by some authors, (see [2], [3], [4], [5] and [6]). Maji et al. [7], presented applications of soft-sets in some decision making problems. Ali et el. [8], proposed several new operations in soft-set theory. Moreover, many works have been devoted to application of soft-sets in various algebraic structures. In 2002, Maji et al they introduced the definition of processes on soft-sets and their properties. After that Sujoy et al [9], specified the definition of soft-set which is called a soft-point a generalization of a crisp-point.

A matroid is a structure that generalizes the properties of independence, [10]. Relevant applications are found in graph theory and linear algebra. There are several but equivalent ways to define a matroid, each related to the concept of independence. Various basic examples of matroids are presented and basic concepts are clarified in the context of these examples, [11] and [12].

In recent years, a graph theory is one of the branches of mathematics, which aims to describe phenomena and concepts of an ambiguous, vague, undefined and imprecise meaning. Since the graph theory has a rich potential, researches on a graph theory and its applications in various fields are progressing rapidly. There exists several different approaches for studying the generalization of the matroidal structure and one of the most important was presented by [13], [14] and [15] such as fuzzy-graph theory, and soft- graph theory which are all generalizations of the graph theory.

The purpose of this paper is to make contribution for investigating on soft-graph theory and we focus on a soft-point of a soft-set and give some new properties within this concept. Moreover, our study in this paper focuses on the analytical part of some aspects of the soft-graph theory.

# 2. Background Material:

We first review some elementary concepts of soft-sets and soft-graphs that are necessary for this paper.

- 2.1. Definition [1, 9]:
  - (*i*) A pair (F, A) is said to be a soft-set over a universal set  $\mathfrak{U}$ , where  $A \subseteq \mathfrak{E}$  for a set of parameters and F is a set-valued mapping  $F : A \to \mathscr{O}(\mathfrak{U})$ .

It is apparent that a soft set  $F_A = (F, A)$  over a universe  $\mathfrak{U}$  can be viewed as a parameterized family of subsets of  $\mathfrak{E}$ .

(*ii*) A soft set  $F_A$  is said to be a soft-point and its denoted by:

 $\mathfrak{p}_e^x = \{(e, F(e))\}$ , if exactly one  $e \in A$ ,  $F(e) = \{x\}$  for some  $x \in \mathfrak{U}$  and  $F(e') = \emptyset$  for all  $e' \in A \setminus \{e\}$ . i.e. the fact that  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x$  a soft-point of  $F_A$  and will be denoted by  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in F_A$ , if  $x \in F(e)$ .

- (i) Let  $F_A$  and  $H_B$  be two soft-sets. Then  $F_A$  is said to be a sub-soft-set of  $H_B$ , denoted by  $F_A \cong H_B$ , if:
- $A \subseteq B;$
- $F(e) \subseteq H(e)$  for all  $e \in A$ .
- (*ii*) Two soft-sets  $F_A$  and  $H_B$  are equal, if  $F_A \cong H_B$  and  $H_B \cong F_A$ .
- (*iii*) Two soft-point  $\mathfrak{p}_{e}^{x}$  and  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{y}$  are equal, if x = y and e = e'.

# 2.3. Definition [2]:

(*i*) A soft-set  $F_A$  is said to be null soft-set and denoted by  $\emptyset_A$ , if for all  $e \in A$ , implies that  $F(e) = \emptyset$ .

(*ii*) A soft-set  $F_A$  is said to be an absolute soft-set and denoted by  $\mathfrak{U}_A$ , if for all  $e \in A$ , implies that  $F(e) = \mathfrak{U}$ .

(*iii*) A complement of a soft-set  $F_A$ , denoted  $F_A^c$  and defined by:

,  $F^{c}(e) = \mathfrak{U} \setminus F(e)$  for all  $e \in A$ .  $F^{c} : A \to \wp(\mathfrak{U})$ 

<sup>2.2.</sup> Definition [2, 9]:

2.4. Remark [9]:

- (i)  $\emptyset_A^c = \mathfrak{U}_A$  and  $\mathfrak{U}_A^c = \emptyset_A$ .
- (*ii*) If  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathcal{F}_A$ ,  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \notin \mathcal{F}_A^c$ , i.e.  $x \notin \mathcal{F}^c(e)$ .

## 2.5. Definition [9]:

A soft-set  $F_A$  is said to be a finite, if F(e) is finite for all  $e \in A$ .

2.6. Definition [2, 3]:

(i) The intersection (union) of two soft-sets  $F_A$  and  $G_B$  is the soft-set  $H_C$ , which is defined by:

 $H_A = F_A \widetilde{\cap} G_B (H_A = F_A \widetilde{\cup} G_B)$ , where  $C = A \cap B (C = A \cup B)$  and for all  $e \in C$ , written

as 
$$H(e) = F(e) \cap H(e)$$
 ( $H(e) = \begin{cases} F(e) & ; e \in A \setminus B \\ H(e) & ; e \in B \setminus A \end{pmatrix}$ .  
 $F(e) \cup H(e) & ; e \in A \cap B \end{cases}$ 

It is clear that every soft-set can be expressed as a union of all soft-points belong to it.

(*ii*) The difference of two soft-sets  $F_A$  and  $G_A$  is the soft-set  $H_A$ , which is defined by:

 $H_A = F_A \widetilde{\backslash} G_A$ , and for all  $e \in A$ , write  $H(e) = F(e) \backslash H(e)$ .

#### 2.7. Definition [13]:

Let a pair  $\mathbb{G} = (V, E)$  be a crisp graph and A any non-empty set. Let R be a subset of  $A \times V$  be an arbitrary relation from A to V. A mapping (or set-valued mapping) from A to V, written as:  $F : A \to \mathcal{D}(V)$  can be defined as  $F(e) = \{ v \in V : eRv \}$  and a mapping  $H : A \to \mathcal{D}(E)$ , can be defined as  $H(e) = \{ xv \in E : \{x, v\} \subseteq F(e) \}$ . A pair (F, A) is a soft-set over V and (H, A) is a soft-set over E.

2.8. Definition [13]: (Soft-graph)

A 4-tiple  $\mathbb{G}^* = (\mathbb{G}, \mathbb{F}_A, H_A, A)$  is said to be a soft-graph, if it satisfies the following conditions:

- $(g_1) \mathbb{G}$  is a graph;
- $(g_2)$  A is a non-empty set of parameters;
- $(\mathcal{G}_3)$   $F_A$  is a soft-set over V;
- $(\mathcal{G}_4)$   $H_A$  is a soft-set over E;
- $(g_5)$  (F(e), H(e)) is a sub-graph of  $\mathbb{G}$  for all  $e \in A$ .

#### 3. Main results:

In this section, our definition of soft-matroid as introduced. We prove some systems of  $\mathbb{G}^*$  are equivalent to the soft-matroid. In our use of the terms independent soft-set, dependent soft-sets, bases

of soft-matriod and circuit of a soft-matroid. Finally, give some examples and results related to these concepts.

The number of any soft-points in finite soft-set  $F_A$  is said to be the cardinal number and its denoted as  $|F_A|$ .

3.1. Definition: A soft-matroid  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is a structure or an ordered pair ( $F_A, \mathcal{G}$ ) of a soft-graph, which consisting of a finite soft-set  $F_A$  and a collection  $\mathcal{G}$  of a sub-soft-sets of  $F_A$  satisfying the following three conditions:

( $\mu_1$ )  $\emptyset_A \in \mathcal{G}$ . ( $\mu_2$ ) If  $G_A \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $G'_A \cong G_A$ , then  $G'_A \in \mathcal{G}$ . ( $\mu_3$ ) If  $G_A$ ,  $H_A \in \mathcal{G}$  with  $|G_A| < |H_A|$ , then there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x$  of  $H_A \setminus G_A$  such that  $G_A \widetilde{\cup} \mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathcal{G}$ .

If  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is the soft-matroid  $(F_A, \mathcal{G})$ , then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is called soft-matroid on  $F_A$ .

# 3.2. Examples:

- (*i*) Let  $\mathfrak{U} = A = \{1, 2\}, F_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^1, \mathfrak{p}_2^1, \mathfrak{p}_2^2\}$  and  $\mathcal{G} = \{\emptyset_A\}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is a soft-matroid.
- (*ii*) Let  $\mathfrak{U} = A = \{1\}, F_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^1\}$  and  $\mathcal{G} = \{\emptyset_A, F_A\}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is a soft-matroid.
- (*iii*) Let  $\mathfrak{U} = A = \{1, 2\}, F_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^1, \mathfrak{p}_2^1, \mathfrak{p}_1^2, \mathfrak{p}_2^2\}$  and  $\mathcal{G} = \{\emptyset_A, \mathcal{G}_A, \mathcal{H}_A\}$ , with  $\mathcal{G}_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^1, \mathfrak{p}_2^1\}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^2, \mathfrak{p}_2^2\}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is not soft-matroid.
- (*iv*) Let  $\mathfrak{U} = \{1, 2, 3\}$ ,  $A = \{1, 2\}$ ,  $F_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^1, \mathfrak{p}_2^1, \mathfrak{p}_3^1, \mathfrak{p}_1^2, \mathfrak{p}_2^2, \mathfrak{p}_3^2, \mathfrak{p}_3^3, \mathfrak{p}_3^3, \mathfrak{p}_3^3, \mathfrak{p}_4^3, \mathfrak{p}_2^2, \mathfrak{p}_3^2, \mathfrak{p}_3^3, \mathfrak{p}_3^3, \mathfrak{p}_4^3, \mathfrak{p}_2^2, \mathfrak{p}_3^2, \mathfrak{p}_3^3, \mathfrak{p}_4^3, \mathfrak{p}_2^3, \mathfrak{p}_3^3, \mathfrak{p}_4^3, \mathfrak{p}_4^2, \mathfrak{$

3.3. Theorem: A structure  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is a soft-matroid if and only if satisfies the following conditions:

- (i)  $\mathcal{G} \neq \emptyset$ .
- (*ii*) If  $G_A \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $G'_A \cong G_A$ , then  $G'_A \in \mathcal{G}$ .

(*iii*) If  $G_A, H_A \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $|H_A| = |G_A| + 1$ , then there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x$  of  $H_A \setminus G_A$  such that  $G_A \widetilde{\bigcup} \mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathcal{G}$ .

Proof: Suppose first that  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is a soft-matroid. It is enough to prove that (iii), since  $|G_A| < |H_A|$ , we must have from ( $\mu_3$ ) of the Definition (3.1), there exists at least one soft-point  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x$  of  $H_A \setminus G_A$  such that  $G_A \widetilde{\cup} \mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathcal{G}$ .

Conversely, to show that the three soft-matroid conditions, from (i) of a hypothesis above, we have  $\emptyset_A \in \mathcal{G}$ . It is clear that (ii) equivalent to  $(\mu_2)$ . Also, from (iii), we have  $|H_A| = |G_A| + 1$  and hence, there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x$  of  $H_A \tilde{\setminus} G_A$  such that  $G_A \tilde{\cup} \mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathcal{G}$ .

This implies that  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is a soft-matroid.

3.4. Definition: Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_1 = (F_{1_A}, \mathcal{G}_1)$  and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_2 = (F_{2_A}, \mathcal{G}_2)$  be two soft-matroids on a disjoint soft-sets  $F_{1_A}$  and  $F_{2_A}$  respectively. Let  $F_A = F_{1_A} \widetilde{\bigcup} F_{2_A}$  and  $\mathcal{G} = \{G_{1_A} \widetilde{\bigcup} G_{2_A} : G_{1_A} \in \mathcal{G}_1 ; G_{2_A} \in \mathcal{G}_2\}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is a soft-matroid on  $F_A$ . This soft-matroid  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is the direct sum  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_1 \bigoplus \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_2$  of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_1$  and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_2$ .

3.5. Remark: Given two soft-matroids  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_1 = (F_A, \mathcal{G}_1)$  and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_2 = (F_A, \mathcal{G}_2)$ , we are interested in their intersection, which is defined by:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_1 \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_2 = (\mathcal{F}_A, \mathcal{G}_1 \cap \mathcal{G}_2) \,.$$

In general,  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_1 \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_2$  is not a soft-matroid.

3.6. Definition: Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  be a soft-matroid. The soft-subset of  $F_A$  that is in  $\mathcal{G}$  is said to be the independent soft-set. A sub-soft-set of  $F_A$  that is not in  $\mathcal{G}$  is said to be a dependent soft-set.

3.7. Example: Let  $\mathfrak{U} = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, A = \{1\} F_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^1, \mathfrak{p}_1^2, \mathfrak{p}_1^3, \mathfrak{p}_1^4\}$  and  $\mathcal{G} = \{G_A \cong F_A : |G_A| \le 2\}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is a soft-matroid and its clear the form of independent soft-sets. To know the sub-soft-set of  $F_A$  that is not in  $\mathcal{G}$  (dependent soft-sets), we give the following formula  $\{G_A \cong F_A : |G_A| > 2\}$ .

3.8. Definition: Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  be a soft-matroid. The maximal independent soft-set is an independent soft-set that is not a sub-soft-set of any other. Also, The minimal dependent soft-set is an dependent soft-set which has no proper sub-soft-set.

## 3.9. Example: For example (3.7) data.

The collection of all maximal independent soft-sets in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  given by  $\{G_A \cong F_A : |G_A| = 2\}$  and the collection of all minimal dependent soft-sets in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  given by  $\{G_A \cong F_A : |G_A| = 3\}$ .

3.10. Theorem: A structure  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is soft-matroid if and only if satisfies the following conditions:

- (i)  $\mathcal{G} \neq \emptyset$ .
- (*ii*) If  $G_A \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $G'_A \subseteq G_A$ , then  $G'_A \in \mathcal{G}$ .
- (*iii*) If  $F'_A \cong F_A$  with  $G_A$  and  $G'_A$  are maximal members in  $\{H_A : H_A \in \mathcal{G} \text{ and } H_A \cong F'_A\}$ , then  $|G_A| = |G'_A|$ .

Proof: Clear.

3.11. Definition: Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  be a soft-matroid. A collection  $\mathfrak{B}$  of sub-soft-set of  $F_A$  such that for all  $G_A$ ,  $G'_A \in \mathfrak{B}$ :

- $(\mathcal{B}_1) |G_A| = |G'_A|.$
- $(\mathscr{V}_2)$  For all  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in G_A \setminus G'_A$ , there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathscr{Y}} \in G'_A \setminus G_A$  such that  $(G_A \setminus \mathfrak{p}_e^x) \cup \mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathscr{Y}} \in \mathfrak{B}$ .
- $(\mathscr{B}_3)$  For all  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in G_A \setminus G_A'$ , there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathscr{Y}} \in G_A' \setminus G_A$  such that  $(G_A' \setminus \mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathscr{Y}}) \widetilde{\cup} \mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathfrak{B}$ .

Then  $\mathfrak{B}$  is said to be a collection of bases for  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  and it is denoted by  $\mathfrak{B}(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}})$ .

3.12. Example:

- (*i*) Let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  be a soft-matroid. A collection of maximal independent soft-sets in  $\mathcal{G}$  is a collection of bases for  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ .
- (*ii*) For example (3.7) data. Let  $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{F}_A)$  with  $\mathfrak{B}(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}) = \{G_A, G'_A\}$  and  $G_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^1, \mathfrak{p}_1^2\}$  and  $G_A = \{\mathfrak{p}_1^3, \mathfrak{p}_1^4\}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{B}(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}})$  is not collection of bases for  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ .

3.13. Theorem: Let  $\mathfrak{B}$  be a collection of a sub-soft-set of  $F_A$ . Then  $\mathfrak{B}$  is the collection of bases for a soft-matroid  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  if and only if it satisfies the following conditions:

(i)  $\mathfrak{B} \neq \emptyset$ .

(*ii*) If  $G_A$ ,  $G'_A \in \mathfrak{B}$  and  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in G_A \setminus G'_A$ , then there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathscr{Y}} \in G'_A \setminus G_A$  such that  $(G'_A \setminus \mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathscr{Y}}) \cup \mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathfrak{B}$ .

Proof: Assume  $\mathfrak{B}$  is the collection of bases for  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ . The first direction is clear.

Conversely, suppose that the above conditions are met. Suffice it to prove the members of  $\mathfrak{B}$  are equal-cardinal.

Now, if for all  $G_A$ ,  $G'_A \in \mathfrak{B}$ , with  $|G_A| < |G'_A|$ . From Definition (3.11), we must have  $G_A$  and  $G'_A$  are both in  $\mathcal{G}$ . Also, from Definition (3.1.  $\mu_3$ ), implies that there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in G'_A \setminus G_A$  with  $G_A \cup \mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in \mathcal{G}$ . This contradicts the maximality of  $G_A$ . Hence  $|G_A| \ge |G'_A|$  and similarly,  $|G'_A| \ge |G_A|$ .

3.14. Theorem: Let  $F_A$  be a soft-set and  $\mathfrak{B}$  be a collection of a sub-soft-set of  $F_A$  satisfying (*i*) and (*ii*) conditions in Theorem (3.13). Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a collection of a sub-soft-set of  $F_A$  that are contained in some members of  $\mathfrak{B}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is a soft-matroid having  $\mathfrak{B}$  as it is a collection of bases.

Proof: Since  $\mathfrak{B} \neq \emptyset$  and  $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathfrak{B}$ , implies that  $\mathcal{G}$  satisfies  $(\mathfrak{p}_1)$ . Moreover, if  $G_A \in \mathcal{G}$ , then  $G_A \subseteq H_A$  for some  $H_A \in \mathfrak{B}$ . Thus if  $G'_A \subseteq G_A$ , then  $G'_A \subseteq H_A$ . So  $G'_A \in \mathcal{G}$ . i.e.  $\mathcal{G}$  satisfies  $(\mathfrak{p}_2)$ .

Finally, to show that  $\mathcal{G}$  satisfies  $(\mu_3)$ . Assume that  $(\mu_3)$  false for  $\mathcal{G}$ . Then there exist  $G_A$ ,  $H_A \in \mathcal{G}$  with  $|G_A| < |H_A|$  such that, for all  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in H_A \setminus G_A$ , the soft-set  $G_A \cup \mathfrak{p}_e^x \notin \mathcal{G}$ . From our hypotheses above  $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathfrak{B}$ , there exist  $G'_A$ ,  $H'_A \in \mathcal{G}$  such that  $G_A \subseteq G'_A$  and  $H_A \subseteq H'_A$ .

Assume that such a soft set  $H'_A$  is chosen, so that  $|H'_A \setminus (G'_A \cup H_A)|$  is a minimal. By the choice of  $G_A$  and  $H_A$ ;

$$H_A \widetilde{\setminus} G'_A = H_A \widetilde{\setminus} G_A \tag{1}$$

Now, suppose that  $H'_A (G'_A \widetilde{U}H_A) \neq \emptyset_A$ .

Let  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in H'_A \setminus (G'_A \widetilde{\mathbb{U}} H_A)$ . Then from (*iii*) of our hypothesis, there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathfrak{Y}} \in G'_A \setminus H'_A$  such that  $(H'_A \setminus \mathfrak{p}_e^x) \widetilde{\mathbb{U}} \mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathfrak{Y}} \in \mathfrak{B}$ . But then  $|[(H'_A \setminus \mathfrak{p}_e^x) \widetilde{\mathbb{U}} \mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathfrak{Y}}] \setminus (G'_A \widetilde{\mathbb{U}} H_A)| < |H'_A \setminus (G'_A \widetilde{\mathbb{U}} H_A)|$ , which is a contradiction with  $H'_A$ . Hence  $H'_A \setminus (G'_A \widetilde{\mathbb{U}} H_A) = \emptyset_A$  and so  $H'_A \setminus G'_A = H_A \setminus G'_A$ . Thus by (1), we must have:

$$H_A^{\prime}\tilde{\setminus} G_A^{\prime} = H_A\tilde{\setminus} G_A \tag{2}$$

Next, we show that  $G'_A (G_A \widetilde{\bigcup} H'_A) = \emptyset_A$ .

If not, then there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in G'_A(G_A \widetilde{U}H'_A)$  and  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in H'_A(G'_A)$ , so that  $(G'_A(\mathfrak{p}_e^x)\widetilde{U}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in \mathfrak{B}$ . Now,  $G_A \widetilde{U}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in [(G'_A(\mathfrak{p}_e^x)\widetilde{U}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi}])$ , so  $G_A \widetilde{U}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in G$ . Since  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in H'_A(G'_A)$ , it follows by (2) that  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\psi} \in H_A(G_A)$  and so we have a contradiction to our assumption that  $(\mathfrak{p}_a)$  false.

We conclude that  $G'_A (G_A \widetilde{\bigcup} H'_A) = \emptyset_A$ . Hence  $G'_A (H'_A) = G_A (H'_A)$ . But;  $G_A (H'_A) \cong G_A (H_A)$  (3)

By (*ii*) from hypothesis above, we have  $|G'_A \widetilde{H}'_A| = |H'_A \widetilde{G}'_A|$ . Therefore by (2) and (3), implies that  $|G_A \widetilde{H}_A| \ge |H_A \widetilde{G}_A|$ , so that  $|G_A| \ge |H_A|$ . This contradiction completes the proof  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is a soft-matroid.

3.15. Definition: A minimal dependent soft-set in an arbitrary soft-matroid  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is said to be a circuit of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  and we shall denote the collection of circuits of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  by  $\mathcal{C}(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}})$ .

3.16. Example: A collection of minimal dependent sub-soft-sets in  $\{G_A \subseteq F_A : |G_A| > 2\}$  of an example (3.7) is a circuits of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ .

3.17. Theorem: A collection  $\mathfrak{C}$  of a sub-soft-sets of  $F_A$  satisfying:

- (*i*)  $\emptyset_A \notin \mathfrak{C}$ .
- (*ii*) If  $G_A$  and  $H_A$  are distinct members of  $\mathfrak{C}$  with  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in G_A \cap H_A$ , then there exists  $K_A \in \mathfrak{C}$  such that  $K_A \cong (G_A \cup H_A) \setminus \mathfrak{p}_e^x$ .

Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a collection of sub-soft-sets of  $F_A$  that contain no member of  $\mathfrak{C}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  is a soft-matroid having  $\mathfrak{C}$  as its collection of circuits.

Proof: We shall first show that  $\mathcal{G}$  satisfies  $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$  and  $\mu_3$ . It is clear that  $\emptyset_A$  does not contain in  $\mathfrak{C}$ . So  $\emptyset_A \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $\mu_1$  holds. If  $\mathcal{G}$  contains no members of  $\mathfrak{C}$  and  $G_A \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $G'_A \cong G_A$ , then  $G'_A \notin \mathfrak{C}$ . Thus  $\mu_2$  holds.

To prove  $\mu_3$ , suppose that  $G'_A$ ,  $H'_A \in \mathcal{G}$  with  $|G'_A| < |H'_A|$ . Assume that  $\mu_3$  fails for all  $G'_A$  and  $H'_A$ . Now,  $\mathcal{G}$  has a member that is a sub-soft-set of  $G'_A \widetilde{\bigcup} H'_A$  with  $|G'_A \widetilde{\bigcup} H'_A| > |G'_A|$ . Choose such a sub-soft-set  $W'_A$ for which  $|G'_A \widetilde{\backslash} W'_A|$  is minimal. As  $\mu_3$  fails,  $G'_A \widetilde{\backslash} W'_A \neq \emptyset_A$ , so we can choose  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x$  from  $G'_A \widetilde{\backslash} W'_A$ . Now, for each  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{\mathcal{Y}}$  of  $W'_A \widetilde{\backslash} G'_A$ .

Then  $(W'_{A}\widetilde{\cup}\mathfrak{p}_{e}^{x})\widetilde{\langle}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{y} \cong G'_{A}\widetilde{\cup}H'_{A}$  and  $|G'_{A}\widetilde{\langle}((W'_{A}\widetilde{\cup}\mathfrak{p}_{e}^{x})\widetilde{\langle}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{y})| < |G'_{A}\widetilde{\langle}W'_{A}|$ . Therefore  $(W'_{A}\widetilde{\cup}\mathfrak{p}_{e}^{x})\widetilde{\langle}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{y} \notin \mathcal{G}$ , so  $(W'_{A}\widetilde{\cup}\mathfrak{p}_{e}^{x})\widetilde{\langle}\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{y}$  contains a member  $W^{y}_{A}$  of  $\mathcal{C}$ . Evidently,  $\mathfrak{p}_{e'}^{y}$  is not in  $W^{y}_{A}$ . Moreover,  $\mathfrak{p}_{e}^{x} \in W^{y}_{A}$ otherwise  $W^{y}_{A} \cong W'_{A}$  contradicting the fact that  $W'_{A} \in \mathcal{G}$ . Let  $\mathfrak{p}_{e''}^{z} \in W'_{A}\widetilde{\langle}G'_{A}$ . If  $W^{z}_{A} \cap (W'_{A}\widetilde{\langle}G'_{A}) = \phi_{A}$ , where  $W^{z}_{A}$  is a member of  $\mathfrak{C}$ . Then  $W^{z}_{A} \cong ((G'_{A} \cap H'_{A})\widetilde{\cup}\mathfrak{p}_{e''}^{z})\widetilde{\langle}\mathfrak{p}_{e''}^{z} \cong G'_{A}$ ; a contradiction.

Therefore, there exists  $\mathfrak{p}_{e''}^{uv} \in W_A^z \cap (W_A' \setminus G_A')$ . Now,  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in W_A^z \cap W_A^w$ , so (*ii*), implies that there exists a member of  $W_A''$  of  $\mathcal{C}$  such that  $W_A'' \cong (W_A^z \cup W_A^w) \setminus \mathfrak{p}_e^x$ . But, both  $W_A^z$  and  $W_A^w$  are sub-soft-sets of  $G_A' \cup \mathfrak{p}_e^x$  and hence  $W_A'' \cong G_A'$ , a contradiction. We conclude that  $\mathfrak{p}_3$  holds. Thus  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is a soft-matroid.

Now, to prove that  $\mathfrak{C}$  is a collection of circuits of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$ , we note that the following statements are equivalent:

 $(c_1) C_A$  is a circuit of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ .

 $(c_2) C_A \notin \mathcal{G} \text{ and } C_A \widetilde{\setminus} \mathfrak{p}_e^x \in \mathcal{G} \text{ for all } \mathfrak{p}_e^x \widetilde{\in} C_A.$ 

 $(c_3) C_A$  has a member  $C'_A$  of C as a sub-soft-set, but  $C'_A \cong C_A$ .  $(c_4) C_A \in \mathfrak{C}$ .

2.18. Corollary: Let  $\mathfrak{C}$  be a collection of a soft-subsets of  $F_A$ . Then  $\mathfrak{C}$  is the collection of circuits of a soft-matroid  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} = (F_A, \mathcal{G})$  if and only if  $\mathfrak{C}$  satisfyies the following conditions:

 $(c_1') \ \emptyset_A \notin \mathfrak{C}$ .

- $(c'_2)$  If  $G_A$  and  $H_A$  are members of  $\mathfrak{C}$  such that  $G_A \cong H_A$ , then  $G_A = H_A$ .
- ( $c'_3$ ) If  $G_A$  and  $H_A$  are distinct members of  $\mathfrak{C}$  with  $\mathfrak{p}_e^x \in G_A \cap H_A$ , then there exists  $W_A \in \mathfrak{C}$  such that  $W_A \cong (G_A \cup H_A) \setminus \mathfrak{p}_e^x$ .

# **References:**

- [1] D. Molodtsov, 1999, "Soft set theory first results", Comput. Math. Appl., Vol. 37, 19-31.
- [2] K. Maji et al, 2003, "Soft set theory", Comp. math. appl., Vol. 45, 555-562.
- [3] M. Shabir and M. Naz, 2011, "On soft topological spaces", Compute and Math. Appl. J., Vol. 61, 1786-1799.
- [4] K. Babitha and J. Sunil, 2010, "Soft set relations and functions", Computer and Math. Appl., Vol. 60, 1840-1849.
- [5] N. Cagman and S. Enginoglu, 2010, "Soft set theory and uni-int decision making", European J. opera. Res., Vol. 207, 848-855.
- [6] C. Gunduz et al, 2013, "On soft mappings", Kocaeli Univ., arXive: 1305. 4545 Math.
- [7] K. Maji and R. Roy, 2002, "An applications of soft sets in a decision making problem", Comp. math. appl., Vol. 44,1077-1083.
- [8] M. Ali et al, 2009, "On some new operations in soft set theory", Computer and Math. With appl., 57, 1547-1553.
- [9] D. Sujoy et al, 2013, "Soft metric", Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inf., Vol. 18.
- [10] H. Burhan, 2009, "Graph and their circuits: from finite and infinite", Habilitations-schrift Univ.
- [11] B. Henning et al, 2012, "Matroid intersection, base packing and base covering of finite matroids", arXiv: 1202.3409.
- [12] H. Afzali and N. Bowler, 2012, "Thin sums and matroids and duality", arXiv: 1204.6294.
- [13] A. Muhammad and N. Saira, 2015, "Operations on Soft Graphs", Fuzzy Inf. Eng. Vol. 7, 423-449.
- [14] A. Muhammad and N. Saira, 2016, "Certain types of soft graphs", Politehnica, Univ. of Bucharest, Sci. Bulletin. Series A. appl. Math. And physics, Vol. 78, No. 4, 67-82.
- [15] A. Usman et al, 2019, "Soft Independent Sets", Int. J. of Algebra and Statistics, Vol. 8, No. 1, 26-34.

# On spectral asymptotic for the second-derivative operators

# Ehsan Hameed<sup>1</sup> and Yahea Saleem<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Computer Science and Mathematics, University of Thi-Qar. Iraq.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science, University of Basrah, Iraq.

# ehsan.m@utq.edu.iq

Abstract. In this work we focus on spectral asymptotic for the second derivative operators. Here we study Schrödinger operator with zero-range potentials, because this operator has great importance for understanding the solvable problems in quantum mechanics and atomic physics. It appears in different models such as the mathematical physics, applied mathematics and theoretical physics. We have two objectives in this work. We first demonstrated that this operator has a continuous spectrum contains an infinite number of bands separated by gaps. We then explained that the bands to gaps ratio tends to zero under certain conditions.

# 1. Introduction

3. The differential operators are ubiquitous in many natural systems, ranging from quantum to atomic physics applications. These applications are used to give rise a solvable model of complicated physical phenomena [1,2,5]. Because the method of solid-state physics reproduces the geometry of the problem extremely well, therefore, there is a particular interest in the applications of these models. Kroing and Penney [10] were the first who described this model by the Hamiltonian operator

4. 
$$\mathbf{H} = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \alpha_n \, \delta(x-n),$$

5. where  $\delta$  is the Dirac delta function and  $\alpha_n$  are the actual coupling constants that describes each point interactions. They also explained the spectrum of permissible energy values which consists of continuous region separated by finite intervals. Further, this operator is used to solve the complicated physical phenomena. The point interactions found in many different models by considering boundary conditions at the individual points. The generalized point interaction in one dimension with boundary conditions

6. 
$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^+) \\ \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^+) \end{pmatrix} = e^{i\theta} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha} & \boldsymbol{\beta} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma} & \boldsymbol{\delta} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^-) \\ \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^-) \end{pmatrix},$$

7. is studied in [12, 13]. He also discussed the existence and the physical properties of the onedimensional  $\delta'$ -interaction Hamiltonian. Bloch theorem is used to explain that any such operator coincides with some self-adjoint extension of the unperturbed second-derivative operator restricted to the set of functions vanishing in a neighbourhood of the origin [7]. Moreover, the connected extensions of the Schrödinger operator are studied and described by the boundary conditions at the origin in [8],

8. 
$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^+) \\ \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^+) \end{pmatrix} = e^{i\theta} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha} & \boldsymbol{\beta} \\ \boldsymbol{\gamma} & \boldsymbol{\delta} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^-) \\ \boldsymbol{\psi}(\mathbf{0}^-) \end{pmatrix},$$

9. where  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta$  are real, and  $\alpha\delta - \beta\gamma = 1$ ,  $0 \le \theta < 2\pi$ . The spectrum of the generalized Kroing-Penney model has infinitely many gaps and the behaviour depend substantially on the parameters of generalized point interaction [6]. Moreover, the spectral asymptotic for operators with partial derivatives have been the subject of extensive research for over a century. Therefore, it drew the attention of many remarkable mathematicians and physicists. The mathematical framework used to describe this spectral asymptotic was based on the Bloch theorem. In our work we used the transfer matrix to describe this behaviour.

10. The main result of this paper is contained in three Propositions which describe the asymptotic behaviour of the operator  $\mathcal{L}$  corresponding to the values of three independent real parameters. We show that the spectrum of this operator is absolutely continuous and fills in an infinite number of bands separated by gaps.

11. Let us give a brief outline of the contents of the paper: In section 2, we define the second-derivative operator and discuss the classes of unitary of equivalent of this operator. We also derive the reduction relation in Proposition 2.1. Then, we study the transfer matrix to obtain the dispersion relation which uses to calculate the spectral bands. In section 3, we investigate the spectral asymptotic by three Propositions (3.1), (3.2) and (3.3).

# 2. Preliminaries

12. At the beginning let us briefly recall the definition of the second-derivative operator  $\mathcal{L}$ . We consider here the operator  $\mathcal{L} \equiv \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}, \theta)$  where  $\mathcal{A} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ \gamma & \delta \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, R)$  such that  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $0 \le \theta < 2\pi$ , acting in the Hilbert space  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$  defined on the functions from  $W_2^2\{\mathbb{R} \setminus \{n\}_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \text{ (Sobolev space) satisfying the boundary conditions,}$ 

13. 
$$\begin{pmatrix} u_R(n) \\ u'_L(n) \end{pmatrix} = e^{i\theta} \mathcal{A} \begin{pmatrix} u_R(n) \\ u'_L(n) \end{pmatrix}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

$$(2.1)$$

14. In addition, this coincides with a self-adjoint operator extension of the operator  $\mathcal{L} = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2}$  limited to all functions from  $W_2^2(\mathbb{R})$ , disappearance in a neighbourhood of the points x = n [9].

15. Now, in order to illustrate the spectral asymptotic of the second derivative operator, we first are going to describe the classes of unitary equivalent operators of this operator. There are three independent real parameters to describe these classes which are  $t = \alpha + \delta$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ . The following proposition explains the relationship between these parameters to each other, as well as determining the values of these parameters to calculate the spectral asymptotic of the second derivative operator.

16. Proposition 2.1. If  $t, \beta$  and  $\gamma$  be three independent real parameters describing the operator  $\mathcal{L}$  such that  $t = \alpha + \delta$ , then  $t \ge 2\sqrt{\beta\gamma + 1}$ .

*Proof.* Since  $t = \alpha + \delta$ , then multiplication this equation by  $\alpha$  we get:

 $\alpha t = \alpha^2 + \alpha \delta$ 

But  $\alpha\delta - \beta\gamma = 1$ ,

thus 
$$\alpha \delta = 1 + \beta \gamma$$

$$\alpha t - \alpha^2 = 1 + \beta \gamma,$$

then

By the same way we get
$$\alpha = \frac{t \mp \sqrt{t^2 - 4(\beta\gamma + 1)}}{2}.$$

$$\delta = \frac{t \mp \sqrt{t^2 - 4(\beta\gamma + 1)}}{2},$$
therefore
$$\alpha + \delta = t \mp \sqrt{t^2 - 4(\beta\gamma + 1)}.$$
Since
$$t^2 - 4(\beta\gamma + 1) \ge 0,$$
implies that
$$t^2 \ge 4(\beta\gamma + 1).$$
Then
$$t \ge 2\sqrt{\beta\gamma + 1}.$$
(2.2)

Now, we are going to study the transfer matrix for the purpose of describing the second derivative operator spectrum. Subsequently, this matrix is given by [3, 4]

$$\mathcal{T}_{\lambda} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \kappa & \frac{1}{\kappa} \sin \kappa \\ -\kappa \sin \kappa & \cos \kappa \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ \gamma & \delta \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \cos \kappa + \frac{\gamma}{\kappa} \sin \kappa & \beta \cos \kappa + \frac{\delta}{\kappa} \sin \kappa \\ -\alpha \kappa \sin \kappa + \gamma \cos \kappa & -\beta \kappa \sin \kappa + \delta \cos \kappa \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.3)

where  $\kappa = \sqrt{\lambda}$ . And since **det**  $\mathcal{T}_{\lambda} = 1$ , therefore, the specific determinant of this matrix is given by

$$\det(\mathcal{T}_{\lambda} - \lambda I) = \lambda^2 - \lambda \mathrm{Tr} \mathcal{T}_{\lambda} + 1.$$

Furthermore, the operator's spectrum coincides with the set of  $\lambda$  where the spectrum of this operator is calculated as zeros of the following inequality [11],

$$|\mathrm{Tr}\mathcal{T}_{\lambda}| \leq 2.$$

Thus

$$\left| (\alpha + \delta) \cos \kappa + (\frac{\gamma}{\kappa} - \beta \kappa) \sin \kappa \right| \le 2.$$

Let us now define the function  $\boldsymbol{g}$  by

$$g(\kappa) = t\cos\kappa + \left(\frac{\gamma}{\kappa} - \beta\kappa\right)\sin\kappa.$$
(2.4)

Consequently, we can be determined the operator's spectrum by solving the following equation

$$|\boldsymbol{g}(\boldsymbol{\kappa})| \le 2 \tag{2.5}$$

This equation is called the dispersion relation which used to obtain the spectral bands in the following section.

## 3. Spectral asymptotic for the periodic operator

In this section, we study the spectral asymptotic for the second derivative operator  $\mathcal{L}$ . There are infinite numbers of bands in this operator, which has a continuous spectrum (i.e. consist of all eigenvalues such that the resolvent of operator  $\mathcal{L}$  exists and defined on a set which is dense in  $L_2(\mathbb{R})$ ) and it is tending to  $\infty$ . The following three Propositions give an explicit description of the spectral asymptotic corresponding to the parameters of this operator.

**Proposition 3.1.** Assume that  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  are arbitrary satisfying the equation (2.2). If  $\beta \neq 0$ , then there are infinite numbers of bands  $\Delta_n = [A_n^2, B_n^2]$  of the operator  $\mathcal{L}$ , which has a continuous spectrum and located in the intervals  $[(\pi n - \pi/2)^2, (\pi n + \pi/2)^2]$  for large values of n. And their edges are asymptotically which are given by

$$A_{n} = \pi n + \frac{t-2}{\beta \pi} \frac{1}{n} + \left( -\frac{1}{3\beta^{3}\pi^{3}} t^{3} + \frac{1-\beta}{\beta^{3}\pi^{3}} t^{2} + \frac{\gamma+4}{\beta^{2}\pi^{3}} t - \frac{4}{3\beta^{3}\pi^{3}} - \frac{4+2\gamma}{\beta^{2}\pi^{3}} \right) \frac{1}{n^{3}} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^{5}}\right),$$
  
as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$B_n = \pi n + \frac{t+2}{\beta \pi} \frac{1}{n} + \left( -\frac{1}{3\beta^3 \pi^3} t^3 - \frac{1+\beta}{\beta^3 \pi^3} t^2 + \frac{\gamma-4}{\beta^2 \pi^3} t + \frac{4}{3\beta^3 \pi^3} + \frac{2\gamma-4}{\beta^2 \pi^3} \right) \frac{1}{n^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^5}\right),$$
  
as  $n \to \infty$ .

(3.1)

In addition, the length and the midpoint of the band are asymptotically which given by:

$$\begin{aligned} |\Delta_n| &= \frac{8}{|\beta|} + \frac{4}{\pi^2} \Big( -\frac{1}{|\beta|\beta^2} t^2 - \frac{2}{|\beta|\beta} t + \frac{4}{3\beta^3} + \frac{2\gamma}{|\beta|\beta} \Big) \frac{1}{n^2} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^4}\right), \qquad as \ n \\ &\to \infty, \quad (3.4) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$M_{n} = \pi^{2}n^{2} + \frac{2t}{\beta} + \frac{1}{\pi^{2}} \left( -\frac{2}{3\beta^{3}}t^{3} - \frac{1}{\beta^{2}}t^{2} + \frac{2\gamma}{\beta^{2}}t - \frac{4}{\beta^{2}} \right) \frac{1}{n^{2}} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^{4}}\right),$$
  
as  $n \to \infty$ , (3.5)

respectively.

*Proof.* At first, let us to prove that there is only one band  $\Delta_n$  of continuous spectrum in each interval  $\mathbf{I}_n$  for the large enough values of  $\kappa$ .

Now, by the equation (2.4) we get

$$g(\pi n + \pi/2) = t\cos(\pi n + \pi/2) + (\frac{\gamma}{\pi n + \pi/2} - \beta(\pi n + \pi/2)\sin(\pi n + \pi/2))$$

$$= (-1)^{n+1}\beta\pi n + O(1) \quad as \quad n \to \infty.$$

This equation determines the values of the end points of each interval  $I_n$ . Since it has alternating signs, and when n is sufficiently large, thus  $|g(\pi n + \pi/2)| > 2$ . Consequently, that means there is one spectral band when the interval is considered.

Let  $g'(\kappa) = 0$  we get:

$$0 = g'(\kappa) = -\left(t + \frac{\gamma}{\kappa^2} + \beta\right)\sin\kappa + \left(\frac{\gamma}{\kappa} - \beta\kappa\right)\cos\kappa,$$

implies that

$$\tan \kappa = \kappa (\gamma - \beta \kappa^2) / (\kappa^2 (t + \beta) + \gamma)$$
(3.6)

This function is rational and by the comparison test it tends to  $\pm \infty$  as  $\kappa \to \infty$ .

Note that

- 1- if  $t + \beta = 0, \gamma \neq 0$ , then  $(\kappa(\gamma \beta \kappa^2))/((t + \beta)\kappa^2 + \gamma) = \kappa \beta/\gamma \kappa^3$ .
- 2- if  $t + \beta \neq 0$ ,  $\gamma$  arbitrary, then  $\frac{\kappa(\gamma \beta \kappa^2)}{(t+\beta)\kappa^2 + \gamma} = -\beta/(t+\beta)\kappa + (\gamma(t+2\beta))/((t+\beta)^2)$  $\beta$ )  $1/\kappa + O(1/\kappa^2)$ .

3- if 
$$\mathbf{t} + \boldsymbol{\beta} = \mathbf{0}$$
,  $\boldsymbol{\gamma} = \mathbf{0}$ , then the relation (3.6) takes the form:  
 $(t + \gamma/\kappa^2 + \beta) \sin \kappa = (\gamma/\kappa - \beta\kappa) \cos \kappa$ ,

implies that  $-\beta\kappa\cos\kappa = 0$ .

But  $\cos \kappa = 0$  when  $\kappa = n\pi + \pi/2$ , hence, there is one extreme point in each interval  $I_n$  for the function g when  $n \to \infty$ . Consequently, because the function g is continuous and monotonically between these points, then for n is sufficiently large, there is only one band where  $|g(\kappa)| \le 2$  in each interval  $I_n$ .

In order to calculate the end points of each band  $\Delta_n$ , let us to solve the equation  $|g(\kappa)| = 2$  [11]. Consider the first case  $\beta > o$ , then the left and right end points of the intervals  $\Delta_n$  satisfy the following equations

$$t\cos A_n + (\gamma/A_n - \beta A_n)\sin A_n = (-1)^n 2, \qquad (3.7)$$

$$t\cos B_n + (\gamma'_{B_n} - \beta B_n)\sin B_n = (-1)^n 2,$$
 (3.8)

respectively.

On the other hand, due to the points  $A_n$  and  $B_n$  are closed to  $\pi n$  for large n, then let us to use the following representation of the asymptotic

$$A_n = \pi n + \frac{a}{n} + \frac{a'}{n^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^5}\right), \qquad B_n = \pi n + \frac{b}{n} + \frac{b'}{n^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^5}\right) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Substituting these representations into (3.7) and (3.8), we get:

$$\begin{split} A_n &= \pi n + \frac{1}{\pi} \Big[ \frac{t}{\beta} - \frac{2}{|\beta|} \Big] \frac{1}{n} + \big[ -\frac{t^3}{3\beta^3 \pi^3} - \Big( 1 - \frac{1}{|\beta|} \Big) \frac{t^2}{\beta^2 \pi^3} + + (\frac{\gamma}{\beta^2 \pi^3} + \frac{\gamma}{\beta^2 \pi^3}) t - \frac{4}{3|\beta|^3 \pi^3} \\ &- \frac{2}{\beta^3 \pi^3} (2\beta - \gamma |\beta|) \big] \frac{1}{n^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^5}\right), \text{as } n \to \infty \end{split}$$
$$B_n &= \pi n + \frac{1}{\pi} \Big[ \frac{t}{\beta} + \frac{2}{|\beta|} \Big] \frac{1}{n} + \Big[ -\frac{t^3}{3\beta^3 \pi^3} - (1 + \frac{1}{|\beta|}) \frac{t^2}{\beta^2 \pi^3} + (\frac{\gamma}{\beta^2 \pi^3} - \frac{4|\beta|}{\beta^3 \pi^3}) t + \frac{4}{3|\beta|^3 \pi^3} \\ &- \frac{2}{\beta^3 \pi^3} (2\beta - \gamma |\beta|) \Big] \frac{1}{n^3} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^5}\right) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty. \end{split}$$

In the similar way we can be analysed of the case when  $\beta < 0$ , which leads to formula (3.1). Finally, the  $|\Delta_n|$  and  $M_n$  of the band are given by

$$|\Delta_n| = B_n^2 - A_n^2 = \frac{8}{|\beta|} + \frac{4}{\pi^2} \left( -\frac{1}{|\beta|\beta^2} t^2 - \frac{2}{|\beta|\beta} t + \frac{4}{3|\beta|^3} + \frac{2\gamma}{|\beta|\beta} \right) \frac{1}{n^2} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^4}\right), \quad \text{as } n \to \infty,$$
And

$$M_n = \frac{A_n^2 + B_n^2}{2} = \pi^2 n^2 + \frac{2t}{\beta} + \frac{1}{\pi^2} \left( -\frac{2}{3\beta^3} t^3 - \frac{1}{\beta^2} t^2 + \frac{2\gamma}{\beta^2} t - \frac{4}{\beta^2} \right) \frac{1}{n^2} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^4}\right), \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$
  
respectively.

i ospecia enj.

Additionally, the length of the gaps  $G_n$  is calculated as the following

$$|\mathcal{G}_n| = A_{n+1}^2 - B_n^2 = \pi^2 (2n+1) - \frac{8}{\beta} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right).$$

Implies that

$$\frac{|\Delta_n|}{|\mathcal{G}_n|} = \frac{4}{\pi^2 |\gamma| n} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right), \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$
(3.9)

As a result, we conclude that the bands to gaps ratio tends to zero at high energies.

**Proposition 3.2.** Assume that  $\beta = 0$ , t > 2, and  $\gamma$  is an arbitrary, then there are infinite numbers of bands  $\Delta_n = [A_n^2, B_n^2]$  of the operator  $\mathcal{L}$ , which has a continuous spectrum and located in the intervals  $I_n = [\pi^2 n^2, \pi^2 (n+1)^2]$  for large values of *n*. And their edges are asymptotically which are given by

$$A_n = \pi n + \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} + \frac{\gamma}{\pi t n} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right), \quad \text{as } n \to \infty,$$

(3.10)

$$B_n = \pi(n+1) - \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} + \frac{\gamma}{\pi tn} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right), \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

In addition, the length and the midpoint of the band are asymptotically which given by:

$$|\Delta_n| = 2\pi \left(\pi - 2\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}\right)n + \left(\pi^2 - 2\pi\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}\right) + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right), \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$
(3.11)

and

$$M_n = \pi^2 (n + \frac{1}{2})^2 + (\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} - \frac{\pi}{2})^2 + \frac{2\gamma}{t} + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right), as n$$
  
 $\to \infty,$ 
(3.12)

respectively.

*Proof.* At first, let us to prove that there is only one band  $\Delta_n$  of continuous spectrum in each interval I<sub>n</sub> for the large enough values of  $\kappa$ .

Now, since  $\beta = 0$ , and by the equation (2.4) we get

$$g(\kappa) = t\cos\kappa + \frac{\gamma}{\kappa}\sin\kappa, \qquad (3.13)$$

and

$$g(n\pi) = t \cos n\pi + \frac{\gamma}{n\pi} \sin n\pi = (-1)^n t.$$

Since the function  $g(\kappa)$  is continuous and  $g(n\pi)$  has alternating signs, moreover, when *n* is sufficiently large,  $|g(n\pi)| > 2$ , then we conclude that there is only one spectral band in each interval.

The zeroes of  $g'(\kappa)$  we get

$$0 = g'(\kappa) = -t\sin\kappa + \frac{\gamma}{\kappa}\cos\kappa - \frac{\gamma}{\kappa^2}\sin\kappa.$$

Impels that the equation for extreme points is given by

$$\tan \kappa = \frac{\gamma \kappa}{\kappa^2 t + \gamma'},$$

and because this function is decreasing if  $\kappa$  is sufficiently large, then there is only one solution in each interval.

Note that if  $\gamma = 0$ , then  $g(\kappa) = t \cos \kappa$ . Also, since  $g(\kappa) = (-1)^n t$ , t = 2, then  $t \cos \kappa = \pm 2$ .

Consequently,

$$\kappa = \mp \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} + n\pi.$$

Hence, there is one extreme point in each interval  $I_n$  for the function g when  $n \to \infty$ . Consequently, because the function g is continuous and monotonically between these points, therefore, for n is sufficiently large, there is only one band where  $|g(\kappa)| \le 2$  in each interval  $I_n$ . Now, when t > 2 then  $\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}$  satisfies

$$0 < \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} < \pi/2.$$

On the other hand, due to the  $A_n$  and  $B_n$  points are closed to  $\pi n + \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}$  and  $\pi(n+1) - \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}$  respectively, then let us to use the following representation of the asymptotic  $A_n = n\pi + \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} + a_n$ ,  $B_n = (n+1)\pi - \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} + b_n$ ,

where  $a_n$ ,  $b_n$  are real constant.

The equation for the left end point,

$$(-1)^{n} 2 = (-1)^{n} t \left[ \left( \frac{2}{t} \cos a_{n} - \sin(\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}) \sin a_{n} \right] + \frac{\gamma}{n\pi + \cos^{-1}(2/t)} \right]$$
$$\left[ \left( \sin(\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}) \cos a_{n} \right) + \frac{2}{t} \sin a_{n} \right].$$

By using the perturbation theory to keep the first terms, we get

$$a_n = \frac{\gamma}{\pi t n} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right), \quad as \ n \to \infty,$$

thus

$$A_n = n\pi + \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} + \frac{\gamma}{\pi t n} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right) \quad as \ n \to \infty.$$

By the same way we can prove the representation for  $B_n$ , i.e.

$$B_n = (n+1)\pi - \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} + \frac{\gamma}{\pi tn} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right), \quad as \ n \to \infty.$$

Furthermore,

$$|\Delta_n| = 2\pi \left( \pi - 2\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} \right) n + \left( \pi^2 - 2\pi\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} \right) + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right), \quad as \ n \to \infty,$$

and

$$M_n = \pi^2 (n + \frac{1}{2})^2 + (\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t} - \frac{\pi}{2})^2 + \frac{2\gamma}{t} + O(\frac{1}{n}), \quad \text{as } n \to \infty,$$

respectively.

In addition, the length of the gaps  $G_n$  is calculated as the following

$$|\mathcal{G}_n| = 4\pi \cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}(n+1) + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Implies that

$$\frac{|\Delta_n|}{|\mathcal{G}_n|} = \frac{\pi/2 - 2\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}}{\cos^{-1}\frac{2}{t}} + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$
(3.14)

As a result, we conclude that the bands to gaps ratio tends to the finite non-zero limit depending on the parameter t only at high energies.

**Proposition 3.3.** Assume that  $\beta = 0$ , t = 2, and  $\gamma \neq 0$ ; then there are infinite numbers of bands  $\Delta_n = [A_n^2, B_n^2]$  of the operator  $\mathcal{L}$ , which has a continuous spectrum and located in the intervals  $I_n = [\pi^2 n^2, \pi^2 (n+1)^2]$ . And their edges are asymptotically which given by

if 
$$\gamma > 0$$
, then  $A_n = \pi n + \frac{\gamma}{n\pi} + O\left(\frac{1}{n^2}\right)$ ,  $B_n = \pi(n+1)$ , as  $n \to \infty$ , (3.15)

if 
$$\gamma < 0$$
, then  $A_n = \pi n$ ,  $B_n = \pi (n+1) - \frac{|\gamma|}{\pi n} + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)$ , as  $n \to \infty$  (3.16)

In addition, the length and the midpoint of the band are asymptotically which given by:

$$|\Delta_n| = 2\pi^2 n + (\pi^2 - 2|\gamma|) + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right), \quad as \ n \to \infty,$$
(3.17)

and

$$M_n = \pi^2 n^2 + \pi^2 n + \frac{\pi^2}{2} + \gamma + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right) , \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$
(3.18)

respectively.

*Proof.* By using the similar way which used in the previous two propositions we can prove this proposition.

Furthermore, the length of the gaps  $G_n$  is calculated as the following

$$|\mathcal{G}_n| = 2|\gamma| + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

Implies that

$$\frac{|\Delta_n|}{|\mathcal{G}_n|} = \frac{\pi^2}{|\gamma|} n + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$
(3.19)

As a result, we conclude that the bands to gaps ratio tends to infinity at high energies.

# 4. Conclusions

As mentioned in the introduction, the goal of this study was to describe a spectral asymptotic of the second derivative operator corresponding to the values of three independent real parameters. We first used the transfer matrix method to obtain the dispersion relation which allowed to describe the spectrum of this operator. Then, we observed there are three different spectral asymptotics for this operator depending on independent parameters which are described in three propositions. More importantly, we proved analytically that there are infinite numbers of bands of this operator  $\mathcal{L}$  filled with a pure absolutely continuous spectrum. Furthermore, we proved analytically that the bands to gaps ratio tends to zero at particular case when  $\beta \neq 0$ .

# References

- [1] Albeverio S, Gesztesy F, Hoegh-Krohn R, Holden H., 2012. Solvable models in quantum mechanics. Springer Science & Business Media.
- [2] Albeverio, S. and Kurasov, P., 2000. Singular perturbations of differential operators: solvable Schrödinger-type operators (Vol. 271). Cambridge University Press.
- [3] Avron, J.E., Exner, P. and Last, Y., 1994. Periodic Schrödinger operators with large gaps and Wannier-Stark ladders. *Physical review letters*, 72(6), p.896.
- [4] Cheon, T. and Shigehara, T., 1999. Some aspects of generalized contact interaction in onedimensional quantum mechanics. In *Mathematical Results in Quantum Mechanics* (pp. 203-208). Birkhäuser, Basel.
- [5] Demkov, Y.N. and Ostrovskii, V.N., 2013. Zero-range potentials and their applications in *atomic physics*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- [6] Exner, P. and Grosse, H., 1999. Some properties of the one-dimensional generalized point interactions (a torso). *arXiv preprint math-ph/9910029*.
- [7] Gesztesy, F. and Holden, H., 1987. A new class of solvable models in quantum mechanics describing point interactions on the line. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 20(15), p.5157.
- [8] Gesztesy, F., Holden, H. and Kirsch, W., 1988. On energy gaps in a new type of analytically solvable model in quantum mechanics. *Journal of mathematical analysis and applications*, 134(1), pp.9-29.
- [9] Hameed E., 2009. On spectral asymptotics for Schrödinger operators with point interactions. MSc thesis. University of Basrah.
- [10] Kronig, R.D.L. and Penney, W.G., 1931. Quantum mechanics of electrons in crystal lattices. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Containing Papers of a Mathematical and Physical Character, 130(814), pp.499-513.
- [11] Magnus, W. and Winkler, S., 2013. *Hill's equation*. Courier Corporation.
- [12] Šeba, P., 1986. The generalized point interaction in one dimension. *Czechoslovak Journal of Physics B*, *36*(6), pp.667-673.
- [13] Šeba, P., 1986. Some remarks on the  $\delta'$ -interaction in one dimension. *Reports on mathematical physics*, 24(1), pp.111-120.

# Locally Finite Associative Algebras and Their Lie Subalgebras

# HASAN M. SHLAKA

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Computer Science and Mathematics, University of Kufa, Iraq Email address: hasan.shlaka@uokufa.edu.iq

**Abstract.** An infinite dimensional associative algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  over a field  $\mathbb{F}$  is called locally finite associative algebra if every finite set of elements is contained in a finite dimensional subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Given any associative algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  over field  $\mathbb{F}$  of any characteristic. Consider a new multiplication on  $\mathcal{A}$  called the Lie multiplication which defined by [a,b] = ab - ba for all  $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$ , where ab is the associative multiplication in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then  $L = \mathcal{A}^{(-)}$  together with the Lie multiplication form a Lie subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$ . It is natural to expect that the structures of L and  $\mathcal{A}$  are connected closely. In this paper, we study and discuss the structure of infinite dimensional locally finite Lie and associative algebras. The relation between them, their ideals and their inner ideals is considered. A brief discussion of the simple associative algebras and simple Lie algebras is also be provided.

#### 2. Introduction

Throughout this paper, unless otherwise stated,  $\mathbb{F}$  is an algebraically closed field of characteristic positive characteristic p,  $\mathcal{A}$  is an infinite dimensional locally finite associative algebra over  $\mathbb{F}$  and L is an infinite dimensional locally finite Lie algebra over  $\mathbb{F}$ .

In 2004, Bahturin, Baranov and Zalesski [1] studied simple locally finite Lie subalgebra of the locally finite associative ones. A locally finite (Lie or Associative) algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is an algebra in which for every finite set of elements of  $\mathcal{A}$  is contained in a finite dimensional subalgebra P of  $\mathcal{A}$ . The Lie structure of associative rings or algebras were investigated by the American Mathematician Herstein in 1954 (see [20] and [21]) after defining a new multiplication called the Lie Multiplication by

[x, y]: =xy - yx for all  $x, y \in A$ , (1.1) where xy is the usual associative multiplication in the simple associative ring A over its centre Z(A). Then  $A^{(-)}$  together with the multiplication in (1.1) form a Lie algebra over Z(A). We denote by  $A^{(1)} = [A, A]$  to be the Lie subalgebra of  $A^{(-)}$  together with the multiplication defined in (1.1). Moreover, if an involution \* is defined on A, then for any subalgebra U of A

skew( $\mathcal{U}$ ): ={ $a \in \mathcal{U}: a^* = -a$ } (1.2) form a Lie algebra with the Lie multiplication that defined as (1.1). Recall that an involution  $*: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  is an anti-automorphism, defined by  $*(a) = a^*$ , satisfy the following conditions  $*(a + b) = a^* + b^*$ ,  $*(ab) = b^*a^*$  and \*(\*((a)) = a for all  $a, b \in A$ . Involutions of the first kind only is considered in this paper, that is, involutions with the following property:  $*(\alpha a) = \alpha a^*$ .

Baxter [11] Focused on the study of the Lie algebras come from simple associative rings with involution in 1958 and Ericson [17] studied the Lie subalgebras of prime rings with involutions in 1972. A revision to Herstein's Lie theory was giving by Martindale [22] 1986. All of these studies focused on the structure of the Lie ideals and Lie subalgebras that obtained from simple associative rings or algebras. Recall that a subspace I of L is called a *subalgebra* of L if  $I^{(1)} \subseteq I$  and an *ideal* if  $[I, L] \subseteq I$ . Although simple Lie algebras have no ideals except themselves and the trivial ones, it has been proved in [12] that all simple Lie algebras of classical type have non-zero inner ideals.

In 1976, the American mathematician Georgia Benkart introduced the notion *inner ideals of Lie algebras. An inner ideal* is a vector subspace *B* of *L* which satisfies the property  $[B, [B, L]] \subseteq B$ . By the definition of the Lie ideals, one can see that every ideal is an inner ideal. However, Inner ideals are more difficult to be studied as some of them are even not Lie subalgebras. Benkart showed that the structure of the Lie inner ideals are similar to the structure of the *ad*-nilpotent elements of Lie algebras [13]. Therefore, inner ideals are important in classifying Lie algebras because by using certain restriction on the *ad*-nilpotent elements one can distinguish the simple Lie algebras of classical type and of the non-classical ones in the case when p > 2. In several papers (See for example [14], [15] [18] and [19]) Fernández López et al generalized Benkart's theory over inner ideals.

In this paper, we discuss the structure of the infinite dimensional simple locally finite algebras. We start Section 2 with some preliminaries. Section 3 stats some facts about the plain, diagonal and non-diagonal modules of finite dimensional Lie algebra and Section 4 consists of the infinite dimensional case where the some types of local systems of locally finite algebras (associative or Lie) are considered. Section 5 is the completion of Section 3 where the infinite dimensional cases of plain diagonal and non-diagonal Lie algebras are highlighted. In Section 6 we investigate the structure of (involution) simple and associative algebras. The main results of this paper are found in Sections 7 and 8, where the simple locally finite Lie algebras of simple and involution simple associative algebras are considered.

## 3. Preliminaries

A perfect Lie algebra is a Lie algebra L with the property  $L^{(1)} = L$  and a perfect associative algebra is an associative algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $\mathcal{A}^2 = \mathcal{A}$  [4].

**Definition 2.1.** [1] A *locally finite (associative, Lie,...etc) algebra* is an algebra (associative, Lie,...etc)  $\mathcal{A}$  over a field  $\mathbb{F}$  in which for every finite set of elements in  $\mathcal{A}$  we can find a finite dimensional subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$  that contained it.

Recall that a set  $\Gamma$  is said to be a *directed partially ordered set* if there is an ordering relation  $\leq$  defined on  $\Gamma$  such that for each  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in \Gamma$ , there is  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  such that  $\alpha, \beta \leq \gamma$  [2].

**Remark 2.2.** Suppose that for each  $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma$  with  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{\beta}$  we set  $\alpha \leq \beta$ . Then for each  $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma$ , there is  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  such that  $\alpha, \beta \leq \gamma$ , so  $\Gamma$  is a directed partially ordered set. Thus,  $\lim_{\to} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  is the direct limits of an infinite chain of algebras  $(\mathcal{A}_1 \subset \mathcal{A}_2 \subset \cdots \subset \mathcal{A}_i \subset \mathcal{A}_{i+1} \ldots)$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{A}$  is the *inductive limit*  $\mathcal{A} = \lim_{\to} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  of the algebras  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$ .

We denote by  $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$  the vector space of all  $n \times n$ -matrices together with the matrix multiplication defined on it.

**Remark 2.3.** Every  $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$  can be generalized to be an  $(n + 1) \times (n + 1)$ -matrix  $\mathcal{M}_{n+1}(\mathbb{F})$  by putting  $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$  in the left upper hand corner and bordering the last column and row by 0's.

**Example 2.4.** As an example of locally finite associative algebra is the algebra  $\mathcal{M}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$  of infinite matrices with finite numbers of non-zero entries, that is,

$$\mathcal{M}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F}) = \bigcup_{n=1} \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F}).$$
 (2.1)

By using the Lie multiplication in (1.1) on  $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$ , we obtain a Lie algebra called the *general linear* Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F}) = \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})^{(-)}$ . There are three simple Lie subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F})$ . These are the

special linear  $\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{F})$ , the Orthogonal  $\mathfrak{so}_n(\mathbb{F})$  and the Symplectic  $\mathfrak{sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{F})$  Lie algebras are subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F})$  which are defind, respectively, by

$$\mathfrak{sl}_{n}(\mathbb{F}) = [\mathfrak{gl}_{n}(\mathbb{F}), \mathfrak{gl}_{n}(\mathbb{F})] = \{X \in \mathfrak{gl}_{n}(\mathbb{F}): tr(X) = 0\};$$
(2.2)  

$$\mathfrak{so}_{n}(\mathbb{F}) = \{X \in \mathfrak{gl}_{n}(\mathbb{F}): X^{t} = -X\};$$
(2.3)  

$$\mathfrak{sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{F}) = \{X \in \mathfrak{gl}_{n}(\mathbb{F}): X^{\tau} = -X\},$$
(2.4)

where tr(X) is the trace of the matrix X,  $X^t$  is the matrix transpose of X and  $X^{\tau}$  is the symplectic transpose of a matrix X defined by  $X^{\tau} = -JX^tJ$  with  $J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix} (I_n \text{ is the identity } n \times n \text{-matrix}).$ 

**Remark 2.5.** 1) It follows from [7] that t in (2.3) and  $\tau$  in (2.4) are involutions on  $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$ . 2)  $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F})$ ,  $\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{F})$ ,  $\mathfrak{so}_n(\mathbb{F})$  and  $\mathfrak{sp}_{2n}$  are the *Lie algebras of classical type*. 3)  $\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{F})$ ,  $\mathfrak{so}_n(\mathbb{F})$  and  $\mathfrak{sp}_{2n}$  are called *the simple Lie algebras of classical type*.

The simple Lie algebras of classical type in Remark 2.5(2) can be constructed from a vector space V as follows: Consider the vector subspace gI(V) of End(V) together with the Lie multiplication defined in (1.1). Then we get the general gI(V) and the special sI(V) linear Lie algebras, where sI(V) is a subalgebra of gI(V) defined by sI(V) = [gI(V), gI(V)].

If there is (skew)symmetric bilinear form  $(\vartheta) \psi$  on V, then we get the Orthogonal  $\mathfrak{so}(V, \psi)$  or the Symplectic  $\mathfrak{sp}(V, \vartheta)$  Lie algebras, respectively. To simplify notations, we denote by  $\mathfrak{so}(V)$  and  $\mathfrak{sp}(V)$  to be the Orthogonal and the Symplectic Lie algebras, respectively.

*Lemma 2.6.* [7] Let V,  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  be vector spaces over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Suppose that each of them is of dimension n and p = 0.

- 1. If \* is an involution on the algebra  $End(V) \cong \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$ , then there is a basis of V such that \* is expressed as  $X \mapsto X^t$  or  $X \mapsto X^\tau$  for each  $X \in End(V)$ . In particular,  $skew(End(V)) \cong \mathfrak{so}_n(\mathbb{F})$  or  $\mathfrak{sp}_n(\mathbb{F})$ .
- 2. Let \* be an involution defined on the algebra  $End(V_1) \oplus End(V_2)$  such that  $End(V_1)^* = End(V_2)$ . Then there are bases of  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  such that \* is expressed as  $(X_1, X_2) \mapsto (X_2^t, X_1^t)$  for each  $X_i \in End(V_i) \cong \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$ . In particular,

 $skew(End(V_1) \oplus End(V_2)) = \{ (X, X^t) \mid X \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F}) \} \cong \mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbb{F})$ 

**Example 2.8.** [3] Consider the locally finite associative algebra  $\mathcal{M}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$  in Example 2.4. We construct three locally finite Lie subalgebras of  $\mathcal{M}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$ . Those are the *stable special linear*  $\mathfrak{sl}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$ , *stable Symplectic*  $\mathfrak{sp}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$  and *stable Orthogonal*  $\mathfrak{so}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$  Lie subalgebras of  $\mathcal{M}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$  that defined to be the union (or the direct limit) of the natural embeddings, respectively,

 $\begin{array}{l} \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{F}) \to \mathfrak{sl}_3(\mathbb{F}) \to \cdots \to \mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{F}) \to \cdots; \\ \mathfrak{sp}_2(\mathbb{F}) \to \mathfrak{sp}_4(\mathbb{F}) \to \cdots \to \mathfrak{sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{F}) \to \cdots; \\ \mathfrak{so}_2(\mathbb{F}) \to \mathfrak{so}_3(\mathbb{F}) \to \cdots \to \mathfrak{so}_n(\mathbb{F}) \to \cdots. \end{array}$ 

**Definition 2.9.** [2] A locally finite (associative or Lie) algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  over a field  $\mathbb{F}$  is said to be *locally semi(simple)* in the case when for every finite set of elements *S* of  $\mathcal{A}$  we can find a finite dimensional (semi)simple subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$  which contains *S*.

**Example 2.10.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a simple locally finite associative algebra over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Then for every finite set of elements *S* of  $\mathcal{A}$ , there is a finite dimensional simple subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  (for  $\alpha = 1, 2, ...$ ) of  $\mathcal{A}$  that contains *S*, so there is a chain

$$\mathcal{A}_1 \subset \mathcal{A}_2 \subset \mathcal{A}_3 \subset \cdots$$

of simple subalgebras of  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $\mathcal{A} = \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$ . Moreover, we can identify each  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  with  $\mathcal{M}_{n_{\alpha}}(\mathbb{F})$  (for all  $\alpha = 1, 2, ...$ ), where  $n_{\alpha}$  is an integer number (because  $\mathbb{F}$  is algebraically closed). Note that each embedding  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{\alpha+1}$  is written as follows:

 $X \mapsto \operatorname{diag}(X, \dots, X, 0, \dots, 0), \qquad X \in \mathcal{M}_{n_{\alpha}}(\mathbb{F}).$ 

#### 4. Plain, diagonal and non-diagonal modules of finite dimensional Lie algebras.

Suppose that *L* is perfect. Then there is a Levi (maximal semisimple) subalgebra *Q* of *L* such that  $L = Q \bigoplus \mathcal{R}$ , where  $\mathcal{R}$  is a solvable radical of *L* (Levi-Malcev Theorem). As  $\mathcal{R}$  is an ideal of *L*, we have  $L/\mathcal{R} \cong Q$ . Let *V* be a simple *L*-module. Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is perfect, Rad(L) annihilates *V*, so QVQ = V (because *V* is simple). Let  $Q_1, \ldots, Q_k$  be the simple ideals of *Q* such that  $Q = Q_1 \bigoplus \ldots \bigoplus Q_k$ . Then *V* is a completely reducible *Q*-module and  $V = V_1 \bigoplus \ldots \bigoplus V_k$ , where  $V_i$  is a simple  $Q_i$ -module.

**Remark 3.1.** 1) If  $Q_i \cong \mathfrak{sl}(V_i), \mathfrak{sp}(V_i)$  for each  $1 \le i \le k$ , then every natural  $Q_i$ -module  $V_i$  is an *L*-module.

2) Suppose that  $L \subseteq L'$  is a perfect Lie algebra. If W is an L'-module, then  $W_{\downarrow_L}$  denotes the *restriction* of W to L.

**Definition 3.2.** Suppose that *L* is perfect and finite dimensional. Let *V* be an *L*-module.

- 1. Suppose that  $Q_i \cong \mathfrak{sl}(V_i)$  for each  $1 \le i \le k$ . Then V is said to be a *plain L-module* if each  $V_i$  is a natural *L*-module.
- 2. Suppose that L' is a perfect Lie algebra such that L' is finite dimensional. Let  $V'_1, ..., V'_k$  be natural L'-modules. An embedding  $L \subseteq L'$  is called a *plain embedding* if  $(V'_1 \oplus ... \oplus V'_k)_{\downarrow_L}$  is a plain L-module.

**Example 3.3.** Suppose that  $L = \mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{F})$  and  $L' = \mathfrak{sl}_m(\mathbb{F})$  for some positive integers *n* and *m* with n < m. Let *V* and *T* be the natural and the trivial 1-dimensional *L*-modules, respectively. Then

- 1. The embedding  $L \subseteq L'$  is called a *natural embedding* if for every L'-module V' we have,  $V'_{\downarrow_I} = V \oplus T \oplus ... \oplus T$ .
- 2. The embedding  $L \subseteq L'$  is a plain embedding if the *L*-module *V'* is *plain*, that is,  $V'_{L} = \underbrace{V \bigoplus \dots \bigoplus V}_{\ell} \bigoplus \underbrace{T \bigoplus \dots \bigoplus T}_{r}$  for some positive integers  $\ell$  and r.

**Example 3.4.** The embedding  $\mathfrak{sl}(V) \subseteq \mathfrak{sl}(W)$  is called a *plain embedding* if we can find a basis of W such that  $X \to diag\left(\underbrace{X, \dots, X}_{\ell}, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{Z}\right)$ , (for all  $X \in \mathfrak{sl}(V)$ )

where the integers  $\ell$  and z do not depend on X and  $z + \ell \dim V = \dim W$ .

**Definition 3.5.** Suppose that *L* is perfect and finite dimensional. Let *V* be an *L*-module.

- 1. Suppose that  $Q_i \cong \mathfrak{sl}(V_i), \mathfrak{sp}(V_i)$  for each  $1 \le i \le k$ . Then V is said to be a *diagonal L-module* in the case when each  $V_i$  is either a natural or a dual to natural L-module. Otherwise, V is said to be a *non-diagonal L-module*.
- 2. Suppose that L' is a perfect Lie algebra such that L' is finite dimensional. Suppose that  $V'_1, ..., V'_k$  are natural L'-modules. An embedding  $L \subseteq L'$  is called *diagonal embedding* if  $(V'_1 \oplus ... \oplus V'_k)_{\downarrow_L}$  is diagonal.

**Example 3.6.** [5] Let *L* and *L'* be classical simple Lie algebras (See Remark 2.5(3)) over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Suppose that *V*, *V*<sup>\*</sup> and *T* be a natural, a dual and a trivial 1-dimensional *L*-modules, respectively. Let *V'* be an *L'*-module. The embedding  $L \subseteq L'$  is diagonal if

$$V'_{\downarrow_L} = \underbrace{V \bigoplus \dots \bigoplus V}_{\ell} \bigoplus \underbrace{V^* \bigoplus \dots \bigoplus V^*}_{z} \bigoplus \underbrace{T \bigoplus \dots \bigoplus T}_{r} \quad \text{for some positive integers } \ell, z \text{ and } r.$$

**Example 3.7.** The embedding  $\mathfrak{sl}(V) \subseteq \mathfrak{sl}(W)$  is called a *diagonal embedding* if we can find a basis of W such that

$$X \to diag\left(\underbrace{X, \dots, X}_{\ell}, \underbrace{-X^t, \dots, -X^t}_{r}, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{Z}\right), \quad (X \in \mathfrak{sl}(V))$$
$$\mathsf{m}V = \dim W$$

where  $z + (\ell + r) \dim V = \dim W$ .

**Proposition 3.8.** [9] Let  $L_1$  be a simple Lie algebra of rank greater than 10. Suppose that  $L_1 \subseteq L_2 \subseteq L_3$ , where  $L_i$  are all perfect and finite dimensional Lie algebras. Suppose that p = 0 and  $L_2 \subseteq L_3$  is a non-diagonal embedding. If  $W_{l_{L_1}}$  is non-trivial for every  $L_2$ -module W, then there is a natural  $L_3$ -module V such that  $V_{l_{L_1}}$  is a non-diagonal  $L_1$ -module.

# 5. Local Systems of Locally Finite Algebras

**Definition 4.1.** [4] Suppose that  $\mathcal{A}$  is a locally finite algebra.

- 1. A *local system* of  $\mathcal{A}$  is a set  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  of finite dimensional subalgebras of  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfying the following conditions:
  - i.  $\mathcal{A} = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$ .
- ii. There exist  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  for each pair  $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_{\beta} \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{\gamma}$ .
- 2. A local system  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  is called *perfect* in the case when  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  are perfect algebras.
- 3. A local system  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  is called *conical* if it is perfect and if  $\Gamma$  has a minimal element 1 satisfying the following conditions:
  - i.  $\mathcal{A}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{A}_\alpha$  for all  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ ;
  - ii.  $\mathcal{A}_1$  is simple;
- iii. If V is a natural  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$ -module, then the restriction  $V_{\iota_{\mathcal{A}_1}}$  to  $\mathcal{A}_1$  contains a proper composition factor.

**Remark 4.2.** [4] Definition 4.1(3.iii.) implies that the rank of every simple ideal *S* of any Levi (maximal semisimple) subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  (for every  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ ) is greater than or equal to the rank of  $\mathcal{A}_1$ .

*Lemma 4.3.* Suppose that A is a simple locally finite associative (or Lie) algebra. Suppose that p = 0. The following holds:

- 1. [2] If  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  is local system, then there exists  $\beta \in \Gamma$  for each  $\alpha \in \Gamma$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\beta}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha} \cap \operatorname{Rad}\mathcal{A}_{\beta} = 0$ .
- 2. [9] *A Possesses a perfect local system*.
- 3. [9] If  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  is a local system of perfect algebras of  $\mathcal{A}$ , then there exists  $\alpha' \in \Gamma$  for each  $\alpha \in \Gamma$  such that  $\operatorname{Rad} L_{\beta} \cap L_{\alpha} = 0$  for all  $\beta \geq \alpha'$ .

**Theorem 4.4.** [1] Suppose that p = 0 and A is locally finite. Then

- 1. If A is simple with involution \*, then A contains a local system which is conical of arbitrary large rank;
- 2. If A is simple, then A contains a local system which is conical of arbitrary large rank.

**Proposition 4.5.** Suppose that  $\mathcal{A}$  is simple and  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  is a local system of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Let  $\{I_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  be a system of ideals such that  $I_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  for each  $\alpha\in\Gamma$ . Then either  $\bigcap_{\alpha\in\Gamma}I_{\alpha} = 0$  or for each  $k\in\Gamma$  there is  $\beta_{k}\in\Gamma$  with  $\mathcal{A}_{k}\subseteq I_{\beta_{k}}$ .

*Proof.* Put  $I = \bigcap_{\alpha \in \Gamma} I_{\alpha}$ . Suppose that  $I \neq 0$ . Let  $I'_{\alpha} = \bigcap \{ X_{\alpha} \mid X_{\alpha} \text{ is an ideal of } \mathcal{A}_{\alpha} \text{ with } X_{\alpha} \supset I \}.$  Then  $I'_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  with  $I'_{\alpha} \subseteq I_{\alpha}$  for each  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ . Let  $X_{\alpha}$  be a member in  $I'_{\alpha}$ . Then  $X_{\alpha}$  be an ideal of  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  with  $I \subseteq X_{\alpha}$ . Note that for any  $\mathcal{A}_{\eta} \in {\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  with  $\mathcal{A}_{\eta} \subset \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  we have  $X_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\eta}$  is an ideal of  $\mathcal{A}_{\eta}$  with  $I \subseteq X_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{A}_{\eta}$ , so  $I'_{\eta} \subseteq I'_{\alpha}$ . Hence,  $I' = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Gamma} I'_{\alpha}$  is an ideal of  $\mathcal{A}$  with  $I \subseteq I'$ . The simplicity of  $\mathcal{A}$  implies that  $\mathcal{A} = I' = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Gamma} I'_{\alpha}$ . Thus,  ${I'_{\alpha}}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  is a local system of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Let  $k \in \Gamma$ . Since  $\mathcal{A}_k$  is a finite dimensional, there exists  $\alpha_k \in \Gamma$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_k \subseteq I'_{\alpha_k}$ , but  $I'_{\alpha} \subseteq I_{\alpha}$ . Therefore, for each  $k \in \Gamma$ , there is  $\alpha_k \in \Gamma$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_k \subseteq I_{\alpha_k}$ , as required.

# 6. Plain, diagonal and non-diagonal locally finite Lie algebras

Let  $L \subseteq L'$  be perfect Lie algebras. If L and L' are finite dimensional and  $V'_1, ..., V'_k$  are natural L'modules, then an embedding  $L \subseteq L'$  is called a *plain (resp. diagonal) embedding* if  $(V'_1 \oplus ... \oplus V'_k)_{\downarrow_L}$ is a plain (resp. diagonal) L-module.

**Definition 5.1.** [5] Suppose that *L* is simple. Then a *plain* (resp. *diagonal*) *local system* of *L* is a perfect local system  $\{L_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  such that the embedding  $L_{\alpha} \subseteq L_{\beta}$  is plain (resp. diagonal) for all  $\alpha \leq \beta$ .

**Example 5.2.** If *L* is simple and p = 0. Then by Lemma 4.3(2), *L* has a perfect local system, say  $\{L_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$ . For each  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ , we denote by  $Q_{\alpha}$  is a Levi subalgebra of  $L_{\alpha}$  and  $\{Q_{\alpha}^{1}, Q_{\alpha}^{2}, ..., Q_{\alpha}^{n_{\alpha}}\}$  is the set of the simple ideals of  $Q_{\alpha}$ , so

$$Q_{\alpha} = Q_{\alpha}^{1} \oplus ... \oplus Q_{\alpha}^{n_{\alpha}}$$

Let  $V_{\alpha}^{k}$  be the standard  $Q_{\alpha}^{k}$ -module. As  $L_{\alpha}$  is perfect, for each k there is a unique indecomposable  $L_{\alpha}$ module  $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}^{k}$  in which the restriction  $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha \mid Q_{\alpha}^{k}}^{k}$  is isomorphic to  $V_{\alpha}^{k}$ .

An embedding  $L_{\alpha} \subset L_{\beta}$  for  $\alpha < \beta$  is a diagonal embedding if

$$\mathcal{V}^{k}_{\beta \downarrow_{L_{\alpha}}} = \left\{ \mathcal{V}^{1}_{\alpha}, \dots, \mathcal{V}^{n_{\alpha}}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{V}^{1^{*}}_{\alpha}, \dots, \mathcal{V}^{n^{*}_{\alpha}}_{\alpha}, T_{\alpha} \right\}, \quad 1 \leq k \leq n_{\beta}.$$

where  $T_{\alpha}$  is a trivial and one dimensional  $L_{\alpha}$ -module and  $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}^{i^*}$  is the dual to  $\mathcal{V}_{\alpha}^{i}$ .

**Remark 5.3** [4] Suppose that  $\{L_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  is a conical system of *L*. Then all simple components of  $L_{\alpha}$  (for each  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ ) are of classical type if the rank of  $L_1$  is greater than or equal to 9.

**Definition 5.4.** [5] Suppose that *L* is simple, then *L* is said to be *plain* (resp. *diagonal*) if *L* has a plain (resp. diagonal) local system.

**Example 5.5.** Consider the zero trace  $n \times n$ -matrices  $X \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{F})$ . Then

1.  $\mathfrak{sl}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$  and  $\mathfrak{sl}_{2^{\infty}}(\mathbb{F})$  can be defined to be the limit of the sequence of the natural embeddings:  $\varphi_1:\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{F}) \to \mathfrak{sl}_{n+1}(\mathbb{F})$ 

and

$$\mathfrak{o}_2:\mathfrak{sl}_{2^n}(\mathbb{F})\to\mathfrak{sl}_{2^{n+1}}(\mathbb{F})$$

where  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  are defined as follows:  $\varphi_1(X) = \text{diag}(X, 0)$  and  $\varphi_2(X) = \text{diag}(X, X)$ , respectively. Then  $\mathfrak{sl}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$  and  $\mathfrak{sl}_{2^{\infty}}(\mathbb{F})$  are both simple of diagonal type.

2. A generalization of  $\mathfrak{sl}_{2^{\infty}}(\mathbb{F})$  can be done as follows: Consider the sequence  $\mathcal{N} = (\ell_1, \ell_2, \ell_3, ...)$  of the positive integers  $\ell_i$ . Let  $q_n = \ell_1 \ell_2 \ell_3 ...$  Then  $\mathfrak{sl}_{\mathcal{N}}(\mathbb{F})$  is defined to be the limit of the sequence of diagonal matrix embedding.

 $\varphi_q: \mathfrak{sl}_{q^n}(\mathbb{F}) \to \mathfrak{sl}_{q^{n+1}},$ where  $\varphi_q$  is defined as  $\varphi_q(X) = \operatorname{diag}(X, X, ..., X)$  ( $\ell_{n+1}$  copies). **Definition 5.6.** A subspace *B* of *L* is called an inner ideal of *L* if  $[B, [B, L]] \subseteq B$ .

**Theorem 5.7.** Suppose that p = 0. The following holds:

- 1. [4] There exists a simple of diagonal type locally finite algebra that is not locally semisimple.
- 2. Suppose that L is simple over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Then
  - *i.* [4] *L* is semisimple as Lie algebra and locally perfect as well.
  - *ii.* [9] *L* contains a non-trivial inner ideal if it is of diagonal type and vice versa.

**Definition 5.8.** [5] Suppose that L is simple. Then L is called *non-diagonal* if there is no diagonal local system of L.

Recall that the map  $ad_x: L \to gI(L)$ ,  $ad_x(y) = [x, y]$  for all  $y \in L$ , is linear. The *adjoint* homomorphism  $ad: L \to gI(L)$ , is a linear map defined by  $x \mapsto ad_x$  for all  $x \in L$  [16].

**Example 5.9.** Consider the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{sl}_{ad}(\mathbb{F})$  which is defined to be the limit of the sequence of embeddings

 $\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{F}) \to \mathfrak{sl}(\mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{F})) \cong \mathfrak{sl}_3(\mathbb{F}) \to \mathfrak{sl}(\mathfrak{sl}_3(\mathbb{F})) \cong \mathfrak{sl}_8(\mathbb{F}) \to \cdots$ 

where all embeddings are induced by the adjoint map  $x \mapsto adx$ . Then  $\mathfrak{sl}_{ad}(\mathbb{F})$  is a simple of nondiagonal type (see [4 Corollary 2.11] for the proof).

**Theorem 5.10.** [9] Suppose that L is simple of non-diagonal type and p = 0. The following hold 1. If  $\{L_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  is a conical system of L of rank > 10, then for every  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ , there is  $\beta \ge \alpha$  such that

- $L_{\beta} \subseteq L_{\gamma}$  is non-diagonal embedding for all  $\gamma \geq \beta'$ .
- 2. L has no non-zero proper inner ideals.

# 7. Simple and simple with Involution associative algebras.

Recall Wedderburn theorem (see [6, Theorem 1]) that if  $\mathcal{A}$  is finite dimensional, then  $\mathcal{A}$  can be written as  $\mathcal{A} = S \bigoplus Rad(\mathcal{A})$ , where S is semisimple subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$  and a  $Rad(\mathcal{A})$  is a nilpotent ideal (the radical) of  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Lemma 6.1.** Suppose that  $\mathcal{A}$  is semisimple and finite dimensional. If p = 0, then  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$  is a semisimple finite dimensional Lie algebra over  $\mathbb{F}$ .

*Proof.* Consider the set of the simple ideals  $\{S_1, ..., S_k\}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ , so

 $\mathcal{A} = S_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus S_k.$ 

Then for each  $1 \le i \le k$ , we have  $S_i \cong \mathcal{M}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F})$  for some integer  $n_i$ , so  $[S_i, S_i] \cong \mathfrak{sl}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F})$  (see (2.2)). Thus,

 $[\mathcal{A},\mathcal{A}] = [S_1,S_1] \oplus ... \oplus [S_k,S_k] \cong \mathfrak{sl}_{n_1}(\mathbb{F}) \oplus ... \oplus \mathfrak{sl}_{n_k}(\mathbb{F}).$ 

Therefore,  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$  is a semisimple and finite dimensional, as required.

**Definition 6.2.** [1] An associative algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is said to be an *involution simple associative algebra* if the only \*-invariant ideals of  $\mathcal{A}$  are {0} and  $\mathcal{A}$ .

We have the following result. See [1, Proposition 2.8] for the proof.

**Proposition 6.3.** Every involution simple algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  over  $\mathbb{F}$  is either simple with involution \* or the  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{U} \oplus \mathcal{U}^*$ , where  $\mathcal{U}$  is simple ideal.

We will need the following well-known result. See for example [7].

*Lemma 6.4.* Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be semisimple and finite dimensional with involution \*. Suppose that p = 0. Then  $[skew(\mathcal{A}), skew(\mathcal{A})]$  is semisimple Lie algebra.

*Proof.* Let  $S_1, ..., S_k$  be the involution simple ideals of  $\mathcal{A}$ , so  $\mathcal{A} = S_1 \bigoplus ... \bigoplus S_k$ . Then by Proposition 6.3, for each  $1 \le i \le k$ , we have  $S_i$  is either simple with involution \* or  $S_i = \mathcal{U}_i \bigoplus \mathcal{U}_i^*$  for some simple ideals  $\mathcal{U}_i$  and  $\mathcal{U}_i^*$  of  $S_i$ . Thus, by using Lemma 2.6, we get that

$$skew(S_i) \cong \begin{cases} \mathfrak{so}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}), \mathfrak{sp}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}) & \text{if } S_i \text{ is simple with involution} \\ \mathfrak{gl}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}) & \text{if } S_i = \mathcal{U}_i \bigoplus \mathcal{U}_i^*. \end{cases}$$

Thus,  $[skewS_i, skewS_i] \cong \mathfrak{sl}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}), \mathfrak{so}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F}), \mathfrak{sp}_{n_i}(\mathbb{F})$  for each i = 1, ..., k. Therefore,

 $[skew(\mathcal{A}), skew(\mathcal{A})] = [skew(S_1), skew(S_1)] \oplus ... \oplus [skew(S_k), skew(S_k)],$ is semisimple and finite dimensional.

**Definition 6.5.** A system  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  is called a \*-*invariant system* if for each  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha} \in \{A_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  we have  $a_{\alpha}^* \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$  for all  $a_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$ .

We have the following lemma (See [1]).

Lemma 6.6. Let A be locally finite with involution \*. Then A contains a \*-invarint system.

**Proof.** Consider the local system  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then for each  $\alpha\in\Gamma$ , consider the subalgebra  $\mathcal{\ddot{A}}_{\alpha}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  that generated by  $\mathcal{A}_{\alpha} + \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}^*$ . Since  $a_{\alpha}^* \in \hat{\mathcal{A}}$  for all  $a_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}$ , we get that  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\alpha}$  is a \*-invariant subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Thus,  $\{\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  is a \*-invariant local system of  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Proposition 6.7.** If  $\mathcal{A}$  is simple with involution and p = 0.

- *1.* [1] *A* have a \*-invariant conical system of large rank.
- 2. [9] If  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  is a \*-invariant conical system of  $\mathcal{A}$ , then for every  $\alpha\in\Gamma$  there exists  $\alpha'\in\Gamma$  satisfying that for all \*-invariant maximal ideals I of  $A_{\beta}$  ( $\beta\geq\alpha'$ ) we have  $A_{\alpha}\cap I=0$ .

## 8. Locally finite Lie algebras of simple associative algebras

**Definition 7.1.** [1] 1) An associative algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is said to be an *envelope* of a Lie algera L if

- i. *L* is a subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$ .
- ii. L generates  $\mathcal{A}$ .

2) An envelope  $\mathcal{A}$  of *L* is said to be a  $\mathfrak{B}$ -envelope of *L* if  $L = [\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ .

In what follow, U(L) is denoted to be the *universal enveloping algebra* of L and A(L) the *augmented ideal* of U(L) which defined to be the ideal of U(L) of codimension 1. Recall that *universal enveloping algebra* U(L) of L is an infinite-dimensional associative algebra [16]. If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\mathfrak{B}$ -enveloping of L, then  $\mathcal{A}$  can be considered as the augmented ideal  $\mathcal{A}(L)$  of U(L) [1]. Therefore, and there is a 1-1 correspondence between  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $H_{\mathcal{A}}$  with the following property  $H_{\mathcal{A}} \cap L = 0$ ,  $A(L)/H_{\mathcal{A}} \cong \mathcal{A}$ .

**Remark 7.2.** We say that  $\mathcal{A} \leq \mathcal{C}$  if and only if  $H_{\mathcal{A}} \supseteq H_{\mathcal{C}}$ .

**Theorem 7.3.** [1] If L is simple plain and p = 0, then L generates two  $\mathfrak{B}$ -envelopes associative algebras  $\mathcal{A}_+$  and  $\mathcal{A}_-$  such that:

- 1. The radical  $Rad(\mathcal{A}_{\pm})$  annihilates  $\mathcal{A}_{\pm}$ .
- 2.  $\mathcal{A}_+/Rad(\mathcal{A}_+)$  is a simple  $\mathfrak{B}$ -envelope of *L*.
- 3. If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\mathfrak{B}$ -envelope of L, then  $\mathcal{A}_+/Rad(\mathcal{A}_+) \leq \mathcal{A} \leq \mathcal{A}_+$  or  $\mathcal{A}_-/Rad(\mathcal{A}_-) \leq \mathcal{A} \leq \mathcal{A}_-$ .
- 4. The inverse of the mapping in (v) is defined by  $\mathcal{A} \rightarrow [\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ .

Recall that a subspace *B* of *L* is called an *inner ideal* of *L* if  $[B, [B, L]] \subseteq B$  (see Definition 5.6). *B* is called *abelian* in the case when [B, B] = 0. An inner ideal of the Lie algebra  $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$  is called *Jordan*-*Lie* in the case when  $B^2 = 0$  [10].

**Theorem 7.5**. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be simple and p = 0.

- 1. [1]  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$  is a simple and plain. Moreover,  $\mathcal{A}$  is  $\mathfrak{B}$ -envelope of  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ .
- 2.  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$  contains a proper inner ideal.
- 3. [9] If B is an inner ideal of [A, A], then B is Jordan-Lie.
- 4. If B is inner ideal of [A, A], then B is abelian.

*Proof.* Part (1.) is proved in [1]. For the proof see [1, Theorem 2.12].

2. By (1),  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}$  is a simple and diagonal, so by Theorem 5.7(2.ii), *L* contains a non-trivial inner ideal, as required.

3. This is proved in [9]. For the proof see [9, Corollary 4.14].

4. Let *B* be an inner ideal of  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ . By using (3.), we get that  $[B, B] \subseteq B^2 = 0$ .

**Definition 7.6.** [9] An inner ideal *B* of  $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$  (or  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ ) is called *regular* if *B* is Jordan-Lie and  $B\mathcal{A}B \subseteq B$ .

*Lemma* 7.7. [10] If  $p \neq 2,3$ , then an inner ideal B of  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$  is regular if and only if there is right  $\Re$  and left  $\mathfrak{L}$  ideals of  $\mathcal{A}$  with  $\mathfrak{LR} = 0$  such that

$$\Re \mathfrak{L} \subseteq B \subseteq \mathfrak{R} \cap \mathfrak{L} \cap [\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}].$$

We will need the following proposition. It represents a special case of [10, Proposition 6.20].

**Proposition 7.8.** [10] If  $p \neq 2,3$ , then Jordan-Lie inner ideals of  $\mathcal{A}^{(-)}$  and of  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$  are regular.

**Theorem 7.9.** Let A be simple and locally semisimple. If p = 0, then.

- 1.  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$  is locally semisimple as Lie algebra.
- 2. Consider the system  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ . If B is inner ideal of  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ . Then  $B \cap [\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}]$  is an inner ideal of  $[\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}]$ .
- 3. Every inner ideal of  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}$  is regular.
- 4. Every proper inner ideal of  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}$  can be written as  $\mathfrak{RL}$  for some right  $\mathfrak{R}$  and left  $\mathfrak{L}$  ideals of  $\mathcal{A}$  with  $\mathfrak{LR} = 0$ .

*Proof.* 1. Consider the semisimple system  $\{\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$ . Then by Lemma 6.1,  $[\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}]$  is a semisimple finite dimensional Lie algebra over  $\mathbb{F}$ . Therefore,  $\{[\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}]\}_{\alpha\in\Gamma}$  is semisimple system of  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}$ , so  $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}$  is locally semisimple Lie algebra, as required.

2. This is obvious as  $B \cap [\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}] \subseteq [\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}]$ .

3. Let *B* be an inner ideal of  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ . Then *B* is Jordan-Lie (Theorem 7.5(3)), that is,  $B^2 = 0$ , so we only need to prove that  $B\mathcal{A}B \subseteq B$ . Let  $x \in B\mathcal{A}B$ . Let  $\{[S_\alpha, S_\alpha]\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  be a semisimple local system of  $[\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}]$ , where  $\{S_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in \Gamma}$  is a semisimple local system of  $\mathcal{A}$ . By (2),  $B_\alpha = B \cap [S_\alpha, S_\alpha]$  for all  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ . Then  $B_\alpha$  is Jordan-Lie of  $[S_\alpha, S_\alpha]$ , so there exists  $\beta \in \Gamma$  such that  $x \in B_\beta S_\beta B_\beta$ . Since  $[S_\beta, S_\beta]$  is semisimple, By Proposition 7.8,  $B_\beta$  is a regular inner ideal of  $[S_\beta, S_\beta]$ , so  $B_\beta S_\beta B_\beta \subseteq B_\beta$ . Thus,  $x \in B_\beta \subseteq B$ . Therefore, *B* is regular.

4. This follows from (3) and Lemma 7.7. ■

# 9. Locally finite Lie algebras of involution simple associative algebras

**Definition 8.1.** An associative algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  with an involution is called  $\mathfrak{B}^*$ -envelope if  $\mathcal{A}$  is an envelope of *L* and  $L = K^{(1)}$ , where  $K = \text{skew}(\mathcal{A})$ .

**Theorem 8.2.** [1] If p = 0, then L generates a unique  $\mathfrak{B}^*$ -envelope associative algebras  $\mathcal{A}$  such that

- 1. The Jacobson radical Rad(A) annihilates A.
- 2.  $\mathcal{A}/Rad(\mathcal{A})$  is a simple  $\mathfrak{B}^*$ -envelope of L.
- 3. If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a  $\mathfrak{B}^*$ -envelope of L, then either  $\mathcal{A}/Rad(\mathcal{A}) \leq \mathcal{A} \leq \mathcal{A}$ .
- 4. The mapping  $L \mapsto \mathcal{A}/Rad(\mathcal{A})$  is a 1-1 correspondence between L and the set of all involution

simple infinite dimensional locally finite associative algebras.

5. The inverse of the linear tronsformation in (iv) is defined to be  $\mathcal{A} \mapsto [skew\mathcal{A}, skew\mathcal{A}]$ .

**Theorem 8.3.** [1] Let p = 0. Then L = [K, K] is simple and diagonal. Moreover,  $\mathcal{A}$  is  $\mathfrak{B}^*$ -envelope of [K, K].

An inner ideal of  $K = skew(\mathcal{A})$  or [K, K] is said to be *Jordan-Lie* if  $B^2 = 0$  [23].

**Definition 8.4.** [9] An inner ideal B of  $K = skew(\mathcal{A})$  (or [K, K]) is said to be a \*-regular if B is Jordan-Lie and  $skew(B\mathcal{A}B) \subseteq B$ .

*Lemma 8.5.* [10] Suppose that  $K = skew(\mathcal{A})$  and p = 0. An inner ideal B of  $K^{(1)}$  is \*-regular if and only if there exists left ideal  $\mathfrak{L}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfying  $\mathfrak{L}\mathfrak{L}^* = 0$  such that  $\mathfrak{L}^* * \mathfrak{L} \subseteq B \subseteq \mathfrak{L}^* * \cap \mathfrak{L} \cap K^{(1)}$ .

**Theorem 8.6.** [9] If p = 0 and A is locally \*-semisimple, then the following hold.

- 1. [K, K] is locally semisimple.
- 2. Suppose that [K, K] is non-isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{so}_{\infty}(\mathbb{F})$ , then i. If B is inner ideal of  $K^{(1)}$ , then B is \*-regular;

ii. If B is inner ideal of  $K^{(1)}$  can be written in form  $\mathfrak{L}^*\mathfrak{L}$  for some left  $\mathfrak{L}$  ideal of  $\mathcal{A}$  with  $\mathfrak{L}\mathfrak{L}^* = 0$ .

# References

- [1] Bahturin Y A, Baranov A A and Zalesski A E 2004 Simple Lie subalgebras of locally finite associative algebras *J. Algebra* **281(1)** 225-246.
- [2] Bahturin Y A, Strade H 1995 Locally finite-dimensional simple Lie algebras *Sb. Math.* **81(1)** 137–161.
- [3] Baranov A A 1999 Complex finitary simple Lie algebras *Archiv der Mathematik* **72(2)**101-106.
- [4] Baranov A A 1998 Diagonal Locally Finite Lie Algebras and a Version of Ado's Theorem *J. Algebra* **199** 1-39.
- [5] Baranov A A 2013 Classification of the direct limits of involution simple associative algebras and the corresponding dimension groups *J. Algebra* **381** 73-95.
- [6] Baranov A A, Mudrov A and Shlaka H M 2018 Wedderburn–Malcev Decomposition of One-Sided Ideals of Finite Dimensional Algebras J. Communications in Algebra 46(8) 3605–3607.
- [7] Baranov A A and Zalesskii A E 2001 Quasiclassical Lie algebras J. Algebra 243 264-293.
- [8] Baranov A A 2015 Simple locally finite Lie algebras of diagonal type *Lie algebras and related topics* **652** 47.
- [9] Baranov A A and Rowley J 2013 Inner ideals of simple locally finite Lie algebras J. Algebra 379 10-30.
- [10] Baranov A A and Shlaka H 2019 Jordan-Lie inner ideals of the finite dimensional associative algebras *J. Pure and Applied Algebra* preprint.
- [11] Baxter W E 1958 Lie simplicity of a special class of associative rings II J. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 87(1) 63-75.
- [12] Benkart G 1976 The Lie inner ideal structure of associative rings J. Algebra 43(2) 561-84.
- [13] Benkart G 1977 On inner ideals and ad-nilpotent elements of Lie algebras J. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 23 61-81.

- [14] Benkart G and Fernández López A 2009 The Lie inner ideal structure of associative rings revisited *J. Communications in Algebra* **37(11)** 3833-50.
- [15] Brox J, Fernández López A and Gómez Lozano M 2016 Inner ideals of Lie algebras of skew elements of prime rings with involution *J. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society* **144(7)** 2741-2751.
- [16] Erdmann K and Wildon M J 2006 Introduction to Lie algebras Springer Science & Business Media.
- [17] Erickson T S 1972 The Lie structure in prime rings with involution J. Algebra 21(3) 523-534.
- [18] Fernández López A, Garcia E and Gómez Lozano M 2008 The Jordan Algebra of the Lie Algebra *J. Algebra* **308(1)** 164-177.
- [19] Fernández López A, García E and Gómez Lozano M 2008 An Artinian theory for Lie algebras *J. Algebra* **319(3)** 938-51.
- [20] Herstein I N 1954 On the Lie ring of a division ring J. Annals of Mathematics 571-75.
- [21] Herstein I N 1954 On the Lie ring of a simple ring *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **40**(**5**) 305.
- [22] Martindale W S and Meirs C 1986 Herstein's Lie theory revisited J.Algebra 98(1) 14-37.
- [23] Shlaka H M 2018 Jordan-Lie Inner Ideals of Finite Dimensional Associative Algebras PhD thesis University of Leicester UK.
# The role of media coverage on the dynamical behavior of smoking model with and without spatial diffusion

#### Ahmed Ali Mohsen<sup>1</sup> and Raid Kamel Naji<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Ibn-Al-Haitham College of Education, Baghdad University. E-mail: <u>aamuhseen@gmail.com</u>;

<sup>2</sup>Department of mathematics, College of science, University of Baghdad.

rknaji@scbaghdad.edu.iq

**Abstract:** The spread of epidemic diseases still a major threat to the life of communities. Therefore, with the great development of the technology, the spread of diseases can be reduced by using media coverage awareness. In this paper a smoking model incorporating media coverage for warranting the population is proposed and studied. The dynamics of the model is investigated in two different cases: nonexistence and existence of diffusion. The existence, positivity and bounded-ness of solutions are investigated. The local and global stability by the help of Lyapunov function of all possible equilibrium points are investigated. Moreover, numerical simulations are carried out to validate the analytical results and specify the effect of varying the parameters.

Keywords: Smoking model, media, diffusion, stability.

#### 1. Introduction

The smoke from the Cigarette is a very complex chemical mixture that is dangerous to human health and all the elements of the environment. It contains more than 3,800 toxic chemicals, the most important of which is the carbon monoxide (Co), which is one of the poisonous and dangerous gases on human life, ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>), Hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S), formaldehyde (HCHO), Acetaldehyde (CH<sub>3</sub>CHO), hydrogen cyanide (HCN), in addition to a large number of acids including: Carbonic acid (H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>), nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>), acetic acid (CH<sub>3</sub>COOH) and formic acid (HCOOH), see [1].

Cigarette smoke also carries a huge range of organic compounds, which have proved dangerous, classified globally as highly dangerous. These substances include benzopyrene, which works to destroy the mucous membranes of the respiratory tract of smokers, and also destroys the airways of smokers. In one of the statistics from 2013, the number of premature deaths due to smoking to 5950 deaths, as well as 200,000 cases of hospitalization. And there are many diseases caused by smoking such as 44% Cancer, 30% Circulatory diseases, 25% Respiratory diseases and other [2-3]. All these reasons have invited many authors to understand and study the smoking epidemic for example: In [4], Castillo-Garsow et al suggested the tobacco model with recovery. Lahrouz, et al [5] proposed and studied mathematical model of smoking. Al-Shareef and Batarfi studied the effect of chain, mild and

passive smoke see [6]. In [7], Sharomi and Gumel provided a rigorous mathematical study for assessing the dynamics of smoking and their impact on public health in a community. Zaman, studied the smoking dynamics with control strategy, he discussed qualitative behavior of tobacco model [8, 9]. Erturk and Momani [10] proposed analytic method for approximating a giving up smoking model. Zainab et al [11] studied global dynamics of a mathematical model on Smoking. Moreover many researchers proposed and studied models showed how the media effect of the spread of the diseases for example: Misra et al [12] studied the effects of awareness programs by media on the spread of infectious diseases. Smith et al [13] investigated the impact of media coverage on the influenza disease. Cui and Zhu [14] studied the impact of media on control of infectious disease. On the other hand, it is well known that location play a critical role in disease dynamics see for example [15-19]. In this work, we proposed and studied a mathematical model describing the effect of awareness through media program on the spread of smoking. Further, the effect of location on outbreak the smoking in the population is also considered through studying the model with reaction diffusion. Finally, local as well as global stability analysis of the proposed model are also investigated.

#### 2. Construction of the model

The mathematical model offer us more understand about spread the infection disease, we know that the disease is transmitted by direct contact between healthy individuals with infected individuals. In fact, outbreak the smoking is very similar to the spread of epidemic and hence some populations start smoking due to contact with smokers. Consider a population of size N at time t. It is assumed that, the population divided into four classes: the 1<sup>st</sup> class consisting of individuals who do not smoke tobacco and maybe become smokers in future (potential smokers) and the size of individuals at time t for this class denoted by P(t); 2<sup>nd</sup> class involving the smoker individuals and denoted their size at time t by S(t); Q(t) represents the size of individuals at time t in the 3<sup>rd</sup> class that contains individuals who temporarily quit smoking; R(t) stands for the size of individuals at time t in the 4<sup>th</sup> class, which contains the recovery from smoking. On the other hand, the efficiency of awareness by media coverage to reducing the number of smokers (or smoking prevention) at time t will be denoted by M(t). Accordingly, the dynamics of smoking model with the effect of awareness by media coverage to outbreak the smoking can be describe by the following system of nonlinear ODEs.

$$P = \psi - \beta PS - \mu P - \gamma PM$$
  

$$\dot{S} = \beta PS + \sigma \gamma PM - \mu S - \gamma SM + \varepsilon \, \delta Q$$
  

$$\dot{Q} = e \gamma SM - \mu Q - \delta Q$$
  

$$\dot{R} = \gamma (1 - \sigma) PM + \gamma (1 - e) SM - \mu R + \delta (1 - \varepsilon) Q$$
  

$$\dot{M} = \alpha (S + P) - \theta M$$
(1)

As the fourth equation is a linear differential equation with respect to variable R(t), which is not appear in the other equations of system (1), hence system (1) can be reduced to the following system:

$$P = \psi - \beta PS - \mu P - \gamma PM$$
  

$$\dot{S} = \beta PS + \sigma \gamma PM - \mu S - \gamma SM + \varepsilon \delta Q$$
  

$$\dot{Q} = e\gamma SM - \mu Q - \delta Q$$
  

$$\dot{M} = \alpha (S + P) - \theta M$$
(2)

with initial condition P(0) > 0,  $S(0) \ge 0$ ,  $Q(0) \ge 0$  and M(0) > 0. Therefore, by solving system (2) and substituting the solution, say  $(P^*, S^*, Q^*, M^*)$ , of it in the fourth equation of system (1) and solving the obtained linear differential equation we get for  $t \to \infty$  that:

$$R = \frac{\gamma[(1-\sigma)P^* + (1-e)S^*]M^* + \delta(1-\varepsilon)Q^*}{\mu}$$
(3)

Moreover, all the parameters are assumed to be nonnegative with,  $\psi > 0$  represents the recruitment of potential smokers population,  $\mu > 0$  represents the natural death rate of the human populations. The parameter  $\beta > 0$  is the contact rate between potential smokers and smokers. On other hand, the awareness level through media coverage that reached to the individuals is denoted by  $\gamma > 0$ , however portion of individuals who received awareness transfers to smoker class and temporarily quit smoking class with rates  $(0 \le \sigma \le 1)$  and  $(0 \le e \le 1)$  respectively. The parameter  $\delta > 0$  represents the rate of losing the temporary quitters smoking individuals, in fact fraction of them with rate  $(0 \le \varepsilon \le 1)$  transfers to smoker's class while the rest of individuals will transfer to recovery from smoking class. The parameter  $\alpha > 0$  represents media campaigns rate performed by both smokers and nonsmokers, however the rate of disappearance of media coverage represented by  $\theta > 0$ . Keeping the above description of variables and parameters, it is easy to proof that system (1), and hence system (2), is defined on the following positively invariant set:

$$\Gamma = \left\{ (P, S, Q, R, M) \in \mathbb{R}^5_+ : 0 \le N \le \frac{\psi}{\mu}, 0 \le M \le \frac{\alpha \psi}{\theta \mu} \right\}$$

where N = P + S + Q + R.

#### 3. The existence of equilibrium points of system (2)

In this section, the existence conditions of all possible equilibrium points are determine. It is easy to shows that system (2) has three equilibrium points. The points and their existence conditions can be described as following:

• In the absence of smokers, that is S = 0. Then, system (2) has a unique positive equilibrium point in the interior of positive quadrant of *PM* –plane, namely smoking free equilibrium point (*SFEP*), which denoted by  $E_0 = (P_0, 0, 0, M_0)$  where

$$P_{0} = \frac{2\psi\theta}{\mu\theta + \sqrt{(\mu\theta)^{2} + 4\alpha\gamma\psi\theta}}$$

$$M_{0} = \frac{-\mu\theta + \sqrt{(\mu\theta)^{2} + 4\alpha\gamma\psi\theta}}{2\gamma\theta}$$
(4a)

provided that the following condition holds

$$\sigma = 0 \tag{4b}$$

• In the absence of temporarily quit smokers (Q = 0). Hence, system (2) has an equilibrium point in the interior of positive octant of *PSM* –space, namely free temporarily quit smoking equilibrium point (*FTQSEP*), which denoted by  $E_1 = (P_1, S_1, 0, M_1)$  where:

$$M_1 = \frac{\alpha(S_1 + P_1)}{\theta} \tag{5a}$$

while  $(P_1, S_1)$  is a positive root to the following two isoclines:

$$f(P,S) = \theta \psi - (\theta \beta + \alpha \gamma)SP - \theta \mu P - \alpha \gamma P^2 = 0$$
(5b)

$$g(P,S) = (\beta\theta + \alpha\gamma(\sigma - 1))SP + \alpha\sigma\gamma P^2 - \mu\theta S - \alpha\gamma S^2 = 0$$
(5c)

Clearly, as  $S \rightarrow 0$ , the two isoclines reduced to:

$$\theta\psi - \theta\mu P - \alpha\gamma P^2 = 0 \tag{5d}$$

$$\alpha\gamma\sigma P^2 = 0 \tag{5e}$$

Obviously, Eq. (5d) has a unique intersection positive point with P –axis that given by

$$p = \frac{-\theta\mu}{2\alpha\gamma} + \frac{1}{2\alpha\gamma}\sqrt{(\theta\mu)^2 + 4\alpha\gamma\theta\psi}$$
(6)

while, Eq. (5e) has zero root on the P –axis.

Therefore, straightforward computation shows that the two isoclines (5b) and (5c) have a unique intersection positive point  $(P_1, S_1)$  provided that:

$$\frac{dS}{dP} = -\frac{\partial f/\partial P}{\partial f/\partial S} < 0$$

$$\frac{dS}{dP} = -\frac{\partial g/\partial P}{\partial g/\partial S} > 0$$
(7a)

Consequently, in addition to condition (7a), the following condition guarantees the existence of FTQSEP.

$$e = 0 \tag{7b}$$

• The coexistence equilibrium point or endemic equilibrium point (*EEP*), which denoted by  $E_2 = (P_2, S_2, Q_2, M_2)$  where

$$M_2 = \frac{\alpha(S_2 + P_2)}{\theta}; Q_2 = \frac{e \gamma \alpha S_2(S_2 + P_2)}{\theta(\mu + \delta)}$$
(8)

while  $(P_2, S_2)$  represents a positive intersection point of the two isoclines f(S, P) = 0, which is given by Eq. (5b), while the other isocline is given by

$$g_1(S,P) = [[\beta\theta + \alpha\gamma(\sigma - 1)]SP + \alpha\sigma\gamma P^2 - \mu\theta S - \alpha\gamma S^2](\mu + \delta) + \alpha\gamma\varepsilon\delta eS(S+P) = 0$$
(9a)

Clearly, as  $S \rightarrow 0$ , the last two isocline reduced to the same polynomial equation given in Eq. (5d) and (5e). Hence they have the same nonnegative roots fall on the *P*-axis. Accordingly, (*P*<sub>2</sub>, *S*<sub>2</sub>) exists uniquely in the interior of positive quadrant *PS* -plane provided that

$$\frac{dS}{dP} = -\frac{\partial f/\partial P}{\partial f/\partial S} < 0$$

$$\frac{dS}{dP} = -\frac{\partial g_1/\partial P}{\partial g_1/\partial S} > 0$$
(9b)

Hence the *EEP* exists uniquely in the Int  $\mathbb{R}^4_+$  provided that in addition to condition (9b) the following condition holds

$$e > 0 \tag{9c}$$

Note that, the *EEP* and *FTQSEP* are coinciding in the interior of positive octant of *PSM* –space under the condition (7b).

#### 4. Stability analysis of system (2)

In this section, the stability analysis of all equilibrium points of system (2) is studied. The Jacobian matrix of system (2) at (P, S, Q, M) can be written in the following form.

$$J(P, S, Q, M) = \left(a_{ij}\right)_{4 \times 4} \tag{10}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} a_{11} &= -\beta S - \mu - \gamma M, \, a_{12} &= -\beta P, \, a_{13} = 0, \, a_{14} = -\gamma P \\ a_{21} &= \beta S + \sigma \gamma M, \, a_{22} = \beta P - \mu - \gamma M, \, a_{23} = \varepsilon \delta, \, a_{24} = \sigma \gamma P - \gamma S \\ a_{31} &= 0, \, a_{32} = e \gamma M, \, a_{33} = -\mu - \delta, \, a_{34} = e \gamma S \\ a_{41} &= \alpha, \, a_{42} = \alpha, \, a_{43} = 0, \, a_{44} = -\theta \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, the local stability of SFEP is investigated in the following theorem.

**Theorem 1:** The *SFEP* of system (2) is locally asymptotically stable (LAS) if the following sufficient conditions hold

$$\beta P_0 < \mu + \gamma M_0 \tag{11a}$$

$$(\mu + \delta)\beta P_0 + e\gamma\varepsilon\delta M_0 < (\mu + \delta)(\mu + \gamma M_0)$$
(11b)

**Proof:** The Jacobian matrix of system (2) at  $E_0$  can be written:

$$J(E_0) = \begin{pmatrix} -(\mu + \gamma M_0) & -\beta P_0 & 0 & -\gamma P_0 \\ 0 & \beta P_0 - (\mu + \gamma M_0) & \varepsilon \delta & 0 \\ 0 & e \gamma M_0 & -(\mu + \delta) & 0 \\ \alpha & \alpha & 0 & -\theta \end{pmatrix} = (b_{ij})_{4 \times 4}$$
(12)

Hence, the characteristic equation can be written as

$$\lambda^4 + B_1 \lambda^3 + B_2 \lambda^2 + B_3 \lambda + B_4 = 0 \tag{13}$$

Such that

$$B_{1} = -[b_{11} + b_{22} + b_{33} + b_{44}]$$
  

$$B_{2} = b_{11}(b_{22} + b_{33}) + b_{11}b_{44} - b_{14}b_{41} + b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32} + b_{44}(b_{22} + b_{33})$$
  

$$B_{3} = -[(b_{11} + b_{44})(b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32}) + (b_{22} + b_{33})(b_{11}b_{44} - b_{14}b_{41})]$$

$$B_4 = (b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32})(b_{11}b_{44} - b_{14}b_{41})$$

while by using some algebraic computation we obtain that

$$B_1B_2 - B_3 = -(b_{11} + b_{44})(b_{22} + b_{33})(b_{11} + b_{22}) -(b_{11} + b_{44})(b_{22} + b_{33})(b_{33} + b_{44}) -(b_{11} + b_{44})(b_{11}b_{44} - b_{14}b_{41}) - (b_{22} + b_{33})(b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32}) -(b_{22} + b_{33})(b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32})$$

However  $\Delta = B_3(B_1B_2 - B_3) - B_1^2B_4$  can be written as:

$$\begin{split} \Delta &= -B_1(b_{11} + b_{44})^2(b_{22} + b_{33})(b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32}) \\ &-B_1(b_{11} + b_{44})(b_{22} + b_{33})^2(b_{11}b_{44} - b_{14}b_{41}) \\ &+ (b_{11} + b_{44})(b_{22} + b_{33})[(b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32}) - (b_{11}b_{44} - b_{14}b_{41})]^2 \end{split}$$

Note that, according to the Routh-Hurwitz criterion, all the eigenvalues of  $J(E_0)$  have negative real parts and then the *SFEP* of system (2) is locally asymptotically stable provided that  $B_i > 0$  for i = 1,2,3,4;  $B_1B_2 - B_3 > 0$  and  $\Delta > 0$ .

It is easy to verify that condition (11a) guarantees that the element  $b_{22}$  is negative and condition (11b) guarantees that the term  $b_{22}b_{33} - b_{23}b_{32} > 0$ . Hence due to the sign of matrix elements and the sufficient conditions (11a) and (11b) all the Routh-Hurwitz conditions are satisfied. Therefore, the proof is complete.

Theorem 2: The FTQSEP of system (2) is LAS if the following sufficient conditions hold

$$\beta P_1 < (\mu + \gamma M_1) \tag{14a}$$

$$\sigma P_1 < S_1 \tag{14b}$$

$$\alpha\gamma S_1 < \alpha\sigma\gamma P_1 + \theta\beta S_1 + \theta\sigma\gamma M_1 \tag{14c}$$

$$\alpha \sigma \gamma P_1[\beta P_1 + \gamma M_1] < 2\theta (\beta S_1 + \mu + \gamma M_1)[(\mu + \gamma M_1) - \beta P_1]$$
(14d)

**Proof:** The Jacobian matrix of system (2) at  $E_1$  can be written:

$$J(E_1) = (c_{ij})_{4 \times 4} = \begin{pmatrix} -(\beta S_1 + \mu + \gamma M_1) & -\beta P_1 & 0 & -\gamma P_1 \\ \beta S_1 + \sigma \gamma M_1 & \beta P_1 - (\mu + \gamma M_1) & \varepsilon \delta & \sigma \gamma P_1 - \gamma S_1 \\ 0 & 0 & -(\mu + \delta) & 0 \\ \alpha & \alpha & 0 & -\theta \end{pmatrix}$$
(15)

Hence, the characteristic equation can be written as

$$(c_{33} - \lambda)(\lambda^3 + C_1\lambda^2 + C_2\lambda + C_3) = 0$$
(16)

where the eigenvalue in the Q – direction is given by  $\lambda_Q = -(\mu + \delta) < 0$ , while

$$C_{1} = -[c_{11} + c_{22} + c_{44}]$$

$$C_{2} = c_{11}c_{22} - c_{12}c_{21} + c_{11}c_{44} - c_{14}c_{41} + c_{22}c_{44} - c_{24}c_{42}$$

$$C_{3} = -[c_{11}(c_{22}c_{44} - c_{24}c_{42}) + c_{12}(c_{24}c_{41} - c_{21}c_{44}) + c_{14}(c_{21}c_{42} - c_{22}c_{41})]$$

with

$$C_{1}C_{2} - C_{3} = -(c_{11} + c_{22})[c_{11}c_{22} - c_{12}c_{21}] -(c_{11} + c_{44})[c_{11}c_{44} - c_{14}c_{41}] -(c_{22} + c_{44})[c_{22}c_{44} - c_{24}c_{42}] -2c_{11}c_{22}c_{44} + c_{12}c_{24}c_{41} + c_{14}c_{21}c_{42}$$

Note that, according to the Routh-Hurwitz criterion, all the eigenvalues of  $J(E_1)$  have negative real parts and then the *FTQSEP* of system (2) is locally asymptotically stable provided that  $C_i > 0$  for i = 1,3 and  $C_1C_2 - C_3 > 0$ .

It is easy to verify that condition (14a) guarantees that the element  $c_{22}$  is negative and condition (14b) guarantees that the element  $c_{24}$  is negative, while condition (14c) guarantees that the term  $c_{24}c_{41} - c_{21}c_{44} > 0$ . On the other hand condition (14d) ensure that  $-2c_{11}c_{22}c_{44} + c_{12}c_{24}c_{41} + c_{14}c_{21}c_{42} > 0$ . Hence due to the sign of matrix elements and the sufficient conditions (14a)-(14d) all the Routh-Hurwitz conditions are satisfied. Therefore, the proof is complete.

Theorem 3: The EEP of system (2) is LAS if the following sufficient conditions hold

$$\beta P_2 < \mu + \gamma M_2 \tag{17a}$$

$$\sigma P_2 < S_2 \tag{17b}$$

$$\beta(\mu+\delta)P_2 + \varepsilon\delta e\gamma M_2 < (\mu+\gamma M_2)(\mu+\delta)$$
(17c)

$$P_2(\beta S_2 + \sigma \gamma M_2) + \varepsilon e \delta S_2 < \gamma P_2(\beta S_2 + \mu + \gamma M_2 + \theta)$$
(17d)

**Proof:** The Jacobian matrix of system (2) at  $E_2$  is written as

$$J(E_2) = \left(z_{ij}\right)_{4 \times 4} \tag{18}$$

where  $z_{ij} = a_{ij}(P_2, S_2, Q_2, M_2)$ ,  $\forall i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4$ . Hence, the characteristic equation can be written as

$$\lambda^4 + Z_1 \lambda^3 + Z_2 \lambda^2 + Z_3 \lambda + Z_4 = 0 \tag{19}$$

where

$$Z_{1} = -[z_{11} + z_{22} + z_{33} + z_{44}]$$

$$Z_{2} = z_{11}z_{22} - z_{12}z_{21} + z_{11}z_{33} + z_{11}z_{44} - z_{14}z_{41} + z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32} + z_{22}z_{44} - z_{24}z_{42} + z_{33}z_{44}$$

$$Z_{3} = -[(z_{11} + z_{44})(z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + (z_{22} + z_{33})(z_{11}z_{44} - z_{14}z_{41}) - z_{12}z_{21}(z_{33} + z_{44}) - z_{33}z_{24}z_{42} - z_{24}(z_{11}z_{42} - z_{12}z_{41}) + z_{42}(z_{14}z_{21} - z_{23}z_{34})]$$

$$Z_4 = (z_{11}z_{44} - z_{14}z_{41})(z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + (z_{11}z_{42} - z_{12}z_{41})(z_{23}z_{34} - z_{24}z_{33}) -z_{21}z_{33}(z_{12}z_{44} - z_{14}z_{42})$$

Moreover, we have that

$$Z_{1}Z_{2} - Z_{3} = -(z_{11} + z_{22})(z_{11}z_{22} - z_{12}z_{21}) - z_{11}z_{33}(z_{11} + 2z_{22} + z_{33})$$
  
$$-z_{44}(z_{11} + z_{22} + z_{33} + z_{44})(z_{11} + z_{22} + z_{33}) + z_{12}z_{24}z_{41}$$
  
$$-(z_{22} + z_{33})(z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + z_{14}z_{41}(z_{11} + z_{44})$$
  
$$+z_{24}z_{41}(z_{22} + z_{44}) + z_{42}(z_{14}z_{21} - z_{23}z_{34})$$

and  $\Delta = Z_3(Z_1Z_2 - Z_3) - Z_1^2 Z_4$  can be written as:  $\Delta = X_1(X_2 + X_1) + X_3$ 

where

$$\begin{split} X_1 &= (z_{11} + z_{44})(z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + (z_{22} + z_{33})(z_{11}z_{44} - z_{14}z_{41}) \\ &- z_{12}z_{21}(z_{33} + z_{44}) + z_{24}z_{42}(z_{11} + z_{33}) + z_{12}z_{24}z_{41} + z_{42}(z_{14}z_{21} - z_{23}z_{34}) \\ X_2 &= (z_{11} + z_{22} + z_{33} + z_{44})[z_{11}(z_{22} + z_{33} + z_{44}) - z_{12}z_{21} - z_{14}z_{41} \\ &+ z_{44}(z_{22} + z_{33}) - z_{24}z_{42} + z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}] \\ X_3 &= (z_{11} + z_{22} + z_{33} + z_{44})^2[(z_{11}z_{44} - z_{14}z_{41})(z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) \\ &+ (z_{11}z_{42} - z_{12}z_{41})(z_{23}z_{34} - z_{33}z_{24}) - z_{33}z_{21}(z_{44}z_{12} - z_{14}z_{42})] \end{split}$$

Note that, according to the Routh-Hurwitz criterion, all the eigenvalues of  $J(E_2)$  have negative real parts and then the *EEP* of system (2) is locally asymptotically stable provided that  $Z_i > 0$  for i = 1,2,3,4;  $Z_1Z_2 - Z_3 > 0$  and  $\Delta > 0$ .

It is easy to verify that condition (17a) and (17b) guarantees that the elements  $z_{22}$  and  $z_{24}$  are negative respectively and condition (17c) guarantees that the term  $z_{22}z_{33} - z_{23}z_{32} > 0$ . While, the term  $z_{14}z_{41}(z_{11} + z_{44}) - z_{14}z_{21} + z_{23}z_{34} > 0$ , if the condition (17d) holds. Hence due to the sign of matrix elements and the sufficient conditions (17a) and (17d) all the Routh-Hurwitz conditions are satisfied. Therefore, the proof is complete.

It is well known that, for each equilibrium point there is a specific basin of attraction and the point will be a globally asymptotically stable if and only if their basin of attraction is the total domain. Therefore, in the following theorems, the basin of attraction or the global stability conditions of each point is determined.

**Theorem 4:** Assume that the *SFEP* is LAS. Then it has a basin of attraction that satisfies the following conditions

$$\left(\frac{\alpha P - \gamma P_0 M}{PM}\right)^2 < 4 \left(\frac{\mu + \gamma M}{P}\right) \left(\frac{\theta}{M}\right)$$
(20a)  
$$(\alpha + \beta P_0) < \mu$$
(20b)

**Proof:** Consider the following positive definite Lyapunov function, which is defined for all P > 0 and M > 0 in the domain of system (2).

$$V_1 = \left(P - P_0 - P_0 \ln \frac{P}{P_0}\right) + S + Q + \left(M - M_0 - M_0 \ln \frac{M}{M_0}\right)$$

Clearly, by differentiating  $V_1$  with respect to t along the solution curve of system (2), it's obtaining that:

$$V_1' = -\left(\frac{\mu + \gamma M}{P}\right) (P - P_0)^2 + \left(\frac{\alpha P - \gamma P_0 M}{PM}\right) (P - P_0) (M - M_0)$$
$$-\frac{\theta}{M} (M - M_0)^2 - [\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta] Q - \gamma (1 - \varepsilon)\gamma SM$$
$$-[\mu - (\alpha + \beta P_0)] S - \frac{\alpha M_0}{M} S$$

Therefore by using the above conditions, it's observed that

$$V_1' < -\left[\sqrt{\frac{\mu + \gamma M}{P}} \left(P - P_0\right) - \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{M}} \left(M - M_0\right)\right]^2 - \left[\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta\right]Q - \gamma(1 - e)\gamma SM$$
$$-\left[\mu - (\alpha + \beta P_0)\right]S - \frac{\alpha M_0}{M}S$$

Obviously,  $V_1' = 0$  at  $E_0 = (P_0, 0, 0, M_0)$ , moreover  $V_1' < 0$  otherwise. Hence  $V_1'$  is negative definite and then the solution starting from any initial point satisfy the above conditions will approaches asymptotically to *SFEP*. Hence the proof is complete.

**Theorem 5:** Assume that the *FTQSEP* is LAS. Then it has a basin of attraction that satisfies the following conditions

$$\beta P_1 < \gamma M_1 + \mu \tag{21a}$$

$$\left(\frac{\sigma\gamma M}{S}\right)^2 < \left(\frac{\beta S_1 + \mu P + \gamma M}{P}\right) \left(\frac{\gamma M_1 + \mu - \beta P_1}{S}\right)$$
(21b)

$$\left(\frac{\alpha}{M} - \frac{\gamma P_1}{P}\right)^2 < \left(\frac{\beta S_1 + \mu P + \gamma M}{P}\right) \left(\frac{\theta}{M}\right)$$
(21c)

$$\left(\frac{\alpha}{M} - \frac{\sigma\gamma P_1}{S} - \gamma\right)^2 < \left(\frac{\gamma M_1 + \mu - \beta P_1}{S}\right) \left(\frac{\theta}{M}\right)$$
(21d)

**Proof:** Consider the following positive definite Lyapunov function, which is defined for all P > 0, S > 0 and M > 0 in the domain of system (2).

$$V_2 = \left(P - P_1 - P_1 \ln \frac{P}{P_1}\right) + \left(S - S_1 - S_1 \ln \frac{S}{S_1}\right) + Q + \left(M - M_1 - M_1 \ln \frac{M}{M_1}\right)$$

Clearly, by differentiating  $V_2$  with respect to t along the solution curve of system (2), it's obtaining that:

$$\begin{split} V_{2}' &= -\left(\frac{\beta S_{1} + \mu P + \gamma M}{2P}\right)(P - P_{1})^{2} - \left(\frac{\sigma \gamma M}{S}\right)(P - P_{1})(S - S_{1}) \\ &- \left(\frac{\gamma M_{1} + \mu - \beta P_{1}}{2S}\right)(S - S_{1})^{2} - \left(\frac{\beta S_{1} + \mu P + \gamma M}{2P}\right)(P - P_{1})^{2} \\ &+ \left(\frac{\alpha}{M} - \frac{\gamma P_{1}}{P}\right)(P - P_{1})(M - M_{1}) - \frac{\theta}{2M}(M - M_{1})^{2} \\ &- \left(\frac{\gamma M_{1} + \mu - \beta P_{1}}{2S}\right)(S - S_{1})^{2} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{M} - \frac{\gamma P_{1}}{S} - \gamma\right)(S - S_{1})(M - M_{1}) \\ &- \frac{\theta}{2M}(M - M_{1})^{2} - (\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta)Q - \frac{\varepsilon\delta S_{1}Q}{S} \end{split}$$

Therefore by using the above conditions, it's observed that

$$V_{2}' < -\left[\sqrt{\frac{x_{11}}{2}} \left(P - P_{1}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{x_{22}}{2}} \left(S - S_{1}\right)\right]^{2} - \left[\sqrt{\frac{x_{11}}{2}} \left(P - P_{1}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{x_{44}}{2}} \left(M - M_{1}\right)\right]^{2} - \left[\sqrt{\frac{x_{22}}{2}} \left(S - S_{1}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{x_{44}}{2}} \left(M - M_{1}\right)\right]^{2} - \left(\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta\right)Q - \frac{\varepsilon\delta S_{1}Q}{S}$$

where  $x_{11} = \left(\frac{\beta S_1 + \mu P + \gamma M}{P}\right); x_{22} = \left(\frac{\gamma M_1 + \mu - \beta P_1}{S}\right); x_{44} = \frac{\theta}{2M}.$ 

Obviously,  $V_2' = 0$  at  $E_1 = (P_1, S_1, 0, M_1)$ , moreover  $V_2' < 0$  otherwise. Hence  $V_2'$  is negative definite and then the solution starting from any initial point satisfy the above conditions will approaches asymptotically to *FTQSEP*. Hence the proof is complete.

Furthermore, in the following theorem the conditions that specify the basin of attraction of *EEP* are established.

**Theorem 6:** Assume that the *EEP* is LAS. Then it has a basin of attraction that satisfies the following conditions

$$\beta P_2 < \mu + \gamma M \tag{22a}$$

$$(\sigma\gamma M + \beta S - \beta P_2)^2 < \frac{2}{3} (\beta S + \beta P_2 + \mu) (\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_2)$$
(22b)

$$(\alpha - \gamma P_2)^2 < \frac{2}{3}\theta(\beta S + \beta P_2 + \mu)$$
(22c)

$$\left(\varepsilon\delta + e\gamma M\right)^2 < \frac{2}{3}\left(\mu + \delta\right)\left(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_2\right)$$
(22d)

$$\left(\alpha + \sigma \gamma P_2 - \gamma S_2\right)^2 < \frac{4}{9} \theta \left(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_2\right)$$
(22e)

$$(e\gamma S_2)^2 < \frac{2}{3}\theta(\mu + \delta) \tag{22f}$$

Proof: Consider the following positive definite Lyapunov function

$$V_3 = \frac{(P - P_2)^2}{2} + \frac{(S - S_2)^2}{2} + \frac{(Q - Q_2)^2}{2} + \frac{(M - M_2)^2}{2}$$

Hence, by differentiating  $V_3$  with respect to t along the solution curve of system (2), we get that

$$\begin{split} V_{3}' &= -\frac{(\beta S + \beta P_{2} + \mu)}{2} (P - P_{2})^{2} + (\sigma \gamma M + \beta S - \beta P_{2})(P - P_{2})(S - S_{2}) \\ &- \frac{(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_{2})}{3} (S - S_{2})^{2} - \frac{(\beta S + \beta P_{2} + \mu)}{2} (P - P_{2})^{2} \\ &+ (\alpha - \gamma P_{2})(P - P_{2})(M - M_{2}) - \frac{\theta}{3} (M - M_{2})^{2} \\ &- \frac{(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_{2})}{3} (S - S_{2})^{2} + (\varepsilon \delta + e\gamma M)(S - S_{2})(Q - Q_{2}) \\ &- \frac{(\mu + \delta)}{2} (Q - Q_{2})^{2} - \frac{(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_{2})}{3} (S - S_{2})^{2} \\ &+ (\alpha + \sigma \gamma P_{2} - \gamma S_{2})(S - S_{2})(M - M_{2}) - \frac{\theta}{3} (M - M_{2})^{2} \\ &- \frac{(\mu + \delta)}{2} (Q - Q_{2})^{2} + e\gamma S_{2}(Q - Q_{2})(M - M_{2}) - \frac{\theta}{3} (M - M_{2})^{2} \end{split}$$

Therefore by using the above conditions, it's observed that

$$\begin{split} V_{3}' &= -\left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{11}}{2}}(P-P_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{3}}(S-S_{2})\right]^{2} - \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{11}}{2}}(P-P_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{44}}{3}}(M-M_{2})\right]^{2} \\ &- \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{3}}(S-S_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{33}}{2}}(Q-Q_{2})\right]^{2} - \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{3}}(S-S_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{44}}{3}}(M-M_{2})\right]^{2} \\ &- \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{33}}{2}}(Q-Q_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{44}}{3}}(M-M_{2})\right]^{2} \end{split}$$

here  $q_{11} = \beta S + \beta P_2 + \mu; q_{22} = \gamma M + \mu - \beta P_2; q_{33} = \mu + \delta; q_{44} = \theta.$ 

Obviously,  $V_3' = 0$  at  $E_2 = (P_2, S_2, Q_2, M_2)$ , moreover  $V_3' < 0$  otherwise. Hence  $V_3'$  is negative definite and then the solution starting from any initial point satisfy the above conditions will approaches asymptotically to *EEP*. Hence the proof is complete.

#### 5. Smoking model with diffusion

Obviously, system (1) does not consider the structure of smokers spreading and hence it is not suitable to understand the transmission of smoking in case of moving the individuals. Therefore, it is important to consider the diffusion terms in the model structure in order to investigate whether and how spatial heterogeneity can affect the smoking transmission dynamics. Consequently, the smoking model with diffusion is considered in this section, which is extended to the smoking model given in Eq. (1). Let  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^5_+$  with smooth boundary  $\partial\Omega$  and  $\eta$  is the outward unit normal vector on the boundary, then the smoking model with diffusion can be written as:

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = \psi - \beta P S - \mu P - \gamma P M + D_1 \Delta P$$
(23a)

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = \beta P S + \sigma \gamma P M - \mu S - \gamma S M + \varepsilon \delta Q + D_2 \Delta S$$
(23b)

$$\frac{\partial Q}{\partial t} = e\gamma SM - \mu Q - \delta Q + D_3 \Delta Q \tag{23c}$$

$$\frac{\partial R}{\partial t} = \gamma (1 - \sigma) P M + \gamma (1 - e) S M - \mu R + \delta (1 - \varepsilon) Q + D_4 \Delta R$$
(23d)

$$\frac{\partial M}{\partial t} = \alpha (S+P) - \theta M + D_5 \Delta M \tag{23e}$$

with homogeneous Neumaun boundary condition

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial \eta} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial \eta} = \frac{\partial Q}{\partial \eta} = \frac{\partial R}{\partial \eta} = \frac{\partial M}{\partial \eta} = 0, \quad x \in \partial \Omega, \quad t > 0$$
(24)

and initial conditions

$$P(x,0) = P_0(x) \ge 0, \ S(x,0) = S_0(x) \ge 0, \ Q(x,0) = Q_0(x) \ge 0$$
  
$$R(x,0) = R_0(x) \ge 0, \ M(x,0) = M_0(x) \ge 0 \qquad x \in \overline{\Omega}$$
(25)

where P(x,t), S(x,t), Q(x,t), R(x,t) and M(x,t), denoted the numbers of potential smokers, smokers, temporary quit smoking, recovery and media at location x and time t. All parameters in system (23) have same meaning as those in system (1). However, the parameters  $D_i \ge 0$ , i = 1,2,3,4,5 are the diffusion coefficients of population respectively; while,  $\Delta$  is Laplacian operator.

Similarly as in system (1), we can reduce system (23), by removing Eq. (23d) (recovery equation) from it, since the other equations in this system are independent of the recovery equation and hence system (23) becomes

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = \psi - \beta P S - \mu P - \gamma P M + D_1 \Delta P$$

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = \beta P S + \sigma \gamma P M - \mu S - \gamma S M + \varepsilon \delta Q + D_2 \Delta S$$

$$\frac{\partial Q}{\partial t} = e \gamma S M - \mu Q - \delta Q + D_3 \Delta Q$$

$$\frac{\partial M}{\partial t} = \alpha (S + P) - \theta M + D_5 \Delta M$$
(26)

So that *R* can be determined from

$$R(x,t) = N - [P(x,t) + S(x,t) + Q(x,t)], \quad x \in \Omega, t > 0$$
(27)

As the initial values are positive and the growth functions in the interaction functions of system (26) are assumed to be sufficiently smooth in  $\mathbb{R}^4_+$  then standard partial differential equations theory shows that the solution of (26) is unique and continuous for all the positive time in  $\Omega$ . Furthermore, we recall

the positivity lemma in order to using it to proof the positivity and the uniformly bounded of the solution of (26).

**Lemma 7 [17]:** Suppose  $K \in C(\overline{\Omega} \times [0, \tau]) \cap C^{2,1}(\Omega \times (0, \tau])$  and satisfies

$$K_{t} - D\Delta K \ge c(z,t)K, \ z \in \Omega, \ 0 < t \le \tau,$$

$$\frac{\partial K}{\partial \eta} \ge 0, \ z \in \partial\Omega, \ 0 < t \le \tau,$$

$$K(z,0) \ge 0, \ z \in \overline{\Omega}$$
(28)

where  $c(z,t) \in C(\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\tau])$ . Then  $K(z,t) \ge 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega} \times [0,\tau]$ . Moreover, K(z,t) > 0 or  $K \equiv 0$  in  $\Omega \times [0,\tau]$ .

Hence, according to lemma (7), we have the following theorem.

Theorem 8: Any solution of system (26) with a positive initial condition is positive.

**Proof:** Assume that (*P*, *S*, *Q*, *M*) be a solution of system (26) in  $\Omega \times [0, T_{\text{max}})$ . Then for any  $\tau$  with  $0 < \tau < T_{\text{max}}$ , we get from 1<sup>st</sup> equation of system (26) that:

$$P_t - D_1 \Delta P \ge -(\beta S + \mu + \gamma M)P, \quad x \in \Omega, 0 < t \le \tau$$

Since  $-(\beta S + \mu + \gamma M)$  is bounded due to the boundedness of the population in  $\Omega \times [0, \tau]$ , then by using the lemma (7) we obtain P > 0 in  $\Omega \times (0, \tau]$ . By the same way we have S > 0 in  $\Omega \times (0, \tau]$  since that

$$S_t - D_2 \Delta S \ge -(\mu + \gamma M)S$$
,  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $0 < t \le \tau$ ,

Similarly, we have Q > 0, due to the following

$$Q_t - D_3 \Delta Q \ge -(\mu + \delta)Q$$
,  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $0 < t \le \tau$ ,

Again we applied the same lemma on last equation of system (26) we obtain that

$$M_t - D_5 \Delta M \ge \theta M$$
,  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $0 < t \le \tau$ ,

Hence, M > 0. Now, since  $\tau$  is arbitrary in  $(0, T_{max})$ , we obtain that P > 0, S > 0, Q > 0 and M > 0 in  $\Omega \times [0, T_{max})$ .

Now, we show the bounded-ness of solution of system (26) and investigate that in following theorem

**Theorem 8:** Let  $(P, S, Q) \in [C(\overline{\Omega} \times [0, T_{max})) \cap C^{2,1}(\Omega \times (0, T_{max}))]^3$  be the solution of system (26) with non-negative non-trivial initial values. Then  $T = \infty$  and  $P(x,t) + S(x,t) + Q(x,t) \le \max \{N, \|P_0(x) + S_0(x) + Q_0(x)\|_{\infty}\}$ , where  $N = \frac{\psi}{\mu}$ .

**Proof:** We show that P(x,t), S(x,t) and Q(x,t) are bounded by  $\Omega \times [0, T_{\max})$ . Since

$$0 < P(x,0) + S(x,0) + Q(x,0) \le \left\| P_0(x) + S_0(x) + Q_0(x) \right\|_{\infty}$$

and

$$(P+S+Q)_t - D\Delta(P+S+Q) \le \psi - \mu(P+S+Q)$$

with  $D = \max\{D_1, D_2, D_3\}$ , then for  $t \in [0, \infty)$ , we have that

$$P(x,t) + S(x,t) + Q(x,t) \le \left[\frac{\psi}{\mu} + \left(\left\|P_0(x) + S_0(x) + Q_0(x)\right\|_{\infty} - \frac{\psi}{\mu}\right)e^{-\mu t}\right]$$

is the solution of the inequalities

$$\frac{dL(t)}{dt} = \psi - \mu L(t); \ L(0) = \left\| P_0(x) + S_0(x) + Q_0(x) \right\|_{\infty}$$

Such that, L = (P + S + Q), hence, we have

$$0 < L(t) \le \max\left\{\frac{\psi}{\mu}, \left\|P_0(x) + S_0(x) + Q_0(x)\right\|\right\}, \text{ for } t \in [0, \infty) \text{ and thus,}$$
$$P(x,t) + S(x,t) + Q(x,t) \le L(x) \le \max\left\{\frac{\psi}{\mu}, \left\|P_0(x) + S_0(x) + Q_0(x)\right\|\right\}$$

As well, by the same way we have shown that the media equation is bounded by  $\Omega \times [0, T_{\max})$ . Such that,  $M(x,0) \le ||M_0(x)||_{\infty}$ , then

$$M_t - D_5 \Delta M \le \alpha (P + S) - \theta M$$

We have

$$M(x,t) \le \frac{\alpha(P+S)}{\theta} + \left( \left\| M_0(X) \right\|_{\infty} - \frac{\alpha(P+S)}{\theta} \right) e^{-\mu t}$$

If  $t \to \infty$ , we get

$$M(x,t) \le \max\left\{\frac{\alpha\psi}{\theta\mu}, \left\|M_0(X)\right\|_{\infty}\right\}$$

Thus the proof is complete.

#### 6. Stability analysis of system (26)

In this section, the local and global stabilities of the equilibrium points of diffusion system (26) are discussed. It is easy to verify that the equilibrium points of diffusion system (26) and those of system (2) are the same. Then the stability analysis for each of them can be study as in the following theorems

Theorem 9: The SFEP of diffusion system (26) is LAS if the following sufficient conditions hold

$$\beta P_0 < \mu + \gamma M_0 + k D_2 \tag{29a}$$

$$(\mu + \delta + kD_3)\beta P_0 + e\gamma\varepsilon\delta M_0 < (\mu + \delta + kD_3)(\mu + \gamma M_0 + kD_2)$$
(29b)

Proof: The Jacobian matrix of system (26) at the SFEP is given by

$$J(E_0) = \begin{pmatrix} b_{11} - kD_1 & b_{12} & 0 & b_{14} \\ 0 & b_{22} - kD_2 & b_{23} & 0 \\ 0 & b_{32} & b_{33} - kD_3 & 0 \\ b_{41} & b_{42} & 0 & b_{44} - kD_5 \end{pmatrix}$$
(30a)

where  $b_{ij}$ ; i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4 are given by Eq. (12). Then the characteristic equation can be written as

$$\lambda^4 + \tilde{B}_1 \lambda^3 + \tilde{B}_2 \lambda^2 + \tilde{B}_3 \lambda + \tilde{B}_4 = 0$$
(30b)

Such that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{B}_1 &= -\left[\tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33} + \tilde{b}_{44}\right] \\ \tilde{B}_2 &= \tilde{b}_{11} \left(\tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33}\right) + \tilde{b}_{11} \tilde{b}_{44} - b_{14} b_{41} + \tilde{b}_{22} \tilde{b}_{33} - b_{23} b_{32} + \tilde{b}_{44} \left(\tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33}\right) \\ \tilde{B}_3 &= -\left[\left(\tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{44}\right) \left(\tilde{b}_{22} \tilde{b}_{33} - b_{23} b_{32}\right) + \left(\tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33}\right) \left(\tilde{b}_{11} \tilde{b}_{44} - b_{14} b_{41}\right)\right] \\ \tilde{B}_4 &= \left(\tilde{b}_{22} \tilde{b}_{33} - b_{23} b_{32}\right) \left(\tilde{b}_{11} \tilde{b}_{44} - b_{14} b_{41}\right) \end{split}$$

As well

$$\begin{split} \tilde{B}_1 \tilde{B}_2 - \tilde{B}_3 &= -(\tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{44})(\tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33})(\tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{22}) \\ &- (\tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{44})(\tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33})(\tilde{b}_{33} + \tilde{b}_{44}) \\ &- (\tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{44})(\tilde{b}_{11}\tilde{b}_{44} - b_{14}b_{41}) \\ &- (\tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33})(\tilde{b}_{22}\tilde{b}_{33} - b_{23}b_{32}) \end{split}$$

while  $\Delta = \tilde{B}_3(\tilde{B}_1\tilde{B}_2 - \tilde{B}_3) - \tilde{B}_1^2\tilde{B}_4$  can be written as

$$\begin{split} \Delta &= -\tilde{B}_1 \big( \tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{44} \big)^2 \big( \tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33} \big) \big( \tilde{b}_{22} \tilde{b}_{33} - b_{23} b_{32} \big) \\ &- \tilde{B}_1 \big( \tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{44} \big) \big( \tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33} \big)^2 \big( \tilde{b}_{11} \tilde{b}_{44} - b_{14} b_{41} \big) \\ &+ (\tilde{b}_{11} + \tilde{b}_{44}) \big( \tilde{b}_{22} + \tilde{b}_{33} \big) \big[ \big( \tilde{b}_{22} \tilde{b}_{33} - b_{23} b_{32} \big) - \big( \tilde{b}_{11} \tilde{b}_{44} - b_{14} b_{41} \big) \big]^2 \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{b}_{11} &= -(\mu + \gamma M_0 + kD_1) ; \quad \tilde{b}_{22} &= (\beta P_0 - \mu - \gamma M_0 - kD_2) \\ \\ \tilde{b}_{33} &= -(\mu + \delta + kD_3) ; \quad \tilde{b}_{44} &= -(\theta + kD_5) \end{split}$$

Note that, all the Routh-Hurwitz conditions that guarantee the LAS of the *SFEP* of system (26) are satisfied provided that the conditions (29a)-(29b) hold.

**Theorem 10:** The *FTQSEP* of diffusion system (26) is LAS if in addition to condition (14b) the following sufficient conditions hold

$$\beta P_1 < (\mu + \gamma M_1 + kD_2) \tag{31a}$$

$$\alpha\gamma S_1 < \alpha\sigma\gamma P_1 + (\theta + kD_5)\beta S_1 + (\theta + kD_5)\sigma\gamma M_1$$
(31b)

$$\alpha \sigma \gamma P_{1}[\beta P_{1} + \gamma M_{1}] < 2(\theta + kD_{5})(\beta S_{1} + \mu + \gamma M_{1} + kD_{1}) \times [(\mu + \gamma M_{1} + kD_{2}) - \beta P_{1}]$$
(31c)

**Proof:** The Jacobian matrix of system (26) at *FTQSEP* can be written:

$$J(E_1) = \begin{pmatrix} c_{11} - kD_1 & c_{12} & 0 & c_{14} \\ c_{21} & c_{22} - kD_2 & c_{23} & c_{24} \\ 0 & 0 & c_{33} - kD_3 & 0 \\ c_{41} & c_{42} & 0 & c_{44} - kD_5 \end{pmatrix}$$
(32a)

where  $c_{ij}$ ; i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4 are given in Eq. (15). Hence, the characteristic equation can be written as

$$(\hat{c}_{33} - \lambda)(\lambda^3 + \hat{C}_1\lambda^2 + \hat{C}_2\lambda + \hat{C}_4) = 0$$
(32b)

here the eigenvalue in the *Q* –direction is given by  $\lambda_Q = -(\mu + \delta + kD_3) < 0$ , while the other three eigenvalues are the roots of the third degree polynomial, where

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{C}_1 &= -[\hat{c}_{11} + \hat{c}_{22} + \hat{c}_{44}] \\ \hat{C}_2 &= \hat{c}_{11}\hat{c}_{22} - c_{12}c_{21} + \hat{c}_{11}\hat{c}_{44} - c_{14}c_{41} + \hat{c}_{22}\hat{c}_{44} - c_{24}c_{42} \end{aligned}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}_3 = -[\hat{c}_{11}(\hat{c}_{22}\hat{c}_{44} - c_{24}c_{42}) + c_{12}(c_{24}c_{41} - c_{21}\hat{c}_{44}) + c_{14}(c_{21}c_{42} - \hat{c}_{22}c_{41})]$$

with

$$\hat{C}_1 \hat{C}_2 - \hat{C}_3 = -(\hat{c}_{11} + \hat{c}_{22})[\hat{c}_{11}\hat{c}_{22} - c_{12}c_{21}] - (\hat{c}_{11} + \hat{c}_{44})[\hat{c}_{11}\hat{c}_{44} - c_{14}c_{41}] - (\hat{c}_{22} + \hat{c}_{44})[\hat{c}_{22}\hat{c}_{44} - c_{24}c_{42}] - 2\hat{c}_{11}\hat{c}_{22}\hat{c}_{44} + c_{12}c_{24}c_{41} + c_{14}c_{21}c_{42}$$

here

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{c}_{11} &= -(\beta S_1 + \mu + \gamma M_1 + kD_1) ; \quad \hat{c}_{22} &= (\beta P_1 - \mu - \gamma M_1 - kD_2) \\ \hat{c}_{33} &= -(\mu + \delta + kD_3) ; \quad \hat{c}_{44} &= -(\theta + kD_5) \end{aligned}$$

Note that, it is easy to verify that all the Routh-Hurwitz conditions that guarantee the LAS of the *FTQSEP* of system (26) are satisfied provided that the conditions (31a)-(31c) and (14b) hold.

**Theorem 11:** The *EEP* of diffusion system (26) is LAS if in addition to condition (17b) the following sufficient conditions hold

$$\beta P_2 < \mu + \gamma M_2 + k D_2 \tag{33a}$$

$$\beta(\mu + \delta + kD_3)P_2 + \varepsilon \delta e \gamma M_2 < (\mu + \gamma M_2 + kD_2)(\mu + \delta + kD_3)$$
(33b)

$$P_2(\beta S_2 + \sigma \gamma M_2) + \varepsilon e \delta S_2 < \gamma P_2(\beta S_2 + \mu + \gamma M_2 + kD_1 + \theta + kD_5)$$
(33c)

**Proof:** The Jacobian matrix of system (26) at *EEP* can be written:

$$J(E_2) = \begin{pmatrix} z_{11} - kD_1 & z_{12} & 0 & z_{14} \\ z_{21} & z_{22} - kD_2 & z_{23} & z_{24} \\ 0 & z_{32} & z_{33} - kD_3 & z_{34} \\ z_{41} & z_{42} & 0 & z_{44} - kD_5 \end{pmatrix}$$
(34a)

where  $z_{ij}$ ; i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4 are given in Eq. (18). So the characteristic equation can be written as

$$\lambda^{4} + \hat{Z}_{1}\lambda^{3} + \hat{Z}_{2}\lambda^{2} + \hat{Z}_{3}\lambda + \hat{Z}_{4} = 0$$
(34b)

where

$$\begin{split} \hat{Z}_{1} &= -[\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{44}] \\ \hat{Z}_{2} &= \hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{22} - z_{12}z_{21} + \hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{44} - z_{14}z_{41} + \hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{33} - z_{23}z_{32} \\ &\quad + \hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{44} - z_{24}z_{42} + \hat{z}_{33}\hat{z}_{44} \end{split}$$

$$\hat{Z}_{3} &= -[(\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{44})(\hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + (\hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33})(\hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{44} - z_{14}z_{41}) \\ &\quad - z_{12}z_{21}(\hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{44}) - \hat{z}_{33}z_{24}z_{42} - z_{24}(\hat{z}_{11}z_{42} - z_{12}z_{41}) \\ &\quad + z_{42}(z_{14}z_{21} - z_{23}z_{34})] \end{split}$$

$$\hat{Z}_4 = (\hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{44} - z_{14}z_{41})(\hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + (\hat{z}_{11}z_{42} - z_{12}z_{41})(z_{23}z_{34} - z_{24}\hat{z}_{33}) -z_{21}\hat{z}_{33}(z_{12}\hat{z}_{44} - z_{14}z_{42})$$

Moreover, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{Z}_1 \hat{Z}_2 - \hat{Z}_3 &= -(\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{22})(\hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{22} - z_{12}z_{21}) - \hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{33}(\hat{z}_{11} + 2\hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33}) \\ &- \hat{z}_{44}(\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{44})(\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33}) + z_{12}z_{24}z_{41} \\ &- (\hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33})(\hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + z_{14}z_{41}(\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{44}) \\ &+ z_{24}z_{41}(\hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{44}) + z_{42}(z_{14}z_{21} - z_{23}z_{34}) \end{aligned}$$

and  $\Delta = \hat{Z}_3(\hat{Z}_1\hat{Z}_2 - \hat{Z}_3) - \hat{Z}_1^2\hat{Z}_4$  can be written as:  $\Delta = \hat{X}_1(\hat{X}_2 + \hat{X}_1) + \hat{X}_3$ 

here

$$\begin{split} \hat{X}_{1} &= (\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{44})(\hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) + (\hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33})(\hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{44} - z_{14}z_{41}) \\ &\quad -z_{12}z_{21}(\hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{44}) + z_{24}z_{42}(\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{33}) + z_{12}z_{24}z_{41} + z_{42}(z_{14}z_{21} - z_{23}z_{34}) \\ \hat{X}_{2} &= (\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{44})[\hat{z}_{11}(\hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{44}) - z_{12}z_{21} - z_{14}z_{41} \\ &\quad + \hat{z}_{44}(\hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33}) - z_{24}z_{42} + \hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}] \\ \hat{X}_{3} &= (\hat{z}_{11} + \hat{z}_{22} + \hat{z}_{33} + \hat{z}_{44})^{2}[(\hat{z}_{11}\hat{z}_{44} - z_{14}z_{41})(\hat{z}_{22}\hat{z}_{33} - z_{23}z_{32}) \\ &\quad + (\hat{z}_{11}z_{42} - z_{12}z_{41})(z_{23}z_{34} - \hat{z}_{33}z_{24}) - \hat{z}_{33}z_{21}(\hat{z}_{44}z_{12} - z_{14}z_{42})] \end{split}$$

Such that

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{z}_{11} &= -(\beta S_2 + \mu + \gamma M_2 + kD_1) \quad ; \quad \hat{z}_{22} &= (\beta P_2 - \mu - \gamma M_2 - kD_2) \\ \hat{z}_{33} &= -(\mu + \delta + kD_3) \quad ; \quad \hat{z}_{44} &= -(\theta + kD_5) \end{aligned}$$

Again by using Routh-Hurwitz criterion, we get that the *EEP* is LAS if the sufficient conditions (33a)-(33c) with (17b) hold.

Note that, according to the above theorems it's clear that, the equilibrium points of diffusion system (26) are always LAS if they are stable in system (2), that is mean without diffusion, but the converse is not necessarily true.

Next, in following theorems the globally asymptotically stability (GAS) of diffusion system (26) at *SFEP*, *FTQSEP* and *EEP* is carried out using the method described in [19].

**Theorem 12:** Assume that the *SFEP* of the diffusion system (26) is LAS, then it is GAS if the conditions (20a)-(20b) hold

**Proof:** Consider the following candidate Lyapunov function with u(x, t) is a solution of diffusion system (26)

$$W_{1} = \int_{\Omega} V(u(x,t)) dx \tag{35}$$

where V(u) is a continuously differentiable function defined on some  $\mathbb{R}^4_+$ . Then the time derivative of  $W_1$  along the positive solution of system (26) is written as

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt} = \int_{\Omega} \nabla V(u) \cdot (f(u) + D\Delta u) dx$$

where f(u) is the vector field that given in right hand side of system (26) without diffusion, while  $D\Delta u$  is the diffusion term with  $D = (D_1, D_2, D_3, D_5)$  and  $D_i \ge 0$ . Therefore, we obtain that

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt} = \int_{\Omega} \nabla V(u) \cdot f(u) \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \nabla V(u) \cdot D\Delta u \, dx$$

which gives

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt} = \int_{\Omega} \nabla V(u) \cdot f(u) \, dx + \sum_{i=1}^{4} D_i \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i} \, \Delta u_i \, dx \tag{36}$$

Assume that, the integrand of the first term in Eq. (36) is already calculated as that for the system (2) given by theorem (4). However, the second term is simplified by using Green's formula, and we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i} \Delta u_i \, dx = \int_{\partial \Omega} \frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i} \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial \eta} \, d\upsilon - \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \, \cdot \nabla \left( \frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i} \right) \, dx \tag{37}$$

Since  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \eta} = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . Therefore, Eq. (37) becomes

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i} \Delta u_i \, dx = -\int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \, \cdot \nabla \left( \frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i} \right) dx \tag{38}$$

Accordingly, by using Eq. (38) in Eq. (36), it's obtain that

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt} = \int_{\Omega} \nabla V(u) \cdot f(u) \, dx - \sum_{i=1}^{4} D_i \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla \left(\frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i}\right) \, dx \tag{39}$$

Therefore, in order to construct the function V we should have

$$D_{i} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{i} \cdot \nabla \left(\frac{\partial V}{\partial u_{i}}\right) dx \ge 0, \text{ for all } i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$

$$\tag{40}$$

Now by using the function  $V \equiv V_1$ , that given in theorem (4)

$$V = \left(P - P_0 - P_0 \ln \frac{P}{P_0}\right) + S + Q + \left(M - M_0 - M_0 \ln \frac{M}{M_0}\right)$$

Hence, in this case we have that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u_i \cdot \nabla \left( \frac{\partial V}{\partial u_i} \right) dx = \int_{\Omega} \left[ P_0 \frac{\left| \nabla P \right|^2}{P^2} + M_0 \frac{\left| \nabla M \right|^2}{M^2} \right] \ge 0$$

Consequently, we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dW_1}{dt} &= -\left(\frac{\mu + \gamma M}{P}\right) (P - P_0)^2 + \left(\frac{\alpha P - \gamma P_0 M}{PM}\right) (P - P_0) (M - M_0) \\ &- \frac{\theta}{M} (M - M_0)^2 - [\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta] Q - \gamma (1 - \varepsilon)\gamma SM \\ &- [\mu - (\alpha + \beta P_0)] S - \frac{\alpha M_0}{M} S - D \int_{\Omega} \left[ P_0 \frac{|\nabla P|^2}{P^2} + M_0 \frac{|\nabla M|^2}{M^2} \right] dx \end{aligned}$$

where  $D = \min\{D_1, D_5\}$ . Therefore by using the conditions (20a)-(20b), it's observed that

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt} < -\left[\sqrt{\frac{\mu + \gamma M}{P}} \left(P - P_0\right) - \sqrt{\frac{\theta}{M}} \left(M - M_0\right)\right]^2 - \left[\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta\right]Q$$
$$-\gamma(1 - e)\gamma SM - \left[\mu - (\alpha + \beta P_0)\right]S - \frac{\alpha M_0}{M}S$$
$$-D\int_{\Omega} \left[P_0 \frac{|\nabla P|^2}{P^2} + M_0 \frac{|\nabla M|^2}{M^2}\right]dx$$

Obviously,  $W_1' = 0$  at  $E_0 = (P_0, 0, 0, M_0)$ , moreover  $W_1' < 0$  otherwise. Hence  $W_1'$  is negative definite and then the solution starting from any initial point satisfy the above conditions will approaches asymptotically to *SFEP*. Hence the proof is complete.

**Theorem 13:** Assume that the *FTQSEP* of the diffusion system (26) is LAS, then it is GAS if the conditions (21a)-(21d) hold

**Proof:** Similarly as in proof of theorem (12), we consider the following candidate Lyapunov function with u(x, t) be a solution of diffusion system (26).

$$W_2 = \int_{\Omega} V_2(u(x,t)) dx \tag{41}$$

with the function  $V_2$  that given in theorem (5). Therefore, direct computation gives that

$$\begin{split} W_{2}' &= -\left(\frac{\beta S_{1} + \mu P + \gamma M}{2P}\right)(P - P_{1})^{2} - \left(\frac{\sigma \gamma M}{S}\right)(P - P_{1})(S - S_{1}) \\ &- \left(\frac{\gamma M_{1} + \mu - \beta P_{1}}{2S}\right)(S - S_{1})^{2} - \left(\frac{\beta S_{1} + \mu P + \gamma M}{2P}\right)(P - P_{1})^{2} \\ &+ \left(\frac{\alpha}{M} - \frac{\gamma P_{1}}{P}\right)(P - P_{1})(M - M_{1}) - \frac{\theta}{2M}(M - M_{1})^{2} \\ &- \left(\frac{\gamma M_{1} + \mu - \beta P_{1}}{2S}\right)(S - S_{1})^{2} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{M} - \frac{\gamma P_{1}}{S} - \gamma\right)(S - S_{1})(M - M_{1}) \\ &- \frac{\theta}{2M}(M - M_{1})^{2} - (\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta)Q - \frac{\varepsilon \delta S_{1}Q}{S} \\ &- D \int_{\Omega} \left[P_{1}\frac{|\nabla P|^{2}}{P^{2}} + S_{1}\frac{|\nabla S|^{2}}{S^{2}} + M_{1}\frac{|\nabla M|^{2}}{M^{2}}\right] dx \end{split}$$

where  $D = \min\{D_1, D_2, D_5\}$ . Therefore by using the conditions (21a)-(21d), it's observed that

$$\begin{split} W_{2}' &< -\left[\sqrt{\frac{x_{11}}{2}} \left(P - P_{1}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{x_{22}}{2}} \left(S - S_{1}\right)\right]^{2} - \left[\sqrt{\frac{x_{11}}{2}} \left(P - P_{1}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{x_{44}}{2}} \left(M - M_{1}\right)\right]^{2} \\ &- \left[\sqrt{\frac{x_{22}}{2}} \left(S - S_{1}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{x_{44}}{2}} \left(M - M_{1}\right)\right]^{2} - \left(\mu + (1 - \varepsilon)\delta\right)Q - \frac{\varepsilon\delta S_{1}Q}{S} \\ &- D\int_{\Omega} \left[P_{1}\frac{|\nabla P|^{2}}{P^{2}} + S_{1}\frac{|\nabla S|^{2}}{S^{2}} + M_{1}\frac{|\nabla M|^{2}}{M^{2}}\right]dx \end{split}$$

where  $x_{11}$ ,  $x_{22}$  and  $x_{44}$  are given theorem (5). Obviously,  $W_2' = 0$  at  $E_1 = (P_1, S_1, 0, M_1)$ , moreover  $W_2' < 0$  otherwise. Hence  $W_2'$  is negative definite and then the solution starting from any initial point satisfy the above conditions will approaches asymptotically to *FTQSEP*. Hence the proof is complete.

**Theorem 14:** Assume that the *EEP* of the diffusion system (26) is LAS, then it is GAS if the conditions (22a)-(22f) hold

**Proof:** Consider the following candidate Lyapunov function with u(x, t) be a solution of diffusion system (26).

$$W_3 = \int_{\Omega} V_3(u(x,t)) dx \tag{42}$$

with the function  $V_3$  that given in theorem (6). Therefore, direct computation gives that

$$\begin{split} W_{3}' &= -\frac{(\beta S + \beta P_{2} + \mu)}{2} (P - P_{2})^{2} + (\sigma \gamma M + \beta S - \beta P_{2})(P - P_{2})(S - S_{2}) \\ &- \frac{(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_{2})}{3} (S - S_{2})^{2} - \frac{(\beta S + \beta P_{2} + \mu)}{2} (P - P_{2})^{2} \\ &+ (\alpha - \gamma P_{2})(P - P_{2})(M - M_{2}) - \frac{\theta}{3}(M - M_{2})^{2} \\ &- \frac{(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_{2})}{3} (S - S_{2})^{2} + (\varepsilon \delta + e\gamma M)(S - S_{2})(Q - Q_{2}) \\ &- \frac{(\mu + \delta)}{2} (Q - Q_{2})^{2} - \frac{(\gamma M + \mu - \beta P_{2})}{3} (S - S_{2})^{2} \\ &+ (\alpha + \sigma \gamma P_{2} - \gamma S_{2})(S - S_{2})(M - M_{2}) - \frac{\theta}{3}(M - M_{2})^{2} \\ &- \frac{(\mu + \delta)}{2} (Q - Q_{2})^{2} + e\gamma S_{2}(Q - Q_{2})(M - M_{2}) - \frac{\theta}{3}(M - M_{2})^{2} \\ &- D \int_{\Omega} \left[ P_{2} \frac{|\nabla P|^{2}}{P^{2}} + S_{2} \frac{|\nabla S|^{2}}{S^{2}} + Q_{2} \frac{|\nabla Q|^{2}}{Q^{2}} + M_{2} \frac{|\nabla M|^{2}}{M^{2}} \right] dx \end{split}$$

where  $D = \min\{D_1, D_2, D_3, D_5\}$ . Therefore by using the conditions (22a)-(22f), it's observed that

$$\begin{split} W_{3}' &= -\left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{11}}{2}}(P - P_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{3}}(S - S_{2})\right]^{2} - \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{11}}{2}}(P - P_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{44}}{3}}(M - M_{2})\right]^{2} \\ &- \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{3}}(S - S_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{33}}{2}}(Q - Q_{2})\right]^{2} - \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{3}}(S - S_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{44}}{3}}(M - M_{2})\right]^{2} \\ &- \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{33}}{2}}(Q - Q_{2}) - \sqrt{\frac{q_{44}}{3}}(M - M_{2})\right]^{2} \\ &- D\int_{\Omega} \left[P_{2}\frac{|\nabla P|^{2}}{P^{2}} + S_{2}\frac{|\nabla S|^{2}}{S^{2}} + Q_{2}\frac{|\nabla Q|^{2}}{Q^{2}} + M_{2}\frac{|\nabla M|^{2}}{M^{2}}\right]dx \end{split}$$

here  $q_{11}$ ;  $q_{22}$ ;  $q_{33}$ ; and  $q_{44}$  are given in theorem (6). Obviously,  $W_3' = 0$  at  $E_2 = (P_2, S_2, Q_2, M_2)$ , moreover  $W_3' < 0$  otherwise. Hence  $W_3'$  is negative definite and then the solution starting from any initial point satisfy the above conditions will approaches asymptotically to *EEP*. Hence the proof is complete.

#### 8. Numerical simulation of systems (1)

In a bid to check our computation, some numerical simulations are carried out. The objective is to understand the global dynamics if system (1) and then study the effects of varying the parameters values. For the following set of hypothetical values of the parameters with different initial conditions the dynamical behavior of system (1) is investigated using the following sets of initial conditions (0.7, 0.9, 0.6, 0.5, 0.5), (1, 2, 3, 1, 4) and (3, 0.5, 5, 3, 1) respectively. The obtained trajectories are drawn in Fig. (1) below.

$$\psi = 3, \ \beta = 0.03, \ \mu = 0.1, \ \gamma = 0.1, \ \sigma = 0, \ \varepsilon = 0.03, \ e = 0.1$$
  
$$\delta = 0.1, \ \alpha = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.02$$
(43)



**Fig. 1:** The trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to a globally stable SFEP given by  $E_0 = (3.2,0,0,26.7,8.1)$ . (a) Trajectory of P(t), (b) Trajectory of S(t), (c) Trajectory of Q(t), (d) Trajectory of R(t), (e) Trajectory of M(t).

Clearly, as shown in Fig. (1), system (1) has a globally asymptotically stable *SFEP* for the data (43). Now, for the following set of hypothetical parameters values with the same initial sets of values used in Fig. (1), the trajectories of system (1) are drawn in Fig. (2) below.

$$\psi = 3, \ \beta = 0.3, \ \mu = 0.1, \ \gamma = 0.1, \ \sigma = 0.1, \ \varepsilon = 0.03, \ e = 0.1$$
  
$$\delta = 0.1, \ \alpha = 0.05, \ \theta = 0.02$$
(44)



**Fig. 2:** The trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to a globally stable EEP given by  $E_2 = (2.4, 0.95, 0.6, 25.9, 8.4)$ . (a) Trajectory of P(t), (b) Trajectory of S(t), (c) Trajectory of Q(t), (d) Trajectory of R(t), (e) Trajectory of M(t).

Now, we used the same set of hypothetical parameters values in Eq. (44) with e = 0, and the same initial sets of values used in Fig. (1), then system (1) has a globally asymptotically stable *FTQSEP*, hence the trajectories of system (1) are drawn in Fig. (3) below.



**Fig. 3:** The trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to a globally stable FTQSEP given by  $E_1 = (2.4, 0.95, 0, 26.6, 8.4)$ . (a) Trajectory of P(t), (b) Trajectory of S(t), (c) Trajectory of Q(t), (d) Trajectory of R(t), (e) Trajectory of M(t).

Now, for the data set (44) with different values of contact rate  $\beta$  given by the parameters values  $\beta = 0.3, 0.5, 0.0001$  respectively, system (1) is solved numerically and the obtained trajectories are drawn in Fig. (4) below.



Fig. (4): Time series of the trajectory of system (1) for the data (44) with different values of contact rate. (a) Trajectory of system (1) for  $\beta = 0.3$ , (b) Trajectory of system (1) for  $\beta = 0.5$ , (c) Trajectory of system (1) for  $\beta = 0.0001$ .

According to Fig. (4), as the contact rate between the potential smoker individuals and smoker individuals increases, then the trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to the (*EEP*) point as shown in the typical figure given by Fig. (4). In fact as  $\beta$  increases, it is observed that the populations of smoker, quit smoker and media coverage increase while the populations of potential smokers and recovered decrease. On the other hand, as the contact rate  $\beta$  decreases then the trajectory of system (1) still approaches asymptotically to the (*EEP*) but with opposite size of populations.

Now, for the data (44) with awareness level given by  $\gamma = 0.2$  and different values of response to media coverage from the potential smoker individuals such that  $1 - \sigma = 0.99999$ , 0.8, 0 respectively, system (1) is solved numerically and the obtained trajectories are drawn in Fig. (5) below.



**Fig. (5):** Time series of the trajectory of system (1) for the data (44) with  $\gamma = 0.2$  and different values of response rate to the media coverage. (a) Trajectory of system (1) for  $1 - \sigma = 0.99999$ , (b) Trajectory of system (1) for  $1 - \sigma = 0.8$ , (c) Trajectory of system (1) for  $1 - \sigma = 0$ .

Clearly, as shown in Fig. (5), increase the efficiency rate of the media coverage makes the trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to the (*SFEP*) gradually and vice versa.

Similarly, for the data (44) with awareness level given by  $\gamma = 0.2$  and different values of response to media coverage from the smoker individuals such that 1 - e = 1, 0.5, 0 respectively, system (1) is solved numerically and the obtained trajectories are drawn in Fig. (6) below.



**Fig. (6):** Time series of the trajectory of system (1) for the data (44) with  $\gamma = 0.2$  and different values of response rate of smoker individuals to the media coverage. (a) Trajectory of system (1) for 1 - e = 1, (b) Trajectory of system (1) for 1 - e = 0.5, (c) Trajectory of system (1) for 1 - e = 0.

Clearly, as shown in Fig. (6), increase the efficiency rate of the media coverage on the smoker individuals makes the trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to the (*FTQSEP*) gradually and vice versa.

#### 9. Discussion

In this paper, a mathematical model has been studied and analyzed to study the effect of a warning by media on the dynamical behavior of smoking epidemic model. The existence and the stability analysis of all possible equilibrium points are studied analytically as well as numerically. Finally according to the numerically simulation the following results are obtained:

- 1. As the contact rate between the individuals of potential smokers and smokers increase the trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to the (*EEP*).
- 2. As the response to the media coverage from the potential smokers increases then the trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to the (*SFEP*). Otherwise the trajectory still approaches asymptotically to (*EEP*).
- 3. As the response to the media coverage from the smokers increases then the trajectory of system (1) approaches asymptotically to the (*SFEP*). Otherwise the trajectory still approaches asymptotically to (*EEP*).

4. The stability of the smoking system in presence of diffusion follows if the smoking system without diffusion is stable, but the converse is not necessarily true.

#### References

- [1] J. E. Harris, 1996, Smoking and Tobacco Control Monograph, Chapter 5, pp. 59-75.
- [2] M. M. Bassiony, 2009, "Smoking in Saudi Arabia," Saudi Medical Journal, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 876–881.
- [3] P. Tonnesen, L. Carrozzi, C. Jimenez et al., 2007, Smoking cessation in patients with respiratory diseases a high priority integral component of therapy, Eur. Respir J., 29: 390-417. <u>https://DOI:10.1183/0903 1936.00060806</u>.
- [4] C. Castillo-Garsow, G. Jordan-Salivia, and A. R. Herrera, 1997, "Mathematical models for the dynamics of tobacco use, recovery, and relapse," Technical Report Series BU-1505-M, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA.
- [5] Lahrouz, L. Omari, D. Kiouach, A. Belmaati, 2011, Deterministic and stochastic stability of a mathematical model of smoking. J. Statistics and Probability Letters.
- [6] A. A. Al-shareef and H. A. Batarfi, 2020, Stability Analysis of chain, mild and passive smoking model, American J. of Comp. Math., 10, 31-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/ajcm.2020.101003</u>.
- [7] O. Sharomi, A.B. Gumel, 2008, Curtailing smoking dynamics a mathematical modeling approach, J. Applied Math., and Comp., 195, 475-499.
- [8] G. Zaman, 2011, Optimal Campaign in the Smoking Dynamics, J., Hindawi Publishing Corp., Comp., and Math., Meth., in Med., ID 163834, pp 9.
- [9] G. Zaman, 2011, "Qualitative behavior of giving up smoking models," Bulletin of the Malaysian Mathematical Sciences Society, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 403–415.
- [10] V. S. Ert"urk, G. Zaman, and S. Momani, 2012, "A numeric-analytic method for approximating a giving up smoking model containing fractional derivatives," Computers & Mathematics with Applications, vol. 64, no. 10, pp. 3065–3074.
- [11] Zainab Alkhudhari, Sarah Al-Sheikh, and Salma Al-Tuwairqi, 2014, Global Dynamics of a Mathematical Model on Smoking, Hindawi journal, , Article ID 847075. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/847075</u>.

- [12] K. Misra, A. Sharma, J. B. Shukla, 2011, Modeling and analysis of effects of awareness programs by media on the spread of infectious diseases, Math. Comput. Model. 53, 1221–1228.
- [13] R. J. Smith, J. M. Tchuenche, N. Dube, C. P. Bhunu, C. T. Bauch, 2011, The impact of media coverage on the transmission dynamics of human influenza, BMC Public Health 11.
- [14] J. Cui, H. Zhu, 2008, The impact of media on the spreading and control of infectious disease, J. Dyn. Differ. Equations, 20(1):31-53.
- [15] M. Lotfi, M. Maziane, K. Hattaf and N. yousf, 2014, Partial differential equations of an epidemic model with diffusion, Hindawi journal, , Article ID 186437. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/186437</u>.
- [16] K. Hattaf, A. A. Lashari, Y. Louartassi, and N. Yousfi, 2013, "A delayed SIR epidemic model with general incidence rate," Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations, vol. 3, pp. 1–9.
- [17] S. Chinviriyasit and W. Chinviriyasit, 2010, Numerical modeling of an SIR epidemic model with diffusion, journal of applied mathematics and computation, 216, 395-409.
- [18] R. Peng and F. Yi, 2013, Asymptotic profile of the positive steady state for an SIS epidemic model reaction-diffusion model effects of epidemic risk and population movement, Physica D journal, 259, pp. 8-25.
- [19] K. Hattaf and N. Yousfi, 2013, "Global stability for reaction-diffusion equations in biology," Computers and Mathematics with Applications, vol. 66, pp. 1488–1497.

# Trigonometric Neural Networks *L<sub>p</sub>*, p<1 Approximation

Eman Samir Bhaya, and Zaineb Hussain Abd Al-sadaa University of Babylon, College of education for pure sciences, Mathematics Department e-mail: emanbhaya@itnet.uobabylon.edu.iq

**Abstract.** Many researchers studied the approximation by neural networks approximation. However only using first or second modulus, that is with low speed approaching zero. Here we define a neural network. Then we use it to approximate functions from  $L_{p}$ -quasi normed spaces we prove upper and lower bounds trigonometric neural networks estimations using the modulus of smoothness of order k.

المستخلص. درس العديد من الباحثين النقريب باستخدام الشبكات العصبية، لكن باستخدام مقياس النعومة من الدرجة الأولى او الثانية و للدوال المستمرة فقط، و بالتالي سيكون الاقتراب الى الصفر بطيئ جدا. في هذا البحث قمنا بتعريف عائلة من الشبكات العصبية و استخدمناها لتقريب الدوال المثلثي في الفضاءات L<sub>p</sub> عندما 0<p<1 . برهنا نظريات مباشرة و عكسية حول التقريب المثلثي باستخدام الشبكات العصبية و بدلالة مقياس النعومة من الرتبة k مما يجعل الاقتراب سريعا جدا نحو الصفر و ليس للدوال المستمرة فقط و انما لجميع الدوال في الفضاءات Lp

## 1. Introduction

In the recent years, the approximation using neural networks have many good applications. Many results on the density of the FNNs on the space of continuous functions or on the space of integrable functions are introduced see for example [7], [11], [10], [18], [6] and [4]. In these references we can read the result that for any continuous function f of multivariable defined on a compact subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  we can find a FNN of one hidden layer as best approximation for f of the form

$$N(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} c_i \sigma_i (\sum_{j=1}^{d} w_{ij} x_j + \theta_i), x \in \mathbb{R}^d, d \ge 1,$$
(1.1)

where i = 1, 2, ..., d,  $\theta_i$  is a real threshold,  $w_i = (w_{i1}, w_{i2}, ..., w_{is})^T \in \mathbb{R}^d$  is the weight that connect the neuron of index *i* of the hidden layer and the neuron that we input it.,  $c_i$  is a real constant that connect the weight and the neuron that it output. and  $\sigma_i(.)$  is the activation function of the neural network. In the above formula the *d* is very important: it draw the topology of the hidden layer of the neural network. In many of the approximation studied of the neural network is very difficult to specify the number d, and it is sufficient to say it is existing and large. [8] We can see many kinds of forward neural networks; all these kinds are different. They are same by: Its input nodes and the links connecting them. We input these nodes then we make processing on them to get the outputs.

The approximation by neural network attracted attentions, especially in the recent years. See for example [1], [13], [16], [14], [5], [3] and [17]. In all studies above the authors study the degree of best neural approximation using modules of smoothness of order 1. The estimation in the above references cannot characterize the ability of the neural network in general. So in this section we will study the order of essential approximation on a special class of neural using trigonometric hidden layer in terms of the  $k^{th}$  order modulus of smoothness. We shall use upper and lower bound estimation of neural approximation. After upper and lower bounded, estimation we can write the order of essential neural approximation, and using  $k^{th}$  order modulus of smoothness for measuring the approximation, and using  $k^{th}$  order modulus of smoothness for measuring the approximation order. We clear that there is a relationship between the speed of approximation and the number of hidden units.

### 2. Some Definitions and Notation

If N is the naturals, and R is the reals. Let  $N_0$  be the naturals with the zero number and 0 is the zero vector,  $1_i = (0, 0, ..., 1^{ith}, 0, ..., 0) \in N_0^d$ . Let  $|r| = \sum_{i=1}^d |r_i|$  for  $r = (r_1, r_2, ..., r_d) \in N_0^d$ ,  $||t|| = (\sum_{i=1}^d t_i^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  for  $t = (t_1, t_2, ..., t_d) \in R^d$ , and  $rt = \sum_{i=1}^d r_i t_i$ . Let  $f \in L_{2\pi}^p$ ,  $0 . Write <math>C_{2\pi}$  the space of the continuous functions with  $2\pi$ periodic with respect to the variable in  $R^d$ . If  $f \in L_{2\pi}^p$ , 0 , its quasi norm.

Define the symmetric difference of degree r for the function f as

$$\Delta_h^{(r)} f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^r \binom{r}{i} (-1)^i f(x + \left(\frac{r}{2} - i\right)h).$$

Using  $\Delta_h^r f(.)$ , we define the modulus of smoothness of order *r* as:

$$\omega_r(f,t)_p = \sup_{0 < \|h\| \le t} \|\Delta_h^{(r)} f(.)\|_p.$$
(2.1)

where

$$\|f\|_{p} = (\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |f(x)|^{p})^{1/p}.$$

We say that the function *f* belongs to Lipishtz space of order greater than  $r, r \in N$ , . Write  $f \in Lip(\alpha)_r$ , if  $\omega_r(f, t)_p = O(t^{\alpha})$ , with an  $\alpha \in (0, r]$ . Modulus of smoothness is a measurement of smoothness. The modulus of smoothness of many variables is an improvement of the modulus of smoothness of one variable. Let us list some properties of the modulus of smoothness. For  $f \in L^p_{2\pi}$ , 0 , we have

$$(1)\lim_{\delta\to 0}\omega_r(f,\delta,J)_p=0$$

 $(2)\omega_r(f,\delta,J)_r$  is nondecreasing function of  $\delta$ .

 $(3)\omega_r(f,\delta,J)_p \le c\lambda^r \omega_r(f,\delta,J)_p, \text{ for } \lambda \ge 1.$ 

We denote by  $f * g(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f(t)g(x-t)dt$  the convolution of f and g, and by  $f^{\wedge}(r) = \langle f, e^{-irt} \rangle$  the Fourier transformation of function f, where  $\langle f, g \rangle = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f(t)g(t)dt$  is inner product of f and g. The definition of the *r*-th Kfunctional of  $f \in L_{2\pi}^p$ ,  $0 , and <math>\delta > 0, r \in N$ , it mean

$$K_{r}(f,\delta^{r})_{p} = inf_{D^{\beta}g \in L^{p}_{2\pi}}\{\|f - g\|_{p} + \delta^{r}sup_{|\beta|=r}\|D^{\beta}g\|_{p}\},$$
(2.2)

where  $|\beta| = \beta_1 + \beta_2 + \dots + \beta_d$ ,  $\beta = (\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_d) \in N_o^d$ , and  $D^\beta = \frac{\partial |\beta|}{\partial x_1^{\beta_1} \dots \partial x_d^{\beta_d}}$ ,

is the operator of derivative. The K-functional operator was defined by K-Peetre in [15]. Then it developed by Johmen and Scherer in [12] and in [9] by Ditzian and Totik. The K-functional operator used to measure the distance between the neural liner space and the approximations space. One of the famous results for the K-functionless is it's equivalence with the modulus of smoothness define in (2.2), it mean there are constants  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , satisfy

$$C_1 \omega_r(f, \delta)_p \le K_r(f, \delta^r)_p \le C_2 \omega_r(f, \delta)_p.$$
(2.3)

Now let us introduce some notations from [16]. We have  $\lambda \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f_i \in L^p_{2\pi}$ , o .

$$p = (p_1, p_2, \dots, p_d) \in N_o^d, q = (q_1, q_2, \dots, q_d) \in N_0^d$$
$$B_{\lambda} = (\frac{2}{\lambda + 2})^d, b_{\lambda, r} = \prod_{i=1}^d \sin \frac{r_i + 1}{\lambda + 2} \pi.$$

In our article we will use the notation  $c(v_1, v_2)$  to denote such absolute crostatas which are may differ on different occurrences even in the same line, and depending on  $v_1$  and  $v_2$ .

## 3. The Main Results

This section consists of the main results of this article.

**Theorem.3.1.** For  $f_i \in L^p_{2\pi}$ ,  $0 \le p \le 1$ , we have

$$\left\| EN_{\lambda}(f_{i}) - f_{i} \right\|_{p} \leq c(p,k)W_{k}(f_{i},\frac{1}{\lambda+2})_{p}$$

## Proof.

Suppose  $r = (r_{1,r_{2,...,r_d}}) \in N_0^d$ ,  $\lambda$  is a natural number.

The Fejer – korovkin kernel  $k_{\lambda}$  of dimension *d* is defined by

 $K\lambda(t) = B\lambda | \sum_{0 \le ri \le \lambda} b_{\lambda, re^{irt}} |^2$ , where

$$\mathbf{b}_{\lambda,\mathbf{r}} = \prod_{i=1}^{d} \sin \frac{ri+1}{\lambda+2} \pi \quad , B_{\lambda} = (\sum_{0 \le ri \le \lambda} (b_{\lambda,r})^2)^{-1}.$$

Then

$$B_{\lambda} = \left(\sum_{0 \le ri \le \lambda} (\prod_{i=1}^{d} \sin \frac{ri+1}{\lambda+2})^2 \right)^{-1} = \left(\frac{2}{\lambda+2}\right)^{-1} = \left(\frac{2}{\lambda+2}\right)^d,$$

and

$$K_{\lambda}(t) = B_{\lambda} \left| \sum_{0 \le ri \le \lambda} b_{\lambda}, re^{irt} \right|^{2} = 1 + 2B_{\lambda} \sum_{p \ne q \in N_{o}^{d}}^{0 \le p_{u}, q_{v} \le \lambda} b_{\lambda, p}, b_{\lambda, q} \cos(p-q)t.$$

We define the operator

$$EN_{\lambda}(f_{i}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} (\sum_{j=0}^{\frac{r}{2}-1} f_{i}\left(x + \left(\frac{r}{2} - j\right)t\right) K_{\lambda}(t) dt) + \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} (\sum_{j=\frac{r}{2}+1}^{r} f_{i}\left(x + \left(\frac{r}{2} - j\right)t\right) K_{\lambda}(t) dt + \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} C_{r}(-1)^{\frac{r}{2}} f_{i}(x) K_{\lambda}(t) dt,$$
where  $c_{r} = \frac{r! + ((\frac{r}{2})!)^{2}}{(\frac{r}{2}!)^{2}}.$ 

$$K_{\lambda}^{\wedge}(0) = 1, K_{\lambda}^{\wedge}(r) = B_{\lambda} \sum_{p-q=r, p, q \in N_{0}^{d}}^{0 \le p_{u}, q_{v} \le \lambda} b_{\lambda, p \ b_{\lambda, q'}}$$
and  $K_{\lambda}^{\wedge}(1_{i}) = \cos \frac{\pi}{\lambda+2} [16].$ 

Using (1), (2), and (3) to get

$$\begin{split} \|EN_{\lambda}(f_{i}) - f_{i}\| \\ &= \|\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} (\sum_{j=0}^{\frac{r}{2}-1} f_{i}\left(x + \left(\frac{r}{2}-j\right)t\right) K_{\lambda}(t) dt) \\ &+ \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} (\sum_{j=\frac{r}{2}+1}^{r} f_{i}\left(x + \left(\frac{r}{2}-j\right)t\right) K_{\lambda}(t) dt \\ &+ \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} C_{r}(-1)^{\frac{r}{2}} f_{i}(x) K_{\lambda}(t) dt \|_{p} \\ &= \|\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} C_{r}(-1)^{\frac{r}{2}} f_{i}(x) K_{\lambda}(t) dt + \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} (\sum_{j=\frac{r}{2}+1}^{r} f_{i}\left(x + \left(\frac{r}{2}-j\right)t\right) K_{\lambda}(t) dt + \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} C_{r}(-1)^{\frac{r}{2}} f_{i}(x) K_{\lambda}(t) dt - f_{i}\|_{p} \\ &\leq \frac{c(p)}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} K_{\lambda}(t) \omega_{k}(f_{i}, \|t\|)_{p} \\ &\leq \frac{c(p)}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} K_{\lambda}(t) \omega_{k}(f_{i}, \frac{\delta}{\delta} \|t\|)_{p} \\ &\leq \frac{c(p)}{(2\pi)^{d}} \omega_{k}(f_{i}, \delta)_{p} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} K_{\lambda}(t) (\delta^{-1} \|t\|)^{k} dt \\ &\leq c(p) \omega_{k}(f_{i}, \delta)_{p} \left(\frac{1}{\delta^{k}} \left(\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} t_{j}^{2k} K_{\lambda}(t) dt\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right). \end{split}$$

Since

$$t \le \pi \sin \frac{t}{2}$$
,  $0 \le t \le \pi$ ,  $\pi \sin \frac{t}{2} \le t$ ,  $-\pi \le t \le 0$ ,

so

$$t^{2k} \le \pi^{2k} \left( \sin \frac{t}{2} \right)^{2k} , -\pi \le t \le \pi .$$

Therefore,  $t^{2k} \le \pi^{2k} (\sin \frac{\pi}{2})^2$ .

Consequently,

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} t_j^{2k} K_{\lambda}(t) dt \leq \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \pi^{2k} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} (\sin t_j)^{2k} K_{\lambda}(t) dt$$
$$= \pi^k (1 - \cos \frac{\pi}{\lambda + 2})^k.$$

If we take  $\delta = \frac{1}{\lambda + 2'}$ and since  $(1 - \cos \frac{\pi}{\lambda + 2})$  is bounded set so

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} (1 - \cos \frac{\pi}{\lambda + 2})^{k} = c \left(\sum_{i=1}^{d} (1 - \cos \frac{\pi}{\lambda + 2})^{k}\right)$$
$$\leq c \left(\frac{\pi}{\lambda + 2}\right)^{2k} , \text{ c is a positive constant.}$$

Thus take 
$$\delta = \frac{1}{\lambda+2}$$
  
 $\|EN_{\lambda}(f_i) - f_i\|_p \leq c(p)(\frac{1}{(\frac{1}{\lambda+2})^k}((c(\frac{\pi}{\lambda+2})^{2k}))^{1/2}\omega_k(f_i,\frac{1}{\lambda+2})_p$   
 $\leq c(p)((\lambda+2)^k(\frac{c\pi^k}{(\lambda+2)^k})\omega_k(f_i,\frac{1}{\lambda+2}))_p$   
 $\leq c(p)(\pi^k)^k \omega_k(f_i,\frac{1}{\lambda+2})_p$   
 $\leq c(p,k)\omega_k(f_i,\frac{1}{\lambda+2})_p$ 

**Lemma .3.2. [8].** For  $f_i \in L^p_{2\pi}$ , 0 , we have

 $\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \left\| EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - f_i \right\|_p = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\lambda} K \left\| EN_k[f_i] - [f_i] \right\|_p.$ 

**Theorem .3.3. [2].** If  $f_i \in L^p_{2\pi}$ ,  $0 , <math>n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{N}$ , then

$$\omega_k\left(f_i, \frac{1}{\lambda+2}\right) \le c(p) \sum_{\lambda=1}^n \left\| EN_\lambda(f_i) - (f_i) \right\|_p$$

**Corollary.3.4.** for  $f_i \in L^p_{2\pi}$ , 0 , we get

$$c(p)\omega_k(f_i,\frac{1}{\lambda+2})_p \le \left\| EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - [f_i] \right\|_p \le c(p,k)\omega_k(f_i,\frac{1}{\lambda+2})_p$$

## Proof.

By lemma (3.2)

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \left\| E N_{\lambda}(f_i) - f_i \right\|_p \le \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\lambda} k \left\| E N_{\lambda}(f_i) - f_i \right\|_{p'}$$

and by using theorem (3.1)
$$\left\| EN_{\lambda}(f_i) - f_i \right\|_p \le c(p,k)\omega_k\left(f_i, \frac{1}{\lambda+2}\right).$$

Therefore,

$$\text{we} \qquad \text{get} \\ c(p)\omega_k(f_i, \frac{1}{\lambda+2})_p \le \left\| EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - [f_i] \right\|_p \le c(p,k)\omega_k(f_i, \frac{1}{\lambda+2})_p$$

**Theorem.3.5.** If  $f_i \in L_{2\pi}^p$ ,  $0 , then <math>\|EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - f_i\|_p = O(\lambda^{-\alpha})$ ,  $0 < \alpha < k - 1$ , if and only if  $f_i \in Lip(\alpha)_k$ 

# Proof.

Let  $f_i \in Lip(\alpha)_k$  where  $0 < \alpha < k - 1$  we must prove that

$$\|EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - f_i\|_p = O(\lambda^{-\alpha}).$$
  
Since  $f_i \in Lip(\alpha)_k$ , then $\omega_k(f, \lambda)_p = O(\lambda^{-\alpha}).$  (3.5.1)

Using theorem.3.1 and (3.5.1) we get

$$\left\| \mathbb{E}N_{\lambda}[f_i] - f_i \right\|_p \le c(p)O(\lambda^{-\alpha}).$$

Then

 $\left\| EN_{\lambda}[f_i] \right\|_p = O(\lambda^{-\alpha}).$ 

Let  $f_i \in L^p_{2\pi}$ ,  $0 , then <math>\|EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - f_i\|_p = O(\lambda^{-\alpha})$ .

We must prove that  $f_i \in Lip(\alpha)_k$ .

Now,  $\|EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - f_i\|_p = O(\lambda^{-\alpha})$ 

 $\leq c(\lambda^{-\alpha}),$ 

and since  $\|EN_{\lambda}[f_i] - f_i\|_p \le c(p,k)\omega_k(f_i,\lambda)$ . Then

$$c(p)\omega_k(f_i,\lambda) = c(\lambda^{-\alpha})$$
$$\omega_k(f_i,\lambda) = O(\lambda^{-\alpha}).$$

Therefore, using definition of Lipschitian function we get  $f_i \in Lip(\alpha)_k$ 

# References

1. Bhaya, E.S., and Walla. H. "Lp, p<1 Approximation Using Radial Basis Functions Neural Networks on Ordered Space", Journal of Engeneering and Applied Sciences, vol.13, pp.4771-4773, 2018.

2. Bhaya, E.S., Abd Al-sadaa, Z.H., "Stechkin-Marchaud Inequality in Terms of Neural Networks Approximation in  $L_p$  Spaces for 0 ". (to appear).

3. Bhaya, E.S, and Hawraa. A. A., " Neural Network Trigonometric Approximation", Journal of University of Babylon/ Pure and Aoolied Sciences, vol24, no.9, pp. 2395-2399, 2016.

4. Bolcke. H., Grohs. P., Kutyniok. G., and Petersen. P., " Optimal Approximation with Sparsely Connected Deep Neural Networks", ARXIV, vol. 4, pp.1705-01714, 2017.

5. Chen, X.H., White, H., "Improved Rates and Asymptotic Normality for Nonparametric Neural Network Estimators", IEEE Trans, Inform Theory, vol.45, vol.682-691, 1999.

6. Chui, C.K., Li, X., "Approximation by Ridge Functions and Neural Networks with One Hidden Layer", Approx. Theory, vol.70, pp.131-141, 1992.

7. Cybenko, G., " Approximation by Superpositions of Sigmoidal Function", math Of control signals and system, vol.2, pp.303-314,1989.

8. Ding, C., Cao, F., Xu, Z., "The Essential Approximation Order for Neural Networks with Trigonometric Hidden Layer Units", Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp.72-79, 2006.

9. Ditzian, Z., Totik, V., **Moduli of Smoothness**, New York, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg , 1987.

10. Dmitry. Y, **Optimal Approximation of Continuous Function by Very Deep Relu Networks**, Arxiv:1802.03620, vol.2, 6 Jun 2018.

11. Dmitry. Y, "Error Bounds for Approximation with Deep Relu Networks ", Neural Networks, vol.94, pp.103-114, 2017.

12. Johnen, H., Scherer, K., "On the Equivalence of the K-Functional and the Moduli of Continuity and Some Applications", Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York, vol. 571, pp.119-140, 1977..

13. Monica. B., "On the Complexity of Neural Network Classifiers", IEEE Explore Digital Linbrary, vol.25, no.8, pp.1553-1565, 2014.

14. Nagler. J, Cerejeiras. P. and Forster. B., " Lower Bounds for the Approximation with Variation – Diminishing Splines", Journal of Complexity, vol.32, no.1, pp. 81-91, 2016.

15. Peetre, J., "On the Connection between the Theory of Interpolation Spaces and Approximation Theory". In: Alexits, G., Stechkin, S.B.(eds): Proc. Conf. Construction of Function. Budapest, pp.351-363, 1969.

16. Philpp. P. and Felix. V. **Optimal Approximation of Piecewise Smooth Function Using Deep Relu Neural Networks**, Arxiv: 1709.0528, vol. 4 last Revised 22 May 2018., pp.1049-1058,1998.

17. Walla H., "Constrained Approximation on Ordered Spaces," M.Sc. Thesis, University of Babylon, Babylon, Iraq, 2017.

18. Xu, Z.B., Cao, F.L., "Simultaneous *L*<sup>*p*</sup>-Approximation Order for Neural Networks", Neural Networks, vol.18, pp.914-923, 2005.

# Impress of rotation and an inclined MHD on waveform motion of the non-Newtonian fluid through porous canal

# T Sh Alshareef

"Department of mathematics, College of education for pure science \Ibn AlHaitham\, University of Baghdad, Iraq" "tamara.shihab8282@gmail.com"

**Abstract:** Waveform flow of non-Newtonian fluid through a porous medium of the non-symmetric sloping canal under the effect of rotation and magnetic force, which has applied by the inclined way, have studied analytically and computed numerically. Slip boundary conditions on velocity distribution and stream function are used. We have taken the influence of heat and mass transfer in the consideration in our study. We carried out the mathematical model by using the presumption of low Reynolds number and small wave number. The resulting equations of motion, which are representing by the velocity profile and stream function distribution, solved by using the method of a domain decomposition analysis and we obtained the exact solutions of velocity, temperature, and concentration. The expressions of velocity, temperature, and concentration. The expressions of velocity the soft wave of the Mathematica program. The efforts of various variables on mathematical modeling of motion and energy are discussed in detail. We found that.

Keywords: rotation effect, non-Newtonian fluid, porous medium, magnetic force, waveform transport.

# **1-Introduction**

Motion through the porous area takes place in the filtering of fluids and leakage of water in the beds of rivers. The moment under the ground, oils and water are some important examples of flows through a porous medium. An oil barrage mostly includes the formation of sediments such as sandstone and limestone in which the oil is entrapped. Another example of motion through a porous medium is the leakage under a dam, which is very important. There are examples of nature's porous medium such as rye bread and beach sand. The transport through porous media discussed by (Sceidgger, 1963). The waveform motion of Newtonian fluid in a vertical asymmetric porous channel is studied by (Srinivas S and Gayathri R, 2009). The peristaltic transport of Jeffrey fluid under the effort of a magnetic field in an asymmetric porous canal is studied by (kothandapani & Srnivas, 2008). The impact of porous medium and magnetic force on the waveform flow of Jeffrey fluid is studied by (Mahmood, Afifi, & Al. Isede, 2011). The influence of the thickness of the porous material on the waveform pumping of Jeffrey fluid when the tube wall is provided with non-erodible lining is made by (Rathod & Channakote, 2011).

The MHD flow of a fluid in a channel with elastic, rhythmically contraction walls is of interest in connection with a certain problem of the movement of conductive physiological fluids, e.g., the blood and with the need for theoretical research on the operation of a peristaltic MHD

Compressor. The effect of a moving magnetic field on blood flow was studied by (Stud V K, Sephone G S and Mishra R K G, 1977). And they observed that the effects of a suitable moving magnetic field accelerate the speed of blood. The blood as an electrically conducting fluid that constitutes a suspension of red cells in the plasma is considered by (Srivastava L M and Srivastava V P, 1984). The MHD flow of a conducting couple stress fluid in a slit channel with rhythmically contracting walls is analyzed by (Mekheimer Kh S, 2008). The MHD peristaltic motion of a Sisko fluid in an asymmetric channel is studied by (Wang Y, Hayat T, Ali N and oberlack M, 2008). The peristaltic transport of a Jeffrey fluid under the effect of the magnetic field in an under the effect of a magnetic field in a Symmetric channel with flexible rigid walls are examined by (Kothandapani M and Srinivas S, 2008).

The effects of an endoscope and magnetic field on the peristalsis involving Jeffrey fluid has investigated by (Hayat T, Ahmed N and Ali N, 2008). Given these facts, it will be interesting to study the peristaltic flow of conducting Jeffrey fluid flow in a channel bounded by permeable walls.

Waveform transport with heat and mass transfer has many applications in biomedical sciences and industry such as conduction in tissues, heat convection due to blood flow from the pores of tissues and radiation between environment and its surface, food processing and vasodilation. The processes of oxygenation and hemodialysis have also visualized by considering peristaltic flows with heat transfer. There is a certain role of mass transfer in all these processes. The mass transfer also occurs in many industrial processes like membrane separation process, reverse osmosis, distillation process, combustion process and diffusion of chemical impurities. The effect of heat transfer on the peristaltic flow of an electrically conducting fluid in a porous space is studied by (Hayat T, Qurashi M U and Hussain Q, 2009). The influence of heat transfer and slip-on peristaltic flow in a curved channel is analyzed by (Ali N, Sajid M, Javed T and Abbas Z, 2010).

It is also of interest to remember that non-slip boundary conditions are unsuitable for must non-Newtonian fluids because they display microscopically the slip condition of the walls. The fluids that displaying the boundary slip condition give applications in technology such that the polishing of artificial heart, there are many studies, which are, using this condition, see (Abdulhadi A M and Al-Hadad A H, 2015), (Chaube M K, Pandey S K and Tripathi D, 2010) & (Ali N, Wang Y, Hayat T and oberlack M, 2009). Recently, magnetic field and rotation effects on the peristaltic transport of Jeffrey fluid in an asymmetric channel studied by (Abd-Alla, A M. and Abo-Dahab, S M, 2015). The effect of the rotation on wave motion through the cylindrical bore in a micropolar porous medium is discussed by (Mahmoud S R, Abd-alla A M and El-Sheikh M A, 2011). The effects of rotation and MHD on the nonlinear peristaltic flow of Jeffrey fluid in an asymmetric channel through a porous medium has discussed by (Abdulhadi A M and Al-Hadad A H, 2016).

Now in this paper, we discuss the waveform motion of the non-Newtonian fluid through a porous medium of non- symmetric sloping canal under the effect of rotation and inclined magnetic field in two-dimensional channels. We studied the problem under the slip boundary conditions on the velocity distribution and stream function profile, in addition to the impact of heat and mass transfer in the channel. The governing equations are modeling and then solved analytically by using a domain decomposition method and we obtained the exact solutions of the velocity, temperature, and concentration distribution by using the approximations of long wavelength and low Reynolds number. We studied the effects of various parameters on the above distributions by displaying some graphs, which have shown by using the por rogram of Mathematica software.

#### 2- Problem's Mathematical Pattern

Through our work, we have considered the waveform flow of non-Newtonian fluid through a porous medium of two-dimensional with non-symmetric and non-uniform inclined channel under the effect of rotation parameter of the channel and combined influence of inclined magnetic field as well as heat/mass transfer. We suppose that there is infinite number of waves, which are transporting with speed  $c_1$  along the non-regular walls. We have chosen a system of rectangular coordinates for this channel with  $\overline{X_1}$  along the direction of wave's propagation and parallel to the cort line and the axis  $\overline{Y_1}$  is transverse to it. The mathematical model for the channel's walls can described by:

$$\begin{array}{c}
G_{11} = -A - B_1, \text{ left wall,...} \\
\overline{G_{12}} = -\overline{A} + \overline{B_2}, \text{ right wall,...} \\
\end{array},$$
...(2.1)

$$\overline{A} = e + \overline{m_1} \overline{X_1}$$
where  $\overline{B_1} = e_1 \sin\left[\frac{2\pi}{\zeta} (\overline{X_1} - c_1 \overline{t}) + \phi_1\right]$ 

$$\overline{B_2} = e_2 \sin\left[\frac{2\pi}{\zeta} (\overline{X_1} - c_1 \overline{t})\right]$$
...(2.2)

Such that  $\zeta$  is the wave's length, (2e) is the width of the channel at the inlet  $(\overline{m_1} \ll 1)$  which is the non –uniform parameter,  $(e_1, e_2)$  are the wave's amplitudes,  $\phi_1$  is the phase difference of the waves which changes in the rate about  $\phi_1 \in [0, \pi]$  in which if  $\phi_1 = 0$  corresp onds to symmetric channel and the waves are out the phase and if  $\phi_1 = \pi$  represent to the waves in the phase. Moreover the parameters  $e_1, e_2, e$  and  $\phi_1$  achieved the following condition:

$$e_1^2 + e_2^2 + 2e_1e_2\cos\phi_1 \le (2e)^2 \qquad \dots (2.3)$$

Also, it is worth noting through our study, we suppose the magnetic Reynolds number is small and hence the induced magnetic field is cancel.

#### **3- Basic Equation**

The system that governing the equations of motion and energy can give in the following formula:

$$\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}} + \frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}} = 0 \qquad ...(3.1)$$

$$\rho_{1}\left(\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial t} + \overline{W_{1}}\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}} + \overline{W_{2}}\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}\right) - \rho_{1}\overline{\Omega}(\overline{\Omega}\overline{W_{1}} + 2\frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}) = \frac{\partial \overline{P}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}}(\overline{\tau_{\overline{X_{1}}\overline{X_{1}}}}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}(\overline{\tau_{\overline{X_{1}}\overline{Y_{1}}}})$$

$$-\sigma B_{0}^{2}\cos\beta(\overline{W_{1}}\cos\beta - \overline{W_{2}}\sin\beta) - \frac{N_{0}}{k_{1}}\overline{W_{1}} + \rho_{1}g\sin\alpha_{1}. \qquad ...(3.2)$$

$$\rho_{1}\left(\frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial t} + \overline{W_{1}}\frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}} + \overline{W_{2}}\frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}\right) - \rho_{1}\overline{\Omega}(\overline{\Omega}\overline{W_{2}} - 2\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}) = -\frac{\partial \overline{P_{1}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}}(\overline{\tau_{\overline{X_{1}\overline{Y_{1}}}}}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}(\overline{\tau_{\overline{Y_{1}\overline{Y_{1}}}}})$$

$$+\sigma B_{0}^{2}\sin\beta(\overline{W_{1}}\cos\beta - \overline{W_{2}}\sin\beta) - \frac{N_{0}}{k_{1}}\overline{W_{2}} - \rho_{1}gCos\alpha_{1}. \qquad ...(3.3)$$

$$\rho_{1}\zeta_{1}\left(\overline{W_{1}}\frac{\partial \overline{F}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}} + \overline{W_{2}}\frac{\partial \overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}\right) = k_{2}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) + N_{0}\left(2\left(\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}}\right)^{2} + 2\left(\frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}}\right)^{2}\right) + \frac{g_{m}k_{F}}}{k_{s}}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) + N_{0}\left(2\left(\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}} + \frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}}\right)^{2}\right) + \frac{g_{m}k_{F}}}{k_{s}}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}}^{2}}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\overline{F}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}^{2}$$

$$(\overline{W_1}\frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{X_1}} + \overline{W_2}\frac{\partial f}{\partial \overline{Y_1}}) = g_m(\frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial \overline{X_1}^2} + \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial \overline{Y_1}^2}) + \frac{g_m k_F}{\overline{F}_m}(\frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial \overline{X_1}^2} + \frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial \overline{Y_1}^2}) \qquad \dots (3.5)$$

Where  $(\rho_1)$  is the fluid's density,  $\overline{\Omega} = \overline{\Omega}\kappa$ ,  $\kappa$  is the unit vector parallel to  $\overline{z_1} - axis$ ,  $\overline{\Omega}$  is the rotation parameter,  $\overline{W} = [\overline{W_1}(\overline{X_1}, \overline{Y_1}), \overline{W_2}(\overline{X_1}, \overline{Y_1}), 0]$  is the vector of velocity in two-dimensional coordinates  $(\overline{X_1}, \overline{Y_1})$ ,  $\rho_1$  is the fluid's pressure,  $\overline{\tau}$  is the flow's fluid time,  $\sigma$  is the fluid's electrical conductivity,  $B_0$  is the strength of the applied magnetics force. The absence of an electrical field characterized by the Lorentz force  $(\overline{J} \times \overline{B})$ , which takes the following formula:

$$\overline{J} \times \overline{B} = -\sigma B_0^2 \cos \beta (\overline{W_1} \cos \beta - \overline{W_2} \sin \beta) e_i + +\sigma B_0^2 \sin \beta (\overline{W_1} \cos \beta - \overline{W_2} \sin \beta) e_i \qquad \dots (3.6)$$

Where  $(e_i, e_j)$  are the unit vectors, J is the induced current density. We observed that the effect of the magnetic field appears on the flow of  $\overline{X_iY_1}$ -direction due to the inclination angle  $\beta$  of magnetic field. Also, we have  $\alpha_1$  referred to inclination angle of the channel, g is the acceleration due to gravity, No is the fluid's viscosity,  $k_1$  is the porosity parameter of the canal,  $\zeta_1$  is the specific heat at constant pressure,  $\overline{F}$  is the fluid's temperature,  $\overline{f}$  is the fluid's concentration,  $k_2$ is the fluid's thermal conductivity,  $g_m$  is the coefficient of mass diffusivity,  $k_s$  is the concentration susceptibility,  $k_F$  is the thermal diffusion ratio and  $\overline{F}_m$  is the fluid's mean temperature.

The constituent equations for non-Newtonian incompressible fluid which characterized by rate type fluid can be shown as the form:

$$\overline{S} = -\overline{\rho_1 I} + \overline{\tau} \qquad \dots (3.7)$$

Where  $\overline{S}$  is the Cauchy stress tensor,  $\overline{I}$  is the identity tensor and  $\overline{\tau}$  is the extra stress for the fluid which is formed as [18]:

$$\bar{\tau} = \frac{N_0}{1 + \lambda_1} (\mathbf{r} + \zeta_2 \mathbf{r}) \qquad \dots (3.8)$$

Where the ratio of repose to obstruction times is  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\zeta_2$  is the obstruction time,  $\dot{r}$  is the rate of shear, such that:

$$\vec{r} = (\nabla \overline{W}) + (\nabla \overline{W})^{\mathrm{T}} \qquad \dots (3.9)$$
  
$$\vec{r} = \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \overline{W}_{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{X}_{1}} + \overline{W}_{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{Y}_{1}}\right] \vec{r} \qquad \dots (3.10)$$

Now, if we substitute (3.10) into (3.8), we obtain:

$$\overline{\tau} = \frac{N_0}{1 + \lambda_1} \left( \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \overline{W_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{X_1}} + \overline{W_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{Y_1}} \right) \right) r \qquad \dots (3.11)$$

Then the components of stress have given by:

$$\overline{\tau}_{\overline{X_{1}X_{1}}} = \frac{N_{0}}{1 + \lambda_{1}} (\overrightarrow{r}_{\overline{X_{1}X_{1}}} + \zeta_{2} \overrightarrow{r}_{\overline{X_{1}X_{1}}})$$

$$= \frac{2N_{0}}{1 + \lambda_{1}} [\frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}} + \zeta_{2} (\frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{t} \partial \overline{X_{1}}} + \overline{W_{1}} \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}^{2}} + \overline{W_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}} \partial \overline{X_{1}}})]$$
...(3.12)
$$= N_{0} = \overrightarrow{v} = \overrightarrow{v$$

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{\overline{X_{1}Y_{1}}} &= \frac{1}{1 + \lambda_{1}} \left( r_{\overline{X_{1}X_{1}}} + \zeta_{2} r_{\overline{X_{1}Y_{1}}} \right) \\ &= \frac{N_{0}}{1 + \lambda_{1}} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}} + \frac{\partial \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{Z_{1}}} \right) + \zeta_{2} \left[ \left( \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{t} \partial \overline{Y_{1}}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{t} \partial \overline{X_{1}}} \right) + \overline{W_{1}} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}} \partial \overline{Y_{1}}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}}} \right) + \overline{W_{2}} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}} \partial \overline{X_{1}}} \right) \right] ..(3.13) \\ &= \frac{N_{0}}{1 + \lambda_{1}} \left[ \frac{\overline{W_{2}}}{\overline{Y_{1}Y_{1}}} + \zeta_{2} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{2}}}{\overline{Y_{1}Y_{1}}} \right) + \overline{W_{1}} \left( \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{1}}}{\partial \overline{X_{1}} \partial \overline{Y_{1}}} + \overline{W_{2}} \frac{\partial^{2} \overline{W_{2}}}{\partial \overline{Y_{1}}^{2}} \right) \right] ...(3.14) \end{aligned}$$

Now, if we introduce the following non-dimensional parameters into Eq. (1-14) we obtain:

$$x = \frac{\overline{X_{1}}}{\zeta}, \ y = \frac{\overline{Y_{1}}}{e}, \ t = \frac{c_{1}\overline{t}}{\zeta}, u = \frac{\overline{W_{1}}}{c_{1}}, \ v = \frac{\overline{W_{2}}}{c_{1}\sigma_{1}}, \ \delta_{1} = \frac{e}{\zeta}, \ g_{1} = \frac{\overline{G_{1}}}{e}, \ g_{2} = \frac{\overline{G_{2}}}{e}, \\ \theta = \frac{\overline{F} - F_{0}}{F_{1} - F_{0}}, \\ \varphi = \frac{\overline{f} - f_{0}}{f_{1} - f_{0}}, \\ Ren = \frac{\rho_{1}c_{1}e}{N_{0}}, \\ Prn = \frac{N_{0}\zeta_{1}}{k_{2}}, \\ M = \sqrt{\frac{\sigma}{N_{0}}eB_{0}}, \ a = \frac{e_{1}}{e}, \ b = \frac{e_{2}}{e}, \\ Sci = \frac{N_{0}}{\rho_{1}g_{m}}, \\ Sor = \frac{\rho_{1}g_{m}k_{f}(F_{1} - F_{0})}{\overline{F_{m}}N_{0}(f_{1} - f_{0})}, \\ Ren = \frac{\rho_{1}c_{1}e}{N_{0}}, \\ \\ Ren = \frac{\rho_{1}c_{1}e}{N_{$$

$$Da = \frac{k_1}{e^2}, \text{ Ec} = \frac{c_1^2}{\zeta_1(F_1 - F_0)}, D_f = \frac{g_m k_f (f_1 - f_0)}{\zeta_1 N_0 k_s (F_1 - F_0)}, \tau = \frac{e}{N_0 c_1} \overline{\tau}, P_1 = \frac{e^2 P_1}{c_1 \zeta N_0}, \text{ Fr} = \frac{c_1^2}{ge}, Bm = \Pr n.Ec, A = \frac{\overline{A}}{e}, B_1 = \frac{\overline{B}_1}{e}, B_2 = \frac{\overline{B}_2}{e}, m_1 = \frac{\overline{m}_1 \zeta}{e} \qquad \dots (3.15)$$

where  $\delta_1$  is the wavenumber,  $\Pr n$  is the Prandtl number,  $\operatorname{Ec}$  is the Eckert number,  $\operatorname{Re} n$  is the Reynolds number, Bm is the Brinkman number, M is Hartmann number, a & b are the amplitudes of the wave, Sci is the Schmidt number, Sor is the soret number, Da is the porous medium parameter,  $\theta \& \varphi$  are the non-dimensional of temperature and concentration respectively,  $\overline{P_1}$  is the pressure of the fluid,  $F_0 \& F_1$  are the temperature of the fluid at upper and lower side of the walls,  $c_0 \& c_1$  are the concentration of the fluid at upper and lower part of the walls  $g_1 \& g_2$  are non-dimensional of upper and lowers walls of the channel,  $D_f$  is the Dufour number,  $\operatorname{Fr}$  is the Froude number.

So, Equations (3.1)-(3.14) will become:

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} = 0 \qquad \dots (3.16)$$

$$\operatorname{Ren} \delta_{1} \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + v \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \right) = -\frac{\partial P_{1}}{\partial x} + \delta_{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \tau_{xx} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \tau_{xy} + \frac{\rho_{1} \overline{\Omega}^{2} e^{2}}{N_{0}} u + 2\delta_{1}^{2} \operatorname{Ren} \overline{\Omega} \frac{\partial v}{\partial t}$$

$$-N_{1}^{2} u + \frac{\operatorname{Ren}}{Fr} \sin \alpha_{1} \qquad \dots (3.17)$$

$$\operatorname{Ren} \delta_{1}^{3} \left( \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial v}{\partial x} + v \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} \right) = -\frac{\partial P_{1}}{\partial y} + \delta_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \tau_{xy} + \delta_{1} \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \tau_{yy} + \delta_{1}^{2} \frac{\rho_{1} \overline{\Omega}^{2} e^{2}}{N_{0}} v - 2\delta_{1}^{2} \operatorname{Ren} \overline{\Omega} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} + \delta_{1} M^{2} \sin \beta \cos \beta u - \delta_{1}^{2} N_{2}^{2} v - \delta_{1} \frac{\operatorname{Ren}}{Fr} \cos \alpha_{1} \qquad \dots (3.18)$$

$$\operatorname{Ren} \delta_{1} \operatorname{Prn} \left( u \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} + v \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial y} \right) = \delta_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial^{2} \theta}{\partial x^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \theta}{\partial y^{2}} + Bm \left[ 2\delta_{1}^{2} \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \right)^{2} + 2\delta_{1}^{2} \left( \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} \right)^{2} + \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} + \delta_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial v}{\partial x} \right)^{2} \right]$$

$$+\operatorname{Prn} \operatorname{Df} \left( \delta_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial^{2} \varphi}{\partial x^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \varphi}{\partial y^{2}} \right) = \left( \delta_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial^{2} \varphi}{\partial x^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2} \varphi}{\partial y^{2}} \right) + Sci Sor \left( \frac{\partial^{2} \theta}{\partial x^{2}} + \delta_{1}^{2} \frac{\partial^{2} \theta}{\partial x^{2}} \right) \qquad \dots (3.20)$$

Kendustria  $\frac{\partial x}{\partial x} = \sqrt{\frac{\partial y}{\partial y}} + \sqrt{\frac{\partial y}{\partial y}} = \sqrt{\frac{M^2 \sin^2 \beta + \frac{1}{Da}}{a}}$  and the components of shear stress are:  $\tau = \frac{2\delta_1}{1} \left[1 + \frac{\zeta_2 c_1 \delta_1}{1} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)\right] \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \qquad (3.21)$ 

$$\tau_{xx} = \frac{1}{1+\lambda_1} \left[1 + \frac{\zeta_2 c_1 \delta_1}{e} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)\right] \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial y} + \delta^2 \frac{\partial v}{\partial x}\right) \qquad \dots (3.22)$$

$$\tau_{yy} = \frac{-2\delta_1}{1+\lambda_1} \left[1 + \frac{\zeta_2 c_1 \delta_1}{e} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + u \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)\right] \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} \qquad \dots (3.23)$$

Now, by using the approximations of small wavenumber  $\delta_1$  and it's orders and the low value of Reynolds number (Ren), Eq. (3.16)-(3.22) will be in the following form:

$$\frac{\partial P_1}{\partial x} = \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \tau_{xy} + \frac{\rho_1 \overline{\Omega}^2 e^2}{N_0} u - N_1^2 u + \frac{\text{Re}\,n}{Fr} \text{si} \qquad \dots (3.24)$$

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial y} = 0 \tag{3.25}$$

$$0 = \frac{\partial^2 \theta}{\partial y^2} + Bm(\frac{\partial u}{\partial y})^2 + \Pr nD_f \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial y^2} \qquad \dots (3.26)$$

$$0 = \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial y^2} + SciSor \frac{\partial^2 \theta}{\partial y^2} \qquad \dots (3.27)$$

$$\tau_{xx} = 0, \tau_{xy} = \frac{1}{1 + \lambda_1} \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, \quad \tau_{yy} = 0$$
 ...(3.28)

Now, if we introduce the stream function  $\varphi(x, y)$  in Eq. (3.24) by taking the formula  $u = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y}$ ,

$$v = -\frac{\partial \psi}{\partial x}$$
, we get ... (3.29)

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial x} = \frac{1}{1+\lambda_1} \frac{\partial^3 \psi}{\partial y^3} - (N_1^2 - \frac{\rho_1 \overline{\Omega}^2 e^2}{N_0}) \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y} + \frac{\operatorname{Re} n}{Fr} \sin \alpha_1 \qquad \dots (3.30)$$

From Eq. (3.25) we deduce that the pressure  $\rho_1$  of the fluid doesn't depend on y, so if we derive Eq. (3.30) with respect to y we obtain:

$$0 = \frac{1}{1+\lambda_1} \frac{\partial^4 \psi}{\partial y^4} + \left(\frac{\rho_1 \overline{\Omega}^2 e^2}{N_0} - N_1^2\right) \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial y^2} \qquad \dots (3.31)$$

The boundary conditions, which are used through this study, can represent in the following:

$$\psi = \frac{\iota}{2}, \ \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y} + \beta_1 \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial y^2} = -1 \quad \text{at} \quad y = g_2$$
  
$$\psi = -\frac{\iota}{2}, \ \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y} - \beta_1 \frac{\partial^2 \psi}{\partial y^2} = -1 \quad \text{at} \quad y = g_1 \qquad \dots (3.32)$$
  
$$\theta = 0, \ \varphi = 0 \text{ at} \quad y = g_2$$

$$\theta = 1, \varphi = 1$$
 at  $y = g_1$  ...(3.33)

In which,  $g_2 = A + B_2$ ,  $g_1 = A - B_1$ ,  $A = 1 + m_1 x$ ,  $B_1 = a \sin[2\pi(x - t) + \phi_1]$ ,  $B_2 = b \sin[2\pi(x - t)]$  ...(3-34) 4. Problem's solution

By using the method of "A domain decomposition", the Eq. (3.31) can be written as:  
$$\partial^4 \psi = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \partial^2 \psi$$

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial y^4} = S^2 \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial y^2} \qquad \dots (4.1)$$

In which 
$$S^2 = (1 + \lambda_1)(N_1^2 - \frac{\rho_1 \overline{\Omega}^2 e^2}{N_0})$$
, an operator  $(\overline{t})$  can write Eq. (4.1) as:  
 $\overline{u} = S^2(\psi_m)_{yy}$  ...(4.2)

In which  $\bar{t} = \frac{\partial^4}{\partial v^4}$  is a fourth-order difference operators  $(\bar{t})^{-1}$  is a fourth-fold integration operator

bv:

defined

$$(\bar{i})^{-1} = \int_{0}^{y} \int_{0}^{y} \int_{0}^{y} \int_{0}^{y} (.) dy dy dy dy dy \qquad \dots (4.3)$$

if we are operating with  $(t)^{-1}$  on Eq. (4.2), we have :

$$\psi = c_{11} + c_{12}y + c_{13}\frac{y^2}{2!} + c_{14}\frac{y^3}{3!} + S^2(i)^{-1}(\psi_m)_{yy} \qquad \dots (4.4)$$

In which the function  $c_{ii}$  (i = 1, j = 1, 2, 3, 4) can be obtained by using the boundary conditions, Eq. (3.32)

The standard of A domain decomposition method, are get:

$$\psi = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \psi_m \tag{4.5}$$

Where the components  $(\psi_m), m \ge 0$ , will be located frequently. The following repeated relation is got from Eq. (4.4):

$$\psi_{0} = c_{11} + c_{12}y + c_{13}\frac{y^{2}}{2!} + c_{14}\frac{y^{3}}{3!} + \dots$$

$$\psi_{m+1} = S^{2}(i)^{-1}(\psi_{m})_{yy}, m \ge 0$$
...(4.6)

Hence, we have:

$$\psi_{1} = \frac{1}{S^{2}} c_{13} \frac{(Sy)^{4}}{4!} + \frac{1}{S^{3}} c_{14} \frac{(Sy)^{5}}{5!} + \dots$$
...(4.7)

$$\psi_{2} = \frac{1}{S^{2}} c_{13} \frac{(Sy)^{\circ}}{6!} + \frac{1}{S^{3}} c_{14} \frac{(Sy)'}{7!} + \dots$$
...(4.8)

$$\psi_{m} = \frac{1}{S^{2}} c_{13} \frac{(Sy)^{2m+2}}{(2m+2)!} + \frac{1}{S^{3}} c_{14} \frac{(Sy)^{2m+3}}{(2m+3)!}, m \ge 0 \qquad \dots (4.9)$$

Thus from Eq. (4.5), the formula for  $\psi$  is given as:

$$\psi = c_{11} + c_{12}y + \frac{1}{S^2}c_{13}(\cosh Sy - 1) + \frac{1}{S^3}c_{14}(\sinh Sy - Sy) \qquad \dots (4.10)$$
$$u = (-c_4 + c_2s^2 + c_4Cosh[sy] + c_3sSinh[sy])/s^2 \qquad \dots (4-11)$$

$$u = (-c_4 + c_2 s^2 + c_4 Cosh[sy] + c_3 sSinh[sy]) / s^2$$

The expression of temperature and concentration distributions as follow:

$$\theta = \frac{Brc_{3}^{2}y^{2}}{4(-1+W1)} - \frac{Brc_{4}^{2}y^{2}}{4s^{2}(-1+W1)} + a_{1} + ya_{2} + \frac{Brc_{4}^{2}Cosh[2sy]}{8s^{4}(-1+W1)} + \frac{Brc_{3}^{2}Cosh[2sy]}{8s^{2}(-1+W1)} + \frac{Brc_{3}c_{4}Sinh[2sy]}{8s^{2}(-1+W1)} + \frac{Brc_{3}c_{4}Sinh[2sy]}{4s^{3}(-1+W1)}$$
 ...(4-12)  
$$\varphi = -((Brc_{3}^{2}ScSry^{2})/(4(-1+W1))) + (Brc_{4}^{2}ScSry^{2})/(4s^{2}(-1+W1)) + b_{1} + yb_{2} - (Brc_{4}^{2}ScSrCosh[2sy])/(8s^{4}(-1+W1)) - (Brc_{3}^{2}ScSrCosh[2sy])(8s^{2}(-1+W1)) - (Brc_{3}c_{4}ScSrSinh[2sy])/(4s^{3}(-1+W1));$$
 ...(4-13)

# 5 – Discussion of the problem's results

5.1 Velocity's distribution

By Equation (4-11), we can realize that velocity's profile is a function of y.

In this section, we have displayed the results of the problem and have discussed for different physical parameters of interest. Figure (1) have used to show the distribution of axial velocity

for various of the channel  $m_1$ , the phase difference of the channel  $(\phi_1)$ , the amplitudes of the channel's waves (a & b), Hartmann number (M), the fluid's material parameter  $(\lambda_1)$ , fluid's density  $(\rho_1)$ , fluid's viscosity  $(N_0)$ , rotation parameter  $(\overline{\Omega})$ , channel's width (2e), inclination angle of magnetic field  $(\beta)$ , volume flow rate  $(\theta_1)$  and the slip parameter  $(\beta_1)$ . In figure (1-a), we observed that an increase in  $(m_1)$  leads to an increase in flow of fluid on the walls of the channel and decrease in the cort of channel at  $y \in (-0.7, 0.9)$ . Figure (1-b), shows the impact of  $(\phi_1)$  on the velocity profile, it have found that the magnitude of velocity reduces at all the channel and especially at the lower wall of the channel. Figure (1-c,d,e) displays the effects of parameters  $(a, b \& \theta_1)$  on the velocity, it have noted that their behavior on velocity is opposite to phase difference's behavior on it. The efforts of M,  $\lambda_1$ ,  $N_0$  and  $\beta_1$  on the velocity distribution have sketched on the figures (1-f,g,h,i) and we noticed that the rising values of the last parameters results an increase to amount of flow on the sides of the channel and decreasing in the center.







#### 5.2 Temperature's characteristics

By Eq. (4-12), we can see that the distribution of fluid's temperature is a function of y. figure (2) have designed to show the changes of temperature distribution for various values of  $m_1, \phi_1, a, b, M, \lambda_1, \rho_1, N_0, \overline{\Omega} \notin \beta$ ,  $m Ec D_f Sci D_a Sor \theta_1, \beta$ , figure (2-a) have drawn to explain the effect of non-uniform parameter of channel  $m_1$  on fluid's temperature, we have seen that the temperature increase on the walls of channel but it decreases in the part of center of channel when  $y \in (-1.2, 0.2)$ . The impact of phase difference  $\phi_1$  on the distribution of temperature, it observed that an increase in this parameter leads to reduce in the heat of fluid

on the lower part of channel but there is a slight increase in the cort of channel when  $y \in (-0.8, 0.02)$  a of wave's amplind we can see that in figure (2-b). opposite effectiveness can see in figure (2-c)for the influence of wave's amplitude a on the heat of fluids and we see that it's temperature is low in the area when  $y \in (-1.2, 0.3)$ . Figure (2-d,e,f,g,h,i) are displayed the efforts of wave's amplitude b, fluid's density  $\rho_1$ , fluid's viscosity  $N_0$ , rotation parameter  $\overline{\Omega}$ , inclination angle of magnetic force  $\beta$  and Darcy number  $D_a$  on heats distribution, we have noted that the temperature of fluid increases in the all parts of channel with an increase of these parameters. adverse effective can notice in figure (2-j,k) for the actions of Hartmann number M and fluid's material parameter  $\lambda_1$ . Figure(2-1,m,n,o,p,q,r) is sketched to show the impress of Prandtl number Prn, Eckert number Ec, Dufour number  $D_f$ , Schmidt number Sci, half width e, soret number Sor and volume flow rate  $\theta_1$ , on the fluid will raise at the middle of the channel but it goes down little at the endings of walls. In figure (2-s), the effectuation of slip parameter  $\beta_1$  on the fluid's temperature is offered, we have seen that this parameter show up cross attitude for the prandtl number's manner Prn on the heat of fluid.







#### 5.3 Concentration's Profile

By equation (4-13), we can notice that the fluid's concentration is a function of v. figure (3)have drown to show the variation of concentration distribution for sundry value of  $m_1, \phi_1, a, b, M, \lambda_1, \rho_1, N_0, \overline{\Omega}, e, \beta, \Pr{n, Ec, D_f, Sci, D_a, Sor, \theta_1}$  and  $\beta_1$ . The concentration's profile is opposite of temperature profile and the variables have behaved inverse action on concentration than a fluid's heat. Figure (3-a) have depicted to state the effect of non-regularity parameter of channel  $m_1$  on fluid's concentration, we have seen that the concentration decreases at the walls of the channel but it have started to increase by a slightly way at the upper wall when  $y \in (0.2, 1.5)$ . Opposite conduct on the impact of (b) which have shown in figure (3-b). figure (3c,d,e,f) are displayed the efforts of M,  $\lambda_1$ ,  $N_0$  and  $\phi_1$ , we have noted that the concentration is an increasing function of these parameters. figure (3-g,h,I,j,k,l) are sketched to clarify the actions of  $\rho_1, N_0, \overline{\Omega}, e, \beta, D_a$  and a, we have observed that the concentration is an decreasing function of these parameters. the activity of Prn on the fluid's concentration have formalized in figure (3m), we have perceived that the concentration is less in the center of channel but it is more at the walls of the channel. Similar effectiveness for the influence of  $Ec_1, D_1, Sci_2, Sci_2$  and  $\theta_1$  and their efficacy have shown in figure (3-n, o, p, q), but we can see the inverse impress for the parameter  $\beta_1$  and have seen it's influence in figure (3-s).







#### 5.4 Phenomenon of fluid's waves stream

The phenomenon of fluid's trapping is an motivating them in wave's transporting of fluids. The formulation of an inwardly revolving bolus of fluid through enclosed stream lines is known by trapping and this trapping bolus is derived a head a long with the contracted waves. The impacts of various parameters like  $m_1, \phi_1, a, b, M, \lambda_1, \rho_1, N_0, \overline{\Omega}, e, \beta, \Pr n, Ec, D_f, Sci, D_a, Sor, \theta_1$  and  $\beta_1$  on trapping have seen through the figures (4-17). Figures (4-a,b)-(7-a,b) show that the number and size of trapping bolus increase with an increase of  $m_1, a, \rho_1$  and  $\beta_1$ . Inverse situation can noticed in the figures (8-a,b)-(12-a,b) for the actions of  $\phi_1, M, \lambda_1, N_0$  and  $\overline{\Omega}$ . The effect of b is sketched in figure (13-a,b), at the beginning, we have noted that there is a connected wave but it have taken to separated different waves which

on

is increasing in volume and number. The influence of e have illustrated in figure (14-a,b), it have observed there is an increasing in volume and number of bolus in the right side of channel when 0.8 < x < 1.5 and there is a decreasing in the size and number of bolus in the left part of channel when 0 < x < 0.6. Similar effect for the activity of  $\beta$  and  $D_a$  on the waves of fluid and their effect have represented in figure (15-a,b)-(16-a,b) respectively, and we have noticed that there is clear boost in number of bolus in the right wall of channel when 0.8 < x < 1.5. Where as in figure (17-a,b), we have viewed the contrary demeanor for the work of  $\theta_1$  on the fluid's waves, we have recognized that the bolus of fluid have gone down in number for both sides of channel but they have enhanced in the size.









**Fig** (4-a,b,...,n): Effect of parameters on streamline  $m_1 = 1.5, t = 0.01, \phi_1 \rightarrow \pi / 6, a = 0.2, b = 0.3, M = 3, \lambda_1 = 1.5, \rho_1 = 0.1, N = 0.2, \overline{\Omega} = 1, e = 1, Da = 1, \theta_1 = 0.5, \beta_1 = 0.5$ 

#### 6- Inferred notes for the problem

In the present study, we deal with the waveform transport of non-Newtonian fluid under the combined influence of inclined magnetic field and heat /mass transfer in the porous medium of non-symmetric inclined channel by using the effect of rotation parameter of the channel. Thus through our study we have conclude the following observations:

- 1. On the velocity's distribution, there is an enhancement on it's profile with an increase values of non-uniform parameter (m<sub>1</sub>) of the channel, amplitudes of channel (a& b), Hartmann number M, fluid's material parameter λ<sub>1</sub>, fluid's viscosity N<sub>0</sub>, volume flow rate of fluid θ<sub>1</sub> and slip parameter β<sub>1</sub>. Opposite case is satisfied with an increase values of phase of fluid's wave (φ<sub>1</sub>), fluid's density ρ<sub>1</sub>. Rotation parameter of the channel Ω, half-width of channel (e) and slopping angle of magnetic field β.
- 2. On temperature's distribution ; there is an ascending on it's profile with an rising magnitude of left amplitude of wave (b), fluid's density  $\rho_1$ , darcy number  $D_a$ , rotation

parameter  $\overline{\Omega}$ , half-width of channel (e) and slopping angle of magnetic field  $\beta$ , inverse status is achieved with an increase of Hartmann number M, fluid's material parameter  $\lambda_1$  and fluid's viscosity  $N_0$ .

- **3.** With an increase of right amplitude of wave *a*. There is clear increasing on fluid's heat on left wall of the channel and there is slight reducing in the middle part of the channel. We can see the opposite behavior for the influence of wave's phase.
- 4. With an increase of non-uniform parameter of channel and slip parameter  $\beta_1$ . There is clear increasing on fluid's temperature on the walls of the channel and it decreases at the center of channel. The contrary case can be seen with an increase of prandtl number Prn, Eckert number Ec, Dufour number  $D_f$ , Schmidt number Sci, soret numbe Sorand volume flow rate of the wave  $\theta_1$ .
- 5. There is a seriousness relationship between the distribution of velocity of fluid and it's temperature.
- 6. There is discrepant relationship between the distribution of fluid's temperature and it's concentration. So, we have noticed that the fluid's concentration is an ascending function of the parameters  $M, \lambda_1, N_0$  and it is decreasing function of the parameters

 $\rho_1, \overline{\Omega}, e, \beta, D_a, a$ .

- 7. With an increase of the following parameters  $Prn, Ec, D_f, Sci, Sor, \theta_1$ , the fluid's concentration have increased at the walls of the channel and have decreased at the center of the channel. We can observe the inverse case with an increase of  $(m_1, b, \beta_1)$ .
- 8. The number and size of the trapping bolus have increased with an increase of  $m_1, (a, b), \rho_1 \text{ and } \beta_1$ . Opposite p light with an increase of  $\phi_1, M, \lambda_1, N_0 \text{ and } \overline{\Omega}$ .
- 9. With increase values of parameters,  $(e, \beta, D_a)$ , there is clear increasing in size and number of bolus in the right side of channel and clear decreasing in it in the left side of channel.
- 10. The influence of volume flow rate  $\theta_1$  on the trapping bolus of fluid's waves have promoted basically the size of these bolus, but it have negative effect on their number on both sides of channels walls.

# 6 References

- [1] Sceidgger, A. E. (1963). The physics of flow through a porous media. University of Toronto press.
- [2] Srinivas S and Gayathri R. (2009). Peristaltic transport of a Newtonian fluid in a vertical asymmetricchannel with heat transfer and porous medium. *Applied Mathematics and Computation,, 215*, pp:185-196.
- [3] kothandapani, M., & Srnivas, S. (2008). Peristaltic transport of a Jeffery fluid under the effect of magnetic field in an asymmetric channel. *Physics Letter A*, 372, pp:4586-4591.
- [4] Mahmood, S. R., Afifi, N. A., & Al. Isede, H. M. (2011). Effect of porous medium and magnetic field on the peristaltic transport of a Jeffery fluid. *Journal of Math Analysis*, 5, pp:1025-1034.
- [5] Rathod, V. P., & Channakote, M. M. (2011). A study of ureteral peristalsis in cylindrical tube through porous medium. *Advance in Applied Science Research*, 134-140.
- [6] Stud V K, Sephone G S and Mishra R K G. (1977). MHD peristaltic flow of a jeffrey fluid in an a symmetric channel with partial slip. *Bull. Bial, 39*, PP: 358-390.
- [7] Srivastava L M and Srivastava V P. (1984). Peristaltic transport of blood: casson model-II. J. Biomech, 17, 821-829.

- [8] Mekheimer Kh S. (2008). Effect of the induced magnetic field on peristaltic flow of a couple stress fluid. *Phys. Lett. A, 372*(23), PP: 4271-4278.
- [9] Wang Y, Hayat T, Ali N and oberlack M. (2008). Magnetohydrodynamic peristaltic motion of a sisko fluid in a symmetric channel. *Physica A. Staistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 387(2-3), PP: 347-362.
- [10] Kothandapani M and Srinivas S. (2008). Peristaltic transport of a jeffrey fluid under the effect of magnetic field in an asymmetric channel. *Int. J Non-linear Mech, 43*, PP: 915-924.
- [11] Hayat T, Ahmed N and Ali N. (2008). Effects of an endoscope and magnetic field on the peristalsis involving Jeffrey fluid. *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, 13*, PP: 1581–1591.
- [12] Hayat T, Qurashi M U and Hussain Q. (2009). Effect of heat transfer on the peristaltic flow of an electrically conducting fluid in a porous space. *Comm. Non linear Sci. Number, 33*(4), PP: 1862-1873.
- [13] Hayat T, Hina S and Hendi A A. (2012). Slip Effect on peristaltic transport of a maxwell fluid with heat and mass transfer. *Journal of Mechanics in medicine and Biology*, *12*(1), PP: 1-22.
- [14] Ali N, Sajid M, Javed T and Abbas Z. (2010). Heat transfer analysis of peristaltic flow in a curved channel. *Int. J. Heat Mass transfer, 53*(15-16), PP: 3319-3325.
- [15] Ali N, Wang Y, Hayat T and oberlack M. (2009). slip effects on the peristaltic flow of a third grade fluid in a circular cylindrical tube. *J. Appl. Mech*(76), PP: 011006-011015.
- [16] Chaube M K, Pandey S K and Tripathi D. (2010). Slip effects on Peristaltic transport of a micropolar fluid. *Appl. Math. Sci*(4), PP: 2105-2117.
- [17] Abdulhadi A M and Al-Hadad A H. (2015). Slip Effect on the Peristaltic Transport of MHD Fluid through a Porous Medium with Variable Viscosity. *Iraqi Journal of Science*, 56(3B), pp: 2346-2363.
- [18] Abd-Alla, A M. and Abo-Dahab, S M. (2015). Magnetic field and rotation effects on the peristaltic transport of a Jeffery fluid in an asymmetric channel. *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials, 374*, PP: 680-689.
- [19] Mahmoud S R, Abd-alla A M and El-Sheikh M A. (2011). Effect of the rotation on wave motion through cylindrical bore in a micro-polar porous medium. *International Modern Physics* B(25), PP: 2712-2728.
- [20] Abdulhadi A M and Al-Hadad A H. (2016). Effects of rotation and MHD on the Nonlinear Peristaltic Flow of a Jeffery Fluid in an Asymmetric Channel through a Porous Medium. *Iraqi Journal of Science*, *57*(10), PP: 223-240.

# Intuitionistic fuzzy S-filter in Q-algebra

# Habeeb Kareem Abdullah<sup>1</sup>, Rakzan Shaker Naji<sup>2</sup>

Mathematics Department, University of Kufa

<sup>1</sup>habeebk.abdullah@uokufa.edu.iq

Mathematics Department, University of Kufa

<sup>2</sup>shakrakzan192@gmail.com

**Abstract :** This project aimed to concept types intuitionistic fuzzy S-filter and intuitionistic fuzzy complete S-filter of Q-algebra. Showing the relationship between the different types of intuitionistic fuzzy filters and condition that must be put on Q-algebra using an example putting forward to explain that .Explore the properties of the types of intuitionistic fuzzy filter, finally a chart has been drawn up showing the types and relationship between them .

**Keywords:** *Q*-algebra, S-filter, complete S-filter, intuitionistic fuzzy S-filter, intuitionistic fuzzy complete S-filter.

# 1. Introduction :

In 1965,Zadeh .L. [14] introduced in the real physical world the notion of fuzzy sub set of the set as a tool for verbal doubt. Atanassov K.T. [4,5] further described The generalization of Intuitionistic fuzzy, Takeuti .G and Titanti S.[13] have also intuitionistic fuzzy sets , but Titanti S. intuitionistic fuzzy mysterious logic in the narrow sense and they derive from the set theory of logic which they said to by (Intuitionistic fuzzy set theory). In 2001 Neggers .J. and Ahn SS,KimHS,[11] We introduced a new idea ,called *Q*-algebra, *Q*-algebra considered generalization of some types algebras (BCK/ BCH/BCI-algebras).In this work, we introduce the idea of (Intuitionistic fuzzy S-filter,Intuitionistic fuzzy *C*-S-filter) of *Q*-algebra, also some properties , relationship and condition between different Intuitionistic fuzzy filters of *Q*-algebra.

#### 2. Background:

In this part of our subject, we have provided some basic concepts of Q-algebra, types of filters and we need in our work.

#### Definition 2.1:[11]

A set  $\mathcal{X}$  is called Q- algebra with a binary operation " \* " and constant "0", if  $\forall x, y, z \in \mathcal{X}$ , then

 $Q_1 - x * x = 0$ 

 $Q_2^{-} x * 0 = x$ 

 $\overline{Q_3} - (x * y) * z = (x * z) * y$ 

A binary relation denoted  $\leq$  we will define on  $\mathcal{X}$ , then  $x \leq y \Leftrightarrow x * y = 0$ ,  $\forall x, y \in \mathcal{X}$ . *Definition 2.2:[2]* 

Let  $(\mathcal{X}, *, 0)$  be a Q-algebra, if there is a special element  $e \in \mathcal{X}$  if  $x \leq e$ , for all  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ , then e is called an unit of  $\mathcal{X}$ . A Q- algebra with unit is called the bounded

# Remark2.3:[2]

1-we denoted e \* x by  $x^*$  for each  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ , such that  $\mathcal{X}$  a bounded Q – algebra.

2- In a bounded *Q*-algebra , then  $x^* * y = y^* * x$ , *if*  $x, y \in X$ 

# Remark2.4:

**From now on ,all** Q – algebra is a bounded with unite is unique . also the sets X and Y are Q – algebra . *Definition* 2.5:[11]

If  $f: (X, *, 0) \rightarrow (Y, *, 0)$  is a mapping, then f is said to be (1) Homomorphism . if f(x \* y) = f(x) \* f(y), for all  $x, y \in X$ . (2) Monorphism. if f is an injective homomorphism . (3) Epimorphismif f is a surjective homomorphism . (4) Isomorphisomif f is a surjective and injective homomorphism. **Proposition 2.6:[8]** 

Let  $f: (\mathcal{X}, *, 0) \rightarrow (\mathcal{Y}, *, 0)$  be a mapping epimorphism, then:

(1)  $f(x^*) = (f(x))^*$ , for each  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ 

(2) if e is a units of X and e' is a units of Y, then f(e) = e'.
Definition2.7: [2]
If x\*\* = x then x it is called an involution, such that x ∈ X. If for all x ∈ X is an involution then X is called an involutory.
Proposition2.8:[12]
In an involutory Q- algebra, for all x, y ∈ X, then.
1- If x ≤ y\*then y ≤ x\*
2- x \* y\* = y \* x\*
Definition2.9:[4]
The intuitionistic fuzzy sets (shortly, IFS) are defined on a non-empty set X, as objects having the form

 $\mathcal{A} = \{ (x, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)) : x \in \mathcal{X} \}, \text{ where the functions } \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{X} \to [0, 1],$ 

 $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}: \mathcal{X} \to [0,1]$  mean the degree of membership and mean the degree of nonmember ship ,correspondingly , such that  $0 \leq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) + \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \leq 1$ . For ease the form is used  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$ .

An IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x))$  of a non-empty set  $\mathcal{X}$ . Then (1) $\vartheta \mathcal{A} = \{(x, 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)): x \in \mathcal{X}\} = \{(x, \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)): x \in \mathcal{X}\}$ (2)  $\Box \mathcal{A} = \{(x, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), 1 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)): x \in \mathcal{X}\} = \{(x, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \overline{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}}(x)): x \in \mathcal{X}\}$ Definition2.11:[7] Let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x))$  and  $\mathcal{K} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(x))$  the sets of  $\mathcal{X}$ , then (1) $\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{K} = \{(x, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \lor \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \land \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(x)): x \in \mathcal{X}\}$   $=\{(x, max (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x)), min(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(x)): x \in \mathcal{X}\}.$ (2) $\mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{K} = \{(x, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \land \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \lor \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(x)): x \in \mathcal{X}\}.$  $=\{(x, min(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x)), max(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(x))): x \in \mathcal{X}\}.$ 

Definition2.12:[7]

Let  $\{\mathcal{A}_i, i \in \Delta\}$  by a family of IFS in set  $\mathcal{X}$ . then

 $1\text{-}\cap\mathcal{A}_{i}=\left\{\left(\,x,\forall\,\,\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{i}}\left(x\right),\wedge\,\,\varOmega_{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{i}}\left(x\right)\right):x\in\mathcal{X}\right\}.$ 

 $2\text{-}\cup\mathcal{A}_{i}=\{(x,\vee \ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{i}}(x),\wedge \ \varOmega_{\mathcal{A}\mathrm{i}}(x))\colon x\in \ \mathcal{X}\}.$ 

Where  $(\land \mathcal{A}_i)(x) = inf \{\delta_{\mathcal{A}_i}(x), i \in \Delta\}$ , and  $(\lor \delta_{\mathcal{A}_i})(x) = sup\{\delta_{\mathcal{A}_i}(x), i \in \Delta\}$ 

#### Definition2.13:[4]

If  $f: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$  is a mapping, IFS  $\mathcal{K} = \{ \langle \mathcal{Y}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathcal{Y}), \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathcal{Y}) > : \mathcal{Y} \in \mathcal{Y} \}$  in  $\mathcal{Y}$ , the  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})$ pre-image of  $\mathcal{K}$  under f is the IFS in  $\mathcal{X}$  denoted by  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{K})$  is the IFS in  $\mathcal{X}$  defined by :

 $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{K}) = \{(x, \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x), \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\varOmega_{\mathcal{K}}(x))), x \in \mathcal{X}\}, \text{ such that }:$ 

 $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathfrak{Q}_{\mathcal{K}}(x)) = \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathcal{K}}\big(\mathfrak{f}(x)\big), \, \mathfrak{f}^{-1}\big(\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x)\big) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(\mathfrak{f}(x)).$ 

If IFS  $\mathcal{A} = \{(x, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)) : x \in \mathcal{X}\}$  in , the image of  $\mathcal{X}$  under  $\mathfrak{f}$  denoted by :  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{A}) = \{(\mathcal{Y}, \mathfrak{f}_{sup}(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{Y})), \mathfrak{f}_{inf}(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{Y}))) : \mathcal{Y} \in \mathcal{Y}\}, \text{ where }$ 

$$\mathfrak{f}_{sup}(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\boldsymbol{\psi})) = \begin{cases} sup_{x \in \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\psi})} \delta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) & \text{, if } \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) \neq \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}, \text{ and}$$

$$f_{\inf} \left( \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi) \right) = \begin{cases} \inf_{x \in f^{-1}(\psi)} \gamma_{\mathcal{A}}(x) & \text{, if } f^{-1}(\psi) \neq \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}, \text{ for all } \psi \in \mathcal{Y}$$

Definition2.14:[12]

If  $\mathcal{N} \sqsubseteq \mathcal{X}$ , then  $\mathcal{N}$  is said to be a *Q*-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , if for all  $x, y \in \mathcal{X}$ , then  $F_1 - e \in \mathcal{N}$  $F_2 - (x^* * y^*)^* \in \mathcal{N}, y \in \mathcal{N} \text{ implies } x \in \mathcal{N}.$ Definition2.15:[1] An IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is called intuitionistic fuzzy Q-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , (briefly IFS-Q -filter), if:  $\mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{l}}\text{-}\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(e\right) \geqslant \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x\right), \, \mathrm{and} \ \, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(e\right) \leqslant \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x\right), \forall x \in \mathcal{X}$  $I_{2} \cdot \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \geq \min \left\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((x^{*} * y^{*})^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(y) \right\},$  $I_{3}-\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((x^{*} * y^{*})^{*}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(y)\}, \forall x, y \in \mathcal{X}.$ Definition2.16:[12] If  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ ,  $\mathcal{F}$  it is called complete *Q*-filter of  $\mathcal{X}_{,(\text{shortly}, \mathcal{C} - Q - filter)$ , if : C<sub>2</sub>-  $(x^* * y^*)^* \in \mathcal{F}$ , ∀  $y \in \mathcal{F}$  implies  $x \in \mathcal{F}$ , for all  $x, y \in \mathcal{X}$ ,  $C_1 - e \in \mathcal{F}$ Definition2.17:[1] If  $\mathcal{F}$  is a *C*-*Q*-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ . An *IFS*  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  is called intuitionist fuzzy *C*-*Q*-filter at  $\mathcal{F}$  (briefly, IFS-*C*-*Q*filter), if:  $I_{C1} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(e) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(x)$ , and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(x), \forall x \in \mathcal{X}$  $I_{C2^{-}} \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(x) \geq \min \left\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}} \left( (x^* * y^*)^* \right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(y) \right\}, \forall y \in \mathcal{F}$  $I_{C3} - \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(x) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((x^* * \psi^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\psi)\}, \forall \psi \in \mathcal{F}.$ Definition2.18: [12] Let  $\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{N}$  is called a  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}, if$ :  $S_{2^{-}}(y^{**} * x^{*})^{*} \in \mathcal{N}, y \in \mathcal{N} \text{ implies } x^{*} \in \mathcal{N}.$  $S_1 - e \in \mathcal{N}$ . Proposition2.19:[12] Every *Q*-filter is an S-filter. Definition2.20:[12] If  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ , then  $\mathcal{F}$  is called a complete  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter, ( $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter), if :  $\mathcal{C}_1 - e \in \mathcal{F}$ .  $\mathcal{C}_2$  -  $(\mathcal{Y}^{**} * x^*)^* \in \mathcal{F}, \forall \mathcal{Y} \in \mathcal{F} \text{ implies } x^* \in F; \forall x, \mathcal{Y} \in \mathcal{X}$ Proposition2.21:[12] I- Every *Q*-filter is *C*-*S*-filter. II-Every C- Q-filter is C- S-filter. III- Every S-filter is C- S-filter Proposition2.22:[12] Every C-S-filter an involuntary O-algebra C-O-filter. Definition2.23:[14] A fuzzy set  $\vartheta$  in set  $\mathcal{X}$  is a function  $\vartheta: \mathcal{X} \to [0,1]$ . If  $\vartheta$  and  $\Omega$  are two fuzzy subset of  $\mathcal{X}$ , then by  $\vartheta \leq \Omega$ , we mean  $\vartheta(x) \leq \Omega(x), \forall x \in \mathcal{X}$ . The complement of  $\vartheta$  [symbolize it,  $\overline{\vartheta}$ ] is the fuzzy set in  $\mathcal{X}$  by :  $\overline{\vartheta}(x) = 1 - \vartheta(x), \forall x \in \mathcal{X}$ . Definition2.24:[10] If  $\mathcal{X} \neq \emptyset$  and a fuzzy set  $\vartheta$  in  $\mathcal{X}$ , for any  $m \in [0,1]$ , the sets I)  $L(\Omega; m) = \{x: \Omega(x) \le m\}$ , it's said to be lower *m*-level cut of  $\mathcal{X}$ . II)  $U(\vartheta; m) = \{x: \vartheta(x) \ge m\}$ , it's said to be upper *m*-level cut of  $\mathcal{X}$ . **Definition2.25:** [12]

A fuzzy subset  $\vartheta$  in  $\mathcal{X}$  is called a fuzzy  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter (briefly F- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter), if 1- $\vartheta(e) \ge \vartheta(x), \forall x \in \mathcal{X},$ 2- $\vartheta(x^*) \ge min\{ \vartheta((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta(j)\}, \forall x, j \in \mathcal{X}.$ 

#### 3. Intuitionistic fuzzy S-filter

In this section , we provide a description of Intuitionistic fuzzy S- filter, and we are studying its relationship with Intuitionistic fuzzy Q-filter in Q-algebra.

Definition3.1:

In IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  in  $\mathcal{X}$  is said to be an Intuitionistic fuzzy  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ ,( briefly, IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter),if :  $\mathcal{S}_1 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \ge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ , and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \le \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ , for all  $x \in \mathcal{X}$  $\mathcal{S}_2 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \ge \min \{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((\mathcal{Y}^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{Y})\}$  $\mathcal{S}_3 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \le \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((\mathcal{Y}^{**} * x^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{Y})\}, \forall x, y \in \mathcal{X}$ 

#### Example3.2:

Let  $\mathcal{X} = \{0, r, s, t, m\}$ , then  $(\mathcal{X}, *, 0)$  is Q - algebra, with unit t, as shown table : **Table 1.** 

*	0	r	8	t	т
0	0	0	0	0	0
1~	1~	0	r	0	0
8	8	8	0	0	0
t	t	t	0	0	t
т	т	т	r	0	0

If,

$$\begin{split} \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) &= \begin{cases} 0.6 & \text{if } x = t, s \\ 0.1 & \text{if } x = 0, r, m \end{cases} \qquad \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.3 & \text{if } x = t, s \\ 0.7 & \text{if } x = 0, r, m \end{cases} \\ \text{Then } IFS \ \mathcal{A} &= (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}) \text{ is an IFS-S-filter of } \mathcal{X}, \text{ since:} \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) &\geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \text{and } \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) &\leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x), \forall x \in \mathcal{X} \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(s^*) &= 0.1 \geq \min \{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((t^{**} * s^*)^*, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) \} = 0.1 \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(s^*) &= 0.1 \geq \min \{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * s^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.1 \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.1 \geq \min \{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((t^{**} * t^*)^*, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) \} = 0.1 \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.1 \geq \min \{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * s^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.1 \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * s^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((t^{**} * s^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((t^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^{**} * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^* * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^* * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((s^* * t^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s) \} = 0.7 \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(t^*) &= 0.7 \leq \max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(s^*) + 0.7 \leq \max \{$$

Then *IFS*  $\mathcal{K} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{K}})$  is not IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ ,since :  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(s^*) = 0.5 \geq \min \{\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}((r^{**} * s^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(r)\} = 0.3.$ *Proposition 3.3:* 

Every IFS- *Q*-filter of *Q*-algebra ( $\mathcal{X}$ ,\*,0) is IFS- *S*-filter.

# **Proof** :

Let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  be an IFS- *Q*-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , then by Definition (2.14), we have :  $\mathcal{S}_1 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ , and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$ 

$$\begin{split} &\mathcal{S}_2 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x\right) \geqslant \min\left\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left((x^* \ast z^*)^*, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(z\right)\right\}, \forall x, z \in \mathcal{X} \text{ , then} \\ &\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x^*\right) \geqslant \min\left\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left((x^{**} \ast z^*)^*, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(z\right)\right\}, \left[\text{by Remark}(2.3)2\right], \text{ we will get:} \\ &\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x^*\right) \geqslant \min\left\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left((z^{**} \ast x^*)^*\right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(z\right)\right\}, \forall x, z \in \mathcal{X} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{3}\text{-}\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x\right) &\leqslant \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left((x^{*}*z^{*})^{*},\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(z\right)\},\forall x,z\in\mathcal{X},\text{then}\\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x^{*}\right) &\leqslant \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left((x^{**}*z^{*})^{*},\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(z\right)\},\text{[by Remark(2.3),2)], we will get:}\\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x^{*}\right) &\leqslant \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left((z^{**}*x^{*})^{*}\right),\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(z\right)\},\forall x,z\in\mathcal{X} \end{split}$$

Then  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS- S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

#### Remark 3.4:

The converse Proposition (3.3) is not generally true as the next example.

#### Example3.5:

Let  $\mathcal{X} = \{0, r, d, t, m\}$ , note that  $(\mathcal{X}, *, 0)$  is Q - algebra, and m is unit of  $\mathcal{X}$ , by the table :

Tuble 2.						
	*	0	r	d	t	m
	0	0	0	0	0	0
	r	r	0	0	0	0
	d	d	0	0	0	0

t	t	0	0	0	0
m	m	t	t	d	0

If,

 $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.5 & \text{if } x = 0, d, m \\ 0.2 & \text{if } x = r, t \end{cases}$  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.4 & if \ x = 0, d, m \\ 0.6 & if \ x = r, t \end{cases}$ Then  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS-S-filter but not IFS-Q-filter, since :  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(t) = 0.2 \ge min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((t^* * \mathfrak{m}^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{m})\} = min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(t), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{m})\} = 0.5$ **Proposition 3.6:** Every IFS- S-filter on an involutory Q-algebra (X, \*, 0) is IFS-Q-filter. **Proof**: If IFS-S-filter  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  of an involutory *Q*-algebra, then  $1-\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ , and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$  $2 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^{**}) \ge \min \{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((z^{**} * x^{**})^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(z) \}, [\text{ by Proposition}(2.8, 1)]$  $= \min \left\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( (x^{***} * z^{*})^{*} \right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} (z) \right\}$  $=\min\left\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\left(x^{*}\ast z^{*}\right)^{*}\right),\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(z\right)\right\}$  $3 \cdot \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^{**}) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((z^{**} * x^{**})^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(z)\}$  $= max \left\{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}} \left( (x^{***} * z^{*})^{*} \right), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}} \left( z \right) \right\}$  $= max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((x^* * z^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(z)\}, for every x, z \in \mathcal{X}\}$ thus  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS-*Q*-filter. **Proposition3.7** :

Let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  be IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ . Then  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \ge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(y)$  and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \le \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(y)$ , if  $y^{**} \le x^*, \forall x, y \in \mathcal{X}$ 

#### Proof :-

$$\begin{split} if \ \psi^{**} &\leqslant x^*, \text{then } \psi^{**} * x^* = 0, \text{ such that } x, \psi \in \mathcal{X} \text{ . Since } \mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}) \text{ is IFS- } \mathcal{S}\text{-filter of } \mathcal{X}, \text{ then } \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) &\geqslant \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((\psi^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi)\} = \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((0)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi)\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi)\}, [\text{since } \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \geqslant \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)] \\ &= \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi) \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) &\leqslant \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((\psi^{**} * x^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi)\} = \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((0)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi)\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi)\}, \text{ since } \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \leqslant \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \\ &= \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi). \end{split}$$

#### Corollary3.8 :

If  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is a IFS-S-filter of involutory *Q*-algebra  $\mathcal{X}$ , then  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \ge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{Y})$  and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \le \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{Y})$  if  $x \le \mathcal{Y}^*$  for every  $x, \mathcal{Y} \in \mathcal{X}$ .

#### Proof :-

Let if  $x \leq y^*$ , then  $y^{**} \leq x^*$ , by Proposition ((2.8),2 and by Proposition (3.7), we have hence  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(y)$  and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(y)$ 

# **Proposition3.9**:

If  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is an IFS-  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , then :-1-  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(0)$ ,  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(0)$ ,  $\forall x \in \mathcal{X}$ . 2-  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^{**}) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ ,  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^{**}) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ , for all  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ . **Proof :-**Let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  be an IFS-  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter then :- $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \geq \min \{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((0^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(0)\}$ 

 $= \min \left\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( (e^* * x^*)^* \right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} (0) \right\}$ 

= min { $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}$  ((0 \*  $x^*$ )\*),  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}$  (0)}  $= \min \left\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( (0)^* \right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} (0) \right\}$  $= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(0)\}$ [since  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \ge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ ]  $= \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(0)$ Similarly  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x^{*}\right) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(0\right), \forall x \in \mathcal{X}$  $2 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^{**}) \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((x^{**} * x^{**})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)\}$  $= \min \left\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( (0)^* \right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( x \right) \right\}$  $= \min \left\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( e \right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( x \right) \right\} \quad [\text{since } \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( e \right) \ge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \left( x \right)]$  $=\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ Similarly  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^{**}) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ . **Proposition3.10**: Let  $\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$  and  $a, d \in [0,1]$  such that a < d and  $0 \le a + d \le 1$ , if  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS ,defined the  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \begin{cases} d & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{N} \\ a & \text{if } o.w \end{cases}$  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \begin{cases} a & \text{if } x \in \mathcal{N} \\ d & \text{if } o. w \end{cases}$ Then  $\mathcal{N}$  is  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$  if and only if  $\mathcal{A}$  is IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter **Proof** :-Suppose that  $\mathcal{N}$  is a  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter and  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is not IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter,  $\exists x, j \in \mathcal{X}$ , such that  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) < min\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\} = d$ , thus  $(j^{**} * x^*)^*$ ,  $j \in \mathcal{N}$  [since  $\mathcal{N}$  is a  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter], then  $x^* \in \mathcal{N}$ , the implies  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) = d$ , it need to contradict. or,  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) > max \{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\} = a \text{, thus } (j^{**} * x^*)^*, j \in \mathcal{N} \text{ [since } \mathcal{N} \text{ is } \mathcal{S}\text{-filter] then } x^* \in \mathcal{N} \text{ the } x^* \in \mathcal{N} \text{, the } x^*$ implies  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) = a$ , it need to contradict. Thus  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS-S-filter of . Conversely, let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  be IFS-  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , and  $(j^{**} * x^*)^* \in \mathcal{N}, j \in \mathcal{N}$ ,  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \ge \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\} = d$  [since  $\mathcal{N}$  is IFS-  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter], then  $x^* \in \mathcal{N}$ And,  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\} = a$  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \leq a$ , then  $x^* \in \mathcal{N}$ , hence  $\mathcal{N}$  is a S-filter **Proposition 3.11:** An IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  of  $\mathcal{X}$  is IFS-S-filter if and only if  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}$  and  $\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}$  are F-S-filter. **Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  be IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , cleary,  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}$  is F-S-filter  $\forall x, j \in \mathcal{X}, so \ \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(e) = 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \ge 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(x)$  $\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(x^*) = 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \ge \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\}\}$  $= min\{1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*, 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j))\}$  $= min\{\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(j)\}, \text{then } \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}} \text{ is F- S-filter.}$ Conversely, let  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}$  and  $\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}$  be F-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}, \forall x, j \in \mathcal{X}$ , then  $S_{1} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \ge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x), and \ 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) = \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(e) \ge \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(x) = 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$ then  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \geq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$  $S_2 - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \ge \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\}$  $S_{3}-1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^{*}) = \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(x^{*}) \ge \min\{\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}, \overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}(j)\}$  $= min\{1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}} (j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), 1 - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}} (j)\}$  $= 1 - max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\}, so$  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \leq \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\}, then \ \mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}) \text{ is IFS-S-filter.}$ Corollary3.12 :-If IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  in  $\mathcal{X}$ , than  $\Box \mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \overline{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}})$  and  $\Diamond \mathcal{A} = (\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  are IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter if and only if  $\mathcal{A}$  is IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

Proof :-

If  $\Box \mathcal{A}$  and  $\Diamond \mathcal{A}$  are IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , than the fuzzy sets  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}$  and  $\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}$  are F-S-filter. Hence  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is an IFS-S-filter.

Conversely, suppose  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , than  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} = \overline{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}}$  and  $\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}$  are F-S-filter [by Proposition (3.11)] hence  $\Diamond \mathcal{A} = (\overline{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  and  $\Box \mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \overline{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}})$  are IFS-S-filter.

**Proposition 3.13:** 

Let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}) be$  an IFS of  $\mathcal{X}$  .then  $\mathcal{A}$  is IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$  if and only if the sets  $U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m)$  and  $L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$  are  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter or it's empty of  $\mathcal{X}, \forall m, n \in [0,1]$ **Proof:** 

If  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS- S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , and  $m, n \in [0,1], U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m) \neq \emptyset \neq L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$ by Definition (3.1), then  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \geq m$ , and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) \leq n$ , for some  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ , then  $e \in U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m) \cap L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$ , let  $x, j \in \mathcal{X}$ , and  $(j^{**} * x^*)^*, j \in U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m)$ , so  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left((j^{**} \ast x^{*})^{*}\right) \geq m \text{ and } \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(j\right) \geq m, \text{therefor } \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(x^{*}\right) \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left((j^{**} \ast x^{*})^{*}\right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(j\right)\} \geq m$ Then  $U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m)$  is S-filter. Similarly  $L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$  is S-filter. Conversely, we imposed  $U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m)$  and  $L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$  are S-filter or it's empty of X, if  $n, m \in [0,1]$ If we take any  $x \in \mathcal{X}$ , and  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = m$ ,  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = n$  we conclude that  $x \in \mathrm{U}(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}};m) \cap \mathrm{L}(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}};n), so\mathrm{U}(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}};m) \neq \emptyset \neq \mathrm{L}(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}};n), then \, \mathrm{U}(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}};m) and \, \mathrm{L}(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}};n)$ are S-filter concluded  $e \in U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m) \cap L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$ , hence  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \ge m = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x)$  and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = n, \forall x \in \mathcal{X}. \text{ Let } x, j \in \mathcal{X}, \text{if we take } m = \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\}$  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}\right) \ge m, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j) \ge m, so (j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}, j \in U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m)$ [by Definition (2.23)] then  $x^* \in U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m)$ [since  $U(\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}; m)$ is a  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter], so  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \geq m = \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\}.$ Let  $x, j \in \mathcal{X}$  if we take:  $n = max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j^{**} * x^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\},\$ then  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j^{**} * x^*) \leq n, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j) \leq n$ , so  $(j^{**} * x^*)^*, j \in L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$  [by Definition (2.23)], then  $x^* \in L(\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}; n)$ [since L( $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}$ ; n) is a  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter], so  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \leq n = max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j^{**} * x^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\}$ Then  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is an IFS- S-filter. Proposition3.14 : If  $\{A_i, i \in \Delta\}$  is an arbitrary family of IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , then  $\cap A_i$  is an IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ . **Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{A}_i$ ,  $i \in \Delta$  be IFS- S-filter, such that  $\mathcal{A}_i = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_i}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_i})$  then  $\mathcal{S}_{1}$ - $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(e) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x)$ , so  $\wedge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(e) \geq \wedge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x)$ , and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x), \text{so } \forall \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(e) \leq \forall \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x), \text{for all } x \in \mathcal{X} \text{and } i \in \Delta.$  $\mathcal{S}_{2^{-}} \quad \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x^{*}) \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j)\}$  $\wedge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x^{*}) \geq \wedge \{\min \{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}\}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j)\}$  $\wedge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x^{*}) \geq \min\{\wedge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \wedge \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j)\}$  $S_{3}$ -  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x^{*}) \leq max \{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}\}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j)\}, \forall x, j \in \mathcal{X}$ 

 $\forall \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_i}(x^*) \leq \forall \{ max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_i}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_i}(j) \} \}$ 

$$\forall \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(x^{*}) \leq max\{\forall \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \forall \Omega_{\mathcal{A}_{i}}(j)\}, \forall x, j \in \mathcal{X}$$

Then  $\cap \mathcal{A}_i$  is IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

# Remark3.15:

In general, the union of two IFS-S-filter is not needed ,as shown in the following example

**Example3.16**: If  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS- S-filter in Example (3.5) and if,  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.6 & if \ x = m \\ 0.1 & if \ x = 0, d, r, t \end{cases} \qquad \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.3 & if \ x = m \\ 0.8 & if \ x = 0, d, r, t \end{cases}$ Then *IFS*  $\mathcal{K} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{K}})$  is IFS- S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , But

$$\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \cup \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.6 \text{ if } x = \mathfrak{m} \\ 0.5 \text{ if } x = 0, d \\ 0.2 \text{ if } x = \mathfrak{r}, \mathfrak{t} \end{cases} \quad \Omega_{\mathcal{A}} \cup \Omega_{\mathcal{K}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0.3 \text{ if } x = \mathfrak{m} \\ 0.4 \text{ if } x = 0, d \\ 0.6 \text{ if } x = \mathfrak{r}, \mathfrak{t} \end{cases}$$

Then  $\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{K} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \cup \vartheta_{\mathcal{K}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}} \cup \Omega_{\mathcal{K}})$  is not IFS- S-filter, were

 $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \cup \vartheta_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\mathfrak{r}^{*}\right) = 0.2 \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \cup \vartheta_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\left(d^{**} * \mathfrak{r}^{*}\right)^{*}\right), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}} \cup \vartheta_{\mathcal{H}}\left(d\right)\} = 0.5.$ 

# Proposition 3.17 :

If f is epimorphosim mapping from  $(\mathcal{X}, *, 0)$  into  $(\mathcal{Y}, *, 0)$ , and  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is an IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{Y}$ , then  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})$  is an IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

#### **Proof:**

If  $x, y \in \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{Y}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{1} - \vartheta_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(e) &= \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(e)\right) \geqslant \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(x)\right) = \vartheta_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(x), \forall x \in \mathcal{X} \\ \mathcal{\Omega}_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(e) &= \mathcal{\Omega}_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(e) \leqslant \mathcal{\Omega}_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(x)\right) = \mathcal{\Omega}_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(x), \forall x \in \mathcal{X}, [\text{since }\mathcal{A} \text{ is IFS-} \mathcal{S}\text{-filter}]. \\ \mathcal{S}_{2} - \vartheta_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(x^{*}) &= \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(x^{*}) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\left(\mathfrak{f}(x)\right)^{*}\right) \geqslant \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{Y})\right)^{**} * \mathfrak{f}(x)\right)^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{Y})\right)\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{Y}^{**} * x^{*})^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{Y}))\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(\mathcal{Y}^{**} * x^{*})^{*}, \vartheta_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(\mathcal{Y})\} \\ \mathcal{S}_{3} - \mathcal{\Omega}_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(x^{*}) &= \mathcal{\Omega}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(x^{*}) = \mathcal{\Omega}_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(x)\right)^{*} \leqslant \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left((\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{Y}))^{**} * (\mathfrak{f}(x))^{*}\right), \mathcal{\Omega}_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{Y})\right)\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{Y}^{**} * x^{*})^{*}\right), \mathcal{\Omega}_{f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(\mathcal{Y})\} \end{split}$$

Hence  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{A})$  is an IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

#### Proposition3.18 :-

Let  $\mathfrak{f}$  be epimorphosim mapping from  $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{s}, \mathfrak{0})$  into  $(\mathfrak{Y}, \mathfrak{s}, \mathfrak{0})$  and  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is an IFS in  $\mathcal{Y}$ , such that  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A}) = (\vartheta_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}, \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})})$  is an IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , then  $\mathcal{A}$  is an IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{Y}$ . **Proof :-**

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{1} - \forall \psi \in \mathcal{Y} , \exists x \in \mathcal{X} , \text{such that } \mathfrak{f}(x) &= \psi \text{, then} \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\grave{e}) &= \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}\left(\mathfrak{f}(e)\right) = \vartheta_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(e) \geqslant \vartheta_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(x) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(x)) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi), \forall \psi \in \mathcal{Y}, \text{ and} \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\grave{e}) &= \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(e)) = \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(e) \leqslant \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(x) = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(x)) = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi). \\ \mathcal{S}_{2}\text{- Let } \mathfrak{t}, \psi \in \mathcal{Y}. \text{Then } \mathfrak{f}(x) = \psi, \text{ and } \mathfrak{f}(s) = \mathfrak{t}, \text{ for some } x, s \in \mathcal{X}. \text{ It follow that} \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\psi^{*}) &= \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(x))^{*} = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(x)^{*}) = \vartheta_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(x)^{*} \geqslant \min\{\vartheta_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}((s^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(s)\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**}) * \mathfrak{f}(x^{*}))^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**}) * \mathfrak{f}(x^{*}))^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \Omega_{\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{A})}(s)\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**}) * \mathfrak{f}(x^{*}))^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**}) * \mathfrak{f}(x^{*}))^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**} * x^{*})^{*}), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**}) * \mathfrak{f}(x^{*}))^{*}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**} * y^{*})^{*}), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s))\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**} * y^{*})^{*}), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{f}(s^{**} \otimes s$$

**Proposition3.19 :-**If  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , then  $\mathcal{X}_{\vartheta} = \{x \in \mathcal{X}, \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e)\}$ and  $\mathcal{X}_{\Omega} = \{x \in \mathcal{X}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x) = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e)\}$  are S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ . **Proof :** Let  $x, j \in \mathcal{X}$ , and  $let(j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}, j \in \mathcal{X}_{\vartheta}$ , then  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^{*})^{*}) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e)$ 

Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter, so  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \ge \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\} = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e)$ 

but  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*)$ , then  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(e)$  thus  $x^* \in \mathcal{X}_{\vartheta}$ , hence  $\mathcal{X}_{\vartheta}$  is S-filter.

And, let  $x, j \in \mathcal{X}$ , and  $(j^{**} * x^*)^*, j \in \mathcal{X}_{\Omega}$ , then  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*) = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j) = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e)$   $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) \leq \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((j^{**} * x^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(j)\} = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e)[since \mathcal{A} IFS-\mathcal{S}-filter],$ but  $\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*), so \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(x^*) = \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(e), so x^* \in \mathcal{X}_{\Omega}$ , hence  $\mathcal{X}_{\Omega}$  is  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter. **4. Intuitionistic fuzzy Complete-S-filter.** 

In this part , we provide the definition of Intuitionistic fuzzy complete S-filter, and study its relationship with the Intuitionistic fuzzy filters in Q-algebra.

#### Definition4.1 :

Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be  $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ . An IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  of  $\mathcal{X}$  is called IFS complete  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter at  $\mathcal{F}$  (briefly, IFS- $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter ).

 $\begin{aligned} \mathcal{C}_{1} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(e) &\geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(s), \text{ and } \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(s), \forall s \in \mathcal{X}. \\ \mathcal{C}_{2} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(s^{*}) &\geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}((r^{**} * s^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(r)\}, \forall r \in \mathcal{F}. \end{aligned}$ 

 $\mathcal{C}_{3^{-}} \, \varOmega_{\mathcal{F}} \, (\mathrm{s}^{*}) \leq max \{ \Omega_{\mathcal{F}} \, (\mathrm{r}^{**} \ast \mathrm{s}^{*})^{*} ), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}} \, (\mathrm{r}) \}, \forall \mathrm{r} \in \mathcal{F}.$ 

# Example4.2 :

Let  $\mathcal{X} = \{0, r, g, t, m\}$ , then  $(\mathcal{X}, *, 0)$  is *Q*-algebra, *m* is a unit, as the shown table:

Table 3.

*	0	r	g,	t	т
0	0	0	0	0	0
r	r	0	r	0	0
G.	g,	g,	0	0	0
t	t	0	t	0	0
т	т	t	т	r	0

A sub set  $\mathcal{F} = \{r, m\}$  is a C-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , if IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  is IFS-C-S-filter, such that:

but the set B = $(\vartheta_F, \lambda_F)$  is not IFS- *C*-*S*-filter , such that

$$\vartheta_{\mathrm{F}}(z) = \begin{cases} 0.8 & \text{if } z = \mathrm{r}, m\\ 0.1 & \text{if } z = 0, \mathcal{G}, \mathsf{t} \end{cases} \qquad \qquad \lambda_{\mathrm{F}}(z) = \begin{cases} 0.1 & \text{if } z = \mathrm{r}, m\\ 0.6 & \text{if } z = 0, \mathcal{G}, \mathsf{t} \end{cases}$$

since,

 $\vartheta_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{r}^{*}) = \vartheta_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{t}) = 0.1 \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathrm{F}}((\mathfrak{r}^{**} * \mathfrak{r}^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{r})\} = \min\{\vartheta_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{m}), \vartheta_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{r})\} = 0.8.$ 

#### **Proposition 4.3:**

Every IFS-S-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$  is IFS-C-S-filter at any C-S-filter.

#### Proof :-

If  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ , and  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{A}})$  is IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter, then  $\mathcal{C}_{1} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(e) \geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z)$ , and  $\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z)$ ,  $\forall z \in \mathcal{X}$ .  $\mathcal{C}_{2} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(z^{*}) \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((r^{**} * z^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(r)\}$ , for all  $z, r \in \mathcal{X}$ , since  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ , then,  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z^{*}) \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}((r^{**} * z^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(r)\}$ ,  $\forall r \in \mathcal{F}$ .  $\mathcal{C}_{3} - \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(z^{*}) \leq \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{A}}((r^{**} * z^{*})^{*}), \Omega_{\mathcal{A}}(r)\}$ ,  $\forall z, r \in \mathcal{X}$ , since  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ , then,

 $\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z^*) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((\mathbf{r}^{**} * z^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{r})\}, \forall \mathbf{r} \in \mathcal{F}.$ 

Thus  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  is IFS- $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter at  $\mathcal{F}$  in .

#### Remark 4.4:

In general, the inverse of Proposition (4.3) is not realized, can demonstrate this by the following example. *Example4.5*:

In Example (4.2), let  $\mathcal{F} = \{\mathfrak{r}, \mathfrak{m}\}$  be  $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ . if

$$\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z) = \begin{cases} 0.6 & \text{if } z = 0, g, m \\ 0.2 & \text{if } z = \mathfrak{r}, \mathfrak{t} \end{cases} \qquad \qquad \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z) = \begin{cases} 0.3 & \text{if } z = 0, g, m \\ 0.5 & \text{if } z = \mathfrak{r}, \mathfrak{t} \end{cases}$$

then  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  is IFS-*C*-*S*-filter at  $\mathcal{F}$ , but  $\mathcal{A}$  is not IFS- *S*-filter, because  $\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathfrak{t}^*) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathfrak{r}) = 0.2 \ge min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}((0^{**} * \mathfrak{t}^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(0)\} = min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(m), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(0)\} = 0.6$  *Corollary4.6*: Every IFS-*Q*-filter of *Q*- algebra  $\mathcal{X}$  is IFS-*C*-*S*-filter at any *C*-*S*-filter . **Proof**: By using Proposition (3.3) and using Proposition (4.3). *Proposition4.7*:

Every IFS-C-Q-filter at C-Q-filter  $\mathcal{F}$  of  $\mathcal{X}$  is IFS-C-S-filter at C-Q-filter  $\mathcal{F}$ .

#### **Proof** :

Let  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  be IFS-  $\mathcal{C}$ -  $\mathcal{Q}$ -filter at  $\mathcal{F}$ , such that  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{Q}$ -filter then by Proposition (2.17), 3,  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter on  $\mathcal{X}$ , by Definition (2.14) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{C}_{1} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(e) &\geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z), \text{ and } \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z), \forall z \in \mathcal{X}. \\ \mathcal{C}_{2} - \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z) &\geq \min\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}((z^{**} * r^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(r) \}, \forall r \in \mathcal{F}. \text{ Thus} \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z^{*}) &\geq \min\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}((z^{**} * r^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(r) \}, \quad [\text{by using Remark (2.3),2}] \\ \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z^{*}) &\geq \min\{ \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}((r^{**} * z^{*})^{*}), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(r) \}, \forall r \in \mathcal{F}. \end{split}$$

 $\mathcal{C}_{3}\text{-} \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((z^{*} * r^{*})^{*}), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(r)\}, \forall r \in \mathcal{F}. \text{Thus}$ 

 $\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z^*) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((z^{**} * r^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(r)\}, \forall r \in \mathcal{F}.[by using Remark (2.3), 2]$ 

 $\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z^*) \leq max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((\mathbf{r}^{**} * z^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{r})\}, \forall \mathbf{r} \in \mathcal{F}.$ 

Then  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  is IFS- $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter at  $\mathcal{F}$ .

# Remark 4.8:

In general, IFS-C-S-filter at  $\mathcal{F}$  is not IFS-C-Q-filter an in the following example .

Example 4.9:

in Example (4.2) let  $\mathcal{F} = \{t, m\}$  be C-S-filter and C-Q-filter of  $\mathcal{X}$ . If

$$\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z) = \begin{cases} 0.4 & \text{if } z = g \\ 0.7 & \text{if } z = 0, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t}, m \end{cases} \qquad \qquad \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z) = \begin{cases} 0.5 & \text{if } z = g \\ 0.2 & \text{if } g = 0, \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t}, m \end{cases}$$

Then IFS  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  is IFS-*C*-*S*-filter at  $\mathcal{F}$ , but  $\mathcal{A}$  is not IFS-*C*-*Q*-filter, because

 $\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathcal{G}) = 0.4 \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}((\mathcal{G}^* * \mathfrak{t}^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathfrak{t})\} = 0.7$ 

# Proposition 4.10:

 $\mbox{Every IFS-$\mathcal{C}-$\mathcal{S}-filter at $\mathcal{C}-$\mathcal{S}-filter $\mathcal{F}$ in an involutory $\mathcal{Q}$-algebra $\mathcal{X}$ is IFS-$\mathcal{C}-$\mathcal{Q}-filter at $\mathcal{F}$.} }$ 

Proof :

If  $\mathcal{A} = (\vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}, \Omega_{\mathcal{F}})$  is IFS-  $\mathcal{C}$ -  $\mathcal{S}$ -filter at  $\mathcal{F}$ , such that  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{S}$ -filter [by Proposition (2.21)], then  $\mathcal{F}$  is  $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{Q}$ -filter.By using Definition (4.1)

$$\begin{aligned} 1 \cdot \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(e) &\geq \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z), \text{ and } \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(e) \leq \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z), \forall z \in \mathcal{X}. \\ 2 \cdot \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(z^*) &\geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((\mathbf{r}^{**} * z^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathbf{r})\} \\ &\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(z) = \vartheta_{\mathcal{F}}(z^{**}) \geq \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((\mathbf{r}^{**} * z^{**})^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathbf{r})\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((z^{***} * \mathbf{r}^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathbf{r})\} \\ &= \min\{\vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}((z^* * \mathbf{r}^*)^*), \vartheta_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathbf{r})\}. \end{aligned}$$

$$3 \cdot \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z^*) \leq \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((\mathbf{r}^{**} * z^{**})^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{r})\} \\ \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z) = \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(z^{**}) \leq \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((\mathbf{r}^{**} * z^{**})^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{r})\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((z^{***} * \mathbf{r}^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{r})\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((z^{***} * \mathbf{r}^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{r})\} \\ &= \max\{\Omega_{\mathcal{F}}((z^{***} * \mathbf{r}^*)^*), \Omega_{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{r})\} \end{aligned}$$

Thus  $\mathcal{A}$  is IFS- $\mathcal{C}$ - $\mathcal{Q}$ -filter at  $\mathcal{F}$  of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

# Remark 4.11:

The next diagram shows the relationship between different types Intuitionistic fuzzy filters (IFS-Q-filter, IFS-C-Q-filter at  $\mathcal{F}$ , IFS- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter and IFS-C- $\mathcal{S}$ -filter at  $\mathcal{F}$ ).



#### 5. Conclusion

This work is study some types of intuitionistic fuzzy filters which is called (S-filter and C-S-filter) on Q-algebra, which is generalizing the concept of fuzzy filters, we added some important characteristics and equivalents definition in Q-algebra, and the relations related to them .

#### 6. REFRENES

[1] Abdulla H.K, and Naij .R.SH,(2020) Intuitionistic fuzzy Q-filters of Q-algebra,(1<sup>st</sup> International Conference of Pure and Engineering Sciences Iraqi Academic Syndicate Holy Karbala Branch.

[2]Abdullah .H.K, Jawad . H.K,2018, New types of Ideals in Q-algebra, *Journal university of kerbala*,Vol.16 No.4 scientific

[3] Abdullah .H. K ,Radhi. K.T 2017, T-filter in BCK- algebra, Jounnal university of kerbala; 15(2): 36-43..

[4] Atanassov K. T.1986, "Intuitionistic fuzzy sets", Fuzzy sets and Systems 35 87-96.

[5] Atanassov K. T, 1994,"New operations defined over the intuitionistic fuzzy sets", *Fuzzy sets and Systems* 61(2),137-142.

[6] Coker ,D, 1997" An introduction to intuitionistic fuzzy topological spaces", *Fuzzy Sets and Systems* 88 81–89

[7]Ejegwa .P.A, S.O. Akowe, P.M. Otene, J.M. Ikyule 2014,"An Overview On Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets" *International Journal of scientific & technology research*, 3,2277-8616,

[8] Kareem A.H. and H.Z .Ahmed,2016, Complete BCK-ideal, *European Journal of Scientific Research*, Vol. 137, No. 3(pp.302-314

[9]Kareem A.H. and Kadhum J.H.2018, some types of fuzzy pseudo Ideals in pseudo Qalgebra *Department of Mathematics university of Kufa*, pp1-109 [10] Mostafa S.M, Abdel Naby M.A, and Elgendy O.R. 2012, Intuitionistic fuzzy Q-Ideals in Q-algebra *.Global Journal of pure and Applied Mathematics*, 8(2):135-144.

[11] Neggers J, Ahn SS, kim H,S2001. On Q-algebra. *International Journal of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences (IJMMS)*,27(12):749-757

[12]Salman .H.SH (2019).Some new of fuzzy filter in Q-algebra and Pseudo Q-algebra ,.thesis ,*Department of mathematics, University of kufa* ,pp1-90

[13]Takeuti .G, and Titants.S,1984 Intuitionistic fuzzy Logic and Intuitionistic fuzzy set theory, *Journal of Symbolic Logic*,49,851-866

[14]Zadeh L. A., 1965, "Fuzzy set ", Inform. And Control. 8, 338-353.

# Lie group Method for Solving System of Stochastic Differential Equations

#### Zainab Mohammed Alwan

Lect., Dr., Department of Mathematics, College of Science, Mustansiriyah University, Iraq lionwight\_2009@uomustansiriyah.edu.iq

**Abstract**. In the current work, we realize Lie group method for system of stochastic differential equations(SDE). To comprehend this method which is used the vector field in the function and solved system by associated with Fokker-Planck equations(FPE). For more accurate, we inserted some applications of system solved by this method.

Keywords: Lie group, SDE, FPE, Vector field, Wiener process.

#### Introduction

Lie group (L.G) method of (ODEs) is will sense in [1,2,3,4] and exercised many important applications for sense (DEs). The idea Lie's classical tactic settled on ruling a symmetry group (symg) correlating with the (DEs). The inequality to the deterministic (DEs) only a few effort have been made to dilate (L.G) theory to (SDE). It is shown in [6], how to calculation get (sym) of the (FPE) which is an equation for probability density from those of (SDE) which is the equation for space variable  $\chi(t)$ , depending on Wiener process(W.P). Lie symmetries of Wiener process (SDE) in [5,6,9,7,12,8].

#### (L.G),(SDEs),[10]

In the subsidiary section, discussed the SDEs in the Ito brew :

$$dx^{i} = \Theta^{i}(x,t)dt + \Upsilon^{i}_{k}(x,t)d\varpi^{k}$$
<sup>(21)</sup>

Where  $\Theta^i$  and  $\Upsilon_k^i$  are fine functions,  $\Upsilon$  a nonzero matrix and  $\varpi^k$  are distinct identical gauge (W.P), satisfactory:

$$\left\langle \left| \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{i}(t) - \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{i}(t) \right|^{2} \right\rangle = \rho^{ij} \rho(t-s)$$
(2.2)

It is famous that (2.1) is the (Ito eq) is correlating a diffusion (F-P or Chapman-Kolmogorov) (eq) which write as:

$$\mathbf{G}_{i} + \boldsymbol{g}^{i \, \boldsymbol{\beta}} \mathbf{G}_{i \, \boldsymbol{\beta}} + \mathbf{h}^{i} \mathbf{G}_{i} + \mathbf{D} \mathbf{G} = \boldsymbol{\theta}$$
(2.3)
$$\gamma^{ij} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \boldsymbol{\varpi} \ \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{\, \tau} \right)^{ij}$$

$$\hbar^{\, i} = \Theta^{\, i} - \partial_{\, j} \left( \boldsymbol{\varpi} \ \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{\, \tau} \right)^{ij}$$

$$\lambda = \left( \partial_{\, i} \cdot \Theta^{\, i} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \, \partial_{\, ij}^{\, 2} \left( \boldsymbol{\varpi} \ \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{\, \tau} \right)^{ij}$$
(2.4)

Is settled, to invention for (2.3) the 2- extension of the(sym) worker is :

$$\Pi^{[2]} = \tau(t) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \varsigma_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + \eta \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \xi_i \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i} + \xi_i \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i} + \xi_{ik} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{ik}}$$
(2.5)

The extended infinitesimals are:

$$\xi_{t} = D_{(t)}(\eta) - u_{t} D_{(t)}(\tau) - u_{j} D_{(t)}(\varsigma_{j})$$
(2.6)

$$\xi_{i} = D_{(i)}(\eta) - u_{t} D_{(i)}(\tau) - u_{j} D_{(i)}(\varsigma_{j})$$
(2.7)

$$\xi_{ik} = D_{(k)}(\varsigma_{i}) - u_{it} D_{(k)}(\tau) - u_{ij} D_{(k)}(\varsigma_{j})$$
(2.8)

anywhere:

$$\mathcal{D}_{(t)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + u_t \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + u_{(t/)} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} + \dots + u_{(t_{j/} \to M)} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{(t_{j/} \to M)}}$$
(2.9)

$$D_{(i)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} + u_i \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + u_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_j} + \dots + u_{(ii_i \to M)} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{(i_i \to M)}}$$
(2.10)

Then the determining (eq) of an SDE associated with the FPE as :

$$\frac{\partial(\tau\gamma_{ik})}{\partial t} + \left(\varsigma_r \frac{\partial\gamma_{ik}}{\partial x_r} - \gamma_{ir} \frac{\partial\varsigma_k}{\partial x_r} - \gamma_{rk} \frac{\partial\varsigma_i}{\partial x_r}\right) = 0$$
(2.11)

$$\frac{\partial(\varsigma_i - \tau \Theta_i)}{\partial t} + \Theta_r \frac{\partial \varsigma_i}{\partial x_r} - \varsigma_r \frac{\partial \Theta_i}{\partial x_r} - \gamma_{rk} \frac{\partial^2 \varsigma_i}{\partial x_r \partial x_k} = 0$$
(2.12)

#### 17. Applications

In the following, we discusse some examples to show this method.

Application(3.1): Consider 
$$\Theta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{2\ell} \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $\Upsilon = \begin{pmatrix} y \\ -\ell y \end{pmatrix}$ ,

record as :

$$dx = ydt$$
,  $dy = -\ell ydt + \sqrt{\ell} dW(t)$ , where  $\ell$  is (+ constant)  
(3.1)

Corresponding (FPE):

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \ell \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} - y \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + \ell y \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} + \ell u$$
(3.2)

Let

$$\Pi = \tau(t)\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \varsigma^{1}(t, x, y)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \varsigma^{2}(t, x, y)\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \eta(t, x, y)\frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$
(3.3)

The 2-prolongation:

$$\Pi^{[2]} = \Pi + \xi_{t} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{t}} + \xi_{x} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{x}} + \xi_{y} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{y}} + \xi_{tt} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{tt}} + \xi_{tx} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{tx}} + \xi_{ty} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{ty}} + \xi_{xx} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{xx}} + \xi_{xy} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{xy}} + \xi_{yy} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{yy}}$$

$$(3.4)$$

The determining equation is:

$$\Pi^{[2]}\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \ell \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} + y \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} - \ell y \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} - \ell u\right)\Big|_{(3.1)} = 0$$
(3.5)

We get:

$$\xi_{t} - \ell \xi_{yy} + \xi^{2} u_{x} + y \xi_{x} - \ell \xi^{2} u_{y} - \ell y \xi_{y} - \ell \eta = 0$$
(3.6)

By using expansions for ((2.6)-(2.8)) and replacing 
$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$$
 by  $1 \frac{\P^2 u}{\P y^2} - y \frac{\P u}{\P x} + 1 y \frac{\P u}{\P y} + 1 u$ 

We result :

$$\eta_{t} + \left(\ell u_{yy} - y u_{x} + \ell y u_{yy} + \ell u\right) \left(\eta_{u} - \tau_{t}\right) - u_{x} \xi_{t}^{1} - u_{y} \xi_{t}^{2} - \ell \left(\eta_{yy} + 2u_{y} \eta_{yu} + u_{yy} \eta_{u} + 2u_{y} \eta_{uu} - 2u_{yy} \xi_{y}^{2} - u_{y} \xi_{yy}^{2}\right) + \xi^{2} u_{x} + y \left(\eta_{x} + u_{x} \eta_{u} - u_{x} \xi_{x}^{2}\right) - \ell \xi^{2} u_{y} - \ell y \left(\eta_{y} + u_{y} \eta_{y} - u_{y} \xi_{y}^{2}\right) - \ell \eta = 0$$

$$(3.7)$$

Solved by separation of the coefficient we obtain the general solution :

$$\tau = c_{1}$$

$$\xi^{1} = c_{5} + c_{3}e^{-\ell t} \ell^{-1} + c_{4}t + c_{6}e^{-\ell t} \ell^{-1}$$

$$\xi^{2} = c_{4} - c_{3}e^{-\ell t} + c_{6}e^{-\ell t}$$

$$\eta = \left(c_{2} - \frac{1}{2}c_{4}(y + \ell t) - c_{6}ye^{-\ell t}\right) + \alpha(t, x, y)$$
(3.8)

Where  $C_{i}$  are constant , we obtain the following:

$$P_{1} = \frac{\P}{\P t}$$

$$P_{2} = v \frac{\P}{\P v}$$

$$P_{3} = e^{-1t} \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\xi}^{-1} \frac{\P}{\P x} - \frac{\P}{\P y \hat{u}}^{\hat{\mu}}$$

$$P_{4} = t \frac{\P}{\P x} + \frac{\P}{\P y} - \frac{1}{2}(y+1x)v \frac{\P}{\P v}$$

$$P_{5} = \frac{\P}{\P x}$$

$$P_{6} = e^{1t} \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\xi}^{-1} \frac{\P}{\P x} + \frac{\P}{\P y} - y v \frac{\P}{\P v \hat{u}}^{\hat{\mu}}$$

$$P_{a} = a(t, x, y) \frac{\P}{\P v}$$

Now, the symmetry generators of (3.1) , when using (( 2.11)-(2.12)) we find:

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{1}}{\partial y} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{2}}{\partial y} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \tau}{\partial t} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{1}}{\partial t} + y \frac{\partial \xi^{1}}{\partial x} + \xi^{2} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{2}}{\partial t} + y \frac{\partial \xi^{2}}{\partial x} + \ell \xi^{2} = 0$$
(3.10)

By solving above system we get the general solution:

$$\tau(t) = c_{1}$$

$$\xi^{1} = c_{2} \ell^{-1} e^{-\ell t} + c_{3}$$

$$\xi^{2} = -c_{2} e^{-\ell t}$$
(3.11)

(3.9)

The symmetry generators are  $\Pi_1, \Pi_3$  and  $\Pi_5$ .

Application(3.2): Consider  $\Theta = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $\Upsilon = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{x} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$ ,

record as:

$$d_{X} = \frac{1}{x}dt + dW_{1}(t) , d_{Y} = dt + dW_{2}(t)$$
(3.12)

The associated with FPE is:

$$u_{t} = \frac{1}{2} \left( u_{xx} + u_{yy} \right) + \frac{1}{x^{2}} u - \frac{1}{x} u_{x} - u_{y}$$
(3.13)

By using (3.3) and applied 2-prolongation (3.4) on (3.13) as:

$$\Pi^{[2]}\left(u_{t} - \frac{1}{2}\left(u_{xx} + u_{yy}\right) - \frac{1}{x^{2}}u + \frac{1}{x}u_{x} + u_{y}\right)\right|_{(3.13)} = 0$$

(3.14)

$$\xi_{t} - \frac{1}{2} (\xi_{xx} + \xi_{yy}) - x^{-2} \eta + 2x^{-3} u + x^{-1} \xi_{x} - x^{-2} u_{x} + \xi_{y} = 0$$
(3.15)

$$\begin{split} \eta_{\varepsilon} + u_{\varepsilon} (\eta_{u} - \tau_{\varepsilon}) - u_{x} \xi_{\varepsilon}^{1} - u_{y} \xi_{\varepsilon}^{2} - \frac{1}{x^{2}} \eta + \frac{2}{x^{3}} u - \frac{1}{x^{2}} u_{x} + (\eta_{y} + u_{y} \eta_{u} - u_{y} \xi_{y}^{2}) \\ + \frac{1}{x} (\eta_{x} + u_{x} \eta_{u} - u_{x} \xi_{x}^{1}) - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{xx} - \eta_{xu} u_{x} - \frac{1}{2} u_{xx} \eta_{u} - \frac{1}{2} u_{x^{2}} \eta_{uu} + u_{xx} \xi_{x}^{1} \\ + \frac{1}{2} u_{x} \xi_{xx}^{1} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{yy} - u_{y} \eta_{yu} - \frac{1}{2} u_{yy} \eta_{u} - \frac{1}{2} u_{y^{2}} \eta_{uu} + u_{yy} \xi_{y}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} u_{y} \xi_{yy}^{2} = 0 \end{split}$$

$$(3.16)$$

Solved (3.16) by separation of the coefficient yields the general solution:

$$\tau = c_{1} + 2t c_{4} - t c_{5} + t^{2} c_{6}$$

$$\xi^{1} = x c_{4} + t x c_{6}$$

$$\xi^{2} = c_{3} + (y + t) c_{4} + t y c_{6}$$

$$\eta = \left(c_{2} - 2c_{4} + c_{5}(y - t) + c_{6}t y - \frac{1}{2}(x^{2} + y^{2}t^{2})\right)u + \alpha(t, x, y)$$
(3.17)

We obtain:

$$\Pi_{1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$$

$$\Pi_{2} = u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

$$\Pi_{3} = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$$

$$\Pi_{4} = 2t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + (y+t) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} - 2u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

$$\Pi_{5} = -t \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + (y-t)u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

$$\Pi_{6} = t \left[ t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \right] + \left[ ty - \frac{1}{2} (x^{2} + y^{2} + t^{2}) \right] u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

$$\Pi_{\alpha} = \alpha (t, x, y) \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$
(3.18)

We find the determining equation by using ((2.11)-(2.12)) as:

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{1}}{\partial y} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{1}}{\partial x} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \tau}{\partial t} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{2}}{\partial x} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{2}}{\partial y} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \tau}{\partial t} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{1}}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{x} \frac{\partial \xi^{1}}{\partial x} + \frac{1}{x^{2}} \xi^{1} - \frac{1}{x} \frac{\partial \tau}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^{2} \xi^{1}}{\partial x^{2}} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \xi^{2}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \xi^{2}}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial \tau}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^{2} \xi^{2}}{\partial y^{2}} = 0$$
(3.19)

By solving system (3.19) we find the general solution as:

$$\tau = c_{1}t + c_{2}$$

$$\xi^{1} = \frac{1}{2}c_{1}x$$

$$\xi^{2} = \frac{1}{2}c_{1}y + \frac{1}{2}c_{1}t + c_{3}$$
(3.20)

The (sym) generators of (3.12) generate by  $\Pi_1$  ,  $\Pi_3$  and

$$\tilde{\Pi}_{4} = 2t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + (y + t) \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$$
(3.21)

Which is a projection of  $\prod_{4}$  to (t,x,y)-space.

#### Conclusion

In this paper, introduced Lie group method for solving system of stochastic differential equations(SDE). Also studied techniques for this method which is used to solve system by associated with Fokker-Planck equations(FPE) show that by give some applications about this method.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors thank of Mustansiriyah University / College of science / Department of Mathematics and Your venerable journal for their supported this work .

#### References

- [21] N. H. Ibragimov 1999: Elementary Lie group analysis and ordinary differential equations. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester.
- [2] Bluman George, Cheviakov Alexei and Anco Stephen 2010: Applications of Symmetry Methods to Partial Differential Equations, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Volume 168, Springer-Verlag New York.
- [3] Bluman George and Anco Stephen 2002: Symmetry and Integration Methods for Differential Equations, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Volume 154, Springer-Verlag New York .
- [4] Aminu M. Nass 2014: Symmetry Analysis and Invariants Solutions of Laplace Equation on Surfaces of Revolution, Advances in Mathematics: Scientific Journal 3, no.1 ,23-31.
- [5] Fredericks E. and Mahomed F. M. 2007 : Symmetries of First-Order Stochastic Ordinary Differential Equations Revisited, Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences 30, 2013-2025.
- [6] Gaeta G. and Quintero QR. 1999 : Lie-point Symmetries and Stochastic Differential Equations. J Phys A: Math Gen; 32 ,8485505.
- [7] Gaeta G. 2004 : Symmetry of Stochastic Equations, Journal of Proceedings National Academy of Sciences Ukraine, 50,98109.
- [8] Roman Kozlov ,2011 : On Lie Group Classification of a Scalar Stochastic Differential Equation

Journal of Nonlinear Mathematical Physics, 18(sup1),177-187.

- [9] Meleshko S. V., Srihirun B. S. and Schultz E. 2006: On the Definition of an Admitted Lie Group for Stochastic Differential Equations, Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 12 (8), 1379-1389.
- [10] Gaeta G., 2017 ,Symmetry of Stochastic non- Variational Differential Equations, Physics Reports, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physrep.2017.05.005.

# Some Results on (N, k)-Hyponormal Operators

#### Nidaa Muraeh Atheab<sup>1</sup> and Salim Dawood Mohsen<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Wasit University/ College of Education /Department of Mathematics <sup>2</sup>AL-Mustansirya University/ College of Education /Department of Mathematics

Nadaaalbadry1981@yahoo.com

dr\_salim2015@yahoo.com

Abstract. In this paper, we introduce a new generalization for hyponormal operators which is (N, k)-hyponormal operators, also we study some properties of these operators. In addition, we given the solvability of the  $\lambda$ - commuting operator equation  $ST = \lambda TS$ , where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ , and S, T are bounded (N, k)-hyponormal operators.

#### 1. Introduction

The first to study the concept of hyponormal operators was P.R.Halmos in (1950)[6], .In (1962), J.G.Stampfli [10] was studied some properties of hyponormal operators. In (1972) Shila Devi[9] defined a new generalization for hyponormal operators which call quasihyponormal operators. In (1974), B. L. Wadhwa[12] introduced the M-hyponormal operators. In (1979) Kevin Clancy [3] introduced three equivalent formulas for hyponormal operators. In (2009) N.L.Braha [2] given a new formula for hyponormal operators.

The purpose of this paper is to present a study on the (N, k)-hyponormal operators. In this study we explain that the inverse of invertible (N, k)-hyponormal operator is not necessarily be (N, k)-hyponormal. Also we explain that the sum and the product of two (N, k)-hyponormal operators need not be (N, k)-hyponormal.

During this paper, H represents the Hilbert space, and every operator defined on  $\acute{c}$  is bounded linear operator.

Finally, we give the following theorem:

Theorem

Let S , T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be operators on H such that  $ST = \lambda TS \neq 0$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . Let  $N_1, N_2$ :  $H \rightarrow H$  be non-zero positive operators on H, such that  $N_1T = TN_1$  and  $N_2S = SN_2$ , then:

- i. If  $S^*$  is  $(N_1, k)$ -hyponormal operator and T is  $(N_2, k)$ -hyponormal operator, then  $|\lambda| \leq (\|N_1\| \cdot \|N_2\|)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .
- ii. If S is (N1,k)-hyponormal operator and T\* is (N<sub>2</sub>,k)-hyponormal operator, then  $|\lambda| \ge (||N_1||, ||N_2||)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

#### 5. Preliminaries

In this section, we given some essential definitions and propositions, we will need in this paper. Let us start by the definition of self – adjoint operator.

2.1. Definition [11]

Let T: H  $\rightarrow$  H be an operator on H, then T is called self-adjoint operator if  $T^* = T$ .

2.2. Definition [1, P. 2] Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be a self-adjoin operator on H, then T is called **positive**, written  $T \ge 0$ , if and only if  $< Tx, x \ge 0, \forall x \in H$ .

2.3.Definition [5] Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be an operator on H, then T is called **normal** if  $T^*T = TT^*$ , that is:  $< T^*T x, x > = < TT^* x, x >, \forall x \in H.$ 

2.4.Definition [3, P. 1],[7] Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be an operator on H, then T is called **hyponormal** if  $T^*T \ge T T^*$ , that is:  $< T^*T x, x > \ge < T T^* x, x > , \forall x \in H.$ 

The following proposition gives equivalent formulas for hyponormal operators:

2.5.Proposition [3, P. 3],[2]

Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be an operator on H, then the following arguments are equivalent:

- i.  $T^*T \ge TT^*$
- ii.  $T^*T + 2\lambda TT^* + \lambda^2 T^*T \ge 0, \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{R}.$
- iii.  $||T^*x|| \le ||Tx||, \forall x \in H.$
- iv.  $T^* = ST$ , for some bounded linear operator  $S : H \rightarrow H$ , such that  $||S|| \le 1$ .

Now, we recall a few properties for hyponormal operators.

#### 2.6.Proposition[7, P. 225], [10]

Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be an operator on H, then:

- i)  $\lambda T$  is hyponormal operator, for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ .
- ii) (T-  $\lambda$ I) is hyponormal operator, for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ .
- iii) If T has inverse, then the inverse of T is hyponormal operator.
- iv) If  $E \subset H$  invariant under T, then  $T|_E$  is hyponormal.

#### 2.7.Proposition [8], [4]

Let S, T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be hyponormal operators, then:

- i. (S+T) is hyponormal operator if  $TS^* = S^*T$  and  $ST^* = T^*S$ .
- ii. (ST) is hyponormal operator if  $ST^* = T^*S$ .

#### 6. Main Result

In the following ,we introduce the new generalization for the hyponormal operators:

#### 3.1.Definition

Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be an operator on H, then T is called (N, k)- hyponormal if there exists a positive operator N:  $H \rightarrow H$  such that  $NT^*T^k \ge T^kT^*$ , that is  $< NT^*T^k x$ ,  $x \ge < T^kT^*x$ ,  $x \ge , \forall x \in H$  and for any positive integer k. To explain this definition consider the next example.

#### 3.2.Example

The operator  $T = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$  is (N, k) – hyponormal, where  $N = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 2 \\ 2 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$ .

#### 3.3. Proposition

Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be an (N, k) – hyponormal operator, then :

- i. If N = I (identity operator on H), and k = 1, then T is hyponormal operator,
- ii. If A is closed subspace of H and invariant under T , then  $T|_A$  is (N, k ) hyponormal operator.

#### Proof:

i. Obvious

ii. Suppose that T is (N, k) – hyponormal operator, and  $T_1 = T|_A$ , then:  $Tx = T_1x$ , for all  $x \in A$ Let  $x \in A$ , then

 $< N(T_1)^* (T_1)^k x, x > = < N T^* T^k x, x > \ge < T^k T^* x, x > = < (T_1)^k T^* x, x >$ , for all  $x \in A$ . Hence,  $T_1$  is (N, k) – hyponormal operator.

#### 3.4. Remarks and Examples

Let T:  $H \rightarrow H$  be an (N, k) – hyponormal operator, then :

i.  $\lambda T$  is (N, k) - hyponormal operator, for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ .

#### Proof:

Assume that T is (N, k) - hyponormal operator, then NT<sup>\*</sup>T<sup>k</sup>  $\geq$  T<sup>k</sup>T<sup>\*</sup> Now,  $(\lambda T)^{k}(\lambda T)^{*} = (\lambda^{k}T^{k})(\bar{\lambda}T^{*})$  $= (\lambda^{k}\bar{\lambda})(T^{k}T^{*})$  $\leq (\lambda^{k}\bar{\lambda})(NT^{*}T^{k})$  $= N(\bar{\lambda}T^{*})(\lambda^{k}T^{k})$  $= N(\bar{\lambda}T^{*})(\lambda^{k}T^{k})$  $= N(\lambda T)^{*}(\lambda T)^{k}$ Thus,  $\lambda T$  is an (N, k) - hyponormal operator.

- ii.  $(T \lambda I)$  is not (N, k) hyponormal operator for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ . To illustrate this consider the following example: The operator  $T = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 6 \\ 2 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$  is (N, k)-hyponormal, where  $N = \begin{bmatrix} 5 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ .  $(T - 2I) = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 6 \\ 2 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$  is not (N,k)-hyponormal ,when k = 1 and  $\lambda = 2$ . Since  $N(T - 2I)^{*}(T - 2I) - (T - 2I)(T - 2I)^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 16 & 104 \\ 8 & 48 \end{bmatrix}$  and  $\begin{vmatrix} 16 & 104 \\ 8 & 48 \end{vmatrix} = -64$
- iii. If T has inverse, then the inverse of T is not necessarily be (N, k) hyponormal operator. To show this consider the next example:

The operator  $T = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 6 \\ 2 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$  is an (N, k)-hyponormal, where  $N = \begin{bmatrix} 5 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ . But  $T^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1.5 \\ -0.5 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$  is not (N, k)-hyponormal .Since when k =2, we have  $N(T^{-1})^*(T^{-1})^2 - (T^{-1})^2(T^{-1})^* = \begin{bmatrix} -0.125 & 8.375 \\ 4.125 & -1.375 \end{bmatrix}$  which is not positive.

T<sup>\*</sup> is not necessarily be (N, k)- hyponormal operator. To explain this consider the following iv example: . .

The operator 
$$T = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 6 \\ 2 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$$
 is an (N, k)-hyponormal, where  $N = \begin{bmatrix} 5 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ .  
But  $T^* = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 2 \\ 6 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$  is not (N, k)-hyponormal operator. Since when  $k = 1$ , we have  
 $NT^*T - TT^* = \begin{bmatrix} 5 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 2 \\ 6 & 4 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 6 \\ 2 & 4 \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 6 \\ 2 & 4 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 2 \\ 6 & 4 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 272 & 148 \\ 52 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ .

And the determinant  $\begin{vmatrix} 272 & 148 \\ 52 & 0 \end{vmatrix} = -7696$ 

Now, in the following proposition we give the conditions that make Remark(3.4)(iii) are true

#### 3.5. Proposition

Permit that T:  $H \rightarrow H$  is (N, k) – hyponormal operator, then:

- If  $T^{-1}$  and  $N^{-1}$  are exists and  $NT^*T^k = T^*T^kN$ , then  $T^{-1}$  is an (N, k)- hyponormal operator. If  $T^kT^* = T^*T^k$ , and  $N^*(T^*T^k)^* = (T^*T^k)^*N^*$ , then  $T^*$  is an (N,k)- hyponormal operator. i.
- ii.

*Proof:* 

.

Assume that T is (N, k)- hyponormal operator, then : Assume that T is (N, k) - hyponormal oper N T<sup>\*</sup>T<sup>k</sup>  $\ge$  T<sup>k</sup>T<sup>\*</sup> (T<sup>k</sup>T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>  $\ge$  (T<sup>\*</sup>T<sup>k</sup>N)<sup>-1</sup> (T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>  $\ge$  N<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup> N (T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>  $\ge$  N N<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup> N (T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>  $\ge$  I (T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup> N (T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>  $\ge$  (T<sup>k</sup>)<sup>-1</sup>(T<sup>\*</sup>)<sup>-1</sup> N (T<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>\*</sup>(T<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>k</sup>  $\ge$  (T<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>k</sup>(T<sup>-1</sup>)<sup>\*</sup> Hence , T<sup>-1</sup> is (N, k)- hyponormal operator.

$$(T^*)^k (T^*)^* = (T^*T^k)^*$$
  
=  $(T^kT^*)^*$   
 $\leq (N T^*T^k)^*$   
=  $(T^*T^k)^* N^*$   
=  $N^* (T^*T^k)^*$   
=  $N (T^*T^k)^*$   
=  $N (T^*T^*)^*$   
=  $N (T^*)^* (T^k)^*$   
=  $N (T^*)^* (T^*)^k$   
Therefore,  $T^*$  is an (N, k)-hyponormal operator.

3.6. Remark

ii)

i)

Let  $S,T : H \rightarrow H$  be an (N, k)-hyponormal operators on H, then (S+T) is not necessarily be (N, k)-hyponormal. To illustrate this consider the next example:

The operators  $T = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 6 \\ 2 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$ , and  $S = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$  are (N, k)-hyponormal operators, where  $N = \begin{bmatrix} 5 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ . But  $(S+T) = \begin{bmatrix} 8 & 6 \\ 2 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$  is not (N, k)-hyponormal. Since, when k = 2 $N(S+T)^{*}(S+T)^{k} - (S+T)^{k}(S+T)^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 2492 & 508 \\ 6 & -2 \end{bmatrix}$ .

In the following theorem we will provide the conditions that make Remark (3.6.) correct.

#### 3.7. Theorem

Let S,T :  $H \rightarrow H$  be (N, k)-hyponormal operators on H such that  $ST = TS = TS^* = S^*T = ST^* = T^*S = 0$ , (0 is zero operator on H), then (S+T) is (N, k)-hyponormal operator.

Proof:  

$$(S + T)^{k} (S + T)^{*} = (S^{k} + T^{k})(S^{*} + T^{*})$$

$$= S^{k}S^{*} + S^{k}T^{*} + T^{k}S^{*} + T^{k}T^{*}$$

$$= S^{k}S^{*} + T^{k}T^{*}$$

$$\leq N S^{*}S^{k} + N T^{*}T^{k} (since S, T are (N, k) -hyponormal operators)$$

$$= N (S^{*}S^{k} + T^{*}T^{k})....(1)$$
On the other hand  

$$N (S + T)^{*} (S + T)^{k} = N (S^{*} + T^{*}) (S^{k} + T^{k})$$

$$= N (S^{*}S^{k} + S^{*}T^{k} + T^{*}S^{k} + T^{*}T^{k})$$

$$= N (S^{*}S^{k} + T^{*}T^{k})....(2)$$
By (1) and (2), we get

(S + T) is (N, k)-hyponormal operator.

3.8. Remark Let S,T :  $H \rightarrow H$  be (N, k)-hyponormal operators on H, then (ST) is not necessarily be (N, k)-hyponormal. To explain this consider the below example:

The operators  $T = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$  and  $S = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$  are (N, k)-hyponormal operators, where N = I. But  $(ST) = \begin{bmatrix} 8 & 3 \\ -3 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$  is not (N, k)-hyponormal operator, when k = 1.Since N  $(ST)^*(ST) - (ST)(ST)^* = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 54 \\ 54 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ , and the determent  $\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 54 \\ 54 & 0 \end{vmatrix} = -2916 < 0$ .

Now, the following theorem give the conditions which make Remark(3.8.) is true.

#### 3.9. Theorem

Let  $S,T : H \rightarrow H$  be (N, k)-hyponormal operators on H such that

ST = TS, ST<sup>\*</sup> = T<sup>\*</sup>S, TS<sup>\*</sup> = S<sup>\*</sup>T, NT<sup>\*</sup>T<sup>k</sup> = T<sup>\*</sup>T<sup>k</sup>N and N<sup>2</sup> = N , then (ST) is (N, k)-hyponormal operator.

#### Proof:

Suppose that S, T are (N, k)- hyponormal operators, then by hypothesis we have  $(ST)^{k}(ST)^{*} = (TS)^{k}(ST)^{*}$ 

 $= T^{k} S^{k} T^{*} S^{*}$ = T<sup>k</sup> T<sup>\*</sup> S<sup>k</sup> S<sup>k</sup>  $\leq N T^{*} T^{k} N S^{*} S^{k}$  (since S, T are (N, k)-hyponormal operators) = N<sup>2</sup> T^{\*} T^{k} S^{\*} S^{k} = N T<sup>\*</sup> T<sup>k</sup> S<sup>\*</sup> S<sup>k</sup> = N T<sup>\*</sup> S^{\*} T^{k} S^{k} = N (S T)<sup>\*</sup> (T S)<sup>k</sup> = N (S T)<sup>\*</sup> (S T)<sup>k</sup>.

= N (ST)<sup>\*</sup> (ST)<sup>k</sup>. Therefore, N (ST)<sup>\*</sup> (ST)<sup>k</sup>  $\geq$  (ST)<sup>k</sup> (ST)<sup>\*</sup>, which mean that (ST) is (N, k)-hyponormal operator.

In the following theorem we solve the equation  $ST = \lambda TS$ , where S and T are (N, k)-hyponormal operators.

3.10.Theorem

Let  $S,T : H \to H$  be operators on H such that  $ST = \lambda TS \neq 0$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and let  $N_1, N_2 : H \to H$  be non-zero positive operators on H such that  $N_1T = TN_1$  and  $N_2S = SN_2$ , then:

- i. If  $S^*$  is  $(N_1, k)$ -hyponormal operator and T is  $(N_2, k)$ -hyponormal operator, then  $|\lambda| \le (||N_1||. ||N_2||)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .
- ii. If S is  $(N_1, k)$ -hyponormal operator and T<sup>\*</sup> is  $(N_2, k)$ -hyponormal operator, then  $|\lambda| \ge (||N_1||. ||N_2||)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Proof:

Suppose that  $S^*$  is  $(N_1, k)$ -hyponormal operator and T is  $(N_2, k)$ -hyponormal operator, Since  $ST = \lambda TS$ , then  $|\lambda| \|TS\| = \|\lambda TS\|$ = || ST || $= \|(ST)(ST)^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $= \|ST T^*S^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $\leq \|SN_2 T^* T S^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $= \|N_2 S T^* T S^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $\leq \|N_2\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|(ST^*)(ST^*)^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $= \|N_2\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|ST^*\|$  $= \|N_2\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|(ST^*)^* (ST^*)\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $= \|N_2\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TS^*ST^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $\leq \|N_2\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TN_1SS^*T^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $= \|N_2\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|N_1 TSS^*T^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $\leq (\|N_1\| \|N_2\|)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|(TS)(TS)^*\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$  $= (\|N_1\| \|N_2\|)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TS\|$ Hence  $|\lambda| ||TS|| \le (||N_1|| ||N_2||)^{\frac{1}{2}} ||TS||$  and  $|\lambda| \le (||N_1|| ||N_2||)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

ii)

i)

Suppose that S is  $(N_1,k)$ -hyponormal operator and T<sup>\*</sup> is  $(N_2,k)$ -hyponormal operator. Since ST =  $\lambda$ TS, then

Since S1 = 
$$\lambda$$
1S, then  

$$\|ST\| = \|\lambda S\|$$

$$= |\lambda| \|TS\|$$

$$= |\lambda| \|TS|^{1/2}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|TSS^{*}T^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq |\lambda| \|TN_{1}S^{*}ST^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}TS^{*}ST^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TS^{*}ST^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TS^{*}ST^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TS^{*}\|$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TS^{*}\|$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|TS^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|SN_{2}TT^{*}S^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|N_{2}STT^{*}S^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|N_{2}STT^{*}S^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|N_{2}STT^{*}S^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| \|N_{1}\|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|N_{2}STT^{*}S^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= |\lambda| (\|N_{1}\| \|N_{2}\|)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|(ST)(ST)^{*}\|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Hence,  $||ST|| = |\lambda| (||N_1|| ||N_2||)^{\frac{1}{2}} ||ST||$  and  $|\lambda| \ge (||N_1|| ||N_2||)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .

#### 3.11. Corollary

Let S,T :  $H \rightarrow H$  be operators on H such that  $ST = \lambda TS \neq 0$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . Let  $N_1, N_2: H \rightarrow H$  be positive non-zero operators on H such that  $N_1T = TN_1$  and  $N_2S = SN_2$ , then:

- i. If  $S^*$  and T are (N,k)-hyponormal operators, then  $|\lambda| \le ||N||$ .
- ii. If S and T<sup>\*</sup> are (N,k)-hyponormal operator, then  $|\lambda| \ge (||N||)^{-1}$ .

#### Proof:

Obvious.

#### References

- [22] Aliprantis C D, Burkinshaw O, (2006), "Positive Operators" Sprringer, Netherlands.
- [23] Braha N L, Lohaj M, Marevci F H and Lohaj Sh, (2002), "Some Properties of Paranormal and Hyponormal Operators", Bulletin of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, Vol.1, Issu. 2, (23-35).
- [24] Clancey K , (1979), "Seminormal Operators", Springer- verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New Yok ,.
- [25] Conway J B and Waclaw Szymanski, (1988), "Linear Combinations of Hyponormal Operators", Rocky Mountain, Journal of Mathematics, Vol.18, No. 3,.
- [26] Curto R E, Hwang I S, and Lee W Y, (2012), "*Hyponormality and subnormality of Block Toeplitz Operators*", Advances in Mathematics, 230(2094-2151).
- [27] Halmos P R, (1950), "Normal Dilations and Extension of Operators", Summa Brasiliensis Math., 2, (124-134).
- [28] Mortad M H, (2018), "An Operator Theory Problem Book", World Scientific Pub.Inc.
- [29] Patel A B, and Ramanujan P B, (1981), "On Sum and Product of Normal Operators", Indian J.

Pure appl. Math., 12(10):, 1213-1218.

- [30] Shila Devi, (1972), A new Class of Operators", Abstract No. 166, Indian Math. Soc. Conference,.
- [31] Stampfli J G, (1962), "Hyponormal Operators", Pacific Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 12, No. 4, , (1453-1458).
- [32] Tajmouati A, El Bakkali A, and Mohamed Ahmed M B, (2016) "On λ- Commuting Operators", arXiv:1607.06747vl.[math.SP], (1-8)
- [33] Wadhwa B L, (1974), "M-hyponormal Operators", Duke Math. Journal, 41, (655-660).

## Uniqueness Solution of Abstract Fractional Order Nonlinear Dynamical Control Problems

Sameer Qasim Hasan Department of Mathematics, Al-Mustansiriyah University, Baghdad, Iraq <u>dr.sameer\_kasim@yahoo.com</u> <u>dr.sameerqasim@uomustansiriyah.edu.iq</u> <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2613-2584</u>

**Abstract.** The aim of this paper is to investigate the Uniqueness solution of Abstract Cauchy Problem represented for fractional order nonlinear dynamical control system involving certain control input and their approach of investigated depended on commutative composite semigroup and some certain conditions in certain space.

#### 1. Introduction

The semilinear and nonlinear equations appearing in variety of theories and applications ,in particular in the theory of fractional ordinary and fractional partial differential equations as well as integral equations with different types of derivatives have recently been addressed by several researchers for different problems and provided excellent tool for the description of memory and hereditary properties of various materials and processes.

In [12],[14],[15],[17],[19],[20], the authors had been studied some classes of nonlinear and semiliner equation without ordinary or fractional derivatives with projectively compact and which among others contains completely continuous, quasi compact and monotone operators with general fixed point theorems as well as the nonlinear and semilinear equation studied with closed linear operator in Hilbert space, self adjoint operator also some time with perturbed operator that has densely defined domain in Banach space, moreover studied with monotonicity and compactness of the linear operator on reflexive Banach space , the strongly positive operator and maximal monotonicity linear operator with nonlinear functions presented with existence and uniqueness approach.

In [7],[1],[11],[21],[16],[5],[6],[13],[2], the authors had been studied the solvability of fractional order nonlinear and semilinear control differential equations by using fractional integral formulation with properties of calculus of fractional derivative and integration and the existence and uniqueness obtained by using classical fixed point theorems with initial values as well as boundary values and integral boundary condition also some of them involving nonlocal initial condition

Our intersect in this paper to study the fractional order nonlinear dynamical feedback control system involve sum of N- unbounded operators with feedback perturbation as a generators of N-semigroup with new definitions depended on no expansive prosperity , maximal accretive, maximal monotone, resolvent set , fractional derivative and fixed point theorem also presented some results for solvability without using fractional calculus and equivalent integral formulation . main interest on nonlinear functional analysis and some new properties defined on special space,

 $L_2^{\alpha}[0,T] = \{x: x \in L_2[0,T], {}^{C}D^{\alpha}x \in L_2[0,T]\}, T > 0$ . Also appear the role of feedback control operator as a perturbation for the generators still a challenge for many researchers up to our knowledge.

Our aim establish necessary and sufficient conditions on sum of nonlinearity operator interacts suitably their system:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\alpha} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_i u_i$$
(1)  
(2)  

$$u_i = K_i x, \quad \text{for} \quad \text{all } x \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} D(A_i)$$

Where  $A_i: D(A_i) \subseteq L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n are linear unbounded operators generators of  $C_0\text{-semigroups } T_i(t): L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}, i = 1, 2, ..., n, 0 < \alpha \le 1, B_i: D(B_i) \subseteq L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}, F_i: R_0^+ \times L_2 \times L_2 \to L_2^{\alpha}$  $L_2^{\alpha}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, are nonlinear operators. The input control functions  $u_i(.) \in L_2^{\alpha}[0, T]$  such that  $K_i: L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$  is a feedback linear operators, i = 1, 2, ..., n.

#### 2. Preliminaries

Some necessary mathematical concepts for semigroup theory as well as some non-linear fractional calculus concepts have been presented.

Definition (2.1), [18]:

The family of bounded linear operators T(t),  $0 \le t < \infty$  defined on the Banach space X is a semigroup if T(0) = I. I is identity operator on X, and T(t + s) = T(t)T(s) for every t,  $s \ge 0$ .

*Definition* (2.2),[18]:

Let T(t) be a semigroup then T(t) is called strongly continuous and which denoted by  $C_0$  on a Banach space X if  $\lim_{t\downarrow 0} ||T(t)x - Ix||_X = 0$ .

*Definition* (2.3),[18]:

The domain of the linear operator A is defined as follows:

$$D(A) = \{x \in X : \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{T(t)x - x}{t} \text{ exists}\} \text{ and}$$
(3)  
$$Ax = \frac{dT(t)}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{T(t)x - x}{t} \text{ for } x \in D(A). \text{ A is the generator of the semigroup } T(t).$$

*Remarks* (2.4),[18]:

There exists a constant  $w \ge 0$ , such that

 $\left\|T\left(t\right)\right\|_{\scriptscriptstyle L(X)} \leq M e^{wt}, \quad for \ M \geq 1.$ 

The family of linear operator  $t \longrightarrow T(t)$  is differentiable which is

$$\frac{dT(t)}{dt} = AT(t) = T(t)A$$

Lemma (2.5), [18]:

A bounded linear operator A is the generator of a uniformly continuous semigroup.

A strongly continuous semigroup of bounded linear operators on a Banach space X will be called a semigroup of class  $C_{\perp}$ .

*Theorem* (2.6),[3]:

A linear (unbounded) operator A is the generator of a strong semigroup of contraction family  ${T(t)}_{t>0}$  if and only if:

(i) A is closed and densely defined, and

(ii) The resolvent set  $\rho(A)$  of A contains  $\mathbb{R}^+$  and  $\|(\lambda I - A)^{-1}\| \leq \frac{1}{\lambda}$  for every  $\lambda > 0$ . *Remark* (2.7), [18]:

1. If B is a bounded linear operator on X, then A+B with D(A+B)=D(A) is the generator of  $C_{0}$ . semigroup  $\mathbf{S}(\mathbf{t})$  on X. satisfying  $\|\mathbf{S}(\mathbf{t})\| \leq M e^{(w+M\|B\|)t}$  for  $t \geq 0$ .

2. For 
$$x \in X$$
,  $\lim_{h\to 0} \frac{1}{h} \int_t^{t+h} T(s) x \, ds = T(s) x, h \in (0, t)$ .

*Definitions* (2.8), [22]:

1. Let X be a real Banach space and let  $A: X \to X^*$  be an operator. Then A is called monotone if  $\langle Ax - Ay, x - y \rangle \ge 0$  foe all  $x, y \in X$ .

2. Assume operator  $A: D(A) \subseteq H \rightarrow H$  defined on real Hilbert space H.

a. *A* is called maximal monotone if *A* is monotone and  $(b - Ay, x - y) \ge 0$  for  $y \in D(A)$ . Implies Ax=b which is *A* has no proper monotone extension.

b. *A* is accretive if  $(I+\mu A)$ :  $D(A) \to H$  is injective also  $(I + \mu A)^{-1}$  is nonexpansive for  $\mu > 0$ .

c. A is maximal accretive if A is accretive also  $(I + \mu A)^{-1}$  exists on H for  $\mu > 0$ .

Definition (2.9), [8]:

The For a function  $g:[0,\infty)\longrightarrow R$ , the Caputo derivative of fractional order  $\alpha$  is defined as

$$^{c}D^{\alpha}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{n-\alpha-1} g^{(n)}(s) ds, \alpha > 0, \quad n-1 < \alpha < n, \text{ where } \Gamma \text{ denotes the gamma}$$

function

Definition (2.10), [10]:

The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral of order  $\alpha$  for a function g is defined as

 $I^{\alpha}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{g(s)}{(t-s)^{1-\alpha}} ds, \alpha > 0, \text{ provided the right hand side is pointwise defined on } (0,\infty).$ 

#### Lemma(2.11),[22]:

Let an operator  $A: D(A) \subseteq H \to H$  on the real Hilbert space H. the statements are equivalent: A is monotone and  $R(I-A)=H \Leftrightarrow A$  is maximal accretive  $\Leftrightarrow A$  is maximal monotone.

#### *Lemma*(2.12),[22]:

Let a linear operator  $A: D(A) \subseteq H \rightarrow H$  on real Hilbert space H

- 1. *A* is the generator of a linear nonexpansive semigroup.
- 2. A maximal accretive and  $\overline{\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{A})} = \mathbf{X}$ .

#### Lemma(2.13),[4]:

Let A be the generator of  $C_0$ - semigroup of contraction (nonexpansive semigroup) on a Banach space *X*. A bounded linear operator B is a perturbation of A such that  $D(A) \subset D(B)$  and

i. Let F denoted the duality on Y Banach space to Y\* defined as

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{F}(y) = & \{ g \in Y^*, \langle y, g \rangle = \|g\|^2 = \|y\|^2 \} \text{ So for every } x \in D(\lambda I - (A + B)) \text{ there is } g \in \\ & F\left( (\lambda I - (A + B))x), \text{ for every } y \in Y, \text{ thus } \langle (-\|B\|I)x, g \rangle \ge -c\|x\|^2 \\ & -a\|\lambda I - (A + B))x\|\|x\| - b\|\lambda I - (A + B))x\|^2 \\ \text{ii. } & c\|(\lambda I - (A + B))^{-1}\| + a\|(\lambda I - (A + B))^{-1}\| + b < 1 \end{split}$$

iii.  $\lambda > ||B||$ . Then A+B is the generator of  $C_0$ -semigroup of contraction (nonexpansive semigroup) in **X**.

#### Lemma(2.14),[22]:

Let the mapping  $A.B:X \to X^*$  be maximal monotone on the real reflexive Banach space X,(where  $X^*$  is the dual space of X) and let  $D(A) \cap IntD(B) \neq \emptyset$ . Then the sum  $A+B:X \to X^*$  is also maximal monotone.

Lemma(2.15),[9]:

Let f be a contraction on complete metric space **X**. Then f has a unique fixed point  $\overline{x} \in X$ . Our problem investigated on the following space that which denoted by  $L_2^{\alpha}$ ,

$$L_2^{\alpha}[0,T] = \{x: x \in L_2[0,T], \ ^{C}D^{\alpha}x \in L_2[0,T]\}, \ 0 < \alpha \leq 1.$$

#### 2.Main Results:

*Lemma*(3.1):

Let  $A_i + B_i K_i$ :  $D(A_i) \subseteq L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n are linear unbounded operators generators of  $C_0$ semigroups  $S_i(t): L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, respectively  $D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i + B_i K_i) \cap Int \ D(A_n + B_n K_n) = D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i) \cap Int \ D(A_n)) \neq \phi$ , for  $n \ge 2$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left( \left( \frac{1}{\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \right) I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \right)^{-1} \right\| &\leq \lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \text{,} \text{for all } \lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \end{aligned}$$

$$(4)$$

$$\text{Where } \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}{n} = \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}$$

#### **Proof:**

From lemma(2.12), we have that  $-(A_i + B_i K_i)$  are a maximal monotone for i=1,...n. Since  $D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i + B_i K_i) \cap Int D(A_n + B_n K_n) = D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i) \cap Int D(A_n)) \neq \phi$ , then by lemma(2.15) we have that  $-\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i + B_i K_i) : D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i + B_i K_i)) \subseteq H \rightarrow H$ ; *a* maximal monotone, then by lemma(2.13) and definition(2.9), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left(I - \left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right) \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})\right)^{-1} \right\| &\leq 1 \text{ for } \lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \\ \left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)^{-1} \left\| \left(\left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})\right)^{-1} \right\| &\leq 1 \text{ for } \lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \\ \text{Hence, } \left\| \left(\left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})\right)^{-1} \right\| &\leq \lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \text{ for } \lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \end{aligned}$$

*Lemma* (3.2):

Let  $A_i + B_i K_i$ :  $D(A_i) \subseteq L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n are linear unbounded operators generators of  $C_0$ semigroups  $S_i(t): L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, respectively and  $B_i: D(B_i) \subseteq L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$  satisfies the
following condition for every  $x \in D(\lambda I - (A_i + B_i K_i))$  there is  $g \in F(\lambda I - (A_i + B_i K_i)x)$  such
that

$$\langle (-\|B_{i}K_{i}\||I)x,g \rangle \geq -c\|x\|^{2} - a\|(\lambda I - (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))x\| - b\|(\lambda I - (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))x\|^{2}$$
  
, for  $\lambda > \|B_{i}K_{i}\|$  such that  $D(\sum_{i=1}^{n}A_{i}) \subset D(\sum_{i=1}^{n}B_{i}K_{i})$   
 $D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1}(A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \cap Int D(A_{n} + B_{n}K_{n}) = D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1}(A_{i}) \cap Int D(A_{n})) \neq \phi$ , for  $n \geq 2$ . Then  
 $\left\| ((\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n}\|B_{i}K_{i}\|) - \sum_{i=1}^{n}(A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))^{-1} \right\| \leq (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n}\|B_{i}K_{i}\|)^{-1}$ , for all  $\lambda > \sum_{i=1}^{n}\|B_{i}K_{i}\|$ 

(5)

Where 
$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}{n} = \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n}} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|$$
.  
**Proof:**  
Since $(A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})$ :  $D(A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) = D(A_{i}) \subseteq L_{2}^{\alpha} \rightarrow L_{2}^{\alpha}$ ,  $i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , are generators of perturbed  $C_{0}$   
-semigroups, then from remark(2.8), we have that  
 $\|((\lambda - (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))^{-1}\| \leq (\lambda - \|B_{i}K_{i}\|)^{-1}$ ,  $i = 1, 2, ..., n$  for  $\lambda > \|B_{i}K_{i}\|$   
(6)  
By using Lemma (2.14), we get

By using Lemma (2.14), we get

$$\left\| (\lambda - \|B_i K_i\|) I - (A_i + B_i K_i))^{-1} \right\| \le \frac{1}{\lambda - \|B_i K_i\|}, \ i = 1, 2, ..., n \text{ for } \lambda > \|B_i K_i\|.$$
(7)

Thus, the operators  $(A_i + B_i K_i)$  are generators of nonexpansive semigroup. Then from theorem (2.12) and lemma (2.13) we have the operators  $-(A_i + B_i K_i)$  are maximal monotone for i = 1, 2, ..., n, hence

$$\left\| \left( \left( I - \frac{1}{\lambda - \|B_i K_i\|} (A_i + B_i K_i) \right)^{-1} \right\| \le 1, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n \text{ for } \lambda > \|B_i K_i\|$$

$$(8)$$
Since  $D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i + B_i K_i) \cap Int \ D(A_n + B_n K_n) = D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_i) \cap Int \ D(A_n) \neq \phi$ 

and for  $\lambda > \|B_i K_i\|$ , we get  $n \lambda > \sum_{i=1}^n \|B_i K_i\| \Longrightarrow \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \|B_i K_i\|}{n} = \overline{\sum_{i=1}^n \|B_i K_i\|}$ Then by lemma (2.15) we have that

$$\begin{aligned} &-\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) : D(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})) \subseteq H \to H \\ (9) \\ \text{is also a maximal monotone, then by lemma (3.1), we have that} \\ &\left\| \left( I - \left( \lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \right)^{-1} \right) \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \right)^{-1} \right\| \leq 1, \text{ for } \lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}, \end{aligned}$$
Thus

 $(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}) \left\| ((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}) I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})))^{-1} \right\| \leq 1 \text{ for } \lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}.$ Hence.  $\left\|\left(\left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})\right)^{-1}\right\| \leq \left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)^{-1}, \quad for \ \lambda > \quad \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}$ 

Lemma (3.3):  
Let 
$$F_i: R_0^+ \times L_2 \times L_2 \to L_2^{\alpha}$$
,  $i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , are nonlinear operators satisfy the following  
1.  $\langle F_i(t, x, D_a^{\alpha} x) - F_i(t, y, D_a^{\alpha} y), x - y \rangle \ge m_i(||x - y|| + ||D_a^{\alpha} x - D_a^{\alpha} y||)^2 \ge m||x - y||_{L_2^{\alpha}}^2$ ,  $m = min\{m_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$   
2.  $\langle D_a^{\alpha} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\alpha} x) - D_a^{\alpha} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\alpha} y), x - y \rangle \ge m_i^*(||x - y|| + ||D_a^{\alpha} x - D_a^{\alpha} y||)^2 \ge m^* ||x - y||_{L_2^{\alpha}}^2$   
for all  $x, y \in H$  and some  $m_i^* > 0$ ;  $m^* = min\{m_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$ ,  
3.  $||F_i(t, x, D_a^{\alpha} x) - F_i(t, x, D_a^{\alpha} x)||_{L_2^{\alpha}} \le K_i(||x - y|| + ||D_a^{\alpha} x - D_a^{\alpha} y||) \le K$ ,  
 $(||x - y|| + ||D_a^{\alpha}(x - y)||) \le K||x - y||_{L_2^{\alpha}}$ for all  $x, y \in H$ , and some  $K_i > 0$ .  
 $K = min\{K_i, i = 1, ..., n\}$ 

4. 
$$\|D_a^{\alpha}F_i(t,x,D_a^{\alpha}x) - D_a^{\alpha}F_i(t,x,D_a^{\alpha}x)\|_{L_2^{\alpha}} \le K_i^*(\|x-y\| + \|D_a^{\alpha}x - D_a^{\alpha}y\|) \le K^*\|x-y\|_{L_2^{\alpha}},$$
  
 $K^* = min\{K_i^*, i = 1, ..., n\}$ 

Then there exists interval of  $\lambda$  such that  $\overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_i K_i||} < \lambda < \min\{\frac{2m}{nK^2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_i K_i||, \frac{2m^*}{nK^{*2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_i K_i||, \frac{2m^*}{nK^{*2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_i K_i||$  $\overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \} \text{ for some } m^{*}, k^{*} > 0, n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } S_{\lambda}: L_{2}^{\alpha} \longrightarrow L_{2}^{\alpha}.$ 

 $\begin{aligned} S_{\lambda}(x) &= x - (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||}) \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t_{1}, x, D_{a}^{\propto}x)) \\ D_{a}^{\propto}S_{\lambda}(x) &= x - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \sum_{i=1}^{n} D_{a}^{\propto}F_{i}(t_{1}, x, D_{a}^{\propto}x)) \\ S_{\lambda}(x) \text{ is a contraction operator in } L_{2}^{\alpha} - \text{ space.} \end{aligned}$ 

**Proof:** 

We have 
$$||S_{\lambda}(x) - S_{\lambda}(y)||^{2} = \langle x - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) - (y - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y)), x - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) - (y - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) - y + (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y)), x - (x - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) - y + (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y)), x - (x - y - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) + (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y)), x - (x - y - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y)), x - (x - y - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y)) - (\langle A - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{\alpha}^{x}x) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y), x - y + (\langle A - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \rangle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{\alpha}^{x}y) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_$$

 $\begin{aligned} \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} &< \lambda < \min\{ \frac{2m}{nK^{2}} + \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}, \frac{2m^{*}}{nK^{*2}} + \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \} \\ . \text{ To be, } \|S_{\lambda}(x) - S_{\lambda}(y)\|_{L_{2}^{\alpha}} \leq b(\|x - y\| + \|D_{a}^{\alpha}x - D_{a}^{\alpha}y\|) = b \|x - y\|_{L_{2}^{\alpha}} . \end{aligned}$  Where

$$b = \left(1 - 2\left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)nm\right) + \left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)^{2}(nK)^{2}\right)^{1/2} + \left(1 - 2\left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)nm^{*}\right) + \left(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|}\right)^{2}(nK^{*})^{2}\right)^{1/2} < I$$
  
Hence  $S_{\lambda}(x)$  is contraction operator in  $\mathbf{L}_{2}^{\alpha}$  space.

Consider the following semilinear of sum of N-perturbed unbounded operators equations discussed in the following equations.

*Theorem (3.4):* 

Let  $A_i + B_i K_i$ :  $D(A_i) \subseteq L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, are linear unbounded operators generators of  $_{C_0}$ -semigroups  $S_i(t): L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha} i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , respectively and  $B_i D(B_i) \subseteq L_2^{\alpha} \to L_2^{\alpha}$  satisfies the following condition for every  $\mathbf{x} \in D(\lambda \mathbf{I} - (\mathbf{A}_i + \mathbf{B}_i \mathbf{K}_i))$  there is  $g \in F(\lambda \mathbf{I} - (\mathbf{A}_i + \mathbf{B}_i \mathbf{K}_i)\mathbf{x})$  such that  $\langle (-\|B_i K_i\| \mathbf{I})\mathbf{x}, g \rangle \ge -c \|\mathbf{x}\|^2 - a \| (\lambda \mathbf{I} - (\mathbf{A}_i + \mathbf{B}_i \mathbf{K}_i))\mathbf{x}\| - b \| (\lambda \mathbf{I} - (\mathbf{A}_i + \mathbf{B}_i \mathbf{K}_i))\mathbf{x}\|^2$ , for  $\lambda > \|B_i\|$ , such that

 $\int ||\mathbf{A}_{i}||^{n} ||\mathbf{A}_{i}|| ||\mathbf{A}_{i}|| ||\mathbf{A}_{i}|| ||\mathbf{A}_{i}||^{n} = \mathbf{D}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}K_{i})$   $D(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \cap \operatorname{Int} \mathbf{D}(A_{n} + B_{n}K_{n}) = \mathbf{D}(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (A_{i}) \cap \operatorname{Int} \mathbf{D}(A_{n}) \neq \phi, \text{ for } \mathbf{n} \geq 2,$   $and Let F_{i}: R_{0}^{+} \times L_{2} \times L_{2} \rightarrow L_{2}^{\alpha}, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n, \text{ are nonlinear operators satisfy the following }$   $1. \langle F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\alpha}x) - F_{i}(t, y, D_{a}^{\alpha}y), x - y \rangle \geq m_{i}(||x - y|| + ||D_{a}^{\alpha}x - D_{a}^{\alpha}y||)^{2}$   $\geq m||x - y||_{L_{2}^{\alpha}}^{2}, m = \min\{m_{i}, i = 1, ..., n\}$   $2. \langle D_{a}^{\alpha}F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\alpha}x) - D_{a}^{\alpha}F_{i}(t, y, D_{a}^{\alpha}y), x - y \rangle \geq m_{i}^{*}(||x - y|| + ||D_{a}^{\alpha}x - D_{a}^{\alpha}y||)^{2}$   $\geq m^{*}||x - y||_{L_{2}^{\alpha}}^{2}$   $for all x, y \in H \text{ and some } m_{i}^{*} > 0; m^{*} = \min\{m_{i}, i = 1, ..., n\},$   $3. ||F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\alpha}x) - F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\alpha}x)||_{L_{2}^{\alpha}} \leq K_{i}(||x - y|| + ||D_{a}^{\alpha}x - D_{a}^{\alpha}y||)$   $\leq K(||x - y|| + ||D_{a}^{\alpha}(x - y)||) \leq K||x - y||_{L_{2}^{\alpha}}$   $for all x, y \in L_{2}^{\alpha} x, y \in H \text{ , and some } K_{i} > 0. K = \min\{K_{i}, i = 1, ..., n\}$   $4. ||D_{a}^{\alpha}F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\alpha}x) - D_{a}^{\alpha}F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\alpha}x)||_{L_{2}^{\alpha}} \leq K_{i}^{*}(||x - y|| + ||D_{a}^{\alpha}x - D_{a}^{\alpha}y||) \leq K^{*}||x - y||_{L_{2}^{\alpha}}$ 

Then the following equation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\propto} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_i u_i$$
$$u_i = K_i x, \text{ for all } x \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} D(A_i)$$
(12)

 $K^* = \min\{K_i^*, i = 1, \dots, n\}$  for all x,y  $\epsilon H$ .

has an unique solution.

Proof:

The Equation (12) can be written as  $(\mathbf{I} - (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||) \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))\mathbf{x} - (\mathbf{x} - (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||) \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{F}_{i}(\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{D}_{a}^{\propto}\mathbf{x})) = \mathbf{0}, \text{for}$   $\lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||} \text{ and } \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{H}. \text{ Or}$   $-(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||) \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) \quad \text{, for } \lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||} \text{ and } \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{H}.$ (13) Where  $S_{\lambda}(x) = x - (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||) \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, \mathbf{D}_{a}^{\propto}x).$   $(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||)(\mathbf{I}(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||)^{-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}),$ for  $\lambda > \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}|| \text{ ond } \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{H}.$   $(I(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||)^{-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))\mathbf{x} = (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||)^{-1} \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) \text{ for}$   $(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||)^{-1} > 0$ From lemma (2.15), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{x} &= (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1} ((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1}\mathbf{I} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))^{-1} \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) \\ (14) \\ \text{To show that, } (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1} ((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1}\mathbf{I} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))^{-1} \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) \text{ is a contraction operator} \\ (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1} ((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1}\mathbf{I} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))^{-1} \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) - \\ (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1} ((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1}\mathbf{I} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))^{-1} \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{y}) \\ &= (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1} ((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1}\mathbf{I} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))^{-1} (\mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) - \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{y})) \\ &\leq (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1} \left\| ((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}||})^{-1}\mathbf{I} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mathbf{A}_{i} + \mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{K}_{i}))^{-1} \right\| \| \| (\mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x}) - \mathbf{S}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{y})) \| \\ \text{By lemmas(3.1) and equation(3.2), we get} \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||})^{-1} \left\| \left( (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||})^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \right)^{-1} S_{\lambda}(x) - \\ &((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||})^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \right)^{-1} S_{\lambda}(y) \right\| \leq \\ &((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||})^{-1})(\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) b||x - y|| \\ &\text{Hence,} \qquad (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||})^{-1} \left\| \left( (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||} \right)^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \right)^{-1} S_{\lambda}(y) \right\| \leq b \|x - y\| \\ &((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||})^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \right)^{-1} S_{\lambda}(y) \right\| \leq b \|x - y\| \\ &(15) \\ &\text{From lemma (3.2), we have} \\ &b = \left( 1 - 2\left( \lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}|| \right) (nm^{*}) + \left( \lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}|| \right)^{2} (nK^{*})^{2} \right)^{-1} < 1 \\ &\text{for } \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||} < \lambda < \frac{2m^{*}}{nK^{*2}} + \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}|| } \\ &((\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}|| )^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) \right)^{-1} S_{\lambda}(x) \\ &\text{has an unique fixed point, thus (14) and} \\ \end{aligned}$$

 $((\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{-1}I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))^{-1}S_{\lambda}(\mathbf{x})$  has an unique fixed point, thus (14) and consequently (12) has an unique solution.

#### Definition (3.5):

Let X be a real separable Banach space a one-parameter family  $\{S_n(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_1(t)\} \subset L(X), t \in [0,\infty)$  of a perturbed  $C_0$ -semigroups of bounded linear operators  $\{S_i(t)\}_{i=1}^n \subset L(X)$  are commutative and generated by  $(A_i + B_iK_i)$  for i = 1,...,n respectively and  $t \in [0,\infty)$  is called commutative composite perturbed semigroup if

- **1.**  $S_{n}(0)S_{n-1}(0)...S_{1}(0) = I$ , (*I* is the identity operator on *X*).
- **2.**  $S_n(t+s)S_{n-1}(t+s)...S_1(t+s) = (S_n(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_1(t))(S_n(s)S_{n-1}(s)...S_1(s))$ for every  $t, s \ge 0$ .

*Definition (3.6):* 

The generator  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))$  of a semigroup of commutative composite perturbed semigroups  $\{S_n(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_1(t)\}_{t>0}$ , on a real separable Banach space *X*, defined as the Limit

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i) = \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{S_n(t) S_2(t) \dots S_1(t) x - I x}{t} , x \in D(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)) = D(A_1 + B_1 K_1) \cap D(A_2 + B_2 K_2) \dots \cap D(A_n + B_n K_n) = D(A_1) \cap D(A_2) \dots \cap D(A_n)$$

where  $D(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)) \subset X$  is a domain of  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)$  has a countable subset which is dense in X and defined as follows

$$D(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)) = \{x \in X : \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{S_n(t)S_2(t) \dots S_1(t)x - Ix}{t} \text{ exist in } X\}$$

*Lemma* (3.7):

Let H be a real separable Hilbert space, and

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}) &: \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} D(A_{i}) \subseteq H \to H \\ \text{be a generator of a semigroup of a commutative composite perturbed semigroups.Then} \\ \left\| (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))^{-1} x \right\| &\leq \frac{1}{\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \|x\| \quad \text{and} \quad x \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} D(A_{i}) \end{split}$$
for i = 1, ..., n. (16)

#### **Proof:**

 $F_{p}(\lambda)x = L(S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t) \dots, S_{1}(t)x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t) \dots, S_{1}(t)xdt, \text{, for } \lambda > \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||$ and  $x \in X$ . (17)

Since  $t \longrightarrow S_i(t)x$  are continuous for i = 1, 2, ..., n the integral exists and defines a bounded linear operator  $F_{p}(\lambda)$  satisfying

$$\|F_{p}(\lambda)x\| \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \|S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_{1}(t)x\| dt \|F_{p}(\lambda)x\| \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \|S_{n}(t)\| \|S_{n-1}(t)\|...\|S_{1}(t)\| \|x\| dt$$

 $\|S_i(t)\| \le e^{\|B_iK_i\|t}$ , for i = 1, 2, ..., n, then But

$$\begin{aligned} \|F_{p}(\lambda)x\| &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} e^{e^{\|B_{n}K_{n}\|t}} e^{e^{\|B_{n-1}K_{n-1}\|t}} \dots e^{e^{\|B_{1}K_{1}\|t}} \|x\| dt \\ \|F_{p}(\lambda)x\| &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-(\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|)t} \|x\| dt \\ \|F_{p}(\lambda)x\| &\leq \frac{1}{\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|} \|x\| \end{aligned}$$

(18)

Furthermore, for h > 0

$$\frac{S_n(h)S_{n-1}(h)...S_1(h)-I}{h}F(\lambda)x = \frac{S_n(h)S_{n-1}(h)...S_1(h)-I}{h}\int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t}S_n(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_1(t)xdt$$
$$= \frac{1}{h}\int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} \left( \left(S_n(h)S_{n-1}(h)...S_1(h)\right) \left(S_n(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_1(t)\right)x - S_n(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_1(t)x \right)dt$$

Since  $S_i(t)S_i(t)$  are commutative then

$$=\frac{1}{h}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \left( S_{n}(t+h)S_{n-1}(t+h)...S_{1}(t+h)x - S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_{1}(t)x \right) dt$$

$$=\frac{1}{h}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(t+h)S_{n-1}(t+h)...S_{1}(t+h)x dt - \frac{1}{h}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_{1}(t)x dt$$
Let  $\delta = t+h \Rightarrow d\delta = dt$ , if  $0 \le t \le \infty$  then  $h \le \delta \le \infty$ , we get
$$=\frac{1}{h}\int_{h}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(\delta)S_{n-1}(\delta)...S_{1}(\delta)x d\delta - \frac{1}{h}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_{1}(t)x dt$$

$$=\frac{e^{\lambda h}}{h}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(\delta)S_{n-1}(\delta)...S_{1}(\delta)x d\delta - \frac{e^{\lambda h}}{h}\int_{0}^{h} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(\delta)S_{n-1}(\delta)...S_{1}(\delta)x d\delta$$

$$-\frac{1}{h}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_{1}(t)x dt$$
We get
$$=\frac{e^{\lambda h}-1}{h}\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_{1}(t)x dt - \frac{e^{\lambda h}}{h}\int_{0}^{h} e^{-\lambda t}S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_{1}(t)x dt \cdot (19)$$

As  $h \downarrow 0$ , from (17) and remarks (2.4) the right-hand side of (19) converges to  $\lambda F_{p}(\lambda)x - x$ .

This implies that for every  $x \in H$  and  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $F_p(\lambda)x \in D(\sum_{i=1}^n (A_i + B_iK_i))$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^n (A_i + B_iK_i)F_p(\lambda) = \lambda F_p(\lambda) - I$ 

or

$$(\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)) F_p(\lambda) = \mathbf{I}$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

For  $x \in D(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))$  we have  $F_p(\lambda) \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i) x = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} S_n(t) S_{n-1}(t) \dots, S_1(t) \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i) x dt$ , (21) From remarks (2.4), the Equation (21) become

From remarks (2.4), the Equation (21) become

$$F_{p}(\lambda)\sum_{i=1}^{n}(A_{i}+B_{i}K_{i})x=\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-\lambda t}\sum_{i=1}^{n}(A_{i}+B_{i}K_{i})S_{n}(t)S_{n-1}(t)\dots,S_{1}(t)\sum_{i=1}^{n}(A_{i}+B_{i}K_{i})xdt$$

 $= \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i) \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} S_n(t) S_{n-1}(t) \dots, S_1(t) x dt$   $= \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i) F_p(\lambda) x$ (22)
From (20) and (22) it follows that  $F_p(\lambda) (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i) x \to x \text{ for } x \in D(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))$ Thus,  $F_p(\lambda) \text{ is the inverse of } \lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i), \text{ it exists for all } \lambda > \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_i K_i\|$ 

#### *Theorem (3.8):*

Let **H** be a real separable Hilbert space,  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)$  be a generator of commutative composite perturbed semigroup  $\{S_n(t)S_{n-1}(t)...S_1(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  and  $F_i: H \to H, i = 1, 2, ..., n$  are nonlinear operators

and there exist  $m_i, k_i > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$  such that

1.  $\langle F_i(t_1, x, D_a^{\propto} x) - F_i(t_2, y, D_a^{\propto} y), x - y \rangle \ge m_i ||x - y|| \text{ for all } x, y \in H \text{ and some } m_i > 0;$ 2.  $||F_i(t_1, x, D_a^{\propto} x) - F_i(t_2, x, D_a^{\propto} x)|| \le K_i(||t_1 - t_2|| + ||x - y|| + ||D_a^{\propto} x - D_a^{\propto} y||)$  $\le K_i(||t_1 - t_2|| + ||x - y|| + ||D_a^{\propto}(x - y)||) \le K_i(||t_1 - t_2|| + ||x - y|| + ||D_a^{\propto}(x - y)||)$ 

for all  $x, y \in H$ , hence the equation

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\alpha} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_i u_i, u_i = K_i x, \text{ for all } x \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} D(A_i)$ (23) has an unique solution.

#### **Proof:**

The Equation (23) can be equivalently written as  $(\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))x - (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) = 0,$ Or  $\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)x = T_{\lambda}(x)$ (24) Where  $T_{\lambda}(x) = \lambda x - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)$ , we have  $||T_{\lambda}(x) - T_{\lambda}(y)||^2 = (\lambda x - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - (\lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)), \lambda x - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - (\lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - (\lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x))) = (\lambda x - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - \lambda y + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y))) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - \lambda y + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = (\lambda x - \lambda y - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, y, D_a^{\infty} y)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_i(t, x, D_a^{\infty} x)) =$   $\begin{aligned} \|T_{\lambda}(x) - T_{\lambda}(y)\|^{2} &= \lambda^{2} \|x - y\|^{2} - 2\lambda \langle \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\propto} x), \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{a}^{\propto} y), x - y \rangle + \\ \|\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\propto} x) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(t, y, D_{a}^{\propto} y)\|^{2} \\ \text{Also,} \|D_{a}^{\propto} T_{\lambda}(x) - D_{a}^{\propto} T_{\lambda}(y)\|^{2} &= \lambda^{2} \|D_{a}^{\propto} x - D_{a}^{\propto} y\|^{2} - \\ 2\lambda \langle \sum_{i=1}^{n} D_{a}^{\propto} F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\propto} x), \sum_{i=1}^{n} D_{a}^{\propto} F_{i}(t, y, D_{a}^{\propto} y), D_{a}^{\propto} x - D_{a}^{\propto} y \rangle + \|\sum_{i=1}^{n} D_{a}^{\propto} F_{i}(t, x, D_{a}^{\propto} x) - \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} D_{a}^{\propto} F_{i}(t, y, D_{a}^{\propto} y)\|^{2} \\ \text{From conditions(1)(2), we obtain} \end{aligned}$ 

 $\|T_{\lambda}(x) - T_{\lambda}(y)\|_{L_{2}^{\alpha}} \leq \left(\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2}\right)^{1/2} + \left((\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2}\right)^{1/2} \left(\|x - y\| + \|D_{a}^{\alpha}x - D_{a}^{\alpha}y\| = \|x - y\|_{L_{2}^{\alpha}}\right)$ (25)

From lemma (3.4.36) the operator  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)$  is generator of a family of linear commutative composite perturbed semigroup.

Then the operator  $\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)$  is invertible and

$$\left\| \left(\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i)\right)^{-1} \right\| \le (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_i K_i\|)^{-1}, \text{for } \lambda > \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_i K_i\|$$
(26)  
Now, Equation (24) is equivalent with

$$x = (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))^{-1} T_{\lambda}(x)$$
(27)  
To show that  $x = (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))^{-1} T_{\lambda}(x)$  is a contraction operator  

$$\| (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))^{-1} T_{\lambda}(x) - (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))^{-1} T_{\lambda}(x) \|$$

$$\| (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})) - I_{\lambda}(x) - (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i})) - I_{\lambda}(y) \|$$
  
=  $\| (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))^{-1} (T_{\lambda}(x) - (T_{\lambda}(y)) \|$   
 $\leq \| (\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_{i} + B_{i}K_{i}))^{-1} \| \| T_{\lambda}(x) - T_{\lambda}(y) \|_{L_{2}^{\alpha}}$   
By (24) and (25), we get

$$\leq (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{l=1}^{n} \|B_{l}K_{l}\|})^{-1} (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm) + (nK)^{2})^{1/2} + (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2})^{1/2}) \|x - y\|_{L_{2}^{\alpha}}$$
for all  $x, y \in H$ .

Now we find when the following inequality is hold

$$\begin{aligned} (\lambda - \overline{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||})^{-1} (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm) + (nK)^{2})^{1/2} + (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2})^{1/2} < 1 \\ (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm) + (nK)^{2})^{1/2} + (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2})^{1/2} < (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \\ (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm) + (nK)^{2})^{1/2} < (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \\ (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2})^{1/2} < (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) \\ \text{Hence} \\ \lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm) + (nK)^{2}) < (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2} \\ (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2}) < (\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2} \\ (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2}) < \lambda^{2} - 2\lambda\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}|| + (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2} \\ (\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2}) < \lambda^{2} - 2\lambda\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}|| + (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2} \\ -\lambda(2nm - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) < -(nK)^{2} + (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2} \\ \lambda > ((nK)^{2} - (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2})(2nm - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{-1} \\ \text{Also} \\ -\lambda(2nm - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||) < -(nK)^{2} + (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2} \\ \lambda > ((nK^{*})^{2} - (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2})(2nm^{*} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{-1} \\ \text{Let us choose} \\ \lambda > \max\{\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||, ((nK)^{2} - (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{2})(2nm - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{-1}, ((nK^{*})^{2} - (\sum_{i=1}^{n} ||B_{i}K_{i}||)^{-1}], \end{aligned}$$

it result that

$$(\lambda - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \|B_{i}K_{i}\|))^{-1} \left( \left(\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm) + (nK)^{2}\right)^{1/2} + \left(\lambda^{2} - 2\lambda(nm^{*}) + (nK^{*})^{2}\right)^{1/2} \right) < 1$$

Therefore,  $(\lambda I - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (A_i + B_i K_i))^{-1} T_{\lambda}(x)$  is a contraction in  $L_2^{\alpha}$ . Then by theorem (2.16) the Equation (27) and consequently (23) has a unique solution.

#### References

- [1] Ahmad, B., (2017), Solvability for A System Of Nonlinear Fractional Higher –Order Threepoint BoundaryValue Problem, Fractional Differential Calculus Volume 7, Number 1 , 151–167.
- [2] Akram G., and Anjum, F., (2018), Existence and Uniqueness of Solution for Differential Equation of Fractional order  $2 < \alpha < 3$  with Nonlocal Multipoint Integral Boundary Conditions, *Turkish Journal of Mathematics*, 42: 2304 2324.
- [3] Balakrishnan, A.V., (1976), "Applied Functional Analysis". By Springer-Verlag Newyork . Inc.,.
- [4] Caputo, M., (1967), Linear Model of Dissipation Whose Q is Almost Frequency Independent. Part II, *Geophysical Journal of Royal Astronomical Society*, (13)529-539.
- [5] Chergui, D, Oussaeif, T. E. and Ahcene, M., (2019), Existence and Uniqueness of Solutions for Nonlinear Fractional Differential Equations Depending on Lower-Order Derivative with

non-separated type integral boundary conditions, AIM Mathematics, 4(1): 112-133.

- [6] Dhaigude, D.B. and Bhairat, S. B., (2018), Existence and Uniqueness of Solution of Cauchy Type Problem For Hilfer Fractional Deferential equations, *Communications in Applied Analysis*, 22, No. 1.
- [7] Guo, Y., (2009), Solvability for a Nonlinear fractional Differential Equation, Bull. *Aust. Math. Soc.* 80, 125–138.
- [8] Hasan S. Q.,(2015) "Existence of Some New Classes of Semilinear Unbounded Perturbed Operator Equations", *Eng & tech Journal*, Vol. 33, part(B), No.2.
- [9] Istratescu, V.I.,(1981), "Fixed Point Theory", D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht.
- [10] Kilbas A.A., Srivastava H.M., Trujillo J.J., (2006), Theory and Applications of 6.1.1 Fractional Differential Equations, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- 6.1.1 Fractional Differential Equations, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
  [11] Liu, Z and Li, X., (2016), Existence of solutions and controllability for impulsive fractional
- order damped systems, *Journal of Integral Equations and Applications*, Volume 28, Number 4, 551-579.
- [12] Locker, J., (1967), Existence Analysis for Nonlinear Equations in Hilbert space", Trans Amer. *Math. Soc.* 128, pp.403-413.
- [13] Lv, L., Wang, J., and Wei, W., (2011) Existence and Uniqueness Results For Fractional Differential Equations With Boundary Value Conditions, *Opuscula Mathematica* Vol. 31 No. 4.
- [14] Morticim C.,(1997) " Semilinear Equations With Strongly Monotone Nonlinearity", Lematematiche,vol.52,pp.387-392.
- [15] Morticim C.,(2001), "Semilinear Equations in Hilbert Space With Quasi-Positive Nonlinearity", *B.B. Mathematca*, vol.4,pp.89-93.
- [16] Nanwarea, J. A., and Dhaigudeb, D. B.,(2014), Existence and Uniqueness of Solutions of Deferential Equations of Fractional Order With Integral Boundary Conditions, *Journal of Nonlinear Science and Application, J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl.* 7 246-254.
- [17] Okazawa, N.,(1982), On The Perturbation of Linear Operators in Banach and Hilbert Spaces, J.Math,Soc.Japan.Vol.34,No.4.
- [18] Pazy A.,(1983), Semigroup of Linear Operator and Applications to Partial Differential

Equation", Springer – Verlage, New Yourk. Inc., 1983.

- [19] Petryshyn, W.Y., (1966), "On a Fixed Point Theorem for Nonlinear P-Compact Operators in Banach Space", *Bulletin the American Mathematical Society* Volume 72, Number 2,329-334.
- [20] Teodorescu, D.,(2005), "An Existence and Uniqueness Result for Semilinear Equation with Lipschitz Nonlinearity". *An.St. Univ. Ovidius Constanta*, vol.13(1),pp.111-114.
- [21] Wang J., Yu, C., and Guo, Y.,(2018), Solvability for Nonlinear Fractional q-Difference Equations with Nonlocal Conditions, *Int. J. Modelling, Identification and Control*, Vol. 30, No. 4.
- [22] Zeidler, E.,(1990), "Nonlinear Functional Analysis and Its Applications II/A,B", Springer-Vaerlag, NewYork, Inc.

### Computations in the Pre-Bloch group D. Al Baydli and A. Rahm

1-University of Wasit, College of Education for Pure Science, Department of mathematics.2- Mathematics Research Unit of Université du Luxembourg, Luxembourg.

E-mail: 1)daheralbaydli@uowasit.edu.iq

2) <u>alexander.rahm@uni.lu</u>

Abstract. For compute the five term relations in the pre-Bloch group for specify an infiniteorder- element in  $K_3$  ( $Q(\sqrt{-m})$ ),  $m \in N$  square- free. For the quadratic imaginary number fields F of discriminant

(-1;-2;-3;-7;-17;-19). We use the GAP Programming software to implement our method.

#### **1. Introduction**

Let *R* be an associative ring with unit. The higher algebraic *K*-group of *R* are defined to be the homotopy groups  $Kn(R) := \pi_n(K(R))$  for a space K(R) that is constructed as follows Type equation here.

where the union is formed using the inclusions  $GL_n(R) \to GL_{n+1}(R); A \to \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ , for a group *G*, the commutator subgroup *is*  $[G;G] := gfghg^{-1}h^{-1}|g;h \in G$ , then as an Abelian group, the first *K*-group is

Any ring map  $R \to S$  induces a natural map  $GL(R) \to GL(S)$ , and hence a map  $K_1(R) \to K_1(S)$ . Therefore,  $K_1$  is a functor from rings to Abelian groups.

**Definition 1.1** If  $i \neq j \in N$  and  $r \in R$ , then the elementary matrix  $e_{i,j}(r)$  is the matrix in GL(R) which has diagonal entries all 1, (i; j)-entery r, and 0 elsewhere. Setting  $E_n(R) := \langle e_{i,i}(r) | 1 \leq i; j \leq n; r \in R \rangle$ ,

 $E(R) := \bigcup_{n \in N} E_n(R)$ , the subgroup E(R) of elementary matrices in GL(R), equals the commutator : E(R) = [GL(R); GL(R)]: Note that for a field F, En(F) = SLn(F):

#### 1.1. Quillen's space $BGL(R)^+ = K(R)$

The space  $BGL(R)^+ = K(R)$  that we are going to construct is also called Quillen's "+"-construction of the space K(R) defining algebraic K-theory.

For a group G, there exist a space BG with  $\pi_n(BG) = G, \pi_n(BG) = 0$ , for all  $n \ge 2$ .

So there is a theoretical construction of BGL(R) -the classifying space for group homology.

**Definition 1.2** The notation  $BGL(R)^+$  will denote any CW-complex X which has a distinguished map  $BGL(R) \rightarrow BGL(R)^+$  such that the following are true:

- 1)  $\pi_1 BGL(R)^+ \cong K1(R)$ , and the natural map GL(R) = p1BGL(R) ! p1BGL(R) +is surjective with kenerl E(R):
- H<sub>\*</sub>(BGL(R); M) ≅ H<sub>\*</sub>BGL(R)<sup>+</sup>; M) for every K1(R) -module M. Such a space X is called a model for BGL(R)<sup>+</sup>

**Definition 1.3** An R- module P is called projective if there exist an R-module Q such that  $P \bigoplus Q$  is free (it has a basis). The set PR of isomorphism classes of finitely generated projective R-module, together with direct sum and identity 0, forms an abelian monoid.

 $K_0(R) := (PR)^{-1}P(R)$  is the Grothendieck group completion. K(R) is the disjoint union of copies of  $BGL(R)^+ = K(R) := K_0(R) \times BGL(R)^+ =;$ 

because  $BGL(R)^+$  is a connected space. we recover K1(R) with the definition  $K_n(R) := \pi_n(K(R))$ , for all  $n \in N \ge 0$ . Note that for all  $n \ge 1$ ,  $K_n(R) = \pi_n(BGL(R)^+)$ ; because in  $\coprod_{p \in K_0(R)} BGL(R)^+$ , all connected components are identical, so it dose not matter where we place the basepoint.

Now we have a theoretical construction of the higher algebraic K-groups, but we do not know yet how any non-trivial element in them looks like.

A theorem of Borel implies that for an imaginary quadratic field F,  $K_3(F) \cong Z \oplus Z = \omega_2(F)Z$  for a natural number  $\omega_2(F) \in N_g eq1$  which is constructed using Tate twists(we will not go into the details of that

construction, because for the present purposes, we are not interested in the torsion).

**Question**. Can we specify an infinite-order- element in  $K_3(Q(\sqrt{-m}))$ ,  $m \in N$  square- free? For this purpose, we use the Bloch group, and work of de Jen,Gangl, Rahm and Yasaki.

#### 2. The Bloch group

for an Abelian group A, let  $\tilde{\Lambda}^2 A$  denote the quotient of the group A  $\otimes$  A by the subgroup generated by all  $a \otimes b + b \otimes a$ :

 $\tilde{\Lambda}^2 A := A \otimes A = \langle a \otimes b + b \otimes a | a; b \in A \rangle$ 

**Definition 2.1** :[7] For any field F, the pre-Bloch group P(F) denote the abelian group presented with generator symbols [x] for  $x \in F \setminus \{0\}$  with relations  $[1] = [0] = [\infty] = 0$  and for  $x \neq y$  in  $F \setminus \{0, 1\}$ , the "five-term relations":

 $[x] - [y] + [y/x] - [\frac{1-1/x}{1-1/y}] + [\frac{1-x}{1-y}] = 0$ , In [4] refer the five term relation is different because of the different definition of the cross- ratio for more details see [[3],[5]]. In addition, for [Proposition 2.14 [3]] illustrates the equivalence between the two relation of five term relations. If we have [r]+[r-1] = 0, r > 0 and [r1]-[r2]+[r1=r2]-[1 1- -1 1= =r r12]+[11--rr12] = 0, where 1 < r1 < r2 and [r] = [¥;0;1], r > 1, can be translated to defining relation in terms of generators [s], satisfying [s1]-[s2]+[s1=s2]-[11-11=s2]+[s1=s2]-[11-11=s2]+[s1=s2]-[11-11=s2]+[s1=s2]+=ss1 2 ]+[11--ss12 ] = 0. Setting s1 = 11--xy x and s2 = 1y--xy xy in the relation above, we obtain **Definition 2.4** The 6-fold symmetry [x] = [1-(1=x)] = [1=(1-x)] = -[1=x] = -[1-x]= -[-x=(1-x)]and similar with [y]. Also if we have -[x] it does not mean [-x]. **Example 2.5** Show [2] - [1=2] = 0. • $\sum 2 i = 1 mi [xi] = 1 [x1] - 1 [x2] = 1 [2] + 1 [1=2]$ [2] [1/2] 11 •0 = [xi] - [xi] + F3 - F4 + F5[xi] [xj] F3 F4 F5 1 -1 1 -1 1 •Choose m1 = 1; m2 = 1. F3 = [xy] = [1 = 22] = [1 4], F4 = [11 - -11 = xy] = [1 - 1 - 1 = 22] = [-21], F5 = [-21[11--xy] = [11--12=2] = [1-=12] = [-2], the 6-fold symmetry [x] = [2] = [1=2] = [-1] = [-1=2] = [1] = -[2], since [2]+[2] = 2[2]= 0: [2] [1=2] [1=4] [-1=2] [-2] 11000 -11-11-1 •We can merge column with 6-fold symmetry. •Choose i=3, j=4. F3 = [xy] = [--12=2] = [4], F4 = [11--11=xy] = [1-1-1=1-=-1=22] = [2], F5 = [11--xy] = [1+1+1=22] = [1 2] [2] = [1=2] [1=4] [-1=2] = -[-2]1 + (-1) 0 0 + 0-1 + 1 -1 1+1 0 - 1 2 •Choose i=3, j=4. F3 = [xy] = [-11==42] = [-21], F4 = [11--11==xy] = [11--11==-11=42] = [-1], F5 = [11--xy] = [11++11==24] = [2],

[- 1=2] 2	[1= 4] -1	[- 1=2] 0	[- 1] 0	L 2 ]
				0
-1	1	-1	1	-

 1

 •We can merge column with 6-fold symmetry.

 [-1=2]=[-1=2] 

 [1=4] 

 [-1] 

 2 + 0 - 1 0 + 0 

 -1 + (-1) 1 1 + (-1) 

 0 0 0 

**Algorithm 2.1** Algorithm for the check [x]-[y] = 0 in P(F)

**Input:** A difference  $[x] - [y] = \sum k i = 1 mi [xi]$ , where  $x_1; \ldots; x_k 2 \in F, m_1; \ldots; m_k 2 \in Z$ . **Output:** Either a list of 5-term relations with which [x] - [y] can be seen to be zero in P(F). Or return

"fail" if the algorithm cannot find such 5-term relations.

#### **Procedure:**

1: Write the vector [x]-[y] in the space  $\langle [x1]; \ldots; [x2] \rangle \approx Zk$ ,

2: check if there are two coefficients mi; mj with the same absolute value.

3: Choose two coefficients with high absolute values jmij; jmjj, (assume $jmij \ge jmjj$ ). F3 = [xxij],

F4 = [11 - -11 = xxij], F5 = [11 - -xxij].

4: Pick [x1] and [y1] with the biggest prime in their denominators: x1 = p=q, q = pm 11;:::; pm r r prime

factorisation of q, p1; :::; pr prime mi 2 N.

5: Add the 5-term relations 0 = [xi]-[xj]+F3-F4+F5

6: We just keep the sum: If we instead take m3 times the row, then we get

[x1] [x2] ::: [xk] F3 F4 F5

m1 m2 + m3 ::: mk m3 - m3 m3

Here we have to keep track of the sign, so we can enter the coefficient with the correct sign. 7: Merge rows using the 6-fold symmetry.

8: If we arrive at a final row  $\sum = 0$ , then run the program a second time and print the 5-term relations

that have been used.

9: If the number of non-zero columns exceeds a limit that has been defined in advance (10m) then return

"fail".

**Example 2.6** Show 2[3] - [-3] = 0.

To prove the difference class [3] with coefficient 2 and [-3] with coefficient 1, need to find the five terms

relations from these classes. •F(xi;xj) = [xi]-[xj]+F3-F4+F5•We add F(3;-3). F3 = [xy] = [-33] = [-1], F4 = [11--11==xy] = [11-+11==33] = [12], F5 = [11--xy] = [11-+33] = [-21], [3] [-3] [-1] [1=2] [-1=2]2 -1 0 0 0 -1 1 -1 1 -1

Using the 6-fold symmetry we find [3]=[-1=2] and [-1]=[1=2], so we can merge these columns.

[3]=[	- [-	- [-1]	] =		
1=2]	3]	[1=]	2]		
2	-1	0+0	)		
-1+(-1)	) 1	-1 +	1		
0	0	0			
He	ence +2	2[3] +-1[	[-3]=0-	+-1]	F(3,-3), as claimed
[2] [	1=2] [	1=4] [-	-1=2]	[-2	2]
1100	0				-
-1 1 -1	1 -1				
•We ca	an mer	ge colum	n with	6-f	old symmetry.
•Choos	se i=3,	j=4. F3 ⁼	= [xy]	=	[-12=2] = [4], F4 = [1111=xy] = [1-1-1=1-=-
1=22]	= [2]	, F5 = [	11x	y] :	= [1+1+1=22] = [12]
$\begin{bmatrix} 2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} - \end{bmatrix}$	1=2]	1=4] [-	-1=2]	, _ 	[-2]
1 + (-1)	) 0 0 +	0	-		
-1 + 1	-1 1+1	-			
0 -1 2					
•Choos	se i=3,	i=4. F3 =	= [xy]	=	[-11=42] = [-21], F4 = [1111=xy] = [1111=-xy]
11==42	2] = [		= [11-	x	v] =
[11++]	11==24	[-], -2]	1.		
			,	Г	
Γ_	[1=	Г—	Γ_	2	
L 1-2]	 ∕]	L 1-2]	1]	<u>ک</u>	
1-2	4」 1	$\begin{bmatrix} 1-2 \end{bmatrix}$			
2	-1	0	0	Ω	
				U	
-1	1	-1	1	-	
•V	Ve can	merge co	olumn	witl	h 6-fold symmetry.
[-	1=2]=	[-1=2]	[1=4]	[-	1] =[2]
2 -	+ 0 - 1 (	0 + 0			
-1	+(-1)	1 1+(-1)			
0	0 0				

**Algorithm 2.1** Algorithm for the check [x]-[y] = 0 in P(F)

**Input:** A difference  $[x]-[y] = \sum k i=1 mi[xi]$ , where  $x1; \ldots; xk 2 F, m1; \ldots; mk 2 Z$ . **Output:** Either a list of 5-term relations with which [x]-[y] can be seen to be zero in P(F). Or return

"fail" if the algorithm cannot find such 5-term relations.

#### **Procedure:**

1: Write the vector [x]-[y] in the space  $\langle [x1]; \ldots; [x2] \rangle \approx Zk$ ,

- 2: check if there are two coefficients mi; mj with the same absolute value.
- 3: Choose two coefficients with high absolute values jmij; jmjj, (assume jmij  $\geq$  jmjj).

F3 = [xxij],

F4 = [11 - -11 = xxij], F5 = [11 - -xxij].

4: Pick [x1] and [y1] with the biggest prime in their denominators: x1 = p=q, q = pm 11;:::; pm r r prime

factorisation of q, p1; :::; pr prime mi 2 N.

5: Add the 5-term relations 0 = [xi]-[xj]+F3-F4+F5

6: We just keep the sum: If we instead take m3 times the row, then we get

[x1] [x2] ::: [xk] F3 F4 F5

m1 m2 + m3 ::: mk m3 - m3 m3

Here we have to keep track of the sign, so we can enter the coefficient with the correct sign. 7: Merge rows using the 6-fold symmetry.

8: If we arrive at a final row  $\sum = 0$ , then run the program a second time and print the 5-term relations

that have been used.

9: If the number of non-zero columns exceeds a limit that has been defined in advance (10m) then return

"fail".

**Example 2.6** Show 2[3] - [-3] = 0.

To prove the difference class [3] with coefficient 2 and [-3] with coefficient 1, need to find the five terms

relations from these classes.

•F(xi;xj) = [xi] - [xj] + F3 - F4 + F5•We add F(3;-3). F3 = [xy] = [-33] = [-1], F4 = [11--11=xy] = [11++11=33] = [12], F5 = [11-xy] = [11+33] = [-21], [3] [-3] [-1] [1=2] [-1=2]2-1000 -11-11-1

Using the 6-fold symmetry we find [3] = [-1=2] and [-1] = [1=2], so we can merge these columns.

[3]=[-	[ –	[-1] =
1=2]	3]	[1=2]
2	-1	0+0
-1+(-1)	1	-1 +1
0	0	0

Hence +2[3] + -1[-3] = 0 + -1F(3, -3), as claimed

**Example 2.7** we can implement a GAP function CheckEquivalence (x;y;Cx;Cy),

which inputs x, y the coefficient of [x] and the coefficient of [y], and output five term relation

GAP session
gap>L:=[2,1/2];;H:=[1,-1];;
gap> CertifyEquivalence(H,L);
We want to show that
+1[2] + -1[1/2] is zero,

in case that this is possible for us. The terms 1[2] and -1[1/2]are being merged because 1/2 has been found in the class [ [ 2 ], [ 1/2 ], [ -1 ], [ 1/2 ], [ -1 ], [ 2 ] ] For j = 2 we get 0 Success: +1[2] +-1[1/2]=0 "success"

**Example 2.8** For example we 2.6 we can computation by use gap function

**CheckEquivalence**  $(\mathbf{x}; \mathbf{y}; \mathbf{Cx}; \mathbf{Cy})$ , which inpute *x*, *y* and coefficient of *x*, coefficient of *y*, and the output five

term relation.

#### **GAP** session

GAI Session
gap>L:=[3,-3];;H:=[2,-1];;
gap>CheckEquivalence(L,H);
We want to show that
+2[3] +-1[-3]
is zero, in case that this is possible for us.
+2[3] +-1[-3]
The terms 1[3] and $-1[-1/2]$ are being merged because $-1/2$
has been found in the class [ [ 3 ], [ 2/3 ], [ -1/2 ],
[ 1/3 ], [ -2 ], [ 3/2 ] ]
For $j = 3$ we get 0
The terms $-1[-1]$ and $1[1/2]$ are being merged because $1/2$
has been found in the class [ [ -1 ], [ 2 ], [ 1/2 ],
[-1],[2],[1/2]]
For $j = 3$ we get 0
Success:
+2[3] +-1[-3]
= 0 + -1F(3, -3)
Success:
+2[3] +-1[-3]
= 0 + -1F(3, -3)
"success"

Algorithm 2.2 Algorithm for picking the biggest prime **Input:** The list of coefficient and list of classes . **Output:** The list of pick two terms as [Cx1,Cy1,x1,y1]. **Procedure:** 1: I = [] the list *I* is going to contain the maximum of absolute value.

2: for  $j \ 2 \ 1 \therefore N$ = Length(list of classes) do

3: 4: 5: 6: 7:	<pre>p=Numerator rational (list of classes [j]). q=Denominator rational(list of classes [j]). absolute values of primes=[]; for x in union( prime factors(p),prime factors(q))</pre>
7: 8: 9:	<b>do</b> . Add(absolute values of primes, $jx j$ ).

10:	end for
	<i>pj</i> =Maximum(absolute values of primes).
	Add( <i>I;pj</i> ) each element of list of classes
	produces an element of $I$ , at the same index $j$ .
11: end for	
12: <b>for</b> <i>i</i> 2 <i>I</i> <b>do</b>	
13:	<b>if</b> $I[i] = maximum(I)$ <b>then</b>
14:	j1 = i;
15:	end if

#### 16: end for

17: x1 = list of classes [j1].

18: Cx1=List of coefficient H[j1].

19: **for** *i* 2 I **do** 

<b>if</b> not $j1 = i$ <b>then</b>	20:
Insert the element $I[i]$ into reduced list.	21:
end if	22:
	23: end for
	24: <b>for</b> <i>i</i> 2 <i>I</i> <b>do</b>
<b>if</b> $I[i]$ = maximum(reduced list) and not not	25
j1 = i then	25:
Add ( <i>L</i> -reduced, list of classes $[i]$ ).	20:
Add ( <i>H</i> -reduced, $H[i]$ ).	27.
end if	20.

#### 29: end for

30: Apply Algorithem 0.3 to (*H*-reduced,*L*-reduced)and return the output.

### 31: EndProcedure:

we use the command gap PickBiggestPrime(H;L) which is function input the list of coefficient and

list of classes and the output the list of [Cx1,Cy1,x1,y1], where cx1,Cy1 the coefficient of x1 and y1

respectively. the algorithm above describe how can pick the biggest prime.

By merging duplication we can computation for the discriminant -3 case with which we prove that the

algebraic and geometric elements.

**Example 2.9** Let we have the algebraic element [[-3; -1=2 \*x-1=2]] and geometric element [[2, w]], where delta=-3 mod 4, d= delta/4 and w= Sqrt(d). The GAP session below prove the discriminant -3. We want to show that -2[-z32] - 3[z32] = 0 we can rewrite -2[-z32] - 2[z32] - 1[z32] = 02.1 Cross- ratios of ideal hyperbolic tetrahedra 8 By merging duplication

-2[-z32]-2[z32] = -1[z3]

```
we have

-1[z3] -1[z32] = 0

Applying the 6-fold symmetries has yielded

The terms -1[z3] and -1[z32] are being merged because z32

has been found in the class [[z3]; [-z3 - 2*z32]; [-1=3*z3 - 2=3*z32]; [z32]; [-2*z3 - 2*z32]; [-2=3*z3 - 1=3*z32]]

Then we have

+0[z3] = 0
```

#### **GAP** session

We want to show that  $+-2[-E(3)^{2}] + -3[E(3)^{2}]$ is zero, in case that this is possible for us. Then we have  $+-2[-E(3)^{2}] +-3[E(3)^{2}]$ Applying the 6-fold symmetries has yielded  $+-2[-E(3)^{2}] +-3[E(3)^{2}]$ Inserting duplication relations has yielded  $+-1[E(3)] + -1[E(3)^{2}]$ The terms -1[E(3)] and  $-1[E(3)^2]$  are being merged because  $E(3)^2$ has been found in the class [ [E(3)],  $[-E(3)-2*E(3)^2]$ , [-1/3\*E(3)-2/3\*E(3)^2], [E(3)^2], [-2\*E(3)-E(3)^2], [-2/3\*E(3)-1/3\*E(3)^2]] Then we have +0[E(3)]Applying the 6-fold symmetries has yielded +0[E(3)]Success:  $+-2[-E(3)^{2}] +-3[E(3)^{2}]$ = 0

In The GAP session below we can computation for the discriminant -7, with algebraic element and

geometric element.

#### **GAP** session

gap>Read("./desktop/Bloch.g.txt");
Over the imaginary quadratic field of discriminant -7, we
compare thegeometric Bloch group element
+8[-E(7)^3-E(7)^5-E(7)^6] +2[-1/4*E(7)-1/4*E(7)^2-1/2*E(7)^3-
1/4*E(7)^4-1/2*E(7)^5-1/2*E(7)^6] +-2[-1/2*E(7)-1/2*E(7)^2
-1/4*E(7)^3-1/2*E(7)^4-1/4*E(7)^5-1/4*E(7)^6]
with j times the algebraic Bloch group element
+-2[-3/11*E(7)-3/11*E(7)^2-1/11*E(7)^3-3/11*E(7)^4-1/11*E(7)^5
-1/11*E(7)^6] +2[-E(7)-E(7)^2-5/6*E(7)^3-E(7)^4-5/6*E(7)^5-5/6*
E(7)^6] +-2[-1/5*E(7)-1/5*E(7)^2-1/15*E(7)^3-1/5*E(7)^4-1/15*
E(7)^5-1/15*E(7)^6]+2[-3/4*E(7)-3/4*E(7)^2-5/8*E(7)^3-3/4*E(7)^4
-5/8*E(7)^5-5/8*E(7)^6] +-2[-7/8*E(7)-7/8*E(7)^2-3/4*E(7)^3-7/8
*E(7)^4-3/4*E(7)^5-3/4*E(7)^6] +2[1/90*E(7)^3+1/90*E(7)^5+1/90*
E(7)^6]+2[-1/2] +-2[1/3*E(7)+1/3*E(7)^2+E(7)^3+1/3*E(7)^4+
2.1 Cross- ratios of ideal hyperbolic tetrahedra 9  $E(7)^{5}+E(7)^{6} + 2[-1/2*E(7)-1/2*E(7)^{2}-1/2*E(7)^{4}] + 2[E(7)+$ E(7)^2+3/2\*E(7)^3+E(7)^4+3/2\*E(7)^5+3/2\*E(7)^6]+2[2\*E(7)+ 2\*E(7)^2+5/2\*E(7)^3+2\*E(7)^4+5/2\*E(7)^5+5/2\*E(7)^6]  $+2[-1/4] + -2[2/11*E(7)+2/11*E(7)^{2}+5/22*E(7)^{3}+2/11*E(7)^{4}+$ 5/22\*E(7)^5+5/22\*E(7)^6]+2[-3/5\*E(7)-3/5\*E(7)^2-1/5\*E(7)^3 -3/5\*E(7)^4-1/5\*E(7)^5-1/5\*E(7)^6] +-2[-1/2\*E(7)-1/2\*E(7)^2-1/4\*E(7)^3-1/2\*E(7)^4-1/4\*E(7)^5  $-1/4*E(7)^{6} + 2[-5/4*E(7)-5/4*E(7)^{2}-E(7)^{3}-5/4*E(7)^{4}-E(7)^{5}$  $-E(7)^{6} + 2[-11/5] + 2[-15/22 \times E(7) - 15/22 \times E(7)^{2} - 6/11 \times E(7)^{3}$ -15/22\*E(7)^4-6/11\*E(7)^5-6/11\*E(7)^6] +-2[-5/2\*E(7)-5/2\*E(7)^2  $-5/2*E(7)^{4} + 2[-E(7)-E(7)^{2}+3/2*E(7)^{3}-E(7)^{4}+3/2*E(7)^{5}+3/2*$ E(7)^6]+-2[-7/2\*E(7)-7/2\*E(7)^2 -9/4\*E(7)^3-7/2\*E(7)^4-9/4\* E(7)^5-9/4\*E(7)^6]2[-1/6\*E(7)^3-1/6\*E(7)^5-1/6\*E(7)^6]+ 2[1/8\*E(7)+1/8\*E(7)^2-1/4\*E(7)^3+1/8\*E(7)^4-1/4\*E(7)^5  $-1/4*E(7)^{6} + 2[2*E(7)+2*E(7)^{2}-E(7)^{3}+2*E(7)^{4}-E(7)^{5}-E(7)^{6}].$ 

j = -3 yields 22 remaining terms.

j = -2 yields 1 remaining terms.

geobelt = 2\*algbelt +

+22[-1]

, where geobelt is the geometric Bloch group element and algoelt the algebraic Bloch group element.

We observe the 6-fold symmetries [ [ -1 ], [ 2 ], [ 1/2 ], [-1],

[2],[1/2]],

which might allow us to indentify the remainder term as torsion.

We want to show that

+22[-1] is zero, in case that this is possible for us.Applying

the 6-fold

symmetries has yielded

+22[-1] Inserting duplication relations has yield

Success:

+22[-1]

=[0]=[1]

## References

[1] Glen E. Bredon, 1993. Topology and Geometry. Springer, .

[2] Brown, Kenneth S ,1994. Cohomology of Groups. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 87,Springer,2nd.

[3] J L Dupont , 1987. The dilogarithm as a characteristic class for flat bundles. Vol(44), Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, p.137.

[4] J L Dupont, C K Zickert , 2006. A dilogarithmic formula for the Cheeger–Chern– Simons class. Vol.10(3), Geometry and Topology, , p.1347-1372.

[5] J L Dupont, C H Sah, 1982. Scissors congruences, II, Vol.25(2), J. Pure Appl. Algebra, p.159-195.

[6] Walter Parry, Chih-IIan Sah, 1983 . Third homology of SL (2, R) made discrete. Vol.30(2),Journal of Pure and AppliedAlgebra, p.181-209.

[7] C. A.Weibel, 2013. TheK-book and An introduction to algebraicK-theory, Graduate Studies in Mathematics. vol. 145, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI.

# **Topological Dynamics and the Space of Continuous Mappings**

# <sup>1</sup> Mohammed Nokhas Murad Kaki , <sup>2</sup> Reyadh.D.Ali

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Sulaimani
<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science, University of Karbala Email: <u>mohammed.murad@univsul.edu.iq</u>, <u>reyadhdelphi@gmail.com</u>

Abstract. The aim of this paper is define and investigate some new forms of transitive maps, minimal systems and chaotic maps on the space of all continuous maps from a space M to a space  $_N$ , denoted by Co(M,N). Also, we introduce some new definitions namely point-wise convergence transitive, compact-open transitive, uniform convergence topological transitive, chaotic maps defined on spaces up to product of uniform convergence spaces. In addition, we study the relationship between these new definitions.

Keywords: Uniform convergence, topological transitive, compact-open topology, minimal systems

#### 1. Introduction

Let  $(M,\Gamma_1)$  and  $(N,\Gamma_2)$  be topological spaces, consider that  $Co(M,N) = \{h: h; M \to N \text{ continuous map}\}$ . The properties of Co(M,N), and many of those of transitivity on this set interrelated. We have to study dynamics properties in topologies defined on Co(M,N).

A topology may be introduced on the set  $C_o(M, N)$  [1] as on any other, in different ways. We have studied two kinds of topologies and shown which of them weaker dynamics than other one is. So we can introduce in transitivity, mixing, chaos and exactness on this set in different ways (for more knowledge about chaos, weakly mixing and exactness cf ([2],[3], [4], and [5]). First we have to study two maps  $h_1$ ,  $h_2$  are said to be near if  $h_1(u)$  and  $h_2(u)$   $\forall u \in M$  are near in N. Let N be a metric space then these notions are expressed in terms of metric on N. Hence, various topologies and thus we can introduce various types of, transitivity, minimal systems and chaos on the Co(M, N) via the topology of point-wise convergence, the compact-open, Uniform Topology [1], etc.

#### 2. Uniform convergence Topology

In this section we have introduced and studied some definitions and theorems as follows:

**Definition 2.1** [6]  $h: M \to N$  is a homeomorphism map between two topological spaces M and N, if h is continuous, bijective and  $h^{-1}$  is continuous.

**Definition 2.2** [1] If  $(N,\rho)$  is a metric space and M is compact, then Co(M,N) is equipped with a metric  $\mu$  thus:

$$\mu(h_1, h_2) = \sup_{u \in M} \mu(h_1(u), h_2(u)), \ h_1, h_2 \in Co(M, N)$$

**Definition 2.3 [1]** The topology  $\Gamma_1$  on Co(M, N) is called the uniform convergence topology, if  $\Gamma_1$  is determined by the metric  $\mu$ . Any open set in  $\Gamma_1$  is uc-open set and  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$  is uc – space. The compliment of uc –closed set is uc -open set

If  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$  is a uniform convergence-topological space, and  $H: Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  be a function. Then (Co(M,N),H) is called uniform convergence system, in short uc-system.

**Definition 2.4** Let  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$  be a uc-topological space. Given  $h \in Co(M, N)$ ,  $O_G(h) = \{h, G(h), G^2(h), \dots\}$  refers to its forward orbit and  $\omega_G(h)$  refers to its  $\omega$ -limit set, i.e.  $h, G(h), G^2(h), \dots G^n(h), \dots$  the set of limit functions of the sequence.

A set  $B \subseteq Co(M,N)$  is called a uc-minimal if  $B \neq \phi$ , invariant uc-closed also let no proper subset of *B* has three of these properties.

The following conditions are equivalent:

- $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$  is uc-minimal,
- every orbit is uc-dense Co(M, N),
- $\omega_G(h) = Co(M, N)$  for every  $h \in Co(M, N)$ .

**Definition 2.5** A function  $_{F:Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)}$  is called uc-irresolute if the inverse image of each uc-open set is a uc-open set in  $_{Co(M,N)}$ .

**Definition 2.6** A function  $H: Co(M, N) \to Co(M, N)$  is *uc r*-homeomorphism if *H* is surjective, injective and thus invertible , also *H* and  $H^{-1}$  are both *uc*-irresolute.

The systems  $F: Co(M, M) \to Co(M, M)$  and  $G: Co(N, N) \to Co(N, N)$  are topologically ucr-conjugate if  $\exists H: Co(M, M) \to Co(N, N)$  is a ucr-homeomorphism such that  $H \circ F = G \circ H$ 

If  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$  is a uc-topological space. We define the uc-closure of B by  $Cl_{uc}(B) = \bigcap F_i$ 

**Definition 2.7** If  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$  is a uniform convergence-topological space.

The map  $H: Co(M, N) \to Co(M, N)$  is said to have uc-dense *orbit* if  $\exists h \in Co(M, N) \ni Cl_{uc}(O_H(h)) = Co(M, N)$ , where  $O_H(h)$  is the orbit passing through h and  $Cl_{uc}$  is th uniform convergence closure of this orbit.

#### **Definition 2.8**

Let  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$  be a uniform convergence-topological space,  $H: Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  be a uc- continuous map, then (Co(M,N),H) is the uc-system and H is a uniform-convergencetransitive (uc-transitive) map if  $\forall O$  and V are uc-open sets in  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1) \exists n$  is a positive integer  $\ni H^n(O) \cap V$  is not empty.

**Lemma 2.9** A map  $F: Co(M, N) \to Co(M, N)$  is topologically uc-transitive if  $\omega_F(g) = Co(M, N)$  for some  $g \in Co(M, N)$ 

**Proof:** Suppose that  $\omega_F(g) = Co(M, N)$  for some  $g \in Co(M, N)$ . Then for every pair of non-empty, uc-open  $D, W \subset Co(M, N)$  there are integers n > m > 0 such that  $F^m(g) \in D$  and  $F^n(g) \in W$  Hence  $F^{n-m}(D) \cap W \neq \phi$  and  $F: Co(M, N) \rightarrow Co(M, N)$  is topologically uc-transitive.

**Theorem 2.10** If H is a ucr-homeomorphism, then (Co(M, N), H) is topologically uc-transitive then every non empty backward invariant uc-open subset of Co(M, N) is uc-dense.

**Proof:** Suppose that the map H is uc-transitive,  $U \subset Co(M,N)$  is uc-open and  $f^{-1}(U) \subset U$ . Assume that  $U \neq \phi$  and U is not uc-dense in Co(M,N) (i.e.  $Cl_{uc}(U) \neq Co(M,N)$ ). Then there exists a non-empty ucopen  $V = Co(M,N) \setminus Cl_{uc}(U)$ , since  $Cl_{uc}(U)$  is uc-closed, such that  $U \cap V = \phi$ . Further  $H^{-n}(U) \cap V = \phi$ for all  $n \in N$ . This implies  $U \cap H^n(V) = \phi$  for all  $n \in N$ , a contradiction to H being uc-transitive map. Therefore U is uc-dense in Co(M,N).

**Theorem 2.11** Suppose that  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$  is a uc –compact space without isolated point and  $G:Co(M,N) \rightarrow Co(M,N)$  is a map. If there exists uc-dense orbit, that is there exists  $f_0 \in Co(M,N)$  such that the set  $O_G(f_0)$  is uc-dense then the map G is uc-transitive.

**Proof :** Let  $f_0 \in Co(M, N)$  be such that  $O_G(f_0)$  is uc-dense in Co(M, N). Given any pair U, V of ucopen subsets of Co(M, N), by uc-density there exists n such that  $G^n(f_0) \in U$ , but  $O_G(f_0)$  is uc-dense implies that  $O_G(G^n(f_0))$  is uc-dense, so it intersects V, i.e. There exists m such that  $G^m(G^n(f_0)) \in V$ . Therefore  $G^{m+n}(f_0) \in G^m(U) \cap V$  That is  $G^m(U) \cap V \neq \varphi$ . So G is uc-transitive.

**Definition2.12** If  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$  is a uniform convergence-topological space, also the map  $G: Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  be a uc-irresolute then  $B \subseteq Co(M,N)$  is called uc-transitive set if  $\forall U$  and V are non-empty uc-open sets in Co(M,N) with  $B \cap U \neq \phi$  and  $B \cap V \neq \phi \exists n \in \mathbb{N}$  $\ni G^n(U) \cap V \neq \phi$ .

**Theorem 2.13** Let  $B \neq \phi$  be a uc-closed invariant subset of  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$ . So

(a) B is uc- transitive set of  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$ .  $\Leftrightarrow$  (b) (B,H) is uc- transitive.

#### **Proof:**

(a)  $\Longrightarrow$  (b): Let  $V_1 \neq \phi$  and  $U_1 \neq \phi$  be uc-open subsets of **B**. For a uc-open subset  $U_1 \neq \phi$  of **B**,  $\exists$  a uc- open set *O* of *M*  $\ni U_1 = O \cap B$ . Since **B** is a uc-transitive set of  $(C_0(M, N), H)$ ,  $\exists n \in N$   $\ni H(V_1) \cap O \neq \phi$ . Moreover, **B** is invariant, *i.e.*,  $H(B) \subset B$ . Therefore,  $H(V_1) \cap B \cap O \neq \phi$ , i.e.  $H(V_1) \cap U_1 \neq \phi$ . Hence (**B**, **H**) is uc-transitive.

(b)  $\Longrightarrow$  (a): Suppose  $V_1 \neq \phi$  is a uc-open set of B and  $O \neq \phi$  is a uc-open set of  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$ with  $B \cap O \neq \phi$ , Since O is an uc-open set of  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$  and  $B \cap O \neq \phi$ , therefore  $B \cap O$  is a uc-open set of B. Since (B,H) is topologically uc-transitive,  $\exists n \in N \ni H(V_1) \cap (B \cap O) \neq \phi$ , so  $H(V_1) \cap O \neq \phi$ . Hence B is a uc-transitive set of (Co(M, N), H).

#### **Definition2.14**

(1) If  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_1)$  is a uniform convergence-topological space,  $H:Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  is a uc-irresolute,  $B \subseteq Co(M,N)$  and given  $U, V \subseteq Co(M,N)$  any nonempty uc-open with  $B \cap U \neq \phi$  and  $B \cap V \neq \phi$  then  $\exists N > 0 \Rightarrow H^n(U) \cap V \neq \phi \forall n > N$ .

In this case B is called topologically uc-mixing set.

(2)  $B \subseteq Co(M, N)$  is a weakly uc-mixing of (Co(M, N), H) if  $\forall V_1$  and  $V_2$  are non-empty uc-open subsets of B and nonempty uc -open subsets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  of Co(M, N) with  $B \cap U_1 \neq \phi$  and  $B \cap U_2 \neq \phi \exists n \in N \Rightarrow H^n(V_1) \cap U_1 \neq \phi$  and  $H^n(V_1) \cap U_2 \neq \phi$ .

(3) (Co(M, N), H) is a topologically uc-mixing, if given O and V any nonempty uc-open sets in Co(M, N),  $\exists N$  is an integer  $\ni \forall n > N$ , one has  $.H^n(O) \cap V \neq \phi$ .

## **Theorem 2.15** topologically uc- mixing $\Rightarrow$ weakly uc- mixing $\Rightarrow$ uc- transitive

**Chaos in product uc-topological spaces:** If (Co(M,N),F) is uc-system.  $F: Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  is called uc-chaotic map, if it is uc- transitive and, its periodic points are uc-dense in  $C_O(M, N)$ , each ucopen non-empty subset of Co(M,N) contains a periodic point.  $(f \in Co(M,N))$  is called periodic if  $\exists n \ge 1 \text{ with } F^n(f) = f$ .  $Per(F) = \{f \in CO(M, N): f \text{ is periodic point}\}.$ Given two uctopological spaces  $C_0(M_1, N_1)$  and  $C_0(M_2, N_2)$ , their product is the set  $C_0(M_1, N_1) \times C_0(M_2, N_2)$ ={(f,g):  $f \in Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $g \in Co(M_2, N_2)$ }, we а topology can define on  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$  by saying that a basis consists of the subsets  $D \times W$  as D ranges over open sets in  $C_0(M_1,N_1)$  and W ranges over open sets in  $C_0(M_2,N_2)$ . The criterion for a family of subsets to be a basis for a topology is satisfied since  $(D_1 \times W_1) \cap (D_2 \times W_2) = (D_1 \cap D_2) \times (W_1 \cap W_2)$ . This is called the **product topology** on  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ 

Now, given two maps  $G: Co(M_1, N_1) \rightarrow Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $H: Co(M_2, N_2) \rightarrow Co(M_2, N_2)$  on uc-topological spaces  $Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $Co(M_2, N_2)$ . respectively, consider their product  $G \times H: Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2) \rightarrow Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ ,  $(G \times H)(f,g) = (G(f), H(g))$ , with product topology on  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ 

**Lemma 2.16** Let  $(Co(M_1, N_1), H)$ ,  $(Co(M_2, N_2), L)$  be uc-topological systems. *Then* the following are equivalent:

(a) The set of periodic points of  $H \times L$  is uc-dense in  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ .

(b) For both of H and L , the sets of periodic points in

 $Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $Co(M_2, N_2)$  are uc-dense in  $Co(M_1, N_1)$ , respectively  $Co(M_2, N_2)$ .

**Proof:** (b)  $\Rightarrow$  (a): Suppose that the set of periodic points of H is uc-dense in  $Co(M_1, N_1)$  (i.e.  $Cl_{uc}(Per(H)) = Co(M_1, N_1)$ ) and the set of periodic points of L is uc-dense in  $Co(M_2, N_2)$  (i.e.  $Cl_{uc}(Per(L)) = Co(M_2, N_2)$ . We can prove this the set of periodic points of  $H \times L$  is uc-dense in  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ . Let  $E \neq \phi \subset Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$  be any uc-open set. Then  $\exists$  uc-open sets  $O \neq \phi \subset Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $V \neq \phi \subset Co(M_2, N_2)$  with  $O \times V \subset E$ . By assumption,  $\exists$  a point  $h \in O \ni H^n(h) = h$ ,  $n \ge 1$ . Similarly,  $\exists l \in V$  such that  $L^m(l) = l$ ,  $m \ge 1$ . For  $q = (r, s) \in W$  and  $k = m \times n$  we get

 $(H \times L)^{k}(q) = (H \times L)^{k}(h, l) = ((H^{k}(h), L^{k}(l)) = (h, l) = q$ 

Therefore E contains a periodic point and thus the set of periodic points of  $H \times L$  is uc-dense in  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ .

(a)  $\Longrightarrow$  (b): let  $O \neq \phi \subset Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $V \subset Co(M_2, N_2)$  be non-empty uc-open subsets. Then  $O \times V \neq \phi$  is a uc-open subset of  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ . As the set of the periodic points of  $H \times L$  is uc-dense in  $Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ ,  $\exists$  a point  $q = (h, l) \in O \times V \Rightarrow (H \times L)^n (h, L) = ((H^n(l), L^n(l)) = (h, l)$  for some *n*. From the last equality we obtain  $H^n(h) = h$  for  $h \in O$  and  $L^n(l) = l$  for  $l \in V$ .

**Lemma 2.17** Let  $(Co(M_1, N_1), H)$ ,  $(Co(M_2, N_2), L)$  be topological systems and H, L be topologically uc-mixing maps, then  $H \times L$  is topologically uc-mixing.

**Proof:** Given  $W_1, W_2 \subset Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$ ,  $\exists$  uc-open sets  $O_1, O_2 \subset Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $V_1, V_2 \subset Co(M_2, N_2)$   $\to O_1 \times V_1 \subset E_1$  and  $O_2 \times V_2 \subset E_2$ . By assumption there exist  $n_1$  and  $n_2 \ni H^k(O_1) \cap O_2 \neq \phi$  for  $n \ge n_1$  and  $L^k(V_1) \cap V_2 \neq \phi$  for  $n \ge n_2$ .

 $n_{0} = \max\{n_{1}, n_{2}\}$ For  $n \ge n_{0}$ we're having  $[(HxL)^{k}(O_{1} x V_{1})] \cap (O_{2} x V_{2}) = [H^{k}(O_{1}) x L^{k}(V_{1})] \cap (O_{2} x V_{2})$  $= [H^{k}(O_{1}) \cap O_{2}] x [L^{k}(V_{1}) \cap V_{2}] \neq \phi$ 

Which means that  $H \times L$  is topologically uc-mixing.

**Definition 2.18** The Function  $H: Co(M_1, N_1) \rightarrow Co(M_1, N_1)$  is called uc -chaotic if it is topologically uctransitive and has uc-dense orbit.

Now we afford some sufficient conditions for a product map to be uc- chaotic and Let us clarify the condition to be uc-mixing as illustrated in the following theorem:

**Theorem 2.19** Let  $H: Co(M_1, N_1) \rightarrow Co(M_1, N_1)$  and  $L: Co(M_2, N_2) \rightarrow Co(M_2, N_2)$  be uc- chaotic and topologically uc-mixing maps. Then

 $H \times L: Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2) \rightarrow Co(M_1, N_1) \times Co(M_2, N_2)$  is uc-chaotic.

**Proof:** By Lemma 2.16,  $H \times L$  has uc-dense periodic points and by Lemma 2.17,  $H \times L$  is topologically uc mixing. Therefore topologically uc-transitive. Therefore the two conditions of uc-chaos are satisfied.

#### 3 Definition and Theorems of point wise- convergence Topology

In this section, we have introduced some new definitions of maps called pc –irresolute map. pcr homeomorphism, pcr-conjugate and pc-minimal maps and some new definions of sets called up-closure, pc-transitive and pc-mixing sets

**Definition 3.1** Consider in Co(M, N) the sets

 $\{m_i, V_i\}_{i=1}^k = \{h \in Co(M, N) : h(m_i) \in V_i, i = 1, ..., k, \}$ 

, where  $m_1, ..., m_k \in M, V_1, ..., V_k$  are open sets in N

 $\Gamma_2$  is topology generated by these sets in their capacity as a subset is called the topology of point-wise convergence on Co(M, N).

Any open set in  $\Gamma_2$  is called pc-open set and  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_2)$  is pc- topological space. The compliment of pc-open set is called pc-closed set.

**Definition 3.2** A function  $H: Co(M, N) \rightarrow Co(M, N)$  is called pc-irresolute if the inverse image of each pc-open set is a pc-open set in Co(M, N).

**Definition 3.3** A function  $H: Co(M, N) \to Co(M, N)$  is *pcr*-homeomorphism if it is surjective, injective and thus invertible, also  $H, H^{-1}$  are both *pc*-irresolute.

The systems  $H: Co(M, M) \to Co(M, M)$  and  $L: Co(N, N) \to Co(N, N)$  are topologically pcr-conjugate if  $\exists G: Co(M, M) \to Co(N, N)$  is a pcr-homeomorphism  $\ni G \circ H = L \circ G$ .

If  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_2)$  is a pc-topological space. We define the up-closure of B by  $Cl_{pc}(B) = \bigcap F_i$ 

**Definition 3.4** If  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_2)$  is a uniform convergence-topological space.

The map  $H: Co(M, N) \to Co(M, N)$  is pc-dense orbit if  $\exists h \in Co(M, N) \ni Cl_{pc}(O_H(h)) = Co(M, N)$ .

**Definition 3.5** Let  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_2)$  be a pc-topological space, and  $G: Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  be a pcirresolute map, then G is a point-wise- converge –transitive (shortly pc- transitive) map if  $\forall V$  and O are pc-open non-empty sets in  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_2) \exists n$  is a positive integer  $\ni G^n(V) \cap O \neq \phi$ .

**Definition 3.6** If  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_2)$  is a point wise convergence-topological space, and  $H: Co(M, N) \to Co(M, N)$  be a pc-irresolute then the set  $B \subseteq Co(M, N)$  is called pc-type transitive set if  $\forall V$  and O are pc-open non-empty sets in  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_2)$  with  $B \cap V \neq \phi$  and  $B \cap O \neq \phi \exists n$  is a positive integer  $\ni H^n(V) \cap O \neq \phi$ .

#### **Definition 3.7**

(1) If  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_2)$  is a point-wise convergence-topological space, and  $G: Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$ be a pc-irresolute then the set  $B \subseteq Co(M,N)$  is topologically pc-mixing set if, given  $U, V \subseteq Co(M,N)$  any nonempty pc-open with  $B \cap U \neq \phi$  and  $B \cap V \neq \phi$  then  $\exists N > 0$  $\ni G^n(U) \cap V \neq \phi \quad \forall n > N.$ 

(2)  $B \subseteq Co(M, N)$  is a weakly pc-mixing set of (Co(M, N), G) if  $\forall V_1$  and  $V_2$  are non-empty pcopen subsets of B and nonempty pc -open subsets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  of Co(M, N) with  $B \cap U_1 \neq \phi$  and  $B \cap U_2 \neq \phi \exists n \in N \Rightarrow G^n(V_1) \cap U_1 \neq \phi$  and  $G^n(V_1) \cap U_2 \neq \phi$ 

(3) (Co(M,N),G) is topologically pc-mixing, if given  $U \neq \phi$  and  $V \neq \phi$  any pc-open sets in Co(M,N),  $\exists N$  is an integer  $\Im \forall n > N$ , one has  $G^n(U) \cap V \neq \phi$ .

In addition, we have studied the compact-open topology. The compact-open topology is a topology defined on Co(M, N). This topology is applied in homotopy theory and functional analysis.

Given a compact subset C of M and an open subset U of N, let  $V(C,U) = \{h \in Co(M,N) : h(C) \subset U\}.$ 

The following definition supplies a compact-open topology on Co(M, N).

**Definition 3.8 [1]** Let  $V(C,U) = \{h \in Co(M,N) : h(C) \subset U\}$ . The topology  $\Gamma_3$  generated by V(C,U) as a subbase of a topology which is called the compact-open topology on Co(M,N).(Does not always this collection form a base for a topology on Co(M,N)).

Note that if we define another new definition:

 $V_{\alpha}(C,U) = \{h \in Co(M,N) : h(C) \subset U\}$  where *C* is compact and *U* is  $\alpha$  – open in *N*. The topology  $\Gamma_{3}^{\alpha}$  generated by  $V_{\alpha}(C,U)$  as a subbase of a topology which is called compact- $\alpha$  – open topology on Co(M,N).

Any open set in  $\Gamma_3$  is called co-open set and  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_3)$  is called co- topological space. The compliment of co-open set is called co-closed set.

#### **Definition 3.9**

If  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_3)$  is a co-topological space, and  $G: Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  be a co-irresolute, so G is a compact-open-transitive (shortly co- transitive) if  $\forall O$  and V are co-open sets in  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_3)$ 

 $\exists n \text{ is a positive integer } G^n(O) \cap V \neq \phi.$ 

#### **Definition 3.10**

(1) Let  $(Co(M,N),\Gamma_3)$  be a co-topological space, and  $G:Co(M,N) \to Co(M,N)$  be a co-irresolute then  $B \subseteq Co(M,N)$  is topologically co-mixing set, if given  $U, V \subseteq Co(M,N)$  any nonempty uc-open with  $B \cap U \neq \phi$  and  $B \cap V \neq \phi$  then  $\exists N > 0 \Rightarrow G^n(U) \cap V \neq \phi \quad \forall n > N$ .

**Theorem3.11** For (Co(M, N), G),

(a) G is pc-minimal map.

(b) If S is pc-closed subset of X with  $G(S) \subset S$ . Then  $S = \phi$  or S = Co(M, N).

(c) If D is pc-open and nonempty set in Co(M, N), then  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} G^{-n}(D) = Co(M, N)$ .

#### **Proof:**

(a)  $\Rightarrow$  (b): let  $S \neq \phi$  and h  $\in$  S. Since S is invariant and pc-closed, i.e.  $Cl_{pc}(S) = S$  so  $Cl_{pc}(O_G(h)) \subset S$ . But  $Cl_{pc}(O_G(h)) = Co(M, N)$ . Therefore, we have S = Co(M, N).

(b)  $\Rightarrow$  (c) Let S=Co(M,N) \ $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} G^{-n}(D)$ . Since D is nonempty, Co(M,N)  $\neq$  S and Since D is pc-open

and G is pc irresolute, S is pc-closed. Also  $G(S) \subset S$ , so S must be  $\phi$ .

(c)  $\Rightarrow$  (a): Let  $h \in Co(M, N)$  and D be a nonempty pc-open subset of Co(M, N). Since  $h \in Co(M, N)$ =  $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} G^{-n}(D)$ . Therefore  $h \in G^{-n}(D)$  for some n>0. So  $G^{n}(h) \in D$ .

**Theorem 3.12** Let  $C_O(M,N)$  be a compact space without isolated point, if there is a co-dense orbit, that is there is  $h_0 \in CO(M,N)$  such that  $O_H(h_0)$  is co-dense then H is co-transitive.

**Proof** .Let  $h_0$  be such that  $O_H(h_0)$  is co-dense. Given D, W of co-open sets, by co-density  $\exists$  a positive integer  $n \ni H^n(h_0) \in D$ , but  $O_H(h_0)$  is co-dense implies that  $O_H(H^n(h_0))$  is co-dense, so, there is k such that  $H^k(H^n(h_0)) \in W$ . Therefore  $H^{k+n}(h_0) \in H^k(D) \cap W$  That is  $H^k(D) \cap W \neq \phi$  So H is topological co-transitive.

#### 4. CONCLUSION

## The main results are the following:

Every uniform-convergence-transitive implies compact - open -transitive., Every uc-mixing implies co-mixing which implies pc -mixing, Every weakly uc-mixing implies weakly co-mixing., If a map is a ucr-homeomorphism on the set of all continuous functions then, it is topologically uc-transitive iff every non empty invariant uc-open subset of that space is uc-dense.

Let  $\mathbf{B} \neq \phi$  be a uc-closed invariant subset of  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$ . Then

(a) B is uc- transitive set of  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$ .  $\Leftrightarrow$  (b) (B, H) is uc- transitive. We have also shown that every uc-mixing implies uc-transitive. For (Co(M, N), G)

(a) G is pc-minimal map.  $\iff$  (b) If S is pc-closed subset of M with  $G(S) \subset S$ .

Then  $S = \phi$  or S = Co(M, N).  $\Leftrightarrow$  (c) If D is pc-open and nonempty set in Co(M, N), then

$$\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} G^{-n}(D) = Co(M, N).$$
 For the remove, If  $(Co(M, N), F)$  is a compact system without isolated point.

and

there is a co-dense orbit, then F is co-transitive . And we have proved that the product of two topologically uc-mixing maps is a topologically uc-mixing map.

Suppose that  $(Co(M, N), \Gamma_1)$  is second countable and has a Baire property. If (Co(M, N), G) is uctransitive then there exists uc-dense orbit. A map  $F: Co(M, N) \to Co(M, N)$  is topologically uctransitive if  $\omega_F(g) = Co(M, N)$  for some  $g \in Co(M, N)$ .

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Borsovich YU Blizntakov N Izrailevich YA and Fomenko T 1985 *Introduction to Topology* Mir publisher, Moscow.
- [2] Chacon R V 1969 Weakly Mixing Transformations Which Are Not Strongly Mixing Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 22:559–562,.
- [3] Mohammed N. Murad Kaki 2015 *Chaos: Exact, mixing and weakly mixing maps* Pure and Applied Mathematics Journal Science PG vol 4 no. 2 pp 39-42.
- [4] Mohammed N. Murad Kaki 2013, *Introduction to weakly b- transitive maps on topological space* Science Research Science PG vol 1 no. 4 pp 59-62,
- [5] Mohammed N. Murad Kaki 2012 New Types of Transitive Functions and Minimal Systems International Journal of Basic & Applied Science IJBAS-IJENS vol 12 no. 4 pp. 53-58.

[6] Poincare H 1895 *Analysis Situs* Journal De L`E cole Polytechnique. <u>http://serge.mehl.free.fr/anx/ana\_situs.html</u>

# Study about fuzzyw-paracompact space in fuzzy topological space

#### Prof.Dr.Munir Abdul Khalik AL-Khafaji and Gazwan Haider Abdulhusein

Department of Mathematics, AL-Mustinsiryah University, Baghdad, Iraq mnraziz@uomustansiriyah.edu.iq and <u>haider.gazwan@uomustansiriyah.edu.iq</u>

**Abstract:** The purpose of this paper is to introduce a new class of fuzzy paracompact space is named fuzzy  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ - paracompact space on fuzzy topological space also study the relationships with fuzzy  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ - separation axioms and we give some characterization on fuzzy  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ - paracompact space by using fuzzy countable set also we study the fuzzy  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ - paracompact subspace and consider some relationship between fuzzy paracompact space and fuzzy  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ - paracompact space by using certain types of fuzzy  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ - continuous functions.

#### 1. Introduction

The concept, which we will be considered in this paper, is the so called "fuzzy sets" which is totally different from the classical concept which is called "a crisp set". The recent concept is introduced by Zadeh in 1965 [15], in which he defines fuzzy sets as a class of objects with a continuum of grades of membership and such a set is characterized by a membership function that assigns to each object a grade of membership ranging between zero and one, In (1968) Chang [2] introduced the definition of fuzzy topological spaces and extended in a straight forward manner some concepts of crisp topological spaces to fuzzy topology. Later Lowen [10] (1976) redefined what is now known as stratified fuzzy topology. While Wong [13] in 1974 discussed and generalized some properties of fuzzy topological spaces. The note on paracompact space has been introduced by Ernest Michael [4] in (1953). Qutaiba Ead Hassanin [9] in (2005) introduced characterizations of fuzzy paracompactness. In this paper we introduce the concepts of fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace on fuzzy topological space, and studied the relationships with fuzzy  $\omega$ -separation axioms also we presented some types of fuzzy  $\omega$ -continuous function and we give some characterization. And we obtained several properties.

#### 2. Preliminaries

#### 2.1 Definition [15]

Let X be a non empty set, and let I be the unit interval i.e I=[0,1], a fuzzy set in X is a function from X into the unit interval I,  $\tilde{A} : X \to [0,1]$  be a function A fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  in X can be represented by the set of pairs:  $\tilde{A} = \{(x, \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x)) : x \in X\}$  the family of all fuzzy sets in X is denoted by I<sup>X</sup>.

#### 2.2 Definition [6]

A fuzzy point  $x_r$  is a fuzzy set such that :

 $\mu_{x_r}(y) = r > 0$  if x = y,  $\forall y \in X$  and

 $\mu_{x_r}(y) = 0$  if  $x \neq y$ ,  $\forall y \in X$ , The family of all fuzzy points of  $\tilde{A}$  will be denoted by FP( $\tilde{A}$ )

## 2.3 Definition [13]

A fuzzy point  $x_r$  is said to belong to a fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  in X (denoted by :  $x_r \in \tilde{A}$ ) if and only if  $\mu_{x_r} \leq \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x)$ 

## 2.4 Proposition[13]

Let  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  be two fuzzy sets in X with membership functions  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}$  and  $\mu_{\tilde{B}}\,$  respectively, then for all

 $x \in X$ : -

1.  $\tilde{A} \subseteq \tilde{B}$  if and only if  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) \leq \mu_{\tilde{B}}(x)$ . 2.  $\tilde{A} = \tilde{B}$  if and only if  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) = \mu_{\tilde{B}}(x)$ . 3.  $\tilde{C} = \tilde{A} \cap \tilde{B}$  if and only if  $\mu_{\tilde{C}}(x) = \min\{\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x), \mu_{\tilde{B}}(x)\}$ . 4.  $\tilde{D} = \tilde{A} \cup \tilde{B}$  if and only if  $\mu_{\tilde{D}}(x) = \max\{\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x), \mu_{\tilde{B}}(x)\}$ . 2.5 Definition [7]

The support of a fuzzy set  $\widetilde{A}$ , Supp ( $\widetilde{A}$ ), is the crisp set of all  $x \in X$ , such that  $\mu_{\widetilde{A}}(x) > 0$ .

## 2.6 Definition [2]

A fuzzy topology is a family  $\tilde{T}$  of fuzzy subsets in X, satisfying the following conditions:

(a)  $\emptyset$ ,  $1_X \in \widetilde{T}$ .

(b) If  $\widetilde{A}, \widetilde{B} \in \widetilde{T}$ , then  $\widetilde{A} \cap \widetilde{B} \in \widetilde{T}$ .

(c) If  $\tilde{A}_i \in \tilde{T}$ ,  $\forall i \in J$ , where J is any index set, then  $\bigcup_{i \in J} \tilde{A}_i \in \tilde{T}$ .

 $\widetilde{T}$  is called fuzzy topology for  $\widetilde{X}$ , and the pair (X,  $\widetilde{T}$ ) is a fuzzy topological space. Every member of  $\widetilde{T}$  is called open fuzzy set ( $\widetilde{T}$ -open fuzzy set). A fuzzy set  $\widetilde{C}$  in  $1_X$  is called closed fuzzy set

( $\tilde{T}$ -closed fuzzy set) if and only if its complement  $\tilde{C}^{c}$  is  $\tilde{T}$ -open fuzzy set.

## 2.7 Definition [8]

If  $\tilde{B} \in (X,\tilde{T})$ , the complement of  $\tilde{B}$  referred to  $1_X$  denoted by  $\tilde{B}^c$ , is defined by  $\tilde{B}^c = 1_X - \tilde{B}$ 

## 2.8 Definition [1]

An fuzzy open set  $\tilde{A}$  in a fuzzy topological space (X, $\tilde{T}$ ) is said to be clopen if its complement  $1_X - \tilde{A}$  is an fuzzy open.

## 2.9 Definition [2]

A fuzzy set  $\tilde{B}$  in a fuzzy topological space  $(\tilde{A}, \tilde{T})$  is said to be a fuzzy neighborhood of a fuzzy point  $x_r$  in  $\tilde{A}$  if there is a fuzzy open set  $\tilde{G}$  in  $\tilde{A}$  such that  $\mu_{x_r}(x) \le \mu_{\tilde{G}}(x) \le \mu_{\tilde{B}}(x), \forall x \in X$ .

## 2.10 Definition [11]

Let  $(X, \tilde{T})$  be a fuzzy topological space and  $\tilde{B} \in P(1_X)$ , then the relative fuzzy topology for  $\tilde{B}$  defined by  $\tilde{T}_B = \{ \tilde{B} \cap \tilde{G} : \tilde{G} \in \tilde{T} \}$ . The corresponding  $(\tilde{B}, \tilde{T}_B)$  is called fuzzy subspace of  $(X, \tilde{T})$ .

#### 2.11 Definition [3]

Let  $(X,\tilde{T})$  be a fuzzy topological space a family  $\tilde{Z}$  of fuzzy sets is open cover of a fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  if and only if  $\tilde{A} \subseteq \bigcup \{ \tilde{G} \in \tilde{C} \}$  and each member of  $\tilde{Z}$  is a fuzzy open set.

#### 2.12 Definition [12]

Let B = { $\tilde{B}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda$  }, C = { $\tilde{C}_{\beta} : \beta \in \Lambda$  } ( $\beta < \alpha$ ) be any two collection of fuzzy sets in (X,T̃), then C is a refinement of B if for each  $\beta \in \Lambda$  there exist  $\alpha \in \Lambda$  such that  $\mu_{\tilde{C}_{\beta}}(x) \leq \mu_{\tilde{B}_{\alpha}}(x)$ .

#### 2.13 Definition [5]

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is said to be fuzzy connected, if it has no proper fuzzy clopen set. Otherwise it is called fuzzy disconnected.

## 2.14 Definition [15]

Let f be a function from universal set X to universal set Y. Let  $\tilde{B}$  be a fuzzy subset in  $1_Y$  with membership function  $\mu_{\tilde{B}}(y)$ . Then, the inverse of  $\tilde{B}$ , written as  $f^{-1}(\tilde{B})$ , is a fuzzy subset of  $1_X$  whose membership function is defined by  $\mu_{f^{-1}(\tilde{B})}(x) = \mu_{(\tilde{B})}(f(x))$ , for all x in X.If  $\tilde{A}$  be a fuzzy subset in  $1_X$  with membership function  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x)$ . The image of  $\tilde{A}$ , written as  $f(\tilde{A})$ , is a fuzzy subset in  $1_Y$  whose membership function is defined by

$$\mu_{f(\tilde{A})}(\mathbf{y}) = \begin{cases} \sup_{z \in f^{-1}(y)} \{\mu_{\tilde{A}}(z)\} & \text{if } f^{-1}(y) \neq \emptyset\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}, \text{ for all } \mathbf{y} \text{ in } \mathbf{Y}, \text{ where } f^{-1}(y), = \{\mathbf{x} \mid f(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{y} \}.$$

From the above it is clear that:

1. If f is injective then  $\mu_{f(\tilde{A})}(y) = \begin{cases} \sup_{z \in f^{-1}(y)} \{\mu_{\tilde{A}}(z)\} & \text{if } f^{-1}(y) \neq \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ 

- 2. If f is surjective then  $\forall x \in X$  then  $\mu_{\tilde{B}}(f(x)) = \mu_{\tilde{B}}(y) \forall y \in Y, x \in f^{-1}(y)$
- 3. If f is bijective then  $\mu_{f(\tilde{A})}(y) = \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) \forall x = f^{-1}(y) \ \mu_{f^{-1}(\tilde{B})}(x) = \mu_{(\tilde{B})}(y), \forall y \in Y, y = f(x)$

#### **3.** Fuzzy ω-Open Set In Fuzzy Topological Space

#### 3.1 Definition [14]

A fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  in a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is called a fuzzy uncountable if and only if supp $(\tilde{A})$  is an uncountable subset of X

#### 3.2 Definition

A fuzzy point  $x_r$  of a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is called a fuzzy condensation point of  $\tilde{A} \subseteq 1_X$  if  $\tilde{B} \cap \tilde{A}$  is fuzzy uncountable for each fuzzy open set  $\tilde{B}$  containing  $x_r$ . And the set of all fuzzy condensation point of  $\tilde{A}$  is denoted by Cond $(\tilde{A})$ 

## 3.3 Definition

A fuzzy subset  $\tilde{A}$  in a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is called a fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed set if it contains all its fuzzy condensation point. The complement fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed sets are called fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets.

### 3.4 Theorem

A fuzzy subset  $\tilde{G}$  of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set if and only if  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$  there exist a fuzzy open set  $\tilde{U}$  such that  $x_r \in \tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{U}$ -  $\tilde{G}$  is countable.

**Proof:**  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set if and only if  $1_X - \tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed set, And  $1_X - \tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed set if and only if  $Cond(1_X - \tilde{G}) \subseteq 1_X - \tilde{G}$ , And  $Cond(1_X - \tilde{G}) \subseteq 1_X - \tilde{G}$  if and only if each  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$ ,  $x_r \notin Cond(1_X - \tilde{G})$ , Thus  $x_r \notin Cond(1_X - \tilde{G})$  there exist a fuzzy open set  $\tilde{U}$  such that  $x_r \in \tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{U} \cap (1_X - \tilde{G}) = \tilde{U} - \tilde{G}$  is countable

## 3.5 Theorem

A fuzzy subset  $\tilde{G}$  of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is  $\omega$ -open set if and only if for each  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$  there exist an fuzzy open set  $\tilde{U}$  containing  $x_r$  and countable fuzzy subset  $\tilde{C}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\tilde{U}$ -  $\tilde{C} \subseteq \tilde{G}$ .

**Proof:** ( $\Rightarrow$ ) suppose  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set and let  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$ , Then there exist a fuzzy open set  $\tilde{U}$  and  $x_r \in \tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{U}$ -  $\tilde{G}$  is countable, Set  $\tilde{C} = \tilde{U}$ -  $\tilde{G}$ , then  $\tilde{C}$  is countable and  $x_r \in \tilde{U}$ -  $\tilde{C} = \tilde{U}$ -  $(\tilde{U} - \tilde{G}) \subseteq \tilde{G}$ 

( $\Leftarrow$ ) let  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$  then by assumption there exist fuzzy open set  $\tilde{U}$  containing  $x_r$  and countable fuzzy subset  $\tilde{C}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\tilde{U}$ - $\tilde{C} \subseteq \tilde{G}$ , since  $\tilde{U}$ - $\tilde{G} \subseteq \tilde{C}$  then  $\tilde{U}$ - $\tilde{G}$  is countable, hence  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set

#### 3.6 Proposition

Every fuzzy open set is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set

**Proof:** Let  $\tilde{G}$  be fuzzy open set and  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$ , Set  $\tilde{U} = \tilde{G}$ ,  $\tilde{C} = \emptyset$ , then  $\tilde{U}$  is fuzzy open set and  $\tilde{C}$  countable set, Such that  $x_r \in \tilde{U}$ -  $\tilde{C} \subseteq \tilde{G}$ , thus  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set

## Remark

The converse of (3.6 proposition) is not true in general as the following examples show: 3.8 Example: let X = { a, b, c } and  $\tilde{A}$ ,  $\tilde{B}$  are fuzzy subset in 1<sub>x</sub> where 1<sub>x</sub>= { (a, 1), (b, 1), (c, 1) },  $\tilde{A}$  = { (a, 0.6), (b, 0.6), (c, 0.7) }

 $\tilde{B} = \{ (a, 0.5), (b, 0.5), (c, 0.4) \}, \text{Let } \tilde{T} = \{ \emptyset, 1_X, \tilde{A} \} \text{ be a fuzzy topology on X, Then the fuzzy set } \tilde{B} \text{ is a fuzzy } \omega - \text{ open set but not fuzzy open set} \}$ 

## 3.9 Definition

Let  $\tilde{B}$  be a fuzzy set in a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  then, The  $\omega$ -interior of  $\tilde{B}$  is denoted by

 $\omega$ -Int( $\tilde{B}$ ) and defined by  $\omega$ -Int( $\tilde{B}$ ) = U {  $\tilde{G} : \tilde{G}$  is a fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set in  $1_X$ ,  $\tilde{G} \subseteq \tilde{B}$  }

## 3.10 Definition

Let  $\tilde{B}$  be a fuzzy set in a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  then, The  $\omega$ -closure of  $\tilde{B}$  is denoted by

 $\omega$ -cl( $\tilde{B}$ ) and defined by  $\omega$ -cl( $\tilde{B}$ ) =  $\bigcap \{ \tilde{G} : \tilde{G} \text{ is a fuzzy } \omega$ -closed set in  $1_X$ ,  $\tilde{B} \subseteq \tilde{G} \}$ 

#### 3.11Theorem

Let  $\tilde{A}$  be fuzzy subset of a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  then  $(\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}})^{\omega} = \tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}^{\omega}$ 

**Proof**: To prove  $(\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}})^{\omega} \subseteq \tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}^{\omega}$ , let  $\tilde{B} \in (\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}})^{\omega}$  and  $x_r \in \tilde{B}$ , by (**3.5 Theorem**), There exist fuzzy open set  $\tilde{V}$  of  $\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}$  and  $\tilde{C}$  countable subset of  $\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}$  such that  $x_r \in \tilde{V} - \tilde{C} \subseteq \tilde{B}$ , choose  $\tilde{U} \in \tilde{T}$  such that  $\tilde{V} = \tilde{U} \cap \tilde{A}$ , Then  $\tilde{U} - \tilde{C} \in \tilde{T}^{\omega}$ ,  $x_r \in \tilde{U} - \tilde{C}$  and  $\tilde{U} - \tilde{C} \cap \tilde{A} = \tilde{V} - \tilde{C} \subseteq \tilde{B}$ , Therefore  $\tilde{B} \in \tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}^{\omega}$ , To prove  $\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}^{\omega} \subseteq (\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}})^{\omega}$ , let  $\tilde{G} \in \tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}^{\omega}$  then there exist  $\tilde{H} \in \tilde{T}^{\omega}$  such that  $\tilde{G} = \tilde{H} \cap \tilde{A}$  if  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$  then  $x_r \in \tilde{H}$  and there exist fuzzy open set  $\tilde{U}$  of  $\tilde{T}$  and  $\tilde{D}$  countable subset of  $\tilde{T}$  such that  $x_r \in \tilde{U} - \tilde{D} \subseteq \tilde{H}$ , We put  $\tilde{V} = \tilde{U} \cap \tilde{A}$ , then  $\tilde{V} \in \tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}}$  and  $x_r \in \tilde{V} - \tilde{D} \subseteq \tilde{G}$ , It follows that  $\tilde{G} \in (\tilde{T}_{\tilde{A}})^{\omega}$ 

#### 3.12 Definition

The fuzzy family  $\{\tilde{B}_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$  of subset of a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is called

- 1- Fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite if for each  $x_r \in 1_X$  there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\tilde{G}$  containing  $x_r$  such that the set  $\{\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{B}_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$  is finite
- 2- Fuzzy  $\omega$ -discrete if for each  $x_r \in 1_X$  there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\tilde{G}$  containing  $x_r$  such that the set  $\{\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{B}_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$  has at most one member

#### 3.13 proposition

Every fuzzy locally finite (resp.fuzzy discrete) family of any fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite (resp.fuzzy  $\omega$ -discrete)

**Proof:** Follows from the fact (every fuzzy open set is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set)

#### 3.14 Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is called a fuzzy anti-locally-countable if each nonempty fuzzy open subset of  $1_X$  is uncountable.

## 3.15 Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is said to be

1-  $\omega - \tilde{T}_0$  if for each pair of distinct fuzzy point  $x_r$  and  $y_t$  of  $1_X$  there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\tilde{G}$  such that either  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$  and  $y_t \notin \tilde{G}$  or  $y_t \in \tilde{G}$  and  $x_r \notin \tilde{G}$ .

2-  $\omega - \tilde{T}_1$  if for each pair of distinct fuzzy point  $x_r$  and  $y_t$  of  $1_X$  there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{G}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  such that  $x_r \in \tilde{G}$  and  $y_t \notin \tilde{G}$  and  $y_t \notin \tilde{H}$  and  $x_r \notin \tilde{H}$ .

3-  $\omega - \tilde{T}_2$  if for each pair of distinct fuzzy point  $x_r$  and  $y_t$  of  $1_x$  there exist disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{G}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  containing  $x_r$  and  $y_t$  respectively.

#### 3.18 Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is called a fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular space if for each fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed subset  $\tilde{B}$  of  $1_X$  and a fuzzy point  $x_r$  in  $1_X$  such that  $x_r \notin \tilde{B}$ , there exist disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  containing  $x_r$  and  $\tilde{B}$  respectively

## 3.19 Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is called a fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space if for each pair of disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ closed sets  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  in  $1_X$  there exist disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  containing  $\tilde{A}$  and  $\tilde{B}$ respectively

## 3.20 Theorem

A fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal if for each pair of fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{G}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  in  $1_X$  such that  $1_X = \tilde{G} \cup \tilde{H}$  there are fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed sets  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  contained in  $\tilde{G}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  respectively such that  $1_X = \tilde{U} \cup \tilde{V}$ 

## Proof: Obvious

## 3.21 Theorem

Every fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed subspace of fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space.

## Proof: Obvious

## 3.22 Proposition

Every fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular space is fuzzy  $\omega$ - $\tilde{T}_2$  space

**Proof**: Let  $x_r$  and  $y_t$  be pair of fuzzy distinct points in a fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular space  $1_X$ , Then  $x_r$  is a fuzzy point of  $1_X$  which is not in the fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed subset  $\{y_t\}$  of  $1_X$  so by fuzzy  $\omega$ -regularity of  $1_X$  there exist fuzzy disjoint  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  containing  $x_r$  and  $y_t$  respectively, Hence  $1_X$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ - $\tilde{T}_2$  space.

## 3.23 Proposition

If  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy anti-locally countable topological space and  $\tilde{A}$  fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$  then  $\omega$ cl $(\tilde{A}) = cl(\tilde{A})$ .

**Proof:** Clearly  $\omega$ -cl( $\tilde{A}$ )  $\subseteq$  cl( $\tilde{A}$ ). On the other hand, let  $x_r \in cl(\tilde{A})$  and  $\tilde{G}$  be an fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset containing  $x_r$  then by (**3.5 Theorem**)There exist an fuzzy open set  $\tilde{H}$  containing  $x_r$  and countable set  $\tilde{C}$  such that  $\tilde{H} - \tilde{C} \subseteq \tilde{G}$ , thus  $(\tilde{H} - \tilde{C}) \cap \tilde{A} \subseteq \tilde{G} \cap \tilde{A}$  and so  $\tilde{H} \cap \tilde{A} - \tilde{C} \subseteq \tilde{G} \cap \tilde{A}$ . As  $x_r \in \tilde{H}$  and  $x_r \in cl(\tilde{A})$ ,  $\tilde{H} \cap \tilde{A} \neq \emptyset$ . And then as  $\tilde{H}$  and  $\tilde{A}$  are fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets,  $\tilde{H} \cap \tilde{A}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set and as  $1_x$  is fuzzy anti-locally countable,  $\tilde{H} \cap \tilde{A}$  is fuzzy uncountable and so is  $(\tilde{H} \cap \tilde{A}) - \tilde{C}$ . Thus  $\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{A}$  is uncountable therefore  $\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{A} \neq \emptyset$  which means that  $x_r \in \omega$ -cl( $\tilde{A}$ )

## 3.24 Corollary

If  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy anti-locally countable topological space and  $\tilde{A}$  fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$  then  $\omega$ -Int $(\tilde{A}) =$ Int $(\tilde{A})$ .

## Proof: Obvious

## 3.25 Theorem

If a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is fuzzy anti-locally-countable space then every fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space is fuzzy Normal space.

**Proof:** Let  $\tilde{F}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  be two disjoint fuzzy closed subset of fuzzy anti-locally-countable  $\omega$ -Normal space  $1_X$ , then there are fuzzy  $\omega$ - open sets  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  such that  $\tilde{F} \subseteq \tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{H} \subseteq \tilde{V}$  and  $\tilde{U} \cap \tilde{V} = \emptyset$  this implies that  $\omega$ -cl $(\tilde{U}) \cap \tilde{V} = \emptyset$  and  $\tilde{U} \cap \omega$ -cl $(\tilde{V}) = \emptyset$  since  $1_X$  is fuzzy anti-locally-countable so by (3.23 *Proposition*) we get cl $(\tilde{U}) \cap \tilde{V} = \emptyset$  and  $\tilde{U} \cap cl(\tilde{V}) = \emptyset$  since  $I_X$  is fuzzy anti-locally-countable so by (1.23 *Proposition*) we get cl $(\tilde{U}) \cap \tilde{V} = \emptyset$  and  $\tilde{U} \cap cl(\tilde{V}) = \emptyset$  since  $Int(cl(\tilde{U})) \subseteq cl(\tilde{U})$  and  $Int(cl(\tilde{V})) \subseteq cl(\tilde{V})$  then  $Int(cl(\tilde{U})) \cap \tilde{V} = \emptyset$  and  $\tilde{U} \cap Int(cl(\tilde{V})) = \emptyset$ , And this implies that  $Int(cl(\tilde{U})) \cap cl(\tilde{V}) = \emptyset$  and  $Int(cl(\tilde{V})) \cap cl(\tilde{U}) = \emptyset$  thus  $Int(cl(\tilde{U})) \cap Int(cl(\tilde{V})) = \emptyset$ , hence  $Int(cl(\tilde{U}))$  and  $Int(cl(\tilde{V}))$  are disjoint fuzzy open sets in  $1_X$  containing  $\tilde{F}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  respectively hence  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy Normal space

#### 3.26 Definition

Two fuzzy families  $\{\tilde{A}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  and  $\{\tilde{B}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  of subset of a fuzzy space  $1_X$  are said to be similar if for every finite subset  $\Delta$  of  $\Lambda$  the fuzzy sets  $\bigcap_{\tilde{A}_{\lambda}} A_{\lambda}$  and  $\bigcap_{\tilde{B}_{\lambda}} B_{\lambda}$  are either empty or nonempty.

## 3.27 Definition

Let  $(X,\tilde{T})$  be a fuzzy topological space a family W of fuzzy sets is  $\omega$ -open cover of a fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  if and only if  $\tilde{A} \subseteq \bigcup \{ \tilde{G} : \tilde{G} \in W \}$  and each member of W is a fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set. A sub cover of W is a sub family which is also cover.

#### 3.28 Definition

A function  $f: (X, \tilde{T}) \to (Y, \tilde{\sigma})$  is said to be fuzzy  $\omega$ -continuous at a fuzzy point  $x_r \in 1_X$  if for each fuzzy open subset  $\tilde{V}$  in  $1_Y$  containing  $f(x_r)$  there exists an fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset  $\tilde{U}$  of  $1_X$  that containing  $x_r$  such that  $f(\tilde{U}) \subseteq \tilde{V}$  and f is called fuzzy  $\omega$ -continuous if it is fuzzy  $\omega$ -continuous at each fuzzy point

#### 3.29 Definition

- A function  $f: (X, \tilde{T}) \rightarrow (Y, \tilde{\sigma})$  is said to be
- 1- fuzzy pre- $\omega$ -open, if image of each fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open
- 2- fuzzy  $\omega$ -irresolute if  $f^{-1}(\tilde{F})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed in  $1_X$  for each fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed subset  $\tilde{F}$  of  $1_Y$

#### 4. Fuzzy ω-Paracompact space

#### 4.1 Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is said to be :

Fuzzy paracompact space if for each fuzzy open covering of  $1_X$  has a fuzzy locally finite open refinement. [9]

Fuzzy  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$  -paracompact space if for each fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering of  $1_X$  has a fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -open refinement

## 4.2 Propositions

If a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is a fuzzy locally countable space then  $(X, \tilde{T}^{\omega})$  is fuzzy paracompact space.

**Proof**: Follows from the fact every fuzzy discrete space is fuzzy locally finite and A fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy locally countable if and only if  $\tilde{T}^{\omega} = \tilde{T}_{dis}$ **4.3 Propositions** 

If a fuzzy covering  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  has a fuzzy locally-finite (fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite)  $\omega$ -open refinement then there exist a fuzzy locally-finite (fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite)  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\tilde{G}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\tilde{G}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\{\tilde{V}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma}$  be the fuzzy locally-finite (fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite)  $\omega$ -open refinement  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  therefore there exist a function  $\beta:\Gamma \to \Lambda$  such that  $\tilde{V}_{\gamma} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{\beta(\gamma)=\lambda}$  for each  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ . Let  $\tilde{G}_{\lambda} = \bigcup_{\alpha\in\Gamma} \tilde{V}_{\gamma}$  then

the family  $\{\tilde{G}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering of  $1_X$  with the property that  $\tilde{G}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ . Also  $\{\tilde{G}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  is fuzzy locally-finite (fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite).

If  $x_r \in 1_X$  there is an fuzzy open ( $\omega$ -open) set  $\widetilde{W}$  containing  $x_r$  such that the set  $\Gamma_0 = \{\gamma \in \Gamma : \widetilde{W} \cap \widetilde{V}_{\lambda} \neq \emptyset\}$  is finite. But since  $\widetilde{W} \cap \widetilde{G}_{\lambda} \neq \emptyset$ If and only if  $\lambda = \beta(\gamma)$  for some  $\gamma \in \Gamma_0$  so the set  $\{\lambda \in \Lambda : \widetilde{W} \cap \widetilde{G}_{\lambda} \neq \emptyset\}$  is finite

## 4.4 Corollary

A fuzzy topological space (X, T) is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space if and only if for every fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  of  $1_X$  there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\tilde{V}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ .

## 4.5 Propositions

Let  $(X,\tilde{T})$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space and let  $\tilde{H}$  be a fuzzy subset of  $1_X$  and  $\tilde{F}$  be an fuzzy  $\omega$ closed of  $1_X$  which disjoint from  $\tilde{H}$ , if for every  $x_r \in \tilde{F}$  there exist disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\tilde{U}_{x_r}$  and  $\tilde{V}_H$  containing  $x_r$  and  $\tilde{H}$  respectively then there are disjoint  $\omega$ -open set  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  containing  $\tilde{F}$  and  $\tilde{H}$ respectively.

**Proof**: Consider the fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\widetilde{U}_{x_r}\}_{x_r \in \widetilde{F}} \cup \{1_X - \widetilde{F}\}\$  of an fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space  $(X, \widetilde{T})$  then by (**4.4** Corollary) there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\widetilde{G}_{x_r}\}_{x_r \in \widetilde{F}} \cup \widetilde{G}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\widetilde{G} \subseteq 1_X - \widetilde{F}$  and  $\widetilde{G}_{x_r} \subseteq \widetilde{U}_{x_r}$  for each  $x_r \in \widetilde{F}$ . if  $\widetilde{U}_{x_r} \cap \widetilde{V}_H = \emptyset$  then  $\widetilde{G}_{x_r} \cap \widetilde{V}_H = \emptyset$  so  $\omega$ -cl $(\widetilde{G}_{x_r}) \cap \widetilde{V}_H = \emptyset$  for each  $x_r \in \widetilde{F}$  then the fuzzy sets  $\widetilde{U} = \bigcup_{x \in \widetilde{F}} \widetilde{G}_{x_r}$  and  $\widetilde{V} = 1_X - \bigcup_{x \in \widetilde{F}} \omega - \text{cl}(\widetilde{G}_{x_r})$  are the

required  $\omega$ -open sets of  $1_X$ 

#### 4.6 Propositions

Each fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular (resp. fuzzy  $\omega$ - $\tilde{T}_2$ ) space is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space.

**Proof:** Let  $(X,\tilde{T})$  be an fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\omega - \tilde{T}_2$  space and let  $x_r$  be any fuzzy point in  $1_X$  which is not in an arbitrary fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed set  $\tilde{F}$  of  $1_X$  therefore for each  $y_t \in \tilde{F}$  there are disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}_{y_t}$  and  $\tilde{V}_{x_r}$  containing  $y_t$  and  $\{x_r\}$  respectively so by (4.5 Propositions) there exist disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  containing  $\tilde{F}$  and  $x_r$  respectively this shows that  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular

space, thus we have  $(X,\tilde{T})$  fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular. Let  $\tilde{F}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  be any fuzzy two disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed subset of  $1_X$ , since  $\tilde{H}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed so by fuzzy  $\omega$ -regularity of  $1_X$  for each  $y_t \in \tilde{F}$  there exist disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}_{y_t}$  and  $\tilde{V}_H$  containing  $y_t$  and  $\tilde{H}$  respectively therefore By (4.5 Propositions) there exist disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}$  and  $\tilde{V}$  containing  $\tilde{F}$  and  $\tilde{H}$ this showed that  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space

## 4.7 Corollary

Every fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\tilde{T}_2$  space is an fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space. **Proof:** Follows by the fact(Every fuzzy  $\tilde{T}_2$  space is an fuzzy  $\omega$ - $\tilde{T}_2$  space) and (4.5 Propositions)

#### 4.8 Proposition

If  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is an fuzzy anti-locally countable fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\tilde{T}_2$ -(resp.  $\omega$ - $\tilde{T}_2$ ,  $\omega$ -regular,  $\omega$ -Normal) space then it is fuzzy paracompact.

**Proof:** From **4.6** Propositions and **4.7** Corollary we have only to assume that  $1_X$  is an fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\omega$ -Normal space. Therefore by **3.24** Corollary and **3.25** Theorem (X,  $\tilde{T}$ ) is fuzzy paracompact

#### 4.9 Theorem

A fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\omega$ -Normal space if and only if every fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering of  $1_X$  has a fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -closed refinement.

**Proof:**  $(\Longrightarrow)$  Let  $\{\widetilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering of a fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\omega$ -Normal space  $(X, \widetilde{T})$  so by (**4.4 Corollary**) there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\widetilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\widetilde{V}_{\lambda} \subseteq \widetilde{U}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , since  $(X, \widetilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space then there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -closed refinement of  $\{\widetilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  which also fuzzy covers of  $1_X$ 

( $\Leftarrow$ ) Let  $(X, \tilde{T})$  be a fuzzy topological space with the property that every fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering of it has fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -closed refinement, thus  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal space, it remains only to show  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact. For this let  $\{\widetilde{W}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering of  $1_X$  and  $\{\widetilde{F}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Gamma}$  be fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -closed refinement of  $\{\widetilde{W}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  therefore for each  $x_r \in 1_X$  there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\widetilde{U}_{x_r}$  containing  $x_r$  such that the fuzzy set {  $\gamma \in \Gamma : \widetilde{U}_{x_r} \cap \widetilde{F}_{\gamma} \neq \emptyset$  } is finite. Consider  $\{\widetilde{E}_{\upsilon}\}_{\upsilon \in \Theta}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -closed refinement of the fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\widetilde{U}_{x_r}\}_{x_r \in 1_X}$  of  $1_X$  then for each  $\upsilon \in \Theta$  the fuzzy set {  $\gamma \in \Gamma : \widetilde{E}_{\upsilon} \cap \widetilde{F}_{\gamma} \neq \emptyset$  } is finite so there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite family { $\widetilde{G}_{\gamma} : \gamma \in \Gamma$ } of fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set of  $1_X$  such that  $\widetilde{F}_{\gamma} \subseteq \widetilde{G}_{\gamma}$  for each  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ which also fuzzy cover of  $1_X$ , since { $\widetilde{F}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Gamma}$  is fuzzy refinement of { $\widetilde{W}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  so for each  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  there is  $\lambda(\gamma) \in \Lambda$  such that  $\widetilde{F}_{\lambda} \subseteq \widetilde{W}_{\lambda(\gamma)}$  therefore { $\widetilde{G}_{\gamma} \cap \widetilde{W}_{\lambda(\gamma)} : \gamma \in \Gamma$ } is fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -open refinement of  $\{\widetilde{W}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  Hence  $(X, \widetilde{T})$  fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space

#### 4.10 Proposition

Let  $\{\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite family of fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed sets of fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\omega$ -Normal space (X, T) then there exists an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite family  $\{\widetilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  of fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$  such that  $\widetilde{H}_{\lambda} \subseteq \widetilde{U}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and the fuzzy families  $\{\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  and  $\{\omega - cl(\widetilde{U}_{\lambda})\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  are similar

**Proof:** Let  $\{\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite family of fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed sets of fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact  $\omega$ -Normal space  $(X, \widetilde{T})$ . for each  $x_r \in 1_X$  there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\widetilde{G}_{x_r}$  containing  $x_r$  such that  $\widetilde{G}_{x_r}$  intersects only finite number of  $\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}$  and clearly the fuzzy family  $\{\widetilde{G}_{x_r}\}_{x_r \in 1_X}$  forms fuzzy  $\omega$ -open covering of  $1_X$ , therefore by (4.9 Theorem)  $\{\widetilde{G}_{x_r}\}_{x_r \in 1_X}$  has a fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -closed refinement  $\{\widetilde{F}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  and  $\widetilde{F}_{\gamma}$  intersects only finite number of  $\{\widetilde{H}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  for each  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ ,

so there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite family  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$  of fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set of  $1_X$  such that  $\tilde{H}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{V}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , hence there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite family  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$  of fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets such that  $\tilde{H}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{\lambda} \subseteq \omega$ -cl $(\tilde{U}_{\lambda}) \subseteq \tilde{V}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and the fuzzy families  $\{\tilde{H}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  and  $\{\omega$ -cl $(\tilde{U}_{\lambda})\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  are similar

#### 5. Fuzzy ω-Paracompact subset

#### 5.1 Proposition

Every fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset of a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace.

**Proof:** Let  $\widetilde{H}$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset of a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \widetilde{\Gamma})$  and let  $\{\widetilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be fuzzy covering of  $\widetilde{H}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $\widetilde{H}$ . By (**3.11 Theorem**) there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset  $\widetilde{V}_{\lambda}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\widetilde{U}_{\lambda} = \widetilde{V}_{\lambda} \cap \widetilde{H}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , then  $\{\widetilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  is fuzzy covering of  $\widetilde{H}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$ . so by hypothesis there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally-finite  $\omega$ -open refinement  $\{\widetilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  of the fuzzy family  $\{\widetilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  which covers  $\widetilde{H}$  also. Therefore  $\{\widetilde{G}_{\gamma} \cap \widetilde{H}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally-finite  $\omega$ -open refinement of  $\{\widetilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  in  $\widetilde{H}$ , Thus  $\widetilde{H}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace of  $(X, \widetilde{\Gamma})$ 

### 5.2 Proposition

An fuzzy  $\omega$ -closet subset of fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace.

**Proof:** Let  $\tilde{F}$  be fuzzy  $\omega$ -closet subset of fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space  $1_X$  and let  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be be fuzzy covering of  $\tilde{F}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set of  $1_X$ , then  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \cup \{1_X - \tilde{F}\}$  is fuzzy covering of  $1_X$  then by hypothesis and in virtue of (4.4 Corollary) there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally-finite  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\tilde{G}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \cup \tilde{G}$  of  $1_X$  such that  $\tilde{G} \subseteq 1_X - \tilde{F}$  and  $\tilde{G}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  therefore  $\{\tilde{G}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally-finite  $\omega$ -open refinement of  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  which cover  $\tilde{F}$  this show that  $\tilde{F}$  fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  and by (5.1 Proposition) we obtain  $\tilde{F}$  fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace

#### 5.3 Proposition

If a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega - \tilde{T}_2$  space and has a fuzzy subset  $\tilde{F}$  which is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  then for each  $x_r \in 1_X - \tilde{F}$  there exist two disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets of  $1_X$  containing  $x_r$  and  $\tilde{F}$ 

**Proof:** Let  $\tilde{F}$  be fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset of fuzzy  $\omega \tilde{T}_2$  space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  and let  $x_r$  be any fuzzy point of  $1_X \tilde{F}$  then for each  $y_t \in \tilde{F}$  there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets  $\tilde{U}_{y_t}$  and  $\tilde{V}_{x_r}$  such that  $y_t \in \tilde{U}_{y_t}$  and  $x_r \in \tilde{V}_{x_r}$  and  $\tilde{U}_{y_t} \cap \tilde{V}_{x_r} = \emptyset$  this implies that  $\omega - \operatorname{cl}(\tilde{U}_{y_t}) \cap \tilde{V}_{x_r} = \emptyset$  hence  $x_r \notin \omega - \operatorname{cl}(\tilde{U}_{y_t})$  for each  $y_t \in \tilde{F}$ . Now  $\{\tilde{U}_{y_t}\}_{y_t \in \tilde{F}}$  is fuzzy cover of  $\tilde{F}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$  thus by hypothesis and in virtue of (**4.4 Corollary**) there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite covering  $\{\tilde{G}_{y_t}\}_{y_t \in \tilde{F}}$  of  $\tilde{F}$  such that for each  $y_t \in \tilde{F}$ ,  $\tilde{G}_{y_t}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set in  $1_X$  and  $\tilde{G}_{y_t} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{y_t}$  therefore  $x_r \notin \omega - \operatorname{cl}(\tilde{G}_{y_t})$  for each  $y_t \in \tilde{F}$ . Hence  $\tilde{U} = \bigcup_{y_t \in \tilde{F}} \tilde{G}_{y_t}$  and  $\tilde{V} = 1_X - \bigcup_{y_t \in \tilde{F}} \omega - \operatorname{cl}(\tilde{G}_{y_t})$  Therefore there exist two disjoint fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets of  $1_X$  containing  $x_r$  and  $\tilde{F}$ 

## 5.4 Corollary

If  $\tilde{F}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset of a fuzzy topological  $\omega$ - $\tilde{T}_2$  space (X, $\tilde{T}$ ) then  $\tilde{F}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal subspace of  $1_X$ .

Proof: Obvious

## 5.5 Proposition

If a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular space and  $\tilde{F}$  is fuzzy subset of  $1_X$  which is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset of  $1_X$  then for each fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\tilde{U}$  containing  $\tilde{F}$  there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed set  $\tilde{H}$  containing  $\tilde{F}$  and it is contained in  $\tilde{U}$  furthermore  $\tilde{F}$  is is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal subspace of  $1_X$ .

**Proof:** Since a fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -regular space so by (3.22 Proposition) and (5.3 Proposition)  $\tilde{F}$  fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed subset of  $1_X$ . And by (5.4 Corollary) it is fuzzy  $\omega$ -Normal subspace of  $1_X$ , therefore for each  $x_r \in \tilde{F}$  there exist fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set  $\tilde{U}_{x_r}$  such that  $x_r \in \tilde{U}_{x_r} \subseteq \omega$ - $cl(\tilde{U}_{x_r}) \subseteq \tilde{U}$  since  $\tilde{F}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset of  $1_X$  so there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite family  $\{\tilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  of  $\tilde{F}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets of  $1_X$  which refines  $\{\tilde{U}_{x_r}\}_{x_r \in \tilde{F}}$  and covers  $\tilde{F}$  therefore  $\tilde{H} = \bigcup_{\omega - cl(\tilde{G}_{\gamma})}$  is the required fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed set

## 5.6 Theorem

Let  $(X, \tilde{T})$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -disconnected space then the statements are equivalent:

- 1-  $(X, \tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space
- 2- Every fuzzy proper  $\omega$ -closed subset of  $1_X$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset of  $1_X$
- 3- Every fuzzy proper  $\omega$ -closed subset of  $1_X$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace
- 4- Every fuzzy proper  $\omega$ -clopen subset of  $1_X$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact
- 5- There exist a fuzzy proper  $\omega$ -clopen subset  $\tilde{F}$  of  $1_X$  such that both  $\tilde{F}$  and  $1_X \tilde{F}$  are fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact.

*Proof*:(1⇒2) Follows from 5.2 *Proposition* 

## (2⇒3) Follows from *5.1 Proposition*

 $(3 \Longrightarrow 4)$  Obvious

 $(4 \Longrightarrow 5)$  Clear.

 $(5 \Longrightarrow 1)$  let  $(X, \tilde{T})$  be a fuzzy topological space contains a fuzzy proper

ω-clopen subset  $\tilde{F}$  in which both  $\tilde{F}$  and  $1_X - \tilde{F}$  are fuzzy ω-paracompact and let  $\{\tilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  be any fuzzy ω-open cover of  $1_X$ , then  $\{\tilde{F} \cap \tilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  and  $\{1_X - \tilde{F} \cap \tilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  Covering  $\tilde{F}$  and  $1_X - \tilde{F}$  respectively therefore there exist fuzzy ω-locally finite refinement  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  and  $\{\tilde{V}_{\upsilon}\}_{\upsilon \in \vartheta}$  of  $\{\tilde{F} \cap \tilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  and  $\{1_X - \tilde{F} \cap \tilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  Covering  $\tilde{F}$  and  $1_X - \tilde{F}$  respectively such that  $\tilde{V}_{\lambda}$  is fuzzy ω-openset in  $\tilde{F}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $\tilde{V}_{\upsilon}$  is fuzzy ω-open set in  $1_X - \tilde{F}$  for each  $\upsilon \in \vartheta$ , then both  $\tilde{V}_{\lambda}$  and  $\tilde{V}_{\upsilon}$  are fuzzy ω-open sets in  $1_X$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $\upsilon \in \vartheta$ . Therefore  $\{\tilde{V}_{\beta}\}_{\beta \in \Lambda \cup \vartheta}$  is fuzzy ω-locally finite ω-open refinement of  $\{\tilde{G}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  which covers  $1_X$ , hence  $(X, \tilde{\Gamma})$  is fuzzy ω-paracompact space

## Remark

In the above theorem if  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -connected space then the only fuzzy  $\omega$ -clopen subset of  $1_X$  are fuzzy empty set and  $1_X$  itself so the condition that  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -disconnected space is essential.

#### 5.8 Proposition

Let  $\tilde{G}$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -clopen subset of a fuzzy topological space (X, $\tilde{T}$ ) then  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset if and only if  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace.

*Proof:* In view of (5.1 *Proposition*), we need only to prove the only if part.

Let  $\tilde{G}$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -clopen  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  and let  $\{\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  be fuzzy covering of  $\tilde{G}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$ , then  $\{\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{U}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  is a fuzzy covering of  $\tilde{G}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $\tilde{G}$ , since  $\tilde{G}$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subspace of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  therefore by (**4.4 Corollary**) there exist an fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -open covering  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  of  $\tilde{G}$  such that for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ ,  $\tilde{V}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{G} \cap \tilde{U}_{\lambda} \subseteq \tilde{U}_{\lambda}$  and  $\tilde{V}_{\lambda}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set in  $\tilde{G}$  so for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$   $\tilde{V}_{\lambda}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -open set in  $1_X$ , since  $\tilde{G}$  and  $1_X - \tilde{G}$  are fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets in  $1_X$  this implies that  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\Lambda}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite in  $1_X$ 

#### 5.9 Proposition

Let  $\tilde{G}$  and  $\tilde{H}$  be two fuzzy subset of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tilde{T})$  if  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -closed and  $\tilde{H}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  then  $\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{H}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  furthermore it is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $\tilde{H}$ 

**Proof:** Let  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be any fuzzy covering of  $\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{H}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$  since  $1_X - \tilde{G}$  is fuzzy

ω-open set in  $1_X$  and  $\widetilde{H} - \widetilde{G} ⊆ 1_X - \widetilde{G}$  then for each  $x_r \in \widetilde{H} - \widetilde{G}$  there exist fuzzy ω-open set  $\widetilde{W}$  in  $1_X$ such that  $x_r \in \widetilde{W} ⊆ \widetilde{H} - \widetilde{G}$  and  $\{\widetilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \cup \{\widetilde{W}\}_{x_r \in \widetilde{H} - \widetilde{G}}$  is a fuzzy covering of  $\widetilde{H}$  by fuzzy ω-open subset of  $1_X$ , since  $\widetilde{H}$  is fuzzy ω-paracompact subset to  $1_X$ , Therefore this cover has fuzzy

ω-locally finite refinement  $\{\tilde{Z}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ , Which covers  $\tilde{H}$  and  $\tilde{Z}_{\gamma}$  is fuzzy ω-open set in  $1_X$  for each  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  that is the fuzzy ω-locally finite subfamily  $\{\tilde{Z}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma_1}$  where  $\Gamma_1 = \{ \gamma \in \Gamma; \tilde{Z}_{\gamma} \subseteq \tilde{V}_{\lambda} \text{ for some } \lambda \in \Lambda \}$  is fuzzy ω-open refinement of  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  which covers  $\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{H}$  too, thus  $\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{H}$  is fuzzy

ω-paracompact subset to 1<sub>x</sub>, since  $\tilde{H}$  is fuzzy ω-paracompact subset to 1<sub>x</sub> so by **5.1** *Proposition* it is fuzzy ω-paracompact subspace of 1<sub>x</sub> since  $\tilde{G}$  fuzzy ω-closed in 1<sub>x</sub> hence  $\tilde{G} \cap \tilde{H}$  is fuzzy

 $\omega$ -closed subset of  $\widetilde{H}$  and then by 5.2 Proposition  $\widetilde{G} \cap \widetilde{H}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $\widetilde{H}$ 

## 5.10 Proposition

Let  $f: (X,\tilde{T}) \to (Y,\tilde{\sigma})$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -continuous surjection which maps Fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets onto Fuzzy open sets, if  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  then  $f(\tilde{G})$  is fuzzy paracompact subset to  $1_Y$ . **Proof:** Let  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  be any fuzzy covering of  $f(\tilde{G})$  by fuzzy open sets of  $1_Y$  since f is fuzzy  $\omega$ continuous function then  $\{f^{-1}(\tilde{V}_{\lambda})\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  is fuzzy covering of  $\tilde{G}$  by fuzzy  $\omega$ -open subset of  $1_X$ . But  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  therefore there exist a fuzzy  $\omega$ -locally finite  $\omega$ -open family  $\{\tilde{Z}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ of subset of  $1_X$  which refines  $\{f^{-1}(\tilde{V}_{\lambda})\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  and cover  $\tilde{G}$  since f surjection and maps fuzzy  $\omega$ -open sets onto fuzzy open sets then  $\{f(\tilde{Z}_{\gamma})\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  is fuzzy locally finite open family  $\{\tilde{Z}_{\gamma}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$  of subset of  $1_{Y}$  which refines  $\{\tilde{V}_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$  and cover  $f(\tilde{G})$  this shows that  $(\tilde{G})$  is fuzzy paracompact subset to  $1_{Y}$ 

## 5.11 Corollary

Let  $f: (X,\tilde{T}) \to (Y,\tilde{\sigma})$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -continuous surjection which maps fuzzy open sets onto fuzzy open sets, if  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space then  $(Y,\tilde{\sigma})$  is fuzzy paracompact space. **Proof**: Obvious

## 5.12 Proposition

Let  $f: (X, \tilde{T}) \to (Y, \tilde{\sigma})$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -irresolute pre- $\omega$ -open surjection function if  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  then  $f(\tilde{G})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_Y$ . *Proof:* Similar to the proof of **5.10 Proposition.** 

## 5.13 Corollary

Let  $f: (X,\tilde{T}) \to (Y,\tilde{\sigma})$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -irresolute open surjection function if  $\tilde{G}$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_X$  then  $f(\tilde{G})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact subset to  $1_Y$ . *Proof*: Obvious

## 5.14 Corollary

Let  $f: (X,\tilde{T}) \to (Y,\tilde{\sigma})$  be a fuzzy  $\omega$ -irresolute (pre- $\omega$ -open) open surjection function if  $(X,\tilde{T})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space then  $(Y,\tilde{\sigma})$  is fuzzy  $\omega$ -paracompact space. *Proof:* Obvious

#### References

- 1. Ajmal N., and Kohli K. J., "Overlopping Families and Covering Dimension in Fuzzy Topological Spaces" Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 64 (1994), 257-263.
- 2. Chang, C. L., "Fuzzy Topological Spaces", J. Math. Anal. Appl., Vol.24, PP. 182-190, 1968.
- 3. Christoph, F. T., "Quotient Fuzzy Topology and Local Compact", J. Math. Anal. Appl., Vol.57, PP. 497-504, 1977
- 4. Ernest Michael "A Note on Paracompact Spaces" Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, Vol. 4, No. 5, pp. 831-838, (Oct., 1953).
- 5. Hutton, B., 1975, Normality in Fuzzy topological Spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 50, 74-79.
- Kandill A, S. Saleh2 and M.M Yakout3 "Fuzzy Topology on Fuzzy Sets: Regularity and Separation Axioms" American Academic & Scholarly Research Journal Vol. 4, No. 2, March (2012).
- 7. Klir, G. J. and Yuan, B., "Fuzzy Sets and Fuzzy Logic Theory and Application", Prentice Hall pTp Upper saddle River, New Jersey, 07458, 1995.
- 8. Lou, S. P. and Pan, S. H., "Fuzzy Structure", J. Math. Analy. and Application, Vol.76, PP.631-642, 1980.
- 9. Qutaiba Ead Hassan " Characterizations of fuzzy paracompactness" International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics , Volume 25 No. 1,pp 121-130,(2005).
- R. Lowen, Fuzzy topological spaces and fuzzy compactness, J. Math. Anal. Appl.,56 (1976) 621-633.
- 11. Sarkar M. "On Fuzzy Topological Spaces" J. Math. Anal. Appl. 79 (1981) 384- 394.

- 12. Sunil,J.J " fuzzy topological games and related topics" Ph.D Thesis, cochin university of science and Technology,(2002).
- 13. Wong, C. K., "Fuzzy Points and Local Properties of Fuzzy Topology", J. Math. Anal. Appl., Vol.46, PP. 316-328, 1973.
- 14. XuzhuWang, Da Ruan and Etienne E. Kerre "Mathematics of Fuzziness Basic Issues" Volume 245,pp.185-186(2009)
- 15. Zadeh, L.A., "Fuzzy Sets", Inform. Control, Vol.8, PP. 338-353, 1965.

# Normed Space Of Measurable Functions With Some Of Their Properties

Asawer J.Al-Afloogee Noori F. Al-Mayahi

Department of Mathematics, College of Science Al-Qadisiya University. Department of Mathematics, College of Science Al-Qadisiya University

Nafm60 @yahoo.com

**Abstract** Let  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  be the space of measurable functions defined on measure space  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$ , where we consider any two functions in which are equal almost everywhere (a.e). Then  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is complete metric space with respect to metric functions defined by  $d(f, g) = \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f-g|}{1+|f-g|} d\mu$  for all  $f, g \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ . This paper includes two main parts, the first part we prove this space  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  in general is not a normed space, and second we prove norm on  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  achieved if and only if she was  $\Omega$  is the finite union of disjoint atom.

#### 1. Introduction

In the measure theory ,we deal with different types of convergence of sequences of measurable functions ,especially convergence in measure and convergence almost everywhere(a. e) ,and study the relationships between them ,for example ,is that each sequence convergence measure is convergence (a .e)?and is the converse is true? ,and under what condition is that achieved ?There are many sources that have studied this topic from them Marczewiski was showed in [4] 1955 convergence in measure implies convergence everywhere (a. e) and thomasian proved in [8] (1957) convergence in metric equivalent to convergence a .s ( in probability) if and only if  $\Omega$  is the union of finite of disjoint atoms. Eugene was introduced in [2] 1975 several different definitions for the stochastic on convergence of sequence of random variables . And Jordan was proved in[3] 2015  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is a complete metric space . Noori and Asawer were proved in [6] 2020  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is a complete metric function .In this paper ,we are discussed the relationship between convergence in measure and convergence almost everywhere (a.e.) ,and what condition that must be set for equivalence to be achieved between them . After that we set with proof the necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of the norm on  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  .

#### 2. Topology of convergence in measure

Let  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  be the space of measurable functions defined on measure space  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  are equivalence almost everywhere (a .e). Then  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is a linear space under the following addition and scalar multiplication

1.(f + g)(x) = f(x) + g(x) for all  $f, g \in L(\Omega)$ 2. $(\lambda f)(x) = \lambda(x)$  for all  $f \in L(\Omega)$  and for  $\lambda \in R$ 

#### Theorem(2.1)

Let  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  be the space of measurable functions which is defined on measure space (a .e)

Define  $\|\cdot\|: L^0(\Omega, F, \mu) \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $\|f\|_0 = \int_\Omega \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} d\mu$  for all  $f \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ , then 1. $||f||_0 \ge 0$  for all  $f \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  $2 \cdot \|f\|_0 = 0$  iff f=0 a.e. 3. $||f + g||_0 \le ||f||_0 + ||g||_0$  for all  $f, g \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ **Proof:** 1. Since  $|f| \ge 0$  for all  $f \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ , then  $\frac{|f|}{1+|f|} \ge 0$  for all  $f \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu) \Longrightarrow \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} d\mu \ge 0$  $0 \Longrightarrow \|f\|_0 \ge 0$ 2. let  $f \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ If f=0 a.e. i.e  $\mu\{x \in \Omega: f(x) \neq 0\} = 0 \implies \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} = 0 \ a.e \implies \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} d\mu = 0 \implies ||f|| = 0$ If  $||f||_0 = 0$  then  $\int_\Omega \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} d\mu = 0$ , since  $\frac{|f|}{1+|f|} \ge 0 \implies \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} = 0$  a.e.  $\implies f = g$  a.e 3.Let f,  $g \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ 3.Let  $f, g \in L^{\circ}(\Omega, F, \mu)$ Since  $\frac{|f|}{1+|f|} + \frac{|g|}{1+|g|} \ge \frac{|f|}{1+|f|+|g|} + \frac{|g|}{1+|f|+|g|} = \frac{|f|+|g|}{1+|f|+|g|}$   $\Rightarrow \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} + \frac{|g|}{1+|g|} \ge \frac{1}{\frac{1}{|f|+|g|} + 1} \ge \frac{1}{\frac{1}{|f-g|} + 1} = \frac{|f-g|}{1+|f-g|} \Rightarrow \frac{|f-g|}{1+|f-g|}$  $\leq \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} + \frac{|g|}{1+|g|}$  $\Rightarrow \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f-g|}{1+|f-g|} d\mu \ \le \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f|}{1+|f|} d\mu + \int_{\Omega} \frac{|g|}{1+|g|} d\mu \Rightarrow ||f+g||_{0} \le ||f||_{0} + ||g||_{0}$ 

**Remark** :  $\|.\|$  is not norm on  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ , since if  $f \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ , then  $\|\lambda f\|_0 = \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\lambda f|}{1+|\lambda f|} d\mu =$  $\int_{\Omega} \frac{|\lambda| \|f\|}{1 + |\lambda| \|f\|} d\mu \neq \lambda \|f\|_0$ 

In order to discuss the compatibility of convergence in measure and a norm we have to introduce a definition from the theory of summability

Theorem(2.2) :[6] The metric space  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is complete

## **Definition(2.3) : [2]**

The sequence of real numbers  $\{x_n\}$  is called Cesaro summable of order 1 to x and write

 $\xrightarrow{(c,1)} x \text{ if } \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i = x .$  $x_n -$ 

The following result is very important

Lemma (2.4)

Let  $\{x_n\}$  be a convergent sequence of real numbers if  $x_n \to x$ , then  $x_n \xrightarrow{(c,1)} x$ . The converse t true not true

Proof:

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$ , since  $x_n \to x$ , then is  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  such that  $|x_n - x| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$  for all  $n \ge k$ . Let  $y_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n x_i$ , then  $y_n - x = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n x_i - x = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^k (x_i - x) + \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=k+1}^n (x_i - x)$ Let  $m = \max\{x, \max x_i\}$  and select n so large that  $\frac{1}{n} < \frac{\varepsilon}{4km}$ , then  $|y_n - x| < \frac{\varepsilon}{4km}k(2m) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\left(\frac{n-k}{m}\right) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon$ 

Therefore  $y_n \to x$ .

Example(2.5):[2]

Let  $x_n = \frac{1+(-1)^{n-1}}{2}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Clearly  $x_{2n} = 0$ ,  $x_{2n-1} = 1$ , so that the sequence is divergent, but  $x_n \xrightarrow{(c,1)} \frac{1}{2}$ 

#### **Remark**:

In similar manner we can introduce (c, 1) summability for sequence of measurable functions (c, 1)to f,

and write  $f_n \xrightarrow{(c,1)-s} f$  if  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i = f$ . Here f may be proper or a degenerate measurable function

## **Theorem (2.6):**

If  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is a normed space which is compatible with s-convergence and  $\{f_n\}$  is a sequence in  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  such that  $f_n \xrightarrow{s} 0$ , then  $f_n \xrightarrow{(c,1)-s} 0$ .

Let 
$$g_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i \implies ||g_n|| = \left\|\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n f_i\right\| \le \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n ||f_i||$$

Since  $f_n \xrightarrow{s} 0 \implies \lim_{i \to \infty} ||f_i|| = 0$  by theorem (2.4), we have  $||f_n|| \xrightarrow{(c,1)} 0$ , so that  $\lim_{n \to n} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n ||f_i|| = 0 \implies \lim_{n \to n} ||g_n|| = 0$ 

Using the equivalent of norm convergence and s-convergence , we conclude that  $g_n \xrightarrow{s} 0$ , therefore  $f_n \xrightarrow{(c,1)-s} 0$ **Remark** :

We construct an example (example 2.5) of a sequence  $\{f_n\}$  which converge in measure to zero but for which  $f_n$  not converge to zero in (c,1)- $\mu$ .*i*.*e*. If  $f_n = \frac{1+(-1)^{n-1}}{2}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} 0$ , but  $f_n$  not converge to zero in (c,1)- $\mu$ 

We can then use theorem (2.6) to prove the following statement

#### Theorem (2.7): [2]

Convergence in measure is in general incompatible with the existence of a norm.

The reason is that the existence of a norm which is compatible with converge in measure ispossible if the basic measure space  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  has a certain property

## 3. The necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of the norm on $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$

#### **Definition (3.1):**[4]

1.A set  $A \in F$  is called an atom, if there no proper subset B of A such that  $B \in F$ 2. An atom of a measure space  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is set  $A \in F$  with  $\mu(A) > 0$  such that  $B \subseteq A$  and  $B \in F$ imply that either  $\mu(B) = 0$  or  $\mu(B) = \mu(A)$  .i.e A set  $A \in F$  is called atom of  $\mu$  if  $0 < \mu(A) < \infty$  and for every  $B \subseteq A$  with  $B \in F$  either  $\mu(B)$ 

) or 
$$\mu(B) = \mu(A)$$

A set  $A \in F$  is called atom of  $\mu$  if  $\mu(A) > 0$  and for any  $B \in F$  and  $B \subseteq A$  with  $\mu(A) < 0$  $\mu(B)$ ,then

$$\mu(B) = 0$$

 $\mu(B) = 0$ 3. A measure without any atoms is called nonatomic (or atomless or diffuse ). In other words A measure  $\mu$  is called nonatomic or diffuse, if there are no atoms.

A measure  $\mu$  is nonatomic if for any  $A \in F$  with  $\mu(A) > 0$  there exists  $B \in F$  and  $B \subseteq A$  such that  $\mu(A) > \mu(B) > 0.$ 

A measure  $\mu$  is nonatomic if there are no atoms for  $\mu$ . This means that every measurable set of positive measure can be split in to two disjoint measurable sets ,each having positive measure . 4.  $\mu$  is called purely atomic or simply atomic if every measurable set of positive measure contains an atom . In other words A measure space ( $\Omega, F, \mu$ ), or the measure  $\mu$  is called purely atomic if there is a family g of atoms of  $\mu$  such that for each  $A \in F$ ,  $\mu(A)$  is the sum of the numbers of  $\mu(B)$  for all  $B \in g$  such that  $\mu(A \cap B) = \mu(A)$ .

5. Let  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  be a measure space such that all singleton  $\{x\} \in F$ . A point  $x \in \Omega$ Is called an atom for the measure  $\mu(\{x\}) > 0$ .

#### Example(3.2):[4]

1.Let  $\Omega = \{1, 2, 3, ..., 10\}$  and let F = P(X) be the power set of  $\Omega$ . Define the measure  $\mu$  of a set to be

cardinality , that is , the number of elements in the set . Then , each of the singletons  $\{x\}$  for  $x\in\Omega$  is an atom.

2. The singleton  $\{x\}$  with positive finite measure are atoms of  $\mu$ .

3. If  $A \in F$  is an atom for  $\mu$  and  $\mu(A \cap B) > 0$ , then  $A \cap B$  is also an atom for  $\mu$ .

4. A set of positive finite measure is an atom if its only measurable subsets are itself and  $\emptyset$ . Here is a less trivial atom.

5.Let  $\Omega$  be an uncountable set and let  $\mathcal{F}$  be family of set which either countable ,with

 $\mu(A) = 0$  or have countable complement, with  $\mu(A) = 1$ . then  $\mu$  is a measure and  $\Omega$  is an atom. 6. Lebesgue measure is nonatomic.

7. If  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$  -finite measure, the set of atom of  $\mu$  is countable.

8. The zero measure is the only measure which is both purely atomic and nonatomic

#### **Theorem(3.3):**

Let  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  be a measure space

1.A measurable function is a. e. constant on an atom .

2. There is decomposition of  $\Omega$  in to disjoint sets  $\Omega = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n$  where  $A_0$  is either empty or an atomless set of positive measure and each of the sets  $A_1, A_2, \dots$  is either a empty set or an atom

3.

If  $\mu$  is atomless, then every  $A \in F$ , and every number c with  $0 < c < \mu(A)$ , there is a set  $B \in F$  such that  $B \subseteq A$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$ 

4. If  $\mu$  is atomless and  $\mu(\Omega) = 1$ , then for every sequence  $P_n$  with  $0 \le P_n \le 1$ , there exists a sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of stochastically independent sets with  $\mu(A_n) = P_n$ .

#### **Proof:**

1.let  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  be a measure space and  $f : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  be a measurable function If  $A \in F$  is called atom of  $\mu$ , then f is constant on A

If  $y \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mu(\{x \in A: f(x) < y\}) = 0$ , then  $\mu(\{x \in A: f(x) < z\}) = 0$  for all  $z \le y$ . Let  $k = \sup\{y \in \mathbb{R}: \mu(\{x \in A: f(x) < y\})\} = 0$ . Then  $f(x \in A: f(x) < k\}) = \mu(\{1, \dots, \{x \in A: f(x) > x\}\}) = 0$ .

 $\mu(\{x \in A: f(x) < k\}) = \mu(\bigcup_{r \in Q, r < k} \{x \in A: f(x) \ge r\}) = 0$ 

If y > k, then  $\mu(\{x \in A : f(x) < y\}) > 0$ , hence  $\mu(\{x \in A : f(x) \ge y\}) = 0$  since A is an atom of .Thus  $\mu(\{x \in A : f(x) > k\}) = \mu(\bigcup_{r \in Q, r > k} \{x \in A : f(x) \ge r\}) = 0$ 

It follows that f = k a.e. on A.

4.Let  $A^0 = A^C = \Omega | A$ ,  $A^2 = \Omega$  for every  $A \subseteq \Omega$ 

BY (3), there is a set  $A_1$  with  $\mu(A_1) = P_1$ . If  $A_i$  are already defined for  $i \le n$ , and if they are stochastically independents sets with  $\mu(A_i) = P_i$ , then there is ,in view of (3), a set  $A_{n+1}$  such that  $(\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+1} A_i^{K_i}) = P_{n+1}\mu(\bigcap_{i=1}^n A_{i=1}^{k_i})$  for every system  $k_1, k_2, ..., k_n$  of number 0 and I. it is easy that  $\{A_n\}$  is the required sequence

#### **Definition**(3,4)[7]

Let  $\{A_n\}$  be a sequence of subsets of a set  $\Omega$ . The set of all points which belong to infinitely many

sets of the sequence  $\{A_n\}$  is called the upper limit (or limit superior ) of  $\{A_n\}$  and is denoted by  $A^*$  and defined by  $A^* = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup A_n = \{x \in A_n : for infinitely many n\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k = \lim_{n \to \infty} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k$ 

Thus  $x \in A_*$  iff for all n then  $x \in A_k$  for some  $k \ge n$ 

The lower limit (or limit inferior) of  $\{A_n\}$ , denoted by  $A_*$  is the set of all points which belong to almost all sets of the sequence  $\{A_n\}$ , and defined by

 $A_* = \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf A_n = \{x \in A_* : for all but finitely many n\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_k = \lim_{n \to \infty} \bigcup_{n=k}^{\infty} A_k$ 

Thus  $x \in A_*$  iff for some n then  $x \in A_n$  for all  $K \ge n$ 

#### Definition (3.5):[1]

A sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of subsets of a set  $\Omega$  is said to

1.converge if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sup_n A_n = \lim_{n\to\infty} \inf_n A_n = A$ , and A is said to be the limit of  $\{A_n\}$ , we write

 $A = \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n \text{ or } A_n \to A$  in other terms  $A_n \to A$  iff  $I_{A_n} \to I_A$ 

2. Converges in measure to set A, write  $A_n \xrightarrow{\mu} A$  if  $I_{A_n} \xrightarrow{\mu} A$ . in other terms, if  $\mu(A \Delta A_n)$ 

3.Converges a .e to set A ,write  $A_n \xrightarrow{a.e} A$  if  $I_{A_n} \xrightarrow{a.e} I_A$  .in other terms ,if  $\mu(A\Delta(\lim_{n\to\infty} supA_n)) = \mu(A\Delta(\lim_{n\to\infty} infA_n)) = 0$ 

#### Theorem(3.6)

1. If  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ , then  $f_n \xrightarrow{a.e} f$  on every atom set A of  $\mu$ 

2. If  $\mu$  is atomless , then there is a sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of measurable sets convergence to the void set in measure and such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} inf A_n = \emptyset$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} sup A_n = \Omega$ .

3. If the sequence convergence in measure on measurable sets implies their convergence a .e. , then  $\mu$  is purely atomic .

#### Proof:

1.Let  $\{f_n\}$  be a sequence of measurable sequence defined on  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  such that  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ Let A be an atom of  $\mu$ , then there is an atom  $A^* \subseteq A$  such that  $\mu(A|A^*) = 0$  and that  $f_{1,f_2}, f_3, \dots$ are constant on  $A^*$ , then f(x)=c,  $f_n(x) = c_n$  for  $x \in A^*$ 

That  $f_1, f_2, f_3, \dots$  are constant on  $A^*$ , then f(x) = c,  $f_n(x) = c_n$  for  $x \in A^*$ 

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$ , since  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} f$ , then there is  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^+$  such that  $|f_n(x) - f(x)| < \varepsilon$  for all n > k outside

a

set  $Z_n$  with  $\mu(Z_n) < \mu(A^*)$ 

Consequently  $|c_n - c| < \varepsilon$  for all n > k which implies  $f_n \xrightarrow{a.e} f$  on A. 2. Without any loss of generally we may suppose that  $\mu(\Omega) = 1$ . By(4) theorem (3.3), there exists a sequence  $\{B_n\}$  of stochastically independent sets with  $\mu(B_n) = \frac{1}{2}$  for all n the sequence  $A_1 = B_1$ ,  $A_2 = B_1^C$ ,  $A_3 = B_1 \cap B_2$ ,  $A_4 = B_1^C \cap B_2$ ,  $A_5 = B_1 \cap B_1^C$ ,  $A_6 = B_1^C \cap B_2^C$ ,  $A_7 = B_1 \cap B_2 \cap B_3$ ,  $A_8 = B_1^C \cap B_2 \cap B$ , ... Obviously satisfies the conditions of (2).

#### Theorem(3.7)

If  $\mu$  is finite, then  $\Omega = A \cup (\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)$ , where all of the sets in the decomposition are disjoint and each  $A_n$  is the empty set or an atom ,and for every measurable subset *B* of *A*,  $\mu$  takes every value between 0 and  $\mu(B)$  for measurable subset of B.

#### **Proof**:

There is only a countable numbers of  $\mu$  –equivalence classes of such  $A_i$  of these classes and let  $B \subseteq A = \Omega | \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i$  Select representation inductively sets  $C_n \in g_n$  such that  $\mu(C_n) > \sup \mu(C) - \frac{1}{n}$  for all  $C \in g_n$ , where  $g_n$  is the class of all  $C \subseteq B | \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} C_i$  for with  $\mu(C) \leq C - \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} C_i$ .  $\mu(\bigcup_{i=1}^{n-1} C_i)$ . Then  $\mu(C) = c$ , for  $C = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n$ .

#### Definition(3.8)[1]

1. Converge in norm is said to be equivalent to convergence a .e .if for every sequence  $\{f_n\}$  in  $L^{0}(\Omega, F, \mu)$ ,  $||f_{n}|| \to 0$ , iff  $f_{n} \xrightarrow{a.e} 0$ . 2.Converge in norm is said to be equivalent to convergence in measure if, for every sequence

 $\{f_n\}$  in  $l^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ ,  $||f_n|| \to 0$  iff  $f_n \xrightarrow{\mu} 0$ .

Theorem(3.9)

If  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is finite measure. Then there exists a norm on  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  which is compatible with convergence in measure iff  $\Omega$  is the finite union of disjoint atoms .

#### **Proof:**

Suppose there exists a norm  $\|.\|$  on  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  which is compatible with convergence in measure Assume that  $\Omega$  is not finite union of disjoint atoms .

Then there exists a sequence  $\{A_n\}$  in  $\Omega$  with  $0 < \mu(A_n) \rightarrow 0$ Let  $f_n$  be the in indicator function of the set  $A_n$ , i.e.  $f_n = I_{A_n}$ 

If  $||f_{n_0}|| = 0$ , then  $f_{n_0} \xrightarrow{\mu} 0$ , contradicting  $\mu(A_{n_0}) > 0$ , then  $||f_n|| \neq 0$  for all n Since  $\left\|\frac{f_n}{\|f_n\|}\right\| = \frac{\|f_n\|}{\|f_n\|} = 1$  for all n, so that the sequence of measurable function  $g_n = \frac{f_n}{\|f_n\|}$  cannot converge to 0 in measure .However ,it must ,because  $\mu(A_n) \rightarrow 0$  contradiction

Conversely suppose that  $\Omega$  is the finite union of disjoint atoms .

Define  $\|.\|: L^0(\Omega, F, \mu) \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $\|f\| = \int_{\Omega} |f| d\mu$  for all  $f \in L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ In clear  $\|.\|$  is a norm on  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ 

#### Theorem(3.10)

If  $(\Omega, F, \mu)$  is finite measure . Then convergence in measure implies almost everywhere convergence for all sequence in  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  iff  $\Omega$  is the union of countable number of disjoint atoms. **Proof**:

Suppose that convergence in measure implies almost everywhere convergence for all sequence in  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$ .

Assume that  $\Omega$  is not finite union of disjoint atoms

Thus in the decomposition of theorem (2.4)  $\mu(A) > 0$  and for each n,  $A = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} A_{nk}$ , Where  $\mu(A_{nk}) = \frac{1}{n} \mu(A)$  for k=1,2,...,n, and  $A_{n1}, A_{n2}, \dots, A_{nk}$  are disjoint.

Let  $f_{nk}$  be the indicator function of the set  $A_{nk}$ . The sequence of measurable function  $\{f_{nk}\}$ converge to 0 in measure but not a .e . .This contradiction .

Conversely : suppose that  $\Omega$  is the finite union of disjoint atoms

Let  $\{f_n\}$  in  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  such that  $f_n \to 0$ . To prove  $f_n \to 0$ By theorem (3.9), there exists a norm on  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  which is compatible with convergence in

By theorem (3.9), there exists a norm on  $E(a, r, \mu)$  which is comparison with convergence in measure If  $||f_n|| \to 0$  then there exists a subsequence  $\{f_{nk}\}$ , and an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $||f_{nk}|| > \varepsilon$ . But  $f_{nk} \to 0$  so that it has a subsequence  $f_{nk} \to 0$  Thus  $||f_{nk}|| \to 0$  contradicting  $||f_{nk}|| > \varepsilon$  therefore,  $||f_n||$  must converge to 0, hence  $f_n \to 0$ .

#### 3. References

- [1] Bilingsely ,p .(1968).Convergence of Probability Measures .New York.
- [2] Eugene Lukacs, (1975)"Stochastic convergence", Second edition New York.
- [3] Jordan Bell,  $(2015)^{"}L^{0}$ , Convergence in measure, equi-integrability, the Vitali convergence theorem, and the de la Valle'e-Poussin criteriYork.
- [4] Marczewski, E., (1955) Remarks on the convergence of measurable set and measurable functions, Colloq. Math.(3),118-124
- [5] M. Loe've(1963)"Probability Theory ",4<sup>th</sup> edn Springer ,New York
- [6] Noori F. and Asawer (2020)" Some Properties Related With  $L^0(\Omega, F, \mu)$  Space ,AL-Qadisiyah journal Of Pure Science .
- [7] Paul R.Halmos, (1970)" Measure Theory" Springer -Verlag New York
- [8] Thomasian .A.J., (1957), Metrics and norms on space of random variables , Ann. Math. Statist. (28), 512-514.

# δ-Fuzzy measure on fuzzy δ-Algebra

Alaa M Jasim<sup>1</sup> and Noori F Al-Mayahi<sup>2</sup>

"Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Al-Qadisiyah,Iraq<sup>1</sup>" ,Diwaniyah Education Directorat**e**,Iraq<sup>2</sup> Email: <u>sybzqoa@gmail.com</u><sup>1</sup>, : <u>nfam60@yahoo.com</u><sup>2</sup>

Abstract. The objective of this paper are , first , a new study of fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra and we discuss the properties of this family , second, introduce concepts related to the fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra such as fuzzy measure on fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra , and we obtained some important results deal with these concepts .

#### 1. Introduction

Sugeno in (1975) [5] discusses many details about fuzzy measure define on  $\sigma$ -field and prove some important results in fuzzy measure theory, Ralescu and Adams in (1980) [2] generalized the concepts of fuzzy measure . the concept of fuzzy  $\sigma$ -field was studied by (1980) [3],(1987) [7], where  $\mathcal{F}$  is a family of fuzzy sets defined on a nonempty set  $\Omega$ , satisfied the conditions :  $\Omega, \emptyset \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F}$  closed under complement and countable union, this paper is organized as follows : in section 2 we give the essential definitions and results pertinent to fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra. In section 3 we introduce the notion of fuzzy measure defined on fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra and investigate some of their properties.

#### 2. Main Results

The main results of this paper is to introduce and study the concept of fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra, fuzzy measure defined on fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra and we give basic properties and examples of these concepts. **2.1**.*fuzzy*  $\delta$ - *algebra* 

In this section, we will discuss concept of fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra and we give basic properties and examples of these concepts .

*Definition 2.1.1.* A family  $\mathcal{F}$  of a fuzzy set on a set  $\Omega$  is called fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra on a set  $\Omega$  if  $a, \emptyset \in \mathcal{F}$ 

b.if A is a nonempty fuzzy set in  $\mathcal{F}$  and A  $\subset$  B and B is a fuzzy set on  $\Omega$ , then B  $\in \mathcal{F}$ 

c. if  $A_1, A_2, \dots \dots \in \mathcal{F}$ , then  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} A_i \in \mathcal{F}$ 

A  $\delta$  – fuzzy measurable space is a pair ( $\Omega$ ,  $\mathcal{F}$ ) where  $\Omega$  is a non-empty set and  $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra on  $\Omega$ 

A fuzzy set A on  $\Omega$  is called  $\delta$  -fuzzy measurable ( $\delta$  -fuzzy measurable with respect to the fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra if A  $\in \mathcal{F}$ ) i.e any member of  $\mathcal{F}$  is called a  $\delta$  -fuzzy measurable set.

*Example 2.1.2.* The family  $\mathcal{F}$  of all fuzzy sets on the set  $\Omega$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra

Solution .Suppose that  $\mathcal{F} = \{A : A \text{ is fuzzy set on } \Omega\}$ 

a. since  $\emptyset$  and  $\Omega$  is fuzzy set on  $\Omega$  ,then  $\emptyset$ ,  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ 

b. let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ , such that  $\emptyset \neq A \subset B$ . and B fuzzy set on  $\Omega$ , hence  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ .

c. let  $A_1, A_2, \dots \dots \in \mathcal{F}$ , hence  $A_1, A_2, \dots$  are fuzzy sets on  $\Omega$ , Consequently, we have  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i \in \mathcal{F}$ 

and hence  $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra .

*Remark 2.1.3.* The family  $\mathcal{F}=\{\emptyset, \Omega\}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra.

Theorem 2.1.4. Let  $\{\mathcal{F}_i\}_{i \in I}$  be a collection of fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra on  $\Omega$ . then  $\bigcap_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra on  $\Omega$ 

Proof. (1) since  $\mathcal{F}_i$  is fuzzy δ-algebra ∀i ∈ I, then Ø, Ω ∈  $\mathcal{F}_i$ ∀i ∈ I, hence Ø, Ω ∈  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_i$ 

(2)let  $A \in \bigcap_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i$  such that  $\emptyset \neq A \subset B$ , and B is fuzzy set on  $\Omega$ . hence  $A \in \mathcal{F}_i \forall i \in I$ , but  $A \subset B$ , and  $\mathcal{F}_i fuzzy \delta - algbra \forall i \in I$ , so we get  $B \in \mathcal{F}_i \forall i \in I$ , hence  $B \in \bigcap_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i$ 

(3)let  $A_1, A_2, \dots, \in \cap_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i$ , then  $A_1, A_2, \dots, \in \mathcal{F}_i \forall i \in I$ , since  $\mathcal{F}_i fuzzy \delta - algebra \forall i \in I$ , hence  $\bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \in \mathcal{F}_i \forall i \in I$ ,

it follows that  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i \in \bigcap_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i$ 

thus  $\bigcap_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra.

*Remark 2.1.5.* The union of fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra not necessary to be fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra as in the next example.

*Example 2.1.6.* Let  $\Omega$ =[0,1] and A, B, C are fuzzy sets on a set  $\Omega$  such that

$$A(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & 0 \le X \le \frac{1}{2} \\ 1 & \frac{1}{2} < X \le 1 \\ \\ B(x) = \begin{cases} X & 0 \le X \le \frac{1}{2} \\ 1 & \frac{1}{2} < X \le 1 \\ \\ 1 & \frac{1}{2} < X \le 1 \end{cases}$$
$$C(x) = \begin{cases} 1 - X & 0 \le X \le \frac{1}{2} \\ 1 & \frac{1}{2} < X \le 1 \end{cases}$$

Let  $\mathcal{F}_1 = \{ \emptyset, A, B, \Omega \}$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_2 = \{ \emptyset, A, C, \Omega \}$  are two fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra, but  $\mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2$  is not fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra

Solution: First, we must prove that  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  are fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra.

To prove  $\mathcal{F}_1$  is fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra.

1. 
$$\emptyset \in \mathcal{F}_1$$
,  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}_1$   
2. (i)  $A \in \mathcal{F}_1 \quad \ni \emptyset \neq A \subset B$ ,  $B \in \mathcal{F}_1$ .  
(ii)  $B \in \mathcal{F}_1 \quad \ni \quad \emptyset \neq B \subset \Omega$ , and  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}_1$   
3. (i) if  $0 \leq x \leq \frac{1}{2}$   
( $A \cap B$ ) ( $x$ ) = min{ $A(x), B(x)$ } = 0  
(a) if  $x=0$   
( $A \cap B$ ) (0) = min { $A(0), B(0)$ } = 0 =  $\emptyset(x) \in \mathcal{F}_1$   
(b) if  $x=\frac{1}{2}$   
( $A \cap B$ )( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) = min{ $A(\frac{1}{2}), B(\frac{1}{2})$ }  
=  $0=\emptyset(x) \in \mathcal{F}_1$ 

3. (ii) if  $\frac{1}{2} < x \le 1$ 

$$\begin{split} (A \cap B)(x) &= \min \{A(x), B(x)\} = 1 = \Omega(x) \in \mathcal{F}_1 \\ \text{Then } \mathcal{F}_1 \text{ is a fuzzy } \delta \text{-algebra.} \\ \text{In the same way. we can prove that } \mathcal{F}_2 \text{ is fuzzy } \delta \text{-algebra.} \\ \text{Now to prove that } \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2 \text{ is , not fuzzy } \delta \text{-algebra.} \\ \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2 &= \{ \emptyset, A, B, C, \Omega \} \\ (i) \text{ if } & 0 \leq x \leq \frac{1}{2} \\ (B \cap C)(x) &= \min \{B(x), C(x) \} \\ &= \min \{x, 1\text{-}x \} = x \\ (a) \text{ if } & x = \frac{1}{2} \\ (B \cap C)\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) &= \min \{B(\frac{1}{2}), C(\frac{1}{2})\} = \frac{1}{2} \notin \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2. \\ \text{Hence } \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2 \text{ is not fuzzy } \delta \text{-algebra.} \end{split}$$

Definition 2.1.7. Let  $\Omega$  be a nonempty set and let G be a family of fuzzy sets on  $\Omega$  .then the intersection of all fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra of  $\Omega$  which contain G he claims the fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra generated by G and symbolizeit  $\delta(G)$  that is

 $\delta(G) = \cap \{\mathcal{F}_i : \mathcal{F}_i \text{ is a fuzzy } \delta - \text{ algebra of } \Omega \text{ and } G \subseteq \mathcal{F}_i \text{ , } \forall i \in I \}.$ 

Lemma 2.1.8. Let G be a family of fuzzy sets on  $\Omega$ , then  $\delta(G)$  is the smallest fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra of  $\Omega$  which contain G.

Proof: Since  $\delta(G) = \cap \{\mathcal{F}_i : \mathcal{F}_i \text{ is a fuzzy } \delta - \text{algebra of } \Omega \text{ and } G \subseteq \mathcal{F}_i \text{ , } \forall i \in I \}.$ 

it follows that  $\delta(G)$  is fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of  $\Omega$  by theorem (2.1.4)

T.p  $G \subseteq \delta(G)$ 

Since  $\mathcal{F}_i$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of  $\Omega$  and  $G \subseteq \mathcal{F}_i \forall i \in I^{-1}$ 

Hence  $G \subseteq \cap_{i \in I} \mathcal{F}_i$ , there for  $G \subseteq \delta(G)$ .

Now let  $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of  $\Omega$  such that  $G \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ .

Then  $\delta(G) = \cap \{ \mathcal{F}_i : \mathcal{F}_i \text{ is a fuzzy } \delta - \text{ algebra of } \Omega \text{ and }$ 

 $G \subseteq \mathcal{F}_i$  ,  $\forall i \in I$ }.

Hence ,  $\delta(G) \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  , there for  $\delta(G)$  is the smallest fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra.

Of  $\Omega$  which contain G.

In the example (2.1.6),  $\Omega = [0,1]$  assume  $G = \{A\}$  then  $\delta(G) = \{\emptyset, A, \Omega\}$  is the smallest fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$  which contain G.

*Proposition 2.1.9.* Let G be a family of fuzzy sets on  $\Omega$ , then G is a fuzzy

 $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$  if and only if G =  $\delta$ (G).

Proof: assume G is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of a set  $\Omega$ .

Since  $\delta(G)$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$  which contain

G it follows that  $G \subseteq \delta(G)$ , But G is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of a set  $\Omega$  and

 $\delta(G)$  is the smallest fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$  it follows that

 $\delta(G) \subseteq G$ , and thus  $G = \delta(G)$ .

Conversely: let G be a family of fuzzy sets of  $\Omega$  and

Let  $G=\delta(G)$ . Since  $\delta(G)$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of a set  $\Omega$ 

It follows that G is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of a set  $\Omega$ .

Definition 2.1.10. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of  $\Omega$  and let A be a nonempty fuzzy set on  $\Omega$ , then the restriction of  $\mathcal{F}$  on A is symbolizeit  $\mathcal{F}_A$  and define as :

 $\mathcal{F}_{A} = \{ \ D: D = A \cap N \text{ , } N \in \mathcal{F} \}.$ 

*Theorem 2.1.11.* Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algebra of a set  $\Omega$  and  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ . Then

 $\mathcal{F}_{A} = \{ N \subseteq A : N \in \mathcal{F} \}$ 

Proof : Let  $D \in \mathcal{F}_A$ , then  $D = A \cap N$ ,  $N \in \mathcal{F}$ . thus  $D \in \mathcal{F}$ . Hence,  $D \in \{ N \subseteq A : N \in \mathcal{F} \}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_A \subseteq \{ N \subseteq A : N \in \mathcal{F} \}$ .

Let  $C \in \{ N \subseteq A : N \in \mathcal{F} \}$ , it follows that  $C \subseteq A$  and  $C \in \mathcal{F}$ 

Thus C=C  $\cap$  A, but C  $\in \mathcal{F}$ , then C  $\in \mathcal{F}_A$  which implies that  $\{N \subseteq A : N \in \mathcal{F}\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_A$ 

There fore,  $\mathcal{F}_{A} = \{ N \subseteq A : N \in \mathcal{F} \}.$ 

*Corollary* 2.1.12. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$  and A be a non empty fuzzy set of  $\Omega \ni A \in \mathcal{F}$ . then  $\mathcal{F}_A \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ .

Proof: by theorem (2.1.11)

 $\mathcal{F}_{A} = \{N \subseteq A : N \in \mathcal{F}\}. \text{ let } C \in \mathcal{F}_{A}. \text{ Then } C \subseteq A \text{ and } C \in \mathcal{F} \text{ , hence } \mathcal{F}_{A} \subseteq \mathcal{F}.$ 

*Proposition 2.1.13.* Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$  and let A be a non-empty fuzzy set of  $\Omega \ni A \in \mathcal{F}$  then  $\mathcal{F}_A$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra on A.

Proof: 1.since  $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of  $\Omega$ , then  $\emptyset, \Omega \in \mathcal{F}$ ,

since  $A \subseteq \Omega$ , then  $A = A \cap \Omega$ , hence  $A \in \mathcal{F}_A$ .

Since  $\emptyset = \emptyset \cap A$  .then  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{F}_A$ .

2. let  $B \in \mathcal{F}_A$  such that  $\emptyset \neq B \subset D \subseteq A$ . then by corollary (2.1.12) we get  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ , but  $B \subset D \subseteq A$  and A fuzzy set on  $\Omega$  and  $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$ , it follows that  $D \in \mathcal{F}$ , and  $D \subseteq A$ . Then by theorem (2.1.11) we have  $D \in \mathcal{F}_A$ 

3. let  $B_1, B_2, \dots \in \mathcal{F}_A$ , then there exist  $N_1, N_2, \dots \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $B_i = N_i \cap A$ , where  $i = 1, 2, \dots$  now  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i = (\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} N_i) \cap A$ , but  $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra, then

 $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} N_i \in \mathcal{F}, \text{ hence } \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} B_i \in \mathcal{F}_A \text{ there for } \mathcal{F}_A \text{ is a fuzzy } \delta \text{ -algbra of a set } A.$ 

In the example (2.1.6), let  $B = \{B(x)\}$ 

then  $\mathcal{F}_{B} = \{\emptyset, A(x), B(x)\} \implies \mathcal{F}_{B}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set B and  $\mathcal{F}_{B} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ .

*Definition 2.1.14.* Let  $\Omega$  be a nonempty set and G be a family of fuzzy set of  $\Omega$  and  $\emptyset \neq A$  and A fuzzy set on  $\Omega$ , then the restriction of G on A is symbolizeit  $G_A$  and define as :  $G_A = \{ D: D = A \cap N, N \in G \}.$ 

Proposition 2.1.15. Let  $\Omega$  be a nonempty set and G be a family of fuzzy set of  $\Omega$  and  $\emptyset \neq A$ , and A is a fuzzy set of  $\Omega$ , if  $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra of  $\Omega$  which contain G and  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  then  $\delta(G)_A$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra of A

Proof: the proof by using (2.1.8) and (2.1.13).

Theorem 2.1.16. Let  $\Omega$  be anon empty set and G is family of the fuzzy set of  $\Omega$  and  $\emptyset \neq A$  such that A is a fuzzy set of  $\Omega$  and  $G_A$  is the restriction of G on A then  $\delta$  ( $G_A$ ) is the smallest fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set A which contain  $G_A$  where

$$\begin{split} \delta(G_A) &= \cap \left\{ \ \mathcal{F}_{iA}: \ \mathcal{F}_{iA} \text{ is a fuzzy } \delta - \text{algbra of } A \text{ and } G_A \ \subseteq \ \mathcal{F}_{iA} \ \forall \ i \in I \right\}. \\ \text{Proof :From lemma (2.1.8) we get } \delta(G_A) \text{ is a fuzzy } \delta - \text{algbra of } a \text{ set } A \end{split}$$

 $T. P G_A \subseteq \delta(G_A)$ 

Since for each  $\mathcal{F}_{iA}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set A and

 $G_A \ \subseteq \ \mathcal{F}_{iA} \ \forall \ i \in I \ , \ \text{then} \ G_A \ \subseteq \ \cap_{i \in I} \ \mathcal{F}_{iA} \ , \ \text{thus} \ G_A \subseteq \ \delta(G_A)$ 

Let  $\mathcal{F}_A$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra of a set  $A \ni G_A \subseteq \mathcal{F}_A$ . thus  $\delta(G_A) \subseteq \mathcal{F}_A$ There for  $\delta(G_A)$  is the smallest fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set A contain  $G_A$ .

Lemma 2.1.17. Let  $\Omega$  be a nonempty set and G be a family of the fuzzy set of  $\Omega$  and  $\emptyset \neq K$ , and K fuzzy set on  $\Omega$  define the family  $\mathcal{F}^*$  as  $: \mathcal{F}^* = \{ A \in I^\Omega : A \cap N \in \delta(G_N) \}.$ Then  $\mathcal{F}^*$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$ . Proof: 1.  $\delta(G_N)$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set N, hence  $N \in \delta(G_N)$ . Since  $N \subset \Omega$ , it follows that  $N = N \cap \Omega$ , hence  $\Omega \in \mathcal{F}^*$ , also  $\emptyset = \emptyset \cap \mathbb{N}$  . then  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{F}^*$ 2.let  $A \in \mathcal{F}^*$  such that  $\emptyset \neq A \subset B$  and B fuzzy set on  $\Omega$ . Then  $(A \cap N) \in \delta(G_N)$ . since  $A \subset B$ , then  $(A \cap N) \subset (B \cap N)$ But  $\delta(G_N)$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set N, then  $(B \cap N) \in \delta(G_N)$ , hence  $B \in \mathcal{F}^*$ 3. if  $A_1, A_2, \dots \in \mathcal{F}^*$ . then  $A_1, A_2 \dots \in I^{\Omega}$ , and  $(A_j \cap N) \in \delta(G_N)$  For all  $j=1,2,\dots$  hence  $\bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} A_j \in I^{\Omega}$ .  $I^{\Omega}$  and,  $(\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i \cap N) \in \delta(G_N)$ , hence  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i \in \mathcal{F}^*$ . therefor  $\mathcal{F}^*$  is fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$ . *Proposition 2.1.18.* Let  $\Omega$  be a non-empty set and G be a family of a fuzzy set of  $\Omega$  and  $\emptyset \neq N \in$  $I^{\Omega}$  and  $\delta(G)_{N}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set N then  $\delta(G_{N}) = \delta(G)_{N}$ . Proof : let  $B \in G_N$  . then  $B = A \cap N \cdot A \in G$ . But  $G \subseteq \delta(G)$ . hence  $A \in \delta(G)$ ,  $B \in \delta(G)_N$ , hence  $G_N \subseteq \delta(G)_N$ ,But  $\delta(G_N)$  is the smallest fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set N, which contain  $G_N$  and  $\delta(G)_N$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set N Which contain  $G_N$ , then  $\delta(G_N) \subseteq \delta(G)_N$ Assume that  $\mathcal{F} = \{A \subseteq N : A \cap N \in \delta(G_N)\}$ . from lemma (2.1.17) we get

 $\mathcal{F}$  is a fuzzy  $\delta$  – algbra of a set  $\Omega$ . let  $A \in G$ , then

 $(A \cap N) \in G_N$ , but  $G_N \subseteq \delta(G_N)$ , it follows that

 $(A \cap N) \in \delta(G_N)$ , thus  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $G \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ , Let  $B \in \delta(G)_N$ ,

Then  $B=A \cap N$ ,  $A \in \delta(G)$ , But  $\delta(G) \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ , then

A  $\in \mathcal{F}$ , thus B  $\in \delta(G_N)$ , and  $\delta(G)_N \subseteq \delta(G_N)$ , hence  $\delta(G_N) = \delta(G)_N$ .

## 2.2. δ-Fuzzy Measure

In this section, we will\_introduce the notion related with respect to fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra such as fuzzy measure on fuzzy  $\delta$ -algbra .

Definition 2.2.1.[5]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a " $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space" a set function

 $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  is said to be a " $\delta$ -fuzzy measure" on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  if it

Satisfied the following properties:

 $1.\mu(\emptyset)=0.$ 

2.if  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $A \subset B$  and B fuzzy set on  $\Omega$ , then

 $\mu(A) \le \mu(B)$ 

■ A  $\delta$  – fuzzy measure space is a triple ( $\Omega$ ,  $\mathcal{F}$ ,  $\mu$ ), where

 $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  is  $\delta$  -fuzzy measurable space and  $\mu$  is a  $\delta$  -fuzzy measure On  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$ .

■ A  $\delta$  – fuzzy measure  $\mu$  on ( $\Omega$ ,  $\mathcal{F}$ ) he claims regular if

 $\mu(\Omega)=1.$
*Remark 2.2.2.* Every measure on a measurable space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  is a  $\delta$  -fuzzy measure But the converse need not true as follows:

Let  $\Omega = [0,1]$ , and *A*, *B* fuzzy sets on  $\Omega$  define as follows

 $A(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{2} \\ 1 & \frac{1}{2} < x \le 1 \end{cases}, \quad B(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & 0 \le x \le \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} < x \le 1 \end{cases}$ Then  $\mathcal{F} = \{\emptyset, A, B, \Omega\}$  is fuzzy  $\delta$ -algebra,  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  is a  $\delta$ -measurable space. Define  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  by  $\mu(\emptyset) = \mu(A) = \mu(B) = 0$  $\mu(\Omega) = 1. \mu \text{ is } \delta - \text{fuzzy measure but not measure on } (\Omega, \mathcal{F})$ because of A,B disjoint sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mu(A \cup B) = \mu(\max \{A(x), B(x)\}) = \mu(\Omega) = 1$  $\mu(A) + \mu(B) = 0 + 0 = 0$ , hence  $\mu(A \cup B) \neq \mu(A) + \mu(B)$ . Definition 2.2.3. [1]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a measurable space a set function  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$ Is said to be : 1.finite, if  $\mu(A) < \infty \quad \forall A \in \mathcal{F}$ . 2.Semi-finite , if  $\forall A \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\mu(A) = \infty$  there exists  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ With  $B \subseteq A$  and  $0 < \mu(B) < \infty$ 3.Bounded , if  $\sup\{|\mu(A)|: A \in \mathcal{F}\} < \infty$ . 4.σ − finite , if  $\forall$  A ∈  $\mathcal{F}$  , there is sequence {A<sub>n</sub>} of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  $\exists A \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n \text{ and } \mu(A_n) < \infty \forall n.$ 5.Additive , if  $\mu(A \cup B) = \mu(A) + \mu(B)$ Whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ , and  $A \cap B = \emptyset$ 6. Finitly additive if  $\mu (\bigcup_{k=1}^{n} A_k) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \mu(A_k)$ Whenever  $A_1, A_2, \dots, A_n$  are disjoint sets in  $\mathcal{F}$ 7.  $\sigma$  – additive (sometimes called completely additive or a countable additive) if  $\mu(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k) =$  $\Sigma_{k=1}^{\infty}\mu(A_k)$ Whenever  $\{A_k\}$  is a sequence of disjoint sets in  $\mathcal{F}$ 8.Null additive if  $\mu(A \cup B) = \mu(A)$ , whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $A \cap B = \emptyset$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$ 9. Measure if  $\mu$  is  $\sigma$  – additive and (A)  $\geq$  0,  $\forall$  A  $\in$   $\mathcal{F}$ 10.probability if  $\mu$  is a measure and  $\mu(\Omega) = 1$ 11.continuous from below at A  $\in \mathcal{F}$  if  $\lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(A_n)=\mu(A).$ Whenever  $\{A_n\}$  is a sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $A_n \uparrow A$ 12.continuous from above at  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  if  $\lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(A_n)=\mu(A).$ Whenever  $\{A_n\}$  is a sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $A_n \downarrow A$ 13.continuous at  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  if it is continuous both from below and from above at A.

*Theorem 2.2.4.* [6]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a fuzzy measurable space if  $\mu$  is a finite fuzzy measure, then we have

 $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A_n) = \mu(\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n)$ 

For any sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of sets is  ${\mathcal F}$  whose lim it exists.

Theorem 2.2.5. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be  $\delta$  -fuzzy measurable space and  $\mu, \omega$  be a  $\delta$  -fuzzy measure on  $\Omega$ , then  $\mu + \omega$  which defined by  $(\mu + \omega)(A) = \mu(A) + \omega(A)$  is a  $\delta$  -fuzzy measure on  $\Omega$ proof :(1) ' since  $\mu$ ,  $\omega$  be  $\delta$  -fuzzy measures, then  $\mu(\phi) = 0$  and  $\omega(\phi) = 0$ Hence  $(\mu + \omega)(\phi) = \mu(\phi) + \omega(\phi) = 0$ (2) if  $B \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $B \subset D \in I^{\Omega}$ , then  $D \in \mathcal{F}$ Since  $\mu$ ,  $\omega$  are  $\delta$  –fuzzy measure then  $\mu(B) \leq \mu(D) \dots \dots \dots (1)$  $\omega(B) \leq \omega(D)....(2)$ hence  $(\mu + \omega)(B) = \mu(B) + \omega(B) \le \mu(D) + \omega(D)$  $=(\mu + \omega)(D)$ So  $\mu + \omega$  is a  $\delta$  -fuzzy measure. Theorem 2.2.6. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$  -measurable space  $\mu$  be a " $\delta$  -fuzzy measure" on  $\Omega$  and  $\lambda \in$  $(0, \infty)$  define a set function  $(\lambda \mu)(A) = \lambda \mu(A)$ , then  $\lambda \mu$  is a  $\delta$  -fuzzy measure on  $\Omega$ . Proof: 1.since is a  $\delta$  – fuzzy measure, we have  $\mu(\phi) = 0$ And  $\in (0, \infty)$ , then  $(\lambda \mu)(\phi) = \lambda \mu(\phi) = 0$ 2.if  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $A \subset B \in I^{\Omega}$ , hence  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ Since  $\mu$  is  $\delta$  –fuzzy measure, then  $\mu(A) \leq \mu(B)$  $(\lambda \mu)(A) = \lambda \mu(A) \le \lambda \mu(B) = (\lambda \mu)(B)$ , So  $\lambda \mu$  is a  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure. Corollary 2.2.7. Let  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_n$  are  $\delta$  –fuzzy measure on  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\lambda_i \in (0, \infty) \forall i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ If  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \mu_i: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  is defined by  $(\Sigma_{i=1}^{n}\lambda_{i}\mu_{i})(A) = \Sigma_{i=1}^{n}\lambda_{i}\mu_{i}(A) \forall A \in \mathcal{F}$ , then  $\Sigma_{i=1}^{n}\lambda_{i}\mu_{i}$  is a " $\delta$  -fuzzy measure" on  $\mathcal{F}$ . *Remark 2.2.8.* Let  $\mu$  be a " $\delta$  -fuzzy measure" on  $\mathcal{F}$  and let A,B fuzzy set then  $1.\mu(A \cup B) \ge \mu(A)$  and  $\mu(A \cup B) \ge \mu(B)$ Whenever  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $B \in \mathcal{F}$ .  $2.\mu(A \cap B) \le \mu(A)$  and  $\mu(A \cap B) \le \mu(B)$ . Whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$ *Proposition 2.2.9.* Let  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  be set function if  $\mu$  is  $\delta$  – fuzzy Measure then  $\mu$  is non-negative. Proof: Let  $A \in \mathcal{F} \to \emptyset \subset A \in I^{\Omega}$ Since  $\mu$  is " $\delta$  –fuzzy measure" then  $\mu(\phi) \leq \mu(A)$  $\mu(A) \ge 0$ , then  $\mu$  is non-negative. Definition 2.2.10. [4]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space a set function  $\mu$  is called : 1. Upper semi-continuous " $\delta$ -fuzzy measure" if and only if  $\lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(A_n)=\mu(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}A_n)$ Whenever  $\{A_n\}$  is increasing sequence. 2. Lower semi-continuous  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure if and only if

 $\lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(A_n)=\mu(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty}A_n)$ 

whenever  $\{A_n\}$  is decreasing sequence.

3. Semi-continuous  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure if it is both upper and lower semi-continuous  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure.

Theorem 2.2.11. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space and let  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  be a function, if  $\mu$  is additive ,non-decreasing and upper semi-continuous ,then  $\mu$  is  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure . Proof :1. Since  $A=A\cup \emptyset$ , also  $\mu$  is additive we have .

$$\mu(A) = \mu(A \cup \emptyset) = \mu(A) + \mu(\emptyset)$$
$$\therefore \quad \mu(\emptyset) = 0$$

2. let  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ , such that  $A \subset B$  then  $B \in \mathcal{F}$  we have  $B = A \cup (B/A)$  and  $A \cap (B/A) = \emptyset$ , since  $\mu$  is additive we have,

 $\mu(B) = \mu(A) + \mu(B/A) \ge \mu(A)$ Consequently  $\mu(A) \le \mu(B)$ So  $\mu$  is  $\delta$  fuzzy measure

So  $\mu$  is  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure.

Theorem 2.2.12. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space, let  $\{A_n\}$  be sequence of disjoint fuzzy sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  and it is decreasing, if  $\mu(A_n) < \infty$  and  $\mu$  is lower semi-continuous  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure at  $\emptyset$ ,

then 
$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(A_n)=0$$

Proof: Since  $\{A_n\}$  is lower continuous  $\delta$ -fuzzy measure at  $\emptyset$ , we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = \mu(\emptyset)$ , But  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  consequently we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ .

Definition 2.2.13.[4]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a " $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space" a set function  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  is said to be.

1. Exhaustive if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ , for any sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of disjoint sets in  $\mathcal{F}$ .

2. Order-continuous if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ , whenever  $A_n \in \mathcal{F}$ , n=1,2... and  $A_n \downarrow \emptyset$ .

*Theorem 2.2.14.* Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space . if  $\mu$  is a finite upper semi-continuous  $\delta$  -fuzzy measure , then it is exhaustive .

Proof: Let { $A_n$ } be a disjoint sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  if we write  $M_n = \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k$ , then { $M_n$ } is a decreasing sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  and,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} M_n = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} M_n = \lim_{n\to\infty} \sup A_n = \emptyset$ , since  $\mu$  is a finite upper semi-continuous " $\delta$ -fuzzy measure", then by using the finiteness and the continuity from above of  $\mu$ , we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(M_n) = \mu(\lim_{n\to\infty} M_n) = \mu(\emptyset) = 0$ , Noting that  $0 \le \mu(A_n) \le \mu(M_n)$ 

We obtain  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ . So  $\mu$  is exhaustive.

*Theorem 2.2.15.* [6]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a measurable space .if  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  is a non decreasing set function, then the following statement are equivalent :

- 1.  $\mu$  is null additive.
- 2.  $\mu(A \cup B) = \mu(A)$  whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$
- 3.  $\mu(A/B) = \mu(A)$  whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $B \subseteq A$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$
- 4.  $\mu(A/B) = \mu(A)$  whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$
- 5.  $\mu(A \Delta B) = \mu(A)$  whenever  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$ .

*Theorem2.2.16.* Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$ -measurable space  $A \in \mathcal{F}_i$  if  $\mu$  is null additive, then  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A \cup A_n) = \mu(A)$  for any decreasing sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  for which  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$  and there exists at least one positive integer  $n_0$  such that  $\mu(A \cap A_{n_0}) < \infty$  as  $\mu(A) < \infty$ . Proof: it is sufficient to prove this theorem for  $\mu(A) < \infty$ . If we write  $B=\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ , we have  $\mu(B) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ . Since  $A \cup A_n \uparrow A \cup B$ , it follows , from the continuity and null additivity of  $\mu$ , that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A \cup A_n) = \mu(A \cup B) = \mu(A)$ . *Theorem2.2.17.* Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space , $A \in \mathcal{F}_i$  if  $\mu$  is null additive ,then  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A/A_n) = \mu(A)$  for any decreasing sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  for which  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ 

Proof :Since A /  $A_n \uparrow A$  /  $(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)$  and  $\mu(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n) = 0$  by the theorem (2.2.15) continuity of  $\mu$ , it follows that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A/A_n) = \mu(A/(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n)) = \mu(A)$ .

Definition 2.2.18 [7]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be a  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space .a set function  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [-\infty, \infty]$  is said to be

1. Autocontinuous from above ,if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A \cup A_n) = \mu(A)$  Whenever  $A \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $A_n \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $A \cap A_n = \emptyset$ , n=1,2... and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ .

2. Autocontinuous from below, if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A/A_n) = \mu(A)$  whenever  $A \in \mathcal{F}, A_n \in \mathcal{F}, A_n \subseteq A$ , n=1,2 ... and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ .

3. Autocontinuous, if it is both autocontinuous from above and autocontinuous from below.

*Theorem* 2.2.19.let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space and  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [-\infty, \infty]$  be a set function if there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $|\mu(A)| \ge \varepsilon$  for any  $A \in \mathcal{F}, A \neq \emptyset$  then  $\mu$  is autocontinuous.

proof: under the condition of this theorem, if  $\{A_n\}$  is a sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  such that

 $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ , then there must be some  $n_0$  such that  $A_n = \emptyset$  whenever  $n \ge n_0$ , and therefore  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A \cup A_n) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A/A_n) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A) = \mu(A)$ 

*Theorem* 2.2.20. let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space , if  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [-\infty, \infty]$  is autocontinuous from above , then it is null additive .

proof: For any A,B  $\in \mathcal{F}$ , A  $\cap B = \emptyset$  and  $\mu(B) = 0$ , take  $A_n = B$ , n=1,2..., we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = \mu(B) = 0$ , since  $\mu$  is autocontinuous from above, then  $\mu(A \cup B) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A \cup A_n) = \mu(A)$ , and  $\mu$  is null additive as well.

Theorem 2.2.21. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space, and let  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [-\infty, \infty]$  be non decreasing set function, then  $\mu$  is autocontinuous if and only if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A\Delta A_n) = \mu(A)$  whenever  $\{A_n\}$  is a sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ 

Proof: Suppose that  $\mu$  is autocontinuous

For any  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\{A_n\}$  is a sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ , noting  $A/A_n \subseteq A \bigtriangleup A_n \subseteq A \bigcup A_n$ , by monotonicity of  $\mu$ , we have

 $\mu(A/A_n) \subseteq \mu(A \triangle A_n) \subseteq \mu(A \cup A_n)$ , since  $\mu$  is both autocontinuous from above and autocontinuous from below m we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A \cup A_n) = \mu(A)$  and

 $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A/A_n) = \mu(A)$  .thuse we have

 $\lim_{n\to\infty}\mu(A\Delta A_n)=\mu(A)$ 

Conversely for any  $A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\{A_n\}$  is a sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A_n) = 0$ , we have  $A_n / A \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mu(A_n / A) \le \mu(A_n)$ , so we have  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A_n / A) = 0$ 

and there fore, by the condition given in this theorem, we have (44)(4) = (44)(4)(4)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A \cup A_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(A \Delta(A_n/A)) = \mu(A)$$

that is , $\mu$  aoutocontinuous from above . similarly , from

 $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n \cap A) = 0 \text{ it follows that } \lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A/A_n) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A\Delta(A_n \cap A)) = \mu(A),$ that is  $\mu$  aoutocontinuous from below.

*Remark* 2.2.22. The following theorem indicates the relation between the outocontinuity and the continuity of nonnegative set function .

*Theorem 2.2.23.* Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F})$  be  $\delta$ -fuzzy measurable space .if  $\mu: \mathcal{F} \to [0, \infty]$  is continuous from above at  $\emptyset$  and autocontinuous from above , then  $\mu$  is continuous from above

Proof: If  $\{A_n\}$  is a decreasing sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n = A$ , then  $A_n/A \downarrow \emptyset$ . from the finiteness and the continuity from above at  $\emptyset$  of  $\mu$ , we now  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n/A) = 0$  and therefore by using the autocontinuity from above of  $\mu$  we have

 $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A_n) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \mu(A \cup (A_n/A)) = \mu(A)$ , that is  $\mu$  is continuous from above s not fuzzy  $\delta$ -field.

#### References

- [1] R.B. Ash, (2000), *Probability and Measure Theory*, Second edition, London.
- [2] D. Ralescu, G. Adms, (1980), The Fuzzy Integral, J.Math.Anal.Appl.75, pp562-570.
- [3] E B,Klement,, (1980), *Fuzzy u-algebras and Fuzzy Measurable* Functions, *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 4, PP83-93
- [4] G.J. Klir, (1997), Convergence of sequences of measurable functions on fuzzy measure space ", fuzzy set and system, 87,pp317-323
- [5] M. Sugeno, (1975), *Theory of Fuzzy Integrals and Its Applications*, Ph.D. Dissertation,. Tokyo Institute of Technology
- [6] Z.Wang, and G.J. Klir, (1992), *Fuzzy Measure Theory*, Plenum Press, New York.
- [7] Q. Zhong, (1987), Riesz's Theorem and Lebesgue's Theorem on the Fuzzy Measure Space. Busefal, 29,pp33-41

## Weak\* topology on modular space and some properties

<sup>a</sup>Murtda Mohammed Jabber and <sup>b</sup>Prof. Dr Noori Farhan Al-Mayahi

<sup>a</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Science Al-Qadisiya University. <sup>b</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Science Al-Qadisiya University murtda01@gmail.com

Nafm60 @yahoo.com

**Abstract**: This study aims to redefine the weak topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M^{**})$  on a specific topological dual space (modular dual space  $X_M^*$ ) this is weak topology generated by all linear bounded functional on  $X_M^*$ , but we interested in a subspace of this topology generated by  $X_M$  called weak\* topology on  $X_M^*$ , it follows from that the modular space  $X_M$  over the field K can be embedded in  $X_M^{**}$  by using the canonical map, we denoted to this topology by  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$ . After that, we checked the weak\* topology is Hausdorff and investigated some properties, finally, we showed that under which condition the strong topology and the weak\* topology coincided.

**Keyword:** weak topology on modular space, weak-star topology, weak\* topology on modular space, modular space, weak topology,

## 1. Introduction

The initials definitions and basic concepts of modular space, weak topology and weak topology on modular spaces were indicated in preliminaries. Nakano's assumption of modular functions appeared in the 1950s [13], who introduced a family of functions from any vector space V over a field K (where K = R or C) into the interval  $[0, \infty]$   $M: V \rightarrow [0, \infty]$  with conditions, the vector space V with modular M is called modular space [4]. It will be metric space when the distance between any two points v, u in  $V_M$  is defined by d(v, u) = M(v - u) [2]. That is, d generates a topology for  $V_M$ . After that, The preliminaries introduced weak topology on any set in a general view, see coherent topology as well as [7,16]. Moreover, there is research that especially talks about weak topology on modular space which has recently been published 2020, see [12]. Finally, the weak topology on a specific topological dual space (modular dual space  $X_M^*$ ) is redefined by the family  $X_M^{**}$  of all linear bounded functions from  $X_M^*$  into R. But, the interest will be focused on weak topology generated by a subspace  $X_M$  of  $X_M^{**}$ ; this weak-star topology of  $X_M^*$ 

## 2. Preliminaries:

This section is divided into three parts, let's begin with:

#### 2.1. Modular space

In this part, basic definitions and descriptions of the concept of the modular space

#### 2.1.1 Definition : [4]

Let X be a linear space over a field K. A map  $M: X \to [0, \infty]$  called a modular if 1. M(m) = 0 if and only if m = 0.

2.  $M(\lambda m) = M(m)$  with  $|\lambda| = 1$ , for  $\lambda \in K$ ,  $m \in X$ 

3.  $M(\alpha m + \beta r) \le M(m) + M(r)$  when  $\alpha, \beta \ge 0, m \in X$  and  $\alpha + \beta = 1$ 

Space is given by  $X_M = \{m \in X : M(\lambda m) \to 0 \text{ when } \lambda \to 0 \}$  is called modular space, as follows.

If condition 3 above replaced by

 $M(\alpha m + \beta r) \le \alpha M(m) + \beta M(r)$ , for  $\alpha + \beta = 1$ ,  $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$  for all  $m, r \in M$ , then M called a convex modular.

If 
$$r = 0$$
 then  $M(\alpha x) = M\left(\frac{\alpha_1}{\beta} \beta m\right) \le M(\beta x)$ ,  $\alpha, \beta \in K$ ,  $0 < \alpha < \beta$ . Thus  $M$  increasing map..

#### 2.1.2. Remarks:

1. If  $X_M$  is a modular space, then  $X_M$  is a metric space by defined the distance function as follow d(m, r) = M(m - r), for all  $m, r \in X$ . See [2-4]

2. every modular space is topological vector space and it is Hausdorff [11]

**Now**, For the definition of topological vector space

#### 2.1.3. Definition: [1,2,10]

In the modular space  $X_M$ 

1- The *M*-open ball  $B_{\varepsilon}(m)$  with centre  $m \in X_M$  and radius  $\varepsilon > 0$  as

 $B_{\varepsilon}(m) = \{r \in X_M : M(m-r) < \varepsilon\}.$ 

2- The *M*-closed ball  $B_{\varepsilon}(m)$  centred  $m \in X_M$  with radius  $\varepsilon > 0$  as

$$B_r(m) = \{r \in X_M : M(m-r) \le \varepsilon\}$$

3- The family of all *M*-balls in  $X_M$  generates the topology makes  $X_M$  Hausdorff

4- Since every *M*-ball is convex, then every modular space is locally convex topological linear space.

5- Let  $X_M$  be a modular space and  $E \subseteq X_M$  we say that E is M -open set if for every  $m \in E$  there exist  $\varepsilon > 0, \exists B_{\varepsilon}(m) \subset E$ .

6- A subset *E* of  $X_M$  is said to be *M* -closed if its complement is *M* -open, that is,  $E^c = X_M - E$  is *M* -open.

## 2.1.4. Definition:

Let  $X_M$  be a modular space over the field K, then the space of all continuous linear functional from  $X_M$  into the field K called the dual modular space and denoted by  $X_M^*$ 

## 2.1.5. Remark:

The space  $X_M^*$  is also modular space.

By defining  $M^*: X_M^* \to [0, \infty]$  as  $M^*(f) = \sup\{M(f(m): M(m) = 1, m \in X_M\}\}$ 

## 2.2. The weak topology

In this part, introduced notion of weak topology and some properties we needed it

## 2.2.1. Definition:[9]

Let *A* be a nonempty set and let  $\{(A_{\alpha}, \tau_{\alpha}): \alpha \in \Delta\}$  be a nonempty family of topological spaces. For each  $\alpha \in \Delta$ , let  $f_{\alpha}$  be a map of *A* into  $A_{\alpha}$ . Then the topology  $\tau$  on *A* generated by the family  $G = \{f_{\alpha}^{-1}(G): G \in \tau_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \Delta\}$  is called the initial (weak) topology on *A* determined by the family  $\{f_{\alpha}: \alpha \in \Delta\}$ . *G* is defining subbase of  $\tau$  and the family  $\beta$  of all finite intersections of members of *G* is called a basis of  $\tau$ .

## 2.2.2. Remark:[7]

Let *A* a nonempty set with  $\{(A_{\alpha}, \tau_{\alpha}): \alpha \in \Delta\}$  be a nonempty collection of topological spaces indexed by  $\Delta$ . The weak (initial) topology generated by a collection of functions  $F = \{f_{\alpha}: A \to A_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \Delta\}$  is the topology generated by the subbasis  $G = \{f_{\alpha}^{-1}(G_{\alpha}): G_{\alpha} \in \tau_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \Delta\}$ . Denoted to the topology generated by *F* on *A* by  $\sigma(A, F)$ .

## 2.2.3. Definition: [8]

A set *G* in *A* is said to be open in a topology  $\sigma(A, F)$  if for all  $z \in G$ , there exists a finite subset *I* of  $\Delta$  and open sets  $\{G_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in I}$  such that  $G_{\alpha} \subseteq A_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in I$ ,  $z \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}^{-1}(G_{i})$  that means that  $\forall i \in I$ ,  $f_{i}(z) \in G_{i}$ .

## 2.2.4. Definition: [7]

In this part,  $X_M$  modular space over the field K where, K = R or K = C, we don't assume that it is  $X_M$  complete.

suppose  $f_{\alpha}: X_M \longrightarrow X_{\alpha}$  be a function and  $X_{\alpha} = K$  and let  $F = \{f_{\alpha}: \alpha \in \Delta\}$ , and let  $G = \{I \subseteq \Delta: I \text{ finite }\}$ .

Then the weak topology on  $X_M$  denoted by  $\sigma(X_M, X_M^*)$  such that generated by F has the defining  $\beta = \{\bigcap_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \ [f_{\alpha}^{-1}(-\epsilon, \epsilon): I \in G, \epsilon > 0\} ]$ 

So, a set *E* is a weak open in  $X_M$  if and only if given *E*, there exists  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_n \in \Delta$  with  $x \in \bigcap_{i=1}^n f_{\alpha_i}^{-1}(-\epsilon, \epsilon) \subseteq E$  that is  $|f_{\alpha_i}(x)| < \epsilon$  for all i = 1, 2, ..., n

A subbasis of the weak open set containing  $x_0 \in X_M$  is of the form

 $f_\alpha^{-1}(f_\alpha(x_0)-\epsilon,f_\alpha(x)-\epsilon)$ 

for all  $\alpha \in \Lambda$  and each  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Hence it can be as the form

 $\beta(x_0; f_{.1}, f_2 \dots, f_n; \epsilon) = \{ y \in X : |f_\alpha(y) - f_\alpha(x_0)| < \epsilon \} \text{ for } f_i \in F, i = 1, 2, \dots, n \ n \ge 1, \ \epsilon > 0.$ 

#### 3. The main resulet

Let  $X_M$  be any modular space over a field K (where K = R or K = C), then by definition of modular in  $X_M^*$  and by remark (2.1.5)  $X_M^*$  is a modular space. Therefore, a weak topology can be defined on  $X_M^*$  and generated by the family of all bounded linear function from  $X_M^*$  in to the field K; that's nothing but the weak topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M^{**})$ . But, we interested in a weak topology generated by  $X_M$ i.e. the topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$ , where  $X_M$  is a subspace embedded in  $X_M^{**}$  such that every element of  $X_M$  is written as a bounded linear function from  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M^{**})$  into K by the canonical map  $\Psi: X_M \to$  $X_M^*$  and given by  $\Psi(x) = p_x$  where  $p_x(f) = f(x)$  for every  $f \in X_M^*$  with  $M(p_x) = sup\{|f(x)|: f \in$  $S_{X^*}\} = M(x)$  for each  $x \in X_M$ . Since  $\Psi$  is an isometry, then can be concluded that  $X_M$  is isometrically-isomorphic  $\Psi(X_M)$ .

If  $\Psi(X_M) = X_M^{**}$ , then  $X_M$  called reflexive.

In the following, we introduced a definition of the open and close sets in  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$ .

**3.1. Definition**: A set *E* in the modular space  $X_M^*$  is said to be weak-star open set ( $W^*$ -open) if and only if for each function  $f \in E$  there is  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n \in X_M$  such that  $\{g \in X_M^*: |(g - f)(x_i)| < \varepsilon\} \subseteq E$  where i = 1, 2, ..., n and  $n \ge 1$ . A set *E* is called  $w^*$ -closed if the complement is  $w^*$ -open set.

**3.2. Definition:** Let  $X_M$  be a modular space, the weak topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$  consist of all weakstar open sets in  $X_M^*$  is called weak-star topology ( $w^*$ -topology) on  $X_M^*$  and denoted by  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$ .

**Note that**: Since  $X_M \subseteq X_M^{**}$ , then the  $w^*$ -topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$  is weaker than the topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M^{**})$ 

3.3. Remark: If  $X_M$  is reflexive, then then the weak topology on  $X_M^*$  and the weak-star topology of  $X_M^*$ , are the same;  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M^{**}) = \sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$ .

Now we introduce the local base of the weak-topology of  $X_M^*$  in next theorem

**3.4.Theorem**: Let  $f_0 \in X_M^*$ . A local base of  $f_0$  for the weak-star topology of  $X_M^*$  is given by the collection of open balls of the form  $\beta(\varepsilon, x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) = \{f \in X_M^*: for all \ i = 1, 2, ..., n, |f(x_i) - f_0(x_i) < \varepsilon\}, \varepsilon > 0, |x_1, x_2, ..., x_n \in X_M$ 

**Proof**: Since the weak-star topology of  $X_M^*$  generated by  $X_M$  has the basis

 $\beta = \{ \bigcap_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \ \left\| x_{\alpha}^{-1}(-\varepsilon,\varepsilon) \colon \Gamma \in G , \varepsilon > 0 \right\} \right\| \text{ where } G = \{ \Gamma \subseteq \Delta \colon \Gamma \text{ finite } \} \text{ and } \Delta \text{ any index for } X_M.$ Thus a set E is  $w^*$ -open in  $X_M^*$  iff given E, there exists  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_n \in \Delta$  with  $f \in \bigcap_{i=1}^n x_{\alpha_i}^{-1}(-\varepsilon_i, \varepsilon_i) \subseteq E$  implies that  $|x_{\alpha_i}(f)| < \varepsilon_i$  for i = 1, 2, ..., n. A sub basis open set containing a point  $f_0 \in X_M$  is of the form  $x_{\alpha}^{-1}(x_{\alpha}(f_0) - \varepsilon, x_{\alpha}(f_0) + \varepsilon)$  for all  $\alpha \in \Lambda$  and each  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Hence it can be of the form  $\beta(\varepsilon, x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) = \{ f \in X_M^* \colon for \ all \ i = 1, 2, ..., n, |f(x_i) - f_0(x_i) < \varepsilon \}, \varepsilon > 0, |, x_1, x_2, ..., x_n \in X_M$ 

The following theorem is very important to study the properties of the topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$  because it shows whether the limit point is unique or not.

**3.5. Theorem:** Let  $X_M$  be a modular space over the field K, then the  $w^*$ -topology of  $X_M^*$  is Hausdorff.

**Proof:** Let  $f, g \in X_M^*$  with  $f \neq g$ , then  $f(x) \neq g(x)$  for some  $x \in X_M$ .

Let  $y \in \{x \in X_M : f(x) \neq g(x)\}$ , then either f(y) < g(y) or f(y) > g(y) and in both cases can be founded  $\gamma \in R$  such that either  $f \in y^{-1}((-\infty, \gamma))$  and  $g \in y^{-1}((\gamma, \infty))$  or converse.

Thus there are two disjoint sets in  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$  separate f and g, hence the weak-star topology is Hausdorff space.

**3.6. Definition:** a sequence  $\{f_n\}$  in the dual modular space  $X_M^*$  is  $w^*$ -convergent to a function f and denoted by  $f_n w^* \to f$  if it converges to f in the topology  $\sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$ .

The next theorem is to redefine the convergence property in  $w^*$ -topology of  $X_M^*$ .

**3.7. Theorem:** Let  $X_M$  be a modular space, a sequence  $\{f_n\}$  in the dual space of the modular space  $X_M$  is said to be  $w^*$ -convergent to a function  $f \in X_M^*$  if and only if for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  and for each element x in  $X_M$ , there exists  $k \in Z^+$  such that  $|f_n(x) - f(x)| < \varepsilon$  for all n > k; this  $f_n w^* \to f$  if and only if  $f_n(x) = f(x)$ .

**Proof:** suppose that  $\{f_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_M^*$ .

**Firstly**, take  $f_n w^* \to f$ . Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $E \in \sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$  s.t.  $E = \{h \in X_M^*: |h(x) - f(x)| < \varepsilon\}$  for each x in  $X_M$ . Since  $f_n w^* \to f$ , then by definition of  $w^*$ -convergent can be shown there is  $k \in Z^+$ 

such that  $|f_n(x) - f(x)| < \varepsilon$  for all n > k and each element in  $X_M$ . Thus for each  $w^*$ -open set E containing f(x), there is  $k \in Z^+$  with  $f_n(x) \in E$  for all n > k;  $f_n(x) = f(x)$ .

**Conversely,** when  $f_n(x) = f(x)$  for all x in  $X_M$ . Let  $E \in \sigma(X_M^*, X_M)$  such that E containing f(x). There exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  and a finite number of elements  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_r$  of  $X_M$  with  $\{h \in X_M^*: |h(x_i) - f(x_i)| < \varepsilon, i = 1, 2, ..., r\} \subseteq E$ .

Since  $f_n(x_i) \to f(x_i)$  for i = 1, 2, ..., r, then there exists  $k_i \in Z^+$  where i = 1, 2, ..., r with  $|f_n(x_i) - f(x_i)| < \varepsilon$  for all  $n > k_i$ .

By choosing  $k = \{k_1, k_2, ..., k_r\}$ . Then for each i = 1, 2, ..., r, we have  $|f_n(x_i) - f(x_i)| < \varepsilon$  for all n > k. Thus  $f_n \in E$  for all n > k: that is  $f_n w^* \to f$ .

Here some properties of  $w^*$ -topology of  $X^*_M$ 

**3.8. Proposition:** let  $X_M$  be a modular linear space and  $\{f_n\}$  be a sequence in  $X_M^*$  then the following properties are holding;

1. if  $f_n \to f$  in  $X_M^*$ , then  $f_n \to f$  in  $w^*$ -topology.

2. if  $f_n w^* \to f$  and  $\{x_n\}$  a sequence in  $X_M$  with  $x_n \to x \in X_M$ , then  $f_n(x_n) \to f(x)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

#### **Proof:**

1. suppose that  $\{f_n\}$  be a sequence in the dual modular space  $X_M^*$  with  $f_n \to f$ , that's mean for all  $x \in X_M$  the limit point by  $\{f_n\}$  is exists, unique and equal to f(x). Thus by (3.6)  $f_n w^* \to f$ 

2. suppose that  $\{f_n\} \subseteq X_M^*$  and  $\{x_n\} \subseteq X_M$  such that  $f_n w^* \to f$  and  $x_n \to x$ . Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  then there exists  $k_1$  and  $k_2 \in Z^+$  such that  $|x_n - x| < \varepsilon$ ,  $n > k_1$ 

and for all  $x \in X_M$   $|f_n(x) - f(x)| < \varepsilon$ . Choose  $k = max\{k_1, k_2\}$ , then we have  $|f_n(x_n) - f(x)| < \varepsilon$ . Thus  $f_n(x_n) \to f(x)$ .

And the next theorem showed that under which condition the strong modular topology and the  $w^*$ -topology are coincided, as following

**3.9. Theorem:** let  $X_M$  be a modular space, if  $X_M$  finite-dimensional, then the weak-star topology of  $X_M^*$  and the modular topology on  $X_M^*$  are coinciding.

Proof: Since the weak –star topology of  $X_M^*$  is weaker than the modular topology on  $X_M^*$ , The **proof:** will be limited to proving the opposite side: every open set in the modular space  $X_M^*$  is  $w^*$ -open set.

Let *E* be open in the modular space  $X_M^*$  and  $g \in E$ . Then can be founded  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $g + B_{X_M^*}(\varepsilon) \subseteq E$  where  $B_{X_M^*}(\varepsilon)$  is an open ball at the origin with radius  $\varepsilon > 0$  in  $X_M^*$ . Since  $X_M$  finite-dimensional, then it has a basis  $\beta$  consists of an only finite number of elements. Now define  $M^*(f) = max\{|f(e)|, e \in \beta\}$  for all  $f \in X_M^*$ , then  $M^*: X_M^* \to [0, \infty)$  is a modular space. Since all

modulars on a finite-dimensional are equivalent, there is  $\delta > 0$  with  $M^*(f) < \delta$ , we have  $M(f) < \varepsilon$ . Then the  $w^*$ -open { $f \in X_M^*: max | f(e) - g(e) | < \varepsilon, e \in \beta$ } is contained in { $f \in X_M^*: M(f - g) < \varepsilon$ }. Hence E is  $w^*$ -open.

# References

[1] Abed, S.S., "On invariant best approximation in modular spaces ", Glob. J. pur. and Appl. Math, Vol 13, No 9, pp. 5227-5233, (2017).

[2] Abed S.S., Abdul Sada K.A.," An Extension of Brosowski - Meinaraus Theorem in Modular Spaces", Inter. J. of Math.Anal. Hikari Ltd ., 11,18,877-882, (2017).

[3] AL-Mayahi N. F. and Battor A. H., "Introduction To Functional Analysis", AL- Nebras com., (2005).

[4] Abobaker, H. A. N. A., and Raymond A. R. "Modular metric spaces." Ir. Math. Soc. Bull 80 (2017): 35-44

[5] Almeida R. "Compact Linear Operator " A survey Novi Sad J. Math.37 (2007), No.1, 65-74.

[6] Chistyakov, Vyacheslav V. "Modular metric spaces, I: basic concepts." Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications 72.1 (2010):

[7] Chistyakov V.V.," Modular metric spaces generated by F- modular ", Folia Math. 14 (2008) 3-5

[8] Chen, R. Wang, X .," Fixed point of nonlinear contraction in modular spaces" J. of Ineq. And Appl. (2013)

[9] Dugundji, "Topology", London, 1996.

[10] Jameson, Graham James Oscar, and G. J. O. Jameson. Topology and normed spaces. Vol. 322. London: Chapman and Hall, 1974.

[11] Kolokoltsov, Vassili. Differential equations on measures and functional spaces. Springer International Publishing, 2019.

[12] Murtda, M., and Noori F. Al-Mayahi. "weak topology on modular space." *Al-Qadisiyah Journal Of Pure Science* 25.1 (2020): 46-49.

[13] Musielak, J., and Władysław O. "On modular spaces." Studia Mathematica 18.1 (1959): 49-65.

[14] Musielak J.,(1983) Orlicz spaces and modular spaces, Lecture Notes in Math, 1034, Springer– Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.

[15] Musielak, J. Orlicz spaces and modular spaces. Vol. 1034. Springer, 2006.

[16] Nakano, Hidegorō. Modular semi-ordered linear spaces. Maruzen Company, 1950.

[17] Nowak, M. "On the modular topology on Orlicz spaces." Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci 36 (1988): 41-50.

[18] Orlicz, W. "Note on Modular Spaces. 7." Bulletin de *L* Academie Polonaise Des Sciences-Seriedes Sciences Mathematiques Astronomiques Et Physiques 12.6 (1964): 305.

[19] Schikhof, Wilhelmus Hendricus. Locally convex spaces over non-Archimedean valued fields. Cambridge University Press, 2010

[20] Sharma. J. N, "Topology", Meerut, 1997

## On Nano soft-J-semi-g-closed sets

R.B. Esmaeel<sup>1</sup> and R.J.Mohammad<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1,2</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Sciences, Ibn Al – Haitham / University of Baghdad, / Baghdad / Iraq

<sup>1</sup>ranamumosa@yahoo.com

<sup>2</sup>raf44456@gmail.com

<sup>1</sup>ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4743-6034

#### Abstract.

In this paper, the notions of *nano* soft closed sets were introduced by using *nano*soft ideal and *nano* soft semi-open sets, which are *nano* soft-*J*-semi-g-closed sets "*n*-s*J*sgclosed" where many of the properties of these sets were clarified. Using many figures and proposition have been studied the relationships among these kinds of *nano* soft sets with some examples were explained.

#### Keywords.

Nano soft space, nano soft open set, nano soft closed set, nano soft semi open set, n- $sJsg-c(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$  and  $n-sJsg-o(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ .

#### 1. Introduction

In 2011, Shaber [1] established introduced soft topological spaces .They various studies have been introduced to study many topological properties by using soft set like derived sets, compactness, separation axioms and other properties. [2], [3], [4]. Also, use the soft ideal which is a family of soft sets that meet hereditary and finite additively property of  $\chi$  to study the notion of soft logical function [5], which was the starting point for studying the properties of soft ideal topological spaces ( $\chi$ ,  $\mathcal{T}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}$ ) and defined new types of near open soft sets and study their properties as [6], [7], [8]. The notion of nano topology was introduced by Lellis Thivagar [9]. Based on that, Benchalli et al [10] introduced the notion of nano soft topological spaces using soft set equivalence relation on the universal set. Also, the notion of nano soft continuity and weaker forms of nano soft open sets namely nano soft spaces are introduced and studied in [10] and [11].

#### 2. Preliminaries

**Definition 2.1.** [12] Let  $\chi \neq \emptyset$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  be a set of parameters. Such that is  $\mathcal{P}(\chi)$  the collection of  $\chi$  and  $\mathcal{P} \neq \emptyset$  such that  $\mathcal{P} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ .  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  (briefly  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{H}}$ ) is a soft set over  $\chi$  whenever,  $\Gamma$  is a function such that  $\Gamma : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{P}(\chi)$ . So,  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{H}} = \{ \Gamma(\hbar) : \hbar \in \mathcal{P} \subseteq \mathcal{H}, \Gamma : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{P}(\chi) \}$ . The collection of each soft sets (briefly  $SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ ).

**Definition 2.2.** [7] Let  $(\mathcal{K}, \mathfrak{P}), (\mathcal{G}, \omega) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}, (\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{K}, \mathfrak{P}) \quad \widetilde{U} (\mathcal{G}, \omega)$  where  $\mathcal{H} = \mathfrak{P} \cup \omega$  and  $\forall \mathcal{h} \in \mathcal{H}$ ,

 $\Gamma(\hbar) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{K}(\hbar), \hbar \in \mathcal{Q} - \mathcal{W}, \\ \mathcal{G}(\hbar), \hbar \in \mathcal{W} - \mathcal{Q}, \\ \mathcal{K}(\hbar) \cup \mathcal{G}(\hbar), \hbar \in \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathcal{W}. \end{cases}$ 

**Definition 2.3.** [7] Let  $(\mathcal{K}, \mathfrak{P}), (\mathcal{G}, \omega) \in \mathfrak{SS}(\chi), (\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{K}, \mathfrak{P}) \cap (\mathcal{G}, \omega)$ . Where,  $\mathcal{H} = \mathfrak{P} \cap \omega$  and for each  $\mathfrak{h} \in \mathcal{H}, \Gamma(\mathfrak{h}) = \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{h}) \cap \mathcal{G}(\mathfrak{h})$ .

**Definition 2.4.** [1] Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a collection of soft sets over  $\chi$  with same  $\mathcal{H}$ , then  $\mathcal{T} \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$  is a soft topology on  $\chi$  if;

**i.**  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{\emptyset} \in \mathcal{T}$  where,  $\widetilde{\emptyset}(\hbar) = \emptyset$  and  $\widetilde{\chi}(\hbar) = \chi$ , for each  $\hbar \in \mathcal{H}$  **ii.**  $\bigcup_{\alpha \in \Lambda} (\mathcal{O}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{T}$  whenever,  $(\mathcal{O}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{T} \quad \forall \alpha \in \Lambda$ , **iii.**  $((\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})) \in \mathcal{T}$  for each  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{T}$ .

 $(\chi, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{H})$  is a soft topological space if  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{T}$  then  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is an open soft set.

**Definition 2.5.** [5] Let  $\mathcal{I} \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\mathcal{I} \cong \S(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$  is a soft ideal whenever, i. If  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$  and  $(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$  implies,  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) \cup (\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$ . ii. If  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$  and  $(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}) \cong (\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  implies,  $(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$ .

**Definition 2.6.** [5] Any  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{H})$  with a soft ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  is namely a soft ideal topological space (briefly  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ ).

**Definition 2.7.** [12] Let  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ . Then  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  is a soft subset of,  $(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ , (briefly $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq (\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ ), if  $\Gamma(\mathcal{h}) \subseteq \mathcal{G}(\mathcal{h})$ , for all  $\mathcal{h} \in \mathcal{H}$ . Now  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  is a soft subset of ,  $(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$  and  $(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$  is a soft super set of  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H}), (\Gamma, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq (\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{H})$ .

**Definition 2.8.** [13] The complement of  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  (briefly  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})'$ )  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})' = (\Gamma', \mathcal{H})$ ,  $\Gamma': \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{P}(\chi)$  is a function such that  $\Gamma'(\mathcal{H}) = \chi - \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$ , for all  $\mathcal{H} \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $\Gamma'$  is namely the soft complement of  $\Gamma$ .

**Definition 2.9.** [1] Let  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  be a soft over  $\chi$  and  $x \in \chi$ . Then  $x \in (\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$ , whenever,  $x \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$  for each  $\mathcal{H} \in \mathcal{H}$ .

**Definition 2.10.** [12]  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  is a NULL soft set (briefly  $\tilde{\emptyset}$  or  $\emptyset_{\mathcal{H}}$ ) whenever,  $\forall h \in \mathcal{H}$ ,  $\Gamma(h) = \emptyset$ .

**Definition 2.11.** [12]  $(\Gamma, \mathcal{H})$  is an absolute soft set (briefly  $\tilde{\chi}$  or  $\chi_{\mathcal{H}}$ ) whenever,  $\forall h \in \mathcal{H}$ ,  $\Gamma(h) = \chi$ .

**Definition 2.12.** [14]. Let  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}), (\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B}) \in SS(\chi) \mathcal{H}$ , then the Cartesian product of  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A})$  and  $(\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B})$  is defined as  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}) \times (\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B}) = (\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B})$ , where  $\mathcal{H} : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{P}(\chi \times \chi)$  and for each  $(a, b) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ •  $\mathcal{H}(a, b) = \{(h_i, h_j) : h_i \in \mathcal{P}(a) \text{ and } h_j \in \mathcal{W}(b)\} = \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b).$  **Theorem 2.13.** [14]. Let  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A})$  and  $(\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B})$  be two soft sets over a universe  $\chi$ . Then a soft set relation from  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A})$  to  $(\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B})$  is a soft subset of  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}) \times (\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B})$ . In other words, a soft set relation from  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A})$  to  $(\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B})$  is of the form  $(\mathbb{H}_1, \mathbb{S})$ , where  $\mathbb{S} \subseteq \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathbb{H}_1(a, b) = \mathbb{H}(a, b)$ , for all  $(a, b) \in \mathbb{S}$ , where  $(\mathbb{H}, \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}) = (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}) \times (\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{B})$  as in the above definition. In an equivalent way, we can define the soft set relation  $\Re$  on  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A})$  in the parameterized form as follows: if  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A}) = \{(a), (b), \dots\}$ , then  $\mathcal{P}(a) \Re \mathcal{P}(b) \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b) \in \Re$ .

**Definition 2.14.** [14]. Let  $\Re$  be a relation on (F, $\mathcal{H}$ ).

- **i.**  $\Re$  is reflexive, if  $\mathbb{H}_1(a, a) \in \Re$ ,  $\forall a \in \mathcal{H}$
- **ii.**  $\Re$  is symmetric, if  $H_1(a, b) \in \Re \Rightarrow H_1(b, a) \in \Re, \forall (a, b) \in \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}$
- **iii.**  $\Re$  is transitive, if  $H_1(a, b) \in \Re$ ,  $H_1(b, c) \in \Re \Rightarrow H_1(a, c) \in \Re, \forall a, b, c \in \mathcal{H}$ .

**Definition 2.15**. [14]. A soft set relation  $\Re$  on a soft set  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{A})$  is called an equivalence relation, if it is reflexive, symmetric and transitive.

**Example 2.16.** [14]. Consider a soft set  $(\mathcal{P},\mathcal{H})$  over  $\chi$ , where  $\chi = \{c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4\}$   $\mathcal{H} = \{h_1, h_2\}$  and  $F(h_1) = \{c_1, c_3\}, F(h_2) = \{c_2, c_4\}$ . Consider a relation  $\Re$  defined on  $(\mathcal{P},\mathcal{H})$  as follows:  $\Re = \{F(h_1) \times F(h_2), F(h_2) \times F(h_1), F(h_1) \times F(h_2) \times F(h_2)\}$ . Then  $\Re$  is a soft set equivalence relation.

**Definition 2.17**. [14]. Let  $(\mathcal{P},\mathcal{H})$  be a soft set. Then equivalence class of  $\mathcal{P}(a)$  denoted by  $[\mathcal{P}(a)]$  is defined as follows:

$$[\mathcal{P}(a)] = \{\mathcal{P}(b) : \mathcal{P}(b)\Re\mathcal{P}(a)\}.$$

**Definition 2.18**. [10]. Let  $\chi$  be a non-empty finite set which called the universe and  $\mathcal{H}$  be a set of parameters. Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be a soft equivalence relation on  $\chi$ . Then  $(\chi, \mathfrak{R}, \mathcal{H})$  is called the soft approximation space. Let  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \chi$ .

i. The soft lower approximation of  $\mathcal{A}$  w. r. t.  $\mathfrak{R}$  and the set of parameters  $\mathcal{H}$  is the set of all objects, which can be for certain classifieds  $\mathcal{A}$  w. r. t.  $\mathfrak{R}$  and it is denoted by  $(L_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H})$ , equivalently

$$(L_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H}) = \cup \{ \Re(x) : \Re(x) \subseteq \mathcal{A} \}$$

where  $\Re(x)$  denotes the equivalence class determined by  $x \in \chi$ .

ii. The soft upper approximation of  $\mathcal{A}$  w. r. t.  $\mathfrak{R}$  and the set of parameters  $\mathcal{H}$  is the set of all objects, which can be possibly classified as  $\mathcal{A}$  w. r. t.  $\mathfrak{R}$  and it is denoted by  $(U_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H})$ , equivalently

$$(U_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H}) = \cup \{ \Re(x) : \Re(x) \cap \mathcal{A} \neq \emptyset \}.$$

iii. The soft boundary region of  $\mathcal{A}$  w. r. t.  $\mathfrak{R}$  and the set of parameters  $\mathcal{H}$  is the set of all objects, which can be classified neither inside  $\mathcal{A}$  nor as outside  $\mathcal{A}$  with respect to  $\mathfrak{R}$  and is denoted by  $(B_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H})$ , equivalently

$$(B_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H}) = (U_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H}) - (L_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H}).$$

**Definition 2.19.** [10]. Let  $\chi \neq \emptyset$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  be a set of parameters. Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be a soft equivalence relation on  $\chi$ . Let  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \chi$  and let  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (L_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}), (U_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}), (B_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A})$  is a soft topology on  $(\chi, \mathcal{H})$ . In this case,  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A})$  is called the *nano* soft topology with respect to A. Elements of the *nano* soft topology are known as the *nano* soft open sets and  $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \chi, \mathcal{H})$  is called a *nano* soft topological space. The complements of *nano* soft open sets are called as *nano* soft closed sets in  $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \chi, \mathcal{H})$ .

**Definition 2.20.** [11]. Let  $(\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \chi, \mathcal{H})$  be a nano soft topological space and  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  be any soft set over  $\chi$ . Then  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  is said to be *nano* soft semi-open if  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq n - cl(n - int(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}))$ . Here *nint* $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  is the *nano* soft interior of  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$ , which is the union of all *nano* soft open sets contained in  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  and  $n - cl(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  is the *nano* soft closure of  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$ , which is the intersection of all *nano* soft closed sets containing  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$ . Also, here  $n - SSO(\chi, \mathcal{H})$  denotes the family of all *nano* soft semi-open sets over  $\chi$  with respect to an equivalence relation  $\mathfrak{R}$  and parameter set  $\mathcal{H}$ .

**Example 2.21.** Let  $\chi = \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ ,  $\mathcal{H} = \{ \mathcal{h}_1, \mathcal{h}_2, \mathcal{h}_3 \}$  and let  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) = \{ (\mathcal{h}_1, \{1\}), (m_2, \{3\}) \}$ 

 $(m_3, \{2,4\})$  be a soft set over  $\chi$ . Let  $\Re$  be a soft equivalence relation on  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  defined as follows:  $\Re = \{ F(\hbar_1) \times F(\hbar_2) , F(\hbar_2) \times F(\hbar_1) , F(\hbar_1) \times F(\hbar_1) , F(\hbar_2) \times F(\hbar_2) , F(\hbar_3) \times F(\hbar_3) \}$ . Then the soft equivalence classes are as follows:

 $[F(\hbar_1)] = \{F(b) : F(b)\Re F(a)\} = \{F(\hbar_1), F(\hbar_2)\} = [F(\hbar_2)], \text{ and } [F(\hbar_3)] = \{F(\hbar_3)\}.$  Now,

let  $\chi / \Re = \{F(\hbar_1), F(\hbar_2), F(\hbar_3)\} = \{\{1\}, \{3\}, \{2,4\}\}$ . Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{1,2\} \subseteq \chi$ . Then  $(L_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{1\}), (\hbar_2, \{1\}), (\hbar_3, \{1\})\}, (U_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{1,2,4\}), (\hbar_2, \{1,2,4\}), (\hbar_3, \{1,2,4\})\}, (B_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{2,4\}), (\hbar_2, \{2,4\}), (\hbar_3, \{2,4\})\}.$ 

Thus  $(\mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \chi, \mathcal{H}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (L_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}), (U_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}), (B_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})\}$  is a soft *nano* topology on  $\chi$ . So soft *nano* open sets are  $\{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (L_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}), \mathcal{H}), (U_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}), (B_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})\}$  and soft *nano* semi open sets are  $\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{A}_2, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{A}_3, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{A}_4, \mathcal{H})$  and  $(\mathcal{A}_5, \mathcal{H})$  where

$$(\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{H}) = \{ (\mathcal{h}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{1\}), (\mathcal{h}_3, \{1\}) \}, (\mathcal{A}_2, \mathcal{H}) = \{ (\mathcal{h}_1, \{1,3\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{1,3\}), (\mathcal{h}_3, \{1,3\}) \}, \\ (\mathcal{A}_3, \mathcal{H}) = \{ (\mathcal{h}_1, \{2,4\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{2,4\}), (\mathcal{h}_3, \{2,4\}) \}, (\mathcal{A}_4, \mathcal{H}) = \{ (\mathcal{h}_1, \{1,2,4\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{1,2,4\}), (\mathcal{h}_3, \{1,2,4\}) \}, \\ (\mathcal{A}_3, \{1,2,4\}) \}, (\mathcal{A}_5, \mathcal{H}) = \{ (\mathcal{h}_1, \{2,3,4\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{2,3,4\}), (\mathcal{h}_3, \{2,3,4\}) \}.$$

**Example 2.22.** Let  $\chi = \{1,2,3\}$ ,  $\mathcal{H} = \{\mathcal{h}_1, \mathcal{h}_2\}$  and let  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{h}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{2\})\}$ be a soft set over  $\chi$ . Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be a soft equivalence relation on  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  defined as follows:  $\mathfrak{R} = \{F(\mathcal{h}_1) \times F(\mathcal{h}_2) \times F(\mathcal{h}_1), F(\mathcal{h}_1) \times F(\mathcal{h}_1), F(\mathcal{h}_2) \times F(\mathcal{h}_2)\}$ . Now let  $\chi / \mathfrak{R} = \{F(\mathcal{h}_1), F(\mathcal{h}_2)\} = \{\{1\}, \{2\}\}$ . Then as the following table:

А	$(L_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathrm{U}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathbf{B}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{H})$	${\mathcal T}_{\mathfrak R}({\mathcal A})$
Ø	õ	õ	õ	{ <i>Q</i> , <i>X</i> }
χ	$(\mathcal{A}_3,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{A}_3,\mathcal{H})$	õ	$\{  \widetilde{arphi}  ,  \widetilde{\chi}  , (\mathcal{A}_3, \mathcal{H}) \}$
{1}	$(\mathcal{A}_1,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{A}_1,\mathcal{H})$	õ	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_{1},\mathcal{H})\}$
{2}	$(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})$	ø	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})\}$
{3}	õ	õ	ø	{ Ø, X }
{1,2}	$(\mathcal{A}_3,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{A}_3,\mathcal{H})$	ø	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_3,\mathcal{H})\}$
{2,3}	$(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})$	ø	$\{\widetilde{\varnothing}, \widetilde{\chi}, (A_2, \mathcal{H})\}$
{1,3}	$(\mathcal{A}_1,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{A}_1,\mathcal{H})$	õ	$\widetilde{oldsymbol{ heta}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $({\cal A}_1,{\cal H})  brace$

#### Table 1

Such that  $(\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{1\}), (h_2, \{1\})\}, (\mathcal{A}_2, \mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{2\}), (h_2, \{2\})\} \text{ and } (\mathcal{A}_3, \mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{1,2\}), (h_2, \{1,2\})\}.$ 

#### 3. On nano soft-J-semi-g-closed set.

**Definition 3.1.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{I})$ , the subset  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$  is a *nano* soft- $\mathcal{I}$ -semi-g-closed set (briefly, *n*-s $\mathcal{I}sg$ -closed), if  $cl((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})) - (\mathfrak{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$  whenever,  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) - (\mathfrak{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$  and  $(\mathfrak{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is *nano* soft semi-open set. The complement of  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is *nano* soft- $\mathcal{I}$ -semi-g-open set (briefly, *n*-s $\mathcal{I}sg$ -open). The summaries n-s $\mathcal{I}sg$ - $c(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$  and n-s $\mathcal{I}sg$ - $o(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$  are the family of all *n*-s $\mathcal{I}sg$ -closed and *n*-s $\mathcal{I}sg$ -open sets respectively.

**Example 3.2.** From table 1 let  $\mathcal{I} = \{\emptyset\}$  is the ideal, the family of all *n*-s $\mathcal{I}$ s*g*-closed (respectively, *n*-s $\mathcal{I}$ s*g*-open) sets can be determined, according to the given  $\mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A})$  and *n*-\$\$( $\chi$ ) in the previous table as the following table;

Α	${\cal T}_{ m R}({ m A})$	<i>n</i> -ŞŞΟ(χ)	$n-s\mathcal{I}s\mathcal{g}$ -c $(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$	$n-s\mathcal{I}sg-o(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$
Ø	{ Ø , ỹ }	{ <i>Õ</i> , <i></i> <sub></sub> <sub><i>X</i></sub> }	ŞŞ( <b>х</b> )н	ŞŞ( <b>х</b> )н
X	{ <i>Q̃</i> , <i>χ̃</i> }	{ <i>Q</i> , <i>x</i> }	ŞŞ(Ҳ)н	ŞŞ(χ) <i></i> π
{1}	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{H})\}$	$\{ \widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}); \\ 1 \widetilde{\in} \mathcal{P}(\hbar) \forall \hbar \}$	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}'_{1},\mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{H})\}$
{2}	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{H}); \\ 2 \widetilde{\in} \mathcal{W}(\hbar) \forall \hbar\}$	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}'_2,\mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})\}$
{3}	{ Ø, χ }	{ <i>Õ</i> , <i> χ</i> }	ŞŞ( <b>χ</b> )н	ŞŞ(χ) <i>π</i>
{1,2}	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_3,\mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}); \\ \{1, 2\} \widetilde{\in} \mathcal{M}(\hbar) \forall \hbar\}$	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{A}_{3}, \mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset},  \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{A}_3, \mathcal{H})\}$
{2,3}	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{A}_2, \mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{H});\$ $\{2\}\widetilde{\in} \mathcal{N}(\hbar) \forall \hbar\}$	$\{\widetilde{\varnothing}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{A}_{2}, \mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_2,\mathcal{H})\}$
{1,3}	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_1,\mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (Z, \mathcal{H}); \\ \{1\} \widetilde{\in} Z(\hbar) \ \forall \hbar \}$	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_{1},\mathcal{H})\}$	$\{\widetilde{oldsymbol{arphi}}$ , $\widetilde{\chi}$ , $(\mathcal{A}_1,\mathcal{H})\}$

Table 2

#### Remark 3.3.

- **i.** Every *n*-soft closed set in  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-sJsg-closed in  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ .
- **ii.** Every *n*-soft open set in  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-s $\mathcal{I}$ s*g*-open in  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ .

#### **Proof:**

- i. Let  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  be any soft closed set in  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$  and  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  be a *nano* soft semi-open set such that  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) (\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$ , but  $cl(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$ , since  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  is a soft closed set so,  $cl(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) (\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) (\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{I}$  this implies  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  is a nano soft- $\mathcal{I}$ -semi-g-closed set.
- ii. Let (O, H) be any soft open set in (χ, T<sub>R</sub>(A), H, J) then x̃ (O, H) is a soft closed set this implies by (i) (x̃ (O, H)) is a *n*-sJsg-closed set thus (O, H) is a *n*-sJsg-open soft set. In this remark, the opposite is not true. By Example 3.2, if the set A = χ then T<sub>R</sub>(A) = {Ø̃, x̃} and *n*-sJsg-c(χ)<sub>H</sub> = SS(χ)<sub>H</sub> and *n*-sJsg-C(χ)<sub>H</sub> = SS(χ)<sub>H</sub>.

#### 4. On nano soft kernel of set.

**Definition 4.1.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})$ , if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq \tilde{\chi}$ , then n-s- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})) = \widetilde{\cap}\{(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) ; (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \cong (\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A})\}$  which is shortcut for *nano* soft-*kernal* of  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$ .

**Example 4.2.** Let  $\chi = \{1,2\}, \mathcal{H} = \{\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2\}$  and let  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{H}_1, \{1\}), (m_2, \{2\})\}$  be a soft set over  $\chi$ . Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be a soft equivalence relation on  $(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H})$  defined as follows:

 $\Re = \{ F(\hbar_1) \times F(\hbar_2), F(\hbar_2) \times F(\hbar_1), F(\hbar_1) \times F(\hbar_1), F(\hbar_2) \times F(\hbar_2) \}$ . Then the soft equivalence classes are as follows:

Now, let  $\chi / \mathfrak{R} = \{F(\mathfrak{A}_1), F(\mathfrak{A}_2)\} = \{\{1\}, \{2\}\}$ . Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{1\} \subseteq \chi$ . Then  $(L_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathfrak{A}_1, \{1\}), (\mathfrak{A}_2, \{1\})\}$ ,  $(U_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathfrak{A}_1, \{1\}), (\mathfrak{A}_2, \{1\})\}$ ,  $(B_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathfrak{A}_1, \emptyset), (\mathfrak{A}_2, \emptyset)\}$ . Thus  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\varphi}, (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathfrak{A}_1, \{1\}), (\mathfrak{A}_2, \{1\})\}$ , then according to the given  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}, n\text{-}s\text{-}\mathcal{K}er(\mathcal{B})$  can be determined in the following table:

$(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})\in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$	$n$ -s- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$
õ	õ
χ	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1,\{1\}),(h_2,\{1\})\}$	$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_2,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{2\}), (\hbar_2, \{2\})\}$	χ

$(\mathcal{B}_3,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathfrak{h}_1,\{\emptyset\}),(\mathfrak{h}_2,\chi)\}$	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_4,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{\emptyset\}), (\hbar_2, \{1\})\}$	$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_5,\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{\emptyset\}), (h_2, \{2\})\}$	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_6,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1,\chi),(\hbar_2,\{\emptyset\})\}$	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_7,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1,\chi),(\hbar_2,\{1\})\}$	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_8,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1,\chi),(\hbar_2,\{2\})\}$	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_9,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{h}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{\emptyset\})\}$	$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_{10},\mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{h}_1,\{1\}),(\mathcal{h}_2,\{2\})\}$	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_{11},\mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{h}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \chi)\}$	Χ
$(\mathcal{B}_{12},\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{2\}), (h_2, \{\emptyset\})\}$	Χ
$(\mathcal{B}_{13},\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{2\}), (h_2, \{1\})\}$	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_{14},\mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{h}_1, \{2\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \chi)\}$	χ

#### Table 3

**Definition 4.3.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})$ , if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = n$ -*s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$ , where given  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in S(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ , then  $\mathcal{B}$  is namely *nano* soft- $\wp$  set and in briefly *n*-*s*- $\wp$  set.

From table 2 the sets  $\tilde{\emptyset}$ ,  $\tilde{\chi}$  and  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  are *n-s-* $\mathcal{D}$  sets since every one of those sets is equal to it's *nano* soft-*kernal*.

**Remark 4.4.** For  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})$ ,  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ , if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-s-open set, then  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-s- $\wp$  set.

**Definition 4.5.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})$ , if  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  where  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \tilde{\chi}$ ,  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-s-closed set and  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*- $\mathcal{D}$  set, then  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is namely *nano* soft- $\mathfrak{Q}$ -closed set and in briefly *n*-s- $\mathfrak{Q}$ -closed set.

From table 3 where  $\mathcal{A} = \{1\}$  then  $\mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})\}$  then the family of all *n*-Q-closed sets is  $\{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})\}$ .

#### **Proposition4.6.**

i. Every  $n-s-\wp$  set is  $n-s-\mathbb{Q}$ -closed set.

- **ii.** Every *n*-*s*-open set is *n*-*s*-**Q**-closed set.
- iii. Every *n*-*s*-closed set is *n*-*s*-**Q**-closed set.

#### Proof:

- i. Let  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is *n-s-* $\wp$  set. Since  $\tilde{\chi} \in n$ -s-closed set such that  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) \cap \tilde{\chi}$ , then  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is *n-s-* $\mathbb{Q}$ -closed set.
- ii. Let  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is nano soft-open set, by remark 4.4 then  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is n-s- $\mathscr{D}$  set then  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) = n$ -s- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$ , and n-s- $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed set by (i).

The opposite of Proposition 4.6, is not true by the following example.

**Example 4.7.** From table 3 if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H})$  where  $\mathcal{A} = \{1\}$ , then  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})\}$ then *n*-*s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H})) = \tilde{\chi}$ , then  $(\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H})$  is not *n*-*s*- $\mathcal{D}$  set and not *n*-*s*-open set, but  $(\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H})$  is *ns*- $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed set since  $(\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H}) \cap \tilde{\chi}$ . If we suggest  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  with the same set then *n*-*s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})) = (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  then  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-*s*- $\mathcal{D}$  set and  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-*s*- $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed set since  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H}) \cap \tilde{\chi}$ , but  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is not *n*-*s*-closed set.

**Remark 4.8.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H})$ , if  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq \tilde{\chi}$ ;  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-*s*- $\mathbb{Q}$ -closed set, then  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = n$ *s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})) \cap (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$ , where  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-*s*-closed set. **Proof:** Since  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-*s*- $\mathbb{Q}$ -closed set, then  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  such that  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-*s*-closed set and  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-*s*- $\mathcal{P}$  set. Implies,  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = n$ -*s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$  and  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$   $\cong n$ -*s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}))$  which is the smallest *n*-*s*-open set containing  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$ . So, *s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})) \subseteq n$ -*s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})) = (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  and  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$ . Therefore,  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = n$ -*s*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$ .

#### 5. On nano soft-J-semi-g-kernal of set.

**Definition 5.1.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ , if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in \S\S(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ , then n-sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})) =$  $\cap \{(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}); (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \cong (\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in n$ -sJsg- $o(\chi)\}$  which is shortcut for *nano* soft- $\mathcal{I}$ -semi-g-kernal of  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$ . It is clear that if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in \S\S(\chi)$  is n-sJsg-open set, then  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = n$ -sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$ .

#### Example 5.2.

From the Example 4.2, if the set  $\mathcal{A} = \{1\}$  then  $\mathcal{T}_{\Re}((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{A}_1, \{1\}), \mathcal{H}\}$ 

 $(\mathcal{A}_2, \{1\})\}$  and  $\mathcal{I} = \{\widetilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_4, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{12}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{13}, \mathcal{H})\}$ . Then  $SO(\chi) = \{\{\widetilde{\emptyset}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{H}); 1 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{A}) \in \mathcal{H}\}$ . Then

 $\boldsymbol{n}-\boldsymbol{sJsg-c}(\boldsymbol{\chi})_{\mathcal{H}} = \{ \tilde{\boldsymbol{\chi}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\emptyset}}, (\mathcal{B}_{2}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{3}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{5}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{8}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{10}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{11}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{14}, \mathcal{H}) \} \text{ and } \\ \boldsymbol{n}-\boldsymbol{sJsg-o}(\boldsymbol{\chi})_{\mathcal{H}} = \{ \tilde{\boldsymbol{\chi}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\emptyset}}, (\mathcal{B}_{1}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{6}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{7}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{4}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{13}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{12}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{9}, \mathcal{H}) \}.$ 

#### Example 5.3.

From the Example 5.2, if the set  $\mathcal{A} = \{1\}$  then  $\mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{A}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{A}_2, \{1\})\}\}$  then n- $s\mathcal{I}sg$ - $o(\chi) = \{\tilde{\emptyset}, \tilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_6, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_7, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_4, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{13}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{12}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_9, \mathcal{H})\}$  according to the given  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in S(\chi)$ , we can determine n- $s\mathcal{I}sg$ - $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$  in the following table:

$(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$	$n$ -s- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$	$n$ -sIsg-Ker $((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$
õ	ø	õ
χ	χ	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1,\{1\}),(h_2,\{1\})\}$	$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_2,\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{2\}), (h_2, \{2\})\}$	χ	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_{3},\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_{1}, \{\emptyset\}), (h_{2},\chi)\}$	Ĩ	$({\mathcal B}_{14}, {\mathcal H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_4,\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{\emptyset\}), (h_2, \{1\})\}$	$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{B}_4,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_5,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{\emptyset\}), (\hbar_2, \{2\})\}$	χ	$(\mathcal{B}_2,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_6,\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1,\chi),(h_2,\{\emptyset\})\}$	Χ	$(\mathcal{B}_6,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_7,\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1,\chi),(h_2,\{1\})\}$	χ	$(\mathcal{B}_7,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_8,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1,\chi),(\hbar_2,\{2\})\}$	χ	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_9,\mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{h}_1,\{1\}),(\mathcal{h}_2,\{\emptyset\})\}$	$(\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$	$(\mathcal{B}_9,\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_{10},\mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{h}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{h}_2, \{2\})\}$	χ	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_{11},\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{1\}), (h_2, \chi)\}$	χ	χ
$(\mathcal{B}_{12},\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{2\}), (\hbar_2, \{\emptyset\})\}$	χ	$(\mathcal{B}_{12},\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_{13},\mathcal{H}) = \{(h_1, \{2\}), (h_2, \{1\})\}$	χ	$(\mathcal{B}_{13},\mathcal{H})$
$(\mathcal{B}_{14},\mathcal{H}) = \{(\hbar_1, \{2\}), (\hbar_2, \chi)\}$	χ	$({\mathcal B}_{14}, {\mathcal H})$

#### Table 4

**Proposition 5.4.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ , if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in S(\chi)$ , then n- $s\mathcal{I}sg$ - $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})) \subseteq n$ -s- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$ .

**Proof:** Let  $x \notin n$ -s- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$ .;  $x \in \chi$  then  $x \notin \widetilde{\cap} \{(\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}) ; (\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) \subseteq (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A})\}$ . Implies,  $\exists (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}) \in \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), (\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) \cong (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}); x \notin (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H})$ . Then there exist  $(\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}) \in n$ -sJsg-o $(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}, (\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) \cong (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}); x \notin (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}), \text{ so } x \notin \widetilde{\cap} \{(\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}); (\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) \cong (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{O},\mathcal{H}) \in n$ -sJsg-o $(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}\}$ . Hence  $x \notin n$ -sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$ .

The phrase  $(n-s-\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})) \cong n-s\mathcal{I}sg-\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})))$  is not true by table 4 if we suggest the set  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_5,\mathcal{H})$  then  $n-s-\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}_5,\mathcal{H})) = \tilde{\chi}$ , but  $n-s\mathcal{I}sg-\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}_5,\mathcal{H})) = (\mathcal{B}_2,\mathcal{H})$  then  $n-s-\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})) \cong n-s\mathcal{I}sg-\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$ .

**Remark 5.5.** For  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ , if  $\chi$  is a finite space then  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$  is a *n*-sJsg-open set, if and only if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = n$ -sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$ .

**Definition 5.6.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ , if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = n \cdot s\mathcal{I}sg \cdot \mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$ , where  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ , then  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is namely *nano* soft- $\mathcal{I}$ -semi- $g \cdot \wp$  set and in (briefly  $n \cdot s\mathcal{I}sg \cdot \wp$  set). From Example 5.3, the sets  $\{\widetilde{\varphi}, \widetilde{\chi}, (\mathcal{B}_i, \mathcal{H}) \text{ and } i = \{1.4, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 14\}$  are  $n \cdot s\mathcal{I}sg \cdot \wp$  sets.

**Remark 5.7.** For  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I}), (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) \in SS(\chi)_{\mathcal{H}}$ , if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-sJsg-open set, then  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-sJsg- $\wp$  set.

**Definition 5.8.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ , if  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  where  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \in \tilde{\chi}$ ,  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-*sJsg*-closed set and  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-s*Jsg*- $\mathcal{O}$  set, then  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is namely *nano* soft- $\mathcal{I}$ -semi-*g*- $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed set and briefly *n*-s*Jsg*- $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed set.

#### Example 5.9.

From Example 5.3, where  $\mathcal{A} = \{1\}$  then  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_3, \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{A}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{A}_2, \{1\})\}\}$  then n-s $\mathcal{I}$ sg-c $(\chi) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_3, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_5, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_8, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{10}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{11}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{14}, \mathcal{H})\}$ , then every subset  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  of  $\tilde{\chi}$  is n-s $\mathcal{I}$ sg-closed since  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$ , such that  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  is n-s $\mathcal{I}$ sg-closed set and  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is n-s $\mathcal{I}$ sg- $\mathcal{D}$  set.

#### Theorem 5.10.

- i. Every  $n-s\Im sg-\wp$  set is  $n-s\Im sg-\mathfrak{Q}$ -closed set.
- **ii.** Every *n*-s*J*s*g*-open set is *n*-s*J*s*g*-**Q**-closed set.
- iii. Every  $n-s \Im sg$ -closed set is  $n-s \Im sg$ -Q-closed set.

#### **Proof:**

- i. Let  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is *n*-sJsg- $\wp$  set. Since  $\tilde{\chi} \in n$ -sJsg- $c(\chi)$  such that  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) \cap \tilde{\chi}$ , then  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is *n*-sJsg-Q-closed set.
- ii. Let  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is nano soft-*J*-semi-*g*-open set, by remark 5.5 then  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) = n$ -s*J*s*g*-*Ker*  $((\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}))$ , then  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H})$  is *n*-s*J*s*g*- $\mathcal{D}$  set and *n*-s*J*s*g*- $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed set by (i).
- iii. Let (B, H) ∈ n-sJsg-c(χ). Since χ̃ is n-sJsg-℘ set and (B, H) = (B, H) ∩ χ̃, then (B, H) is n-sJsg-Q-closed set.

The opposite of Theorem 5.10, is not true.

**Example 5.11.** From Example 5.2 if  $(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_1,\mathcal{H})$  where  $\mathcal{A} = \{1\}$  and  $\mathcal{T}_{\Re}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_3, \mathcal{H}) = \{(\mathcal{A}_1, \{1\}), (\mathcal{A}_2, \{1\})\}\}$ . Then n-sJsg- $c(\chi) = \{\tilde{\chi}, \tilde{\emptyset}, (\mathcal{B}_2, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_3, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_5, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_8, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{10}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{11}, \mathcal{H}), (\mathcal{B}_{14}, \mathcal{H})\}$ , n-sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})) = (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$ . Thus  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is neither n-sJsg- $\wp$  set nor n-sJsg-open set, but  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is a n-sJsg- $\mathbb{Q}$ -closed set since  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H}) \cap \tilde{\chi}$ . In other hand; if  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  with the same set  $\mathcal{A}$  then n-sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})) = (\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$ . Implies,  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is n-sJsg- $\wp$  set, so  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is n-sJsg- $\mathbb{Q}$ -closed set but  $(\mathcal{B}_1, \mathcal{H})$  is not n-sJsg-closed set.

**Proposition 5.12.** In  $(\chi, \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{R}}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{I})$ , if  $\chi$  is a finite set and  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq \tilde{\chi}$ ;  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-s*Jsg*-**Q**-closed set, then  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = n$ -s*Jsg*- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})) \cap (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  where  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  is *n*-s*Jsg*-closed set.

**Proof:** Since  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-sJsg-Q-closed set, then  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  such that  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-sJsg-closed set and  $(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  is a *n*-sJsg- $\mathcal{P}$  set. Implies,  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \cong n$ -sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})) = (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$ and  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) \cong n$ -sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}))$  which is the smallest *n*-sJsg-open set containing $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})$ . So, *n*sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H})) \subseteq n$ -sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H}))$  $= (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$  and  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap (\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{H})$ . Therefore,  $(\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}) = (\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}) \cap n$ -sJsg- $\mathcal{K}er((\mathcal{O}, \mathcal{H}))$ .

#### **REFERENCES:**

- [1] Shabir M and Naz M, 2011 Com put Math .Appl On Soft to topological spaces 61; 1786-1799.
- [2] Hussain S and Ahmad B 2015 HJMS Soft separation axioms in soft topological spaces 44(3); 559-568.

- [3] Kadil A, Tantawy O A E El-Sheikn S A and Abd El-latif A M 2014 *AFMI* y- operation and decompositions of some forms of soft continuity in soft topological spaces **7**; 181-196.
- [4] Abd El-latif A M 2014 Jo kull journal Supra soft topological spaces 8(4); 1731-1740.
- [5] Kandil A Tantawy O A E, El-Sheikh S A and Abd El-latif A M 2014 *Appl .Math . Inf .Sci* Soft ideal theory, soft local function and generated soft topological spaces **8(4)**; 1595-1603.
- [6] Nasaf A A, Radwan A E, Ibrahem F and Esmaeel R B 2016 Jou. of Advances in Math, June Soft α-compactness, via soft ideals 12(4); 6178-6184.
- [7] Esmaeel R B and Naser A I 2016 *IJpAM* some properties of-Ĩ-semi open soft sets with respect to soft Ideals 4; 545-561.
- [8] Esmaeel R B, Nasir A I and Bayda Atiya Kalaf 2018 Sci. Inter. (Lahore) on α-gĨ-closed soft sets 30(5); 703-705.
- [9] Tivagar M L and Richard C 2013 *Mathematical Theory and Modeling* On Nano Continuity **3**(7); 7–32.
- [10] Benchali S S, Patil P G, Nivedita S Kabbur Pradeepkumar J 2018 Annals of fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics On soft nano continuity in soft nano topological spaces and its applications **10(10)**; 1-19.
- [11] Benchali S S, Patil P G and Pradeepkumar J 2017 *Journal of Computers and Mathematical Sciences* Weaker forms of soft nano open sets **8**(11); 589–599.
- [12] Maji P K, Biswas R and Roy A R. 2003 Com put. Math. Appl soft set theory 45; 555-562.
- [13] Ali M I, Feng F, Liu X, Min W K and Shaber M 2009 Com put. Math. Appl On Some new operations in soft set theory 57(9); 1547-1553.
- [14] Babita K V and Sunil J J 2010 Computers and Mathematics with Applications Soft set relations and functions 60(7); 1840–1849.

## Soft Simply Connected Spaces And Soft Simply Paracompact Spaces

S. Noori<sup>1</sup> and Y. Y. Yousif<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Sciences

(Ibn- Al-Haitham), University of Baghdad

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Sciences

(Ibn- Al-Haitham), University of Baghdad

sarah.asas90@gmail.com

#### yoyayuosif@yahoo.com

Abstract: We introduce in this paper some new concepts in soft topological spaces such as soft simply separated, soft simply disjoint, soft simply division, soft simply limit point and we define soft simply connected spaces, and we presented soft simply Paracompact spaces and studying some of its properties in soft topological spaces. In addition to introduce a new types of functions known as soft simply *pu*-continuous which are defined between two soft topological spaces.

**Keywords:** soft simply-connected, soft simply *pu*-continuous, soft simply limit point, soft simply Paracompact spaces.

#### MSC2010: 54A05, 54AØ10, 54D05, 54D10.

#### 1. Introduction:

In 1999 the concept of soft set theory was used for the first time as a mathematical tool by Molodtsov [1] to deal with confusion. He determinant the primal upshots of this new theory and successfully applied the soft set theory in many ways such as theory of measurement smoothness of functions, game theory, etc. In last year research work on soft set theory is taking place rapidly. In 2003 Maji et al, presented many basic notions of soft set theory like universe soft set and empty soft set [2]. In 2011 Shabir and Naz discussed the theory of soft topological spaceand many fundamental concepts of soft topological spaces including soft open, soft closed sets, soft nbd oft subspace, and soft separation axioms [3]. In 2012 Aygünoğlu and Aygün mentioned soft continuity of soft function, and theystudied soft product topology, etc in soft topological spaces [4]. In 2011 Min discussed some findings on soft topological spaces [5].In 1975 the concept of simply-open sets was by Neubrunnova [6] if ( $H = K \cup N$  such that K is open set and Nintroduced is nowhere dense(N is nowhere dense if  $(cl(int N) = \emptyset [7])$ ), it symbolizes by  $S^M O(X)$ . In 2013 El. sayed and Noamman presented transformed definition of simply open set [8] if  $(0 \subset (X, \tau))$  is simply open set if  $int(cl(0)) \subseteq cl(int(0))$ . In 2017 El. Sayed and El. Bably introduce a new class of simply open sets as a generalization and modification for soft open sets called soft simply open set [9]. In 2014J. Subhashinin et al [10] have studied soft connectedness in soft topological spaces and Bin Chen [11] continued studying some properties of soft semi-open sets. We built on some of the results in [15], [16], [17], [18], [19]. [20] and [21].

The purpose of this paper is to introduce new concepts in soft topological spaces like soft simply disjoint, soft simply separated, soft simply division,  $SS^M$  – connected, soft simply pu-continuous, soft simply limit point, and defined soft simply Paracompact spaces.

#### 1.preliminaries:

The following concepts and definition with some results are need it later on

**Definition 1.1:** [1] Let U defined as a universe set and E as a parameter set with power set of U is denotes by P(U) and  $A \ c \ E$ . Then (F, A) is said to be a soft set, such that  $F: A \to P(U)$ ;  $F(a) \in P(U), \forall a \in A$ .

**Definition 1.2:**[2]We say (*F*, *A*)is a null set and it symbolizes by  $\tilde{\Phi}$ , if  $F(a) = \emptyset$ ,  $\forall a \in A$ .

**Definition 1.3:[2]** We say (F, A) is a absolute soft set and it symbolizes by  $\tilde{A}$ , if F(a) = U,  $\forall a \in A$ .

**Definition 1.4:**[2]Let (*F*, *A*)and (*G*, *B*) are two soft set then (*F*, *A*)  $\widetilde{\cup}$  (G, B)=(*H*, *C*); (*i. e* the union of these sets are also soft set), where  $C = A \widetilde{\cup} B$  and for each  $e \in C$ 

 $H(e) = \begin{cases} F(e) & if \ e \in A - B \\ G(e) & if \ e \in B - A \\ F(e) \cup G(e) & if \ e \in A \cap B \end{cases}$ 

**Definition 1.5:[2]** Let (F, A) and (G, B) be two soft set then  $(F, A) \cap (G, B) = (H, C)$ ; (*i.e* the intersection of these sets are also soft set), where  $C = A \cap B$  and for each  $e \in C$  such that  $H(e) = F(e) \cap G(e)$ .

**Definition 1.6:[2]** Let (F, A) and (G, B) be two soft sets over U, then $(F, A) \cong (G, B)$ , if  $A \subseteq B$  and  $F(e) \subseteq G(e) \forall e \in A$ ,

**Definition 1.7:[12]** The soft topology  $\tilde{\tau}$  defined as follows:

- 1.  $\widetilde{U}$  and  $\widetilde{\emptyset} \in \widetilde{\tau}$
- 2. The soft union of any number of soft sets in  $\tilde{\tau} \in \tilde{\tau}$ .
- 3. The soft intersection of any two soft sets in  $\tilde{\tau} \in \tilde{\tau}$ .

Then the triplet  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is said to be a soft topological space, and the elements of  $\tilde{\tau}$  are called soft open and their complements are soft closed and we denoted of each closed soft sets by  $\tilde{\mathcal{F}}$ .

**Definition 1.8:[12]** Assume that (F, E) be a soft set of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is called soft neighborhood (briefly soft *nbd*) subset(H, E) if  $\exists (K, E) \in \tilde{\tau}$ ;  $(H, E) \subseteq (K, E) \subseteq (F, E)$ .

**Definition 1.9:**[12]  $(F, E)^o$  or sint((F, E)) is the soft interior of the set (F, E), is adefined as follows:

 $sint((F,E)) = \widetilde{U} \{ (G,E); (F,E) \cong (G,E), (G,E) \in \widetilde{\tau} \}.$ 

**Definition 1.10:**[12]  $\overline{(F, E)}$  is a soft closure of a(F, E), is a soft set defined as follows:

 $scl((F,E)) = \widetilde{\cap} \{(G,E); (F,E) \subseteq (G,E), (G,E)^{C} \in \widetilde{\tau}\}.$ 

**Definition 1.11:**[12]We say( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) is a soft indiscrete space if  $\tilde{\tau} = {\tilde{U}, \tilde{\varphi}}$ , and it symbolizes by  $\tilde{\tau}_{ind}$ .

**Definition 1.12:[12]** We say( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) is a soft discrete space if  $\tilde{\tau}$  is the family of all soft sets that can be defined over U and it symbolizes by  $\tilde{\tau}_{dis}$ .

**Definition 1.13:[4]** A family  $\delta$  of soft set is called a cover of a soft set (F, E) if  $(F, E) \cong \widetilde{U}$  { $(F_i, E)$ ;  $(F_i, E) \cong \delta$ ;  $i \in I$ }.  $\delta$  is said to be soft open cover if every members of  $\delta$  is a soft open set.

**Definition 1.14:**[4]We say  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a soft compact if every soft open cover has a finite sub cover  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ .

**Definition 1.15:**[8]A soft subset (F, A) of soft topological space  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is called Soft simply-open (for short  $SS^{M}$ \_open) set if  $sint(scl((F, A))) \cong scl(sint((F, A)))$ . It is symbolizes by  $SS^{M}O(U)$ . The complement of a soft simply open set is a soft simply closed set (for short,  $SS^{M}$ \_closed), and it symbolizes by  $SS^{M}C(U)$ .

**Definition 1.16:**[13] We say  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a *soft lindelöf*, if every cover of *U* has a countable sub cover.

**Definition 1.17:**[4]Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) be a softtopological space. A sub collection  $\omega$  of  $\tau$  is said to be a base for  $\tau$  if every member of  $\tau$  can be expressed as a union of members of  $\omega$ .

**Proposition 1.18:[4]** Each soft compact is soft *lindelöf* and each soft *lindelöf* is soft paracompact.

**Definition 1.19:[12]** We say that  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a *soft*  $T_2$  – *space* if for any two distinct points  $a, b \in U$ , there exist(F, E) and  $(G, E) \in \tilde{\tau}$ , such that  $a \in (F, E), b \in (G, E)$  and  $(F, E) \cap (G, E) = \tilde{\phi}$ .

**Definition 1.20:[12]** We say that  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a soft regular space if for all  $(H, E) \in \tilde{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}$  (*i.* e(H, E) is soft closed in *U*) and any points  $a \in U$  such that  $a \notin (H, E)$ , then there exist(F, E) and  $(G, E) \in \tilde{\tau}$ , such that  $[a \in (F, E) \text{ and } (H, E) \subset (G, E) \text{ and } (F, E) \cap (G, E) = \tilde{\emptyset}]$ .

**Definition 1.21:[12]** We say that  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a soft normal space if for each (H, E) and  $(K, E) \in \tilde{\tau}^{\mathbb{C}}$ (*i.* e(H, E) and (K, E) are soft closed in U) such that  $(H, E) \cap (K, E) = \tilde{\emptyset}$ , then there exist(F, E) and  $(G, E) \in \tilde{\tau}$ , such that  $[(H, E) \subset (F, E), (K, E) \subset (G, E) \text{ and } (F, E) \cap (G, E) = \tilde{\emptyset}]$ .

#### 2. Soft Simply Connected Spaces:

In the section, we introduce a new concepts which is called soft simply connected spaces.

**Definition 2.1:** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space, and  $(F, A)^M, (G, B)^M$  be twosoft simply setsover U. The soft simply sets are said soft simply disjoint (for short  $SS^M\_dis$ ) if  $(F, A)^M \tilde{\cap}^M (G, B)^M = \tilde{\emptyset}$ .

**Definition 2.2:**Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space, and  $(F, A)^M, (G, B)^M$  be twosoftsimply setsover U. The soft simply sets are said soft simply separated (for short  $SS^M - sep$ ) if  $(F, A)^M \tilde{\cap}^M SS^M(cl(G B)^M) = \tilde{\emptyset}$  and  $SS^M(cl(F, A)^M) \tilde{\cap}^M (G, B)^M = \tilde{\emptyset}$ .

Remark 2.3: Two disjoint soft simply open sets may not be a soft simply separated, for example:

**Example 2.4 :** Consider  $U = \{1,2,3\}$  and  $E = \{e_1, e_2\}$ , let  $\tilde{\tau} = \{\tilde{\emptyset}, \tilde{U}, (F_1, E)^M, (F_2, E)^M, (F_3, E)^M, (F_4, E)^M, (F_5, E)^M, (F_6, E)^M\}$  are soft simply sets defined as follows:  $(F_1, E)^M = \{(e_1, \{2\}), (e_2, \{1\})\}$   $(F_2, E)^M = \{(e_1, \{3\}), (e_2, \{2\})\}$   $(F_3, E)^M = \{(e_1, \{2,3\}), (e_2, \{1,2\})\}$   $(F_4, E)^M = \{(e_1, \{1,2\}), (e_2, \tilde{U})\}$   $(F_5, E)^M = \{(e_1, \{1,2\}), (e_2, \{1,3\})\}$   $(F_6, E)^M = \{(e_1, \tilde{\emptyset}), (e_2, \{2\})\}$ Then the triplet  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a soft topological space, it is easy to see that  $(F_1, E)^M \tilde{\cap}^M (F_2, E)^M = \emptyset$ .

**Definition 2.5:** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space. If there exist two non-empty soft simply separated sets  $(F, A)^M$  and  $(G, B)^M$  such that  $(F, A)^M \tilde{U}^M (G, B)^M = (U, E)^M$ , then  $(F, A)^M$  and  $(G, B)^M$  are said to be soft simply division(for short  $SS^M - div$ ) for soft simply topological space  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ .

**Definition 2.6 :** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space, then  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is said to be soft simply disconnected spaces if  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has a soft simply division. Otherwise  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is said to be soft simply connected spaces.

**Example 2.7 :** It is easy to see that each soft simply indiscrete space is soft simply connected and that each soft simply discrete non-trivial space is not soft simply connected.

**Theorem 2.8:**Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- a)  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has a soft simply division.
- b) There exist two disjoint soft simply closed sets  $(F,A)^M$  and  $(G,B)^M$  such that  $(F,A)^M \widetilde{U}^M (G,B)^M = (U,E)^M$ .
- c) There exist two disjoint soft simply open sets  $(F,A)^M$  and  $(G,B)^M$  such that  $(F,A)^M \widetilde{U}^M (G,B)^M = (U,E)^M$ .
- d)  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has a proper soft simply open and soft simply closed set in U.

**Proof:** (a)  $\Rightarrow$  (b)Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) have a soft simply division(F, E)<sup>M</sup> and  $(G, E)^M$ . Then

$$(F,E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (G,E)^M = \emptyset$$

and

$$SS^{M}(cl(F,E)^{M}) = SS^{M}(cl(F,E)^{M}) \widetilde{\cap}^{M} ((F,E)^{M} \widetilde{\cup}^{M} (G,E)^{M})$$
$$= (SS^{M}(cl(F,E)^{M}) \widetilde{\cap}^{M} (F,E)^{M}) \widetilde{\cup}^{M} (SS^{M}(cl(F,E)^{M}) \widetilde{\cap}^{M} (G,E)^{M})$$

$$= (F, E)^M$$

There for  $(F, E)^M$  is a soft simply closed set in U. Similar, we can see that  $(G, E)^M$  is also a soft simply closed set in U.

 $(\mathbf{b}) \Longrightarrow (\mathbf{c}) \text{Let}(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  have a soft simply division $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  such that  $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  are soft simply closed. Then the soft simply complement of  $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  are soft simply open in U. Then  $(F, E)^{\mathbb{C}^M} \widetilde{\cap}^M (G, E)^{\mathbb{C}^M} = \emptyset$  and  $(F, E)^{\mathbb{C}^M} \widetilde{\cup}^M (G, E)^{\mathbb{C}^M} = U$ .

 $(\mathbf{c}) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{d}) \operatorname{Let}(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  have a soft simply division $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  such that  $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  are soft simply open in U. Then  $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  are also soft simply closed in U.

 $(\mathbf{d}) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{a}) \operatorname{Let}(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has a proper soft simply open and soft simply closed set $(F, E)^M$ . Then  $(F, E)^{C^M}$  and  $(F, E)^M$  are non-empty soft simply closed set,  $(F, E)^{C^M} \widetilde{\cap}^M (F, E)^M = \emptyset$  and  $(F, E)^{C^M} \widetilde{\cup}^M (F, E)^M = U$ . Then  $(F, E)^M$  and  $(F, E)^{C^M}$  is a soft simply division of U.

**Theorem 2.9**:Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- a)  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has a soft simply connected.
- b) There exist two disjoint soft simply closed sets  $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  such that  $(F, E)^M \widetilde{U}^M (G, E)^M = (U, E)^M$ .
- c) There exist two disjoint soft simply open sets  $(F, E)^M$  and  $(G, E)^M$  such that  $(F, E)^M \widetilde{U}^M (G, E)^M = (U, E)^M$ .
- d)  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  at most has two soft simply open and soft simply closed sets in U, that is  $\emptyset$  and  $(U, E)^M$ .

**Remark 2.10:** By (Theorem 2.9), the soft topological space in Example 2.20 is a  $SS^M$  – *disconnected* spaces since the soft simply set  $(G, E)^M$  is soft simply open set and soft simply closed set in U.

**Lemma 2.11:** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological spaceover U, and V be a non-empty subset of  $(U, E)^M$ . If  $(F_1, E)^M$  and  $(F_2, E)^M$  are soft simply sets in  $(V, E)^M$ , then  $(F_1, E)^M$  and  $(F_2, E)^M$  are a soft simply separation of  $(U, E)^M$ .

**Proof:** We have  $[SS^M(cl(F_1, E)^M) \cap (V, E)^M] \cap (F_2, E)^M = SS^M(cl(F_1, E)^M \cap (F_2, E)^M)$ . Similar we have  $[SS^M(cl(F_2, E)^M) \cap (V, E)^M] \cap (F_1, E)^M = SS^M(cl(F_2, E)^M \cap (F_1, E)^M)$ . Therefor the lemma is hold.

**Lemma 2.12:** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space over  $(U, E)^M$ , and V be a non-empty subset of U such that  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, E)$  is soft simply connected. If  $(F_1, E)^M$  and  $(F_2, E)^M$  are soft simply separation of  $(U, E)^M$  such that  $(V, E)^M \tilde{\subset}^M (F_1, E)^M \tilde{\cup}^M (F_2, E)^M$ , then  $(V, E)^M \tilde{\subset}^M (F_1, E)^M$  or  $(V, E)^M \tilde{\subset}^M (F_2, E)^M$ .

**Proof:**  $(V, E)^{M} \subset^{M} (F_{1}, E)^{M} \widetilde{U}^{M} (F_{2}, E)^{M}, \text{we} \widetilde{\cap}^{M} \text{have}$   $((V, E)^{M} = (V, E)^{M} \widetilde{\cap}^{M} (F_{1}, E)^{M}) \widetilde{U}^{M} ((V, E)^{M} \widetilde{\cap}^{M} (F_{2}, E)^{M}). \text{By} \qquad \text{(Lemma 2.11)}$   $(V, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (F_1, E)^M$  and  $(V, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (F_2, E)^M$  are a soft simply separation of  $(V, E)^M$ . Since  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, E)$  is soft simply connected, we have  $(V, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (F_1, E)^M = \emptyset$  or  $(V, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (F_2, E)^M = \emptyset$ . There for, $(V, E)^M \widetilde{\subset}^M (F_1, E)^M$  or  $(V, E)^M \widetilde{\subset}^M (F_2, E)^M$ .

**Definition 2.13 :** Let $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space,  $(F, E)^M$  be soft simply subset of U and  $e_x^M \tilde{\in}^M U$ . If every  $SS^M - nbdof e_x^M$  soft simply intersects  $(F, E)^M$  in some point other than  $e_x^M$  itself, then  $e_x^M$  is called soft simply limit point of  $(F, E)^M$ , (for short  $SS^M - Limp$ ). We denoted of the set of all soft simply limit point of  $(F, E)^M$  by  $(F, E)^{dM}$ .

**Lemma 2.14:** Let  $\{(U_{\alpha}, \tilde{\tau}_{U_{\alpha}}, E); \alpha \in I\}$  be a family non-empty soft simply connected subspaces of soft topological space  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ . If  $\widetilde{\cap}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} (U_{\alpha}, E)^{M} \neq \emptyset$ , then  $(\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}, \tilde{\tau}_{\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}}, E)$  is a soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ .

**Proof:** Let  $S = \widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}$ . Choose a soft simply point  $e_{x}^{M} \in (S, E)^{M}$ . Let  $(W, E)^{M}$  and  $(Z, E)^{M}$  be a soft simply division of  $(\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}, \widetilde{\tau}_{\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}}, E)$ , then  $e_{x}^{M} \in (W, E)^{M}$  or  $e_{x}^{M} \in (Z, E)^{M}$ . Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $e_{x}^{M} \in (W, E)^{M}$ , for each  $\alpha \in I$ , since  $(U_{\alpha}, \widetilde{\tau}_{U_{\alpha}}, E)$  is a soft simply connected it follows from (Lemma 2.12) that  $(U_{\alpha}, E)^{M} \widetilde{\subset}^{M} (W, E)^{M}$  or  $(U_{\alpha}, E)^{M} \widetilde{\subset}^{M} (Z, E)^{M}$ . Therefore, we have  $(V, E)^{M} \widetilde{\subset}^{M} (W, E)^{M}$  since  $e_{x}^{M} \in (W, E)^{M}$ , and then  $(Z, E)^{M} = \emptyset$ , which is a contradiction. Therefor  $(\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}, \widetilde{\tau}_{\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}}, E)$  is a soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \widetilde{\tau}, E)$ .

**Theorem 2.15:** Let  $\{(U_{\alpha}, \tilde{\tau}_{U_{\alpha}}, E); \alpha \in I\}$  be a family non-empty soft simply connected subspaces of soft simply topological space  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ . If  $U_{\alpha} \cap^{M} U_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$  for arbitrary  $\alpha, \beta \in M$  I, then  $(\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}, \tilde{\tau}_{\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^{M} U_{\alpha}}, E)$  is a soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ .

**Proof:** Fix an  $\alpha_0 \in I$ . For arbitrary  $\beta \in I$ , put  $S_\beta = U_{\alpha_0} \widetilde{U}^M U_\beta$ , (by Lemma 2.14) each  $(S_\beta, \tilde{\tau}_{S_\beta}, E)$  is soft simply connected. Then  $\{(S_\beta, \tilde{\tau}_{S_\beta}, E); \beta \in I\}$  is a family non-empty soft simply connected subspaces of softopological space  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ , and  $\widetilde{\bigcap}_{\beta \in I}^M S_\beta = (U_{\alpha_0}, E)^M \neq \emptyset$ . Obvious, we have  $\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^M U_\alpha = \widetilde{U}_{\beta \in I}^M S_\beta$ . It follows from (Lemma 2.14) that  $(\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^M U_\alpha, \tilde{\tau}_{\widetilde{U}_{\alpha \in I}^M U_\alpha}, E)$  is a soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ .

**Theorem 2.16 :**Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological spaceover X and  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, E)$  is soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ . If  $(V, E)^M \tilde{\subset}^M (A, E)^M \tilde{\subset}^M SS^M(cl(Y, E)^M)$ , then  $(A, \tilde{\tau}_A, E)$  is a soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ . In particular  $SS^M(cl(Y, E)^M)$  is a soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ .

**Proof**: Let  $(W, E)^M$  and  $(Z, E)^M$  be a soft simply division of  $(A, \tilde{\tau}_A, E)$ .By (Lemma 2.12) we have  $(A, E)^M \cong^M (W, E)^M$  or  $(A, E)^M \cong^M (Z, E)^M$ .Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $(A, E)^M \cong^M (Z, E)^M$ . By (Lemma 2.11) we have  $SS^M(cl(W, E)^M) \cap^M (Z, E)^M = \emptyset$ , and hence  $(A, E)^M \cong^M (Z, E)^M = \emptyset$ , which is a contradiction.

**Definition 2.17 :** Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) and  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, \tilde{E})$  be two soft topological spaces, let  $u: U \to V$  and  $p: E \to \tilde{E}$  be a mapping, let  $f_{pu}: (U, E)^M \to (V, \tilde{E})^M$  be a function and  $e_F^M \in (\tilde{U}, E)^M$ 

- a)  $f_{pu}$  is soft simply pu -continuous (for short  $SS^M pu cont$ ) at  $e_F^M \in (\widetilde{U}, E)^M$ , if for all  $(A, \dot{E})^M \in \widetilde{N}_{\widetilde{\sigma}^M}^M(f_{pu}(e_F^M))$ , there exists a  $(B, E)^M \in \widetilde{N}_{\widetilde{\tau}^M}^M(e_F^M)$  such that  $f_{pu}(B, E)^M \widetilde{\subset}^M (A, \dot{E})^M$ .
- b)  $f_{pu}$  is  $SS^M pu conton (\tilde{U}, E)^M$ , if  $f_{pu}$  is  $SS^M pu contat$  each soft simply point in  $(\tilde{U}, E)^M$ .

**Theorem 2.18 :** The image of soft simply connected spaces under a soft simply continuous map are soft simply connected.

**Proof:** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  and  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, \dot{E})$  be two soft topological spaces, where  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is soft simply connected and f be a  $SS^Mpu - contfunction$  from  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  to  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, \dot{E})$ , the restricted function is soft simply continuous, and without loss of generality, we may assume that u(U) = u(V) and  $p(E) = \dot{E}$ . Suppose that  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, \dot{E})$  is soft simply disconnected. By (Theorem 2.9), there exists a proper soft simply open and soft simply closed set $(A, E)^M$  in V. Since f soft simply continuous function then  $f^{-1}(A, E)^M$  is a proper soft simply open and soft simply open and soft simply closed set in U by (Theorem 6.3 in [15]), which is a contradiction.

**Proposition 2.19:** [11] Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) be a soft topological space, then the collection  $\tau_{\alpha} = \{F(\alpha): (F, E)^M \in \tilde{\tau}\}$  for each  $\alpha \in E$ , define a topology on U.

**Remark 2.20:** There exists soft simply connected soft topological space  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  such that  $(U, \tilde{\tau}_{\alpha}, E)$  is a soft simply disconnected softtopological space for some  $\alpha \in E$ .

**Example 2.21:** Consider  $U = \{1,2,3\}$  and  $E = \{e_1, e_2\}$ , let  $\tilde{\tau} = \{\tilde{\emptyset}, \tilde{U}, (F_1, E)^M, (F_2, E)^M, (F_3, E)^M (F_4, E)^M, (F_5, E)^M, (F_6, E)^M, (F_7, E)^M\}$  are soft simply sets defined as follows:

 $(F_1, E)^M = \{ (e_1, \{1,2\}), (e_2, \widetilde{U}) \}$  $(F_2, E)^M = \{ (e_1, \{1,3\}), (e_2, \widetilde{U}) \}$  $(F_3, E)^M = \{ (e_1, \{1\}), (e_2, \widetilde{U}) \}$  $(F_4, E)^M = \{ (e_1, \{2,3\}), (e_2, \widetilde{U}) \}$  $(F_5, E)^M = \{ (e_1, \{1,2\}), (e_2, \{1,3\}) \}$  $(F_6, E)^M = \{ (e_1, \{3\}), (e_2, \widetilde{U}) \}$  $(F_7, E)^M = \{ (e_1, \widetilde{\emptyset}), (e_2, \widetilde{U}) \}$ 

Then  $\tilde{\tau}$  is defines a soft topological on  $\tilde{U}$  and hence  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a soft topological spaces over  $\tilde{U}$ . Then  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a soft simply connected spaces, however  $(U, \tilde{\tau}_1, E)$  is soft simply discrete spaces, then  $(U, \tilde{\tau}_1, E)$  is soft simply disconnected.

**Definition 2.22 :** Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) be a soft topological spaces. A sub collection  $\tilde{\omega}^M$  of  $\tilde{\tau}$  is said to be soft simply base for  $\tilde{\tau}$  if every member of  $\tilde{\tau}$  can be expressed as a soft simply union of members of  $\tilde{\omega}^M$ .

**Definition 2.23:** Let{ $(U^{\alpha}, \tilde{\tau}_{\alpha}, E_{\alpha})$ } $_{\alpha \in I}$ be a family of soft topological spaces. Let us take as a basis for soft topology on the product spaces  $(\prod_{\alpha \in I} U^{\alpha}, \prod_{\alpha \in I} \tilde{\tau}_{\alpha}, \prod_{\alpha \in I} E_{\alpha})$  the collection of all soft simply sets{ $(\prod_{\alpha \in I} F_{\alpha}^{M}, \prod_{\alpha \in I} E_{\alpha}^{M})$ ; there is a finite set  $k \subset I$  such that  $(F_{\alpha}, E_{\alpha})^{M} = (U^{\alpha}, E_{\alpha})^{M}$  for each  $\alpha \in I \setminus k$ }.

Theorem 2.24: A finite product of soft simply connected spaces is soft simply connected.

**Proof :**We prove the theorem first for the product of two soft simply connected spaces  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  and  $(V, \tilde{\sigma}, \tilde{E})$  choose a fix point  $x \times y \in U \times V$ . Obvious,  $(U \times y, \tilde{\tau} \times \tilde{\sigma}|_{U \times y}, E \times \tilde{E})$  is a soft simply connected. For each  $u \in U$ ,  $(u \times V, \tilde{\tau} \times \tilde{\sigma}|_{u \times V}, E \times \tilde{E})$  is also soft simply connected, and put  $H_u = (U \times y) \tilde{U}^M$   $(u \times V)$ , then each  $(H_u, \tilde{\tau} \times \tilde{\sigma}|_{H_u}, E \times \tilde{E})$  is a soft simply connected (Lemma 2.14). Since  $x \times y \in H_u$ ;  $\forall u \in U$ , it follows from (Theorem 2.15) that  $(\tilde{U}_{u \in U}^M H_u, \tilde{\tau} \times \tilde{\sigma}|_{\tilde{U}_{u \in U}^M H_u}, E \times \tilde{E})$  is a soft simply connected spaces follows by induction, using the fact that  $(\prod_{i=1}^n U_i, \prod_{i=1}^n \tilde{\tau}_i, \prod_{i=1}^n E_i)$  is soft simply homeomorphic with  $(\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} U_i) \times U_n, (\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} U_i (\tilde{\tau}_i) \times \tilde{\tau}_n, (\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} A_i) \times A_n)$ .

**Definition 2.25 :** Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) be a softopological spaces, define an equivalence relation on U by setting  $e_x^M \sim e_y^M$  if there exists a soft simply connected subspace of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  containing both soft simply points  $e_x^M$  and  $e_y^M$ . The equivalence classes are called the soft simply components of U(for short  $SS^M - component$ ) or (the soft simply connected components) of U. Reflexivity and symmetry of the relation are obvious. Transitivity follows by noting if  $A_E$  is a soft simply connected subspaces containing soft simply points  $e_x^M$  and  $e_y^M$ , and if  $B_E$  is a soft simply connected subspaces containing soft simply points  $e_y^M$  and  $e_z^M$ , then  $A_E \tilde{U}^M B_E$  is a subspace containing soft simply points  $e_x^M$  and  $e_z^M$ , then  $A_E \tilde{U}^M B_E$  is a subspace containing soft simply points connected because  $A_E$  and  $B_E$  have the soft simply point  $e_y^M$  in common.

**Theorem 2.26**: The soft simply components of soft topological space  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  are soft simply connected disjoint soft simply subspace of *U* whose union is *U* such that each non-empty soft simply connected subspace of *U* intersects only one of them.

**Proof:** Being equivalence classes, the soft simply components of Uare disjoint and their union is U. Let  $A_E$  be an arbitrary soft simply connected subspace. Then  $A_E$  intersects only one of them. For if  $A_E$  intersects the soft simply components  $G_E$  and  $D_E$  of U, say in soft simply points  $e_x^M$  and  $e_y^M$ , respectively, then by definition, this cannot happen unless  $G_E = D_E$ . Next we shall show the soft simply component  $G_E$  is soft simply connected. Choose a soft simply point  $e_z^M$  of  $G_E$ . For each soft simply point  $e_x^M$  of  $G_E$ , we know that  $e_z^M \sim e_x^M$ , hence there exists a soft simply connected subspace  $L_E^{e_x^M}$  containing  $e_z^M$  and  $e_x^M$ . Obvious, each  $L_E^{e_x^M} \cong^M G_E$ . Therefore,  $G_E = \widetilde{U}_{e_x}^M G_E E_E^M$ . Since the soft simply subspace  $L_E^{e_x^M}$  are soft simply connected and have the soft simply point  $e_z^M$  in common,  $G_E$  is soft simply connected by Theorem 2.15.

#### **3.SOFT SIMPLY PARACOMPACT SPACES:**

In this section, we introduce a new concepts which is called soft simply paracompact spaces.

**Definition 3.1:** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space and  $\eta$  be a collection of soft simply sets of  $(U, E)^M$ , then :

1.  $\eta$  is said to be soft simply locally finite in  $(U, E)^M$  (for short  $SS^M$  – locally finite), if each soft simply point of  $(U, E)^M$  has  $aSS^M - nbd$  that intersects only finitely many elements of  $\eta$ .

2. A collection  $\sigma$  of soft simply sets of  $(U, E)^M$ , is said to be a soft simply refinement(for short  $SS^M - ref$ ) of  $\eta$  if for each element  $B \in \sigma$ , there exists an element  $A \in \eta$  containing B, if the elements of  $\sigma$  are soft simply open sets, we call  $\sigma$  a soft simply open refinement of  $\eta$ , if they are soft simply closed, we call  $\sigma$  a soft simply closed refinement.

**Proposition 3.2:** Let  $\eta$  be a soft simply locally finite collection of soft subsetsof  $(U, E)^M$ . Then:

1) Any subcollection of  $\eta$  is soft simply locally finite .

2) The collection  $\sigma = \{(SS^M(cl(F, E)^M) : (F, E)^M \in \eta\}$  is soft simply locally finite.

$$3)SS^{M}(cl(\widetilde{\mathsf{U}}^{M}_{(F,E)^{M}\in\eta}(F,E)^{M})) = \widetilde{\mathsf{U}}^{M}_{(F,E)^{M}\in\eta}SS^{M}(cl(F,E)^{M}).$$

**Proof:** (1) Is trivial by definition of soft simply locally finite.

(2)Note that any soft simply open set  $(A, E)^M$  that intersects the soft simply set  $SS^M(cl(F, E)^M)$  necessarily intersects  $(F, E)^M$ . Thus if  $(A, E)^M$  is a  $SS^M - nbdof SS^M - point e_x^M$  that intersects only finitely many elements  $(F, E)^M$  of  $\eta$ , then  $(F, E)^M$  can intersect at must the same number of soft simply sets of the collection  $\sigma$ .

(3) Let  $\widetilde{U}_{(F,E)^{M} \in \eta}^{M} (F, E)^{M} = (Y, E)^{M}$ . Obvious  $\widetilde{U}_{(F,E)^{M} \in \eta}^{M} SS^{M}(cl(F, E)^{M}) = SS^{M}(cl(Y, E)^{M})$ . We prove the reverse inclusion under the assumption of soft simply locally finiteness. Let  $e_{x}^{M} \in SS^{M}(cl(Y, E)^{M})$ , let  $(A, E)^{M}$  is a  $SS^{M} - nbdof SS^{M} - pointe_{x}^{M}$  that intersects only finitely many elements  $(F, E)^{M}$  of  $\eta$ , say  $(F_{1}, E)^{M}, \dots, (F_{k}, E)^{M}$ . Then  $e_{x}^{M}$  belongs to one of the soft simply sets  $SS^{M}(cl(F_{1}, E)^{M}, \dots, SS^{M}(cl(F_{k}, E)^{M})$ . For otherwise, the soft simply set  $(A, E)^{M} \cap ^{M} (\widetilde{U}^{M} \{SS^{M}(cl(F_{1}, E)^{M}, \dots, SS^{M}(cl(F_{k}, E)^{M})\})^{C}$  would be a  $SS^{M} - nbdof e_{x}^{M}$  that intersects no element of  $\eta$ , and therefore it does not intersect  $(Y, E)^{M}$ , which is a contradiction with  $e_{x}^{M} \in SS^{M}(cl(Y, E)^{M})$ .

**Definition 3.3:** Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a soft topological space is said to be soft simply paracompact (for short  $SS^M - paracompact$ ) if each soft simply open covering  $\eta$  of  $(U, E)^M$  has a soft simply locally finite soft simply open refinement  $\sigma$  that covers  $(U, E)^M$ .

**Remark 3.4 :** Any  $SS^M$  – compact is  $SS^M$  – lindelöf, and any  $SS^M$  – lindelöf is  $SS^M$  – paracompact.

**Proposition 3.5**:Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be  $aSS^M - paracompact space$ . If  $E = \{e\}$ , then  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is  $SS^M - paracompact$  if and only if the collection  $\eta = \{F(e) : (F, E)^M \in \tilde{\tau}\}$  is a  $SS^M - paracompact$  topology on U.

It is well known that a *lindelöf* spacemay not compact and a paracompact space may not *lindelöf*. Therefore, it follows from Proposition 3.5 that a  $SS^M$  – *lindelöf* space may not  $SS^M$  – *compact* and a  $SS^M$  – *paracompact* space may not  $SS^M$  – *lindelöf*.

**Theorem 3.6**: Each  $SS^M$  – paracompact and  $SS^M$  –  $T_2$  space is  $SS^M$  – normal space.

**Proof**: Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a  $SS^M$  – paracompact and  $SS^M$  – T<sub>2</sub> space. First one proves soft simply regularity. Let  $e_x^M$  be a  $SS^M$  – Limp of  $(U, E)^M$  and let  $(A, E)^M$  be a  $SS^M$  – closed set of  $(U, E)^M$ 

disjoint from  $e_x^M$ . The  $SS^M - T_2$  condition enable us to take,  $\forall SS^M - Limpe_y^M$  in  $(A, E)^M$  an  $SS^M - open$  set  $(B^{e_y^M}, E)^M$  about  $e_y^M$  whose  $SS^M - closure$  is disjoint from  $e_x^M$ . Let  $\eta = \{(B^{e_y^M}, E)^M : e_y^M \in (A, E)^M\}$   $\widetilde{U}^M\{(A, E)^{M^C}\}$ . Then  $\eta$  is a  $SS^M - open$  covering of  $(U, E)^M$ . Since  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a  $SS^M - paracompact$  there exists a  $SS^M - locally$  finite  $SS^M - open$  refinement  $\sigma$  that covers  $(U, E)^M$ . Form the subcollection  $\mu$  of  $\sigma$  consisting of each element of  $\sigma$  that intersects  $(A, E)^M$ . Then  $\mu$  covers  $(A, E)^M$ . Moreover, if  $C \in \mu$ , then the  $SS^M - closure$  of C is disjoint from  $e_x^M$  Since C interects  $(A, E)^M$  it lies in some  $SS^M - open$  set  $(B^{e_y^M}, E)^M$ , whose  $SS^M - closure$  is disjoint from  $e_x^M$ . Let  $(V, E)^M = \widetilde{U}_{C\in\mu}^M C, (V, E)^M$  is a  $SS^M - open$  in  $(U, E)^M$  containing  $(A, E)^M$ . Since  $\mu$  is  $SS^M - locally$  finite,  $SS^M(cl(V, E)^M) = \widetilde{U}_{C\in\mu}^M SS^M(cl(C))$  by (Proposition 3.2). Then  $SS^M(cl(V, E)^M)$  is disjoint from  $e_x^M$ .

To prove soft simply normality, one only repeats the same argument, replacing  $e_x^M$  by a  $SS^M - closed$  set throughout and replacing the  $SS^M - T_2$  condition by soft simply regularity.

**Theorem 3.7 :** Each  $SS^M$  – closed subspace of a  $SS^M$  – paracompact is  $SS^M$  – paracompact.

**Proof:**Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a  $SS^M - paracompact$  space, and  $Y \cong^M U$  such that  $(Y, E)^M$  is  $SS^M - closed$  in  $(U, E)^M$ , let  $\eta$  be a soft simply covering of  $(Y, E)^M$  by  $SS^M - open$  in  $(Y, E)^M$ . For every  $(A, E)^M \in \eta$ , take  $SS^M - open$  set  $(\hat{A}, E)^M$  of  $(U, E)^M$  such that  $(\hat{A}, E)^M \cap^M (Y, E)^M = (A, E)^M$ . Cover  $(U, E)^M$  by the  $SS^M - open(\hat{A}, E)^M$ , along with the  $SS^M - open$  set  $(Y, E)^{M^C}$ . Suppose that  $\sigma$  is a  $SS^M - locally finiteSS^M - open$  refinement of this  $SS^M - covering$  that covers  $(U, E)^M$ . Then the collection  $\mu = \{(B, E)^M \cap^M (Y, E)^M : (B, E)^M \in \sigma\}$  is the required locally finite soft simply open refinement of  $\eta$ .

Remark 3.8 : By Proposition 3.5, it is easy to see the following two facts:

- 1) A  $SS^M$  paracompact sub space of  $aSS^M$   $T_2$  space $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  need do not be  $SS^M$  closed in  $(U, E)^M$ .
- 2) A  $SS^M$  subspace of a  $SS^M$  paracompact need not by  $SS^M$  paracompact.

**Lemma 3.9:**Let  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  be a softtopological space. If each  $SS^M$  – open covering of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has a  $SS^M$  –locally finite  $SS^M$  – closed refinement, then every  $SS^M$  – open covering of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has  $SS^M$  –locally finite  $SS^M$  – open refinement.

**Proof:** Let  $\eta$  be a  $SS^M$  – open covering of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$ , and let  $\sigma = \{(F_s, E)^M : s \in S\}$ , be a  $SS^M$  –locally finite  $SS^M$  – closed refinement of  $\eta$ . For each  $SS^M$  – point  $e_x^M \in (U, E)^M$ , choose a  $SS^M$  – open  $nbh\left(V_{e_x^M}, E\right)^M$  of  $e_x^M$  such that  $\left(V_{e_x^M}, E\right)^M$  intersect finitely many elements of  $\sigma$ . Let  $\mu = \left\{\left(V_{e_x^M}, E\right)^M : e_x^M \in (E, E)^M\right\}$ , and let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a  $SS^M$  –locally finite  $SS^M$  – closed refinement of  $\mu$ . For each  $s \in S$ , put  $(W_s, E)^M = (\widetilde{U}^M \{(D, E)^M : (D, E)^M \in \mathcal{D}, (D, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (F_s, E)^M = \emptyset\})^C$ . Obvious, each  $(W_s, E)^M$  is  $SS^M$  – open and contains  $(F_s, E)^M$ . Moreover, for each  $s \in S$  and each  $(D, E)^M \in \mathcal{D}$ , we have  $(W_s, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (D, E)^M \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $(F_s, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (D, E)^M \neq \emptyset$ . For each  $s \in S$ , choose a  $(A_s, E)^M \in \eta$  such that  $(F_s, E)^M \widetilde{\subset}^M (A_s, E)^M$ , and let  $(G_s, E)^M = (A_s, E)^M \widetilde{\cap}^M (W_s, E)^M$ .
$\{(G_s, E)^M : s \in S\}$  is a  $SS^M - open$  covering and refines  $\eta$ . It is easy to see that each element of  $\mathcal{D}$  intersects only finitely many  $(G_s, E)^M$ . Therefore  $\{(G_s, E)^M : s \in S\}$  is a  $SS^M$  -locally finite.

**Lemma 3.10** : Each $\sigma$  –locally finite soft simply open covering has a soft simply locally finite refinement.

**Proof**: Let  $\mathcal{U} = \widetilde{U}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}^{M} \mathcal{U}_{n}$  be a  $\sigma$ -locally finite soft simply open covering for some soft topological space, where each  $\mathcal{U}_{n}$  is  $SS^{M}$ -locally finite. Put  $\mathcal{V}_{1} = \mathcal{U}_{1}$ ,  $\mathcal{V}_{n} = \{(F, E)^{M} \cap (\widetilde{U}_{k < n}^{M} \mathcal{U}_{k}^{*})^{C} : (F, E)^{M} \in \mathcal{U}_{n}\}$ , where  $\mathcal{U}_{k}^{*} = \widetilde{U}^{M} \{(F, E)^{M} : (F, E)^{M} \in \mathcal{U}_{k}\}$ . Then it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{V} = \widetilde{U}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}^{M} \mathcal{V}_{n}$  is a  $SS^{M}$ -locally finite soft simply open covering and refines  $\mathcal{U}$ .

**Lemma 3.11 :** Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) be a  $SS^M - regular$ , if each soft simply open covering of  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  has a  $SS^M$  –locally finite refinement, then it has a  $SS^M$  –locally finite $SS^M$  –closed refinement.

**Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{U} = \{(F_{\alpha}, E)^{M}; \alpha \in A\}$  be an arbitrary soft simply open covering. Then, for each  $SS^{M} - Limtpe_{x}^{M} \in U$ , there exists some  $(F_{\alpha}, E)^{M} \in U$  such that  $e_{x}^{M} \in (F_{\alpha}, E)^{M}$ . By soft simply regularity, there is an  $SS^{M} - nbh(\mathcal{V}_{e_{x}^{M}}, E)$  such that  $e_{x}^{M} \in (\mathcal{V}_{e_{x}^{M}}, E) \cong^{M} SS^{M}(cl(\mathcal{V}_{e_{x}^{M}}, E)^{M} \cong^{M} (F_{\alpha}, E)^{M}$ . Put  $\mathcal{V} = \{(\mathcal{V}_{e_{x}^{M}}, E); e_{x}^{M} \in U\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{V}$  is a soft simply open covering and refines  $\mathcal{U}$ . By the assumption, there is a  $SS^{M}$  -locally finite soft simply covering  $\mathcal{W} = \{(\mathcal{W}_{\beta}, E)^{M}; \beta \in B\}$ , such that  $\mathcal{W}$  refines  $\mathcal{V}$ . Then  $\{SS^{M}(cl(\mathcal{W}_{\beta}, E)^{M}); \beta \in B\}$  is a  $SS^{M}$  -locally finite soft simply closed covering and refines U.

By Lemma 3.9, 3.10, and 3.11, we have the following theorem:

**Theorem 3.12:**Let( $U, \tilde{\tau}, E$ ) be a  $SS^M - regular$ . Then the following conditions on U are equivalent:

- 1)  $(U, \tilde{\tau}, E)$  is a  $SS^M$  paracompact.
- 2) Every soft simply open covering has a  $\sigma$  –locally finite soft simply open refinement.
- 3) Every soft simply open covering has a locally finite soft simply refinement.
- 4) Every soft simply open covering has a locally finite soft simply closed refinement.

#### **Conclusion:**

The aim of this research is using the class of soft simply open set to define soft simply connected spaces. we study basic definitions and theorems about it. Further, we introduce the notion Soft Simply Paracompact Spaces, and we present soft simply pu-continuous defined between two soft topological spaces and study their properties in detail. Finally, we hope is togeneralize these notions by using other open sets.

#### **References:**

[1] Molodtsov, D.1999. Soft set theory—first results". *Computers and Mathematics with Applications*, *37*(4-5), 19-31.

[2] Maji P, K and Biswas , R and Roy, A. 2003. Soft set theory. *Computers and Mathematics with Applications*, 45(4-5), 555-562.

[3] Shabir, M. and Naz, M. 2011. On Some New Operations in Soft Set Theory. *Computers andMath.withAppl*, *57*, 1786-1799.

[4] Aygünoğlu, A and Aygün, H. 2011. Some notes on soft topological spaces. *Neural computing and Applications*, 21(1), 113-119.

[5] Min W. K. 2011. A note on soft topological spaces. Computers and Mathematics with

Applications, 62(9), 3524-3528.

[6] Neubrunnová, A 1975. On transfinite sequences of certain types of functions. Acta Fac. Rer

.Natur. Univ. Comenianae, 30, 121-126.

[7] Willard, S. 1970. General topology. Addison Readings Mass. London D, on Mills. Ont.

[8] El. Sayed, M andNoaman, I, A. 2013. simply fuzzy generalized open and closed sets . *Journal of Advances in Mathematics* 4(3), 528-533.

[9] El. Sayed , M and El-Bably, M. K.2017. Soft Simply Open Sets in Soft Topological Space. *Journal of Computational and Theoretical Nanoscience*, *14*(8), 4100-4103.

[10]Subhashinin, J and Sekar, C. 2014. Soft P-connectedness via soft P-open sets, *International Journal of Mathematics Trends and Technology*. 6(3) 203-214.

[11] Chen, B. 2013. Some local properties of soft semi-open sets, *Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society*, 2013.

[12] Shabir, M. and Naz, M. 2011. On soft topological spaces. *Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 61(7): 1786-1799.* 

[13] Rong ,W.2012. The countabilities of soft topological spaces. *International Journal of Computational and Mathematical Sciences*, 6, 159-162.

[14] Zorlutuna, I., Akdag, M., Min, W. K., &Atmaca, S. (2012). Remarks on soft topological spaces. *Annals of fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics*, *3*(2), 171-185.

[15] Lin, F. (2013). Soft connected spaces and soft paracompact spaces. *International Journal of Mathematical and Computational Sciences*, 7(2), 277-283.

[16] Hussain, S. (2015). A note on soft connectedness. *Journal of the Egyptian Mathematical Society*, 23(1), 6-11.

[17] Fischer, H., Repovš, D., Virk, Ž., &Zastrow, A. (2011). On semilocally simply connected spaces. *Topology and its Applications*, *158*(3), 397-408.

[18] Krishnaveni, J., &Sekar, C. (2013). Soft semi connected and Soft locally semi connected properties in Soft topological spaces. *International Journal of Mathematics and Soft Computing*, *3*(3), 85-91.

[19] Al-Khafaj, M. A. K., & Mahmood, M. H. (2014). Some properties of soft connected spaces and soft locally connected spaces. *IOSR Journal of Mathematics*, *10*(5), 102-107.

[20] El-Latif, A. M. A. (2016). Soft connected properties and irresolute soft functions based on b-open soft sets. *FactaUniversitatis, Series: Mathematics and Informatics*, *31*(5), 947-967.

[21] Lin, F. (2013). Soft connected spaces and soft paracompact spaces. *International Journal of Mathematical and* 

# **Fuzzy Precompact Space**

#### Saad Mahdi Jaber

University of Wasit/ Education College for Pure Science/ Department of Mathematics

### s.jaber@uowasit.edu.iq

**Abstract**. In this paper we study and introduce the concept of preompactness of a fuzzy topological space and also, we attain a number of important characterizations of a fuzzy precompact space. The notion of precompactness that can be extended to arbitrary fuzzy sets. So, this paper explains the relationship between fuzzy precompact space and fuzzy precompact subspace. Finally, we give necessary and sufficient conditions for a fuzzy pre regular space to be fuzzy precompact.

Key words and phrases: Fuzzy precompact space, Fuzzy pre q-nbd, Fuzzy pre cluster point.

#### 1. Introduction

The fuzzy concept has invaded almost all branches of mathematics, since the introduction the fundamental concept of fuzzy sets by Zadeh [9] in 1965. Chang [4] in 1968, introduced the definition of fuzzy topological spaces and extended in a straight forward manner some concepts of crisp topological spaces to fuzzy topological spaces. The fuzzy topology was originating with Chang's article [9] in 1968, also may be considered as a new branch of mathematics, then many additional structures were studied by using fuzzy sets and the related problems in pure and applied mathematics. While Wong [16] in 1974 discussed and generalized some properties of fuzzy topological spaces. Ming, p.p. and Ming, L.Y. [11] in 1980 used fuzzy topology to define the neighborhood structure of fuzzy point. Shahna A. S. Bin [13] in 1991 defined the concept of pre open in fuzzy topological space.

In what follows, a fuzzy topological space (X, T) as defined by Chang [4], we shall denote for its by a *fts* (X, T) or simply by a *fts* X. The concepts closure [4], interior [4] and complement [15] of a set A in a fuzzy topological space (X, T) are denoted by cl(A), int(A) and 1 - A respectively. A fuzzy set A in X is said to be fuzzy pre open if  $A \le int(cl(A))$ ). The fuzzy pre closed 1 - A is a complement of a fuzzy pre open set A. The notation pcl(A) stands for the fuzzy pre closure, which is the union of all fuzzy points  $x_{\alpha}$ , when any fuzzy pre open set U containing  $x_{\alpha}$  with  $A \land U \neq 0$ , every fuzzy open in a fts X is fuzzy pre open.

#### 2. Preiminaries

First, we recall the following definitions, theorems, propositions, corollaries, remarks and lemmas that are needed in the next section.

#### 2.1. Definition [10, P.211-220]

Let  $X \neq \emptyset$  and let *I* be the unite interval, that means I = [0,1]. A fuzzy set *A* in *X* is a function from *X* into the unit interval *I*. (that means  $A: X \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a function).

A fuzzy set A in X can be explain by the set of pairs:  $A = \{(x, A(x)): x \in X\}$ . The notation  $I^X$  stand for the family of all fuzzy sets in X.

#### 2.2. Definition [10, P.211-220]

Let *f* be a fuzzy mapping from a set *X* into *Y*. Let  $A \in I^X$  and  $B \in I^Y$ .

a- The image of A under f, f(A) is a fuzzy set in Y defined by for each  $y \in Y$ ,

$$[f(A)](y) = \begin{cases} \sup A(x) \text{ if } f^{-1}(y) \neq \emptyset \\ x \in f^{-1}(y) \\ 0 & otherwise, \end{cases}$$

Where  $f^{-1}(y) = \{x \in X | f(x) = y\}.$ 

b- The inverse image of B under  $f, f^{-1}(B)$  is a fuzzy set in X defined by for each  $x \in X$ ,  $[f^{-1}(B)](x) = B(f(x)).$ 

2.3. Definition [10, P.211-220],[3]

A fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  in X is fuzzy set defined as follows:

$$x_{\alpha}(y) = \begin{cases} \alpha & \text{if } y = x \\ 0 & \text{if } y \neq x \end{cases}$$

Where  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ;  $\alpha$  is called its value and x is support of  $x_{\alpha}$ . The set of all fuzzy points in X will be denoted by FP(X).

2.4. Definition [10, P.211-220], [1] A fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  in X is said to belong to a fuzzy set A (denoted by:  $x_{\alpha} \in A$ ) if and only if  $\alpha \leq A(x)$ .

## 2.5. Definition [10, P.211-220],[1]

A fuzzy set *A* in *X* is called quasi-coincident with a fuzzy set *B* in *X* denoted by AqB if and only if A(x) + B(x) > 1, for some  $x \in X$ . If *A* is not quasi-coincident with, then  $A(x) + B(x) \le 1$ , for every  $x \in X$  and denoted by  $A\tilde{q}B$ .

2.6. Lemma [3, P.137-150]

- Let *A* and *B* are fuzzy sets in *X*. Then:
  - (a) If  $A \wedge B = 0$ , then  $A \tilde{q} B$
  - (b)  $A\tilde{q}B$  if and only if  $A \leq B^c$
- 2.7. Proposition [3, P. 137-150]

If *A* a fuzzy set in *X*, then  $x_{\alpha} \in A$  if and only if  $x_{\alpha} \tilde{q} A^{c}$ .

# 2.8. Definition [4, P.182-190]

A fuzzy topology on a set X is a collection T of fuzzy sets in X satisfieding:

- (1)  $0 \in T \text{ and } 1 \in T$ ,
- (2) If A and B belong to T then  $A \land B \in T$ ,
- (3) If  $A_i$  belong to T for each  $i \in I$ , then so does  $\bigvee_{i \in I} A_i$

If *T* is a fuzzy topology on *X*, then the pair (*X*, *T*) is called a fuzzy topological space. Members of *T* are called fuzzy open sets. Fuzzy sets of the forms  $1 - A = A^c$ , where *A* is fuzzy open set are called fuzzy closed sets.

2.9. Definition [13, P.303-308], [17]

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. Then:

- i) The fuzzy interior of A, denoted by int(A) is the union of all fuzzy open sets in X wich are contained in A.  $(int(A) = \bigvee \{B: B \le A, B \in T\})$
- ii) The fuzzy pre closure of A, denoted by cl(A) is the intersection of all fuzzy closed sets in X contains A.  $(cl(A) = \bigwedge \{B: A \le B, B^c \in T\})$

2.10. Definition [10, P.211-220]

A fuzzy set A in fts(X) is called quasi-neighborhood of fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  in X if and only if there exists  $B \in T$  such that  $x_{\alpha}qB \leq A$ .

# 2.11. Definition [10, P.211-220]

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space and  $x_{\alpha}$  be a fuzzy point in X. Then the family  $N_{x_{\alpha}}^{Q}$  consisting of all quasi-neighborhood (q-nbd) of a fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  is said to be the system of quasi-neighborhood of  $x_{\alpha}$ .

# 2.12. Theorem [13, P.303-308], [17]

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space and A, B are two fuzzy sets in X. Then:

- i) 0 = cl(0),
- ii)  $cl(A \lor B) = cl(A) \lor cl(B) \text{ and } cl(A \land B) \le cl(A) \land cl(B)$ ,
- iii)  $int(A \land B) = int(A) \land int(B), int(A \lor B) \ge int(A) \lor int(B),$
- iv) cl(cl(A)) = cl(A), int(int(A)) = int(A),
- v)  $int(A) \le A \le cl(A),$
- vi) If  $A \le B$  then  $int(A) \le int(B)$  and  $cl(A) \le cl(B)$ .

# 2.13. Remark

Let A, B are two fuzzy sets in fts(X), then:

- a- int(A) = 1 cl(1 A),
- b- pint(A) = 1 pcl(1 A).

*Proof:* a- It is straightforward. b- It is straightforward.

## 2.14. Definition [4,P.182-190]

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space and let A be any fuzzy set in X, A is called fuzzy pre open set if  $A \leq int(cl(A))$ . The complement of a fuzzy pre open set is called fuzzy pre closed set. The family of all fuzzy pre open sets in X will be denoted by FPO(X).

## 2.15. Definition [2, P.131-139]

A fuzzy set A in fts(X) is said to be pre quasi-neighborhood (pre q-nbd) of  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$  if and only if there exists  $B \in FPO(X)$  such that  $x_{\alpha}qB \leq A$ .

# 2.16. Definition [6, P.303-312]

A fuzzy set *A* in fts(X) is said to be fuzzy pre quasi-neighborhood (pre q-nbd) of  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$ , if there is a fuzzy pre open set *B* in *X*, such that  $x_{\alpha}qB \leq A$ . The family of all pre quasi-neighborhood of fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  is said to be the system of pre quasi-neighborhood of  $x_{\alpha}$  and denoted by  $N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}$ .

# 2.17. Proposition

Let *A* be a fuzzy set in fts(X). Then:

- iii) The fuzzy pre interior of A, denoted by pint(A) is the union of all pre open subsets of X wich are contained in A.
- iv) The fuzzy pre closure of A, denoted by pcl(A) is the intersection of all fuzzy pre closed subset of X contains A.

# 2.18. Proposition [12, P.1601-1608]

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space and  $A, B \leq X$ . Then:

- i-  $int(A) \leq pint(A) \leq A$ ,
- ii-  $A \leq pcl(A) \leq cl(A)$ ,
- iii- A is a fuzzy pre closed iff pcl(A) = A,
- iv- pcl(pcl(A)) = pcl(A),
- v- If  $A \le B$ , then  $pcl(A) \le pcl(B)$ ,
- vi-  $\bigvee_{i \in I} pcl(U_i) \leq pcl(\bigvee_{i \in I} (U_i)),$
- vii-  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$  iff  $U \wedge A \neq 0$ ,  $\forall U \in FPO(X), x_{\alpha} \in U$ .

2.19. Remark

If A, B are fuzzy pre open sets, then  $A \wedge B$  is fuzzy pre open. *Proof:* It is clear.

### 2.20. Remark [8,P.111-12]

Let A be a fuzzy set in fts(X). Then A is a fuzzy pre open if and only if A is a fuzzy pre quasineighborhood of its fuzzy points.

### 2.21. Proposition

Let *A* be a fuzzy set in fts(X). Then a fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$  if and only if every fuzzy pre open  $B \in FPO(X)$ , if  $x_{\alpha}qB$  then AqB.

*Proof*:  $\Rightarrow$ )Suppose that *B* be a fuzzy pre open set in *X* such that  $x_{\alpha}qB$  and  $A\tilde{q}B$ . Then  $A \le (1 - B)$ , but  $x_{\alpha} \notin (1 - B)$  (since  $x_{\alpha}qB$ , then  $\alpha \ge (1 - B)(x)$ ) and 1 - B is a fuzzy pre closed set in *X*. Thus  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$ .

( $\Leftarrow$  Suppose that  $x_{\alpha} \notin pcl(A)$ , then there exists a fuzzy pre closed set *B* in *X* such that  $A \leq B$  and  $x_{\alpha} \notin B$ , therefor by (2.7.*Proposition*), we have  $x_{\alpha}q1 - B$ . Since  $A \leq B$ , then by (2.6.*ii*.*Lemma*),  $A\tilde{q}1 - B$ . Hence  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$  if  $x_{\alpha}qB$  and AqB.

### 2.22. Definition [8, P.111-121]

In a fts(X), a mapping  $S: D \to FP(X)$  is said to be a fuzzy net and denoted by  $\{S(n): n \in D\}$ , D is directed set. If  $S(n) = x_{\alpha_n}^n$  where  $x \in X$ ,  $n \in D$  and  $\alpha_n \in (0,1]$ , then we shall denote it by  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n: n \in D\}$  or simply  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}$ .

## 2.23. Definition [8, P.111-121]

A fuzzy net  $\mathfrak{I} = \{y_{\alpha_m}^m : m \in E\}$  in *X* is called a fuzzy subnet of fuzzy net  $S = \{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  if and only if there is a mapping  $f: E \to D$  such that:

- (a)  $\Im = Sof$ , that is  $y_{\alpha_i}^i = x_{\alpha_{f(i)}}^{f(i)}, \forall i \in E$ .
- (b)  $\forall n \in D$  there is some  $m \in E$ , such that  $f(m) \ge n$ .

A fuzzy sub net of a fuzzy net  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  denoted by  $\{x_{\alpha_{f(m)}}^{f(m)}, m \in E\}$ .

## 2.24. Definition [8, P.111-121]

Let  $S = \{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  be a fuzzy net in a fuzzy topological space (X, T) and  $A \in I^X$ , then:

- i- S is said to be eventually with A if and only if  $\exists m \in D$  such that  $x_{\alpha_n}^n qA$ ,  $\forall n \ge m$ .
- ii- *S* is said to be frequently with *A* if and only if  $\forall n \in D, \exists m \in D, m \ge n$  and  $x_{\alpha_m}^m qA$ .

#### 2.25. Definition [8, P.111-121]

Let  $S = \{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  be a fuzzy net in a fuzzy topological space (X, T) and  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$ , then:

- (i) S is said to be convergent to  $x_{\alpha}$  and denoted by  $S \rightarrow x_{\alpha}$ , if S is eventually with  $A, \forall A \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{Q}$ ,  $x_{\alpha}$  is called a limit point of S.
- (ii) S is said to be has a cluster point  $x_{\alpha}$  and denoted by  $S \propto x_{\alpha}$ , if S is frequently with  $A, \forall A \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{Q}$ .

## 2.26. Definition

Let  $S = \{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  be a fuzzy net in a fuzzy topological space (X, T) and  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$ . Then:

(i) *S* is said to be p-convergent to  $x_{\alpha}$  (denoted by:  $S \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$ ), if *S* is eventually with  $A, \forall A \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}$ ,  $x_{\alpha}$  is called a pre limit point of *S*.

(ii) S is said to be called has a fuzzy p-cluster point  $x_{\alpha}$  (denoted by:  $S_{\alpha}^{p} x_{\alpha}$ ), if S is frequently with  $A, \forall A \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}$ .

## 2.27. Definition [8, P.111-121]

A fuzzy filterbase on X is a non-empty subset  $\mathcal{F}$  of  $I^X$  such that:

- (1)  $0 \notin \mathcal{F}$ ,
- (2) If  $A_1, A_2 \in \mathcal{F}$ , then  $\exists A_3$  such that  $A_3 \leq A_1 \wedge A_2$ .

## 2.28. Definition [8, P.111-121]

A fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  in a fuzzy topological space (X, T) is said to be a fuzzy pre cluster point of a fuzzy filterbase  $\mathcal{F}$  on X if  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(F)$ , for all  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ .

## 2.29. Definition

A fuzzy topological space (X, T) is called fuzzy pre Hausdorff or pre  $T_2$ -space if and only if for every pair of distinct fuzzy points  $x_r$ ,  $y_s$  in X, there exist  $A \in N_{x_r}^{pQ}$ ,  $B \in N_{y_s}^{pQ}$  such that  $A \wedge B = 0$ .

## 2.30. Definition

Let *B* be a fuzzy set in a fuzzy topological space (X, T), then  $T_B = \{A \land B : A \in \tau\}$  is called a fuzzy relative topology and  $(B, T_B)$  is said to be a fuzzy topological subspace of *X*.

## 2.31. Theorem

In a fuzzy topological space (*X*, *T*), if *V* is a fuzzy open set, then  $V \wedge cl(A) \leq cl(V \wedge A)$  for any fuzzy set *A* in *X*.

*Proof:* Let  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$  and *V* is a fuzzy open in *X*. If  $x_{\alpha} \in V \land cl(A)$ , then  $x_{\alpha} \in V$  and  $U \land A \neq 0$ ,  $\forall U \in T, x_{\alpha} \in U$ . Since  $U \land V$  is fuzzy open set, therefore  $U \land (V \land A) \neq 0$  and  $x_{\alpha} \in cl(V \land A)$ . Hence  $V \land cl(A) \leq cl(V \land A)$ .

## 2.32. Definition

In a fuzzy topological space (*X*, *T*), if  $A \le B < X$ , then a fuzzy set *A* is called fuzzy pre open in *B* if there exist a fuzzy pre open *H* in *X* such that  $A = H \land B$ .

## 2.33. Proposition

In a fuzzy topological space (X, T), if  $A \le B < X$ , then a fuzzy set A is a fuzzy pre open in B, if A is a fuzzy pre open in X.

*Proof:* We have  $A = A \land B$ , but A is fuzzy pre open in X. Hence, by (2.32.Definition) A is a fuzzy pre open in B.

## 2.34. Proposition

Let  $A \le B < X$ , where (X, T) is a fuzzy topological space and *B* is a fuzzy pre open in *X*. Then *A* is a fuzzy pre open in *B* if and only if  $A = S \land B$ , where S is a fuzzy open in *X*.

*Proof:* ⇒) To prove *A* is a fuzzy pre open in *B*, we must prove  $S \land B$  is a fuzzy pre open in *X* (i.e.  $S \land B \le int(cl(S \land B)))$ .

Since  $S \land B \leq S \land int(cl(B)) = int(int(S)) \land int(cl(B)) = int(int(S) \land cl(B))$ 

by  $(2.31.Theorem) \le int(cl(int(S) \land B)) \le int(cl(S \land B))$ . Thus  $S \land B$  is pre open in X. Hence A is a fuzzy pre open in B by (2.33.Proposition).

( $\leftarrow$  We have  $A = S \land B$ , since S is fuzzy open in X, then S is a fuzzy pre open. Hence by (2.30.Definition) A is a fuzzy pre open in B.

## 2.35. Definition [2,P.131-139]

A family V of fuzzy sets has the finite intersection property if and only if the intersection of the members of the each finite subfamily of V is a non-empty.

## 2.36. Definition [8,P.111-121]

A family B of a fuzzy sets in a fuzzy topological space (X, T) is said to be a fuzzy pre open cover of a

fuzzy set *A* if and only if  $A \le \bigvee \{G: G \in B\}$  and each member of *B* is pre open fuzzy set. A sub cover of *B* is a sub family which is also cover.

#### 2.37. Definition [5, P.39-49]

In a fuzzy topological space (*X*, *T*), a fuzzy set *D* is said to be fuzzy dense if there exists no fuzzy closed set *B* in *X*, such that D < B < 1. That is, cl(D) = 1.

#### 2.38. Definition [5, P.39-49]

In a fuzzy topological space (X, T), a fuzzy set D is said to be fuzzy pre dense if there exists no fuzzy pre closed set B in X, such that D < B < 1. That is, cl(D) = 1.

#### 2.39. Theorem

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. A fuzzy set *D* in *X* is a fuzzy dense if and only if it is a fuzzy pre dense, with  $int(D) \neq 0$ .

*Proof*:⇒) Suppose that *D* is a fuzzy dense in *X*. Let  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$  and  $x_{\alpha} \in cl(D)$ . but  $x_{\alpha} \notin pcl(D)$ . So  $x_{\alpha} \in (1 - pcl(D))$  by (2.13.*Remark*) implies that  $x_{\alpha} \in pint(1 - D) \leq (1 - D) \leq cl(1 - D)$ . So

 $x_{\alpha} \in (1 - int(D))$  by (2.13.Remark). Thus,  $x_{\alpha} \notin int(D)$  so there is no fuzzy open U (containing  $x_{\alpha}$ ) such that  $U \leq D$ , and so  $U \wedge D = 0$ , a contradiction that D is a fuzzy dense set. Therefor  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(D)$  and  $1 \leq pcl(D)$ . Hence, pcl(D) = 1.

 $(\Leftarrow$ It is straightforward.

#### 2.40. Definition [6, P.303-312]

A fuzzy topological space (X, T) is said to be fuzzy pre regular if for each fuzzy point  $x_t$  and each fuzzy pre q-nbd U of  $x_t$ , there exists a fuzzy pre open set V in X such that  $x_t qV \le pcl(V) \le U$ .

#### 2.41. Theorem

In a fts(X),  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$  and  $A \in I^X$ . Then  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$  if and only if there exists a fuzzy net in A pre converge to  $x_{\alpha}$ .

*Proof:*  $\Longrightarrow$ ) Suppose that  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$ , then for every  $B \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}$  there is

$$x_B(y) = \begin{cases} A(x_{\alpha}) & \text{if } y = x_B \\ 0 & \text{if } y \neq x_B, \end{cases} \quad \text{such that } A(x_{\alpha}) + B(x_{\alpha}) > 1.$$

Notice that  $(N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}, \geq)$  is directed set, therefor  $S: N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ} \to FP(X)$  is a fuzzy net in A and defined as  $S(B) = x_B^A$ . To show that  $S \to x_{\alpha}$ . Let  $W \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}$ , then there is  $F \in T$  such that  $x_{\alpha}qF$  and  $F \leq W$ . Since  $F(x_F^A) + x_F^A > 1$  and  $F \leq W$  then  $W(x_F^A) + x_F^A > 1$ . Thus  $x_F^A qW$ . Let  $E \geq F$ , therefor  $E \leq F$ . Since  $E(x_E^A) + x_E^A > 1$  and  $F \leq W$ , then  $W(x_F^A) + x_F^A > 1$ . Thus  $x_E^A qW$ ,  $\forall E \geq F$ . Therefor  $S \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$ .

( $\Leftarrow$  Suppose that  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  is a fuzzy net in A where  $(D, \geq)$  is directed set, such that  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$ . Then for every  $\in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}$ , there exists  $m \in D$  such that  $x_{\alpha_n}^n qW$  for all  $n \geq m$ . Since  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \in A$ , then by (2.7. *Proposition*)  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \tilde{q} A^c$ , thus AqW and  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$ .

#### 2.42. Lemma

In a *f*ts *X*, a fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  is a fuzzy pre cluster point for the fuzzy net  $\{S(n): n \in D\}$  with a directed set  $(D, \geq)$  if and only if it has a fuzzy subnet which fuzzy pre converges to  $x_{\alpha}$ .

*Proof:* ⇒) Suppose that a fuzzy net  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  has the pre cluster point  $x_\alpha$ . Let  $N_{x_\alpha}^{pQ}$  be the collection of all fuzzy pre q-nbd of  $x_\alpha$ . Thus, for any  $W \in N_{x_\alpha}^{pQ}$  there exists  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}$  such that  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}qW$ . All ordered pairs (n, W) with the above character forms the set O, that means  $n \in D, W \in N_{x_\alpha}^{pQ}$  and  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}qW$ . Now, we will define a relation " $\mathcal{E}$ " on O given by  $(m, U)\mathcal{E}(n, V)$  iff  $m \ge n$  in D and  $U \le V$ , then  $(O, \mathcal{E})$  is a directed set and it is clear to see that  $\Im: O \to FP(X)$  given by  $\Im(m, U) = \{x_{\alpha_m}^m\}$  is a fuzzy subnet of the assumed fuzzy net. W is a pre q-nbd of  $x_\alpha$  thus, there exists  $n \in D$  and therefor  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}qW$  when  $(n, W) \in O$ . Now,  $(m, W) \in O$  and  $(m, U)\mathcal{E}(n, W) \Rightarrow \Im(m, U) = \{x_{\alpha_m}^m\}qU$  and  $U \le W \Rightarrow \Im(m, U)qW$ . Hence  $\Im$  is pre converges to  $x_\alpha$ .

( $\Leftarrow$  Suppose that a fuzzy net  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n : n \in D\}$  has not a pre cluster point. Therefor, for every fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$  there exists a pre q-nbd of  $x_{\alpha}$  such that  $x_{\alpha_m}^m \tilde{q} U$  for all  $m \ge n, n \in D$ . Hence, clear no fuzzy net pre converge to  $x_{\alpha}$ .

## 2.43. Proposition

In a fuzzy pre Hausdorff space X, any pre convergent fuzzy net has a unique limit point . *Proof:*  $\Rightarrow$ ) Suppose that  $x_{\alpha_n}^n$  is a fuzzy net on X with directed set D, such that  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$ ,  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} y_{\beta}$  and  $x \neq y$ . Since  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$ , we have  $\forall A \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}$ ,  $\exists m_1 \in D$ , such that  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}qA$ ,  $\forall n \geq m_1$ . Also,  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} y_{\beta}$ , we have  $\forall B \in N_{y_{\beta}}^{pQ}$ ,  $\exists m_2 \in D$ , such that,  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}qB$ ,  $\forall n \geq m_2$ . Now, then there exists  $m \in D$ , such that,  $m \geq m_1$  and  $m \geq m_2$  then  $\{x_{\alpha_n}^n\}q(A \land B)$ ,  $\forall n \geq m$ . Therefore  $A \land B \neq 0$ . Hence X is not fuzzy pre Hausdorff.

 $(\Leftarrow \text{Let } X \text{ be a not fuzzy pre Hausdorff space, then there is } x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta} \in FP(X), \text{ such that } x \neq y \text{ and} A \land B \neq 0, \forall A \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}, \forall B \in N_{y_{\beta}}^{pQ}. \text{ Put } N_{x_{\alpha},y_{\beta}}^{pQ} = \{A \land B : A \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{pQ}, N_{y_{\beta}}^{pQ}\}. \text{ Therefore } \forall D \in N_{x_{\alpha},y_{\beta}}^{pQ}, \text{ there exists } x_{D}qD, \text{ then } \{x_{D}\}_{D \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{y_{\beta}}} \text{ is a fuzzy net in } X. \text{ To prove that } x_{D} \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha} \text{ and } x_{D} \xrightarrow{p} y_{\beta}. \text{ Let} W \in N_{x_{\alpha},y_{\beta}}^{pQ}, \text{ then } W \in N_{x_{\alpha},y_{\beta}}^{pQ} \text{ (since } W = W \land X \neq 0). \text{ Thus } x_{D}qW, \forall D \geq W, \text{ thus } x_{D} \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha} \text{ and} x_{D} \xrightarrow{p} y_{\beta}. \text{ Hence, } \{x_{D}\}_{D \in N_{x_{\alpha}}^{y_{\beta}} \text{ has two fuzzy limit point.}$ 

## 2.44. Definition

A fuzzy space X is called fuzzy precompact if every fuzzy pre open of cover X has finite sub cover.

#### 2.45. Theorem [8, P.111-121]

A fuzzy topological space (X, T) is a fuzzy compact if and only if every fuzzy filter base on X has a fuzzy cluster point.

#### 3. Fuzzy precompact space

#### 3.1. Theorem

A fuzzy topological space (*X*, *T*) is a fuzzy precompact, if and only if any collection  $\{B_j: j \in J\}$  of fuzzy pre closed sets in *X* having the finite intersection property.

*Proof:*  $\Rightarrow$ ) Suppose that *X* is fuzzy precompact space and  $\{B_j: j \in J\}$  is collection of fuzzy pre closed sets of *X* with the finite intersection property. To show  $\{B_j: j \in J\}$  has a non-empty intersection (i.e to show  $\Lambda_{i \in J} B_i \neq 0$ ).

Assume that  $\bigwedge_{j \in J} B_j = 0$ , then  $\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j^c = 1$  and each  $B_j^c$  is fuzzy pre open set, thus there exist  $j_1, j_2, ..., j_n$  such that  $\bigvee_{i=1}^n B_{ji}^c = 1$  by (2.44.Definition), therefor  $\bigwedge_{i=1}^n B_{ji} = 0$  which is contradiction and therefor  $\bigwedge_{j \in J} B_j \neq 0$ .

( $\Leftarrow$  Conversely, let  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$  be a fuzzy pre open cover of *X* and every collection of fuzzy pre closed sets in *X* with the finite intersection property has a non-empty. To show that *X* is a fuzzy precompact space. Since  $\bigvee_{j \in J} A_j = 1$ , then  $\bigwedge_{j \in J} A_j^c = 0$  and each  $A_j^c$  is fuzzy pre closed set which implies that  $\{A_j^c: j \in J\}$  collection of fuzzy pre closed sets with empty intersection and so by hypothesis this collection does not have the finite intersection property. Thus, there exist a finite member of fuzzy sets  $A_{ji}^c$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that  $\bigwedge_{i=1}^n A_{ji}^c = 0$ , which implies  $\bigvee_{i=1}^n A_{ji} = 1$  and  $\{A_{ji}: i = 1, 2, ..., n\}$  is finite sub cover of the space *X* belong to a fuzzy pre open cover  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$ . Hence, *X* is a fuzzy precompact space.

### 3.2. Theorem

A fuzzy topological space (X, T) is a fuzzy precompact, if and only if for every fuzzy filterbase on X has a fuzzy pre cluster point.

*Proof:* ⇒)Suppose that *X* is a fuzzy precompact and  $\mathcal{F} = \{F_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$  is a fuzzy filterbase on *X* having no fuzzy pre cluster point. Let  $x \in X$ , then for each  $n \in N(N \text{ is natural number})$ , there exists a pre q-nbd  $U_x^n$  of  $x_{\frac{1}{n}} \in FP(X)$  and  $F_x^n \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $U_x^n \tilde{q} F_x^n$ . Now,  $U_x^n(x) > 1 - 1/n$ , since we have  $U_x(x) = 1$ , where  $U_x = \bigvee \{U_x^n : n \in N\}$ . Therefore  $\mathcal{O} = \{U_x^n : n \in N, x \in X\}$  is a fuzzy pre open cover of *X*. When *X* is fuzzy precompact, then there exists  $U_{x_1}^{n_1}, U_{x_2}^{n_2}, ..., U_{x_k}^{n_k}$  of  $\mathcal{O}$  such that  $\bigvee_{i=1}^k U_{x_i}^{n_i} = 1$ . If  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $F \leq F_{x_1}^{n_1} \land F_{x_2}^{n_2} \land ... \land F_{x_k}^{n_k}$ , then  $F\tilde{q}1$  Consequently, F = 0 and this contradicts the definition of a fuzzy filterbase.

( $\Leftarrow$  Suppose that every fuzzy filterbase have a fuzzy pre cluster point. To prove that *X* is fuzzy precompact. Acollection of fuzzy pre closed sets  $\beta = \{F_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$  having finite intersection property. Now, the set of finite intersections of members of  $\beta$  forms a fuzzy filterbase  $\mathcal{F}$  on *X*. By assumed condition  $\mathcal{F}$  has a fuzzy pre cluster point, which is  $x_{\alpha}$ . Thus,  $x_{\alpha} \in \Lambda_{\alpha \in \Lambda} pcl(F_{\alpha}) = \Lambda_{\alpha \in \Lambda} F_{\alpha}$  and  $\Lambda \{F: F \in \mathcal{F}\} \neq 0$ . Hence by (3.1.*Theorem*), *X* is a fuzzy precompact.

#### 3.3. Theorem

A fuzzy topological space (X, T) is a fuzzy pre compact if and only if for every fuzzy net in X has a fuzzy pre cluster point.

*Proof*: ⇒) Suppose that *X* is a fuzzy precompact and {*S*(*n*): *n* ∈ *D*} is a fuzzy net in *X* which has no pre cluster point. Thus, for any fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$ , there is a fuzzy pre q-nbds  $U_{x_{\alpha}}$  of  $x_{\alpha}$  and an  $n_{U_{x_{\alpha}}} \in D$  such that, for each  $m \in D$ ,  $S_m \tilde{q} U_{x_{\alpha}}$  with  $m \ge n_{U_{x_{\alpha}}}$ . Since  $x_{\alpha} q U_{x_{\alpha}}$  then  $S_m \ne 0$ ,  $\forall m \ge n_{U_{x_{\alpha}}}$ . Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be a symbol for the collection of all  $U_{x_{\alpha}}$  and  $x_{\alpha}$  is symbol for all fuzzy points *FP*(*X*). Now, to shwo that  $V = \{1 - U_{x_{\alpha}}: U_{x_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{U}\}$  is a family of fuzzy pre closed sets in *X* having finite intersection property. At first notice that there exists  $k \ge U_{x_{\alpha_1}}, U_{x_{\alpha_2}}, \dots, U_{x_{\alpha_m}}$  such that  $S_p \tilde{q} U_{x_{\alpha_i}}$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$  and for all  $p \ge k$  ( $p \in D$ ), that means  $S_p \in 1 - \bigvee_{i=1}^m U_{x_{\alpha_i}} = \bigwedge_{i=1}^m (1 - U_{x_{\alpha_i}})$  for all  $p \ge k$ . Hence  $\wedge\{1 - U_{x_{\alpha_i}}: i = 1, 2, \dots, m\} \ne 0$ . Since *X* is a fuzzy precompact, then by (*3.1.Theorem*), there is  $y_{\beta} \in FP(X)$  such that,  $y_{\beta} \in \wedge\{1 - U_{x_{\alpha}}: U_{x_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{U}\} = 1 - \vee\{U_{x_{\alpha}}: U_{x_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{U}\}$ . Therefor,  $y_{\beta} \in 1 - U_{x_{\alpha}}$ , for all  $U_{x_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{U}$  and  $y_{\beta} \in 1 - U_{y_{\beta}}$ , that means  $y_{\beta} \tilde{q} U_{y_{\beta}}$ . Since, for each fuzzy point  $x_{\alpha}$ , there is  $U_{x_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{U}$ . Such that  $x_{\alpha}qU_{x_{\alpha}}$ , then we get a contradiction.

( $\Leftarrow$  By (3.2.*Theorem*) we prove the converse, since every fuzzy filterbase on X has a fuzzy pre cluster point. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a fuzzy filterbase in X, then for each  $0 \neq F \in \mathcal{F}$ , we can select  $x_F \in FP(X)$  such that  $x_F \in F$ . Let  $S = \{x_F: F \in \mathcal{F}\}$  with the relation " $\geq$ " be defined as follows  $F_{\alpha} \geq F_{\beta}$  if and only if  $F_{\alpha} \leq F_{\beta}$  in X, for  $F_{\alpha}, F_{\beta} \in \mathcal{F}$ . Thus  $(\mathcal{F}, \geq)$  is directed set. Ttus, S is a fuzzy net when  $(\mathcal{F}, \geq)$  is directed set for its. From assumption, S has a cluster point  $x_t$ . Therefor, for every fuzzy pre q-nbd N of  $x_t$  and for each  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ , there is  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $G \geq F$  such that  $x_G qN$ . As  $x_G \leq G \leq F$ . It follows that FqN for each  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ , then by (2.21.*Proposition*),  $x_t \in pcl(F)$ . Hence  $x_t$  is a fuzzy pre cluster point of  $\mathcal{F}$ .

# 3.4. Corollary

A fuzzy topological space (X, T) is a fuzzy precompact if and only if for every fuzzy net in X has a pre convergent fuzzy subnet.

*Proof*: By (2.42. *Lemma*) and (3.3. *Theorem*).

# 3.5. Proposition

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. If G and H are two Fuzzy precompact in X, then  $H \lor G$  is also fuzzy precompact.

*Proof:* Suppose that  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy pre open cover of  $H \lor G$ , then  $H \lor G \leq \bigvee_{j \in J} A_j$ . Since  $G \leq H \lor G$  and  $H \leq H \lor G$ , thus  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy pre open cover of G and fuzzy pre open cover of H. But G and H are two fuzzy precompact sets, thus there exists a finite sub cover  $\{A_{j_1}, A_{j_2}, \dots, A_{j_n}\}$  of  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$  which covering G and a finite sub cover  $\{A_{j_1}, A_{j_2}, \dots, A_{j_n}\}$  of  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$  which covering H such that  $G \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^m A_{j_i}$  and  $H \leq \bigvee_{k=1}^n A_{j_k}$ , therefor,  $H \lor G \leq \bigvee_{t=1}^{m+n} A_{j_t}$ . Hence  $H \lor G$  is fuzzy precompact.

# 3.6. Proposition

Every fuzzy precompact space is a fuzzy compact.

*Proof:* Suppose that  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_j : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy open cover of fuzzy space *X* and  $X = \bigvee_{j \in J} A_j$ . But, every fuzzy open set in *X* is a fuzzy pre open and *X* is a fuzzy precompact space, then there exists  $j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n \in J$  such that  $X = \bigvee_{i=1}^n A_{j_i}$ , thus *X* is fuzzy compact space.

## 3.7. Corollary

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. If G is a fuzzy precompact in X, then G is fuzzy compact. *Proof:* It is straightforward.

## 3.8. Proposition

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. If *B* is a fuzzy set in *X* and  $A \leq B$ , then *A* is a fuzzy precompact in *X* if and only if *A* is a fuzzy precompact in *B*.

*Proof:*  $\Rightarrow$ ) Suppose that  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_j : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy cover of A by pre open sets in B. By

(2.32.Definition),  $A_j = S_j \wedge B$  for each  $j \in J$ , where  $S_j$  is a fuzzy pre open in X. Thus  $S = \{S_j : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy cover of A by pre open sets in X, but A is a fuzzy pre compact in X, so there exists  $j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n \in J$  such that  $A \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n (S_{j_i} \wedge B) = \bigvee_{i=1}^n (A_{j_i})$ . Hence, A is a fuzzy precompact in B. ( $\leftarrow$  It is straightforward.

# 3.9. Proposition

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. If *B* is a fuzzy pre open set in *X* and  $A \leq B$ , then *A* is a fuzzy compact in *X* if and only if *A* is a fuzzy precompact in *B*.

*Proof:* ⇒) Suppose that  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_j : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy pre open cover of A in B. By (2.34.*Proposition*),  $A_j = S_j \land B$  for each  $j \in J$ , where  $S_j$  is a fuzzy open in X. Thus  $S = \{S_j : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy cover of A by fuzzy open sets in X, but A is a fuzzy compact in X, so there exists  $j_1, j_2, ..., j_n \in J$  such that  $A \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n (S_{j_i} \land B) = \bigvee_{i=1}^n (A_{j_i})$ . Hence, A is a fuzzy precompact in B.

( $\Leftarrow$  Suppose that  $S = \{S_j : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy open cover of A in X. Then  $\mathcal{A} = \{S_j \land B : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy cover of A. But,  $S_j$  is a fuzzy open in X for all  $j \in J$  and B is a fuzzy pre open in X, then by (2.34. *Proposition*)  $S_j \land B$  is a fuzzy pre open in B for all  $j \in J$ . By assumption A is a fuzzy precompact

in *B*, then there exists  $j_1, j_2, ..., j_n \in J$  such that  $A \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n (S_{j_i} \land B) \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n (S_{j_i})$ . Hence, *A* is a fuzzy compact in *X*.

# 3.10. Proposition

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. If *B* is a fuzzy pre open set in *X* and  $A \le B$ , then *A* is a fuzzy compact in *X* if and only if *A* is a fuzzy compact in *B*.

Proof: By (3.8. Proposition), (3.9. Proposition) and (3.7. Corollary).

# 3.11. Proposition

Let (X, T) be a fuzzy topological space. If *B* is a fuzzy set in *X* and  $A \leq B$ , then *A* is a fuzzy compact in *X* if *A* is a fuzzy compact in *B*.

*Proof:* Suppose that  $S = \{S_j : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy open cover of A in X. Since  $A \leq B$  and  $A \leq S_j$ , then  $\mathcal{A} = \{S_j \land B : j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy cover of A. But,  $S_j$  is a fuzzy open in X for all  $j \in J$ , then by (2.30. *Definition*)  $S_j \land B$  is a fuzzy open in B for all  $j \in J$ , by assumption A is a fuzzy compact in B, so there exists  $j_1, j_2, \dots, j_n \in J$  such that  $A \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n (S_{i_i} \land B) \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n (S_{i_i})$ . Hence, A is a fuzzy compact in X.

# 3.12. Proposition

A fuzzy pre closed subset of a fuzzy precompact space (X, T) is a fuzzy precompact. *Proof:* Suppose that *G* is a fuzzy pre closed subset of a fuzzy precompact space *X* and  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$  is a fuzzy open cover of *G* in *X*, which implies that  $G \leq \bigvee_{j \in J} A_j$ . Thus, *G* has a fuzzy pre open cover  $\{A_j: j \in J\}$ . Since  $G^c$  is pre open, then the family  $\{A_j: j \in J\} \vee G^c$  is a fuzzy pre open cover of *X*, which is a fuzzy recompact space. Thus there exists  $j_1, j_2, ..., j_n$  such that  $\bigvee_{i=1}^n A_{ji} \vee \{G^c\} = 1$ . Since  $\{A_{j_1}, A_{j_2}, ..., A_{j_n}, G^c\}$  is finite subcover of *X* and  $G \leq 1 = \bigvee_{i=1}^n A_{ji} \vee \{G^c\}$ , but  $G \not\leq G^c$ , therefor  $G \leq \bigvee_{i=1}^n A_{ji}$ . Hence, *G* is a fuzzy precompact.

# 3.13. Corollary

A fuzzy closed subset of a fuzzy precompact space (X, T) is fuzzy pre compact. *Proof:* It is clear.

# 3.14. Corollary

A fuzzy closed subset of a fuzzy pre compact space (X, T) is fuzzy compact. *Proof:* It is clear.

# 3.15. Theorem

Every fuzzy precompact subset of a fuzzy pre Hausdroff topological space is fuzzy pre closed. *Proof:* Suppose that  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$ , then by (2.41.*Theorem*) there exists a fuzzy net  $x_{\alpha_n}^n$  such that

 $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$ . Since *A* is fuzzy precompact and *X* is fuzzy pre Hausdroff space, then by (3.4. *Corollary*) and (2.43. *Proposition*), we have  $x_{\alpha} \in A$  which implies that  $pcl(A) \leq A$ . Hence *A* is fuzzy pre closed set.

# 3.16. Theorem

In any fuzzy space, the intersection of a fuzzy precompact set with a fuzzy pre closed set is fuzzy precompact.

*Proof:* Suppose that A, B are two fuzzy sets such that A is a fuzzy precompact and B is a fuzzy pre closed. We must prove that  $A \wedge B$  is a fuzzy precompact. Let  $x_{\alpha_n}^n$  is fuzzy net in A, since A is fuzzy

precompact, then by (3.4. Corollary),  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$  for some  $x_{\alpha} \in FP(X)$  and by (2.41. Proposition),  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(A)$ . Since *B* is fuzzy pre closed, then  $x_{\alpha} \in B$ . Hence  $x_{\alpha} \in A \land B$  and. Thus  $A \land B$  is fuzzy precompact.

# 3.17. Definition

In a *fts X*, a fuzzy set G is said to be precompactly fuzzy pre closed if  $G \wedge K$  is fuzzy precompact, for every fuzzy precompact set K in X.

# 3.18. Proposition

Every fuzzy pre closed subset of a fuzzy topological space X is precompactly fuzzy pre closed. *Proof:* Suppose that G is a fuzzy pre closed subset of a fuzzy space X and let K be a fuzzy precompact set. Then by (3.16.Theorem),  $G \wedge K$  is a fuzzy precompact. Thus G is a precompactly fuzzy pre closed set.

## 3.19. Theorem

In a fuzzy pre Hausdorff space X, a fuzzy set G is precompactly fuzzy pre closed if and only if G is fuzzy pre closed.

*Proof:*  $\Rightarrow$ ) Suppose that *G* is a precompactly fuzzy pre closed and  $x_{\alpha} \in pcl(G)$ . Then, by (2.41.*Proposition*), there is a fuzzy net  $x_{\alpha_n}^n$  in *G*, such that  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$ , then by (3.4.*Corollary*),  $B = \{x_{\alpha_n}^n, x_{\alpha}\}$  is a fuzzy precompact set. But *G* is precompactly fuzzy pre closed, then  $G \land B$  is a fuzzy precompact set, also *X* is a fuzzy pre Hausdroff space by assumption, then by

(3.16.*Theorem*),  $G \land B$  is fuzzy pre closed. Since  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \xrightarrow{p} x_{\alpha}$  and  $x_{\alpha_n}^n \in G \land B$ , then by (2.41.*Theorem*)  $x_{\alpha} \in G \land B$ , so  $x_{\alpha} \in G$ . Therefore,  $pcl(G) \leq G$ . Hence G is a fuzzy pre closed set. ( $\leftarrow$  By (3.18. *Proposition*).

## 3.20. Theorem

A fuzzy pre regular space X is a fuzzy precompact if and only if there exist a fuzzy dense D of X such that any fuzzy filterbase in D have a fuzzy pre cluster point in X, with  $int(D) \neq 0$ . *Proof:*  $\Rightarrow$ ) By (3.2.*Theorem*).

( $\Leftarrow$  we prove if there exist a fuzzy dense *D* in *X* such that any fuzzy filterbase in *D* have a fuzzy pre cluster point in *X*, then *X* is a fuzzy precompact. Let *D* be a fuzzy dense set and *X* is not fuzzy precompact, then there exist a cover  $\{U_j: j \in J\}$  of fuzzy pre open set in *X* with no finite fuzzy subcover. Since *X* is a fuzzy pre regular, then there exists fuzzy pre open cover  $\{V_i: i \in I\}$  of *X* such that for each *j* there exist *i* such that  $pcl(V_i) \leq U_j$ . By (2.39.Theorem) X = Pcl(D). Now,  $\{V_i: i \in I\}$  is a fuzzy pre open cover of pcl(D) with no finite subcover. Therefore, the collection  $\mathcal{B} = \{D \land (1 - \lor V_{i_k}), k = 1, 2, ..., n\}$  is a fuzzy filterbase in *D*. But,  $\mathcal{B}$  has a fuzzy pre open set containing  $x_\alpha$ . Then  $x_\alpha \in pcl(D)$  implies  $x_\alpha \in V_i$  for some *i* and so  $V_i$  is a fuzzy pre open set containing  $x_\alpha$ . Then  $(D \land (1 - V_i)) \land V_i = 0$  contradicts the fact that  $x_\alpha$  is a fuzzy pre cluster point of  $\mathcal{B}$ . Hence pcl(D) = X is a fuzzy precompact.

## 3.21. Corollary

A fuzzy pre regular space X is a fuzzy compact if and only if there exist a fuzzy dense D of X such that any fuzzy filterbase in D have a fuzzy pre cluster point in X, with  $int(D) \neq 0$ . *Proof:*  $\Rightarrow$ ) By (2.45. *Theorem*) and (2.39. *Theorem*). ( $\leftarrow$  By (3.20.*Theorem*) and (2.7. *Corollary*).

## References

- A. A. Nouh, " On convergence theory in fuzzy topological spaces and its applications ", J Dml. Cz. Math , 55(130)(2005) , 295-316.
- [2] Anjana Bhattacharyya,  $p^*$ -Closure Operator and  $p^*$ -Regularity in Fuzzy Setting, Mathematica Moravica.Vol. 19-1 (2015), 131–139.
- [3] B. Sikin, " On fuzzy FC- compactness ", Korean. Math. Soc, 13(1)(1998), 137-150.
- [4] C. L. Chang, "Fuzzy topological spaces ", J. Math. Anal. Appl, 24(1968), 182-190.
- [5] G. Thangaraj and E. Poongothai,On Fuzzy Preσ-Baire Spaces,Research India Publications. ISSN 0973- 533X Volume 11, Number 1 (2016), pp. 39-49.
- [6] Jin Han Park and B.H.Park, Fuzzy preirresolute mappings, Pusan-Kyongnam Math.J.10(1995)303-312.
- [7] Jin Han Park and H.Y.Ha, Fuzzy weakly preirresolute and fuzzy strongly preirresolute mappings, J.Fuzzy Math.4(1996)131-140.

- [8] Kareem, H, Reyadh, N "Fuzzy Compact and Coercive Mappings ", Journal of Karbala University, 10(3),2012, 111-121.
- [9] L. A. Zadeh, "fuzzy sets ", Information and control, 8(1965), 338-353.
- [10] M. H. Rashid and D. M. Ali, "Sparation axioms in maxed fuzzy topological spaces " Bangladesh, J. Acad. Sce, 32(2)(2008), 211-220.
- [11] Ming, P. P. and Ming, L. Y., "Fuzzy Topology I. Neighborhood Structure of a Fuzzy point and Moor-smith Convergence", J. Math. Anal. Appl., Vol.76, PP.571-599, 1980.
- [12] Rubasri.M and Palanisamy.M,"On fuzzy pre-α-open sets and fuzzy contrapre -αcontinuous functions in fuzzy topological space", IJARIIE-ISSN (O)-2395-4396,vol-3 Issue-4 ,PP.1601-1608, 2017.
- [13] Shahna A. S. Bin (1991), "On fuzzy strongly semi-continuity and fuzzy pre continuity", Fuzzy sets and Systems, vol. 44,303-308.
- [14] S. M. AL-Khafaji, " On fuzzy topological vector spaces ", M. Sce., Thesis, Qadisiyah University, (2010).
- [15] S. P. Sinha and S. Malakar, On s-closed fuzzy topological spaces, J. Fuzzy Math. 2(1) (1994), 95–103.
- [16] Wong, C. K., "Fuzzy Points and Local Properties of Fuzzy Topology", J. Math. Anal. Appl., Vol.46, PP.316-328, 1974.
- [17] X. Tang, "Spatial object modeling in fuzzy topological space", PH. D. dissertation, University of Twente, The Netherlands, (2004).

# **Generalized Rough Digraphs and Related Topologies**

Samah Sarmad<sup>1</sup> and Yousif Yaqoub Yousif<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Sciences

(Ibn- Al-Haitham), University of Baghdad

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Sciences

(Ibn- Al-Haitham), University of Baghdad

samahsarmad0@gmail.com\_\_\_yoyayuosif@yahoo.com\_\_\_

**Abstract.** The primary objective of this paper, is to introduce eight types of topologies on a finite digraphs and state the implication between these topologies. Also we used supra open digraphs to introduce a new types for approximation rough digraphs.

AMS Sub. Class. 54A05, 54C10.

Key words. J-degree spaces, J-supra lower digraphs, J-supra upper digraphs, J-exact digraphs, J-rough digraphs.

## 1. Introduction.

Rough set theory was introduced by Zdzislow Pawlak in 1982 [1]. He presented the conception of rough set inherently as a mathematical method to manipulate inexactness, uncertainty and vagueness in datagram analyses. This theory is an stretch of set theory for the studying of clearheaded systems diacritical by inadequate and incompletely information. The theory has found implementation in many domains, such as medicine, pharmacy, engineering and others. Furthermore, the prospered implementing of rough set theory in a diversity of problems has abundantly shown its benefit. A specific using of the theory is that property depreciating in databases. Giving a dataset with discretionary property weightings, it is tolerable to existing a subset of the original property that are the bulk informative. Rough set theory treated with the approximating of an arbitrarily subset of universe by depending on two observable or defined subsets, these subsets are named lower approximation and upper approximations, by utilization the terminology of these subsets in rough set theory knowing furtive in info regimes may be unraveled and manifested in the format of resolution norms [2]. We built on some of the results in [3], [4], [5], [6], [7], [8] and [9].

## 2. Preliminaries

In this part, we present some of essential notions in rough theory and peculiarities of lower approximation and upper approximation which are useful for our study.

*Definition 2.1.* [10] Let X be non-empty set and  $\tau$  be a collection of subsets of P(X), the collection  $\tau$  is said to be a topology on X if  $\tau$  satisfies:

(a)  $X \in \tau, \emptyset \in \tau$ .

(b)  $\tau$  is closed within finite intersection.

(c)  $\tau$  is closed within arbitrarily union.

If  $\tau$  is a topology on X, then the pair  $(X, \tau)$  is called a topological space. in this space, the subsets of X which belong to  $\tau$  are dubbed open sets, while the closed sets is represented by the supplement of the subsets of X which belong to  $\tau$  (that is the complement of open sets).

The approximation of lower and upper of a set is the basic conception of rough set theory, the approximation of space is the formalized categorization of acquaintance regarding the interesting domain. The partitioning represents a topological space, that topological space named approximation space and symbolized by K = (X, R), so that X is a set named space or universe while  $R \subseteq X \times X$  is represented by an indescribable equivalence relation [2]. In the relation R, the equivalence classes are savvied blocks, grained or primary sets too. The equivalence class which includes  $x \in X$  denoted by  $R_x$ .

Definition 2.2. [11] Let K = (X, R) be an approximation space and S is a subset of X, then the lower and the upper approximation of S denoted consecutively by L(S), U(S) and defined by

$$L(S) = \{x \in X; R_x \subseteq S\}, U(S) = \{x \in X; R_x \cap S \neq \emptyset\}.$$

According to the lower and upper approximations of a subset *S* of *X*. *X* can be dichotomizes in to three discrete areas, positive area (briefly  $POS_R(S)$ ), negative area (briefly  $NEG_R(S)$ ) and boundary area (briefly  $B_R(S)$ ), where they are defined by

$$POS_{R}(S) = L(S), NEG_{R}(S) = X - U(S), B_{R}(S) = U(S) - L(S)$$

If K = (X, R) be an approximation space, where S and F be two subsets of the universe X, the following properties of the Pawlak's rough sets [1, 12].

$(L1) L(S) = [U(S^c)]^c$	$(U1) U(S) = [L(S^c)]^c$
(L2) L(X) = X	(U2) U(X) = X
$(L3) L(S \cap F) = L(S) \cap L(F)$	$(U3) \ U(S \cup F) = U(S) \cup U(F)$
$(L4) L(S \cup F) \supseteq L(S) \cup L(F)$	$(U4) \ U(S \cap F) \subseteq U(S) \cap U(F)$
(L5) If $S \subseteq F$ then, $L(S) \subseteq L(F)$	(U5) If $S \subseteq F$ then, $U(S) \subseteq U(F)$
$(L6) L(\emptyset) = \emptyset$	$(U6) \ U(\emptyset) = \emptyset$
$(L7) L(S) \subseteq S$	$(U7) S \subseteq U(S)$
(L8) L(L(S)) = L(S)	(U8) U(U(S)) = U(S)
(L9) L(U(S)) = L(S)	(U9) U(L(S)) = U(S)

*Definition 2.3.* [1] Let K = (X, R) be an approximation space and  $S \subseteq X$  then the accuracy measure of *E* is symbolized by the symbol  $\Lambda_R(S)$  and is predefined by

$$\Lambda_R(S) = 1 - \frac{|L(S)|}{|U(S)|}, \text{ wherein } |U(S)| \neq 0.$$

Also, the accuracy measure dubbed accuracy of approximation.

*Definition 2.4.* [13] A directed graph (briefly d.g.) express a pair D = (V(D), E(D)) such that V(D) named vertex set which is non-empty set and E(D) named edge set represented by ordered pairs of elements of V(D).

Definition 2.5. [14] A subdigraph Q = (V(Q), E(Q)) of a directed graph D = (V(D), E(D)) written  $Q \subseteq D$  if  $V(Q) \subseteq V(D)$  and  $E(Q) \subseteq E(D)$ .

#### 3. Generalized Rough Digraphs and Related Topologies

In this section, we present some of definitions and propositions anent a new types of topologies and the implication among them. Also we give many results, examples were provided.

Definition 3.1. Let D = (V(D), E(D)) is a finite digraph. The *J*-degree of  $\mathbf{r}$ , where  $\mathbf{r} \in V(D)$ , for all  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle O \rangle, \langle U \rangle\}$  defined by

- (a)  $O-D(\mathfrak{r}) = \{ u \in V(D); (\mathfrak{r}, u) \in E(D) \},\$
- (b) I- $D(\mathbf{r}) = \{ u \in V(D); (u, \mathbf{r}) \in E(D) \},\$
- (c)  $\cap -D(\mathbf{r}) = O D(\mathbf{r}) \cap I D(\mathbf{r}),$
- (d)  $\cup$ - $D(\mathbf{r}) = O$ - $D(\mathbf{r}) \cup I$ - $D(\mathbf{r})$ ,
- (e)  $\langle O \rangle D(\mathbf{r}) = \bigcap_{\mathbf{r} \in O D(\mathbf{r})} O D(\mathbf{r}),$
- (f)  $\langle I \rangle D(\mathbf{r}) = \bigcap_{\mathbf{r} \in I D(\mathbf{r})} I D(\mathbf{r}),$
- (g)  $< \cap >-D(\mathbf{r}) = <O>-D(\mathbf{r}) \cap <I>-D(\mathbf{r})$ ,
- (h)  $\langle \cup \rangle D(\mathfrak{r}) = \langle O \rangle D(\mathfrak{r}) \cup \langle I \rangle D(\mathfrak{r}).$

Definition 3.2. Let D = (V(D), E(D)) is a finite digraph and  $\theta_J \colon V(D) \to P(V(D))$  be a mapping which assigns for all  $r \in V(D)$  its *J*-degree in P(V(D)). The pair  $(D, \theta_J)$  is namable *J*-degree space (concisely *J*-*DS*).

*Theorem 3.3.* If  $(D, \theta_I)$  is *J-DS*, then the a family

 $\tau_I = \{ V(Q) \subseteq V(D); \text{ for each } r \in V(Q), J - D(r) \subseteq V(Q) \},\$ 

for all  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle O \rangle$  is a topology on D. Proof. For all  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle O \rangle, \langle U \rangle\}$ . Clearly,  $V(D), \emptyset \in \tau_I$ .

Let  $M, Q \in \tau_J$  and  $r \in V(M) \cap V(Q)$ , then  $r \in V(M)$  and  $r \in V(Q)$ , which implies that  $J \cdot D(r) \subseteq V(M)$  and  $J \cdot D(r) \subseteq V(Q)$ , therefore  $J \cdot D(r) \subseteq V(M) \cap V(Q)$  and then  $M \cap Q \in \tau_J$ .

Let  $Q_i \in \tau_J$  for each  $i \in I$ , and  $r \in \bigcup_i V(Q_i)$ , which mean that there exists  $i_o \in I$  where  $r \in V(Q_{i_o}) \subseteq \bigcup_i V(Q_i)$ , therefore  $J - D(r) \subseteq V(Q_{i_o}) \subseteq \bigcup_i V(Q_i)$  this implies  $J - D(r) \subseteq \bigcup_i V(Q_i)$  and so  $\bigcup_i V(Q_i) \in \tau_I$ .

*Example 3.4.* If D = (V(D), E(D)) is a finite digraph such that  $V(D) = \{r_1, r_2, r_3, r_4\}, E(D) = \{(r_1, r_1), (r_1, r_4), (r_2, r_1), (r_2, r_3), (r_3, r_3), (r_3, r_4), (r_4, r_1)\}.$ 



Then,  $O - D(r_1) = \{r_1, r_4\}, O - D(r_2) = \{r_1, r_3\}, O - D(r_3) = \{r_3, r_4\}, O - D(r_4) = \{r_1\}.$  $I - D(r_1) = \{r_1, r_2, r_4\}, I - D(r_2) = \emptyset, I - D(r_3) = \{r_2, r_3\}, I - D(r_4) = \{r_1, r_3\}.$ 

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{1}) = \{r_{1}, r_{4}\}, \ \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \emptyset, \ \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{1}\}.$$

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{1}) = \{r_{1}, r_{2}, r_{4}\}, \ \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{1}, r_{3}\}, \ \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{2}, r_{3}, r_{4}\}, \ \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{1}, r_{3}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{1}, r_{2}, r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} = \{r_{1}\}, \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}), \ \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n} -D(r_{4}) = \{r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n$$

 $\{r_{2}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{2}, r_{4}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{3}, r_{4}\}\}, \tau_{\cup} = \{V(D), \emptyset\}, \tau_{<0>} = P(V(D)), \tau_{<1>} = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_{1}\}, \{r_{2}\}, \{r_{3}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{2}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{2}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{2}, r_{4}\}\}, \tau_{<0>} = P(V(D)), \tau_{<0>} = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_{1}\}, \{r_{2}\}, \{r_{3}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{2}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{2}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{2}, r_{4}\}\}.$ 

*Remark 3.5.* From the above results, the implication among different topologies  $\tau_J$  are explained in the following diagram (where  $\rightarrow$  implies  $\subseteq$ )



**Diagram** 1

By using the above topologies, we present eight methods for approximation rough diagraphs using interior and closure of the topologies  $\tau_J$  for all  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle O \rangle, \langle U \rangle\}$ .

Definition 3.6. Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS*. The subgraph  $Q \subseteq D$  is called *J*-open graph if  $V(Q) \in \tau_J$ . While the complement of *J*-open graph is called *J*-closed graph. The family of every *J*-closed graphs of a *J*-*DS* is predefined by:

$$\Gamma_I = \{ V(K) \subseteq V(D); [V(K)]^c \in \tau_I \}.$$

*Definition 3.7.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* and  $Q \subseteq D$ . The *J*-lower approximation of Q and *J*-upper approximation of Q are predefined consecutively by

$$L_J(Q) = \bigcup \{V(M) \in \tau_I \colon V(M) \subseteq V(Q)\} = J \text{-interior of } Q.$$

$$U_J(Q) = \cap \{V(M) \in \Gamma_I : V(Q) \subseteq V(M)\} = J$$
-closure of Q.

*Definition 3.8.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* and  $Q \subseteq D$ . The, *J*-positive, *J*-negative and *J*-boundary areas of Q are defined as

$$POS_{J}(V(Q)) = L_{J}(V(Q)), NEG_{J}(V(Q)) = V(D) - U_{J}(V(Q)),$$
  
 $B_{J}(V(Q)) = U_{J}(V(Q)) - L_{J}(V(Q))$ 

Definition 3.9. Let  $(D, \theta_I)$  be J-DS. The subgraph Q is dubbed J-exact (definable) graph if

$$L_J(V(Q)) = U_J(V(Q)) = V(Q).$$

Otherwise is called *J*-rough graph.

Definition 3.10. Let  $(D, \theta_I)$  is J-DS. The J-accuracy of the approximation of  $Q \subseteq D$  is predefined by

$$\Lambda_J(V(Q)) = \frac{|LJ(V(Q))|}{|UJ(V(Q))|}, \text{ where } |UJ(V(Q))| \neq 0.$$

*Remark 3.11.* Clear that  $0 \le \Lambda_J(V(Q)) \le 1$  and Q is *J*-exact graph if  $B_J(V(Q)) = \emptyset$  and  $\Lambda_J(V(Q)) = 0$ . Otherwise Q is *J*-rough.

*Remark 3.12.* From above results, we have a concluding that using of  $\tau \cap$  in construction the approximations of graphs is minutest than  $\tau_0$ ,  $\tau_I$  and  $\tau_{\cup}$ . Also the using of  $\tau_{<0>}$  in construction the approximations of graphs is minutest than  $\tau_{<0>}$ ,  $\tau_{<I>}$  and  $\tau_{<\cup>}$ . Moreover, the topologies  $\tau_{\cap}$  and  $\tau_{<0>}$  are not necessarily comparable.

Now, some properties of the operators *J*-lower approximation and *J*-upper approximation, will be presented in the next proposition.

*Proposition 3.13.* If  $(D, \theta_J)$  is *J-DS* and  $M, Q \subseteq D$ . Then

$(L1) L_J(V(Q) = [U_J(V(Q^c))]^c$	$(U1) U_J(V(Q)) = [L_J(V(Q^c))]^c$
$(L2) L_J(V(D)) = V(D), L_J(\emptyset) = \emptyset$	$(U2) U_J(V(D)) = V(D), U_J(\emptyset) = \emptyset$
(L3) If $V(M) \subseteq V(Q)$ then,	(U3) If $V(M) \subseteq V(Q)$ then,
$L_J(V(M)) \subseteq L_J(V(Q))$	$U_J(V(M)) \subseteq U_J(V(Q))$
$(L4) L_J(V(M) \cap V(Q)) =$	$(U4) \ U_J(V(M) \cap V(Q)) \subseteq$
$L_J(V(M) \cap L_J(V(Q)))$	$U_J(V(M)) \cap U_J(V(Q))$
$(L5) L_J(V(M) \cup V(Q) \supseteq$	$(U5) U_J(V(M) \cup V(Q)) =$
$L_J(V(M)) \cup L_J(V(Q))$	$U_J(V(M)) \cup U_J(V(Q))$
$(L6) L_J(V(Q)) \subseteq V(Q)$	$(U6) V(Q) \subseteq U_J(V(Q))$
$(L7) L_J(L_J(V(Q))) = L_J(V(Q))$	$(U7) U_J(U_J(V(Q))) = U_J(V(Q))$

Proof. The proof is evident, by employing peculiarities of closure and interior.

The next example explains the comparison between our approach and approach in Yousif and Sara approach [15, 16].

*Example 3.14.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* where  $D = (V(D), E(D)), V(D) = \{r_1, r_2, r_3, r_4\}$  and  $E(D) = \{(r_1, r_3), (r_2, r_2), (r_3, r_1), (r_4, r_1)\}$ 



Figure 2: Digraph given in Example 3.14

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{1}) = \{r_{3}\}, \bigcap_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \bigcap_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{3}) = \{r_{1}\}, \bigcap_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{4}) = \emptyset.$$

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{1}) = \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}, \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{4}) = \emptyset.$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{1}) = \{r_{1}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{4}) = \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{1}) = \{r_{1}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{4}) = \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}$$

$$\langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{1}) = \{r_{1}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}\}, \langle O \rangle_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{4}) = \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}.$$

$$\langle \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{1}) = \{r_{1}\}, \langle \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{2}) = \{r_{2}\}, \langle \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{3}) = \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}, \langle \bigcup_{i=1}^{n-D}(r_{4}) = \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}.$$

$$\tau_{\langle O \rangle} = P(V(D)), \Gamma_{\langle O \rangle} = P(V(D)).$$

 $\begin{aligned} \tau_{<I>} &= \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_1\}, \{r_2\}, \{r_1, r_2\}, \{r_3, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_3, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_3, r_4\}\}, \Gamma_{<I>} &= \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_1\}, \{r_2\}, \{r_1, r_2\}, \{r_3, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_3, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_3, r_4\}\}. \end{aligned}$ 

From Yousif and Sara approach [15, 16], we have

 $\mathcal{F}_{\xi m} = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_2\}, \{r_3\}, \{r_4\}, \{r_1, r_3\}, \{r_2, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_3\}\}, \Omega_{\xi m} = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_4\}, \{r_1, r_3\}, \{r_2, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_3\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_3, r_4\}\}.$ 

**Table 1:**  $L_M(V(Q)), U_M(V(Q)), L_{<O>}(V(Q)), U_{<O>}(V(Q)), L_{<I>}(V(Q))$  and  $U_{<I>}(V(Q))$ 

for all $Q \subseteq \square$ Exact graph and Rough graph
---

P(V(D))	$L_M(V(Q))$	$U_M(V(Q))$	$L_{}(V(Q))$	$U_{}(V(Q))$	$L_{}(V(Q))$	$U_{}(V(Q))$
$\{r_I\}$	Ø	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{r_I\}$	$\{r_I\}$	$\{r_I\}$	$\{r_1\}$
$\{r_2\}$	Ø	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }
{ <b>r</b> <sub>3</sub> }	Ø	{ <i>r</i> <sub>3</sub> }	{ <b>r</b> <sub>3</sub> }	{ <b>r</b> <sub>3</sub> }	Ø	$\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{r_4\}$	$\{F_4\}$	$\{r_4\}$	$\{r_4\}$	$\{r_4\}$	Ø	$\{\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{r_1, r_2\}$	Ø	$\{r_1, r_2, r_3\}$	$\{r_1, r_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{r_1, r_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{r_I\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{r_1, r_4\}$	$\{r_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{r_1\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	Ø	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{r_2\}$	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$

$\{\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{F}_2,\mathbf{F}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{F}_2,\mathbf{F}_4\}$	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }	$\{\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{\mathcal{F}_3,\mathcal{F}_4\}$	{ <i>F</i> <sub>4</sub> }	V(D)	$\{\mathcal{F}_3,\mathcal{F}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{F}_3,\mathbf{F}_4\}$	$\{\mathcal{F}_3,\mathcal{F}_4\}$	$\{\mathcal{F}_3, \mathcal{F}_4\}$
$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	V(D)				
$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	V(D)
$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_3, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{F}_1, \mathbf{F}_3, \mathbf{F}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{F}_1,\mathbf{F}_3,\mathbf{F}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{r_2, r_3, r_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3, \boldsymbol{r}_4\}$
V(D)						
Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø

*Remark 3.14.* The above proposition and example can be considered as one of the difference between our approaches and Yousif and Sara approach [15]. So, we can say that our approach is the actual circularization of Yousif and Sara approach because the numbers of exact graph in our approach more than Yousif and Sara approach.

Definition 3.15. Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be J-DS. Then for each  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle O \rangle, \langle U \rangle\}$ , the subgraph  $Q \subseteq D$  is named:

- (a) *J*-regular open (shortly  $R_J$ -open) if  $V(Q) = Int_J(Cl_J(V(Q)))$
- (b) *J*-pre-open(shortly  $P_J$ -open) if  $V(Q) \subseteq Int_J(Cl_J(V(Q)))$
- (c) *J*-semi-open(shortly  $S_J$ -open) if  $V(Q) \subseteq Cl_J(Int_J(V(Q)))$
- (d)  $\alpha_J$ -open if  $V(Q) \subseteq Int_J(Cl_J(Int_J(V(Q))))$
- (e)  $b_J$ -open if  $V(Q) \subseteq Int_J(Cl_J(V(Q))) \cup Cl_J(Int_J(V(Q)))$
- (f)  $\beta_J$ -open if  $V(Q) \subseteq Cl_J(Int_J(Cl_J(V(Q))))$

## Remark 3.16.

- (a) The above graphs are dubbed *J*-supra open graphs and the collection of *J*-supra open graphs of *D* symbolized by the symbol  $K_JO(D)$  for every  $K = R, P, S, b, a, \beta$ .
- (b) The *J*-supra closed graphs is the complement of the *J*-supra open graphs where the families of *J*-supra closed graphs of *D* symbolized by the symbol  $K_JC(D)$  for every  $K = R, P, S, b, \alpha, \beta$ .
- (c) The family  $\alpha_J O(D)$  idealizes a topology on *D*, furthermore, the *J*-supra interior and the *J*-supra closure idealizes the *J*-interior and the *J*-closure respectively.

*Remark 3.17.* The implication between the topologies  $\tau_J$  (consecutively  $\Gamma_J$ ) and the precedent collection of *J*-supra open graphs (consecutively *J*-supra closed graphs) are explained the next diagram (where  $\rightarrow$  implies  $\subseteq$ )



#### **Diagram 2**

By usage the *J*-supra open graph, we can present new causeways for approximation rough graphs using the *J*-supra interior and the *J*-supra closure for all topology of  $\tau_J$  as the next definitions

*Definition 3.18.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  is *J-DS* and  $Q \subseteq D$ . Then for all  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle \cap \rangle, \langle U \rangle\}$  and  $K \in \{R, P, b, S, \alpha, \beta\}$ , the *J*-supra lower approximation of *Q* and *J*-supra upper approximation of *Q* are predefined consecutively by

$$L_J^K(V(Q)) = \bigcup \{V(M) \in K_J O(D); V(M) \subseteq V(Q)\} = J$$
-supra interior of  $Q$ ,  
$$U_J^K(V(Q)) = \cap \{V(M) \in K_J C(D); V(Q) \subseteq V(M)\} = J$$
-supra closure of  $Q$ .

*Definition 3.19.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* and  $Q \subseteq D$ . Then for all  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle \cap \rangle, \langle \cup \rangle\}$  and  $K \in \{R, P, b, S, \alpha, \beta\}$ , the *J*-supra positive, *J*-supra negative and *J*-supra boundary areas of Q are predefined consecutively by

$$POS_{j}^{K}(V(Q)) = L_{j}^{K}(V(Q)), NEG_{j}^{K}(V(Q)) = V(D) - U_{j}^{K}(V(Q)),$$
$$B_{j}^{K}(V(Q)) = U_{j}^{K}(V(Q)) - L_{j}^{K}(V(Q))$$

Definition 3.20. Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* and  $Q \subseteq D$ . Then for all  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle \cap \rangle, \langle \cup \rangle\}$ and  $K \in \{R, P, b, S, \alpha, \beta\}$ , the *J*-supra accuracy of the *J*-supra approximations of  $Q \subseteq D$  is predefined by

$$\Lambda_{J}^{K}(V(Q)) = \frac{|L_{J}^{K}(V(Q))|}{|U_{J}^{K}(V(Q))|}, \text{ where } |U_{J}^{K}(V(Q))| \neq 0.$$

It is clear that  $0 \leq \Lambda_I^K(V(Q)) \leq 1$ .

The essential properties of the J-supra approximations are mentioned in the next proposition.

*Proposition 3.21.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* and  $Q, M \subseteq D$ . Then, for every  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle \cap \rangle, \langle \cup \rangle \}$  and  $K = R, P, b, S, \alpha, \beta$ .

$(L1) \ L_{J}^{K}(V(Q)) = [U_{J}^{K}(V(Q^{c}))]^{c},$	$(U1) \ U_J^K(V(Q)) = [L_J^K(V(Q^c))]^c,$
$(L2) L_J^K(V(D)) = V(D), L_J^K(\emptyset) = \emptyset,$	$(U2) U_j^K(V(D)) = V(D), U_j^K(V(\emptyset) = \emptyset,$
(L3) If $V(Q) \subseteq V(M)$ then,	(U3) If $V(Q) \subseteq V(M)$ then,
$L_J^K(V(Q)) \subseteq L_J^K(V(M)),$	$U_{J}^{K}(V(Q)) \subseteq U_{J}^{K}(V(M)),$
$(L4) L_J^K(V(Q)) \cap V(M)) =$	$(U4) \; U_J^K(V(Q) \cap V(M)) \subseteq$
$L_J^K(V(Q)) \cap L_J^K(V(M)),$	$U_j^K((V(Q) \cap U_j^K(V(M)),$
$(L5) L_J^K(V(Q) \cup V(M)) \supseteq$	$(U5) \ U_J^K(V(Q) \cup V(M)) =$

$L_J^K(V(Q)) \cup L_J^K(V(M))$	$U_J^K(V(Q)) \cup U_J^K(V(M))$
$(L6) L_J^K(V(Q)) \subseteq V(Q),$	$(U6) V(Q) \subseteq U_j^K(V(Q)),$
$(L7) L_J^K(L_J^K(V(Q))) = L_J^K(V(Q)).$	$(U7) U_J^K(U_J^K(V(Q))) = U_J^K(V(Q))$

*Remark 3.21.* The collections of all regular open graphs of D,  $R_JO(D)$ , are smaller than the topologies  $\tau_J$ , (that is  $R_JO(D)$  idealized a special case of the topologies  $\tau_J$ ) hence we will not using it in our approaches.

The *J*-supra approximations are extremely interesting in rough context because the it can assists in the detecting of unobserved information in datagram collected from real life implementations. Furthermore, the utilization of the *J*-supra formats can assists for more developments in the notional and implementations of rough graphs, because the boundary area will decreased or abolished by increasing the lower approximation and decreasing the upper approximation, as the following results explained.

*Proposition 3.22.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* and  $Q \subseteq D$ . Then, for every  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle \cap \rangle, \langle \cup \rangle \}$  and  $K \in \{R, P, b, S, \alpha, \beta\}$  such that  $K \neq R$ ,

$$L_{J}(V(Q)) \subseteq L_{I}^{K}(V(Q)) \subseteq V(Q) \subseteq U_{I}^{K}(V(Q)) \subseteq U_{J}(V(Q))$$

Proof. For each *J* ∈ {*O*, *I*, ∩, ∪, <*O*>, <*I*>, <*O*>, <*U*>} and *K* ∈ {*R*, *P*, *b*, *S*, *α*, *β*} such that *K* ≠ *R*,  $L_J(V(Q)) = \cup \{V(M) \in \tau_J; V(M) \subseteq V(Q)\}$ 

$$\subseteq \cup \{V(M) \in K_J O(D); V(M) \subseteq V(Q)\} \text{ since } \tau_J \subseteq K_J O(D)$$
$$= L_J^K(V(Q)) \tag{1}$$

(2)

By Proposition (2)  $L_I^K(V(Q)) \subseteq V(Q) \subseteq U_I^K(V(Q))$ 

 $U_{I}^{K}(V(Q)) = \cap \{V(F) \in K_{J}C(D); V(Q) \subseteq V(F)\}$ 

$$\subseteq \cap \{V(F) \in \Gamma_J; V(Q) \subseteq V(F)\} \text{ since } K_J C(D) \subseteq \Gamma_J$$
$$= U_J(V(Q)) \tag{3}$$

From (1), (2) and (3) we get  $L_J(V(Q)) \subseteq L_J^K(V(Q)) \subseteq V(Q) \subseteq U_J^K(V(Q)) \subseteq U_J(V(Q))$ 

*Corollary 3.23.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* and  $Q \subseteq D$ . Then, for each  $J \in \{O, I, \cap, \cup, \langle O \rangle, \langle I \rangle, \langle \cap \rangle, \langle \cup \rangle\}$  and  $K \in \{P, b, S, \alpha, \beta\}$  such that  $K \neq R$ 

(a) 
$$B_J(V(Q)) \subseteq B_I^K(V(Q))$$
, (b)  $\Lambda_J(V(Q) \le \Lambda_I^K(V(Q))$ 

We will presenting the next example to explain the prominence of using J-supra conception in rough context and to expressing the precedent results.

*Example 3.24.* Let  $(D, \theta_J)$  be *J-DS* where  $D = (V(D), E(D)), V(D) = \{r_1, r_2, r_3, r_4\}$  and  $E(D) = \{(r_1, r_1), (r_1, r_2), (r_2, r_1), (r_2, r_2), (r_3, r_1), (r_3, r_2), (r_3, r_4), (r_4, r_4)\}.$ 



Figure 3: digraph given in Example 3.24.

$$O-D(r_1) = \{r_1, r_2\}, O-D(r_2) = \{r_1, r_2\}, O-D(r_3) = V(D), O-D(r_4) = \{r_4\}.$$

 $\tau_0 = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_4\}\}, \text{ and } \Gamma_0 = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_3\}, \{r_3, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_3\}\}.$ 

We shall calculate the *J*-supra approximations for J = O and  $K = P, b, \beta$ .

 $P_OO(D) = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_1\}, \{r_2\}, \{r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2\}, \{r_1, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_3, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_3, r_4\}\}.$ 

 $P_{O}C(D) = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_{1}\}, \{r_{2}\}, \{r_{3}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{2}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{3}, r_{4}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{2}, r_{3}\}, \{r_{1}, r_{3}, r_{4}\}, \{r_{2}, r_{3}, r_{4}\}\}.$ 

 $boO(D) = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_1\}, \{r_2\}, \{r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2\}, \{r_1, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_4\}, \{r_3, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_3\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_3, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_3, r_4\}\}.$ 

 $boC(D) = \{V(D), \emptyset, \{r_1\}, \{r_2\}, \{r_3\}, \{r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2\}, \{r_1, r_3\}, \{r_2, r_3\}, \{r_3, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_3\}, \{r_1, r_3, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_3, r_4\}\}.$ 

 $\beta_0 O(D) = \{ V(D), \emptyset, \{ \mathfrak{r}_1 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_2 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_4 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_1, \mathfrak{r}_2 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_1, \mathfrak{r}_3 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_1, \mathfrak{r}_4 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_2, \mathfrak{r}_3 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_2, \mathfrak{r}_4 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_3, \mathfrak{r}_4 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_1, \mathfrak{r}_2, \mathfrak{r}_3 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_1, \mathfrak{r}_2, \mathfrak{r}_4 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_1, \mathfrak{r}_3, \mathfrak{r}_4 \}, \{ \mathfrak{r}_2, \mathfrak{r}_3, \mathfrak{r}_4 \} \}.$ 

 $\beta_0 C(D) = \{ V(D), \emptyset, \{r_1\}, \{r_2\}, \{r_3\}, \{r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2\}, \{r_1, r_3\}, \{r_1, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_3\}, \{r_2, r_4\}, \{r_3, r_4\}, \{r_1, r_2, r_3\}, \{r_1, r_3, r_4\}, \{r_2, r_3, r_4\} \}.$ 

	τ	0	P	0	b	0	β	0
P(V(D))	$L_O(V(Q))$	$U_O(V(Q))$	$L^p_O(V(Q))$	$U_0^P(V(Q))$	$L^b_O(V(Q))$	$U_0^b(V(Q))$	$L_0^{\beta}(V(Q))$	$U_0^{\beta}(V(Q))$
{ <i>F</i> <sub>1</sub> }	Ø	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{F}_{l}\}$	$\{r_I\}$	{ <i>F</i> <sub>1</sub> }	{ <b>F</b> <sub>1</sub> }	{ <i>F</i> <sub>1</sub> }	$\{\mathbf{r}_l\}$
{ <b>r</b> <sub>2</sub> }	Ø	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1, \boldsymbol{r}_2, \boldsymbol{r}_3\}$	{ <b>r</b> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <b>r</b> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <b>r</b> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <b>r</b> <sub>2</sub> }	{ <b>r</b> <sub>2</sub> }
{ <b>r</b> <sub>3</sub> }	Ø	{ <b>r</b> <sub>3</sub> }	Ø	$\{r_3\}$	Ø	{ <i>¥</i> <sub>3</sub> }	Ø	$\{r_{3}\}$
$\{\mathbf{F}_{4}\}$	$\{r_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{r_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	{ <i>F</i> <sub>4</sub> }	$\{F_4\}$	$\{F_4\}$	$\{r_4\}$

**Table 2**Exact graph andRough graph.

$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	Ø	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{r_I\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_l\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{F_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathcal{F}_{1}, \mathcal{F}_{4}\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	Ø	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	{ <i>r</i> <sub>2</sub> }	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{r_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{F_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{F_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{F_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathcal{F}_3, \mathcal{F}_4\}$	$r_3, r_4$	$\{\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3\}$	$\{\boldsymbol{r}_1,\boldsymbol{r}_2,\boldsymbol{r}_3\}$
$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{r_1,r_2,r_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	V(D)	$\{r_1, r_2, r_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	V(D)
$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{F_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$
$\{r_2, r_3, r_4\}$	$\{\mathcal{F}_4\}$	V(D)	$\{\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2,\mathbf{r}_3,\mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$	$\{\mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_4\}$
V(D)	V(D)	V(D)	V(D)	V(D)	V(D)	V(D)	V(D)	V(D)
Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø

From the above table we can notice that:

- (a) Implementing the *J*-supra approximations is extremely interesting for obliterating the abstruseness of rough graphs, and this would help to extract and detecting of furtive information in statements aggregated from real-life applications.
- (b) The best *J*-supra approach is  $\beta_J$ , (since  $\beta_J$  is minutest than the other kinds of *J*-supra open graphs.
- (c) There are many rough graphs in  $\tau_0$ , but it is *J*-supra exact such as the shadowed graphs.

## Conclusion.

By employing the *J*-supra open graph, a newfound ways for approximation rough graphs for each topology of  $\tau_J$  are presented. Applying *J*-supra approximations helps to extract of unobserved information in datagram collected from real-life implementations. Example (3.24) show that there are many rough graphs in  $\tau_O$  it is *J*-supra exact.  $\beta_J$  is the best *J*-supra approach since it is more accurate than the other types.

## **References.**

- [1] Pawlak Z 1982 Rough sets, Int J. Information Comput. Sci. 11(5): 341-356.
- [2] Tsumoto S 1998 Automated exraction of medical expert system rules from clinical databases on rough set theory. *Inf. Sci*, 112: 67-84.
- [3] Yousif Y Y 2015 β-Closed Txopological Spaces in Terms of Grills, *Journal of advances in mathematics, Council For Innovation Research*, 10(8): 3745-3751.

- [4] Shukry M and Yousif Y Y 2012 Pre-Topology Generated by The Short Path Problems. International Journal of Contemporary Mathematical Sciences, Hikari Ltd, Bulgaria, 7(17): 805-820.
- [5] Yousif Y Y and Obaid S S 2018 Generalization of Rough Set Theory Using a Finite Number of a Finite d. g.'s. *International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR)*, 7: 1043 1052.
- [6] Yousif Y Y and Obaid S S 2017 Supra-Approximation Spaces Using Mixed Degree System in Graph Theory. *International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR)*, 6: 1501 1514.
- [7] Yousif Y Y and Obaid S S 2016 New Approximation Operators Using Mixed Degree Systems. *Bulletin of Mathematics and Statistics Research*, KY Publications, 4: 123-146.
- [8] Yousif Y Y and Abdul-naby A I 2016 Rough and Near Rough Probability in G<sub>m</sub>-Closure Spaces. International Journal of Mathematics Trends and Technology, Seventh Sense Research Group, 30(2): 68-78.
- [9] Yousif Y Y 2015 Topological Generalizations of Rough Concepts. *International Journal of Advanced Scientific and Technical Research*, R S. Publication, 3: 265-272.
- [10] Englking R 1989 Outline of general topology. Amsterdam.
- [11] Lin T Y 1992 Topological and fuzzy rough sets, in: R. Slowinsky (Ed.), Decision Support by Experience-Application of the Rough Sets Theory. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 287-304.
- [12] Pawlak Z and Skowron A 2007 Rough Sets and Boolen reasoning. *Information Sciences*, 177: 28-40.
- [13] Wilson R J 1996 Introduction to Graph Theory. Fourth.
- [14] Wallis W D A 2007 beginners guide to graph theory. Second Edition, USA.
- [15] Obaid S S 2017 On Topological Structures in Graph Theory. M. SC. Thesis, College of Education for Pure Science / Ibn Al-Haitham, University of Baghdad.
- [16] Yousif Y Y and Obaid S S 2016 Topological Structures Using Mixed Degree Systems in Graph Theory. International Journal of Applied Mathematics & Statistical Sciences, International Academy of Sciences, 5: 51-72.
- [17] Shokry M and Yousif Y Y 2011 Closure Operators on Graphs. Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences, Australian, 5(11): 1856-1864.

# MHD Peristaltic Flow of a Couple - Stress with varying Temperature for Jeffrey Fluid through Porous Medium

<sup>1</sup>Samah F. Jaber AL-khulaifawi and <sup>2</sup>Dheia Gaze Salih Al –Khafajy

<sup>1,2</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Al-Qadisiyah, Diwaneyah, Iraq.

> <sup>1</sup>E-mail: <u>samah85.samah85@gmail.com</u> <sup>2</sup>E-mail: dr.<u>dheia.g.salih@gmail.com</u> , <u>dheia.salih@qu.edu.iq</u>

#### Abstract

This paper is intended for investigating the effects of magnetohydrodynamic on the couple stress unsteady flow of incompressible Jeffrey fluid with varying temperature through a cylindrical porous channel. The analytical expression of the axial velocity, stream function and gradient pressure, was created taking into account the effect of thermal diffusion on the flow of the fluid. The analytical formulas of the velocity, temperature have been illustrated graphically for significant various parameters such as magnetic parameter, couple stress parameter, permeability parameter.

Keywords: MHD, Jeffrey Fluid, peristaltic flow, couple stress, porous medium.

Symbol	The meaning
A	is the average radius of the undisturbed tube.
В	is the amplitude of the peristaltic wave.
L	is the wavelength.
S	is the wave propagation speed.
$\overline{t}$	is the time.
$\nabla^2 = \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left( r \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \right)$	is the Laplace operator.
$\overline{V}$	is the velocity field.
ρ	is the density.
μ	is the dynamic viscosity.
$k^*$	is the permeability.
$\overline{B} = (0, B_0, 0)$	is the inclined magnetic field.
$\mu_p$	is the magnetic permeability.
$\overline{\sigma}$	is the Cauchy stress tensor.
$\bar{\zeta}$	is the constant associated with the couple stress.
Т	is the temperature of the fluid.
T <sub>c</sub>	is the thermal conductivity.
T <sub>s</sub>	is the specific heat capacity at constant pressure.
∇V	is the fluid velocity gradient.
$Q_r$	is the radiation heat flux.
q	is the heat generation.
$\bar{p}$	is the pressure.

#### List of symbols and meanings:

#### 1. Introduction

Peristaltic flows received a broad study by researchers because of interest in physiology and industry. The movement of blood in the bodies of living organisms is one of the applications of peristaltic movement that occupied the ideas of many researchers of its importance in blood transfusion. The arterial segment was contracted and extended periodically by spreading the progressive wave. And as a result of this, the researchers presented their scientific results related to peristaltic flow engineering, and among the first of these researchers in this specialization are: Latham [1]. In [2] he presented a detailed analysis of the peristaltic flow fluid in circular cylindrical tubes, in [3] he along on experimental results with a long wave approximation is adopted to analyze the problem of peristaltic pumping in a circular cylindrical tube. Moreover, peristalsis subjected to magnetic field effects is important in the treatment of hyperthermia, arterial flow, cancer treatment, etc.

We can consider detailed explanation of peristaltic fluids as well as experimental results with a long wave approximation dependent on a round cylindrical tube. It is very important to cast a magnetic field on peristalsis in the treatment of hyperthermia, arterial flow, cancer treatment, etc. Where the magnet is important in healing diseases of the uterus, ulcers, infections and intestine. On the other hand, the role of permeability is very important for the movement of the fluid, as is the case in extracting oil from wells and absorbing food in the intestine ... etc. Many researchers presented a study on the combined effect of the magnetic field and the presence of permeability the fluid flow channel, see [4-8]. At the present time, interest began to study the effect of temperature on the movement of liquids through a channel, as most researchers agreed that increasing the temperature increases the velocity of the fluid, see [9-14] for more details.

The present analysis is interested in discussing the effects of MHD on a couple's stress on Jeffrey fluid through a cylindrical porous medium duct. To date, studies have not found the presence of a magnetic field and the effect of varying temperatures from a couple's stress on the flow of a Jeffrey liquid through a porous channel in the cylindrical coordinates. This paper was divided into seven sections. The first section contains the flow channel form with the formulation of the governing equations and the formula for the equation for liquids fluid. As for the second section, it includes reviewing the boundary conditions with including non-dimensional transformations to facilitate the governing equations that assume there is a very small number of Reynolds or a very large wavelength to solve. As for sections 3 and 4, it is to solve problems and find a formula for temperature, velocity function, high pressure, and frictional force using Bissell functions and the regular ultra-high pressure measurement function. Whereas, the fifth section includes a discussion of the effect of the parameters on temperature, speed velocity, and pressure through detailed illustrations. The sixth section examines the phenomenon of trapping and the factors affecting it, whether increasing or decreasing, and in the last section it briefly presents the most important factors affecting the shape.

#### 2. Mathematical Formulation

Consider a peristaltic flow of an incompressible Jeffrey fluid in a coaxial uniform circular tube. The Jeffrey fluid is a non-Newtonian non-compressible liquid model and it is a real fluid in which shear stress does not match the shear stress rate (or velocity gradient). The cylindrical coordinates are considered, where R is along the radius of the tube and Z coincides with the axes of the tube as shown in figure 1.see [12].

Figure 1 Geometry of the problem



The geometry of wall surface is described as:

$$H(\bar{Z},\bar{t}) = a + bsin\left[\frac{2n}{L}(\bar{Z} - s\bar{t})\right]$$
(1)

The basic equations governing of the problem (continuity, momentum and temperature equations) are given by:

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla V &= 0 \\ (2) \\ \rho(\overline{V}.\nabla)\overline{V} &= \nabla \overline{\sigma} + \mathcal{M}_e.\overline{J} \times \overline{B} - \frac{\mu}{k^*}\overline{V} + \rho g \beta_1 (T - T_0) + \overline{\zeta} \nabla^4 \overline{V}, \end{aligned} \qquad \text{see.} \qquad [4], \qquad [12] \\ (3) \\ T_s \rho(\overline{V}.\nabla)T &= T_c. \nabla^2 T - \nabla. Q_r - q(T - T_0) \\ (4) \end{aligned}$$

The constitutive equations for an incompressible Jeffrey fluid are given by:  $\overline{\sigma} = -\overline{p}\overline{I} + \overline{S},.$ (5)  $\overline{S} = \frac{\mu}{1+\lambda_1}(\overline{\varkappa} + \lambda_2 \overline{\varkappa}).$ 

where  $\bar{S}$  is the extra stress tensor,  $\bar{p}$  is the pressure,  $\bar{I}$  is the identity tensor,  $\lambda_1$  is the ratio of relaxation to retardation times,  $\bar{x}$  is the shear rate,  $\bar{x}$  is material derivative, and  $\lambda_2$  is the retardation time.

### 3. Method of solution

Let  $\overline{U}$  and  $\overline{W}$  be the respective velocity components in the radial and axial directions in the fixed frame, respectively. For the unsteady two - dimensional flow the velocity field, temperature function may be written as:  $\overline{V} = (\overline{U}(\overline{r}, \overline{z}), 0, \overline{W}(\overline{r}, \overline{z})).$ 

(7) T = T(r, z),(8) By using the constitutive relations (5), (6) the equations of the problem (2)-(4) take the form:  $\frac{\partial \overline{u}}{\partial \overline{k}} + \frac{\overline{u}}{\overline{k}} + \frac{\partial \overline{W}}{\partial \overline{z}} = 0$ (9)  $\rho \left(\frac{\partial \overline{u}}{\partial \overline{t}} + \overline{U} \frac{\partial \overline{u}}{\partial \overline{R}} + \overline{W} \frac{\partial \overline{U}}{\partial \overline{z}}\right) = -\frac{\partial \overline{p}}{\partial \overline{R}} + \frac{1}{\overline{R}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{R}} (\overline{R} \overline{S}_{\overline{R}\overline{R}}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}} (\overline{S}_{\overline{Z}\overline{R}}) - \frac{\overline{S}_{\overline{\theta}\overline{\theta}}}{\overline{R}} - \frac{\mu}{k^*} \overline{U} - \sigma B_0^2 \overline{U} - \overline{\zeta} \nabla^4 \overline{U}$ (10)  $\rho \left(\frac{\partial \overline{W}}{\partial \overline{t}} + \overline{U} \frac{\partial \overline{W}}{\partial \overline{R}} + \overline{W} \frac{\partial \overline{W}}{\partial \overline{z}}\right) = -\frac{\partial \overline{p}}{\partial \overline{z}} + \frac{1}{\overline{R}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{R}} (\overline{R} \overline{S}_{\overline{R}\overline{Z}}) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}} (\overline{S}_{\overline{Z}\overline{Z}}) - \sigma B_0^2 \overline{W} - \frac{\mu}{k^*} \overline{W} + \rho g \beta_1 (T - T_0) - \overline{\zeta} \nabla^4 \overline{W} (11)$ 

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial \bar{t}} + \bar{U}\frac{\partial T}{\partial \bar{R}} + \bar{W}\frac{\partial T}{\partial \bar{Z}} = \frac{T_c}{T_s\rho} \left(\frac{\partial^2 T}{\partial \bar{R}^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{R}}\frac{\partial T}{\partial \bar{R}} + \frac{\partial^2 T}{\partial \bar{Z}^2}\right) + \frac{16\sigma_0 T_2^E}{3k_0 T_s \rho} \left(\frac{1}{\bar{R}}\frac{\partial T}{\partial \bar{R}} + \frac{\partial^2 T}{\partial \bar{R}^2}\right) - \frac{q}{T_s \rho} (T - T_0)$$
(12)

The flow in the fixed coordinates  $(\overline{R}, \overline{Z})$  between the two tubes is unsteady, it becomes steady at moving coordinates (r, z) when the wave is the same speed in the Z -direction. The Transformations between the two frames is given by:

$$\begin{split} \bar{r} &= \bar{R} , \bar{z} = \bar{Z} - s\bar{t}, \\ (13) \\ \bar{u} &= \bar{U} , \bar{w} = \bar{W} - s, \\ (14) \end{split}$$

Where  $(\bar{u}, \bar{w})$  and  $(\bar{U}, \bar{W})$  are the velocity components in the moving and fixed frames, respectively. The appropriate boundary conditions are:

 $\overline{w} = -1, \ \overline{u} = 0, \ T = T_1 \ \text{at} \ \overline{r} = \overline{r_1} = a_1$  $\overline{w} = -1, \ \overline{u} = 0, \ T = T_0 \ \text{at} \ \overline{r} = \overline{r_2}(\overline{z}, \overline{t}) = a_2 + b \sin(2\pi\overline{z})$ (15)

In order to simplify the governing equations of the problem, we may introduce the following dimensionless transformations as follows:

$$u = \frac{\bar{u}\,\mathcal{L}}{a_{2}s}, w = \frac{\bar{w}}{s}, r = \frac{\bar{r}}{a_{2}}, z = \frac{\bar{z}}{\mathcal{L}}, S = \frac{a_{2}\bar{s}}{\mu s}, \delta = \frac{a_{2}}{\mathcal{L}}, Da = \frac{k}{a_{2}^{2}}, \\ \mathcal{H} = \frac{T - T_{0}}{T_{1} - T_{0}}, Rn = \frac{K_{0}T_{S}\mu}{4T_{2}^{E}\sigma_{0}}, p = \frac{a_{2}^{2}\bar{p}}{\mu s\mathcal{L}}, M^{2} = \frac{\sigma a_{2}^{2}B_{0}^{2}}{\mu}, Re = \frac{\rho s a_{2}}{\mu}, \\ r_{1} = \frac{\bar{r}_{1}}{a_{2}} = \varepsilon < 1, \ \phi = \frac{b}{a_{2}}, \ r_{2} = \frac{\bar{r}_{2}}{a_{2}} = 1 + \phi \sin(2\pi\bar{z}), \\ \alpha = \bar{\alpha}a_{2} = \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{\zeta}}a_{2}, Gr = \frac{\rho g \beta_{1}a_{2}^{2}(T_{1} - T_{0})}{\mu s}, Pr = \frac{\mu T_{s}}{T_{c}}, \Omega = \frac{q a_{2}^{2}}{\mu T_{s}} \right)$$
(16)

where  $\emptyset$  the "amplitude ratio",  $\bar{\alpha}$  the "couple stress" fluid parameter indicating the ratio of the tube radius (constant) to material characteristic length ( $\sqrt{\mu/\zeta}$ , has the dimension of length), *Re* the "Reynolds number is the ratio of inertia force to the viscous force", *Pr* the "Prandtl number is ratio of kinematic viscosity to the thermal diffusivity", *Da* the "Darcy number is the ratio of the permeability of the medium to the diameter of the particle", *Rn* the "thermal radiation parameter", *Gr* the "thermal Grashof number is a measure of buoyancy or free-convection effects in a flow", *M*<sup>2</sup> the "magnetic parameter is equal to the product of the square of the magnetic permeability, the square of the magnetic field strength, the electrical conductivity, and a characteristic length, divided by the product of the mass density and the fluid velocity",  $\delta$  the "dimensionless wave number" and  $\Omega$  "heat source/sink parameter".

After using these transformations equations (13)-(14), substituting dimensionless equations (16) into problem equations (9)-(12) and boundary conditions (15), we get:

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial r} + \frac{u}{r} + \frac{\partial w}{\partial z} = 0$$
(17)
$$Re\delta^{3} \left( u \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} + (w+1)\frac{\partial u}{\partial z} \right) = -\frac{\partial p}{\partial r} + \delta \left[ \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} (rS_{rr}) + \delta \frac{\partial}{\partial z} (S_{rz}) - \frac{S_{\theta\theta}}{r} - \frac{\delta}{\alpha^{2}} \nabla^{4} u - \frac{\delta}{Da} u - \delta M^{2} u \right]$$
(18)

$$Re\delta\left(u\frac{\partial w}{\partial r} + (w+1)\frac{\partial w}{\partial z}\right) = -\frac{\partial p}{\partial z} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial}{\partial r}(rS_{zr}) + \delta\frac{\partial}{\partial z}(S_{zz}) - \frac{1}{\alpha^2}\nabla^4 w - \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{Da}\right)w - \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{Da}\right) + Gr\mathcal{H}(19)$$

$$Re\delta\left(u\frac{\partial\mathcal{H}}{\partial r} + (w+1)\frac{\partial\mathcal{H}}{\partial z}\right) = \frac{1}{Pr}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{H}}{\partial r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\mathcal{H}}{\partial r} + \delta^{2}\frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{H}}{\partial z^{2}}\right) + \frac{4}{3Rn}\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial}{\partial r}\left(r\frac{\partial\mathcal{H}}{\partial r}\right) - \Omega\mathcal{H}$$
(20)

where

$$S_{rr} = \frac{2\delta}{1+\lambda_1} \left[ 1 + \frac{s\lambda_2\delta}{a_2} \left( u \frac{\partial}{\partial r} + w \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \right) \right] \left( \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} \right)$$
(21)

$$S_{rz} = \frac{1}{1+\lambda_1} \left[ 1 + \frac{s\lambda_2\delta}{a_2} \left( u \frac{\partial}{\partial r} + w \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \right) \right] \left( \frac{\partial w}{\partial r} + \delta^2 \frac{\partial u}{\partial z} \right)$$
(22)

$$S_{\vartheta\vartheta} = \frac{2\delta}{1+\lambda_1} \left[ \frac{u}{r} + \frac{s\lambda_2\delta}{a_2} \left( \frac{u}{r} \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} - \frac{u^2}{r^2} + \frac{w}{r} \frac{\partial u}{\partial z} \right) \right]$$
(23)

 $S_{zz} = \frac{2\delta}{1+\lambda_1} \left[1 + \frac{s\delta}{a_2} (u\frac{\partial}{\partial r} + w\frac{\partial}{\partial z})\right] \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial z}\right)$ (24)

The related boundary conditions regarding to the dimensionless variables in the wave frame are given by:  $0 \mathcal{H} - 1$  at r - r

$$w = -1, u = 0, \mathcal{H} = 1$$
 at  $r = r_1 = \varepsilon$   
 $w = -1, u = 0, \mathcal{H} = 0$  at  $r = r_2 = 1 + \emptyset.Sin(2\pi z)$  (25)

It seems that the general solution of the equations (17) - (20) in the general case is impossible; therefore, we must limit the analysis to the assumption that the wavenumber is small ( $\delta \ll 1$ ). Means, we studied long-wavelength approximation. Along with this assumption, equations (17) -(20) become:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} + \frac{u}{r} + \frac{\partial w}{\partial z} &= 0\\ (26) \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial p}{\partial r} &= 0\\ (27) \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\alpha^2} \nabla^4 w - \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} (rS_{zr}) + \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{Da}\right) w &= -\frac{\partial p}{\partial z} - \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{Da}\right) + Gr\mathcal{H}\\ (28) \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \left(\frac{1}{Pr} + \frac{4}{3Rn}\right) \frac{1}{r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left(r \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial r}\right) - \Omega \mathcal{H} &= 0\\ (29) \end{aligned}$$

where  $S_{rr} = S_{\vartheta\vartheta} = S_{zz} = 0$ , and  $S_{rz} = \frac{1}{1+\lambda_1} \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial r}\right)$ . (30) Equation (27) shows that *p* dependents on *z* only, Replacing  $S_{rz}$  from equation (30) in equation (28), we have:

$$\frac{1}{\alpha^2}\nabla^4 w - \frac{1}{1+\lambda_1}\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial}{\partial r}\left(r\frac{\partial w}{\partial r}\right) + \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{Da}\right)w = -\frac{\partial p}{\partial z} - \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{Da}\right) + Gr\mathcal{H}$$
(31)

Assuming the components of the couple stress tensor at the wall to be zero, when Couple-stress, denoted by  $\bar{\alpha}$  is defined as the ratio of the tube radius (constant) to material characteristic length ( $\sqrt{\frac{\eta}{\mu}}$  has the dimension of length ), mathematically:

$$\bar{\alpha} = \alpha a_2 = \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{\eta}} a_2$$
(32)

Where,  $\mu$  is the dynamic viscosity,  $\eta$  is constant associated with couple stress, we can write The Couple-stress  $\overline{\eta}$ .  $\nabla^4 \overline{V}$ , see. [7], we have the following dimensionless boundary conditions:

$$w = -1, \ \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial r^2} - \frac{\hat{\zeta}}{r} \frac{\partial w}{\partial r} = 0 \text{ at } r = \varepsilon$$

$$w = -1, \ \frac{\partial^2 w}{\partial r^2} - \frac{\hat{\zeta}}{r} \frac{\partial w}{\partial r} = 0 \text{ at } r = 1 + \emptyset.Sin(2\pi z)$$
(33)

Where  $\hat{\zeta} = \frac{\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta}$  is a couple stress fluid parameter ( $\bar{\zeta}$  and  $\zeta$  are constants associated with the couple stress, when  $\zeta \to 1$  (i.e.  $\bar{\zeta} \to \zeta$ ) no couple stress effects, see [4], [5], and [6]).

## 4. Solutions of the Temperature Equations

The temperature equation (29), can be written as;  $\left(\frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{H}}{\partial r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\mathcal{H}}{\partial r}\right) - \frac{\Omega}{\left(\frac{1}{p_{r}} + \frac{4}{3Rn}\right)}\mathcal{H} = 0,$ (34) Set  $A = -\frac{\Omega}{\left(\frac{1}{p_{r}} + \frac{4}{3Rn}\right)}$ , the equation (34) takes the form:  $r^{2}\frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{H}}{\partial r^{2}} + r\frac{\partial\mathcal{H}}{\partial r} + Ar^{2}\mathcal{H} = 0$ (35)

The general solution of this equation "modified Bessel equation of zero-order", with the boundary conditions equation (25) is:

$$\mathcal{H} = B_1 J_0[r\sqrt{A}] + B_2 Y_0[r\sqrt{A}]$$
(36)

where  $B_1 = \frac{Y_0[h\sqrt{A}]}{J_0[\epsilon\sqrt{A}]Y_0[h\sqrt{A}]-J_0[h\sqrt{A}]Y_0[\epsilon\sqrt{A}]}$  and  $B_2 = \frac{J_0[h\sqrt{A}]}{J_0[h\sqrt{A}]Y_0[\epsilon\sqrt{A}]-J_0[\epsilon\sqrt{A}]Y_0[h\sqrt{A}]}$ The general solution of motion equation (31) is:

$$w = B_1 I_0 ( \delta r \sqrt{|s_1|} ) + B_2 K_0 ( \delta r \sqrt{|s_1|} ) + B_3 I_0 ( \delta r \sqrt{|s_2|} ) + B_4 K_0 ( \delta r \sqrt{|s_2|} ) - \left( \frac{\frac{dp}{dz} - Gr\mathcal{H} + \left( M^2 + \frac{1}{D_a} \right)}{M^2 + \frac{1}{D_a}} \right)$$

Where 
$$s_1 = -\frac{c_1}{b^2} - \sqrt{\left(\frac{c_1}{b^2}\right)^2 - 1}$$
,  $s_2 = -\frac{c_1}{b^2} + \sqrt{\left(\frac{c_1}{b^2}\right)^2 - 1}$ ,  $c_1 = \frac{\alpha^2}{2(1+\lambda_1)}$  and  $b^4 = \alpha^2 \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{D_a}\right)$ 

Also  $I_0$ ,  $K_0$  are the modified Bessel functions of the first and second kind of zero order. By using the "MATHEMATICA 11" program and the boundary conditions equations (25) and (33) we have a constants  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ ,  $B_3$  and  $B_4$ .

#### 5. Stream function

The corresponding stream functions  $u = -\frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial z}$  and  $w = \frac{1}{r}\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial r}$  is

$$\psi = \frac{A_1 r^2}{2} - \frac{B_2 r K_1 (r u_1)}{u_1} - \frac{B_4 r K_1 (r u_2)}{u_2} + \frac{1}{2} B_1 r^2 {}_0 \tilde{F}_1 \left[2; \frac{r^2 u_1^2}{4}\right] + \frac{1}{2} B_3 r^2 {}_0 \tilde{F}_1 \left[2; \frac{r^2 u_2^2}{4}\right]$$
(38)

 $A_1 = -\left(\frac{\frac{dp}{dz} - Gr\mathcal{H} + \left(M^2 + \frac{1}{D_a}\right)}{M^2 + \frac{1}{D_a}}\right), u_1 = \mathcal{E}\sqrt{|s_1|}, u_2 = \mathcal{E}\sqrt{|s_2|}, K_1 \quad {}_0\tilde{F}_1 \text{ are the modified Bessel function}$ of the second kind and Hypergeometric regularized function, respectively.

The instantaneous volume flow rate  $Q(z) (= 2 \int_{r_{-}}^{r_2} rwdr)$  is given by;

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dp}{dz} &= \left( Gr\mathcal{H} - \left( M^2 + \frac{1}{D_a} \right) \right) + \left( \frac{M^2 + \frac{1}{D_a}}{r_2^2 - r_1^2} \right) \left\{ Q(z) + \frac{2B_2}{u_1} [r_1 K_1(r_1 u_1) - r_2 K_1(r_2 u_1)] + \frac{2B_4}{u_2} [r_1 K_1(r_1 u_2) - r_2 K_1(r_2 u_2)] - B_1 \left\{ r_2^2 \ _0 \tilde{F}_1 \left[ 2; \frac{r_2^2 u_1^2}{4} \right] - r_1^2 \ _0 \tilde{F}_1 \left[ 2; \frac{r_1^2 u_1^2}{4} \right] \right\} - B_3 \left\{ r_2^2 \ _0 \tilde{F}_1 \left[ 2; \frac{r_2^2 u_2^2}{4} \right] - r_1^2 \ _0 \tilde{F}_1 \left[ 2; \frac{r_1^2 u_2^2}{4} \right] \right\} \end{aligned}$$

(39)

Following the analysis given by Shapiro et al.[14], the mean volume flow,  $q^2$  over a period is obtained as

$$q2 = Q + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \varepsilon^{2} + \frac{\phi^{2}}{2} \right)$$

$$(40)$$
This on using Eq. (38) yields
$$\frac{dp}{dz} = \left( Gr\mathcal{H} - \left( M^{2} + \frac{1}{D_{a}} \right) \right) + \left( \frac{M^{2} + \frac{1}{D_{a}}}{r_{2}^{2} - r_{1}^{2}} \right) \left\{ q2 - \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \varepsilon^{2} + \frac{\phi^{2}}{2} \right) + \left( \frac{2B_{2}}{u_{1}} \left[ r_{1}K_{1}(r_{1}u_{1}) - r_{2}K_{1}(r_{2}u_{1}) \right] + \frac{2B_{4}}{u_{2}} \left[ r_{1}K_{1}(r_{1}u_{2}) - r_{2}K_{1}(r_{2}u_{2}) \right] - B_{1} \left\{ r_{2}^{2} \ _{0}\tilde{F}_{1} \left[ 2; \frac{r_{2}^{2}u_{1}^{2}}{4} \right] - r_{1}^{2} \ _{0}\tilde{F}_{1} \left[ 2; \frac{r_{1}^{2}u_{1}^{2}}{4} \right] \right\} - B_{3} \left\{ r_{2}^{2} \ _{0}\tilde{F}_{1} \left[ 2; \frac{r_{2}^{2}u_{2}^{2}}{4} \right] - r_{1}^{2} \ _{0}\tilde{F}_{1} \left[ 2; \frac{r_{1}^{2}u_{2}^{2}}{4} \right] \right\} \right) \right\}$$

$$(41)$$

where  $Y_1$  And  ${}_0\tilde{F}_1$  are the modified Bessel function of the second kind and hypergeometric function, respectively.

The pressure rise  $\Delta p$  and the friction force (at the wall) on the inner and outer tubes are  $F^i$  and  $F^o$ , respectively, in a tube of length L, in their non-dimensional forms, are given by:

$$\Delta p = \int_{0}^{1} (\frac{dp}{dz}) dz,$$
(42)  

$$F^{i} = \int_{0}^{1} r_{2}^{2} (-\frac{dp}{dz}) dz,$$
(43)  

$$F^{o} = \int_{0}^{1} r_{1}^{2} (-\frac{dp}{dz}) dz,$$
(44)

Substituting from equation (41) in equations (42) - (44) with  $r_1 = \varepsilon$ ,  $r_2=1+\emptyset$ .  $\sin(2\pi z)$ , and then evaluating the integrations by using the language of series for several values of the parameters included, by the "MATHEMATICA 11" program, and the obtained results are discussed in the next section.

#### 6. Numerical Results and Discussion

In this section the numerical and computational results are discussed for the problem of an incompressible non- Newtonian Jeffrey fluid through porous medium with heat and mass transfer through the illustrations figures (2-39).

Based on equation (36), figures (2-3) shows that effects of the parameters  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\Omega$ , Rn and  $\emptyset$  on the temperature function  $\mathcal{H}$ , in figure 2, we notice that  $\mathcal{H}$  increases with increasing  $\varepsilon$  and  $\Omega$ , while figure 3, illustrates the temperature function increases with increasing Rn and  $\mathcal{H}$  decrease with increasing  $\emptyset$ .

Based on equation (37), figures (4-9), illustrate the effect of the parameters  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\Omega$ ,  $\alpha$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\phi$ ,  $\lambda 1$ , Gr, Da, M, q2, Pr and Rn on the velocity distribution w vs. r. We noticed that the velocity distribution starts to decrease and when it reaches point r=0.05 it starts to increase and for this, the general shape of the velocity distribution is a concave upward curve. Figure 4, illustrates the influence of the parameters  $\varepsilon$  and  $\Omega$  on the velocity distribution function w vs. It is found that the velocity w increases with the increasing  $\varepsilon$  when r < 0.07, while w decreases with increasing of  $\varepsilon$  when r > 0.07, and w decreases with increasing  $\Omega$ . In the fifth plot, shows the behavior of w under the variation of  $\alpha$  and  $\eta$ , one can describe here that w increases with increasing of  $\alpha$  and  $\eta$  at r > 0.2, while w decreases with increasing of  $\alpha$  and  $\eta$ , at r < 0.2, Figure 6, we notice the rotation of the effects of the parameters  $\lambda 1$ and  $\emptyset$  on the velocity function, where the effect of parameter  $\lambda 1$  is direct in the region r < 0.2, while in the region r > 0.2 the effect of parameter  $\lambda 1$  is inversed, and vice versa for the parameter  $\emptyset$ , we notice the decrease in the velocity when increasing  $\emptyset$  in the region r < 0.2 and the increase in the velocity with increasing  $\phi$  in the region r > 0.2. Figure 7 contains the velocity profile behavior under the parameters Gr and q2, we see that the velocity profile goes down with the increases Gr and q2when r < 0.2, and w increases with increasing of Gr and q2 when r > 0.2. We notice the effect of the magnetic field and permeability on the velocity function in shape 8, we get the velocity decreases with an increase in M and Da at r > 0.2, while the velocity w increase with an increase in M and Da at r < 0.2. In the ninth plot, It is found that the velocity w increases with the increasing Pr and Rn in the region r > 0.2, while w decreases with increasing of Pr and Rn in the region r < 0.2.

Based on equation (41), figures (10-15), illustrate the effect of the parameters  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\Omega$ ,  $\alpha$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\emptyset$ ,  $\lambda 1$ , Gr, q2, Da, M, Pr and Rn on the distribution of dp/dz vs. z. We noticed that dp/dz starts to increase and when it reaches point z=0.25 it starts to decrease and for this, the general diagram of the distribution of dp/dz is a concave downward curve. Figures 11, 13 and 14, illustrates the influence of the parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $\eta$ , Gr, q2, Da and M on dp/dz. It is found that dp/dz increases with the increasing  $\alpha$ ,  $\eta$ , Gr, q2, Da and M, respectively. Figures 10 and 15, illustrates the influence of the parameters  $\Omega$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , Pr and Rn on dp/dz. It is found that dp/dz decreases with the increasing  $\Omega$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , Pr and Rn, respectively. Figure 12, illustrates the influence of the parameters  $\psi$  and  $\lambda 1$ , on dp/dz. It is found that dp/dz decreases with the increasing  $\lambda 1$ .

Based on equation (42), figures (16-19) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\emptyset$ ,  $\Omega$ , Da,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\lambda 1$ , q2,  $\eta$ , Gr, Rn and M on the pressure rise  $\Delta p$ . Figures (16-17) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\Omega$ , Da,  $\varepsilon$  and  $\lambda 1$  on the  $\Delta p$  vs.  $\emptyset$ . We found that  $\Delta p$  increases with increasing Da, and  $\Delta p$  decreases with increasing  $\Omega$  in figure 16. In figure 17 we notice that  $\Delta p$  decreases with increasing  $\varepsilon$  in the region (0,0.03) while  $\Delta p$  increases with increasing  $\varepsilon$  when  $\emptyset > 0.03$ , and  $\Delta p$  increases with increasing  $\lambda 1$  when  $\emptyset > 0.022$ , while  $\Delta p$  decreases with increasing  $\lambda 1$  when  $\emptyset < 0.022$ . Figures (18-19) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn on the pressure rise  $\Delta p$  vs. q2, it is found that  $\Delta p$  increases with the increasing for each  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn.

Based on equation (43), figures (20-23) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\emptyset$ ,  $\Omega$ , Da,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\lambda 1$ , q2,  $\eta$ , Gr, Rn and M on  $F^i$ . Figures (20-21) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\Omega$ , Da,  $\varepsilon$  and  $\lambda 1$  on  $F^i$  vs.  $\emptyset$ . We found that  $F^i$  decreases with increasing Da, and  $F^i$  increases with increasing  $\Omega$  in figure 20. In figure 21 we notice that  $F^i$  increases with increasing  $\varepsilon$  in the region (0,0.022) while  $F^i$  decreases with increasing  $\varepsilon$  when  $\emptyset > 0.022$ , the  $F^i$  decreases with increasing  $\lambda 1$  when  $0.021 < \emptyset < 0.1$  at  $\varepsilon = 0.15$ , and  $F^i$  increases with increasing  $\lambda 1$  when  $0 < \emptyset < 0.021$  at  $\varepsilon = 0.175$ , while  $F^i$  increases with increasing  $\lambda 1$  otherwise. Figures (22-23) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn on  $F^i$  vs. q2, it is found that  $F^i$  decreases with the increasing for each  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn.

Based on equation (44), figures (24-27) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\emptyset$ ,  $\Omega$ , Da,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\lambda 1$ , q2,  $\eta$ , Gr, Rn and M on  $F^o$ . Figures (24-25) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\Omega$ , Da,  $\varepsilon$  and  $\lambda 1$  on  $F^o$  vs.  $\emptyset$ . We found that  $F^o$  decreases with increasing Da, and  $F^o$  increases with increasing  $\Omega$  in figure

24. In figure 25 we notice that  $F^o$  increases with increasing  $\varepsilon$  and  $\lambda 1$  in the region (0,0.023) while  $F^o$  decreases with increasing  $\varepsilon$  and  $\lambda 1$  when  $\emptyset > 0.023$ . Figures (26-27) illustrates the effects of the parameters  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn on  $F^o$  vs. q2, it is found that  $F^o$  decreases with the increasing for each  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn.

### 7. Trapping phenomena

The formation of an internally circulating bolus of fluid by closed streamlines is called trapping and this trapped bolus is pushed ahead along with the peristaltic wave. The effects of  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\Omega$ ,  $\emptyset$ ,  $\lambda 1$ , Rn, PrGr, M, Da, q2,  $\alpha$  and  $\eta$  on trapping can be seen through 28-39. Figure 28 shows that the size of the trapped bolus decreases with the increase  $\varepsilon$  gradually in the middle of the channel while when we approach at the upper wall we notice the increase of the wave with the increase of  $\varepsilon$ . The wave near the upper wall of the channel decreases with an increase of  $\Omega$  in figure 29. In the Thirty plot shows that the size of the trapped bolus located in the center of the channel increases with the increase  $\emptyset$  while when it is close to the upper wall we notice the decrease of the wave with the increase  $\emptyset$ . By figure 31 the size of the trapped bolus grow increase of  $\lambda 1$  when it is close to the upper wall of the channel gradually. The effect of parameter Rn on the trapped bolus in figure 32 is similar to the effect of parameter  $\Omega$  on the trapped bolus in figure 29. By figure 33, we notice two trapped boluses, one in the center of the channel and the other at the upper wall both are decreases until it disappears with the increase Pr. In figure 34 the size of the trapped bolus decreases with the increase Gr gradually at the upper wall. In figure 35 we notice the emergence and growth of the size of the trapped boluses, in addition to an increase in the wave at the upper wall of the channel when the value of M increases. In figure 36, the size of the trapped bolus decreases with the increase Da gradually at the upper wall of the channel while its beginning to grow in the center with increase of Da. Figure 37 shows the effect of the parameter  $q^2$  on the trapped bolus, as with the increase of  $q^2$  the wave near the upper wall increases with the emergence of a new trapped bolus that caused the bolus to grow in the center of the channel. In figure 38 the size of the trapped bolus decreases with increase  $\alpha$  in the wave near the upper wall. Finally in figure 39 we notice the effect of parameter  $\eta$  on trapped bolus similar to that of trapped bolus *Da* in figure 36.


**Figure 2:** The variation of temperature  $\mathcal{H}$  vs. *r* at Pr = 1,  $\phi = 0.2$ , Rn = 0.5, z = 0.1



**Figure 4:** velocity distribution for various values of  $\varepsilon$  and  $\Omega$  with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\emptyset = 0.2$ , Gr = 2, q2 = 0.5, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, Pr = 2, Rn = 0.5, z = 0.1.



**Figure 3:** The variation of temperature  $\mathcal{H}$  vs. *r* at  $\in = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 1$ , Pr = 1, z = 0.1



**Figure 5:** velocity distribution for various values of  $\eta$  and  $\alpha$  with  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\emptyset = 0.2$ , Gr = 2, q2 = 0.5, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, Pr = 2, Rn = 0.5, z = 0.1.



Figure 6: velocity distribution for various values of  $\lambda 1$  and  $\emptyset$  with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Gr = 2, q2 = 0.5, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, Pr = 2, Rn = 0.5, z = 0.1.



Figure 8: velocity distribution for various values of M and Da with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ , Gr = 2,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , q2 = 0.5, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, Pr = 2, Rn = 0.5, z = 0.1.



Figure 10: Distribution of  $\frac{d\phi}{dx}$  vs. z for various values of  $\Omega$  and  $\varepsilon$  with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ , Gr = 2, Rn = 2, Pr = 1, q2 = 0.5, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, z = 0.1.



Figure 7: velocity distribution for various values of Gr and q2 with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\varepsilon = 2$ ,  $\Omega = 1$ , M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, Pr = 2, Rn = 0.5, z = 0.1.



Figure 9: Velocity distribution for various values of Pr and Rn with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ , Gr = 2,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , q2 = 0.5, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, z = 0.1.



Figure 11: Distribution of  $\frac{dp}{dx}$  vs. z for various values of a and  $\eta$  with Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ , Gr = 2, c = 0.2,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , q2 = 0.5, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Pr = 1, Rn = 2, z = 0.1.



Figure 12: Distribution of  $\frac{dp}{dx}$  vs. z for various values of  $\emptyset$ and  $\lambda 1$  with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6, Gr = 2,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , q2 = 0.5, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Pr = 1, Rn = 2, z = 0.1.



Figure 14: Distribution of  $\frac{dp}{dx}$  vs. z for various values of M and Da with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, Pr = 1, Rn = 2, z = 0.1.



Figure 16: Distribution of  $\Delta p$  vs.  $\emptyset$  for various values of  $\Omega$  And  $D\alpha$  with e = 0.2,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ , M = 1.1, z = 0.1.



Figure 13: Distribution of  $\frac{dp}{dx}$  vs. z for various values of q2 and Gr with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, Pr = 1, Rn = 2, z = 0.1.



Figure 15: Distribution of  $\frac{dy}{dx}$  vs. z for various values of *Pr* and *Rn* with  $\eta = 0.5$ ,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.6,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, z = 0.1.



Figure 17: Distribution of  $\Delta p$  vs.  $\phi$  for various values of  $\lambda 1$  and  $\varepsilon$  with  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, Gr = 2,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ , M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, q2 = 0.5, z = 0.1.



Figure 18: Distribution of  $\Delta p \ vs. \ q2$  for various values of Gr and  $\eta$  with  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , M = 1.1,  $D\alpha = 0.9$ , z = 0.1.



Figure 20: Distribution of  $F^{l} vs. \phi$  for various values of  $\Omega$  And Da with  $\varepsilon = 0.2, \lambda 1 = 0.1, Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, \alpha = 3.75, <math>\eta = 0.5, M = 1.1, z = 0.1$ .



Figure 19: Distribution of  $\Delta p \ vs. \ q2$  for various values of M and Rn with  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 =$ 0.1, Pr = 2, Gr = 2,  $\eta = 0.5$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , Da = 0.9, z = 0.1.



Figure 21: Distribution of  $F^l vs. \emptyset$  for various values of  $\lambda 1$  and  $\varepsilon$  with  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, Gr = 2,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ , = 1.1, Da = 0.9, q2 = 0.5, z = 0.1.



Figure 22: Distribution of  $F^{i} vs. q2$  for various values of Gr and  $\eta$  with  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, q2 = 0.5, z = 0.1.



Figure 24: Distribution of  $F^{\circ}$  vs.  $\emptyset$  for various values of  $\Omega$  And Da with  $c = 0.2, \lambda 1 = 0.1, Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, a = 3.75, <math>\eta = 0.5, M = 1.1, z = 0.1$ .



Figure 26: Distribution of  $F^{\alpha}$  vs. q2 for various values of Gr and  $\eta$  with e = 0.2,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , M = 1.1, Da = 0.9, z = 0.1.



Figure 23: Distribution of  $F^{1}$  ws. q2 for various values of *M* and *Rn* with e = 0.2,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Pr = 2, Gr = 2,  $\eta = 0.5$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , Da = 0.9, q2 = 0.5, x = 0.1.



Figure 25: Distribution of  $F^{\circ}$  vs.  $\emptyset$  for various values of  $\lambda 1$  and  $\varepsilon$  with  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, Gr = 2,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ , = 1.1, Da = 0.9, q2 = 0.5, z = 0.1.



of *M* and *Rn* with  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Pr = 2, Gr = 2,  $\eta = 0.5$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ , Da = 0.9, z = 0.1.



Figure 28: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $\varepsilon = (0.2, 0.225, 0.25)$  at  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Da = 0.9,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, M = 1.1, a = 3.75,  $\eta = 0.5$ .

-

38



Figure 29: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $\Omega = (0.3, 0.4, 0.5)$  at  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ , Da = 0.9,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, g2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, M = 1.1, a = 3.75,  $\eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 30: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $\phi = (0.1, 0.125, 0.15)$  at  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ , Da = 0.9,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2, Pr = 2, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, M = 1.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ .







Figure 31: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $\lambda 1 = \{0.07, 0.075, 0.08\}$  at  $\phi = 0.2, \Omega = 0.9, \varepsilon = 0.2, Da = 0.9, Rn = 2, Pr = 2, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, M = 1.1, \alpha = 3.75, \eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 32: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $Rn = \{0.5, 0.6, 0.7\}$  at  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ , Da = 0.9, Pr = 2, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, M = 1.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 33: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $Pr = \{1.5, 2, 2.5, 3\}$  at  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ , Da = 0.9, q2 = 0.5, Gr = 2, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, Rn = 2, M = 1.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 34: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of Gr = (0.5, 0.75, 1) at  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ , Rn = 2,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ , Da = 0.9, Pr = 2, q2 = 0.5, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, M = 1.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 35: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $M = \{1.3, 1.4, 1.5\}$  at Gr = 2, Pr = 2, Rn = 2,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ , Da = 0.9, a = 0.9, q2 = 0.5, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1, a = 3.75,  $\eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 36: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of Da = (1, 1, 1, 1, 4) at M = 1.1, Gr = 2, Pr = 2 Rn = 2,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , q2 = 0.5, Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 37: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $q2 = \{0.5, 0.52, 0.56\}$  at Da = 0.9, M = 1.1, Gr = 2, Pr = 2 Rn = 2,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $\eta = 0.5$ .



Figure 38: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $\alpha = \{3.1, 3.15, 3.2\}$  at q2 = 0.5, Da = 0.9, M = 1.1, Gr = 2, Pr = 2, Rn = 2,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1,  $\eta = 0.5$ , z = 0.1.



Figure 39: Streamlines in the wave frame for various values of  $\eta = \{0.6, 0.65, 0.7\}$  at  $\alpha = 3.75$ ,  $q^2 = 0.5$ , Da = 0.9, M = 1.1, Gr = 2, Pr = 2, Rn = 2,  $\lambda 1 = 0.1$ ,  $\varepsilon = 0.2$ ,  $\phi = 0.2$ ,  $\Omega = 0.9$ , Sc = 0.5, Sr = 0.1.

#### 8. Concluding Remarks:

We briefly discuss the effect of different temperature on peristalsis MHD flow from a couplestress Jeffrey fluid through the porous channel. Where we discussed the various parameters affecting the movement of the liquid and the pressure generated by the fluid movement, we list below the main points that we reached:

- 1. The velocity of the fluid increases with the increasing  $\in$  and  $\Omega$  when r < 0.07 and decreases otherwise.
- 2. The velocity of fluid decreases with the increasing ,  $\eta$ ,  $\lambda 1$ ,  $\phi$ , Gr, q2, Rn and Pr when r < 0.2 and increases otherwise.
- 3. The velocity of the fluid increases with the increasing M and Da when r < 0.2 and decreases otherwise.
- 4. The pressure variation dp/dz increases with the increasing  $\alpha$ ,  $\eta$ , Gr, q2, M and Da, while dp/dz decreases with the increasing  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\Omega$ ,  $\lambda 1$ ,  $\phi$ , Pr and Rn.
- 5. The pressure rise  $\Delta p$  increases with the increasing  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn,  $\Delta p$  decreases with the increasing  $\Omega$  and Da, while  $\Delta p$  decreases with the increasing  $\in$  and  $\lambda 1$  when  $\emptyset < 0.03$ , while  $\Delta p$  increases with the increasing  $\in$  and  $\lambda 1$  when  $\emptyset > 0.03$ .
- 6. The friction force at the wall  $F^i$  and  $F^o$  decreases with the increasing  $\eta$ , Gr, M and Rn,  $\Delta p$  increases with the increasing  $\Omega$  and Da, while  $\Delta p$  increases with the increasing  $\in$  and  $\lambda 1$  when  $\emptyset < 0.03$ , and  $\Delta p$  decreases with the increasing  $\in$  and  $\lambda 1$  when  $\emptyset > 0.03$ .
- 7. The size of the trapped bolus decreases with the increasing  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\Omega$  and Pr gradually in the middle of the channel while when we approach at the upper wall we notice the increase of the wave with the increasing  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\lambda 1$ , M and q2, respectively.
- 8. The size of the trapped bolus increases with the increasing  $\emptyset$ , *Da*, *q*2 and  $\eta$  in the middle of the channel while when we approach at the upper wall we notice the decrease of the wave with the increasing  $\emptyset$ ,  $\Omega$ , *Pr*, *Gr*, *Da*, *Rn*,  $\alpha$  and  $\eta$ , respectively.

#### **References**

- [1] Latham TW, MS Thesis, M III Cambridge, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, (1966). <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1721.1/17282</u>.
- [2] Li, Chin-Hsiu, Peristaltic transport in circular cylindrical tubes. Journal of Biomechanics, 1970, Vol. 3, Issue. 5, p. 513.
- [3] Manton, M. J. Long-wavelength peristaltic pumping at low Reynolds number. Journal of Fluid Mechanics, Vol. 68, Issue. 03, p. 467. 1975.
- [4] Dheia G. Salih Al-khafajy and Ahmed Abd Alhadi, Magnetohydrodynamic Peristaltic flow of a couple stress with heat and mass transfer of a Jeffery fluid in a tube through porous medium, Advances in Physics Theories and Applications, 2014, Vol.32, ISSN 2225-0638.
- [5] G. C. SANKAD and P. S. NAGATHAN; Transport of MHD Couple Stress Fluid Through Peristalsis in a Porous Medium under the influence of heat Transfer and slip effects, Int. J. of Applied Mechanics and Engineering, 2017, vol.22, No.2, pp.403-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ijame-2017-0024</u>.
- [6] M.G. Reddy, Heat and mass transfer on magnetohydrodynamic peristaltic flow in a porous medium with partial slip, Alexandria Eng. J. (2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aej.2016.04.009</u>.
- [7] Riaz, A. Zeeshan, S. Ahmad, A. Razaq and M. Zubair, Effects of External Magnetic Field on non-Newtonian Two Phase Fluid in an Annulus with Peristaltic Pumping, Journal of Magnetics 24(1), 1-8 (2019), <u>https://doi.org/10.4283/JMAG.2019.24.1.XXX</u>.
- [8] Muhammad Saqib, Ilyas Khan, Sharidan Shafie, Generalized magnetic blood flow in a cylindrical tube with magnetite dusty particles, Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials, Elsevier B.V. 484 (2019) 490–496; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmmm.2019.03.032.

- [9] J. R. Pattnaik, G. C. Dash, S. Singh, Diffusion-thermo effect with hall current on unsteady hydromagnetic flow past an infinite vertical porous plate, Alexandria Engineering Journal (2017) 56, 13–25, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aej.2016.08.027</u>.
- [10] T. Hayat, Sabia Asghar, Anum Tanveer, Ahmed Alsaedi, Chemical reaction in peristaltic motion of MHD couple stress fluid in channel with Soret and Dufour effects, Results in Physics 10 (2018) 69–80, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rinp.2018.04.040</u>.
- [11] M.A. Imran, Fizza Miraj, I. Khan, I. Tlili, MHD fractional Jeffrey's fluid flow in the presence of thermo diffusion, thermal radiation effects with first order chemical reaction and uniform heat flux, Results in Physics 10 (2018) 10–17, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rinp.2018.04.008.
- [12] Ahmed A. H. Al-Aridhee and Dheia G. S. Al-Khafajy, Influence of MHD Peristaltic Transport for Jeffrey Fluid with Varying Temperature and Concentration through Porous Medium, IOP Conf. Series: Journal of Physics: Conf. Series 1294 (2019) 032012.
- [13] M. Ahmad, M. A. Imran, Maryam Aleem, I. Khan, A comparative study and analysis of natural convection flow of MHD non-Newtonian fluid in the presence of heat source and first-order chemical reaction, Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimtry, Springer 2019, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10973-019-08065-3</u>.

# Soft Closure Spaces

### <sup>1</sup>Shahad Thaar Ekram, <sup>1</sup>Rasha Naser Majeed

University of Baghdad, Faculty of Education for Pure Sciences Abn Al-Haitham, Department of Mathematics, Baghdad, Iraq

#### rasha.n.m@ihcoedu.uobaghdad.edu.iq

Abstract. In this paper, the concept of soft closure spaces is defined and studied its basic properties. We show that the concept soft closure spaces are a generalization to the concept of  $\check{C}$  ech soft closure spaces introduced by Krishnaveni and Sekar. In addition, the concepts of subspaces and product spaces are extended to soft closure spaces and discussed some of their properties.

#### 1. Introduction

There are many mathematical tools obtainable for dealing with an imperfect knowledge or for modelling complex systems such as probability theory, fuzzy set theory, rough set theory and also in computer science, engineering, physics, social sciences, economics, and medical sciences, etc. All these tools require the pre-specification of some parameters to start with. To conquer these obstacles, in 1999 Molodtsov [12] proposed a new mathematical tool, namely soft set theory to model uncertainty, which associates a set with a set of parameters. After Molodtsove's activity work, in 2003 Maji et al. [10] presented and studied several basic notions of soft set theory and some operation between two soft sets. The Applications of the theory of soft sets have been in many areas of mathematics. In 2011, Shabir and Naz [14] defined and studied the soft topological space. In 2014, El-Sheikh and Abd El-Latif [5] initiated the notion of supra soft topological spaces, which is wider and more general than the class of soft topological spaces.

The concept of closure space  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{U})$  were introduced by  $\check{C}$ ech [3] in 1968, where  $\mathcal{U}: P(\mathcal{M}) \to P(\mathcal{M})$ is a mapping defined on the power set  $P(\mathcal{M})$  of a set  $\mathcal{M}$  satisfying:  $(C1)\mathcal{U}(\emptyset) = \emptyset$ ,  $(C2)\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A})$ and  $(C3)\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B} \Rightarrow \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{B})$ , the mapping  $\mathcal{U}$  called closure operator on  $\mathcal{M}$ . A closure operator  $\mathcal{U}$  is called  $\check{C}$ ech closure operator, if  $\mathcal{U}$  satisfies:  $(C4)\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}) = \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}) \cup \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{B})$  and then  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{U})$ is called  $\check{C}$ ech closure space.  $\check{C}$ ech closure spaces studied by several authors and in several directions. In 1985, Mashhour and Ghanim [11] introduced the concept of  $\check{C}$ ech closure spaces in fuzzy setting. Independently, in 2014, Gowri and Jegadeesan [7] and Krishnaveni and Sekar [8] defined and studied  $\check{C}$ ech closure spaces in soft setting. Recently, Majeed [9] using fuzzy soft sets to define the concept of  $\check{C}$ ech fuzzy soft closure spaces.

In this work, motivated by the theory of soft sets we introduced the notion of soft closure spaces. In Section 3, the concept of soft closure spaces is defined. Also, the notion of closed (respectively, open) soft sets in soft closure spaces is defined and give the basic properties of them with several examples to explain these concepts. In addition, we show our notion of soft closure space in more general than the notion of  $\check{C}$  ech soft closure spaces that defined by Krishnaveni and Sekar [8] (see Proposition 3.4). Moreover, we find for every soft closure space there exists a supra soft topology associative with it (see Remark 3.18). In Section 4, the soft closure subspace of a soft closure space is defined and studied with details. We discuss the relationships between the closed (respectively, open) soft sets in the soft-c.subsp (see Proposition 4.7 and Theorems 4.10 and 4.12) Finally, Section 5 is devoted to introduce the notion of the product of soft closure spaces and studied its basic properties.

#### d) Preliminaries

In this section we recall some basic definitions and results of soft set theory defined and discussed by various authors. Throughout this paper,  $\mathcal{M}$  refers to the initial universe,  $P(\mathcal{M})$  denote the power set of  $\mathcal{M}$  and R is the set of all parameters for  $\mathcal{M}$ .

**Definition 2.1** [12] A soft set  $\mathcal{F}_R = (\mathcal{F}, R)$  over the universe set  $\mathcal{M}$  is defined by a mapping  $\mathcal{F}: R \to P(\mathcal{M})$ . Then  $\mathcal{F}_R$  can be represented by the set  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r, \mathcal{F}(r)): r \in R \text{ and } \mathcal{F}(r) \in P(\mathcal{M})\}$ . We denote the family of all soft sets over  $\mathcal{M}$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$ .

**Definition 2.2** [10] A null soft set, which denoted by  $\tilde{\Phi}_R$ , is a soft set  $\mathcal{F}_R$  over  $\mathcal{M}$  such that for all  $r \in R$ ,  $\mathcal{F}(R) = \emptyset$  (empty set).

**Definition 2.3** [10] An absolute soft set, which denoted by  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ , is a soft set  $\mathcal{F}_R$  over  $\mathcal{M}$  such that for all  $r \in R$ ,  $\mathcal{F}(r) = \mathcal{M}$ .

**Definition 2.4** [6] Let  $\mathcal{F}_R$  and  $G_R$  be two soft sets over  $\mathcal{M}$ . Then,  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is called a soft subset of  $G_R$ , denoted  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq G_R$ , if  $\mathcal{F}(r) \subseteq G(r)$  for all  $r \in R$ .  $\mathcal{F}_R$  equals  $G_R$ , denoted by  $\mathcal{F}_R = G_R$  if  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq G_R$  and  $G_R \sqsubseteq \mathcal{F}_R$ .

**Definition 2.5** [10] The union of two soft sets  $\mathcal{F}_R$  and  $\mathcal{G}_R$  over  $\mathcal{M}$  is the soft set  $\mathcal{H}_R$  defined as b  $\mathcal{H}(r) = \mathcal{F}(r) \cup \mathcal{G}(r)$  for all  $r \in R$ . This is denoted by  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqcup \mathcal{G}_R$ . And the soft intersection of  $\mathcal{F}_R$  and  $\mathcal{G}_R$  is the soft set  $\mathcal{H}_R$  given by  $\mathcal{H}(r) = \mathcal{F}(r) \cap \mathcal{G}(r)$  for all  $r \in R$  and denoted by,  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqcap \mathcal{G}_R$ .

**Definition 2.6** [14] Let  $\mathcal{F}_R$  and  $G_R$  be two soft sets over  $\mathcal{M}$ , the difference  $\mathcal{H}_R$  of  $\mathcal{F}_R$  and  $G_R$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{F}_R - G_R$ , and defined as  $\mathcal{H}(r) = \mathcal{F}(r) - G(r)$  for all  $r \in R$ .

**Definition 2.7 [14]** The relative complement of a soft set  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{F}_R^c$ , where  $\mathcal{F}^c: R \to P(\mathcal{M})$  defined as  $\mathcal{F}^c(r) = \mathcal{M} - \mathcal{F}(r)$ , for all  $r \in R$ . Clearly,  $\mathcal{F}_R^c = \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} - \mathcal{F}_R$ .

**Definition 2.8** [4, 15] The soft set  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$  is called soft point in  $\mathcal{M}$ , denoted by  $x_r$ , if for the element  $r \in R$ ,  $\mathcal{F}(r) = \{x\}$  and  $\mathcal{F}(r') = \emptyset$  for every  $r' \in R - \{r\}$ .

**Definition 2.9** [4, 15] The soft point  $x_r$  is said to be in the soft set  $G_R$ , denoted by  $x_r \in G_R$ , if for the element  $r \in R$ , we have  $\{x\} \subseteq G(r)$ .

**Definition 2.10** [2] Let  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$  and  $G_S \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{Y}, S)$ . The Cartesian product  $\mathcal{F}_R \times G_S$  is defined by  $(\mathcal{F} \times G)_{R \times S}$  where  $(\mathcal{F} \times G)_{R \times S}(r, s) = \mathcal{F}(r) \times G(s)$ , for all  $(r, s) \in R \times S$ .

According to this definition the soft set  $\mathcal{F}_R \times G_S$  is a soft set over  $\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{Y}$  and its parameter universe is  $R \times S$ .

The pairs of projections  $p_{\mathcal{M}}: \mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{M}, q_R: R \times S \to R$  and  $p_{\mathcal{Y}}: \mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{Y}, q_S: R \times S \to S$  determine morphisms respectively  $(p_{\mathcal{M}}, q_R)$  from  $\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{Y}$  to  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $(p_{\mathcal{Y}}, q_S)$  from  $\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{Y}$  to  $\mathcal{Y}$ , where

 $(p_{\mathcal{M}}, q_R)(\mathcal{F}_R \times G_S) = p_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathcal{F} \times G)_{q_R(R \times S)} \text{ and } (p_{\mathcal{Y}}, q_S)(\mathcal{F}_R \times G_S) = p_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F} \times G)_{q_S(R \times S)}.$  [1].

**Definition 2.11** [5] A supra soft topological space is the triple  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{T}^*, R)$ , where  $\mathcal{M}$  is universe set, *R* is the fixed set of parameters and  $\mathcal{T}^*$  is the collection of soft sets over  $\mathcal{M}$ , which are satisfies:

1-  $\widetilde{\Phi}_R, \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} \in \mathcal{T}^*$ ,

2- The union of any number of soft sets in *T*\* belongs to *T*\*.
 The members of *T*\* are called supra open soft sets. A soft set *F<sub>R</sub>* is called supra closed soft in *M* if, *M̃* − *F<sub>R</sub>* ∈ *T*\*.

**Definition 2.12** [14] Let  $\mathcal{Y}$  be a non-empty subset of  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_R$  be a soft set over  $\mathcal{M}$ . Then the subsoft set of  $\mathcal{F}_R$  over  $\mathcal{Y}$  denoted by  $\mathcal{F}_R^{\mathcal{Y}}$  is defined as follows  $\mathcal{F}^{\mathcal{Y}}(r) = \mathcal{Y} \cap \mathcal{F}(r)$  for all  $r \in R$ .

In other words that is  $\mathcal{F}_{R}^{\mathcal{Y}} = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \mathcal{F}_{R}$  where  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$  denotes to the soft set  $\mathcal{Y}_{R}$  over  $\mathcal{M}$  for which  $\mathcal{Y}(r) = \mathcal{Y}$ , for all  $r \in R$ .

**Definition 2.13** [13] Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{T}^*, R)$  be a supra soft topological space and  $\mathcal{Y}$  be a non-empty subset of  $\mathcal{M}$ . Then,  $\mathcal{T}^*_{\mathcal{Y}} = \{\mathcal{F}_R^{\mathcal{Y}} : \mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{T}^*\}$  is called the supra soft relative topology on  $\mathcal{Y}$  and  $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{T}^*_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  is called a supra soft subspace of  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{T}^*, R)$ .

#### e) The Basic Structures of Soft Closure Spaces

This section is devoted to introduce the notion of soft closure spaces and discussed the basic properties of these spaces.

**Definition 3.1** An operator  $\tilde{u}: SS(\mathcal{M}, R) \to SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  is called a soft closure operator (soft-*co*, for short) on  $\mathcal{M}$ , if for all  $\mathcal{F}_R, G_R \in SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  the following axioms are satisfied:

$$(\mathcal{C}1) \,\widetilde{\Phi}_R = \widetilde{u}(\widetilde{\Phi}_R),$$

$$(\mathcal{C}2) \mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R),$$

$$(\mathcal{C}3) \mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \mathcal{G}_R \Longrightarrow \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(\mathcal{G}_R).$$

The triple  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  is called a soft closure space (soft-*cs*, for short).

Next, we give two examples to explain the notion in Definition 3.1.

**Example 3.2** Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{a, b, c\}$  and  $R = \{r_1, r_2\}$ . Define a soft-co  $\tilde{u}: SS(\mathcal{M}, R) \to SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  as follows:

$$\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{R}) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_{R} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \tilde{\Phi}_{R}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{c\}), (r_{2}, \{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} \sqsubseteq \{(r_{1}, \{c\}), (r_{2}, \{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{b\}), (r_{2}, \{c\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} \sqsubseteq \{(r_{1}, \{b\}), (r_{2}, \{c\})\}, \\ \tilde{\mathcal{M}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

Clearly, the soft-co  $\tilde{u}$  satisfies the three axioms of Definition 3.1. Hence  $(\mathcal{X}, \tilde{u}, R)$  is a soft-cs.

**Example 3.3** Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{a, b, c\}$  and  $R = \{r_1, r_2\}$ . Define a soft-co  $\tilde{u}: SS(\mathcal{M}, R) \to SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  as follows:

$$\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_R & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_R = \tilde{\Phi}_R, \\ \{(r_2, \{c\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{c\})\}, \\ \tilde{\mathcal{M}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

Then, it clear that the axiom (C2) of Definition 3.1 is not hold because there exists  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$ , where  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{c\}\} \text{ such that } \{(r_1, \{c\}\} \not\subseteq \{(r_2, \{c\})\} = \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \text{ and hence } (\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R) \text{ is not soft-cs.} \}$ 

Now we give the relationship between our definition of soft-cs and the definition of  $\check{C}$  ech soft closure space introduced in [8].

**Proposition 3.4** Every Čech soft closure space is a soft-cs.

**Proof:** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a Čech soft-cs. To show  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  is soft-cs, it is sufficient to prove the softco  $\tilde{u}$  satisfies the axioms (C3) in Definition 3.1. Now, let  $\mathcal{F}_R, G_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$  such that  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq G_R$ . It is clear that  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcup \tilde{u}(G_R)$ . By the axiom (C3) of definition Čech soft closure operator we get,  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R \sqcup G_R) = \tilde{u}(G_R)$ . This implies  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(G_R)$  and hence  $\tilde{u}$  is a soft-co and  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  is soft-cs.

Remark 3.5 The convers of Proposition 3.4 is not true as the following example shows

**Example 3.6** Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{a, b\}$  and  $R = \{r_1, r_2\}$ . Define a soft-co  $\tilde{u}: SS(\mathcal{M}, R) \to SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  as follows:

 $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{R}) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_{R} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \tilde{\Phi}_{R}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{a, b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{1}, \{a\})\}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{1}, \{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_{2}, \{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{2}, \{b\})\}, \\ \tilde{\mathcal{M}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$ 

Then,  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  is a soft-cs, but it is not čech soft closure space since there exist  $\mathcal{F}_R, G_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$ , where  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{a\})\}$  and  $G_R = \{(r_1, \{b\})\}$  such that  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R \sqcup G_R) \neq \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcup \tilde{u}(G_R)$ .

**Definition 3.7** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs. A soft subset  $\mathcal{F}_R$  over  $\mathcal{M}$  is said to be a closed soft set, if  $\mathcal{F}_R = \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R)$ . A soft subset  $G_R$  over  $\mathcal{M}$  is called an open soft set if it is soft complement  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - \mathcal{F}_R$  is closed soft set.

**Example 3.8** In Example 3.6, it is clear that  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{b\})\}$  is a closed soft set and its complement  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} - \mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{a\}), (r_2, \{a, b\})\}$  is an open soft set. While, the soft set  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{a\})\}$  is not a closed soft set neither open soft set.

**Proposition 3.9** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs and  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$ . If  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \subseteq \mathcal{F}_R$ , then  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ .

**Proof:** The proof obtained directly from hypothesis and Definition 3.1.

**Theorem 3.10** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs and let  $G_R \in SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$ . Then,  $\tilde{u}(G_R) - G_R$  contains no nonempty open soft subset. **Proof:** Let  $G_R$  be a soft subset in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  and  $H_R$  be a nonempty open soft subset of  $\tilde{u}(G_R) - G_R$ . Then, there exists a soft point  $x_r \in H_R \subseteq \tilde{u}(G_R) - G_R$  this implies  $x_r \notin \tilde{\mathcal{M}} - H_R$ . Which is a closed soft set. Therefore,  $x_r \notin \tilde{\mathcal{M}} - H_R = \tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - H_R)$ . That means,  $\tilde{u}(G_R)$  not contained in  $\tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - H_R)$ . Since  $H_R \subseteq \tilde{u}(G_R) - G_R$ , then  $G_R \subseteq \tilde{u}(G_R) - H_R \subseteq \tilde{\mathcal{M}} - H_R$ . From (C3), we get  $\tilde{u}(G_R) \subseteq \tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - H_R)$  and this is a contradiction. Therefore,  $\tilde{u}(G_R) - G_R$  contains no non-empty open soft set.

**Proposition 3.11** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs and  $\{(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a family of soft subsets over  $\mathcal{M}$ . Then:

- 1-  $\sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(\sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}).$
- 2-  $\tilde{u}(\sqcap_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \sqsubseteq \sqcap_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}).$

**Proof:** 

- 1- For all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$  we have,  $(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} \equiv \sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$ . From (C2) of Definition 3.1, we get for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}, \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \equiv \tilde{u}(\sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha})$ . This implies,  $\sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \equiv \tilde{u}(\sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha})$ .
- 2- For all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$ , since  $\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} \sqsubseteq (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$ . Then, by (C2) of Definition 3.1, we have  $\tilde{u}(\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha})$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$ . Hence,  $\tilde{u}(\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \sqsubseteq \sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha})$ .

**Remark 3.12** The inclusion of Proposition 3.11 cannot be replaced by equalities in general as the following example shows.

**Example 3.13** Let Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{a, b, c\}$  and  $R = \{r_1, r_2\}$ . Define a soft-co  $\tilde{u}: SS(\mathcal{M}, R) \to SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  as follows:

$$\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{R}) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_{R} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \tilde{\Phi}_{R}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{a\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{1}, \{a\})\}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{1}, \{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_{2}, \{c\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{2}, \{c\})\}, \\ \tilde{\mathcal{M}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

Then,  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  is a soft-cs. Let  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{a\})\}$  and  $G_R = \{(r_1, \{b\})\}$ , then it is clear that  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R \sqcup G_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{M}} \neq \{(r_1, \{a, b\})\} = \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcup \tilde{u}(G_R)$ .

Also, if we take  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{a\})\}$  and  $K_R = \{(r_1, \{b, c\})\}$ , then  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R \sqcap K_R) = \tilde{\Phi}_R \neq \{(r_1, \{a\})\} = \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcap \tilde{u}(K_R)$ .

Proposition 3.14 The intersection of any collection of closed soft sets in a soft-cs is a closed soft set.

**Proof:** Let  $\{(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a family of closed sets in a soft-cs  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . We must prove  $\tilde{u}(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$ . Since  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} \equiv (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$ , then by (C3) of Definition 3.1, we get  $\tilde{u}(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \equiv \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) = (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  (by  $(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  is a closed soft set for all  $\in \mathcal{I}$ 

). This implies  $\tilde{u}(\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) \sqsubseteq \sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$ . On the other hand from (C2), it follows that  $\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha})$ . Therefore,  $\tilde{u}(\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) = \sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$ . Hence, the result.

Corollary 3.15 The union of any collection of open soft sets in a soft-cs is an open soft set.

**Proof**: Let  $\{(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a family of open sets in a soft-cs  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . Clearly the complement of  $\sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  is  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} - \sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} = \sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} - (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha})$ . Since  $(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  is an open soft set for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$ , then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} - (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  is a closed soft set. By Proposition 3.14, we have  $\sqcap_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} - (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  is a closed soft set. Therefore,  $\sqcup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}$  is an open soft set.

**Corollary 3.16** Let  $\{(\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a collection of closed soft sets in a soft-cs  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . Then,  $\tilde{u}(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} (\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha}) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}((\mathcal{F}_R)_{\alpha})$ .

Proof: The proof follows from Proposition 3.14 and definition of closed soft set.

**Remark 3.17** The intersection (respectively, union) of any family of open (respectively, closed) soft sets in a soft-cs ( $\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R$ ) need not to be an open (respectively, closed) soft set.

To explain that, in Example 3.6, there exist  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{b\})\}$  and  $G_R = \{(r_2, \{b\})\}$  are closed soft sets but their union is not a closed soft set. In addition, there exist  $H_R = \{(r_1, \{a\}), (r_2, \{a, b\})\}$  and  $K_R = \{(r_1, \{a, b\}), (r_2, \{a\})\}$  are open soft sets but  $H_R \sqcap K_R = \{(r_1, \{a\}), (r_2, \{a\})\}$  is not an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ .

**Remark 3.18** From Corollary 3.15 and Remark 3.17, it follows for each soft- cs there exists an underlying supra soft topological space that can be defined in a natural way:

Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs, we denote the associative supra soft topology on  $\mathcal{M}$  by  $\mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}}$ . That is  $\mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}} = \{ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} - \mathcal{F}_R : \widetilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R \}.$ 

The members of  $\mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}}$  are called supra open soft sets and the complements are called supra closed soft sets.

i.e.,  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is an open (respectively, closed) soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R) \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{F}_R$  is a supra open (respectively, closed) soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}}, R)$ .

**Example 3.19** In Example 3.2, the associative supra soft topology on  $\mathcal{M}$  is  $\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}} = \{\widetilde{\Phi}_R, \{(r_1, \{a, b\}), (r_2, \{a, c\})\}, \{(r_1, \{a, c\}), (r_2, \{a, b\})\}, \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}\}$  which is a supra soft topology on  $\mathcal{M}$ . In addition,  $\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}}$  is not necessarily to be a soft topology on  $\mathcal{M}$  since there exist  $\mathcal{F}_R, G_R \in \mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}}$ , where  $\mathcal{F}_R = \{(r_1, \{a, b\}), (r_2, \{a, c\})\}$  and  $G_R = \{(r_1, \{a, c\}), (r_2, \{a, b\})\}$ . However,  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqcap G_R = \{(r_1, \{a\}), (r_2, \{a\})\} \notin \mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}}$ .

**Definition 3.20** Let  $\tilde{u}_1$  and  $\tilde{u}_2$  be two soft-co's on  $\mathcal{M}$ . Then  $\tilde{u}_1$  is said to be finer than  $\tilde{u}_2$ , or equivently,  $\tilde{u}_2$  is coarser than  $\tilde{u}_1$ , if  $\tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_2(\mathcal{F}_R)$  for all  $\mathcal{F}_R \in SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$ .

Now, we give an example to explain the above definition.

**Example 3.21** Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{a, b, c\}$ , and  $R = \{r_1, r_2\}$ . Define  $\tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2: SS(\mathcal{M}, R) \to SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  as follows:

$$\tilde{u}_{1}(\mathcal{F}_{R}) = \begin{cases} \widetilde{\Phi}_{R} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \widetilde{\Phi}_{R}, \\ \{(r_{1},\{a\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{1},\{a\})\}, \\ \{(r_{2},\{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{2},\{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_{2},\{c\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{2},\{c\})\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

And,

$$\tilde{u}_{2}(\mathcal{F}_{R}) = \begin{cases} \widetilde{\Phi}_{R} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \widetilde{\Phi}_{R}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{a, b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{1}, \{a\})\}, \\ \{(r_{2}, \{b, c\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{2}, \{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_{2}, \{c\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \{(r_{2}, \{c\})\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

Then, it is easy to verify that  $\tilde{u}_1$  and  $\tilde{u}_2$  are soft-co's on  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\tilde{u}_1$  is finer than  $\tilde{u}_2$  since for all  $\mathcal{F}_R \in SS(\mathcal{M}, R), \tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R) \subseteq \tilde{u}_2(\mathcal{F}_R).$ 

**Theorem 3.22** Let  $\tilde{u}_1$  and  $\tilde{u}_2$  be two soft-co's on  $\mathcal{M}$ . Define  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2$ ,  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcap \tilde{u}_2$ :  $\mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R) \rightarrow \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$  as follows: for all  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$ ,  $(\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2)(\mathcal{F}_R) = \tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcup \tilde{u}_2(\mathcal{F}_R)$  and  $(\tilde{u}_1 \sqcap \tilde{u}_2)(\mathcal{F}_R) = \tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcap \tilde{u}_2(\mathcal{F}_R)$ . Then,  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2$  and  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcap \tilde{u}_2$  are soft-co's on  $\mathcal{M}$ .

**Proof**: We prove  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2$  is a soft-co on  $\mathcal{M}$  and similarly one can prove  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcap \tilde{u}_2$  is soft-co on  $\mathcal{M}$ . Now, we must prove  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2$  satisfies the axioms (C1), (C2) and (C3) of Definition 3.1.

$$(\mathcal{C}\mathbf{1}) \ (\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2) \big( \tilde{\Phi}_R \big) = \tilde{u}_1 \big( \tilde{\Phi}_R \big) \sqcup \tilde{u}_2 \big( \tilde{\Phi}_R \big) = \tilde{\Phi}_R \sqcup \tilde{\Phi}_R = \tilde{\Phi}_R.$$

(C2) For all  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$ . Since  $\tilde{u}_1$  and  $\tilde{u}_2$  are soft-co's on  $\mathcal{M}$ , then  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R)$  and  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_2(\mathcal{F}_R)$ . This implies  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcup \tilde{u}_2(\mathcal{F}_R) = (\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2)(\mathcal{F}_R)$ .

(C3) Let  $\mathcal{F}_R, G_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$  such that  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq G_R$ . Since  $\tilde{u}_1$  and  $\tilde{u}_2$  are soft-co's on  $\mathcal{M}$ , then  $\tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_1(G_R)$  and  $\tilde{u}_2(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_2(G_R)$ . It follows,  $\tilde{u}_1(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqcup u_2(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_1(G_R) \sqcup \tilde{u}_2(G_R)$  which implies,  $(\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup u_2)(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq (\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2)(G_R)$ . Hence,  $\tilde{u}_1 \sqcup \tilde{u}_2$  is a soft-co on  $\mathcal{M}$ .

#### f) Soft closure subspaces

In this section we introduce the notion of soft closure subspace of a soft-cs and investigate some properties of its.

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs and let  $\mathcal{Y} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ . Let  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}: \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{Y}, R) \to \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{Y}, R)$  defined by  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R)$ . Then,  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}$  is a soft-co on  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

**Proof:** We must prove  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{V}}$  satisfying the axioms (C1) – (C3) of Definition 3.1.

 $(\mathcal{C}\mathbf{1}) \ \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\tilde{\Phi}_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}_R(\tilde{\Phi}_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{\Phi}_R = \tilde{\Phi}_R.$ 

(C2) For all  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{Y}, R)$ , we have  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R)$ . This implies  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R)$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R)$ .

(C3) Let  $\mathcal{F}_R, G_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{Y}, R)$  such that  $\mathcal{F}_R \sqsubseteq G_R$ . Since  $\tilde{u}$  is a soft-co, then  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}(G_R)$ . Therefore,  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(G_R)$  which means  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R) \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(G_R)$ .

**Definition 4.2** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs, and let  $\mathcal{Y} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ . The soft closure operator  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}$  (defined in the Theorem 4.1) is called the relative soft closure operator on  $\mathcal{Y}$  induced by  $\tilde{u}$ . The triple  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  is called a soft closure subspace (soft-c.subsp, for short) of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ .

**Remark 4.3** The soft-c.subsp  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  is a closed (respectively, open) soft subspace if  $\tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$  (respectively,  $\tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - \tilde{\mathcal{Y}}) = (\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - \tilde{\mathcal{Y}})$ ).

In the next we give an example to explain the notion of soft-c.subsp.

**Example 4.4** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs as defined in Example 3.2, where  $\mathcal{M} = \{a, b, c\}, R = \{r_1, r_2\}$  and  $\tilde{u}: SS(\mathcal{M}, R) \rightarrow SS(\mathcal{M}, R)$  defined by

$$\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{R}) = \begin{cases} \widetilde{\Phi}_{R} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} = \widetilde{\Phi}_{R}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{c\}), (r_{2}, \{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} \sqsubseteq \{(r_{1}, \{c\}), (r_{2}, \{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_{1}, \{b\}), (r_{2}, \{c\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R} \sqsubseteq \{(r_{1}, \{b\}), (r_{2}, \{c\})\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

Let  $\mathcal{Y} = \{a, b\} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ , then  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}: SS(\mathcal{Y}, R) \to SS(\mathcal{Y}, R)$  defined as follows: for all  $G_R \in SS(\mathcal{Y}, R)$ 

$$\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(G_R) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_R & \text{if } G_R = \tilde{\Phi}_R, \\ \{(r_1, \{b\})\} & \text{if } G_R = \{(r_1, \{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_2, \{b\})\} & \text{if } G_R = \{(r_2, \{b\})\}, \\ \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

Then,  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  is soft-c.subsp of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ .

**Remark 4.5** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs and  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  be a soft-c.subsp of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . If  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}}, R)$  and  $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}}, R)$  be the supra soft topological spaces induced form  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  and  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  respectively. Then  $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}}, R)$  is a supra soft subspace of the supra soft topological space  $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}}, R)$ .

We can use Example 4.4 to explain Remark 4.5. Therefore,

 $\mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}} = \{ \widetilde{\Phi}_R, \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}, \{ (r_1, \{a, b\}), (r_2, \{a, c\}) \}, \{ (r_1, \{a, c\}), (r_2, \{a, b\}) \} \text{ and since } \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}y} = \{ \mathcal{F}_R^{y}: \mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}} \}, \text{ then it follows } \mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}y} = \{ \widetilde{\Phi}_R, \widetilde{\mathcal{Y}}, \{ (r_1, \{a\}), (r_2, \{a, b\}) \}, \{ (r_1, \{a, b\}), (r_2, \{a\}) \}.$ 

**Theorem 4.6** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs and  $\mathcal{Y} \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ . Then the relative supra soft topology  $(\mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}})_{\mathcal{Y}}$  on  $\mathcal{Y}$  induced by  $\mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}}$  is coarser than the associative supra soft topology  $\mathcal{T}_{\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{U}}}$  on  $\mathcal{Y}$ .

**Proof:** We must prove  $(\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}})_{\mathcal{Y}} \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}}$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}_R$  be a  $(\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}})_{\mathcal{Y}}$ -closed soft set over  $\mathcal{Y}$ . Then, there exists a  $\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}}$ supra closed soft set  $G_R$  such that  $\mathcal{F}_R = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R$ . Since  $\mathcal{F}_R \subseteq G_R$ , then  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \subseteq \tilde{u}(G_R) = G_R$ . This
implies  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) \subseteq \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R = \mathcal{F}_R$ . Therefore,  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$  and this implies  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a
supra closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}}, R)$ . Hence,  $(\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}})_{\mathcal{Y}} \subseteq \mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}}$ .

**Proposition 4.7** Let  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_y, R)$  be a soft-c.subsp of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . If  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$ , and  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set in  $\mathcal{M}$ , then  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_y, R)$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{F}_R \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}, R)$  such that  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$ . Now,  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \mathcal{F}_R = \mathcal{F}_R$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$ .

**Remark 4.8** The convers of Proposition 4.7 is not true as the following example shows.

**Example 4.9** In Example 4.4, consider  $G_R = \{(r_1, \{b\})\}$  which is a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_y, R)$  but it is not a closed soft set in  $\mathcal{M}$  since  $\tilde{u}(G_R) = \{(r_1, \{b\}), (r_2, \{c\})\} \neq G_R$ .

The following Theorem give the condition to be the converse of Proposition 4.7 is hold in general.

**Theorem 4.10** Let  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  be a soft-cs and  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  be a closed soft subspace of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . If  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set of  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$ , then  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ .

**Proof:** To prove  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  we must show  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$ . Since  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set of  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$ , then  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$ , which means  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$ . From hypothesis we have  $\tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$ . Thus, it follows  $\tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}) \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$ . From Proposition 3.11(2), we have  $\tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \mathcal{F}_R) \equiv \tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}) \sqcap \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$ . On the other hand,  $\mathcal{F}_R \equiv \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R)$ . Therefore, we obtain  $\tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_R) = \mathcal{F}_R$  and hence  $\mathcal{F}_R$  is a closed soft set of  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ .

**Remark 4.11** In Theorem 4.10, the soft set  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$  is a closed soft set in  $\mathcal{M}$  is a necessary condition for this theorem. We can explain that in more details. In Example 4.4,  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} = \{(r_1, \{a, b\}), (r_2, \{a, b\})\}$  is not a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  (because  $\tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}) \neq \tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$ ). Let  $G_R = \{(r_1, \{b\})\}$  be a closed soft set  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$ . Then, it is clear that  $G_R$  is not a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$  since  $\tilde{u}(G_R) = \{(r_1, \{b\}), (r_2, \{c\})\} \neq G_R$ .

**Theorem 4.12** Let  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  be a soft- c.subsp of a soft-cs  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . If  $G_R$  is an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ , then  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R$  is an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$ .

**Proof:** To prove  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R$  is an open in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$ , we must show  $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} - (\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R)$  is a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$ , i.e., we must show  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} - (\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R)) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} - (\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R)$ . Now,

$$\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}\big(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} - (\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R)\big) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}_R - \big(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R\big)) \sqsubseteq \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap \tilde{u}(\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - G_R)$$

$$= \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap (\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - G_R)$$
$$= \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} - (\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} \sqcap G_R).$$

Remark 4.13 The convers of Theorem 4.12 is not true as the following example shows.

**Example 4.14** In Example 4.4, consider the soft set  $G_R = \{(r_1, \{b\}), (r_2, \{a, b\})\}$  is an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{Y}, \tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}, R)$  since  $\tilde{u}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}} - G_R) = \tilde{\mathcal{Y}} - G_R$ . But  $G_R$  is not an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{u}, R)$ . because  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}} - G_R$  is not a closed soft set in  $\mathcal{M}$ .

#### g) The product of soft closure spaces

In this section we define the product of a collection of soft-cs's and gives the properties of open and closed soft sets in the product soft-cs.

**Theorem 5.1** Let  $\{(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}) : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a family of soft-cs's. Define a soft operator  $\otimes \tilde{u}: SS(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}) \rightarrow SS(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$ , where  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$  and  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}$  denotes to the Cartesian product of the sets  $\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$  and  $R_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$ , respectively as follows:

 $\otimes \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} \left( \left( p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}} \right) \left( \mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \right) \right), \forall \mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{SS}(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}).$ 

Then, the operator  $\otimes \tilde{u}$  is a soft closure operator on  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ .

**Proof:** We must prove  $\otimes \tilde{u}$  satisfies the axioms (C1)- (C3) of Definition 3.1.

$$(\mathcal{C}1) \otimes \tilde{u}\big(\tilde{\Phi}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}\big) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} \left( \left( p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}} \right) \left( \tilde{\Phi}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \right) \right) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} \left( \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{\alpha}} \right) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{\alpha}} = \tilde{\Phi}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$$

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\mathcal{C}2) \text{ Let } \mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{SS}(\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha},\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}). \text{ For all } \alpha\in\mathcal{I}, \text{ since } \tilde{u}_{\alpha} \text{ is a soft-co on } \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \text{ then it follows } (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}) \equiv \tilde{u}_{\alpha}((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})). & \text{This implies } \\ \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}) \equiv \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\tilde{u}_{\alpha}((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})). & \text{Since } \\ \mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}} \equiv \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}), \text{ then we have } \mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}} \equiv \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\tilde{u}_{\alpha}((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})) = \\ \otimes \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}). & \text{Therefore, } \mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}} \equiv \otimes \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}). \end{array}$ 

(C3) Let  $\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}} \equiv G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}$ . Then, for all  $\alpha\in\mathcal{I}$ ,  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}) \equiv (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})$ . This implies,  $\tilde{u}_{\alpha}((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})) \equiv \tilde{u}_{\alpha}((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}))$ .

Thus,  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} ((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})) \subseteq \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} ((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}))$  and that means  $\otimes \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \subseteq \otimes \tilde{u}(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . Hence, we get the result.

**Definition 5.2** Let  $\{(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}): \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a family of soft-cs's. and let  $\otimes \tilde{u}$  be the soft-co defined as in Theorem 5.1. Then the triple  $(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \otimes \tilde{u}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$  is said to be the product soft-cs of the family  $\{(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}): \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$ .

**Example 5.3** Let  $\mathcal{M}_1 = \{a, b\}$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_{2=}\{x, y, z\}$ ,  $R_1 = \{r_1, r_2\}$  and  $R_2 = \{k_1, k_2\}$ . Define soft-co's  $\tilde{u}_1$  and  $\tilde{u}_2$  on  $\mathcal{M}_1$  and  $\mathcal{M}_2$  respectively as follows:

 $\tilde{u}_1: SS(\mathcal{M}_1, R_1) \longrightarrow SS(\mathcal{M}_1, R_1)$  defined as

$$\tilde{u}_{1}(\mathcal{F}_{R_{1}}) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{1}} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{1}}, \\ \{(r_{1},\{a,b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \{(r_{1},\{a\})\}, \\ \{(r_{1},\{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \{(r_{1},\{b\})\}, \\ \{(r_{2},\{b\})\} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \{(r_{2},\{b\})\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{1} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

And,  $\tilde{u}_2: SS(\mathcal{M}_2, R_2) \longrightarrow SS(\mathcal{M}_2, R_2)$  defined as

$$\tilde{u}_{2}(\mathcal{F}_{R_{2}}) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{2}} & if \mathcal{F}_{R_{2}} = \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{2}}, \\ \{(k_{1}, \{x\})\} & if \mathcal{F}_{R_{2}} = \{(k_{1}, \{x\})\}, \\ \tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{2} & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Then,  $(\mathcal{M}_1, \tilde{u}_1, R_1)$  and  $(\mathcal{M}_2, \tilde{u}_2, R_2)$  are soft-cs's. Let  $p_{\mathcal{M}_1}: \mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_1, q_{R_1}: R_1 \times R_2 \to R_1$ and  $p_{\mathcal{M}_2}: \mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_2, q_{R_2}: R_1 \times R_2 \to R_2$  be the projection maps. Then,  $(\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2, \otimes \tilde{u}, R_1 \times R_2)$  is the product soft-cs of  $(\mathcal{M}_1, \tilde{u}_1, R_1)$  and  $(\mathcal{M}_2, \tilde{u}_2, R_2)$ , where  $\otimes \tilde{u}: SS(\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2, R_1 \times R_2) \to SS(\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2, R_1 \times R_2)$  defined as: for all  $\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2} \in SS(\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2, R_1 \times R_2)$ ,  $\otimes \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2}) = \tilde{u}_1((p_{\mathcal{M}_1}, q_{R_1})(\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2})) \times \tilde{u}_2((p_{\mathcal{M}_2}, q_{R_2})(\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2}))$ . For example, if we take  $\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2} = \{((r_1, k_1), \{(a, x)\})\}$ . Then,

$$\begin{split} \otimes \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2}) &= \tilde{u}_1((p_{\mathcal{M}_1}, q_{R_1})(\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2})) \times \tilde{u}_2((p_{\mathcal{M}_2}, q_{R_2})(\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2})) \\ &= \tilde{u}_1(\{(r_1, \{a\})\}) \times \tilde{u}_2(\{(k_1, \{x\})\}) \\ &= \{(r_1, \{a, b\})\} \times \{(k_1, \{x\})\} \\ &= \{((r_1, k_1, ), \{(a, x), (b, x)\})\} \end{split}$$

It is clear that,  $\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2} \sqsubseteq \otimes \tilde{u}(\mathcal{F}_{R_1 \times R_2}).$ 

**Theorem 5.4** Let  $\{(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}) : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a family of soft-cs's. Then,  $\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$  is a closed soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha})$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$  if and only if  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$  is a closed soft set in  $(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \otimes \tilde{u}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$ .

**Proof:** Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$  be a closed soft set of  $(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha})$ . Then,  $\tilde{u}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}) = \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$ . From the definition of soft projection map, it follows,  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}) = \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$ . Hence,  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}} = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} (\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} ((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}})) = \otimes \tilde{u}(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}})$ . That means,  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}} = \bigotimes \tilde{u}(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}})$ . Hence,  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$  is a closed soft set in  $(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \otimes \tilde{u}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$ .

Conversely, Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}} \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha})$ , to prove  $\tilde{u}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}) = \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$ . From hypothesis we have  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}$  is a closed soft set in  $(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \otimes \tilde{u}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$ . This means  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}} = \otimes \tilde{u}(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} ((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}))$ . By compute the soft projection, we get  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}) = (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}))$ . It follows,

 $\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}} = \tilde{u}_{\alpha} \left( \left( p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}} \right) \left( \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}} \right) \right) = \tilde{u}_{\alpha} (\mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}}). \text{ Therefore, } \mathcal{F}_{R_{\alpha}} \text{ is a closed soft set in } (\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}) \text{ for all } \alpha \in \mathcal{I}.$ 

**Lemma 5.5** Let  $\{(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}): \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a collection of soft-cs's and  $\nu \in \mathcal{I}$ . If  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \equiv \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ and  $((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \in G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ , then  $\{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \notin \mathcal{I}} \{(p_{X_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \equiv \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ , for all  $x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ .

**Proof:** Let  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \subseteq \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\alpha}$  and  $((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \in G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ . Let  $\nu \in \mathcal{I}$  and  $x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}$  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . Then,  $x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}} \notin (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . Since  $((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \in G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ , then  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \in (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}.$ That means,  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}}) \} \subseteq \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{J}} R_{\alpha}}) \}.$ Thus,  $\{x_{\nu_{r_u}}\}$  ×  $\prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \} \not \sqsubseteq (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}}) (G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \times \prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \} = 0$  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \}.$  Clearly from the properties of the projection maps,  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \subseteq$  $\{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \not\subseteq$  $\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})\}.$ Consequently,  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}. \quad \text{But, } \{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \text{ is a soft point. Thus, } \{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \text{ is a soft point. Thus, } \{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \text{ is a soft point. Thus, } \{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \text{ is a soft point. Thus, } \{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}))_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}\} \text{ or } \{$  $\prod_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathcal{I} \\ \alpha \in \mathcal{I}}} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \} \in \widetilde{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}. \blacksquare$ 

**Lemma 5.6** Let  $\{(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}) : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a collection of soft-cs's and let  $\nu \in \mathcal{I}$ . If  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \equiv \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ , then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \equiv (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}).$ 

**Proof:** Let  $v \in \mathcal{I}$  and  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} \equiv \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ . If  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}} = \widetilde{\Phi}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ , then  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{v}}, q_{R_{v}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - \widetilde{\Phi}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) = \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{v}$ . Since  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{v} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{v}}, q_{R_{v}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \equiv \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{v}$ , then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{v} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{v}}, q_{R_{v}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \equiv \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{v}$ , then there exists a soft point  $((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \in G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ . Let  $x_{v_{r_{v}}} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{v} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{v}}, q_{R_{v}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . Then by Lemma 5.5 we have  $\{x_{v_{r_{v}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \neq v} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \equiv \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ . It follows that  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{v}}, q_{R_{v}})(\{x_{v_{r_{v}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \equiv (p_{\mathcal{M}_{v}}, q_{R_{v}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ .

This implies  $x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}} \in (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . Therefore,  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \subseteq (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ .

**Theoorem 5.7** Let  $\{(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}) : \alpha \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be a family of soft-cs's. If  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$  is an open soft set in the product soft closure space  $(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \otimes \tilde{u}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$ , then  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$  is an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha}, R_{\alpha})$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$ .

**Proof:** Let  $G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$  be an open soft set of  $(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \otimes \tilde{u}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$ . Then,  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$  is a closed soft set in  $(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \otimes \tilde{u}, \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha})$ . That is mean,  $\otimes \tilde{u} (\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ . From the definition of  $\otimes \tilde{u}$  we obtain,  $\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha} ((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})) (\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) = \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ .

Suppose that there exists  $\nu \in \mathcal{I}$  such that  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$  is not open soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}_{\nu}, \tilde{u}_{\nu}, R_{\nu})$ . Since  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}$  is an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}_{\nu}, \widetilde{u}_{\nu}, R_{\nu})$  and  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \subseteq \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}$  this implies  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \neq \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}$ , which means  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \neq \widetilde{\Phi}_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$ . Hence, there exists a soft point  $a_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}} \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . From (C2) of Definition 3.1, we have  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ .  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \subseteq \tilde{u}_{\nu}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})\right).$  Thus,  $\tilde{u}_{\nu}\left(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})\right)$  is not contained in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . Hence, there exists soft point  $x_{\nu r_{\nu}'}$  such that  $x_{\nu r'_{\nu}} \in \tilde{u}_{\nu} \left( \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}}) (G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \right)$  $x_{\nu_{\mathcal{T}'_{\mathcal{U}}}} \notin \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}),$ and i.e.,  $x_{\nu_{r'_{u}}} \in (p_{\mathcal{M}_{v}}, q_{R_{v}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ . Hence, there exists a soft point  $((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \in G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}$  such that  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) = x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}'}}. \text{ For all } a_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}} \widetilde{\in} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \text{ we have } \{a_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times (a_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}) \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}$  $\prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \} \sqsubseteq \widetilde{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}.$  By compute the soft projection for the inclusion last get  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\{a_{\nu_{r_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\}) \subseteq (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\widetilde{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})$ this implies

 $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \equiv (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \equiv \tilde{u}_{\alpha} ((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})).$  From Lemma 5.6, we have  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}) \equiv (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})).$ 

 $\begin{aligned} G_{\prod_{\alpha\in \mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}). & \text{From} \quad (\mathcal{C}3) \quad \text{of} \quad \text{Definition} \quad 3.1, & \text{we} \quad \text{have} \\ \tilde{u}_{\nu}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - \left(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}}\right)\left(G_{\prod_{\alpha\in \mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}\right)\right) & \sqsubseteq \tilde{u}_{\nu}\left((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})\left(\prod_{\alpha\in \mathcal{I}}\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha\in \mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}\right)\right). & \text{Since} \quad x_{\nu r_{\nu}'} \in \tilde{u}_{\nu}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} - \left(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}}\right)\left(G_{\prod_{\alpha\in \mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}\right)\right), & \text{then} \end{aligned}$ 

$$\begin{aligned} x_{\nu_{r'_{\nu}}} & \in \tilde{u}_{\nu}(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}}). & \text{Thus,} & \text{it follows} \\ \{x_{\nu_{r'_{\nu}}}\} \times \prod_{\substack{\alpha \neq \nu \\ \alpha \in \mathcal{I}}} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\} \sqsubseteq \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \tilde{u}_{\alpha}((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} R_{\alpha}})). \\ \text{But } x_{\nu_{r'_{\nu}}} = (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \text{ this yields} \end{aligned}$$

$$\{x_{\nu_{r_{\nu}'}}\} \times \prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\}$$
  
=  $\{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}, q_{R_{\nu}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \times \prod_{\alpha \neq \nu} \{(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}})(((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}})\}\}$ 

$$= \prod_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \{ (p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}}, q_{R_{\alpha}}) (((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}}) \}$$
$$= \{ ((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha \in \mathcal{I}} \}$$

Consequently,  $\{((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\} \equiv \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\tilde{u}_{\alpha}(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}-G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}).$  Therefore,  $((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}} \in \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\tilde{u}_{\alpha}(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}-G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}) = \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}-G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}.$  But  $((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}} \in G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}, \text{ then } ((x_{\alpha})_{(r_{\alpha})})_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}} \notin \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}-G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}} \text{ which implies}$  $\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\tilde{u}_{\alpha}((p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}-G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})) \notin \prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}-G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}.$  That means  $G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}}$  is not an open soft set in  $(\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}\mathcal{M}_{\alpha},\otimes\tilde{u},\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha})$  which is a contradiction. Therefore,  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}},q_{R_{\alpha}})(G_{\prod_{\alpha\in\mathcal{I}}R_{\alpha}})$  is an open soft set in  $(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha},\tilde{u}_{\alpha},R_{\alpha})$  for all  $\alpha\in\mathcal{I}.$ 

Remark 5.8 The converse of Theorem 5.7 is not hold in general as the following example shows:

**Example 5.9** Let  $\mathcal{M}_1 = \{a, b, c\}, \mathcal{M}_2 = \{x, y, z\}$  and  $R_1 = \{r_1, r_2\}, R_2 = \{r_3, r_4\}$ . Define soft-co's  $\tilde{u}_1$  and  $\tilde{u}_2$  on  $\mathcal{M}_1$  and  $\mathcal{M}_2$  respectively as follows:

$$\tilde{u}_{1}(\mathcal{F}_{R_{1}}) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{1}} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{1}}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \{(r_{1}\{c\}), (r_{2}\{c\})\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \{(r_{2}\{a\}), (r_{2}\{a\})\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}_{1}} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

And

$$\tilde{u}_{2}(\mathcal{F}_{R_{2}}) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{2}} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \tilde{\Phi}_{R_{1}}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{R_{2}} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \{(r_{3}\{x\}), (r_{4}\{x\})\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{R_{2}} & \text{if } \mathcal{F}_{R_{1}} = \{(r_{3}\{z\}), (r_{4}\{z\})\}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{2} & \text{other wise.} \end{cases}$$

Then,  $(\mathcal{M}_1, \tilde{u}_1, R_1)$  and  $(\mathcal{M}_2, \tilde{u}_2, R_2)$  are soft-cs's. Let  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_1}, q_{R_1})$  and  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_2}, q_{R_2})$  be the soft projection maps. Consider  $G_{R_1 \times R_2} \in \mathcal{SS}(\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2, R_1 \times R_2)$ , where  $G_{R_1 \times R_2} = \{((r_1, r_3), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\}), ((r_1, r_4), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\}), ((r_1, r_4), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\}), ((r_1, r_4), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\}), ((r_1, r_4), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\}), ((r_1, r_4), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\})$ 

 $((r_2, r_3), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\}), ((r_2, r_4), \{(a, x), (a, y), (b, x), (b, y)\})\}.$ 

Then,  $(p_{\mathcal{M}_1}, q_{R_1})(G_{R_1 \times R_2}) = \{(r_1, \{a, b\}), (r_2, \{a, b\})\}$ , and

 $(p_{\mathcal{M}_2}, q_{R_2})(G_{R_{1\times}R_2}) = \{(r_3, \{x, y\}), (r_4, \{x, y\}) \text{ are open soft sets in } (\mathcal{M}_1, \tilde{u}_1, R_1) \text{ and } (\mathcal{M}_2, \tilde{u}_2, R_2), \text{ respectively. But } G_{R_{1\times}R_2} \text{ is not an open in } (\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2, \otimes \tilde{u}, R_1 \times R_2). \text{ Since } \mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2 - G_{R_1 \times R_2} \text{ is not closed soft set in } (\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_2, \otimes \tilde{u}, R_1 \times R_2).$ 

#### References

- [34] A. Aygünoğlu and H. Aygün, Some notes on soft topological spaces, Neural Comput & Applic, (21)(2012) (Suppl 1):S113–S119.
- [35] K. V. Babitha and J. J. Sunil, Soft set relations and functions, Comput. Math. Appl. 60 (2010) 1840-1849.
- [36] E. Čech, Topological Spaces, Topological Papers of Eduard Čech, Academia, Prague (1968) 436-472.
- [37] S. Das and S. K. Samanta, soft metric, Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics 1 (2013) 77-94.
- [38] S. A. El-Sheikh and A. M. Abd El-Latif, Decompositions of some types of supra soft sets and soft continuity, International Journal of Mathematics Trends and Technology 9 (1) (2014) 37-56.
- [39] F. Feng, Y. B. Jun and X. Zhao, Soft semirings, Comput. Math. Appl. 56 (2008) 2621-2628.
- [40] R. Gowri and G. Jegadeesan, On soft Čech closure spaces, International Journal of Mathematics Trends and Technology 9 (2) (2014) 122-127.
- [41] J. Krishnaveni and C. Sekar, Čech Soft Closure Spaces, International Journal of Mathematical Trends and Technology 6 (2014) 123-135.
- [42] R. N. Majeed, Čech fuzzy soft closure spaces, International Journal of Fuzzy System Applications 7(2) (2018) 62-74.
- [43] P. K. Maji, R. Biswas and R. Roy, Soft set theory, Comput. Math. Appl. 45 (2003) 555-562.
- [44] A. S. Mashhour and M. H. Ghanim, Fuzzy closure spaces, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 106(1985) 154-170.
- [45] D. Molodtsov, Soft set theory-First results, Comput. Math. Appl. 37 (1999) 19-31.
- [46] J. M. Mustafa, Supra soft b-compact and supra soft b-Lindelöf spaces, Journal of Advances in Mathematics 16 (2019) 8376-8383.
- [47] M. Shabir and M. Naz, On soft topological spaces, Computers and Mathematics with Applications 61 (2011) 1786-1799.
- [48] N. Xie, Soft points and the structure of soft topological spaces, AFMI10(2)(2015)309-322.

## Application of Algebraic Geometry In Three Dimensional projective space PG (3,7)

Ali Ahmed A. Abdulla1, Nada Yassen Kasm Yahya2

1Department of Mathematics, College of Computer Science and Mathematics, University of Mosul, Mosul, Iraq.

2Department of Mathematics College of Education for Pure Science, University of Mosul, Mosul, Iraq

#### drnadaqasim1@gmail.com

**Keywords**: complete arcs and surfaces in three dimensional projective space PG(3,q); (k,)-span; spread.

#### Abstract

The main goal of this work is to construct surfaces and complete arcs in the projective 3 – space PG (3, q) over Galois fields GF (p), p=7. Which represents applications of algebraic geometry in three-dimensional projective space PG (3, P), where p=7 which is a (k,  $\eta$ )-span. We get the following results. First, we found the points, lines and planes in PG (3,7) and we construct (k,  $\eta$ )-span which is a set of k lines no two of which intersect. We prove that the maximum complete (k,  $\eta$ )-span in PG (3,7) is (50,  $\eta$ )-span, which is the equal to all the points of the space that is called a spread. Second in general we prove geometrical rule the total number of Spread in projective space PG (3, p) where p is prime,  $P \ge 2$  is  $p^2 + 1$ .

#### 1. Introduction

Hirschfeld, J.W.P. (1998) studied the basic definition and theorems of projective geometrics over finite fields[20]. In2008, Al-Mokhtar study the complete arcs and surface in three-dimensional projective space over Galois field GF(P), p=2, 3[3]. Kareem viewed (k,  $\eta$ )-span in PG(3,p) over Galois field GF (p), p=4 in 2013[2]. In three-dimensional projective space, the control problem is how to construct and finding the whole space spread which is (50, $\eta$ )-span in PG (3, 7) and prove it in general when  $P \ge 2$  is  $p^2 + 1$ .

This paper include three sections, first section consider the preliminaries of projective 3-space which contains some definition and theorems for the concept, whereas the second section consists of the subspace in PG (3, p). Finally, the third section construction on maximum complete (k, 1)-span in PG (3, 7) is spread, and in general prove that Geometric rule theorem (2.3)  $P \ge 2$ . The total number of (k, 1)-span in PG (3, q) is  $p^2+1$ ,  $P \ge 2$ .

#### 2. Preliminaries

#### Definition 1.1: "Plane $\pi$ ", [1]

A plane  $\pi$  in PG (3, p) is the set of all points  $P(X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4)$  satisfying a linear equation  $U_1X_1 + U_2X_2 + U_3X_3 + U_4X_4 = 0$ . This plane is denoted by  $\pi [U_1, U_2, U_3, U_4]$ .

Space which consists of points, lines and planes with the incidence relation between them.

#### Theorem 1.2: [1]

A projective 3-space PG (3, k) over a field K is a 3-dimensional projective PG (3, k) satisfying the following axioms:

1. Any two distinct points are contained in a unique line.

- 2. Any three distinct non-collinear points, also any line and point not on the line are contained in a unique plane.
- 3. Any two distinct coplanar lines intersect in a unique point.

4. Any line not on a given plane intersects the plane in a unique point.

5. Any two distinct planes intersect in a unique line.

A projective space PG (3, p) over Galois field GF (p), where  $p = q^m$  For some prime number q and some integer m, is a 3-dimensional projective space.

Any point in PG (3, p) has the form of a quadruple  $(X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4)$ , where  $X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4$  are elements in GF(p) with the exception of the quadrable consisting Lines must be arranged four zero elements. Two quadrable  $(X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4)$  and  $(y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4)$  represent the same point if there exists  $\lambda$  in GF(p)/{0} such that  $(X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4) = \lambda(y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4)$ . Similarly, any plane in PG (3, p) has the form of a quadrable  $[X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4]$ , where  $X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4$ , are elements in GF(p) with the exception of the quadrable consisting of four zero elements. Two quadrable  $[X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4]$  and  $[y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4]$  represent the same plane if there exists  $\lambda$ . in GF(p)\{0} such that  $[X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4] = \lambda [y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4].$ 

Finally, a point  $P(X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4)$  is incident with the plane  $\pi[a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4]$  iff  $a_1X_1 + a_2X_2 + a_3X_3 + a_4X_4 = 0.$ 

#### Theorem 1.3: [1,19]

The points of PG (3, p) have a unique forms which are

(1,0,0,0), (x, 1,0,0), (x, y, 1,0), (x, y, z, 1) for all x, y, z in GF(p).

There exists one point of the form (1,0,0,0).

There exists p points of the form (x, 1, 0, 0).

There exists  $p^2$  points of the form (*x*, *y*, 1,0).

There exists  $p^3$  points of the form (x, y, z, 1).

#### Theorem 1.4: [19]

The planes of PG(3.p) have a unique forms which are: [1,0,0,0], [x, 1,0,0], [x, y, 1,0], [x, y, z, 1] for all x, y, z in GF(p).

There exists one plane of the form [1,0,0,0].

There exists p planes of the form [x, 1, 0, 0].

There exists  $p^2$  planes of the form [x, y, 1,0].

There exists  $p^3$  planes of the form [x, y, z, 1].

#### Theorem 1.5: [1]

In PG (3.p) satisfies the following:

A) Every line contains exactly p + 1 points and every point is on exactly p + 1 lines.

**B**) Every plane contains exactly  $p^2 + p + 1$  points (lines) and every point is on exactly  $p^2 + p + 1$  planes.

C) There exist  $p^3 + p^2 + p + 1$  of points and there exists  $p^3 + p^2 + p + 1$  of planes.

**D**) Any two planes intersect in exactly p + 1 points and any line is on exactly P + 1 planes. So, any two points are on exactly p + 1 planes.

Theorem 1.6: [1]

There exists  $(p^2 + 1)(p^2 + p + 1)$  of lines in PG (3, p).

#### Definition 1.7: [1,19]

A (k, l)-span,  $l \ge 1$  is a set of k spaces  $\pi_l$  no two of which intersect.

#### **Definition 1.8: [1,19]**

A maximum  $(k, \beta)$ -span is a set of k spaces  $\pi$  which are every points of PG (3, p) lies in exactly one line of the, and every two lines of  $\pi_1$  are disjoint. **Definition 1.9: [1,19]** 

Every maximum  $(k, \mathcal{Y})$  –span is a spread.

2-The projective space and the(k,  $\beta$ ) –span in PG(3,7).

#### 2.1 The projective space in PG(3,7).

PG(3,7) contains 400 points and 400 planes such that each point is on 57 planes and every plane contains 57 points, any line contains 8 points and it is the intersection of 8 planes, all the points, planes and lines of PG(3,7) are given in table 2 and 3.

#### 2.2 The(k,))-span in PG(3,p).

In table (1) below Any two non-intersecting lines can be taken in PG(3,7).

ţi					li				(k <sub>i</sub> , l)-span
ŝ	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	(1,J)-span
v	9	58	107	156	205	254	303	352	(2, <b>1)-span</b>
μ	10	65	115	165	215	265	315	365	(3, <b>1)-span</b>
θ	11	72	123	174	225	269	320	371	(4, <b>1)-span</b>
η	12	79	131	183	228	280	325	377	(5, <b>1)-span</b>
ζ	13	86	139	185	238	284	337	383	(6, <b>1)-span</b>
3	14	93	147	194	241	295	342	389	(7, <b>1)-span</b>
δ	15	100	155	203	251	299	347	395	(8, <b>1)-span</b>
γ	16	61	117	173	229	285	341	397	(9, <b>1)-span</b>
β	17	68	125	182	239	289	346	354	(10, <b>1)-span</b>
α	18	75	133	184	242	300	309	360	(11, <b>1)-span</b>
9	19	82	141	193	252	255	314	366	(12, <b>1)-span</b>
б	20	89	142	202	206	266	319	379	(13, <b>1)-span</b>
ώ	21	96	150	162	216	270	324	385	(14, <b>1)-span</b>
Ú	22	103	109	164	219	281	336	391	(15, <b>1)-span</b>
ó	23	64	127	190	253	267	330	393	(16, <b>1)-span</b>
Ü	24	71	128	192	207	271	335	399	(17, <b>1)-span</b>
ï	25	78	136	201	217	275	340	356	(18, <b>1)-span</b>
ω	26	85	144	161	220	286	345	362	(19, <b>1)-span</b>
Ψ	27	92	152	163	230	290	308	368	(20, <b>1)-span</b>
σ	28	99	111	172	233	301	313	374	(21, <b>1)-span</b>
ς	29	106	119	181	243	256	318	380	(22, <b>1</b> )-span
3	30	60	130	200	221	291	312	382	(23, <b>1)-span</b>
Ъ	31	67	138	160	231	302	317	388	(24, <b>1)-span</b>
4	32	74	146	169	234	257	329	394	(25, <b>1)-span</b>
F	33	81	154	171	244	261	334	358	(26, <b>1)-span</b>
Q	34	88	113	180	247	272	339	364	(27, <b>1)-span</b>
ប	35	95	114	189	208	276	351	370	(28, <b>1)-span</b>
6	36	102	122	191	218	287	307	376	(29, <b>1)-span</b>
б	37	63	140	168	245	273	350	378	(30, <b>1)-span</b>
X	38	70	148	170	248	277	306	384	(31, <b>1)-span</b>
b	39	77	149	179	209	288	311	390	(32, <b>1</b> )-span
Щ	40	84	108	188	212	292	323	396	(33, <b>1)-span</b>
C	41	91	116	197	222	296	328	353	(34, <b>1)-span</b>
Б	42	98	124	199	232	258	333	359	(35,1)-span
Ų	43	105	132	159	235	262	338	372	(36, <b>1)-span</b>
ÿ	44	59	143	178	213	297	332	367	(37, <b>1</b> )-span
Й	45	66	151	187	223	259	344	373	(38,1)-span
Ћ	46	73	110	196	226	263	349	386	(39, <b>1)-span</b>
њ	47	80	118	198	236	274	305	392	(40, <b>1)-span</b>
љ	48	87	126	158	246	278	310	398	(41, <b>1)-span</b>
Ъ	49	94	134	167	249	282	322	355	(42, <b>1)</b> -span
Л	50	101	135	176	210	293	327	361	(43, <b>1)-span</b>

Table (1) Spread in PG(3,7).

щ	51	62	153	195	237	279	321	363	(44, <b>१)-span</b>
Ю	52	69	112	204	240	283	326	369	(45, <b>1)-span</b>
Ы	53	76	120	157	250	294	331	375	(46, <b>1)-span</b>
ж	54	83	121	166	211	298	343	381	(47, <b>1)-span</b>
ц	55	90	129	175	214	260	348	387	(48, <b>1)-span</b>
q	56	97	137	177	224	264	304	400	(49, <b>1)-span</b>
G	57	104	145	186	227	268	316	357	(50, <u>1</u> )-span

In table(1) above any elements of the set  $t_{i=\{} \xi, v, \mu, \dots, GD\}$  except the first element can be representing by union of below set and non- intersecting of them.

Finally, the line  $GD=\{57,104,145,186,227,268,316,357\}$  cannot intersect any line of the set  $(\underline{t}_i)$  and (GD) is  $(50,\underline{1})$ -span, which is the maximum  $(k,\underline{1})$ -span of PG(3,7) can be obtained. Thus GD is called a Spread of fifty lines of PG(3,7) which partitions PG(3,7); that every point of PG(3,7) lies in exactly one line of  $\underline{t}_{i...}$  and every line are disjoint. From the above results the number of the planes in the projective space

PG(3,7) are 400 planes and each plane contains 57 lines, therefore the total number of the lines in PG(3,7) are 22800.We found that the number of the lines do not intersect with some of them are fiftylines ,these lines contains the whole points of the projective space PG(3,7), and called him a (50,1)-span ,i.e.

(50,1)-span= $\{1,1,2,...,1_{50}\}$ =PG(3,7)= $\{1,2,3,...,400\}$ 

Moreover, we found that a (50,1)-span is a maximum (k, 1)-span in PG(3,7).

Table	(2)	Points	and	Plane	of P	PG(3,	7)
-------	-----	--------	-----	-------	------	-------	----

Ι	$\mathbf{p}_{i}$	$\pi_{ m i}$
		2 9 16 23 30 37 44 51 58 65 72 79 86 93 100 107 114 121 128 135 142
		149 156 163 170 177 184 191 198 205 212 219 226 233 240 247 254 261
1	(1,0,0,0)	268 275 282 289 296 303 310 317 324 331 338 345 352 359 366 373 380
		387 394
		1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 107 108 109 110 111 112
		113 156 157 158 159 160 161 162 205 206 207 208 209 210 211 254 255
2	(0,1,0,0)	256 257 258 259 260 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 352 353 354 355 356
		357 358
	-	
•	•	
•	•	
•	•	
•		
		8 15 21 27 33 39 45 51 59 65 78 84 90 96 102 107 120 126 132 138 144
		150 162 168 174 180 186 192 198 210 216 222 228 234 240 253 258 264
400	(6, 6, 6, 1)	270 276 282 295 301 306 312 318 324 337 343 349 354 360 366 379 385
		391 397

															Та	able (3	3) Plan	e and l	ines o	f PG(3	7)														
ſ	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	16	16	16	16	16 1	6 16	23	23	23	23	23	23	23	30	30	30	30	30	30	30
	9	58	107	156	205	254	303	352	58	65	72	79	86	93	100	58	65	72	79	86 9	3 100	58	65	72	79	86	93	100	58	65	72	79	86	93	100
	16	65	114	163	212	261	310	359	107	114	121	128	135	142	149	114	121	128	135 1	42 14	9 107	121	128	135	142	149	107	114	128	135	142	149	107	114	121
1	23	72	121	170	219	268	317	366	156	163	170	177	184	191	198	170	177	184	191 1	98 1.	6 163	184	191	198	156	163	170	177	198	156	163	170	177	184	191
	30	79	128	177	226	275	324	373	205	212	219	226	233	240	247	226	233	240	247 2	205 21	2 219	247	205	212	219	226	233	240	219	226	233	240	247	205	212
	37	86	135	184	233	282	331	380	254	261	268	275	282	289	296	282	289	296	254 2	17 20	8 275	261	268	275	282	289	296	254	289	296	254	261	268	275	282
	44 51	93	142	191	240	289	338	38/	303	250	31/	324	280	207	345	204	345	303	310 3	1/ 3/	4 331	324	331	338	345	303	310	280	310	317	324	331	250	345	303
l	51	100	149	198	247	290	545	394	332	559	300	575	360	307	394	394	552	339	500 3	15 50	50 587	367	394	552	539	300	575	360	360	307	394	552	539	300	575
							37	37	37	37	7 3	7	37	37	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	51	51	51	51	51	51	5	51						
							58	65	72	70	$\frac{1}{2}$	6	93	100	58	65	72	79	86	93	100	58	65	72	79	86	03	3 10	00						
							135	142	149	$\frac{7}{10}$	$7 1^{\circ}$	14 1	121	128	142	149	107	114	121	128	135	149	107	114	121	128	13	5 14	42						
							163	170	177	7 18	4 19	91 1	198	156	177	184	191	198	156	163	170	191	198	156	163	170	17	7 18	84						
							240	247	205	5 21	$\frac{2}{2}$	19 2	226	233	212	219	226	233	240	247	205	233	240	247	205	212	21	9 20	26						
							268	275	282	$\frac{21}{28}$	9 2	96 2	254	261	296	254	261	268	275	282	289	275	282	289	296	254	26	$\frac{2}{1}$ 26	68						
							345	303	310	$\frac{2}{31}$	7 3	$\frac{70}{24}$	331	338	331	338	3/15	303	310	317	324	317	324	331	338	3/15	30	3 3	10						
							373	380	387	7 30	1 3	52 3	350	366	366	373	380	387	30/	352	350	350	366	373	380	387	30	$\frac{3}{4}$	52						
							515	500	501	59	4 3.	52	559	500	500	575	360	567	594	552	559	559	500	575	560	567	59	4 5.	52						
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	10	10	10	10 1	0 10	10	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	12	12	12	12	12	12	12
F	1 9	1 58	1 107	1 156	1 205	1 254	1 303	1 352	9 58	9 59	9 60	9 61	9 62	9 63	9 64	10 58	10 59	10 60	10 1 61 6	0 10	10	11 58	11 59	11 60	11 61	11 62	11 63	11 64	12 58	12 59	12 60	12 61	12 62	12 63	12 64
F	1 9 10	1 58 59	1 107 108	1 156 157	1 205 206	1 254 255	1 303 304	1 352 353	9 58 107	9 59 108	9 60 109	9 61 110	9 62 111	9 63 112	9 64 113	10 58 108	10 59 109	10 60 110 1	10 1 61 6 111 1	0 10 2 63 12 11	10 64 3 107	11 58 109	11 59 110	11 60 111	11 61 112	11 62 113	11 63 107	11 64 108	12 58 110	12 59 111	12 60 112	12 61 113	12 62 107	12 63 108	12 64 109
2	1 9 10 11	1 58 59 60	1 107 108 109	1 156 157 158	1 205 206 207	1 254 255 256	1 303 304 305	1 352 353 354	9 58 107 156	9 59 108 157	9 60 109 158	9 61 110 159	9 62 111 160	9 63 112 161	9 64 113 162	10 58 108 158	10 59 109 159	10 60 110 1 160 1	10 1 61 6 111 1 161 1	0 10 2 63 12 11 52 15	10 64 3 107 5 157	11 58 109 160	11 59 110 161	11 60 111 162	11 61 112 156	11 62 113 157	11 63 107 158	11 64 108 159	12 58 110 162	12 59 111 156	12 60 112 157	12 61 113 158	12 62 107 159	12 63 108 160	12 64 109 161
2	1 9 10 11 12	1 58 59 60 61	1 107 108 109 110	1 156 157 158 159	1 205 206 207 208	1 254 255 256 257	1 303 304 305 306	1 352 353 354 355	9 58 107 156 205	9 59 108 157 206	9 60 109 158 207	9 61 110 159 208	9 62 111 160 209	9 63 112 161 210	9 64 113 162 211	10 58 108 158 208	10 59 109 159 209	10 60 110 1 160 1 210 2	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       211     2	0 10 2 63 12 11 52 15 05 20	10           64           3         107           5         157           5         207	11 58 109 160 211	11 59 110 161 205	11 60 111 162 206	11 61 112 156 207	11 62 113 157 208	11 63 107 158 209	11 64 108 159 210	12 58 110 162 207	12 59 111 156 208	12 60 112 157 209	12 61 113 158 210	12 62 107 159 211	12 63 108 160 205	12 64 109 161 206
2	1 9 10 11 12 13	1 58 59 60 61 62	1 107 108 109 110 111	1 156 157 158 159 160	1 205 206 207 208 209	1 254 255 256 257 258	1 303 304 305 306 307	1 352 353 354 355 356	9 58 107 156 205 254	9 59 108 157 206 255	9 60 109 158 207 256	9 61 110 159 208 257	9 62 111 160 209 258	9 63 112 161 210 259	9 64 113 162 211 260	10 58 108 158 208 258	10 59 109 159 209 259	10       60       110     1       160     1       210     2       260     2	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       211     2       254     2	0 10 2 63 12 11 52 15 05 20 55 25	10 64 3 107 6 157 6 207 6 257	11 58 109 160 211 255	11 59 110 161 205 256	11 60 111 162 206 257	11 61 112 156 207 258	11 62 113 157 208 259	11 63 107 158 209 260	11 64 108 159 210 254	12 58 110 162 207 259	12 59 111 156 208 260	12 60 112 157 209 254	12 61 113 158 210 255	12 62 107 159 211 256	12 63 108 160 205 257	12 64 109 161 206 258
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14	1 58 59 60 61 62 63	1 107 108 109 110 111 112	1 156 157 158 159 160 161	1 205 206 207 208 209 210	1 254 255 256 257 258 259	1 303 304 305 306 307 308	1 352 353 354 355 356 357	9 58 107 156 205 254 303	9 59 108 157 206 255 304	9 60 109 158 207 256 305	9 61 110 159 208 257 306	9 62 111 160 209 258 307	9 63 112 161 210 259 308	9 64 113 162 211 260 309	10 58 108 158 208 258 308	10 59 109 159 209 259 309	10       60       110     1       160     1       210     2       260     2       303     3	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       211     2       254     2       304     3	0 10 2 63 12 11 52 15 05 20 55 25 05 30	10           64           107           5           157           5           207           5           257           5           307	11 58 109 160 211 255 306	11 59 110 161 205 256 307	11 60 111 162 206 257 308	11 61 112 156 207 258 309	11 62 113 157 208 259 303	11 63 107 158 209 260 304	11 64 108 159 210 254 305	12 58 110 162 207 259 304	12 59 111 156 208 260 305	12 60 112 157 209 254 306	12 61 113 158 210 255 307	12 62 107 159 211 256 308	12 63 108 160 205 257 309	12 64 109 161 206 258 303
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358	9 58 107 156 205 254 303 352	9 59 108 157 206 255 304 353	9 60 109 158 207 256 305 354	9 61 110 159 208 257 306 355	9 62 111 160 209 258 307 356	9 63 112 161 210 259 308 357	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358	10       58       108       158       208       258       308       358	10       59       109       159       209       259       309       352	10       60       110       160       1210       2260       2303       353	10         1           61         6           111         1           161         1           161         1           211         2           254         2           304         3           354         3	0 10 2 63 12 11 52 15 55 20 55 25 55 30 55 35	10           64           3         107           6         157           6         207           6         257           6         307           6         357	11 58 109 160 211 255 306 357	11 59 110 161 205 256 307 358	11 60 111 162 206 257 308 352	111 61 1122 1566 2077 2588 3099 3533	11       62       113       157       208       259       303       354	11 63 107 158 209 260 304 355	11 64 108 159 210 254 305 356	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 158 210 255 307 352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 160 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358	9 58 107 156 205 254 303 352	9 59 108 157 206 255 304 353	9 60 109 158 207 256 305 354 2	9 61 110 159 208 257 306 355	9 62 111 160 209 258 307 356	9 63 112 161 210 259 308 357	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358	10       58       108       158       208       258       308       358	10       59       109       159       209       259       309       352	10       60       110     1       160     1       210     2       260     2       303     3       353     3	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       211     2       254     2       304     3       354     3	0         10           2         63           12         11           52         15           05         20           55         25           05         30           55         35	10           64           3           107           5           207           5           207           5           307           5           307           5           307           5           307           5           307	11 58 109 160 211 255 306 357	11 59 110 161 205 256 307 358	11 60 111 162 206 257 308 352	11       61       112       156       207       258       309       353	11 62 113 157 208 259 303 354	11 63 107 158 209 260 304 355	11 64 108 159 210 254 305 356	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12       61       113       158       210       255       307       352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 160 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358	9 58 107 156 205 254 303 352	9       59       108       157       206       255       304       353	9 60 109 158 207 256 305 354	9 61 110 159 208 257 306 355	9 62 111 160 209 258 307 356	9 63 112 161 210 259 308 357	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358	10 58 108 158 208 258 308 358	10       59       109       159       209       259       309       352	10       60       110     1       160     1       210     2       303     3       353     3	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       1211     2       254     2       304     3       354     3	0 10 2 63 12 11 52 15 55 20 55 25 55 35 35	10           64           3           107           5           5           207           5           307           5           307           5           307	11 58 109 160 211 255 306 357	11 59 110 161 205 256 307 358	11 60 111 162 206 257 308 352	11       61       112       156       207       258       309       353	11 62 113 157 208 259 303 354	11 63 107 158 209 260 304 355	11 64 108 159 210 254 305 356	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12       61       113       158       210       255       307       352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 160 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 13	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 358 13	9       58       107       156       205       254       303       352       13	9       59       108       157       206       255       304       353	9       60       109       158       207       256       305       354	9       61       110       159       208       257       306       355	9 62 111 160 209 258 307 356	9 63 112 161 210 259 308 357 13	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358 14	10         58         108         158         208         308         308         358	10       59       109       159       209       259       309       352	10       60       110     1       160     1       210     2       260     2       303     3       353     3	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       1211     2       254     2       304     3       354     3	0         10           2         63           12         11           52         15           05         20           55         25           05         30           55         35           14         14	10           64           3         107           5         157           5         207           5         257           5         307           5         357	11 58 109 211 255 306 357 15	11 59 110 161 205 256 307 358	11 60 111 162 206 257 308 352 15	11       61       112       156       207       258       309       353	11       62       113       157       208       259       303       354	11       63       107       158       209       260       304       355	11       64       108       159       210       254       305       356	12       58       110       162       207       259       304       356	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 210 255 307 352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 13 58	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 358 13 358	9       58       107       156       205       254       303       352       13       60	9       59       108       157       206       255       304       353	9       60       109       158       207       256       305       354	9 61 110 159 208 257 306 355 355 355	9 62 111 160 209 258 307 356 13 63	9           63           112           161           210           259           308           357           13           64	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358 14 58	10 58 108 208 258 308 358 358 14 59	10       59       109       159       209       259       309       352       14       60	10       60       110     1       160     1       210     2       260     2       303     3       353     3       14     61	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       161     1       211     2       254     2       304     3       354     3       14     62	0         10           2         63           12         11           52         15           55         20           55         35           55         35           14         63	10           64           3         107           5         157           6         257           5         307           5         357           14         64	11 58 109 160 211 255 306 357 15 58	11 59 110 161 205 256 307 358 15 59	11 60 111 206 257 308 352 15 60	11       61       112       156       207       258       309       353       15       61	11       62       113       157       208       259       303       354       15       62	11       63       107       158       209       260       304       355	11       64       108       159       210       254       305       356       5     1       3     6	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356 5 5 4	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 158 210 255 307 352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 160 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 13 58 111	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 113 59 112	9       58       107       156       205       254       303       352       13       60       113	9       59       108       157       206       255       304       353	9       60       109       158       207       256       305       354       3       1       6       7       1	9       61       110       159       208       257       306       355	9 62 111 160 209 258 307 356 13 63 109	9           63           112           161           210           259           308           357           13           64           110	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358 14 58 112	10         58         108         158         208         258         308         358         14         59         113	10       59       109       159       209       259       309       352       14       60       107	10         60         110       1         160       1         210       2         260       2         303       3         353       3         14       61         108	10     1       61     6       11     1       1211     2       254     2       304     3       354     3       14     62       109	0         10           2         63           12         11           52         15           55         20           55         35           55         35           14         63           110	10           64           3         107           6         157           6         207           6         257           6         307           6         357           14         64           111	11 58 109 160 211 255 306 357 15 58 113	11 59 110 161 205 256 307 358 15 59 107	11 60 111 162 206 257 308 352 308 352 15 60 108	11         61         112         156         207         258         309         353         15         61         109	11       62       113       157       208       259       303       354       15       62       110	11 63 107 158 209 260 304 355 15 63 63 11	11       64       108       159       210       254       305       356       5       1       3       6       1	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356 5 5 4 12	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 158 210 255 307 352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 160 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 13 58 111 157	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 357 358 113 59 112 158	9           58           107           156           205           254           303           352           13           60           2           113           610           2	9       59       108       157       206       255       304       353       113       61       3       10       61       3       10       10	9       60       109       158       207       256       305       354       3       1       60       107       100	9 61 110 159 208 257 306 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 355 300 300	9 62 111 160 209 258 307 356 13 63 109 162	9           63           112           161           210           259           308           357           13           64           110           156	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358 14 58 112 159	10         58         108         158         208         258         308         358         113         160	10         59         109         159         209         259         309         352         114         60         107         161	10         60         110       1         160       1         210       2         260       2         303       3         353       3         14       61         108       162	10     1       61     6       11     1       161     1       11     2       254     2       304     3       354     3       14     62       109     156	0 10 2 63 12 11 52 15 55 20 55 25 55 30 55 35 14 63 110 157	10           64           3         107           5         157           5         207           5         307           5         357           14         64           111         158	11 58 109 211 255 306 357 15 58 113 161	11 59 110 205 256 307 358 15 59 107 162	11 60 111 162 206 257 308 352 308 352 15 60 108 156	11         61         112         156         207         258         309         353         15         61         109         157	11           62           113           157           208           259           303           354           15           62           110           158	11       63       107       158       209       260       304       355       15       62       11       15	11       64       108       159       210       254       305       356       5       1       3       6       1       9       1	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356 5 5 5 4 12 60	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 255 307 352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 160 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 13 58 111 157 210	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 113 59 112 158 211	9       58       107       156       205       254       303       352       13       60       2       113       60       2       159       205	9       59       108       157       206       255       304       353       113       61       3       100       9       16       5       200	9       60       109       158       207       256       305       354       3       1       60       10       60       10       60       10       60	9       61       110       159       208       257       306       355       3       3       3       61       1       07	9           62           111           160           209           258           307           356           13           63           109           162           208	9           63           112           161           210           259           308           357           13           64           110           156           209	9 64 113 162 211 260 309 358 14 58 112 159 206	10 58 108 208 258 308 358 358 14 59 113 160 207	10           59           109           159           209           259           309           352           14           60           107           161           208	10       60         110       1         160       1         210       2         260       2         303       3         353       3         14       61         108       162         209       209	10     1       61     6       111     1       161     1       111     2       254     2       304     3       354     3       14     62       109     156       210	0         10           2         63           12         11           52         15           55         25           55         35           55         35           14         63           110         157           211	10           64           3         107           6         157           6         257           6         307           6         357	11 58 109 211 255 306 357 15 58 113 161 209	11 59 110 205 256 307 358 15 59 107 162 210	11 60 111 162 206 257 308 352 308 352 15 60 108 156 211	11           61           112           156           207           258           309           353           15           61           109           157           205	11           62           113           157           208           259           303           354           15           62           110           158           206	11           63           107           158           209           260           304           355           15           62           11           15           20	11         64         108         159         210         254         305         356         5         1         9         10         7         20	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356 5 5 64 12 60 08	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 158 210 255 307 352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 13 58 111 157 210 256	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 113 59 112 158 211 257	9           58           107           156           205           254           303           352           113           600           2           113           600           2           205           205           205           205           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           2           3           3           4           5           5           5           5           5           5           5           5           5           5           5           5           5           5  <	9           59           108           157           206           255           304           353           113           61           3           100           16           5           203	9       60       109       158       207       256       305       354       3       1       60       10   <	9       61       110       159       208       257       306       355       3       3       3       3       61       1       07     2       60     2	9           62           111           160           209           258           307           356           13           63           109           162           208           254	9           63           112           161           210           259           308           357           13           64           110           156           209           255	9           64           113           162           211           260           309           358           14           58           112           159           206           260	10           58           108           158           208           258           308           358           14           59           113           160           207           254	10           59           109           159           209           259           309           352           14           60           107           161           208           255	10       60         110       1         160       1         210       2         260       2         303       3         353       3         14       61         108       162         209       256	10         1           61         6           111         1           161         1           111         2           254         2           304         3           354         3           14         62           109         156           210         257	0         10           2         63           12         11           52         15           55         25           55         35           55         35           14         63           157         211           258         258	10           64           3         107           5         157           5         207           5         307           5         357           14         64           111         158           205         259	11 58 109 160 211 255 306 357 15 58 113 161 209 257	11           59           110           205           256           307           358           15           59           107           162           210           258	11           60           111           162           206           257           308           352           15           60           108           156           211           259	11           61           112           156           207           258           309           353           15           61           109           157           205           260	11           62           113           157           208           259           303           354           15           62           110           158           206           254	11         63           107         158           209         260           304         355           15         63           11         15           200         200           201         200           11         15           200         25	11       64       108       159       210       254       305       356       5       1       1       9       16       7     20       5     2	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356 5 5 4 12 60 08 56	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 157 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 255 307 352	12       62       107       159       211       256       308       353	12 63 108 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355
2	1 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	1 58 59 60 61 62 63 64	1 107 108 109 110 111 112 113	1 156 157 158 159 160 161 162	1 205 206 207 208 209 210 211	1 254 255 256 257 258 259 260	1 303 304 305 306 307 308 309 13 58 111 157 210 256 309	1 352 353 354 355 356 357 358 113 59 112 158 211 257 303	9           58           107           156           205           254           303           352           113           600           2           113           600           2           205           205           205           205           205           205           304	9         59           108         157           206         255           304         353           12         61           353         10           13         10           16         20           16         20           3         20           3         30	9         60           109         158           207         256           305         354           3         1           60         7           10         60           10         20           10         256           305         354	9         61         110         159         208         257         306         355         3         62         08         1         61         1         07       2         60       2         06       3	9           62           111           160           209           258           307           356           13           63           109           162           208           254           307	9           63           112           161           210           259           308           357           13           64           110           156           209           255           308	9           64           113           162           211           260           309           358           14           58           112           159           206           260           307	10           58           108           158           208           258           308           358           14           59           113           160           207           254           308	10           59           109           159           209           259           309           352         14           60           107           161           208           255           309	10         60           110         1           160         1           210         2           303         3           353         3           14         61           108         162           209         256           303         303	10       1         61       6         111       1         161       1         1211       2         254       2         304       3         14       62         109       156         210       257         304       304	0         10           2         63           12         11           52         15           55         25           55         30           55         35           14         63           110         157           211         258           305         305	10           64           3         107           5         157           5         207           5         307           5         357	11 58 109 160 211 255 306 357 15 58 113 161 209 257 305	11           59           110           161           205           256           307           358           15           59           107           162           210           258           306	11           60           111           162           206           257           308           352           15           60           108           156           211           259           307	11           61           112           156           207           258           309           353           15           61           109           157           205           260           308	11           62           113           157           208           259           303           354           15           62           110           158           206           254           309	11         63           107         158           209         260           304         355           15         63           11         15           200         225           300         30	11         64         108         159         210         254         305         356         5         1         1         9         10         7         20         5         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3	12 58 110 162 207 259 304 356 5 5 4 12 60 08 56 04	12 59 111 156 208 260 305 357	12 60 112 209 254 306 358	12 61 113 210 255 307 352	12 62 107 159 211 256 308 353	12 63 108 205 257 309 354	12 64 109 161 206 258 303 355

	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	15	15	15	15	15	15	15	21	21	21	21	21	21	21	27	27	27	27	27	27	27	33	33	33	33	33	33	33
	15	59	107	162	210	258	306	354	59	65	78	84	90	96	102	59	65	78	84	90	96	102	59	65	78	84	90	96	102	59	65	78	84	90	96	102
	21	65	120	168	216	264	312	360	107	120	126	132	138	144	150	120	126	132	138	144	150	107	126	132	138	144	150	107	120	132	138	144	150	107	120	126
100	27	78	126	174	222	270	318	366	162	168	174	180	186	192	198	174	180	186	192	198	162	168	186	192	198	162	168	174	180	198	162	168	174	180	186	192
	33	84	132	180	228	276	324	379	210	216	222	228	234	240	253	228	234	240	253	210	216	222	253	210	216	222	228	234	240	222	228	234	240	253	210	216
	39	90	138	186	234	282	337	385	258	264	270	276	282	295	301	282	295	301	258	264	270	276	264	270	276	282	295	301	258	295	301	258	264	270	276	282
	45	96	144	192	240	295	343	391	306	312	318	324	337	343	349	343	349	306	312	318	324	337	324	337	343	349	306	312	318	312	318	324	337	343	349	306
	51	102	150	198	253	301	349	397	354	360	366	379	385	391	397	397	354	360	366	379	385	391	391	397	354	360	366	379	385	385	391	397	354	360	366	379

39	39	39	39	39	39	39	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	51	51	51	51	51	51	51
59	65	78	84	90	96	102	59	65	78	84	90	96	102	59	65	78	84	90	96	102
138	144	150	107	120	126	132	144	150	107	120	126	132	138	150	107	120	126	132	138	144
168	174	180	186	192	198	162	180	186	192	198	162	168	174	192	198	162	168	174	180	186
240	253	210	216	222	228	234	216	222	228	234	240	253	210	234	240	253	210	216	222	228
270	276	282	295	301	258	264	301	258	264	270	276	282	295	276	282	295	301	258	264	270
349	306	312	318	324	337	343	337	343	349	306	312	318	324	318	324	337	343	349	306	312
379	385	391	397	354	360	366	366	379	385	391	397	354	360	360	366	379	385	391	397	354

•

Conclusion: -

We have inferred and demonstrated the following geometrical rule.

#### Theorem 2.3

The total number of Spread in projective space PG(3, p) where p is prime,  $P \ge 2$  is  $p^2 + 1$ .

#### **Proof**:

In PG(3, p), there exist  $p^3 + p^2 + p + 1$  planes, but each line is on p + 1 planes, then there exist exactly

 $\frac{(p^3+p^2+p+1)}{(p+1)} = (p^2+1)$  spread in PG(3,p).

#### Reference

- [1] Hirschfeld, J.W.P. (1979). Projective Geometries over finite fields. Oxford Claren-don Press; New York: Oxford University Press.
- [2] Kareem, F.F. and kadhum, S. J.(2013), A (k,ℓ) Span in Three Dimensional Projective Space PG(3,p) Over Galois field where p=4, Journal of the college of basic education, Volume 19, ISSUE 80,659-672.
- [3] AL-Mukhtar, A.SH. (2008), Complete Arcs and Surfaces in three-Dimensional Projective Space over Galois Field, PHD. Thesis University of Technology, Iraq.
- Ibrahim, H.Sh. &Kasm, N.Y. (2019), The Possibility of Applying Rumen Research at the Projective Plane PG (2,17), Modern Applied Science, 13 (8), ISSN 1913-1844 E-ISSN 1913-1852. https://doi:10.5539/mas.v13n8p150.
- [5] Ibrahim, H.Sh. &Kasm, N.Y. (2019). The optimal size of {b, t} -blocking set When t = 3, 4 By intersection the tangents in PG (2, q). Modern Applied Science, 13(7). ISSN: 1913-1844, E-ISSN:1913-1852. Published by Canadian Center of Science and Education. URL:https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v13n7p
- Kasm, N.Y. &Hamad, A.Z. (2019). Applications of Algebraic Geometry in Cryptography. Modern Applied Science, 13(5). ISSN: 1913-1844, E-ISSN: 1913-1852. Published by Canadian Center of Science and Education. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v13n5p130</u>
- [7] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2018). A geometric Construction of Complete (k, r)-arc in PG (2, 7) and the Related Projective [n,3, d]7 Codes. AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, 12(1), 24-40, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. ISSN: 18154816, <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16543.25767</u>.
- [8] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2014). A Non PGL (3, q) k-arcs in the projective plane of order 37. Tikrit Journal of Pure Science, 19(1), 135-145. ISSN: 1813-1662, Tikrit University, Tikrit-Iraq, <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.23254.14401</u>
- [9] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2012). Existence of Minimal Blocking Sets of Size 31 in the Projec-tive Plane PG (2, 17). Journal of University of Babylon/Pure and Applied Sciences, 20(4), 1138-1146, ISSN: 19920652, 23128135,Babylon University, Babul-Iraq, https://doi.org/ 10.13140/RG.2.2.10146.94407
- Yahya, N.Y.K. (2014). The Use of 7- Blocking Sets in Galois Geometries. Journal of University of Babylon/Pure and Applied Sciences, 22(4), 1229-1235. ISSN: 19920652, 23128135, Babylon University, Ba-bul-Iraq,https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16857.83044
- [11] Yahya, N.Y.K. &Salim, M.N. (2018). The Geometric Approach to Existences Linear [n, k, d]13 Code,International Journal of Enhanced Research in science, Technology and Engineering, ISSN: 2319-7463.https:// doi.org/ 10.13140/RG.2.2.16018.96960

- Yahya, N.Y.K. &Salim, M.N. (2019). New Geometric Methods for prove Existence three-Dimensional linear [97,3,87]11 and [143,3,131]13 codes, Journal of education and science, 28(1812-125X), 312-333. University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. https//:doi.org/ 10.13140/RG.2.2.29944.08965
- [13] Yahya, N.Y.K. &Salim, M.N. (2019). 17 New Existences linear [n, 3, d]19 Codes by Geometric Structure Method in PG (2, 19), AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, 13(1), ISSN 1815-4816, 61-86, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.18697.29284.
- Yahya, N.Y.K. &Hamad. A.Z. (2019). A geometric Construction of a (56, 2)-blocking set in PG (2, 19) and on three dimensional Linear [325,3,307]<sub>19</sub>GriesmerCode.University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, Volume 13, Issue 2, Pages 13-25 10.33899/csmj.2020.163511
- [15] Sulaimaan ,A.E.M. &Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Linear code originates from complete arc by Engineering Building methods, Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,NO.21, ,1013-1020,https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99132.
- [16] Sulaimaan ,A.E.M. &Kasm, N.Y. (2019),Linear code related Ω-Blocking sets, Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,2019,NO.21,1033-1040 ,https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99133
- [17] Sulaimaan ,A.E.M. &Kasm, N.Y. (2019) ,New Structural Engineering Construction methods by Remove q points in PG(2,q), Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,2019,NO.21,,1048 -1041 <u>https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99134</u>.
- [18] Faraj, M.G. &Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Reverse Building of complete (k,r)-arcs in PG(2,q), Open Access Library Journal, Volume 6, ISSUE 12,e5900.ISSN Online: 2333-9721, ISSN Print: 2333-9705. https://DOI: 10.4236/oalib.1105900
- [19] Glynn, D. G.(2010), Theorems of points and planes in three-dimensional projective space, Journal of the Australian Mathematical Society 88(01):75-92, DOI: 10.1017/S1446788708080981
- [20] Hirschfeld, J.W.P. (1998). Projective Geometries over finite fields. Second edition, OxfordClaren-don Press; New York: Oxford University Press.
# The Reverse construction of complete (k, n)- arcs in three-dimensional projective space PG(3,4)

<sup>1</sup>Aidan Essa Mustafa Sulaimaan <sup>2</sup>Nada Yassen Kasm Yahya

<sup>1</sup> Ph.D. Student, Department of Mathematics, College of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq
<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq

eidanalkhatony@gmail.com

drnadaqasim1@gmail.com

Abstract : In this work, the complete (k, n) arcs in PG(3,4) over Galois field GF(4) can be created by removing some points from the complete arcs of degree m, where m = n + 1,  $3 n q^2 + q$  is used. In addition, where  $k \le 85$ , we geometrically prove that the minimum complete (k, n)—arc in PG(3,4) is (5,3)-arc. A(k, n)—arcs is a set of k points no n+1 of which collinear. A(k, n)—arcs is complete unless it is embedded in an arc (k+1,n).

#### **1-Introduction:**

This paper divided into three sections, section one consists of the basic theorems and definitions of a projective 3-space PG(3,q). In section two the addition's and multiplication operations of GF(4). The Reverse of complete (k, n)-arcs, for  $3 \le n \le 21$  explained in section three.

#### 1.1 Definition1[3]:

PG(3,q)", A projective 3-space PG(3,q) over Galois field GF(q),where  $q = p^m$  for some prime number (p) and some integer m is a three-dimensional projective space which consists of points, planes and lines with incidence relation between them. PG(3,q) is satisfying the following axioms:

a. Within a single line are found every two distinct points.

b. In a single plane are found all three distinct non-collinear points, even any line and point not on it.

- c. Each two distinct lines of coplanar converge in one single point.
- c. Any line which is not on a given plane intersects the plane at a single point.
- e. The intersection of any two distinct planes in a single line.

Any point in PG(3,q) has the shape of a quadrable (U1,U2,U3,U4), where U1,U2,U3,U4 are elements in GF(q) except the quadrable composed of four zero elements. Two quadrables (U1,U2,U3,U4) and (V1,V2,V3,V4) represent the same point if, in GF(q)\{0}, there is (t) such that (U1,U2,U3,U4) = t(V1,V2,V3,V4). Similarly, every plane in PG(3,q) has the form of a quadrable [U1,U2,U3,U4], where U1,U2,U3,U4 are elements in GF(q) except the quadrable composed of four zero elements. Two quadrables [U1,U2,U3,U4] and [V1,V2,V3,V4] represent the same plane if, in GF(q)\{0}, there is (t) such that [U1,U2,U3,U4] = t[V1,V2,V3,V4]. A point N(U1,U2,U3,U4) is incident with the plan.

#### 1.2 Definition2[3]: "Plane $\pi$ "

A plane  $\pi$  in PG(3,q) is the set of all points N(U<sub>1</sub>,U<sub>2</sub>,U<sub>3</sub>,U<sub>4</sub>) satisfying a linear equation U<sub>1</sub>X<sub>1</sub> + U<sub>2</sub>X<sub>2</sub> + U<sub>3</sub>X<sub>3</sub> + U<sub>4</sub>X<sub>4</sub> = 0. This plane is denoted by  $\pi$  [X<sub>1</sub>,X<sub>2</sub>,X<sub>3</sub>,X<sub>4</sub>],where X<sub>1</sub>,X<sub>2</sub>,X<sub>3</sub>,X<sub>4</sub> are elements in GF(q) with the exception of the quadrable consisting of four zero elements.

## 1.3 Theorem1[4]:

PG(3,q) points have special shapes that are (1,0,0,0), (U,1,0,0), (U, V,1,0) and (U, V, W,1) for all U, V, W in GF(q), which are (1,0,0,0) is one point, (U,1,0,0) q points, (U, V,1,0) q2 points, and (U, V, W,1) q3 points, for all U, V, W in PG(q) points.

## 1.4 Theorem2[4]:

The PG(3,q) planes have special shapes [1,0,0,0], [U,1,0,0], [U, V,1,0], [U, V, W,1] for all u, v,w in GF(q). which are [1,0,0,0] is one plane,[U,1,0,0] are q planes,[U,V,1,0] are q<sup>2</sup> planes, and [U,V,W,1] are q<sup>3</sup> planes, for all U, V, W in PG(q).

## 1.5 Corollary1[4]:

There exists  $q^3 + q^2 + q + 1$  of points in PG (3,q) and there exist  $q^3 + q^2 + q + 1$  of planes.

## 1.6 Theorem3[4]:

Every plane in PG(3,q) contains exactly  $q^2 + q + 1$  points (lines) and every point is on exactly  $q^2 + q + 1$  planes.

## 1.7 Theorem4[4]:

Every line in PG(3,q) contains exactly q + 1 points and every point is on exactly q + 1 lines.

## 1.8 Corollary2[4]:

Every two PG(3,q) aircraft intersects in exactly q + 1 points and every two points are on exactly q + 1 planes. Any line is also on precisely q + 1 planes.

## 1.9 Definition3[1] :"(k,n)-arcs"

A (k, n)—arc A in PG(3,q) is a set of k points such that at most n points of which lie in any plane,  $n \ge 3$ . n is called degree of the (k, n)—arc.

#### 1.10 Definition4[1]:

In PG(3,q), if k is any k-set, then an n-secant of k is a line(a plane)  $\ell$  such that  $|\ell \cap k|=n$ . A 0—secant is called an external line (plane) of k, a 1—secant is called a unisecant line (plane), a 2—secant is called a bisecant line and 3—secant is called a trisecant line.

#### 1.11 Definition5[1]:

A point N not on a (k, n)—arc has index i if there are exactly i (n-secant) of K through N, one can denoted the number of point N of index i by  $C_{i}$ .

**1.12 Remark1[2]:** A (k, n)—arc A is complete iff  $C_0=0$ . Thus the k-set is complete iff every point of PG(3,q) lies on some n-secant of the (k, n)—set.

#### 1.13 Definition6[2]:

Let T<sub>i</sub> be the total number of the i-secant of a (k, n)—arc A, then the type of A with respect to its planes denoted by  $(T_n, T_{n-1}, T_{n-2}, ..., T_0)$ . One can also say that A is of type m where  $m = m_i$ ; that is m is the smallest integer i for which  $T_i \neq 0$ .

#### 1.14 Definition7[4]:

Let  $(k_1,n)$ -arc A is of type  $(T_n, T_{n-1}, ..., T_0)$  and  $(k_2,n)$ -arc B of type  $(S_n, S_{n-1}, ..., S_0)$ , then A and B have the same type iff  $T_i = S_i$ , for all i, in this case they are projectively equivalent.

#### 1.15 Theorem5[4]:

Let T<sub>i</sub> represents the number of i-secants (planes) for the arc A in PG(3,q), that is T<sub>2</sub> is the number of bisecants, T<sub>1</sub> is the number of unisecants, and T<sub>0</sub> is the number of external line b = q + 2 - k, then ;

1.  $T_1 = k b$ 2.  $T_2 = k(k-1)/2$ 3.  $T_3 = k(k-1)(k-2)/3!$ 4.  $T_n = k(k-1)...(k-n+1)/n!$ 5.  $T_0 = q^3 + q^2 + q + 1 - k b - k(k-1)/2 - k(k-1)(k-2)/3! - \dots - k(k-1)(k-2)\dots (k-n+1)/n!$ 

#### 1.16 Theorem6[4]:

Let  $C_i$  be the number of points of index i in PG(3,q) which are not on a (k, n)-arc A, then the constants C<sub>i</sub> of A satisfy the following equations:

(1) 
$$\sum_{\alpha}^{\beta} ci = q^3 + q^2 + q + 1 - k$$

(2)  $\sum_{\alpha}^{\beta} ici = k(k-1)...(k-n+1)(q^2+q+1-n)/n!$  where  $\alpha$  is the smallest i for which  $Ci \neq 0, \beta$  be the largest i for which  $Ci \neq 0$ .

#### 1.17 Theorem7[1]:

A (k, n)-arc A is maximum if and only if every line in PG(3,q) is a 0—secant or n secant.

### 2- The Addition's and Multiplication's Operations of GF(4)[5]:

In order to find the addition and multiplication tables in GF(4), we have order pairs (U1,U2) so that U1,U2 in GF(2), as follows:  $0 \equiv (0,0)$ ,  $1 \equiv (1,0)$ ,  $2 \equiv (0,1)$ ,  $3 \equiv (1,1)$ . Placed these points in one orbit, at (1,0) the first point and by (1,0)  $A^{i}$ , i=0,1,2,3 and  $A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ , (1,0) A = (0,1) and (1,0)  $A^{2} = (1,1)$ ,

so

 $(1,0) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ (1 & 1) \end{pmatrix}$ 

Currently, on the left of the table below, m is the multiplication operation and on the right n is the addition operation, on the multiplication side we write the numbering of points as second, and the addition side takes the usual sequence.

m(*)		(+)n = f(m)
1	(1,0)	0
2	(0,1)	1
3	(1,1)	2
Mod 3		

In addition table, we have the following relation:  $(U_1, U_2) + (V_1, V_2) = (W_1, W_2)$  where  $W_i = (U_i + V_i)$ mod(2), for i = 1, 2. In multiplication table, we have the following relation

 $((1,0)A^{f(m_{1})})A^{f(m_{2})} \Leftrightarrow m_{1} * m_{2} = m_{3}$ =(1,0)A^{(f(m\_{1})+f(m\_{2}))(mod 3)}

$$= (U_1, U_2)$$

For example:  $2*3=1 \Leftrightarrow ((1,0)A^1)A^2=(1,0)A^3=(1,0)A^0=(1,0)$ where (1,0) equal to 1 in multiplication side.

Now we have addition and multiplication tables:

Table(1) Table(2)

+	0	1	2	3		*	1	2	3	
0	0	1	2	3		1	1	2	3	
1	1	0	3	2		$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	2	1	
2	2	3	0	1		2	2	1	1 2	_
3	3	2	1	0	_	3	3	1	L	

#### 3. The Reverse construction of complete (k, n)-arcs in PG(3,4):

The complete (k, n)-arcs in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete arcs of degree m, m = n + m1,

 $3 \le n \le 21$ , through the following:

## 3.1 The complete (k,21) – arc in PG(3,4) :

The projective space PG (3,4) contains 85 points and 85 planes in such a way that each point is on 21 planes and each plane contains 21 points, each line has 5 points and is the intersection of 5 planes. And there's the maximal complete (k,21)–arc A exists when k = 85. This arc contains all the points of PG(3,4) since it intersects every plane in exactly 21 points and hence there arc no points of index zero for A.

So A =  $\{1, ..., 85\}$  is the complete (85,21)-arc.

## **3.2** The Construction of Complete (k,20) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,20)-arc B is constructed from the complete (85,21) – arc A by eliminating some points from A which are: 18,26,38,46,54,58,70,82. to obtain a complete (77,20)-arc B, since

1. B intersects any plane in at most 20 points.

2. every point not in B is on at least one 20 – secant of B,

 $B = \{1, \dots, 17, 19, \dots, 25, 27, \dots, 37, 39, \dots, 45, 47, \dots, 53, 55, 56, 57, 59, \dots, 69, 71, \dots, 81, 83, 84, 85\}.$ 

## 3.3 The Construction of Complete (k,19) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,19) – arc C in PG (3,4) can be constructed from the complete (77,20) – arc B by eliminating some points from B, which are: 10,30,62,66,78.

Then a complete (72,19)-arc C is obtained, C={1,...,9,11,...,17,19,...,25,27,28,29,31,...,37,39,...,45,47,...,53,55,56,57,59,...61,63,64,65,67,68,6 9,71,...,77,79,80,81,83,84,85} since each point not in C is on at least one 19 – secant, hence there are no points of index zero for C and C intersects any plane of PG(3,4) in at most 19 points.

## **3.4** The Construction of Complete (k,18) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,18)-arc D in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (72,19)-arc C by eliminating four points from C, which are the points 14,34,50,74. then a complete (68,18)-arc D is obtained,

 $D = \{1, \dots, 9, 11, 12, 13, 15, \dots, 17, 19, \dots, 25, 27, 28, 29, 31, 32, 33, 35, 36, 37, 39, \dots, 45, 47, 48, 49, 51, 52, 53, 55, 56, 57, 59, \dots, 61, 63, 64, 65, 67, 68, 69, 71, 72, 73, 75, 76, 77, 79, 80, 81, 83, 84, 85\}$  since each point not in D is on at least one

18 – secant of D and hence there are no points of index zero and D intersects each plane in at most 18 points.

## **3.5** The Construction of Complete (k,17) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,17)–arc E in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (68,18) – arc C by eliminating five points from D, which are the points 21,32,42,55,65. then a complete (63,17)–arc E is obtained, $E=\{1,...,9,11,12,13,15,...,17,19,20,22,23,24,25,27,28,29,31,$ 

33,35,36,37,39,40,41,43,44,45,47,48,49,51,52,53,56,57,59,...,61,63,64,67,68,69,

71,72,73,75,76,77,79,80,81,83,84,85} since each point not in E is on at least one 17–secant of E and hence there are no points of index zero and E intersects each plane in at most 17 points.

#### **3.6** The Construction of Complete (k,16) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,16) – arc F in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (63,17) – arc E, by eliminating six points from E, which are: 8,25,45,71,80,85.then

 $F = \{1, \dots, 7, 9, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 27, 28, 29, 31, 33, 35, 36, 37, 39, 40, 41, 43, 44, 47, 48, 49, 51, 5, 2, 53, 56, 57, 59, 60, 61, 63, 64, 67, 68, 69, 72, 73, 75, 76, 77, 79, 81, 83, 84\}, F is a complete (57, 16)-arc, since 1. F intersects any plane in at most 16 points and$ 

2. every point not in F is on at least one 16 – secant of F.

## **3.7** The Construction of Complete (k,15) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,15)-arc G constructed from the complete (57,16)-arc F, by eliminating four points from F, which are : 19,27,52,60. then G = {1,...,7,9,11,12,13,15,16,17,20,22,23,24, 28, 29, 31, 33, 35, 36, 37, 39, 40, 41,43,44,47,48,49,51,53,56,57,59,61,63,64,67,68,69,72,73,75,76,77,79,81,83,84}, G is a complete (53,15) – arc, since

G intersects any plane in at most 15 points and

every point not in G is on at least one 15 – secant of G.

#### 3.8 The Construction of Complete (k,14) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,14)-arc H can be constructed from the complete (53,15)-arc G, by eliminating four points, which are: 5,20,59,77. from G, then H =  $\{1,2,3,4,6,7,9,11,12,13,15,16,17,22,23,24,28,29,31,$ 33, 35, 36, 37, 39,40,41,43,44,47,48,49,51,53,56,57,61,63,64,67,68,69,72,73,75,76,79,81,83,84},H is a complete (49,14)-arc, since

1. H intersects any plane in at most 14 points and

2. every point not in H is on at least one 14-secant of H.

## 3.9 The Construction of Complete (k,13) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,13)-arc I can be constructed from the complete (49,14)-arc H, by eliminating five points from H, which are: 36,44,67,72,73. then

I={1,2,3,4,6,7,9,11,12,13,15,16,17,22,23,24,28,29,31,33,35,37,39,40,41,43,47,48,49,51,53,56,57,61,6 3,64,68,69,75,76,79,81,83,84},I is a complete (44,13)-arc, since I intersects any plane in at most 13 points and every point not in I is on at least one 13-secant of I.

## 3.10 The Construction of Complete (k,12) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,12)-arc J can be constructed from the complete (44,13)- arc I, by eliminating five points from I, which are: 17,28,41,51,79. then J = {1,2,3,4,6,7,9,11,12,13,15,16,22,23,24, 29,31,33,35,37,39,40,43,47,48,49,53,56,57,61,63,64,68,69,75,76,81,83,84},J is a complete (39,12)arc, since J intersects any plane in at most 12 points and

every point not in J is on at least one 12-secant of J.

## 3.11 The Construction of Complete (k,11) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,11)-arc K in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (39,12)-arc K, by eliminating three points from J, which are : 16,35,64. then K={1,2,3,4,6,7,9,11,12,13,15,22,23,24,29,31,33,

37,39,40,43,47,48,49,53,56,57,61,63,68,69,75,76,81,83,84, K is a complete (36,11) – arc, since K intersects any plane in PG(3,4) in at most 11 points and every point not in K is on at least one 11– secant of K.

## 3.12 The Construction of Complete (k,10) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,10)-arc L can be constructed from the complete (36,11)-arc K, by eliminating five points from K, which are : 9,23,31,33,69. then L={1,2,3,4,6,7,11,12,13,15,22,24,29, 37,39,40,43,47,48,49,53,56,57,61,63,68,75,76,81,83,84} is a complete (31,10)-arc, since **1**. L intersects any plane in PG(3,4) in at most 10 points and

2. every point not in L is on at least one 10-secant of L.

## 3.13 The Construction of Complete (k,9) – arc in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,9)-arc M can be constructed from the complete (31,10)-arc L, by eliminating three points from L, which are : 4,11,48. then M ={1,2,3,6,7,12,13,15,22,24,29,37,39,40,43,47, 49,53,56,57,61,63,68,75,76,81,83,84} is a complete (28,9)-arc, since

1. M intersects any plane in PG(3,4) in at most 9 points and

2. every point not in M is on at least one 9-secant of M.

## 3.14 The Construction of Complete (k,8)–arcs in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,8)-arc N in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (28,9)-arc M, by eliminating four points from M, which are : 13, 29, 39,,56. then N ={1,2,3,6,7,12,15,22,24,37,40,43,47,49,53,57,61,63,68,75,76,81,83,84} is a complete (24,8)-arc, since 1. N intersects any plane in PG(3,4) in at most 8 points and 2 avery point point in N is on at least one 8 second of N

2. every point not in N is on at least one 8-secant of N.

## 3.15 The Construction of Complete (k,7) – arcs in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,7)-arc O in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (24,8)-arc N, by eliminating four points from N, which are : 37,47,76,83, then

O ={1,2,3,6,7,12,15,22,24,40,43,49,53,57,61,63,68,75,81,84}is a complete(20,7)-arc, since

1. O intersects any plane in at most 7 points and

2. every point not in O is on at least one 7-secant of O.

## 3.16 The Construction of Complete (k,6) – arcs in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,6)–arc P in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (20,7)–arc O, by eliminating five points from O, which are : 12,24,53,61,84, then

 $P = \{1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 15, 22, 40, 43, 49, 57, 63, 68, 75, 81\}$  is a complete (15, 6) – arc, since

1. P intersects any plane in at most 6 points and

2. every point not in P is on at least one 6-secant of P.

## 3.17 The Construction of Complete (k,5) – arcs in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,5)-arc Q in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (15,6)-arc P, by eliminating three points from P, which are : 3,7,81, then

 $Q = \{1, 2, 6, 15, 22, 40, 43, 49, 57, 63, 68, 75\}$  is a complete (12,5) – arc, since

1. Q intersects any plane in at most 5 points and

2. every point not in Q is on at least one 5-secant of Q.

## 3.18 The Construction of Complete (k,4) – arcs in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,4)–arc R in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (12,5)–arc Q, by eliminating three points from Q, which are : 49,57,75, then

 $R = \{1, 2, 6, 15, 22, 40, 43, 63, 68\}$  is a complete (9, 4) - arc, since

1. R intersects any plane in at most 4 points and

2. every point not in R is on at least one 4-secant of R.

#### **3.19** The Construction of Complete (k,3) – arcs in PG(3,4) :

A complete (k,3)–arc S in PG(3,4) can be constructed from the complete (9,4)–arc R, by eliminating four points from R, which are : 15,40,63,68 then  $S = \{1,2,6,22,43\}$  is a complete(5,3)– arc, since

1. S intersects any plane in at most 3 points and

2. every point not in S is on at least one 3–secant of S.(table below)

## **Conclusions :**

Form the above results, the complete (k,n)-arcs	in PG(3,4),21 $\ge$ n $\ge$ 3,as follows:
(k,21)–arc, where k=85, is a complete.	(k,11)-arc, where k=36, is a complete.
(k,20)–arc, where k=77, is a complete.	(k,10)-arc, where k=31, is a complete.
(k,19)-arc, where k=72, is a complete.	(k,9)-arc, where k=28, is a complete.
(k,18)–arc, where k=68, is a complete.	(k,8)-arc, where k=24, is a complete.
(k,17)–arc, where k=63, is a complete.	(k,7)-arc, where k=20, is a complete.
(k,16)-arc, where k=57, is a complete.	(k,6)-arc, where k=15, is a complete.
(k,15)–arc, where k=53, is a complete.	(k,5)-arc, where k=12, is a complete.
(k,14)–arc, where k=49, is a complete.	(k,4)-arc, where k=9, is a complete.
(k,13)–arc, where k=44, is a complete.	(k,3)-arc, where k=5, is a complete.
(k,12)–arc, where k=39, is a complete.	

#### Notation: -

A (l, t)- blocking set S in PG(2, q) is a set of L points such that every line of PG(2, q) intersects S in at least n points, and there is a line intersecting S in exactly n points. Note that a (k, r)-arc is the complement of a  $(q^2+q+1-k, q+1-r)$ -blocking set in a projective plane and conversely. A linear code C of length n and dimension k over GF(q) is a k-dimensional subspace of V (n,q). Such a code is called [n, k, d;p]- code if its minimum Hamming distance is d. There is exists a relationship between (k, r)-arc in PG(2,q) and [n,3,d]q codes ,given by the following theorem .

#### Theorem [6]

There exists a projective [k,3,d]q code if and only if there exists an (n, n-d)-arc in PG(2, q).

q	Arc	Blocking set	Linear code
	(85,21)-arc		[85,4,64] <sub>4</sub>
	(77,20)-arc	(8,1)–Blocking set	[77,4,57] <sub>4</sub>
_	(72,19)–arc	(13,2)–Blocking set	[72,4,53] <sub>4</sub>
	(68,18)–arc	(17,3)–Blocking set	$[68,4,50]_4$
	(63,17)–arc	(22,4)–Blocking set	[63,4,46] <sub>4</sub>
	(57,16)-arc	(28,5)–Blocking set	[57,4,41] <sub>4</sub>
	(53,15)-arc	(32,6)–Blocking set	[53,4,38] <sub>4</sub>
	(49,14)-arc	(36,7)–Blocking set	[49,4,35] <sub>4</sub>
	(44,13)-arc	(41,8)–Blocking set	[44,4,31] <sub>4</sub>
	(39,12)-arc	(46,9)–Blocking set	[39,4,27] <sub>4</sub>
	(36,11)-arc	(49,10)–Blocking set	[36,4,25] <sub>4</sub>
	(31,10)-arc	(54,11)–Blocking set	[31,4,21] <sub>4</sub>
	(28,9)-arc	(57,12)–Blocking set	[28,4,19] <sub>4</sub>
	(24,8)-arc	(51,13)–Blocking set	[24,4,16] <sub>4</sub>
	(20,7)–arc	(65,14)–Blocking set	$[20,4,13]_4$
_	(15,6)-arc	(70,15)–Blocking set	[15,4,9]4
	(12,5)–arc	(73,16)–Blocking set	[12,4,7]4
	(9,4)–arc	(76,17)–Blocking set	[9,4,5]4
-	(5,3)–arc	(80,18)–Blocking set	[5,4,2]4

#### Table for the related between (k,n)-arcs and {l,t}- blocking sets and linear codes

#### Notation: -

4

The points of PG(3,q) have unique forms which are (1,0,0,0),(U,1,0,0),(U,V,1,0) and (U,V,W,1) for all U, V, W in GF(q).which are (1,0,0,0) is one point,(U,1,0,0) are q points,(U,V,1,0) are q2 points, and (U,V,W,1) are q3 points, for all U,V,W in PG(q).

#### Notation: -

There exists  $q^3+q^2+q+1$  of points in PG(3,q) and there exist  $q^3+q^2+q+1$  of planes.

#### Notation: -

Every plane in PG(3,q) contains exactly  $q^{2+q+1}$  points (lines) and every point is on exactly  $q^{2}+q+1$  planes.

#### Notation: -

Every line in PG(3,q) contains exactly q + 1 points and every point is on exactly q + 1 lines.

#### Notation: -

Any two planes in PG(3,q) intersect in exactly q+1 points, and any two points are on exactly q+1 planes. Also any line is on exactly q+1 planes.

_	The Points and Plans of PG(3,4)																					
	L1	(1,0,0,0) 2	6	10	14	18	22	26	30	34	38	42	46	50	54	58	62	66	70	74	78	82
	L2	(0,1,0,0) 1	6	7	8	9	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37
	L3	(1,1,0,0) 3	6	11	16	21	22	26	30	34	39	43	47	51	56	60	64	68	73	77	81	85
	L4	(2,1,0,0) 5	6	13	15	20	22	26	30	34	41	45	49	53	55	59	63	67	72	76	80	84

L5	(3,1,0,0)	4	6	12	17	19	22	26	30	34	40	44	48	52	57	61	65	69	71	75	79	83
L6	(0,0,1,0)	1	2	3	4	5	22	23	24	25	38	39	40	41	54	55	56	57	70	71	72	73
L7	(1,0,1,0)	2	7	11	15	19	22	27	32	37	38	43	48	53	54	59	64	69	70	75	80	85
L8	(2,0,1,0)	2	9	13	17	21	22	29	31	36	38	45	47	52	54	61	63	68	70	77	79	84
L9	(3,0,1,0)	2	8	12	16	20	22	28	33	35	38	44	49	51	54	60	65	67	70	76	81	83
L10	(0,1,1,0)	1	10	11	12	13	22	23	24	25	42	43	44	45	62	63	64	65	82	83	84	85
L11	(1,1,1,0)	3	7	10	17	20	22	27	32	37	39	42	49	52	56	61	62	67	73	76	79	82
L12	(2,1,1,0)	5	9	10	16	19	22	29	31	36	41	42	48	51	55	60	62	69	72	75	81	82
L13	(3,1,1,0)	4	8	10	15	21	22	28	33	35	40	42	47	53	57	59	62	68	71	77	80	82
L14	(0,2,1,0)	1	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	46	47	48	49	66	67	68	69	74	75	76	77
L15	(1,2,1,0)	4	7	13	16	18	22	27	32	37	40	45	46	51	57	60	63	66	71	74	81	84
L16	(2,2,1,0)	3	9	12	15	18	22	29	31	36	39	44	46	53	56	59	65	66	73	74	80	83
L17	(3,2,1,0)	5	8	11	17	18	22	28	33	35	41	43	46	52	55	61	64	66	72	74	79	85
L18	(0,3,1,0)	1	14	15	16	17	22	23	24	25	50	51	52	53	58	59	60	61	78	79	80	81
L19	(1,3,1,0)	5	7	12	14	21	22	27	32	37	41	44	47	50	55	58	65	68	72	77	78	83
L20	(2,3,1,0)	4	9	11	14	20	22	29	31	36	40	43	49	50	57	58	64	67	71	76	78	85
L21	(3,3,1,0)	3	8	13	14	19	22	28	33	35	39	45	48	50	56	58	63	69	73	75	78	84
L22	(0,0,0,1)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21
L23	(1,0,0,1)	2	6	10	14	18	23	27	31	35	39	43	47	51	55	59	63	67	71	75	79	83
L24	(2,0,0,1)	2	6	10	14	18	25	29	33	37	41	45	49	53	57	61	65	69	73	77	81	85
L25	(3,0,0,1)	2	6	10	14	18	24	28	32	36	40	44	48	52	56	60	64	68	72	76	80	84
L26	(0,1,0,1)	1	2	3	4	5	26	27	28	29	42	43	44	45	58	59	60	61	74	75	76	77
L27	(1,1,0,1)	2	7	11	15	19	23	26	33	36	39	42	49	52	55	58	65	68	71	74	81	84
L28	(2,1,0,1)	2	9	13	17	21	25	26	32	35	41	42	48	51	57	58	64	67	73	74	80	83
L29	(3,1,0,1)	2	8	12	16	20	24	26	31	37	40	42	47	53	56	58	63	69	72	74	79	85
L30	(0,2,0,1)	1	2	3	4	5	34	35	36	37	50	51	52	53	66	67	68	69	82	83	84	85
L31	(1,2,0,1)	2	8	12	16	20	23	29	32	34	39	45	48	50	55	61	64	66	71	77	80	82
L32	(2,2,0,1)	2	7	11	15	19	25	28	31	34	41	44	47	50	57	60	63	66	73	76	79	82
L33	(3,2,0,1)	2	9	13	17	21	24	27	33	34	40	43	49	50	56	59	65	66	72	75	81	82
L34	(0,3,0,1)	1	2	3	4	5	30	31	32	33	46	47	48	49	62	63	64	65	78	79	80	81
L35	(1,3,0,1)	2	9	13	17	21	23	28	30	37	39	44	46	53	55	60	62	69	71	76	78	85
L36	(2,3,0,1)	2	8	12	16	20	25	27	30	36	41	43	46	52	57	59	62	68	73	75	78	84
L37	(3,3,0,1)	2	7	11	15	19	24	29	30	35	40	45	46	51	56	61	62	67	72	77	78	83
L38	(0,0,1,1)	1	6	7	8	9	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49	50	51	52	53
L39	(1,0,1,1)	3	6	11	16	21	23	27	31	35	38	42	46	50	57	61	65	69	72	76	80	84
L40	(2,0,1,1)	5	6	13	15	20	25	29	33	37	38	42	46	50	56	60	64	68	71	75	79	83
L41	(3,0,1,1)	4	6	12	17	19	24	28	32	36	38	42	46	50	55	59	63	67	73	77	81	85
L42	(0,1,1,1)	1	10	11	12	13	26	27	28	29	38	39	40	41	66	67	68	69	78	79	80	81
L43	(1,1,1,1)	3	7	10	17	20	23	26	33	36	38	43	48	53	57	60	63	66	72	77	78	83
L44	(2,1,1,1)	5	9	10	16	19	25	26	32	35	38	45	47	52	56	59	65	66	71	76	78	85
L45	(3,1,1,1)	4	8	10	15	21	24	26	31	37	38	44	49	51	55	61	64	66	73	75	78	84
L46	(0,2,1,1)	1	14	15	16	17	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41	62	63	64	65	74	75	76	77

L47	(1,2,1,1)	3	8	13	14	19	23	29	32	34	38	44	49	51	57	59	62	68	72	74	79	85
L48	(2,2,1,1)	5	7	12	14	21	25	28	31	34	38	43	48	53	56	61	62	67	71	74	81	84
L49	(3,2,1,1)	4	9	11	14	20	24	27	33	34	38	45	47	52	55	60	62	69	73	74	80	83
L50	(0,3,1,1)	1	18	19	20	21	30	31	32	33	38	39	40	41	58	59	60	61	82	83	84	85
L51	(1,3,1,1)	3	9	12	15	18	23	28	30	37	38	45	47	52	57	58	64	67	72	75	81	82
L52	(2,3,1,1)	5	8	11	17	18	25	27	30	36	38	44	49	51	56	58	63	69	71	77	80	82
L53	(3,3,1,1)	4	7	13	16	18	24	29	30	35	38	43	48	53	55	58	65	68	73	76	79	82
L54	(0,0,2,1)	1	6	7	8	9	70	71	72	73	74	75	76	77	78	79	80	81	82	83	84	85
L55	(1,0,2,1)	4	6	12	17	19	23	27	31	35	41	45	49	53	56	60	64	68	70	74	78	82
L56	(2,0,2,1)	3	6	11	16	21	25	29	33	37	40	44	48	52	55	59	63	67	70	74	78	82
L57	(3,0,2,1)	5	6	13	15	20	24	28	32	36	39	43	47	51	57	61	65	69	70	74	78	82
L58	(0,1,2,1)	1	18	19	20	21	26	27	28	29	50	51	52	53	62	63	64	65	70	71	72	73
L59	(1,1,2,1)	4	7	13	16	18	23	26	33	36	41	44	47	50	56	61	62	67	70	75	80	85
L60	(2,1,2,1)	3	9	12	15	18	25	26	32	35	40	43	49	50	55	60	62	69	70	77	79	84
L61	(3,1,2,1)	5	8	11	17	18	24	26	31	37	39	45	48	50	57	59	62	68	70	76	81	83
L62	(0,2,2,1)	1	10	11	12	13	34	35	36	37	46	47	48	49	58	59	60	61	70	71	72	73
L63	(1,2,2,1)	4	8	10	15	21	23	29	32	34	41	43	46	52	56	58	63	69	70	76	81	83
L64	(2,2,2,1)	3	7	10	17	20	25	28	31	34	40	45	46	51	55	58	65	68	70	75	80	85
L65	(3,2,2,1)	5	9	10	16	19	24	27	33	34	39	44	46	53	57	58	64	67	70	77	79	84
L66	(0,3,2,1)	1	14	15	16	17	30	31	32	33	42	43	44	45	66	67	68	69	70	71	72	73
L67	(1,3,2,1)	4	9	11	14	20	23	28	30	37	41	42	48	51	56	59	65	66	70	77	79	84
L68	(2,3,2,1)	3	8	13	14	19	25	27	30	36	40	42	47	53	55	61	64	66	70	76	81	83
L69	(3,3,2,1)	5	7	12	14	21	24	29	30	35	39	42	49	52	57	60	63	66	70	75	80	85
L70	(0,0,3,1)	1	6	7	8	9	54	55	56	57	58	59	60	61	62	63	64	65	66	67	68	69
L71	(1,0,3,1)	5	6	13	15	20	23	27	31	35	40	44	48	52	54	58	62	66	73	77	81	85
L72	(2,0,3,1)	4	6	12	17	19	25	29	33	37	39	43	47	51	54	58	62	66	72	76	80	84
L73	(3,0,3,1)	3	6	11	16	21	24	28	32	36	41	45	49	53	54	58	62	66	71	75	79	83
L74	(0,1,3,1)	1	14	15	16	17	26	27	28	29	46	47	48	49	54	55	56	57	82	83	84	85
L75	(1,1,3,1)	5	7	12	14	21	23	26	33	36	40	45	46	51	54	59	64	69	73	76	79	82
L76	(2,1,3,1)	4	9	11	14	20	25	26	32	35	39	44	46	53	54	61	63	68	72	75	81	82
L77	(3,1,3,1)	3	8	13	14	19	24	26	31	37	41	43	46	52	54	60	65	67	71	77	80	82
L78	(0,2,3,1)	1	18	19	20	21	34	35	36	37	42	43	44	45	54	55	56	57	78	79	80	81
L79	(1,2,3,1)	5	8	11	17	18	23	29	32	34	40	42	47	53	54	60	65	67	73	75	78	84
L80	(2,2,3,1)	4	7	13	16	18	25	28	31	34	39	42	49	52	54	59	64	69	72	77	78	83
L81	(3,2,3,1)	3	9	12	15	18	24	27	33	34	41	42	48	51	54	61	63	68	71	76	78	85
L82	(0,3,3,1)	1	10	11	12	13	30	31	32	33	50	51	52	53	54	55	56	57	74	75	76	77
L83	(1,3,3,1)	5	9	10	16	19	23	28	30	37	40	43	49	50	54	61	63	68	73	74	80	83
L84	(2,3,3,1)	4	8	10	15	21	25	27	30	36	39	45	48	50	54	60	65	67	72	74	79	85
L85	(3,3,3,1)	3	7	10	17	20	24	29	30	35	41	44	47	50	54	59	64	69	71	74	81	84

## References

[1] Hirschfeld, J.W.P. (1979). Projective Geometries over finite fields. Oxford Claren-don Press; New York: Oxford University Press.

[2] Ibrahim, H.Sh. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), The Possibility of Applying Rumen Research at the Projective Plane PG (2,17), Modern Applied Science, 13 (8), ISSN 1913-1844 E-ISSN 1913-1852. https://doi:10.5539/mas.v13n8p150.

- [3] Ibrahim, H.Sh. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019). The optimal size of {b, t} -blocking set When t = 3, 4 By intersection the tangents in PG (2, q). Modern Applied Science, 13(7). ISSN: 1913-1844, E-ISSN:1913-1852. Published by Canadian Center of Science and Education. URL:https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v13n7p
- [4] Kasm, N.Y. & Hamad, A.Z. (2019). Applications of Algebraic Geometry in Cryptography. Modern Applied Science, 13(5). ISSN: 1913-1844, E-ISSN: 1913-1852. Published by Canadian Center of Science and Education. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v13n5p130</u>
- [5] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2018). A geometric Construction of Complete (k, r)-arc in PG (2, 7) and the Related Projective [n,3, d]7 Codes. AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, 12(1), 24-40, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. ISSN: 18154816, https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16543.25767.
- [6] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2014). A Non PGL (3, q) k-arcs in the projective plane of order 37. Tikrit Journal of Pure Science, 19(1), 135-145. ISSN: 1813-1662, Tikrit University, Tikrit-Iraq, <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.23254.14401</u>
- [7] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2012). Existence of Minimal Blocking Sets of Size 31 in the Projec-tive Plane PG (2, 17). Journal of University of Babylon/Pure and Applied Sciences, 20(4), 1138-1146, ISSN: 19920652, 23128135, Babylon University, Babul-Iraq, https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.10146.94407
- [8] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2014). The Use of 7- Blocking Sets in Galois Geometries. Journal of University of Babylon/Pure and Applied Sciences, 22(4), 1229-1235. ISSN: 19920652, 23128135, Babylon University, Ba-bul-Iraq, https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16857.83044
- [9] Yahya, N.Y.K. & Salim, M.N. (2018). The Geometric Approach to Existences Linear [n, k, d]13 Code,International Journal of Enhanced Research in science, Technology and Engineering, ISSN: 2319-7463.https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16018.96960
- [10]Yahya, N.Y.K. & Salim, M.N. (2019). New Geometric Methods for prove Existence three-Dimensional linear [97,3,87]11 and [143,3,131]13 codes, Journal of education and science, 28(1812-125X), 312-333. University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. https://:doi.org/ 10.13140/RG.2.2.29944.08965
- [11] Yahya, N.Y.K. & Salim, M.N. (2019). 17 New Existences linear [n, 3, d]19 Codes by Geometric Structure Method in PG (2, 19), AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, 13(1), ISSN 1815-4816, 61-86, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.18697.29284.
- [12] Yahya, N.Y.K. & Hamad. A.Z. (2019). A geometric Construction of a (56, 2)-blocking set in PG (2, 19) and on three dimensional Linear [325,3,307]<sub>19</sub> Griesmer Code.University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, Volume 13, Issue 2, Pages 13-25 10.33899/csmj.2020.163511
- [13]Sulaimaan,A.E.M. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Linear code originates from complete arc by Engineering Building methods, Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,NO.21,,1013-1020,https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99132.

- [14]Sulaimaan,A.E.M. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Linear code related Ω-Blocking sets, Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,2019, NO.21,1033-1040, https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99133
- [15]Sulaimaan,A.E.M. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), New Structural Engineering Construction methods by Remove q points in PG(2,q), Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,2019, NO.21, 1048 -1041 <u>https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99134</u>.
- [16]Faraj, M.G. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Reverse Building of complete (k,r)-arcs in PG(2,q), Open Access Library Journal, Volume 6, ISSUE 12,e5900.ISSN Online: 2333-9721,ISSN Print: 2333-9705.
- https://DOI: 10.4236/oalib.1105900
- [17]Hirschfeld, J.W.P. (1998). Projective Geometries over finite fields. Second edition, Oxford Claren-don Press; New York: Oxford University Press.
- [18] Abdullah, F.N. & Kasm, N.Y.(2020), Bounds on Minimum Distance for Linear Codes Over GF(q), Italian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, has been Accepted on February 5,2020, For Publication in Italian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, n.44. In press.
- [19] Abdulla, Ali Ahmed A., Yahya ,N. Y. K., (2020), Complete Arcs and Surfaces In Three Dimensional projective space PG (3,7), Open Access Library Journal, Volume 7, No.4, ISSN Online: 2333-9721, ISSN Print: 2333-9705, DOI: 10.4236/\*\*\*.2020. oalib.1106071, In press.

## The Reverse construction of complete (k, n)- arcs in PG(2,q) where q=2,4,8 related with linear codes

## <sup>1</sup>Aidan Essa Mustafa Sulaimaan <sup>2</sup>Nada Yassen Kasm Yahya

<sup>1</sup> Ph.D. Student, Department of Mathematics, College of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq

eidanalkhatony@gmail.com

drnadaqasim1@gmail.com

**Abstract** The aim of this work is to study The reverse construction of complete (k, n)- arcs in PG(2,q) where q=2,4,8 is related to linear codes, and n = q, q-1, ..., 2. And n = q, q-1, ... By removing points from the complete arc (K, n) to get a full arc (K, m) where m < n.

#### Introduction:

A projective plane PG(2,q) above Galois field GF(q), Where q is a prime number, it shall consist of of

 $q^2 + q + 1$  points and  $q^2 + q + 1$  lines; each line has q+1 points and each point is on q+1 lines[2]; each point of the plane has the shape of a triple line; (U0,U1,U2), where U0,U1,U2 are elements in PG (q) except a triple composed of three zero elements. If t occurs in GF(q)\{0}, s, then two triples (U0,U1,U2) and (V0,V1,V2) are the same. t. (V0,V1,V2)= t(U0,

U1,U2) Points have in PG(2,q) different shapes which are (1,0,0), (U,1,0), (U, V,1) for all GF(q) U and V. Similarly each line in PG(2,q) has one point of shape (1,0,0), q points of shape (U,1,0) and q2 points of shape (U, V,1).

#### **Definition 1[8]:**

A (K, n)-arc is a sequence of K points in PG(2,q) and there are no collinear n+1 points to them. A (K,2)- the arc known as the K- arc is a sequence of K arcs, and no three collinear axes exist.

#### **Definition 2[8]:**

A (K, n) -arc is complete except for an (K+1,n)- arc.

#### **Definition 3 [6]:**

The maximum number of points a(K,2)-arc holds is m(2,q), and an(K,2)-arc is an oval with that number of points. In the case of only finishing ovals.

#### Theory of relativity 1 [6]:

M(2,q) = q+1 for q is odd or M(2,q) = q+2 for q is even

## Theorem 2 [2]:

In PG(2,q), every oval is a conic, with q odd.

#### **Definition 4 Includes [8]:**

The I of a (K, n)-arc is a line that intersects the arc in exactly I points, a 0-secant is called an external line from anywhere, a 1-secant is called a unisecant line, 2-secant is called a bisecant line and 3-secant is called a trisecant line.

#### Corollary 1 [8]:

A(K, n) -arc is a maximum if and only if each PG(2,q) line is a 0-secant or a n - secant.

#### **Definition 5[8]:**

Let Q be an element not on the PG(2,p) K-arc. Let Si(Q) be the one I list over Q. The number of bisecants S2(Q) is referred to as the Q index for q, and the unisecant number S1(Q) is referred to as the Q for q.

#### Lemma 1 [8]:

For any point Q in PG  $(2,p)\setminus\kappa$ , then  $S_1(Q) + 2S_2(Q) = k$ .

**Proof**: Because any unisecant of the ubiquitous. Passes one point of the arc and each bisect passes through two arc points, the number of arc points is k, then S1(Q) + 2S2(Q)=k.

#### Lemma 2 [7]:

Let Ci be index Q number of points i. Then

1)  $\sum_{\alpha}^{\beta}$  Ci=q^2+q+1-k

2)  $\sum_{\alpha}^{\beta} i \operatorname{Ci} = K(k-1)(q-1)/2$ , Of which  $\alpha$  is smallest I Ci  $\neq 0$ , and  $\beta$  is the largest i for which Ci $\neq 0$ . Proof: 1)  $\sum$  Ci Its all the points of the aircraft not in k.because The total number of points on the plane is  $q^2+q+1$ , then  $\sum_{\alpha}^{\beta} \operatorname{Ci} = q^2+q+1-k$ . 2)  $\sum_{\alpha}^{\beta} i \operatorname{Ci} = \operatorname{Ci} + 2\operatorname{Ci} + 3\operatorname{Ci} + \ldots$ This equation express the cardinality of the following set { (Q,  $\ell$ ) /Q  $\in \ell \setminus \kappa$ ,  $\ell$  is abisecant of  $\kappa$  } each

This equation express the cardinality of the following set {  $(Q, \ell) / Q \in \ell \setminus \kappa, \ell$  is abisecant of  $\kappa$  } each bisecant contains q-1 points not in  $\kappa$ . There are k!/ 2!(k-2)! Bisecant of  $\kappa$ . Then there exist k(k-1) (q-1) /2 of points satisfying the equation

 $\sum_{\alpha}^{\beta} i C i = k(k-1) (q-1) / 2.$ 

#### Remark [2]:

The (k, n) –arc current configuration 2 C0=0, Thus, if each point of PG(2,q) is on any n-secant of any  $\kappa$ .

#### **Definition 6[12]:**

A(k, n)-arc K in PG(2. p) is maximal arc if k = (n-1)p + n.

#### **Definition 7[8]:**

The maximum number of points which could be a (K, 2)-arc in PG(2, p) is m(2, p)- this arc called an oval.

#### **Definition 8 [12]:**

A polynomial F in  $k[X_1, X_2, ..., X_n]$  is called homogenous or a form of degree d if all its terms have the same degree d. A subset V of PG (n, k) is variety over K if there exists forms  $F_1, F_2, ..., F_R$ in  $k[X_1, X_2, ..., X_n]$  such that  $V = \{P(A) \text{ in } PG(n, k), F_1(A) = F_2(A) = ... = F_R(A) = 0\} = V(F_1, F_2, ..., F_R).$ 

#### **Definition 9[12]:**

A variety V(F) of PG(2,q) is a subset of PG(2,q) such that  $V(F) = \{P(A) \in PG(2,q) | F(A) = 0\}$ .

#### Definition10 [12]:

A (k, n)-arc is complete unless it is found in an arc (k+1,n). The maximum number of points you can have (k,2)-arc is m(2,q) and this arc is an oval.

#### **Definition 11[11]:**

A (k, n)-arc is a set of k points of a projective plane such that some r, but no n+1 of them, are collinear.

## **Definition 12[11]:**

A (l, t)-blocking set S in PG(2,q) is a set of l points such that each PG(2,q) line intersects S in at least t points, and a line intersects S in exactly t points.

Remember that a (k, n)-arc is a complement to a  $(q^2 + q + 1 - k, q + 1 - n)$ -block set in a projective plane, and vice versa.

## Theorem 5 [11]:

There exists a projective [n, 3, d]q code if and only if there exists an (n, n-d)-arc in PG(2,q)

#### 1- The construction of complete (k,n) – arcs, where n=2,3,...,q+1, in PG(2,2) over GF(2)

The PG(2,2) projective plane contains (7) points and (7) lines and each line contains (3) points, with each point in (3) lines. In PG(2,2), you can construct any line using the variety v. let Ni and Li, i=1,2, ... 7 The points and lines given for in PG(2,2) shall be respectively. Let me reflect point Ni I for line Li, the co-ordinates of which are the same point Ni co-ordinates and all points and lines of PG(2,2) are given in table (1).

<u>A- The construction of (k,3)-arc</u>: If i=3, then m(3,2)=7 and (7,3)-arc is the maximum arc, since each line in PG(2,2) is a 3-section arc (K3,2). This arc covers all of the PG(2,2) plane stages, so it's a complete arc. We are going to create the (K, m) -arcs, now m=2,3.

**B.** The construction of (k,2) – arc, from the (k, 3) –arc:

We delete one line (K,3)–arc, say, from L7=[3,5,6]. On the other hand, every two distinct lines are intersected in a single point in the projective plane, the removing line intersects each line of PG(2,2) in exactly one point, so we subtract one point from each line in the plane PG(2,2). The line removed is a K2 0- secant, and the remaining (6) is the 2-sectants k2=[1,2,4,7] arc.so. In PG(2,2) we find: 1- K2 is a maximum (4,2)-arc, since each line in PG(2,2) is either 0–secant or 2–secant of K2, as shown in table (2).

2-K2 is a complete (4,2) –arc since there is no zero index point for  $\ddot{y}$ 2, i.e. The oval value is C0 = 0, and k2.

## 2-The construction of complete (k,n) – arcs, where n=2,3,...,q+1, in PG(2,4) over GF(4)

The projective plane PG(2,4) includes (21) points and (21) lines, each line having (5) points, and each point being on (5) lines. -- line can be constructed in PG(2,4) using variety v. Let Ni and Li, i=1,2, ..., 21, be the PG(2,4) Points and lines, respectively. Let me stand for point Ni[i] is for line Li, the coordinates of which are identical to point Ni, and all points and lines of PG(2,4) are given in table (1).

#### A. The construction of (k,5)-arc:

If i=5, then the maximum arc is m(5,4)=21 and (21,5)-arc, since each line in PG(2,4) is a 5 -secant of the (K5,4) -arc. This arc includes all of the PG(2,4) plane points, so it's a complete arc. Now we're going to create the (K, m)-arcs, m= 2,3,4,5.

## **B.** The construction of (k,,4) – arc, from the (k, 5) –arc:

One row (K,5)–arc is subtracted, say, L12=[5,9,10,16,19]. In the other hand, if two distinct lines are intersected in a single point in the projective plane, each line of PG(2,4) is intersected in exactly one point by the removing line, so we deduct one point from each line in plane PG(2,4). The missing line is a K5 0-secant, and the remaining lines (20) are four arc-secants. We find: 1- K4 is a maximum (16,4) –arc in PG(2,4), since each line in PG(2,4) is either 0–secant or a 4–secant of K4, as shown in table (2).

2-K4 is a complete arc (16,4), since there is no zero index point for k4, i.e. C0 = No.

#### C. The construction of (k,,3) – arc, from the (k, 4) –arc:

By removing (7) points which are: 3,8, 13,14,15,17,21 we create a (k,3) –arc from K4. Then we find: 1- (9,3) –arc is not a full arc because there are some lines in PG(2,4) that are neither 3–secant nor 0– secant 2- The K3 is a complete (9,3)-arc since zero points are not indexed for K3, i.e., C0=0.

**D.** The construction of (k,,2) – arc, from the (k, 3) –arc:

By removing (5) points which are: 4,7,12,18,20 we create a(K,2)arc from K3.

So then K2 = [1,2,6,11]. We find: 1- K2 arc is not a complete arc because there are some 0-secant, 1secant, and 2-secant lines in PG(2,4). 2. K2 is a complete (4,2) –arc As there is no index point zero for k2,i, e., C0=0, and k2 is oval.

#### 3-The construction of complete (k,n) – arcs, where n=2,3,...,q+1, in PG(2,8) over GF(8)

The PG(2,8) projective plane contains (73) points and (73) lines, and each line has (9) points, and each point is on (9) lines. You can create any line in PG(2,8) using variety v. Let Ni and Li, i=1,2,... The PG(2,8) points and lines shall be, respectively, 73. Let me represent point Ni[i] stands for line Li with the same point Ni coordinates, and all points and lines of PG(2,8) are shown in table (1).

#### A. The construction of (k,9)-arc:

If i=9, then m(9,8)=73 and (73,9)-arc is the maximum arc, since each line in PG(2,8) is a 9-section (K8,7) arc. This arc includes all of the PG(2,8) plane points, so it's a complete arc. Let's construct the (K, m)- arcs, m= 2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9.

#### **<u>B. Building of (k,,8) – arc from the (k, 9) – arc:</u>**

One segment we deduct, say, from (K,9)–arc L19=[3,11,18,32,38,45,57,60,71]. On the other hand, if two distinct lines are intersected in a single point in the projective plane, each line of PG(2,8) is intersected in exactly one point by the removal line, so that we deduct one point from each line in the PG(2,8). The missing line is a segment of K9 0 and the remaining lines (72) are the eight sections of the arc. We find: 1- K8 is a maximum (64,8) –arc in PG(2,8), since each line in PG(2,8) is either 0– secant or 8–secant of K8, as shown in table (2).

2-K8 is a complete (64,8) –arc k8, i.e., C0 = 0.

## C. Building (k,,7) – arc, from the (k, 8) –arc:

By removing (15) points which are: 8,16,20,26,27,28,29,30,31,33,36,43,65,65,69, we create a (k,7) – arc from K8. Therefore we find: 1- (49,7) -arc is not a full arc since there are some lines in PG(2,8) which are neither 7–secant nor 0– secants 2- K7 is a complete (49,7)-arc K6, i.e. C0=0.

## **D.** Building $(k_{1,6})$ – arc, from the $(k_{1,7})$ –arc:

By removing (8) points, we create a (k,6) –arc from K7 which are: 6, 15,25,34,48,52,61,70. Therefore we find: 1- (41,6) –arc is not a full arc since in PG(2,8) there are some lines that are neither 5–secant nor 0–secant 2-K6 is a complete (41,6) –arc K6, i.e. C0=0.

## **<u>E. Building (k,5) – arc, from the (k, 6) – arc:</u>**

We construct a (k,5) –arc out of K6 by removing (9) points that are:7,13,24,40,46,50,58,59,67. Then we find: 1-(32,5) –arc is not a full arc because in PG(2,8) there are some lines that are neither 5–secant nor 0–secant 2-K5 is a complete (32,5)-arc K5, i.e. C0=0.

## **<u>F. Building (k,4) – arc, from the (k, 5) – arc:</u>**

We Build a (k,4) –arc from K5 by removing (9) points that are:9,14,22,39,47,54,62,66.73. Then we find: 1- (23,4)–arc is not a full arc because there are some lines in PG(2,8) that are neither 4–sectant nor 0–sectors 2– K4 is a complete (23,4)–arc K4, i.e., C0=0.

## G. Building (k,3) – arc, from the (k,4) –arc:

We Build a (k,3) –arc from K4 by removing (9) points that are:5,12,21,35,37,41,44,53,56. Then we find: 1- (14,3) –arc is not a full arc because there are some lines in PG(2,8) that are neither 3–sectant nor 0–sectors 2-K3 is a complete (14,3)-arc K3, i.e., C0=0.

## H. Building (k,2) – arc, from the (k, 3) –arc:

We construct a (k,2) –arc from K3 by removing (7) points that are:4,17,23,42,51,64,72.so

k2=[1,2,10,19,49,63,68]. Then we find: 1- (7,2) –arc is not a full arc because there are some lines in PG(2,8) that are 0-sectant, 1-sectors and 2-sectors.

2- K2 is a complete K3 (7,2)-arc, i.e., C0=0. And then k2 is oval.

1-Tables for PG(2,2)

		Tabl	e(1)	
i	Ni		Li	
1	(1,0,0)	2	4	6
2	(0,1,0)	1	4	5

3	(1.1,0)	3		4		7	_				Table	e(2)			
4	(0,0,1)	1		2		3	i	i	Ni				Li		
5	(1,0,1)	2		5		7	- 1	l	(1.0.0)		2		4		6
6	(0,1,1)	1		6		7	- 7	2	(0.1.0)		1		4		5
7	(1,1,1)	3		5		6		3	(0,1,0)		3		4		7
								, 1	(0.0.1)		1		<u>-</u> 2		3
								τ	(0,0,1)	Tabl	P(2)		5		7
								) -	(1,0,1) (Nit 1)	Iuoi	1	Li	<u> </u>		_/
							1	-	(0,1,1) (1,0,0)	2	6	10	14	18	_/
			m 11 /1	•			2	/	(0,1,0)	1	6	7	8	9	-6
	NI:		Table(				- 3		(1,1,0)	3	6	11	16	21	
1	$\frac{N1}{(1.0.0)}$	2	6	L1	1.4	10	- 4		(2,1,0)	5	6	13	15	20	
	(1,0,0)	<u> </u>	0	10	0	18	- 5		(3,1,0)	4	6	12	17	19	
2	(0,1,0)	2	6	/ 11	0	9	- 6		(0,0,1)	1	2	3	4	5	
	(1,1,0) (2.1.0)	5	6	11	10	$\frac{21}{20}$	- 7		(1,0,1)	2	7	11	15	19	
	(2,1,0)	<u> </u>	6	13	13	20	- 8		(2,0,1)	2	9	13	17	21	
6	(3,1,0) (0,0,1)	4	2	12	17	19	- 9		(3,0,1)	2	8	12	16	20	
7	(0,0,1) (1,0,1)	2	 7	11	15	10	-10		(0,1,1)	1	10	11	12	13	
	(1,0,1) (2.0.1)	2	9	13	17	21	-11		(1,1,1)	3	7	10	17	20	
9	(2,0,1)	2	<u> </u>	12	16	20	-12		(2,1,1)	5	9	10	16	19	
10	(0,1,1)	1	10	11	10	13	-13		(3,1,1)	4	8	10	15	21	
11	(0,1,1) (1 1 1)	3	7	10	17	20	-14		(0,2,1)	1	18	19	20	21	_
12	(2,1,1)	5	9	10	16	19	-15		(1,2.1)	4	7	13	16	18	_
13	(3.1.1)	4	8	10	15	21	- 16		(2,2,1)	3	9	12	15	18	
14	(0,2,1)	1	18	19	20	21	<u>– 17</u>		(3,2,1)	5	8	11	17	18	
15	(1.2.1)	4	7	13	16	18	$\frac{-18}{10}$		(0,3.1)	1	14	15	16	17	
16	(2,2,1)	3	9	12	15	18	-19	1	(1,3,1)	5	7	12	14	21	
17	(3,2,1)	5	8	11	17	18	$-20^{\circ}at$	ble	s (tør3PD)(2,4	4	9	11	14	20	_
18	(0,3.1)	1	14	15	16	17	-21		(3,3,1)	3	8	13	14	19	
19	(1,3,1)	5	7	12	14	21									
20	(2,3,1)	4	9	11	14	20									
21	(3,3,1)	3	8	13	14	19	_								

3-Tables for PG(2,8)

## Table(1)

i	Ni					Li				
1	(1,0,0)	2	10	18	26	34	42	50	58	66
2	(0,1,0)	1	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
3	(1,1.0)	3	10	19	28	37	46	55	64	73
4	(2,1,0)	9	10	25	27	36	45	54	63	72
5	(3,1,0)	8	10	24	33	35	44	53	62	71
6	(4,1,0)	7	10	23	32	41	43	52	61	70
7	(5,1,0)	6	10	22	31	40	49	51	60	69
8	(6,1,0)	5	10	21	30	39	48	57	59	68
9	(7,1,0)	4	10	20	29	38	47	56	65	67
10	(0,0,1)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
11	(1,0,1)	2	11	19	27	35	43	51	59	67
12	(2,0,1)	2	17	25	33	41	49	57	65	73
13	(3,0,1)	2	16	24	32	40	48	56	64	72
14	(4,0,1)	2	15	23	31	39	47	55	63	71
15	(5,0,1)	2	14	22	30	38	46	54	62	70

16	(6,0,1)	2	13	21	29	37	45	53	61	69
17	(7,0,1)	2	12	20	28	36	44	52	60	68
18	(0,1,1)	1	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25
19	(1,1,1)	3	11	18	32	38	45	57	60	71
20	(2,1,1)	9	17	18	31	37	44	56	59	70
21	(3,1,1)	8	16	18	30	36	43	55	65	69
22	(4,1,1)	7	15	18	29	35	49	54	64	68
23	(5,1,1)	6	14	18	28	41	48	53	63	67
24	(6.1,1)	5	13	18	27	40	47	52	62	73
25	(7,1,1)	4	12	18	33	39	46	51	61	72
26	(0.2.1)	1	66	67	68	69	70	71	72	73
27	(1,2,1)	4	11	24	30	37	49	52	63	66
28	(2.2.1)	3	17	23	29	36	48	51	62	66
29	(3.2.1)	9	16	22	28	35	47	57	61	66
30	(4.2.1)	8	15	21	27	41	46	56	60	66
31	(5.2.1)	7	14	20	33	40	45	55	59	66
32	(6.2.1)	6	13	19	32	39	44	54	65	66
33	(7.2.1)	5	12	25	31	38	43	53	64	66
34	(0.3.1)	1	58	59	60	61	62	63	64	65
35	(1.3.1)	5	11	22	29	41	44	55	58	72
36	(2,3,1)	4	17	21	28	40	43	54	58	71
37	(3.3.1)	3	16	20	27	39	49	53	58	70
38	(4.3.1)	9	15	19	33	38	48	52	58	69
39	(5,3,1)	8	14	25	32	37	47	51	58	68
40	(6.3.1)	7	13	24	31	36	46	57	58	67
41	(7.3.1)	6	12	23	30	35	45	56	58	73
42	(0.4.1)	1	50	51	52	53	54	55	56	57
43	(1.4.1)	6	11	21	33	36	47	50	64	70
44	(2,4,1)	5	17	20	32	35	46	50	63	69
45	(3,4,1)	4	16	19	31	41	45	50	62	68
46	(4,4,1)	3	15	25	30	40	44	50	61	67
47	(5,4,1)	9	14	24	29	39	43	50	60	73
48	(6,4,1)	8	13	23	28	38	49	50	59	72
49	(7,4,1)	7	12	22	27	37	48	50	65	71
50	(0,5,1)	1	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49
51	(1,5,1)	7	11	25	28	39	42	56	62	69
52	(2,5,1)	6	17	24	27	38	42	55	61	68
53	(3,5,1)	5	16	23	33	37	42	54	60	67
54	(4,5,1)	4	15	22	32	36	42	53	59	73
55	(5,5,1)	3	14	21	31	35	42	52	65	72
56	(6,5,1)	9	13	20	30	41	42	51	64	71
57	(7,5,1)	8	12	19	29	40	42	57	63	70
58	(0,6,1)	1	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41
59	(1,6,1)	8	11	20	31	34	48	54	61	73
60	(2,6,1)	7	17	19	30	34	47	53	60	72
61	(3,6,1)	6	16	25	29	34	46	52	59	71
62	(4,6,1)	5	15	24	28	34	45	51	65	70
63	(5,6,1)	4	14	23	27	34	44	57	64	69
64	(6,6,1)	3	13	22	33	34	43	56	63	68
65	(7,6,1)	9	12	21	32	34	49	55	62	67
66	(0,7,1)	1	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33
67	(1,7,1)	9	11	23	26	40	46	53	65	68
68	(2,7,1)	8	17	22	26	39	45	52	64	67

69	(3,7,1)	7	16	21	26	38	44	51	63	73
70	(4,7,1)	6	15	20	26	37	43	57	62	72
71	(5,7,1)	5	14	19	26	36	49	56	61	71
72	(6,7,1)	4	13	25	26	35	48	55	60	70
73	(7,7,1)	3	12	24	26	41	47	54	59	69

i	Ni					Li				
1	(1,0,0)	2	10	18	26	34	42	50	58	66
2	(0,1,0)	1	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
3	(1,1.0)	3	10	19	28	37	46	55	64	73
4	(2,1,0)	9	10	25	27	36	45	54	63	72
5	(3,1,0)	8	10	24	33	35	44	53	62	71
6	(4,1,0)	7	10	23	32	41	43	52	61	70
7	(5,1,0)	6	10	22	31	40	49	51	60	69
8	(6,1,0)	5	10	21	30	39	48	57	59	68
9	(7,1,0)	4	10	20	29	38	47	56	65	67
10	(0,0,1)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
11	(1,0,1)	2	11	19	27	35	43	51	59	67
12	(2,0,1)	2	17	25	33	41	49	57	65	73
13	(3,0,1)	2	16	24	32	40	48	56	64	72
14	(4,0,1)	2	15	23	31	39	47	55	63	71
15	(5,0,1)	2	14	22	30	38	46	54	62	70
16	(6,0,1)	2	13	21	29	37	45	53	61	69
17	(7,0,1)	2	12	20	28	36	44	52	60	68
18	(0,1,1)	1	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25
19	(1,1,1)	3	11	18	32	38	45	57	60	71
20	(2,1,1)	9	17	18	31	37	44	56	59	70
21	(3,1,1)	8	16	18	30	36	43	55	65	69
22	(4,1,1)	7	15	18	29	35	49	54	64	68
23	(5,1,1)	6	14	18	28	41	48	53	63	67
24	(6.1,1)	5	13	18	27	40	47	52	62	73
25	(7,1,1)	4	12	18	33	39	46	51	61	72
26	(0,2,1)	1	66	67	68	69	70	71	72	73
27	(1,2,1)	4	11	24	30	37	49	52	63	66
28	(2,2,1)	3	17	23	29	36	48	51	62	66
29	(3,2,1)	9	16	22	28	35	47	57	61	66
30	(4,2,1)	8	15	21	27	41	46	56	60	66
31	(5,2,1)	7	14	20	33	40	45	55	59	66
32	(6,2,1)	6	13	19	32	39	44	54	65	66
33	(7,2,1)	5	12	25	31	38	43	53	64	66
34	(0,3,1)	1	58	59	60	61	62	63	64	65
35	(1,3,1)	5	11	22	29	41	44	55	58	72
36	(2,3,1)	4	17	21	28	40	43	54	58	71
37	(3,3,1)	3	16	20	27	39	49	53	58	70
38	(4,3,1)	9	15	19	33	38	48	52	58	69
39	(5,3,1)	8	14	25	32	37	47	51	58	68
40	(6,3,1)	7	13	24	31	36	46	57	58	67
41	(7,3,1)	6	12	23	30	35	45	56	58	73
42	(0,4,1)	1	50	51	52	53	54	55	56	57
43	(1,4,1)	6	11	21	33	36	47	50	64	70
44	(2,4,1)	5	17	20	32	35	46	50	63	69

## Table(2)

45	(3,4,1)	4	16	19	31	41	45	50	62	68
46	(4,4,1)	3	15	25	30	40	44	50	61	67
47	(5,4,1)	9	14	24	29	39	43	50	60	73
48	(6,4,1)	8	13	23	28	38	49	50	59	72
49	(7,4,1)	7	12	22	27	37	48	50	65	71
50	(0,5,1)	1	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49
51	(1,5,1)	7	11	25	28	39	42	56	62	69
52	(2,5,1)	6	17	24	27	38	42	55	61	68
53	(3,5,1)	5	16	23	33	37	42	54	60	67
54	(4,5,1)	4	15	22	32	36	42	53	59	73
55	(5,5,1)	3	14	21	31	35	42	52	65	72
56	(6,5,1)	9	13	20	30	41	42	51	64	71
57	(7,5,1)	8	12	19	29	40	42	57	63	70
58	(0,6,1)	1	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41
59	(1,6,1)	8	11	20	31	34	48	54	61	73
60	(2,6,1)	7	17	19	30	34	47	53	60	72
61	(3,6,1)	6	16	25	29	34	46	52	59	71
62	(4,6,1)	5	15	24	28	34	45	51	65	70
63	(5,6,1)	4	14	23	27	34	44	57	64	69
64	(6,6,1)	3	13	22	33	34	43	56	63	68
65	(7,6,1)	9	12	21	32	34	49	55	62	67
66	(0,7,1)	1	26	27	28	29	30	31	32	33
67	(1,7,1)	9	11	23	26	40	46	53	65	68
68	(2,7,1)	8	17	22	26	39	45	52	64	67
69	(3,7,1)	7	16	21	26	38	44	51	63	73
70	(4,7,1)	6	15	20	26	37	43	57	62	72
71	(5,7,1)	5	14	19	26	36	49	56	61	71
72	(6,7,1)	4	13	25	26	35	48	55	60	70
73	(7,7,1)	3	12	24	26	41	47	54	59	69

#### **Conclusions:**

Form the above results, the complete (k,n)-arcs in PG(2,q) where q=2,4,8 as follows: Table(3)

#### Notation: -

A (l, t)- blocking set S in PG(2, q) is a set of L points such that every line of PG(2, q) intersects S in at least n points, and there is a line intersecting S in exactly n points. Note that a (k, r)-arc is the complement of a  $(q^2+q+1-k, q+1-r)$ -blocking set in a projective plane and conversely. A linear code C of length n and dimension k over GF(q) is a k-dimensional subspace of V (n,q). Such a code is called [n, k, d;p]- code if its minimum Hamming distance is d. There is exists a relationship between (k, r)-arc in PG(2,q) and [n,3,d]q codes ,given by the following theorem .

#### Theorem [6]

There exists a projective [k,3,d]q code if and only if there exists an (n, n-d)-arc in PG(2, q).

Table (3)T he relation between(k,n)- arcs and{1,t }-blocking set and linear codes in the projective planes over Galois field(q) for PG(2,q),q=2,,4,8

Р	Arcs	Blocking set	Linear codes
r	(7,3)–arc		$[7,3,4]_2$
2	(4,2)–arc	(3,1)–blocking set	$[4,3,2]_2$

4	(21,5)–arc		$[21,3,16]_4$
	(16,4)–arc	(5,1)–blocking set	[16,3,12] <sub>4</sub>
	(9,3)–arc	(12,2)–blocking set	[9,3,6]4
	(4,2)–arc	(17,3)–blocking set	$[4,3,2]_4$
	(73,9)–arc		[73,3,64] <sub>8</sub>
	(64,8)–arc	(9,1})–blocking set	[64,3,56] <sub>8</sub>
	(49,7)–arc	(24,2)–blocking set	$[49,3,42]_8$
0	(41,6)–arc	(32,3)–blocking set	[41,3,35] <sub>8</sub>
8	(32,5)–arc	(41,4)–blocking set	$[32,3,27]_8$
	(23,4)–arc	(50,5)–blocking set	$[23,3,19]_8$
	(14,3)–arc	(59,6)–blocking set	[14,3,11] <sub>8</sub>
	(7,2)–arc	(66,7)–blocking set	$[7,3,5]_8$

#### References

- [1] Hirschfeld, J.W.P. (1979). Projective Geometries over finite fields. Oxford Claren-don Press; New York: Oxford University Press.
- [2] Ibrahim, H.Sh. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), The Possibility of Applying Rumen Research at the Projective Plane PG (2,17), Modern Applied Science, 13 (8), ISSN 1913-1844 E-ISSN 1913-1852. <u>https://doi:10.5539/mas.v13n8p150</u>.
- [3] Ibrahim, H.Sh. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019). The optimal size of {b, t} -blocking set When t = 3, 4 By intersection the tangents in PG (2, q). Modern Applied Science, 13(7). ISSN: 1913-1844, E-ISSN:1913-1852. Published by Canadian Center of Science and Education. URL:https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v13n7p
- [4] Kasm, N.Y. & Hamad, A.Z. (2019). Applications of Algebraic Geometry in Cryptography. Modern Applied Science, 13(5). ISSN: 1913-1844, E-ISSN: 1913-1852. Published by Canadian Center of Science and Education. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/mas.v13n5p130</u>
- [5] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2018). A geometric Construction of Complete (k, r)-arc in PG (2, 7) and the Related Projective [n,3, d]7 Codes. AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, 12(1), 24-40, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. ISSN: 18154816, <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16543.25767</u>.
- [6] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2014). A Non PGL (3, q) k-arcs in the projective plane of order 37. Tikrit Journal of Pure Science, 19(1), 135-145. ISSN: 1813-1662, Tikrit University, Tikrit-Iraq, <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.23254.14401</u>
- [7] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2012). Existence of Minimal Blocking Sets of Size 31 in the Projec-tive Plane PG (2, 17). Journal of University of Babylon/Pure and Applied Sciences, 20(4), 1138-1146, ISSN: 19920652, 23128135, Babylon University, Babul-Iraq, https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.10146.94407
- [8] Yahya, N.Y.K. (2014). The Use of 7- Blocking Sets in Galois Geometries. Journal of University of Babylon/Pure and Applied Sciences, 22(4), 1229-1235. ISSN: 19920652, 23128135, Babylon University, Ba-bul-Iraq, https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16857.83044
- [9] Yahya, N.Y.K. & Salim, M.N. (2018). The Geometric Approach to Existences Linear [n, k, d]13 Code,International Journal of Enhanced Research in science, Technology and Engineering, ISSN: 2319-7463.https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.16018.96960
- [10]Yahya, N.Y.K. & Salim, M.N. (2019). New Geometric Methods for prove Existence three-Dimensional linear [97,3,87]11 and [143,3,131]13 codes, Journal of education and science,

28(1812-125X), 312-333. University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. https//:doi.org/ 10.13140/RG.2.2.29944.08965

- [11] Yahya, N.Y.K. & Salim, M.N. (2019). 17 New Existences linear [n, 3, d]19 Codes by Geometric Structure Method in PG (2, 19), AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, 13(1), ISSN 1815-4816, 61-86, University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.18697.29284.
- [12] Yahya, N.Y.K. & Hamad. A.Z. (2019). A geometric Construction of a (56, 2)-blocking set in PG (2, 19) and on three dimensional Linear [325,3,307]<sub>19</sub> Griesmer Code.University of Mosul, Mosul-Iraq. AL-Rafidain Journal of Computer Sciences and Mathematics, Volume 13, Issue 2, Pages 13-25 10.33899/csmj.2020.163511

10.55677/csinj.2020.105511

- [13]Sulaimaan,A.E.M. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Linear code originates from complete arc by Engineering Building methods, Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,NO.21,,1013-1020,https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99132.
- [14]Sulaimaan,A.E.M. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Linear code related Ω-Blocking sets, Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,2019, NO.21,1033-1040, https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99133
- [15]Sulaimaan,A.E.M. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), New Structural Engineering Construction methods by Remove q points in PG(2,q), Applied Mathematical Science, VOL.13,2019, NO.21, 1048 -1041 <u>https://doi.org/10.12988/ams.2019.99134</u>.
- [16]Faraj, M.G. & Kasm, N.Y. (2019), Reverse Building of complete (k,r)-arcs in PG(2,q), Open Access Library Journal, Volume 6, ISSUE 12,e5900.ISSN Online: 2333-9721,ISSN Print: 2333-9705.
   https://DOI: 10.4236/oalib.1105900
- [17]Hirschfeld, J.W.P. (1998). Projective Geometries over finite fields. Second edition, Oxford Claren- don Press; New York: Oxford University Press.
- [18] Abdullah, F.N. & Kasm, N.Y.(2020),Bounds on Minimum Distance for Linear Codes Over GF(q),Italian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, has been Accepted on February 5,2020, For Publication in Italian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics,n.44. In press.

[19] Abdulla, Ali Ahmed A., Yahya ,N. Y. K., (2020), Complete Arcs and Surfaces In Three Dimensional projective space PG (3,7), Open Access Library Journal, Volume 7, No.4, ISSN Online: 2333-9721, ISSN Print: 2333-9705, DOI: 10.4236/\*\*\*.2020. oalib.1106071, In press.

## On Generalized $(\alpha, \beta)$ Derivation on Prime Semirings

Maryam K. Rasheed <sup>1</sup>, Fatin A. Hameed <sup>2</sup>, Abdulrahman. H. Majeed <sup>3</sup> Mathematics Department, University of Baghdad <u>maryamkhdhayer@yahoo.com 1</u> Mathematics Department, University of Dyala <u>tonaabd90@gmail.com 2</u> Mathematics Department, University of Baghdad <u>ahmajeed6@yahoo.com 3</u> Mathematics Department, University of Baghdad

Abstract: in this paper we introduce generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation on Semirings and extend some results of Oznur Golbasi on prime Semiring. Also, we present some results of commutativity of prime Semiring with these derivation.

#### 1. Introduction

Semirings was first introduced in 1934 by vandiver [1]. In 1992 Golan discuss Semirings and their applications and mentioned about the derivation on Semirings [2]. Thereafter, many researchers interested in derivations on Semirings and generalized it in different directions.

Chandramouleeswarn and Thiruveni studied derivations on Semirings, and introduced the notion of  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivations on semirings, see [3] and [4].

A Semiring is a nonempty set S together with two binary operations (usually denoted by + and  $\cdot$ ) such that (S, +) is commutative Semigroup,  $(S, \cdot)$  Semigroup and addition distributive with respect to multiplication on S, we say S is commutative Semiring if and only if x.y = y.x for all  $x, y \in S$  [2]. A Semiring S is called additively cancellative if x + y = x + z implies y = z for all  $x, y, z \in S$ , and it is called multiplicatively cancellative if x.y = x.z implies y = z for all  $x, y, z \in S$ , so S is called cancellative Semiring if and only if it is both additively and multiplicatively cancellative [5]. Moreover, S is called prime if whenever x S y = 0 implies either x = 0 or y = 0 for all  $x, y \in S$ .

Let S be any Semiring, an additive map d:  $S \rightarrow S$  is called derivation on S if d (x y) = d (x) y + x d (y) holds for all x, y  $\in$  S [6]. Now, if we suppose that  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are two nonzero automorphisms on S and d is a derivation on S, then d is said to be ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation on S if d (x y) =  $\alpha(x) d(y) + d(x) \beta(y)$  holds for all x, y  $\in$  S [6].

In this paper we introduce the notion of generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation on Semirings and extend some important results of Oznur Golbasi [7] on prime Semirings and when these Semirings become commutative.

#### 2. Results

**Definition 2.1**: - Let S be a Semiring and  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  are two automorphisms on S. An additive map F: S  $\rightarrow$  S is called left generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation if there exist nonzero left ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation d: S  $\rightarrow$  S such that F(x y) =  $\alpha$  (x) F (y) + d (x)  $\beta$  (y) for all x, y  $\in$  S, and is called right generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation if there exist nonzero right ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation d: S $\rightarrow$ S such that F(x y) =  $\alpha$  (x) d (y) + F (x)  $\beta$  (y) for all x, y  $\in$  S.

If F is both left and right generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation then it is called generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation that is  $F(x y) = \alpha(x) F(y) + d(x) \beta(y) = \alpha(x) d(y) + F(x) \beta(y)$  for all x,  $y \in S$ .

**Lemma 2.2**: - Let S be a prime Semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. If x I y = 0 for all  $x, y \in S$ , then either x = 0 or y = 0.

**Proof:** - Let  $x \mid y = 0$  for all  $x, y \in S$ , hence  $x \mid S \mid y = 0$  for all  $x, y \in S$ .

By primness of S we have either x = 0 or I y = 0.

Now, either x = 0 or I S y = 0. By primness of S and since I  $\neq 0$ , we get y = 0.

**Theorem 2.3**: - Let S be a prime Semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that  $F : S \to S$  is a generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation on S with  $\beta(I) = I$ . If  $F(I) \subseteq Z(S)$  then S is commutative.

**Proof:** - Let  $F(I) \subseteq Z(S)$ , then  $F(u) \in Z(S)$  for all  $u \in I$ .

Replace u in above relation by s u, where  $s \in S$ , we get:

$$F(s u) = \alpha(s) F(u) + d(s) \beta(u) \in Z(S).$$

Then,

$$[\alpha (s) F (u) + d (s) \beta (u), \alpha (s)] = 0.$$
  
$$[\alpha (s) F (u), \alpha (s)] + [d (s) \beta (u), \alpha (s)] = 0.$$
  
$$\alpha (s)[F (u), \alpha (s)] + [\alpha (s), \alpha (s)]F (u) + d (s)[\beta (u), \alpha (s)] + [d (s), \alpha (s)] \beta (u) = 0$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} d(s) [\beta(u), \alpha(s)] + [d(s), \alpha(s)] \beta(u) &= 0 \\ d(s) \beta(u) \alpha(s) - d(s) \alpha(s) \beta(u) + d(s) \alpha(s) \beta(u) - \alpha(s) d(s) \beta(u) &= 0 \\ d(s) \beta(u) \alpha(s) - \alpha(s) d(s) \beta(u) &= 0 & \dots (1) \end{aligned}$$

Replace u by u v in (1), where  $v \in I$ . We obtain,

$$d(s) \beta(u v) \alpha(s) - \alpha(s) d(s) \beta(u v) = 0$$
  
$$d(s) \beta(u) \beta(v) \alpha(s) - \alpha(s) d(s) \beta(u) \beta(v) = 0 \qquad \dots (2)$$

By using (1) we get,

 $d(s) \beta(u) \beta(v) \alpha(s) - d(s) \beta(u) \alpha(s) \beta(v) = 0.$ 

Then, for all  $u \in I$  implies,

$$d(s) \beta(u) [\beta(v), \alpha(s)] = 0$$
  
d(s) I [\beta(v), \alpha(s)] = 0.

By Lemma 2.2 and since  $d \neq 0$  then for all  $v \in I$  we get,

$$[\beta(\mathbf{v}), \alpha(\mathbf{s})] = 0.$$

$$[I, \alpha(s)] = 0.$$

Then,  $I \subseteq Z(S)$ , by [8, Lemma 2.22] we get S is commutative.

**Lemma2.4**: - Let S be a prime semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that  $F: S \rightarrow S$  is a nonzero generalized ( $\alpha, \beta$ ) derivation and let  $x \in S$ :

- 1- If x. F (u) = 0 for all  $u \in I$  then x = 0.
- 2- If  $F(u) \cdot x = 0$  for all  $u \in I$  then x = 0.

**Proof:** 1- Let x. F(u) = 0 for all  $u \in I$ .

Replace u in above equation by s u, where  $s \in S$ . Then for all  $s \in S$  we have,

$$x. F(s u) = 0.$$

$$x.(\alpha(s) d(u) + F(s) \beta(u)) = x.\alpha(s) d(u) + x.F(s) \beta(u) = 0$$

Hence,

$$x. \alpha (s) d (u) = 0$$
  
 $\alpha^{-1}(x) I \alpha^{-1}(d(S)) = 0.$ 

By Lemma 2.2 and since  $d \neq 0$  we have,  $\alpha^{-1}(x) = 0$ . Then, x = 0.

Similarly we can prove (2).

**Remark 2.5**: - Let S be a semiring and  $\alpha$  is an automorphism on S. If  $\alpha = 0$  on I then  $\alpha = 0$  on S

**Proof: -** Obvious.

**Lemma 2.6**: - Let S be a prime semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that  $F: S \rightarrow S$  is a nonzero generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation with nonzero automorphisms  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . If F = 0 on I then d = 0 on S.

**Proof:** - Let F(u) = 0 for all  $u \in I$ . Take  $s \in S$  then,

$$F(u s) = \alpha(u) d(s) + F(u) \beta(s) = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\alpha (u) d (s) = 0.$$

By [8, Lemma 2.27] and since  $\alpha \neq 0$  then d = 0 on S.

**Lemma 2.7**: - Let S be a semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that  $F: S \to S$  is a generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation with nonzero automorphisms  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . If F = 0 on I then F = 0 on S.

**Proof:** - Let F(u) = 0 for all  $u \in I$ . Take  $s \in S$  then,

$$F(u s) = \alpha(u) F(s) + d(u) \beta(s) = 0.$$

By Lemma 2.6 we get  $\alpha$  (u) F (s) = 0.

Now, replace u in above equation by u r, where  $r \in S$  we get,

$$\alpha (u r) F (s) = \alpha (u) \alpha (r) F (s) = 0.$$

Since  $\alpha$  is automorphism (onto) Hence,  $\alpha$  (u) S F (s) = 0.

By primness and since  $\alpha \neq 0$  on S then F = 0 on S.

**Lemma 2.8**: - Let S be a prime semiring and F: S  $\rightarrow$  S be a generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation. Suppose that I is an ideal of S. If  $0 \neq r \in S$  with  $r \cdot F(x) = 0$  for all  $x \in S$ , then F = 0 on S.

**Proof:** - Let  $r \cdot F(x) = 0$  for all  $x \in S$ . Put x = x y, where  $y \in I$  we get,

 $r \cdot F(x y) = 0$ 

$$r . \alpha (x) d (y) + r . F (x) \beta (y) = 0$$

Then,

 $r \cdot \alpha (x) d (y) = 0$  $r \cdot S d (y) = 0.$ 

So, by primness of S and since  $r \neq 0$  hence, d(y) = 0 for all  $y \in I$ .

That means, d = 0 on I. So,

$$F(y x) = \alpha(y) F(x) + d(y) \beta(x) = \alpha(y) F(x).$$

Now, r. F (y x) = r  $\alpha$  (y) F (x) Implies:

 $r. \alpha (y) F (x) = 0$ r. S F (x) = 0.

By primness of S and since  $r \neq 0$  we get, F = 0 on S.

**Theorem 2.9**: - Let S be a prime semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that F:  $S \rightarrow S$  is a nonzero generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation such that dF = F d and  $\alpha F = F \alpha$ . If [F(u), F(v)] = 0 for all  $u, v \in I$ , then S is commutative.

Proof: - Let [F(u), F(v)] = 0 for all  $u, v \in I$ .

Replace v in above equation by v s, where  $s \in S$  we get,

$$[F(u), F(v s)] = [F(u), \alpha(v) d(s) + F(v) \beta(s)] = 0$$

$$[F(u), \alpha(v) d(s)] + [F(u), F(v) \beta(s)] = 0$$

 $\alpha (v) [F (u), d (s)] + [F (u), \alpha (v)] d (s) + F (v) [F (u), \beta (s)] + [F (u), F (v)] \beta (s) = 0$ 

Hence for all  $u, v \in I$  we have,

$$F(v)[F(u),\beta(s)] = 0$$

By Lemma 2.8 and since  $F \neq 0$  on I (Lemma 2.7). So, for all  $u \in I$  implies,

$$[F(u),\beta(s)] = 0$$

Therefore, F (I)  $\subseteq$  Z (S), and by Theorem 2.3 we have S is commutative.

**Theorem 2.10**: - Let S be a cancellative prime semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that F:  $S \rightarrow S$  is a generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation with nonzero automorphisms  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . If F acts as homomorphism on S then d = 0 on S.

**Proof:** - Since F acts as homomorphism on S then for all  $x, y \in S$ ,

$$F(x y) = F(x) F(y)$$
 ... (1)

Since F is generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation then for all x, y  $\in$  S,

$$F(x y) = \alpha (x) F (y) + d (x) \beta (y) \qquad \dots (2)$$

From (1) and (2) we get,

$$F(x) F(y) = \alpha (x) F (y) + d (x) \beta (y) ... (3)$$

Replace y by y s in (3), where  $s \in S$  we obtain,

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha (x) F (y s) + d (x) \beta (y s) &= F(x) F (y s). \\ \alpha (x) F (y) F (s) + d (x) \beta (y) \beta (s) &= F(x) F (y) F (s). \\ &= F(x y) F(s) \\ &= \alpha (x) F (y) F (s) + d (x) \beta (y) F (s) \end{aligned}$$

Since S is cancellative we get,  $\beta(s) = F(s)$  for all  $s \in S$ .

Now, replace s by r s in the above equation, where  $r \in S$ , w obtain,

$$F(r s) = \beta (r s)$$
  

$$\alpha (r) d (s) + F(r) \beta (s) = \beta (r) \beta (s)$$
  

$$= F(r) \beta (s).$$

Since S is cancellative we get,  $\alpha$  (r) d (s) = 0 for all r, s  $\in$  S.

By [8, Lemma 2.27] and Since  $\alpha \neq 0$  on S then d = 0 on S.

**Theorem 2.11**: - Let S be a cancellative prime semiring and I nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that F: S $\rightarrow$ S is a generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation with nonzero automorphisms  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  such that d F = F d and  $\alpha$  F = F  $\alpha$ . If F acts as anti-homomorphism on S then d = 0 on S.

Proof: - Since F acts as homomorphism on S then for all  $x, y \in S$ ,

$$F(x y) = F(y) F(x)$$
 ... (1)

Since F is generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation then,

$$F(x y) = \alpha (x) F (y) + d (x) \beta (y)$$
 ... (2)

From (1) and (2) we get,

$$F(y) F(x) = \alpha (x) F (y) + d (x) \beta (y) ... (3)$$

Replace y by y s in (3), where  $s \in S$ , we obtain

$$\begin{array}{l} \alpha \,(x) \, F \,(y \, s) \,+\, d \,(x) \, \beta \,(y \, s) \,=\, F(x) \, F \,(y \, s). \\ \\ \alpha \,(x) \, F \,(s) \, F \,(y) \,+\, d \,(x) \, \beta \,(y) \, \beta \,(s) \,=\, F(s) \, F \,(y) \, F \,(x). \\ \\ \\ =\, F \,(s) \, F(x \, y) \\ \\ \\ =\, F \,(s) \, \alpha \,(x) \, F \,(y) \,+\, F \,(s) \, d \,(x) \, \beta \,(y) \end{array}$$

Since  $\alpha F = F \alpha$  and S is cancellative we have,

$$d(x) \beta(y) \beta(s) = F(s) d(x) \beta(y)$$

Now, since dF = F d and S is cancellative we have,

$$\beta$$
 (s) = F (s) for all s  $\in$  S.

Replace s by r s in the above equation, where  $r \in S$ , we get

$$F(r s) = \beta (r s)$$
  

$$\alpha (r)d (s) + F(r)\beta (s) = \beta (r)\beta (s)$$
  

$$= F(r) \beta (s)$$

Since S cancellative then,  $\alpha(r) d(s) = 0$  for all  $r, s \in S$ .

By [8, Lemma 2.27] and Since  $\alpha \neq 0$  on S then d = 0 on S.

**Theorem 2.12**: - Let S be a cancellative prime semiring and I be a nonzero ideal of S. Suppose that  $F: S \rightarrow S$  is a generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation with nonzero automorphisms  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . If F acts as homomorphism on I then d = 0 on S.

Proof: - Since F acts as homomorphism on I. Then for all  $u, v \in I$ ,

$$F(u v) = F(u)F(v) \qquad \dots (1)$$

Since F is generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivation then,

$$F(u v) = \alpha(u) F(v) + d(u) \beta(v) \qquad \dots (2)$$

From (1) and (2) we get,

$$F(u) F(v) = \alpha(u) F(v) + d(u) \beta(v)$$
 ... (3)

Replace v by v s in (3), where  $s \in S$ , we obtain

$$\begin{array}{l} \alpha \left( u \right) F \left( v \, s \right) \, + \, d \left( u \right) \beta \left( v \, s \right) \, = \, F \left( u \right) F \left( v \, s \right). \\ \\ \alpha \left( u \right) F \left( v \right) F \left( s \right) \, + \, d \left( u \right) \beta \left( v \right) \beta \left( s \right) \, = \, F \left( u \right) F \left( v \right) F \left( s \right) \\ \\ \\ = \, F \left( u \, v \right) F (s) \\ \\ \\ \\ = \, \alpha \left( u \right) F \left( v \right) F \left( s \right) \, + \, d \left( u \right) \beta \left( v \right) F \left( s \right). \end{array}$$

Since S is cancellative we have,  $\beta(s) = F(s)$  for all  $s \in S$ .

Now, replace s by r s in the above equation, where  $r \in S$  we get,

$$F(r s) = \beta (r s)$$
  

$$\alpha (r) d (s) + F(r) \beta (s) = \beta (r) \beta (s)$$
  

$$= F(r)\beta (s).$$

Since S is cancellative we get,  $\alpha(r) d(s) = 0$  for all r,  $s \in S$ .

By [8, Lemma 2.27] and Since  $\alpha \neq 0$  on S then d = 0 on S.

**Notation**: - Throughout the following Theorem we use alpha-beta commutator such that  $[x, y]_{\alpha,\beta} = \alpha(x) y - y \beta(x)$ .

**Theorem 2.13:** - Let S be a prime semiring, I nonzero ideal of S and F:  $S \rightarrow S$  generalized  $(\alpha, \beta)$  derivation. If  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  commute with d and F (u v) = F (v u) for all  $u, v \in I$ , then S is commutative.

**Proof:** - Let  $u, v \in I$  such that [u, v] is constant element say c with F(c) = 0 and  $d(c) \neq 0$ .

Let  $z \in I$  hence,

$$F(c z) = \alpha (c) d (z) + F (c) \beta (z)$$
  
=  $\alpha (z)F (c) + d (z)\beta (c) = F (z c)$ 

That gives,  $\alpha$  (c) d (z) = d (z)  $\beta$  (c) for all z  $\in$  I.

Since  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are commute with d then for all  $z \in I$  yields that,

$$[d(z), c]_{\alpha, \beta} = 0$$

Replace z in the above equation by w z, where  $w \in I$  we get,

$$[d(w z), c]_{\alpha,\beta} = [d(w)\alpha(z) + \beta(w)d(z), c]_{\alpha,\beta}$$
$$= [d(w)\alpha(z), c]_{\alpha,\beta} + [\beta(w)d(z), c]_{\alpha,\beta}$$
$$= 0$$

Now, by add and subtract the terms:  $d(w) \alpha(z) \alpha(c)$  and  $\beta(w) \beta(c) d(z)$  we obtain,

 $\begin{aligned} d (w) \alpha (z) \alpha (c) &- d (w) \alpha (z) \alpha (c) + d (w) \alpha (z) \alpha (c) - d (w) \beta (c) \alpha (z) + d (w) \alpha (c) \alpha (z) - \\ \beta (c) d (w) \alpha (z) + \beta (w) d (z) \alpha (c) - \beta (w) \beta (c) d (z) + \beta (w) \beta (c) d (z) - \beta (w) \beta (c) d (z) + \\ \beta (w) \alpha (c) d (z) - \beta (c) \beta (w) d (z) = 0. \end{aligned}$ 

Hence for all w,  $z \in I$ ,

$$d(w) \alpha [z, c] + [c, d(wz)]_{\alpha,\beta} + \beta(w) [d(z), c]_{\alpha,\beta} + \beta[w, c] d(z) = d(w) \alpha [z, c] + \beta[w, c] d(z) = 0.$$

Replace z in above equation by c then for all  $w \in I$  we get,

$$\beta$$
 [w, c] d (z) = 0  
[w, c]  $\beta^{-1}$  (d(c)) = 0

Replace w in above equation by s w, where  $s \in S$  we obtain,

$$\beta [s w, c] d (z) = 0.$$

Thus,  $[s, c] \le \beta^{-1} (d(c)) = 0$  for all  $w \in I$ . Now, by lemma 2.2 and since  $d(c) \neq 0$  we get,

$$[s, c] = 0$$
 for all  $s \in S$ 

Then, I is commutative and by [8, Lemma 2.22] implies S is commutative.

#### References

- [1] Vandiver H. S. **1934.** Note on a simple type of algebra in which the cancellation law of addition does not hold, bull. Amer. Math. Soc., Vol.40, 916- 920.
- [2] Jonathan S. Golan. 1992. Semirings and their applications, University of Haifa, Haifa, Palestine.
- [3] Chandramouleeswarn M., Thiruveni V. **2010**. On derivation of semiring, Advances in Algebra, Vol.3, No.1: 123-131.
- [4] Chandramouleeswarn M. and Thiruveni V. 2014. (α, β) Derivation on Semirings, International J. of Math. Sci. and Eng. Applications, Vol. 8 No. : 219-224.
- [5] R. El Bashir, J. Hurt, A. and T. Kepkai, 2001, Simple Commutative Semirings, Journal of Algebra Vol.236, No.1, 277-306.
- [6] Stoyan Dimitrov. **2017**. Derivations on Semirings, Technical University of Sofia, department of applied mathematics and informatics.
- [7] Öznur Gölbasi. **2007**. Notes on generalized ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ) derivations in prime rings, Miskolc Mathematical Notes, 8: No.1, 31- 41.
- [8] Maryam K. Rasheed, Abdulrahman H. Majeed, 2019, Iraqi Journal of Science, Vol.60, and No.5:1154-1160.

## The *M*- Projective Tensor of *G*<sub>1</sub>-Manifold

## Nawaf Jaber Mohammed<sup>1</sup>

1. Department of Mathematics, Ministry of Education, Basra Education Directorate, Basra, Iraq.

Abstract. This article is devoted to the study of the geometric properties of curvature tensor on certain classes of almost Hermitian manifolds. In particular, we studied the platitude property of M-projective on  $G_1$ -manifold and found a link between  $G_1$ -manifold,  $\mathcal{H}$ -manifold and  $\mathcal{NK}$ -manifold.

#### **1. Introduction**

Almost Hermition manifold classifies it as one of the most important topics in differential geometry, which made it one of the most prominent topics addressed by the researchers. This subject is categorized into different composites in an attempt to assign its specifications and characteristics accurately. The first practical study was conducted by Koto 1960 [17]. In 1980 [6], a new study on almost hermit collection types was conducted by Gray and Hervella. In-depth studies have been conducted of these types. In 2010[2], Abood and Mohammed proved that if M is a locally compliant multiple Kahler of pointwise holomorphic sectional curvature and flat projective compliance plan with J-invariant Richi tensor, then M is a manifold Einstein. In 2016 [1], Abood and Abd Ali are given application about the projective-recurrent of Viasman Gray manifold. In 2017 [8], Ignatochkina and Abood investigated the geometrical meaning of flat conharmonicly tensor of VaismanGray manifold. In 2018 [18], Mohammed and Abood are found the necessary and adequate conditions that a projective tensor is vanishes. The  $G_1$ - manifold that will be addressed in this study is one of the sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifold. In 1976 [7], Hervella and Vidal studied the geometry of  $G_1$ -manifold. The aforementioned manifold designated by  $W_1 \oplus W_3 \oplus W_4$ , where  $W_1, W_3$  and  $W_4$  respectively denote the nearly Kahler manifold ( $\mathcal{NK}$ -manifold), the simi Hermitian manifold (SH-manifold) and locally Kahler manifold (LCK-manifold). In 2000 [13], Kirichenko and Tretiakova proved that the  $G_1$ -manifold of zero constant type coincides with the class of 6dimensional  $G_1$ -manifold of nonintegrable structure. By using the adjoined  $G_2$ -structure space method, we were able to study the geometry properties of one types of AH- manifold called M-Projective tensor. Before us, the researchers interested in studying this type. In 1971[22], Pokhariyal and Mishra have interested in the study of Riemannian manifold and they also have identified a tensor of type (4.0) as *M*-projective. In 1975 and 1986 [19] [20], Ojha identified the properties of *M*-projective tensor in Sasakian and Kahler manifolds. In 2014[4], De and Mallick In are studied *M*-projective curvature tensor on an N(k)-quasi-Einstein manifold. In 2015[5], Devi and Singh are proved that globally  $\phi$ -M- projectively symmetric Kenmotsu manifold to be an Einstein manifold. In 2016 [9], Jaiswal and Yadav are found the adequate condition for generalized Mprojective  $\phi$ -recurrent trans- Sasakian manifold to be an Einstein.

#### 2. Preliminaries

Suppose that X(M) is module of vector field.  $C^{\infty}(M)$  be the set of smooth function. An almost Hermition manifold (*AH*-manifold) is the treble  $\{M, J, g = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle\}$ , where *M* is even dimensional greater than 1; smooth manifold; *J* is an endomorphism of  $T_p(M)$  where  $(J_p)^2 = -id$ , and  $g = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is Riemann metric on *M* such that  $\langle JX, JY \rangle = \langle X, Y \rangle$ ;  $X, Y \in X(M)$  [16]. The  $T_p(M)$  at the point  $p \in M$  has a basis defined by  $\{e_1, \dots, e_n, Je_1, \dots, Je_n\}$  and is called a real adept basis or *RA*-basis. The image of *RA*-basis is construct a new basises  $\{\varepsilon_1, \dots, \varepsilon_2, \overline{\varepsilon_1}, \dots, \overline{\varepsilon_n}\}$  on  $T_p^c(M)$  which

called A- basis[22]. We will use the indexes as following i, j, k, l in the range 1, 2, ..., 2n and the indices a, b, c, d, e, f in the range 1, 2, ..., n and  $\hat{a} = a + n$ 

The matrices of the J, g in a frame are given as follows[12]:

$$(J_j^i) = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{-1}I_n & 0\\ 0 & -\sqrt{-1}I_n \end{pmatrix}, (g_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n\\ I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

**Definition 2.1 [3].** According to Banaru's classification, an AH – manifold in the adjoined G-structure space, is called:

- 1)  $G_1$ -manifold if  $B^{abc} = B^{[bac]}$ .
- 2) Nearly Kahler manifold ( $\mathcal{NK}$  manifold) if  $B^{abc} = -B^{bac}$  and  $B^{ab}_{\ c} = 0$ ;
- 3) Hermition manifold ( $\mathcal{H}$ -manifold) if  $B^{abc} = 0$ ;

4) quasi manifold (*QK*-manifold) if  $B^{ab}_{\ c} = 0$ ,

Where  $B^{abc} = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} J^a_{[\hat{b},\hat{c}]}$   $B^{ab}_{\ c} = -\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} J^a_{\hat{b},c}$  and  $X, Y \in X(M)$  and the bracket [] denote to the Lie bracket.

**Theorem2.1** [14]: The family of the equations of  $G_1$ - manifold in the a djoined G- structure space, given by the following forms:

1) 
$$d\omega^{a} = \omega_{b}^{a} \Lambda \omega^{b} + B_{c}^{ab} \omega^{c} \Lambda \omega_{b} + B_{abc}^{abc} \omega_{b} \Lambda \omega_{c};$$
  
2) 
$$d\omega_{a} = -\omega_{a}^{b} \Lambda \omega_{b} + B_{ab}^{\ c} \omega_{c} \Lambda \omega^{b} + B_{abc} \omega^{b} \Lambda \omega^{c};$$
  
3) 
$$d\omega_{b}^{a} = \omega_{c}^{a} \Lambda \omega_{b}^{c} + (2B^{adh} B_{hbc} + A_{bc}^{ad}) \omega^{c} \Lambda \omega_{d} (B_{[c}^{ah} B_{d]bh} + A_{bcd}^{ad}) \omega^{c} \Lambda \omega^{d} + (-B_{bh}^{\ [c} B^{d]ah} + A_{b}^{acd}) \omega_{c} \Lambda \omega_{d},$$

where  $\{\omega^i\}$  and  $\{\omega_j^i\}$  are the components of the differential form and the components of the Riemannian metric *g* respectively,  $\{A_{bc}^{ad}\}$  the components of holomorphic sectional tensor,  $\{A_{bcd}^{a}, A_{b}^{acd}\}$  are some tensors on adjoined *G*-structure space.

**Definition 2.2[15]:** A Riemannian curvature tensor  $\Re$  is a tensor of type (4,0)  $\Re$ :  $T_p(M) \times T_p(M) \times T_p(M) \to \mathbb{R}$  which is defined as:  $\Re(X, Y, Z, W) = g(\Re(Z, W)Y, X)$ , where  $\Re(X, Y)Z = ([\nabla_X, \nabla_Y] - \nabla_{[X,Y]})Z$ ;  $X, Y, Z, W \in T_p(M)$  and satisfies the next properties:

 $1)\Re(X,Y,Z,W) = -\Re(Y,X,Z,W);$ 

 $2)\Re(X,Y,Z,W) = -\Re(X,Y,W,Z);$ 

 $3)\Re(X,Y,Z,W) + \Re(X,Z,W,Y) + \Re(X,W,Y,Z) = 0;$ 

$$4)\Re(X,Y,Z,W) = \Re(Z,W,X,Y).$$

The following theorem establishes the expression for the components of the Riemannian tensor of  $G_1$ - manifold in the adjoined G- structure space.

**Theorem 2.2 [14]:** The components of the Riemannian curvature tensor of  $G_1$ - manifold are given by the following forms:

- 1)  $\Re_{abcd} = 2(B_{ab[cd]} + B^{h}_{ab}B_{hcd});$
- 2)  $\Re_{\hat{a}bcd} = 2A^a_{bcd};$

 $3)\Re_{\hat{a}\hat{b}cd} = -2(B^{abh}B_{hcd} + B^{ab}_{[cd]});$ 

4)  $\Re_{\hat{a}bc\hat{d}} = A^{ad}_{bc} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B^{ah}_{\ c}B^{\ d}_{hb},$ 

The remaining components of  $\Re$  are conjugate or vanishing.

**Definition 2.3 [23].** A Richi tensor is a tensor (2, 0) which is defined as  $r_{ij=}R_{ijk}^k = g^{kl}R_{kijl}$ .

**Definition 3.2.8** [11]: AH- manifold has J-invariant Richi tensor when  $J \circ r = r \circ J$ .

**Lemma 3.2.9** [11]: The necessary and adequate conditions *AH*-manifold has J-invariant Richi tensor in the adjoined *G*-structure space is  $r_b^{\hat{a}} = 0$ .

**Theorem 2.3[10]** The components of the Richi tensor of  $G_1$ - manifold are given by the following forms:

i) 
$$r_{ab} = 4A^{c}_{(ab)c}$$
;  
ii)  $r_{a\hat{b}} = -3B^{hbc}B_{cah} - 2B^{bc}_{[ab]} - A^{bc}_{ca} + B^{hb}_{a}B^{c}_{ch}$ ,

#### 3. The main results.

The main idea in this paper, is to study the various geometric properties of the *M*-projective of  $G_1$ - manifold. The necessary and adequate condition for the  $G_1$ -manifold to be an Einstein manifold have been found.

**Definition 3.1[22]** The M-projective tensor is a tensor field of type (4.0), which is define onRiemann manifold by the form:

$$P^*(X,Y)Z = \Re(X,Y)Z - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}(S(Y,Z)X - S(X,Z)Y + g(Y,Z)QX - g(X,Z)QY)),$$

where  $\Re$  is Riemannian curvature tensor, *S* is Richi tensor, *Q* is Richi operator and *g* is Riemannian metric.

Now, we can redefine the M-projective tensor on AH- manifold by the components form as follows:

$$Mp_{ijkl} = \Re_{ijkl} - \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_{jk}g_{il} - r_{ik}g_{jl} + r_{il}g_{jk} - r_{jl}g_{ik}).$$

(3.1)

Let us start with the following theorem, which determined the components of the M-projective of  $G_1$ - manifold.

**Theorem 3.1:** The components of the *M*-projective tensor of  $G_1$ - manifold are given by the following forms:

1) 
$$Mp_{abcd} = 2(B_{ab[cd]} + B^{h}_{ab}B_{hcd});$$
  
2)  $Mp_{\hat{a}bcd} = 2A^{a}_{bcd} - \frac{1}{n-1}(2A^{d}_{(bc)d}\delta^{a}_{d} - 2A^{h}_{(bd)h}\delta^{a}_{c});$   
2)  $M_{abcd} = 2A^{a}_{bcd} - \frac{1}{n-1}(2A^{d}_{(bc)d}\delta^{a}_{d} - 2A^{h}_{(bd)h}\delta^{a}_{c});$ 

3) 
$$Mp_{\hat{a}\hat{b}cd} = -2(B^{abh}\hat{A}_{hcd} + B^{ab}_{[cd]}) - \frac{1}{2(n-1)}(r_c^b\delta_d^a - r_c^a\delta_d^b + r_d^a\delta_c^b - r_d^b\delta_c^a);$$

4) 
$$Mp_{\hat{a}bc\hat{d}} = A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B_{c}^{ah}B_{hb}^{d} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)}(r_{b}^{d}\delta_{c}^{a} + r_{c}^{a}\ddot{a}_{b}^{d}),$$

#### **Proof:**

1) put i = a, j = b, k = c and l = d, we get

$$Mp_{abcd} = \Re_{abcd} - \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_{bc}g_{ad} - r_{ac}g_{bd} + r_{ad}g_{bc} - r_{bd}g_{ac})$$

Making use of the equation (3.1), we obtain

$$Mp_{abcd} = 2(B_{ab[cd]} + B^h_{ab}B_{hcd})$$

2) put  $i = \hat{a}$ , j = b, k = c and l = d, we have

$$Mp_{\hat{a}bcd} = \Re_{\hat{a}bcd} - \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_{bc}g_{\hat{a}d} - r_{\hat{a}c}g_{bd} + r_{\hat{a}d}g_{bc} - r_{bd}g_{\hat{a}c})$$
$$Mp_{\hat{a}bcd} = 2A^{a}_{bcd} - \frac{1}{n-1} (2A^{d}_{(bc)d}\delta^{a}_{d} - 2A^{h}_{(bd)h}\delta^{a}_{c})$$

3) put  $i = \hat{a}$ ,  $j = \hat{b}$ , k = c and l = d, we obtain

$$Mp_{\hat{a}\hat{b}cd} = \Re_{\hat{a}\hat{b}cd} - \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_{\hat{b}c}g_{\hat{a}d} - r_{\hat{a}c}g_{\hat{b}d} + r_{\hat{a}d}g_{\hat{b}c} - r_{\hat{b}d}g_{\hat{a}c})$$
$$Mp_{\hat{a}\hat{b}cd} = -2 (B^{abh}B_{hcd} + B^{ab}_{[cd]}) - \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_c^b \delta^a_d - r_c^a \delta^b_d + r^a_d \delta^b_c - r_b^a \delta^b_c)$$

 $r_d^b \delta_c^a$ 

4) put  $i = \hat{a}$ , j = b, k = c and  $l = \hat{d}$ , it follows that

$$\begin{split} Mp_{\hat{a}bc\hat{d}} &= \Re_{\hat{a}bc\hat{d}} - \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_{bc} g_{\hat{a}\hat{d}} - r_{\hat{a}c} g_{b\hat{d}} + r_{\hat{a}\hat{d}} g_{bc} - r_{b\hat{d}} g_{\hat{a}c}) \\ Mp_{\hat{a}bc\hat{d}} &= A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh} B_{hbc} - B_{c}^{ah} B_{hb}^{d} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_{b}^{d} \delta_{c}^{a} + r_{c}^{a} \delta_{b}^{d}). \end{split}$$

In the following theorem, we found the relationship between  $G_1$ -manifold and QK-manifold.

**Theorem 3.2:** Let M be  $G_1$ - manifold with vanishing M- projective tensor, then M is QKmanifold if M has vanishing Richi tensor.

#### **Proof:**

Suppose that M is  $G_1$ - manifold with vanishing M- projective curvature tensor.

Taking into account the Theorem 3.2, we get

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B_{c}^{ah}B_{hb}^{\ d} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} \left( r_{b}^{d}\delta_{c}^{a} + r_{c}^{a}\delta_{b}^{d} \right) = 0$$

Since the Richi tensor is vanishing, then we obtain

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B_{c}^{ah}B_{hb}^{\ d} = 0$$

From the symmetrizing and anti-symmetrizing the indices (b, c), we obtain

$$-B^{ah}_{\ c}B^{\ d}_{hb} = 0$$

Contracting by the indices (c, d) and (a, b), consequently we get

$$B^{ah}_{\ c}B^{\ c}_{ha} = 0$$
, which implies that  $B^{ah}_{\ c}\overline{B}^{ah}_{\ c} = 0 \Leftrightarrow \sum_{a,h,d} |B^{ah}_{\ c}|^2 = 0 \Leftrightarrow B^{ah}_{\ c} = 0$ 

Therefore, by the Banaru's classification, we get that M is QK-manifold.  $\Box$ 

The next theorem gives the necessary and adequate condition for the  $G_1$ - manifold to be the holomorphic sectional tensor identical equal to zero.

**Theorem 3.3:** Suppose that M is a  $G_1$ - manifold with vanishing M-projective curvature tensor, then M has vanishing holomorphic sectional tensor if, and only if, M has vanishing Richi curvature tensor.

#### **Proof:**

Suppose that M is  $G_1$ - manifold with vanishing M- projective.

Taking into account Theorem 3.1, we obtain

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B_{c}^{ah}B_{hb}^{\ d} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} \left( r_{b}^{d}\delta_{c}^{a} + r_{c}^{a}\delta_{b}^{d} \right) = 0$$
(3.2)

Suppose that M has vanishing holomorphic sectional curvature tensor, consequently we have

$$B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B^{ah}_{\ c}B^{\ d}_{hb} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} \left( r^d_b \delta^a_c + r^a_c \delta^d_b \right) = 0$$
(3.3)

Symmetrizing and anti-symmetrizing by the indices (h, b), it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2(n-1)} \left( r_b^d \delta_c^a + r_c^a \delta_b^d \right) = 0 \tag{3.4}$$

Contracting by the indices (c, d), so the equation (3.4) becomes

$$\frac{1}{(n-1)}r_b^a = 0$$

Hence, the Richi curvature tensor vanishes.

Conversely, Let the Richi curvature tensor vanishes

By using the equation (3.2), we obtain

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B_{c}^{ah}B_{hb}^{\ d} = 0$$

Symmetrizing and anti-symmetrizing by the indices (h, b), immediately we have

$$A_{bc}^{ad}=0.$$

Therefore, *M* has vanishing holomorphic sectional curvature tensor.

**Definition 3.2 [21]:** An Riemannian manifold is called an Einstein manifold if Richi tensor meets the equation  $r_{ij} = eg_{ij}$ ,

where e is cosmological constant.

The necessary and adequate condition for the  $G_1$ - manifold to be an Einstein manifold is given in the next theorem.

**Theorem 3.4:** If *M* is  $G_1$ - manifold with vanishing *M*- projective tensor and *J*- invariant Richi tensor, then The necessary and adequate condition for the *M* to be an Einstein manifold *M* is  $A_{ac}^{ad} = \frac{-e}{(n-1)} \delta_c^d$ , where *e* is cosmological constant.

#### **Proof:**

Suppose that M is  $G_1$ - manifold with vanishing M- projective tensor. Then by using the Theorem 3.1, we get

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - \hat{A}_{c}^{ah}B_{hb}^{\ d} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} \left( r_{b}^{d}\delta_{c}^{a} + r_{c}^{a}\delta_{b}^{d} \right) = 0$$

Symmetrizing and anti-symmetrizing by the indices (h, b), we get

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} \left( r_b^d \delta_c^a + r_c^a \delta_b^d \right) = 0$$
(3.5)

Since M is Einstein manifold, consequently, we get

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + \frac{e}{2(n-1)} (\delta_c^a \delta_b^d + \delta_b^d \delta_c^a) = 0$$
Contracting by the indices (a, b), we obtain

$$A_{ac}^{ad} = \frac{-e}{(n-1)} \delta_c^d$$

Conversely, by using the equation (3.5), we have

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} (r_c^a \delta_b^d + r_b^d \delta_c^a) = 0$$

Contracting by the indices (a, b), we obtain

$$A_{ac}^{ad} + \frac{1}{(n-1)}r_{c}^{d} = 0$$

Substituting  $A_{ac}^{ad}$  in the equation (3.5), we get

$$\frac{-e}{(n-1)}\delta_c^d + \frac{1}{(n-1)}r_c^d = 0$$
$$= e\delta_c^d$$

Since *M* has *J*- invariant Richi tensor, it follows that *M* is Einstein manifold.

**Theorem 3.5:** Let M be a  $G_1$ - manifold of vanishing M-projective tensor and J- invariant Richi tenor, if M is Einstein manifold, then M is  $\mathcal{NK}$ - manifold.

 $r_c^d$ 

**Proof:** Suppose that M is a  $G_1$ - manifold of vanishing M- projective tensor.

Taking into account the Theorem 3.1, we have

$$A_{bc}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B_{c}^{ah}B_{hb}^{d} + \frac{1}{2(n-1)} \left( r_{b}^{d}\delta_{c}^{a} + r_{c}^{a}\delta_{b}^{d} \right) = 0$$

Contracting by the indices (a, b), we get

$$A_{ac}^{ad} + B^{adh}B_{hac} - B_c^{ah}B_{ha}^d + \frac{e}{(n-1)}\delta_c^d = 0$$

By making use of the Theorem 3.4, we obtain

$$B^{adh}B_{hac} - B^{ah}_c B^d_{ha} = 0$$

Symmetrizing by the indices (a, d), it follows that

$$B_c^{ah}B_{ha}^d = 0$$

Contracting by the indices (d, c), we deduce

 $B^{ah}_{\ \ d}B^{\ \ d}_{ha} = 0,$ 

which implies that:  $\bar{B}^{ah}_{\ \ d}B^{ah}_{\ \ d} = 0 \Longrightarrow \sum_{a,h,d} |B^{ah}_{\ \ d}|^2 = 0 \iff B^{ah}_{\ \ d} = 0$ 

Therefore, M is  $\mathcal{NK}$ -manifold.

Finally, we were able to find a link between  $G_1$ -manifold,  $\mathcal{H}$ -manifold and  $\mathcal{NK}$ -manifold.

**Theorem 3.6**: Suppose that M is  $G_1$ - manifold with vanishing M- projective curvature tensor and vanishing Richi curvature tensor, then M is  $\mathcal{H}$ -manifold if, and only if, M is  $\mathcal{NK}$ - manifold.

#### **Proof:**

Suppose that M is  $G_1$ -manifold with vanishing M-projective curvature tensor and vanishing Richi curvature tensor, so according to the Theorems 3.1and 3.3 we obtain

$$B^{adh}B_{hbc} - B^{ah}_{\ c}B^{\ d}_{hb} = 0 \tag{3.6}$$

Since *M* is  $G_1$ -manifold, so the equation (3.6) becomes

$$-B^{ahd}B_{hbc} - B^{ah}_{\ c}B_{hb}^{\ d} = 0 \tag{3.7}$$

Let *M* be  $\mathcal{H}$ -manifold, we deduce

$$B^{ah}_{\ c}B^{\ d}_{hb} = 0$$

Contracting by the indices (d, c) and (a, b), we obtain

$$B_d^{ah}B_{ha}^d = 0 \Leftrightarrow B_d^{ah}\bar{B}_d^{ah} = 0 \Leftrightarrow \sum_{a,h,d} |B_d^{ah}|^2 = 0 \Leftrightarrow B_d^{ah} = 0$$

Hence, M is  $\mathcal{NK}$ - manifold.

Conversely, suppose that M is  $\mathcal{NK}$ - manifold, so the equation (3.7), becomes

$$-B^{ahd}B_{hhc} = 0$$

Contracting by the indices (a, c) and (b, d), we have

$$B^{ahb}B_{hba} = 0$$
$$B^{abh}B_{abh} = 0,$$

which implies that  $B^{abh}\overline{B}^{abh} = 0 \Longrightarrow \sum_{a,b,h} |B^{abh}|^2 = 0 \iff B^{abh} = 0$ 

Therefore, according to the Banaru's classification, M is  $\mathcal{H}$ -manifold.  $\Box$ 

#### 4. References

- [1] Abood H. M. and Abd Ali H. G., Projective-recurrent Viasman-Gray manifold, Asian J. Math. Comp. Research, V. 13, N.3, p.184-191, 2016.
- [2] Abood H. M. and Mohammed N. J., Locally conformal Kähler manifold of pointwise

holomorphic sectional curvature tensor, International Mathematical Forum, V. 5, N. 45., p. 2213-3334, 2010.

- [3] Banaru M., A new characterization of the Gray-Hervella classes of almost Hermitian manifold, 8<sup>th</sup>International Conference on differential geometry.
- [4] De U. C. and Mallick S., M-Projective Curvature Tensor on N(k)-quasi-Einstein Manifolds, Differential Geometry Dynamical Systems, V.16, p.98-112, 2014.
- [6] Devi M. S. and Singh J. P., On A Type of M-Projective Curvature Tensor on Kenmotsu Manifold, International J.of Math. Sci. and Engg. Appls., V. 9, N. III, p. 37-49, 2015.
- [6] Gray A. and Hervella L. M., Sixteen classes of almost Hermitian manifold and their linear invariants, Ann Math. Pure and Appl., Vol. 123, N.3, p. 35-58, 1980.
- [7] Hervella L. M. and Vidal E., Nouvelles geometries pseudo-kähleriennes G<sub>1</sub>et G<sub>2</sub>, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, V.283, p.15-118, 1976.
- [8] Ignatochkina L. A. and Habeeb Mtashar Abood H. M., On Vaisman-Gray manifold with vanishing conharmonic curvature tensor, Far East Journal of Mathematical Sciences (FJMS) Far East Journal of Mathematical Sciences (FJMS), V. 101, N. 10, p. 2271-2284, 2017.
- [9] Jaiswal J. P. and Yadav A. S., On Generalized M-projective \_-recurrent Trans- Sasakian Manifolds, FactaUniversities (NIS), Ser. Math. Inform, V. 31, N. 5, p. 1051-1060, 2016.
- [10] Jumaah S. Q., Certain Curvature Tensors of Almost Hermitian Manifolds M. Sc. thesis, University of Basrah, College of Education for Pure Sciences, Department of Mathematics, 2018.
- [11] Kirichenko V. F. " New results of K spaces theory "Ph. D. thesis, Moscow state University, 1975.
- [12] Kirichenko V. F. " K spaces of constant type " Seper. Math. J., V. T.17, N. 2, p. 282-289, 1976.
- [13] Kirichenko V. F. and Tretiakova I. V., *On the Constant Type of Almost Hermitian Manifolds*, Mathematical Notes, V. 68, N. 5, 2000.
- [14] Kirichenko V. F. and Vlasova L. I., Concircular geometry of nearly Käh-ler manifolds, Sbornik Mathematics, V. 193:5, p.685-707, 2002.
- [15] Kobayashi S. and Nomizu K., Foundations of Differential Geometry, John Wily and Sons, V.1, 1963.

[16] Kobayashi S. and Nomizu K. "Foundations of differential geometry "V2, John Wiley

and Sons, 1969.

- [17] Koto S., Some theorems on almost Kahlerian spaces, J. Math. Soc. Japan, V.12, p.422-433, 1960.
- [18] Mohammed N. J. and Abood H. M., Some results on projective curvature tensor of nearly cosymplectic Manifold, European Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, V. 11, N. 3, p. 823-833, 2018.
- [19] Ojha R. H., A note on The M-projective Curvature Tensor, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math., V.8, N.12, p. 1531-1534, 1975.
- [20] Ojha R. H., M-projectively Flat Sasakian Manifolds, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math., V.17, N.4, p. 481-484, 1986.
- [21] Petrov A.Z., Einstein Space, Phys-Math. Letr. Moscow, p. 463, 1961.

- [22] Pokhariyal G. P. and Mishra R. S., Curvature Tensor and Their Relativistic Significance II, Yokohama Mathematical Journal, V.19, p. 97-103, 1971.
- [23] Raŝevskiĩ P. K., Riemmanian geometry and tensor analysis, M. Nauka, 1964.

# Chaos in Beddington–DeAngelis food chain model with fear

#### Hiba Abdullah Ibrahim and Raid Kamel Naji

Department of the Mathematics, College of Science, University of Baghdad, Baghdad, IRAQ

#### haibrahim82@yahoo.com; rknaji@gmail.com

Abstract. In the current paper, the effect of fear in three species Beddington–DeAngelis food chain model is investigated. A three species food chain model incorporating Beddington-DeAngelis functional response is proposed, where the growth rate in the first and second level decreases due to existence of predator in the upper level. The existence, uniqueness and boundedness of the solution of the model are studied. All the possible equilibrium points are determined. The local as well as global stability of the system are investigated. The persistence conditions of the system are established. The local bifurcation analysis of the system is carried out. Finally, numerical simulations are used to investigate the existence of chaos and understand the effect of varying the system parameters. It is observed that the existence of fear up to a critical value has a stabilizing effect on the system; otherwise it works as an extinction factor in the system.

#### 1. Introduction

It is well known that the study of the prey-predator systems is an important subject in ecology and biology, due to the wide existence of such type of interaction in the environment [1-2]. Such preypredator models have been extensively studied in literatures through previous yeas [3-5]. Most of these studies in literatures mainly concentrated on the local stability as well as persistence [6-7], while recent studies display a direction in exploring dynamical behaviors, for example, local bifurcation and chaos [8-11]. Food chain system is an ecological system that depends completely on the prey-predator interaction in which the energy transfers directly from one level to the higher level.

The effect of predator on the prey population within ecological systems may be direct or indirect or both. In the state of direct effect, the predator preys upon prey through killing them directly [12]. While, in the state of indirect effect, predator motivate fear in prey and change prey's behavior due to decreasing of the prey growth rate [13]. The fear effect is appearance of stress on prey. Recent works presented that the fear is strong enough to affect into the dynamics of ecological systems [14-15]. Many researchers studied the effect of fear in the ecological models. For example, Wang et al [16] have suggested a prey-predator model, where the effect of fear plays important role in the growth of prey. They spotted that the fear can stabilize the system. Zhang et al [17] have investigated the effect of anti-predator behavior that resulting from the fear of predators. They adopted a Holling type-II prey-predator, which incorporating a prey refuge. Pal et al [18] have studied a two species prey-predator model with a functional response of Beddington–DeAngelis type in case of existence of fear. Panday et al [19] investigated the role of fear in a food chain model consisting of three levels with a functional response of Holling type-II, they observed that fear effect can stabilize the system from chaos to stable.

In the present study, we are particularly interested to the dynamics of a food chain model with Beddington–DeAngelis (BD) type of functional response that proposed in [20] in case of existence of

fear. It is assumed that the growth rates of prey and middle predator are decreasing as a cost of fear of upper level predator.

In Section (2) the mathematical model is formulated and then all the mathematical properties of the solution of the model are studied. Section (3) studied the stability analysis and determined the conditions of persistent of the model. Local bifurcation near each equilibrium point is discussed in section (4). However, numerical simulation is investigated in section (5). Eventually, in section (6) the discussion and conclusions are carried out from our obtained analytical.

#### 2. Mathematical Model

In this section, a BD food chain model with fear is suggested. The mathematical model is formulated according to the following hypotheses:

• Let the densities of prey, middle predator and top predator at time T are given by X(T), Y(T) and Z(T) respectively.

• In the absence of middle predator Y(T), the prey grows according to logistic function with intrinsic growth rate r > 0 and carrying capacity k > 0. While, the growth rate of prey decreases due to fear from the predation by middle predator with fear rate constant  $\alpha > 0$ .

• The middle predator Y(T) consumes the prey according to BD functional response with maximum attack rate  $a_1 > 0$ , the half saturation level  $b_1 > 0$  and middle predator's encounters rate  $C_1 > 0$ . However, The food converted to middle predator Y(T) with conversion rate  $0 < e_1 < 1$ . It is assumed that, in the absence of the prey, the middle predator decays exponentially with natural death rate  $D_1 > 0$ . On the other hand, since the middle predator facing predation by top predator Z(T) too, the growth rate of middle predator decreases with fear constant  $\beta > 0$ .

• The top predator Z(T) consumes the middle predator according to BD functional response with maximum attack rate  $a_2 > 0$ , the half saturation level  $b_2 > 0$ , top predator's encounters rate  $C_2 > 0$  and then the food consumed by top predator is converted with conversion rate  $0 < e_2 < 1$ . However, in the absence of middle predator, it is decay exponentially with natural death rate  $D_2 > 0$ . According to the above mentioned hypotheses, the dynamics of BD food chain model with fear represented by the following set of differential equations.

$$\frac{dX}{dT} = \left(\frac{r X}{1+\alpha Y}\right) \left(1 - \frac{X}{k}\right) - \frac{a_1 X Y}{b_1 Y + X + C_1}$$

$$\frac{dY}{dT} = \left(\frac{e_1 a_1 X Y}{b_1 Y + X + C_1}\right) \left(\frac{1}{1+\beta Z}\right) - \frac{a_2 Y Z}{b_2 Z + Y + C_2} - D_1 Y$$

$$\frac{dZ}{dT} = \frac{e_2 a_2 Y Z}{b_2 Z + Y + C_2} - D_2 Z$$
(1)

where  $X(0) \ge 0, Y(0) \ge 0$ , and  $Z(0) \ge 0$ .

Now, to simplify the model, the following dimensionless variables and parameters are used:

$$t = rT, x = \frac{x}{k}, y = \frac{a_1 Y}{rk}, z = \frac{a_1 a_2 Z}{r^2 k}, \alpha_1 = \frac{\alpha r k}{a_1}, \beta_1 = \frac{r b_1}{a_1}, \gamma_1 = \frac{C_1}{k}$$

$$\theta_1 = \frac{e_1 a_1}{r}, \alpha_2 = \frac{r^2 \beta k}{a_1 a_2}, \beta_2 = \frac{r b_2}{a_2}, \gamma_2 = \frac{C_2 a_1}{r k}, d_1 = \frac{D_1}{r}, \theta_2 = \frac{e_2 a_2}{r}, d_2 = \frac{D_2}{r}$$
(2)

Therefore, system (1) reduced to:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = x \left[ \frac{(1-x)}{(1+\alpha_1 y)} - \frac{y}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} \right] = x f_1(x, y, z)$$

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = y \left[ \frac{\theta_1 x}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} \left( \frac{1}{1+\alpha_2 z} \right) - \frac{z}{\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2} - d_1 \right] = y f_2(x, y, z)$$

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = z \left[ \frac{\theta_2 y}{\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2} - d_2 \right] = z f_3(x, y, z)$$
(3)

Theorem 1: System (3) has a uniformly bounded (UB) solutions.

*Proof:* From the first equation, we get

$$\frac{dx}{dt} \le x[1-x]$$

By the usual comparison theorem the following is obtained:

$$x(t) \le \frac{x_0}{x_0 + e^{-t}(1 - x_0)}$$

where  $x_0 = x(0)$  and then for  $t \to \infty$ , we get  $x(t) \le 1$ .

Now, define the function  $\omega(t) = x(t) + y(t) + z(t)$ ; then the time derivative of  $\omega(t)$  is determined by:

$$\frac{d\omega}{dt} = \frac{x(1-x)}{(1+\alpha_1 y)} - \frac{x y}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} \left( 1 - \frac{\theta_1}{1+\alpha_2 z} \right) - \frac{y z(1-\theta_2)}{\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2} - d_1 y - d_2 z.$$

Therefore, due to the biological meaning of the system's parameters and the bound of x(t), it is obtained that

$$\frac{d\omega}{dt} + \mu \, \omega \le 2$$

where  $\mu = \min\{1, d_1, d_2\}$ . Hence, due to the Gronwall lemma [21], we obtain  $\omega(t) \le \omega_0 e^{-\mu t} + \frac{L}{\mu}(1 - e^{-\mu t})$ . Thus, for  $t \to \infty$ , we have that  $0 \le \omega(t) \le \frac{2}{\mu}$ . Hence all solutions of system (3) are UB and the proof is done.

#### 3. The stability analysis

In this section, the existence and stability of the equilibrium points (EPs) are discussed. It's observed that, system (3) has at most four EPs, which can be stated as follows:

- 1- The trivial equilibrium point  $q_0 = (0,0,0)$  always exists.
- 2- The axial equilibrium point (AEP) that given by  $q_1 = (1, 0, 0)$  always exists.
- 3- The top predator free equilibrium point (TPFEP), which is given by  $q_2 = (\overline{x}, \overline{y}, 0)$ , where  $\overline{x} = \frac{d_1(\beta_1 \overline{y} + \gamma_1)}{(\alpha_1 - \beta_1 \overline{y} + \gamma_1)}$  (4a)

$$\bar{\chi} = \frac{a_1(p_1 y + \gamma_1)}{(\theta_1 - d_1)}$$
(4a)

While,  $\overline{y}$  is a unique positive root of the equation:

$$H_1 y^2 + H_2 y + H_3 = 0 (4b)$$

where  $H_1 = -(\beta_1^2 \theta_1 d_1 + \alpha_1(\theta_1 - d_1)^2) < 0$ 

$$\begin{aligned} H_2 &= \beta_1 \, \theta_1^2 - \beta_1 \, \theta_1 \, d_1 - 2 \, \beta_1 \, \theta_1 \, \gamma_1 \, d_1 - \theta_1^2 + 2 \, \theta_1 \, d_1 - d_1^2. \\ H_3 &= \theta_1^2 \, \gamma_1 - \theta_1 \, \gamma_1 \, d_1 - \theta_1 \, \gamma_1^2 \, d_1. \end{aligned}$$

So by DESCARTES' RULE of sign [22], equation (4b) has a unique positive root provided that:

$$d_1(1+\gamma_1) < \theta_1$$

(5)

Therefore,  $q_2$  exists uniquily under the above condition.

4- The positive equilibrium point (PEP), that given by  $q_3 = (x^*, y^*, z^*)$ , where

$$x^* = \frac{-G_2 + \sqrt{G_2^2 - 4G_3}}{2}; z^* = \frac{\theta_2 \, y^* - d_2 \, (y^* + \gamma_2)}{\beta_2 d_2} \tag{6a}$$

with

$$G_2 = \beta_1 y^* + \gamma_1 - 1$$
$$G_3 = y^* (1 - \beta_1 + \alpha_1 y^*) - \gamma_1$$

However,  $y^*$  is a positive root of the following equation:

$$K_1 y^2 + K_2 y + K_3 = 0 (6b)$$

here  $K_1 = -\beta_1 d_1 (1 + \alpha_2 z^*) < 0$ ,

$$K_{2} = \theta_{1}x^{*} - (1 + \alpha_{2} z^{*})(\beta_{1}z^{*}(1 + \beta_{2} d_{1}) + d_{1}(\beta_{1} \gamma_{1} + x^{*} + \gamma_{1})),$$
  

$$K_{3} = (\theta_{1} - d_{1})(\beta_{2} x^{*}z^{*} + \gamma_{2}x^{*}) - (1 + \alpha_{2} z^{*})[z^{*}(x^{*} + \gamma_{1}) + d_{1} \gamma_{1}(\beta_{2}z^{*} + \gamma_{2})] - \alpha_{2} d_{1} x^{*} z^{*}(\beta_{2}z^{*} + \gamma_{2})$$

So by DESCARTES' RULE of sign [22], equation (6b) has a unique positive root provided that:

 $K_3 > 0$ 

(7a)

Therefore, the PEP exists uniquely in the  $Int. \mathbb{R}^3_+$  provided that in addition to condition (7a) the following conditions hold.

$$y^*(1 + \alpha_1 y^*) < \beta_1 y^* + \gamma_1$$
 (7b)

$$d_2 \left( y^* + \gamma_2 \right) < \theta_2 y^* \tag{7c}$$

Now the dynamical behavior of system (3) can be studied locally using linearization technique. Observed that it is simple to verify that, the Jacobian matrix (JM) of system (3) at  $q_0 = (0,0,0)$  can be written in the form:

$$J(q_0) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -d_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -d_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

(8a)

Thus, the eigenvalues of  $J(q_0)$  are given by

$$\lambda_{01} = 1 > 0, \, \lambda_{02} = -d_1 < 0, \, \lambda_{03} = -d_2 < 0. \tag{8b}$$

Therefore, the trivial equilibrium point is a saddle point.

The JM at the (AEP), that is given by  $q_1 = (1, 0, 0)$ , can be written as:

$$J(q_1) = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & -\left(\frac{1}{1+\gamma_1}\right) & 0\\ 0 & \frac{\theta_1}{1+\gamma_1} - d_1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -d_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

(9a)

Hence, the eigenvalues of  $J(q_1)$  are given by

$$\lambda_{11} = -1 < 0, \ \lambda_{12} = \frac{\theta_1}{1+\gamma_1} - d_1 \ \text{ and } \lambda_{13} = -d_2 < 0.$$
 (9b)

Clearly, the AEP is locally asymptotically stable ( $\mathcal{L}$ ) if the following condition holds:

(10) 
$$\theta_1 < d_1(1+\gamma_1)$$

Moreover, it is easy to verify that, the point 
$$q_1$$
 is a saddle point if the condition (5) holds.

The JM at the (TPFEP),  $q_2 = (\bar{x}, \bar{y}, 0)$ , can be written in the form:

$$J(q_2) = \begin{bmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} & 0\\ b_{21} & b_{22} & b_{23}\\ 0 & 0 & b_{33} \end{bmatrix}$$

(11a)

where 
$$b_{11} = \bar{x} \left( \frac{-1}{1+\alpha_1 \bar{y}} + \frac{\bar{y}}{(\beta_1 \bar{y} + \bar{x} + \gamma_1)^2} \right), b_{12} = -\left( \frac{\bar{x} (1-\bar{x})\alpha_1}{(1+\alpha_1 \bar{y})^2} + \frac{\bar{x} (\bar{x} + \gamma_1)}{(\beta_1 \bar{y} + \bar{x} + \gamma_1)^2} \right)$$
  
 $b_{21} = \frac{\theta_1 \bar{y} (\beta_1 \bar{y} + \gamma_1)}{(\beta_1 \bar{y} + \bar{x} + \gamma_1)^2}, b_{22} = \frac{-\theta_1 \beta_1 \bar{x} \bar{y}}{(\beta_1 \bar{y} + \bar{x} + \gamma_1)^2}, b_{23} = -\left( \frac{\alpha_2 \theta_1 \bar{x} \bar{y}}{\beta_1 \bar{y} + \bar{x} + \gamma_1} + \frac{\bar{y}}{\bar{y} + \gamma_2} \right)$   
 $b_{33} = \frac{\theta_2 \bar{y}}{\bar{y} + \gamma_2} - d_2.$ 

Then the characteristic equation of  $J(q_2)$  can be determined as follows:

$$(\lambda^2 - T_2 \lambda + D_2) (b_{33} - \lambda) = 0$$
(11b)

where

$$T_2 = b_{11} + b_{22}$$
$$D_2 = b_{11}b_{22} - b_{12}b_{21}$$

Consequently, the eigenvalues are written as:

$$\lambda_{21} = \frac{T_2}{2} - \frac{\sqrt{T_2^2 - 4D_2}}{2}, \qquad \qquad \lambda_{22} = \frac{T_2}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{T_2^2 - 4D_2}}{2}, \qquad \qquad \lambda_{23} = \frac{\theta_2 \bar{y}}{\bar{y} + \gamma_2} - d_2$$

(11c)

Hence the (TPFEP) is *Las* provided the following conditions hold:

$$\frac{\overline{y}}{(\beta_1 \overline{y} + \overline{x} + \gamma_1)^2} < \frac{1}{1 + \alpha_1 \overline{y}}$$

(12a)

$$\theta_2 \bar{y} < d_2 (\bar{y} + \gamma_2) \tag{12b}$$

The JM at the PEP, that given by  $q_3 = (x^*, y^*, z^*)$ , can be written in the form

$$J(q_3) = \left[a_{ij}\right]_{3 \times 3} \tag{13a}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} a_{11} &= x^* \left( \frac{-1}{1+\alpha_1 y^*} + \frac{y^*}{(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1)^2} \right), a_{12} = -\left( \frac{x^*(1-x^*)\alpha_1}{(1+\alpha_1 y^*)^2} + \frac{x^*(x^* + \gamma_1)}{(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1)^2} \right), a_{13} = 0 \\ a_{21} &= \frac{\theta_1 y^*(\beta_1 y^* + \gamma_1)}{(1+\alpha_2 z^*)(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1)^2} > 0, a_{22} = \frac{-\theta_1 \beta_1 x^* y^*}{(1+\alpha_2 z^*)(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1)^2} + \frac{y^* z^*}{(\beta_2 z^* + y^* + \gamma_2)^2}, \\ a_{23} &= -\left( \frac{\alpha_2 \theta_1 x^* y^*}{(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1)(1+\alpha_2 z^*)^2} + \frac{y^*(y^* + \gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z^* + y^* + \gamma_2)^2} \right) < 0, \\ a_{31} &= 0, a_{32} = \frac{\theta_2 z^*(\beta_2 z^* + \gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z^* + y^* + \gamma_2)^2} > 0, a_{33} = \frac{-\theta_2 \beta_2 y^* z^*}{(\beta_2 z^* + y^* + \gamma_2)^2} < 0. \end{aligned}$$

Then the characteristic equation of  $J(q_3)$  is

$$\lambda^3 + A_1 \lambda^2 + A_2 \lambda + A_3 = 0 \tag{13b}$$

where

$$A_{1} = -(a_{11} + a_{22} + a_{33})$$

$$A_{2} = a_{11}a_{22} + a_{11}a_{33} + a_{22}a_{33} - a_{23}a_{32} - a_{12}a_{21}$$

$$A_{3} = a_{11}a_{23}a_{32} + a_{12}a_{21}a_{33} - a_{11}a_{22}a_{33}$$

while

$$\Delta = A_1 A_2 - A_3 = -(a_{11} + a_{22})[a_{11}a_{22} - a_{12}a_{21}] - 2a_{11}a_{22}a_{33} - (a_{22} + a_{33})[a_{22}a_{33} - a_{23}a_{32}] - a_{11}a_{33}[a_{11} + a_{33}]$$

Now, according to the Routh-Hawirtiz criterion [23], the roots of equation (13b) have negative real parts provided that  $A_1 > 0$ ,  $A_3 > 0$  and  $\Delta > 0$ . Direct calculation shows that these conditions hold provided that

$$\frac{y^*}{(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1)^2} < \frac{1}{1 + \alpha_1 y^*}$$

(14a)

$$\frac{z^*}{(\beta_2 z^* + y^* + \gamma_2)^2} < \frac{\theta_1 \beta_1 x^*}{(1 + \alpha_2 z^*)(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1)^2}$$

(14b)

Therefore the PEP is *Las* under the conditions (14a)-(14b).

Obviously system (3) has only one possible subsystem lying in the first quadrant of xy –plane. This subsystem can be written as:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = x \left[ \frac{(1-x)}{(1+\alpha_1 y)} - \frac{y}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} \right] = g_1(x, y)$$

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = y \left[ \frac{\theta_1 x}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} - d_1 \right] = g_2(x, y)$$
(15)

Now, in order to investigate the existence of periodic dynamics in the interior of the first quadrant of xy -plane, define the Dulac function as  $(x, y) = \frac{1}{xy}$ . Clearly B(x, y) > 0 and  $C^1$  function in the *Int*.  $\mathbb{R}^2_+$  of the xy -plane. Further, we have

$$\Delta(x,y) = \frac{\partial(B g_1)}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial(B g_2)}{\partial y} = -\frac{1}{y(1+\alpha_1 y)} + \frac{1-\theta_1 \beta_1}{(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^2}$$

Then  $\Delta(x, y)$  does not identically zero in the *Int*.  $\mathbb{R}^2_+$  of the xy-plane and does not change sign under one of the following two conditions:

$$\frac{1 - \theta_1 \,\beta_1}{(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^2} < \frac{1}{y \,(1 + \alpha_1 \,y)}$$

(16a)

or

$$\frac{1 - \theta_1 \,\beta_1}{(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^2} > \frac{1}{y \,(1 + \alpha_1 \,y)}$$

(16b)

Therefore, by using Dulac-Bendixson criterion [24], there is no closed curve lying in the  $Int. \mathbb{R}^2_+$  of the xy –plane for all the trajectories satisfying condition (16a) or condition (16b). Hence according to the Poincare-Bendixon theorem [24], the unique equilibrium point in the  $Int. \mathbb{R}^2_+$  of the xy –plane that given by  $q_2$  will be a globally asymptotically stable (**Gas**) whenever it is **Las**.

*Theorem 2:* Assume that either conditions (16a) or (16b) holds and let the following conditions hold then system (3) is uniformly persistent.

$$d_1(1+\gamma_1) < \theta_1 \tag{17a}$$

$$d_2(\bar{y} + \gamma_2) < \theta_2 \, \bar{y} \tag{17b}$$

*Proof:* Let us use the average Lyapunov method [25]. Consider the following function  $(x, y, z) = x^{p_1} y^{p_2} z^{p_3}$ , where  $p_j$ ,  $\forall j = 1,2,3$  are positive constants. Obviously  $\varphi(x, y, z) > 0$  for all  $(x, y, z) \in Int$ .  $\mathbb{R}^+_3$  and  $\varphi(x, y, z) \to 0$  when  $x \to 0$  or  $y \to 0$  or  $z \to 0$ . Consequently, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Omega(x, y, z) &= \frac{\varphi'(x, y, z)}{\varphi(x, y, z)} = p_1 \left[ \frac{(1-x)}{(1+\alpha_1 y)} - \frac{y}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} \right] \\ &+ p_2 \left[ \frac{\theta_1 x}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} \left( \frac{1}{1+\alpha_2 z} \right) - \frac{z}{\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2} - d_1 \right] \\ &+ p_3 \left[ \frac{\theta_2 y}{\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2} - d_2 \right] \end{split}$$

Now, according to average Lyapunov method, the proof follows if  $\Omega(E) > 0$  for any boundary equilibrium point *E*, with suitable choice of constants  $p_1 > 0$ ,  $p_2 > 0$ , and  $p_3 > 0$ .

$$\Omega(q_1) = p_2 \left( \frac{\theta_1}{1 + \gamma_1} - d_1 \right) + p_3(-d_2)$$

$$\Omega(q_2) = p_3 \left( \frac{\theta_2 \, \bar{y}}{\bar{y} + \gamma_2} - d_2 \right)$$

Clearly,  $\Omega(q_1) > 0$  under condition (17a) for appropriate choice of positive constants  $p_2$  and  $p_3$ , so that  $p_2$  is large enough with respect to the constant  $p_3$ . While,  $\Omega(q_2) > 0$  under condition (17b). Hence the proof is complete.

*Theorem 3:* Assume that the AEP is *Las*, then it is a *Gas* in the Int.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$  provided that the following condition holds.

$$\frac{1+\theta_1}{\gamma_1} < d_1$$

(18)

*Proof:* Define the function

$$u(x, y, z) = \int_{1}^{x} \frac{m-1}{m} dm + y + \frac{1}{\theta_2} z$$

Clearly the function *u* is positive definite so that u(1,0,0) = 0 and u(x, y, z) > 0 for all  $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$  with  $(x, y, z) \neq (1,0,0)$  and x > 0.

Now, straightforward calculations give that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{du}{dt} &\leq -\frac{(x-1)^2}{1+\alpha_1 y} - \left[ d_1 - \frac{1}{\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1} - \frac{\theta_1 x}{(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)(1+\alpha_2 z)} \right] y - \frac{d_2}{\theta_2} z \\ \frac{du}{dt} &< -\frac{(x-1)^2}{1+\alpha_1 y} - \left[ d_1 - \frac{1+\theta_1}{\gamma_1} \right] y - \frac{d_2}{\theta_2} z \end{aligned}$$

Hence under condition (18), we obtain that  $\frac{du}{dt}$  will be negative definite. Then u is a Lyapunov function ( $\mathcal{LF}$ ). Therefore AEP is a *Gas*.

*Theorem 4:* Assume that the PFEP is *Las*, then it is a *Gas* in the Int.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$  provided that the following conditions hold.

$$R_1 < (1 + \alpha_1 \overline{y}) R_2 \tag{19a}$$

$$q_{12}^2 < 4 \, q_{11} q_{22} \tag{19b}$$

$$\frac{\theta_2 \, \overline{y}}{\gamma_2} < d_2 \tag{19c}$$

where all the symbols are described clearly in the proof.

Proof: Consider the following function

$$V(x, y, z) = \int_{\overline{x}}^{x} \frac{u - \overline{x}}{u} du + \frac{1}{\theta_2} \int_{\overline{y}}^{y} \frac{v - \overline{y}}{v} dv + z.$$

Obviously the function V(x, y, z) > 0 is a continuously differentiable real valued function for all  $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$  and  $(x, y, z) \neq (\bar{x}, \bar{y}, 0)$  with x > 0, y > 0, while  $V(\bar{x}, \bar{y}, 0) = 0$ .

Now, straightforward calculations give that

$$\frac{dV}{dt} \le -q_{11}(x-\bar{x})^2 - q_{12}(x-\bar{x})(y-\bar{y}) - q_{22}(y-\bar{y})^2 - z R_1 R_2 \left[ d_2 - \frac{\theta_2 \, \bar{y}}{\gamma_2} \right]$$

where  $q_{11} = (1 + \alpha_1 \overline{y})R_2 - R_1$ ,

$$q_{12} = (1 + \alpha_1 \overline{x}) R_2 + \gamma_1 \left( 1 + \frac{\theta_1 \theta_2}{(1 + \alpha_2 z)} \right) R_1 + \left( \overline{x} - \frac{\theta_1 \theta_2 \beta_1 \overline{y}}{(1 + \alpha_2 z)} \right) R_1 ,$$

$$q_{22} = \frac{\theta_1 \,\theta_2 \,\beta_1 \,\bar{x}}{(1+\alpha_2 z)} R_1.$$

with  $R_1 = (1 + \alpha_1 y)(1 + \alpha_1 \overline{y})$  and  $R_2 = (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)(\beta_1 \overline{y} + \overline{x} + \gamma_1)$ . Accordingly, by using the given conditions (19a)–(19c), we obtain

$$\frac{dv}{dt} \le -\left[\sqrt{q_{11}}(x-\bar{x}) + \sqrt{q_{22}}(y-\bar{y})\right]^2 - z R_1 R_2 \left[d_2 - \frac{\theta_2 \bar{y}}{\gamma_2}\right].$$

Therefore, the derivative  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite and then V is a  $\mathcal{LF}$ . Thus the PFEP is a  $\mathcal{GAS}$ .

*Theorem 5:* Assume that the PEP is  $\mathcal{L}$  in the Int.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ , then it is a  $\mathcal{G}$  provided that the following conditions hold:

$$q_{12}^{2} < 2 q_{11}q_{22}$$
(20a)  
$$q_{23}^{2} < 2 q_{22}q_{33}$$
(20b)  
$$\frac{y^{*}}{R_{2}} < \frac{(1+\alpha_{1}y^{*})}{R_{1}}$$

(20c)

$$\frac{z^*}{R_4} < \frac{\theta_1 \,\beta_1 \,x^* \,(1+\alpha_2 z^*)}{R_2 \,R_3}$$

(20d)

where all the symbols are described clearly in the proof.

Proof: Consider the positive definite function

$$l(x, y, z) = \int_{x^*}^x \frac{u - x^*}{u} du + \int_{y^*}^y \frac{v - y^*}{v} dv + \frac{1}{\theta_2} \int_{z^*}^z \frac{w - z^*}{w} dw$$

Clearly, the function l(x, y, z) > 0 is a continuously differentiable real valued function for all  $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3_+$  with  $(x, y, z) \neq (x^*, y^*, z^*)$  and x > 0, y > 0, z > 0, while  $l(x^*, y^*, z^*) = 0$ .

Now, the derivative of this function with respect to time can be written as

$$\frac{dl}{dt} = -q_{11}(x - x^*)^2 - q_{12}(x - x^*)(y - y^*) - q_{22}(y - y^*)^2 - q_{23}(y - y^*)(z - z^*) - q_{33}(z - z^*)^2$$

Here 
$$q_{11} = \frac{R_2(1+R_1y) + R_1y}{R_1R_2}, q_{12} = \frac{R_1(1-x)}{R_1} + \frac{r_1(x)}{R_2} - \frac{r_1(p_1y + r_1)(1+R_2y)}{R_2R_3},$$

$$q_{22} = \frac{\theta_1 \beta_1 x^* (1 + \alpha_2 z^*)}{R_2 R_3} - \frac{z^*}{R_4}, q_{23} = \frac{\theta_1 \alpha_2 x^* (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)}{R_2 R_3} + \frac{\gamma_2 + y^*}{R_4} - \frac{\theta_2 (\beta_2 z^* + \gamma_2)}{R_4}$$

and

 $q_{33} = \frac{\beta_2 \,\theta_2 y^*}{R_4}.$ 

while  $R_1$ 

 $R_3$ 

$$= (1 + \alpha_1 y)(1 + \alpha_1 y^*), \qquad R_2 = (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)(\beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1),$$
$$= (1 + \alpha_2 z)(1 + \alpha_2 z^*) \text{ and } R_4 = (\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)(\beta_2 z^* + y^* + \gamma_2).$$

Accordingly, by using the given conditions (20a)–(20d) we obtain

$$\frac{dl}{dt} \le -\left[\sqrt{q_{11}}(x-x^*) + \sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{2}}(y-y^*)\right]^2 - \left[\sqrt{\frac{q_{22}}{2}}(y-y^*) + \sqrt{q_{33}}(z-z^*)\right]^2$$

Therefore, the derivative  $\frac{dl}{dt}$  is negative definite and hence *l* is a *LF*. Thus, the PEP is a *GAS*.

#### 4. Local Bifurcation

In this section, the local bifurcation near the possible EPs of system (3) is discussed with the help of Sotomayor's theorem [21]. It is well known that the existence of non-hyperbolic equilibrium point represents a necessary but not sufficient condition for occurrence of bifurcation. Therefore the candidate bifurcation parameter that is make the equilibrium point non-hyperbolic at a specific value of that parameter is selected. Now rewrite system (3) in the form:

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = F(X) \tag{21}$$

where  $\mathbf{X} = (x, y, z)^T$  and  $\mathbf{F} = (xf_1, yf_2, zf_3)^T$  with  $f_i$ ; i = 1, 2, 3 represent the interaction functions in the right hand side of system (3). Then straightforward computation on the JM of system (3) with any non-zero vector  $V = (v_1, v_2, v_3)^T$ , gives the following second directional derivative

$$D^{2}\boldsymbol{F}(x, y, z)(\boldsymbol{V}, \boldsymbol{V}) = \left(c_{ij}\right)_{3 \times 1}$$

(22)

where

$$\begin{split} c_{11} &= 2 \left( \frac{-1}{(1+\alpha_1 y)} + \frac{y(\beta_1 y + \gamma_1)}{(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^3} \right) v_1^2 - 2 \left( \frac{\alpha_1 (1-2x)}{(1+\alpha_1 y)^2} + \frac{2\beta_1 xy + \gamma_1 (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)}{(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^3} \right) v_1 v_2 \\ &\quad + 2 \left( \frac{\alpha_1^2 x (1-x)}{(1+\alpha_1 y)^3} + \frac{\beta_1 x (x+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^3} \right) v_2^2 \\ c_{21} &= -2 \left( \frac{\theta_1 y (\beta_1 y + \gamma_1)}{(1+\alpha_2 z) (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^3} \right) v_1^2 + 2 \left( \frac{2\theta_1 \beta_1 xy + \theta_1 \gamma_1 (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)}{(1+\alpha_2 z) (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^3} \right) v_1 v_2 \\ &\quad -2 \left( \frac{\theta_1 \alpha_2 y (\beta_1 y + \gamma_1)}{(1+\alpha_2 z)^2 (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^2} \right) v_1 v_3 + 2 \left( \frac{-\theta_1 \beta_1 x (x+\gamma_1)}{(1+\alpha_2 z) (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^3} + \frac{z(\beta_2 z + \gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)^3} \right) v_2^2 \\ &\quad -2 \left( \frac{\theta_1 \alpha_2 x (x+\gamma_1)}{(1+\alpha_2 z)^2 (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)^2} + \frac{2\beta_2 y z + \gamma_2 (\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)^3} \right) v_2 v_3 \\ &\quad +2 \left( \frac{\theta_1 \alpha_2^2 x y}{(1+\alpha_2 z)^3 (\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)} + \frac{\beta_2 y (y+\gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)^3} \right) v_3^2 \\ c_{31} &= -2 \left( \frac{\theta_2 z (\beta_2 z + \gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)^3} \right) v_2^2 + 2 \left( \frac{2\theta_2 \beta_2 y z + \gamma_2 \theta_2 (\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)^3} \right) v_2 v_3 \\ &\quad -2 \left( \frac{\theta_2 \beta_2 y (y+\gamma_2)}{(\beta_2 z + y + \gamma_2)^3} \right) v_3^2 \end{split}$$

*Theorem 6:* System (3) at AEP undergoes a transcritical bifurcation ( $\mathcal{G}\mathcal{B}$ )but neither saddle node bifurcation ( $\mathcal{S}\mathcal{N}\mathcal{B}$ ) nor pitchfork bifurcation ( $\mathcal{P}\mathcal{B}$ ) can occurs when the parameter  $\theta_1$  passes through the value  $\theta_1^* = d_1(1 + \gamma_1)$ .

*Proof:* According to the JM that given in equation (9a), system (3) at AEP with  $\theta_1 = \theta_1^*$  has the following JM, say  $J(q_1, \theta_1^*) = J_1$ , where

$$J_1 = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & \frac{-1}{1+\gamma_1} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -d_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

Clearly,  $J_1$  has a zero eigenvalue given by  $\lambda_{12}^* = 0$  and hence AEP is a nonhyperbolic point.

Now, let  $\boldsymbol{U}^{[1]} = \left(u_1^{[1]}, u_2^{[1]}, u_3^{[1]}\right)^T$  be the eigenvector corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda_{12}^* = 0$ .

Thus  $J_1 \boldsymbol{U}^{[1]} = \boldsymbol{0}$  gives that  $\boldsymbol{U}^{[1]} = \left(n \, u_2^{[1]}, u_2^{[1]}, 0\right)^T$ , where  $n = \frac{-1}{1+\gamma_1} < 0$  and  $u_2^{[1]}$  represents any nonzero real number. Also, let  $\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[1]} = \left(\boldsymbol{\psi}_1^{[1]}, \boldsymbol{\psi}_2^{[1]}, \boldsymbol{\psi}_3^{[1]}\right)^T$ , represents the eigenvector corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda_{12}^* = 0$  of  $J_1^T$ .

Hence  $J_1^T \boldsymbol{\psi}^{[1]} = \mathbf{0}$  gives that  $\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[1]} = (0, \psi_2^{[1]}, 0)^T$ , where  $\psi_2^{[1]}$  stands for any nonzero real number. Now because

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \theta_1} = F_{\theta_1}(X, \theta_1) = \left(0, \frac{x \ y}{(1 + \alpha_2 z)(\beta_1 y + x + \gamma_1)}, 0\right)^T$$

Thus,  $F_{\theta_1}(q_1, \theta_1^*) = (0,0,0)^T$ , which gives  $(\psi^{[1]})^T F_{\theta_1}(q_1, \theta_1^*) = 0$ . So according to Sotomayor's theorem for local bifurcation, system (3) has no  $S\mathcal{NB}$  at  $\theta_1 = \theta_1^*$ . Furthermore because we have

$$DF_{\theta_1}(q_1, \theta_1^*) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{1+\gamma_1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Then we obtain,

$$\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[1]}\right)^{T} \left( D\boldsymbol{F}_{\theta_{1}}(q_{1},\theta_{1}^{*})\boldsymbol{U}^{[1]} \right) = \psi_{2}^{[1]} \frac{u_{2}^{[1]}}{1+\gamma_{1}} \neq 0$$

Moreover using equation (22) with  $q_1, \theta_1^*$  and  $\boldsymbol{U}^{[1]}$  gives

$$D^{2} \boldsymbol{F}(q_{1}, \theta_{1}^{*}) \left( \boldsymbol{U}^{[1]}, \boldsymbol{U}^{[1]} \right) = 2 \left( u_{2}^{[1]} \right)^{2} \left( -n^{2} - n \left( -\alpha_{1} + \frac{\gamma_{1}}{(1+\gamma_{1})^{2}} \right) + \frac{\beta_{1}}{(1+\gamma_{1})^{2}}, \frac{n \gamma_{1} \theta_{1}^{*}}{(1+\gamma_{1})^{2}} - \frac{\beta_{1} \theta_{1}^{*}}{(1+\gamma_{1})^{2}}, 0 \right)^{T}$$

Hence, it is obtained that

$$\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[1]}\right)^{T} D^{2} \boldsymbol{F}(q_{1}, \theta_{1}^{*}) \left(\boldsymbol{U}^{[1]}, \boldsymbol{U}^{[1]}\right) = \frac{2 d_{1}}{(1+\gamma_{1})} (n \gamma_{1} - \beta_{1}) \psi_{2}^{[1]} \left(u_{2}^{[1]}\right)^{2} \neq 0.$$

Thus, based on Sotomayor's theorem, system (3) at AEP has a  $\mathcal{IB}$  as the parameter  $\theta_1$  passes through the bifurcation value  $\theta_1^*$ , while  $\mathcal{IB}$  cannot occurs and that complete the proof.

*Theorem 7:* Assume that condition (12a) holds, then system (3) at TPFEP undergoes a  $\mathcal{F}\mathcal{B}$  but neither  $\mathcal{SNB}$  nor  $\mathcal{FB}$  can occurs when the parameter  $d_2$  passes through the value  $d_2^* = \frac{\theta_2 \bar{y}}{(\bar{y} + \gamma_2)}$ .

*Proof:* From the JM that given in equation (11a), system (3) at TPFEP with  $d_2 = d_2^*$  has the following JM, say  $J(q_2, d_2^*) = J_2$ , which has zero eigenvalue, say  $\lambda_{23}^* = 0$ .

$$J_2 = \begin{bmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} & 0 \\ b_{21} & b_{22} & b_{23} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $b_{ij}$ ;  $\forall ij = 1,2,3$  are given in equation (11a).

Now, let  $\boldsymbol{U}^{[2]} = \left(u_1^{[2]}, u_2^{[2]}, u_3^{[2]}\right)^T$  represents the eigenvector corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda_{23}^* = 0$ .

Therefore,  $J_2 \boldsymbol{U}^{[2]} = \boldsymbol{0}$  gives that  $\boldsymbol{U}^{[2]} = \left(m_1 u_3^{[2]}, m_2 u_3^{[2]}, u_3^{[2]}\right)^T$ , where  $m_1 = \frac{b_{12} b_{23}}{b_{11} b_{22} - b_{12} b_{21}} > 0$ ,  $m_2 = -\frac{b_{11} b_{23}}{b_{11} b_{22} - b_{12} b_{21}} < 0$  and  $u_3^{[2]}$  represents any nonzero real number. Also, let  $\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[2]} = \left(\boldsymbol{\psi}_1^{[2]}, \boldsymbol{\psi}_2^{[2]}, \boldsymbol{\psi}_3^{[2]}\right)^T$  represents the eigenvector corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda_{23}^* = 0$  of  $J_2^T$ .

Hence  $J_2^T \boldsymbol{\psi}^{[2]} = \mathbf{0}$  gives that  $\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[2]} = (0,0,\psi_3^{[2]})^T$ , where  $\psi_3^{[2]}$  stands for any nonzero real number. Now because we have

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial d_2} = \boldsymbol{F}_{d_2}(\boldsymbol{X}, d_2) = (0, 0, -z)^T$$

Thus  $F_{d_2}(q_2, d_2^*) = (0,0,0)^T$ , which gives  $(\psi^{[2]})^T F_{d_2}(q_2, d_2^*) = 0$ . So according to Sotomayor's theorem for local bifurcation, system (3) has no SNB at  $d_2 = d_2^*$ . Furthermore because we have

$$DF_{d_2}(q_2, d_2^*) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$$

We can show that

$$\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[2]}\right)^{T} \left( D\boldsymbol{F}_{d_{2}}(q_{2}, d_{2}^{*})\boldsymbol{U}^{[2]} \right) = \left(0, 0, \psi_{3}^{[2]}\right) \left(0, 0, -u_{3}^{[2]}\right)^{T} = -\psi_{3}^{[2]}u_{3}^{[2]} \neq 0$$

Moreover, using equation (22) with  $q_2$ ,  $d_2^*$  and  $\boldsymbol{U}^{[2]}$  gives

$$D^{2}\boldsymbol{F}(q_{2},d_{2}^{*})(\boldsymbol{U}^{[2]},\boldsymbol{U}^{[2]}) = 2\left(u_{3}^{[2]}\right)^{2}\left(c_{ij}^{[2]}\right)_{3\times1}$$

Where

$$\begin{split} c_{11}^{[2]} &= \left(\frac{-1}{(1+\alpha_1\bar{y})} + \frac{\bar{y}(\beta_1\bar{y}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)^3}\right) m_1^2 - \left(\frac{\alpha_1(1-2\bar{x})}{(1+\alpha_1\bar{y})^2} + \frac{2\beta_1\bar{x}\bar{y}+\gamma_1(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)^3}\right) m_1 m_2 \\ &+ \left(\frac{\alpha_1^2\bar{x}(1-\bar{x})}{(1+\alpha_1\bar{y})^3} + \frac{\beta_1\bar{x}(\bar{x}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)^3}\right) m_2^2 \\ c_{21}^{[2]} &= -\left(\frac{\theta_1\bar{y}(\beta_1\bar{y}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)^3}\right) m_1^2 + \left(\frac{2\theta_1\beta_1\bar{x}\bar{y}+\theta_1\gamma_1(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1y+x+\gamma_1)^3}\right) m_1 m_2 \\ &- \left(\frac{\theta_1\alpha_2\bar{y}(\beta_1\bar{y}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)^2}\right) m_1 - \left(\frac{\theta_1\beta_1\bar{x}(\bar{x}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)^3}\right) m_2^2 \\ &- \left(\frac{\theta_1\alpha_2\bar{x}(\bar{x}+\gamma_1)}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)^2} + \frac{\gamma_2}{(\bar{y}+\gamma_2)^2}\right) m_2 + \left(\frac{\theta_1\alpha_2^2\bar{x}\bar{y}}{(\beta_1\bar{y}+\bar{x}+\gamma_1)} + \frac{\beta_2\bar{y}}{(\bar{y}+\gamma_2)^2}\right) \\ c_{31}^{[2]} &= \left(\frac{\gamma_2\theta_2}{(\bar{y}+\gamma_2)^2}\right) m_2 - \left(\frac{\theta_2\beta_2\bar{y}}{(\bar{y}+\gamma_2)^2}\right) \end{split}$$

Hence, it is obtained that

$$\left(\boldsymbol{\psi}^{[2]}\right)^{T} D^{2} \boldsymbol{F}(q_{2}, d_{2}^{*}) \left(\boldsymbol{U}^{[2]}, \boldsymbol{U}^{[2]}\right) = \frac{2 \theta_{2}}{(\bar{y} + \gamma_{2})^{2}} (m_{2} \gamma_{2} - \beta_{2} \bar{y}) \psi_{3}^{[2]} \left(u_{3}^{[2]}\right)^{2} \neq 0.$$

Therefore, by Sotomayor's theorem, system (3) at TPFEP has a  $\mathcal{I}\mathcal{B}$  as the parameter  $d_2$  passes through the bifurcation value  $d_2^*$ , while  $\mathcal{I}\mathcal{B}$  cannot occurs and hence the proof is complete.

Theorem 8: Assume that condition (14a) along with the following sufficient conditions hold

 $1 < \theta_2 \beta_2$ 

$$\frac{\theta_1\beta_1\,x^*}{\rho_2{}^2\rho_3} < \frac{z^*}{\rho_4{}^2}$$

(23a)

$$\rho_3 < \theta_1 \beta_1 \tag{23b}$$

(23c) 
$$\frac{x^* y^* z^*}{\rho_1 \rho_4^2} < \frac{x^* y^{*2} z^*}{\rho_2^2 \rho_4^2} + \frac{\theta_1 \beta_1 x^{*2} y^*}{\rho_1 \rho_2^2 \rho_3} + \frac{\theta_1 \alpha_1 x^* y^* (1-x^*) (\beta_1 y^* + \gamma_1)}{\rho_1^2 \rho_2^2 \rho_3} + \frac{\theta_1 \gamma_1 x^* y^*}{\rho_2^3 \rho_3}$$

(23d)

(23e)  
$$\frac{x^{*}}{\rho_{1}} + \frac{x^{*}y^{*}}{\rho_{2}{}^{2}\rho_{3}} (\theta_{1}\beta_{1} - \rho_{3}) < \frac{y^{*}z^{*}}{\rho_{4}{}^{2}}$$
$$[A_{1}(\theta_{2}{}^{*})A_{2}(\theta_{2}{}^{*})]' < A_{3}{}'(\theta_{2}{}^{*})$$
(23f)

where  $\rho_1 = 1 + \alpha_1 y^*$ ;  $\rho_2 = \beta_1 y^* + x^* + \gamma_1$ ;  $\rho_3 = 1 + \alpha_2 z^*$  and  $\rho_4 = \beta_2 z^* + y^* + \gamma_2$ ; while  $A_i$ ; i = 1,2,3 are given in equation (13b). Then system (3) undergoes a Hopf bifurcation ( $\mathcal{HB}$ ) around the equilibrium point  $q_3$  as the parameter  $\theta_2$  passes through the positive value  $\theta_2^*$ , that given in the proof.

*Proof:* Recall that, according to the  $\mathcal{HB}$  theorem [26] for the three dimensional autonomous system, such as system (3), undergoes a  $\mathcal{HB}$  as the parameter  $\theta_2$  passes through the positive value  $\theta_2^*$  provided that:

The JM of system (3) at the equilibrium point  $q_3$  has a simple pair of complex eigenvalues, say  $\sigma_1(\theta_2) \pm i\sigma_2(\theta_2)$ , such that they become purely imaginary at  $\theta_2 = \theta_2^*$ , while the third eigenvalue remain real and negative. Moreover, the transversality condition  $\frac{d\sigma_1(\theta_2)}{d\theta_2}\Big|_{\theta_2=\theta_2^*} \neq 0$  should be hold.

Note that the above first condition will be satisfied if the coefficients of the characteristic equation given by (13b) satisfy that  $\Delta = A_1 A_2 - A_3 = 0$ . So straightforward computation gives that this is equivalent to

$$r_1 \theta_2^2 + r_2 \theta_2 + r_3 = 0$$

(24a)

Where

$$r_1 = -[\beta_2 y^*(a_{11} + a_{22}) + (\beta_2 z^* + \gamma_2)a_{23}]\frac{\beta_2 y^* z^{*2}}{\rho_4^4}$$

$$r_{2} = [\beta_{2}y^{*}(a_{11} + a_{22})^{2} + (\beta_{2}z^{*} + \gamma_{2})a_{22}a_{23}]\frac{z^{*}}{\rho_{4}^{2}},$$
  
$$r_{3} = -(a_{11} + a_{22})(a_{11}a_{22} - a_{12}a_{21})$$

Clearly, according to the signs of JM elements that given by equation (13a) in addition to the sufficient conditions (14a), (23a), (23b), (23d) and (23e) it is easy to verify that  $a_{11} < 0$ ,  $a_{22} > 0$ ,  $r_1 > 0$  and  $r_3 < 0$ , and then equation (24a) has a unique positive root denoted by  $\theta_2^*$  that satisfies  $A_1(\theta_2^*)A_2(\theta_2^*) = A_3(\theta_2^*)$ . Consequently, as  $\theta_2 = \theta_2^*$  the characteristic equation given by (13b) will be

$$(\lambda + A_1)(\lambda^2 + A_2) = 0$$

(24b)

Thus, equation (24b) has the following roots

$$\lambda_1 = -A_1(\theta_2^*)$$
 and  $\lambda_{2,3} = \pm i\sqrt{A_2(\theta_2^*)} = \pm i\sigma_2(\theta_2^*)$ .

Again, the given conditions (23b)-(23d) with the signs of JM elements guarantee that  $A_i > 0$  for all i = 1,2,3. Therefore the first condition of the  $\mathcal{HB}$  follows.

Now in order to check the occurrence of the transversality condition, substitute  $\sigma_1(\theta_2) + i\sigma_2(\theta_2)$ , where  $\theta_2$  in the neighborhood of  $\theta_2^*$ , in the equation (24b) and then take the derivative with respect to the bifurcation parameter  $\theta_2$ . Then comparing the two sides of this equation and then equating their real and imaginary parts, we get

$$\begin{aligned} &\Psi(\theta_{2})\sigma_{1}'(\theta_{2}) - \Phi(\theta_{2})\sigma_{2}'(\theta_{2}) = -\Theta(\theta_{2}) \\ &\Phi(\theta_{2})\sigma_{1}'(\theta_{2}) + \Psi(\theta_{2})\sigma_{2}'(\theta_{2}) = -\Gamma(\theta_{2}) \end{aligned}$$
(25a)  
where  $\Theta(\theta_{2}) = A_{1}'(\theta_{2})[\sigma_{1}(\theta_{2})]^{2} - A_{1}'(\theta_{2})[\sigma_{2}(\theta_{2})]^{2} + A_{2}'(\theta_{2})\sigma_{1}(\theta_{2}) + A_{3}'(\theta_{2}) \\ \Psi(\theta_{2}) = 3[\sigma_{1}(\theta_{2})]^{2} + 2A_{1}(\theta_{2})\sigma_{1}(\theta_{2}) - 3[\sigma_{2}(\theta_{2})]^{2} + A_{2}(\theta_{2}) \\ \Gamma(\theta_{2}) = 2A_{1}'(\theta_{2})\sigma_{1}(\theta_{2})\sigma_{2}(\theta_{2}) + A_{2}'(\theta_{2})\sigma_{2}(\theta_{2}) \\ \Phi(\theta_{2}) = 6\sigma_{1}(\theta_{2})\sigma_{2}(\theta_{2}) + 2A_{1}(\theta_{2})\sigma_{2}(\theta_{2}) \end{aligned}$ 

Solving the linear system (25a) by using Cramer's rule for the unknowns  $\sigma_1'(\theta_2)$  and  $\sigma_2'(\theta_2)$  gives that

$$\sigma_{1}'(\theta_{2}) = -\frac{\Theta(\theta_{2})\Psi(\theta_{2}) + \Gamma(\theta_{2})\Phi(\theta_{2})}{[\Psi(\theta_{2})]^{2} + [\Phi(\theta_{2})]^{2}}, \sigma_{2}'(\theta_{2}) = -\frac{\Gamma(\theta_{2})\Psi(\theta_{2}) - \Theta(\theta_{2})\Phi(\theta_{2})}{[\Psi(\theta_{2})]^{2} + [\Phi(\theta_{2})]^{2}}$$
(25b)

Hence the transversality condition is satisfied provided that

$$\Theta(\theta_2^*)\Psi(\theta_2^*) + \Gamma(\theta_2^*)\Phi(\theta_2^*) \neq 0$$

Obviously, we have that  $\sigma_1(\theta_2^*) = 0$  and  $\sigma_2(\theta_2^*) = \sqrt{A_2(\theta_2^*)}$ , so we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \theta(\theta_2^*) &= -A_1'(\theta_2^*)A_2(\theta_2^*) + A_3'(\theta_2^*) \\ \Psi(\theta_2^*) &= -2A_2(\theta_2^*) \\ \Gamma(\theta_2^*) &= A_2'(\theta_2^*)\sqrt{A_2(\theta_2^*)} \\ \Phi(\theta_2^*) &= 2A_1(\theta_2)\sqrt{A_2(\theta_2^*)} \end{aligned}$$

Accordingly, we get that

$$\sigma_1'(\theta_2^*) = 2A_2(\theta_2^*) \frac{\left[A_3'(\theta_2^*) - \left(A_1'(\theta_2^*)A_2(\theta_2^*) + A_1(\theta_2^*)A_2'(\theta_2^*)\right)\right]}{[\Psi(\theta_2^*)]^2 + [\Phi(\theta_2^*)]^2}$$

Consequently,  $\sigma_1'(\theta_2^*) > 0$  under condition (23f), and then the transversality condition hold. Hence  $\mathcal{HB}$  occurs at  $\theta_2 = \theta_2^*$ .

Not that, according the above theorem, we have that for  $\theta_2 > \theta_2^*$  the equilibrium point  $q_3$  of system (3) is stable; when  $\theta_2 = \theta_2^*$  loses its stability and the  $\mathcal{HB}$  occurs at  $q_3$ , , and when  $\theta_2 < \theta_2^*$ , the equilibrium point  $q_3$  becomes unstable and a family of periodic solutions bifurcates from  $q_3$ .

#### 5. Numerical Simulation

In this section, the global dynamics of system (3) is investigated numerically. The main objectives understand the effect of fear on the dynamics of system (3), specify the set of parameters that control the dynamical behavior of the system (3) and confirm our obtained results. Different tools are used through this investigation such as bifurcation diagram ( $\mathfrak{BD}$ ), chaotic attractor, 3D phase plot and time series. Predictor-Corrector method with six-order Range Kutta methods are used for solving the system, while MATLAB version 6 is used to present these numerical results.

The following hypothetical set of parameters is used.

$$\alpha_1 = 0, \ \beta_1 = 0.2, \ \gamma_1 = 0.2, \ \theta_1 = 0.5, \ \alpha_2 = 0, \ \beta_2 = 0.2, \ \gamma_2 = 0.2, \ d_1 = 0.2, \ \theta_2 = 0.3, \ d_2 = 0.1$$

(26)

Clearly, in the above set of data, there is no fear in the system (3). It is observed that system (3) undergoes a chaotic dynamics for the above set of data as shown in the Figure 1.



**Figure 1.** The trajectory of system (3) for the data (26). (a) Chaotic attractor. (b) Time series of the attractor in (a).

Obviously from Figure 1, system (3) without fear has a chaotic dynamics at the data (26), which indicates to existence of complex dynamics. Now, to investigate the impact of varying the parameters  $\theta_1$ ,  $\theta_2$  and  $d_2$  on the dynamics of system (3), the **BD** for the trajectory of system (3) as a function of each parameter are drawn in Figure 2 – Figure 4 respectively. It is known that, the **BD** summarizes the dynamical behavior of the system as a function of a specific. These parameters are selected according to the analytical study in section (4).



**Figure 2.**  $\mathcal{BD}$  of system (3) as a function of  $\theta_1 \in (0.2, 1)$  keeping other parameters as in the data (26). (a) Maximum of the trajectory of y versus  $\theta_1$ . (b) Maximum of the trajectory of z versus  $\theta_1$ .



**Figure 3.**  $\mathcal{BD}$  of system (3) as a function of  $\theta_2 \in (0,1)$  keeping other parameters as in the data (26). (a) Maximum of the trajectory of y versus  $\theta_2$ . (b) Maximum of the trajectory of z versus  $\theta_2$ .



**Figure 4.**  $\mathcal{BD}$  of system (3) as a function of  $d_2 \in (0,0.25)$  keeping other parameters as in the data (26). (a) Maximum of the trajectory of y versus  $d_2$ . (b) Maximum of the trajectory of z versus  $d_2$ .

Clearly, as shown in the above  $\mathcal{BD}$ , system (3) is very sensitive for varying the parameters  $\theta_1$ ,  $\theta_2$  and  $d_2$ . Different types of bifurcations are obtained and system (3) enters to chaotic and periodic regions. Furthermore, it is obtained that system (3) approaches asymptotically to AEP for the range  $\theta_1 \in (0,0.24)$ , which is confirm stability condition (10). It is approaches asymptotically to TPFEP, where  $q_2 = (0.89,0.11,0)$ , for the range  $\theta_1 \in (0.24,0.26)$ . While it is approach asymptotically to PEP, with  $q_3 = (0.91,0.1,0.005)$ , for the range  $\theta_1 \in (0.26,0.28)$ . Finally, system (3) approaches asymptotically to a periodic dynamics in *Int*.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ , see Figure 5 for typical values of  $\theta_1$  and Table 1 for varying other parameters.





**Figure 5.** The trajectory of system (3) for the data (26) with different values of  $\theta_1$ . (a) System (3) approach asymptotically to  $q_1 = (1,0,0)$  for  $\theta_1 = 0.2$ . (b) Time series of the attractor in (a). (c) System (3) approach asymptotically to  $q_2 = (0.89,0.11,0)$  for  $\theta_1 = 0.25$ . (d) Time series of the attractor in (c). (e) System (3) approach asymptotically to  $q_3 = (0.91,0.1,0.005)$  for  $\theta_1 = 0.27$ . (g) System (3) approach asymptotically to period two attractor for  $\theta_1 = 0.7$ . (h) Time series of the attractor in (g).

The parameter	The range of varying	The dynamical behavior of system (3)
$\beta_1$	$\begin{array}{c} 0 < \beta_1 < 0.26 \\ 0.26 \leq \beta_1 < 1.5 \\ 1.5 \leq \beta_1 \end{array}$	Complex dynamics involving periodic and chaos Periodic dynamics in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
γ <sub>1</sub>	$\begin{array}{c} 0 < \gamma_1 < 0.09 \\ 0.09 < \gamma_1 < 0.23 \\ 0.23 \le \gamma_1 \end{array}$	Periodic in the xy –plane Complex dynamics involving periodic and chaos Periodic dynamics in Int. $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
$d_1$	$\begin{array}{c} 0 < d_1 < 0.36 \\ 0.36 \leq d_1 < 0.4 \\ 0.4 \leq d_1 < 0.42 \\ 0.42 \leq d_1 < 1 \end{array}$	Complex dynamics involving periodic and chaos Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ Approaches to TPFEP in <i>xy</i> –plane Approaches to AEP
$\beta_2$	$\begin{array}{l} 0 < \beta_2 < 0.71 \\ 0.71 \leq \beta_2 < 1 \end{array}$	Complex dynamics involving periodic and chaos Periodic dynamics in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
γ <sub>2</sub>	$\begin{array}{c} 0 < \gamma_2 < 0.3 \\ 0.3 \le \gamma_2 < 0.47 \\ 0.47 \le \gamma_2 < 0.69 \\ 0.69 \le \gamma_2 < 1 \end{array}$	Complex dynamics involving periodic and chaos Periodic dynamics in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ Periodic in the <i>xy</i> -plane
$\theta_2$	$\begin{array}{c} 0 < \theta_2 < 0.18 \\ 0.18 \leq \theta_2 < 0.7 \\ 0.7 \leq \theta_2 < 1 \end{array}$	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane Complex dynamics involving periodic and chaos Periodic dynamics in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$

Table 1. The dynamical behavior of system (3) using data (26) with varying one parameter each time

$d_2$	$0 < d_2 < 0.18$ $0.18 \le d_2 < 1$	Complex dynamics involving periodic and chaos
	- 2	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane

Now, in order to understand the effects of varying the fear rates on the dynamics of system (3) using the data (26), the system is solved numerically with different values of prey's fear rate  $\alpha_1$  and different values of intermediate predator's fear rate  $\alpha_2$  as shown in Figure 6 and Figure 7 respectively.



**Figure 6.** The trajectory of system (3) for the data (26) with different values of  $\alpha_1$ . (a) System (3) approach asymptotically to chaotic attractor for  $\alpha_1 = 0.5$ . (b) Time series of the attractor in (a). (c) System (3) approach asymptotically to periodic attractor in *Int*.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$  for  $\alpha_1 = 10$ . (d) Time series of the attractor in (c). (e) System (3) approach asymptotically to  $q_3 = (0.73, 0.1, 0.05)$  for  $\alpha_1 = 13$ . (f) Time series of the attractor in (e). (g) System (3) approach asymptotically periodic dynamics in the *xy* -plane for  $\alpha_1 = 15$ . (h) Time series of the attractor in (g).





**Figure 7.** The trajectory of system (3) for the data (26) with different values of  $\alpha_2$ . (a) System (3) approach asymptotically to chaotic attractor for  $\alpha_2 = 1$ . (b) Time series of the attractor in (a). (c) System (3) approach asymptotically to period two attractor in Int.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$  for  $\alpha_2 = 10$ . (d) Time series of the attractor in (c). (e) System (3) approach asymptotically to period two attractor in  $\alpha_2 = 15$ . (f) Time series of the attractor in (e). (g) System (3) approach asymptotically to  $\alpha_2 = 125$ . (h) Time series of the attractor in (g).

However, for the data set given by (26) with  $\alpha_1 = 10$  and  $\alpha_2 = 15$ , it is observed that the trajectory of system (3) approaches asymptotically to PEP represented by  $q_3 = (0.79, 0.1, 0.02)$  as shown in Figure 8.



**Figure 8.** The trajectory of system (3) for the data (26) with  $\alpha_1 = 10$  and  $\alpha_2 = 15$ . (a) System (3) approaches asymptotically to  $q_3 = (0.79, 0.1, 0.02)$ . (b) Time series of the attractor in (a).

Keeping the obtained results in view, the effect of varying the parameters of system (3) on the dynamical behavior of the system in case of having asymptotically stable PEP using the data given by

equation (26) with  $\alpha_1 = 10$  and  $\alpha_2 = 15$  is also studied numerically and obtained results are summarized in Table 2.

The parameter	The range of varying	The dynamical behavior of system (3)
$\beta_1$	$0 < \beta_1 < 0.09$	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane
	$0.09 \leq \beta_1$	Approaches to PEP in Int. $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
γ <sub>1</sub>	$0 < \gamma_1 < 0.18$	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane
	$0.18 \le \gamma_1 \le 1$	Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
$ heta_1$	$0 < \theta_1 < 0.25$	Approaches to AEP
	$0.25 \le \theta_1 < 0.28$	Approaches to TPFEP in $xy$ –plane
	$0.28 \le \theta_1 < 0.6$	Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.6 \le \theta_1 < 0.8$	Periodic dynamics in Int. $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.8 \le \theta_1 < 1$	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane
	$0 < d_1 < 0.13$	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane
	$0.13 \le d_1 < 0.18$	Periodic dynamics in Int. $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
$d_1$	$0.18 \le d_1 < 0.37$	Approaches to PEP in Int. $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.37 \le d_1 < 0.41$	Approaches to TPFEP in $xy$ –plane
	$0.41 \le d_1 < 1$	Approaches to AEP
$\beta_2$	$0 < \beta_2 < 1$	Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
γ <sub>2</sub>	$0 < \gamma_2 < 0.19$	Periodic dynamics in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.19 \le \gamma_2 < 0.23$	Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.23 \le \gamma_2 < 1$	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane
$\theta_2$	$0 < \theta_2 < 0.29$	Periodic in the $xy$ –plane
	$0.29 \le \theta_2 < 0.32$	Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.32 \le \theta_2 < 1$	Periodic dynamics in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
<i>d</i> <sub>2</sub>	$0 < d_2 < 0.1$	Periodic dynamics in Int. $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.1 \le d_2 < 0.11$	Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$
	$0.11 \le d_2 < 1$	Approaches to PEP in <i>Int</i> . $\mathbb{R}^3_+$

**Table 2.** The dynamical behavior of system (3) using data (26) with  $\alpha_1 = 10$  and  $\alpha_2 = 15$  in case of varying one parameter each time

#### 6. Conclusion and discussion

In this paper, a BD food chain model incorporating fear factors in the first and second traffic levels of the chain is proposed and studied. The objective is to investigating the role of fear on the dynamical behavior of the system. The boundedness of the solution is proved. All the EPs are determined and their stability analyses are investigated locally as well as globally. The persistence conditions of the system are established. The occurrence of local bifurcation around the equilibrium points is investigated too. Finally, the numerical simulation of the system in case of nonexistence and existence of fear is carried out. It is observed that using the hypothetical set of data given by equation (26) the food chain without fear has a complex dynamics involving chaos that is very sensitive for varying of most the parameters. Furthermore, it is clear that the existence of fear has a stabilizing effect, through removing the complex dynamics of the system. Now, according the numerical simulation results using the hypothetical set of data (26) the following observations are obtained.

1. System (3) without fear has complex dynamics including chaos and periodic.

- 2. Increasing the fear in the first level up to a specific value removes the chaotic dynamics and the trajectory of system (3) approaches asymptotically to stable PEP. However, further increasing the fear at the first level more than a critical value makes the system losing the persistence and then the trajectory approaches asymptotically to a periodic dynamics in the xy –plane.
- 3. Increasing the fear rate in the second level up to a specific value removes the chaos too and the trajectory of system (3) approaches asymptotically to periodic attractor in  $Int. \mathbb{R}^3_+$ . Moreover, increasing the fear rate further above a critical value stabilizes the system and the trajectory approaches asymptotically to PEP.
- 4. The **BDs** show that the system is very sensitive to varying in the conversion rates  $\theta_1$ ,  $\theta_2$  and the top predator death rate  $d_2$ . Different points of bifurcation have been obtained. In fact, decreasing the value of the conversion rates  $\theta_1$ ,  $\theta_2$  or increasing the value of predators death rates  $d_1$ ,  $d_2$  causes extinction in top predator and the system loses their persistence.
- 5. Similar observation has been obtained regarding increasing the values of top predator half saturation constant  $\gamma_2$  as that obtained in case of increasing the predators death rate.
- 6. In case of existence of constant values of fear rates  $\alpha_1 = 10$  and  $\alpha_2 = 15$  with rest of parameters as given in equation (26), it is observed that the system persists at the PEP. While decreasing the value of encounters between the intermediate predator individuals or the intermediate predator half saturation constant causes extinction in top predator and system (3) approaches asymptotically top periodic dynamics in the *xy* -plane.
- 7. Decreasing (increasing) the conversion rate of the intermediate predator  $\theta_1$  (death rate of intermediate predator  $d_1$ ) below (above) a specific value causes extinction in top predator and the solution of system (3) approaches asymptotically to TPFEP in the xy -plane. Further decreasing (increasing) in these parameters leads to extinction in intermediate predator too and the system approaches asymptotically to AEP. On the other hand, increasing  $\theta_1$  (decreasing  $d_1$ ) above (below) a specific value leads to extinction in top predator and the solution approaches asymptotically to TPFEP in xy -plane.
- 8. Increasing the half saturation constant  $\gamma_2$  or the death rate  $d_2$  of top predator above a specific value causes losing the persistence of the system and the solution approaches asymptotically to periodic dynamics in xy -plane. However, decreasing these rates leads to losing the stability of the PEP and the system still persist at periodic attractor in *Int*.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ .
- 9. Finally, decreasing the top predator conversion rate  $\theta_2$  below a specific value causes losing the persistence of the system and the solution approaches asymptotically to periodic dynamics in xy-plane. However, increasing this rate leads to losing the stability of the PEP and the system still persist at periodic attractor in *Int*.  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ .

# References

- [1] Meng X, Liu R and Zhang T 2014 Adaptive dynamics for a non-autonomous Lotka-Volterra model with size-selective disturbance *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.* **16** 202-213.
- [2] Shigesada N, Kawasaki K and Teramoto E 1979 Spatial segregation of interacting species *J. Theor. Biol.* **79** 83-99.
- [3] Freedman H I, Wolkowicz G S K 1986 Predator–prey systems with group defence: the paradox of enrichment revisited *Bull Math Biol* **48**(5/6) 493–508.
- [4] Ghalambor C K, Peluc S I and Martin T E 2013 Plasticity of parental care under the risk of predation: how much should parents reduce care? *Biol Lett* **9**(**4**) 20130154.
- [5] Gilpin M E and Rosenzweig M L 1972 Enriched predator–prey systems: theoretical stability *Science* **177(4052)** 902–904.

- [6] Sugie J and Katayama M 1999 Global asymptotic stability of a predator-prey system of Holling type *Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl.* **38** 105-121.
- [7] Svirezlev Y and Logofet D 1983 Stability of biological communities (Moscow: Mir Publishers).
- [8] Song Z, Zhen B and Xu J 2014 Species coexistence and chaotic behavior induced by multiple delays in a food chain system *Ecol. Complex.* **19** 9-17.
- [9] Saifuddin M, Biswas S, Samanta S, Sarkar S and Chattopadhyay J 2016 Complex dynamics of an ecoepidemiological model with different competition coefficients and weak Allee in the predator *Chaos Solit. Fract.* **91** 270-285.
- [10] Saifuddin M, Samanta S, Biswas S and Chattopadhyay J 2017 An eco-epidemiological model with different competition coefficients and strong-Allee in the prey *Int. J. Bifurc. Chaos* **27** 1730027.
- [11] Ghosh K, Biswas S, Samanta S, Tiwari P K, Alshomrani A S and Chattopadhyay J 2017 Effect of multiple delays in an eco-epidemiological model with strong Allee effect *Int. J. Bifurc. Chaos* 27 1750167.
- [12] Taylor R 1984 Predation (New York: Chapman & Hall).
- [13] Lima S and Dill L M 1990 Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus *Can. J. Zool.* 68 619-640.
- [14] Zanette L Y, White A F, Allen M C and Clinchy M 2011 Perceived predation risk reduces the number of offspring songbirds produce per year *Science* **334** 1398-1401.
- [15] Suraci J P, Clinchy M, Dill L M, Roberts D and Zanette L Y 2016 Fear of large carnivores causes a trophic cascade *Nat. Commun.* 7 10698.
- [16] Wang X, Zanette L, and Zou X 2016 Modelling the fear effect in predator-prey interactions J. of Math. Biolo. 73(5) 1179–1204. doi:10.1007/s00285-016-0989-1
- [17] Zhang H, Cai Y, Fu S and Wang W 2019 Impact of the fear effect in a prey-predator model incorporating a prey refuge *Applied Mathematics and Computation* **356** 328-337.
- [18] Pal S, Majhi S, Mandal S, and Pal N 2019 Role of Fear in a Predator–Prey Model with Beddington– DeAngelis Functional Response *Zeitschrift Für Naturforschung* A. doi:10.1515/zna-2018-0449.
- [19] Panday P, Pal N, Samanta S, and Chattopadhyay J 2018 Stability and Bifurcation Analysis of a Three-Species Food Chain Model with Fear *International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos* 28(01) 1850009 (20 pages). doi:10.1142/s0218127418500098.
- [20] Naji R K and Balasim A T 2007 Dynamical behavior of a three species food chain model with beddington-deangelis functional response *Chaos Solutions & Fractals* **32(5)** 1853-1866.
- [21] Perko L 2001 *Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems* Third edition (New York: Springer-Verlag-Inc).
- [22] Lial M L, Hornsby J and Schneider D I 2001 *Precalculus* (USA: Addison-Wesley Educational Publishers-Inc).

- [23] May R M 1973 *Stability and complexity in model ecosystems Princeton* (NJ: Princeton University Press).
- [24] Hirsch M W and Smale S 1974 Differential Equation, Dynamical system and Linear Algebra (Academic Press).
- [25] Gard T C and Hallam T G 1979 Persistece in food web-1, Lotka –Volterra food chains Bull. Math. Biol. 41 877–891.
- [26] Haque M and Venturino E 2006 Increase of the prey may decrease the healthy predator population in presence of disease in the predator *HERMIS* **7** 38-59.

# **Focal Function in i-Topological Spaces via Proximity Spaces**

Yiezi Kadham Mahdi Altalkany and Luay A. A. Al Swidi <sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of education for Girl, University of Kufa , Najaf <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science, Babylon

Email<sup>1</sup>: <u>yiezik.altalkany@uokufa.edu.iq</u>

**Email<sup>2</sup>:** drluayha11@yahoo.com

**Abstract**: Through the characteristic and properties of ideal we were able to give a new definition to neighborhood of a certain point, but these neighborhoods do not necessarily contain that point. we also introduced a new definition to the local function by using both proximity relation and the idea of the neighborhoods that were indicated ,finally we presented most important results and their properties.

**1. Introduction:** This research is based on the concept of proximity relation which was known by the Riecs [10] in his theory of enchainment in 1909 and in 1952, Efremovic [5] rediscover the concept of proximity spaces.

Later, many researchers and mathematicians presented several studies on this topic like A. Kandil, O.A. Tantawy, S.A. El-Sheikh, A. Zakaria [1] in 2014.

As well as they were used to define a new type of set introduced by Luay Al Swidi and Dhearrgham Ali [2] in 2020 and they are named it the centre set.

The second crutch of this research, it is the concept of ideals that has been defined by the Kuratowski [4] in 1933, this concept has evolved and developed In topological spaces to be the triple (X, T,I), which is named the ideal Topological space and more of mathematician like T. R. Hamlett D. Jankovi'c[13,14] in 1990 and 1992 and R. Vaidyanathaswamy [11] in 1960 studied on this concept.

In 2006 the Irina Zevina [3] developed a new definition of some topological spaces using the ideal tools and it was named i-topological spaces.

As for the third crutch it is the local function that was defined. By K. Kuratowski [4] in 1933 and this function was studied by Many of mathematician in various forms, some of them studied by the fuzzy set such as Mohammed Majid Najm, Luay A. A. AL-Swidi[7]in 2020 and Reghad almohammed ,luay al swidi [12]in 2020 and some of them studied by the soft set, such as manash Jyoti and bipan Hazarika [8] in 2019 and Luay A. Al-Swidi and Sameer A. Al-Fathly[6]in 2017.

In this work all the crutch and concepts were invested to provide a new definition of the sets we named it the focal set and we studied the most important properties, and we also presented a new type of closure using the focal set, and finally the focal function was defined with the confirmation of some facts about it.

# 2. Fundamentals:

We will begin with some of basic concepts that we are needed in our work and we will mean by a space is itopological space.

# 2.1 Definition

an ideal is a family I of X satisfy the following [4,11] 1) $X \notin I$ , 2) $\mathfrak{W}, \mathcal{K} \in I$  implies  $\mathfrak{W} \cup \mathcal{K} \in I$ , and 3) $\mathfrak{W} \in I$  and  $\mathcal{K} \subseteq \mathfrak{W}$  imply  $\mathcal{K} \in I$ . *I. the following relations*  $\propto$  and  $\approx$  on P(X) defined as as follows: (1)  $\mathfrak{W} \propto \mathcal{K}$  iff  $\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}^c \in I$ , [3] (2)  $\mathfrak{W} \approx \mathcal{K}$  mod I iff ( $\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}^c$ )  $\cup (\mathcal{K} \cap \mathfrak{W}^c) \in I$  [5]

# 2.2 Definition [3]

Let I is ideal defined on X an i-topology on X is a family T of X that check conditions:  $1, \emptyset, X \in T$ 

2. for any  $U \subseteq T$  there exists  $U \in T$  such that  $\bigcup U \approx U$ 3. for any  $V, W \in T$  there exists  $U \in T$  such that  $V \cap W \approx U$ 4.  $T \cap I = \{\emptyset\}$ .

Then (X, T, I) is named an i-topological space and an item of T are named i-open sets, and  $T(x) = \{ U \in T \mid x \in U \}$  for any  $x \in X$ .

#### 2.3Example

Let X be any set then  $(X, T_D, I)$  where  $T_D$  is the discrete topology and  $I = \{\emptyset, \{x\}\}$  is not space **2.4Example:** 

If (X, T) is the indiscrete topological space and I is any ideal on X then (X, T, I) is i-topological space.

#### **2.5 Definition [1,2]**:

A proximity space (*X*,  $\delta$ ) is a set X with <u>relation</u>  $\delta$  between subsets of X satisfying the following properties:

For all subsets  $\mathfrak{W}$ ,  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathbb{C}$  of  $\mathbb{X}$ 1.  $\mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, \mathcal{K} \Rightarrow \mathcal{K} \, \delta \, \mathfrak{W}$ 2.  $\mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, \mathcal{K} \Rightarrow \mathfrak{W} \neq \emptyset$ 3.  $\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K} \neq \emptyset \Rightarrow \mathfrak{W} \, \delta B$ 4.  $\mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, (\mathcal{K} \cup C) \Leftrightarrow (\mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, \mathcal{K} \, or \, \mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, C)$ 5.  $(\forall E, \mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, E \, or \, \mathcal{K} \, \delta \, (X - E)) \Rightarrow \mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, \mathcal{K}$ 6. If  $\mathfrak{W} \, \delta \, B$  we say  $\mathfrak{W}$  is near  $\mathcal{K}$  or  $\mathfrak{W}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$  are proximal; otherwise we say  $\mathfrak{W}$  and  $\mathcal{K}$  are apart.

**2.6 Example** Let X={a,b,c} and  $\delta$  defined as follow,  $A\delta B$  iff  $A \cap B \neq \varphi$  then  $\delta$  is a proximity relation on X.

**2.7 Proposition** [1,2] : let  $(X, \delta)$  be a A proximity space then for all subsets A, B and C of X:

1. If  $A \supseteq B\delta C$ , then  $A\delta C$ 2. If  $B\delta C \subseteq D$ , then  $B\delta D$ 3. It is false that  $\phi \delta A$ 4. It is false that  $A\delta \phi$ 5. If  $A \subseteq B\bar{\delta}C$ , then  $A\bar{\delta}C$ 6. If  $B\bar{\delta}C \supseteq D$ , then  $B\bar{\delta}D$ 7. If  $A\bar{\delta}B$  and  $A\bar{\delta}C$  iff  $A\bar{\delta}B \cap C$ 

#### 3. In this section we will define the focal set with some of facts about it

The following proposition will prove some of important properties of the relation  $\propto$ 

# 3.1. Proposition:

Let I be an ideal on the space X and A, B, C, D are subsets of X, then :

- 1.  $A \propto X$ , foe each subset Aof X
- 2. If  $A \in I$  then  $A \propto \varphi$
- 3. If  $A \in I$  then  $A \propto B$  for each subset B of X
- 4. If  $C \subseteq A$  such that  $A \propto B$  then  $C \propto B$
- 5. If  $B \subseteq D$  such that  $A \propto B$  then  $A \propto D$
- 6. If  $A \propto B1$  and  $A \propto B2$  then
- i-  $A \propto B1 \cap B2$   $ii A \propto B1 \cup B2$
- 7. If  $A \propto B\lambda$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , wher  $\Lambda$  is any index then

$$i - A \propto \bigcap_{i=1}^{n} B_i \quad ii - A \propto \bigcup B\lambda$$

- 8. If  $A\lambda \propto B$  for each  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , wher  $\Lambda$  is any index then
- i-  $\cap A\lambda \propto B$   $ii \bigcup_{l=1}^n A_l \propto B$
- 9.  $A \propto A$  for each subset A of X

10. If 
$$A \propto B$$
 and  $B \propto C$  then  $A \propto C$ 

Proof: we will prove (7) and (8) and the other cases exist by definition (2-1) 7) i-

1- By a summation we have that  $A \cap B_1^C \in I$  and  $A \cap B_2^C \in I$  then  $A \cap B_1^C \cup A \cap B_2^C = A \cap (B_1^C \cup B_2^C) = A \cap (B1 \cap B2)^c \in I$  Thus  $A \propto B_1 \cap B_2$ ii- by (6) the result exists 8) i- by using part (7) and by induction the result exist

ii-By (6) and since  $A \propto B_{\lambda} \subseteq \bigcup B_{\lambda}$  then the result exists

9)Is a similar proof of (8)

- 10) Obvious
- 11) Obvious

```
3.2 Corollary:
```

Let (X,T,I) is i-topology if  $A_{\lambda} \propto B_{\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda$  then

1. 
$$\bigcap_{\lambda} A_{\lambda} \propto \bigcup_{\lambda} B_{\lambda}$$
  
2. 
$$\bigcap_{\lambda} A_{\lambda} \propto \bigcap_{\lambda} B_{\lambda}$$
  
Proof: obvious

Now we will define the focal set and give some properties about it

#### 3.3 Definition :

Let (X, T, I) be a space and  $x \in X$ , a subset A of X is named a focal set if then we have  $U \in T(x)$  such that  $U \propto A$ , the system of all focal sets of a point x denoted by  $I_{\oint}(x)$ .

#### 3.4 Example :

In the space  $(X, T_D, \{\varphi\})$ ,  $I_{\phi}(x) = T(x)$  for each x in X when  $T(x) = \{U: x \in X\}$ . Now useful facts about the focal set are introduce in the following proposition.

#### 3.5 Proposition :

Let (X,T,I) be a space and  $\mathfrak{W}, \mathcal{K}$ , are subsets of X then the following propositions are holds :

- 1. If  $\mathfrak{W} \in I_{\oint}(x)$  and  $\mathfrak{W} \subseteq \mathcal{K}$  then  $\mathcal{K} \in I_{\oint}(x)$
- 2. If  $\mathfrak{W}, \mathcal{K} \in I_{\oint}(x)$  then  $\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K} \in I_{\oint}(x)$
- 3. If For each  $\mathfrak{W} \in I_{\oint}(x)$  then we have B such that  $\mathfrak{W} \propto \mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathcal{K} \in I_{\oint}(y)$  for each y in  $\mathcal{K}$
- 4. If For each  $\mathfrak{W} \in I$  and each  $x \in \mathfrak{W}$  then  $\mathfrak{W} \notin I_{\oint}(x)$
- 5. If For each  $\mathfrak{W} \in T(x)$  then  $\mathfrak{W} \in I_{\oint}(x)$
- 6. If  $\mathfrak{W} \in I_{\mathfrak{G}}(x)$  then  $\mathfrak{W}^{c} \notin I_{\mathfrak{G}}(x)$
- 7. If  $\mathfrak{W} \in I$  then  $\mathfrak{W}^c \in I_{\oint}(x)$
- 8. If  $\mathfrak{W}, \mathcal{K} \in I_{\phi}(x)$  then  $\mathfrak{W} \cup \mathcal{K} \in I_{\phi}(x)$

Proof:

- 1) the proof is obvious
- 2) let U<sub>1</sub>, U<sub>2</sub> ∈ T(x) such that U<sub>1</sub> ∝ 𝔅, U<sub>2</sub> ∝ 𝔅, since U<sub>1</sub>, U<sub>2</sub> ∈ T then then we have w ∈ T such that U<sub>1</sub> ∩ U<sub>2</sub> ≈ w, which imply U<sub>1</sub> ∩ U<sub>2</sub> ∝ w and w ∝ U<sub>1</sub> ∩ U<sub>2</sub>, Since U<sub>1</sub> ∝ 𝔅, U<sub>2</sub> ∝ 𝔅 by corollary (3-2) (2) we have U<sub>1</sub> ∩ U<sub>2</sub> ∝ 𝔅 ∩ 𝔅 hence
- We get  $w \propto U_1 \cap U_2 \propto \mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}$  so  $w \propto \mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}$ , Now, to prove that  $x \in w$ , if bearable that  $x \notin w$  imply that  $x \in w^c$  thus  $x \in (U_1 \cap U_2 \cap w^c) \in I$ , this is mean  $\{x\} \in I$  for each  $x \in X$ , from that we get I = P(x) and this is contradiction thus  $x \in w$  and  $w \in T(x)$ , Hence  $\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K} \in I_{\oint}(x)$
- 3)let  $\mathfrak{W} \in I_{\oint}(x)$ , then then we have  $\mathcal{K} \in T(x)$  such that  $\mathcal{K} \propto \mathfrak{W}$ , therefor for each  $y \in \mathcal{K}$ ,  $\mathcal{K} \in T(y)$  but  $\mathcal{K} \propto \mathcal{K}$ , hence  $\mathcal{K} \in I_{\oint}(y)$
- 4) Suppose that  $\mathfrak{W} \in I_{\oint}(x)$  so then we have  $U \in T(x)$  such that  $U \propto \mathfrak{W}$  But  $\mathfrak{W} \in I$  then  $(U \cap \mathfrak{W})^{c} \cup \mathfrak{W} \in I$ , from that we get  $U \subseteq U \cup \mathfrak{W} \in I$  and this is contradiction, then  $\mathfrak{W} \notin I_{\oint}(x)$
- **5**) For any  $\mathfrak{W} \in T(x)$  by proposition (3-1) (10),  $\mathfrak{W} \propto \mathfrak{W}$  for every  $\mathfrak{W}$  in X then  $\mathfrak{W} \in I_{\phi}(x)$ .
- 6) Let 𝔅 ∈ I<sub>∮</sub>(x) and suppose that 𝔅<sup>c</sup> ∈ I<sub>∮</sub>(x) by (2) φ = 𝔅 ∩ 𝔅<sup>c</sup> ∈ I<sub>∮</sub>(x) and this is contradiction, thus 𝔅<sup>c</sup> ∉ I<sub>∮</sub>(x)
- 7) let  $\mathfrak{W} \in I$ , if bearable that  $\mathfrak{W}^{c} \notin I_{\phi}(x)$ , then for every  $U \in T(x), U \cap (\mathfrak{W}^{c})^{c} \notin I$

Hence  $U \cap \mathfrak{W} \notin I$ , But  $\mathfrak{W} \in I$  and this contradiction and therefore  $\mathfrak{W}^{c} \in I_{\oint}(x)$ 

**8**) The prove is similar to (2)

The following proposition discuss the relation of the focal set of two i-topological spaces with respect to

the same i-topology T of X

# 3.6. Proposition:

Let  $(X,T,I_1)$  and  $(X,T,I_2)$  be spaces such that  $I_1 \subseteq I_2$  then  $I_1 \notin (x) \subseteq I_2 \notin (x)$ Proof:

Let  $A \in I_{1\phi}(x)$ , then we have  $U \in T(x)$  such that  $U \cap A^c \in I_1$  and then belongs to  $I_2$  so  $A \in I_{2\phi}(x)$ .

As a consequently with the above proposition  $(I_1 \cap I_2) \subseteq I_1$  and  $I_2$ .

# 3.7 Proposition :

Let (X, T, I) be a space if U is i-open set then U is focal set for each of its points

Proof : let U is i-open set and x be any point of X such that  $x \in U$ , then by proposition (3-1)(5) U is focal

set of x .

The antagonistic is not true as we see bellow

# 3.8. Example :

In the space (X, Ti, I) where T<sub>i</sub> is the indiscrete topology and  $I = \{\emptyset, \{a\}, \{b\}, \{a, b\}\}$  then

 $I_{\oint}(a) = I_{\oint}(c) = \{X, \{c\}, \{a, c\}, \{b, c\}\}$  so clearly that  $\{c\}$  is a focal set of c but it is not i-open set

# 3.9.Remark :

- From the above example we can see that if A∈ I<sub>∮</sub>(x) then it is not necessary that x∈A like {c} is a focal set of a but not containing a.
- 2.  $\emptyset$  is not focal set for each x in X
- 3. X is focal set for each x in X

# 3.10. Proposition :

Let (X, T, I) be space then the system of focal set constructed a filter for each x in X. Proof:

By proposition (3-1) (1,2) and remark (3-9)(2 and 3) the result exist .

# 3.11. Definition :

Let (X,T,I) be a space and  $A \subset X, x \subset X$ , then x is named a  $\mathcal{F}$ -limit point of A iff for each  $U \in I_{\oint}(x)$ such that  $x \in U$  th en  $(Ux \cap A) - \{x\} \neq \emptyset$  and the set of all a limit point of A is named the focal derived set and denoted by  $\mathcal{F}d(A)$ , and  $\mathcal{F}cl(A)=A \cup \mathcal{F}dA$  and is named the focal closure of the set A

# 3.12. Definition :

Let (X,T,I) be a space and  $A \subset X$ , then the intersection of all i-closed supersets of A is named the i-closure of A and is denoted by i - cl(A), i.e,

 $i - cl(A) = \bigcap \{ H \subseteq X: A \subset H, H \text{ is } i - closed \text{ set for each } i \}$ 

# 3.13. Proposition :

Let (X,T,I) be a space if a subset A of X is i-closed set then i - cl(A) = A

# 3.14. Proposition :

Let (X,T,I) be a space then if  $a \in i - cl(A)$  then  $U \cap A \neq \emptyset$  for each  $U \in T(a)$ . Proof : let  $a \in i - cl(A)$  and suppose that  $U \cap A = \varphi$  then  $A \subset X - U$  and since i - cl(A) is the intersection of all i-closed set containing A hence  $i - cl(A) \subset X - U$  and this is contradiction so  $U \cap A \neq \emptyset$  for each  $U \in T(a)$ 

# 3.15. Proposition :

Let (X, T, I) be a space then  $\mathcal{F}cl(A) \subseteq i - cl(A)$  for each subset A of X

Proof:

let  $p \in \mathcal{F}cl(A)$  then  $p \in A$  or  $p \in \mathcal{F}d$  (A) hence if  $p \in A \subset i - cl(A)$  the result exist and if  $p \in \mathcal{F}d(A)$ 

then p is  $\mathcal{F}$  – limit point and for each  $U \in I_{\phi}(x)$  such that  $x \in U$  th en  $(Ux \cap A) - \{x\} \neq \emptyset$ 

Now if bearable that  $p \notin i - cl(A)$  then by proposition (3-14) then we have  $U \in T(p)$  such that  $U \cap A = \varphi$  and this is contradiction so  $p \in A \subset i - cl(A)$  hence  $\mathcal{F} cl(A) \subseteq i - cl(A)$ 

# 3.16 Proposition

Let (X,T,I) is space then if  $a \in \mathcal{F}cl(A)$  then  $U \cap A \neq \emptyset$  for each  $U \in T(a)$ .

# 3.17. Remark:

i - cl(A) and  $\mathcal{F}cl(A)$  is not necessarily i-closed set and  $Fcl(A) \neq i - cl(A)$  as we show in the following

example

# 3.18. Example:

Let X={a,b,c},  $T = \{X, \emptyset, \{a\}, \{b\}\}, I = \{\emptyset, \{c\}\}$  then if A={c} then i - cl(A)={c} which is not i-closed set

# 3.19. Example:

 $X = \{a, b, c\} T = \{X, \emptyset, \{a, b\}, \{a, c\}\}$  and  $I = \{\emptyset, \{c\}\}$  then if A={b,c} then  $\mathcal{F}$  d(A)= $\varphi$  then AU $\mathcal{F}$  d(A)={b,c} $\neq i - cl(A) = X$  and {b,c} is not i-closed set

#### 4. in this section we will define the focal function with some results about it

#### 4.1.Definition

Let (X,T,I) is space and  $(X,\delta)$  is a proximity space and  $\mathcal{B}$  is a subset of X then a point  $x \in X$  is named occlusion point of  $\mathcal{B}$  if for each  $U \in I_{\oint}(x)$ ,  $x \in U$ ,  $U\delta\mathcal{B}$ . The set of all occlution points of  $\mathcal{B}$ is denoted by  $\oint (\mathcal{B})$ , also we will call that occlusion set  $\oint (\mathcal{B})$  is a focal function

#### 4.2 Example

Let X={a,b,c} and  $T = \{X, \emptyset, \{a, b\}, \{a, c\}\}$  and  $I = \{\emptyset, \{c\}\}$  then (X,T,I) is space we define  $\delta$  as a proximity relation as follow

A $\delta$ B iff A $\cap$ B $\neq \varphi$  then  $\oint (\{a\})=\oint (\{a,c\})=\oint (\{X\})=X$  and  $\oint (\{b\}) = \oint (\{b,c\}) = \{b\}$  and  $\oint (\{c\}) = \oint (\{\phi\}) = \emptyset$ 

Some of properties of focal function introduce in the following proposition

# 4.3 Proposition :

Let (X, T, I) is space and A,B,C are subsets of X then :

- 1. If  $\mathfrak{W} \subseteq \mathcal{K}$  then  $\oint (\mathfrak{W}) \subseteq \oint (\mathcal{K})$
- 2.  $\oint (\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}) \subseteq \oint (\mathfrak{W}) \cap \oint (\mathcal{K})$
- 3.  $\oint (\mathfrak{W} \cup \mathcal{K}) = \oint (\mathfrak{W}) \cup \oint (\mathcal{K})$
- 4.  $\oint (\oint (\mathfrak{B})) = \oint (\mathfrak{B})$
- 5. If  $\mathfrak{W} \in I$  then  $\oint (\mathfrak{W}) = \emptyset$
- 6. If  $\mathfrak{W} \in I$  then  $\oint (\mathfrak{W} \cup \mathcal{K}) = \oint (\mathcal{K}) = \oint (\mathcal{K} \mathfrak{W})$
- 7.  $\oint (\mathfrak{W}) = i cl(\oint (\mathfrak{W}))$
- 8. If  $x \in X$  and for each U in I where  $I \neq \varphi$  then  $U \cap \oint (\mathfrak{W}) \subset \oint (U \cap \mathfrak{W})$ Proof:
- 1) Let  $x \in \mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{W})$  then for each  $U \in I_{\mathcal{F}}(x)$ , U $\delta \mathfrak{W}$ , but  $\mathfrak{W} \subseteq \mathcal{K}$  then U $\delta \mathcal{K}$  and hence  $x \in \mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{W})$

2) since  $(\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}) \subseteq \mathfrak{W}$  and  $(\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}) \subseteq \mathcal{K}$  then by  $(1) \oint (\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}) \subset \oint (\mathfrak{W})$ And  $\oint (\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}) \subseteq \oint (\mathcal{K})$  and hence  $\oint (\mathfrak{W} \cap \mathcal{K}) \subseteq \oint (\mathfrak{W}) \cap \oint (\mathcal{K})$ . 3)  $\oint (\mathfrak{W} \cup \mathcal{K}) = \{x \in X: \text{ for each } U \in I_{\oint}(x), U\delta(\mathfrak{W} \cup \mathcal{K})\}$  $= \{x \in X: \forall u \in I_{\oint}(x), U\delta\mathfrak{W} \text{ or } U\delta\mathcal{K}\}$  $= \{x \in X: \text{ for each } U \in I_{\oint}(x), U\delta\mathfrak{W}\} \text{ or } \{x \in X: \text{ for each } U \in I_{\oint}(x), U\delta\mathcal{K}\}$  $= \oint (\mathfrak{W}) \cup \oint (\mathcal{K})$  4) Let  $x \in \oint (\mathfrak{W})$  then for each  $U \in I_{\oint}(x), U\delta\mathfrak{W}$ , if bearable that  $x \notin \oint (\oint (\mathfrak{W}))$  then we have  $w \in I_{\oint}(x)$  such that  $w\overline{\delta} \oint (\mathfrak{W})$ , but  $w \in I_{\oint}(x)$ , Then  $x \in w \cap \oint (\mathfrak{W})$  and this contradiction so  $\oint (\mathfrak{W}) \subset \oint (\oint (\mathfrak{W}))$ , now let  $x \in \oint (\oint (\mathfrak{W}))$  then for each  $U \in I_{\oint}(x), U\delta \oint (\mathfrak{W})$  and this imply that  $U \cap \oint (\mathfrak{W}) \neq \emptyset$ , hence then we have  $z \in U \cap \oint (\mathfrak{W})$  then  $z \in \oint (\mathfrak{W})$  this mean that for each  $w \in I_{\oint}(z), w\delta\mathfrak{W}$ , But  $z \in U$ , by proposition (3-5),  $U \in I_{\oint}(z)$ , then  $U\delta\mathfrak{W}$  for each  $U \in I_{\oint}(x)$ .

5) if bearable that  $\oint (\mathfrak{W}) \neq \varphi$  then then we have  $x \in \oint (\mathfrak{W})$  Such that for each U is focal set of x such that  $x \in U$ ,  $U\delta \mathfrak{W}$ , but  $\mathfrak{W}^{\circ}$  is also focal set and this is contradiction hence  $\oint (\mathfrak{W}) = \emptyset$ 

6) by using part (3)and (5)we get that  $\oint (\mathfrak{W} \cup \mathcal{K}) = \oint (\mathcal{K})$ 

Now to prove  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K} - \mathfrak{W}) = \mathcal{F}(B)$ , since  $\mathcal{K} \cap \mathfrak{W}^{c} \subset B$  by (1) then  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K} \cap \mathfrak{W}^{c}) \subset \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K})$ 

Now, let  $x \in \oint (\mathcal{K})$  then, for each  $U \in I_{\oint}(x)$ ,  $x \in U$ ,  $U\delta\mathcal{K}$  if bearable that  $x \notin \oint (\mathcal{K} - \mathfrak{W})$  then then we have  $V \in I_{\oint}(x)$  such that  $V\overline{\delta}(\mathcal{K} - \mathfrak{W})$  iff  $V\overline{\delta}B$  and  $V\overline{\delta} \mathfrak{W}^{c}$  then  $x \notin \oint (\mathcal{K})$  and this is contradiction, Hence  $x \in \oint (\mathcal{K} - \mathfrak{W})$  so  $\oint (\mathcal{K} - \mathfrak{W}) = \oint (\mathcal{K})$ .

7) Let  $x \in i - cl(\protect \mathfrak{W})$  then for each  $U \in T(x), U \cap \protect \mathfrak{W}) \neq \varphi$ , then then we have  $y \in U$  and  $y \in \protect \mathfrak{W}$  and this imply for each  $W \in I_{\protect}(y)$ ,  $W \delta \mathfrak{W}$  but  $U \in T(y)$  and by proposition (3-5)(6),  $U \in I_{\protect}(y)$  so  $U \delta \mathfrak{W}$  hence  $x \in \protect \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{W})$  and since  $\protect \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{W}) \subset i - cl(\protect \mathfrak{K})$  we get that  $i - cl(\protect \mathfrak{K}) = \protect \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{W})$ 

8) let  $x \in w \cap \mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{W})$  then  $x \in \mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{W})$ , if bearable that  $x \notin \mathcal{F}(w \cap \mathfrak{W})$  then then we have  $U \in I_{\mathcal{F}}(x)$  such that  $U\overline{\delta}w \cap \mathfrak{W}$  iff  $U\overline{\delta}w$  and  $U\overline{\delta}\mathfrak{W}$  then then we have  $U \in I_{\mathcal{F}}(x)$  such that  $U\overline{\delta}\mathfrak{W}$ . Then  $x \notin \mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{W})$  and this contradiction so  $w \cap \mathcal{F}(\mathfrak{W}) \subset \mathcal{F}(w \cap \mathfrak{W})$ ,

The antagonistic of (2) in the above proposition is not true as in the following example

#### 4.4 Example :

By example (4-2) clearly that if A={a,c} and B={ b,c} then A  $\cap$  B={c} Hence  $\oint (A \cap B) = (\oint \{c\}) = \emptyset \not\supseteq \oint (A) \cap \oint (B) = X \cap \{b\} = \{b\}$ 

The following proposition explain the relation of focal function of two spaces defined on the same family T.

#### 4.5 Proposition :

Let  $(X,T,I_1)$  and  $(X,T,I_2)$  be i-topological spaces such that  $I_1 \subseteq I_2$  then  $\oint (B(I_{2\phi}(x))) \subseteq \oint (B(I_{1\phi}(x)))$ Proof : exist by proposition (3-6) and (4-3)(1)

#### 5. Conclusion:

Through our study of the subject, we found that the definition of the focal set does not achieve some of the attributes that the set of neighbors achieve in the usual topological spaces, and that the nature of the definition of this set affected some definitions and theories such as closure and its theories in addition to the definition of the local function

# References

[1] A. Kandil, O.A. Tantawy, S.A. El-Sheikh, A. Zakaria, "New structures of proximity spaces", Inf. Sci. Lett. 3(3) (2014) 85–89

[2] Dheargham Ali Abdulsada, Luay A.A. Al-Swid, "*C*-Ideal Via *C*-Topological Space", International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering (IJRTE) ISSN: 2277-3878, Volume-8 Issue-5, January 2020

[3] Irina Zvina, "On i-topological spaces: generalization of the concept of a topological space via ideals", Applied General Topology, Volume 7, No. 1, 2006

[4] K. Kuratowski, "Topologie I", Warszawa, 1933.

[5] K. Kuratowski, "Topology", Vol. I, Academic Press, New York, 1958

[6] Luay A. Al-Swidi and Sameer A. Al-Fathly, "Types of Local Functions via Soft Sets ",International Journal of Mathematical Analysis Vol. 11, 2017, n

[7] Mohammed Majid Najm, Luay A. A. AL-Swidi ,"Fuzzy Positional Function Via Fuzzy Filter "International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering (IJRTE) Volume-8 Issue-6, March 2020

[8] manash jyoti borah, bipan hazarika ,"Soft ideal topological space and mixed fuzzy soft ideal topological space", Bol. Soc. Paran. Mat , (3s.) v. 37 1 (2019)

[9] Majumdar ,H. Hazra,, S.K. Samanta, "Soft proximity", Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 7 (2014) 867– 877

[10] Riesz, F. (1909), "Stetigkeit und abstrakte Mengenlehre", Rom. 4. Math. Kongr. 2: 18-24

[11] R. Vaidyanathaswamy, "Set Topology, Chelsea Publishing Company", 1960.

[12] Reghad almohammed ,luay al swidi,"Generate a New Types of Fuzzy  $\Psi_i$ -Operato",intelligent Computing Paradigmand Cutting-edge Technologies,2020

[13] T. R.Hamlett D. Jankovi'c and T. R.Hamlett, "New topologies from old via ideals", *The AmericanMathematical Monthly*, vol. 97, no. 4, 1990.

[14] T. R. Hamlett D. Jankovi'c and, "Compatible extensions of ideals", *Unione Matematica Italiana.Bollettino. B. Serie VII*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 453–465, 1992.

[15] V. A. Efremvich, "The geometry of proximity", Mat. Sb., 31 (1952), 189–200.
### **Improved Alternating Direction Implicit Method**

Esraa Abbas Al-taai<sup>1</sup> Adel Rashed A. Ali<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1,2</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science (Ibn al-Haitham), University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq

\*Corresponding author: <u>adil.r.a@ihcoedu.uobaghdad.edu.iq</u>

**Abstract.** The alternating direction implicit method (ADI) is a common classical numerical method that was first introduced to solve the heat equation in two or more spatial dimensions and can also be used to solve parabolic and elliptic partial differential equations as well. In this paper, We introduce an improvement to the alternating direction implicit (ADI) method to get an equivalent scheme to Crank-Nicolson differences scheme in two dimensions with the main feature of ADI method. The new scheme can be solved by similar ADI algorithm with some modifications. A numerical example was provided to support the theoretical results in the research.

#### **1. Introduction:**

The alternating direction implicit (ADI) method was first proposed in the first place for partial differential parabolic equations in two spatial dimensions by D. Peaceman and H. Rachford in 1955 [1], they produce the ADI method to solve multidimensional petroleum simulators reservoir, which is between the multi-scale many types of systems which that require implicit discretization. For solving the problem of any useful size, memory-efficient, fast converging methods are needed to solve the large linear equations that arise at each time step [2]. Although computers at that time were of limited capacity, they were able to use this method to solve the problem of heat diffusion in two spatial dimensions. Later ADI method developed to solve other problems and became a significant approach in numerical methods to solve different type of partial differential equations in two or more dimensions [3, 4, 5].

Consider the two-dimensional heat equation:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,y,t)}{\partial t} = \sigma \left( \frac{\partial^2 u(x,y,t)}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u(x,y,t)}{\partial y^2} \right)$$
(1)  
$$u(x,y,0) = \varphi(x,y) \quad (x,y) \in \Omega \cup \partial\Omega$$
  
$$u(x,y,t) = \phi(x,y) \quad (x,y) \in \partial\Omega$$

Where  $(x, y) \in \Omega$ ,  $\Omega = \{(x, y) | 0 < x < 1, 0 < y < 1\}$ ,  $\sigma$  is a positive constant. We will consider the rectangle domain 0 < x < 1, 0 < y < 1 with Dirichlet boundary conditions, so that u(x, y, t) is given at all rectangular boundary points, for all t > 0 and an initial condition u(x, y, 0) is given. The region is covered with a uniform rectangular grid of points, with a spacing  $h = \Delta x$  in the *x*-axis and  $k = \Delta y$  in the *y*-axis, where  $h = \frac{1}{N_x}$ ,  $k = \frac{1}{N_y}$ ,  $\Delta t = \tau$ ,  $N_x$ ,  $N_y$  are positive integer numbers, Which denote the approximated solution is then the finite difference  $u_{l,m}^n = u(lh, mk, n\tau) = u(x_l, y_m, t_n)$ ,  $l = 0, 1, 2, ..., N_x$ ,  $m = 0, 1, 2, ..., N_y$ , for simplicity suppose  $(N_x = N_y = N)$ .

The explicit finite difference schemes are used for solving such problems but these schemes are conditionally stable so the time the step must take a small value to achieve the stability conditions, while the implicit finite difference schemes are unconditionally stable but these schemes lead to a linear large system of equations must be solved, solving  $(N - 1)^2$  linear equations.

The mentioned method to solve the heat conduction equation is the Crank-Nicolson method which it like implicit method need the same number of equations in implicit method to solve at every time step. But with the ADI method we need to solve (N - 1) systems of linear equations and every system consist of (N - 1) of linear equations. After fifty years of their pioneering work on alternating direction implicit methods, D. Peaceman and H. Rachford attended a conference organized to honor them and celebrate a legacy that continues to grow [2].

#### 2. Theory and Calculations:

To explain the advantages of the ADI method for the parabolic equation we will consider the explicit scheme, the implicit and the Crank Nicolson finite difference Scheme for equation (1) with their basic properties.

#### 2.1. Explicit Finite Difference Scheme:

The simplest difference analog to equation (1) is the explicit finite difference scheme which can be found by replacing the time derivative  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$  use the difference forward approximation at the point  $(x_l, y_m, t_n)$  and the space derivatives  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}$  and  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2}$  with the central difference approximation at the same grid point, then the explicit finite difference scheme has the following difference equation

$$\frac{u_{l,m}^{n+1} - u_{l,m}^{n}}{\tau} = \sigma \left( \frac{1}{h^2} \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^n + \frac{1}{k^2} \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^n \right)$$
(2)

where  $\delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^n = u_{l-1,m}^n - 2u_{l,m}^n + u_{l+1,m}^n$ ,  $\delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^n = u_{l,m-1}^n - 2u_{l,m}^n + u_{l,m+1}^n$  and can be rewritten as:

$$u_{l,m}^{n+1} = (1 + r_x \delta_x^2 + r_y \delta_y^2) u_{l,m}^n$$
(3)

where  $r_x = \frac{\sigma \tau}{h^2}$  and  $r_y = \frac{\sigma \tau}{k^2}$ . This is the explicit scheme which can be solved explicitly for  $u_{l,m}^{n+1}$ , it is stable with conditions and the stability condition is

 $r_x + r_y \le \frac{1}{2} \quad (4)$ 

For the case h = k the condition of stability becomes

 $r_{\chi} = \frac{\sigma\tau}{h^2} \le \frac{1}{4} \quad (5)$ 

That it is as restrictive twice as the one dimensional case [6, 7].

#### 2.2 Implicit Finite Difference Scheme:

The implicit finite difference scheme can be obtained by replacing the derivative time  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$  using forward difference approximation at the point  $(x_l, y_m, t_n)$  and the space derivatives  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}$  and  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2}$  with the central difference approximation at the grid point  $(x_l, y_m, t_{n+1})$ , then the implicit finite difference scheme has the following difference scheme

$$u_{l,m}^{n} = u_{l,m}^{n+1} - r_x \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^{n+1} - r_y \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^{n+1}$$
(6)

or

$$u_{l,m}^{n} = (1 - r_x \delta_x^2 - r_y \delta_y^2) u_{l,m}^{n+1}$$
(7)

The implicit scheme is unconditionally stable [6, 7], but leads to large number of linear equations which are more difficult to solve than the explicit scheme.

#### 2.3 Crank Nicolson Finite Difference Scheme:

It is another implicit difference scheme and can be found by replacing the time derivative  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$  using forward difference approximation at the point  $(x_l, y_m, t_n)$  and the space derivatives  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}$  and  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2}$  with the central difference approximation at the two grid points  $(x_l, y_m, t_n)$  and  $(x_l, y_m, t_{n+1})$  and take the average then the Crank Nicolson difference scheme given by:

$$u_{l,m}^{n+1} - u_{l,m}^{n} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \left( r_x \delta_x^2 + r_y \delta_y^2 \right) u_{l,m}^n + \left( r_x \delta_x^2 + r_y \delta_y^2 \right) u_{l,m}^{n+1} \right]$$
(8)

which can be rewritten as

$$\left[1 - \frac{1}{2} \left(r_x \delta_x^2 + r_y \delta_y^2\right)\right] u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left[1 + \frac{1}{2} \left(r_x \delta_x^2 + r_y \delta_y^2\right)\right] u_{l,m}^n \tag{9}$$

#### 3. ADI method:

The ADI method is a finite difference method for two dimensional (or more) heat flow and diffusion problems. The main idea of the ADI method is to divide the scheme from t to  $t + \Delta t$  into two steps, in the first half step, from t to  $t + \frac{\Delta t}{2}$ , treating one of the spatial derivatives implicitly (say  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}$ ) and treating the other derivative (say  $u_{yy}$ ) explicitly, this lead to the difference equation:

$$u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} - u_{l,m}^{n} = \frac{r_{x}}{2} \delta_{x}^{2} u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{r_{y}}{2} \delta_{y}^{2} u_{l,m}^{n}$$
(10)

The matrix of the unknowns  $u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}}$  will appearing in (10) as a block tridiagonal linear algebraic system of equations and that can solved by the algorithm of tridiagonal linear system. For the second step reverse the treating of the spatial derivatives, i. e. from  $t + \frac{\Delta t}{2}$  to t + 1, treating  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}$  explicitly and treating  $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2}$  implicitly and this lead to the second difference equation:

$$u_{l,m}^{n+1} - u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{r_x}{2} \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{r_y}{2} \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^{n+1}$$
(11)

The unknowns  $u_{l,m}^{n+1}$  in (11) will appearing like equation (10) as a block tridiagonal linear system of algebraic equations and can be solved by the same algorithm.

The two equations (10) and (11) consist the ADI scheme. The ADI Scheme is unconditional stability with simplicity in calculation. Nowadays there are many versions of the method, with applications to elliptic and hyperbolic problems as well as to systems of parabolic equations.

For comparing ADI with the Crank Nicolson scheme consider equation (10), that rewritten as:

$$\left(1 - \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right)u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} = \left(1 + \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2\right)u_{l,m}^n \tag{12}$$

or

$$u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} = \left(1 - \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right)^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2\right) u_{l,m}^n$$
(13)

similarly, equation (11) can be rewritten as:

$$u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left(1 + \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right)u_{l,m}^{n+\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2u_{l,m}^{n+1}$$
(14)

from equation (13) and equation (14) we can get

$$u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left(1 + \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right) \left(1 - \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right)^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2\right) u_{l,m}^n + \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^{n+1}$$
(15)

By simplifying the equation we get

$$\left(1 - \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2\right)u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left(1 + \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right)\left(1 - \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right)^{-1} \times \left(1 + \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2\right)u_{l,m}^n \tag{16}$$

or

$$\left(1 - \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2\right) \left(1 - \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right) u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left(1 + \frac{r_x}{2}\delta_x^2\right) \times \left(1 + \frac{r_y}{2}\delta_y^2\right) u_{l,m}^n \tag{17}$$

with more simplifying we get

$$\left[1 - \frac{1}{2}\left(r_x\delta_x^2 + r_y\delta_y^2\right) + \frac{1}{4}r_xr_y\delta_x^2\delta_y^2\right]u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left[1 + \frac{1}{2}\left(r_x\delta_x^2 + r_y\delta_y^2\right) + \frac{1}{4}r_xr_y\delta_x^2\delta_y^2\right]u_{l,m}^n$$
(18)

Now by comparing equation (18) with the Crank Nicolson scheme, equation (9) we can notice that ADI consider

$$\left(\frac{1}{4}r_xr_y\delta_x^2\delta_y^2\right)u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left(\frac{1}{4}r_xr_y\delta_x^2\delta_y^2\right)u_{l,m}^n \tag{19}$$

in two time steps, n and n + 1.

#### 4. Improved ADI

ADI semi-implicit method is because it expresses one spatial derivative in an explicit difference scheme and the other spatial derivative in implicit difference scheme, if we have a three-dimensional problem then the ADI method will be a one-third implicit method and so on.

In this work, we introduce an improvement to the ADI method to get a finite difference scheme similar to the Crank-Nicolson scheme as follows:

$$u_{l,m}^{\star n+1} - u_{l,m}^n = r_x \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^{\star n+1} + r_y \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^n$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

$$u_{l,m}^{\star\star n+1} - u_{l,m}^n = r_x \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^n + r_y \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^{\star\star n+1}$$
(21)

Then by addition and divided by 2 for equations (20) and (21) we get the average:

$$u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ u_{l,m}^{\star n+1} + u_{l,m}^{\star \star n+1} \right]$$
(22)

The three equations (20), (21) and (22) are consist the Improved ADI scheme. The main idea in improved ADI method is of only one of the 2nd-order replaced derivatives, like ADI method, using implicit finite difference approximation in terms of unknown values of u from (n + 1)th level time, and the other 2nd-order derivative being replaced by an explicit finite difference approximation then solve the resulting system to get the first solution. And repeat this for the second derivative to the same time level and get the second solution, then gather the two solutions and divide them by two. With this technique, we will get a scheme similar to the Crank Nicolson scheme.

The equations (20) and (21) can be solved by tridiagonal matrix algorithm. Both  $u_{l,m}^{\star n+1}$  and  $u_{l,m}^{\star \star n+1}$  represent a solution of equation (1) so replaced by an  $u_{l,m}^{n+1}$ , and the equations (20) and (21) can be rewritten as:

$$(1 - r_x \delta_x^2) u_{l,m}^{n+1} = (1 + r_y \delta_y^2) u_{l,m}^n$$
(23)

$$(1 - r_y \delta_y^2) u_{l,m}^{n+1} = (1 + r_x \delta_x^2) u_{l,m}^n$$
(24)

Add (23) with (24) to get

$$\left[ (1 - r_x \delta_x^2) + (1 - r_y \delta_y^2) \right] u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left[ (1 + r_x \delta_x^2) + (1 + r_y \delta_y^2) \right] u_{l,m}^n$$
(25)

By simplifying the equation, we can get

$$2u_{l,m}^{n+1} - r_x \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^{n+1} - r_y \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^{n+1} = 2u_{l,m}^n + r_x \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^n + r_y \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^n$$
(26)

or

$$2(u_{l,m}^{n+1} - u_{l,m}^{n}) = r_x \delta_x^2 (u_{l,m}^{n+1} + u_{l,m}^{n}) + r_y \delta_y^2 (u_{l,m}^{n+1} + u_{l,m}^{n})$$
(27)

$$u_{l,m}^{n+1} - u_{l,m}^{n} = \frac{1}{2} r_x \delta_x^2 \left( u_{l,m}^{n+1} + u_{l,m}^{n} \right) + \frac{1}{2} r_y \delta_y^2 \left( u_{l,m}^{n+1} + u_{l,m}^{n} \right)$$
(28)

and this led to:

$$\left[1 - \frac{1}{2} \left(r_x \delta_x^2 + r_y \delta_y^2\right)\right] u_{l,m}^{n+1} = \left[1 + \frac{1}{2} \left(r_x \delta_x^2 + r_y \delta_y^2\right)\right] u_{l,m}^n$$
(29)

We can notice that this is the same Crank Nicolson finite difference scheme (9). And so the improved ADI method has the same accuracy as Crank-Nicolson method.

#### 4.1 Stability Analysis of Improved ADI method:

We will use the Von Neumann method to find the stability condition for the improved ADI finite difference scheme [8]. It is common to write

$$u_{l,m}^n = \xi^n e^{i\beta lh} e^{i\gamma mk} \quad (30)$$

where  $i = \sqrt{-1}$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  are real spatial wave numbers and  $\xi$  is the amplification factor.

Theorem 1: The improved ADI finite difference scheme is unconditionally stable. *Proof:* The finite difference scheme (20) and (21) and (22) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{aligned} u_{l,m}^{n+1} &= \frac{1}{2} \Big[ u_{l,m}^{\star n+1} + u_{l,m}^{\star \star n+1} \Big] \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \Big[ \Big( u_{l,m}^{n} + r_x \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^{\star n+1} + r_y \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^{n} \Big) + \Big( u_{l,m}^{n} + r_x \delta_x^2 u_{l,m}^{n} + r_y \delta_y^2 u_{l,m}^{\star \star n+1} \Big) \Big] \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \Big[ u_{l,m}^{n} + r_x \Big( u_{l-1,m}^{\star n+1} - 2u_{l,m}^{\star n+1} + u_{l+1,m}^{\star n+1} \Big) + r_y \Big( u_{l,m-1}^{n} - 2u_{l,m}^{n} + u_{l,m+1}^{n} \Big) \Big] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \Big[ u_{l,m}^{n} + r_x \Big( u_{l-1,m}^{n} - 2u_{l,m}^{n} + u_{l+1,m}^{n} \Big) + r_y \Big( u_{l,m-1}^{\star \star n+1} - 2u_{l,m}^{\star \star n+1} + u_{l,m+1}^{\star \star n+1} \Big) \Big] \end{aligned}$$

use the expression (30) to get we obtain

$$\begin{split} 2\xi^{n+1}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma mk} &= 2\xi^{n}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma mk} + r_{x}(\xi^{\star n+1}e^{i\beta(l-1)h}e^{i\gamma mk} - 2\xi^{\star n+1}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma mk} \\ &+ \xi^{\star n+1}e^{i\beta(l+1)h}e^{i\gamma mk}) + r_{y}(\xi^{n}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma(m-1)k} - 2\xi^{n}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma mk} \\ &+ \xi^{n}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma(m+1)k}) + r_{x}(\xi^{n}e^{i\beta(l-1)h}e^{i\gamma mk} - 2\xi^{n}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma mk} \\ &+ \xi^{n}e^{i\beta(l+1)h}e^{i\gamma mk}) + r_{y}(\xi^{\star \star n+1}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma(m-1)k} \\ &- 2\xi^{\star \star n+1}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma mk} + \xi^{\star \star n+1}e^{i\beta lh}e^{i\gamma(m+1)k}) \end{split}$$

We consider both  $u_{l,m}^{*n+1}$  and  $u_{l,m}^{**n+1}$  as a solution of equation (1) in the level n+1 so we can consider  $\xi^{**n+1}$ ,  $\xi^{*n+1}$  as  $\xi^{n+1}$ . Divided the above equation by  $\xi^n e^{i\beta lh} e^{i\gamma mk}$  to get

$$2\xi = 2 + r_x (\xi e^{-i\beta h} - 2\xi + \xi e^{i\beta h}) + r_y (e^{-i\gamma k} - 2 + e^{i\gamma k}) + r_x (e^{-i\beta h} - 2 + e^{i\beta h}) + r_y (\xi e^{-i\gamma k} - 2\xi + \xi e^{i\gamma})$$

using the formula  $(e^{i\theta} - 2 + e^{-i\theta} = -4\sin^2\frac{\theta}{2})$  to get

$$2\xi = 2 + r_x \xi \left(-4\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2}\right) + r_y \left(-4\sin^2\frac{\gamma k}{2}\right) + r_x \left(-4\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2}\right) + r_y \xi \left(-4\sin^2\frac{\gamma k}{2}\right)$$

rearrange the equation and divided by two to get

$$\xi + r_x \xi \left(2\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2}\right) + r_y \xi \left(2\sin^2\frac{\gamma k}{2}\right) = 1 + r_y \left(-2\sin^2\frac{\gamma k}{2}\right) + r_x \left(-2\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2}\right)$$

this lead to

$$\xi = \frac{1 - 2r_y \sin^2 \frac{\gamma k}{2} - 2r_x \sin^2 \frac{\beta h}{2}}{1 + 2r_x \sin^2 \frac{\beta h}{2} + 2r_y \sin^2 \frac{\gamma k}{2}}$$
(31)

For stability we require  $|\xi| \le 1$ , and from equation (31) for all values of  $r_x$ ,  $r_y$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  This ratio has an absolute value less than or equal to one.

**Table 1**: Results of the example when  $\Delta x = \Delta y = \Delta t$  with T = 0.5.

	$N \times M$	ADI Method		Improve ADI	
		Average Error	Max Error	Average Error	Max Error

1	$10 \times 10$	0.003791562244134	0.013263668239204	0.001359974472108	0.004383685897438
2	$15 \times 15$	0.001990674075311	0.006252252554629	0.000279746819906	0.000995690451892
3	$20 \times 20$	0.001145347137462	0.003448770747655	0.000576055621512	0.001399504353320
4	$25 \times 25$	0.000777710885193	0.002261185531372	0.000144191125440	0.000730750281131
5	$30 \times 30$	0.000541626617549	0.001554638768872	0.000084594696706	0.000651841988994
6	35 × 35	0.000411224398929	0.001161040587889	0.000054859072335	0.000824484762950
7	$40 \times 40$	0.000314098601357	0.000875586629557	0.000064951419127	0.000604186421875

**Numerical Example:** For comparison between the improved ADI and ADI, we will consider the following diffusion equation in two dimensions

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} + f(x, y, t)$$

where  $f(x, y, t) = (2\pi^2 - 1)u$  on the domain 0 < x < 1, 0 < y < 1 with  $0 \le t$  and the initial condition  $u(x, y, 0) = \cos(\pi x)\sin(\pi y)$  and Dirichlet boundary conditions on the rectangle in the form  $u(0, y, t) = -u(1, y, t) = e^{-t}\sin(\pi y)$ , u(x, 0, t) = u(x, 1, t) = 0. The exact solution is given by  $u(x, y, t) = e^{-t}\cos(\pi x)\sin(\pi y)$ .

The table (1) represents the results of the example with different values of  $N \times M$  with two error measures, the average error and the maximum of errors.

#### 5. Results and Conclusion:

The Improved ADI is stable with out condition and consistent with a local truncation error  $O((\Delta t)^2 + (\Delta x)^2 + (\Delta y)^2)$  as Crank Nicolson method. Then by Lax's Equivalence Theorem [8], the converge conditions are satisfied. The ADI method has a local truncation error  $O((\Delta t) + (\Delta x)^2 + (\Delta y)^2)$ .

To solve the two dimensional diffusion equation by Crank Nicolson method we need to solve a linear system of  $(N-1)^2$  equation in every time step, but The ADI techniques reduce the Number of arithmetic operation, we need to solve (n-1) linear system and every system have (N-1) linear equations at every half time step. But with improved ADI method we need to solve (n-1) linear system and every system have (N-1) linear system and every system have (N-1) linear system.

The numerical examples show that the improved ADI method have a good agreement with the theoretical findings. in this paper we consider the diffusion equation in two dimensions, it can be possibly generalized and extended to elliptic and hyperbolic problems and for more than two dimensions.

#### **References:**

- [1] D. Peaceman, H. Rachford, The numerical solution of parabolic and elliptic differential equations, Journal of the Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics 3 (1) (1955) 28–41.
- [2] A. Usadi, C. Dawson, 50 years of adi methods: Celebrating the contributions of jim douglas, don peaceman, and henry rachford, SIAM News 39 (2) 2006.
- [3] M. Abbaszadeh, M. Dehghan, Y. Zhou, Alternating direction implicit-spectral element method (adi-sem) for solving multi-dimensional generalized modified anomalous sub-diffusion equation, Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 78 (5) (2019) 1772–1792.
- [4] R. Chen, F. Liu, V. Anh, A fractional alternating-direction implicit method for a multi-term timespace fractional bloch-torrey equations in three dimensions, Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 78 (5) (2019) 1261 – 1273.
- [5] W. Song, H. Zhang, Memory-optimized shift operator alternating direction implicit finite difference time domain method for plasma, Journal of Computational Physics 349 (2017) 122 – 136.
- [6] N. Ozisik, H. R. B. Orlande, M. J. Colaco, R. M. Cotta, Finite Difference Methods in Heat Transfer, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Heat Transfer. Taylor & Francis 2017.
- [7] A. Z. Elsherbeni, V. Demir, The Finite-difference Time-domain Method for Electromagnetics with MATLAB Simulations, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, SciTech Pub., 2015.
- [8] R. D. Richtmyer, K. W. Morton, Difference Methods for Initial Value Problems, Interscience publishers, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, 1967.

## A Multilevel Approach for Stability Conditions in Fractional Time Diffusion Problems

I. K. Youssef<sup>1</sup> and Adel Rashed A. Ali<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt. E-mail (<u>kaoud22@hotmail.com</u>).

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science (Ibn al-Haitham), University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq.

\*Corresponding author: <u>adil.r.a@ihcoedu.uobaghdad.edu.iq</u>

**Abstract.** The Caputo definition of fractional derivatives introduces solution to the difficulties appears in the numerical treatment of differential equations due its consistency in differentiating constant functions. In the same time the memory and hereditary behaviors of the time fractional order derivatives (TFODE) still common in all definitions of fractional derivatives. The use of properties of companion matrices appears in reformulating multilevel schemes as generalized two level schemes is employed with the Gerschgorin disc theorems to prove stability condition. Caputo fractional derivatives with finite difference representations is considered. Moreover the effect of using the inverse operator which transmit the memory and hereditary effects to other terms is examined. The theoretical results is applied to a numerical example. The calculated solution has a good agreement with the exact solution.

#### **1. Introduction**

The numerical treatment of the standard parabolic equation

 $\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} \quad (1)$ 

with initial condition u(x, 0) = g(x) and Dirichlet boundary conditions of the form u(0, t) = u(1, t) = 0, defined on the domain 0 < x < 1, 0 < t < T, is the cornerstone in the numerical treatment of PDE's in general. Most of the characteristics as well as the difficulties of finite difference method and its common properties appear in this simple form.

The basic idea of the finite difference method depends on the replacement of the derivatives by functional values at different arguments. Accordingly, replacing the functional differential equations by an algebraic relation. The accuracy of the solutions obtained by the use of the finite difference method depends on the convergence, consistency and stability requirements of the corresponding discrete problem. Studying the stability of implicit as well as explicit schemes for equation (1) was the main topic in many publications. Lax equivalence theorem states that satisfaction of only two among the convergence, the consistency and the stability will guarantee the satisfaction of the third. In this work we focus on studying the stability. The importance of proving stability conditions appears in many scientific and economic situations rather than the reliability of solutions. Choosing large steps within the admissible range well reduce the storage requirements as well as the running time. There are different methods used in the stability treatment, Von Neumann, energy and matrix methods are standard techniques [1, 2].

Our main task is to obtain with simple straightforward, easy and realistic method the stability conditions of the explicit scheme of the fractional time counter part equation (1)

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(x,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial^{2} u(x,t)}{\partial x^{2}} + f(x,t), \ 0 < \alpha < 1$$
(2)

with initial condition  $u(x, 0) = u_0(x)$  and Dirichlet boundary conditions of the form u(0, t) = u(1, t) = 0, defined on the domain 0 < x < 1, 0 < t < T, where the fractional order time derivative is understood in the Caputo sense.

The correspondence with the classical multilevel schemes treated in Richtmyer and Morton [2] with the relations on the norm of Frobenius matrices (appears in the reformulation of multilevel schemes as block two level schemes) and moreover the well-known Gerschgorin disc theorems have been reemployed to introduce systematic treatment.

**Definition 1.1** *The Caputo time fractional derivative of order*  $\alpha > 0$  *of the function* u(x,t) *is defined by* [3, 4]:

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(x,t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_0^t (t-s)^{n-\alpha-1} \frac{d^n}{ds^n} u(x,s) ds$$
(3)

where  $\alpha \in (n - 1, n)$ ,  $n \in N$ . If  $\alpha \in N$  then this will coincide with the classical partial derivative.

Equation (2) have appeared in many applications in physics, continuum mechanics, signal processing, and electromagnetic. Also, many publications have mentioned in biology, chemistry and biochemistry, hydrology, medicine, and finance [3, 4]. The fractional order partial differential equations (FOPDEs) are used to model anomalous diffusion and Hamiltonian Chaos. These equations describe the asymptotic behavior of continuous time random walks. Stochastic solutions to the simplest governing equations are Levy motions, generalizing the Brownian motion solution to the classical diffusion equation. Fractional kinetic equations have proved particularly useful in the context of anomalous subdiffusion [5, 6].

The fractional derivative considers the memory and hereditary effects which is not the case of the classical integer derivative which considers only the local behavior. In this work we are interested in this point and its effects on the stability conditions of the explicit schemes. Moreover, the corresponding between the treatment in the stability of multilevel schemes in the integer case and the explicit schemes in the fractional order case have been considered.

Models described in the form of FOPDEs, tend to be more appropriate for the description of memorial and hereditary properties of various materials and processes than the traditional integer order models [7].

It is interesting to note that the FOPDEs is a generalization of the classical partial differential equations and the limiting prosses as the fractional order approaches the classical integer order must introduce the classical case  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , [8].

It is well known that there is no analytical method that can be considered as a master method for solving PDEs the situation in FOPDEs is more complicated. Laplace and Fourier transform methods [9] have their limitation. Semianalytic methods like the series solution method, the Adomian decomposition method [10] suffer from the complicated integrations. Numerical methods became the most reliable treatment in solving many problems in PDEs due to the development in computer devices. The finite difference method is considered as one of the simplest numerical methods that can treat many different problems [1, 11].

A number of numerical methods have been developed to solve the time fractional diffusion equation with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Yuste and Acedo [12] proposed a procedure with a new Von Neumann-type stability analysis in one dimension using Grünwald approximation for time fractional derivative. Liu et al [8] proposed another stability analysis procedure using discrete non-Markovian random walk approximation for time fractional derivative. LI and XU propose a spectral method in both temporal and spatial discretization [13]. Meerschaert et al. [14] use finite difference approximations for fractional advection-dispersion flow equations and other numerical methods with finite difference approximation to fractional derivative [15, 16, 17, 18] with Von Neumann and matrix methods to study the stability analysis and convergence of the methods.

In the finite difference method, the continuous domain is replaced by a discrete grid superimpose the domain under consideration and the derivatives are replaced by the corresponding differences of functional values obtaining algebraic equation at each grid point. Solutions obtained by the finite difference method must satisfy some tests of consistency, stability and convergence to be reliable. Some authors prefer to write the time fractional diffusion equation in the form [5, 12]:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^{1-\alpha}}{\partial t^{1-\alpha}} \left( \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} \right) + \frac{\partial^{1-\alpha}}{\partial t^{1-\alpha}} f(x,t)$$
(4)

This form appears to have many difficulties in the finite difference approximation because it includes the time derivatives in both sides even the derivatives in the left-hand side is of integer order.

Any algorithm using a finite difference discretization of the time fractional derivative has to take into account its nonlocal structure, i. e. the computation of the solution at a time level requires information about the solution at all previous time levels, which means high storage requirement.

To deal with this issue, Ford and Simpson [19] and Diethelm and Freed [20], developed a numerical technique to reduce the computational cost of the solution using the so called "fixed memory principle" as described in Podlubny [4]. We will discuss and compare between equation (2) and equation (4) with discretization of time fractional derivative by Caputo definition, formula (7), for both equations with use the Multilevel method to derive the stability conditions.

#### 2. The Finite Difference Method

In the Finite difference method (FDM) every differential equation is approximated by a corresponding finite differences scheme. The domain  $[0,1] \times [0,T]$  of the given parabolic equation is superimposed with a grid. The interval [a,b] is divided into J subintervals with length  $\Delta x = h = \frac{1}{J}$ ,  $x_j = jh$ , for  $j = 0,1,2,\dots,J$  and define the time step  $\Delta t = \tau$  and  $t_n = n\tau$ .

The explicit scheme corresponding to equation (1) can be written in the form [2, 23]

$$u_j^{n+1} = ru_{j-1}^n + (1-2r)u_j^n + ru_{j+1}^n$$
(5)

this scheme is consistent and stable for  $r = \frac{\tau}{h^2} \le \frac{1}{2}$ . To obtain the corresponding scheme for the fractional order equation (2) one must use the discretization of fractional order derivative, the inverse operator form equation (4) is also considered.

#### 2.1. Discretization of Caputo Fractional derivatives

The time fractional derivative replaced by Caputo fractional derivative of order  $\alpha$ , definition 1.1, and we use the following formulation [8]

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(x_j, t_{n+1})}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = w_{\alpha}^{\tau} \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_k^{\alpha} (u_j^{n-k+1} - u_j^{n-k})$$
(6)

where  $w_{\alpha}^{\tau} = \frac{\tau^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)}$  and  $b_k^{\alpha} = (k+1)^{1-\alpha} - k^{1-\alpha}$ , for  $k = 0, 1, 2, \dots, n$ , which can be rearranged in the form

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u(x_j, t_{n+1})}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = w_{\alpha}^{\tau} \Big[ u_j^{n+1} - \sum_{k=1}^n c_k^{\alpha} u_j^{n-k+1} - b_n^{\alpha} u_j^0 \Big]$$
(7)

with  $c_k^{\alpha} = b_{k-1}^{\alpha} - b_k^{\alpha}$ .

**Properties 1:** the coefficients  $b_k^{\alpha}$  and  $c_k^{\alpha}$  having the following properties: •  $c_k^{\alpha} = 2k^{1-\alpha} - (k-1)^{1-\alpha} - (k+1)^{1-\alpha}$ ,  $k = 1,2,3,\cdots$ . And  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k^{\alpha} = 1$ . •  $1 > 2 - 2^{1-\alpha} = c_1^{\alpha} > c_2^{\alpha} > c_3^{\alpha} > \cdots$ , with  $\lim_{k \to \infty} c_k^{\alpha} = 0$ . •  $1 = b_0^{\alpha} > b_1^{\alpha} > b_2^{\alpha} > b_3^{\alpha} > \cdots$ , with  $\lim_{k \to \infty} b_k^{\alpha} = 0$ .

Replacing the time derivative using equation (7) at the grid point  $(x_l, t_n)$  and the space derivatives with the central difference approximation at the same grid point  $(x_l, t_n)$ , then the explicit scheme for the solution of equation (2) have the following difference equation

$$u_{j}^{n+1} = b_{n}^{\alpha} u_{j}^{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k}^{\alpha} u_{j}^{n+1-k} + r_{\alpha} \Gamma(2-\alpha) \delta_{x}^{2} u_{j}^{n} + \frac{1}{w_{\alpha}^{\tau}} f_{j}^{n}$$
(8)

#### 3. Stability in Multilevel schemes

The Von Neumann technique for stability analysis uses for a two-time level finite difference scheme but for more than two-time level schemes we need to use the multilevel technique to check the stability conditions, for more details about this technique see [21, 22].

#### 4. Discretization of Time Fractional Derivatives

Replacing the derivatives appears in differential equation by their finite difference approximations one obtains a corresponding scheme. The scheme properties (consistency, stability and convergence) should be examined to obtain reliable results. The same approach is used in case of fractional derivatives. We consider the fractional time derivative in Caputo definition and study its finite difference approximations, also we use this approximation in the diffusion like equations (2) and (4). The amplification matrix described above can be obtained with the Von Neumann method and Multilevel finite difference technique to study the stability conditions of the fractional time finite difference scheme. Putting

$$_{i}^{n} = \xi^{n} e^{i\beta jh} \tag{9}$$

where  $i = \sqrt{-1}$  and  $\beta$  is a real spatial wave number.

The explicit scheme (8) is conditionally stable and the stability condition is  $r_{\alpha} \leq \frac{1-2^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)}$ , Liu et al [8]. We use the multilevel approach and obtain the same stability condition in the next theorem 4.1. The condition is depending on  $\alpha$ , figure 1 ( $\alpha$ ).



Figure 1: the stability condition on  $r_{\alpha}$ , left (a) for equation (8) and right (b) for equation (22)

**Theorem 4.1:** The fractional explicit scheme (8) is conditionally stable and the stability condition is  $r_{\alpha} \leq \frac{1-2^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\alpha)}$ .

Proof: The scheme (8) is a multilevel scheme and can be rewritten

$$u_j^{n+1} = [c_1^{\alpha} + r_{\alpha} \Gamma(2-\alpha) \delta_x^2] u_j^n + \sum_{k=2}^n c_k^{\alpha} u_j^{n+1-k} + b_n^{\alpha} u_j^0 + \frac{1}{w_{\alpha}^{\tau}} f_j^n$$
(10)

then the multilevel amplification matrix C can be defined by square block matrix of order (n + 1) and every element of C is of order J - 1:

$$\mathbf{C} = \begin{bmatrix} (c_1^{\alpha} + r_{\alpha}\Gamma(2 - \alpha)\delta_x^2)I & (c_2^{\alpha})I & (c_3^{\alpha})I & \dots & (c_n^{\alpha})I & (b_n^{\alpha})I \\ I & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & 0 & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & I & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(11)

for the amplification matrix Insert expression (9) in equation (7) then we get  $\xi^{n+1}e^{i\beta jh} = \xi^0 b_n^{\alpha} e^{i\beta jh} + \sum_{k=1}^n c_k^{\alpha} \xi^{n+1-k} e^{i\beta jh} + r_{\alpha} \Gamma(2-\alpha) \xi^n \left[ e^{i\beta(j+1)h} - 2e^{i\beta jh} + e^{i\beta(j-1)h} \right] (12)$ Divided by  $e^{i\beta jh}$  and using the formula  $\left( e^{i\theta} - 2 + e^{-i\theta} \right) = -4\sin^2 \frac{\theta}{2}$  to get

$$\xi^{n+1} = \xi^0 b_n^{\alpha} + \sum_{k=1}^n c_k^{\alpha} \xi^{n+1-k} + r_{\alpha} \Gamma(2-\alpha) \xi^n \left[ -4\sin^2 \frac{\beta h}{2} \right]$$
(13)

can be rewritten

$$\xi^{n+1} = \xi^n \left[ c_1^{\alpha} - 4r_{\alpha} \Gamma(2-\alpha) \sin^2 \frac{\beta h}{2} \right] + \sum_{k=2}^n c_k^{\alpha} \xi^{n+1-k} + \xi^0 b_n^{\alpha} \tag{14}$$

then the amplification matrix M can be defined by square block matrix of order (n + 1) and every element of M is of order (J - 1):

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} (c_1^{\alpha} - 4r_{\alpha}\Gamma(2 - \alpha)\sigma)I & (c_2^{\alpha})I & (c_3^{\alpha})I & \dots & (c_n^{\alpha})I & (b_n^{\alpha})I \\ I & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & I & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(15)

From Gerschgorin theorem for estimating the eigne values of any matrix [24], all rows of matrix M gives eigne values lies in the union of unit discs centered at (0,0) in the complex plan except those corresponding to the first block. For each row of the first block one can see that the corresponding eigenvalue satisfies

$$|\lambda| \le \left| c_1^{\alpha} - 4r_{\alpha} \Gamma(2-\alpha) \sin^2 \frac{\beta h}{2} \right| + \sum_{k=2}^n |c_k^{\alpha}| + |b_n^{\alpha}| \tag{16}$$

by the properties 1 we have  $c_k^{\alpha} > 0$ ,  $b_n^{\alpha} > 0$ , and  $\sum_{k=2}^n c_k^{\alpha} = 2^{1-\alpha} - 1 - b_n^{\alpha}$ , this lead to

$$|\lambda| \le \left| 2 - 2^{1-\alpha} - 4r_{\alpha}\Gamma(2-\alpha)\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2} \right| + 2^{1-\alpha} - 1$$
(17)

if the right-hand inequality is less than or equal to one then  $|\lambda| \leq 1$ , then we have

$$-(2-2^{1-\alpha}) \le \left(2-2^{1-\alpha}-4r_{\alpha}\Gamma(2-\alpha)\sin^{2}\frac{\beta h}{2}\right) \le 2-2^{1-\alpha}$$
(18)

the right-hand inequality is satisfied and we need to calculate the condition on  $r_{\alpha}$  to make the lefthand inequality satisfied, this lead to

$$4r_{\alpha}\Gamma(2-\alpha)\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2} \le 4 - 2^{2-\alpha}$$
<sup>(19)</sup>

then the stability condition is

$$r_{\alpha} \le \frac{1 - 2^{-\alpha}}{\Gamma(2 - \alpha)} \tag{20}$$

For equation (4) the time derivatives appears in both sides makes the finite difference representation is implicit and to obtain the explicit scheme and moreover the implicit, we introduce the weighted average approach to the time derivatives in the right hand side i.e we replace the term  $\frac{\partial^{1-\alpha}}{\partial t^{1-\alpha}} \left( \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} \right)$  by its weighted approximation at the preceding time levels.

$$\theta \left[ \frac{\partial^{1-\alpha}}{\partial t^{1-\alpha}} \left( \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t_n)}{\partial x^2} \right) \right] + (1-\theta) \left[ \frac{\partial^{1-\alpha}}{\partial t^{1-\alpha}} \left( \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t_{n-1})}{\partial x^2} \right) \right]$$
(21)

Thus for  $\theta = 0$ , one obtains the explicit scheme obtained for equation (4) in the form

$$\frac{u_{j}^{n+1}-u_{j}^{n}}{\tau} = \frac{1}{h^{2}} \frac{\tau^{-(1-\alpha)}}{\Gamma(2-(1-\alpha))} \Big[ \delta_{x}^{2} u_{j}^{n} - \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_{k}^{1-\alpha} \delta_{x}^{2} u_{j}^{n-k} - b_{n-1}^{1-\alpha} \delta_{x}^{2} u_{j}^{0} \Big] \\ + \frac{\tau^{-(1-\alpha)}}{\Gamma(2-(1-\alpha))} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} b_{k}^{1-\alpha} \Big[ f(x_{j}, t_{n-k}) - f(x_{j}, t_{n-1-k}) \Big]$$
(22)

This fractional explicit scheme is conditionally stable and the stability condition is  $r_{\alpha} \leq \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha)}{4}$ , theorem 4.2. It is apparent that the condition is depend on  $\alpha$  the fractional order of the time derivative as shown in figure 1 (b), this is more convenient and includes the integer case.

**Theorem 4.2:** The fractional explicit scheme (22) is conditionally stable and the stability condition is  $r_{\alpha} \leq \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha)}{4}$ .

Proof. The scheme (22) is a multilevel scheme and can be rewritten

$$u_{j}^{n+1} = u_{j}^{n} + \mu \left[ \delta_{x}^{2} u_{j}^{n} - \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_{k}^{\gamma} \delta_{x}^{2} u_{j}^{n-k} - b_{n-1}^{\gamma} \delta_{x}^{2} u_{j}^{0} \right] + \frac{\tau^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(2-\gamma)} \left[ f_{j}^{n} - \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_{k}^{\gamma} f_{j}^{n-k} - b_{n-1}^{\gamma} f_{j}^{0} \right]$$
(23)

where  $\gamma = 1 - \alpha$ , and  $\mu = \frac{r_{\alpha}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)}$ , then the multilevel amplification matrix *C* can be defined by square block matrix of order (n + 1) and every element of *C* is of order J - 1:

$$\mathbf{C} = \begin{bmatrix} (1+\mu \ \delta_x^2)I & (-\mu \ c_1^{\gamma} \ \delta_x^2)I & (-\mu \ c_2^{\gamma} \ \delta_x^2)I & \dots \ (-\mu \ c_{n-1}^{\gamma} \ \delta_x^2)I & (b_{n-1}^{\gamma} \ \delta_x^2)I \\ I & 0 & 0 & \dots \ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & \dots \ 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots \ 0 & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots \ I & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(24)

for the amplification matrix insert expression (9) in equation (23) and divide by  $e^{i\beta lh}$  to get

$$\xi^{n+1} = \xi^n + \mu \left[ (-4\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2})\xi^n + 4\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2}\sum_{k=1}^{n-1}c_k^{\gamma}\xi^{n-k} + 4b_{n-1}^{\gamma}\sin^2\frac{\beta h}{2}\xi^0 \right]$$
(25)

can be rewritten

$$\xi^{n+1} = (1 - 4\mu\sigma)\xi^n + 4\mu\sigma\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_k^{\gamma}\xi^{n-k} + 4\mu\sigma b_{n-1}^{\gamma}\xi^0$$
(26)

then the amplification matrix M can be defined by square block matrix of order (n + 1) and every element of M is of order (J - 1):

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} (1 - 4\mu\sigma)I & (4\mu\sigma c_1^{\gamma})I & (4\mu\sigma c_2^{\gamma})I & \dots & (4\mu\sigma c_{n-1}^{\gamma})I & (4\mu\sigma b_{n-1}^{\gamma})I \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & I & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(27)

Employing the same procedure of using Gerschgorin theorem [24], as used in theorem 4.1 we find

$$|\lambda| \le |1 - 4\mu\sigma| + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} |4\mu\sigma \ c_k^{\gamma}| + |4\mu\sigma b_{n-1}^{\gamma}|$$
(28)

by the properties 1 we have  $c_k^{\gamma} > 0$ ,  $b_{n-1}^{\gamma} > 0$ , and  $\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_k^{\gamma} = 1 + (n-1)^{1-\gamma} - n^{1-\gamma} = 1 - b_{n-1}$ , this lead to

$$|\lambda| \le |1 - 4\mu\sigma| + 4\mu\sigma(1 - b_{n-1}^{\gamma}) + 4\mu\sigma b_{n-1}^{\gamma}$$
(29)

if the right hand inequality is less than or equal to one then  $|\lambda| \leq 1$ , then we have

$$|1 - 4 \mu \sigma| + 4 \mu \sigma \le 1 \tag{30}$$

then one can write

$$-(1 - 4 \ \mu \ \sigma) \le 1 - 4 \ \mu \ \sigma \le 1 - 4 \ \mu \ \sigma \tag{31}$$

the right hand inequality is satisfied and we need to calculate the condition on  $r_{\alpha}$  to make the left hand inequality satisfied, this lead to

$$8\mu \sigma \leq 2$$
 (32)

then the stability condition is

 $r_{\alpha} \le \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha)}{4} \quad (33)$ 

#### 5. Consistency of Time Fractional Finite Difference Schemes

The Caputo fractional derivative of  $O(\tau)$  [8], and from the Taylor's expansion, we have

$$\frac{1}{h^2}\delta_x^2 u_j^n = \frac{\partial^2 u(x,t)}{\partial x^2} + \frac{1}{2}h^2 \frac{\partial^4 u(x,t)}{\partial x^4} + O(h^4)$$
(34)

Therefore, the difference schemes (8) and (22) for TFODE are consistent. The truncation error can be calculated and it is of the form  $[O(\tau) + O(h^2)]$ .



Figure 2: Comparison between the two schemes with the exact solution where  $\alpha = 0.9$ ,  $\Delta x = 0.1$ ,  $\Delta t = 0.00125$  and T = 0.025. The absolute Errors in the right and the solutions in the left where N1 and N2 are the numerical solutions by schemes (8) and (22) respectively.

**Example 5.1** To test the two explicit formulas (8) and (22) consider equation (2) with  $f(x,t) = [(\frac{\partial^{\alpha}}{\partial t^{\alpha}}e^{-t}) + \pi^2 e^{-t}]\sin(\pi x)$ , with initial condition  $u(x,0) = \sin(\pi x)$  and Dirichlet boundary conditions in the form u(0,t) = u(1,t) = 0 the exact solution is  $u(x,t) = e^{-t}\sin(\pi x)$ .



Figure 3: Comparison between the two schemes with the exact solution where  $\alpha = 0.8$ ,  $\Delta x = 0.1$ ,  $\Delta t = 0.0005$  and T = 0.01. The absolute Errors in the right and the solutions in the left where N1 and N2 are the numerical solutions by schemes (8) and (22) respectively.



**Figure 4**: Comparison between the two schemes with the exact solution where  $\alpha = 0.7$ ,  $\Delta x = 0.1$ ,  $\Delta t = 0.00025$  and T = 0.005. The absolute Errors in the right and the solutions in the left where N1 and N2 are the numerical solutions by schemes (8) and (22) respectively.

#### 6. Discussion and Conclusion

The implicit schemes are generally unconditional stable and the explicit schemes are conditionally stable and. In explicit schemes one obtains the solutions easily but the conditions on time steps restrict and increase the computational work. In the implicit schemes one has to solve coupled large algebraic systems in each time level. There are many methods to establish stability conditions among them the Von Neumann and the matrix methods are easily used. Consistency is a simple property and its prove is a reversible process to see the original differential equation from its finite difference representation.

There are many problems in describing and establishing the properties of the finite difference schemes in the fractional order cases in comparison with the classical integer cases some of them due to the memory and hereditary effects. Simple stability proves through using the techniques of classical multilevel schemes were introduced. The theorems of Gerschgorin's discs are applied to the amplification matrices. We have used the technique of multilevel in proving the condition of stability for two schemes for the time fractional diffusion equation. The method of prove is straightforward and more convenient and contains memory effects implicitly. we examined the conditions on numerical example.

In conclusion the explicit schemes still require small time steps in comparison with implicit schemes. The use of inverse operator has improved the calculated solutions and this is acceptable as illustrated because it extended the memory effects to the spatial terms.

It should be pointed that, the suggested methods can be possibly extended to finite difference schemes for variable order TFODE [25], anomalous order TFODE [26] and fractional advection diffusion equations [27].

#### **References:**

- [1] A. R. Mitchal and D. F. Griffiths, The Finite Difference Method in Partial Differential Equations. John Wiley and Sons, 1980.
- [2] Robert D. Richtmyer and K. W. Morton, Difference Methods for Initial Value Problems, Interscience publishers, second edition, 1967.
- [3] K.S. Miller and B. Ross, An Introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations. New York: Wiley-Interscience Publ., 1993.
- [4] I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations, Camb. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 1999.
- [5] R. Metzler and J. Klafter, The random walk's guide to anomalous diffusion: a fractional dynamics approach. Physics reports, 339 (1) (2000) 1–77.
- [6] R. Gorenflo, F. Mainardi, D. Moretti, P. Paradisi, Time fractional diffusion: a discrete random walk approach, Nonlinear Dynamics, 29(1-4) (2002) 129–143.
- [7] S. G. Samko, A. A. Kilbas, O. I. Marichev, Fractional integrals and derivatives, Theory and Applications, Gordon and Breach, Yverdon, 1993.

- [8] F. Liu, S. Shen, V. Anh, I. Turner, Analysis of a discrete non-markovian random walk approximation for the time fractional diffusion equation, ANZIAM J. 46 (E) (2005) C488–C504.
- [9] M. M. Meerschaert, D. A. Benson, H. P. Scheffler, B. Baeumer, Stochastic solution of space-time fractional diffusion equations, Phys. Rev. E, 65 (2002) 041103.
- [10] H. Jafari, V. Daftardar-Gejji, Solving linear and nonlinear fractional diffusion and wave equations by adomian decomposition, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 180 (2) (2006) 488–497.
- [11] A. M. A. El-Sayed, S. M. Helal, M. S. El-Azab, Solution of a parabolic weakly-singular partial integro-differential equation with multi-point nonlocal boundary conditions, JFCA 7 (1) (2016) 1–11.
- [12] S. B. Yuste, L. Acedo, An explicit finite difference method and a new Von Neumann-type stability analysis for fractional diffusion equations. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 42 (5) (2005) 1862–1874.
- [13] X. Li, C. Xu, A space-time spectral method for the time fractional diffusion equation. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis 47 (3) (2009) 2108–2131.
- [14] M. M. Meerschaert, C. Tadjeran, Finite difference approximation for fractional advectiondispersion flow equations, J. Comput. Appl. Math 172 (1) (2004) 65–77.
- [15] Y. Lin, C. Xu, spectral approximations for the time fractional diffusion equation, J. Comput. Phys., 225 (2007) 1533–1552.
- [16] S. Shen, F. Liu, Error analysis of an explicit finite difference for the space fractional diffusion equation with insulated ends, ANZIAM J. 46(E) (2005) C871–C887.
- [17] F. Liu, P. Zhuang, V. Anh, I. Turner, A fractional-order implicit difference approximation for the space-time fractional diffusion equation, ANZIAM J, 47 (EMAC2005) (2006) C48–C68.
- [18] C. Tadjeran, M. M. Meerschaert, H. Scheffler, A second order accurate numerical approximation for the fractional diffusion equation, J. Comput. Phys. 213 (1) (2006) 205–213.
- [19] N. J. Ford, A. C. Simpson, The numerical solution of fractional differential equations: Speed versus accuracy, Numerical Algorithms 26 (4) (2001) 333–346.
- [20] K. Diethelm, A. Freed, An efficient algorithm for the evaluation of convolution integrals. Computers and Mathematics with Applications 51 (1) (2006) 51 – 72.
- [21] E. A. Al-taai, A. R. A. Ali, On the Stability Conditions of 2D Time Fractional Diffusion Equation. Al-Qadisiyah Journal of Pure Science (QJPS) 25 (1) (2014) 11-15.
- [22] A. R. A. Ali, I. K. Youssef, Numerical Treatment Based on Spectral Methods for Diffusion Like Problems. PhD thesis, Ain Shams University. Faculty of Science. Department of mathematics, thesis (Ph.D) (2016).
- [23] G. D. Smith, Numerical Solution of Partial Differential Equations Finite Difference Methods. Oxford University Press, 1978.
- [24] R. S. Varga, Gersgorin and His Circles, 1<sup>st</sup> Edition, Vol. 36 of Springer Series in Computational Mathematics, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2004.
- [25] S. Shen, F. Liu, J. Chen, I. Turner, V. Anh, Numerical techniques for the variable order time fractional diffusion equation, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 218 (22) (2012) 10861 – 10870.
- [26] H. Sun, W. Chen, C. Li, Y. Chen, Fractional differential models for anomalous diffusion. Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 389 (14) (2010) 2719 2724.
- [27] E. Sousa, An explicit high order method for fractional advection diffusion equations. Journal of Computational Physics 278 (2014) 257 274.

# A Modified Generalization of Fractional Calculus Operators in A Complex Domain

#### Zainab E. Abdulnaby

Department of Mathematics, College of Science, Mustansiriyah University,

Baghdad, Iraq

#### zainabesa@uomustansiriyah.edu.iq

**Abstract:** This investigation deals with a new generalization for fractional calculus operators in a complex domain based on the well-known hypergeometric function. Conditions are forced for these generalized operators such as the upper bounds. Other properties for the above operators are also presented. Besides, the employment of these operators is proposed in the

geometric function theory.

**Keywords:** Fractional Integral operator, Fractional differential operators, Univalent function, Convex function, Hypergeometric function, Bessel function, Wright functions.

#### 1. Introduction

Fractional Calculus is a powerful tool that has been recently applied to complex mathematical with linear operators. Despite its complicated mathematical background, fractional calculus came to open a new window of opportunity to mathematical and real-world, which has appeared many new problems and acceptable results. For instance, the concepts of fractional calculus operators and their generalizations of analytic and univalent functions have been successfully obtained to determine the basic geometric properties such as the coefficient estimates and distortion inequalities for numerous subclasses of analytic functions, adding to that studied some their topological properties in a complex plane (see [1-3]).

In [4] introduced an approach of the fractional integral operator defined for |z| < 1 and real numbers  $\rho, \mu \in R, \mathcal{R}(\omega) > 0$  by

$$\mathscr{P}_{0,z}^{\omega,\mu,\rho}\psi(z) \coloneqq \frac{z^{-(\omega+\mu)}}{\Gamma(\omega)} \int_0^z (z-\zeta)^{\omega-1} \psi(\zeta) \,_2F_1\left(\omega+\mu,-\rho,\mu;1-\frac{\zeta}{z}\right) d\zeta,\tag{1}$$

where the function  $\psi(z)$  is analytic in a simply-connected region of the  $z^-$  plane containing the origin, with the order  $\psi(z) = O(|z|^{\epsilon})$ ,  $(z \to 0)$ , for  $\epsilon > \max\{0, \mu - \rho\} - 1$ , and the multiplicity of  $(z - \zeta)^{\omega - 1}$  is removed by requiring  $log(z - \zeta)$  to be real when  $z - \zeta > 0$ . Here,  $\Gamma(.)$  is the Gamma function and  $_2F_1(a, b, c; z)$  is the absolutely convergent Gauss hypergeometric function given for  $a, b, c \in C, c > 0$  by the power series [5]:

$$_{2}F_{1}(a,b,c;z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{m}(b)_{m}}{(c)_{m}} \frac{z^{m}}{m!}, \qquad |z| < 1$$

where

$$(\gamma)_m = \frac{\Gamma(m+\gamma)}{\Gamma(\gamma)} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } m = 0\\ \gamma(\gamma+1) \dots (\gamma+m-1), & \forall m \in N \end{cases}$$

is the Pochhammer symbol defined in terms of Gamma function.

Recently, [6] defined a modification of the fractional integral  $\Phi_z^{\alpha,\beta}$  and differential  $T_z^{\alpha,\beta}$  operators of order two parameters  $0 < \alpha \le 1$  and  $0 < \beta \le 1$  such that  $0 \le \alpha - \beta < 1$ , respectively, are presented as follows:

$$\Phi_{z}^{\alpha,\beta}\psi(z) \coloneqq \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} z^{1-\alpha} \int_{0}^{z} (z-\zeta)^{\alpha-\beta-1} \zeta^{\beta-1}\psi(\zeta)d\zeta$$
(2)

and

$$T_{z}^{\alpha,\beta}\psi(z) \coloneqq \frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)} z^{1-\beta} \int_{0}^{z} (z-\zeta)^{\beta-\alpha} \zeta^{\alpha-1}\psi(\zeta)d\zeta$$
(3)

where the function  $\psi(z)$  is analytic in a simply-connected region of the z- plane containing the origin, both of the multiplicity of  $(z - \zeta)^{\alpha - \beta - 1}$  and  $(z - \zeta)^{\beta - \alpha}$  are respectively removed by requiring  $\log(z - \zeta)$  to be real when  $z - \zeta > 0$ .

In this study, we shall restrict our attention to define new fractional calculus operators in the complex plane. The upper bounds for these operators given in terms of the univalent and convex functions. Some geometric applications associated with the Bessel function of the first kind are presented by the generalized Wright functions in the sense of generalization.

#### 2. New classes of generalized fractional calculus operators

In this section, we proposed to define generalized fractional integral and differential operators in the classical definitions, where the order of the fractional integral and fractional differential operators must be positive real numbers. Our definition has been based on important remarks concerning in equations (2) and (3).

Now, we employ equation (1) in (2) to introduce a new generalized fractional integral operator  $\mathcal{M}_{\pi}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}$  as follows:

**Definition 1.** Let  $\mu > 0$  and  $\rho > 0$  be real numbers and  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  such that

 $0 < \alpha - \beta \le 1$ . Then the fractional integral operator  $\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}\psi(z) \coloneqq \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)z^{1-2\alpha-\mu+\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_{0}^{z} (z-\zeta)^{\alpha-\beta-1} \zeta^{\beta-1} \psi(\zeta)_{2} F_{1}\left(\alpha-\beta+\mu,-\rho,\alpha-\beta;1-\frac{\zeta}{z}\right) d\zeta$$
(4)

where the function  $\psi(z)$  is analytic in a simply-connected region of the *z*-plane containing the origin with the order  $\psi(z) = O(|z|^{\epsilon})$ ,  $(z \to 0)$ , for  $\epsilon > \max\{0, \mu - \rho\} - 1$  and the multiplicity of  $(z - \zeta)^{\alpha - \beta - 1}$  is removed as in equations (2).

**Remarke 1.** By setting  $\mu = \beta - \alpha$  in (4), we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\beta-\alpha,\rho}\psi(z) = \Phi_{z}^{\alpha,\beta}\psi(z)$$

Next, we applying equation (1) in (3) to define a new generalized fractional differential operator  $\aleph_z^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}$  by the following formula.

**Definition 2.** Let  $\mu > 0$  and  $\rho > 0$  be real numbers and  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  such that  $0 \le \alpha - \beta < 1$ . The generalized fractional differential operator  $\aleph_z^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}$  is defined by:

$$\mathfrak{K}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}\psi(z) \coloneqq \frac{\Gamma(\beta)z^{1-\beta}}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)}\frac{d}{dz}\left\{z^{\alpha-\beta-\mu}\int_{0}^{z}\zeta^{\alpha-1}\left(z\right)^{\beta-\alpha}\psi(\zeta)\right\}_{2}F_{1}\left(\beta-\alpha+\mu,1-\rho,1-\alpha+\beta;1-\frac{\zeta}{z}\right)d\zeta$$
(5)

where the function  $\psi(z)$  is analytic in a simply-connected region of the *z*-plane containing the origin with order as given by (3).

**Remark 2.** By setting  $\mu = \alpha - \beta$  in (5), then we obtain the following closed results:

$$\aleph_z^{\alpha,\beta,\alpha-\beta,\rho}\psi(z)=T_z^{\alpha,\beta}\psi(z).$$

We shall need the following Definition to present the next outcomes in our investigation.

**Definition 3.** [5] For the real numbers c > 0 and  $\sigma > 0$ , the hypergeometric function  ${}_2F_1$  in the integral terms is shown as follows:

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b,c;z) \coloneqq \int_{0}^{1} \gamma(s) {}_{2}F_{1}(a,b,\sigma;zs) ds$$

where

$$\gamma(s) = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(\sigma)\Gamma(c-\sigma)} s^{\sigma-1} (1-s)^{c-\sigma-1}.$$

Also, we use the familiar Gauss equation

$$_{2}F_{1}(a,b,c;1) = \frac{\Gamma(c)\Gamma(c-a-b)}{\Gamma(c-a)\Gamma(c-b)}, \qquad \mathcal{R}(c-a-b) > 0.$$

The next results are based on two formulas of generalized fractional integral (4) and generalized fractional differential (5) with a power function.

**Lemma 1.** If  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  such that  $0 < \alpha - \beta \le 1$  and  $\nu > \mu - \rho - 1$ , then

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}z^{\nu} = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\beta+\rho-\mu)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\beta-\mu)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha+\rho)}z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+\nu}, \qquad |z| < 1$$
(6)

in particular,

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\beta-\alpha,\rho}z^{\nu} = \Phi_{z}^{\alpha,\beta}z^{\nu}.$$

**Proof.** By using equation (4) and applying Definition 3, we get

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}z^{\nu} = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)z^{1-2\alpha-\mu+\beta}}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_{0}^{z} (z-\zeta)^{\alpha-\beta-1} \zeta^{\nu+\beta-1}{}_{2}F_{1}\left(\alpha-\beta+\mu,-\rho,\alpha-\beta;1-\frac{\zeta}{z}\right)d\zeta$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+\nu}}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)} \int_0^1 t^{\alpha-\beta-1} (1-t)^{\nu+\beta-1} {}_2F_1(\alpha-\beta+\mu,-\rho,\alpha-\beta;t) dt \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\beta)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha)} z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+\nu} {}_2F_1(\alpha-\beta+\mu,-\rho,\nu+\alpha;1) \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\beta+\rho-\mu)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\beta-\mu)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha+\rho)} z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+\nu} . \end{split}$$

Similarly to the proof of Lemma 1, it is proved the association of the generalized fractional differential operator (5) with a power function.

**Lemma 2.** If  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  such that  $0 \le \alpha - \beta < 1$  and  $\nu > \mu - \rho - 1$ , then

$$\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}z^{\nu} = \frac{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha-\mu+\rho)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha-\mu)\Gamma(\nu+\beta+\rho)}z^{\nu+\alpha-\beta-\mu}, \quad |z| < 1$$
(7)

in particular,

$$\aleph_z^{\alpha,\beta,\alpha-\beta,\rho} z^{\nu} = T_z^{\alpha,\beta} z^{\nu}.$$

**Proof.** By using equation (5) to the function  $z^{\nu}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho} z^{\nu} &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta)z^{1-\beta}}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)} \frac{d}{dz} \bigg\{ z^{\alpha-\beta-\mu} \int_{0}^{z} \zeta^{\nu+\alpha-1} (z \\ &- \zeta)^{\beta-\alpha} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\beta-\alpha+\mu, , 1-\rho, 1-\alpha+\beta; 1-\frac{\zeta}{z}\right) d\zeta \bigg\} \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta)z^{1-\beta}}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)} \frac{d}{dz} \bigg\{ z^{-\mu} \int_{0}^{z} \zeta^{\nu+\alpha-1} (1-\frac{\zeta}{z})^{\beta-\alpha} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\beta-\alpha+\mu, , 1-\rho, 1-\alpha+\beta; 1-\frac{\zeta}{z}\right) d\zeta \bigg\}, \end{split}$$

by employing Definition 1 in the above expression, we get

$$\begin{split} \aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}z^{\nu} &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)} \Big\{ z^{1-\beta} \frac{d}{dz} z^{-\mu+\nu+\alpha} \Big\} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{\nu+\alpha-1} t^{\beta-\alpha} {}_{2}F_{1}(\beta-\alpha+\mu, 1-\rho, 1-\alpha+\beta; t) dt, \\ &= \frac{(\nu+\alpha-\mu)\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)} z^{\nu+\alpha-\beta-\mu} \int_{0}^{1} (1-t)^{\nu+\alpha-1} t^{\beta-\alpha} {}_{2}F_{1}(\beta-\alpha+\mu, 1-\rho, 1-\alpha+\beta; t) dt. \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho} z^{\nu} &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\beta)} z^{\nu+\alpha-\beta-\mu} {}_{2}F_{1}(\beta-\alpha+\mu,1-\rho,\nu+\beta+1;1), \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha-\mu+\rho)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\nu+\alpha-\mu)\Gamma(\nu+\beta+\rho)} z^{\nu+\alpha-\beta-\mu}. \end{split}$$

Hence, we arrive at the desired results.

#### **3. Upper Bounds**

In this section, we deal with some applications of the new generalizations of fractional operators (4) and (5) in view of the univalent and convex functions in the open unit disk

$$U = \{ z : |z| < 1 \}.$$

Let A denote the class of all normlaized functions f of the form

$$f(z) = z + \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} a_m z^m, \quad m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\},$$
(8)

which are analytic in U of the complex plane C. A function f is called *univalent* and denoted by  $f \in S = \{f \in A \mid f \text{ one} - \text{ to} - \text{ one in } U\}$ . A function  $f \in A$  that maps U onto a convex domain is called a *convex* function. Let denote K the class of all functions  $f \in A$  that are convex. Further, the convolution product for two analytic functions is given by

$$(f * g)(z) = z + \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} a_m \omega_m z^m,$$

where  $g(z) = z + \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \omega_m z^m$  and  $z \in U$ .

**Lemma 3.** [7] Let *S* and *K* be subclasses of *A*. If *f* defined by (8) is in the class *S*, then  $|a_m| \le m$  for all  $m \in N \setminus \{1\}$  and for  $z \in U$  the equality holds for the Koebe function defined by

$$f(z) = \frac{z}{(1-z)^2}.$$

Adding to that, if the function f presented by (8) is in the class K, then  $|a_m| \le 1$  and for  $z \in U$  the equality holds for

$$f(z) = \frac{z}{(1-z)^2}$$

**Theorem 1.** For |z| < r, r < 1, let  $f \in S$  then

$$\left|\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z)\right| \leq r^{1+\beta-(\alpha+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2)_{m} B(m+1+\rho,\alpha)B(m+1,\rho)}{B(m+1+\beta-\mu,\rho)B(m+1,\beta)} \frac{r^{m}}{m!} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{$$

the equality holds for the Koebe function.

**Proof.** Let the function  $f(z) \in S$ . Then, by utilizing Lemma 1, we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} a_{m} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho-\mu)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta-\mu)\Gamma(m+\alpha+\rho)} z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+m}$$

Thus by using the fact that  $|a_m| \le m$  in Lemma 3, we obtain

$$\left|\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z)\right| \leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} |a_{m}| \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho-\mu)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta-\mu)\Gamma(m+\alpha+\rho)} |z|^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+m}$$

$$\leq r^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} m \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho-\mu)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta-\mu)\Gamma(m+\alpha+\rho)} r^m$$

$$= r^{1+\beta-(\alpha+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (m+1) \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\beta+1)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho-\mu+1)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta-\mu+1)\Gamma(m+\alpha+\rho+1)} r^m$$

$$= r^{1+\beta-(\alpha+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2)_m B(m+1+\rho,\alpha)B(m+1,\rho)}{B(m+1+\beta-\mu,\rho)B(m+1,\beta)} \frac{r^m}{m!},$$

where  $B(t_1, t_2)$  represents the Beta function in terms of Gamma function given by [5]

$$B(t_1, t_2) = \frac{\Gamma(t_1)\Gamma(t_2)}{\Gamma(t_1 + t_2)}.$$

This completes the proof.

**Theorem 2.** For |z| < r, r < 1, let  $f \in K$  then

$$\left|\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z)\right| \leq r^{1+\beta-(\alpha+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1)_{m} B(m+1+\rho,\alpha)B(m+1,\rho)}{B(m+1+\beta-\mu,\rho)B(m+1,\beta)} \frac{r^{m}}{m!}$$

the equality holds for the Koebe function.

**Proof.** Let the function  $f(z) \in K$ . Then, by applying Lemma 1 and Lemma 3, we have  $\left|\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z)\right| \leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} |a_{m}| \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho-\mu)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta-\mu)\Gamma(m+\alpha+\rho)} |z|^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+m}, \quad |a_{m}| \leq 1$ 

$$\leq r^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\beta+1)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho-\mu+1)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta-\mu+1)\Gamma(m+\alpha+\rho+1)} r^m$$

$$= r^{1+\beta-(\alpha+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\beta+1)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho-\mu+1)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\beta-\mu+1)\Gamma(m+\alpha+\rho+1)} r^m$$

$$= r^{1+\beta-(\alpha+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1)_m B(m+1+\rho,\alpha)B(m+1,\rho)}{B(m+1+\beta-\mu,\rho)B(m+1,\beta)} \frac{r^m}{m!}.$$

This completes the proof.

Finally, we introduced some observations concerning the operator  $\aleph_z^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}$  of (5) and by considering a similar manner of Theorem 1 and Theorem 2, respectively, we obtain the upper bounds of the above operator in classes of the univalent and convex functions.

**Theorem 3.** For |z| < r, r < 1, let  $f \in S$  then

$$\left|\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z)\right| \leq r^{1+\alpha-(\beta+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2)_{m} B(m+1+\rho,\beta)B(m+1,\rho)}{B(m+1+\alpha-\mu,\rho)B(m+1,\alpha)} \frac{r^{m}}{m!}$$

the equality holds for the Koebe function.

**Proof.** Let the function  $f(z) \in S$  and  $|a_m| \le m$ . Then, by applying Lemma 2, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left|\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z)\right| &\leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \left|a_{m}\right| \frac{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\alpha)\Gamma(m+\alpha-\mu+\rho)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\alpha-\mu)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho)} |z|^{m+\alpha-(\beta+\mu)}, \quad \left|a_{1}\right| \leq 1 \\ &\leq r^{\alpha-(\beta+\mu)+1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (m+1) \frac{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(m+\alpha+1)\Gamma(m+\alpha-\mu+\rho+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(m+\alpha-\mu+1)\Gamma(m+\beta+\rho+1)} r^{m} \\ &= r^{1+\alpha-(\beta+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2)_{m} B(m+1+\rho,\beta)B(m+1,\rho) r^{m}}{B(m+\alpha+1-\mu,\rho)B(m+1,\alpha) m!}. \end{split}$$

**Theorem 4.** For |z| < r, r < 1, let  $f \in K$  then

$$\left|\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}f(z)\right| \leq r^{1+\alpha-(\beta+\mu)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1)_{m} B(m+1+\rho,\beta)B(m+1,\rho)}{B(m+1+\alpha-\mu,\rho)B(m+1,\alpha)} \frac{r^{m}}{m!}$$

the equality holds for the Koebe function.

**Proof.** By supposing  $f(z) \in K$ , such that  $|a_m| \le 1$  and applying Lemma 2. Then, we conclude the proof.

#### 4. Applications in terms of generalized Wright functions

In view of definitions of the fractional integral operator (4) and fractional differential operator (5), we investigate to present some generalized properties associated with the Bessel function of the first kind  $\mathcal{J}_{v}(z)$  formulated for  $z, v \in C$  such that  $z \neq 0$  and  $\mathcal{R}(v) > -1$  by [8]:

$$\mathcal{J}_{v}(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m} (\frac{2}{2})^{v+2m}}{m! \ \Gamma(v+m+1)}, \qquad v$$

$$\neq -1, -2, \dots . \tag{9}$$

We demonstrate that such associated are expanded in terms of the generalized Wright function  $_{q}\Psi_{p}(z)$  which is given by the following formula:

$${}_{q}\Psi_{p}(z) = {}_{q}\Psi_{p}(z) \begin{bmatrix} (a_{i}, \vartheta_{i})_{1,p} \\ (b_{j}, \omega_{j})_{1,q} \end{bmatrix} z = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{p} \Gamma(a_{i} + \vartheta_{i} m)}{\prod_{j=1}^{q} \Gamma(b_{j} + \omega_{j} m)} \frac{z^{m}}{m!},$$
(10)

where  $z, a_i, b_j \in C$  and  $\vartheta_i, \omega_j$  real numbers in R (i = 1, 2, ..., p; j = 1, 2, ..., q), under the condition  $\sum_{j=1}^{q} \omega_j - \sum_{i=1}^{p} \vartheta_i > 1$ .

In the following, we provide the generalized fractional integral operator (4) associated with the Bessel functions (9).

**Theorem 5.** Let  $\mu$ ,  $\rho$  be positive non-zero numbers,  $\nu > -1$  and  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  such that  $0 < \alpha - \beta \le 1$ . Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}(\mathcal{J}_{v})(z) = \frac{z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+\nu}\Gamma(\alpha)}{2^{\nu}\Gamma(\beta)}{}_{2}\Psi_{3}(z) \begin{bmatrix} (\nu+\beta,2), (\nu+\beta+\rho-\mu,2) \\ (\nu+\beta-\mu,2), (\nu+\alpha+\rho,2), (\nu+1,1) \end{bmatrix} - \frac{z^{2}}{4}$$

**Proof.** Utilizing equation (4) and equation (9), we obtain

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}\left(\mathcal{J}_{\upsilon}\right)(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{\upsilon+2m}}{m! \ \Gamma(\upsilon+m+1)} \Big(\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho} z^{\upsilon+2m}\Big).$$

Using Lemma 1, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}\left(\mathcal{J}_{v}\right)(z) \\ &= \frac{z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+\nu}\Gamma(\alpha)}{2^{\nu}\Gamma(\beta)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\nu+\beta+2m)\Gamma(\nu+\beta+\rho-\mu+2m)}{\Gamma(\nu+\beta-\mu+2m)+\Gamma(\nu+\alpha+\rho+2m)\Gamma(\nu+m+1)} \frac{(-z^{2})^{m}}{4^{m}m!}. \end{aligned}$$

By applying Equation (10), we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}(\mathcal{J}_{v})(z) = \frac{z^{\beta-(\alpha+\mu)+\nu}\Gamma(\alpha)}{2^{\nu}\Gamma(\beta)}{}_{2}\Psi_{3}(z) \begin{bmatrix} (\nu+\beta,2), (\nu+\beta+\rho-\mu,2) \\ (\nu+\beta-\mu,2), (\nu+\alpha+\rho,2), (\nu+1,1) \end{bmatrix} - \frac{z^{2}}{4} \end{bmatrix}.$$

**Corollary 1.** Let  $\mu$ ,  $\rho$ ,  $\nu \in C$  be such that  $\nu > -1$ , and  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  with  $0 < \alpha - \beta \le 1$ . Then

$$\Phi_{z}^{\alpha,\beta}(\mathcal{J}_{v})(z) = \frac{z^{\nu}\Gamma(\alpha)}{2^{\nu}\Gamma(\beta)}{}_{2}\Psi_{3}(z) \begin{bmatrix} (\nu+\beta,2), (\nu+\alpha+\rho,2) \\ (\nu+\alpha,2), (\nu+\alpha+\rho,2), (\nu+1,1) \end{bmatrix} - \frac{z^{2}}{4} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Corollary 1 achieves from Theorem 5 in respective cases  $\mu = \beta - \alpha$ .

The following Theorem 6 introduces the generalized fractional differential operator (5) of the Bessel function (9).

**Theorem 6.** Let  $\mu$ ,  $\rho$  be positive non-zero numbers,  $\nu > -1$  and  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  be such that  $0 < \alpha - \beta \le 1$ . Then

$$\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}(\mathcal{J}_{v})(z) = \frac{z^{\nu+\alpha-(\beta+\mu)}\Gamma(\beta)}{2^{\nu}\Gamma(\alpha)}{}_{2}\Psi_{3}(z) \begin{bmatrix} (\nu+\alpha,2), (\nu+\alpha-\mu+\rho,2) \\ (\nu+\alpha-\mu,2), (\nu+\beta+\rho,2), (\nu+1,1) \end{bmatrix} - \frac{z^{2}}{4} \end{bmatrix}.$$

**Proof.** Applying Equation (5) and Equation (9), we have

$$\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}\left(\mathcal{J}_{\upsilon}\right)(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{\nu+2m}}{m! \ \Gamma(\nu+m+1)} \left(\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho} z^{\nu+2m}\right).$$

By using Lemma 2

$$\begin{split} \aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho} \left(\mathcal{J}_{v}\right)(z) \\ &= \frac{z^{v+\alpha-\beta-\mu}\Gamma(\beta)}{2^{v}\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(v+\alpha+2m)\Gamma(v+\alpha-\mu+\rho+2m)}{\Gamma(v+\alpha-\mu+2m)\Gamma(v+\beta+\rho+2m)\Gamma(v+m+1)} \frac{(-z^{2})^{m}}{4^{m}m!}. \end{split}$$

By Equation (10)

$$\aleph_{z}^{\alpha,\beta,\mu,\rho}(\mathcal{J}_{v})(z) = \frac{z^{\nu+\alpha-(\beta+\mu)}\Gamma(\beta)}{2^{\nu}\Gamma(\alpha)}{}_{2}\Psi_{3}(z) \begin{bmatrix} (\nu+\alpha,2), (\nu+\alpha-\mu+\rho,2) \\ (\nu+\alpha-\mu,2), (\nu+\beta+\rho,2), (\nu+1,1) \end{bmatrix} - \frac{z^{2}}{4} \end{bmatrix}.$$

**Corollary 2.** Let  $\mu$ ,  $\rho$ ,  $\nu \in C$  be such that  $\nu > -1$ , and  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ ,  $0 < \beta \le 1$  with  $0 < \alpha - \beta \le 1$ . Then

$$T_{z}^{\alpha,\beta}(\mathcal{J}_{v})(z) = \frac{z^{v}\Gamma(\beta)}{2^{v}\Gamma(\alpha)}{}_{2}\Psi_{3}(z) \begin{bmatrix} (v+\alpha,2), (v+\beta+\rho,2) \\ (v+\beta,2), (v+\beta+\rho,2), (v+1,1) \end{bmatrix} - \frac{z^{2}}{4} \end{bmatrix}$$

Corollary 2 achieves from Theorem 6 in particular cases  $\mu = \alpha - \beta$ .

#### 5. Conclusion

Conditions for the new fractional calculus operators are obtained. Also, some characteristics for these operators are delivered. Some geometric applications are studied in the sense of generalization.

#### Refrences

- [1] Abdulnaby Z E, Ibrahim R W and Kılıçman A (2016). Some properties for integrodifferential operator defined by a fractional formal. *SpringerPlus* **5**, 1-9.
- [2] Abdulnaby Z E and Abdul-Nabi A E (2019). Integral transforms defined by a new fractional class of analytic function in a complex Banach space. *J. Phys.: Conf. Ser.* **1294**, 1-7.
- [3] Irmak H and Olga E (2019). Some results concerning the Tremblay operator and some of its applications to certain analytic functions. *Acta Universitatis Sapientiae, Mathematica* 11, 296-305.
- [4] Srivastava H M, Saigo M and Owa S (1988). A class of distortion theorems involving certain operators of fractional calculus. *Journal of mathematical analysis and applications*, 131, 412-420.
- [5] Gasper G, Rahman M and George G (2004). *Basic hypergeometric series, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications*, vol. **96**, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K.
- [6] Kılıçman A, Ibrahim R W and Abdulnaby Z E (2016). On a generalized fractional integral operator in a complex domain. *Appl. Math. Inf. Sci*, **10**, 1053-1059.
- [7] Duren P L (1983). Univalent Functions. (Vol. 259), Springer-Verlag, New York.
- [8] Olver F W, Lozier D W, Boisvert, R F and Clark C W (2010). (Eds.). NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions. Cambridge University Press.

# A New Iterative Methods For a Family of Asymptotically Severe Mappings

#### Z H Maibed

Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Pure Science Ibn Al-Haithem University

#### of Baghdad

mrs\_zena.hussein@yahoo.com

**Abstract**. The aim of this paper is to introduce the concepts of asymptotically p-contractive and asymptotically severe accretive mappings. Also, we give an iterative methods( two step-three step) for finite family of asymptotically p-contractive and asymptotically severe accretive mappings to solve types of equations .

#### h) Introduction

W Consider the real Banach space  $\mathcal{B}$  and dual space  $\mathcal{B}^*$ . The mapping  $\mathfrak{J}: \mathcal{B} \to 2^{\mathcal{B}^*}$  such that  $\mathfrak{J}(a) = \{\mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{B}^* : \langle a_1, \mathcal{F} \rangle = || a || . || \mathcal{F} ||; || a || = || \mathcal{F} ||\}$  for all  $a \in \mathcal{B}$  is called normalized duality mapping. When  $\mathcal{B}$  is a uniformly smooth Banach space, we get  $\mathfrak{J}$  is singlevalued and uniformly continuous on every bounded subset of  $\mathcal{B}$ . Lin, Kang and Shim [1], are introduced the following algorithm:

#### 1.1Definition:

Let  $\mathbb{C}$  be a convex nonempty subset of  $\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{G}: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  be a map and  $\mathcal{P}_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ . Define the algorithm iteration  $\langle \mathcal{P}_n \rangle$  as

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{n+1} &= (1-a_n)\mathcal{P}_n + a_n \mathcal{G} \, q_n \\ q_n &= (1-d_n)\mathcal{P}_n + d_n \, \mathcal{G} \mathcal{P}_n \quad , n \geq 0 \end{split}$$

This algorithm iteration called Ishikawa, when  $\langle a_n \rangle$ ,  $\langle d_n \rangle$  any sequences in [0,1]. If  $d_n = 0$  for all  $\forall n \ge 0$ , then the algorithm iteration  $\langle x_n \rangle$  is called Mann iteration. Now, let  $\mathcal{G}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{G}_2$  are two mappings, the algorithm iteration

$$p_{n+1} = a_n p_n + d_n G q_n + c_n r_n$$
$$q_n = a'_n p_n + \dot{d}_n G q_n + \dot{c}_n s_n \quad , n \ge 0$$

This algorithm iteration called Ishikawa with error. If  $\dot{d}_n = \dot{c}_n = 0$  for all  $n \ge 0$ , then the algorithm iteration is called Mann with error. The convergence of the iterative algorithms are studied by many researchers, see([1]-[14])

#### 1.2 Lemma: [2]

If  $\mathcal{B}$  real  $\mathcal{B}$ anach space and  $\mathfrak{F}: \mathcal{B} \to 2^{\mathcal{B}^*}$  be a normalized duality mapping. Then, for any  $\mathfrak{r}, \mathfrak{s} \in \mathcal{B}$ 

$$\|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{s}\|^2 \le \|\mathbf{r}\|^2 + 2 < \mathbf{s}, \mathfrak{J}(\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{s}) >, \forall \mathfrak{J}(\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{s}) \in J(\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{s})$$

1.3 Lemma: [3]

The nonnegative sequence  $\langle a_n \rangle$  satisfied the following inequality

$$a_{n+1} \le (1 - d_n)a_n + c_n$$

where  $c_n \in (0,1)$ ,  $\forall n \in N$ ,  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n = \infty$  and  $d_n = 0(c_n)$ . Then  $\lim_{n \to \infty} a_n = 0$ .

In this article, we analyze the convergence of a new algorithm for asymptotically p-contractive and asymptotically severe mappings.

#### i) Main Results

Now, we introduce asymptotically p-contractive and asymptotically severe mappings as follows:

2.1 Definition: Any map  $\mathcal{G}$  with domain  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{G})$  and rang  $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{G})$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  is called

i) asymptotically p-contractive if  $\forall p \in \mathcal{D}(G), \exists$  appositive sequence  $\langle \mathcal{L}_n \rangle \in (1, \infty), n \in N$  such that for all  $q \in \mathcal{D}(G)$  and  $\ell > 0$ 

$$\| p - q \| \leq \| (1 + \ell)(p - q) - \ell \mathcal{L}_n \left( \mathcal{G}^n_{p} - \mathcal{G}^n_{p} \right) \|$$

asymptotically severe accretive if ∀p ∈ D(G), ∃ positive sequence (k<sub>n</sub>) ∈ (0,1) such that for each q ∈ D(G), there is

$$j(p-q) \in J(p-q)$$
 satisfying  $\langle \mathcal{G}_p^n - \mathcal{G}_q^n, j(p-q) \rangle \geq k_n \parallel p-q \parallel^2$ 

2.2 *Remark*: 1.The mapping G is asymptotically p-contractive mapping if and only if  $(I - G^n)$  is asymptotically severe accretive mapping and  $k_n = 1 - \frac{1}{L_n}$ .

2. 3. If G is asymptotically severe accretive mapping then  $(\mathcal{T}^n - k_n I)$  accretive mapping.

It is our aims in this paper to study the convergence of the modified 3-step algorithm with error 3\_ asymptotically p-contractive and asymptotically severe accretive mappings.

2.3 Theorem: Let  $\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2 : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  are asymptotically severe accretive mappings assume that the equations  $\mathcal{G}_i^n x = \mathcal{F}$  (i = 1, 2), has a solution for some  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbb{C}$ . Define the bounded mapping  $\mathcal{K}_i : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\mathcal{K}_i^n x = \mathcal{F} + x - \mathcal{G}_i^n x$ . Consider  $x_o \in \mathbb{C}$ , the algorithm iteration  $\langle x_n \rangle$  is defined by:

$$x_{n+1} = a_n x_n + d_n \mathcal{K}^n{}_1 y_n + c_n u_n$$
(1)  
$$y_n = a'_n x_n + \dot{d}_n \mathcal{K}^n{}_2 x_n + \dot{c}_n v_n$$
(2)

where  $< u_n >$  and  $< v_n >$  are two bounded sequences in  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $< a_n > , < d_n > , < d_n > , < c_n >$  and  $< c_n >$  are real sequences in [0,1] such that

 $a_n + d_n + c_n = \dot{a}_n + \dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n = 1$  satisfying the conditions:

- i)  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d_n = \lim_{n\to\infty} \dot{d}_n = 0$
- ii)  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_n = \infty$ ,
- iii)  $c_n \leq d_n$  ,  $\dot{c}_n \leq \dot{d}_n$  .

Then the algorithm  $\langle x_n \rangle$  converges strongly to a fixed point of  $\mathcal{G}_i^n x = \mathcal{F}$ .

**Proof:** Suppose that  $\mathcal{G}_{i}^{n}w = \mathcal{F} \implies w \in F(\mathcal{K}_{i}^{n}), w \in \mathbb{C}$ 

Since  $G_i$  is asymptotically severe accretive mapping  $\Rightarrow$ 

$$<\mathcal{K}^{n}{}_{i}x-\mathcal{K}^{n}{}_{i}y, j(x-y)>\leq \left(\parallel x-y\parallel_{\parallel x-y\parallel^{2}}^{2}\right)$$
(3)

y = w, we have

$$<\mathcal{K}^{n}{}_{i}x-\mathcal{K}^{n}{}_{i}w, j(x-y)>\leq ||x_{y}||^{2} ||x_{w}||^{2}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

If  $\mathfrak{h} \in F(\mathcal{K}_i)$ , we have (4) with  $x = \mathfrak{h} \implies w = \mathfrak{h}$ , we prove that  $\langle x_n \rangle$  and  $\langle y_n \rangle$  are bounded sequences.

Let  $\sup \{ \| \mathcal{K}^n_i x - \mathcal{K}^n_i w \| + \| H^n_i y - w \| : n \ge 0 \} + \| x_0 - w \| = \mathcal{N}_i$ 

sup {||  $u_n$  || +||  $v_n$  ||:  $n \ge 0$ } =  $\mathcal{N}$ ,  $M_i = \mathcal{N}_i + \mathcal{N}$  for all i = 1,2 and  $M = \sup\{M_1, M_2\}$ . By (1) and (iii) we get

$$\| x_{n+1} - w \| \le a_n \| x_n - w \| + d_n \| \mathcal{K}^n_1 y_n - w \| + c_n \| u_n \|$$
  
 
$$\le a_n \| x_n - w \| + d_n \mathcal{K}_1 + d_n \mathcal{N}$$
  
 
$$\le a_n \| x_n - w \| + d_n M_1$$
  
 
$$\le a_n \| x_n - w \| + d_n M$$

Now, from (2) and(iii) , we get

$$\| \psi_n - w \| \leq \dot{a}_n \| x_n - w \| + \dot{d}_n \| \mathcal{K}^n_2 x_n - w \| + \dot{c}_n \| v_n \|$$

$$\leq \dot{a}_n \| x_n - w \| + \dot{d}_n \mathcal{N}_2 + \dot{d}_n \mathcal{N}$$

$$\| \psi_n - w \| \leq \dot{a}_n \| x_n - w \| + \dot{d}_n M_2$$

$$\leq \dot{a}_n \| x_n - w \| + \dot{d}_n M \qquad (6)$$

Now, we show by induction that  $||x_n - w|| \le M$  (7)

For n = 0, we have  $|| x_o - w || \le \mathcal{N}_i \le M_i \le M$ 

Suppose that  $\parallel x_n - w \parallel \leq M$  , then by (5) we get

$$\| x_{n+1} - w \| \le a_n \| x_n - w \| + d_n M$$
  
$$\le (a_n + d_n)M = (1 - c_n)M \le M$$

Therefore, the inequality (7) holds

Substituting (7) into (6), we get  $|| \mathcal{Y}_n - \mathcal{W} || \le M$  (8)

From (2.6), we have

$$\| y_n - w \|^2 \le \hat{a^2}_n \| x_n - w \|^2 + 2\hat{a}_n \hat{d}_n M \| x_n - w \| + \hat{d^2}_n M^2$$

Since  $\dot{a}_n \leq 1$  and  $|| x_n - w || \leq M$ , we get

$$\| \psi_n - w \|^2 \le \| x_n - w \|^2 + 2 \, d_n M^2 + d_n M^2$$
$$= \| x_n - w \|^2 + 3 \, d_n M^2 \tag{9}$$

Using Lemma(2), we get

$$\| x_{n+1} - w \|^{2} \le \| a_{n}(x_{n} - w) + c_{n}u_{n} + d_{n}(\mathcal{K}^{n}_{1}y_{n} - w) \|^{2}$$

$$\le \| a_{n}(x_{n} - w) + c_{n}u_{n} \|^{2} + 2d_{n} < \mathcal{K}^{n}_{1}y_{n} - w, j(x_{n+1} - w) >$$

$$\le a_{n}^{2} \| x_{n} - w \|^{2} + 2a_{n}c_{n} \| u_{n} \| \| x_{n} - w \| + c^{2}_{n} \| u_{n} \|^{2} + 2d_{n} < \mathcal{K}^{n}_{1}y_{n} - w, j(y_{n} - w)$$

$$> + 2d_{n} < \mathcal{K}^{n}_{1}y_{n} - w, j(x_{n+1} - w) - j(y_{n} - w) >$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{n+1} - w\|^2 \le \|x_n - w\|^2 - 2d_n \|x_n - w\|^2 + d_n^2 \|x_n - w\|^2 + 2a_nc_nM^2 + c_n^2M^2 + 2d_n \|\\ y_n - w\|^2 - 2d_nk_n \|y_n - w\|^2 + 2d_ne_n \end{aligned}$$
where  $e_n = <\mathcal{K}^n _1 y_n - w, j(x_{n+1} - w) - j(y_n - w) > (10)$ 
By (7) and (9),  $c_n \le d_n$  and  $-2a_nc_n + c_n^2 \le 0$ , we obtain
$$\|x_{n+1} - w\|^2 \le \|x_n - w\|^2 - 2d_nM^2 + d_n^2M^2 + 2d_nc_nM^2 - c_n^2M^2 + 2c_n^2M + 2d_n(M^2 + 2d_nM^2) - 2d_nk_n \|y_n - w\|^2 + 2d_ne_n \end{aligned}$$

$$\le \|x_n - w\|^2 - d_nM^2 + d_n^2M^2 - (-2a_nc_n - c_n^2)M^2 + 2c_n - d_nM^2 + 2d_nM^2 + 4d_n \cdot d_nM^2 - 2d_nk_n \|y_n - w\|^2 + 2d_ne_n \end{aligned}$$

$$= \|x_n - w\|^2 - 2d_nk_n \|y_n - w\|^2 + d_n\lambda_n \qquad (11)$$
where,  $\lambda_n = (d_n + 2c_n + 4d_n)M^2 + 2e_n$ 
First, we show that  $c_n \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . From (1) and (2) we get
$$\|x_{n+1} - y_n \| \le \|(a_n - d_n)(x_n - w) + d_n(\mathcal{K}^n _1 y_n - w) - d_n(\mathcal{K}^n _2 x_n - w) + c_nu_n - c_n v_n \le (a_n - d_n) \|x_n - w\| + d_n \|\mathcal{K}^n _1 y_n - w\| + d_n \|H^n _2 x_n - w\| \end{aligned}$$

$$+c_n \parallel u_n \parallel + \acute{c}_n \parallel v_n \parallel$$

$$\leq (1 - d_n - c_n - 1 + \hat{d}_n + \hat{c}_n) \| x_n - w \| + d_n \| \mathcal{K}^n_1 y_n - w \| + \hat{d}_n \| \| \mathcal{K}^n_2 x_n - w \| + d_n \| u_n \| + \hat{d}_n \| v_n \|$$

By (7) and definition of M. we get

$$\|x_{n+1} - y_n\| \le 2(d_n + \dot{d}_n)M + (d_n + \dot{d}_n)M + (d_n + \dot{d}_n)M$$

i.e., 
$$\|x_{n+1} - y_n\| \le 4(d_n - \acute{d}_n)M$$
 (12)

Therefore,  $||x_{n+1} - w - (y_n - w)|| \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

Since  $\langle x_{n+1} - y_n \rangle$ ,  $\langle y_n - w \rangle$  and  $\langle \mathcal{K}^n_1 y_n - w \rangle$  are bounded and j is uniformly continuous on any bounded subset of X we have

$$j(x_{n+1} - w) - j(y_n - w) \to 0 \text{ and } < e_n > \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Thus ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty}\lambda_n=0$ 

Let 
$$\vartheta = \inf\{\| \psi_n - w \|^2 \colon n \ge 0$$

To prove that  $\vartheta = 0$ . Assume the contrary, i.e.,  $\vartheta > 0$ ,

Then  $||x_n - w||^2 \ge \vartheta > 0$  for iall  $\ge 0$ , hence

 $k_n(\parallel y_n - w \parallel^2) \ge k_n(\vartheta) > 0$  where  $k_n \in (0,1)$ 

Thus from(11),  $||x_{n+1} - w||^2 \le ||x_n - w||^2 - d_n k_n(\vartheta) - b_n [k_x(\vartheta) - \lambda_n]....(13)$ 

Since  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \lambda_n = 0$ , there exists a positive integer no such that  $\lambda_n \leq k_n(\vartheta)$  for all  $n \geq n_o \implies$ From(13), we have

$$\| x_{n+1} - w \|^{2} \le \| x_{n} - w \|^{2} - d_{n}k_{n}(\vartheta) \quad \text{or}$$
  
$$d_{n}k_{n}(\vartheta) \le \| x_{n} - w \|^{2} - \| x_{n+1} - w \|^{2} \quad \text{for all } n \ge 0$$
  
Hence,  $k_{n}(\vartheta) \sum_{j=n_{o}}^{n} dj = \| x_{n_{0}} - w \|^{2} + \| x_{n+1} - w \|^{2} \le \| x_{n_{0}} - w \|^{2}.$ 

 $\Rightarrow \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_n < \infty, \text{ contradicting(ii)} \Rightarrow \vartheta = 0 \text{ and there exists} < || \psi_i - w || > \text{ subsequence of } < || \psi_n - w || > \text{ s.t } \lim_{n \to \infty} || \psi_i - w || = 0$  (14)

From(2), we have

$$\| x_n - w \|^2 \le \| y_n - w + (\dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n)(x_n - w) - \dot{d}_n(\mathcal{K}^n_2 y_n - w) - \dot{c}_n v_n \|$$
  
 
$$\le \| y_n - w \| + (\dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n) \| (x_n - w) \| - \dot{d}_n \| (\mathcal{K}^n_2 x_n - w) \|$$
  
 
$$+ \dot{c}_n \| v_n \|.$$

Since  $\acute{c}_n \leq \acute{d}_n$  and by definition  $\mathcal{N}_i$  ,  $\mathcal{N}$  and , we get

$$\| x_n - w \|^2 \le \| y_n - w \| + 2 \dot{d}_n M \text{ for all } n \ge 0$$
Thus,  $\lim_{j \to \infty} \| x_j - w \| = 0$  (16)

Now, let  $\in > 0$  be arbitrary, since  $\lim_{n \to \infty} d_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} \dot{d}_n = 0$  and  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n = 0$ ,  $\exists N_0 \in N$  such that

$$d_n \le \frac{\epsilon}{12M}$$
 ,  $d_n \le \frac{\epsilon}{12M}$  ,  $\lambda_n \le k_n \left(\frac{\epsilon}{3}\right)$  for all  $n \ge N_0$ 

From(16),  $\exists k \ge N_0$  such that

$$\|x_k - w\| < \epsilon \tag{17}$$

Now, we prove that  $||x_{k+n} - w|| \le (18)$ 

Assume that (18) holds and for  $n = 0 \implies$  the inequality(18) holds by (17).Now, if

 $\parallel x_{k+n+1} - w \parallel \geq \in.$  then by (12) , we get

$$\epsilon \leq \| x_{k+n+1} - w \| = \| y_{k+n} - w + x_{k+n+1} - y_{k+n} \|$$

$$\leq \| y_{k+n} - w \| + \| x_{k+n+1} - y_{k+n} \|$$

$$\leq \| y_{k+n} - w \| + 3(d_{k+n} + d_{k+n})M$$

$$\leq \| y_{k+n} - w \| + \frac{\epsilon}{2}$$

Hence,  $\| \mathcal{Y}_{k+n} - w \| \ge \frac{\epsilon}{2}$ 

From(11), we get

$$\in^2 \le \|x_{k+n+1} - w\|^2 \le \|x_{k+n} - w\|^2 - 2d_{k+n}k_n\left(\frac{\epsilon}{3}\right) + d_{k+n}k_n$$

 $\leq \parallel x_{k+n} - w \parallel^2 < \in^2 \text{, which is a contradiction}$ 

Thus we proved (18), hence,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} || x_n - w || = 0$ .

2.4 *Theorem*: Let  $\mathbb{C}$  be a nonempty bounded closed subset of  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$  are asymptotically pseudo-contractive mappings. Let w be a fixed point of  $\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2$ , and let  $x_0 \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $\langle x_n \rangle$  defined as

$$x_{n+1} = a_n x_n + d_n \mathcal{G}_1^n \mathcal{Y}_n + c_n u_n$$

$$y_n = \dot{a}_n x_n + \dot{d}_n \mathcal{G}_2^n y_n + \dot{c}_n v_n \quad , n \ge 0$$

where  $\langle u_n \rangle$  and  $\langle v_n \rangle \subset \mathbb{C}$ ,  $\langle b_n \rangle$ ,  $\langle c_n \rangle$ ,  $\langle c_n \rangle$  are sequences as in theorem (2.3). then  $\langle x_n \rangle$  converges strongly to the unique fixed point of  $\mathcal{G}^n$ .

**Proof:** The sequences  $\langle x_n \rangle$  and  $\langle y_n \rangle$  are both contained in  $\mathbb{C}$  and therefore, bounded sequences. Since  $\mathcal{G}_i$  are asymptotically p-contractive if and only if  $(I - \mathcal{G}_i^n)$  are asymptotically severe accretive and  $k_n = 1 - \frac{1}{\mathcal{L}_n}$ , for all (i = 1, 2) put  $\mathcal{Y} = \mathcal{W}$  and  $(\mathcal{G}^n = \mathcal{K}_i)$ , we get the result

2.5 *Theorem:* Let  $\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2, \mathcal{G}_3$ , are asymptotically p-contractive self mappings on  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $\bigcap_{i=1}^3 F(\mathcal{G}_i^n) \neq \emptyset$ . Define the algorithm iteration  $\langle x_n \rangle$  as,

For 
$$x_1 \in \mathbb{C}$$
  
 $x_{n+1} = a_n x_n + d_n \mathcal{G}_1^n \psi_n + c_n u_n$   
 $\psi_n = \dot{a_n} x_n + \dot{d_n} \mathcal{G}_2^n Z_n + \dot{c_n} v_n$   
 $Z_n = \dot{a_n} x_n + \dot{\tilde{d_n}} \mathcal{G}_2^n \psi_n + \dot{c_n} w_n$ 

where  $\langle u_n \rangle$ ,  $\langle v_n \rangle$  and  $\langle w_n \rangle$  are bounded sequences in  $\mathbb{C}$ and  $\langle a_n \rangle$ ,  $\langle \dot{a_n} \rangle$ 

in [0.1] such that

 $a_n + d_n + c_n = \dot{a}_n + \dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n = \dot{a}_n + \dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n = 1$  and satisfying the following:

i)  $\sum d_n = \infty$ 

ii) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} \dot{d}_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} \dot{d}_n = 0$$

iii)  $\alpha_n = d_n + c_n$ ,  $\beta_n = \dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n$ ,  $\gamma_n = \dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n$  and  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 + k_n \alpha_n} = 0$ , for any sequence  $k_n \in (0,1)$ . Then the scheme  $\langle x_n \rangle$  converges strongly to the unique fixed point of  $\mathcal{G}_i^n$ , for all  $n \in N$ .

**Proof:** Since for all  $n \in N$  then  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{3} F(\mathcal{G}_{i}^{n}) \neq \emptyset$ , it follows from(1.8) that  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{3} F(\mathcal{G}_{i}^{n})$  is singleton say  $\mathcal{P}$ . The mappings  $\mathcal{T}_{i}$  is asymptotically p -contractive if and only if  $(I - \mathcal{G}_{i}^{n})$  is asymptotically

severe accretive and  $k_n = 1 - \frac{1}{L_n}$ , and therefore  $(I - \mathcal{G}_i^n) - k_n I = I - \mathcal{G}_i^n - k_n I$  (i = 1,2,3) is accretive. Hence, for all r > 0 and  $k_n \in (0,1)$  we have,  $||x - y|| \le ||x - y + r[(I - \mathcal{G}_i^n - k_n I)x - (I - \mathcal{G}_i^n - k_n I)y]$ 

From our hypothesis,

$$x_{n} = x_{n+1} + \alpha_{n}x_{n} - d_{n}\mathcal{G}_{1}^{n}\psi_{n} - c_{n}u_{n}$$

$$x_{n} = x_{n+1} + \alpha_{n}x_{n+1} - \alpha_{n}x_{n+1} + \alpha_{n}x_{n} - d_{n}\mathcal{G}_{1}^{n}\psi_{n} - c_{n}u_{n}$$

$$= (1 + \alpha_{n})x_{n+1} + \alpha_{n}(I - \mathcal{G}_{i}^{n} - k_{n}I)x_{n+1} - \alpha_{n}(I - \mathcal{G}_{i}^{n} - k_{n}I)x_{n+1}$$

$$-\alpha_{n}(x_{n+1} - x_{n}) - d_{n}\mathcal{G}_{1}^{n}\psi_{n} - c_{n}u_{n}$$

$$= (1 + \alpha_{n})x_{n+1} + \alpha_{n}(I - \mathcal{G}_{i}^{n} - k_{n}I)x_{n+1} - \alpha_{n}(I - k_{n}I)x_{n+1}$$

$$+\alpha_{n}\mathcal{G}_{i} + \alpha_{n}(x_{n} - x_{n+1}) - d_{n}\mathcal{G}_{1}^{n}\psi_{n} - c_{n}u_{n}$$

Since p is a fixed point of  $G_i$ , then

$$p = (1 + \alpha_n)p + \alpha_n (I - \mathcal{G}_i^n - k_n I)p - \alpha_n (I - k_n)p$$
(20)

Subtracting (20) from(19) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n} - p &= (1 + \alpha_{n}) \left[ (x_{n+1} - p) + \frac{\alpha_{n}}{1 + \alpha_{n}} \{ (I - G^{n}_{i} - k_{n}) x_{n+1} - (I - G^{n}_{i} - k_{n}I) p \} \right] - \\ \alpha_{n} (I - k_{n}) (x_{n+1} - p) + \left[ \alpha_{n} (G^{n}_{i} - I) x_{n+1} - d_{n} G^{n}_{1} \psi_{n} \right] + \left[ \alpha_{n} x_{n} - c_{n} u_{n} \right] \\ \parallel x_{n} - p \parallel = \parallel (1 + \alpha_{n}) \left[ (x_{n+1} - p) + \frac{\alpha_{n}}{1 + \alpha_{n}} \{ (I - G^{n}_{i} - k_{n}) x_{n+1} - (I - G^{n}_{i} - k_{n}I) p \} \right] - \\ \alpha_{n} (I - k_{n}) (x_{n+1} - p) + \left[ \alpha_{n} (G^{n}_{i} - I) x_{n+1} - b_{n} G^{n}_{1} \psi_{n} \right] + \left[ \alpha_{n} x_{n} - c_{n} u_{n} \right] \parallel \\ \parallel x_{n} - p \parallel = (1 + \alpha_{n}) \left[ (x_{n+1} - p) + \frac{\alpha_{n}}{1 + \alpha_{n}} \{ (I - G^{n}_{i} - k_{n}I) x_{n+1} - (I - G^{n}_{i} - k_{n}I) p \} \right] \\ \parallel - \alpha_{n} (1 - k_{n}) - \parallel (x_{n+1} - p) \parallel - \parallel \alpha_{n} (G^{n}_{i} - I) x_{n+1} - c_{n} u_{n} \parallel - \\ \parallel \alpha_{n} x_{n} - b_{n} G^{n}_{1} \psi_{n} \parallel \end{aligned}$$

Since  $G_i$  asymptotically p -contractive, then (21) yields

 $\|x_{n} - p\| \ge (1 + \alpha_{n}) \|x_{n+1} - p\| - \alpha_{n}(I - k_{n}) \|\alpha_{n+1} - p\| - \|\alpha_{n}(G^{n}_{i} - I)x_{n+1} - c_{n}u_{n}\| - \|\alpha_{n}x_{n} - d_{n}G^{n}_{1}y_{n}\|.$   $= (1 - k_{n}\alpha_{n}) \|x_{n+1} - p\| - \|\alpha_{n}(G^{n}_{i} - I)x_{n+1} - c_{n}u_{n}\| - \|\alpha_{n}x_{n} - d_{n}G_{1}y_{n}\|.$ 

$$\|x_{n} - p\| \leq \frac{1}{1+k_{n}\alpha_{n}} [\|x_{n} - p\| + \|\alpha_{n} (\mathcal{G}_{i}^{n} - I)x_{n+1} - c_{n}u_{n}\| + \|\alpha_{n}x_{n} - d_{n}\mathcal{G}_{1}^{n}y_{n}\|]$$

Now,

$$\| (x_{n+1} - p) \| \le \frac{1}{1 + \alpha_n k_n} \| x_n - p \| + \frac{1}{1 + \alpha_n k_n} M$$
(22)

Now, put  $\delta_n = \frac{1}{1 + \alpha_n k_n}$ ,  $\sigma_n = \delta_n M$  and  $\mathcal{P}_n = || x_n - \mathcal{P} ||$ 

Thus (22) reduces to  $p_{n+1} \leq \delta_n p_n + \sigma_n$ 

Since  $0 \le \delta_n \le 1$ ,  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \delta_n = 0$  and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \sigma_n = 0$ . Therefore by Lemma (1.3), we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} p_n = 0 \Longrightarrow < x_n > \text{ converge strongly to } p$ .

2.6 *Theorem*:Let Let  $\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2, \mathcal{G}_3$ , are uniformly continuous asymptotically severe self mappings of  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $\bigcap_{i=1}^3 F(\mathcal{G}_i^n) \neq \emptyset$ . Define a mapping  $\mathcal{R}_i: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}$  by  $\mathcal{R}_i^n x = x - \mathcal{G}_i^n x + \mathcal{F}$ , for some  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{B}$ , consider the following algorithm iteration :

For arbitrary  $x_1 \in \mathbb{C}$ ,

 $x_{n+1} = a_n x_n + d_n \mathcal{R}^n{}_1 \mathcal{Y}_n + c_n u_n$  $y_n = \dot{a}_n x_n + \dot{d}_n \mathcal{R}^n{}_2 z_n + \dot{c}_n v_n$  $z_n = \dot{a_n} x_n + \dot{\tilde{d}}_n \mathcal{R}^n{}_3 x_n + \dot{\tilde{c}}_n w_n$ 

Where  $\langle u_n \rangle \langle v_n \rangle$  and  $\langle w_n \rangle$  are bounded sequences in  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $\langle a_n \rangle, \langle \dot{a}_n \rangle, \langle \dot{a$ 

- i)  $\sum d_n = \infty$
- ii)  $\lim_{n\to\infty} d_n = \lim_{n\to\infty} \dot{d}_n = \lim_{n\to\infty} \dot{d}_n = 0$
- iii)  $\alpha_n = d_n + c_n$ ,  $\beta_n = \dot{d}_n + \dot{c}_n$ ,  $\gamma_n = \dot{\tilde{d}}_n + \dot{\tilde{c}}_n$  and  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 + k_n \alpha_n} = 0$ . For all  $k_n \in (0, 1)$ . Then the scheme  $\langle x_n \rangle$  converges strongly to a solution of  $\mathcal{G}^n_i x = \mathcal{F}$ .

**Proof:** Form definition of asymptotically severe map, that  $\forall x \in \mathbb{C}, \exists \langle k_n \rangle \in (0,1)$  such that

 $\langle \mathcal{G}_{i}^{n}x - \mathcal{G}_{i}^{n}y \rangle \geq k_{n} ||x - y||^{2}$  for all  $y \in \mathbb{C}$ , we observe that  $\mathcal{R}_{i}$ ,  $\mathcal{G}_{i}$  are uniformly continuous and for any given  $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbb{C}$ .

$$(I - \mathcal{R}^{n}_{i})x = x - \mathcal{F} + \mathcal{G}^{n}_{i}x - x = \mathcal{G}^{n}_{i}x - \mathcal{F}$$

Which implies that

$$\langle (I - \mathcal{R}^n_i)x - (I - \mathcal{R}^n_i)y, j(x - y) \rangle \geq k_n ||x - y||^2$$

That is  $(I - \mathcal{R}^n_i)$  is asymptotically severe . Thus  $\mathbb{R}^n_i$  is asymptotically p-contractive. Thus the results follows.

#### References

- [49] Liu,Z., Kang,S. and Shim. H., 2003 ," Almost, Stability of The, Mann Iteration Method With, Errors For Strictly Hemi-Contractive Operators in SmoothBanach Spaces" Korean Math S.C, 40 pp (22-40).
- [50] Rafiq, A.,2006. "Modified Noor Iterations For Non Linear Equations In Banach Spaces", Appl. Math. Computer, 182pp.(589-595).
- [51] Xue, Z. and Fan. R., 2008. "Some Comments On Noor's Iterations is Banach Spaces", Appl.

Math. Computer, 206pp.(12-15).

- [52] Mabeed, Z. H., 2011. "Strongly Convergence Theorems of Ishikawa Iteration Process With Errors in Banach Space" Journal of Qadisiyah Computer Science and Mathematics, 3pp(1-8).
- [53] Maibed. Z. H., 2019. " New Algorithm Method for Solving the Variational Inequality Problem in Hilbert Space", Global Journal of Mathematical Analysis, 7(2)15.
- [54] Maibed, Z. H., 2019. "Generalized Tupled Common Fixed Point Theorems for Weakly Compatibile Mappings in Fuzze Metric Space", (IJCIET)10, pp(255-273).
- [55] Maibed, Z. H., 2018. "Strong Convergence of Iteration Processes for Infinite Family of General Extended Mappings", IOP Conf. Series: Journal of Physics: Conf. Series 1003, 012042 doi:10.1088/1742-6596/1003/1/012042.
- [56] Mabeed,Z. H., 2013." *Some Convergence Theorems for the Fixed Point in Banach Spaces*", Journal of university of Anbar for pure science 2Vol.7.(2).
- [57] Mabeed, Z. H., 2011."Strongly Convergence Theorems of Ishikawa Iteration Process With Errors in Banach Space", Journal of Qadisiyah Computer Science and Mathematics, 3pp(1-8).
- [58] Maibed, Z. H., 2018. "Some Generalized n-Tuplet Coincidence Point Theorems for Nonlinear Contraction Mappings", Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences 13,pp(10375-10379).
- [59] Maibed, Z. H., 2019. "Contractive Mappings Having Mixed Finite Monotone Property in Generalized Metric Spaces", Ibn Al-Haitham Jour. for Pure & Appl.Sci, Vol. 32p(1)
- [60] Abed, S. S. and Maibed Z. H.,2019, "*Proximal Schemes By Family of Szl –Widering Mappings*", IOP Conf. Series: Journal of Physics: Conf. Series 1003, **571** 012006.
- [61] Maibed, Z.M and Mechee, M. S,2020. "A Compression Study of Multistep Iterative Methods for Solving Ordinary Differential Equations", International Journal of Liability and Scientific Enquiry ·2 pp(1-8).
- [62] Maibed Z. H. and Reyadh.D.A., 2019. "*The Study of New Iterations Procedure for Expansion Mappings*", Journal of AL-Qadisiyah for computer science and mathematics 11 No.1.

# **On Third-Order Sandwich Results for Analytic Functions Defined by Differential Operator**

<sup>1</sup>Waggas Galib Atshan, <sup>2</sup>Ali Hussein Battor and <sup>3</sup>Abeer Farhan Abaas

<sup>1</sup>Mathematics Department, University of Al-Qadisiyah

waggas.galib@qu.edu.iq

waggas hnd@yahoo.com

waggashnd@gmail.com

<sup>2</sup>Mathematics Department, University of Kufa

alih.battoor@uokufa.edu.ig

<sup>2</sup>Mathematics Department, University of Kufa

abeerfarhan688@gmail.com

#### Abstract

In this paper, by making use the differential operator, suitable classes of admissible functions are investigated and the properties of third-order sandwich theorems for multivalent analytic function are obtained.

Keywords: analytic function, multivalent function, differential subordination, differential Superordination, sandwich theorem, differential operator.

#### 2019 Mathematics Subject Classification: 30C45

#### **1. Introduction**

Let  $\mathcal{A}(U)$  be the class of functions which are analytic in the open unit disk

Also let

g[a, n];  $(n \in N \coloneqq \{1, 2, 3, ...\}; a \in \mathbb{C})$ 

 $U = \{z : z \in \mathbb{C} \text{ and } |z| < 1\}.$ 

be the subclass of the analytic function class g consisting of functions of the following form:

$$f(z) = a + a_n z^n + a_{n+1} z^{n+1} + \cdots$$
 ( $z \in \mathbb{C}$ 

 $f(z) = a + a_n z^n + a_{n+1} z^{n+1} + \cdots$  ( $z \in \mathbb{C}$ ) Let T be a subclass of  $\mathcal{G}$  which are analytic in U have the normalized Taylor-Maclaurin series of the form:

$$f(z) = z^{p} + \sum_{n=p+1}^{\infty} a_{n} z^{n} \qquad (p \in N = \{1, 2, 3, ...\}, z \in U).$$
(1)

Suppose that f and g are in *a*. We say that f is subordinate to g, written as follows:

 $f \prec g \text{ in } U \text{ or } f(z) \prec g(z), \quad (z \in U)$ 

if there exists a Schwarz function  $\omega \in g$ , which is analytic in U with  $\omega(0) = 0$  and  $|\omega(z)| < 1$  ( $z \in U$ ), such that  $f(z) = g(\omega(z))$ ,  $(z \in U)$ . Indeed, it is known that

 $f(z) \prec g(z) \Rightarrow f(0) = g(0) \text{ and } f(U) \subset g(U).$ 

Furthermore, if the function g is univalent in U, we have the following equivalence relationship ([10])  $g(z) \prec f(z) \Leftrightarrow g(0) = f(0) \text{ and } g(U) \subset f(U)$ ,  $(z \in U)$ .

The concept of differential subordination is a generalization of various inequalities involving complex variables. We recall here some more definitions and terminologies from the theory of differential subordinations and differential superordination.

**Definition** (1). (see [1]): Let  $\chi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$  and suppose that the function h(z) is univalent in U. If the function p(z) is analytic in U and satisfies the following third-order differential subordination:

 $\chi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2p''(z), z^3p'''(z); z) \prec h(z),$ (2)then p(z) is called a solution of the differential subordination (2). Furthermore, a given univalent function q(z) is called a dominant of the solutions of (2) or, more simply, a dominant if p(z) < q(z)for all p(z) satisfying (2). A dominant  $\check{q}(z)$  that satisfies  $\check{q}(z) \prec q(z)$  for all dominants q(z) of (2) is said to be the best dominant.

**Definition** (2)[15]: Let  $\chi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$  and let the function h(z) be univalent in U, if the functions p(z) and  $\chi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2p''(z), z^3p'''(z); z)$  are univalent in U and satisfy the following third-order differential superordination:

$$h(z) \prec \chi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2p''(z), z^3p'''(z); z),$$
(3)

then p(z) is called a solution of the differential superordination given by (3) or more simply a simply a subordinant, if q(z) < p(z) for all p(z) satisfying (3). A univalent subordinant  $\tilde{q}(z)$  that satisfies  $q(z) \prec \tilde{q}(z)$  for all subordinants q(z) of (3) is said to be the best subordinant we note both the best dominant and the best subordinant are unique up to rotation of U.

The monograph by Miller and Mocanu [9] and the more recent book of Bulboacã [5] provide detailed expositions on the theory of differential subordination and differential superordination.

**Definition** (3). [3]: For  $f \in T$ ,  $m \in N$ ,  $\lambda \in N/\{1\}$ . We define the differential operator

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{m}:T} &\longrightarrow T \\ L_{\lambda}^{0} f(z) &= f(z), \\ L_{\lambda}^{1} f(z) &= \frac{z^{1-\lambda}}{\lambda + p} \left[ z^{\lambda} L^{0} f(z) \right]_{z}^{\prime} , \\ L_{\lambda}^{2} f(z) &= \frac{z^{1-\lambda}}{\lambda + p} \left[ z^{\lambda} L^{1} f(z) \right]_{z}^{\prime} , \dots \\ L_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{m}} f(z) &= \frac{z^{1-\lambda}}{\lambda + p} \left[ z^{\lambda} L^{\mathrm{m}-1} f(z) \right]_{z}^{\prime} = z^{p} + \sum_{k=p+1}^{\infty} \left( \frac{\lambda + k}{\lambda + p} \right)^{\mathrm{m}} z^{k}. \end{split}$$
(4)

By simple calculation and using

$$z(L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z))'_{z} = (\lambda + p)L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z) - \lambda L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z).$$
<sup>(5)</sup>

**Definition** (4). [1]: Let  $\mathbb{Q}$  be the set of all functions q that are analytic and univalent on  $\overline{U}/E(q)$ , where

$$E(q) = \left\{ \xi \colon \xi \in \partial U \colon \lim_{z \to \xi} \{q(z)\} = \infty \right\},\tag{6}$$

and are such that  $\min|q'(\xi)| = p > 0$  for  $\xi \in \partial U/E(q)$ . Further, let the subclass of Q for which q(0) = a be denoted by Q(a) with

$$\mathbb{Q}(0) = \mathbb{Q}_0 \text{ and } \mathbb{Q}(1) = \mathbb{Q}_1. \tag{7}$$

The subordination methodology is applied to appropriate classes of admissible functions. The following class of admissible functions is given by Antonino and Miller[1]

**Definition** (5).[1]: Let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Also let  $q \in \mathbb{Q}$  and  $n \in N/\{1\}$ , N being the set of positive integers. The class  $\Psi_n[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions consists of those functions  $\chi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$ , which satisfy the following admissibility conditions:

$$\chi(r,s,t,u:z) \notin \Omega$$

whenever

$$r = q(\xi), s = k\xi q'(\xi), \Re\left(\frac{t}{s} + 1\right) \ge k\Re\left(\frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)} + 1\right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{u}{s}\right) \ge k^2 \mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi^2 q^{\prime\prime\prime}(\xi)}{q^{\prime}(\xi)}\right),$$

where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U / E(q)$  and  $k \ge n$ .

Lemma (1) below is the foundation result in the theory of third-order differential subordination. Lemma (1). [1]: Let  $p \in \mathcal{G}[a, n]$  with  $n \ge 2$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}(a)$  satisfying the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \quad and \quad \left|\frac{zp'(z)}{q'(\xi)}\right| \le k,$$
(a) and  $k \ge n$ . If  $\Omega$  is a set in  $\mathbb{C}, \ \chi \in \Psi_n[\Omega, q]$  and

where 
$$z \in U$$
,  $\xi \in \partial U/E(q)$  and  $k \ge n$ . If  $\Omega$  is a set in  $\mathbb{C}, \chi \in \Psi_n[\Omega, q]$  and  $\chi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2p''(z), z^3p'''(z); z) \in \Omega$ ,

then

$$p(z) \prec q(z) \quad (z \in U).$$

**Definition (6).** [15]: Let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Also let  $q \in g[a, n]$  and  $q'(z) \neq 0$ . The class  $\Psi'_n[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions consists of those functions  $\chi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times \overline{U} \to \mathbb{C}$  that satisfy the following admissibility conditions:

$$\chi(r,s,t,u;\xi) \in \Omega,$$

whenever

$$r = q(z),$$
  $s = \frac{zq'(z)}{m}, \Re\left(\frac{t}{s}+1\right) \leq \frac{1}{m} \Re\left(\frac{zq''(z)}{q'(z)}+1\right),$ 

and

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{u}{s}\right) \leq \frac{1}{m^2} \mathcal{R}\left(\frac{z^2 q^{\prime\prime\prime}(z)}{q^{\prime}(z)}\right),$$

where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U$  and  $m \ge n \ge 2$ .

**Lemma** (2). [15]: Let  $p \in \mathcal{G}[a, n]$  with  $\chi \in \Psi'_n[\Omega, q]$ . If the functions  $\chi(p(z),zp'(z),z^2p''(z),z^3p'''(z):z) \subset \Omega,$ 

is univalent in U and  $p \in \mathbb{Q}(a)$  satisfying the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{zq''(z)}{q'(z)}\right) \ge 0 \quad and \quad \left|\frac{zp'(z)}{q'(z)}\right| \le m,$$
  
where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U$  and  $m \ge n \ge 2$ , then  
 $\Omega \subset \{\chi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2p''(z), z^3p'''(z); z): z \in U\}$ ,  
implies that

$$p(z) \prec q(z) \quad (z \in U).$$

The notion of the third-order differential subordination can be found in the work of Ponnusamy and Juneja [11]. The recent work by Tang et al. (see, for example, [14] and [15]; see also [5]) on the differential subordination attracted many researchers in this field . For example, see[2,4,6,7,8,10,11,12,13,14,15].

In the present paper, we investigate suitable classes of admissible functions associated with the differential operator and drive sufficient conditions on the normalized analytic function to satisfy:

$$q_1(z) \prec \vartheta(z) \prec q_2(z) \qquad (z \in U),$$

where  $q_1, q_2$  are univalent in U and  $\vartheta$  is suitable operator.

#### 2. Third-Order differential subordination results

In this section, we start with a given set  $\Omega$  and a function q and determine a set of admissible operator  $\chi$  when (2) holds true . For this purpose, new class of admissible functions was introduced that will be required to prove the main third- order differential subordination theorems for the operator  $L_{\lambda}^{m}$  defined by (3).

**Definition** (7): Let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_0 \cap g_0$ . The class  $\aleph_L[\Omega, q]$  of admissible function consists of those function  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$  that satisfy the following admissibility conditions:

$$\phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z)\notin\Omega,$$

whenever

 $\Omega \subset \{\chi$ implies

$$\alpha = q(\xi), \qquad \beta = \frac{k\xi q'(\xi) + \lambda q(\xi)}{\lambda + p}$$
$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\gamma(\lambda + p)^2 - \alpha\lambda^2}{(\beta(\lambda + p) - \alpha\lambda)} - 2\lambda\right) \ge k\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)} + 1\right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\delta(\lambda+p)^3 - \gamma(\lambda+p)^2(3(\lambda+p)) + \lambda^2\alpha(3+2\lambda)}{\lambda(\beta-\alpha) + \beta p} + 3\lambda^2 + 6\lambda + 2\right) \ge k^2 \mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi^2 q'''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)}\right),$$
  
is  $z \in U, \xi \in \partial U/E(q)$  and  $k \ge 2$ 

whe

**Theorem (1):** Let  $\phi \in \aleph_l[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_0$  satisfy the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q^{\prime\prime}(\xi)}{q^{\prime}(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)}{q^{\prime}(\xi)}\right| \le k, \tag{8}$$

and

$$\{\phi(L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z); z) : z \in U\} \subset \Omega,$$
(9)

then

$$L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z) \prec q(z) \quad (z \in U).$$
**Proof**: Define the analytic function  $p(z)$  in  $U$  by
$$p(z) = L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z).$$
(10)

From equation (5) and (10), we have

$$L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z) = \frac{zp'(z) + \lambda p(z)}{\lambda + p}.$$
(11)
By a similar argument, we get

$$L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z) = \frac{z^2 p''(z) + (2\lambda + 1)zp'(z) + \lambda^2 p(z)}{(\lambda + p)^2}$$
(12)

and

$$L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z) = \frac{z^3 p^{\prime\prime\prime}(z) + 3(\lambda+1)z^2 p^{\prime\prime}(z) + (3\lambda^2+3\lambda+1)z p^{\prime}(z) + \lambda^3 p(z)}{(\lambda+p)^3}.$$
 (13)

Define the transformation from  $\mathbb{C}^4$  to  $\mathbb{C}$  by

$$\alpha(r,s,t,u) = r, \quad \beta(r,s,t,u) = \frac{s+\lambda r}{\lambda+p}, \qquad \gamma(r,s,t,u) = \frac{t+s(2\lambda+1)+\lambda^2 r}{(\lambda+p)^2}, \quad (14)$$

and

$$\delta(r, s, t, u) = \frac{u + 3t(\lambda + 1) + s(3(\lambda^2 + \lambda) + 1) + \lambda^3 r}{(\lambda + p)^3}.$$
 (15)

Let

$$\chi(r,s,t,u) = \phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z) = = \phi\left(r,\frac{s+\lambda r}{\lambda+p},\frac{t+s(2\lambda+1)+\lambda^2 r}{(\lambda+p)^2},\frac{u+3t(\lambda+1)+s(3\lambda^2+3\lambda+1)+\lambda^3 r}{(\lambda+p)^3}\right)$$
(16)  
The proof will make use of Lemma(1). Using the equations (10) to (12), and from the equations (16).

The proof will make use of Lemma(1). Using the equations (10) to (13), and from the equations (16), we have

 $\chi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2p''(z), z^3p'''(z); z) = \phi(L_{\lambda}^m f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z).$ (17) Hence, clearly, (9) becomes

$$\chi(p(z),zp'(z),z^2p''(z),z^3p'''(z);z)\in \varOmega$$
 ,

We note that

$$\frac{t}{s} + 1 = \frac{\gamma(\lambda + p)^2 - \lambda^2 \alpha}{\beta(\lambda + p) - \lambda \alpha} - 2\lambda$$

and

$$\frac{u}{s} = \frac{\delta(\lambda+p)^3 - \gamma(\lambda+p)^2(3\lambda+3) + \lambda^2\alpha(3+2\lambda)}{\lambda(\beta-\alpha) + p\beta} + 3\lambda^2 + 6\lambda + 2\lambda^2$$

Thus clearly, the admissibility condition for  $\phi \in \aleph_l[\Omega, q]$  in Definition (7) is equivalent to admissibility condition for  $\chi \in \Psi_2[\Omega, q]$  as given in Definition (5) with n = 2.

Therefore, by using (8) and Lemma (1), we have

 $L^m_\lambda f(z)p(z) \prec q(z)$ .

The proof is complete.

Our next result is a consequences of Theorem (1) for the case when the behavior of q(z) on  $\partial U$  is un known.

**Corollary** (1): Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}$  and let function q be univalent in U with q(0) = 0. Let  $\phi \in \aleph_l[\Omega, q_\rho]$  for some  $\in (0,1)$ , where  $q_\rho(z) = q(\rho z)$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q_\rho$  satisfies the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q_{\rho}''(\xi)}{q_{\rho}'(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)}{q_{\rho}'(\xi)}\right| \le k, \qquad (z \in U; k \ge 2; \xi \in \partial U/E(q_{\rho}))$$

and

$$\phi\left(L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z);z\right)\in\Omega_{\lambda}$$

then

$$L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z) \prec q(z) \quad (z \in U).$$

**Proof:** By applying Theorem (1), we get

$$L^m_{\lambda} f(z) \prec q_{\rho}(z) \quad (z \in U).$$

The result asserted by Corollary (1) is now deduced from following subordination property  $q_{\rho}(z) \prec q(z)$   $(z \in U)$ .

The proof is complete.

If  $\Omega \neq \mathbb{C}$  is simply-connected domain, then  $\Omega = h(U)$  for some conformal mapping h(z) of U onto  $\Omega$ In this case, the class  $\aleph_l[h(U), q]$  is written as  $\aleph_l[\Omega, q]$ . This leads to the following immediate consequence of Theorem (1).

**Theorem (2):** Let  $\in \aleph_l[h, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_0$  satisfy the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q_{\rho}^{\prime\prime}(\xi)}{q_{\rho}^{\prime}(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{q_{\rho}^{\prime}(\xi)}\right| \le k, \tag{18}$$

and

$$\phi\left(L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z);z\right) < h(z),$$
(19)

then

 $L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z) \prec q(z) \quad (z \in U).$ 

The next result is an immediate consequence of Corollary (1).

**Corollary** (2): Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}$  and let function q be univalent in U with q(0) = 0. Also Let  $\phi \in \mathbb{C}$  $\aleph_l[\Omega, q]$  for some  $\in (0,1)$ , where  $q_\rho(z) = q(\rho z)$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q_\rho$ Satisfies the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q_{\rho}''(\xi)}{q_{\rho}'(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \quad , \qquad \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}{q_{\rho}'(\xi)}\right| \le k, \qquad \left(z \in U; k \ge 2; \xi \in \partial U/E(q_{\rho})\right)$$

and

$$\phi\left(L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z);z\right) \prec h(z)$$

Then

 $L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z) \prec f(z) \quad (z \in U).$ The following result yield the best dominant of differential subordination (19).

**Theorem (3):** Let the function h be univalent in U. Also let  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $\chi$  be given by (16). Suppose that following differential equation:

$$\chi(q(z), zq'(z), z^2q''(z), z^3q'''(z); z) = h(z),$$
(20)  
*z*) with  $q(0) = 0$ , which satisfies the condition (8). If  $f \in T$  satisfies the condition

has a solution q(z)(19) and if

$$\phi(L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z);z),$$

is analytic in U, then

 $L^m_{\lambda} f(z) \prec q(z) \quad (z \in U)$ 

and q(z) is the best dominant.

**Proof**: From Theorem (1), we see that q is a dominant of (19). Since q satisfies (20), it is also a solution of (19). Therefore, q will be dominated by all dominants. Hence q is the best dominant. This completes the proof of Theorem (3).

In view of Definition (7), and in special case when q(z) = Mz (M > 0), the class  $\aleph_1[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions, denoted by  $\aleph_l[\Omega, M]$  is expressed follows.

**Definition** (8): Let  $\Omega$  be set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and > 0. The class  $\aleph_1[\Omega, M]$  of admissible functions consists of those function  $\phi \colon \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$  such that

$$\phi \begin{pmatrix} Me^{i\theta}, \left(\frac{k+\lambda}{\lambda+p}\right) Me^{i\theta}, \frac{L+\left[(2\lambda+1)k+\lambda^2\right] Me^{i\theta}}{(\lambda+p)^2}, \\ \frac{N+3(\lambda+1)L+\left[(3\lambda^2+3\lambda+1)k+\lambda^3\right] Me^{i\theta}}{(\lambda+p)^3}; z \end{pmatrix} \notin \Omega,$$
(21)

whenever  $z \in U$ ,

$$\mathcal{R}(Le^{-i\theta}) \geqq (k-1)kM$$

and

 $\Re(Ne^{-i\theta}) \ge 0$  $\forall \theta \in \mathbb{R}; k \geq 2$ 

**Corollary** (3): Let  $\phi \in \aleph_l[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  satisfies the following conditions:  $\left|L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)\right| \le kM \qquad (z \in U; k \ge 2; M \ge 0)$ 

and

$$\left(L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z);z\right)\in\Omega$$

then

$$|L_{\lambda}^m f(z)| < M.$$

In the special case when  $\Omega = q(U) = \{w : |w| < M\}$ , the class  $\aleph_L[\Omega, q]$  is simply denoted by  $\aleph_L[M]$ . Corollary (3) can now be rewritten in the following form.

**Corollary** (4): Let  $\phi \in \aleph_l[M]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  satisfies the following conditions:

$$|L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)| \leq kM \quad (z \in U; k \geq 2; M > 0)$$

and

$$\left| \left( L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z \right) \right| < M,$$

then

$$|L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)| < M$$

**Corollary** (5): Let  $k \ge 2, 0 \ne q \in \mathbb{C}$  and M > 0. If the function  $f \in T$  satisfies the following conditions:

$$|L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)| \leq kM$$

and

$$|L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z) - L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)| < \frac{M}{|\lambda + p|},$$

then

$$|L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)| < M.$$
  
**Proof:** let  $\phi(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta; z) = \beta - \alpha$  and  $\Omega = h(U)$ , where

$$h(z) = \frac{Mz}{|\lambda + p|} \qquad (M > 0)$$

use Corollary (3), we need to show that  $\phi \in \aleph_l[\Omega, q]$ , That is that the admissibility condition (21) is satisfied. This follows readily, since it is seen that

$$\left|\phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z)\right| = \left|\frac{(k-1)Me^{i\theta}}{\lambda+p}\right| \ge \frac{M}{|\lambda+p|}$$

whenever  $z \in U, \theta \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $k \ge 2$ . The requird result now follows from Corollary (3). This completes the proof of corollary (5).

**Definition** (9): Let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_1 \cap \mathcal{G}_1$ . The class  $\aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions consists of those functions  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$ , which satisfy the following admissibility conditions:  $\phi(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta; z) \notin \Omega$ ,

whenever

$$\alpha = q(\xi), \qquad \beta = \frac{k\xi q'(\xi) + (\lambda + 1)q(\xi)}{\lambda + p},$$
$$\Re\left(\frac{\gamma(\lambda + p)^2 - \alpha(\lambda + 1)^2}{\beta(\lambda + p) - \alpha(\lambda + 1)} - 2(1 + \lambda)\right) \ge k\Re\left(\frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)} + 1\right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\delta(\lambda+P)^3 + 3\gamma(\lambda+2)(\lambda+p)^2 + 3\alpha(\lambda+2)(\lambda+1)^2 - (1+\lambda)^3\alpha}{\beta(\lambda+p) - \alpha(\lambda+1)} + 3\lambda^2 + 12\lambda + 11\right)$$

$$\geq k^2 \mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi^2 q'''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)}\right),$$
are  $\xi \in \mathcal{U}$ ,  $\xi \in \mathcal{U}$ ,  $F \in$ 

where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U/E(q)$  and  $k \ge n$ . **Theorem (4):** Let  $\in \aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_1$  satisfy the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q^{\prime\prime}(\xi)}{q^{\prime}(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f^{\prime}(z)}{zq^{\prime(\xi)}}\right| \le k,$$
(22)

and

$$\left\{\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z}; z\right); z \in U\right\} \subset \Omega,$$
(23)

then

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z} \prec q(z) \qquad (z \in U).$$

**Proof:** Define the analytic function p(z) in U by

$$p(z) = \frac{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}{z}.$$
(24)

From equation (5) and (24), we have

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z} = \frac{zp'(z) + (\lambda+1)p(z)}{\lambda+p}.$$
(25)

By a similar argument, we get

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z} = \frac{z^2 p''(z) + (2\lambda + 3)zp'(z) + (\lambda + 1)^2 p(z)}{(\lambda + p)^2}$$
(26)

and

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z} = \frac{z^3 p^{\prime\prime\prime}(z) + 3(\lambda+2)z^2 p^{\prime\prime}(z) + (3\lambda^2+9\lambda+7)zp^{\prime}(z) + (\lambda+1)^3 p(z)}{(\lambda+p)^3}.$$
 (27)

Define the transformation from  $\mathbb{C}^4$  to  $\mathbb{C}$  by

$$\alpha(r, s, t, u) = r, \quad \beta(r, s, t, u) = \frac{s + r(\lambda + 1)}{\lambda + p},$$
  

$$\gamma(r, s, t, u) = \frac{t + s(2\lambda + 3) + (\lambda + 1)^2 r}{(\lambda + p)^2},$$
(28)

and

$$\delta(r, s, t, u) = \frac{u + 3t(\lambda + 2) + s(3\lambda^2 + 9\lambda + 7) + (\lambda + 1)^3 r}{(\lambda + p)^3}.$$
(29)

Let

$$\chi(r,s,t,u) = \phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z) =$$

$$= \phi \begin{pmatrix} r, \frac{s+(\lambda+1)r}{\lambda+p}, & \frac{t+s(2\lambda+3)+(\lambda+1)^2r}{(\lambda+p)^2}, \\ \frac{u+3t(\lambda+2)+s(3\lambda^2+9\lambda+7)+(\lambda+1)^3r}{(\lambda+p)^3}; z \end{pmatrix}.$$
(30)

The proof will make use of Lemma (1). Using the equations (24) to (26), and from the equations (30), we have

$$\chi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2 p''(z), z^3 p'''(z); z) = \phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z)}{z}; z\right).$$
(31)

Hence, clearly, (23) becomes

$$\chi(p(z),zp'(z),z^2p''(z),z^3p'''(z);z)\in \Omega\,.$$

We note that

$$\frac{t}{s} + 1 = \frac{\gamma(\lambda + p)^2 - \alpha(\lambda + 1)^2}{\beta(\lambda + p) - \alpha(\lambda + 1)} - 2(\lambda + 1)$$

and

$$\frac{u}{s} = \frac{\delta(\lambda+p)^3 - 3\gamma(\lambda+p)^2(\lambda+2) + 3\alpha(\lambda+2)(\lambda+1)^2 - (\lambda+1)^3}{\beta(\lambda+p) - \alpha(\lambda+1)} + 3\lambda^2 + 12\lambda + 11$$

Thus clearly, the admissibility condition for  $\phi \in \aleph_l[\Omega, q]$  in Definition (9) is equivalent to admissibility condition for  $\chi \in \Psi_2[\Omega, q]$  as given in Definition (5) with n = 2. Therefore, by using (22) and Lemma (1), we have

 $\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{d} \prec q(z) \; .$ 

This completes the proof of Theorem (4).

If  $\Omega \neq \mathbb{C}$  is simply-connected domain, then  $\Omega = h(U)$  for some conformal mapping h(z) of U onto  $\Omega$ . In this case, the class  $\aleph_{l,1}[h(U), q]$  is written as  $\aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, q]$ . This leads to the following immediate consequence of Theorem (4) is stated below.

**Theorem (5)**: let  $\in \aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_1$  satisfy the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q_{\rho}^{\prime\prime}(\xi)}{q_{\rho}^{\prime}(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{zq_{\rho}^{\prime}(\xi)}\right| \le k, \tag{32}$$

and

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z}; z\right) < h(z),$$
(33)

then

 $\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}\prec q(z) \quad (z\in U).$ 

In view of Definition (10), and in special case when  $q(z) = Mz \ (M > 0)$ , the class  $\aleph_{L,1}[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions , denoted by  $\aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, M]$  is expressed follows.

**Definition** (10): Let  $\Omega$  be set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and M > o. The class  $\aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, M]$  of admissible functions consists of those function  $\phi : \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$  such that

$$\phi\left(\begin{array}{c}Me^{i\theta},\frac{(k+\lambda+1)Me^{i\theta}}{\lambda+p},\frac{L+[(3+2\lambda)k+(\lambda+1)^2]Me^{i\theta}}{(\lambda+p)^2},\\\frac{N+3(\lambda+2)L+[k(3\lambda^2+9\lambda+7)+(\lambda+1)^3]Me^{i\theta}}{(\lambda+p)^3};z\end{array}\right)\notin\Omega.$$
 (34)

Whenever  $z \in U$ ,

$$\mathcal{R}(Le^{-i\theta}) \geqq (k-1)kMm$$

and

$$\Re(Ne^{-i\theta}) \ge 0 \qquad \forall \theta \in \mathbb{R}; k \ge 2.$$

**Corollary** (6): Let  $\phi \in \aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, M]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  satisfy the following conditions:  $\left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{2}\right| \leq kM \qquad (z \in U: k \geq 2: M > 0).$ ),

$$\left|\frac{f(z)}{z}\right| \le kM \qquad (z \in U; k \ge 2; M \ge 0)$$

and

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z};z\right)\in\Omega,$$

then

$$\left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}\right| < M.$$

In the special case when  $\Omega = q(U) = \{w: |w| < M\}$ , the class  $\aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, M]$  is simply denoted by  $\aleph_{l,1}[M]$ . Corollary (6) can now be rewritten in the following form.

**Corollary** (7): Let  $\phi \in \aleph_{l,1}[\Omega, M]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  satisfy the following conditions:  $|I^{m+1}f(z)|$ 

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{L-2}f(z)}{z} \leq kM \qquad (z \in U; k \geq 2; M \ge 0),$$

and

$$\left|\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z}; z\right)\right| < M$$

then

$$\left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}{z}\right| < M.$$

**Definition** (11): Let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Also let  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_1 \cap g_1$ . The class  $\aleph_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions consists of those functions  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$ , which satisfy the following admissibility conditions:

 $\phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z) \notin \Omega$ ,

whenever

$$\alpha = q(\xi), \qquad \beta = \frac{1}{\lambda + p} \left( \frac{k\psi\xi q'(\xi)}{q(\xi)} + (\lambda + 1)q(\xi) \right)$$
$$\Re\left( \frac{(\lambda + p)(\beta\gamma + 2\alpha^2 - 3\alpha\beta)}{(\beta - \alpha)} \right) \ge k\Re\left( \frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)} + \frac{1}{\alpha} \right)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} &\mathcal{R}\left((\delta-\gamma)(\lambda+p)^{2}\beta\gamma-(\lambda+p)^{2}(\gamma-\beta)(1-\beta-\gamma+3\alpha)-3\beta(\lambda+p)(\gamma-\beta)+2(\beta-\alpha)\right.\\ &\quad +3\alpha(\lambda+p)(\beta-\alpha)+(\beta-\alpha)^{2}(\lambda+p)\big((\beta-\alpha)(\lambda+p)-3-4\alpha(\lambda+p)\big)\\ &\quad +\alpha^{2}(\beta-\alpha)(\lambda+p)^{2}\big)(\beta-\alpha)^{-1} \geqq k^{2}\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi^{2}q^{\prime\prime\prime}(\xi)}{q^{\prime}(\xi)}\right),\end{aligned}$$

where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U/E(q)$  and  $k \ge n$ .

**Theorem (6):** Let  $\in \aleph_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_1$  satisfy the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q^{\prime\prime} {}_{p}(\xi)}{q^{\prime}(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z) q^{\prime}(\xi)}\right| \le k, \tag{35}$$

and

$$\left\{\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}; z\right), z \in U\right\} \subset \Omega,\tag{36}$$

then

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)} < q(z) \qquad (z \in U).$$

**Proof:** Define the analytic function p(z) in U by

$$p(z) = \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)}.$$
(37)

From equation (5) and (37), we have

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)} = \frac{1}{\lambda+p} \left[ \frac{zp'(z)}{p(z)} + (\lambda+p)p(z) \right] = \frac{A}{\lambda+p}.$$
(38)

By a similar argument, we get

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)} = \frac{B}{\lambda+p}$$
(39)

and

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)} = \frac{1}{\lambda+p} \left[ B + B^{-1}(C + A^{-1}D - A^{-2}C^2) \right],\tag{40}$$

where

$$B = (\lambda + p)p(z) + \frac{zp'(z)}{p(z)} + \frac{\frac{z^2p''(z)}{p(z)} + \frac{zp'(z)}{p(z)} - \left(\frac{zp'(z)}{p(z)}\right)^2 + (\lambda + p)zp'(z)}{\frac{zp'(z)}{p(z)} + (\lambda + p)p(z)},$$
$$C = \frac{z^2p''(z)}{p(z)} + \frac{zp'(z)}{p(z)} - \left(\frac{zp'(z)}{p(z)}\right)^2 + (\lambda + p)zp'(z)$$

and

$$\begin{split} D &= \frac{3z^2 p^{\prime\prime}(z)}{p(z)} + \frac{z^3 p^{\prime\prime\prime}(z)}{p(z)} + \frac{zp^\prime(z)}{p(z)} - 3\left(\frac{zp^\prime(z)}{p(z)}\right)^2 - \frac{3z^3 p^\prime(z)p^{\prime\prime}(z)}{p^2(z)} + 2\left(\frac{zp^\prime(z)}{p(z)}\right)^3 + (\lambda + p)zp^\prime(z) + (\lambda + p)z^2 p^{\prime\prime}(z) \,. \end{split}$$

We now define the transformation from  $\mathbb{C}^4$  to  $\mathbb{C}$  by

$$\alpha(r,s,t,u) = r, \quad \beta(r,s,t,u) = \frac{1}{\lambda+p} \left[ \frac{s}{r} + (\lambda+p)\gamma \right] \coloneqq \frac{E}{\lambda+p},$$
  
$$\gamma(r,s,t,u) = \frac{1}{\lambda+p} \left[ \frac{s}{r} + (\lambda+p)r + \frac{\frac{t}{r} + \frac{s}{r} - \left(\frac{s}{r}\right)^2 + (\lambda+p)s}{\frac{s}{r} + (\lambda+p)r} \right] \coloneqq \frac{F}{\lambda+p}$$
(41)

and

$$\delta(r,s,t,u) = \frac{1}{\lambda+p} [F + F^{-1}(L + E^{-1}H - E^{-2}L^{-2}], \qquad (42)$$

where

$$L = s(\lambda + p) + \frac{t}{r} + \frac{s}{r} - \left(\frac{s}{r}\right)^2$$

and

$$H = \frac{3t}{r} + \frac{u}{r} + \frac{s}{r} - 3\left(\frac{s}{r}\right)^2 - 3\left(\frac{st}{r^2}\right) + 2\left(\frac{s}{r}\right)^3 + (\lambda + p)(s + t).$$

Let

$$\chi(r,s,t,u) = \phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z) = \phi\left(r,\frac{E}{\lambda+p},\frac{F}{\lambda+p},\frac{1}{\lambda+p}[F+F^{-1}(L+E^{-1}H-E^{-2}L^2]\right).$$
(43)

The proof will make use of Lemma(1). Using the equations (37) to (40), and from the equations (43), we have  $(\alpha (\lambda) \alpha (\lambda) 2 \alpha (\lambda) 3 \alpha (\lambda) (\lambda) \lambda$ 

$$= \phi \left( \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}; z \right).$$
(44)

Hence, clearly, (35) becomes

$$\chi(p(z),zp'(z),z^2p''(z),z^3p'''(z);z)\in\Omega.$$

We note that

$$\frac{t}{s} + 1 = \frac{(\lambda + p)(\beta \gamma + 2\alpha^2 - 3\alpha\beta)}{(\beta - \alpha)}$$

and

 $(\beta - \alpha)^{-1}$ .

Thus clearly, the admissibility condition for  $\phi \in \aleph_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$  in Definition (11) is equivalent to admissibility condition for  $\chi \in \Psi_2[\Omega, q]$  as given in Definition (5) with n = 2.

(45).

Therefore, by using (35) and Lemma (1), we have

 $\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)} \prec q(z)$ 

This completes the proof of Theorem (6).

If  $\Omega \neq \mathbb{C}$  is simply-connected domain, then  $\Omega = h(U)$  for some conformal mapping h(z) of U onto  $\Omega$ . In this case, the class  $\aleph_{l,2}[h(U),q]$  is written as  $\aleph_{l,2}[\Omega,q]$ . An immediate consequence of Theorem (6) is now stated below without proof.

**Theorem (7):** Let  $\in \aleph_{l,2}[h,q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_1$  satisfy the following conditions (37) and

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}; z\right) < h(z),$$

$$(46)$$

then

$$\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)} \prec q(z) \quad (z \in U).$$

# 3. Result Related to the Third-Order Superordination

In this section, we investigate and prove several theorems involving the third-order differential superordination for the operator Defined in (5). For the purpose, we consider the following class of admissible functions.

**Definition** (12): let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $q \in \mathbb{Q}_1 \cap g_1$ . The class  $\aleph_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions consists of those functions  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times U \to \mathbb{C}$ , which satisfy the following admissibility conditions:  $\phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;z) \notin \Omega$ ,

whenever

$$\alpha = q(\xi), \qquad \beta = \frac{\xi q'(\xi) + m\lambda q(\xi)}{m(\lambda + p)},$$
$$\Re\left(\frac{\gamma(\lambda + p)^2 - \lambda^2 \alpha}{\beta(\lambda + p) - \lambda \alpha} - 2\lambda\right) \leq \frac{1}{m} \Re\left(\frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)} + 1\right)$$
$$\frac{3 - \gamma(\lambda + p)^2(3\lambda + 3) + \lambda^2 \alpha(3 + 2\lambda)}{\beta(\lambda + 3) + \lambda^2 \alpha(3 + 2\lambda)} + 3\lambda^2 + 6\lambda + 2\right) \leq \frac{1}{m} \Re\left(\frac{z^2 q''}{q'(\xi)} + 1\right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\delta(\lambda+P)^3 - \gamma(\lambda+p)^2(3\lambda+3) + \lambda^2\alpha(3+2\lambda)}{\lambda(\beta-\alpha) + \beta p} + 3\lambda^2 + 6\lambda + 2\right) \leq \frac{1}{m^2} \mathcal{R}\left(\frac{z^2 q^{\prime\prime\prime}(z)}{q^\prime(z)}\right),$$
  
ere  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U$  and  $m \geq 2$ 

where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U$  and  $m \ge 2$ .

**Theorem (8):** Let  $\phi \in \aleph'_L[\Omega, q]$  . If the function  $f \in T$ , with  $L^m_\lambda f(z) \in Q_0$ , and if  $q \in g_0$  with q'(z) = 0, satisfying the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{zq''(z)}{q'(z)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{q'(z)}\right| \le m,\tag{47}$$

(48)

and the function

$$\phi(L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z)$$
  
Is univalent in U, then

Implies that

$$q(z) \prec L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z) \quad (z \in U).$$

 $\Omega \subset \left\{ \phi \left( L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z \right) : z \in U \right\}$ 

Proof: Let the function p(z) be defined by (24) and  $\chi$  by (16). Since  $\phi \in N_L'[\Omega, q]$ , from (17) and (48), we have

$$\Omega \subset \{\psi(p(z), zp'(z), z^2p''(z), z^3p'''(z); z): z \in U\}.$$

From (14) and (15), we see that the admissibility condition for  $\phi \in \aleph_l'[\Omega, q]$  in Definition (1) is equivalent to the admissibility for  $\chi \in \Psi_2[\Omega, q]$  as given in Definition (6) with n = 2. Hence  $\chi \in$  $\Psi_2'[\Omega, q]$  and , by using (48) and Lemma (2) , we find that

$$q(z) \prec L^m_\lambda f(z) \qquad (z \in U)$$

This completes the proof of Theorem (8).

If  $\Omega \neq \mathbb{C}$  is simply-connected domain, then  $\Omega = h(U)$  for some conformal mapping h(z) of U onto  $\Omega$ .In this case, the class  $\aleph_l'[h(U), q]$  is written as  $\aleph_l'[\Omega, q]$ . This leads to the following immediate consequence of Theorem (8).

**Theorem (9):** Let  $\phi \in N'_L[\Omega, q]$  and let *h* be analytic in *U*. If the function  $f \in T$  and  $L^m_\lambda f(z) \in Q_0$ , and if  $q \in g_0$  with  $q'(z) \neq 0$ , satisfying the conditions (47) and the function

$$\phi(L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z),L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z);z),$$

is univalent in U, then

$$h(z) \prec \phi \left( L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z \right),$$

$$\tag{49}$$

implies that

 $q(z) \prec L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)$   $(z \in U)$ . Theorem (8) and (9) can only be used to obtain subordination for the third-order differential superordination of the form (48) or (49). The following theorem gives the existence of the best subordination of (49) for suitable  $\phi$ .

**Theorem (10):** Let the function h be univalent in U. Also let  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times \overline{U} \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $\chi$  be given by (16). Suppose that following differential equation:  $\gamma(a(z), za'(z), z^2a''(z), z^3a'''(z); z) = h(z)$ ( ( )

$$\chi(q(z), zq'(z), z'q''(z), z'q''(z); z) = h(z),$$
 (50)  
has a solution  $q(z) \in Q_0$ . If the function  $f \in T$ , with  $L^m_{\lambda} f(z) \in Q_0$  and if  $q \in \mathcal{G}_0$  with  $q'(z) \neq 0$ , satisfying the condition (47) and

$$\phi(L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z),$$

is analytic in U, then

$$\begin{split} h(z) &\prec \phi \Big( L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z \Big) \\ q(z) &\prec L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z) \quad (z \in U) \end{split}$$

and q(z) is the best dominant.

Proof: By applying Theorem (8) and Theorem (9), we deduce that q is a subordination of (49). Since q satisfies (50), it is also a solution of (49) and therefore, q will be subordinated by all subordinates. Hence q is the best subordinate. This completes the proof of Theorem (10).

**Definition** (13): Let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $q \in g_1$  with  $q'(z) \neq 0$ . The class  $\aleph'_{l,1}[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions consists of those function  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times \overline{U} \to \mathbb{C}$  that satisfy the following admissibility condition:  $\phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;\xi) \in \Omega$ ,

whenever

$$\alpha = q(\xi), \qquad \beta = \frac{\xi q'(\xi) + (\lambda + p)m\lambda q(\xi)}{m(\lambda + p)},$$
$$\Re\left(\frac{(\lambda + p)(\gamma - \alpha)}{\beta - \alpha} - 2(\lambda + p)\right) \leq \frac{1}{m} \Re\left(\frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)} + 1\right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\delta(\lambda+P)^2 - 3\gamma(\lambda+2)(\lambda+p) + 3\alpha(\lambda+2)(\lambda+p) - \alpha(\lambda+p)^2}{\beta - \alpha} + 3\lambda^2 + 12\lambda + 11\right)$$
  
$$\leq \frac{1}{m^2} \mathcal{R}\left(\frac{z^2 q^{\prime\prime\prime}(z)}{q^\prime(z)}\right),$$
  
we z \in U , \xi \in \partial U and  $m \geq 2$ .

where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U$  and  $m \ge 2$ . **Theorem (11)**: Let  $\phi \in \aleph'_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  and  $\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z} \in \mathbb{Q}_1$ , and if  $q \in \mathcal{G}_1$  with

 $q'(z) \neq 0$ , satisfying the following conditions:  $\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{\xi q''(\xi)}{q'(\xi)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(\xi)}{zq'(\xi)}\right| \le k,$ (51)

and the function

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z};z\right) \prec h(z),$$

is univalent in U, then

$$\Omega \subset \left\{ \phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z}; z\right); z \in U \right\}$$
(52)

then

$$q(z) < \frac{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}{z} \quad (z \in U).$$

Proof: Let the function p(z) be defined by (24) and  $\chi$  by (30). Since  $\phi \in \aleph'_{J,2}[\Omega, q]$ , we find from (31) and (52) that

$$\Omega \subset \left\{ \phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z}; z\right); z \in U \right\}.$$

Form the equations (28) and (29), we see that the admissible condition for  $\phi \in \aleph_{j,2}[\Omega, q]$  in Definition (13) is equivalent to the admissible condition for  $\chi \in \Psi'_2[\Omega, q]$  and, by using (51) and Lemma (2), we have

$$q(z) \prec \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)}{z} \quad (z \in U).$$

If  $\Omega \neq \mathbb{C}$  is simply-connected domain, then  $\Omega = h(U)$  for some conformal mapping h(z) of U onto  $\Omega$ . In this case, the class  $\aleph_{l,1}'[h(U), q]$  is written as  $\aleph_{l,1}'[\Omega, q]$ . This leads to the following immediate consequence of Theorem (11).

**Theorem** (12): Let  $\phi \in \aleph'_{l,1}[\Omega, q]$  and let *h* be analytic in *U*. If the function  $f \in T$ , with  $q \in g_1$  and  $q'(z) \neq 0$ , satisfying the conditions (51) and the function

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z};z\right)$$

is univalent in U, then

$$h(z) \prec \phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z}; z\right),$$

Ω,

implies that

$$q(z) \prec \frac{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}{z} \quad (z \in U).$$

**Definition** (14): let  $\Omega$  be a set in  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $q \in \mathcal{G}_1$  with  $q'(z) \neq 0$ . The class  $\aleph'_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$  of admissible functions consists of those functions  $\phi: \mathbb{C}^4 \times \overline{U} \to \mathbb{C}$ , which satisfy the following admissibility conditions:

$$\phi(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta;\xi)\in$$

whenever

$$\alpha = q(\xi), \qquad \beta = \frac{1}{\lambda + p} \left( \frac{zq'(z)}{mq(z)} + (\lambda + p)q(z) \right),$$
$$\Re\left( \frac{(\lambda + p)(\beta\gamma + 2\alpha^2 - 3\alpha\beta)}{(\beta - \alpha)} \right) \ge k\Re\left( \frac{\xi q''(z)}{q'(z)} + 1 \right)$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\mathcal{R}\Big((\delta-\gamma)(\lambda+p)^{2}\beta\gamma-(\lambda+p)^{2}(\gamma-\beta)\beta(1-\beta-\gamma+3\alpha)-3(\lambda+p)(\gamma-\beta)\beta+2(\beta-\alpha)\\ &+3(\lambda+p)\alpha(\beta-\alpha)+(\beta-\alpha)^{2}(\lambda+p)((\beta-\alpha)(\lambda+p)-3-4(\lambda+p)\alpha+\alpha^{2}\\ &+(\lambda+p)^{2}(\beta-\alpha)\Big)(\beta-\alpha)^{-1} \geqq \frac{1}{m^{2}}\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{z^{2}q^{\prime\prime\prime}(z)}{q^{\prime}(z)}\right), \end{split}$$

Where  $z \in U$ ,  $\xi \in \partial U$  and  $m \ge 2$ .

**Theorem (13):** let  $\in \aleph'_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$ , with  $\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)} \in \mathbb{Q}_{1}$  and if  $q \in \mathcal{G}_{1}$  with  $q'(z) \neq 0$  satisfy the following conditions:

$$\mathcal{R}\left(\frac{zq''(z)}{q'(z)}\right) \ge 0 \qquad \left|\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)q'(z)}\right| \le m,$$
(53)

and the function

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)};z\right),$$

is univalent in U, then

$$\Omega \subset \left\{ \phi \left( \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}; z \right); z \in U \right\}$$
(54)

implies that

$$q(z) \prec \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)} \qquad (z \in U)$$

Proof: Let the function p(z) be defined by (37) and  $\chi$  by (43). Since  $\phi \in \aleph'_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$ , we find from (44) and (54) that

 $\mathcal{\Omega} \subset \{\psi(p(z),zp'(z),z^2p''(z),z^3p'''(z);z) \colon z \in U\}.$ 

From the equations (41) and (42), we see that the admissible condition for  $\phi \in \aleph'_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$  in Definition (14) is equivalent to the admissible condition for  $\chi$  as given in Definition (6) with n = 2 Hence  $\chi \in \Psi'_2[\Omega, q]$  and, by using (53) and Lemma (2), we have

$$q(z) \prec \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)} \quad (z \in U).$$

This completes the proof of Theorem (13).

**Theorem (14):** Let  $\in \aleph'_{l,2}[\Omega, q]$ . If the function  $f \in T$ , with  $\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)} \in \mathbb{Q}_1$ , with  $q \in \mathfrak{g}_1$  and  $q'(z) \neq 0$  satisfy the conditions (53) and the function

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)};z\right),$$

is univalent in U, then

$$h(z) \prec \phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}; z\right)$$

implies that

$$q(z) \prec \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z)} \qquad (z \in U)$$

## 4. A Set of Sandwich-Type Results

By combining Theorem (2) and (9), we obtain the following sandwich -type theorem. **Theorem (15):** Let  $h_1$  and  $q_1$  be analytic function in U Also let  $h_2$  be univalent function in U and  $q_2 \in \mathbb{Q}_0$  with  $q_1(0) = q_2(0) = 0$  and  $\phi \in \aleph_l[h_2, q_2] \cap \aleph'_l[h_1, q_1]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  with  $L_{\lambda}^m f(z) \in \mathbb{Q}_0 \cap \mathscr{G}_0$  and the function

$$\phi(L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z),$$
  
in *U*, and if the condition (8) and (47) are satisfied, then  
$$h_{1}(z) \prec \phi(L_{\lambda}^{m} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z), L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z); z) \prec h_{2}(z)$$

Implies that

is univalent

$$q_1(z) \prec L_{\lambda}^m f(z) \prec q_2(z) \quad (z \in U).$$
(55)

If, on the order hand, we combine Theorem (5) and (12), we obtain the following sandwich-type theorem.

**Theorem** (16): let  $h_1$  and  $q_1$  be analytic function in U Also let  $h_2$  be univalent function in U and  $q_2 \in \mathbb{Q}_1$  with  $q_1(0) = q_2(0) = 1$  and  $\phi \in \aleph_{l,1}[h_2, q_2] \cap \aleph'_{l,1}[h_1, q_1]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  with  $\frac{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}{z} \in \mathbb{Q}_1 \cap \mathcal{G}_1$  and the function

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{z}; z\right),$$
  
if the condition (22) and (51) are satisfied, then

is univalent in U, and if the condition (22) and (51) are satisfied, then  $(Im C_{r}) Im^{+1} f(r) Im^{+2} f(r) Im^{+3} f(r)$ 

$$h_1(z) \prec \varphi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{\text{mf}}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{\text{mff}}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{\text{mff}}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{\text{mff}}f(z)}{z}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{\text{mff}}f(z)}{z}; z\right) \prec h_2(z)$$

implies that

$$q_1(z) \prec \frac{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}{z} \prec q_2(z) \quad (z \in U).$$
(56)

Finally, by combining Theorem (7) and (14), we obtain the following sandwich-type theorem. **Theorem (17):** let  $h_1$  and  $q_1$  be analytic function in U Also let  $h_2$  be univalent function in U and  $q_2 \in \mathbb{Q}_1$  with  $q_1(0) = q_2(0) = 1$  and  $\phi \in \aleph_{l,2}[h_2, q_2] \cap \aleph'_{l,2}[h_1, q_1]$ . If the function  $f \in T$  with  $\frac{L_{\lambda}^{h+1} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)} \in \mathbb{Q}_1 \cap \mathcal{G}_1$  and the function

$$\phi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2}f(z)},\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4}f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3}f(z)};z\right),$$

Is univalent in U, and if the condition (35) and (53) are satisfied, then

$$h_1(z) \prec \varphi\left(\frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+2} f(z)}, \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+4} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^{m+3} f(z)}; z\right) \prec h_2(z)$$

implies that

$$q_1(z) \prec \frac{L_{\lambda}^{m+1} f(z)}{L_{\lambda}^m f(z)} \prec q_2(z) \quad (z \in U).$$
(57)

#### References

[1] J. A. Antonion and S. S. Miller, Third- order differential inequalities and subordination in complex plane, Complex Var. Elliptic Equ., 56(2011), 439-454

[2] W. G. Atshan and E. I. Badawi, On sandwich theorems for certain univalent functions defined by a new operator, Journal of Al-Qadisiyah for Computer science and Mathematics, 11(2)(2019) ,72–80.

[3] W. G. Atshan and K. O. Hussein, On a Differential Subordination in Analytic Function Theory, University of Al-Qadisiyah, College of Computer Science and Mathematics, Diwaniyah, (2016). [2, chap. 2, page 35]

[4] W.G. Atshan and S. A. A. Jawad, On differential sandwich results for analytic functions, Journal of Al-Qadisiyah for Computer science and Mathematics, 11(1)(2019) ,96–101.

[5] N. E. Cho, T. Bulboacã and H. M. Srivastava, A general family of integral and associated subordination and superordination properties of some special analytic function classes, Apple. Math. Comput., 219(2012), 2278-2288

[6] H. A. Farzana, B. A. Stephen and M. P. Jeyaramam, Third-order differential subordination of analytic function defined by functional derivative operator, An Stiint. Univ. Al. I. Cuza Iasi Mat. (New Ser)., 62(2016), 105-120

[7] R. W. Ibrahim, M. Z. Ahmad and H. F. Al-Janaby, Third-order differential subordination and superordination involving a fractional operator, Open Math., 13 (2015), 706–728.

[8] M. P. Jeyaraman and T. K. Suresh, Third-order differential subordination of analytic functions, Acta Univ. Apulensis Math. Inform. No., 35 (2013), 187–202.

[9] S. S. Miller and P. T. Mocanu, Differential Subordinations: Theory and Applications, Series on Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, No. 225, Marcel Dekker Incorporated, New York and Basel,(2000).

[10] S. S. Miller and P. T. Mocanu, Subordinants of differential superordinations, Complex Variables Theory Appl., 48 (2003), 815–826.

[11] S. Ponnusamy and O. P. Juneja, Third-order differential inequalities in the complex plane, in Current Topics in Analytic Function Theory, World Scientific Publishing Company, Singapore, New Jersey, London and Hong Kong, (1992).

[12] D. R<sup>\*</sup>aducanu, Third order differential subordinations for analytic functions associated with generalized Mittag-Leffler functions, Mediterr. J. Math., 14 (4) (2017), Article ID 167, 1–18.

[13] H. Tang and E. Deniz, Third-order differential subordination results for analytic functions involving the generalized Bessel functions, Acta Math. Sci. Ser. B Engl. Ed., 34 (2014), 1707?1719.

[14] H. Tang, H. M. Srivastava, E. Deniz and S. Li, Third-order differential superordination involving the generalized Bessel functions, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., 38 (2015), 1669–1688.

[15] H. Tang, H. M. Srivastava, S. Li and L. Ma, Third order differential subordination and superordination results for meromorphically multivalent functions associated with the Liu-Srivastava operator, Abstr. App. Anal. , 2014 (2014), Article ID 792175, 1-11

# Von Neumann Regular Semiring

Alaa Hussein Ali<sup>(1)</sup> Asaad Mohammed Ali Alhossaini<sup>(2)</sup> College of Education for pure Sciences University of Babylon

alaaasd476@gmail.com as

asaad\_hosain@itnet.uobabylon.edu.iq

**Abstract.** The aim of this action is a study and investigate "Von Neumann regular" semirings, some related concepts, e.g. reduced semirings; duo semiring, quasi-duo, and weakly duo semirings; regular, weakly regular and strongly regular semirings, also investigated. Some known results related to those concepts in rings were converted to semirings. Another aim of this paper is characterization Von Neumann Regular condition by the principal right ideal generated by an idempotent element.

Key words. Semirings, reduced semiring; duo, quasi-duo semiring, weakly duo

Semiring; regular, weakly regular, strongly regular; Boolean semiring; semifield;

Nilpotent

# 1. Introduction

The concept of **Von Neumann Regular** introduced in (ring theory) in 1936 by J. Von Neumann [1], also was studied in semirings, through much research [2], [3], [4], [5]. A semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as **'simply regular'** or **'Von Neumann regular'** if  $\forall a \in \Re \exists x \in \Re \ni axa = a$  [3]. " A non-empty set  $\Re$  with two bilateral operations (+) and(·) is referred to as a semiring if:

- (1) ( $\Re$ , +) is a commutative monoid with identity element 0;
- (2) ( $\Re$ ,  $\cdot$ ) is a monoid with identity element  $1 \neq 0$ ;
- (3) Both the distributive laws hold in  $\Re$ ;
- (4)  $a \cdot 0 = 0 \cdot a = 0$  for all  $a \in \Re$  ". [6]

A nonempty subset *I* of a semiring  $\Re$  is called a (left, right) **ideal** if  $a, b \in I$  and  $r \in \Re$  implies  $a + b \in I$  and  $(ra \in I, ar \in I \text{ respectively})$  [6]. An ideal *I* from a semiring  $\Re$  is called **subtractive** if  $a, a + b \in I, b \in \Re$  implies  $b \in I$  [7]. A semiring  $\Re$  is called **yoked** if for each x and y in the semiring  $\Re, x + h = y$  or x = y + h for some h in the semiring  $\Re$  [8]. A semiring  $\Re$  is called **cancellative** if for every  $a, b, c \in \Re$  such that a + c = b + c then a = b.[2]. This paper consisting of three sections. In **section one**, we study semiring. We give some of their basic properties and provide some examples. **Section two** is devoted to exhibiting several preliminary results on duo semiring, quasi-duo semirings and weakly duo semiring. In **section three**, the properties and definitions of strongly regular, regular and weakly regular semiring were studied.

#### 2. Reduced semiring

In this section, we study semirings that contain no non-zero nilpotent elements; such semirings are called reduced semirings. We give some of their basic properties and provide some examples.

## 7 Definition 2.1. (see [6], p. 43)

An element x at a semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as "nilpotent" iff there exists a positive integer n satisfying  $x^n = 0$ . We will denote the set for every nilpotent elements from  $\Re$  by N.

#### Lemma 2.2. (see [6], p. 43, 44)

Let N be the set of all nilpotent elements of  $\Re$ , then N is an ideal of  $\Re$ .

```
Definition 2.3. [9]
```

A semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as "reduced" if  $\Re$  contains no non-zero nilpotent elements.

#### Example 1

The semiring of integers modulo 6,  $\mathbb{Z}_6$  is reduced while  $\mathbb{Z}_8$  is not reduced, since 2,4,6 are nilpotent elements of  $\mathbb{Z}_8$ .

Definition 2.4. [10]

"A right annihilator" of a non-zero element a in a semiring  $\mathfrak R$  is defined by

$$r(a) = \{b \in \mathfrak{R} : ab = 0\}.$$

A left annihilator l(a) is similarly defined.

## Proposition 2.5. [9]

Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be "a reduced semiring". Then, for every  $a \in \mathfrak{R}$ 

1 - r(a) = l(a)

 $2 - r(a) = r(a^2)$ 

3-  $\Re/r(a)$  is reduced

## Definition 2.6. [1]

An ideal *I* from a semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as essential if and only if  $I \cap H \neq 0$  for every nonzero ideal of  $\Re$ .

#### Example 2

1- Let  $\mathbb{Z}_8$  be the semiring of (integers modulo 8) and *I*=(2), *J*=(4), then *I* and *J* are essential ideals in  $\mathbb{Z}_8$ .

2- Let  $\mathbb{Z}_6$  be the semiring of (integers modulo 6), then *I*=(2) is not essential in  $\mathbb{Z}_6$ .

3- Let  $\Re$  = (  $\mathbb{N}U\{\infty\}$ , min,+ ) be the semiring wherever  $\mathbb{N}$  is the natural numbers, thus the ideals from  $\Re$  are the form  $I = \{n, n+1, ...\} \cup \{\infty\}$  or  $\{\infty\}$ 

Since :

(i)  $I = \{n, n+1, n+2, ...\} \cup \{\infty\}$  closed under addition (min).

(*ii*) Let *r* be any element belongs to  $\Re$  and *a* be any element belongs to *I*,  $r+a \ge n$ , then  $r+a \in I$  this implies closed under multiplication by elements of  $\Re$  (+).

Now, suppose J is a non-zero ideal contained in  $\Re$ . indeed :

(i)  $\infty \in \Re$ ,  $a \in J$  then  $\infty + a = \infty \in J$ 

(ii) Let *n* be the smallest element of *J*. Then *J* is an ideal,  $1 \in \Re$  implies  $1+n \in J$ .

Then { n, n + 1, n + 2, ...}  $\subseteq J \rightarrow J = \{n, n + 1, ... \} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

On the another hand every non-zero ideal from  $\Re$  is essential from  $\Re$  (the zero element from  $\Re$  is  $\infty$ ), if  $J \cap K = \{\infty\} \rightarrow$  either  $J = \{\infty\}$  or  $K = \{\infty\}$ 

 $J = \{ n, n + 1, ... \} \cup \{ \infty \}, K = \{ m, m + 1, ... \} \cup \{ \infty \}.$ 

 $J \cap K = J$  if n > m or  $J \cap K = K$  if  $n < m \rightarrow$  if  $J \neq \{\infty\}$  and  $K \neq \{\infty\}$ . Then  $J \cap K \neq \{\infty\}$ .

# Definition 2.7. [1]

Let x an element in a semiring  $\Re$ . Then x is referred to as "**a right singular**" iff r(x) is essential ideal in  $\Re$ . The set of all "right singular elements" in  $\Re$  is denoted by " $rZ(\Re)$ ".

A left singular ideal, denoted by  $IZ(\Re)$ , is similarly defined.

#### Example 3

1-Let  $Z_{12}$  be the semiring of integers modulo 12. Then r(6) and r(0) are the only essential ideals in  $Z_{12}$ . Therefore,  $rZ(\Re) = IZ(\Re) = \{0, 6\}$ .

2-By(Example 2(3)), if  $m \neq \infty$ ,

then  $r(m) = \{k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \mid m+k = \infty\} = \{\infty\}$  not essential in  $\mathfrak{R}$ .

 $r(\infty) = \{k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \mid \infty + k = \infty\} = \Re$  essential in  $\Re$ . This implies that  $rZ(\Re) = \{\infty\}$ .

The following result is analogous to one in ring theory (see [11]), but we will give another proof.

#### **Proposition 2.8.**

If  $IZ(\mathfrak{R})$  contains no non-zero nilpotent elements, then  $IZ(\mathfrak{R})=0$ .

## **Proof:**

Since  $IZ(\mathfrak{R}) \neq 0$ , then there exists  $0 \neq z \ni I(z)$  essential in  $\mathfrak{R}$ .

Thus  $l(z) \cap \Re x \neq 0$  for each  $x \in \Re$ . In particular when x=z, then there exists  $rz \in l(z) \cap \Re z$  with  $rz \neq 0$ . So, (rz)z = 0,  $(zrz)^2 = (zrz)(zrz) = z(rz^2)rz = 0 \rightarrow zrz \in Z(\Re)$  and nilpotent  $\rightarrow zrz = 0 \rightarrow (zr) \in l(z)$ . Now,  $(rz)^2 = (rz)(rz) = r(zrz) = 0 \rightarrow (rz) \in Z(\Re)$  and rz is nilpotent  $\rightarrow rz = 0$ , and this is a contradiction. Implies that  $lZ(\Re) = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

By a similar argument in [12], the following result can be proved.

#### Corollary 2.9.

Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be a reduced semiring. Then  $IZ(\mathfrak{R}) = rZ(\mathfrak{R}) = 0$ .

#### Remark

It is clear that, if  $\Re$  is "a commutative semiring", and K the set for each "nilpotent elements" of  $\Re$ . Then  $\Re/N$  is "a reduced semiring".

#### 3. Duo and quasi-duo semiring

The present section is devoted to exhibiting several preliminary results on "duo semirings", "quasi-duo semirings", and "weakly duo semirings". We shall begin this section with the following definition.

#### Definition 3.1. [7]

The semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as right (left) duo if every right (left) ideal of  $\Re$  is a two-sided ideal.

The following definition is analogous to a similar one in ring theory (see [13])

#### Definition 3.2.

A semirings  $\Re$  is referred to as "left (right) quasi-duo" if each maximal (left) right ideal of  $\Re$  is a two-sided ideal.

A right (quasi-duo) semiring form a non-trivial generalization of right duo semiring.

#### Definition 3.3. [14]

An element x of a semiring  $\Re$  is (a unit) if and only if there exists (a necessarily unique) element  $x^{-1}$  of  $\Re$  satisfying  $xx^{-1} = 1 = x^{-1}x$ .

The following definition is analogous to a similar one in ring theory ( see [13] )

#### Definition 3.4.

A semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as (weakly right (left) duo), if for every  $x \in \Re$ , there exists a positive integer *m* such that  $x^m \Re (\Re x^m)$  is a two-sided ideal of  $\Re$ .

Note that, every "weakly right (left) duo semiring" is "right (left) quasi-duo".

#### Definition 3.5. [10]

"The Jacobson radical" of a semiring  $\Re$ , denoted by  $J(\Re)$ , is the set

 $J(\mathfrak{R}) = \bigcap \{ M: M \text{ is a maximal ideal of } \mathfrak{R} \}.$ 

#### Definition 3.6. [7]

A semiring  $\Re$  is called semi-simple if  $J(\Re) = 0$ .

#### Corollary 3.7. [15]

Any proper ideal of a semiring  $\Re$  is a subset of a maximal ideal of  $\Re$ .

The following result is analogous to a similar one in ring theory ( see [16], p. 109 ),

#### Lemma 3.8.

 $J(\mathfrak{R}) = \{ a \in \mathfrak{R} \mid \mathfrak{R}a \ll \mathfrak{R} \}.$ 

# Proof :

(⇒)  $\Re a \ll \Re$ , *C* is a maximal ideal of  $\Re$ , such that  $a \notin C \to \Re a + C = \Re \to a\Re$  is not small in  $\Re$ , a **contradiction**. This implies  $a \in \bigcap C$ , where *C* is a maximal ideal of  $\Re$ .

( $\Leftarrow$ ) Let  $a \in \bigcap C$ , where C is a maximal ideal of  $\mathfrak{R}$ . Assume  $a\mathfrak{R}+U=\mathfrak{R}$ , for some proper ideal U of  $\mathfrak{R}$ . We can assume that U is a maximal ideal of  $\mathfrak{R}$  by **corollary(3.7.).** But  $a \in U \to \mathfrak{R}a \subseteq U \to \mathfrak{R}a + U = U \neq \mathfrak{R}$ , **a contradiction**. Therefore  $\mathfrak{R}a \ll \mathfrak{R}$ .  $\Box$ 

The following result is analogous to a similar one in ring theory (see [17])

#### **Proposition 3.9.**

Let  $\mathfrak{R}$  be "a right quasi-duo semiring". Then  $\mathfrak{R}/J(\mathfrak{R})$  is "a reduced semiring".

Proof :

It is enough to prove that any nilpotent element belongs to  $J(\mathfrak{R})$ . That is, to prove if  $x \in \mathfrak{R}$ 

and  $x^m = 0$  for some  $m \in Z^+$ , then  $x \in J(\Re) = \{x \in \Re | \Re x \ll \Re\}$  by **lemma(3.8.).** Suppose that  $\Re a + K = \Re$  where K is a left ideal from  $\Re$ , we want to show that  $K = \Re$  which implies  $x \in J(\Re)$ , by **corollary (3.7.)**, we can assume that K is a maximal ideal of  $\Re$ , multiplying both side by x from right we get  $\Re x^2 + Kx = \Re x \rightarrow \Re x^2 + Kx + K = \Re$ , continuing in this way, we end up with  $Kx^{n-1} + \cdots + Kx^2 + Kx + K = \Re$ , ( $\Re x^n = 0$ ). Since  $\Re$  is "left quasi-duo", and K is maximal, then hence  $K = \Re$ .

#### 4. Regular, Strongly Regular, Weakly Regular

In this section, the definitions, and properties of regular, weakly regular and strongly regular

semirings are given.

#### Definition 4.1. [2]

A semiring  $\Re$  is said to be "Von Neumann Regular" if, for any  $x \in \Re$ , there exists  $y \in \Re$  such that x = xyx.

The following definition is analogous to a similar one in ring theory ( see [18] )

#### 8 **Definition 4.2.**

A semiring  $\Re$  is said to be unit regular if, for every  $a \in \Re$ , there exists a unit u in  $\Re$  such that a=aua.

#### Definition 4.3. [19]

"A commutative semiring"  $\Re$  is referred to as (a semifield) if each non-zero element in  $\Re$  has a (multiplicative) inverse in  $\Re$ .

#### Definition 4.4. (see [6], p. 7)

The Boolean semiring is the commutative semiring  $B = \{0,1\}$ , formed by the two-elements, and defined by 1 + 1 = 1.

## Example 1

- 1- Every semifield is regular.
- 2- Every Boolean semiring is regular.

3- Let  $\mathbb{R}^+ = \{r \ge 0 | r \in \mathbb{R}\}$  be the semiring and  $\mathfrak{R}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{R}^+ & \mathbb{R}^+ \\ 0 & \mathbb{R}^+ \end{bmatrix}$ , it's clear that  $\mathfrak{R}_1$  is "a noncommutative semiring" with identity  $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ , but not "regular" because

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \neq \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \text{ for all } \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix} \in \mathfrak{R}_1.$$

The following result is analogous to a similar one in ring theory (see [20])

# 9 Lemma 4.5.

Let  $v \in \Re$ , if v is "unit regular", then v=eu for some idempotent element e and some unit element u.

# **Proof:**

Suppose that x is a unit regular. Then there exists a unit  $v \in \Re$  such that xvx=x. Let e=xv. Then  $e^2=xvxv=xv=e$ , so e is an idempotent element of  $\Re$ . Let  $u=v^{-1}$ , then we have x=eu.\*

The following definition is analogous to a similar one in ring theory ( see [21])

# Definition 4.6.

A semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as CI-semiring if each idempotent element from  $\Re$  is central, ( $a \in \Re$  is central if  $ab = ba \forall b \in \Re$ ).

The following definition is analogous to a similar one ring theory (see [22]).

#### Definition 4.7.

A semiring  $\Re$  is called "strongly regular" if, for each  $r \in \Re$ , there exists

s,  $t \in \Re$  such that  $r=r^2s=tr^2$ .

# Remark 2

Every "strongly regular semiring" is "regular". (clear)

We call  $\Re \pi$ -regular (unit  $\pi$ -regular) semiring if for any  $x \in \Re$ , there exists a positive integer m and an element y (a unit u) of  $\Re$  such that  $x^m = x^m y x^m (x^m = x^m u x^m)$ .

# Lemma 4.8.

Let  $\,\,\mathfrak{R}\,$  a semiring. Then the following statements equivalent conditions:

1-  $z^m \in z^{m+1}\mathfrak{R}$  for some integer  $m \ge 1$ .

2-  $z^m \Re = z^{m+1} \Re$  for some integer  $m \ge 1$ .

3-The chain  $z\mathfrak{R} \supseteq z^2\mathfrak{R} \supseteq ....$  terminates.

## 9.1 Proof:

9.2 (1) $\rightarrow$ (2),  $z^m \in z^{m+1}\mathfrak{R} \rightarrow z^m = z^{m+1}r$  for some  $r \in \mathcal{R}$ ,  $z^m s = z^{m+1}rs \in z^{m+1}\mathfrak{R} \rightarrow z^m\mathfrak{R} \subseteq z^{m+1}\mathfrak{R}$ ,  $z^{m+1}r = z^m(zr) \in z^m\mathfrak{R} \rightarrow z^{m+1}\mathfrak{R} \subseteq z^m\mathfrak{R}$ .

9.3 (2) $\rightarrow$ (3), trivial.

9.4 (3)→(1), trivial. □

Definition 4.9.

9.5 An element z in a semiring  $\Re$  is called right  $\pi$ -regular if, it satisfies the equivalent conditions in lemma(4.8.)

### Definition 4.10.

An element  $k \in \Re$  is referred to as (strongly  $\pi$ -regular) if it is both left and right " $\pi$ -regular", and  $\Re$  is referred to as "a strongly  $\pi$ -regular semiring" if each element is "strongly  $\pi$ -regular".

# **REMARK 3**

9.6 Every strongly  $\pi$ -regular semiring is  $\pi$ -regular .(clear)

#### Definition 4.11. [3]

A semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as right (left) "weakly regular" if  $H^2 = H$  for each right (left) ideal H of  $\Re$ , equivalently "if  $w \in w \Re w \Re$  ( $w \in \Re w \Re w$ ) for every  $w \in \Box$ ".  $\Re$  is referred as to "weakly regular" if it is both right and left "weakly regular".

## **Remark 4**

Every "regular semiring" is "weakly regular".

In case  $\Re$  is commutative semiring then  $\Re$  is regular if and only if  $\Re$  is weakly regular.[3]

The following result is analogous to a similar one ring theory ( see [23] )

# Proposition 4.12.

Let  $\mathfrak R$  be a right weakly regular, cancellative and yoked semiring. Then

 $\Re = \Re a \Re$  for any right non-zero divisor element *a* of  $\Re$ .

### Proof :

Let *a* be a right non-zero divisor element of  $\mathfrak{R}$ . Then  $a\mathfrak{R}=(a\mathfrak{R})^2$  (since  $a \in (a\mathfrak{R})^2$ ). Assume that  $rat \in \mathfrak{R}a\mathfrak{R}$ , then by yoked property either 1 + h = rat or  $1 = rat + h \dots (1) \rightarrow a + ah = arat$  or a = arat + ah, since *a* and  $arat \in (a\mathfrak{R})^2$ , then by subtractive, we get  $ah \in (a\mathfrak{R})^2 \rightarrow ah = auav$  for some  $u, v \in \mathfrak{R}$ . Again, by yoked property either h = s + uav or h + s = uav for some  $s \in \mathfrak{R} \rightarrow as + auav = auav$  or ah + as = ah.

By cancellative property, we have  $as = 0 \rightarrow s = 0$  (*a* is non – zero divisor)  $\rightarrow h = uav \in \Re ah$ , then by(1)  $1 \in \Re a \Re \rightarrow \Re a \Re = \Re$ .  $\Box$ 

The following definition is analogous to a similar one in ring theory (see [24])

#### Definition 4.13.

A semiring  $\Re$  is called right (left) "weakly  $\pi$ -regular" if  $\forall x \in \Re$  there exists a natural number n such that  $x^n \in x^n \Re x^n \Re (x^n \in \Re x^n \Re x^n)$ ,  $\Re$  is "weakly  $\pi$ -regular" if it is both right and left "weakly  $\pi$ -regular".

## **Remark 5**

Every " $\pi$ -regular semiring" is "weakly  $\pi$ -regular".

The following result is analogous to a similar one in ring theory (see [23])

#### Proposition 4.14.

For a semiring  $\Re$ , the following are equivalent :

(a)  $\Re$  is "Von Neumann regular".

(b) For each *a* in  $\Re$ , there exists an "idempotent" e in  $\Re$  such that  $a\Re = e\Re$ .

#### Proof:

(a) $\Rightarrow$  (b) Since  $\Re$  is a "Von Neumann regular semiring", then for every element a in  $\Re$  there exists an element b in  $\Re$  such that a=aba. Now we put e=ab yields  $e=e^2$  for some e in  $\Re$ ,  $a\Re = e\Re$  (since;  $a\Re = (aba)\Re = ea\Re \subseteq e\Re, e\Re = (ab)\Re \subseteq a\Re$ ).

(b) $\Rightarrow$  (a) assume  $a\Re = e\Re$  where e is an idempotent element. Then a = ex for some x in  $\Re$ .

Now,  $a=ex=e^2x=ea$ . Let e=ab(since  $e \in a \Re \rightarrow e = ab$ ) we get a=aba. So  $\Re$  is Von Neumann regular semiring.  $\Box$ 

#### Definition 4.15. [10]

An ideal *I* from the semiring  $\Re$  is referred to as "direct summand" of  $\Re$  if there exists an ideal *J* of  $\Re$  such that  $\Re = I + J$  and  $I \cap J = 0$ . We usually write  $\Re = I \oplus J$ .

The following result is analogous to similar one in ring theory (see [23])

#### Proposition 4.16.

A cancellative and yoked semiring  $\Re$  is " Von Neumann regular " if and only if every principal right ideal of  $\Re$  is a direct summand.

# Proof:

Let  $\Re$  be a von Neumann regular semiring, if  $0 \neq a \in \Re$ , then by proposition (4.14)  $a\Re = e\Re$  for some idempotent element e of  $\Re$ . To prove  $e\Re$  is a direct summand of  $\Re$ . Assume that e is an idempotent element of  $\Re$  and  $I = e\Re$ . If e is a not zero-divisor, then  $f: \Re \rightarrow e\Re$  defined by  $r \mapsto er$  is an isomorphism, so,  $e\Re$  is "a direct summand" of  $\Re$ . If e is a zero-divisor, and eu = 0 (for some  $u \in \Re$ ).

Claim:  $\Re = e\Re + u\Re$  for some *u* such that eu = 0. We need to consider that  $\Re$ 

is yoked. In this case either e + u = 1 or e = 1 + u for some  $u \in \Re$ . If e + u = 1,

then  $\Re = e\Re + u\Re$  and since  $e(e+u) = e \rightarrow e^2 + eu = e \rightarrow e + eu = e \rightarrow eu = 0$ .

 $x \in e\mathfrak{R} \cap u\mathfrak{R} \rightarrow x = er = us$  for some  $r, s \in \mathfrak{R}$ .  $x = er \rightarrow ex = er = x$  and ex = eus = 0, so x = 0. Then  $\mathcal{R} = e\mathfrak{R} \oplus u\mathfrak{R}$ . In case e = 1 + u, also we get eu = 0, too, and

 $e\Re \cap u\Re = 0$ . On the other hand  $e = 1+u \rightarrow 0 = eu = u+u^2 \rightarrow e+u+u^2 = 1+u$ , by cancellative property then  $1 = e + u^2 \rightarrow r = er + u^2 r \in e\Re + u\Re$ ;  $\forall r \in \Re \rightarrow \Re = e\Re \oplus u\Re$ . Therefore  $I = \Re e$  is "a direct summand" of  $\Re$ .

Conversely, let  $\Re = a \Re \oplus K$ , for some ideal K of  $\Re$ . Now 1 = ar + k for some r in  $\Re$  and k in K, and a = ara + ka, but  $ka \in a \Re \cap K = 0$  implies that a = ara and  $\Re$  is "Von Neumann regular" semiring.  $\Box$ 

The following result is analogous to similar one in ring theory (see [17])

#### Proposition 4.17.

Let  $\Re$  be "a right duo semiring". The following statements are equivalent:

1-  $\Re$  is a right "weakly regular semiring";

2-  $\Re$  is "a strongly regular semiring".

3-  $\Re$  is "Von Neumann regular";

Proof :

(1)→(2). By **proposition(4.12.)**  $\Re = \Re a \Re \rightarrow 1 = rat \rightarrow a = arat \rightarrow a = a(as)t$ , for some  $s \in \Re$ , then  $a = a^2st \rightarrow a = a^2b$ , where b = st.

 $(2) \rightarrow (3)$ ,  $\Re$  is strongly regular, then for each  $a \in \Re \exists b,c$  such that  $a = a^2 b = ca^2$ 

 $\rightarrow a = aab = aba. (ab = ba, since \Re$  is a right duo semiring).

 $(3) \rightarrow (1), \forall a \in \Re \exists b \ni a = aba \rightarrow ar = abar \rightarrow a \in a \Re a \Re$ 

This implies  $\mathfrak{R}$  is a right "weakly regular semiring".  $\Box$ 

#### References

[1] T. K. Dutta and M.L. Das, Singular Radical in Semiring, Southeast Asian Bulletin of Mathematics (2010), 34 : 405-416.

[2] Alhossaini AM, Aljebory KS. Principally Pseudo-Injective Semimodule. J of Babylon, Pure and Applied Sciences. 2019; Vol(27), No(4).

[3] Ahsan J, Liu ZK, Shabir M. Some Homological Characterizations of Semigroups and Semirings. Acta Math Sinica. 2011; 27(10): 2065-2072.

[4] Jawad Abuhlail and R. G. Noegraha. Flat semimodules and Von Neumann Regular

Semirings. Department of Mathematics and Statistics King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals 31261 Dhahran, KSA, July 17, 2019.

[5] M. K. Sen and P. Mukhopadhyay, Von Neumann regularity in semirings, Kyungpook Math. J., 35 (1995), 249-258.

[6] Golan JS, Semirings and Their Applications. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1999.

[7] Vishnu Gupta and J.N. Chaudhari, Right  $\pi$ - regular semiring, Sarajevo Journal of Mathematics, 2. (14) (2006), 3-9.

[8] Alhossaini AM, Aljebory ZA. Fully Dual Stable Semimodule. Journal Of Iraqi Al-Khwarizmi, vol. 1, no. 1, pp.92-100, 2017.

[9] Vishnu Gupta and J.N. Chaudhari, Prime Ideals in Semirings, Bull. Malays. Malaysian Math. Sci. Soc. 34(2), (2011), 417-421.

[10] A. M. Alhossaini, K. S. Aljebory, The Jacobson Radical of The Endomorphism Semiring of a P.Q.-Injective Semimodules Baghdad Sci. J., to appear. 2020.

[11] Ming R. Y. C. (1978); On Von Neumann Regular Rings III, Montash. Math., 86, 251-257.

[12] Ferrero M. and Puczylowski E. R.(1998); The Singular Ideal and Radical, J. Austral. Math.(series A) 64, 195-209

[13] Chen J. L. and Ding N. Q.(1999); On General Principally Injective Rings, Comm. Algebra, 27(5), 2097-2116.

[14] Semirings and Affine Equations over Them, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 2003

[15] Nasehpour, P.: Some remarks on the ideals of commutative semirings, Quasigroups Relate. Syst., 26(2) (2018), 281-298.

[16] Kusch F., "Modules and Rings", Academic Press, London, (1982).

[17] Kim N.K., Nam S. B. and Kim J. Y. (1999); On Simple Singular GP-injective Modules,

Comm. Algebra, 27(5), 2087-2096.

[18] Are P.(1996); Strongly  $\pi$ -regular Rings Have Stable Range One, Proc. American Math. Soc., 124 (11), 3293-3298.

[19] J. N. Chaudhari and K. J. Injale, On *k*-Regular Semirings, Journal of the Indian Math.

82, (3-4), (2015), 01-11.

[20] Badawi A.(1997); On Abelian π-regular Rings, Comm. Algebra, 25 (4), 1009-1021.

[21] Shuker NH, Abdulla JS.(1999); On YJ-Injectivity, M. Sc. Thesis, Mosul University.

[22] Badawi A.(1994); On Semicommutative  $\pi$ -regular Rings, Comm. Algebra, 22 (1), 151-157.

[23] Mahmood A. S.(1990); On Von Neumann Regular Rings, M. Sc. Thesis, Mosul University.

[24] Nam S. B., Kim N. K. and Kim J. Y. (1995); On Simple GP-injective Modules, Comm. Algebra, 23 (14), 5437-5444.

# A Study of Equicontinuous Maps On Uniform G-Spaces

# By

Ansam A A <sup>1,2</sup> Ihsan J K <sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>ansan.a.ali1987@gmail.com

<sup>2</sup> University of Al- Qadisiyah, College of Science, Department of Mathematics

<sup>3</sup> <u>Ihsan.kadhim@qu.edu.iq</u>

Abstract. In this paper we shall study some new properties of equicontinuous maps on uniform G –Spaces. Here the phase space consider as a uniform space. Also we show the relationship among the equicontinuous maps with the distal dynamical system and expansive dynamical system.

# **1.Introduction**

One of the most significant in the investigation of the hypothesis of dynamical framework is equicontinuous dynamical framework. Numerous creators have been examined the dynamical ideas in a measurement space or in topological space.

**R. Das (2012)** [1] characterize and study the mayhem of a grouping of maps in "a metric G–space". Additionally, he [2] characterize while research a idea of G–transitive subset for a ceaseless guide upon the smaller metrical G–space.

**R. Das [3] (2013)** get enough status beneath that consequence from pair maps, at that singular is "Devaney's" G1-befuddled while else is "Devaney's" G2-scattered, is "Devaney's" G1  $\times$  G2- chaotic.

**R. Das , T. Das [4] (2012)** describe and research the thoughts from determinedly and antagonistically "G-asymptotic" spotlights at a homeomorphism by a "metric G-space". Furthermore, in [5] (2012) they describe and research a possibility of "topological transitivity" of an industrious self- chart during the "metric G-space" named like "topologically G-transitive" guide and secure hers depiction.

**P. Das and T. Das [6] (2019)** show that the course of action of concentrates dual asymptotic into a dot hold measure zero concerning every expansive outside common mensuration to a bi-quantifiable guide on a discernable "uniform space".

**I. J. Kadhim and S. K. Jebur [7] (2017)** they study the some acclaimed dynamical thoughts, for instance, tricky transitive mixture while equicontinuous at a general topological.

**E. Shah and T. Das [8] (2013)** portray while research the idea from inconsequentiality while detail for self a homeomorphism from a "metric G–space X". utilize "G–minimality", they get a category concerning maps that don't contain a "G–shadowing property". Further, get the enough event into "G–expansive homeomorphisms" and "G–shadowing property" to have "G–specification property".

Here, we will concentrate some new properties of equicontinuous maps on uniform G-Spaces. In Sec.2, a few ideas related with the uniform space a few properties of a uniform space that required in our work are state. Sec. 3 comprises of the primary aftereffects of our work.

# 2. Uniform space

Disregard X a set. mean by  $\Delta_X$  a corner to corner in  $(X \times X)$ , in order to is a set  $\Delta_X = \{(x,x): x \in X\}$ . a regressive U^(- 1) of the subcategory U $\subset X \times X$  is a subcategory of X $\times X$  described via U^(-1)= $\{(x,y):(y,x)\in U\}$ . On decision in order to U is symmetric if U^(- 1)=U. we get U $\cap$ U^(- 1) symmetric into each U $\subset X \times X$ . We describe the combined U $\circ$ V of pair subsets (U,V) of X $\times X$  by U $\circ$ V= $\{(x,y):$ found z $\in X$  to that a degree, such  $(x,z)\in U$  and  $(z,y)\in V\} \subset X \times X$ .

**Definition 2.1[10]** suppose X is a set. A "uniform structure" on X be a invalid combination U containing subsets of the Cartesian square ( $X \times X$ ) satisfactory a going with situations:

[UN-1] if  $U \in U$ , then  $\Delta_X \subset U$ ;

[UN-2] if  $U \in U$  and  $U \subset V \subset X \times X$ , then  $V \in U$ ;

[UN-3] if  $U \in U$  and  $V \in U$ , then  $U \cap V \in U$ ;

[UN-4] if  $U \in \boldsymbol{U}$ , then  $U^{-1} \in \boldsymbol{U}$ ;

[UN-5] if  $U \in U$ , then there exists  $V \in U$  such that  $V \circ V \subset U$ .

a segments of U is known as the escort of the "uniform structure" while the set X is known as a " uniform space". The consistency U is called segregating ( and X is said to be disconnected ) if  $\cap \{U: U \in U\} = \Delta$ .

annotation in order to the events [UN-3], [UN-4] and [UN-5] propose that, into each organization U found a symmetric escort V with the ultimate objective in order to  $V \circ V \subset U$ . Disregard X a set while put  $U \subset X \times X$ . specified a point  $x \in X$ , describe a subset  $U_{([x])} \subset X$  by  $U_{([x])} = \{y \in X: (x,y) \in U\}$ .

In case X is" a uniform space", thither a started topology on X charactrized via a way in order to the regions from an emotional dot  $x \in X$  include the sets  $U_{-}([x])$ , wherever U works onto every organizations of X. This topology is "Hausdorff" if while just if the interchange purpose of the impressive number of escorts of X is rduced to one side  $\Delta_X$ .

If (X,d) be an estimation space, thither a trademark uniform build upon X whom organization are the sets  $U \subset X \times X$  satisfactory the going with situation: found an authentic numeral  $\varepsilon$ >0such that U involves every paire (x,y) $\in X \times X$  with the ultimate objective in order to  $d(x,y) < \varepsilon$ . The topology related together and such orderly build is subsequently comparable to the topology started by the estimation.

**Theorem 2.2 [10]** (a) For every  $x \in X$ , the assortment  $\bigotimes_x = \{U_{([x])} : U \in U\}$  structure a local base at  $x \in X$ , making X a topological space. A similar topology is delivered if any base B is utilized instead of U. (b) the topology is Hausdorff if and just if U is isolated.

**Theorem 2.3[10]** The consistency U is isolated if and just if for each  $x,y\in X$  with  $x\neq y$ , there exists U $\in$ U to such an extent that  $(x,y)\notin$ U.

**Corollary 2.4[10]** The topology is Hausdorff if and just if for every  $x,y \in X$  with  $x \neq y$ , found  $U \in U$  to this an extent that  $(x,y) \notin U$ .

**Definition 2.5.** [10]Let (X,U) while (Y,V) be "uniform spaces". A capacity  $f:X \rightarrow Y$  is told into be uniform persistent if for every V  $\in$  V, there is some U  $\in$  U with the end goal that  $(x,y) \in$  U implies that  $(f(x),f(y)) \in$ V. On the off chance that f is one-one, onto and both f and  $f^{-1}$  are uniform persistent, we consider f a uniform isomorphism (uniform comparability) and state X and Y are consistently isomorphic ( consistently proportionate). Each consistently constant capacity is nonstop and thus every uniform isomorphism is "homeomorphism".

**Definition 2.6.** [10] suppose (X,U) and (Y,V) are duo uniform spaces. A mapping  $f:X \rightarrow X$  is told into be uniform equicontinuous on X if for each company V  $\in$  V and for each positive number n, fund an escort U  $\in$  U to such an extent that

 $(x,y)\in U$  infers  $(f^n(x),f^n(y))\in V$ .

Obviously that any self-nonstop guide is uniform equicontinuous however the opposite need not be valid.

**Definition 2.7 [10]** let (X,U) and (Y,V) are "uniform spaces". By subsequently the consequence from (X,U) and (Y,V) is a "uniform space" (Z,W) together the concealed set  $Z=X\times Y$  while the consistency W on Z whom basis involves the sets

 $W_{(U,V)}=\{((x,y),(x^{\prime},y^{\prime}))\in Z\times Z:(x,x^{\prime})\in U,(y,y^{\prime})\in V\},\$ 

wherever UEU and VEV. a consistency W is known as the consequence of U , V and is made as W=U×V.

# **3- Main Results**

Right now idea of equicontinuous, sweeping and distal maps in a uniform G-space are presented and some new properties of such ideas are demonstrated.

**Definition 3.1[9]** through a "G-space" we purpose a triplex  $(X,G,\theta)$ , wherever X is a "Hausdorff space", G is a topological social occasion and  $\theta$ :G×X→X is a perpetual movement of G on X.

**Definition 3.2** The 4-tuple  $(X,G,U,\theta)$  is said to be Uniform G-space if  $(X,G,\theta)$  is G-space and (X,U) is uniform space.

For simplest, we shall indicate for  $(X, G, U, \theta)$  by .

**Definition 3.3** The pair of maps

 $(\mu, \psi)$ : $(G_1, X, U, \theta_1) \rightarrow (G_2, Y, V, \theta_2)$ 

is said to be uniform homomorphism between the two uniform spaces (G\_1,X,U, $\theta_1$ ) and (G\_2,Y,V, $\theta_2$ ) if

(I)  $\mu:G_1 \rightarrow G_2$  is topological gathering homomorphism,

(ii)  $\psi: X \rightarrow Y$  is uniform consistent guide and

(iii)  $\psi(\theta_1(g,x))=\theta_2(\mu(g),\psi(x)).$ 

**Definition 3.4** suppose X is a uniform G-space. A uniform ceaseless mapping  $f:X \rightarrow X$  is said to be uniform G-equicontinuos on X if for each escort V $\in$ U and for each positive whole number n, there exists a company U $\in$ U to such an extent that

 $(x,y)\in U$  infers  $(f^n(\theta(g,x),f^n(\theta(p,y))\in V, g,p\in G.$ 

**Remark 3.5** beneath the paltry activity of G on X the thoughts of "uniform equicontinuous" and "uniform G-equicontinuous" are agreed.

**Theorem 3.6** Suppose X and Y is a "uniform G-spaces" and h\_1:X $\rightarrow$ X, h\_1:Y $\rightarrow$ Y be "equivariant topologically" conjugate by means of  $\varphi$ :X $\rightarrow$ Y. In the event that h\_1 is "uniform G-equicontinuous", at that point so is h\_2.

**Proof.** let  $h_1$  is "uniform *G* –equicontinuous". Let  $V \in \mathcal{V}$ . Since  $\varphi$  is uniform isomorphism, so we found  $U \in \mathcal{U}$  Like that

$$(x_1, x_2) \in U$$
 implies  $(\varphi(x_1), \varphi(x_2)) \in V$ . (1)

while  $h_1: X \to X$  is uniform G –equicontinuous, so we found an entourage  $\widetilde{U} \in \mathcal{U}$  and  $g, p \in G$  such that

$$(\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{x}_2) \in \widetilde{U}$$
 implies  $(h_1^n(\theta(g, \tilde{x}_1)), h_1^n(\theta(p, \tilde{x}_2))) \in U.$  (2)

Since  $\varphi^{-1}$ :  $Y \to X$  is uniform continuous, subsist  $\tilde{V} \in \mathcal{V}$  Like that

$$(\tilde{y}_1, \tilde{y}_2) \in \tilde{V}$$
 denote $(\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_1), \varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_2)) \in \tilde{U}$ . (3)

By (2) we have

$$(h_1^n(\theta(g,\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_1))),h_1^n(\theta(p,\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_2)))) \in U.$$

By (1) we have

$$(\varphi h_1^n \left( \theta \left( g, \varphi^{-1} (\tilde{y}_1) \right) \right), \varphi h_1^n \left( \theta \left( p, \varphi^{-1} (\tilde{y}_2) \right) \right)) \in U.$$

Since  $h_1$ ,  $h_2$  be equivariant topologically conjugate via  $\varphi$ , then

$$h_1^n(\theta(g,\varphi^{-1}(y))) = \varphi^{-1}(\sigma(\tilde{g},h_2^n(y)), \text{ for every } y \in Y \text{ and } \tilde{g} \in G_1$$
$$= \varphi^{-1}(h_2^n(\sigma(\tilde{g},y)))$$

Thus

$$(\varphi\varphi^{-1}(h_2^n(\sigma(\tilde{g},\tilde{y}_1)),\varphi\varphi^{-1}(h_2^n(\sigma(\tilde{p},\tilde{y}_2))) \in U.$$

This means that  $(h_2^n(\sigma(\tilde{g}, \tilde{y}_1)), h_2^n(\sigma(\tilde{p}, \tilde{y}_2)) \in U$ . Consequently  $h_1$  is uniform G –equicontinuous.

**Theorem 3.7.** suppose X and Y be uniform spaces and  $h_1:X \rightarrow X$ ,  $h_1:Y \rightarrow Y$  be equivariant topologically conjugate by means of  $\varphi:X \rightarrow Y$ . In the event that  $h_1$  is uniform equicontinuous, at that point so is  $h_2$ .

**Proof.** Let  $h_1$  is uniform equicontinuous. Let  $V \in \mathcal{V}$ . Since  $\varphi$  is uniform isomorphism, at that point there exists an escort  $U \in U$  with the end goal that

$$(x_1, x_2) \in U$$
 implies  $(\varphi(x_1), \varphi(x_2)) \in V$ . (1)

Since  $h_1: X \to X$  is uniform equicontinuous, at that point there exists an escort  $\widetilde{U} \in \mathcal{U}$  with the end goal that

$$(\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{x}_2) \in \widetilde{U}$$
 implies  $(h_1^n(\tilde{x}_1), h_1^n(\tilde{x}_2)) \in U.$  (2)

Since  $\varphi^{-1}: Y \to X$  is uniform continuous, subsist  $\tilde{V} \in \mathcal{V}$  same that

$$(\tilde{y}_1, \tilde{y}_2) \in \tilde{V} \quad \text{suggest}(\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_1), \varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_2)) \in \tilde{U}.$$
 (3)

By (2) we have

$$(h_1^n(\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_1)), h_1^n(\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_2))) \in U.$$

By (1) we have

$$(\varphi h_1^n(\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_1)), \varphi h_1^n(\varphi^{-1}(\tilde{y}_2))) \in U.$$

Since  $h_1$ ,  $h_2$  be equivariant topologically conjugate via  $\varphi$ , then

$$h_1^n(\varphi^{-1}(y)) = \varphi^{-1}(h_2^n(y)), \text{ for every } y \in Y.$$

Thus

$$(\varphi \varphi^{-1}(h_2^n(\tilde{y}_1)), \varphi \varphi^{-1}(h_2^n(\tilde{y}_2))) \in U.$$

This means that  $(h_2^n(\tilde{y}_1), h_2^n(\tilde{y}_2)) \in U$ . Consequently  $h_1$  is uniform equicontinuous.

Here the relation between the (G-) equicontinuous and (G-)expansive is studied in uniform space. First we shall introduce the concepts of expansive and G- expansive in uniform space.

**Definition 3.8** In the event that (X,U) is a "uniform space" and  $h\in H(X)$  at that point h is called far reaching, on the off chance that there exists an escort  $U\in U$  with the end goal that at whatever point  $x,y\in X, x\neq y$ , at that point found a whole number n fulfilling

(h^n (x),h^n (y))∉U;

U is then named a far reaching escort for h.

**Definition 3.9** suppose (X,U) be a uniform space and  $h \in H(X)$  at that point h is called uniform G-far reaching, in the event that there exists an escort U $\in$ U with the end goal that at whatever point  $x,y\in X, G(x)\neq G(y)$  at that point found a number n fulfilling

 $(h^n(u),h^n(v))\notin U$ , for all  $u\in G(x)$  and  $\in G(y)$ .

**Theorem 3.10** put (X,U) be a uniform space and  $f \in H(X)$ . On the off chance that f is equicontinuous map, at that point its sweeping.

**Proof.** Assume that f is uniform equicontinuous. Let  $x,y\in X$  with  $x\neq y$ . Let  $V\in U$  be a non-symmetric escort. By speculation there exists an escort  $U\in U$  with the end goal that

 $(x, y) \in U$  implies  $(f^n(x), f^n(y)) \in V$ , for every integer *n*.

while *V* is non-symmetric and  $V^{-1} \in \mathcal{U}$ , then  $(f^n(x), f^n(y)) \notin V^{-1}$ .

This means that f is expansive.

**Theorem 3.11** Leave X alone a uniform G-space and  $f \in H(X)$ . In the event that f is G-equicontinuous map, at that point its G-extensive.

**Proof.** Assume that f is uniform G-equicontinuous. Let  $x,y \in X$  with  $G(x) \neq G(y)$ . Let  $V \in U$  be a non-symmetric company. By theory there exists an escort  $U \in U$  and  $g,p \in G$  to such an extent that

 $(x, y) \in U$  implies  $(f^n(\theta(g, x)), f^n(\theta(q, y))) \in V$ , for every integer *n*.

While *V* is not symmetric and  $V^{-1} \in \mathcal{U}$ , then for every integer *n* 

$$(f^n(\theta(g,x)), f^n(\theta(q,y))) \notin V^{-1}$$
(1)

Let  $u \in G(x)$  and  $v \in G(y)$ . Then there exist  $g, q \in G$  such that  $u = \theta(g, x), v = \theta(q, y)$ . Thus we have

$$(f^n(u), f^n(v)) \notin V^{-1}$$
, for every integer *n*.

This means that f is G –expansive. This complete the proof.

**Definition 3.12** A uniform G – we can state *distal* whether, for every pair space  $x, y \in X$  with  $x \neq y$ , the closure of the set  $\{(\theta(g, x), \theta(g, y)) : g \in G\}$  is disjoint from the diagonal  $\Delta = \{(x, x) : x \in X\}$  in  $X \times X$ .

**Theorem 3.13** If  $(G, X, \theta)$  is equicontinuous, then it is distal.

**Proof** Let  $x, y \in X$  with  $x \neq y$ . Then found an index  $\beta$  on X with  $(x, y) \notin \beta$ . By equicontinuity found an index  $\alpha$  like that  $(u, v) \in \alpha$  implies

$$(\theta(h, x), \theta(h, y)) \in \beta$$
 for all  $h \in G$ .

It pursue that

$$(\theta(g, x), \theta(g, y)) \notin \alpha$$
 for all  $g \in G$ .

Otherwise, we could let  $u = \theta(g, x)$ ,  $v = \theta(g, y)$ ,  $h \coloneqq g^{-1}$ , and reach a contradiction. Thus  $\{(\theta(g, x), \theta(g, y)) : g \in G\}$  is disjoint from the diagonal  $\Delta = \{(x, x) : x \in X\}$  in  $X \times X$ . Since  $\Delta \subseteq \alpha$  and  $\alpha$  is open in the product topology, it follows that  $(G, X, \theta)$  is distal.

**Theorem 2.9.** Let , *Y* be *G* – spaces and  $f_1: X \to X$ ,  $f_1: Y \to Y$  be maps. Then  $f_1 \times f_2: X \times Y \to X \times Y$  is uniform  $G_1 \times G_2$  –equicontinuous iff  $f_1$  is uniform  $G_1$  –equicontinuous and  $f_2$  is uniform  $G_2$  –equaicontinuous.

**Proof.** Assume that  $f:=f_1\times f_2$  is a uniform  $G_1\times G_2$ -equicontinuous on  $X\times Y$ . We will show that  $f_1$  is uniform  $G_1$ -equicontinuous on X and correspondingly we can show that  $f_2$  is  $G_2$ -equaicontinuous on Y. Let  $V \in U_X$  and n be a positive whole number. Since  $Y \times Y \in U_Y$  at that point

$$V \times (Y \times Y) = W \in \mathcal{U}_{X \times Y}$$

By hypothesis, found  $U \in \mathcal{U}_{X \times Y}$  like that if  $(x, y) \in U$ , after that

$$(f^n(\theta(g, x), f^n(\theta(p, y))) \in W = V \times (Y \times Y), g, p \in G = G_1 \times G_2$$

Since  $(x, y) \in U$ , then found  $U_1 \in \mathcal{U}_X$  and  $U_2 \in \mathcal{U}_X$  like that

$$x = (x_1, x_2) \in U_1$$
 and  $y = (y_1, y_2) \in U_2$ .

But 
$$f^n(\theta(g, x)) = (f_1^n(\theta_1(g_1, x_1), f_1^n(\theta_1(p_1, x_2))) \in V$$

This means that  $f_1$  is uniform  $G_1$  –equicontionuos. Conversely, suppose that  $f_1$  is uniform  $G_1$  –equicontionuos and  $f_2$  is uniform  $G_2$  –equalcontinuous. Let  $W \in \mathcal{U}_{X \times Y}$ . Then there exist  $W_1 \in \mathcal{U}_X$  and  $W_2 \in \mathcal{U}_Y$  such that  $= W_1 \times W_2$ . By hypothesis, there exist  $U_1 \in \mathcal{U}_X$  and  $U_2 \in \mathcal{U}_Y$  like that if  $(x, x') \in U_1$  and  $(y, y') \in U_2$ , after that

$$(f_1^n(\theta_1(g,x), f_1^n(\theta_1(g',x')) \in W_1$$

and

$$(f_2^n(\theta_2(p,y),f_2^n(\theta_2(p',y')) \in W_2)$$

for all  $(g, g') \in G_1$  and  $(p, p') \in G_2$  Set  $U_1 \times U_2 = U$ . Then  $U \in \mathcal{U}_{X \times Y}$ . Thus we have

$$\left(f^n(\theta(g,x),f^n(\theta(p,y)) \in W \; \bar{g} \in G_1 \times G_2.\right.$$

This means that  $f_1 \times f_2: X \times Y \to X \times Y$  is uniform  $G_1 \times G_2$  -equicontinuous. This complete the proof.

#### References

[1] R. Das, 2012, " Chaos of a Sequence of Maps in a Metric G-Space", Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 6, no. 136, 6769 – 6775

[2] R. Das, 2012, "Transitive Subsets on G-spaces", Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 6, no. 92, 4561 - 4568

[3] R. Das, 2013, " *Chaos of Product Map on G-Spaces*", International Mathematical Forum, Vol. 8, no. 13, 647 – 652.

[4] R. Das and T. Das, 2012, "Asymptotic Properties of G-Expansive Homeomorphisms on a Metric G-Space", Hindawi Publishing Corporation Abstract and Applied Analysis Volume Article ID 237820, 10 pages.

[5] R. Das and T. Das, 2012, "*Topological Transitivity of Uniform Limit Functions on G-spaces*" Int. Journal of Math. Analysis, Vol. 6, no. 30, 1491 – 1499.

[6] P. Das and T. Das, 2019, "A note on measure and expansiveness on uniform spaces", Appl. Gen. Topol. 20, no. 1, p 19-31.

[7] [8] I. J. Kadhim and S. K. Jebur, 2017, "*Study of Some Dynamical Concepts in General Topological spaces*", Journal of AL-Qadisiyah for computer science and mathematics Vol.9 No.1, p12 – 22.

[8] E. Shah and T. Das, 2013, " Consequences of Shadowing Property of G-spaces", Int. Journal of Math. Analysis, Vol. 7, no. 12,p 579 – 588.

[9] de Vries, 1993, " Elements of Topological Dynamics", pringer Science+Business Media Dordrecht.

[10] S.Willard, 1970, "General Topology", Addison-Westy Pub.co., Inc.

# intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideals in Q-algebra

Habeeb Kareem Abdullah and mortda taeh shadhan

Department of Mathematics Uinversity of Kufa habeebk. abdullah@uokufa. edu. iq Department of Mathematics Uinversity of Kufa alnbhanymrtdy05@gmail.com

# Abstract

Present several types in this paper of intuitionistic fuzzy ideal in Q-algebra, called (intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal, intuitionistic ideal fuzzy c-psudo intuitionistic fuzzy complete- k-pseudo ideal). We have introduced and illustrated several ideal, evaluate ideas that their relationship in а Q-algebra. 1

# Introdction

2

М

8m

In 1966, K.Iseki and Y.Imai([7], [14]) introduced BCK-and BCI-algebras. In 2001 H.S.Kim([6]) introduced a new notion, known as Q-algebra, which is BCH / BCI / BCK-algebra generalization. At the same time, A.Iorgulescu and G.Georgescu ([3]) introduced pseudo BCK-algebras as an exemption from bck-algebras. In2016, Y.B.jun, H.S.Kim and S.S Ahn([13])introduced pseudo Qalgebra as ageneralization of Q-algebra the concept of fuzzy set was introduced in 1969 by L. A .Zadeh ([10]) .In 2005, J.Meng, X.Guo([5]) studied fuzzy ideals of BCK / BCI-algebras. W.A.Dudek and Y.B.Jun ([15]) in 2008, introduced pseudo-BCI-algebras as a natural generalization of BCIalgebras and pseudo-BCK-algebras. At the same time, K. J. Lee([8]) established the fuzzy ideals in pseudo BCI-algebras.in([4]) H. K .Jawad introduced the notion of fuzzy pseudo Ideals of pseudo Q-algebra. In K. ([9]) Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets(1986) was introduced by T. Atanassov..in 2012 S.M. Abdelnaby and O.R.Elgendy applied the concept of Intuitionistic fuzzy sets on Q-algebra. In this article, we will describe some of the new types of I F pseudo ideal, called (I F pseudo ideal, I F K-pseudo ideal, I F complete ?k-pseudo ideal). Also, we introduced and illustrated the proposition that defines the relationship among them in O-algebra. 2 Basic concept and notations In this section, We define Q-algebra, pseudo Q-algebra, bounded, involutory, and some properties. Definition (2.1)[11] A Q- algebra is a set M with a binary operation \* and constant 0 that fulfilled the following axioms: 1. 0 8m 2 М m т =

3. $(m * b) * d = (m * d) * b;$	$8m \cdot h \cdot d 2 M$
Remark (2.2)[11]	$Om, D, u \ge m$

In a Q-algebra M, we can define a binary relation  $\leq$  on M by  $m \geq b$  if and only if m \* b =

0

0	8m; b 2 M
<b>Definition</b> (2.3) [1]	
A Q-algebra ( <i>M</i> ; $*$ ; 0) is called bounded if there is an element <i>e</i> 2 <i>M</i> that satisfies $m \le e$	8 <i>m</i> 2 <i>M</i>
then e is said to be an unit .We denotted e*m by	$m_*$ , for each $m 2 M$ in bounded Q-
Example(2.4)	algebra.

=

т

let M = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta$ ;  $\beta g$  be a set with the following table :

Table 1: Example of bounded

0

т

0 ŋ θ β 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 η η  $\theta$ 0 0 0 θ

в

2.

1

Thereafter (*M*; \*; 0) be a Q-algebra . Note that M is bounded by unit  $\beta$ 

Remark(2.5) [1]

As stated in the following example, the unit in bounded Q-algebra is not unique in general. **Example(2.6)** 

A binary operation \* with M = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta g$  can be shown in the table : .

Table 2: The unit in bounded Q-algebra is not uniqe

*	0	η	$\theta$
0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0
$\theta$	$\theta$	0	0

Note that M is bounded with two units  $\eta$ ;  $\theta$ 

# Propoition(2.7) [4]

In a bounded Q-algebra M, for any *m*; *b* 2 *M*; the following are hold :

1. e \*= 0; 0\*= e

2. m \* \* b = b \* \* m

3. 0 \* b = 0

4. e \* \* m = 0

5. *m*∗∗≤*m* 

# Definition(2.8) [1]

For a bounded Q-algebra M, If element m of M satisfies  $m_{**} = m$ , then m is called an involution. If every element of M is an involution, we call M is an involutory Q-algebra.

# Example (2.9)

let M = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta$ ;  $\beta$ ; g, can be shown in table :

2

# Table 3: Example of involutory

*	0	η	$\theta$	β	
0	0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	η	0	0
θ	$\theta$	θ	0	0	0
β	β	θ	η	0	
0	0	0	0		

subsequently (M; \*; 0) is a bounded Q-algebra with unit  $\beta$ . Note that M is involutory.

# **Definition**(2.10) [9]

An intuitionistic fuzzy set (IFS for short ) A in a set M is object having the form A = f < m;  $\mu A(m)$ ;  $\nu A(m) >: m 2 Mg$ , such that  $\mu A : M - ! [0; 1]$  and  $\nu A : M - ! [0; 1]$  denoted the dagree of membership (namely  $\mu A(m)$ ), and the dagree of non membership (namely  $\nu A(m)$ ) for any element m 2 M to the set A, and  $0 \le \mu A(m) + \nu A(m) \le 1$ ; 8m 2 M for the sake of simplicity, we shall use the notation A = f < m;  $\mu A(m)$ ;  $\nu A(m) > g$  instead of A = f < m;  $\mu A(m)$ ;  $\nu A(m) >: m 2 Mg$ 

# **Definition**(2.11) [2]

if A = f < m;  $\mu A(m)$ ;  $\nu A(m) > jm 2 Mgand B = f < m$ ;  $\mu B(m)$ ;  $\nu B(m) > jm 2 Mg$  be any two IFS of a set M then

1. *A*  $\subseteq$  *B*if and only if for all *m* 2 *M*  $\mu$ *A*(*m*)  $\geq \mu$ *B*(*m*) and  $\mu$ *A*(*m*)  $\geq \mu$ *B*(*m*)

2. A = B if and only if for all  $m 2 M \mu_A(m) = \mu_B(m)$  and  $\mu_A(m) = \mu_B(m)$ 

3.  $A \setminus B = f < m$ ;  $(\mu A \setminus \mu B)(m)$ ; ;  $(\nu A [\nu B)(m)$ ; m 2 Mg where ;  $(\mu A \setminus \mu B)(m) = minf\mu A(m)$ ;  $\mu B(m)gg$  and ;  $(\nu A [ \mu B)(m) = maxf\nu A(m)$ ;  $\nu B(m)gg$ 

4.  $A[B = f < m; (\mu A[\mu B)(m); (\nu A \setminus \nu B)(m); m 2 Mg$  where ;  $(\mu A[\mu B)(m) = maxf\mu A(m); \mu B(m)gg$  and ;  $(\nu A \setminus \mu B)(m) = minf\nu A(m); \nu B(m)gg$ 

# Definition(2.12)

An intuitionistic fuzzy set A = f < m;  $\mu A(m)$ ;  $\nu A(m) > g$  in a Q-algebra M is called an intuitionistic fuzzy ideal if

1.  $\mu A(0) \ge \mu A(m) \ 8m \ 2M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m * b); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8b; \ m \ 2 \ M$ 

4.  $v_A(m) \le Maxfv_A(m * b); v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2 \ M$ 

# **Definition**(2.13) [13]

A pseudo Q-algebra is non-empty set of M with constant 0 and two binary operations \* and # that satisfy the following axioms :

1. m # m = m \* m = 0 8m 2 M

2.  $m \# 0 = m * 0 = 0 \ 8m \ 2M$ 

3. (m#b) \* c = (m \* c)#b 8m; b; c 2 M

3

# Remark(2.14) [13]

In pseudo Q-algebra M, we can define a binary relation  $\leq$  by  $m \leq b$  if and only if m#b = 0 & m \* b = 0 & m; b 2 M

# Remark(2.15) [13]

That Q-algebra is a pseudo Q-algebra but the converse is not true as shown in the example below **Example(2.16)** Let M = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta$ ;  $\beta g$ 

Table 4: pseudo Q-algebra but not Q-algebra

*	0	η	$\theta$	β
0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	0
$\theta$	$\theta$	$\theta$	0	η
β	β	β	0	0

#	0	п	θ	ß
0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	0
$\theta$	θ	β	0	β
β	β	β	0	0

Then (M; \*; 0) and (M; #; 0) are not Q-algebra, since  $(\theta * \eta) * \beta = \eta \ 6 = 0 = (\theta * \beta) * \eta$  and  $(\theta \# \eta) \# \beta = 0 \ 6 = \beta = (\theta \# \beta) \# \eta$ , but (M; \*; #; 0) is pseudo Q-algebra.

# **Proposition**(2.17) [12]

Let (M; \*; #; 0) be a pseudo Q-algebra . Then the following hold :

1. (m \* (m # b)) # b = (m # (m \* b)) \* b = 0 8m; b 2 M

2.  $m \le 0 =$ ) m = 0.8m 2 M.

# **Definition**(2.18) [4]

A pseudo -Q-algebra M it is said to be bounded if there is an element  $n \ 2 \ M$  satisfying  $m \le n \ 8m \ 2 \ M$  i:  $e \ ; \ m \le n$ ,  $m \ * n = 0$  and m # n = 0 then n is called pseudo unit of M. A pseudo-Q-algebra with a pseudo unit is called bounded.

# Proposition (2.19) [4]

Let (M; \*; #; 0) be a bounded pseudo Q-algebra. Then the following hold:

1. e \* = 0 = e#

2. m \* # b = b # \* m 8m; b 2 M

3. m \* # b \* = (b \*) # \* m 8m; b 2 M

4.  $m\# * b\# = (b\#) * \#m \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

# **Definition**(2.20) [13]

Let (M; \*; #; 0) be a bounded pseudo Q-algebra . A subset I of M is called the pseudo -ideal of M if it satisfies :

1.02*I* 

2. *m* \* *b*; *m*#*b* 2 *I* and *b* 2 *I* imply *m* 2 *I* 8*m*; *b* 2 *I* whenever *m*; *b* 2 *I* 

# Definition(2.21) [9]

Let (M; \*; #; 0) be a bounded pseudo Q-algebra and let  $\varphi \in I \subseteq M$ : I is called a pseudo subalgebra of M if m \* b;  $m # b \ 2 I$  wenever m;  $b \ 2 I$ 

# **Definition**(2.22) [4]

Let M be a pseudo Q-algebra .A fuzzy set  $\mu$  in M is called a fuzzy pseudo ideal of M if it satisfies : 4

1.  $\mu(0) \ge \mu(m); 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

2.  $\mu(m) \ge Minf\mu(m * b); \ \mu(m\#b); \ \mu(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

# Example(2.23)

In Example (2.17), define the fuzzy set  $\mu$  by  $\mu(m) = (0 \ 0: :8 : 6 : if m if m = 0 = \theta; \beta; \eta$ Then  $\mu$  is fuzzy pseudo ideal, since  $\mu(0) \ge \mu(m); 8m \ 2M$  and  $\mu(m) = 0:6 \ge Minf\mu(m * b); \mu(m\#b); \mu(b)g = 0:6 \ 8m \ 2Mnf\eta; 0g \ and \ 8b \ 2M$ Wihle '(m) = (

$$\begin{array}{c|c} 00::\\ 7:5\\ \vdots\\ if \qquad m=\beta \end{array} ; \eta;$$

is not fuzzy pseudo ideal of M, since  $'(\beta) = 0.5 \ 6 \ge Minf'(\beta * \theta); \ '(\beta * \theta); \ '(\theta)g = 0.7$ 

# Definition(2.24)[4]

A nonempty subset I of a pseudo Q-algebra (M; \*; #; 0) is called complete pseudo ideal (briefly, c-pseudo ideal), if

1. 0 *2 I* 

2. *m* \* *b*; *m*#*b* 2 *I*; 8*b* 2 *I* such that *b* 6= 0 implies *m* 2 *I* 

# Definition(2.25)[4]

A nonempty subset I of a bounded pseudo Q-algebra (M; \*; #; 0) is called complete k-pseudo ideal (briefly ,c-k-pseudo ideal ), if

# 1.02*I*

2. *m*\*\**b*; *b*#\**m* 2 *I* (resp.*m*##*b*; *b*\*#*m* 2 *I*), 8*b* 2 *I* such that *b* 6= 0 imply *m*\*2 *I* (resp.

# *m*# 2 *M*), 8*m* 2 *M*

Note that in bounded pseudo Q-algebra M there are trivial c-k-pseudo ideals, f0g and M **Proposition(2.26)** [4]

Any c-pseudo ideal from bounded pseudo Q-algebra is c-k-pseudo ideal .

# Definition(2.27) [4]

Let M be a bounded pseudo Q-algebra . An element m 2 M satisfies m \* \* = m = m # # then m is called pseudo involution (i. e) m is \*-involution and # - involution). If every element m 2 M is pseudo involution , we call M is a pseudo Q-algebra .

# Example(2.28)

Let M = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta$ ;  $\beta$ ; g be a set with tables below

Table 5: Pseudo involutory Q-algebra

*	0	η	$\theta$	β	
0	0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	0	0
θ	$\theta$	0	0	0	
β	β	η	0	$\theta$	
0	0	0	0		

#	0	η	$\theta$	β	
0	0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	0	
$\theta$	$\theta$	0	0	0	0
β	β	$\theta$	0	η	
0	0	0	0		

Then (M; \*; #; 0) is bounded pseudo Q-algebra with unit  $\beta$ . Notice that M is a pseudo involution . **Proposition(2.29)** [4]

If I be a c-k-pseudo-ideal in a pseudo-involutory pseudo-Q-algebra M , then I is c-pseudo-ideal. 5

# Proposition(2.30) [4]

Let  $\mu$  be a fuzzy pseudo ideal of a pseudo Q-algebra M if  $m \le b$ ; then  $\mu(m) \ge \mu(b)$ ; 8m;  $b \ge M$ **Definition(2.31)** 

Let M be a pseudo Q-algebra . A fuzzy set  $\mu$  in M is called a fuzzy pseudo subalgebra of M if it

satisfies :

1.  $\mu(m * b) \ge Minf\mu(m); \mu(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

2.  $\mu(m\#b) \ge Minf\mu(m); \ \mu(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

# 3 some types of intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal

In this section , we define IF pseudo ideal and IF complete pseudo ideal , IF k-pseudo ideal , IF c-pseudo ideal and some properties among them .

# **Definition(3.1)**

Let M be a pseudo Q-algebra . An intuitionistic fuzzy set A of M is called an intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal if it satisfies :

1.  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \ 8m \ 2M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m * b); \ \mu_A(m \# b); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

4.  $v_A(m) \leq Maxfv_A(m * b); v_A(m\#b); v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2 \ M$ 

# Example(3.2)

In Example (2.23) define the intuitionistic fuzzy set A by

 $\mu_A(m) = (\ 0\ 0:\ :8:6: if\ m\ if\ m = 0 = \theta;\ \beta;\ \eta\ \&\ v_A(m) = (\ 0\ 0:\ :2:4: if\ m\ if\ m = 0 = \theta;\ \beta;\ \eta$ 

Then A is intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal since,

 $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \text{ and } v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M;$ 

 $\mu(b) = 0.6 \ge Minf\mu A(b * m)\mu A(b#m); \ \mu A(m)g = 0.6;$ 

$v_A(b) = 0:4 \le Maxfv_A(b * m); v_A(b#m); v_A(m)g = 0:4 \ 8m \ 2M$	and 8h 2 Mnfl · ng
Definition(3.3)	unu 80 2 Minjo, ng

Let I be a c-pseudo ideal of a pseudo Q-algebra (M; \*; #; 0): An intuitionistic fuzzy set A is called intuitionistic fuzzy complete pseudo ideal at I (briefly, IF c-pseudo ideal), if

1.  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m * b); \ \mu_A(m\#b); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M; \ b \ 2I$ 

4.  $v_A(m) \leq Maxfv_A(m * b); v_A(m \# b); v_A(b)g \ 8b \ 2I; \ 8m \ 2M$ 

# Example(3.4)

Let M = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta$ ;  $\beta g$  be a set with the tables below 6

Table 6: intuitionistic fuzzy c-ideal

*	0	η	$\theta$	$\beta$
0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	0
$\theta$	$\theta$	0	0	η
β	β	β	0	0

#	0	η	$\theta$	β
0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	η
$\theta$	$\theta$	$\theta$	0	η
β	β	β	0	0

Then (M; \*; #; 0) is pseudo Q-algebra, a subset  $I = f0; \eta; \theta g$  is a c-pseudo ideal of M. Let A is the intuitionistic fuzzy set defined as the following :

 $\mu_A = (00::5:4:if \ m \ if \ m = 0 = \theta; \ \eta; \ \beta \& v_A(m) = (0\ 0::5:6:if \ m \ if \ m = 0 = \theta; \ \eta; \ \beta$ Then A is the intuitionistic fuzzy c-ideal at I in M, because

 $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \text{ and } v_A(0) \le v_A(m) 8m 2 M$ ,

 $\mu_A(\theta) = 0.4 \ge Minf\mu_A(\theta * b); \ \mu_A(\theta \# b); \ \mu_A(b)g = 0.4 \ 8b \ 2 \ I;$ 

 $v_A(\theta) = 0.6 \le Max f v_A(\theta * b); v_A(\theta \# b); \mu_A(b)g = 0.6 8b 2 I:$ 

# **Proposition**(3.5)

Every intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal of a pseudo Q-algebra is an intuitionistic fuzzy c- pseudo ideal .

Proof

suppose that I be a c-pseudo ideal and A is intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal of a pseudo Q-algebra M then by definitin (2.22) we have ,

1.  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \leq v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m * b); \ \mu_A(m\#b); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

4.  $v_A(m) \leq f_{VA}(m * b); v_A(m \# b); v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2 \ M$ 

since  $I \subseteq M$ , then  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m * b)$ ;  $\mu_A(m \# b)$ ;  $\mu_A(b)g$  and

 $v_A(m) \le Maxfv_A(m * b); v_A(m\#b); v_A(b)g \ 8b \ 2I$ 

Thus A is intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo ideal of M .

# Remark(3.6)

The following example shows that the converse of proposition (3.5) is not true in genaral **Example(3.7)** 

In example (3.2), notice that A is intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo ideal at I in M

(When  $I = f0; \eta; \theta g$ ), but its not is intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal because

 $\mu_{A}(\theta) = 0.24 \ 6 \ge Minf\mu_{A}(\theta * \beta); \ \mu_{A}(\theta \# \beta); \ \mu_{A}(\beta)g = 0.5$ 

# **Proposition(3.8)**

Let I be a c-pseudo ideal of a pseudo involutory pseudo Q-algebra M. An intuitionistic fuzzy set A is intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo ideal if and only if satisfies :

1.  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m_{**} * b); \ \mu_A(b_{\#} * m_{*}); \ \mu_A(b)g$ 

 $= \mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(b \ast \#m\#); \ \mu_A(m \#\#\#b); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

4.  $v_A(m) \le Maxfv_A(m_{**} * b); v_A(b_{\#} * m_{*}); v_A(b)g$  and

 $v_A(m\#) \le Maxfv_A(m\#\#b); v_A(b*\#m); v_A(b)g: 8m; b 2 M$ 

# Proof

by definitin(2.27) and definition(3.3)

# **Definition**(3.9)

An intuitionistic fuzzy set A in bounded pseudo Q-algebra (M; #; \*; 0) is called intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal, if

1.  $\mu A(0) \ge \mu A(m) \ 8m \ 2M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m_*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m_* * b); \ \mu_A(b\# * m); \ \mu_A(b)g \text{ and}$ 

 $\mu_A(m^{\#}) \ge Minf\mu_A(m^{\#\#}b); \ \mu_A(b^{\#}m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2 \ M$ 

4.  $v_A(m*) \leq Maxfv_A(m**b)$ ;  $v_A(b#*m)$ ;  $v_A(b)g$  and

 $v_A(m\#) \leq Maxfv_A(m\#\#b); v_A(b\#m); v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2 \ M$ 

# Example(3.10)

1. Every intuitionistic fuzzy constant in bounded paeudo Q-algebra M is intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal .

2. Let  $M = f(0; \eta; \theta; \beta; g)$  be a set with the tables below

Table 7: Pseudo involutory Q-algebra

*	0	η	$\theta$	β	
0	0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	0	η
θ	$\theta$	0	0	$\theta$	$\theta$
β	β	0	β	0	$\theta$
0	0	0			

#	0	η	$\theta$	β	
0	0	0	0	0	0
η	η	0	0	η	η
$\theta$	$\theta$	0	0	0	0
β	β	0	0		
0	0	0			
then (M; \*; #; 0) is bounded pseudo Q-algebra with uinit n and define an intuitionistic fuzzy A by  $\mu_A(m) = (0 \ 0; :9:3:if \ m \ if \ m = 0 = \theta; \ \beta; ; \eta \ \& v_A(m) = (0 \ 0; :1:7:if \ m \ if \ m = 0 = \theta; \ \beta; ; \eta$ then A is intuitionistic fuzzyk-pseudo ideal of M, because  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \text{ and } v_A(0) \le v_A(m); 8m \ 2 \ M$  $\mu_A(m_*) = 0.9 \ge Minf\mu_A(m_* * b); \ \mu_A(b\# * m); \ \mu_A(b)g \text{ is hold } 8m; \ b \ 2M.$ also  $\mu_A(m\#) = 0.9 \ge Minf\mu_A(m\#\#b); \ \mu_A(b \#m); \ \mu_A(b)g \text{ is hold } 8m; \ b \ 2M \text{ also}$  $v_A(m_*) = 0:1 \le Maxfv_A(m_**b); v_A(b\#*m); v_A(b)g \text{ and } v_A(m\#) = 0:1 \le Maxfv_A(m\#\#b); v_A(b\#m); v_A(b)g$ 

# **Proposition**(3.11)

Every intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal of a bounded pseudo Q-algebra is an intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal

# Proof

Let A is an intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal of a bounded pseudo Q-algebra then by definition (3.1) we have

1.  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

8

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m * b); \ \mu_A(m \# b); \ \mu_A(b)g$  then

 $\mu_A(m_*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m_**b); \ \mu_A(m_*\#b); \ \mu_A(b)g$ 

=  $Minf\mu A(m_* * b); \mu A(b \# * m); \mu A(b)g \ 8m; b \ 2 \ M \ Also$ 

 $\mu_A(m^{\#}) \ge Minf\mu_A(m^{\#} * b); \ \mu_A(m^{\#} \# b); \ \mu_A(b)g$ 

=  $Minf\mu A(m \# \# b); \ \mu A(b \# m); \ \mu A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M$ 

4.  $v_A(m) \leq Maxfv_A(m * b); v_A(m\#b); v_A(b)g$  then

 $v_A(m_*) \leq Maxfv_A(m_* * b); v_A(m_* \# b); v_A(b)g$ 

= MaxfvA(m \* \* b); vA(b # \* m);  $vA(b)g \ 8m$ ;  $b \ 2M$  Also

 $v_A(m\#) \leq Maxfv_A(m\# * b); v_A(m\#\#b); v_A(b)g$ 

= MaxfvA(m##b); vA(b #m);  $vA(b)g \ 8m$ ;  $b \ 2 \ M$ 

Thus A is intuitionistic fuzzy K-pseudo ideal of M.

# **Remark(3.12)**

In genaral, the converse of Proposition (3.11) needs not ture as shown in the following example. Example(3.13)

in Example (3.10-2) A is intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal in M, but not intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal in M, because  $\mu_A(\theta) = 0.3 \ 6 \ge Minf\mu_A(\theta * \eta); \ \mu_A(\theta \# \eta); \ \mu_A(\eta)g = 0.9$ 

# **Proposition**(3.14)

Every intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal in a pseudo involutory pseudo Q-algebra M is intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal.

# Proof

Assume that A be an intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal of M

since M is pseudo involutory pseudo Q-algebra, then

 $\mu_A(m) = \mu_A(m_{**}) \ge Minf\mu_A(m_{**} * b); \ \mu_A(b \# * m_{*}); \ \mu_A(b)g$ 

=  $Minf\mu A(m*b)$ ;  $\mu A(m\#b)$ ;  $\mu A(b)g$  and  $v A(m) = v A(m**) \leq Maxfv A(m***b)$ ; v A(b#\*m\*); v A(b)g

= MaxfvA(m \* b); vA(m#b); vA(b)g 8m; b 2 M

# **Proposition**(3.15)

Let A be intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal of a bounded pseudo Q-algebra M, then

1.  $\mu A(m_*) \ge \mu A(e)$  and  $\mu A(m_*) \ge \mu A(e) 8m 2 M$ 

2. if  $v(m_*) \le v_A(e) v_A(m_\#) \le v(e) 8m 2 M$ 

3. if  $m \le b$ ; then  $\mu_A(b) \ge \mu_A(m)$  also  $\nu_A(b) \le \nu_A(m)$ 

4.  $m\# \leq b$ ; then  $\mu_A(b) \geq \mu_A(m\#)$  also  $v_A(b) \leq v_A(m\#)$ 

# Proof

1. Since A is intuitionistic fuzzy k -pseudo ideal, we have

 $\mu_A(m_*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m_* * e); \ \mu_A(e \# * m); \ \mu_A(e)g$ 

=  $Minf\mu A(0)$ ;  $\mu A(e)g = \mu A(e)$  and  $\mu A(m\#) \ge Minf\mu A(m\#\#e)$ ;  $\mu A(e*\#m)$ ;  $\mu A(e)g$ 

=  $Minf\mu A(0)$ ;  $\mu A(e)g = \mu A(e) 8m 2 M$ 

2. Since A is intuitionistic fuzzy k -pseudo ideal, we have

 $v_A(m_*) \leq Maxfv_A(m_**e); v_A(e\#*m); v_A(e)g$ 

= MaxfvA(0); vA(e)g = vA(e) and  $vA(m#) \le MaxfvA(m##e)$ ; vA(e\*#m); vA(e)g = MaxfvA(0);  $vA(e)g = vA(e) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 9 3. if  $m*\le b$  i.e m\*\*b = 0 and m\*#b = 0, then  $\mu A(m*) \ge Minf\mu A(m**b)$ ;  $\mu A(b#*m)\mu A(b)g \ 8m$ ;  $b \ 2 \ M$ (since A is intuitionistic fuzzy k-peudo ideal) =  $Minf\mu A(0)$ ;  $\mu A(b)g = \mu A(b)$  and  $vA(m*) \le MaxfvA(m**b)$ ;  $vA(b#*m)vA(b)g \ 8m$ ;  $b \ 2 \ M$ (since A is intuitionistic fuzzy k-peudo ideal) = MaxfvA(0);  $\mu A(b)g = \mu A(b)$  and  $vA(m*) \le MaxfvA(m**b)$ ;  $vA(b#*m)vA(b)g \ 8m$ ;  $b \ 2 \ M$ (since A is intuitionistic fuzzy k-peudo ideal) = MaxfvA(0); vA(b)g = vA(b)

4. is similar to the proof of (3)

# **Definition (3.16)**

Let I be a c-k-pseudo ideal of a bounded pseudo Q-algebra (M; \*; #; 0): An intuitionistic fuzzy set A is called intuitionistic fuzzy complete k-pseudo ideal (briefly, intuitionistic fuzzy c-k-pseudo ideal), if

1.  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m_*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m_* * b); \ \mu_A(b\# * m); \ \mu_A(b)g$ and  $\mu_A(m\#) \ge Minf\mu_A(m\#\#b); \ \mu_A(b\#m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M; \ b \ 2I$ 4.  $v_A(m_*) \le Maxfv_A(m_* * b); \ v_A(b\# * m); \ v_A(b)g$ 

and  $v_A(m#) \leq Maxfv_A(m##b)$ ;  $v_A(b*#m)$ ;  $v_A(b)g \ 8m$ ;  $b \ 2 \ M$ ;  $b \ 2 \ I$ 

# Example(3.17)

In Example (2.16) let A be intuitionistic fuzzy set of M where I = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta g$  is c-k-pseudo ideal defined by

 $\mu A(m) = (0 \ 0: :6: 2: if m \ if m = 0 = \theta; \eta; \beta \& vA(m) = (0 \ 0: :4: 8: if m \ if m = 0 = \theta; \eta; \beta$ Then A is intuitionistic fuzzy complete k-pseudo ideal of M because

 $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \text{ and } v_A(0) \le v_A(m) 8m 2 M;$ 

 $\mu_A(0*) = 0:2 \ge Minf\mu_A(0**b); \ \mu_A(b\#*0); \ \mu_A(b)g = 0:2 \ 8b \ 2I$  $\mu_A(n*) = 0:2 \ge Minf\mu_A(n**b); \ \mu_A(b\#*n); \ \mu_A(b)g = 0:2 \ 8b \ 2I$ 

 $\mu_A(0^{\#}) = 0.2 \ge Minf\mu_A(0^{\#}b); \ \mu_A(b^{\#}0); \ \mu_A(b)g = 0.2 \ 8b \ 2I \ and$ 

 $v_A(0_*) = 0.8 \le Maxfv_A(0_**b); v_A(b_\#*0); v_A(b)g = 0.8 \ 8b \ 2I$ 

 $v_A(\eta *) = 0.8 \le Maxfv_A(\eta * *b); v_A(b#*\eta); v_A(b)g = 0.8 8b 2 I$ 

 $v_A(0^{\#}) = 0.8 \le Maxfv_A(0^{\#\#}b); v_A(b^{\#}0); v_A(b)g = 0.8 \ 8b \ 2I$ 

# **Proposition**(3.18)

Every intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal of a bounded pseudo Q-algebra is an intuitionistic fuzzy c-k-pseudo ideal

# Proof

Let I be a c-k-pseudo ideal in bounded pseudo Q-algebra M and A be an intuitionistic fuzzy kpseudo ideal of M , then

 $\mu_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ \mu_A(b\#*m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ and \\ v_A(m*) \le Maxfv_A(m**b); \ v_A(b\#*m); \ v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M \\ Since \ I \subseteq M \ we \ have \\ \mu_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ \mu_A(b\#*m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ and \\ v_A(m*) \le Maxfv_A(m**b); \ v_A(b\#*m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ and \\ 10 \\ v_A(m\#) \le Maxfv_A(m\#\#b); \ v_A(b\#m); \ v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M \\ Since \ I \subseteq M \ we \ have \\ \mu_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ \mu_A(b\#*m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ and \\ v_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ \mu_A(b\#*m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M \\ Since \ I \subseteq M \ we \ have \\ \mu_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ \mu_A(b\#*m); \ \mu_A(b)g \ and \\ v_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ v_A(b\#*m); \ v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M \\ Since \ I \subseteq M \ we \ have \\ \mu_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ v_A(b\#*m); \ v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M \\ Since \ I \subseteq M \ we \ have \\ \mu_A(m*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m**b); \ v_A(b\#*m); \ v_A(b)g \ 8m; \ b \ 2M \\ Since \ I \subseteq M \ Since \ I \ Since \ Since \ I \ Since \ Since \ I \ Since \ I \ Since \ I \ Since \ Since \ I \ Since \ Since \ I \ Since \ I \ Since \ Since \ I \ Since \ Since \ I \ Since \ Since \ Since \ Since \ Since \ I \ Since \ Si$ 

# **Remark(3.19)**

The converse of proposition (3.18) may not be true and the following example explained that .

Example (3.20)

In example (3.17) A be intuitionistic fuzzy c-k-pseudo ideal in M

(Where I = f0;  $\eta$ ;  $\theta g$  is c-k-pseudo ideal), but its not intuitionistic fuzzy k-pseudo ideal, since  $\mu_A(0^{\#}) = 0.2 \ 6 \ge Minf\mu_A(0^{\#}\beta); \ \mu_A(\beta^{\#}0); \ \mu_A(\beta)g = 0.6$ 

# corollary (3.21)

Every intuitionistic fuzzy pseudo ideal of bounded pseudo Q-algebra is intuitionistic fuzzy c-k-psudo ideal

# proof

by proposition(3.11) and proposition(3.18).

# **Proposition**(3.22)

Any intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo ideal from bounded pseudo Q-algebra is intuitionistic fuzzy c-kpseudo ideal .

# Proof

Let A be an intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo ideal from bounded pseudo Q-algebra M and I be c-pseudo ideal of M .

then I is c-k-pseudo ideal of M by proposition (2.26)

since A intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo ideal of M, from definition(3.3) we have :

1.  $\mu_A(0) \ge \mu_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

2.  $v_A(0) \le v_A(m) \ 8m \ 2 \ M$ 

3.  $\mu_A(m) \ge Minf\mu_A(m * b); \ \mu_A(m \# b); \ \mu_A(b)g \ 8b \ 2 \ I$  thus

 $\mu_A(m_*) \ge Minf\mu_A(m_* * b); \ \mu_A(m_* \# b); \ \mu_A(b)g$ 

= $Minf\mu A(m * * b); \ \mu A(b # * m); \ \mu A(b)g$	8b 2 I
also $\mu A(m\#) \ge Minf\mu A(m\#*b); \ \mu A(m\#\#b); \ \mu A(b)g$	
$= Minf\mu A(m \# \# b); \ \mu A(b \# m); \ \mu A(b)g$	8b 2 I
4. $v_A(m) \leq Maxfv_A(m * b); v_A(m \# b); v_A(b)g \ 8b \ 2I$ thus	
$v_A(m_*) \leq Maxfv_A(m_* * b); v_A(m_*\#b); v_A(b)g$	
= MaxfvA(m * * b); vA(b # * m); vA(b)g	8b 2 I
also $vA(m\#) \leq MaxfvA(m\# *b); vA(m\#\#b); vA(b)g$	
= MaxfvA(m##b); vA(b*#m); vA(b)g	8b 2 I
Hanna A in intrition former	1

Hance A is intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo ideal of M Example(3.23

In example (3.10) if  $I = f_0$ ;  $\beta$ ; g; then i is a c-k-pseudo ideal and c-pseudo ideal of a bounded Q-algebra M

define the intuitionistic fuzzy А set by :  $\mu_A(m) = (00::9:6:if \ m \ if \ m = 0 = \theta;; \ \eta; \ \beta \ \& \ v_A(m) = (00::1:4:if \ m \ if \ m = 0 = \theta;; \ \eta; \ \beta$ Α intuitionistic c-k-pseudo ideal because then is fuzzy  $\mu A(0)$  $\geq$ and  $v_A(0)$ vA(m)8m 2 М  $\mu A(m)$  $\leq$ 11

Also  $\mu_A(m_*) = 0.9 \ge Minf\mu_A(m_* * b); \ \mu_A(b_\# * m); \ \mu_A(b)g$  is hold  $8b \ 2 \ I; \ 8m \ 2 \ M$  and  $\mu_A(m_\#) = 0.9 \ge Minf\mu_A(m_\#\#b); \ \mu_A(b_{\#}m); \ \mu_A(b)g$  is hold too  $8b \ 2 \ I; \ 8m \ 2 \ M$  and and

 $v_A(m_*) = 0:1 \leq Maxfv_A(m_* * b); v_A(b\# * m); v_A(b)g$  is hold  $8b \ 2 \ I; \ 8m \ 2 \ M$  and  $\leq$  MaxfvA(m##b); vA(b\*#m); vA(b)g is hold too 8b 2 *I*;  $v_A(m\#) = 0.1$ 8m 2 Mbut is intuitionistic ideal А not fuzzy c-pseudo because 0:6 = MinfµA( β); #β);  $\mu A(\beta)g$ 0:9μA( ) 6≥ \* μA( = **Proposition**(3.24)

Every intuitionistic fuzzy c-k-pseudo ideal in a pseudo involutory pseudo Q-algebra M is intuitionistic fuzzy c-pseudo c-pseudo ideal .

# Proof

suppose that A is intuitionistic fuzzy c-k-pseudo ideal of M . Then I is c-pseudo ideal of M by (proposition (2.29))

since	М	is	pseuc	lo involutory	,	then
$\mu A(m)$	=	µA(m##)	$\geq$	MinfµA(m###b);	µA(b∗#m#);	$\mu_A(b)g$

=	MinfµA(m#	ŧ#b);	µA(m##		*	b);		$\mu$ A	h(b)g
=	MinfµA(m	* b)	; µA(m‡	ŧb);	µA(b)g	8	b	2	Ι
Thus	A is	intuitionistic	e fuzzy	c-pseu	ıdo	ideal	of	Μ	
Remar	k(3.25)								:
The fo	llowing diagram s	hows the rel	lation among i	intuitionis	tic fuzzy	/ pseudo	ideal,	intuition	istic
fuzzy ł	k-pseudo ideal,intu	itionistic fuz	zy c-pseudo id	deal, intu	uitionisti	c fuzzy o	c-k-psei	udo idea	al in
bounde	d		Q-al	gebra					:
12									
IF	pseudo	ideal	Ι	F	k-	pse	udo	ic	leal
IF	c-pseudo	ic	leal	IF	c-l	K-pseuc	lo	ic	leal
In			involutory					Q-alg	ebra
12									

13

# References

[1] H.K.Jawad, H.K.Abdullah., New types of Ideals in Q-algebra, Journal university of kerbala, Vol.16 No.4 scientific. 2018. [2] B. Dudek . K. (2010) ( $\alpha$ ;  $\beta$ )-cut of Intuitionistic Fuzzy Ideals, Notes on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets, 16(3), 22 27. [3] G.Georgescu and A. Iorgulescu, Pseudo-BCK-algebras: an extension of BCKalgebras, In:Proc.of DMTCS,01:Combinatorics , Computability and Logic, Springer (2001),pp.97-114. London [4] H. K.Jawad , Some Types of Fuzzy Pseudo Ideals of Pseudo Q-algebra ,Thesis , Kufa University of 2019. [5] J. Meng, X.Guo, On fuzzy ideals in BCK/BCI-algebras, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 149 (2005),pp.509-525. [6] J.Neggers, S. S. Ahn and H.S. Kim, On Q-algebras, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 27 (12)(2001),pp.749-757. [7] K. Iseki, An algebra related with a propositional culclus, Proc. Japan Academy 42 (1966),pp.26-29. [8] K. J. Lee, Fuzzy ideals of pseudo ?BCI-algebas, J .Appl. Math and Informatics 27 (2009),.795-807. pp [9] K. T. Atanassov,"Intuitionistic fuzzy sets", Fuzzy sets and Systems 35 (1986), 87?96. [10] L.A.Zadeh , fuzzy sets , Information and Control , 8 (1965) , pp.338-353. [11] Neggers J, Ahn SS, kim HS. on Q-algebra. International Journal of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences (IJMMS). 2001; 27(12):749-757. [12] S.A .Bajalan, S.A. Ozbal, Some Properties and homomorphism of pseudo ?Q-algebras journal of Contemporary Applied Mathematics, 6 (2)(2016),pp. 3-17 [13] Y .B .Jun, H.S Kim and S.SH. Ahn, structuctures of pseudo ideal and pseudo Atom Kyungpook pseudo ?Q-algebra Math J.56 (2016),pp. 95-106 in а . . [14] Y. Imai and K. Iseki, On axioms Systems of propositional calculi XIV, Proc. Japan 42(1966),pp.19-22. Academy [15] W . A . Dudek and Y.B. Jun, pseudo -BCI-algebras , East Asian math J.24 (2008),pp.187-190.

14

# INDEPENDENT (NON-ADJACENT VERTICES) TOPOLOGICAL SPACES ASSOCIATED WITH UNDIRECTED GRAPHS, WITH SOME APPLICATIONS IN BIOMATHEMATICES

Asmhan Flieh Hassan<sup>1</sup>, Zainab Irhayyim Abed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, faculty of education for girls, University of Kufa, Iraq <u>asmhanf.alzuhairy@uokufa.edu.iq</u> **ORCID ID:** <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0855-1873</u> <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, faculty of education for girls, University of Kufa, Iraq

**ABSTRACT:** In this work, we associate a new topology to undirected graph G = (V, E) which may contain one isolated vertex or more and we named it Independent (non-adjacent vertices) Topology. A new sub-basis family to generate the *Independent Topology* is introduced on the set of n vertices V and for every vertex v of V the number of adjacent vertices is not greater than n - 2 (In simple graph we can say : for every vertex v of V,  $\Delta(G) = n - 2$ , where  $\Delta(G)$  is the maximum degree of vertices in a graph G). Then we give a fundamental step toward investigation of some properties of undirected graphs by their corresponding *Independent Topology* are presented, that to carry out a framework in practical life like biomathematics (applied examples in biomathematics).

# 2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 05C99, 54A05.

Key words and phrases: Undirected graphs, Independent(non-adjacent vertices), *Independent topology*.

# 1. Introduction

In Mathematics graph theory have a long history, one branch of graph theory is a topological graph theory. The relation between graph theory and topological theory existed before and used many times by researchers to deduce a topology from a given graph. Some of them makes models defined on the set of vertices V of the graph G only and others made it on the set of edges E . They studies graphs as a topologies and have been applied in almost every scientific field. Many excellent basics on the mathematics of graph theory, topological graph theory and some applications may be found in the sources [1-7],

In general graphs divided in two types; directed and undirected graph. To an undirected graph some researchers associate a topological spaces as fellow;

In 2013 [8], Jafarian et al. associate a Graphic Topology with the vertex set of a locally finite graph without isolated vertex, and they defined a sub-basis family for a graphic topology as a sets of all vertices adjacent to the vertex v.

And in 2018 [9], Kilicman and Abdulkalek associate an Incidence Topology with a set of vertices for any simple graph without isolated vertex. where they defined a sub-basis family for an incident topology as a sets of all incident vertices with the edge e.

The previous works of topology on graphs was associated with a set of vertices without isolated vertex. Therefore, these topologies are not appropriate to be associated with graphs that have an isolated vertices.

Our motivation or target is to associate a topology on the vertex set of any undirected graph (not only simple graph or locally finite graph) and which may contain one isolated vertex or more. By introducing a new Sub-basis family defined as a sets of all vertices non-adjacent to the vertex v to

induce the new topology (which we named it *Independent Topology*), and we present a fundamental steps toward studying some main properties of undirected graphs by their corresponding topologies.

So, we have two goals for this work: First, we introduce a new model of a topology associated with graph which is most general than the previous works. Second, we apply this new model topology in some main subjects in biomathematics.

In Section 2 of the article we give some fundamental definitions and preliminaries of graph theory and topology, also In Section 3 we define our new topology (*independent topology*) on undirected graphs by introducing a sub-basis family for the new topology. Section 4 is devoted to some preliminaries results of independent topology.

In Section 5 some application in biomathematics of new model (*independent topology*) is discussed. In last Section, conclusions of this new topology on undirected graphs are presented.

#### 2. Preliminaries

In this section we give some fundamental definitions and preliminaries of graph theory and topology. All this definitions are standard, and can be found for example in sources [2] [3] [10].

Usually the graph is a pair G = (V, E), for more exactly A graph G consist of a non-empty set V of vertices (or nodes), and a set E of edges (or arcs). If *e* is an edge in G we can write e = v u (*e* is join each vertex *v* and *u*), where *v* and *u* are vertices in V, then (*v* and *u*) are said adjacent vertices and incident with the edge *e*. If there is no vertex adjacent with a vertex *v*, then *v* is said isolated vertex. the degree of the vertex *v* denoted by d(v) is the number of the edges where *v* incident with *e*, and  $\Delta(G)$  is the maximum degree of vertices in *G*. A vertex of degree 0 is isolated. An independent set in a graph *G* is a set of pairwise non-adjacent vertices. The graph *G* is finite if the number of the vertices in *G* also the number of the edges in *G* is finite, then; otherwise it is an infinite graph. If any vertex can be reached from any other vertex in *G* by travelling along the edges, then *G* is called connected graph and is called disconnected otherwise.

We use notations  $K_n$ ,  $K_{m,n}$ ,  $P_n$  and  $C_n$  for a complete graph with n vertices, the complete bipartite graph when partite sets have sizes m and n, the path on n vertices and the cycle on n vertices, respectively.

A topology  $\mathcal{T}$  on a set  $\mathcal{X}$  is a combination of subsets of  $\mathcal{X}$ , called open, such that the union of the members of any subset of  $\mathcal{T}$  is a member of  $\mathcal{T}$ , the intersection of the members of any finite subset of  $\mathcal{T}$  is a member of  $\mathcal{T}$ , and both empty set and  $\mathcal{X}$  are in  $\mathcal{T}$ . The ordered pair  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{T})$  is called a topological space. When the topology  $\mathcal{T} = P(\mathcal{X})$  on  $\mathcal{X}$  is called discrete topology while the topology  $\mathcal{T} = \{\mathcal{X}, \varphi\}$  on  $\mathcal{X}$  is called indiscrete (or trivial) topology. A topology in which arbitrary intersection of open set is open called an Alexandroff space.

#### 3. Independent topology on graphs

Now, we define our new model of topology on undirected graph G = (V, E) which may contain one isolated vertex or more and we named it Independent (non-adjacent vertices) Topology. A new subbasis family to generate the *Independent Topology* is introduced on the set of n vertices V and for every vertex v of V the number of adjacent vertices is not greater than n - 2 (In simple graph we can say : for every vertex v of V,  $\Delta(G) = n - 2$ , where  $\Delta(G)$  is the maximum degree of vertices in a graph G).

(i.e. for every vertex  $v \in V$  the number of adjacent vertices is not greater than n - 2, where *n* is the number of all vertices in *G*)

Suppose that  $I_v$  is the set of all vertices non-adjacent (independent) to v. It is clear that  $v \in I_u$  iff  $u \in I_v$  for all  $v, u \in V$  and  $v \notin I_v$  for all  $v \in V$ .

Define  $S_{IV}$  as follows  $S_{IV} = \{ I_v \mid v \in V \}$ . Since the condition above exist and the graph *G* can contain one isolated vertex or more, we have  $V = \bigcup_{v \in V} I_v$  Hence  $S_{IV}$  forms a sub-basis for a topology  $\mathcal{T}_{IV}$  on *V*, called *Independent topology* of *G*.

It easy to see that the independent topology of  $C_n$  when  $n \ge 4$  and the simple graph has  $n \ge 2$  isolated vertex are discrete but the independent topology of  $P_n$  is not discrete because the set contains just two vertices of degree one is open, the *independent topology* of  $k_{n,m}$  is equal to  $\{\phi, V, A, B\}$ , where A and B are partite sets of  $K_{n,m}$ .

**Example 3.1.** Let G = (V, E) be a simple graph as in Fig.1, clearly *G* verify the condition (for every vertex  $v \in V$  the number of adjacent vertices is not greater than n - 2), then:  $V = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}$  We have:  $v_1$ 

 $v_3$ 

$$S_{Iv_1} = \{v_4, v_5\}, S_{Iv_2} = \{v_3, v_5\}, S_{Iv_3} = \{v_2\}, S_{Iv_4} = \{v_1\} S_{Iv_5} = \{v_1, v_2\}.$$

By taking finitely intersection the base obtained,

 $\{\{v_5\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_3, v_5\}, \{v_2\}, \{v_1\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \varphi \}$ Then by taking all unions the *Independent topology* can be written as:  $T_{IV} = \{\varphi, V, \{v_1\}, \{v_2\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_5\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_3, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_3, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v$ 

#### 4. Preliminary result

**Proposition 4.1.** If G = (V, E) is a graph then  $(V, \mathcal{T}_{IV})$  is an Alexandroff space.

Proof. It is enough to prove that arbitrary intersection of members of  $S_{IV}$  is open. Let  $S \subseteq V$ . If  $v \in \bigcap_{u \in S} I_u$ , then  $v \in I_u$  for each  $u \in S$ . Hence  $u \in I_v$  for each  $u \in S$  and so  $S \subseteq I_v$ ,  $I_v$  and S are finite sets. This means that if S is infinite, then  $\bigcap_{u \in S} I_u$  is empty, but if S is finite, then  $\bigcap_{u \in S} I_u$  is the intersection of finitely many open sets and hence  $\bigcap_{u \in S} I_u$  is open.  $\Box$ 

Let G = (V, E) be a graph containing v, for each  $v \in V$ , the intersection of all open sets containing v is the smallest open set containing v we still call it  $D_v$  and the family  $B_{IV} = \{D_v | v \in V\}$  is minimal basis for the topological space  $(V, T_{IV})$ 

**Proposition 4.2.** Let G = (V, E) be a graph. Then we have  $D_v = \bigcap_{u \in I_v} I_u$  and so  $D_v$  is finite for every  $v \in V$ .

Proof. Since  $D_{v}$  is the smallest open set containing v and  $S_{IV}$  is a sub-basis of  $\mathcal{T}_{IV}$  we have  $D_{v} = \bigcap_{w \in S} I_{w}$  for some subset S of V. This implies that  $v \in I_{w}$  for each  $w \in S$ . Therefore  $S \subseteq I_{v}$  and so  $v \in \bigcap_{w \in I_{v}} I_{w} \subseteq D_{v}$ .

Now by definition of  $D_{\nu}$ , the proof is complete.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 4.3.** Let G = (V, E) be a graph. Then for every  $v, w \in V$  we have  $w \in D_v$  if and only if  $I_v \subseteq I_w$ . Equivalently  $D_v = \{w \in V | I_v \subseteq I_w\}$ .

Proof. By the Proposition above  $w \in D_v$  if and only if  $w \in I_u$  for each  $u \in I_v$  if and only if  $u \in I_w$  for each  $u \in I_v$ .

**Remark 4.4.** Suppose that G = (V, E) is a graph, then $(V, \mathcal{T}_{IV})$  is a discrete topological space if and only if  $I_v \not\subseteq I_u$  and  $I_u \not\subseteq I_v$  for every distinct pair of vertices  $v, u \in V$ .

**Remark 4.5.** We also know from Remark in [11] that an Alexandroff topological space is  $T_1$  if and only if it is discrete. Now, this implies that the graph G = (V, E) has  $T_0$  independent topology  $(V, T_{IV})$  if and only if  $I_v \neq I_u$  for every distinct pair of vertices  $v, u \in V$ . Let T = (V, E) be a tree. Then  $(V, T_{IV})$  is a  $T_0$  space if and only if  $I_v \neq I_u$  for every  $v, u \in V$  such that  $v \neq u$  and deg v =deg u = 1.

**Remark 4.6.** Complete graph  $K_n$  does not verify the *Independent Topology* but if there exists an one isolated vertex or more in the same graph then it verify the *Independent Topology* 

**Example 4.7.** Let G = (V, E) be a complete graph  $K_3$  as in Fig.2, clearly G satisfy the condition since n = 4 and each vertex has not greater than n - 2 adjacent vertices such that  $V = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, \}$ . We have;  $I_{v_1} = \{v_4\}, I_{v_2} = \{v_4\}, I_{v_3} = \{v_4\}, I_{v_4} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ Then sub-basis  $S_{IV} = \{\{v_1, v_2, v_3\}, \{v_4\}\}$ By taking finitely intersection the basis obtained  $\{\{v_4\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}, \varphi\}$ 

Then by taking all unions the *Independent Topology* can be written as:  $\mathcal{T}_{IV} = \{\varphi, V, \{v_4\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}\}$ 

**Definition 4.8.** Let  $G_1 = (V_1, E_2)$  and  $G_2 = (V_2, E_2)$  be two graphs. We call  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  isomorphic, and write  $G_1 \cong G_2$ , if there exists a bijection  $\xi : V_1 \to V_2$  with  $v \ u \in E_1 \Leftrightarrow \xi(x)\xi(y) \in E_2$  for all  $v, u \in V_1$ , Such a map  $\xi$  is called an isomorphism; if  $G_1 = G_2$ , it is called an automorphism of  $G_1$ .

**Remark 4.9.** It is easy to check, If  $G_1 = (V_1, E_1)$  and  $G_2 = (V_2, E_2)$  are isomorphic graphs, then topological spaces  $(V_1, T_{IV_1})$  and  $(V_2, T_{IV_2})$  are homeomorphic. The converse is not true, in general. For example  $C_n$  when  $n \ge 4$  and the simple graph has  $n \ge 2$  isolated vertex, are not isomorphic graphs, but their corresponding *independent topologies* are both discrete and hence homeomorphic.

**Proposition 4.10.** Let G = (V, E) be a graph. Then  $(V, \mathcal{T}_{IV})$  is a compact *Independent topological* space if and only if V is finite.

Proof. By Proposition 4.2,  $D_v$  is finite for every  $v \in V$ , hence if V is infinite, then  $B_{IV}$  is an open covering of  $(V, T_{IV})$  which has no finite sub cover.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 4.11.** In the graph *G* if  $F \subseteq V(G)$ , then we write G - F for the sub graph obtained by deleting the set of vertices *F*, A cut-vertex of G is a vertex whose deletion increases the number of components of *G*, i.e. a vertex  $v \in V(G)$  such that  $G - \{v\}$  has more components than *G*. A vertex cut of a connected graph *G* is a set  $H \subseteq V(G)$  such that G - H has more than one component. A vertex cut *H* of *G* is said to be minimal if every proper subset of *H* is not a vertex cut.

It is obvious that, if v be a cut vertex in a graph G = (V, E) (not necessarily connected). Then  $\{v\} \notin T_{IV}$ .

**Example 4.12.** Let G = (V, E) be a graph as in Fig.3 such that  $V = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}$ . We have;  $I_{v_1} = \{v_4, v_5\}, I_{v_2} = \{v_4, v_5\}, I_{v_3} = \{v_5\}, I_{v_4} = \{v_1, v_2\}, I_{v_5} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ . Then  $S_{IV} = \{\{v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}\}$ By taking finitely intersection the basis obtained  $\{\varphi, \{v_5\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}\}$ 

Then by taking all unions the *Independent Topology* can be written as:  $\mathcal{T}_{IV} = \{\varphi, V, \{v_5\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_5\}\}$ 



It is clear in this example  $\{v_3\}$  is a cut vertex but  $\{v_3\} \notin \mathcal{T}_{IV}$ .

Now, the connected graph is a tree if and only if every vertex of degree greater than one is a cutvertex. Therefore, if T = (V, E) is a tree and  $v \in V$  with  $deg \ v \ge 2$ , then  $\{v\} \notin \mathcal{T}_{IV}$ .

**Example 4.13.** Let T = (V, E) be a graph as in Fig. 4 such that  $V = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}$  We have;

$$\begin{split} &I_{v_1} = \{v_3, v_4, v_5\}, I_{v_2} = \{v_4, v_5\}, I_{v_3} = \{v_1\}, I_{v_4} = \{v_1, v_2, v_5\}, I_{v_5} = \{v_1, v_2, v_4\}.\\ &\text{Then } S_{IV} = \{\{v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4\}\} \end{split}$$

By taking finitely intersection the basis obtained

 $\{\varphi, \{v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_4\}, \{v_5\}\}$ 

Then by taking all unions the Independent Topology can be written as:

$$\mathcal{T}_{IV} = \{\varphi, V, \{v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_4\}, \{v_5\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_4\}, \{v_1, v_5\}\}$$



Clearly,  $\{v_2\}$  and  $\{v_3\}$  are cut vertex in the graph but both of them do not belong to  $\mathcal{T}_{IV}$ 

**Proposition 4.14.** Let G = (V, E) be a connected graph and M is a minimal vertex cut in G. Then  $M \in T_{IV}$ .

Proof. Suppose that G - M has  $k \ge 2$  components, say  $G_i = (V_i, E_i)$  for i = 1, 2, ..., k. Every vertex  $v \in M$  must be adjacent to vertices of at least two different components, say  $G_1$  and  $G_2$ , because M is a minimal vertex cut.

Suppose that  $\{u_1, \ldots, u_{k_1}\} = I_v \cap V_1$  and  $\{w_1, \ldots, w_{k_2}\} = I_v \cap V_2$ , then we have  $v \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{k_1} I_{u_i} \subseteq M \cup V_1$  and  $v \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{k_2} I_{w_i} \subseteq M \cup V_2$  and so  $v \in (\bigcap_{i=1}^{k_1} I_{u_i}) \cap (\bigcap_{i=2}^{k_2} I_{w_i}) \subseteq M \cup (V_1 \cap V_2) = M$  that is v is an interior point of M.  $\Box$ 

#### 5. Application of Independent Topology in biomathematics.

We apply the above definition on a bio-mathematical applications. We conclude that the undirected graph must be connected for modifying the bio-mathematical state.

#### 5.1. In a possible genetic for the inheritance of blood group.

There are four main blood groups (types of blood) A, B, AB and O, your blood group is determined by the genes you inherit from your parents. Everyone has an (ABO) blood type just like eye or hair color.

Each biological parent donates one of two (ABO) genes to their child, the A and B genes are dominant and the O gene is recessive [12].





Fig. 5: diagram of a possible genetic for the inheritance of blood group and it is graph.

By a graph above,  $V = \{v_1, v_2, v_3 v_4 v_5 v_6, v_7\}$ , where  $v_1 = AO$ ,  $v_2 = BO$ ,  $v_3 = A$ ,  $v_4 = O$ ,  $v_5 = B$ ,  $v_6 = AB$ ,  $v_7 = OO$ . We have;  $I_{v_1} = \{v_2, v_5, v_6, v_7\}$ ,  $I_{v_2} = \{v_1, v_3, v_6, v_7\}$ ,  $I_{v_3} = \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_7\}$ ,  $I_{v_4} = \{v_3, v_5, v_6\}$   $I_{v_5} = \{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_7\}$ ,  $I_{v_6} = \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_7\}$ ,  $I_{v_7} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_5, v_6\}$ Then  $S_{IV} = \{\{v_2, v_5, v_6, v_7\}$ ,  $\{v_1, v_3, v_6, v_7\}$ ,  $\{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_7\}$ ,  $\{v_3, v_5, v_6\}$ ,  $\{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_7\}$ ,  $\{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_7\}$ ,  $\{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_5, v_6\}$ 

By taking finitely intersection the basis obtained

 $\{ \varphi, \{v_2, v_5, v_6, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_6, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_3, v_5, v_6\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_5, v_6\}, \{v_6, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_5, v_6\}, \{v_7\}, \{v_2, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5, v_6\}, \{v_3, v_6\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_6\}, \{v_5\}, \{v_4, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5\}, \{v_3\}, \{v_6\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_3\}, \{v_6\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_2, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5\}, \{v_5, v_6\}, \{v_1, v_7\}\}$ 

Then by taking all unions the *Independent Topology* can be written as:

 $\begin{aligned} \mathcal{T}_{IV} &= \{ \varphi, V, \{v_1\}, \{v_2\}, \{v_3\}, \{v_5\}, \{v_6\}, \{v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5, v_6, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_6, v_7\}, \{v_3, v_5, v_6\}, \\ &\{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_5, v_6\}, \{v_6, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_5, v_6\}, \\ &\{v_2, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5, v_6\}, \{v_3, v_6\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_3, v_6\}, \{v_4, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5\}, \\ &\{v_1, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_3\}, \{v_1, v_2\}, \{v_2, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5\}, \{v_5, v_6\}, \{v_1, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_6\}, \{v_2, v_3\}\} \end{aligned}$ 

#### 5.2. In general shape of Bipolar neuron.

Neurons are the cells that make up the brain and the nervous system. They are the fundamental units that send and receive signals which allow us to move our muscles, feel the external world, think, form memories and much more.

Just from looking down a microscope, however, it becomes very clear that not all neurons are the same. So just how many types of neurons are there? And how do scientists decide on the categories? For neurons in the brain, at least, this isn't an easy question to answer. For the spinal cord though, we can say that there are three types of neurons: sensory, motor, and interneurons.

Most neurons can be anatomically characterized as: Unipolar, Bipolar, Multipolar.

Bipolar, these neurons have two processes arising from a central cell body, typically one axon and one dendrite. These cells are found in the retina [12].





Graph of Bipolar neuron general shape

Fig 6: anatomically types of neuron and the graph of Bipolar neuron shape.

By a Graph of Bipolar neuron general shape,  $V = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}$  and;  $I_{v_1} = \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, I_{v_2} = \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, I_{v_3} = \{v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, I_{v_4} = \{v_1, v_2, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, I_{v_5} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_7, v_8\}, I_{v_6} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4\}, I_{v_7} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_8\}, I_{v_8} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_7\}.$  Then;  $S_{IV} = \{\{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_7\}\}$ 

By taking finitely intersection the basis obtained;

 $\begin{array}{l} \{ \varphi, \{ v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8 \}, \{ v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8 \}, \{ v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8 \}, \{ v_1, v_2, v_6, v_7, v_8 \}, \{ v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_3, v_7, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4 \}, \\ \{ v_2, v_4, v_5, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_2, v_4, v_5, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_2, v_4, v_5, v_7 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_4, v_5, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_4, v_5, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_7 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_7, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_7 \}, \\ \{ v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5 \}, \\ \{ v_4, v_5 \}, \\ \{ v_7 \}, \\ \{ v_2 \}, \\ \{ v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_5 \}, \\ \{ v_1 \}, \\ \{ v_2, v_7, v_8 \}, \\ \{ v_4, v_5, v_7 \} \} \end{array}$ 

Then by taking all unions the *independent topology* can be written as:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{T}_{IV} &= \{\varphi, V, \{v_1\}, \{v_2\}, \{v_4\}, \{v_5\}, \{v_7\}, \{v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2\}\{v_1, v_4\}\{v_1, v_5\}\{v_1, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_4\}, \\ \{v_2, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_8\}, \{v_7, v_8\}, \{v_5, v_8\}, \{v_5, v_7\}, \{v_4, v_5\}, \{v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_2, v_7, v_8\}, \\ \{v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5\}, \\ \{v_1, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_5, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_7, \{v_2, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_7\}, \\ \{v_2, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_5, v_8\}, \{v_2, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_4, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_4, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_4, v_5, v_8\}, \{v_5, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_8\}, \\ \{v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_7\}, \{v_2, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_7\}, \\ \{v_1, v_4, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_7\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5\}, \{v_2, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8\}, \{v_1, v_4, v_5, v_6$$

# 5.3. In connections of the renal artery of human kidney.

The kidneys are a pair of bean-shaped organs on either side of your spine, below your ribs and behind your belly. Each kidney receive blood from the paired renal arteries; blood exits into the paired renal veins. Each kidney is attached to a ureter, a tube that carries excreted urine to the bladder, and has around a million tiny filters called nephrons.

The kidneys' job is to filter your blood. They remove wastes, control the body's fluid balance, and keep the right levels of electrolytes. All of the blood in your body passes through them several times a day [12].



Renal Artery Graph

Anatomy of Human Kidney

Now, let G = (V, E) be a graph represents the associations (connections) points of the renal artery of human kidney (which is a non-simple graph because it has two multiple edges  $(v_4, v_5)$  and  $(v_{12}, v_{13})$ ) as in Fig.7 such that;  $V = \{v_1, v_2, \dots, v_{16}\}$ 

We have a sub-basis family of the *Independent topology* as fellow:  $I_{v_1} = \{v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}\},\$  $I_{\nu_2} = \{v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{\nu_3} = \{v_1, v_5, v_6, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{\nu_4} = \{v_1, v_2, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_5} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_6} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_7} = \{v_1, v_2, v_4, v_5, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_8} = \{v_1, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_{9}} = \{v_{1}, v_{2}, v_{3}, v_{4}, v_{5}, v_{6}, v_{7}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{15}\},\$  $I_{v_{10}} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_{11}} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{13}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_{12}} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{14}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_{13}} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{15}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_{14}} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{10}, v_{12}, v_{16}\},\$  $I_{v_{15}} = \{v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_9, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}\},\$  $I_{v_{16}} = \{v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8, v_{10}, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}, v_{14}\}$ 

Then, by taking finitely intersection we find the basis, and after that find the all unions, the Independent Topology will obtained.

#### **Conclusions :**

A synthesis between graph theory and topology has been made. A topology with the set of vertices for any undirected graph has been associated, called idependent topology. The study of some properties of this new model of topology has been presented. It has been shown that this topology is an Alexandroff topology. Useful applications of idependent topology in biomathematics have been introduced. Therefore, this article can be considered as a point of applying another topological concept of graphs in scientific fields, which could lead to another significant applications in the future.

#### **References:**

[1] R. Diestel 2010, Graph Theory, 4th ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, vol.173

- [2] J. L. Gross and J. Yellen 2003, Handbook of Graph Theory, Discrete Mathematics and Its Applications.CRC Press, vol. 25.
- [3] J. Gross and T. Tucker 1987, Topological graph theory, Wiley-Inter science Series in discrete Mathematics and Optimization, Wiley & Sons, New York.
- [4] J. R. Stallings 1983, Topology of finite graphs, Invent. math. 71, 551–565.
- [5] S. S. Ray 2013, Graph Theory with Algorithms and its Applications: In Applied Sciences and Technology, Springer, New Delhi.
- [6] M. Shokry and R. E. Aly 2013, Topological Properties on Graph VS Medical Application in Human Heart, International Journal of Applied Mathematics, Vol. 15, 1103-1109.
- [7] B. M. R. Stadler and P. F. Stadler 2002, Generalized topological spaces in evolutionary theory and combinatorial chemistry, Journal of Chemical Information and Computer Sciences, 577-585.

- [8] S. M. Amiri, A. Jafar zadeh, H. Khatibzadeh 2013, An Alexandroff topology on graphs, Bulletin of the Iranian Mathematical Society. 39(4), 647-662.
- [9] A. Kilicman, K. Abdulkalek 2018, Topological spaces associated with simple graphs, Journal of Mathematical Analysis, 9(4), 44-52.
- [10] J. Dugundji 1966, Topology, Allyn and Bacon, Inc., Boston.
- [11] F. J. Arenas 1999, Alexandroff spaces, Acta Math. Univ. Comenian. 68(1), 17-25.
- [12] P.Doerder, R. Gibson 2015, Biology General Biology, WikiBooks.

# On $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular rings

Raida D. Mahmood / Khedher J. khider

Department of Mathematics / College of Computer Science and Mathematics

University of Mosul / Mosul - Iraq

raida.1961@uomosul.edu.iq / khedirjumaa@gmail.com

#### Abstract.

As a popularization of weakly  $\pi$ -regular rings, we tender the connotation of  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular rings, that is if for each  $a \in J(\mathfrak{N})$ , there exist a natural number n such that  $a^n \in \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{N}$  ( $a^n \in \mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{a}^n$ ). In this treatise, numerous properties of this sort of rings are discussed, some important results are secured. Using the connotation of  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular rings. It is show that :

1- Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular ring and  $\mathfrak{N}J$ -rings with  $\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^n$  for every  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  and for at least one of a natural number . Then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) = \mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ .

2- Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  a right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular ring and  $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$  for each  $\in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -ring.

3- Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a ring with  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{a}) \subseteq \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a})$ , for each  $\in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . If any of the next conditions are hold, then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular rings:

 $i-Every\,maximal\,right$  ideal of  $\mathfrak N$  is a right annihilator and right  ${}^{t}\!\mathcal{PP}\text{-ring}$  .

ii- any simple singular right  $\mathfrak{N}$ -module is J-injective and  $\mathfrak{N}$  is semi prime.

Keywords :  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular ring , J-injective rings ,  $\mathcal{PP}$ -rings , J-regular ring .

# j) Introduction.

Over this treatise,  $\mathfrak{N}$  refers to an associative ring with identity and each module is unitary  $\mathfrak{N}$ -module. We write  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ ,  $Y(\mathfrak{N})$ , and  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N})$  for the Jacobson radical, the right singular ideal and the set of nilpotent elements of  $\mathfrak{N}$ , respectively. We use the contraction  $\mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a})$ ,  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a})$  for the left, right annihilator of  $\mathfrak{a}$  in  $\mathfrak{N}$ .

J-injective rings were defined and discussed [5], [10]. A ring  $\mathfrak{N}$  is define as a right J-injective [10], whether each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ ,  $\mathfrak{kr}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$ . Recall that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is known as a right (left) weakly  $\pi$ -regular ( $W\pi$ -regular) [7], if every  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{N}$ , there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \in \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}$  ( $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \in \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}$ ). According to [4]  $\mathfrak{N}$  is said to be  $\mathfrak{n}$ -weakly regular ring if for any  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{N})$ ,  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$ . A ring  $\mathfrak{N}$  is said to be reduced if  $\mathfrak{N}(\mathfrak{N})=0$  [3].  $\mathfrak{N}$  is said to be right ( left )  $\mathcal{SXM}$  if for each  $0 \neq \mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{R}$ , there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \neq 0$ ,  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}})(\mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}))$ , every reduced is  $\mathcal{SXM}$  but convers is not true [8]. A ring is define is semiprime ring if and only if it contains no non-zero nilpotent ideal [2]

An element  $\mathfrak{a}$  in the ring  $\mathfrak{N}$  is said to be right (left)  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -element, if there is an idempotent element  $\mathfrak{e}$  in  $\mathfrak{N}$  such that  $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}\mathfrak{e}$  ( $\mathbf{v} = \mathfrak{e}\mathbf{v}$ ) and  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathbf{v}) = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{e})(\lfloor (\mathbf{v}) = \lfloor (\mathfrak{e}) \rfloor)$ .  $\mathfrak{N}$  is known as a right (left)  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -ring. whether each element in  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right (left)  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -element [1]. For example  $Z_6$  is  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -ring [1].

In this treatise, we shall popularize the connotation of weakly  $\pi$ -regular rings to  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular , numerous properties of this sort of rings are discussed , little conditions under which  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular are  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -ring, J-regular , strongly regular rings will be given .

#### k) Popularized weakly $\pi$ -regular rings.

**Definition 2.1**:  $\mathfrak{N}$  is defined as a right (left) popularized weakly  $\pi$ -regular ( $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular) if, for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , there exist a positive integer  $\mathfrak{n}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \in \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}$  ( $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \in \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}$ ).

**Example :** Assume that  $\mathcal{A}$  is division ring . Then the 2 by 2 upper triangle ring

 $\mathfrak{N} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{A} \\ 0 & \mathcal{A} \end{bmatrix} \text{ is } \mathcal{P} W \pi \text{-regular ring } \text{ Clearly } \mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{T}_2(\mathcal{A})) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{A} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{A} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^n \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{A} \\ 0 & \mathcal{A} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{A} \end{bmatrix}^n \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{A} \\ 0 & \mathcal{A} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{A} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^n \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{A} & \mathcal{A} \\ 0 & \mathcal{A} \end{bmatrix}.$ 

**Remark :** Every weakly  $\pi$ -regular ring is  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular ring but the converse is not always true : Let Z be the ring of integer . Then J(Z) = 0. Then Z is  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular ring which is not  $W\pi$ -regular ring.

**Proposition 2.2 :** If  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular ring and  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) = 0$  for all  $0 \neq \mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{N}$ .

**Proof**: Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular. Then for all  $0 \neq \mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \mathfrak{N} \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \mathfrak{N}$ , this implies  $\mathfrak{O}^{\mathfrak{n}}(\mathfrak{N} - \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}) = 0$  and hence  $(\mathfrak{N} - \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}) \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}) = 0$ , hence it follows that  $\mathfrak{N} - \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N} = 0$ . Therefore  $= \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}$ .

**Proposition 2.3 :** if  $\mathfrak{N}$  is reduced ring. Then it is a right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular iff  $\mathfrak{N}$  is left  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular.

**Proof**: suppose that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular. Then for each  $a \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{c} \in \mathfrak{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^n = \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{c}$ . Now  $(\mathfrak{a}^n - \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{c} \mathfrak{a}^n)^2 = 0$ . Since  $\mathfrak{N}$  is reduced, then  $\mathfrak{a}^n - \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{c} \mathfrak{a}^n = 0$ . Therefore  $\mathfrak{a}^n = \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{c} \mathfrak{a}^n$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{N}$  is left  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular. The converse is similar.

Following [2], a ring  $\mathfrak{N}$  is said to be  $\mathfrak{H}$  if  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N}) \subseteq \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ .

**Theorem 2.4** : Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular and  $\aleph J$ -ring with  $\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^n for every \mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  and for some a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) = \aleph(\mathfrak{N})$ .

**Proof**: assume that  $0 \neq a \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  and let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular. Then there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{c} \in \mathfrak{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}$ ,  $(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}})$ ,  $\mathcal{d} \in \mathfrak{R}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}h\sigma^{\mathfrak{n}}$ ,  $(h = \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{d})$ . implies that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}(1 - h\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}) = 0$ . Since  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  then  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  gives  $(1 - h\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}})$  is invertible, so  $(1 - h\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}})u = 1$  for some  $u \in \mathfrak{N}$ , implies that  $(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} - \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}h\sigma^{\mathfrak{n}})u = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} = 0$ . Thus  $\in \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N})$ , and hence  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) \subseteq \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N})$ . But  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathfrak{K}\mathfrak{f}$ , therefore  $\mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N}) \subseteq \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  and hence  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) = \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N})$ .

**Theorem 2.5**: If  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathcal{SXM}$  ring and right  $\mathcal{PW}\pi$ -regular, then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) \cap \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N}) = 0$ .

**Proof**: Let  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) \cap \aleph(\mathfrak{N})$  not equal to zero. So there exist  $0 \neq \mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) \cap \aleph(\mathfrak{N})$ . Since  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular, so there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{c} \in \mathfrak{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}$ . Thus  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) = 0$ , this implies  $(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}) = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a})$ , implies  $\mathfrak{a}(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) = 0$ . Since  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  then  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . So  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , gives  $(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c})$  is invertible, so  $(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c})u = 1$  for some  $u \in \mathfrak{N}$ , implies  $\mathfrak{that}(\mathfrak{a} - \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c})u = \mathfrak{a} = 0$ . This is contradiction. Hence  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N}) \cap \aleph(\mathfrak{N}) = 0$ .

**Proposition 2.6**: Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be reduced ring. Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular iff  $\mathfrak{N}/_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{a})}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular.

**Proof**: Suppose that  $\mathfrak{N}/_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{a})}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular, then for every  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{c} \in \mathfrak{N}$  such that  $(\mathfrak{a} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}))^{\mathfrak{n}} = (\mathfrak{a} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}))^{\mathfrak{n}} (\mathfrak{b} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}))(\mathfrak{a} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}))^{\mathfrak{n}} (\mathfrak{c} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}))$ , implies that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a})$ . Therefore  $(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} - \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a})$  and so  $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}(1 - \mathfrak{b}\sigma^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) = 0$ , implies that  $(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}+1}) = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}})$  ( $\mathfrak{N}$  is reduced). Therefore  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) = 0$ , which yields  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular, The conversely is clear.

#### 1) The relevance among right $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular and other rings

Following [10],  $\mathfrak{N}$  is called right J-regular ring (J-regular). whether for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{J}(\mathfrak{N})$ ,  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$ .

**Theorem 3.1 :** Assume that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular and  $\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$  for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  and a natural number n. Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathfrak{f}$ -regular.

**Proof**: Assume that  $a \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , and let  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular, then there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}$ , since  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$ , then  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}-1}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$ , implies that  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$  for every  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathfrak{f}$ -regular.

**Proposition 3.2 :** Suppose that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\aleph \mathfrak{Z}$  with  $\mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$  for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{Z}(\mathfrak{N})$  and a natural number  $\mathfrak{N}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathfrak{n}$ -weakly regular ring iff  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular.

**Proof**:  $f(\mathfrak{N}) = \mathfrak{K}(\mathfrak{N})$  (Theorem 2.4). So  $\mathfrak{N}$  is n-weakly regular iff  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular.

**Theorem 3.3 :** Suppose that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular and  $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$  for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -ring.

**Proof**: Since  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular ring. Then for any  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  and  $\mathfrak{b}, d \in \mathfrak{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^n = \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{a}^n d = \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{c} \mathfrak{a}^n = \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n$ , when  $\mathfrak{w} = \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{c}$ , if we take  $f = \mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n$ , then  $f^2 = \mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n = \mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n = \mathfrak{f}$ , then f is idempotent element and  $\mathfrak{a}^n = \mathfrak{a}^n f$ . Now let  $\mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{r}(f)$ , implies  $f\mathfrak{b} = 0$ , and  $\mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{b} = 0$ , implies that  $\mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{b} = 0$ , and hence  $\mathfrak{a}^n \mathfrak{b} = 0$ . Therefore  $\mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n)$  and we get  $\mathfrak{r}(f) \subseteq \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) \dots (1)$ . Now let  $\in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n)$ , implies  $\mathfrak{a}^n z = 0$  and  $\mathfrak{w} \mathfrak{a}^n z = 0$ , implies that fz = 0. Therefore  $z \in \mathfrak{r}(f)$  and we get  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) \subseteq \mathfrak{r}(f) \dots (2)$ . From (1) and (2) we get  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{r}(f)$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathcal{P}.\mathfrak{T}$ -ring.

Following [10] ,  $\mathfrak{N}$  is said to be right  $\mathfrak{fPP}$ -ring. If  $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N}$  is projective for each  $\in \mathfrak{I}(\mathfrak{N})$ . In [10] we give the following lemma:

**Lemma 3.4 :** Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be a ring .Then it is right  $\mathfrak{fPP}$ -ring iff  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) = \mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{N}$ ,  $\mathfrak{e}$  is some idempotent element in  $\mathfrak{N}$ ,  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ .

**Proposition 3.5 :** If  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{PP}$ -ring, then  $\Upsilon(\mathfrak{N}) = 0$ .

**Proof**: Assume that  $0 \neq a \in Y(\mathfrak{N})$ ,  $a^2 = 0$ . it is clear that  $\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{N}$  is projective, then  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a})$  must be direct summand of  $\mathfrak{N}$ . But  $\in Y(\mathfrak{N})$ ,  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a})$  it then essential in  $\mathfrak{N}$ , but this is contradiction. Therefore  $Y(\mathfrak{N}) = 0$ .

**Lemma 3.6 :** Assume that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathfrak{fPP}$ -ring,  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) \subseteq \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a})$ , for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is reduced.

Proof: Trivial.

**Theorem 3.7 :** Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathfrak{fPP}$ -ring,  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) \subseteq \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a})$ , for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , and any right maximal ideal of  $\mathfrak{N}$  is a right annihilator. Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathcal{PW}\pi$ -regular.

**Proof :** Suppose that  $a \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , we must show that  $\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{N}$ . If it is not hold, then there is a right maximal ideal  $\mathcal{N}$  containing  $\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n)$ . If  $= \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{b})$ , for some  $0 \neq \mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ , we have  $\mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n)) \subseteq \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) \subseteq \mathcal{N} = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{b})$ , which implies  $\mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{b})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{b}^2 = 0$ ,  $\mathfrak{b} = 0$ , a contradiction. Therefore  $\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{N}$ . In particular  $x\mathfrak{a}^n y + d = 1$ , with  $x, y \in \mathfrak{N}$ , and  $d \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n)$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{a}^n x\mathfrak{a}^n y = \mathfrak{a}^n$  which proves  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular.

Following [3],  $\mathfrak{N}$  is called strongly regular ring, if for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{N}$ , there is  $\mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{N}$ ,  $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}^2 \mathfrak{b}$ .

**Theorem 3.8 :** Assume that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular,  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  is reduced and  $\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}$ , for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  is strongly regular ideal.

**Proof :** Assume that  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  be a reduced of  $\mathfrak{N}$  and let  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Since  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular, there is a natural number  $\mathfrak{n}$  and  $\mathfrak{c}, \mathfrak{b} \in \mathfrak{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}$ , which implies  $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) = 0$  and  $(1 - \mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c}) \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}) = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a})$ , gives  $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{b}\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{c} = \mathfrak{a}h\mathfrak{a}(\mathfrak{a}^{\mathfrak{n}}\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a})$ . Consider  $(\mathfrak{a} - \mathfrak{a}^{2}h)^{2} = \mathfrak{a}^{2} - \mathfrak{a}^{3}h - \mathfrak{a}^{2}h\mathfrak{a} + \mathfrak{a}^{2}h\mathfrak{a}^{2}h = \mathfrak{a}^{2} - \mathfrak{a}^{3}h - \mathfrak{a}(\mathfrak{a}h\mathfrak{a}) + \mathfrak{a}(\mathfrak{a}h\mathfrak{a})\mathfrak{a}h = \mathfrak{a}^{2} - \mathfrak{a}^{3}h - \mathfrak{a}^{2} + \mathfrak{a}^{3}h = 0$ . But  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  is reduced, then  $\mathfrak{a} - \mathfrak{a}^{2}h = 0$ , implies that  $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}^{2}h$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$  is strongly regular ideal.

**Theorem 3.9 :** Assume that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is semi-prime and any singular simple right  $\mathfrak{N}$ -module is  $\mathfrak{f}$ -injective with  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) \subseteq \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a})$ , for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular.

**Proof**: Assume that  $\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) = \mathfrak{N}$ , for every  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . If  $\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) \neq \mathfrak{N}$ , then there is a right maximal ideal  $\mathcal{N}$  of  $\mathfrak{N}$  such that  $\mathfrak{N}\mathfrak{a}^n\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^n) \subseteq \mathcal{N}$  and if  $\mathcal{N}$  is not essential of  $\mathfrak{N}$ . Then  $\mathcal{N}$  is a direct summand. And then there exists  $0 \neq \mathfrak{e} = \mathfrak{e}^2 \in \mathfrak{N}$  such that  $= \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{e})$ .

Now,  $\mathfrak{Na}^{n}\mathfrak{e} \subseteq \mathfrak{Na}^{n}\mathfrak{N} \subseteq \mathcal{N} = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{e})$ , implies that  $\mathfrak{eRa}^{n}\mathfrak{e} = 0$  and  $(\mathfrak{a}^{n}\mathfrak{eR})^{2} = \mathfrak{a}^{n}\mathfrak{eRa}^{n}\mathfrak{eR} = 0$ . So  $\mathfrak{a}^{n}\mathfrak{e}\mathfrak{N} = 0$  ( $\mathfrak{N}$  is semi prime) and  $\mathfrak{a}^{n}\mathfrak{e} = 0$ ,  $\mathfrak{e} \in \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{n}) \subseteq \mathcal{N} = \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{e})$ , and  $\mathfrak{e}^{2} = 0$ , a contradiction. So  $\mathcal{N}$  is maximal essential right ideal of . Since  $\mathfrak{N}/\mathcal{N}$  is J-injective, then for any right  $\mathfrak{N}$ -homomorphism,  $f : \sigma^{n}\mathfrak{N} \to \mathfrak{N}/\mathcal{N}$ , known as  $f(\mathfrak{a}^{n}z) = z + \mathcal{N}$ , for every  $z \in \mathfrak{R}$ . Note f is well define and it will be extended from  $\mathfrak{N}$  into  $\mathfrak{N}/\mathcal{N}$ . So  $1 + \mathcal{N} = f(\mathfrak{a}^{n}) = \mathfrak{ca}^{n} + \mathcal{N}$ , where  $\mathfrak{c} \in \mathfrak{N}$ , and  $(1 - \mathfrak{ca}^{n}) \in \mathcal{N}$ . Since  $\mathfrak{a}^{n} \in \mathfrak{Ra}^{n}\mathfrak{R} \subseteq \mathcal{N}$ . So that  $1 \in \mathcal{N}$ , and this is contradiction, hence  $\mathfrak{Na}^{n}\mathfrak{N} + \mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}^{n}) = \mathfrak{N}$ . In specific  $x\mathfrak{a}^{n}y + v = 1$ ,  $\mathfrak{a}^{n}x\mathfrak{a}^{n}y + \mathfrak{a}^{n}v = \mathfrak{a}^{n}$ . Therefore  $\mathfrak{a}^{n}x\mathfrak{a}^{n}y = \mathfrak{a}^{n}$ , and  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathcal{P}W\pi$ -regular.

From Theorem 3.9 and Lemma 3.6 we get :

**Corollary 3.10 :** If every simple singular right  $\mathfrak{N}$ -module is  $\mathfrak{f}$ -injective and  $\mathfrak{N}$  is right  $\mathfrak{fPP}$ -ring,  $\mathfrak{r}(\mathfrak{a}) \subseteq \mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{a})$ , for each  $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{N})$ . Then  $\mathfrak{N}$  is  $\mathcal{PW}\pi$ -regular.

#### Acknowledgment.

The authors are very grateful to the university of Mosul College of Computer Science and Mathematics for their provided facilities, which helped to improve the quality of this work .

#### References

- [63] A. Ab. Bilal, On periodic rings, Ms. C. Uni. Thesis, Mosul university (2002).
- [64] Ch. I. Lee and S. Y. Park, When nilpotents are contained in Jacobson radical, J. Korean Math. , Soc. 55, No. 5 (2018), P. P. 1193 – 1205.
- [65] J. Luh, A note on strongly regular rings, Proc. J. Acad., Vol. 40 (1964), P. P. 74 75.
- [66] R. D. Mahmood and M. T. Yunis, On n-weakly regular rings, Raf. J. Com. And Math., Vol. 9 No. 2 (2012), P. P. 53 - 59.
- [67] R. D. Mahmood, On almost J-injectivity and J-regularity of rings, Tikrit J. Of Pure Sci., No. 18 (2012), P. P. 206 - 210.
- [68] S. B. Nam, N. K. Kim and J. Y. Kim, On simple GP-injective modules, Comm. Algebra, Vol. 23 No. 14 (1995), P. P. 5437 – 5444.
- [69] V. S. Ramamurhi, Weakly regular rings, Cana. Math. Bull, Vol. 16 No. 3 (1973), P. P. 317 321.
- [70] J. C. Wei, On simple singular YJ-injective modules, Son. Asian Bull. Of Math., Vol. 31 ( 2007), P. P. 1 – 10.
- [71] R. Yue Chi Ming , On Von Neumann regular rings , Proc. Edinburgh Math. , Soc. 19 , P. P. 89 - 91 .
- [72] Z. Yue and Z. Shujuam, On JPP rings, JPF rings and J-regular rings, Inte. Math. Four., Vol. 6 No. 34 (2011), P. P. 1691 – 1696.

# Separation axioms via $lpha g_{ m l}$ -open set

Sufyan G Saeed<sup>1</sup>, R B Esmaeel<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1, 2</sup>Department of Mathematics, Ibn Al-Haitham College of Education University of Baghdad, IRAQ
<sup>1</sup>Safsaf201030@gmail.com, <sup>2</sup>ranamumosa@yahoo.com

#### ABSTRACT

The main objective of this paper is to use the concept  $\alpha g_{l}$ -openness to offered new classes of separation axioms in ideal spaces. Those new classes are;  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space,  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space,  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space. Also new type of concepts of convergence in ideal spaces via the  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set were offered.

**Keywords**.  $\alpha g_{l}$ -closed set,  $\alpha g_{l}O$ -functions,  $\alpha g_{l}C$ -functions,  $\alpha g_{l}$ -continuous function, ideal,  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space,  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space,  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space,  $\alpha g_{l}$ -convergence.

#### 1-Introduction

An  $\alpha$ -open was studied in 1965 by O. Njastad, as a subset  $\zeta$  is  $\alpha$ -open set where  $\zeta \subseteq int(cl(int(\zeta)))[1,2]$ . The notion of ideal was studied by Kuratowski[3,4], that I is an ideal on X, when I is a collection of all subsets of X an ideal have two properties (if  $\zeta, D \in I$ , then  $\zeta \cup D \in I$ ) and (if  $\zeta \in I$  and  $D \subseteq \zeta$ , then  $D \in I$ .

There are many types for the ideal[5-8]

- i.  $I_{\{\emptyset\}}$ : the trivial ideal where  $I=\{\emptyset\}$ .
- ii.  $I_n$ : the ideal of all nowhere dense sets

 $I_n = \{ \zeta \subseteq \chi: int(cl(\zeta)) = \{\emptyset\} \}.$ 

iii.  $I_f$  the ideal of all finite subsets of X

 $I_f = \{ C \subseteq X : C \text{ is a finite set} \}.$ 

The collection of all  $\alpha$ -open sets denoted by"  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha}$ " and the collection of all  $\alpha$ -closed denoted by"  $\mathfrak{z}_{\alpha}$ ".

#### 2- On $\alpha g_{I}$ -closed set

**Definition 2.1.** In ideal topological space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$ , Let  $\zeta \subseteq X$ .  $\zeta$  is said  $I - \alpha$ -g-closed set denoted by " $\alpha g_I$ -closed", if  $\zeta - 0 \in I$  then,  $cl(\zeta) - 0 \in I$  where  $0 \subseteq X$  and 0 is an  $\alpha$ -open sets.

Now,  $\zeta^c$  is an  $\underline{I}$ - $\alpha$ -g-open sets denoted by " $\alpha g_{\underline{I}}$ -open". The collection of all  $\alpha g_{\underline{I}}$ -closed sets where  $\zeta^c \in \underline{X}$ , denoted by " $\alpha g_{\underline{I}}C(\underline{X})$ . The collection of all  $\alpha g_{\underline{I}}$ -open sets " $\alpha g_{\underline{I}}O(\underline{X})$ ".

**Example 2.2.** Consider the space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  where  $X = \{w, v\}$ ,  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{w\}\}$  and  $I = \{\emptyset, \{v\}\}$ . Then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{w\}\}$  and  $J_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{v\}\}$ , so  $\alpha g_1 C(X) = \alpha g_1 O(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{w\}\}$ .

**Example 2.3.** Consider the space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  where  $X = \{w, v, z\}$ ,  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{w\}\}$  and  $I = \{\emptyset, \{v\}\}$ . Then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{w, v\}, \{w, v\}, \{w, z\}\}$ ,  $f_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{v, z\}, \{z, \}, \{v\}\}$ , so  $\alpha g_{I}C(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{v, z\}, \{z\}, \{w, z\}\}$   $\alpha g_{I}O(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{w, v\}, \{w, v\}, \{v\}\}$ .

#### Remark 2.4.

i. Each closed set in (X,  $\tilde{i}$ ) is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -closed in (X,  $\tilde{i}$ , I).

ii. Each open set in (X,  $\tilde{\iota}$ ) is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open in (X,  $\tilde{\iota}$ , I).

#### Proof:

i. Let  $\zeta$  is any closed set in (X,  $\tilde{\iota}$ , I) and O be an  $\alpha$ -open set such that  $\zeta$ -O  $\in$  I since  $cl(\zeta) = \zeta$  this implies  $\zeta$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -closed set.

ii. Let  $O \in X$ , then  $O^c$  is a closed set this implies  $O^c$  is an  $\alpha g_i$ -closed set, so O is an  $\alpha g_i$ -open set.

The converse of Remark 2.4 is not true in general see Example 2.2. Since  $\{w\}$  is closed in  $(X, \tilde{i}, I)$ , but not closed in  $(X, \tilde{i})$ , and  $\{v\}$  is open in  $(X, \tilde{i}, I)$ , but not open in  $(X, \tilde{i})$ .

# 2.1 Open function

**Definition 2.1.1.** The function  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \rightarrow (Y, \mathfrak{z}, j)$  is called;

- i.  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{l}O$ -function" if  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{O})$  is an  $\alpha g_{j}$ -open set in Y. Whenever  $\mathcal{O}$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open in  $\mathfrak{X}$ .
- ii.  $\alpha g_{\underline{i}}^*$ -open function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{\underline{i}}^* O$ -function" if f(O) is an  $\alpha g_{\underline{i}}$ -open set in Y. Whenever  $O \in \tilde{i}$ .
- iii.  $\alpha g_{I}^{**}$ -open function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{I}^{**}O$ -function" if f(O) is an open set in Y. Whenever O is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open set in X.

**Proposition 2.1.2.** Let  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \rightarrow (Y, \mathfrak{z}, j)$  is a function;

i. If f is an open function then f is  $\alpha g_{I}^{*}O$ -function

**Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{O} \in \tilde{\iota}$ , since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an open function then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{O}) \in \mathfrak{f}$ , since for each open sets is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}$ -open set then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{O})$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}$ -open set in Y, then  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}^* O$ -function.

ii. If f is an  $\alpha g_I^{**}O$ -function then f is an  $\alpha g_IO$ - function.

**Proof:** Let O is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set in X, since f is an  $\alpha g_{l}^{**}O$ -function, then  $f(O) \in J$ , since for each open set is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set, this implies f(O) is an  $\alpha g_{j}$ -open set in Y, then f is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open function.

iii. If f is an  $\alpha g_I O$ -function then f is an  $\alpha g_I^* O$ -function.

**Proof:** Let  $O \in \tilde{i}$ , since for each open set is an  $\alpha g_{\underline{i}}$ -open set, then f(O) is an  $\alpha g_{\underline{j}}$ -open set in Y, thus f is an  $\alpha g_{\underline{i}}^*O$ -function.

iv. If f is an  $\alpha g_1^{**}O$ -function then f is an open function.

**Proof:** Let  $O \in \tilde{\iota}$ , since for each open set is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}$ -open set, then O be an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}$ -open set in X, since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}^{**}O$ -function thus  $\mathfrak{f}(O)$  is an open set in Y, then  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an open function.

v. If f is an  $\alpha g_{l}^{**}O$ -function then f is an  $\alpha g_{l}^{*}O$ -function.

**Proof:** The prove is complete.

The following, examples show that the opposite direction of the above proposition is incorrect.

**Example 2.1.3.** A function  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \to (X, \tilde{\iota}, j)$ , where  $X = \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}$  such that  $f(\dot{e}_1) = (\dot{e}_2)$ ,  $f(\dot{e}_2) = (\dot{e}_1)$ ,  $f(\dot{e}_3) = (\dot{e}_3)$ ,  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}$ ,  $I = \{\emptyset\}$  and  $j = \{\emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_3\}, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  then  $\alpha g_I C(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  and  $\alpha g_I O(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}$ . So  $\alpha g_I C(X) = P(X)$  and  $\alpha g_I O(X) = P(X)$ .

Then f is  $\alpha g_1 O$ -function and  $\alpha g_1^* O$ -function which is not  $\alpha g_1^{**} O$ -function and not open function, since  $\{\dot{e}_1\}$  is an open set in X and  $\alpha g_1$ -open set, but  $f(\dot{e}_1)=(\dot{e}_2)$  which is not open.

**Example 2.1.4.** The function  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \to (X, \tilde{\iota}, I);$  where  $X = \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}$  such that  $f(\dot{e}) = (\dot{e}), \forall \dot{e} \in X, \tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}, I = \{\emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_3\}, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  and  $j = \{\emptyset\}$ . Then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  then  $\alpha g_I C(X) = \mathbb{F}(X)$  and  $\alpha g_I O(X) = \mathbb{F}(X)$ . So  $\alpha g_I C(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  and  $\alpha g_I O(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}$ .

It is easy to see that f is open function and  $\alpha g_I^* O$ -function but it is not  $\alpha g_I O$ -function and not  $\alpha g_I^{**} O$ -function, since  $\{\dot{e}_2\} \in \alpha g_I O(X)$  but  $f(\dot{e}_2) = (\dot{e}_2)$  which is not open and not  $\alpha g_i$ -open set.

**Definition 2.1.5.** The function  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, \underline{I}) \rightarrow (Y, \underline{J}, \underline{j})$  is said,

- i.  $\alpha g_{1}$ -closed function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{1}C$ -function" if  $\mathfrak{f}(O)$  is  $\alpha g_{1}$ -closed in Y whenever O is on  $\alpha g_{1}$ -closed in X.
- ii.  $\alpha g_{1}^{*}$ -closed function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{1}^{*}C$ -function", if  $\mathfrak{f}(O')$  is  $\alpha g_{1}$ -closed in Y whenever O' is an closed in X.
- iii.  $\alpha g_{I}^{**}$ -closed function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{I}^{**}C$ -function", if  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathcal{O})$  is closed in Y whenever  $\mathcal{O}$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ closed in X.

**Proposition 2.1.6.** Let  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, \underline{I}) \rightarrow (Y, \underline{J}, \underline{j})$  is function,

- i. If f is a closed function then f is an  $\alpha g_1^*C$ -function.
- ii. If f is an  $\alpha g_{I}^{**}C$ -function then f is an  $\alpha g_{I}C$ -function.
- iii. If f is an  $\alpha g_{I}^{**}C$ -function then f is a closed function.
- iv. If f is an  $\alpha g_I C$ -function then f is an  $\alpha g_I^* C$ -function.
- v. If f is an  $\alpha g_{I}^{**}C$ -function then f is an  $\alpha g_{I}^{*}C$ -function.

**Proof:** By Remark 2.4 and Definition 2.1.5 the prove is complete.

Example 2.1.3 and 2.1.4 show that the opposite direction of the above proposition is incorrect.

#### 2.2- Near continuous function

**Definition 2.2.1.** A function  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, \underline{I}) \rightarrow (Y, \underline{J}, \underline{j})$  is called;

- i. I- $\alpha$ -g-continuous function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function", if  $f^{-1}(O)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open set in X, where  $O \in I$ .
- ii. Strongly I- $\alpha$ -g-continuous function, denoted by "Strongly  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function" if  $f^{-1}(O') \in \tilde{\iota}$ , whenever O is an  $\alpha g_{i}$ -open set in Y.
- iii. I- $\alpha$ -*g*-irresolute function, denoted by " $\alpha g_{l}$ -irresolute function", ", if  $f^{-1}(O)$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set in X, where O is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set in Y.

**Proposition 2.2.2.** Let  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, \underline{I}) \rightarrow (Y, \underline{J}, \underline{j})$  is a function;

i. If f is a continuous function, then f is an  $\alpha g_{\rm I}$ -continuous function.

- ii. If f is Strongly  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function, then f is a continuous function.
- iii. If f is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -irresolute function, then f is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function.
- iv. If f is Strongly  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function, then f is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -irresolute function.

v. If f is Strongly  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function, then f is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function. **Proof:** 

- i. Let  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathfrak{f}$ . Since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is a continuous function, then  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O}) \in \mathfrak{\tilde{i}}$ .  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O})$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}$ -open set in  $\mathfrak{X}$  By Remark 2.4. Hence  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{l}}$ -continuous function.
- ii. Let  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathfrak{f}$ . By Remark 2.4,  $\mathcal{O}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{f}}$ -open set in Y. Since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is Strongly  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{f}}$ -continuous function, then  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O}) \in \mathfrak{i}$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{f}$  is a continuous function.
- iii. Let  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathfrak{f}$ , this implies to  $\mathcal{O}$  is  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{f}}$ -open set in Y. Since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{f}}$ -irresolute function then  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O})$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{f}}$ -open set in  $\mathfrak{X}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{f}}$ -continuous function.
- iv. Let  $\mathcal{O}$  is an  $\alpha g_{i}$ -open set in X. Since f is a Strongly  $\alpha g_{i}$ -continuous function, then  $f^{-1}(\mathcal{O}) \in \tilde{\iota}$ . By Remark 2.4,  $f(\mathcal{O})$  is  $\alpha g_{i}$ -open set in X. This implies f is an  $\alpha g_{i}$ -irresolute function.
- v. Let  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathfrak{z}$  this implies  $\mathcal{O}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{z}}$ -open set and since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is a Strongly  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{z}}$ -continuous function, thus  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O})$  is open set in  $\mathfrak{X}$  by Remark 2.4  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O})$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{z}}$ -open set, so  $\mathfrak{f}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\mathfrak{z}}$ -continuous function.

The following, examples show that the opposite direction of the above proposition is incorrect.

**Example 2.2.3.** The function  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \to (X, \tilde{\iota}, j)$ , where  $X = \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}$  such that  $f(\dot{e}_1) = (\dot{e}_1)$ ,  $f(\dot{e}_2) = (\dot{e}_2)$ ,  $f(\dot{e}_3) = (\dot{e}_3)$ ,  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}$ ,  $I = \{\emptyset\}$  and  $j = \{\emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_3\}, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  then  $\alpha g_I C(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  and  $\alpha g_I O(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}$ . So  $\alpha g_I C(X) = F(X)$  and  $\alpha g_I O(X) = F(X)$ .

It is easy to see that f is continuous and  $\alpha g_{l}$ -continuous function but not  $\alpha g_{l}$ -irresolute function since  $\{\dot{e}_{3}\}$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set in Y but  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_{3}) = \dot{e}_{3}$  is not an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set in X.

**Example 2.2.4.** The function  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \to (X, \tilde{\iota}, j)$ , where  $X = \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}$  such that  $f(\dot{e}_1) = (\dot{e}_2)$ ,  $f(\dot{e}_2) = (\dot{e}_1)$ ,  $f(\dot{e}_3) = (\dot{e}_3)$ ,  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}$ ,  $j = \{\emptyset\}$  and  $I = \{\emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_3\}, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  then  $\alpha g_i C(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  and  $\alpha g_i O(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}\}$ . So  $\alpha g_1 C(X) = \mathbb{P}(X)$  and  $\alpha g_1 O(X) = \mathbb{P}(X)$ .

It is easy to see that f is  $\alpha g_{\underline{l}}$ -continuous function but not continuous function since  $\{\dot{e}_1\} \in \tilde{\iota}$  but  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) = \dot{e}_2$  is not open in X, and not Strongly  $\alpha g_{\underline{l}}$ -continuous function since  $\{\dot{e}_1\} \in \alpha g_{\underline{l}} O(X)$  but  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) = \dot{e}_2$  is not open in X.

3-On  $lpha g_{
m l}$ -Separation Axioms.

**Definition 3.1.** A space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is said  $\alpha$ -g- I-T<sub>0</sub>-space denoted by " $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space" if  $\forall e_{1} \neq e_{2}, \exists$  an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open set contains one of them.

**Example3.2.** In  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$ ; where  $X = \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}$ ,  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}\}$  I= { $\emptyset, \{\dot{e}_3\}$ . Then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_3\}\}$ ,  $\mathfrak{f}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_3\}, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$ , so  $\alpha g_1 C(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_3\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}\}$  and  $\alpha g_1 O(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_3\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2\}, \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_3\}\}$ . Then  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_1 - \mathcal{T}_0$ -space.

**Theorem 3.3.** The space  $(X_i, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_I - T_0$ -space if and only if,  $\forall e_1 \neq e_2$ , there is an  $\alpha g_I$ -closed set contains one of them.

**Proof;**( $\rightarrow$ ) Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$  where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since X is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space, then there is an  $\alpha g_1$ -open set O contains one of them, then (X-O) is an  $\alpha g_1$ -closed set contains the other one.

( $\leftarrow$ ) Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$  where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$  and there is an  $\alpha g_1$ -closed set  $\tilde{v}$  contains one of them (X- $\tilde{v}$ ) is an  $\alpha g_1$ -open set contains the other one.

**Remark 3.4.** If  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is a T<sub>0</sub>-space then  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_I$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space.

**Proof:** Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$  where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is a  $T_0$ -space, then there is O' contains one of them, where O' is an open set. Then O' is an  $\alpha g_{\underline{I}}$ -open set contains one of them, since by Remark (2,4) for each open set in  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is an  $\alpha g_{\underline{I}}$ -open in  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, \underline{I})$ .

**Definition 3.5.** A space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is said  $\alpha$ -g- I-T<sub>1</sub>-space denoted by " $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space" if  $\forall e_{1} \neq e_{2}$ , there are  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open set  $O_{1}$  and  $O_{2}$ , satisfies  $e_{1} \in (O_{1}-O_{2})$  and  $e_{2} \in (O_{2}-O_{1})$ .

**Example 3.6.** Let  $X = \{\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2, \dot{e}_3\}$ ,  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset\}$  and  $I = \mathbb{P}(X)$ .  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \mathfrak{z}_{\alpha} = \mathbb{P}(X)$ ,  $\alpha g_1 C(X) = \alpha g_1 O(X) = \mathbb{P}(X)$ . Then  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_1 - T_1$ -space.

**Remark 3.7.** If  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is a T<sub>1</sub>-space then  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_I$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space.

**Proof:** Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ , where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is a  $T_1$ -space, then there are  $O'_1, O'_2$  where  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  are two open set, such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in (O'_1-O'_2)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (O'_2-O'_1)$ . By Remark 2.4,  $O'_1$  and  $O'_2$  are  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets whenever  $\dot{e}_1 \in (O'_1-O'_2)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (O'_2-O'_1)$ .

**Proposition 3.8.** Every  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space.

**Proof:** Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ , where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_I - T_1$ -space, then there are  $\alpha g_I$ -open sets  $O_1, O_2$  whenever  $\dot{e}_1 \in (O_1 - O_2)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (O_2 - O_1)$ . Then there is an  $\alpha g_I$ -open sets O contains one of them.

The opposite direction of proposition 3.8, is generally incorrect, as the following example.

**Example 3.9.** A space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space where  $X = \{\dot{e}_{1}, \dot{e}_{2}, \dot{e}_{3}\},$  $\tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_{1}\}, \{\dot{e}_{2}\}, \{\dot{e}_{1}, \dot{e}_{2}\}\}$  and  $I = \{\emptyset, \tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_{1}\}, \{\dot{e}_{2}\}, \{\dot{e}_{1}, \dot{e}_{3}\}, \{\dot{e}_{2}, \dot{e}_{3}\}, \{\dot{e}_{3}, \dot{e}$ 

**Theorem 3.10.** For a space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$ :  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_I$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space if and only if  $\forall e_1 \neq e_2$ ,  $\exists \alpha g_I$ -closed sets  $\zeta_1$  and  $\zeta_2$ , such that  $e_1 \in (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2)$ ,  $e_2 \in (\zeta_2 - \zeta_1)$ .

**Proof:**( $\rightarrow$ ) Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ , where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since X is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space, then  $\exists \alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$ , such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in (\mathcal{O}_1 - \mathcal{O}_2)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (\mathcal{O}_2 - \mathcal{O}_1)$ . Then  $\exists \alpha g_1$ -closed sets  $\mathcal{O}_1^c$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2^c$  such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in \mathcal{O}_2^c - \mathcal{O}_1^c$ ,  $\dot{e}_2 \in \mathcal{O}_1^c - \mathcal{O}_2^c$  where  $\mathcal{O}_2^c = \zeta_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_1^c = \zeta_2$ . Then  $\exists \alpha g_1$ -closed sets  $\zeta_1$  and  $\zeta_2$  satisfy  $\dot{e}_1 \in (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (\zeta_2 - \zeta_1)$ , therefore  $\dot{e}_1 \in (\zeta_1 - \zeta_2)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (\zeta_2 - \zeta_1)$ .

(←) Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ , where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ ,  $\exists \alpha g_1$ -closed sets  $\zeta_1$  and  $\zeta_2$  satisfy  $\dot{e}_1 \in (\zeta_2^c \cap \zeta_1)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (\zeta_1^c \cap \zeta_2)$ , then  $\exists \alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\zeta_1^c$  and  $\zeta_2^c$  whenever  $\dot{e}_1 \in (\zeta_2^c - \zeta_1^c)$ ,  $\dot{e}_2 \in (\zeta_1^c - \zeta_2^c)$ , where  $\zeta_2^c = O_1$ ,  $\zeta_1^c = O_2$ .

**Proposition 3.11.** A space (X,  $\tilde{i}$ ,  $\tilde{i}$ ) is an  $\alpha g_{\tilde{i}}$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space, if { $\check{e}$ } is an  $\alpha g_{\tilde{i}}$ -closed set for each elements  $\check{e}$  in X.

**Proof:** Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ , where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since  $\{\dot{e}_1\}, \{\dot{e}_2\}$  are  $\alpha g_1$ -closed sets. So  $(X - \{\dot{e}_1\})$  and  $(X - \{\dot{e}_2\})$  are  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets. Then  $\exists \alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$  where  $\mathcal{O}_1 = (X - \{\dot{e}_1\})$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2 = (X - \{\dot{e}_2\})$  such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in (\mathcal{O}_1 - \mathcal{O}_2)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (\mathcal{O}_2 - \mathcal{O}_1)$ .

**Definition 3.12.** A space  $(X_i, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is said  $\alpha$ -g-I-T<sub>2</sub>-space denoted by " $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space" if  $\forall e_1 \neq e_2$ , there are  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$ , satisfies  $e_1 \in \mathcal{O}_1$  and  $e_2 \in \mathcal{O}_2$  and  $\mathcal{O}_1 \cap \mathcal{O}_2 = \emptyset$ .

**Remark 3.13.** If  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is a T<sub>2</sub>-space, then  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_I$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space.

**Proof:** Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ , where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is a T<sub>2</sub>-space, then  $\exists O_1, O_2 \in \tilde{\iota}$  satisfy  $\dot{e}_1 \in O_1$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in O_2$  and  $O_1 \cap O_2 = \emptyset$ . By Remark 2.4, there are  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets  $O_1$  and  $O_2$ , satisfies  $\dot{e}_1 \in O_1$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in O_2$  and  $O_1 \cap O_2 = \emptyset$ .

**Proposition 3.14.** Every  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space.

**Proof:** Let  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space and Let  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ , where  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ . Since  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is a T<sub>2</sub>-space, then there are  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$ , satisfies  $\dot{e}_1 \in \mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in \mathcal{O}_2$  and  $\mathcal{O}_1 \cap \mathcal{O}_2 = \emptyset$ . Then there are  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$ , such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in \mathcal{O}_1$ - $\mathcal{O}_2$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in \mathcal{O}_2$ - $\mathcal{O}_1$ .

The opposite direction of proposition 3.14, is generally incorrect.

**Example 3.15.** Let  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is a space, such that X = N, the set of all natural numbers  $\tilde{\iota} = \tilde{\iota}$  cof, the collection of all complement finite topology and  $I = \emptyset$ , then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \tilde{\iota} \operatorname{cof}, \alpha g_{I}C(X) = \{ O \subseteq X, O \text{ is a finite set} \} \cup X$ , then  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space but not  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space.

**Proposition 3.16.** If  $(X, \tilde{\iota})$  is a T<sub>i</sub>-space i={1,2,3} then the ideal space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space. But the converse is not true, as shown in the following Arrow chart





Relationships between T<sub>i</sub>-space and  $\alpha g_{\rm I}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space

The next example shows that the converse of the arrow chart 3.1 is incorrect.

**Example 3.17.** Let  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space, where  $X = \{\dot{e}_{1}, \dot{e}_{2}, \dot{e}_{3}\}, \tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_{2}\}\}$  and  $I = \mathbb{P}(X)$  is not T<sub>i</sub>-space, where  $i = \{1, 2, 3\},$  and  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_{2}\}, \{\dot{e}_{1}, \dot{e}_{2}\}, \{\dot{e}_{2}, \dot{e}_{3}\}, \mathbf{j}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\dot{e}_{1}\}, \{\dot{e}_{3}\}, \{\dot{e}_{1}, \dot{e}_{3}\}\}$  and  $\alpha g_{I}C(X) = \alpha g_{I}O(X) = \mathbb{P}(X)$ .

#### 3.1- On $\alpha g_{I}$ -Separtion Axioms via some types of function.

**Proposition 3.1.1.** If  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ - $T_{i}$ -space whenever ( $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$  and  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \rightarrow (Y, \mathfrak{z}, \mathfrak{z})$  is a surjective,  $\alpha g_{I}O$ -function implies that  $(Y, \mathfrak{z}, \mathfrak{z})$  is an  $\alpha g_{i}$ - $T_{i}$ -space.

**Proof:** If, i = 0: Let  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ , where  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in Y$ . Since f is a surjective function then  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \neq \emptyset$ ,  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \neq \emptyset$ , and  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \neq f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2)$ , where  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1), f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \in X$ , since X is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space then there is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set O in X contains one of elements  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1)$  and  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2)$ . Since f is an  $\alpha g_{l}O$ -function. Then f(O) is an  $\alpha g_{j}$ -open set contains one of two elements  $\dot{e}_1$  and  $\dot{e}_2$ . Hence Y is an  $\alpha g_{j}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space.

If i = 1, Let  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ , where  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in Y$ . Since f is a surjective function then  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \neq \emptyset$ ,  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \neq \emptyset$ , and  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \neq f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2)$ , where  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1), f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \in X$ , since X is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>1</sub>-space then there is an  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$  in X such that  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \in (\mathcal{O}_1 - \mathcal{O}_2)$  and  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \in (\mathcal{O}_2 - \mathcal{O}_1)$ . Since f is an  $\alpha g_1 \mathcal{O}$ -function. Then  $f(\mathcal{O}_1)$  and  $f(\mathcal{O}_2)$  are  $\alpha g_1$ -open set, such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in (f(\mathcal{O}_1) - f(\mathcal{O}_2))$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in (f(\mathcal{O}_2) - f(\mathcal{O}_1))$ . Hence Y is an  $\alpha g_1 - T_1$ -space.

If i = 2, Let  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ , where  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in Y$ . Since f is a surjective function then  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \neq \emptyset$ ,  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \neq \emptyset$ , and  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \neq f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2)$ , where  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1), f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \in X$ , since X is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space then there is an  $\alpha g_1$ -open sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$  in X such that  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_1) \in \mathcal{O}_1$ ,  $f^{-1}(\dot{e}_2) \in \mathcal{O}_2$  and  $\mathcal{O}_1 \cap \mathcal{O}_2 = \emptyset$ . Since f is an  $\alpha g_1 \mathcal{O}$ -function. Then  $f(\mathcal{O}_1)$  and  $f(\mathcal{O}_2)$  are  $\alpha g_1$ -open set, such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in f(\mathcal{O}_1)$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in f(\mathcal{O}_2)$  and  $f(\mathcal{O}_1) \cap f(\mathcal{O}_2) = f(\emptyset) = \emptyset$ . Hence Y is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space.

**Proposition 3.1.2.** If X is a T<sub>i</sub>-space (i $\in$ {0,1,2}) and f: (X,  $\tilde{\iota}$ , I)  $\rightarrow$  (Y, J, j) is a surjective  $\alpha g_{I}^{*}$  o-function then Y is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space.

**Proof:** Similar to the proof of proposition 3.1.1. Since f is an  $\alpha g_{l}^{*}$ -open function then  $f(\mathcal{O})$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set in  $\Upsilon$  for all open set  $\mathcal{O}$  in X.

**Proposition 3.1.3.** If  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_I - T_i$ -space whenever (i $\in$ {0,1,2} and f is a surjective  $\alpha g_I^{**}$ o-function from  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  to  $(Y, \mathfrak{z}, \mathfrak{z})$  then  $(Y, \mathfrak{z})$  is  $T_i$ -space.

**Proof**: Similar to the proof of proposition 3.1.1. Since f is an  $\alpha g_{I}^{**}$ -open function then  $f(O') \in Y$ , whenever O is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open set in X.

**Proposition 3.1.4.** If Y is a T<sub>i</sub>-space (i  $\in \{0,1,2\}$ ) and f is an injective  $\alpha g_{l}$ -continuous function from (X,  $\tilde{i}$ , I) to (Y,  $\tilde{j}$ , j) then X is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space.

**Proof:** If i = 0: Let  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ , where  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ . Since f is a injective function then  $f(\dot{e}_1) \neq f(\dot{e}_2)$ , where  $f(\dot{e}_1), f(\dot{e}_2) \in Y$ . So Y is a T<sub>0</sub>-space, then  $\exists O \in Y$  contains one of the two elements  $f(\dot{e}_1)$  or  $f(\dot{e}_2)$ . Since f is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous, then  $f^{-1}(O)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open set contains one of two elements  $\dot{e}_1$  or  $\dot{e}_2$ . Hence X is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>0</sub>-space.

If i = 1: Let  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ , where  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ . Since f is a injective function then  $f(\dot{e}_1) \neq f(\dot{e}_2)$ , where  $f(\dot{e}_1), f(\dot{e}_2) \in Y$ . So Y is a  $T_1$ -space, then  $\exists O_1, O_2 \in Y$ , such that  $f(\dot{e}_1) \in (O_1 - O_2)$  and  $f(\dot{e}_2) \in (O_2 - O_1)$ . Since f is an  $\alpha g_1$ -continuous, then  $f^{-1}(O_1)$  and  $f^{-1}(O_2)$  are  $\alpha g_1$ -open set whenever  $\dot{e}_1 \in (f^{-1}(O_1) - f^{-1}(O_2)), \dot{e}_2 \in (f^{-1}(O_2) - f^{-1}(O_1))$ . Hence X is an  $\alpha g_1 - T_1$ -space.

If i = 2: Let  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$ , where  $\dot{e}_1, \dot{e}_2 \in X$ . Since f is a injective function then  $f(\dot{e}_1) \neq f(\dot{e}_2)$ , where  $f(\dot{e}_1), f(\dot{e}_2) \in Y$ . So Y is a T<sub>2</sub>-space, then  $\exists O_1, O_2 \in Y$ , such that  $f(\dot{e}_1) \in O_1$  and  $f(\dot{e}_2) \in O_2$  and  $O_1 \cap O_2 = \emptyset$ . Since f is an  $\alpha g_1$ -continuous, then  $f^{-1}(O_1)$  and  $f^{-1}(O_2)$  are  $\alpha g_1$ -open set whenever  $\dot{e}_1 \in f^{-1}(O_1), \dot{e}_2 \in f^{-1}(O_2)$  and  $f^{-1}(O_1) \cap f^{-1}(O_2) = f^{-1}(\emptyset) = \emptyset$ . Hence X is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space.

**Corollary 3.1.5.** If Y is a T<sub>i</sub>-space and f is an injective continuous function from (X,  $\tilde{\iota}$ , I) to (Y, J, j) then X is an  $\alpha g_I$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space whenever (i  $\in \{0,1,2\}$ ).

**Proof:** Since, every continuous function is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function, then by proposition 2.2.2 and by proposition 3.1.4, then X is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space.

**Proposition 3.1.6.** If Y is an  $\alpha g_{i}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space and f is an injective strongly  $\alpha g_{i}$ -continuous function from (X, ĩ, I) to (Y, J, j) then X is a T<sub>i</sub>-space whenever (i  $\in \{0,1,2\}$ ).

**Proof:** Similar to the proof of proposition 3.1.4.

**Proposition 3.1.7.** If Y is an  $\alpha g_{j}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space and f is an injective  $\alpha g_{l}$ -irresolute function from (X,  $\tilde{i}$ ,  $\tilde{j}$ ) to (Y,  $\tilde{j}$ ,  $\tilde{j}$ ) then X is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -T<sub>i</sub>-space whenever (i  $\in \{0,1,2\}$ ).

**Proof:** Similar to the proof of proposition 3.1.5.

4- On  $\alpha g_{\mathrm{I}}$ -convergence.

**Definition 4.1.** Let  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  be an ideal topological space,  $\dot{e}_0 \in X$  and  $(s_\eta)_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in X. Then  $(s_\eta)_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is called  $\alpha g_I$ -convergence to  $\dot{e}_0$  in simple terms  $s_\eta \mapsto \dot{e}_0$  if for every  $\alpha g_I$ -open set O' contined  $\dot{e}_0, \exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$  where  $s_\eta \in O' \forall \eta \geq \kappa$ .

A sequence  $(s_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is called  $\alpha g_{I}$ -divergence if it is not  $\alpha g_{I}$ -convergence.

**Theorem 4.2.** If  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space then every  $\alpha g_1$ -convergence sequence in X has only one limit point.

**Proof:** If we consider  $(\varsigma_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in X and  $\varsigma_{\eta} \mapsto \dot{e}_1$  and  $\varsigma_{\eta} \mapsto \dot{e}_2$ ,  $\dot{e}_1 \neq \dot{e}_2$  where  $\dot{e}_1$ ,  $\dot{e}_2 \in X$ . Since  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space, then there are disjoin  $\alpha g_{I}$ -open set  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$  such that  $\dot{e}_1 \in \mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in \mathcal{O}_2$  since  $\varsigma_{\eta} \mapsto \dot{e}_1$  and  $\dot{e}_1 \in \mathcal{O}_1$  leads to  $\exists \kappa_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ ;  $\varsigma_{\eta} \in \mathcal{O}_1 \forall \eta \geq \kappa_1$ . So  $\varsigma_{\eta} \mapsto \dot{e}_2$  and  $\dot{e}_2 \in \mathcal{O}_2$  leads to  $\exists \kappa_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ ;  $\varsigma_{\eta} \in \mathcal{O}_2 \forall \eta \geq \kappa_2$ . Hence  $\mathcal{O}_1 \cap \mathcal{O}_2 \neq \emptyset$ , and that a contradiction.

The precondition that a space X is an  $\alpha g_1$ -T<sub>2</sub>-space is very requisite to make Theorem 4.2 is valid.

**Example 4.3.** For a space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, l)$  where  $X = \{\hat{e}_1, \hat{e}_2, \hat{e}_3\}, \tilde{\iota} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\hat{e}_1\}, \{\hat{e}_1, \hat{e}_2\}\}$  and  $I = \{\emptyset\}$  then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset, \{\hat{e}_1\}, \{\hat{e}_1, \hat{e}_2\}, \{\hat{e}_1, \hat{e}_3\}\}$ , then  $\alpha g_l C(X) = \{X, \emptyset, \{\hat{e}_1\}, \{\hat{e}_1, \hat{e}_2\}\}$ .

The sequence  $(\varsigma_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  in X, where  $\varsigma_{\eta} = \dot{e}_3 \forall \eta$ , has one limit point;  $\varsigma_{\eta} \mapsto \dot{e}_3$ . But  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$  is not  $\alpha g_I - T_2$ -space.

The following proposition explains the relationships between convergence and  $\alpha g_{l}$ convergence to  $\dot{e}_0$ .

**Proposition 4.4.** If a sequence  $(s_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is an  $\alpha g_{1}$ -convergence to  $\dot{e}_{0}$  in an ideal space X, then it is a convergence to  $\dot{e}_{0}$ .

**Proof:** Let O is open set in X contains  $\dot{e}_0$ . By Remark 2.4,  $O \alpha g_{\underline{1}}$ -open set in X contains  $\dot{e}_0$ . Since  $(\varsigma_\eta)_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is an  $\alpha g_{\underline{1}}$ -convergence to  $\dot{e}_0$  then  $\exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\varsigma_\eta \in O \forall \eta \ge \kappa$ . Hence  $(\varsigma_\eta)_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is a convergence to  $\dot{e}_0$ .

Reverse the proposition 4.4, is incorrect in general.

**Example 4.5.** For an ideal space  $(X, \tilde{\iota}, I)$ , where X = N, the set of all natural numbers  $\tilde{\iota}=\{X, \emptyset\}$  and  $I = \mathbb{P}(X)$ . Then  $\tilde{\iota}_{\alpha} = \mathfrak{f}_{\alpha} = \{X, \emptyset\}$ , so  $\alpha g_{I}C(X) = \alpha g_{I}O(X) = \mathbb{P}(X)$ . The sequence  $(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$ , where  $\mathfrak{s}_{\eta} = \mathfrak{n}$ ,  $\forall \mathfrak{n} \in \mathbb{N}$ , is convergent to  $\mathfrak{n}=1$  which is not  $\alpha g_{I}$ -convergence.

**Proposition 4.6.** Let  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \to (Y, \mathfrak{z}, \mathfrak{z})$  be an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -irresolute function and  $(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in X. If  $\mathfrak{s}_{\eta} \mapsto \mathfrak{e}_{0}$  in X then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta}) \mapsto \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{e}_{0})$  in Y.

**Proof:** Let O is an  $\alpha g_{j}$ -open set in Y contains  $f(e_{0})$ . Since f be an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -irresolute function, then  $f^{-1}(O)$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -open set in X contains  $e_{0}$ . By  $(s_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -convergence to  $e_{0}$ , then  $\exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $s_{\eta} \in f^{-1}(O) \forall \eta \geq \kappa$ , implies  $\exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $f(s_{\eta}) \in O \forall \eta \geq \kappa$ . Hence  $f(s_{\eta})$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -convergence to  $f(e_{0})$ .

**Theorem 4.7.** Let  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \to (Y, \mathfrak{z}, \mathfrak{z})$  be an  $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function and  $(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in X. If  $\mathfrak{s}_{\eta} \mapsto \mathfrak{e}_{0}$  in X then  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})$  convergent  $to \mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{e}_{0})$  in Y.

**Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{O}$  is an open set in Y contains  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{e}_0)$ . Since  $\mathfrak{f}$  be an  $\alpha g_1$ -continuous function, then  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O})$  is an  $\alpha g_1$ -open set in X contains  $\mathfrak{e}_0$ . By  $(\mathfrak{s}_\eta)_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is an  $\alpha g_1$ -convergence to  $\mathfrak{e}_0$ , then  $\exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\mathfrak{s}_\eta \in \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O}) \ \forall \eta \geq \kappa$ , implies  $\exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{s}_\eta) \in \mathcal{O} \ \forall \eta \geq \kappa$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{s}_\eta)$  is an  $\alpha g_1$ -convergence to  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{e}_0)$ .

**Proposition 4.8.** Let  $f: (X, \tilde{\iota}, I) \to (Y, \mathfrak{z}, \mathfrak{z})$  be a strongly- $\alpha g_{I}$ -continuous function and  $(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence in X. Then  $f(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})$  convergent  $to f(\mathfrak{e}_{0})$  in Y whenever if  $\mathfrak{s}_{\eta} \mapsto \mathfrak{e}_{0}$  in X.

**Proof:** Let  $\mathcal{O}$  is an  $\alpha g_{j}$ -open set in Y contains  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{e}_{0})$ . Since  $\mathfrak{f}$  is a strongly- $\alpha g_{l}$ -continuous function, then  $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O})$  is an open set in X contains  $\mathfrak{e}_{0}$ . By  $(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})_{\eta \in \mathbb{N}}$  is a convergence to  $\mathfrak{e}_{0}$ , then  $\exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\mathfrak{s}_{\eta} \in \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\mathcal{O}) \forall \mathfrak{n} \geq \kappa$ , implies  $\exists \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta}) \in \mathcal{O} \forall \mathfrak{n} \geq \kappa$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{s}_{\eta})$  is an  $\alpha g_{l}$ -convergence to  $\mathfrak{f}(\mathfrak{e}_{0})$ .

### **References:**

- [1] O Njastad, 1965 On some classes of nearly open set, Pacific J. Math. 15, pp 961 970.
- [2] Nadia M Ali, 2004 On New Types of Weakly Open Sets "α-Open and Semi-α-Open Sets", M.Sc. Thesis, January, Ibn Al-Haithatham Journal for Pure and Applied Science.
- [3] Kuratowski K. 1933 Topology. NewYork: Acadeic Press .Vol I.
- [4] A A Nasef and R B Esamaeel, 2015 Some α- operators vai ideals, International Electronic journal of Pur and Applied Mathematics Vol. 9, No. 3, pp 149- 159.
- [5] A A Nasef, A E Radwan, F A Iprahem and R B Esmaeel, in June-2016 Soft α-compactness via soft ideals Vol. 12, No. 4.
- [6] M E Abd El-Monsef, A A Nasef, A E Radwan and R B Esmaeel , 2014 On α- open sets with respect to an ideal, Journal of Advances Studies in Topology, 5(3), pp 1-9.
- [7] R B Esmaeel, 2012 on α-c-compactness, Ibn Al-Haithatham Journal for Pure and Applied Science, 22, pp 212-218.
- [8] R Englking, 1989 "Outline of general topology" Amsterdam.

# HYERS-ULAM STABILITY OF INTEGRAL EQUATIONS WITH TWO VARIABLES

Qusuay H. Alqifiary

Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Al-Qadisiyah,

Al-Diwaniya, Iraq

# E-mail: qhaq2010@gmail.com ,qusuay.alqifiary@qu.edu.iq

# Abstract

We will apply the classical Banach contraction for proving the generalized Hyers-Ulam stability and Hyers-Ulam stability of Volterra integral equations with two variables.

# **1** Introduction

Volterra integral equations appearance in 1896, therefore it have been extensively studied. Interest in this equation has emerged due to its importance in applications, for instance in chemical reactions, fluid flow, , semiconductors and elasticity, see

([3, 6, 11, 19]).

We say a functional equation is stable when for every approximate solution, there exists near it an exact solution. The concept of stability has been studied for different equations in a quite extensive way, during the last decades.

In 1940,S.M. Ulam [32] posed a famous question concerning the stability of functional equations: \Give conditions in order for a linear function near an approximately

linear function to exist." In 1941, a partial answer to the equation of Ulam given by

D.H. Hyers [12] for additive functions defined on Banach spaces: Suppose that X and

*Y* are real Banach spaces and " > 0. Then for every function  $^{\land}$ : *X* ! *Y* with the

property

property	
$\  (x + y) - (x) - (y) \  \le "$	(x; y 2 X);
there exists a unique additive function $T: X / Y$ such that the relation	
below comes	
true	
$\  (x) - T(x) \  \le "$	
$(x \ 2 \ X)$ :	

In 1978, Th.M.Rassias in ([26]) considered unbounded right-hand sides in the inequality introducing therefore called the Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability.

After that, many mathematicians have extended Ulam's problem to other functional equations and generalized Hyers's result in various directions (see [7, 13, 18, 26]). 02010 *Mathematics Subject Classification*: 45M10, 45D05, 34K20, 47H10.

oKey words and phrases: Integral equations; generalized Hyers-Ulam stability; Banach's fixed point theorem; Volterra Integral equations.

1

2

A generalization of Ulam's problem was recently proposed by replacing functional

equations with differential equations (see [2, 20, 21, 30, 31, 15, 17, 16, 28, 29, 23, 24,

25, 14]). M.Gachpazen and O. Baghani ([9]), by successive method proved the HyersUlam stability of

a nonlinear integral equation, then in 2011, M.Akkouchi, A. Bounabat

and M.H.L.Rhali ([1]) proved Hyers-Ulam-Rassias by the classical Banach contraction.

Despite the large amount of workes on integral equations.(see [5, 10, 22, 4]).

In this paper, we proving Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability, by using the fixed point

alternative theory, for Volterra-type integral equations with two variables .

 $u(x; y) = f(x; y) + \int_{\Omega x} g(x; y; \xi; u(\xi; y)) d\xi + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau)) d\tau d\sigma$ 

for x; y 2 R+, where  $f 2 C(E; R_n)$ ,  $g 2 C(E_1 \times R_n; R_n)$  and  $h 2 C(E_2 \times R_n; R_n)$  are

functions and *u* is the unknown function to be found.

In addition, we proving generalize Hyers-Ulam stability for the Volterra-Fredholm -type integral equation in the form

 $u(x; y) = h(x; y) + \int_{0x} \int_{0y} F(x; y; s; t; u(s; t)) dt ds + \int_{01} \int_{01} G(x; y; s; t; u(s; t)) dt ds;$ for x; y 2 R+, where h 2 C(E; Rn), F 2 C(E2 × Rn; Rn), G 2 C(E2 × Rn; Rn).

# **2** Preliminaries

**Definition 2.1** For a nonempty set Y, a function  $^: Y \times Y ! [0; 1]$  is called a generalized metric on Y if and only if the function  $^$  satisfies :

(*i*)  $(x_1; x_2) = 0$  *if and only if*  $x_1 = x_2$ ;

(*ii*)  $^{(x1; x2)} = ^{(x2; x1)}$  for all x1; x2 2 Y;

(*iii*)  $^{(x1; x2)} \le ^{(x1; y)} + ^{(y; x2)}$  for all x1; x2; y 2 Y.

**Theorem 2.1** (*The fixed point alternative*) [8] *Assume that* (X; d) *is a generalized complete metric space and*  $^{\circ}$ : X ! X *is a strictly contractive operator with Lipschitz constant* L < 1. *If there exists a nonnegative integer c such that*  $d(^{c+1}x; ^{c}x) < 1$  *for some x* 2 *X, then the followings are true :* 

(a) The sequence  $f^n xg$  convergens to a fixed point  $x * of ^;$ 

(b)  $x_*$  is the unique fixed point of  $^$  in

 $X = fy 2 X = d(^{c}x; y) < 1g;$ 

(c) If $y \ 2 \ X_*$ , then $d(y; \ x_*) \le$	1-1 <i>Ld</i> (^ <i>y</i> ; y):
---	------------------------------------

3

Throughout this paper we will use the notation  $E = \mathbf{R}_+ \times \mathbf{R}_+$ ,  $E_0 = I_a \times I_b$ ,  $E_1 = f(x; y; s) : 0 \le s \le x < l; y \ 2 \ Rg \text{ and } E_2 = f(x; y; s; t) \ 2 \ E_2 : 0 \le s \le x < y; 0 \le s \le x < d \le s \le x < y; 0 \le x < y; 0$  $t \leq y \leq lg$ . Let S be the space of all functions  $u \ge C(E; \mathbb{R}_n)$  which satisfies the condition.  $ju(x; y)j = O(exp(\Lambda(x + y))); (2.1)$ where  $\Lambda > 0$  is a constant. we define in the space *S* the norm  $juj_s = sup(x;y)2E[ju(x; y)j(exp(-\Lambda(x + y)))]; (2.2)$ such that, we get Banach space from S with norm defined in (2.2). From the condition (2.1) we get there exists a constant  $N \ge 0$  such that  $ju(x; y)j \le N(exp(-\Lambda(x+y)))$ . By using this fact in (2.2), we observe that  $ju(x; y)js \leq N$ : (2.3)Now, define a metric function  $d_s: S \times S - [0; 1]$  such that  $d_s(u(x; y) - v(x; y)) = ju(x; y) - v(x; y)j_s;$ for all u; v 2 S. We obtain a generalization metric space (S;  $d_s$ ) Lemma 2.2 ([27]) Suppose that (i) the functions g; h in equation (3.1) satisfy the conditions  $jg(x; y; \Omega; u) - g(x; y; \Omega; u)j \le a(x; y; \Omega) ju - uj$  (2.4)  $jh(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u) - h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u)j \le b(x; y; \sigma; \tau) ju - uj$ (2.5)*where a 2 C(E1;* R+),*b 2 C(E2;* R+) (ii) for  $\lambda$  as in (2.1), (*iia*) There exists a constant  $\alpha$  such that  $0 < \alpha < 1$  and  $\int_{\Omega x} a(x; y; \Omega) exp(\lambda(\Omega+y)) d\Omega + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} b(x; y; \sigma; \tau) exp(\lambda(\sigma+\tau)) d\tau d\sigma \le \alpha exp(\lambda(x+y))$ (2.6)(*iib*) *There exists a constant*  $\beta$  *such that*  $0 < \beta$  *and*  $f(x; y) - \int$  $h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; 0) d\tau d\sigma \leq \beta exp(\lambda(x+y))$  $0x g(x; y; \Omega; \Omega) d\Omega + \int 0x \int 0y where f; g; h are the functions in equation (3.1). Then the operator T which$ defined as follows:  $(Tu)(x; y) = f(x; y) + \int_{\Omega x} g(x; y; \Omega; u(\Omega; y)) d\Omega + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau)) d\tau d\sigma (2.8)$ 

where u 2 S is maps S into itself.

4

# Proof.

We must verify that (2.1) is fulfilled. We have from (2.8) and (2.3)  $j(Tu)(x; y)j \leq f(x; y) + \int_{\Omega x} g(x; y; \Omega; 0)d\Omega + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; 0)d\tau d\sigma$   $+ \int_{\Omega x} jg(x; y; \Omega; u(\Omega; y)) - g(x; y; \Omega; 0)j d\Omega + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} jh(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau)) - h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; 0)j d\tau d\sigma$   $\leq \beta exp(\lambda(x+y)) + \int_{\Omega x} a(x; y; \Omega) ju(\Omega; y)j d\Omega + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} b(x; y; \sigma; \tau) ju(\sigma; \tau)j d\tau d\Omega$   $\leq \beta exp(\lambda(x+y)) + juj_s [\int_{\Omega x} a(x; y; \Omega) exp(\Omega; y)d\Omega + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} b(x; y; \sigma; \tau) exp(\lambda(\sigma+\Omega))d\tau d\sigma]$   $\leq [\beta + N\alpha] exp(\lambda(x+y))$ Hence, *Tu* 2 *S* and mean that is *T* maps *S* into itself.

# **3 Main Results**

# 3.1 Volterra-type integral equation

In this subsection, we consider the integral equation  $u(x; y) = f(x; y) + \int_{0x} g(x; y; \Omega; u(\Omega; y)) d\Omega + \int_{0x} \int_{0y} h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau)) d\tau d\sigma (3.1)$ for x; y 2 R+, where f 2  $C(E; R_n)$ , g 2  $C(E_1 \times R_n; R_n)$  and h 2  $C(E_2 \times R_n; R_n)$  are functions and *u* is the unknown function to be found. We start with the following theorem which ensures the equation (3.1) has HyersUlam-Rassias stability. **Theorem 3.1** Under the same conditions in Lemma (2.2), let  $\theta$  is a continuous function  $\theta$ :  $E - ! R_+$  and *u* 2 *S* is such that  $u(x; y) - f(x; y) + \int$  $h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau)) d\tau d\sigma \leq \theta(x; y);$  $0x g(x; y; \Omega; u(\Omega; y)) d\Omega + \int 0x \int 0y (3.2)$ then there is a unique solution uo 2  $C(E; \mathbb{R}_+)$  of integral equation (3.1) and constant  $0 < \alpha < 1$  such that  $ju(x; y) - u0(x; y)j \le \theta(x; y)$ 1 - α 5 **Proof.** Let *u*; *v* 2 *S*. Using the hypotheses, consider the operator defined in (2.8)

 $d_{s}(Tu; Tv) = j(Tu)(x; y) - (Tv)(x; y)j \leq \int x_{j}g(x; y; \Omega; u(\Omega; y)) - g(x; y; \Omega; v(\Omega; y))j d\Omega$ +  $\int x_{j} \int y_{j} f(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau)) - h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; v(\sigma; \tau))j d\tau d\sigma$  $\leq \int x_{j} a(x; y) ju(\Omega; y) - v(\Omega; y)j d\Omega + \int x_{j} \int y_{j} b(x; y; \sigma; \tau) ju(\sigma; \tau) - v(\sigma; \tau)j d\tau d\sigma$  $\leq ju - vj_{s} [\int x_{j} a(x; y; \Omega) exp(\lambda(\Omega + y))d\Omega + \int x_{j} \int y_{j} b(x; y; \sigma; \tau) exp(\lambda(\sigma + \tau))d\tau d\sigma]$  $\leq \alpha ju - vj_{s} exp(\lambda(x + y))$ we get  $d_{s}(Tu; Tv) \leq \alpha d_{s}(u; v)$  (3.3) Since  $\alpha < 1$ , from Banach fixed point theorem, it follows that T has a unique fixed point uo in S is however a solution of integral equation (3.1). We can apply again the Banach fixed point theorem, we get  $d_{s}(u; u_{0}) \leq 1$  $1 - \alpha$  $d_{s}(Tu; u)$  $ju(x; y) - u_{0}(x; y)j \leq \theta(x; y)$  $1 - \alpha$ 

**Corollary 3.2** Under the same conditions in Lemma (2.2), let  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $u \ge S$  is such that

$u(x; y) - f(x; y) + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u(x; y) dx$	$h(x; v; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau))d\tau d\sigma \leq \epsilon$

 $0x g(x; y; \Omega; u(\Omega; y))d\Omega + \int 0x \int 0y (3.4)$ 

then there is a unique solution u0 2  $C(E; \mathbb{R}_+)$  of integral equation (3.1) and constant  $0 < \alpha < 1$  such that  $ju(x; y) - u0(x; y)j \leq 1-\epsilon \alpha$ .

*This means that, the integral equation (3.1) has the Hyers-Ulam stability.* 

**Theorem 3.3** Suppose that the functions f; g in equation (3.1) satisfy the conditions (2.4),(2.5) and let

sup

 $x_{y} 2R_{\tau} \left[ \int_{\Omega x} a(x; y; \Omega) d\Omega + \int_{\Omega x} \int_{\Omega y} b(x; y; \sigma; \tau) d\tau d\sigma \right] \le \alpha < 1 \quad (3.5)$ 

then the equation (3.1) has Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability. That means there is a unique

solution uo 2  $C(E; \mathbb{R}_+)$  of integral equation (3.1) and constant  $0 < \alpha < 1$  such that  $ju(x; y) - u_0(x; y)j \le \theta(x; y)$ 

1 - α 6

**Proof.** Consider the space  $C(E; \mathbf{R}_n)$  with a generalization metric defined by

$d(u; v) = \sup x; y 2R + ju(x; y) - v(x; y)j;$	(3.6)	
for <i>u</i> ; $v \ 2 \ C(E; \mathbb{R}_n)$ . From hypotheses, we can prove that, the operator <i>T</i> defined by		
(2:8) is a contraction. For any $u$ ; $v \ 2 \ C(E; \mathbb{R}_n)$ satisfies	(37)	
$d(Tu; Tv) \le \alpha d(u; v)$	(3.7)	
Thus we can apply the Banach fixed point theorem, we get for $u_0 2 C(E; R_n)$ which		
satisfy equation (3.1),		

 $d(u; u_0) \le \alpha d(Tu; u)$ Thus by theorem (2.1)  $ju(x; y) - u_0(x; y)j \le \theta(x; y)$ 1 -  $\alpha$ 

**Corollary 3.4** Under the same conditions in Theorem (3.3), let  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $u \ge S$  is such that

$u(x; y) - f(x; y) + \int$	$h(x; y; \sigma; \tau; u(\sigma; \tau))d\tau d\sigma \leq \epsilon;$
(0, 0) = (0, 0) = 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10	

 $0x g(x; y; \Omega; u(\Omega; y))d\Omega + \int 0x \int 0y (3.8)$ 

then there is a unique solution u0 2  $C(E; \mathbb{R}_+)$  of integral equation (3.1) and constant  $0 < \alpha < 1$  such that  $ju(x; y) - u0(x; y)j \leq 1 - \epsilon \alpha$ .

This means that, the integral equation (3.1) has the Hyers-Ulam stability.

# 3.2 Volterra-Fredholm-type integral equation

In this subsection, we consider the Volterra-Fredholm -type integral equation in the form

 $u(x; y) = h(x; y) + \int_{0x} \int_{0y} F(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) dt d\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} G(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) dt d\xi;$ (3.9)

for *x*; *y* 2 R+, where *h* 2  $C(E; R_n)$ , *F* 2  $C(E_2 \times R_n; R_n)$ , *G* 2  $C(E_2 \times R_n; R_n)$ . **Theorem 3.5** *Assume that* 

(i) the functions F; G in equation (3.9) satisfy the conditions

 $jF(x; y; \xi; t; u) - F(x; y; \xi; t; v)j \le k(x; y; \xi; t) ju - vj; (3.10)$ 

 $jG(x; y; \xi; t; u) - G(x; y; \xi; t; v) j \le r(x; y; \xi; t) ju - vj; (3.11)$ 

7

where k 2 C(E2; R+), r 2 C(E2; R+).

(ii) for  $\lambda$  as in inequality (2.1),

(b1) there exist constants  $\alpha_1 \ge 0$  and  $\alpha_2 \ge 0$  such that  $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 < 1$  and

 $\int 0x \int 0y k(x; y; \xi; t) exp(\lambda(\xi + t)) dt d\xi \le \alpha 1 exp(\lambda(x + y)) (3.12)$ 

 $\int 01 \int 01 r(x; y; \xi; t) exp(\lambda(\xi + t)) dt d\xi \le \alpha 2 exp(\lambda(x + y)) (3.13)$ 

(b2) there exists a constant  $\beta \ge 0$  such that

 $jh(x; y)j + \int_{0x} \int_{0y} jF(x; y; \xi; t; 0)j \, dtd\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} jG(x; y; \xi; t; 0)j \, dtd\xi \le \beta exp(\lambda(x+y));$ (3.14)

where h; F; G are the functions in equation (3.9). Then if u 2 S is such that

 $u(x; y) - h(x; y) + \int_{0x} \int_{0y}^{0} F(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) dt d\xi + \int_{01}^{1} \int_{01}^{01} G(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) dt d\xi \le \varphi(x; y);$ (3.15)

where  $\varphi$  : E ! R+ there is a unique solution uo 2 C(E; R+) of integral equation (3.1)

and constant  $0 < \alpha < 1$  such that

 $ju(x; y) - u_0(x; y)j \le \varphi(x; y)$ 

1 - α

**Proof.** Let *u* 2 *S* and define the operator *T* by

 $(Tu)(x; y) = h(x; y) + \int_{0x} \int_{0y} F(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) dt d\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} G(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) dt d\xi;$ (3.16)

for (*x*; *y*) 2 *E*:

Now, we will show that T maps S into itself. From equation (3.16), we have

 $j(Tu)(x; y) j \le jh(x; y) j + \int_{0x} \int_{0y} jF(x; y; \xi; t; 0) j dt d\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} jG(x; y; \xi; t; 0) j dt d\xi +$  $\int_{0x} \int_{0y} jF(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) - F(x; y; \xi; t; 0) j dt d\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} jG(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) - G(x; y; \xi; t; 0) j dt d\xi$  $\leq \beta exp(\lambda(x+y)) + \int_{0x} \int_{0y} k(x; y; \xi; t) ju(\xi; t) j dt d\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} r(x; y; \xi; t) ju(\xi; t) j dt d\xi$  $\leq \beta exp(\lambda(x+y)) + jujs \left[ \int_{0y} \int_{0y} k(x; y; \xi; t) exp(\lambda(\xi+t)) dt d\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} r(x; y; \xi; t) exp(\lambda(\xi+t)) dt d\xi \right]$  $\leq [\beta + N(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)]exp(\lambda(x + v))$ That means that *Tu 2 S*.  $d_{s}(Tu-Tv) = j(Tu)(x; v) - (Tv)(x; v)j \le \int_{0x} \int_{0y} jF(x; v; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) - F(x; v; \xi; t; v(\xi; t))j dtd\xi +$ 8  $\int 01 \int 01 j G(x; y; \xi; t; u(\xi; t)) - G(x; y; \xi; t; v(\xi; t)) j dt d\xi$  $\leq \int 0x \int 0y k(x; y; \xi; t) ju(\xi; t) - v(\xi; t) j dt d\xi + \int 01 \int 01 r(x; y; \xi; t) ju(\xi; t) - v(\xi; t) j dt d\xi$  $\leq ju - vj_s \left[ \int_{0x} \int_{0y} k(x; y; \xi; t) exp(\lambda(\xi + t)) dt d\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} r(x; y; \xi; t) exp(\lambda(\xi + t)) dt d\xi \right]$  $\leq (\alpha 1 + \alpha 2) ju - vjs exp(\lambda(x + y)).$ We get,  $d_s(Tu; Tv) \le (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)d_s(u; v)$  (3.17) Since  $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 < 1$ , from Banach fixed point theorem, it follows that T has a unique fixed point  $u_0$  in S is however a solution of integral equation (3.9). We can apply again the Banach fixed point theorem, we get  $d_s(u; u_0) \leq 1$ 1 -  $(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)d_s(Tu; u)$  $ju(x; y) - u_0(x; y) \leq \varphi(x; y)$ 1 -  $(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)$ 

**Theorem 3.6** Suppose that the functions F; G in equation (3.9) satisfy the conditions (3.10),(3.11) and let

 $\sup_{x;y \geq R+[\int_{0x} \int_{0y} k(x; y; \xi; t) dtd\xi + \int_{01} \int_{01} r(x; y; \xi; t) dtd\xi] \leq \alpha < 1 (3.18)$  then the equation (3.9) has Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability. That means there is a unique solution uo 2 C(E; R+) of integral equation (3.9) and constant  $0 < \alpha < 1$  such that  $ju(x; y) - u_0(x; y)j \leq \theta(x; y)$ 1 -  $\alpha$ 

**Proof.** Consider the space  $C(E; R_n)$  with a generalization metric defined by  $d(u; v) = \sup_{x;y \ge R_+} ju(x; y) - v(x; y)j$ ; (3.19) for  $u; v \ge C(E; R_n)$ . We can complete proof, in same way proof of theorem (3.3).

9

# References

[1] M.Akkouchi, A. Bounabat, M.H.L.Rhali, Fixed Point Approach To the Stability of an Integral Equation in the Sense of Ulam-Hyers-Rassias, Annales Mathematicae Silesianae, 25(2011), 27-44.

[2] C. Alsina and R. Ger, On some inequalities and stability results related to the exponential function, J. Inequal. Appl. **2**, pp. 373{380, 1998.

[3] T.A.Burton, Volterra Integral and Differential Equations (2nd ed), Mathematics in Science and Engineering 202, Elseiver, Amsterdam, 2005.

[4] L.P.Castro and A. Ramos, Hyers-Ulam and Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability of Volterra integral equations with delay, Integral methods in science and engineering, Vol.1,85-94,Birkhauser Boston,Inc.,Boston,MA,2010 2.

[5] L.P.Castro, A.M.Simoes, Hyers-Ulam-Rassias Stability of nonlinear integral equations through the Bielecki metric, Math Meth Appl Sci. 2018;1-17.

[6] C.Corduneamu, Principles of Differential and Integral Equations(2nd ed.), Chelsea,New York, 1988.

[7] S. Czerwik, Functional Equations and Inequalities in Several Variables, World Scientific, Singapore, 2002.

[8] J.B.Diaz and B.Margolis, A fixed point theorem of the alternative for contractions on a generalized complete metric space, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 74, (1968), 305-309.
[9] M.Gachpazan, O. Baghani, Hyers-Ulam Stability of Nonlinear Integral Equation, Hindawi

Publishing Corporation, Fixed Point Theory and Applications,
vol.2010,Article ID 927640.

[10] M.Gachpazan, O. Baghani, Hyers-Ulam Stability of Volterra Integral Equation, Int.J.Nonlinear Anal. Appl. 1(2010)No.2,19-25.

[11] G.Gripenberg, S.O.Londen and O. Staffans, Volterra Integral and Functional Equations, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.

[12] D.H. Hyers, On the stability of the linear functional equation, Proc. Natl. Soc. USA **27**, pp. 222{224, 1941.

[13] D.H. Hyers, G. Isac and Th.M. Rassias, Stability of Functional Equations in Several Variables, Birkh<sup>a</sup>user, Boston, 1998.

[14] Jinghao Huang, Qusuay. H. Alqifiary, Yongjin Li, *SUPERSTABILITY OF DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS WITH BOUNDARY CONDITIONS*, Electronic

Journal of Differential Equations. 2014 (2014), no. 215, 1-8.

[15] S.-M. Jung, Hyers-Ulam stability of linear differential equations of first order, Appl. Math. Lett. **17**, pp. 1135{1140, 2004.

[16] S.-M. Jung, Hyers-Ulam stability of linear differential equations of first order, III, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **311**, pp. 139{146, 2005.

10

[17] S.-M. Jung, Hyers-Ulam stability of linear differential equations of first order, II, Appl. Math. Lett. **19**, pp. 854{858, 2006.

[18] S.-M. Jung, Hyers-Ulam-Rassias Stability of Functional Equations in Nonlinear Analysis, Springer, New York, 2011.

[19] V. Lakshmikantham and M.R.M. Rao, Theory of Integro-differential Equations, Stability and Control: Theory, Methods and Applications 1, Gordon and

Breach Publ.Philadephia, 1965.

[20] T. Miura, S. Miyajima and S.-E. Takahasi, A characterization of Hyers-Ulam stability of first order linear differential operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **286**, pp. 136{146, 2003.

[21] T. Miura, S. Miyajima and S.-E. Takahasi, Hyers-Ulam stability of linear differential operator with constant coefficients, Math. Nachr. **258**, pp. 90{96, 2003.

[22] J.R.Morales, E.M.Rojas, Hyers-Ulam and Hyers-Ulam-Rassias stability of nonlinear integral equations with delay, Int.J.Nonlinear Anal. Appl. 2(2011)No.2,1-6.

[23] D. Popa and I. Ra, sa, On the Hyers-Ulam stability of the linear differential equation,

J. Math. Anal. Appl. **381**, pp. 530{537, 2011.

[24] D. Popa and I. Ra<sub>s</sub>sa, Hyers-Ulam stability of the linear differential operator with non-constant coefficients, Appl. Math. Comput. **219**, pp. 1562{1568, 2012.

[25] Qusuay H. Alqifiary, Soon-Mo Jung, Laplace Transform and Generalized HyersUlam Stability of Linear Differential Equations, Electronic J. Diff. Equ. 2014

(2014), No.80, 1-11.

[26] Th.M. Rassias, On the stability of the linear mapping in Banach spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **72**, pp. 297{300, 1978.

[27] H. Rezaei, S.-M. Jung and Th.M. Rassias, Laplace transform and Hyers-Ulam stability of linear differential equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **403**, pp. 244{251, 2013.

[28] I.A. Rus, Remarks on Ulam stability of the operatorial equations, Fixed Point Theory **10**, pp. 305{320, 2009.

[29] I.A. Rus, Ulam stability of ordinary differential equations, Stud. Univ. BabesBolyai Math. 54, pp. 125{134, 2009.

[30] S.-E. Takahasi, T. Miura and S. Miyajima, On the Hyers-Ulam stability of the Banach space-valued differential equation  $y' = \lambda y$ , Bull. Korean Math. Soc. **39**, pp. 309{315, 2002.

[31] S.-E. Takahasi, H. Takagi, T. Miura and S. Miyajima, The Hyers-Ulam stability constants of first order linear differential operators, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **296**, pp. 403{409, 2004.

[32] S.M. Ulam, Problems in Modern Mathematics, Chapter VI, Scince Editors, Wiley, New York, 1960.

# Some results of Mixed Fuzzy Topological Ring

# Munir Abdul Khalik AL-Khafaji AL-Mustinsiryah University \ College of Education \ Department of Mathematics Basim Mohammed Melgat University of Al- Furat Al- Awsat techniques \ College of Health and Medical Technique/ Kuffa

#### Abstract

The theory of fuzzy topological ring has wide scope of applicability than order

topological ring theory. The reason is fuzzy can provide better result. Therefore, fuzzy

topological ring has been found in Robotics, computer, artificial intelligent, etc.

In this paper, we continue the study of mixed fuzzy topological ring [13]. We are

studying the mixed fuzzy topological subring space, mixed fuzzy quotient topological ring and mixed product fuzzy topological ring.

Keywords: Fuzzy topological ring, Mixed Fuzzy topological ring, mixed fuzzy

Quotient topological ring and mixed product fuzzy topological ring

# Introduction:

In 1965 [14], Zadeh L. A. gave the definition of fuzziness. After three years C. Chang [2] gave the notion of fuzzy topology. In 1990[1], Ahsanullah and Ganguli, depended on the convergent in fuzzy topological space in the sense of Lowen [7, 8] to introduce the concept of fuzzy nbhd. In 2009, Deb Ray, A. and Chettri, P [3] introduced fuzzy topology on a ring. Also in [4] they introduced fuzzy continuous function and studied left fuzzy topological ring.

In [9,10,11 and 12] we studied the induced fuzzy topological ring space by fuzzy pseudo norm ring space, fuzzy nbhds system fuzzy separation axiom, study fuzzy compactness and Bohr fuzzy compactification of fuzzy topological ring space. In [13] we construct a mixed fuzzy topological ring also we study the relationship between fuzzy continuities of fuzzy homo. with respect to different fuzzy topologies

In this present article we continue the study of mixed fuzzy topological ring and have obtained several significant results of mixed fuzzy topological subring space, mixed fuzzy quotient topological ring and mixed product fuzzy topological ring

For rich the paper, some basic concept of fuzzy set, fuzzy topology and fuzzy topological ring are given below. The symbol I will denote to the closed interval [0,1]. Let R be a non-empty set:

# Definition [14] 1.1

A fuzzy set in *R* is a map  $\partial: R \to I$  and, that is, belonging to  $I^R$  (the set of all fuzzy set of *R*). Let  $E \in I^R$ , for every  $r \in R$ , we expressed by E(r) of the degree of membership of *r* in *R*. If E(r) be an element of  $\{0, 1\}$ , then *E* is said a crisp set.

# Definition [2] 1.2

A class  $\mu \in I^R$  of fuzzy set is called a fuzzy topology for R if the following are satisfied

1)  $\emptyset, R \in \mu$ 2)  $\forall E, H \in \mu \rightarrow E \land H \in \mu$ 3)  $\forall (E_i)_{i \in I} \in \mu \rightarrow \bigvee_{i \in I} E_i \in \mu$ 

 $(R,\mu)$  is called fuzzy topological space. if  $A \in \mu$  Then A is fuzzy open and  $A^c$  (complement of A) is a fuzzy closed set.

# Definition [1, 3 and 4] 1.3

A pair  $(R, \mu)$ , where R a ring and  $\mu$  a fuzzy topology on R, is called fuzzy topological ring if the following functions are fuzzy continuous:

1)  $R \times R \rightarrow R$ ,  $(r, k) \rightarrow r + k$ .

2)  $R \rightarrow R$ ,  $r \rightarrow -r$ 

3)  $R \times R \rightarrow R$ ,  $(r, k) \rightarrow r.k$ 

#### **Definition** [4]1.4

A family *B* of fuzzy nbhds of  $r_{\alpha}$ , for  $0 < \alpha \le 1$ , is called a fund. system of fuzzy nbhds of  $r_{\alpha}$  iff for any fuzzy nbhd *V* of  $r_{\alpha}$ , there is  $U \in B$  such that  $r_{\alpha} \le U \le V$ 

# **Definition** [4]1.5

Let *R* be a ring and  $\mu$  a FZT on *R*. Let *U* and *V* are fuzzy sets in *R*. We define U + V, -V and U.V as follows  $(U + V)(k) = \sup_{k=k_1+k_2} \min \{U(k_1), V(k_2)\}$  -V(k) = V(-k) $(U.V)(k) = \sup_{k=k_1+k_2} \min \{U(k_1), V(k_2)\}$ 

#### **Theorem** [4]1.6

If *R* is a fuzzy topological ring then there is a fundamental system of fuzzy nbhds *B* of  $0 \ (0 < \alpha \le 1)$ , such that the conditions: (i)  $\forall U \in B$ , then  $-U \in B$ (ii)  $\forall U \in B$ , then *U* is symmetric (iii)  $\forall U, V \in B$ , then  $U \land V \in B$ (iv)  $\forall U \in B$ , there is  $V \in B$  such that  $V + V \le U$ (v)  $\forall U \in B$ , there is  $V \in B$  such that  $V . V \le U$ (vi)  $\forall r \in R, \forall U \in B$ , there is  $V \in B$  such that a  $r. V \le U$  and  $V. r \le U$ .

## Definition [7] 1.7

 $(R, \mu)$  is fully stratified fuzzy topology on R if the fuzzy topology  $\mu$  on R contain all constant fuzzy set

# **Theorem** [5]1.8

Let  $(R, \mu)$  and  $(R, \rho)$  be two fuzzy topological spaces and let  $\mu(\rho) = \{E \in I^R : \exists U \in \rho \text{ s.t } cl_{\mu}(U) \le E\}$ . Then  $\mu(\rho)$  is a mixed fuzzy topology on R

# **Theorem 1.9[4]**

Every fuzzy subring of fuzzy topological ring is a fuzzy topological ring.

# Proposition 1.10[5]

If  $(G, \rho)$  is a fuzzy regular topological space and  $\mu$  any other topology on *E* such that  $\mu > \rho$ , then  $\mu(\rho) = \rho$ 

# 2.0 Mixed Fuzzy Topological subring

We study a fuzzy subring *E* of a bi- fuzzy topological ring (R,  $\mu$ ,  $\rho$ ), we mean the bifuzzy topological Subring (E,  $\mu_E$ ,  $\rho_E$ ), where  $\mu_E$  and  $\rho_E$  are relative fuzzy topologies on *E* induced by  $\mu$  and  $\rho$  respectively.

Let  $(R, \mu, \rho)$  be any bi-fuzzy topological ring and *E* be a fuzzy subring of *R*. Clearly, the mixed fuzzy topological on *E* can be constructed in two different methods, the first method by mixing the relative fuzzy topologies  $\mu_E$  and  $\rho_E$  on *E* and the second method by the mixed fuzzy topological  $\mu(\rho)$ , of *R* on *E*.

# **Definition 2.1**

Let *R* be any ring equipped with two fuzzy topological ring space  $\mu$  and  $\rho$ . Then the triplet  $(R, \mu, \rho)$  is defined as a bi-fuzzy topological ring space.

#### Example 2.2

Let *R* be any ring with the indiscrete fuzzy topology *I* and the discrete fuzzy topology *D*. Then, (R, I, D) is a bi- fuzzy topological ring

#### Theorem 2.3

L et  $(R, \mu, \rho)$  be any bi- fuzzy topological ring. If  $\mu < \rho$ , then

 $\mu < \mu(\rho) < \rho$ 

# Proof

Let us consider the identity map

$$i: (R,\rho) \rightarrow (G,\mu(\rho)).$$

For  $cl_{\mu}(E) \in N_{\mu(\rho)}$ ,

$$i^{-1}(cl_{\mu}(E)) = cl_{\mu}(E) \supseteq E \in \rho$$

So, *i* is fuzzy continuous and consequently,

 $\rho > \mu(\rho)$ 

For the other part, let  $N_{\mu} = \{U\}$  be a fuzzy fundamental system of  $\mu$ -fuzzy closed fuzzy nbhds of 0 in  $(R, \mu)$ . Since  $\mu < \rho$ , for each  $U \in N_{\mu}$ , there is a  $V \in N_{\rho}$  such that

 $V \subseteq U$ 

Therefore,

$$cl_{\mu}(V) \subseteq cl_{\rho}(U)$$

Thus, for each  $U \in N_{\mu}$  there exists  $Cl_{\mu}(V) \in N_{\mu(\rho)}$  such that

 $Cl_{u}(V) \subseteq U$ 

This implies that

 $\rho < \mu(\rho)$ 

Combining (1) and (2), the result follows.

# Theorem 2.4

In either of the two above cases, every fuzzy subring of mixed fuzzy topological ring is a mixed fuzzy topological ring.

# Proof

Let *E* be a fuzzy subring of a bi- fuzzy topological ring  $(R, \mu, \rho)$ . By theorem 1.9,  $\mu_E$  and  $\rho_E$  are fuzzy topological ring on *E*, then  $(E, \mu_E (\rho_E))$  where  $\mu_E(\rho_E) = \{U \in I^E : \exists V \in \rho_E \text{ s. } t \text{ cl}_{\mu_E}(V) \leq U\}$ , is fuzzy topological ring space. Also since  $(R, \mu(\rho))$  is mixed fuzzy topological ring, then  $(\mu(\rho))_E$  is a mixed fuzzy topological ring on *E* 

# Theorem 2.5

Let  $(R, \mu)$  and  $(R, \rho)$  be two fuzzy topological rings such that  $\mu < \rho$ . If  $(R, \mu)$  is fuzzy  $T_2$ -space then  $(R, \mu(\rho))$  is also  $T_2$ -space.

# Proof

Let  $(R, \mu)$  is a  $T_2$ -space. Let us consider  $r, k \in R$  and  $r \neq k$ . Then there are disjoint  $\mu$ -fuzzy open sets U, V such that

$$(U)(r) > 0$$
 and  $(V)(k) > 0$ 

Since  $\mu < \mu(\rho)$ , then U and V also  $\mu(\rho)$ -fuzzy open sets. Thus, given  $r, k \in R, r \neq k$ , we have disjoint  $\mu(\rho)$ -fuzzy open sets U, V such that

$$(U)(r) > 0$$
 and  $(V)(k) > 0$ 

. So  $(R, \mu(\rho))$  is a  $T_2$ -space.

# Theorem 2.6

Let *E* be a fuzzy subring of a bi- fuzzy topological ring (*R*,  $\mu$ ,  $\rho$ );

- (1) If *E* be  $\mu$  fuzzy closed, then  $(\mu(\rho))_E \le \mu_E(\rho_E)$
- (2) If  $(R, \rho)$  be fuzzy Hausdorff and  $\mu > \rho$ , then  $\mu(\rho)_E = \mu_E(\rho_E)$

# Proof

(1) Let  $U \in \{V_{(\mu(\rho))_E}(0)\}$  be an element of fuzzy open nbhds of 0 in  $(E, (\mu(\rho))_E)$ , then there exists  $V \in \{V_\rho(0)\}$  with V(0) > 0 s.t  $cl_\mu(V) \wedge E = U$ . Since *E* is  $\mu$ -fuzzy closed,

$$cl_{\mu_E}(V \wedge E) = cl_{\mu}(V \wedge E) \wedge E$$
$$\leq cl_{\mu}(V) \wedge cl_{\mu}(E) \wedge E = cl_{\mu}(V) \wedge E = U$$

Also

 $(V \wedge E)(0) = \min\{V(0), E(0)\} > 0$ , implies  $cl_{\mu_E}(V \wedge E)(0) > 0$ 

This obtain that there existed a fuzzy element of the fuzzy open nbhd of 0 for the mixed fuzzy topological  $\mu_E(\rho_E)$  on *E* contained in every element of the fuzzy open nbhds of 0 for the mixed fuzzy topological  $(\mu(\rho))_E$  on *E* Thus

$$(\mu(\rho))_E \le \mu_E(\rho_E)$$

(2) By Proposition 1.10, we have  $\rho = \mu(\rho)$  on *R*. So,

$$\rho_E = (\mu(\rho))_E, \text{ on } E$$
(i)

Clearly,  $(E, \rho_E)$  is Hausdorff and  $\mu_E > \rho_E$  on *E* since  $\mu > \rho$  on *R*. By proposition 1.10,  $\rho_E = \mu_E(\rho_E)$  on *E* (*ii*) from (i) and (ii), the result follows. Hence the theorem

# Theorem 2.7

Let *E* be a fuzzy subring of a bi- fuzzy topological ring (*R*, μ, ρ) such that μ < ρ and (*R*, μ) is fuzzy Hausdorff; then
(a) (*E*, μ<sub>E</sub>(ρ<sub>E</sub>)) is fuzzy Hausdorff
(b) (*E*, μ(ρ)<sub>E</sub>) is fuzzy compact if (*R*, ρ) is fuzzy compact.

# Proof

# **(a)**

 $(R,\mu)$  is fuzzy Hausdorff and  $\mu < \rho$ , then  $\mu < \mu(\rho) < \rho$ , and by theorem 2.5, $(R,\mu(\rho))$  is also fuzzy Hausdorff. Then,  $(E,\mu(\rho)_E)$  is fuzzy Hausdorff and hence by Theorem 2.6,  $(E,\mu_E(\rho_E))$  is also fuzzy Hausdorff.

# **(b)**

By hypothesis  $\mu < \rho$ , then  $\mu < \mu(\rho) < \rho$  on *R*, and  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy compact then  $(R, \mu(\rho))$  and  $(R, \mu)$  are fuzzy compact.

Also  $(R, \mu)$  being fuzzy Hausdorff,  $(R, \mu(\rho))$  is also fuzzy Hausdorff [by theorem 2.5]. Then  $(E, \mu(\rho)_E)$  is fuzzy compact

# Theorem 2.8

Let *E* be a fuzzy subring of a bi-FZT ring  $(R, \mu, \rho)$  such that  $\mu > \rho$  and  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy Hausdorff, then

(a)  $(E, \mu_E(\rho_E))$  is fuzzy Hausdorff,

(b)  $(E, \mu_E(\rho_E))$  is fuzzy compact if  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy compact and E is  $\rho$ -fuzzy closed,

(c)  $(E, \mu_E(\rho_E))$  is fuzzy locally compact if  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy locally compact and *E* is  $\rho$ -fuzzy closed,

#### Proof

Since  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy Hausdorff and  $\mu > \rho$ , therefore by Prop 1.10,

 $\rho = \mu(\rho)$  i.e  $\mu(\rho)$  is fuzzy Hausdorff, fuzzy compact implies  $\mu(\rho)_E$  is fuzzy Hausdorff, fuzzy compact. Also by Theorem 2.6

$$\mu(\rho)_E = \mu_E(\rho_E)$$
 on  $E$ 

Then we get the results

# 3. Mixed Fuzzy Quotient Topological Ring

This section deals the fuzzy quotient topology corresponding to the mixed fuzzy topological  $\mu(\rho)$  on *R* is the same as the mixed fuzzy topological of the two fuzzy quotient topologies corresponding to  $\mu$  and  $\rho$  on *R*.

# Theorem 3.1

Let  $(R, \mu, \rho)$  be any bi- fuzzy topological ring with  $\mu(\rho)$  as the mixed fuzzy topological on *R*. For any subring *E* of *R*, let  $\mu/E, \rho/E$ , and  $\mu(\rho)/E$  be the fuzzy quotient topologies on *R/E* derived from the fuzzy topological ring $(R, \mu)$ ,  $(R, \rho)$  and  $(R, \mu(\rho))$  respectively. Then

$$\mu/E(\rho/E) = \mu(\rho)/E$$

#### Proof

Clearly,  $\mu(\rho)/E$  is the finest fuzzy topological ring on R/E such that the map  $f:(R,\mu(\rho)) \to (R/E,\mu(\rho)/E)$ , is fuzzy continuous. Assume

$$l\colon (R,\mu(\rho))\to (R/E,\mu/E(\rho/E))$$

If *U* be a fuzzy element of  $\mu/E(\rho/E)$ )-fuzzy nbhds of the 0 + E of R/E, then there exists a  $\rho/E$  – fuzzy open nbhd. *V* of 0 + E of R/E s.t

$$U \ge c l_{\mu/E} (V)$$

Now,

 $l^{-1}(U) \ge l^{-1}(cl_{\mu/E}(V)) = l^{-1}[\Lambda(V+H)]$ 

where {*H*} be a fuzzy fundamental  $\mu/E$  –fuzzy nbhds system of 0 + *E* 

$$= \Lambda (l^{-1}(V+H)) = c l_{\mu(\rho)}(V)$$

Thus,  $l: (R, \mu(\rho)) \to (R/E, \mu/E(\rho/E))$  is fuzzy continuous. Since  $\mu(\rho)/E$  is the finest fuzzy topological ring on R/E for which l is fuzzy continuous,

$$\mu(\rho)/E \ge \mu/E(\rho/E)$$

For the converse, let us consider the identity map

$$i: (R/E.\mu/E(\rho/E)) \rightarrow (R/E.\mu(\rho)/E)$$

Let *U* be a fuzzy element of the  $\mu(\rho)/E$ )-fuzzy nbhds of the 0 + E of R/E, then there exists a  $\mu(\rho)$  – fuzzy open nbhd *V* of 0 s.t

$$U \ge cl_u(V) + E = \Lambda(V+H) + E$$

where {*H*}be a fuzzy fundamental  $\mu$  –fuzzy nbhds system of 0

$$= \Lambda(V+E) + (H+E) = cl_{\mu/E}(V+E) \in \mu/E(\rho/E)$$

since

$$i^{-1}(U) = U$$

and hence *i* is fuzzy cont. which means that

$$\mu(\rho)/E \ge \mu/E(\rho/E)$$

Thus

$$\mu/E(\rho/E) = \mu(\rho)/E$$

### Theorem 3.2

Let  $(R, \mu, \rho)$  be a bi- fuzzy topological ring with  $\mu < \rho$  and *E* an  $\mu$ - fuzzy closed subring of *R*. Then  $(R/E, \mu/E(\rho/E))$  is compact if  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy compact.

# Proof

Since  $\mu < \rho$ , we have by Theorem 2.3,

$$\mu < \mu(\rho) < \rho$$

Let *R* be  $\rho$ -fuzzy compact topological ring. In view of the above ordering of the fuzzy topologies  $\mu$ ,  $\mu(\rho)$  and  $\rho$ , it follows that *R* is also  $\mu(\rho)$ -fuzzy compact, Hence by Theorem 3.1,  $(R/E, \mu/E(\rho/E))$  is compact.

#### Theorem 3.3

Let  $(R, \mu, \rho)$  be a bi- fuzzy topological ring such that  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy Hausdorff and  $\mu > \rho$ . Also, let *E* be a  $\rho$ - fuzzy closed subring of *R*. Then  $(R/E, \mu/E(\rho/E))$  is fuzzy compact (fuzzy locally compact) if  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy compact (fuzzy locally compact),

### Proof

Since  $\mu > \rho$  then  $\mu(\rho) = \rho$  and *E* is  $\mu(\rho)$  fuzzy closed. Now we note that  $(R, \mu(\rho))$  is fuzzy compact (fuzzy locally compact) whenever  $(R, \rho)$  is fuzzy compact (fuzzy locally compact) and by virtue of Theorem3.1, the result follows immediately.

#### Theorem 3.4

Let *I* be any index set and  $\{(R_i, \mu_i, \rho_i) : i \in J\}$  be a family of bi- fuzzy topological rings. Then

$$\prod_{i\in I}\mu_i(\rho_i) = \prod_{i\in I}\mu_i(\prod_{i\in I}\rho_i)$$

On the product ring  $R = \prod_{i \in I} R_i$ .

# Proof

Let *U* be fuzzy open nbhds system of the  $0 = (0_1, 0_2, ..., 0_n)$  of  $\prod_{i \in I} R_i$  relative to the fuzzy topology  $\prod_{i \in I} \mu_i (\rho_i)$  so that if  $V_i$  is the fuzzy open nbhds system of the identity  $0_i$  of  $R_i$ . Then

$$U = \prod_{i \in I} cl_{\mu_i}(V_i)$$

We know that

$$\prod_{i\in I} cl_{\mu_i}(V_i) = cl_{\mu_i}(\prod_{i\in I} V)$$

Hence U is a fuzzy nbhd of  $0 = 0_i$ ,  $i \in I$  relative to the mixed fuzzy topology

$$\prod_{i\in I}\mu_i\left(\prod_{i\in I}\rho_i\right)$$

Thus, every fuzzy nbhd of  $0 = 0_i$ ,  $i \in I$  In the fuzzy topology  $\prod_{i \in I} \mu_i(\rho_i)$  is also a fuzzy nbhd of  $0 = 0_i$ ,  $i \in I$  in the fuzzy topology  $\prod_{i \in I} \mu_i(\prod_{i \in I} \rho_i)$  and vice versa. Hence follows the result.

#### **Theorem 3.5**

Let I be any index set and  $\{(R_i, \mu_i, \rho_i) : i \in I\}$  be a bi- fuzzy topological ring for each  $i \in I$ . If for each  $i \in I$ ,  $\mu_i < \rho_i$  then

$$\prod_{i\in I} \mu_i < \prod_{i\in I} \mu_i \left(\prod_{i\in I} \rho_i\right) < \prod_{i\in I} \rho_i$$

On the product ring  $R = \prod_{i \in I} R_i$ .

Proof

It is sufficient to prove that

$$\prod_{i\in I}\mu_i < \prod_{i\in I}\rho_i$$

Because in that case the required result would follow immediately by Theorem 2.3 For each  $i \in I$ ,  $(R_i, \mu_i, \rho_i)$  is a bi-FZT ring with  $\mu_i < \rho_i$ . Therefore, there are fundamental systems  $\{U_i\}$  and  $\{V_i\}$  of fuzzy nbhds of  $0_i \in R_i$  in the fuzzy topologies  $\mu_i$  and  $\rho_i$  respectively such that for each  $U_i \in \{U_i\}$  there is a  $V_i \in \{V_i\}$  with

$$0_i \in V_i \subset U_i$$

Thus,

$$0 = (0_i)_{i \in I} \in \prod_{i \in I} V_i \subset \prod_{i \in I} U_i$$

In particular,

$$0 = (0_i)_{i \in I} \in \prod_{i \in I} V_i \subset \prod_{i \in I} U_i$$

for  $i = i_m$ , m = 1, 2, ..., n (n finite) and for  $i \neq i_m$ 

$$R_i = V_i = U_i \tag{1}$$

But  $\prod_{i \in I} V_i$  and  $\prod_{i \in I} U_i$  in (1) above, form the fundamental systems of fuzzy nbhds of  $0 = (0_i)_{i \in I} \in \prod_{i \in I} R_i$  in the product fuzzy topological  $\prod_{i \in I} \mu_i$  and  $\prod_{i \in I} \rho_i$  respectively. Hence,

$$\prod_{i\in I}\mu_i < \prod_{i\in I}\rho_i$$

from which follows the required result.

#### References

- Ahsanullah T. M. G., On Fuzzy Neighborhood Ring, Fuzzy Set and Systems 34(1990) 255-262 North Holland
- [2] Chang, C. L : Fuzzy topological spaces. Math. Anal. Appl.,24(1968),182-190.
- [3] Deb Ray, A and Chettri, P: On Fuzzy Topological Ring Valued Fuzzy Continuous Functions "Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 3, 2009, no. 24, 1177 – 1188
- [4] Deb Ray, A : On (left) fuzzy topological ring. Int. Math. vol. 6 (2011), no. 25 28, 1303 – 1312.
- [5] Das, N.E. and Baishya, P.C. : Mixed fuzzy topological spaces; Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics, Vol.3, No. 4, (1995), 777-784.
- [6] R. Lowen, Fuzzy topological spaces and fuzzy compactness, J. Math.

Anal. Appl, 56(1976) 621-633

- [7] Lowen R., Convergence in a fuzzy topological space, Gen. Topology Appl. 10 (1979)147-160
- [8] Lowen R., Fuzzy neighborhood spaces, J. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 7(1982), 165-189
- [9] Munir A. and Basim M. Melgat, Fuzzy Topological Rings Induced by Fuzzy Pseudo Normed Ring Jour of Adv Research in Dynamical & Control Systems, Vol. 11, 07-Special Issue, 2019
- [10] Munir A. and Basim M. Melgat, On Fuzzy Compactification in Fuzzy Topological Ring, Journal of Computer and Engineering Technology Vol.6(1) 2019
- [11] Munir A. and Basim M. Melgat, Fuzzy Neighborhood Systems in Fuzzy Topological Ring, Journal of Al-Qadisiyah for Computer Science and Mathematics Vol.11(4) 2019
- [12] Munir A. and Basim M. Melgat, Some Result of Fuzzy Separation Axiom in Fuzzy Topological Ring, MJPS, VOL.(6), NO.(2), 2019
- [13] Munir A. and Basim M. Melgat, On Mixed Fuzzy Topological Ring, Accepted for publication in Journal of Al-Qadisiyah for Computer Science and Mathematics Vol.12(1) 2020
- [14] Zadeh, L.A : Fuzzy Sets, Information and Control,8(1965), 338-353.

# The irreducible modular projective characters of the symmetric groups $S_{21}$ modulo p = 19

#### Jenan Abd Alreda Resen

Jenanabdalreda8@gmail.com

#### Jenan.resean@uobasrah.edu.iq

**Enas Wahab Abood** 

#### enaswahab223@gmail.com

enas.abood@uobasrah.edu.iq

Jehan Mohammed Khudhir Al-Ameri

jehankhudhir@yahoo.com

jehan.khudhir@uobasrah.edu.iq

#### Department of Mathematics, College of Sciences, University of Basrah, Iraq

Abstract In this paper we invention all irreducible modular spin(projective) characters

of the symmetric group  $S_n$ , when n = 12 and the characteristic of the field =19.

**Key words** spin(projective) characters, modular characters, decomposition matrix, AMS 2010,15C15,15C20,15C25.

#### **1-Introduction**

The decomposition matrix for the projective characters is appear the link between the irreducible projective characters and irreducible modular projective characters[1], then when we find this matrix as amounting to find all irreducible modular projective characters. Characters is known modular or ordinary when the characteristic of the field is prime or zero[2]. Every finite group has covering group[3], then  $S_n$  has like this group. The characters of the covering group which are identical the characters of  $S_n$  are called modular or ordinary characters of  $S_n$ , the rest characters are called projective(spin) of  $S_n$  [4]. Finding the decomposition matrix for the projective characters will become more difficult when n increasing and there is no general method to find this matrix[4]. Many Mathematicians work in this field like Adul Kareem A.Yaseen, Saeed Abdul-Ameer Taban ,Ahmed Hussein Jassim and Marwa Mohammed Jawad [5],[6],[7],[8]. In this paper decomposition matrices  $S_{21}$  modulo p = 19 have been calculated by using  $(r, \bar{r})$ -inducing method, we induce the principal indecomposable characters(P.i.s) of  $S_{20}$  (see creek\*) to have (P.i.s) or principal characters (P.s) of  $S_{21}$ .

#### 2-Rudiments

1-The spin characters of  $S_n$  can be written as a linear combination, with non-negative integer coefficients, of the irreducible spin characters[8].

2- Projective characters  $\langle \gamma \rangle = \langle \gamma_1, ..., \gamma_l \rangle$  have degree which is equal  $2^{\left[\frac{o-l}{2}\right]} \frac{o!}{\prod_{i=1}^{l}(\gamma_i!)} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le l} \frac{(\gamma_i - \gamma_j)}{(\gamma_i + \gamma_j)}$  [9].

3-The values of associate characters  $\langle \gamma \rangle$ ,  $\langle \gamma \rangle'$  are same on the class except on the class corresponding to  $\gamma$  they have values  $\pm i \frac{o-l+1}{2} \sqrt{\left(\frac{\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_l}{2}\right)}$  [9].

4-The inducing from group or restriction from the subgroup of the projective characters are also projective characters [1].

5-If *o* is odd and  $p \nmid (o-1)$ , then  $\langle o-1,1 \rangle$  and  $\langle o-1,1 \rangle'$  are distinct I.m.s of grade  $2^{\left[\frac{(o-3)}{2}\right]} \times (o-2)$  which are denoted by  $\rho \langle o-1,1 \rangle$  and  $\rho \langle o-1,1 \rangle'$  [9].

6- Let p be an odd prime and let  $\sigma, \gamma$  be a bar partition of o which are not p-bar core. Then  $\langle \sigma \rangle$  (and  $\langle \sigma \rangle'$  if  $\sigma$  is odd) and  $\langle \gamma \rangle$  (and  $\langle \gamma \rangle'$  if  $\gamma$  is odd) are in the same p-block  $\leftrightarrow \langle \overline{\sigma} \rangle = \langle \overline{\gamma} \rangle$ . If  $\alpha$  be a bar partition of o and  $\langle \sigma \rangle = \langle \overline{\sigma} \rangle$ , then  $\langle \sigma \rangle$  (and  $\langle \sigma \rangle'$  if  $\sigma$  is odd) forms a p-block of defect 0 [4].

7- Let p be an odd prime and  $\gamma = (\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_l)$  be a bar partition of o, then all I.m.s in the block B are double(associate), if  $(o - l - m_0)$  is even(odd), where  $m_0$  the number of parts of  $\gamma$  divisible by p [4].

8- If *o* is even and  $p \nmid (o)$ , then  $\langle o \rangle$  and  $\langle o \rangle'$  are distinct I.m.s of grade  $2^{\left[\frac{(o-1)}{2}\right]}$  which are denoted by  $\gamma \langle o \rangle$  and  $\gamma \langle o \rangle'$  [9].

#### 3-The spin block of $S_{21}$

The matrix required of the projective(spin) characters of  $S_{21}$ , p = 19 has 115 irreducible spin characters and 113 (19,  $\alpha$ )-regular classes [10].

From preliminaries (6) , there are 105 blocks of  $S_{21}$ , p = 19, theses blocks are  $M_2$ , ...,  $M_{104}$  of defect zero except the block  $M_1$  of defect one.

The blocks of defect zero  $M_2, ..., M_{104}$  includes  $(20,1), (20,1)', (18,3), (18,3)', (17,4), (17,4)', (17,3,1)^*, (16,5), (16,5)', (16,4,1)^*,$ 

(15,6), (15,6)', (15,5,1)\*, (15,3,2,1), (15,3,2,1)', (14,7), (14,7)', (14,6,1)\*, (14,4,3)\*,

(14,4,2,1), (14,4,2,1)', (13,8), (13,8)', (13,7,1)\*, (13,6,2)\*, (13,5,3)\*, (13,5,2,1), (13,5,2,1)',

(13,4,3,1), (13,4,3,1)', (12,9), (12,9)', (12,8,1)\*, (12,6,3)\*, (12,6,2,1), (12,6,2,1)', (12,5,4)\*,

(12,5,3,1), (12,5,3,1)', (12,4,3,2), (12,4,3,2)', (11,10), (11,10)', (11,9,1)\*, (11,7,3)\*,

 $(11,7,2,1), (11,7,2,1)', (11,6,4)^*, (11,6,3,1), (11,6,3,1)', (11,5,4,1), (11,5,4,1)', (11,5,3,2), (11,5,3,2)', (11,5,2)',$ 

(11,4,3,2,1)\*, (10,9,2)\*, (10,8,3)\*, (10,8,2,1), (10,8,2,1)', (10,7,4)\*, (10,7,3,1), (10,7,3,1)',

(10,6,5)\*, (10,6,4,1), (10,6,4,1)', (10,6,3,2), (10,6,3,2)', (10,5,4,2), (10,5,4,2)', (10,5,3,2,1)\*,

*(*9,8,4*)*\*, *(*9,8,3,1*)*, *(*9,8,3,1*)*', *(*9,7,5*)*\*, *(*9,7,4,1*)*, *(*9,7,4,1*)*', *(*9,7,3,2*)*, *(*9,7,3,2*)*',

(9,6,5,1), (9,6,5,1)', (9,6,4,2), (9,6,4,2)', (9,6,3,2,1)\*, (9,5,4,3), (9,5,4,3)', (9,5,4,2,1)\*, (8,7,6)\*,

(8,7,5,1), (8,7,5,1)', (8,7,4,2), (8,7,4,2)', (8,7,3,2,1)\*, (8,6,5,2), (8,6,5,2)', (8,6,4,3), (8,6,4,3)',

 $(8,6,4,2,1)^*, (8,5,4,3,1)^*, (7,6,5,3), (7,6,5,3)', (7,6,5,2,1)^*, (7,6,4,3,1), (7,6,4,3,1)', (7,5,4,3,2)^*, (7,6,4,3,1), (7,6,4,3,1)', (7,6,4,1)', (7,6,4,1)', (7,6,4,1)', (7,6,4,1)$ 

(6,5,4,3,2,1), (6,5,4,3,2,1)'.respectively, these characters are irreducible modular spin character (preliminaries 6). The principle block  $M_1$  contains the remaining projective characters.

# 4-The decomposition matrix for the block $M_1$ of defect one

From preliminaries (7,3) all I.m.s. for the block  $B_1$  are double and  $\langle \alpha \rangle = \langle \alpha \rangle'$  on (19,  $\alpha$ )-regular classes respectively.

#### **Theorem(4.1):**

The matrix required of the projective( spin) characters of  $S_{21}$  is

$$H_{19,19} = H_{21,19}^{(1)} \oplus \dots \oplus H_{21,19}^{(104)}$$

#### **Proof:**

Through technique and the method  $(r, \bar{r})$ -inducing of P.i.s. of  $S_{20}, p = 19$  (see creek \*) to  $S_{21}$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} &z_1 \uparrow^{(1,0)} S_{20} = y_1, \ z_3 \uparrow^{(1,0)} S_{20} = y_2, \ z_5 \uparrow^{(17,3)} S_{20} = y_3 \ , \\ &z_7 \uparrow^{(16,4)} S_{20} = y_4 \ , \ z_9 \uparrow^{(1,0)} S_{20} = y_5 \ , \ z_{11} \uparrow^{(1,0)} S_{20} = y_6 \ , \\ &z_{13} \uparrow^{(1,0)} S_{20} = y_7 \ , \ z_{15} \uparrow^{(1,0)} S_{20} = y_8 \ , \ z_{17} \uparrow^{(1,0)} S_{20} = y_9 \ . \end{aligned}$$

So, the matrix required for this block is as given in creek(1).

The grade of	The projective					$H^{1}_{21,19}$				
the projective	characters									
characters										
1024	(21)*	1								
193536	(19,2)	1	1							
193536	(19,2)'	1	1							
487424	(18,2,1)*		1	1						
62899200	(16,3,2)*			1	1					
253338624	(15,4,2)*				1	1				
684343296	(14,5,2)*					1	1			
1316044800	(13,6,2)*						1	1		
1809561600	(12,7,2)*							1	1	
1663334400	(11,8,2)*								1	1
684343296	(10,9,2)*									1
		$y_1$	$y_2$	<i>y</i> <sub>3</sub>	$y_4$	$y_5$	$y_6$	$y_7$	$y_8$	<i>y</i> <sub>9</sub>

#### Creek(1)

The	The										$D^{1}_{20,1}$	9							
grade of	projective																		
the	characters																		
projective																			
character																			
512	(20)	1																	
512	(2.0)/																	ļ	
512	(20)'		1																
9216	(19,1)*	1	1	1	1														
204800	(17,2,1)			1		1													
204800	(17,2,1)'				1		1												
1497600	(16,3,1)					1		1											
1497600	(16,3,1)'						1		1										
6031872	(15,4,1)							1		1									
6031872	(15,4,1)′								1		1								
16293888	(14,5,1)									1		1							
16293888	(14,5,1)'										1		1						
31334400	(13,6,1)											1		1					
31334400	(13,6,1)′												1		1				
43084800	(12,7,1)													1		1			
43084800	(12,7,1)'														1		1		
39603200	(11,8,1)															1		1	
39603200	(11,8,1)′																1		1
16293888	(10,9,1)																	1	
16293888	(10,9,1)'																		1
		z <sub>1</sub>	z <sub>2</sub>	z <sub>3</sub>	z <sub>4</sub>	Z <sub>5</sub>	z <sub>6</sub>	<b>Z</b> 7	z <sub>8</sub>	Z9	z <sub>10</sub>	z <sub>11</sub>	z <sub>12</sub>	z <sub>13</sub>	z <sub>14</sub>	z <sub>15</sub>	z <sub>16</sub>	Z <sub>17</sub>	z <sub>18</sub>

# **Future work**

We can find the irreducible modular projective characters or indecomposable principal characters for the symmetric group  $S_{21}$  modulo p = 19.

#### Reference

[1] G.D.James and A.Kerber : The representation theory of the symmetric group, Reading, Mass, Aaddiso-Wesley, (1981).

[2] B.M.Puttas and J.D.Dixon , modular representation of finite groups, Academic press, (1977)

[3] A.O.Morris, The spin representation of the symmetric group, Proc. London Math. Soc.12 (1962) 55-76.

[4] C.Bessenrodt, A.O.Morris, J.B.Olsson, Decomposition matrices for spin characters of symmetric groups at characteristic 3 ,j. Algebra 164 (1994) 146-172.

[5] Abdul Kareem A.Yaseen ,The Brauer trees of the symmetric group  $S_{21}$  modulo p = 13 Basrah Journal of Science Vol. 37 (1),126-140.2019.

[6] Saeed Abdul-A meer Taban and Ahmed Hussein Jassim, irreducible modular spin characters of the symmetric group  $S_{19}$  modulo p = 11 Basrah Journal of Science(A)Vol. 31(3),59-74,2013.

[7] Saeed Abdul-A meer Taban and Marwa Mohammed Jawad,13-Brauer trees for spin characters of  $S_n$ ,  $13 \le n \le 20$  modulo p = 13 Basrah Journal of Science(A) Vol. 35 (1),106-112.2017.

[8] M.Issacs, Character theory of finit groups, Academic press, (1976).

[9] A.O.Morris and A.K.Yassen :Decomposition matrices for spin characters of symmetric group, proc. Of Royal society of Edinburgh, 108 A, (1988), 145-164.

[10] C.W.Curtis, I.Reiner, Representation theory of finite groups and associative algebras, Sec.printing(1966).

# Numerical Solutions of Boundary Value Problems by using A new Cubic B-spline Method

Bushra A. Taha & Renna D. Abdul-Wahhab

University of Basrah / College of Science/ Dept. of Mathematics

# **Abstract**

In this study, cubic B-spline method is used with a new approximation of the second derivative to find a numerical solution for boundary value problems of the second order. An error analysis was performed for the method and the accuracy of the method was tested via four numerical examples and the results were compared with the exact solution and cubic B-spline method.

Keywords: boundary value problems, error analysis, cubic B-spline, exact solution.

# **1. Introduction**

Splines, especially B-splines, play an important role in the areas of mathematics and engineering today [2],[17]. Splines are popular in computer graphics because of their finesse, flexibility and accuracy. Historically, Isaac Jacob Schoenberg discovered splines in 1946 [6-10], his work motivated other scientists such as Carl de Boor. In the early seventies de Boor [3], [4], [5] discovered a recursive definition for splines. Birkhoff and de Boor (1964) [1] investigated the error bound and convergence of of spline interpolation. Manguia and Bhatta (2015) [18] used cubic B-spline(CBS) functions for solution of second order boundary value problems(BVPs). Reza and Akram [23], applied of cubic B-splines collocation method for solving nonlinear inverse parabolic partial differential equations. Suardi et. al. [26] used the cubic B-spline solution of two-point boundary value problem using HSKSOR

iteration and they presented solutions of two-point boundary value problems by using quarter-sweep SOR iteration with cubic B-Spline scheme[27].

In this study, approximate solutions was found to problems of second order linear arrangement using B-cubes with a new approximation of the second derivative. Lang and X. Xu[16], introduced a new cubic B-spline method for approximating the solution of a class of nonlinear second-order boundary value problem with two dependent variables. His work was a motivation to other mathematicians such Tassaddiq and others [28] to used his method for solve non-linear differential equations arising in visco-elastic flows and hydrodynamic stability problems.

The presented scheme is based on new approximations for the second order derivatives. The approximation for second order derivative is calculated using appropriate linear combinations to approximate the typical B-spline y''(x) at neighbouring values. In the past two decades, several numerical techniques have been used to explore the numerical solution of linear BVP but as far as we know, this new approximation has not been used for this purpose before for solving BVPs. This work is presented as follows. Section 2 is explanation about the cubic B-splines schemes. We presented the new approximation for y''(x) in Section 3.In Section 4, we descripted of the numerical method for new cubic B-spline. The error analysis of the method is described in Section 5. Section 6 tests numerical experiments to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed method, and this article ends with a conclusion in Section 7.

# 2. Derivation of the Cubic B-spline Schemes

Let *n* be a positive integer and  $a = x_0 < x_1 < L < x_n = b$  be a uniform partition of [a,b],  $x_i = x_0 + ih, i \in \phi$  and  $h = \frac{b-a}{n}$ . The typical third degree B-spline basis functions are defined: [11-14], [24-26]

$$B_{i}(x) = \frac{1}{6h^{3}} \begin{cases} (x - x_{i-2})^{3} & \text{if } x \in [x_{i-2}, x_{i-1}] \\ -3(x - x_{i-1})^{3} + 3h(x - x_{i-1})^{2} + 3h^{2}(x - x_{i-1}) + h^{3} & \text{if } x \in [x_{i-1}, x_{i}] \\ -3(x_{i+1} - x)^{3} + 3h(x_{i+1} - x)^{2} + 3h^{2}(x_{i+1} - x) + h^{3} & \text{if } x \in [x_{i}, x_{i+1}] \\ (1) \\ (x_{i+2} - x)^{3} & \text{if } x \in [x_{i+1}, x_{i+2}] \\ 0 & \text{if } otherwise \end{cases}$$

Where i = -1, 2, L, n+1. For a sufficiently smooth function y(x) there always exists a unique third degree spline Y(x),

$$Y(x) = \sum_{i=-1}^{n+1} c_i B_i(x)$$

(2)

which satisfies the prescribed interpolating conditions

$$Y'(a) = y'(a)$$
 and  $Y'(b) = y'(b)$ ,  $i = 0, 1, ..., n$  for all  $Y(x_i) = y(x_i)$ ,

Where  $c_i$ 's are finite constants yet to be determined.

For simplicity, we express the CBS approximations, Y(x), Y'(x) and Y''(x) by  $Y_j, t_j$  and  $T_j$ , respectively. The cubic B-spline basis function (1) together with (2) and by using Table (1) gives the following relations,

$$Y_{j} = \sum_{i=j-1}^{j+1} c_{i}B_{i}(x) = \frac{1}{6} (c_{j-1} + 4c_{j} + c_{j+1}), \qquad (3)$$

$$t_{j} = \sum_{i=j-1}^{j+1} c_{i}B_{i}'(x) = \frac{1}{2h} (-c_{j-1} + c_{j+1}), \qquad (4)$$

$$T_{j} = \sum_{i=j-1}^{j+1} c_{i}B_{i}''(x) = \frac{1}{h^{2}} (c_{j-1} - 2c_{j} + c_{j+1}). \qquad (5)$$

Moreover, from (3)-(5) relationships can be created.[7]

$$t_{j} = y'(x_{j}) - \frac{1}{180} h^{4} y^{(5)}(x_{j}) + L ,$$
(6)  

$$T_{j} = y''(x_{j}) - \frac{1}{12} h^{2} y^{(4)}(x_{j}) + \frac{1}{360} h^{4} y^{(6)}(x_{j}) + L .$$
(7)  
, we have. and (7) From (6)

 $||T_j - y''(x_j)||_{\infty} = O(h^2)$ . and  $||t_j - y'(x_j)||_{\infty} = O(h^4)$ 

This gives enough motivation to craft a better approximation to, the y''(x).

**Table 1**: Coefficients of cubic B-spline and its derivative at nodes  $x_i$ .

	$X_{i-1}$	X <sub>i</sub>	$X_{i+1}$	Else
$B_i(x)$	$\frac{1}{6}$	$\frac{2}{3}$	$\frac{1}{6}$	0
$B_i^{(1)}(x)$	$-\frac{1}{2h}$	0	$\frac{1}{2h}$	0
$B_i^{(2)}(x)$	$\frac{1}{h^2}$	$-\frac{2}{h^2}$	$\frac{1}{h^2}$	0

# **3. The New Approximation for** y''(x)

In order to formulate a new approximation to y''(x), we use (7), to establish the following expression for  $(T_{j-1})$ , in knots,  $x_j$ , j = 1, 2, 3, L, n-1, [15-16]

$$T_{j-1} = y''(x_{j-1}) - \frac{1}{12}h^2 y^{(4)}(x_{j-1}) + \frac{1}{360}h^4 y^{(6)}(x_{j-1}) + L ,$$
  
$$= y''(x_j) - h y^{(3)}(x_j) + \frac{5}{12}h^2 y^{(4)}(x_j) - \frac{1}{12}h^3 y^{(5)}(x_j) + L$$

•

Similarly,

(8)

$$T_{j+1} = y''(x_j) + h y^{(3)}(x_j) + \frac{5}{12}h^2 y^{(4)}(x_j) + \frac{1}{12}h^3 y^{(5)}(x_j) + L ,$$

be a new approximation to  $y''(x_j)$  such that,  $T_j$  let

$$T_{j}^{0} = B_{1}T_{j} + B_{2}T_{j-1} + B_{3}T_{j+1}.$$

Choosing three parameters  $B_1, B_2$  and  $B_3$  so that the error order of  $T_j^{\%}$  is as high as possible, we obtain

$$B_1 + B_2 + B_3 = 1$$
,

$$-B_2 + B_3 = 0$$

$$-B_1 + 5B_2 + 5B_3 = 0.$$

Hence  $B_1 = \frac{5}{6}$ , and  $B_2 = B_3 = \frac{1}{12}$ .

The expression (8) takes the following form,

$$\hat{T}_{j}^{0} = B_{1}T_{j} + B_{2}T_{j-1} + B_{3}T_{j+1} = \frac{1}{12h^{2}} (c_{j-2} + 8c_{j-1} - 18c_{j} + 8c_{j+1} + c_{j+2}).$$
(9)

Now we approximate y''(x) at the knot  $x_0$  using four neighboring values, such that.

$$\hat{T}_0^0 = B_0 T_0 + B_1 T_1 + B_2 T_2 + B_3 T_3 ,$$
(10)

where.

$$T_{1} = y''(x_{0}) + h y^{(3)}(x_{0}) + \frac{5}{12}h^{2}y^{(4)}(x_{0}) + \frac{1}{12}h^{3}y^{(5)}(x_{0}) + L ,$$
  

$$T_{2} = y''(x_{0}) + 2h y^{(3)}(x_{0}) + \frac{23}{12}h^{2}y^{(4)} + \frac{7}{6}h^{3}y^{(5)}(x_{0}) + L ,$$
  

$$T_{3} = y''(x_{0}) + 3h y^{(3)}(x_{0}) + \frac{53}{12}h^{2}y^{(4)}(x_{0}) + \frac{17}{4}h^{3}y^{(5)}(x_{0}) + L$$

The expression (9) yields the following four equations,

$$B_0 + B_1 + B_2 + B_3 = 1,$$
  
 $B_1 + 2B_2 + 3B_3 = 0,$   
 $-B_0 + 5B_1 + 23B_2 + 53B_3 = 0,$   
 $B_1 + 14B_2 + 51B_3 = 0.$ 

Hence  $B_0 = \frac{7}{6}$ ,  $B_1 = -\frac{5}{12}$ ,  $B_2 = \frac{1}{3}$  and  $B_3 = -\frac{1}{12}$ .

Using these values in (10), we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{0} = \frac{1}{12h^{2}} (14c_{-1} - 33c_{0} + 28c_{1} - 14c_{2} + 6c_{3} - c_{4}).$$
(11)

the same style, rounding is presented at node  $x_n$  by working in When

(12) 
$$T_{n}^{\prime 0} = \frac{1}{12h^{2}} \left( -c_{n-4} + 6c_{n-3} - 14c_{n-2} + 28c_{n-1} - 33c_{n} + 14c_{n+1} \right),$$

# 4. Description of the Numerical Method.

In this section, consider the boundary value problems,

$$p(x)y''(x) + q(x)y'(x) + r(x)y(x) = f(x)$$

(13)

with boundary conditions

$$y(a) = \alpha, y(b) = \beta.$$

Where  $p(x) \neq 0, q(x), r(x)$  and f(x) are continuous real-valued functions on the interval [a,b].

Let Y(x) be the cubic B-spline solution to (14) satisfying the interpolating conditions such that

$$Y(x) = \sum_{i=-1}^{n+1} c_i B_i(x).$$

(15)

Discretize Eq.(14) in knots  $x_j$ , j = 1, 2, L, n-1, we get,

$$p(x_{j})Y_{k+1}''(x_{j}) + q(x_{j})Y_{k+1}'(x_{j}) + r(x_{j})Y_{k+1}(x_{j}) = f(x_{j}).$$
(16)

Using Eqs.(3)-(4) and (9) in Eq.(16) ,we have

$$p(x_{j})\left(\frac{c_{j-2}+8c_{j-1}-18c_{j}+8c_{j+1}+c_{j+2}}{12h^{2}}\right) +q(x_{j})\left(\frac{-c_{j-1}+c_{j+1}}{2h}\right)+r(x_{j})\left(\frac{c_{j-1}+4c_{j}+c_{j+1}}{6}\right)=f(x_{j}).$$
(17)

Similarly, at the knots  $x_0$  and  $x_n$ , the following equations are obtained

$$p(x_{0})\left(\frac{14c_{-1}-33c_{0}+28c_{1}-14c_{2}+6c_{3}-c_{4}}{12h^{2}}\right)$$
$$+q(x_{0})\left(\frac{-c_{-1}+c_{1}}{2h}\right)+r(x_{0})\left(\frac{c_{-1}+4c_{0}+c_{1}}{6}\right)=f(x_{0}),$$
(18)

$$p(x_{n})\left(\frac{14c_{n-1}-33c_{n}+28c_{n+1}-14c_{n+2}+6c_{n+3}-c_{n+4}}{12h^{2}}\right)$$
$$+q(x_{n})\left(\frac{-c_{n-1}+c_{n+1}}{2h}\right)+r(x_{n})\left(\frac{c_{n-1}+4c_{n}+c_{n+1}}{6}\right)=f(x_{n}).$$
(19)

The boundary conditions are giving of the following two equations

$$c_{-1} + 4c_0 + c_1 = 6\alpha$$

(20)

$$c_{n-1} + 4c_n + c_{n+1} = 6\beta.$$

(21)

In This way they have a system of (n+3) linear equations .Eqs.(17)-(19) which can be written in matrix form as

$$Ac = b$$
.

(22)

Where *A* is the coefficients matrix given by

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ o_1 & o_2 & o_3 & o_4 & o_5 & o_6 \\ a_1 & b_1 & c_1 & d_1 & e_1 \\ 0 & a_2 & b_2 & c_2 & d_2 & e_2 \\ & O & O & O & O & O \\ & & a_{n+1} & b_{n+1} & c_{n+1} & d_{n+1} & e_{n+1} \\ & & m_1 & m_2 & m_3 & m_4 & m_5 & m_6 \\ & & & & 1 & 4 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$o_{1} = 14p(x_{0}) - 6hq(x_{0}) + 2h^{2}r(x_{0})$$

$$o_{2} = -33p(x_{0}) + 8h^{2}r(x_{0}),$$

$$o_{3} = 28p(x_{0}) + 6hq(x_{0}) + 2h^{2}r(x_{0})$$

$$o_{4} = 14p(x_{0}),$$

$$o_{5} = 6p(x_{0}),$$

$$o_{6} = -p(x_{0}),$$
where  $i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1,$ 

$$a_{i} = p(x_{i}),$$

$$b_{i} = 8p(x_{i}) - 6hq(x_{i}) + 2h^{2}r(x_{i}),$$

$$c_{i} = -18p(x_{i}) + 8h^{2}r(x_{i}),$$

$$d_{i} = 8p(x_{i}) + 6hq(x_{i}) + 2h^{2}r(x_{i}),$$

$$e_{i} = p(x_{i})$$

$$m_{1} = -p(x_{n}),$$

$$m_{2} = 6p(x_{n}),$$

$$m_{3} = -14p(x_{n}),$$

$$m_{5} = -33p(x_{n}) + 8h^{2}r(x_{n}),$$

$$m_{6} = 14p(x_{n}) + 6hq(x_{n}) + 2h^{2}r(x_{n}).$$
and  $c = [c_{-1}, c_{0}, c_{1}, L, c_{n}, c_{n+1}]^{T},$ 

$$b = [6\alpha, 12h^{2}f(x_{0}), 12h^{2}f(x_{1}), ..., 12h^{2}f(x_{n-1}), 12h^{2}f(x_{n}), 6\beta]^{T},$$
since A is a non-singular matrix so can solve the system

since *A* is a non-singular matrix, so can solve the system Ac = b for  $c_{-1}, c_0, c_1, ..., c_{n-1}, c_n, c_{n+1}$  substituting these values in Eq. (15), to get the required approximate solution.

# Error Analysis 5.

Now, the error analysis is investigated by using the cubic B-spline approximations Eqs.(3)-(5) and Eq.(9) the following relationships can be established

$$h\left[\frac{1}{6}Y'(x_{j-1}) + \frac{4}{6}Y'(x_{j}) + \frac{1}{6}Y'(x_{j+1})\right] = \frac{1}{2}\left[Y(x_{j+1}) - Y(x_{j-1})\right],$$
(23)
$$h^{2}Y''(x_{j}) = \frac{1}{2}\left(7Y(x_{j-1}) - 8Y(x_{j}) + Y(x_{j+1})\right) + h\left(Y'(x_{j-1}) + 2Y'(x_{j})\right)$$

(24)

Moreover ,we have

$$h^{3}Y'''(x_{j}) = 12 \Big[ Y(x_{j}) - Y(x_{j+1}) \Big] + 6h \Big[ Y'(x_{j}) + Y'(x_{j+1}) \Big],$$
(25)  

$$h^{3}Y'''(x_{j}) = 12 \Big[ Y(x_{j-1}) - Y(x_{j}) \Big] + 6h \Big[ Y'(x_{j-1}) + Y'(x_{j}) \Big].$$
(26)

Where  $Y'''(x_{j^+})$  and  $Y'''(x_{j^-})$  indicate approximate values of in  $Y'''(x_j)$  in  $[x_j, x_{j+1}]$ and  $[x_{j-1}, x_j]$  respectively.

 $E^{\lambda}(Y'(x_j)) = Y'(x_{j+\lambda}), \lambda \in \mathbb{Z}$ , Using the operator notation

Equation (19) can also be written as

$$h\left[\frac{1}{6}E^{-1} + \frac{4}{6} + \frac{1}{6}E\right]Y'(x_{j}) = \frac{1}{2}\left[E - E^{-1}\right]y(x_{j}), \text{ Hence}$$
$$hS'(x_{j}) = 3\left(E - E^{-1}\right)\left[E^{-1} + 4 + E\right]^{-1}s(x_{j}),$$
(27)

Using  $E = e^{hD}$ ,  $D = \frac{d}{dx}$ , we can get it

$$E + E^{-1} = e^{hD} + e^{-hD} = 2\left[1 + \frac{h^2 D^2}{2!} + \frac{h^4 D^4}{4!} + \frac{h^6 D^6}{6!} + L\right],$$

$$E - E^{-1} = e^{hD} - e^{-hD} = 2\left[hD + \frac{h^3D^3}{3!} + \frac{h^5D^5}{5!} + \frac{h^7D^7}{7!} + L\right].$$

Therefore, Eq. (27) can be expressed as.

$$Y'(x_{j}) = \left(D + \frac{h^{2}D^{3}}{3!} + \frac{h^{4}D^{5}}{5!} + L\right) \left[1 + \left(\frac{h^{2}D^{2}}{6} + \frac{h^{4}D^{4}}{72} + \frac{h^{6}D^{6}}{2160} + L\right)\right]^{-1} y(x_{j}),$$

Simplify, we get.

$$Y'(x_{j}) = \left(D - \frac{h^{4}D^{5}}{180} + \frac{h^{6}D^{7}}{1512} - L\right)y(x_{j}),$$

Hence

$$Y'(x_{j}) = y'(x_{j}) - \frac{1}{180}h^{4}y^{(5)}(x_{j}) + L ,$$
(28)

Similarly, writing Eq. (20) in operator notation we have

$$h^{2}Y''(x_{j}) = \frac{1}{2} \Big[ 7E^{-1} - 8 + E \Big] y(x_{j}) + h \Big[ E^{-1} + 2 \Big] y'(x_{j}),$$
  
$$= \Big( -3hD + 2h^{2}D^{2} - \frac{h^{3}D^{3}}{2} + \frac{h^{4}D^{4}}{6} - \frac{h^{5}D^{5}}{40} + \frac{h^{6}D^{6}}{180} - L \Big] y(x_{j})$$
  
$$+ \Big( 3h - h^{2}D + \frac{h^{3}D^{2}}{2} - \frac{h^{4}D^{3}}{6} + \frac{h^{5}D^{4}}{24} - \frac{h^{6}D^{5}}{120} + L \Big] y'(x_{j}).$$

Simplify the relationship above, we have.

$$Y''(x_{j}) = y''(x_{j}) + \frac{1}{60}h^{3}y^{(5)}(x_{j}) - \frac{1}{360}h^{4}y^{(6)}(x_{j}) + L \quad .$$
(29)

Using the same method in Eq.(21) it can also be written,

$$Y'''(x_{j}) \not \approx \frac{1}{2} \left[ y'''(x_{j^{+}}) + y'''(x_{j^{-}}) \right] = y'''(x_{j}) + \frac{1}{12}h^{2}y^{(5)}(x_{j}) + L .$$
(30)

Let us define the term error e(x) = Y(x) - y(x), using relations (24) and (26) in the Taylor series expand e(x) we get

•

$$e(x_{j}+\theta h) = \frac{\theta(5\theta-2)(\theta+1)}{360}h^{5}y^{(5)}(x_{j}) - \frac{\theta^{2}}{720}h^{6}y^{(6)}(x_{j}) + L$$

(31)

Where  $\theta \in [0,1]$ , from Eq. (31) The new B-spline approximation is  $O(h^5)$  accurate.

# 6. Numerical Examples

In this section we illustrate the numerical techniques discussed in the previous sections by the following two boundary value problems of Eqs.(1-2), in order to illustrate the comparative performance of our method over other existing methods. We now consider four numerical examples to illustrate the comparative performance of our method. All calculations are implemented by Maple.

**Example 1**: We consider a linear boundary value problem with constant coefficients :[18]

$$y''(x) + y'(x) - 6y(x) = x,$$

with boundary conditions

$$y(0) = 0, y(1) = 1,$$

The exact solution to boundary value problem is

$$y(x) = \frac{(43 - e^2)e^{-3x} - (43 - e^{-3})e^{2x}}{36(e^{-3} - e^2)} - \frac{1}{6}x - \frac{1}{36}.$$

The numerical result of the example (1) are presented in the Table (2) for with n = 20. In Table 3 the observed maximum absolute errors and compared our result with the results given in cubic b-spline method [18]. Figure 1 shows the comparison of the exact and numerical solutions for n = 20.

x	New Cubic B-	Cubic B-Spline[18]
	Spline	
0	0	0
0.2	5.59E-8	2.3534E-5
0.3	6.23 E-8	4.41179E-5
0.4	6.06 E-8	6.46773E-5
0.5	5.44 E-8	8.19815E-5
0.6	4.57 E-8	9.30536E-5
0.7	3.59 E-8	9.47169E-5
0.8	2.54 E-8	8.31905E-5
0.9	1.52 E-8	5.36906E-5
1	0	0

Table 2: The numerical solutions and exact solution of example (	(1	).
--	----	----

**Table 3:** Comparison of the error proposed method with CBS[18] for example(1).



: Comparison of the the proposed method example(1) for n=20

**2:** We consider a boundary value

problem with constant coefficients[18],

$$y''(x) + 2y'(x) + 5y(x) = 6\cos(2x) - 7\sin(2x)$$
, for  $0 < x < \frac{\pi}{4}$ ,

with boundary conditions

 $y(0) = 4, y(\frac{\pi}{4}) = 1.$ 

The exact solution to boundary value problem is

 $y(x) = 2(1 + e^{-x})\cos(2x) + \sin(2x).$ 

The numerical result of the example (2) are presented in the Table 4 compared our result with the exact solution. In Table 5 the observed maximum absolute errors and compared our result with the results given in cubic B-spline method [18]. Figure 2 shows the comparison of the exact and numerical solutions for n = 20.

Table 4: The numerical solutions and exact solution of example (2).

	x New Cubic B- Exact Solution
--	-------------------------------

	Spline	
$\pi$	3.989348208	3.9893481701
80		

x	New Cubic B-	Cubic B-			
	Spline	Spline[18]			

$\frac{3\pi}{3\pi}$	3.906796607	3.9067967056
80		
$\frac{5\pi}{20}$	3.748792026	3.7487922376
80		
$\frac{7\pi}{20}$	3.523205708	3.5232056151
80		
$9\pi$	3.238294433	3.2382892895
80		
$11\pi$	2.902583355	2.9025837374
80		
$13\pi$	2.524830455	2.5248342470
80		
$15\pi$	2.113912251	2.1139139602
80		
$17\pi$	1.678750121	1.6787494845
80		
19π	1.228243494	1.2282459716
80		

**Table 5:** Comparison of the error proposed method with CBS[18] for example(2).

	3.8E-8	2.0634E-5
80		
$3\pi$	9.9 E-8	4.8130E-5
80		
$5\pi$	2.12 E-7	6.0894E-5
80		
$7\pi$	9.3 E-8	6.2779E-5
80		
$9\pi$	5.143E-6	5.70988E-5
80		
<u>11</u> $\pi$	3.82 E-7	4.67074E-5
80		
$13\pi$	3.792E-6	3.40587E-5
80		
$15\pi$	1.709E-6	2.12666E-5
80		
$17\pi$	6.37 E-7	1.01538E-5
80		
$19\pi$	2.478E-6	2.2885E-5
80		



**Figure 2** : Comparison of the exact and the proposed method of example(2) for n=20.

**Example 3:** We consider a linear boundary value problem with constant coefficients[18]

 $x^2 y''(x) + 3xy'(x) + 3y = 0$  for 1 < x < 2,

with boundary conditions

$$y(1) = 5, y(2) = 0.$$

The exact solution to boundary value problem is

$$y(x) = \frac{5}{x} [\cos(\sqrt{2}\ln x) - \cot(\sqrt{2}\ln 2)\sin(\sqrt{2}\ln x)].$$

The numerical result of the example (3) are presented in the Table (6) for with. In Table 7 the observed maximum absolute errors and compared our result with the results given in cubic B-spline method [18]. Figure 3 shows the comparison of the exact and numerical solutions for n = 20.

**Table 6:** The numerical solutions and exact solution of example (3).

x	New Cubic B-	Exact Solution
	Spline	
1.1	4.094768326	4.0947693502
1.2	3.316711309	3.3167126115
1.3	2.649607254	2.6496084276
1.4	2.077976455	2.0779773959
1.5	1.587980746	1.5879814418
1.6	1.167624994	1.1676254805
1.7	0.806670353	0.8066706529
1.8	0.496442085	0.4964422651
1.9	0.229613526	0.2296136048

**Table 7:** Comparison of the error proposed method with CBS [18] for example(3).

X	New Cubic B-	Cubic B-
	Spline	Spline[18]
1.1	1.024E-6	1.609202E-4
1.2	1.303E-6	3.065565E-4
1.3	1.174E-6	3.980724E-4
1.4	9.41E-7	4.327606E-4

1.5	6.96E-7	4.197742E-4
1.6	4.86E-7	3.707492E-4
1.7	2.999E-7	2.964084E-4
1.8	1.801E-7	2.055654E-4
1.9	7.88E-8	1.050575E-4



**Figure 3** : Comparison of the exact and the proposed method of example(3) for n=20.

**Example 4:** We consider a linear boundary value problem with constant coefficients,[18]

xy''(x) + y'(x) = x for 1 < x < 2,

with boundary conditions

$$y(1) = 1, y(2) = 1.$$

The exact solution to boundary value problem is

$$y(x) = \frac{x^2}{4} - \frac{3\ln x}{4\ln 2} + \frac{3}{4}.$$

The numerical result of the example (4) are presented in the Table 8 for with .In Table 9 the observed maximum absolute errors and compared our result with

the results given in cubic B-spline method [18]. Figure 4 shows the comparison of the exact and numerical solutions for n = 20.

x	New Cubic B-	Exact Solution
	Spline	
1.1	0.9493723880	0.9493723572
1.2	0.9127242439	0.9127241956
1.3	0.8886163346	0.8886162826
1.4	0.8759299325	0.8759298796
1.5	0.8737781718	0.8737781245
1.6	0.8814461109	0.8814460712
1.7	0.8983489704	0.8983489402
1.8	0.9240023401	0.9240023201
1.9	0.9580004464	0.9580004361

**Table 8:** The numerical solutions and exact solution of example (4).

**Table 9:** Comparison of the error proposed method with CBS [18] for example(4).

x	New Cubic B-	Cubic B-
	Spline	Spline[18]
1.1	3.08E-8	2.38675E-5
1.2	4.83 E-8	3.66902E-5
1.3	5.20 E-8	4.21471E-5
1.4	5.29 E-8	4.25917E-5
1.5	4.73 E-8	3.95759E-5
1.6	3.97 E-8	3.41494E-5
1.7	3.02 E-8	270371E-5
1.8	2.00 E-8	1.87491E-5
1.9	1.03 E-8	9.6491E-5



**Figure 4** : Comparison of the exact and the proposed method of example(4) for n=20.

# 7. Conclusion

The cubic B-spline method with a new approximation of the second derivative is developed for the approximate solution of second order two –point BVPs in this paper. Four examples are considered for numerical illustration of the method. Numerical result are presented in Tables (2), (4), (6), and (8) and compared with the exact solutions. We also compared the results with the (CBS) method [18] in Tables (3), (5), (7), and (9) and It can be concluded that this method is quite suitable, accurate.

The obtained numerical results show that the proposed methods maintain a high accuracy which make them are very encouraging for dealing with the solution of this type of two point boundary value problems.

# 8. References

[1] G. Birkhoff and C. De Boor, Error bounds for spline interpolation, Journal of Mathematics and Mechanics, 13, (1964) 827–835.
[2] J. Chang , Q. Yang and C .Liu , B-spline method for solving boundary value problems of linear ordinary differential equations, college of science, Communications in Computer and Information Science (2010) 325-333.

[3] C. De Boor, Bicubic spline interpolation, J. Math. Phys., 41, (1962) 212–218.

[4] C. De Boor, On calculating with B-splines, Journal of Approximation Theory, 6, (1972) 50-62.

[5] C. De Boor, A Practical guide to splines, Springer-Verlag (1978).

[6] D .D. Demir and N. Bildik ,The numerical solution of heat problem using cubic B-spines, Applied Mathematics, 2(4), (2012) 131-135.

[7] D.J. Fyfe, The use of cubic splines in the solution of two-point boundary value problems, Comput. J. 12 (2) (1969) 188–192.

[8] M. Gholamian and J.S. Nadjafi, Cubic B-splines collocation method for a class of partial integro-differential equation, Alexandra Engineering Journal , 57, (2018) 2157-2165.

[9] M. K. Iqbal, M. Abbas and N. Khalid1, New cubic B-spline approximation for solving non-linear singular boundary value problems arising in physiology, Communications In Mathematics and Applications, 9(3), (2018) 377–392.

[10] M. K. Iqbal, M. Abbas and I. Wasim, New cubic B-spline approximation for solving third order Emden–Flower type equations, Applied Mathematics and Computation 331, (2018) 319–333.

[11] C. Jincai, Y. Qianli, and C. Liu, B-Spline method for solving boundary value problems of linear ordinary differential equations, Communications in Computer and Information Science, (2010) 326-333.

[12] G. Joan, A. A. Majid and A. I. Ismail, Numerical method using cubic B-spline for the heat and wave equation, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 62, (2011) 4492–4498.

[13] M . Kaur , Numerical solutions of some parabolic partial differential equations using cubic b-spline collocation method, M.Sc. thesis, School Of Mathematics and Computer University, Patiala India(2013).

[14] M. H. Khabir1 and R.A. Farah, Cubic B-spline collocation method for onedimensional heat equation, Pure and Applied Mathematics Journal, 6(1), (2017) 51-58.

[15] F. Lang and X.Xu, A new cubic B-spline method for linear fifth order boundary value problems, J Appl Math Comput, 36, (2011) 101–116.

[16] F. Lang and X. Xu, A new cubic B-spline method for approximating the solution of a class of nonlinear second-order boundary value problem with two dependent variables, Science Asia ,40, (2014) 444–450.

[17] K. K. Mohan and G. Vikas, Numerical solution of singularly perturbed convection–diffusion problem using parameter uniform B-spline collocation method, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, (2009) 439–452.

[18] M . Munguia and D. Bhatta . Use of cubic b-spline in approximating solutions of boundary value problems, An International Journal(AAM), 10(2), (2015)750-771.

[19] R. Pourgholi and A. Saeedi, Applications of cubic b-splines collocation method or solving non linear inverse parabolic partial differential equations, School of Mathematics and Computer Sciences, Damghan University, (2014) 1-18.

[20] Y .S .Raju, Cubic B-Spline collocation method for sixth order boundary value problems, International Journal of Scientific and Innovative Mathematical Research (IJSIMR) 5(7), (2017)1-13.

[21] J .Rashidina and S .Jamalzadeh Collocation method based on modified cubic-b-spline for option pricing models,. Mathematical Communications, 22, (2017) 89–102.

[22] J. Rashidinia and J. Sanaz ,Collocation method based on modified cubic B-spline for option pricing models, mathematical communications, Math. Commun, 22, (2017) 89–102.

[23] P. Reza and S. Akram, Applications of cubic B-splines collocation method for solving nonlinear inverse parabolic partial differential equations, applications of cubic B-splines collocation method, School of Mathematics and Computer Sciences, Damghan University, (2016) 1-17.

[24] S. S. Sastry, Introductory methods of numerical analysis, fourth edition, PHI Learning, (2009).

[25] M. N. Suardi, Z. Nurul, F. M. Radzuan and J. Sulaiman, Performance of quarter-sweep SOR iteration with cubic B-Spline scheme for solving two-point boundary value problems, Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences, 14, (2019) 693-700.

[26] M. N. Suardi, N. Z. F. M. Radzuan and J. Sulaiman, Cubic B-spline solution of two-point boundary value problem using HSKSOR iteration, Global Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 13, (2017) 7921-7934.

[27] M. N. Suardi, N. Z. Radzuan and J. Sulaiman, Performance of quartersweep SOR iteration with cubic B-spline scheme for solving two-point boundary value problems, J. of Engineering and Applied Science ,14(3), (2019) 693-700.

fitting, Chinese Journal Of Mathematics, (2016) 1-10.

[28] A. Tassaddiq, A. Khalid, M.N. Naeem and A. Ghaffar, A new scheme using cubic b-spline to solve non-linear differential equations arising in viscoelastic flows and hydrodynamic stability problems, Journal of Mathematics 7, (2019)1065-1078.

# The Formula for the product of Sines of multiple Arcs

## Dr. Ahmed Khalaf Radhi

Department of Mathematics - College of Education AL-Mustansiriyah University

## Abstract

By using the theory of residues of holomorphic functions, one formula is obtained for the product of a finite number of Sines of multiple arcs and one improper integral is computed.

## Introduction

As known, the theory of functions of complex variable has various applications in different sections of mathematics . In the book [2], the properties of complex numbers were used to solve exercises and proofs of theorems from elementary geometry . Chapter 7 of the book [1] is devoted to the applications of complex integrations, in particular , to the calculation of real integrals by using the method of transition to complex variables.

In the present paper, using the calculation of the residue of one special function, we have proved the formula (\*) for the product of a finite number of Sines of multiple arcs, the proven formula has been verified for several particular values of the parameter which get into the formula. The same function and the residue theorem are used to calculate one improper real integral (\*\*).

**1.** If z = a be an isolated singular point of the holomorphic function f(z) and  $\gamma$  be a simple closed piecewise smooth curve that, together with the interior, belongs to the domain of holomorphy of the function f(z), except the point  $z = a \in Int(\gamma)$ , then the residue of f(z) at this point is equal to

$$res_{z=a}f(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\gamma} f(z)dz .$$
 (1)

If z = a is a simple pole of the holomorphic function f(z), then

$$res_{z=a}f(z) = \lim_{z \to a} (z-a)f(z) .$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

If f(z) = P(z) / Q(z), where P(z) and Q(z) are holomorphic in a neighborhood of the point z = a and Q(z) has a zero of first order at this point, then

$$res_{z=a}f(z) = \frac{P(a)}{Q'(a)}.$$
(3)

These formulas can be found in [1] and [3].

**2.** Consider the function  $f(z) = \frac{1}{z^{n+1'}}$  where  $n \ge 2$  is a natural number. Let  $z = a = e^{i\frac{\pi}{n}}$ . This point is a simple pole for the considered function  $z^n + 1$  has a zero of first order at this point (the first derivative at this point is not zero). By the formula (3) with P(z) = 1 and  $Q(z) = z^n + 1$ , we obtain

$$A = res_{z=a}f(z) = \frac{P(a)}{Q'(a)} = \frac{1}{ne^{i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}}.$$
 (4)

We calculate the residue A by formula (2), by using the expansion

$$z^{n} + 1 = \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} \left( z - e^{i\pi \frac{2k+1}{n}} \right).$$

Then we get

$$A = \lim_{z \to e^{i\frac{\pi}{n}}} \frac{z - e^{i\pi\frac{1}{n}}}{\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(z - e^{i\pi\frac{2k+1}{n}}\right)} = \frac{1}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} \left(e^{i\frac{\pi}{n}} - e^{i\pi\frac{2k+1}{n}}\right)} = \frac{e^{-i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} \left(1 - e^{ik\frac{2\pi}{n}}\right)}$$

We transform expression

$$\left(1 - e^{ik\frac{2\pi}{n}}\right)^{-1} = \left(1 - \cos\frac{2k\pi}{n} - i\sin\frac{2k\pi}{n}\right)^{-1} = \frac{1 - \cos\frac{2k\pi}{n} + i\sin\frac{2k\pi}{n}}{4\left(\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}\right)^2} = \frac{i\left(\cos\frac{k\pi}{n} - i\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}\right)}{2\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}} = \frac{e^{i\frac{\pi}{2}}e^{-i\frac{k\pi}{n}}}{2\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}}$$

Substituting the transformed expression into the formula for the residue A, we have

$$A = \frac{e^{-i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} 2\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}} \cdot e^{i(n-1)\frac{\pi}{2}} \cdot \prod_{k=1}^{n-1} e^{-ik\frac{\pi}{n}} = \frac{e^{-i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} 2\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}} \cdot e^{i(n-1)\frac{\pi}{2}} \cdot e^{-i\frac{\pi}{n}} \cdot \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$$

Summing up the exponents, we find

$$A = \frac{e^{-i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} 2\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}}$$

We equate the resulting expression for the residue *A* with the previously obtained expression from formula (4):

$$\frac{1}{ne^{i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}} = \frac{e^{-i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} 2\sin\frac{k\pi}{n}}$$

From this equality we obtain an equation that proves the following theorem

#### Theorem.

For positive integers n > 1 the following formula is true:

$$\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} \sin \frac{k\pi}{n} = \frac{n}{2^{n-1}}.$$
 (\*)

Let us verify the equality for several values of the parameter n:

- If n = 2 we have:  $\sin \frac{\pi}{2} = \frac{2}{2}$ . If n = 3 we have:  $\sin \frac{\pi}{3} \cdot \sin \frac{2\pi}{3} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} = \frac{3}{2^2}$ . If n = 4 we have:  $\sin \frac{\pi}{4} \cdot \sin \frac{2\pi}{4} \cdot \sin \frac{3\pi}{4} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \cdot 1 \cdot \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{4}{2^3}$ .
- **3.** We now calculate the residue *A* by the formula (1) and consider the curvilinear triangle (figure)



 $\gamma = \gamma (R) = \gamma_1 (R) + \gamma_2 (R) + \gamma_3 (R)$  as the contour  $\gamma$ , where R > 1 is a fixed real number and the parametrization of the constituent arcs of a curvilinear triangle is given by:

$$\gamma_1(R): z = x \in [0, R]; \ \gamma_2(R): z = Re^{it}, t \in [0, \frac{2\pi}{n}]; \ \gamma_3(R): z = \rho e^{i\frac{2\pi}{n}}, \rho \in [0, R].$$

These arcs are oriented in accordance with the increase of the variable parameter.

$$\gamma$$
 = Note that inside the contour  
 $\gamma(R)$  there is only one singular point

$$z = a = e^{i\frac{\pi}{n}}$$
 of the function  $f(z) = \frac{1}{(z^n + 1)}$ , regardless of *R*.

From formula (1), taking into account the orientation of the contour  $\boldsymbol{\gamma},$ 

we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\gamma} \frac{dz}{z^{n}+1} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma_1} \frac{dz}{z^{n}+1} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma_2} \frac{dz}{z^{n}+1} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma_3} \frac{dz}{z^{n}+1} \,. \tag{5}$$

We calculate the complex integrals on the right-hand side of (5) by reducing them to the Riemann integral and find the limits of these integrals as  $R \rightarrow \infty$ ,

we get :

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma_1} \frac{dz}{z^{n+1}} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_0^R \frac{dx}{x^{n+1}} \xrightarrow{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{2\pi i} I,$$
where
$$I = \int_0^\infty \frac{dx}{x^{n+1}} .$$
(6)

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{\gamma_2}\frac{dz}{z^{n+1}} = \frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_0^{\frac{2\pi}{n}}\frac{Rie^{it}dt}{\left(Re^{it}\right)^n+1} \xrightarrow{R\to\infty} 0,$$

So

$$\left|\frac{\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{0}^{\frac{2\pi}{n}}\frac{Rie^{it}dt}{\left(Re^{it}\right)^{n}+1}\right| \leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot \frac{R \cdot \frac{2\pi}{n}}{R^{n}-1} \xrightarrow{R \to \infty} 0 \quad \text{, when } n > 1$$

Finally,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma_3} \frac{dz}{z^{n+1}} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_0^R \frac{e^{i\frac{2\pi}{n}} d\rho}{\left(\rho e^{i\frac{2\pi}{n}}\right)^{n+1}} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_0^R \frac{e^{i\frac{2\pi}{n}} d\rho}{(\rho)^{n+1}} \xrightarrow{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \cdot e^{i\frac{2\pi}{n}} I \ .$$

Note that the residue A does not depend on the value

R > 1, and (1) holds for all values of R.

Therefore, from equalities (1) and (5), passing to the limit for  $R \rightarrow \infty$ we obtain the following equality:

$$A = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \cdot I + 0 - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \cdot e^{\frac{i2\pi}{n}} \cdot I.$$

Where we find the expression for the integral *l*:

$$I = \frac{2\pi i \cdot A}{1 - e^{i\frac{2\pi}{n}}}$$

We substitute in the last equality, instead of the residue *A*, its value By formula (4) and transform the resulting expression:

$$\frac{1}{ne^{i\pi\frac{n-1}{n}}}$$

$$I = \frac{2\pi}{n} \cdot \frac{i \cdot e^{-i\pi} \cdot e^{i\frac{\pi}{n}}}{1 - \cos\frac{2\pi}{n} - i \cdot \sin\frac{2\pi}{n}} = -\frac{2\pi i}{n} \cdot \frac{e^{i\frac{\pi}{n}}(1 - \cos\frac{2\pi}{n} + i\sin\frac{2\pi}{n})}{(1 - \cos\frac{2\pi}{n})^2 + (\sin\frac{2\pi}{n})^2} =$$
$$= -\frac{2\pi i}{n} \cdot \frac{\left(\cos\frac{\pi}{n} + i\sin\frac{\pi}{n}\right)\left(1 - \cos\frac{2\pi}{n} + i\sin\frac{2\pi}{n}\right)}{2 - 2\cos\frac{2\pi}{n}} = \frac{2\pi \cdot 2\sin\frac{\pi}{n}}{4n\left(\sin\frac{\pi}{n}\right)^2} =$$
$$= \frac{\pi}{n \cdot \sin\frac{\pi}{n}}.$$

This proves the equality

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{dx}{x^{n+1}} = \frac{\pi}{n \cdot \sin\frac{\pi}{n}} \ . \tag{**}$$

### References

- 1. John P. D'Angelo, An Introduction to Complex Analysis, Providence, R.I., Amer. Math. Soc., 2011.
- 2. Ya. Ponarin, Algebra of complex numbers and geometric *Heskih* problem, Amazon co.uk., 2004.
- **3.** Elias M. Stein and Rami Shakarchi, Complex Analysis, Princeton Lectures in Analysis II, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2003.

# Semi-Analytical Method with Laplace Transform for Certain Types of Nonlinear Problems

Areej Salah Mohammed<sup>1</sup>, Sinan H. Abd Almjeed<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of mathematics, College of Education for pure Sciences/ Ibn-AL-Haithem, University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq

Email: areej.s.m@ihcoedu.uobaghdad.edu.iq;sinan.h.a@ihcoedu.uobaghdad.edu.iq

**Abstract**. In this paper, the approximate solution is found for the Fornberg-Whitham equation (F-W) by using two analytical methods which are the Laplace decomposition method (LDM) and modified Laplace decomposition method (MLDM) with comparison between these methods for which gave the best approximate solution near to the exact solution, The analytical results of these methods have been received in terms of convergent series with easily calculable components. The results show that the modified method was found to be efficient, accurate and fast compared to the second method used in this research.

#### 1. Introduction

Many important phenomena can be represented by nonlinear equations, both ordinary and partial, such as population models, chemical kinetics and fluid dynamics. Many efforts have been made to implement either approximate or analytical methods to solve the nonlinear equations such as [1] and [2]. The F-W gave as [3, 4]

 $v_t - v_{bbt} + v_b = vv_{bbb} - vv_b + 3v_bv_{bb}$  (1.1)

It consists of a type of travelling wave solution called a kink-like wave solution and anti-kink-like wave solutions. No such sorts of travel wave solutions have been found for F-W. These days, numerous distinct methods have been presented to solve the F-W such as homotopy analysis method (HAM) [5], variational iteration method (VIM) [6], Daftardar-Jafari iterative method (DJM) and homotopy perturbation transform method (HPTM) [7]. Temimi and Ansari method (TAM) and Banach contraction method (BCM)[8].

In this paper, we implemented the LDM introduced by wazwaz [9] and MLDM introduced by Khuri [10, 11] to solve F-W, and the solution will be compared in both methods, those iterative methods have been successfully used to solve several kinds of problems. For example the linear and nonlinear fractional diffusion–wave equation was solved by applying the LDM [12], MLDM used to solve lane-Emden type differential equations [13]. In the following sections, the LDM and MLDM application are presented to solve the F-W and the validity of these methods to find the appropriate approximate solution.

#### 2. The basic idea of the methods

To illustrate the solution steps for the MLDM, we consider the following nonlinear partial differential problem:

Lv(b, t) = Rv(b, t) + Nv(b, t)(2.1)  $v(b, 0) = f(b), v_t(b, 0) = g(b),$ (2.2) wherein L, is an differential operator  $\partial/\partial t$  in eq. (2.1), R is another linear differential factor, N is a

nonlinear differential factor. N is a

By taking Laplace transform (LT) (indicated by C), we get: C[Lv(b,t)] = C[Rv(b,t)]

$$b,t)] = C[Rv(b,t)] + C[Nv(b,t)],$$
(2.3)

using the differentiation property of LT and initial condition in eq. (2.3)

$$sC[v(b,t)] - f(b) = C[Rv(b,t)] + C[Nv(b,t)], \qquad (2.4)$$

$$C[v(b,t)] = \frac{1}{s}f(b) + \frac{1}{s}C[Rv(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s}C[Nv(b,t)], \qquad (2.5)$$

Then the solution can be represented as an infinite series mentioned below: v(h, t)

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} v_i(b,t),$$
(2.6)

The nonlinear operator is disintegrating as

$$Nv(b,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} A_i,$$
(2.7)

Where Ai are Adomian polynomials [14] of v1, v2, ..., vi and it can be evaluated by the following formula

$$A_{i} = \frac{1}{i!} \frac{d^{i}}{d\lambda^{i}} \left[ N \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \lambda^{n} v_{n} \right] \quad i = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
By substituted (2.6) and (2.7) in (2.5)
$$(2.8)$$

$$C\left[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} v_i(b,t)\right] = \frac{1}{s}f(b) + \frac{1}{s}C[Rv(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s}C\left[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} A_i\right],$$
(2.9)

As C is the linear operator where

$$\left[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} C v_i(b,t)\right] = \frac{1}{s} f(b) + \frac{1}{s} C[Rv(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s} C[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} A_i],$$
By correspondence both sides of eq. (2.10) we have the following:  
(2.10)

$$Cv_0(b,t) = \frac{1}{s}f(b) = h(b,s),$$
 (2.11)

$$C v_1(b,t) = \frac{1}{\frac{5}{4}} C[Rv_0(b,t)] + \frac{1}{\frac{5}{4}} C[A_0], \qquad (2.12)$$

$$C v_2(b,t) = \frac{1}{s}C[Rv_1(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s}C[A_1],$$
(2.13)

$$C v_{i+1}(b,t) = \frac{1}{s}C[Rv_i(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s}C[A_i],$$
(2.14)  
By applying the inverse I T we get:

By applying the inverse LT we get:  

$$v_0(b,t) = h(b,t),$$
(2.15)

$$v_{i+1}(b,t) = C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C[Rv_i(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s} C[A_i] \right], i \ge 0,$$
(2.16)

Wherein h (b, t) depict the term originating from origin term and define initial conditions. Now, first of all, we stratifying LT of the terms on the right-hand facet of Eq. (2.16) then stratifying inverse LT we get the values of v1, v2... vi each in order.

To applied MLDM, we imposed that  $h(b, t) = h_0(b, t)$ 

$$(2.17)$$
  
+  $h_1(b,t)$ .

According to this assumption, a small change should be made on the components  $v_0$ ,  $v_1$ . The difference we suggest is that only part  $h_0(b, t)$  is set to $v_0$ , at the same time as the ultimate part  $h_1(b, t)$  is combined

with other terms in eq. (2.16) to fined  $v_1$ . Based totally on those suggestions, we formulate the modified iterative algorithm is as follows

$$v_{0}(b,t) = h_{0}(b,t),$$

$$v_{1}(b,t) = h_{1}(b,t) - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C[Rv_{0}(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s} C[A_{0}] \right],$$

$$v_{i+1}(b,t) = -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C[Rv_{i}(b,t)] + \frac{1}{s} C[A_{i}] \right], i$$

$$\geq 1.$$
(2.18)
(2.19)
(2.19)
(2.19)

The solution using the modified Adomian analysis method in large part relies upon on the choice of  $h_0(b, t)$  and  $h_1(b, t)$ .

#### 3. The application of methods

We will discuss the use of LDM and MLDM for the solution of the F-W in this section. 3.1. Applying the LDM By considering the F-W (1.1): With the initial condition  $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{b},\mathbf{0})=\mathbf{e}^{\frac{\mathbf{b}}{2}},$ (3.1)And the exact solution is given:  $v(b,t) = e^{\frac{b}{2} - \frac{2t}{3}}$ , (3.2)Applying the LT on eq. (1.1) we have  $Cv_t =$  $-\tilde{Cv}_b + Cv_{bbt} + Cvv_{bbb} - Cvv_b + C3v_bv_{bb}$ , (3.3)By the differentiation property of LT and initial condition in eq. (3.3), we get: sv(b, s) - v(b, 0) = $-Cv_b + Cv_{bbt} + Cvv_{bbb} - Cvv_b + C3v_bv_{bb}$ , (3.4)

$$v(b,s) = \frac{1}{s}e^{\frac{b}{2}} - \frac{1}{s}Cv_{b} + \frac{1}{s}Cv_{bbt} + \frac{1}{s}Cvv_{bbb} - \frac{1}{s}Cvv_{b} + \frac{1}{s}C3v_{b}v_{bb},$$
(3.5)

Applying inverse LT

$$\begin{aligned} v(b,t) &= \\ e^{\frac{b}{2}} - C^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s} Cv_{b}\right] + C^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s} Cv_{bbt}\right] + C^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s} Cvv_{bbb}\right] - C^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s} Cvv_{b}\right] + C^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s} C3v_{b}v_{bb}\right], \quad (3.6) \end{aligned}$$
we represent the solution as an infinite series as follows
$$v(b,t) &= \\ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} v_{i}(b,t), \quad (3.7)$$
The nonlinear operator is decomposed as
$$vv_{bbb} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} A_{i}, \quad (3.8)$$

$$vv_{b} = \\ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} B_{i}, \quad (3.9)$$

$$v_b v_{bb} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} C_i,$$
 (3.10)  
By replacing eq. (3.7), (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10) in eq. (3.6) we get:

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} v_i(b,t) = e^{\frac{b}{2}} - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_b \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{bbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} A_i \right] - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} B_i \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C 3 \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} C_i \right], \quad (3.11)$$
  
Then we get repetition relation

$$\begin{aligned} v_{i+1}(b,t) &= -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{ib} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{ibbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C A_i \right] - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C B_i \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C 3 C_i \right], i \ge 1, \\ 1, \\ \text{Then other constituents....} \\ v_1(b,t) &= \\ -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{0b} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{0bbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_0 v_{0bbb} \right] - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_0 v_{0b} \right] + \\ C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C 3 v_{0b} v_{0bb} \right], \end{aligned}$$
(3.14)

$$v_1(b,t) = -\frac{1}{4}e^{b/2}t,$$
(3.16)

$$v_{2}(b,t) = -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{1b} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{1bbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C A_{1} \right] - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C B_{1} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C 3 C_{1} \right],$$
(3.17)

$$v_{2}(b,t) = -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{1b} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{1bbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C [v_{1} v_{0}_{bbb} + v_{0} v_{1bbb}] \right] - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C [v_{1} v_{0}_{b} + v_{0} v_{1bbb}] \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C [v_{1} v_{0}_{bbb} + v_{0} v_{1bbb}] \right]$$

$$(2.18)$$

$$v_{2}(b,t) = \frac{1}{16} e^{b/2} (-t + t^{2}),$$
(3.19)

$$v_{3}(b,t) = -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{2b} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C v_{2bbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C A_{2} \right] - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C B_{2} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C 3 C_{2} \right],$$
(3.20)  
$$v_{3}(b,t) =$$

$$-C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{2b}\right] + C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{2bbt}\right] + C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C[v_{0}v_{2bbb} + v_{1}v_{1bbb} + v_{2}v_{0bbb}]\right] - C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C[v_{0}v_{2b} + v_{1}v_{1bb} + v_{2}v_{0bb}]\right] + C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C3[v_{0b}v_{2bb} + v_{1b}v_{1bb} + v_{2b}v_{0bb}]\right], \qquad (3.21)$$

$$v_{3}(b,t) = -\frac{1}{192}e^{b/2}(3t - 6t^{2} + 2t^{3}),$$

$$v_{4}(b,t) =$$
(3.22)

$$\begin{array}{l} v_{3b}v_{0bb}] \\ v_{4}(b,t) = \\ \frac{1}{768}e^{b/2}(-3t+9t^{2}-6t^{3}+t^{4}), \\ v(b,t) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty}v_{i}(b,t) = e^{\frac{b}{2}} + \frac{1}{16}e^{b/2}(-t+t^{2}) - \frac{1}{192}e^{b/2}(3t-6t^{2}+2t^{3}) + \frac{1}{768}e^{b/2}(-3t+9t^{2}-6t^{3}+t^{4}) + \\ \cdots, \\ Applying the MLDM \end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{l} (3.24) \\ (3.25) \\ (3.25) \\ (3.26) 3.2. \end{array}$$

By considering the F-W (1.1) with initial condition (1.2), applying the LT we have  $Cv_t = -Cv_b + Cv_{bbt} + Cvv_{bbb} - Cvv_b + C3v_bv_{bb},$  (3.27) By the differentiation property of LT and initial condition in eq. (2.3)  $sv(b, s) - v(b, 0) = -Cv_b + C3v_bv_{bb},$  (3.28)

$$\begin{split} & v(b, s) = \\ & \frac{1}{s}e^{2} - \frac{1}{s}(v_{b} + \frac{1}{s}(v_{bbt} + \frac{1}{s}Cv_{bbb} - \frac{1}{s}(v_{v}_{b} + \frac{1}{s}C3v_{b}v_{bb}, (3.29) \\ & \text{Applying inverse LT} \\ & v(b, t) = \\ & \frac{1}{2}e^{2} + \frac{1}{2}e^{2} - C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}(v_{b}\right] + C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bbt}\right] + C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bbb}\right] - C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{vb}\right] + \\ & C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C3v_{b}v_{bb}\right], (3.30) \\ & we constitute solution as an infinite series as follows \\ & v(b, t) = \\ & \frac{1}{2}e^{2}, -C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C3\sum_{i=0}^{w} C_{i}\right], \\ & v(b, t) = \\ & \frac{1}{2}e^{2}, \\ & v(b, t) = \\ & \frac{1}{2}e^{2}, \\ & v(b, t) = \\ & \frac{1}{2}e^{2}, -C^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C3v_{b}v_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C3v_{b}v_{bb}\right], \\ & v(b, t) = \\ & -c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C3v_{b}v_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}C3v_{b}v_{bb}\right], \\ & v_{2}(b, t) = \\ & -c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & v_{1}(b, t) = \\ & v_{2}(b, t) = \\ & -c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}\right] + \\ & v_{1}(b, t) = \\ & -c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & v_{1}(b, t) = \\ & v_{2}(b, t) = \\ & -c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & v_{1}(b, t) \\ & v_{2}(b, t) = \\ & -c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right] + \\ & c^{-1}\left[\frac{1}{s}Cv_{bb}v_{b}\right]$$

$$\begin{aligned} v_{1}v_{1b} + v_{2}v_{0b}] \\ + \\ C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C3[v_{0b}v_{2bb} + v_{1b}v_{1bb} + v_{2b}v_{0bb}] \right], & (3.44) \\ v_{3}(b,t) &= -\frac{1}{192} e^{b/2} (15t - 18t^{2} + 2t^{3}), & (3.45) \\ & v_{4}(b,t) &= -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} Cv_{3b} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} Cv_{3bbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} CA_{3} \right] - C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} CB_{3} \right] \\ & + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C3C_{3} \right], & (3.46) \\ v_{4}(b,t) &= -C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} Cv_{3b} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} Cv_{3bbt} \right] + C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C[v_{0}v_{3bbb} + v_{1}v_{2bbb} + v_{2}v_{1bbb} + v_{3}v_{0bbb}] \right] - \\ C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} C[v_{0}v_{3b} + v_{1}v_{2b} + v_{2}v_{1b} + v_{3}v_{0b}] \right] + \\ C^{-1} \left[ \frac{1}{s} \mathcal{L}3[v_{0b}v_{3bb} + v_{1b}v_{2bb} + v_{2b}v_{1bb} + v_{3}v_{0bb}] \right], & (3.47) \\ v_{4}(b,t) &= \frac{1}{768} e^{b/2} (-15t + 33t^{2} - 14t^{3} + t^{4}), & (3.48) \\ v(b,t) &= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} v_{i}(b,t) = \frac{e^{b/2}}{2} - \frac{1}{4} e^{b/2} t + \frac{1}{16} e^{b/2} (-5t + t^{2}) - \frac{1}{192} e^{b/2} (15t - 18t^{2} + 2t^{3}) + \\ \frac{1}{768} e^{b/2} (-15t + 33t^{2} - 14t^{3} + t^{4}), & (3.49) \end{aligned}$$

#### 4. Numerical analysis's

In Table 1, absolute errors are calculated for the differences between the exact solution (3.2) and the approximate solutions (3.26) and (3.49) obtained by LDM and MLDM. Besides, Figure 1, Figure 2 and Figure 3 show the approximate and the exact solutions for the Fornberg-Whitham problem respectively, Figure 4 and Figure 5 show the behaviour of exact and approximate solutions obtained by the LDM and MLDM.



Figure 1. The approximate solution obtained by the LDM of the Fornberg-Whitham problem



Figure 2. The approximate solution obtained by the MLDM of the Fornberg-Whitham problem



Figure 3. The exact solution of the Fornberg-Whitham problem



and approximate solution by LDM.

Figure 5. Comparison between the exact solution and approximate solution by MLDM.

Table 1. the numerical values for the exact and the approximate solutions with the absolute

errors at t=4

$v_{LDM}$	$v_{ m MLDM}$	$v_{\mathrm{EXACT}}$	<b>ABSERROR</b> <sub>LDM</sub>	<b>ABSERROR<sub>MLDM</sub></b>
0.00352435633428678	0.006343841401716	0.0094035625514952	0.0058792062172084	0.00305972114977898
0.00958019378050631	0.017244348804911	0.0255615332065074	0.0159813394260010	0.00831718440159604
0.026041666666666666	0.046875	0.0694834512228015	0.0434417845561348	0.02260845122280154
0.07078858928278764	0.127419460709017	0.1888756028375618	0.1180870135547741	0.06145614212854408
0.19242333590965235	0.346362004637374	0.513417119032592	0.3209937831229397	0.1670551143952178

#### Conclusion

In this paper, we dealt with analytical solutions include the LDM and the MLDM, which we discussed convergence and compared to the exact solution where we found that the convergence achieved by the modification method is more efficient and accurate than the Laplace decomposition method.

#### References

[1] Sabaa M A, Mohammed M A and Abd Almjeed S 2019 Approximate solutions for alcohol consumption model in spain *Ibn Al Haitham J. for Pure and Appl. Sci.* **32** 153-64.

- [2] Sabri R I 2015 A New three step iterative method without second derivative for solving nonlinear equations *Baghdad Sci.J.* **12** 632-6.
- [3] Whitham G B 1967 Variational methods and applications to water wave *Proceedings of the Royal Society A* **299** 6–25.
- [4] Fornberg B and Whitham G B 1978 A numerical and theoretical study of certain nonlinear wave phenomena *Philos. Trans. R. Soc.*, A. **289** 373–404.
- [5] Abidi F and Omrani K 2010 The homotopy analysis method for solving the Fornberg\_Whitham equation and comparison with Adomian's decomposition method *Comput.Math.AppL.* **59** 2743-50.
- [6] Lu J 2011 An analytical approach to the Fornberg–Whitham type equations by using the variational iteration method *Comput.Math.AppL* **61** 2010–13.
- [7] Ramadan M A and Al-luhaibi M S, A new iterative method for solving the Fornberg\_Whitham and comparison with homotopy perturbation transform method 2014 *British Journal of Mathematics & Computer Science* 4 1213-27.
- [8] Abd Almjeed S H 2018 The Approximate solution of the F-W by a semi-analytical iterative technique *Engineering and Technology Journal* **36** 120-3. *Eng. Tech. journal*
- [9] Wazwaz A and Mehanna M S 2010 The Combined Laplace-Adomian method for handling singular integral equation of Heat transfer *International Journal of Nonlinear Science* 10 248-52. *JJNS*
- [10] Khuri S A 2001 A Laplace decomposition algorithm applied to class of nonlinear differential equations *Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 1 141 55. *J. Appl. Math.*
- [11] Khuri S A 2004 A new approach to Bratu's problem Appl. Math. Comput. 147 131 6.
- [12] Jafari H, Khalique C M and Nazari M, Application of the Laplace decomposition method for solving linear and nonlinear fractional diffusion–wave equations 2011 *Appl. Math. Lett.* 24 1799–805.
- [13] Yin F K, Han W Y and Song J Q 2013 Modified Laplace Decomposition Method for Lane-Emden Type Differential Equations *Int. J. Appl. Phys. Math.* **3** 98-102.
- [14] Wazwaz A 2009 *Partial differential equations and solitary waves theory*, Higher Education Press, Beijing and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.

#### Acknowledgements

The author would like to appreciate the effort from editors and reviewers. This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

# On the Dirichlet Problem for the Nonlinear Diffusion Equation with Convection and Reaction

Habeeb A. Aal-Rkhais

Department of Mathematics, College of Computer Science and Mathematics,

University of Thi-Qar, Iraq( <u>habeebk@utq.edu.iq</u> )

**Abstract:** We consider the nonlinear parabolic equations for the nonlinear diffusion-convection-reaction processes applying in many areas of science and engineering, such as filtration of gas or fluid in porous media. The aim of this paper is to concentrate on the existence of the weak solutions and boundary regularity for the Dirichlet problem of the degenerate parabolic equations in irregular domains in some cases where both the convection and reaction terms have the same exponents. The notion of parabolic modulus has a significant role for the boundary continuity of the solutions.

#### 10

11 Keywords: Dirichlet problems, degenerate parabolic equations, weak solutions.

#### 1. Introduction

Consider nonlinear degenerate parabolic PDEs

(1.1) 
$$\mathcal{L}(u) \equiv u_t - a(u^m)_{xx} + b(\ell(u))_x + c\ell(u) = 0$$

with  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $0 < t < \tau$ , a > 0,  $b, c \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\ell(u) = u^p$  and p is a positive exponent for both convection and reaction terms. (1.1) is usually called a porous media equation with convection and reaction terms. It has wide applications in chemistry, physics and biology involving diffusion with convection or advection and accompanied with additional source as for instance in modeling filtration in porosity of the medium, flow of a chemical reacting fluid on a flat surface, transport of thermal energy in a plasma, evolution and development of populations. In [12], the mathematical theory of nonlinear implicit degenerate parabolic equations begins and the general theory, which is represented the concepts of the existence, uniqueness and boundary regularity of the boundary problems for classical general nonlinear diffusion equation in special case the equation (1.1) with m > 1, b = 0, and c = 0 have been discussed. A lots of works on this equation introduced by a general list of references [9, 16, 14] etc. General theory for reaction-diffusion in non-cylindrical domains was introduced in a serious works in [1,2,3].

In this paper, we study the existence of weak solutions for DP of nonlinear diffusionconvection-reaction equations in particular case where the convection and reaction terms have the same exponent p. There are in a literature review some papers dealing with the boundary value problems in irregular or noncylindrical domain with nonsmooth boundaries. Let consider the following problem for the heat equation  $u = u_{xx}$  in  $\Omega$  with initial and boundary conditions:

(1.2) 
$$u(x,0) = u_0(x), \ \rho_1(0) \le x \le \rho_2(0)$$

(1.3) 
$$u(\rho_i(t), t) = \psi_i(t), \ 0 \le t \le \tau,$$

where  $\Omega = \{(x,t): \rho_1(t) \le x \le \rho_2(t), 0 \le t \le \tau\}, 0 < \tau \le +\infty, \rho_i, \psi_i \in C[0;\tau], i = 1,2, \rho_1(t) < \rho_2(t) \text{ for } t \in [0;\tau], u_0 \in C([\rho_1(0); \rho_2(0)]) \text{ and } u_0(\rho_i(0)) = \psi_i(0).$  Proving the existence of a classical solution to the DP for the heat equation with the conditions (1.2), (1.3) was established in [8] if the boundary curves  $\rho_i(t)$  satisfy a Hölder condition with Hölder exponent bigger than 1/2.

#### 2. Statement of Problem

In this paper, we focus on the following problem

**Problem**(*Dirichlet problem* (*DP*)): Finding a weak solution of a nonlinear parabolic equation (1.1) in  $\Omega$  with the conditions (1.3)-(1.4).

**Definition 2.1.** Let u(x,t) be a function. It a weak solution of the DP in  $\Omega$  if (a) u is a nonnegative continuous function in  $\overline{\Omega}$ , and  $u \in L_{\infty}(\Omega \cap (\tau_1 \ge t))$  for a finite  $0 < \tau_1 \le T$ . (b) for any  $\beta_i(t), t_0 \le t \le t_1, i = 1,2$ ; are  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  functions such that  $\rho_1(t) < \beta_1(t) < \beta_2(t) < \rho_2(t)$  for  $[t_0, t_1] \subset [0, T]$ , the integral identity holds

$$J(u,\phi,\Omega_1) = \int_{t_0}^{t_1} \int_{\beta_1(t)}^{\beta_2(t)} (u \phi_t + a u^m \phi_{xx} - b u^p \phi + c u^p \phi_x) dx dt$$
  
(2.1) 
$$- \int_{t_0}^{t_1} a u^m \phi_x \left|_{\beta_1(t)}^{\beta_2(t)} dt - \int_{\beta_1(t)}^{\beta_2(t)} u \phi \right|_{t_2}^{t_1} dx = 0 ,$$

where  $\Omega_1 = \{(x,t): \beta_1(t) \le x \le \beta_2(t), t_0 < t < t_1\}$  and  $\phi \in C_{x,t}^{2,1}(\overline{\Omega}_1)$  is a function that equals zero when  $x = \beta_i(t), t_0 \le t \le t_1, i = 1, 2$ .

**Definition 2.2.** A function u(x, t) is said to be a supersolution of the DP in  $\Omega$  if (**a**) and (**b**) of definition 2.1 are satisfied except for  $J(u, \phi, \Omega_1) \leq 0$  for any nonnegative function  $\phi \in C^{2,1}_{x,t}(\overline{\Omega}_1)$ .

**Definition 2.3.** A function u(x, t) is said to be a subsolution of the DP in  $\Omega$  if (a) and (b) of definition 2.1 are satisfied except for  $J(u, \phi, \Omega_1) \ge 0$  for any nonnegative function  $\phi \in C^{2,1}_{x,t}(\overline{\Omega}_1)$ .

**Definition 2.4.** Let  $\rho_i \in C[0; \tau]$ , i = 1, 2 and for any fixed  $t_0 > 0$  consider a function  $\omega_{t_0}^-(\rho_1; \delta) = max(\rho_1(t_0) - \rho_2(t): t_0 - \delta \le t \le t_0$ 

$$\omega_{t_0}^+(\rho_2;\delta) = \min(\rho_1(t_0) - \rho_2(t): t_0 - \delta \le t \le t_0$$

with  $\delta > 0$  is sufficiently small and this function is well defined and converge to zero as  $\delta \to 0^+$ . The function  $\omega_{t_0}^-(\rho_1;.)$  is called the left modulus of lower semi-continuity of the function  $\rho_1$  at the point  $t_0$ ; and  $\omega_{t_0}^+(\rho_2;.)$  is called the left modulus of upper semi-continuity of the function  $\rho_2$  at the point  $t_0$ .

Assumption( $\mathcal{L}$ ): Let  $\mathcal{F}(\delta)$  be a function such that  $\mathcal{F}$  is defined for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ ;  $\mathcal{F}$  is positive and converges to 0 as  $\delta \to 0^+$  and

(2.2) 
$$\omega_{\overline{t}_0}^-(\rho_1;\delta) \le \delta^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F}(\delta).$$

Assumption( $\mathcal{R}$ ): Let  $\mathcal{F}(\delta)$  be a function such that  $\mathcal{F}$  is defined for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ ;  $\mathcal{F}$  is positive and converges to 0 as  $\delta \to 0^+$  and

(2.3) 
$$\omega_{t_0}^+(\rho_2;\delta) \le \delta^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{F}(\delta).$$

The sufficient and necessary condition to satisfy regularity of boundary points in initial boundary value problem and in Wiener type [15] and the geometric characterizations for boundary points of any bounded open subset of  $R^{N+1}$  for a heat equation have been established in [5, 10]. The sufficient conditions are presented in [7, 18] for regularity of the boundary in the situation of general nonlinear non-degenerate parabolic equations. In [13], the multidimensional Kolmogorov Petrovski test is presented for the boundary regularity for the heat equations. In this paper we are interested in DP to equation (1.1) and the general strategies for the existence results coincide with the classical solution for the DP to Laplace equation [15].

The goal of this paper is to get our attention by studying the existence of a weak solution and boundary regularity of the DP for the nonlinear degenerate parabolic diffusion equation (1.1) with convection and reaction terms in irregular domain or non-smooth boundary curves. The methods that we use are standard parabolic regularizations, construction of barriers and Bernstein method. First, we use an approximation of both the domain  $\Omega$  and boundary function, as well as standard regularization of (1.1), we also construct a sequence of classical solutions in smooth domains which converges to a solution of (1.1). We then use barriers and a limiting process to prove a boundary regularity. In particular, we study the regularity of the boundary point under the assumptions ( $\mathcal{L}$ ) and ( $\mathcal{R}$ ).

#### 2. Preliminary Results

In this section we use parabolic regularization technique to construct the auxiliary classical problem to prove the preliminary results. Let  $\{\epsilon_n\}$  and  $\{\tau_n\}$  be a monotonic sequences with  $\epsilon_n \to 0^+$ . Let  $\tau_n \equiv \tau$  if  $\tau < +\infty$  and  $\{\tau_n\}$  be positive sequence such that  $\tau_n \to +\infty$  as  $n \to +\infty$  if  $\tau = +\infty$ . Let  $\{\rho_{jn}\}, j = 1,2$  be sequences of functions and  $\rho_{in} \in C^{\infty}[0; \tau_n], \rho_{1n}(t) < \rho_{2n}(t)$ . For  $t \in [0; \tau_n]$  and

$$\lim_{n\to+\infty}\max_{0\leq t\leq\tau_n}|\rho_{in}(t)-\rho_i(t)|=0.$$

Suppose that  $\rho_1(0) = 0$ ,  $\rho_2(0) = D > 0$ ,  $\rho_{1n}(0) = \rho_{1n}^0$ ,  $\rho_{2n}(0) = \rho_{2n}^0$ . Also, we consider some restrictions on the sequence  $\{\rho_{in}^0\}$  will be expressed below. Let  $\gamma$  be any number which satisfies

$$\gamma = 1 \text{ if } c < 0 \text{ and } \gamma > \max(m^{-1}; p^{-1}; 1) \quad \text{if} \quad c \ge 0.$$

Let consider  $\epsilon_1^{\gamma} < H$  without loss of generality and sequences of functions  $\{u_{0n}\}, \{\psi_{1n}\}, \{\psi_{2n}\}$  and numbers  $\{\phi_{1n}^0\}, \{\phi_{2n}^0\}$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} (i) \ \rho_{1n}^{0} \in [0; \ \vartheta/4], \ \rho_{2n}^{0} \in [(3/4)\vartheta; \ \vartheta], \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_{1n}^{0} = 0, \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_{2n}^{0} = \vartheta, \\ (ii) \ u_{0}(0) - \chi(\epsilon_{n})/2 &\leq u_{0}(\rho_{1n}^{0}) \leq (u_{0}^{m}(0) + (\chi(\epsilon_{n})/2)^{m})^{1/m}, \\ (iii) \ u_{0}(\vartheta) - \chi(\epsilon_{n})/2 &\leq u_{0}(\rho_{2n}^{0}) \leq (u_{0}^{m}(\vartheta) + (\chi(\epsilon_{n})/2)^{m})^{1/m}, \\ (iv) \ \epsilon_{n}^{\gamma} &\leq u_{0n}(x), \ \psi_{in}(t) \leq H \ for \ (x, t) \in [0; \vartheta] \times [0; \ \tau_{n}], \\ (v) \ u_{0n} \in C^{\infty}[0; \vartheta], \ \psi_{in} \in C^{\infty}[0; \vartheta], \quad i = 1, 2, \\ (vi) u_{0n}(\rho_{1n}^{0}) &= \psi_{1n}(0), a \ (u_{0n}^{m})''(\rho_{1n}^{0}) + (\rho_{1n}')u_{0n}'(\rho_{1n}^{0}) - b(u_{0n}^{p})'(\rho_{1n}^{0}) \\ &- cu_{0n}^{p}(\rho_{1n}^{0}) + c\theta_{c} \ \epsilon_{n}^{p\gamma} &= \psi_{1n}'(0), \\ (vii) \ u_{0n}(\rho_{2n}^{0}) &= \psi_{2n}(0), a \ (u_{0n}^{m})''(\rho_{2n}^{0}) + (\rho_{2n}') \ u_{0n}'(\rho_{2n}^{0}) - b \ (u_{0n}^{p})'(\rho_{2n}^{0}) \end{aligned}$$

$$-cu_{0n}^{p}(\rho_{2n}^{0}) + c\theta_{c} \ \epsilon_{n}^{p\gamma} = \psi_{2n}'(0)$$

(viii)  $0 \le u_{0n}(x) - u_0(x) \le \chi(\epsilon_n)$ , for  $0 \le x \le \vartheta$ .

$$(ix) \ 0 \le \psi_{in}^m(t) - \psi_i^m(t) \le \chi^m(\epsilon_n), for \ 0 \le t \le \tau_n, i = 1, 2.$$

where  $\chi(x) = Cx^{\gamma}$  for  $x \ge 0$  and C > 0. Let assume that  $\chi(x)$  is an arbitrary positive monotonic and continuous function with  $\lim_{x\to 0^+} \chi(x) = 0$ , if the boundary and initial functions have a positive infimum value. Consider the following auxiliary DP problem

(3.1) 
$$L_n u \equiv \mathcal{L}(u) - c\theta_c \epsilon_n^{p\gamma} in \Omega_n,$$

(3.2) 
$$u(x,0) = u_{0n}(x), \quad \rho_{1n}^0 \le x \le \rho_{2n}^0,$$

(3.3) 
$$u(p_{in}(t),t) = \psi_{in}(t), \ 0 \le t \le \tau_n, \quad i = 1, 2,$$

where  $\Omega_n = \{(x, t): \rho_{1n}(t) \le x \le \rho_{2n}(t), \ 0 \le t \le \tau_n\}.$ 

**Lemma 1.** Suppose that the sequences of functions  $\{\psi_{in}\}$  and  $\{u_{0n}\}$ , and sequences of numbers  $\{\rho_{in}^0\}$  satisfy the conditions (i)-(ix) then there exists a classical solution  $u_n(x,t)$  of the problem (3.1)-(3.3) which satisfy

(3.4) 
$$(u_n)_x \in C^{2+\mu_1,1+\mu_1/2}_{x,t}(\Omega_n)$$
 for some  $\mu_1 > 0$ ,

(3.5) 
$$\epsilon_n^{\gamma} \le u_n(x,t) \le \psi_{2n}(t), \text{ for } (x,t) \in \overline{\Omega}_n.$$

*Proof of Lemma 1.* By applying a standard method, and we suppose without loss of generality that the sequences  $\{\rho_{1n}\}$ ,  $\{\rho_{2n}\}$  satisfy the conditions (i)-(ix), If we consider a new variable

$$\vartheta(x - p_{1n}(t))(p_{2n}(t) - p_{1n}(t))^{-1} \to y,$$

Then (3.1)-(3.3) will be changed to the problem

$$v_{t} = a\vartheta^{2} (\rho_{2n}(t) - \rho_{1n}(t))^{-2} (v^{m})_{yy} + (\vartheta \rho_{1n}'(t) + ((\rho_{2n}'(t) - \rho_{1n}'(t))y) \times$$
(3.6)  $(\rho_{2n}(t) - \rho_{1n}(t))^{-1} v_{y} - b\vartheta (\rho_{2n}(t) - \rho_{1n}(t))^{-1} (v^{p})_{y}$ 
 $-c(v^{p} - c\theta_{c} \epsilon_{n}^{p\gamma}) \quad in \quad \Omega_{n}',$ 

(3.7) 
$$v(y,0) = u_{0n}(\rho_{1n}^0 + \vartheta^{-1}(\rho_{2n}^0 - \rho_{1n}^0)y) for \ 0 \le y \le \vartheta,$$

(3.8) 
$$v(0,t) = \psi_{1n}(t), \quad v(\vartheta,t) = \psi_{2n}(t) \ 0 \le t \le \tau_n,$$

where  $\Omega_n'=\{(y,t)\colon 0\leq y\ \leq\ \vartheta\ \ ,0\leq t\leq\ \tau_n\},$  and  $\psi_{2n}(t)=\Psi(t)$  such that

$$\Psi(t) = \begin{cases} [H^{1-p} - c(1-\theta_c)(1-p)t]^{1/(1-p)}, & \text{if } p \neq t, \\ H \exp(-c(1-\theta_c)t), & \text{if } p \neq 0 \end{cases}$$

we get from [11] that the problem (3.6)-(3.8) has a unique classical solution  $v = v_n(y, t)$  such that  $v_n \in C_{x,t}^{2+\mu_1,1+\mu_1/2}(\Omega'_n)$  with some  $\mu_1 > 0$ . From the maximum principle, we get

(3.9) 
$$\epsilon_n^{\gamma} \le v_n(y,t) \le \Psi(t) \text{ in } \Omega'_n$$

Hence, the functions  $u_n(x,t) = v_n \left( \vartheta(x - \rho_{1n}(t)) \left( \rho_{2n}(t) - \rho_{1n}(t) \right)^{-1}, t \right)$  is the classical solution of the problem (3.1)-(3.3), then (4.5) follows. Also, from [6], (3.4) holds.

From the priori estimations in lemma 1, we proved that the classical solution to (3.1)-(3.3) exists. we apply Hölder estimates for the classical solutions in [17], then we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.** Let  $u_n$  be a classical solution of (3.1)-(3.3) and a sequences of numbers  $\{\rho_{in}^0\}$  and the sequences of functions  $\{u_{0n}\}$  and  $\{\psi_{in}\}$  satisfy the conditions (i)-(ix) then we get the limit solution

(3.10) 
$$u(x,t) = \lim_{n \to \infty} u_n(x,t).$$

*Proof of Lemma 2.* Since the problem (3.1)-(3.3) has a classical solution by lemma 1, we can consider that a sequence  $\{\Omega^k\}$  of compact subsets of  $\Omega$  such that

(3.11) 
$$\Omega^k \subset \Omega^{k+1}, \qquad \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \Omega^k = \Omega.$$

Obviously, for each fixed k, there exists a number n(k) such that  $\Omega^k \subset \Omega_n$  for  $n(k) \leq k$ . The sequence  $\{u_n\}$  should be satisfy the following inequality

(3.12) 
$$\left|\frac{\partial u_n^m}{\partial x}\right| \le H_1 \text{ in } \Omega^k,$$

where  $H_1 = H_1(k)$  is an arbitrary constant. From [14], by using method of Bernstein then the estimation (3.12) is established. It implies that

(3.13) 
$$|u_n(x,t) - u_n(y,t)| \le H_2 |x-y|^{\alpha}$$
 in  $\Omega^k$ ,

where  $H_2 = H_2(k)$  and  $\alpha = min(m^{-1}; 1)$ . From (3.13) that we can easily establish the Hölder estimation with respect to variable of time. Then, we prove the estimation (3.14) in similar way as it is proved in [12],

(3.14) 
$$|u_n(x,t) - u_n(y,t)| \le H_3(|x-y|^{\alpha} + |t-\tau|^{\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha}}) \text{ in } \Omega^k.$$

where  $H_3 = H_3(k)$ . Therefore for  $n(k) \le n$ , the sequence  $\{u_n\}$  is uniformly bounded and equicontinuous in the sequence of sets  $\Omega^k$ . From [4], we get more general results to establish that the sequence  $\{u_n\}$  is equicontinuous in  $\Omega^k$ . From (3.14), (3.11), and by applying an Arzela-Ascoli theorem and a diagonalisation argument, we get a subsequence  $\{u_j\}$  such that  $u_j \to u'$  as  $j \to \infty$ , pointwise in  $\Omega$ , where a limit function u' is continuous. Also,  $\{u_j\}$  is uniformly convergent on all compact subsets of  $\Omega$ . Obviously,  $u' \in L_{\infty}(\Omega)$  if  $c \ge 0$  or c < 0and p > 1 and  $u' \in L_{\infty}(\Omega \cap (t \le \tau_1))$  for a finite value  $\tau_1 > 0$  if c < 0 and 0 . Thus, we consider that u(x; t) is a function such that u(x, t) = u'(x, t) for  $(x, t) \in \Omega$ ; with the initial condition  $u(x, 0) = u_0(x)$  where  $\rho_1(0) \le x < \rho_2(0)$  and the boundary functions  $u(\rho_i(0), t) = \psi_i(t)$  where  $t \in [0, \tau_n]$ .

#### 2. Main Results

Depending on the results in sections 2 and 3, we prove the main existence theorem for the DP (1.1), (1.3), (1.4) by using same strategies and methods which presented in [1, 10, 13].

**Theorem 4.1.** If  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  satisfy the assumptions ( $\mathcal{L}$ ) and ( $\mathcal{R}$ ), respectively; then a weak solution for the DP (1.1), (1.3), (1.4) in  $\Omega$  exists.

*Proof.* From lemma 1 and lemma 2 we proved the existence of classical solution  $u_n$  which satisfies the limit solution (3.10). Also, the integral identity (2.1) is satisfied. Now, according to definition 2.1, we have to get our attention in proving the continuity of function u(x, t). Obviously, we may be easily establish the continuity of u at along the line t = 0. If function  $u_0^m(x)$  is locally Lipschitz continuous, then from lemma 2, the estimations (3.13), (3.14) are established at the point  $(x_0, 0)$ ,  $x_0 > \rho_1(0)$ . Generally, we establish the continuity of u at the point  $(x_0, 0)$  by using barriers technique. Next, we will prove the continuity of the function u at the points (x, t),  $x = \rho_i(t)$ ,  $t \ge 0$ . For that, we consider the following function

$$v(y,t) = u(\rho_1(t) + \vartheta^{-1}(\rho_2(t) - \rho_1(t))y, t), \quad (y,t) \in \Omega'.$$

where  $\Omega' = \{(y, t) : y \in [0, \vartheta] \ , t \in [0, \tau_n]\}$ . Clearly that

 $v \in C(\Omega') \cap L_{\infty}(\Omega')$  if p > 1 and  $c \ge 0$  or c < 0,

$$v \in C(\Omega') \cap L_{\infty}(\Omega' \cap (t \le \tau_1))$$
 if  $0 and  $c < 0$ ,$ 

where  $\tau_1 \in (0; \tau]$  is a finite number. Then we have a point-wise convergent sequence  $\{v_j\}$  to the function v as  $j \to +\infty$  in  $\Omega'_n$  and uniformly convergent on all compact subsets of  $\Omega'$ . Since there are equivalence between the continuity of u along the points  $x = \rho_i(t), i = 1,2$ ; and the continuity of v along the points x = 0 and  $x = \vartheta$ . We will divide the proof into two steps: Step 1. To show v is continuous on y = 0;  $t \ge 0$ , we shall prove that the following two inequalities are valid for  $\tau_0 \ge 0$ ,  $\psi_1(\tau_0) > 0$ 

(4.1) 
$$\lim_{(y,t)\to(0,\tau_0)} \inf v(y,t) \geq \psi_1(\tau_0) - \epsilon,$$

(4.2) 
$$\lim_{(y,t)\to(0,\tau_0)} \sup v(y,t) \ge \psi_1(\tau_0) - \epsilon.$$

Since  $\epsilon > 0$  is an arbitrary real number, then v is continuous at the boundary points  $(0, \tau_0)$  which comes from (4.1), (4.2). If  $\psi_1(\tau_0) = 0$ , and since (4.1) with  $\epsilon = 0$  in the lower bound inequality directly comes from that v is non-negative in  $\overline{\Omega}'$ , then it is the same way to prove (4.2). First, we will prove (4.1) if  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $\psi_1(\tau_0) > 0$ , so we must estimate the subsolution from the lemma below and thereby complete the first part of the proof.

**Lemma 3.** Let  $\psi_1(\tau_0) > 0$  and  $\epsilon \in (0; \psi_1(\tau_0))$  and consider a function  $w_n(y,t) = f(\zeta)$ such that  $f(\zeta) = H_1(\zeta/h(\mu))^{\alpha}$ ,  $H_1 = \psi_1(\tau_0) - \epsilon$ ,  $\mu > 0$ , h > 0, where

$$\zeta = h(\mu) - \left(1 - \vartheta^{-1}\rho_{1n}(t)\right)y + \mu(t - t_0) + \rho_{1n}(t_0) - \rho_{1n}(t)$$

then we can choose  $\mu$  is so large such that

(4.3) 
$$L_n \omega_n \le 0 \text{ for } 0 \le \zeta \le h(\mu)(1+\lambda).$$

*Proof of Lemma 3.* Let  $t_0 > 0$  be fixed where  $\psi_1(\tau_0) > 0$  and  $\epsilon \in (0; \psi_1(\tau_0))$  then we take  $h(\mu) = H_3 \mathcal{F}(\mu^{-2}) \mu^{-1}$  such that

$$H_3 = 1/((H_2H_1^{-1})^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - 1), \quad H_2 = \psi_1(\tau_0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}, \quad \mu_0 < \mu;$$

where  $\mu_0 = \sqrt{1/\delta_0}$ , and we suppose that the boundary curves  $\rho_1$  satisfies (2.2) from assumption ( $\mathcal{L}$ ) at the point  $t = \tau_0$ . If  $\tau_0 = 0$  and  $\mu \ge \mu_0 = 1$ , then we can choose  $h(\mu) = 1/\mu^2$ ,  $\mu \ge \mu_0 = 1$ . Let  $f(\zeta)$  be a function for all  $\zeta \in [0, h(\mu)(1 + \lambda)]$ , where  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $\lambda \ge (H_2 H_1^{-1})^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - 1$ .

Assume that either  $b \ge 0$  or b < 0, and if c > 0 or  $c \le 0, p \ge 1$ , we take two cases as shown in Figure 1:

- (A) if  $0 < m \le 1$ , then  $\alpha > m^{-1}$ ,
- (B) if m > 1, then  $m^{-1} < \alpha < (m-1)^{-1}$ .

If b < 0, c > 0, 0 , we take four different cases as shown in Figure 1:

(C) if 
$$m > 1$$
,  $0 , then  $m^{-1} < \alpha \le \min\{(m-1)^{-1}; (1-p)^{-1}\}$ ,  
(D) if  $0 , then  $m^{-1} < \alpha \le (1-p)^{-1}$ ,  
(E) if  $0 < m \le \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $m \le p \le 1-m$ , then  $\alpha > m^{-1}$ ,  
(F) if  $0 ,  $p \le m \le 1-p$ , then  $m^{-1} < \alpha \le 2/(m-p)$ .$$$ 

It may be easily checked that

(4.4) 
$$L_n \omega_n \equiv \mu f' - a(f^m)'' + b(f^p)' + cf^p - c\theta_c \epsilon_n^{p\gamma},$$

Assume that  $b \ge 0$ , or b < 0,  $p \ge 1$  and the cases (A)-(B) are satisfied (see Figure 1), then we have the following estimation from (4.4)

(4.5) 
$$L_{n}\omega_{n} \leq f^{\frac{\alpha-1}{\alpha}} \left\{ \alpha H_{1}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \mu h^{-1}(\mu) - h^{-2}(\mu) a H_{1}^{\frac{2}{\alpha}} m \alpha (m\alpha - 1) H_{4}^{((m-1)\alpha - 1)/\alpha} - b(1 - \theta_{b}) H_{1}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \alpha p h^{-1}(\mu) H_{4}^{p-1} + c \theta_{c} H_{4}^{p-1+1/\alpha} \right\}$$

where  $H_4 = H_1(1 + \lambda)^{\alpha}$ . We take  $\mu h(\mu) \to 0$  as  $\mu \uparrow \infty$ , and choose  $\mu_1 \ge \mu_0$  is fixed and so large if  $\mu \ge \mu_1$ , then (4.3) is satisfied.

If however, b < 0, c > 0, 0 and <math>m, p are in the regions (C)-(F)(see Figure 1), then we have the following estimation from (4.4)

(4.6) 
$$L_{n}\omega_{n} \leq f^{p} \left\{ \mu h^{-1}(\mu) \alpha H_{1}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} H_{4}^{1-p-1/\alpha} - h^{-2}(\mu) \alpha H_{1}^{\frac{2}{\alpha}} m\alpha (m\alpha - 1) H_{4}^{m-p-2/\alpha} - b(1-\theta_{b}) H_{1}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \alpha p h^{-1}(\mu) H_{4}^{-1/\alpha} + c \right\}$$

As before, from (4.6), we can choose  $\mu_1 \ge \mu_0$  is fixed and so large if  $\mu \ge \mu_1$ , then (4.3) is satisfied. The lemma is proved.



**Figure 1**.Domain of the boundary regularity barrier in the parameter space (m, p).

We now return to complete proof of the inequality (4.1). Since  $\psi_1(t)$  is continuous then we consider the numbers  $\mu_1 \leq \mu_2$  such that  $\psi_1(\tau_0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2} < \psi_1(t)$  for  $\tau_0 - \frac{1}{\mu_0^2} \leq t \leq \tau_0 + \delta_1$ , where if  $\tau_0 = T < +\infty$  then we choose  $\delta_1 > 0$  depends on  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\tau_0 + \delta_1 < T$ . If  $\tau_0 = T < +\infty$  then we choose  $\delta_1 > 0$  depends on  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\psi_1(0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2} < \psi_1(t)$  for  $0 \leq t \leq \delta_1$ . We will estimate  $\omega_n(0, t)$  in the neighborhood of  $\tau_0$ . Since we have  $\omega_n(0, \tau_0) = \psi_1(\tau_0) - \epsilon$  and for a continuous function f and a uniformly convergent sequence  $\{\rho_n\}$  to  $\rho$  as  $n \uparrow +\infty$  for every  $\mu \geq \mu_2$  there exists  $\delta_2 > 0$  which depends on  $\mu$ ,  $\epsilon$ , and does not depend on n such that  $\delta_2 \leq \delta_1$ . Let  $N_1$  be a number which depends on  $\mu$ ,  $\epsilon$  such that for  $n \geq N_1$ ,  $\omega_n(0, t) < \psi_1(\tau_0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}$  for  $\tau_0 \leq t \leq \tau_0 + \delta_2$ . We choose  $\delta_2 = 0$  if  $\tau_0 = T$  and  $\delta_2 > 0$  if  $\tau_0 < T$ . Let suppose that  $\tau_0 > 0$  and we consider the function  $\omega_n(0, t)$  for  $t_0 - \mu^{-2} \leq t \leq \tau_0 + \delta_2$ ,  $\mu \geq \mu_2$  and  $n \geq N_1$ . Let consider a uniformly convergent sequence  $\{\rho_{1n}\}$  to  $\rho_1$  as  $n \uparrow +\infty$ , then without loss of generality we suppose that  $\omega_{\tau_0}(\rho_{1n}; \delta)$  is satisfied (2.2) uniformly for  $n \geq N_1, 0 < \delta \leq \delta_0$ . If  $\tau_0 - \mu^{-2} \leq t \leq \tau_0$ , then we have

$$\omega_n(0,t) \le f(h(\mu) + \rho_{1n}(\tau_0) - \rho_{1n}(t)) \le f((H_3^{-1} + 1)h(\mu)) = \psi_1(\tau_0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}.$$

If  $\tau_0 = 0$  we choose and fix numbers  $\mu_2 \ge \mu_1$  and  $N_2 \ge N_1$  so large that if  $\mu \ge \mu_2$ , and  $n \ge N_2$ , then

$$u_0((1-\rho_{1n}^0\vartheta^{-1})y+\rho_{1n}^0) \ge \psi_1(0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2} \text{ for } 0 \le y \le \vartheta(\vartheta-\rho_{1n}^0)^{-1}h(\mu).$$

Now let  $N_3 \ge N_2$  be chosen so large that  $\epsilon_n^{\gamma} < \psi_1(\tau_0) - \epsilon$  for  $n \ge N_3$ . Let  $\eta_n = (M_1^{-1}\epsilon_n^{\gamma})^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}h(\mu), n \ge N_3$ . Obviously,  $\eta_n$  converges university to 0 as  $n \uparrow +\infty$  with respect  $\mu \ge \mu_2$ . Then we set

$$\Omega_{n} = \{ (y,t) \colon 0 < y < \xi_{n}(t), \qquad \tau_{0} - d_{\tau_{0}}(\mu) < t \le \tau_{0} + \delta_{2} \},$$

$$\Gamma_{n} = \{ (y,t) \colon y = \xi_{n}(t), \qquad \tau_{0} - d_{\tau_{0}}(\mu) < t \le \tau_{0} + \delta_{2} \},$$

$$\xi_{n}(t) = \vartheta \big( \vartheta - \rho_{1n}(t) \big)^{-1} (h(\mu) + \mu(t - \tau_{0}) + \rho_{1n}(\tau_{0}) - \rho_{1n}(t) + \eta_{n})$$
where  $d_{\tau}(\mu) = \{ \begin{smallmatrix} 0, & \tau_{0} = 0; \\ 0, & \tau_{0} = 0; \end{smallmatrix}$ 

where  $d_{\tau_0}(\mu) = \begin{cases} 0, & \tau_0 = 0; \\ \mu^{-1}, & \tau_0 > 0. \end{cases}$ 

If  $\tau_0 > 0$ , then since

(4.7) 
$$\xi_n(\tau_0 - \mu^{-2}) \le (h(\mu)(1 + H_3^{-1}) - 1/\mu)\vartheta (\vartheta - \rho_{1n}(\tau_0 - \mu^{-2}))^{-1}$$

Let  $\mu_3 \ge \mu_2$  so large and for arbitrary  $\mu \ge \mu_3$ ,

(4.8) 
$$\xi_n(\tau_0 - \mu^{-2}) \le 0 \text{ for } n \ge N_3.$$

In the case, if  $\tau = +\infty$  then for  $\mu \ge \mu_3$ ,

(4.9) 
$$\tau_0 + \delta_2 \le \tau_n \text{ for } n \ge N_3.$$

If we compare  $\omega_n(y, t)$  with  $v_n(y, t)$  in  $\Omega_n$  for  $\mu \ge \mu_3$ , and for  $n \ge N_3(\mu, \epsilon)$ :

$$\omega_n = f(\eta_n) = \epsilon_n^{\gamma} \le v_n \text{ for } (y, t) \in \Gamma_n,$$

$$\omega_n(0,t) \le \psi_1(\tau_0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2} < \psi_1(t) \le \psi_{1n}(t) \le v_n(0,t) \text{ for } \tau_0 - d_{\tau_0}(\mu) < t \le \tau_0 + \delta_2.$$

If  $\tau_0 = 0$  we also have

$$\begin{split} \omega_n(y,0) &\leq f\big(h(\mu)\big) = u_0(0) - \epsilon \leq u_0\big((1 - \vartheta^{-1}\rho_{1n}^0)y + \rho_{1n}^0\big) \\ &\leq v_n(y,0) \text{ for } 0 \leq y \leq \vartheta\big(\vartheta - \rho_{1n}^0(t)\big)^{-1}(h(\mu) - \eta_n). \end{split}$$

Since the function  $\omega_n$  is smooth and bounded away from zero in  $\overline{\Omega}_n$  by  $\epsilon_n^{\gamma}$ . Suppose that a function  $z = v_n - \omega_n$ . On a parabolic boundary of  $\Omega_n$ , we have  $z \ge 0$ . Then by apply the

maximum principle theorem, it follows  $z \ge 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}_n$ . Let  $\mathcal{O} = \{(y, t): 0 < t \le \tau_0 + \delta_2; 0 < y < y_0\}$ , where  $y_0 \in (0, r_n)$  and  $\Omega_n \subset \mathcal{O} \subset \Omega'_n$ . Consider

$$\omega_n'(y,t) = \begin{cases} \omega_n(y,t) & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}_n, \\ \epsilon_n^{\gamma} & \text{in } \overline{\mathcal{O}} \setminus \overline{\Omega}_n. \end{cases}$$

Since  $v_n \ge \epsilon_n^{\gamma}$  in  $\overline{\mathcal{O}}$ , we have  $\omega'_n(y,t) \le v_n(y,t)$  in  $\overline{\mathcal{O}}$ . Then as  $n \uparrow +\infty$ , we have

(4.10) 
$$\omega(y,t) \le v(y,t)$$
 in  $\overline{\mathcal{O}}$ ,

where

$$\omega(y,t) = \begin{cases} f(h(\mu) - y + \mu(t - \tau_0) + \rho_1(\tau_0) - \rho_1(t)), & (y,t) \in \overline{\Omega} \\ 0, & (y,t) \in \overline{O} \backslash \overline{\Omega} \end{cases}$$

and  $\Omega = \{(y,t): \tau_0 - d_{\tau_0}(\mu) < t \le \tau_0 + \delta_2, 0 < y \le h(\mu) + \mu(t - \tau_0) + \rho_1(\tau_0) - \rho_1(t) \}.$ Obviously, we have

(4,11) 
$$\lim_{\substack{(y,t)\to(0,\tau_0)\\(y,t)\in\bar{\mathcal{O}}}}\omega(y,t) = \lim_{\substack{(y,t)\to(0,\tau_0)\\(y,t)\in\bar{\Omega}}}\omega(y,t) = \psi_1(\tau_0) - \epsilon.$$

Hence, from (4.10), (4.1) follows.

Let us now prove (4.2) for  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $\psi_1(\tau_0) > 0$ . We will estimate the supersolution from the following lemma and thereby complete the proof.

**Lemma 4.** Let  $\psi(\tau_0) > 0$  and  $\epsilon \in (0; \psi(\tau_0))$  and  $\omega_n(y, t) = f_1(\xi)$  such that

$$f_1(\xi) = [\overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} + \xi h^{-1}(\mu)(\overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - H^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}_5)]^{\alpha},$$

where  $H_5 = \psi_1(\tau_0) + \epsilon$ ,  $\mu > 0$ ,  $h_1 > 0$  and  $0 < \alpha < \min\{m^{-1}; p^{-1}\}$ , and

 $\xi = h_1(\mu) - (1 - \vartheta^{-1}\rho_n(t))y + \mu(t - \tau_0) + \rho_{1n}(\tau_0) - \rho_{1n}(t), \text{ then we can choose } \mu \text{ is so}$ large such that

(4.12) 
$$L_n \omega_n > 0 \text{ for } 0 \le \xi \le (1 + \lambda_1) h_1(\mu).$$

*Proof of Lemma 4.* Let  $H' = \Psi(\tau_0 + \delta')$ , where  $\delta' > 0$  and  $\Psi$  is a continuous function at the point  $\tau_0 + \delta'$ . Let take  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\psi_1(\tau_0) + \epsilon < H'$ . If  $\tau_0 > 0$  then we choose

$$h_1(\mu) = H_7 \mu^{-1} \mathcal{F}(\mu^{-2}), \qquad H_7 = (\overline{H^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}} - H_5^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})(H_5^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - H_6^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})^{-1},$$

$$H_6 = \psi_1(\tau_0) + \frac{\epsilon}{2}, \quad \mu \ge \mu_0.$$

Where  $\mu_0 = \delta_0^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  and let us take that the curve  $\rho_1$  which satisfies the assumption ( $\mathcal{L}$ ) and the condition (2.2) at  $\tau_0$  for  $\delta \in (0; \delta_0]$ . If  $\tau_0 = 0$ , we choose  $h_1(\mu) = \mu^{-2}, \mu \ge \mu_0 = 1$ . Consider a function  $f_1(\xi)$  for  $0 \le \xi \le (1 + \lambda_1)h_1(\mu)$ , where  $\lambda_1 > 0$  such that

$$(\overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - H^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}_{5})(H^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}_{5} - H^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}_{6})^{-1} \le \lambda_{1} \le (\overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - H^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}_{5})H^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}_{5}.$$

Let us estimate

$$L_{n}\omega_{n} = \mu f_{1}' - a(f_{1}^{m})'' + b(f_{1}^{p})' + cf_{1}^{p} - c\theta_{c}\epsilon_{n}^{p\gamma}$$

$$\geq \mu h_{1}^{-1}(\mu)\alpha(H_{5}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - \overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})H_{10} + am\alpha(1 - m\alpha)h_{1}^{-2}(\mu)(\overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - H_{5}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})^{2}H_{9}$$

$$+ c(1 - \theta_{c})\overline{H}^{p} - c\theta_{c}\epsilon_{n}^{p\gamma} + bh_{1}^{-1}(\mu)\alpha p(\overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - H_{5}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})H_{11}^{\frac{\alpha p - 1}{\alpha}},$$

Where  $H_8 = [H_5^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - \lambda_1(\overline{H}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} - H_5^{\frac{1}{\alpha}})]^{\alpha} > 0, H_9 = \overline{H}^{\frac{m\alpha-2}{\alpha}}, H_{10} = \overline{H}^{\frac{\alpha-1}{\alpha}}$  if  $\alpha \ge 1$ , or  $H_{10} = H_8^{\frac{\alpha-1}{\alpha}}$  if  $\alpha < 1$ , and  $H_9 = \overline{H}^{\frac{p\alpha-2}{\alpha}}$  if  $b \ge 0$ , or  $H_{11} = H_8^{\frac{\alpha p-1}{\alpha}}$  if b < 0. Since  $h_1 \mu \to 0$  as  $\mu \uparrow +\infty$  we can choose and fix  $\mu \ge \mu_1$  then (3.11) is satisfied. Here we finished proof the lemma.

Let us now return to complete proof of step 1. Since  $\psi_1(t)$  is continuous, then for  $\mu_2 \ge \mu_1$  and  $\delta_1$  such that  $\psi_1(t) < \psi_1(\tau_0) + \frac{\epsilon}{2}$  for  $\tau_0 - \mu_2^{-2} \le t \le \tau_0 + \delta_1$ , where if  $\tau_0 = \tau < \infty$ , we choose  $\delta_1 = 0$  and if  $\tau_0 < \tau$  then  $\delta_1 = \delta_1(\epsilon) \in (0, \delta']$  such that  $\tau_0 + \delta < \tau$ . If  $\tau_0 = 0$ , then we choose that  $\delta_1 = \delta_1(\epsilon) > 0$  such that  $\psi_1(t) < \psi_1(0) + \frac{\epsilon}{2}$  for  $0 \le t \le \delta_1$ . We now estimate  $\omega_n(0, t)$  in the neighborhood of  $\tau_0$ .

we have  $\omega_n(0, \tau_0) = \psi_1(\tau_0) - \epsilon$  and for a continuous function  $f_1$  and a uniformly convergent sequence  $\{\rho_{1n}\}$  to a continuous function  $\rho_1$  as  $n \uparrow +\infty$  for every  $\mu \ge \mu_2$  there exists  $\delta_2 > 0$  which depends on  $\mu$ ,  $\epsilon$ , and does not depend on n such that  $\delta_2 \le \delta_1$ . Let  $N_1$  be a number which depends on  $\mu$ ,  $\epsilon$  such that for  $n \ge N_1$ ,  $\omega_n(0, t) > \psi_1(\tau_0) + \frac{\epsilon}{2}$  for  $\tau_0 \le t \le$  $\tau_0 + \delta_2$ . We choose  $\delta_2 = 0$  if  $\tau_0 = T$  and  $\delta_2 > 0$  if  $\tau_0 < T$ . Let suppose that  $\tau_0 > 0$  and we consider the function  $\omega_n(0, t)$  for  $t_0 - \mu^{-2} \le t \le \tau_0 + \delta_2$ ,  $\mu \ge \mu_2$  and  $n \ge N_1$ . Let consider a uniformly convergent sequence  $\{\rho_{1n}\}$  to  $\rho_1$  as  $n \uparrow +\infty$ , then without loss of generality we suppose that  $\omega_{\tau_0}^-(\rho_{1n}; \delta)$  is satisfied (2.2) uniformly for  $n \ge N_1, 0 < \delta \le \delta_0$ . If  $\tau_0 - \mu^{-2} \le t \le \tau_0$ , then we have

$$\omega_n(0,t) \ge f_1(h(\mu) + \rho_{1n}(\tau_0) - \rho_{1n}(t)) \ge f_1((H_7^{-1} + 1)h_1(\mu)) = \psi_1(\tau_0) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}.$$

We can choose  $N_2 = N_2(\mu, \epsilon) \ge N_1$  is so large, then for  $n \ge N_2$ ,

$$\psi_1(t) \le \psi_{1n}(t) < \psi_1(0) + \frac{\epsilon}{2} \text{ for } \tau_0 - \mu^{-2} \le t \le \tau_0 + \delta_2$$

If  $\tau_0 = 0$  we choose and fix numbers  $\mu_2 \ge \mu_1$  and  $N_2 \ge N_1$  so large that if  $\mu \ge \mu_2$ , and  $n \ge N_2$ , then

$$u_0((1 - \rho_{1n}^0 \vartheta^{-1})y + \rho_{1n}^0) \le u_0((1 - \rho_{1n}^0 \vartheta^{-1})y + \rho_{1n}^0) + K\epsilon_n^{\gamma}$$
  
$$< u_0(0) + \epsilon \text{ for } 0 \le y \le \vartheta(\vartheta - \rho_{1n}^0)^{-1}h_1(\mu).$$

As before, consider the sets  $\Omega_n$ ,  $\Gamma_n$ ,  $\xi_n$ , then we replace  $\eta_n$  and h with 0 and  $h_1$ , respectively. We can derive (4.7)-(4.9), replacing  $N_3$  and  $H_3$  with  $N_2$  and  $H_7$  respectively.

If we compare  $\omega_n(y,t)$  with  $v_n(y,t)$  in  $\Omega_n$  for  $\mu \ge \mu_3$ , and for  $n \ge N_2(\mu,\epsilon)$ ,

$$\begin{split} &\omega_n(0,t) > v_n(0,t) \text{ for } \tau_0 - d_{\tau_0}(\mu) < t \le \tau_0 + \delta_2. \\ &\omega_n = \overline{M} = \Psi(\tau_0 + \delta') \ge \Psi(\tau_0 + \delta_2) \ge v_n \text{ for } (y,t) \in \overline{\Gamma}_n, \end{split}$$

If  $\tau_0 = 0$  we also have

$$\begin{split} \omega_n(y,0) &\leq f\big(h(\mu)\big) = u_0(0) - \epsilon \leq u_0\big((1 - \vartheta^{-1}\rho_{1n}^0)y + \rho_{1n}^0\big) \\ &\leq v_n(y,0) \text{ for } 0 \leq y \leq \vartheta\big(\vartheta - \rho_{1n}^0(t)\big)^{-1}(h(\mu) - \eta_n). \end{split}$$

Suppose that a function  $z = v_n - \omega_n$ . On a parabolic boundary of  $\Omega_n$ , we have  $z \le 0$ . Then by apply the maximum principle theorem, it follows  $z \le 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}_n$ . As before, consider  $\mathcal{O}$ , where  $y_0 \in (0, r_n)$  and  $\Omega_n \subset \mathcal{O} \subset \Omega'_n$ . Consider

$$\omega_n'(y,t) = \begin{cases} \omega_n(y,t) & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}_n, \\ \overline{H} & \text{in } \overline{O} \setminus \overline{\Omega}_n. \end{cases}$$

Since  $v_n \leq \overline{H}$  in  $\overline{O}$ , we have  $\omega'_n(y,t) \geq v_n(y,t)$  in  $\overline{O}$ . Then as  $n \uparrow +\infty$ , we have

(4.13)  $\omega(y,t) \ge v(y,t)$  in  $\overline{\mathcal{O}}$ ,

where

$$\omega(y,t) = \begin{cases} f_1(h_1(\mu) - y + \mu(t - \tau_0) + \rho_1(\tau_0) - \rho_1(t)), & (y,t) \in \overline{\Omega} \\ \overline{H}, & (y,t) \in \overline{O} \backslash \overline{\Omega} \end{cases}$$

and  $\Omega$  is defined before. Obviously, we have (4.11) is valid. Hence, from (4.13), (4.2) follows. Therefore, the proof of continuity of the function v at the point (0,  $\tau_0$ ) is valid.

**Step 2.** We want to prove that v is continuous on  $y = \vartheta$ ;  $t \ge 0$ , we shall prove that the following two inequalities are valid for  $\tau_0 \ge 0$ ,  $\psi_2(\tau_0) > 0$ 

(4.14) 
$$\lim_{(y,t)\to(\vartheta,\tau_0)} \inf v(y,t) \ge \psi_2(\tau_0) - \epsilon,$$

(4.15) 
$$\lim_{(y,t)\to(\vartheta,\tau_0)} \sup v(y,t) \ge \psi_2(\tau_0) - \epsilon$$

Since  $\epsilon > 0$  is an arbitrary real number, then v is continuous at the boundary points  $(\vartheta, \tau_0)$  which comes from (4.14), (4.15). If  $\psi_2(\tau_0) = 0$ , and since (4.14) with  $\epsilon = 0$  in the lower bound inequality directly comes from that v is non-negative in  $\overline{\Omega}'$ , then it is the same way to prove (4.15). If  $0 < \epsilon < \psi_2(\tau_0)$ ,  $\psi_2(\tau_0) > 0$ , we prove that the inequality (4.14) in similar way to (4.1). Let us consider the following function

$$\omega_n(y,t) = f(\vartheta^{-1}(\rho_{2n}(t) - \rho_{1n}(t))y + h(\mu) + \mu(t - \tau_0) + \rho_{2n}(t) - \rho_{1n}(\tau_0)),$$
  
where  $f(\zeta) = H_1 \zeta^{\alpha} h^{-\alpha}(\mu), \quad H_1 = \psi_2(\tau_0) - \epsilon, \ \mu > 0, \ h > 0$ 

Depending on the appropriate value of  $\alpha$ , this case is divided into several cases as in step 1(see, Figure 1). Let  $H_i$ ; i = 1,2,3; and h be chosen as in proof the inequality (4.1), (only replace  $\psi_1(t)$  by  $\psi_2(t)$ ) and similarly we get the following estimation

$$\omega'_n(y,t) \le v_n(y,t)$$
 in  $\overline{\Omega}'_n$ 

Consider

$$\omega_n'(y,t) = \begin{cases} \omega_n(y,t) & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}_n, \\ \epsilon_n^{\gamma} & \text{in } \overline{\Omega}_n' \setminus \overline{U}_n. \end{cases}$$

$$\zeta_n(t) = \vartheta \big( \rho_{2n}(t) - \rho_{1n}(t) \big)^{-1} [-h(\mu) - \mu(t - \tau_0) + \eta_n + \rho_{2n}(\tau_0) - \rho_{1n}(t)]$$

And  $d_{\tau_0}(\mu)$ ,  $\eta_n$  are defined as before. Since  $\rho_2$  satisfies (2.3), for a fixed number  $\mu > 0$ which is so large, then  $\exists N$  depends on  $\mu$ , such that

$$\zeta_n(\tau_0 - 1/\mu^2) > \vartheta$$
 for  $n \ge N$ .

Then as  $n \uparrow +\infty$ , we have

(4.16) 
$$\omega(y,t) \le v(y,t)$$
 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ ,

where

$$\omega = \begin{cases} f\left(h(\mu) + \vartheta \left(\rho_{2}(t) - \rho_{1}(t)\right)^{-1} + \mu(t - \tau_{0}) + \rho_{2}(\tau_{0}) - \rho_{1}(t)\right), (y, t) \in \overline{\mathcal{U}} \\ 0, \qquad (y, t) \in \overline{\Omega}' \setminus \overline{\mathcal{U}} \end{cases}$$
$$\mathcal{U} = \{(y, t): \tau_{0} - d_{\tau_{0}}(\mu) < t \leq \tau_{0} + \delta_{3}, \qquad \zeta(t) < y \leq \vartheta \}$$
$$\zeta(t) = \vartheta \left(\rho_{2}(t) - \rho_{1}(t)\right)^{-1} [-h(\mu) - \mu(t - \tau_{0}) + \rho_{2}(\tau_{0}) - \rho_{1}(t)]$$

Obviously, we have

$$\lim_{\substack{(y,t)\to(\vartheta,\tau_0)\\(y,t)\in\overline{\Omega^{I}}}}\omega(y,t) = \lim_{\substack{(y,t)\to(\vartheta,\tau_0)\\(y,t)\in\overline{U}}}\omega(y,t) = \psi_2(\tau_0) - \epsilon$$

Hence, from (4.16), then the estimation (3.7) is valid. The proof of (4.15) is in similar way as we prove (4.14) so, the proof of continuity of the function v at the boundary point ( $\rho_2$ , t) is valid.

#### References

- U. G. Abdulla, Reaction-Diffusion in Irregular Domains. Journal of Differential Equations 164 2000, 321-354.
- U. G. Abdulla. On the Dirichlet Problem for the Nonlinear Di\_usion Equation in Non-smooth Domains, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 260(2) 2001, 384-403.
- [3] U. G. Abdulla. Well-posedness of the Dirichlet Problem for the Nonlinear Di\_usion Equation in Nonsmooth Domains, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 357(1) 2005, 247-265.
- [4] E. DiBenedetto: On the local behaviour of solutions of degenerate parabolic equtions with measurable coecients. Ann. Sc. Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. sc. Serie IV, XIII 3, 1986, 487-535.
- [5] L. C. Evans and R. Gariepy: Wiener's criterion for the heat equation. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 78 (1982), 293-314.
- [6] A. Friedman: Partial Di\_erential Equations of Parabolic Type. Prentice-Hall. Englewood Cli\_s, NJ, 1964.
- [7] R. F. Gariepy and W. P. Ziemer: Thermal capacity and boundary regularity. J. Di\_er. Equations 45 (1982), 374-388.
- [8] M. Gevrey: Sur les \_equations aux d\_eriv\_ees partielles due type parabolique. J. Math. Pures. Appl. Paris, (6) 9 (1913), 305-471; 10 (1914), 105-148.
- [9] A. S. Kalashnikov: Some problems of the qualitative theory of non-linear degenerate second-order parabolic equations. Russian Mathematical Surveys, 42, 2(1987), 169-222.
- [10] E. M. Landis: Necessary and su\_cient conditions for regularity of a boundary point in the Dirichlet problem for the heat conduction equation. Soviet Math. Dokl. 10 (1969), 380-384.
- [11] O. A. Ladyzhenskaja, V. A. Solonnikov and N. N. Uralceva: Linear and Quasilinear Equations of Parabolic Type. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1968.

- [12] O. A. Oleinik, A. S. Kalashnikov, and Y. L. Chzhou: The Cauchy problem and boundary problems for equations of the type of non-stationary ltration. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat., 22 (1958), pp. 667704.
- [13] I. G. Petrowsky: Zur ersten Randwertaufgabe der Warmeleitungsgleichung. (Comp. Math. 1 (1935), 383-419.
- [14] B. Song: Existence, uniqueness and properties of the solutions of a degenerate parabolic equation with di\_usion-advection-absorption. Acta Math. Appl. Sinica (Engl. Ser) 10 (1994), 113-140.
- [15] N. Wiener: The Dirichlet problem. Studies in Applied Mathematics 3(3) (1924): 127-146..
- [16] J. L. Vazquez: An introduction to the mathematical theory of the porous medium equation, in "Shape Opti-mization and Free Boundaries". (M. C. Delfour and G. Sabidussi, eds.), pp.347-389, Kluwer Academic, Dor-drecht, 1992.
- [17] J. C. Yazhe: Holder estimates for solutions of uniformly degenerate quasilinear parabolic equations. Chineseannals of mathematic, series B 5.4 (1984): 661-678.
- [18] W. P. Ziemer: Behaviour at the boundary of solutions of quasilinear parabolic equations. J. Di\_er. Equations 35 (1980), 291-305.

# A new conjugate gradient method for solving a large scale systems of monotone equations.

H A Wasi<sup>1</sup> and M A K Shiker<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Mathematics Department, College of Education for Pure Sciences, University of Babylo,Iraq.

Email: <sup>1</sup>mathman1972@gmail.com, <sup>2</sup>mmttmmhh@yahoo.com

<sup>2</sup>Corresponding Author

Abstract. The conjugate gradient method (CGM) is one of the best algorithms that used to solve and minimize constrained optimization problems. In this paper we suggest a new algorithm to solve large-scale nonlinear systems of monotone equations. The suggested method has some advantages such as it doesn't need the Jacobian matrix data nor store matrices at each iteration, also this method has the ability to solve large-scale problems with non-smooth property. With standard conditions, we established the global convergence for the proposed method. The numerical experiment shoes that the new method is promised and efficient by comparing with other famous methods.

Keywords: System of monotone equations, Conjugate gradient method and Global convergence.

#### 1. Introduction

CGM is generally used to solve large-scale problems such as image processing, density physics and environmental science [1]. It is distinguished from the other numerical methods using to solve nonlinear systems of equations, because it is quick to calculate, needs very low memory and also does not need the Hessian matrix for objective functions [2, 3, 4, 5].

In general, the conjugate gradient direction  $d_k$  has the following formula

$$d_k = \begin{cases} -F_k + \beta_k d_{k-1} \dots \dots if \ k \ge 1\\ -F_k \dots \dots \dots if \ k = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

Where  $\beta_k$  is a parameter, its value determines the different conjugate gradient Algorithms.

Consider the following system of monotone equations:

$$F(x) = 0$$
,  $x \in \Omega$ 

Where  $F: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$  is a continuous monotonic function, i.e.

$$\langle F(x) - F(y), x - y \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall \ x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
(1.3)

(1.2)
Many effective methods have been proposed to solve (1.2) [6] based on the following unconstrained optimization problem:

$$\min_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \|F(x)\|^2 \tag{1.4}$$

Where  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$  is continuous and differentiable function. The optimization techniques are iterative, that it depends on the current iteration to find the next one. Most of researchers used the line techniques to find the next iteration. In general, the line search principal regularly takes the following iterative scheme:

$$x_{k+1} = x_k + \alpha_k d_k$$

(1.5)

Where  $x_k$  is the current iterate point,  $d_k$  is the search direction and  $\alpha_k > 0$  is the step length along  $d_k$ .

The system of monotone equations operates widely in the case of unconstrained equations, i.e. when  $R^n = \Omega$ , where  $\Omega$  is a set of possible solutions, it is non-empty closure convex set.

Over the years, this topic of CG has received a lot of interests and has many applications. This interest has increased sharply in recent years. In 2013, Yunhai Xiao and Hong Zhu [2] introduced a conjugate gradient method to solve convex constrained monotone equations with applications in compressive sensing. In 2018, M. A. Shiker and K. Amini introduced a new CG direction and comparing it with a new projection-based algorithm to solve a large-scale nonlinear System of monotone equations [7].

The new CG algorithm for solving (1.2) is established from the famous solver CG descent [8, 3] and the algorithm of Gonglin Y. and Zengxin W. [4]. Other parts of this paper are structured as follow: In Section 2, we build the new algorithm. Section 3 shows the globally converges of the new algorithm. And in section 4, we show the Numerical results. Finally, we clarified the conclusions. Through paper,  $\|\cdot\|$  means the normed vector in Euclidean space.

#### 2. The New Algorithm

 $W_k$ 

Here, in this part of the paper we will build our suggestion through the following steps. For solution (1.2) we will suggest the search direction imposing it in the following formula

$$d_{k} = \begin{cases} (-F_{k} + \beta_{k} . w_{k} - \vartheta_{k} . y_{k}) / \|w_{k}\|^{2} + \beta_{k} & \text{if } k \ge 1 \\ -F_{k} & \text{if } k = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

where:

$$F_{k} = F(x_{k}), \ y_{k} = F_{k+1} - F_{k}$$
(2.2)  
$$= x_{k+1} - x_{k} \text{ and } \vartheta_{k} = ||w_{k}||^{2} F_{k}^{t} y_{k} / ||Fk||^{2}$$

$$\beta_{k} = \frac{F(k+1)^{T} \cdot (F(k+1) - F(k))}{||F(k)||^{2}}$$
(2.3)

Note that through the premise that  $d_k$  is considered as a descent direction of the function f at the point  $x_k$ , this property is very important and necessary for any iterative algorithm to be convergence

[9, 10]. In order to ensure that  $d_k$  satisfies our hypothesis in (2.1), it must be satisfy the following property:

#### 2.1. Lemma

Let  $\{d_k\}$  be the sequence generated by (2.1) and assume that  $(||w_k||^2 + \beta_k \neq 0)$ , then for every k > 1, It holds that

(2.4)

$$|F_k d_k| \ge -\frac{5}{8} ||F_k||^2$$

Proof

Theorem 1.1 in [11] holds independent of the definition of  $y_k$ . The assertion of this lemma is proving directly.  $\Box$ 

To demonstrate our algorithm we use the projection operative  $P_{\Omega}[.]$  which is known as a mapping from  $R^n$  to  $\Omega$ , it is defined as follows:

$$P_{\Omega}[x] = argmin\{||y - x|| : y \in \Omega\}, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

And it is satisfy the following inequality:

$$\|P_{\Omega}[x] - P_{\Omega}[y]\| \le \|x - y\|, \forall x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

Now we state the new Algorithm.

#### 2.2. Algorithm

Step 1. Select a randomly initial point  $x_0 \in \Omega$ , and:

$$\rho \in (0,1), \sigma \in (0,1), \epsilon = 0.000001$$
. Set k =0.

Step 2. If  $F(x_k) = 0$ , Stop, Else, calculate  $d_k$  by (2.1).

$$\alpha_k = \mu$$
, where  $\mu = \left| \frac{F(x_k)^T d_k}{d_k^T \nabla F(x_k) d_k} \right|$ .

Step 3. find  $\alpha_k$  which satisfy:

$$(F(x_k + \alpha_k d_k)^T d_k \le \sigma \alpha_k ||d_k||)/10$$

(2.5)

Set:  $x_{k+1} = x_k + \alpha_k d_k$ 

Step 4. if  $F(x_{k+1}) = 0$  then stop.

Otherwise compute  $x_{k+1} = x_k + \alpha_k d_k$ , where  $\alpha_k = \rho \alpha_k$ 

Step 5. Set k := k + 1. Go to Step 2.

#### 3. Convergence Analysis

In this section, we will prove for the globally convergence for Algorithm 2.2, for this purpose we need the following assumptions:

#### 3.1. Assumptions

• A1 Let F is Lipchitz continuous on  $\Omega$ , i.e.,  $\exists$  a positive number L > 0, such that

$$\|F[x] - F[y]\| \le L \|x - y\|, \forall x, y \in \Omega$$
(3.1)

• A2 The solution set of (1.2) is non-empty, the next result displays that Algorithm 2.2 is well-defined.

3.2. *Lemma*.

Assume that the assumption A1 is hold, there exists appositive scalar  $\alpha_k$  that satisfies

$$(F(x_k + \alpha_k d_k)^T d_k \le \sigma \alpha_k ||d_k||)/10$$

Proof

Consider the algorithm stop in  $F(z_k) = 0$ , where  $z_k$ ,  $x_k$  is solutions.

Suppose  $F(z_k) \neq 0$  for each k then  $d_k \neq 0$ .

From (2.5),  $z_k = x_k + \alpha_k d_k$  is a solution.

Now if

$$\alpha_k \neq \rho \left| \frac{F(x_k)^T d_k}{d_k^T \nabla F(x_k) d_k} \right|$$

Then  $\alpha_k$  not satisfy the line search condition i.e.

$$F(z_k)^T d_k \ge \sigma \alpha_k \|d_k\|,$$
(3.2)

then

$$2 F(z_k)^T d_k \ge \alpha_k \sigma_k ||F_k|| ||d_k||^2.$$

Since

$$\beta_k = \frac{F(_{k+1})^T \cdot (F(_{k+1}) - F(_k))}{\|F(_k)\|^2},$$

and  $\rho > 0$ , from (3.2) and by above assumption we get  $F(z_k)d_k > 0$ .

Now, if  $2F(z_k)^T d_k = \alpha_k \sigma_k ||F_k|| ||d_k||^2$ , that is mean

$$\alpha_k = \min\left\{\rho, \left|\frac{F(x_k)^T d_k}{d_k^T \nabla F(x_k) d_k}\right|\right\}.$$

So, the suggested line search is will define.  $\Box$ 

#### 3.3. Lemma

Assume that the assumptions A1 and A2 hold, and  $\{x_k\}$  be the sequence generated by the Algorithm (2.2), then for any positive M > 0 we get:

$$\|F(x_k)\| \le M$$

Proof

For all  $x \in S$ , from the non-expansiveness of the projection hand, satisfy

$$||x_{k+1} - \bar{x}||^{2} = ||P_{\Omega}[x_{k} - \alpha_{k}F(z_{k})] - \bar{x}||^{2}$$

$$\leq ||x_{k} - \alpha_{k}F(z_{k})||^{2}$$

$$= ||x_{k} - \bar{x}||^{2} - 2\alpha_{k}\langle F(z_{k}), x_{k} - \bar{x} \rangle + \alpha_{k}^{2} ||F(z_{k})||^{2}$$

$$\leq ||x_{k} - \bar{x}||^{2} - 2\alpha_{k}\langle F(z_{k}), x_{k} - z_{k} \rangle + \alpha_{k}^{2} ||F(z_{k})||^{2}$$

$$= ||x_{k} - \bar{x}||^{2} - \langle F(z_{k}), x_{k} - z_{k} \rangle^{2} ||F(z_{k})||^{2}$$

$$\leq ||x_{k} - \bar{x}||^{2},$$

which implies that  $||x_k - \bar{x}|| \le ||x_0 - \bar{x}||$ .

From (3.2), for each k, we have

$$||F(x_k)|| = ||F(x_k) - F(\bar{x})|| \le L ||x_k - \bar{x}|| \le L ||x_0 - \bar{x}||.$$

Suppose  $M = L ||x_0 - \bar{x}||$ , then (3.3) is proved clearly.  $\Box$ 

#### 3.4. Theorem

Consider that the assumptions A1 and A2 are satisfied and the sequence  $\{x_k\}$  is generated by Algorithm (2.2) then:

(3.3)

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}\inf\|F_k\|=0$$

Proof

Let

If (3.3) unrealized, then for  $\epsilon > 0$  it satisfies that:

$$\|F_{k}\| \ge \epsilon, \ \forall \ k \ge 0.$$
(3.4)  

$$\|d_{k}\| = \|d_{k} - F_{k} + F_{k}\|$$

$$\ge (\|d_{k} - F_{k}\| - \|F_{k}\|)$$

$$\ge -2(\|d_{k} - F_{k}\|) - \|F_{k}\|$$

$$\ge \frac{5}{4}\|F_{k}\| - \|F_{k}\|$$

$$\ge \frac{1}{4}\|F_{k}\|$$

Hence  $||d_k|| \ge \frac{1}{4} ||F_k||$ , then

$$\|d_k\| \ge \frac{1}{4}\epsilon, \ \forall \ k \ge 0.$$

(3.5)

Since

$$\beta_k = \frac{F(k+1)^T \cdot (F(k+1) - F(k))}{\|F(k)\|^2}$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\beta_{k}| &= \left| \frac{F_{(k+1)}^{T} \cdot (F_{(k+1)} - F_{(k)})}{\|F_{(k)}\|^{2}} \right| \\ &\leq |F_{(k+1)}^{T} \cdot (F_{(k+1)} - F_{(k)})| / \|F_{k}\|^{2} \\ &\leq \|F_{(k+1)}^{T}\| * \|F_{(k+1)} - F_{(k)}\| / \|F_{k}\|^{2} \\ &\leq \epsilon \|F_{k} - F_{K1}\| / \|F_{k}\|^{2} \end{aligned}$$

(3.6)

Now

 $||d_k|| \le ||\beta_k|| \cdot ||d_{k-1}|| + ||F_k||$ 

(3.7)

From above relations and Lemma 3.2, we get  $|| d_k || \le C$ , where C is a positive scalar.

By inequalities (3.4), (3.5) and (3.6) there is a contradiction about inequality (3.7). So, (3.3) holds and the theorem is proved.  $\Box$ 

#### 4. Numerical Results

In this section, we will compare our algorithm  $(H_1)$  with three famous algorithms used to solve large scale systems of monotone equations.

The experiments were run on a PC with CPU 2.20 GHz and 8 GB RAM. The codes were written in MATLAB R2014 a programming environment. For high accuracy to all test problems, the termination condition is  $|| F(x_k) || \le 10^{-5}$ , or the total number of iterates exceeds 500000. The problems (1- 4) were taken from Qingna L. and Dong H. L. [8], Problems (5- 6) were taken from Wanyou C. [9] and problem (7) were taken from Qin R.Y. et.al [12].

We compare the new Algorithm  $(H_1)$  with the following three famous:

**QD:** This Algorithm introduced by Qingna L. and Dong H. L. [8].

GX: This Algorithm introduced by Gonglin Y. et.al. [4].

ZZ: This Algorithm introduced by Zhen S. Y. and Zhan H. L. [3].

The parameters are definite as follows:  $\rho = 0.5$ ,  $\sigma = 0.1$ ,  $\epsilon = 0.000001$ . We took  $\mu = \left| \frac{F(x_k)^T d_k}{d_k^T \nabla F(x_k) d_k} \right|$  as the initial trial parameter.

The results of tested Algorithms are listed in the following tables. Table 1 contains the functions evaluations and iterations that have occurred by each Algorithm to solve each problem. While Table 2 contains the time that each algorithm took to solve each problem.

problem	Dim	f eval				Iter			
		$(H_1)$	QD	GX	ZZ	( <i>H</i> <sub>1</sub> )	QD	GX	ZZ
P1	500000	168	443	1500009	216	20	110843	500001	24
	500000	778	100589	1500014	292	62	25161	500001	29
	500000	131	2645	1500045	131	10	661	500001	10
	500000	318	2672	1500017	189	50	668	500001	27
P2	500000	76	31	15	204	5	7	4	14
	500000	56	31	38	180	5	7	5	13
	500000	76	25	9	76	5	5	2	5
	500000	76	25	32	76	5	5	3	5
P3	500000	76	31	15	76	5	7	4	5
	500000	57	93	45	57	5	20	6	5
	500000	76	25	9	76	5	5	2	5
	500000	77	74	41	77	5	16	5	5
P4	500000	70	56555	27143	116	3	14133	9040	5
	500000	70	70415	24398	116	3	17598	8125	5
	500000	70	32755	281363	116	3	8183	93780	5
	500000	70	51551	525401	116	3	12882	175126	5
P5	500000	783	150	2158	*	76	29	622	*
	500000	108	253	2216	*	26	48	632	*
	500000	477	89	2137	*	47	19	619	*
	500000	72	108	2214	*	17	23	633	*
P6	500000	327	270	352	959	78	68	114	125
	500000	371	258	105	1014	89	64	32	130
	500000	379	259	136	958	91	64	42	98
	500000	508	258	241	1065	123	64	77	127
P7	500000	88	2277	*	*	8	238	*	*
	500000	58	4186	*	*	5	406	*	*
	500000	57	417	*	*	5	55	*	*
	500000	58	1045	*	*	5	121	*	*

 Table 1: Functions evaluations (f eval ) and iterations (iter).

 Table 2:
 CPU-Time (in seconds)

problem	Dim				
		( <i>H</i> <sub>1</sub> )	QD	GX	ZZ
P1	500000	0.781	1132.218	4195.515	0.718
	500000	2.109	263.890	4165.875	0.906
	500000	0.312	6.890	3719.375	0.406
	500000	0.890	6.781	4067.031	0.593
P2	500000	1.750	0.140	0.026	4.234
	500000	1.218	0.156	0.171	3.796
	500000	1.218	0.093	0	1.609
	500000	1.781	0.093	0.078	1.593
P3	500000	1.765	0.171	0.078	1.781
	500000	1.234	0.390	0.171	1.312
	500000	1.796	0.140	0.031	1.781
	500000	1.828	0.265	0.156	1.890
P4	500000	0.265	211.500	100.734	0.375
	500000	0.250	293.343	92.781	0.390
	500000	0.250	142.656	1180.796	0.421
	500000	0.250	234.125	2457.375	0.421
P5	500000	0.609	0.093	1.703	*
	500000	0.109	0.218	1.578	*
	500000	0.359	0.062	1.658	*
	500000	0.031	0.109	1.562	*
P6	500000	0.156	0.125	0.218	0.515
	500000	0.171	0.140	0.062	0.562
	500000	0.187	0.140	0.062	0.515
	500000	0.265	0.125	0.140	0.5310
P7	500000	1.921	15.375	*	*
	500000	1.046	27.593	*	*
	500000	1.296	2.92187	*	*
	500000	1.421	7.171	*	*

The results in above tables show the efficiency of the new Algorithm  $(H_1)$  comparing with the three another methods in all areas of comparison (number of functions evaluations, number of iterations and CPU time). Few results may appear to be less efficient of the new algorithm than the other methods, but it is generally better than other methods in a final outcome.

#### 5. Conclusions

In this paper there is a modest contribution for solving constrained convex monotony equations and global convergence has been proved. The new method  $(H_1)$  is very suitable for solving such problems as it does not require neither high memory nor Jacobian data and need little storage for matrices from the iterations process.

The preliminary numerical results indicate that the new method is efficient and promised, that is we compare it with three famous algorithms according to the number of function evaluations (f eval ), number of iterations (Iter) and CPU time that every algorithm needs to find the solution of the given

problems. The results listed in above tables show that the new algorithm, in general, needs less number of (f eval), (Iter) and CPU time comparing with the other three famous methods, which ensure that  $(H_1)$  is very efficient and promised to solve large scale systems of monotone equations.

#### References

- [1] Tang C, Li S, and Cui1 Z 2020 Least-squares-based three-term conjugate gradient methods. *Journal of Inequalities and Applications. Article number* 27,https://doi.org/10.1186/s13660-020-2301-6.
- [2] Xiao Y and Zhu H 2013 A conjugate gradient method to solve convex constrained monotone equations with applications in compressive sensing, *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, vol* 405, pp 310–319.
- [3] Yu Z S, Lin J, Sun J, Xiao Y, Liu L and Li Z H 2009 Spectral gradient projection method for monotone nonlinear equations with convex constraint, *Applied Numerical Mathematics, vol* 59, pp 2416–2423.
- [4] Yuana G, Lu X and Wei Z 2009 A conjugate gradient method with descent direction for unconstrained optimization, *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol 233, pp 519–530.
- [5] Shiker M A K and Sahib Z 2018 A modified technique for solving unconstrained optimization. J. Eng. Appl. Sci, 13(22), pp 9667-9671.
- [6] Yuana G, Li T and Hu W 2020 A conjugate gradient algorithm for Large Scale nonlinear equations and image restoration problem, *Applied Numerical Mathematics, vol 147, pp* 129–141.
- [7] Shiker M A K. and Amini K 2018 A New Projection- Based Algorithm for Solving a Large-scale Nonlinear System of Monotone Equations, *Croatian Operational Research Review, vol.* 9, no. 1, pp. 63-73.
- [8] Li Q and Li D H 2011 A class of derivative-free methods for large-scale nonlinear monotone equations, *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis*, vol **31**, pp 1625–1635
- [9] Cheng W 2009 A PRP type method for systems of monotone equations, *Mathematical and Computer Modelling, vol* 50, pp 15–20.
- [10] Amini K, Shiker M A K and Kimiaei M 2016 A line search trust-region algorithm with nonmonotone adaptive radius for a system of nonlinear equations. 4 OR- Journal of operation research, 14 (2) 133-152.
- [11] Hager W W and Zhang H 2005 A new conjugate gradient method with guaranteed descent and an efficient line search, *Siam journal on optimization, vol 16, pp 170–192*
- [12] Yan Q R, Peng X Z and Li D H 2010 A globally convergent derivative-free method for solving large-scale nonlinear monotone equations, *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, vol 234, pp 649–657.*

## Jordan Left Derivation and Centralizer on Skew Matrix Gamma Ring Rajaa .C.Shaheen

Mathematics Department, Education College, Al-Qadisiyah University

E-mail:rajaa.chaffat@qu.edu.iq

#### Abstract

We define Skew matrix Gamma ring and describe constitute of Jordan left Centralizers and derivations of a Skew matrix gamma ring  $M_2(M, \Gamma; \sigma, q)$  on a  $\Gamma$ -ring M.

Keywords: Skew matrix ring, Gamma ring ,Jordan left centralizer and Jordan left derivation

#### **1-Introduction**

A linear mappings  $\mathfrak{D}: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$  is said to be a left derivation (resp., Jordan left derivation )if  $\mathfrak{D}$  (ab)=a  $\mathfrak{D}$  (b)+b  $\mathfrak{D}$  (a)  $\forall$  a,b $\in \mathcal{R}$  (if  $\mathfrak{D}$  (a<sup>2</sup>) = 2a $\mathfrak{D}$ (a)  $\forall a \in \mathcal{R}$ . Bresar and Vukman [3] introduced concept of left derivation and Jordan left derivation .We refer the readers to [4,6, 10,11] for result concerning Jordan left derivations. A linear mappings  $\mathcal{T}: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$  is called Jordan left centralizers(resp., left centralizers) if  $\mathcal{T}(x^2) = \mathcal{T}(x)x$  (resp.,  $\mathcal{T}(xy) =$   $\mathcal{T}(x)y \forall x, y \in \mathcal{R}$ ). A linear maps  $\mathcal{T}: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$  is called a Jordan centralizers if  $\mathcal{T}$  satisfies  $\mathcal{T}$  ( $x \not y + \not y x$ )= $\mathcal{T}(x) \not y + \not y \mathcal{T}(x)$ = $\mathcal{T}(y) x + x \mathcal{T}(y) \forall x, y \in \mathcal{R}$ . In [12,13,14] some result about left centralizer .In [5] Hamaguchi ,give a sufficient and necessary conditions for J :  $M_2(\mathcal{R}; \sigma, q) \to M_2(\mathcal{R}; \sigma, q)$  being Jordan derivation and prove that there exist many Jordan derivations of it which are not derivations and indicate to the characterization of derivation on  $M_2(\mathcal{R}; \sigma, q)$ , and Jordan derivation of  $M_2(\mathcal{R})$  with invariant ideal. Nobusawa [8] introduced the concept of gamma ring which generalized by Barnes [1] as follows

Let M and  $\Gamma$  with + ,abelian groups ,M is called a  $\Gamma$ -ring if for any  $x, y, z \in M$  and  $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma$ , the following satisfied

- (1)  $x \alpha y \in M$
- (2)  $(x + y) \alpha, z = x \alpha, z + y \alpha, z$
- $x (\alpha + \beta) z = x \alpha z + x \beta z$
- $x \alpha(y + z) = x \alpha y + x \alpha z$

$$(3) (x \alpha y)\beta z = x \alpha (y\beta z)$$

In[7] Majeed and Shaheen described form of Jordan left derivation and Centralizers on  $M_2(\mathcal{R}; \sigma, q)$ . In this article, we define Skew matrix Gamma ring, describe constitue Jordan left centralizers and derivation of a Skew matrix Gamma ring  $M_2(M, \Gamma; \sigma, q)$  on a  $\Gamma$ -ring M .Now, we shall recall some definitions which are basic in this paper.

Definition 1.1 :-[ 9 ]

Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a ring  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{R}$  and endomorphism  $\sigma: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}$  and  $\sigma(\mathbf{r})\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}\mathbf{r}$  $\forall \mathbf{r} \in \mathcal{R}$ .

Let  $M_2(\mathcal{R}; \sigma, q)$  be the set of  $2 \times 2$  matrices on  $\mathcal{R}$  with the following multiplication

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_1 & x_2 \\ x_3 & x_4 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y_1 & y_2 \\ y_3 & y_4 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_1y_1 + x_2y_3\mathcal{A} & x_1y_2 + x_2y_4 \\ x_3\mathcal{O}(y_1) + x_4y_3 & x_3\sigma(y_2)\mathcal{A} + x_4y_4 \end{bmatrix}$$

and usual addition .  $M_2(\mathcal{R}; \sigma, q)$  is said a skew matrix ring over  $\mathcal{R}$ .

In this article, we define Skew Matrix Gamma ring as follows

Definition 1.2 :-Skew Matrix Gamma ring

Let M be a gamma ring  $q \in M$  and  $\sigma : M \to M$  such that  $\sigma(q) = q$  and  $\sigma(r)\alpha q = q\alpha r$  $\forall r \in M, \alpha \in \Gamma$ .Let  $M_2(M; \Gamma, \sigma, q)$  be the set of  $2 \times 2$  matrices over M with the following multiplication

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_1 & x_2 \\ x_3 & x_4 \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} y_1 & y_2 \\ y_3 & y_4 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \alpha y_1 + x_2 \alpha y_3 \alpha q & x_1 \alpha y_2 + x_2 \alpha y_4 \\ x_3 \alpha \sigma(y_1) + x_4 \alpha y_3 & x_3 \alpha \sigma(y_2) \alpha q + x_4 \alpha y_4 \end{bmatrix}$$

and usual addition  $M_2(M; \Gamma, \sigma, q)$  is said a skew matrix  $\Gamma$  -ring over M.

Note that the matrix  $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$  is denoted by  $e_{11}a + e_{12}b + e_{21}c + e_{22}d$ 

#### 2- on Skew Matrix Gamma ring with Jordan Left Derivation

We shall describe constitute of Jordan left derivation of skew matrix Gamma ring .

Let D be a Jordan left derivation of  $M_2(M; \Gamma, \sigma, q)$ . First ,we set

$$D(e_{11} a) = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a) & \delta_2(a) \\ \delta_3(a) & \delta_4(a) \end{bmatrix}, D(e_{12} b) = \begin{bmatrix} k_1(b) & k_2(b) \\ k_3(b) & k_4(b) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$D(e_{21}c) = \begin{bmatrix} l_1(c) & l_2(c) \\ l_3(c) & l_4(c) \end{bmatrix}, D(e_{22} d) = \begin{bmatrix} h_1(d) & h_2(d) \\ h_3(d) & h_4(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

Where  $\delta_i$ ,  $h_i$ ,  $k_i$ ,  $l_i$ :  $M \rightarrow M$  are linear mapping.

Lemma2.1:- For every  $a \in M$ ,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ 

 $1-\delta_1,\delta_2$  are Jordan left derivation of M .

 $2 - \delta_3(a\alpha a) = 0$ 

 $3 - \delta_4(a\alpha a) = 0$ 

Proof:-since

$$D(e_{11}a\alpha a) = 2e_{11}a \alpha D(e_{11}a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a\alpha a) & \delta_2(a\alpha a) \\ \delta_3(a\alpha a) & \delta_4(a\alpha a) \end{bmatrix} = 2\begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a) & \delta_2(a) \\ \delta_3(a) & \delta_4(a) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a\alpha a) & \delta_2(a\alpha a) \\ \delta_3(a\alpha a) & \delta_4(a\alpha a) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2a\alpha \delta_1(a) & 2a\alpha \delta_2(a) \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Then  $\delta_1(a\alpha a) = 2a\alpha\delta_1(a), \delta_2(a\alpha a) = 2a\alpha\delta_2(a), \delta_3(a\alpha a) = 0$  and  $\delta_4(a\alpha a) = 0$ .

Lemma2.2 :- For every  $d \in M$ ,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ 

 $1-h_3$ ,  $h_4$  are Jordan left derivation of M .  $2-h_1(d\alpha d) = 0$   $3-h_2(d\alpha d) = 0$ Proof:-Since

$$D(e_{22}d\alpha d) = 2e_{22}d\alpha D(e_{22}d)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} h_1(d\alpha d) & h_2(d\alpha d) \\ h_3(d\alpha d) & h_4(d\alpha d) \end{bmatrix} = 2\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} h_1(d) & h_2(d) \\ h_3(d) & h_4(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} h_1(d\alpha d) & h_2(d\alpha d) \\ h_3(d\alpha d) & h_4(d\alpha d) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 2d\alpha h_3(d) & 2d\alpha h_4(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

then  $h_3(d\alpha d) = 2d\alpha h_3(d)$ ,  $h_4(d\alpha d) = 2d\alpha h_4(d)$ ,  $h_1(d\alpha d) = 0$  and  $h_2(d\alpha d) = 0$ .

Lemma 2.3 :- For any a,b $\in$  M,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ 

- 1-  $k_1(a\alpha b) = 2a\alpha k_1(b) + 2b\alpha \delta_3(a)\alpha q$ 2-  $k_2(a\alpha b) = 2a\alpha k_2(b) + 2b\alpha \delta_4(a)$ 3-  $k_3(a\alpha b) = 0$
- 4-  $k_4(a\alpha b) = 0$

Proof:- Since

$$D(e_{12}a\alpha b) = D(e_{11}a\alpha e_{12}b + e_{12}b\alpha e_{11}a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} k_1(a\alpha b) & k_2(a\alpha b) \\ k_3(a\alpha b) & k_4(a\alpha b) \end{bmatrix} = 2e_{11}a\alpha D(e_{12}b) + 2e_{12}b\alpha D(e_{11}a)$$

$$= 2\begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}\alpha \begin{bmatrix} k_1(b) & k_2(b) \\ k_3(b) & k_4(b) \end{bmatrix} + 2\begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}\alpha \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a) & \delta_2(a) \\ \delta_3(a) & \delta_4(a) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 2a\alpha k_1(b) & 2a\alpha k_2(b) \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 2b\alpha \delta_3(a)\alpha q & 2b\alpha \delta_4(a) \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 2a\alpha k_1(b) + 2b\alpha \delta_3(a)\alpha q & 2a\alpha k_2(b) + 2b\alpha \delta_4(a) \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Lemma 2.4 :-For every c, d  $\in$  M,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ 

 $1 - l_1(d\alpha c) = 0$ 

$$2-l_2(d\alpha c) = 0$$
  

$$3-l_3(d\alpha c) = 2d\alpha l_3(c) + 2c\alpha\sigma(h_1(d))$$
  

$$4-l_4(d\alpha c) = 2d\alpha l_4(c) + 2c\alpha\sigma(h_2(d))\alpha q$$

**Proof:-Since** 

$$D(e_{21} d\alpha c) = D(e_{22} d\alpha e_{21} c + e_{21} c\alpha e_{22} d)$$

 $\begin{bmatrix} l_1(d\alpha c) & l_2(d\alpha c) \\ l_3(d\alpha c) & l_4(d\alpha c) \end{bmatrix} = 2e_{22} d\alpha D(e_{21}c) + 2e_{21}c\alpha D(e_{22}d)$ 

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2d \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} l_{1}(c) & l_{2}(c) \\ l_{3}(c) & l_{4}(c) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 2c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} h_{1}(d) & h_{2}(d) \\ h_{3}(d) & h_{4}(d) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 2d\alpha l_{3}(c) & 2d\alpha l_{4}(c) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 2c\alpha\sigma(h_{1}(d)) & 2c\alpha\sigma(h_{2}(d))\alpha q \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 2d\alpha l_{3}(c) + 2c\alpha\sigma(h_{1}(d)) & 2d\alpha l_{4}(c) + 2c\alpha\sigma(h_{2}(d))\alpha q \end{bmatrix}$$

Theorem 2.5 :-Let M be a gamma ring and D be a Jordan left derivation of M<sub>2</sub>(M,  $\Gamma$ ;  $\sigma$ , q) then  $D\begin{bmatrix}a & b\\c & d\end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix}\delta_1(a) + k_1(b) + l_1(c) + h_1(d) & \delta_2(a) + k_2(b) + l_2(c) + h_2(d)\\\delta_3(a) + k_3(b) + l_3(c) + h_3(d) & \delta_4(a) + k_4(b) + l_4(c) + h_4(d)\end{bmatrix}$ 

Such that

 $\begin{aligned} 1 &- \delta_3(\alpha \alpha a) = 0, \delta_4(a^2) = 0, \delta_1, \delta_2 \text{ are Jordan left derivation of M.} \\ 2 &- h_1(d\alpha d) = 0, h_2(d\alpha d) = 0 h_3 \text{ and } h_4 \text{are Jordan left derivation of M.} \\ 3 &- k_1(\alpha \alpha b) = 2a \, \alpha k_1(b) + 2b\alpha \, \delta_3(a) \alpha q, k_2(\alpha \alpha b) = 2a \, \alpha k_2(b) + 2b\alpha \delta_4(a) \\ k_3(\alpha \alpha b) = 0 \text{ and } k_4(\alpha \alpha b) = 0 \\ 4 &- l_1(d\alpha c) = 0, l_2(d\alpha c) = 0, l_3(d\alpha c) = 2d\alpha l_3(c) + 2c\alpha \sigma(h_1(d)) \text{ and } \\ l_4(d\alpha c) = 2d\alpha l_4(c) + 2c\alpha \sigma(h_2(d))\alpha q. \end{aligned}$ 

Proof:-Since 
$$D\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = D(e_{11} a) + D(e_{12} b) + D(e_{21} c) + D(e_{22} d)$$
  

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a) & \delta_2(a) \\ \delta_3(a) & \delta_4(a) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} k_1(b) & k_2(b) \\ k_3(b) & k_4(b) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} l_1(c) & l_2(c) \\ l_3(c) & l_4(c) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} h_1(d) & h_2(d) \\ h_3(d) & h_4(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a) + k_1(b) + l_1(c) + h_1(d) & \delta_2(a) + k_2(b) + l_2(c) + h_2(d) \\ \delta_3(a) + k_3(b) + l_3(c) + h_3(d) & \delta_4(a) + k_4(b) + l_4(c) + h_4(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

By[ lemma 2.1], [ lemma 2.2], [ lemma 2.3] and [ lemma 2.4] we get the result .

#### 3- On Skew matrix Gamma ring and Jordan left centralizer

Let J be a Jordan Left Centralizer of  $M_2(M, \Gamma; \sigma, q)$ . First ,we set

$$J(e_{11} a) = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a) & \delta_2(a) \\ \delta_3(a) & \delta_4(a) \end{bmatrix}, J(e_{12} b) = \begin{bmatrix} l_1(b) & l_2(b) \\ l_3(b) & l_4(b) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$J(e_{21}c) = \begin{bmatrix} k_1(c) & k_2(c) \\ k_3(c) & k_4(c) \end{bmatrix}, J(e_{22} d) = \begin{bmatrix} h_1(d) & h_2(d) \\ h_3(d) & h_4(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

Where  $\delta_i$ ,  $k_i$ ,  $h_i$ ,  $l_i$ :  $M \rightarrow M$  are linear mapping.

Lemma 3.1 :- For every  $a \in M$ ,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ 

 $\begin{aligned} 1 &- \delta_1 \text{ is Jordan left centralizer of } M \\ 2 &- \delta_2(\alpha \alpha) = 0 \\ 3 &- \delta_3(\alpha \alpha) = \delta_3(\alpha) \alpha \sigma(\alpha) \\ 4 &- \delta_4(\alpha \alpha) = 0. \end{aligned}$   $\begin{aligned} \text{Proof:-Since} \qquad J(e_{11} \alpha \alpha \alpha) = J(e_{11} \alpha) \alpha e_{11} \alpha \\ \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(\alpha \alpha \alpha) & \delta_2(\alpha \alpha \alpha) \\ \delta_3(\alpha \alpha \alpha) & f_4(\alpha \alpha \alpha) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(\alpha) & \delta_2(\alpha) \\ \delta_3(\alpha) & \delta_4(\alpha) \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \\ \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(\alpha \alpha \alpha) & \delta_2(\alpha \alpha \alpha) \\ \delta_3(\alpha \alpha \alpha) & \delta_4(\alpha \alpha \alpha) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(\alpha) \alpha \alpha & 0 \\ \delta_3(\alpha) \alpha \sigma(\alpha) & 0 \end{bmatrix}$   $\begin{aligned} \text{Then } \delta_1(\alpha \alpha \alpha) = \delta_1(\alpha) \alpha \alpha, \delta_2(\alpha \alpha \alpha) = 0, \delta_3(\alpha \alpha \alpha) = \delta_3(\alpha) \alpha \sigma(\alpha) \text{ and } \delta_4(\alpha \alpha \alpha) = 0 \end{aligned}$ 

Lemma 3.2 :- For any d $\in$  M,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ 

1-  $h_2$ ,  $h_4$  are Jordan left centralizer of M. 2-  $h_1(d\alpha d) = 0$ 3-  $h_3(d\alpha d) = 0$ 

**Proof:-Since** 

$$J(e_{22}d\alpha d) = J(e_{22}d)\alpha e_{22}d$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} h_1(d\alpha d) & h_2(d\alpha d) \\ h_3(d\alpha d) & h_4(d\alpha d) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} h_1(d) & h_2(d) \\ h_3(d) & h_4(d) \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & h_2(d)\alpha d \\ 0 & h_4(d)\alpha d \end{bmatrix}$$

Then  $h_1(d\alpha d) = 0$ ,  $h_3(d\alpha d) = 0$  &  $h_2$ ,  $h_4$  are Jordan left centralizer of M.

Lemma3.3 :- For every  $a, b \in R$ 

$$1 - l_1(a\alpha b) = l_1(b)\alpha a$$

 $2-l_2(a\alpha b) = \delta_1(a)\alpha b$ 

$$3-l_3(a\alpha b) = l_3(b)\alpha\sigma(a)$$

 $4 - l_4(a\alpha b) = \delta_3(a)\alpha\sigma(b)\alpha q$ 

Proof:-Since  $J(e_{12}a\alpha b) = J(e_{11}a\alpha e_{12}b + e_{12}b\alpha e_{11}a)$ 

$$\begin{bmatrix} l_{1}(a\alpha b) & l_{2}(a\alpha b) \\ l_{3}(a\alpha b) & l_{4}(a\alpha b) \end{bmatrix} = J(e_{11}a)\alpha e_{12}b + J(e_{12}b)\alpha e_{11}a$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{1}(a) & \delta_{2}(a) \\ \delta_{3}(a) & \delta_{4}(a) \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} l_{1}(b) & l_{2}(b) \\ l_{3}(b) & l_{4}(b) \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \delta_{1}(a)\alpha b \\ 0 & \delta_{3}(a)\alpha\sigma(b)\alpha q \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} l_{1}(b)\alpha a & 0 \\ l_{3}(b)\alpha\sigma(a) & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} l_{1}(b)\alpha a & \delta_{1}(a)\alpha b \\ l_{3}(b)\alpha\sigma(a) & \delta_{3}(a)\alpha\sigma(b)\alpha q \end{bmatrix},$$

$$l_{1}(a\alpha b) = l_{1}(b)\alpha a \quad l_{2}(a\alpha b) = \delta_{1}(a)\alpha b \quad l_{2}(a\alpha b) = l_{2}(b)\alpha\sigma(a) \text{ and } b$$

Then  $l_1(a\alpha b) = l_1(b)\alpha a$ ,  $l_2(a\alpha b) = \delta_1(a)\alpha b$ ,  $l_3(a\alpha b) = l_3(b)\alpha\sigma(a)$  and

 $l_4(a\alpha b) = \delta_3(a)\alpha\sigma(b)\alpha q$ .

Lemma 3.4 :-For every c ,d $\in$  M,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ 

- $1 k_1(\mathrm{d}\alpha \mathrm{c}) = h_2(\mathrm{d}) \, \alpha \mathrm{c}\alpha \mathrm{q}$
- $2 k_2(d\alpha c) = k_2(c)\alpha d$
- $3-k_3(d\alpha c) = h_4(d)\alpha c$
- $4-k_4(d\alpha c) = k_4(c)\alpha d$

Proof:-Since

$$J(e_{21} d\alpha c) = J(e_{22} d\alpha e_{21} c + e_{21} c\alpha e_{22} d)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} k_1(d\alpha c) & k_2(d\alpha c) \\ k_3(d\alpha c) & k_4(d\alpha c) \end{bmatrix} = J(e_{22} d)\alpha e_{21} c + J(e_{21} c)\alpha e_{22} d$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} h_1(d) & h_2(d) \\ h_3(d) & h_4(d) \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} k_1(c) & k_2(c) \\ k_3(c) & k_4(c) \end{bmatrix} \alpha \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} h_2(d) \alpha c\alpha q & 0 \\ h_4(d) \alpha c & 0 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & k_2(c)\alpha d \\ 0 & k_4(c)\alpha d \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} h_2(d) \alpha c\alpha q & k_2(c)\alpha d \\ h_4(d) \alpha c & k_4(c)\alpha d \end{bmatrix}$$

 $k_1(d\alpha c) = h_2(d)\alpha c\alpha q$ ,  $k_2(d\alpha c) = k_2(c)\alpha d$ 

 $k_3(d\alpha c) = h_4(d) \, \alpha c$  ,  $k_4(d\alpha c) = k_4(c) \alpha d$ 

Theorem 3.5:- Let M be a Gamma ring and J be a Jordan left centralizer of  $M_2(M,\Gamma;\sigma,q)$  then

$$J\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1(a) + l_1(b) + k_1(c) + h_1(d) & \delta_2(a) + l_2(b) + k_2(c) + h_2(d) \\ \delta_3(a) + l_3(b) + k_3(c) + h_3(d) & \delta_4(a) + l_4(b) + k_4(c) + h_4(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

Such that

 $\begin{aligned} 1 - \delta_{1} &\text{is Jordan left centralizer of } M, \delta_{2}(a\alpha a) = 0, \delta_{3}(a\alpha a) = \delta_{3}(a)\alpha\sigma(a) \text{and} \delta_{4}(a\alpha a) = 0. \\ 2 - h_{2}, h_{4} &\text{are Jordan left centralizer of } R, h_{1}(d\alpha d) = 0 \text{and } h_{3}(d\alpha d) = 0. \\ 3 - l_{1}(\alpha \alpha b) = l_{1}(b)\alpha a, l_{2}(\alpha \alpha b) = \delta_{1}(a)\alpha b, l_{3}(\alpha \alpha b) = l_{3}(b)\alpha\sigma(a) \text{ and} \\ l_{4}(\alpha \alpha b) = \delta_{3}(a)\alpha\sigma(b)\alpha q \\ 4 - k_{1}(d\alpha c) = h_{2}(d)\alpha c\alpha q, k_{2}(d\alpha c) = k_{2}(c)\alpha d \\ k_{3}(d\alpha c) = h_{4}(d)\alpha c, \text{ and } k_{4}(d\alpha c) = k_{4}(c)\alpha d \\ \text{Proof:- Since } J \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = J(e_{11} a) + J(e_{12} b) + J(e_{21} c) + J(e_{22} d) \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{1}(a) & \delta_{2}(a) \\ \delta_{3}(a) & \delta_{4}(a) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} l_{1}(b) & l_{2}(b) \\ l_{3}(b) & l_{4}(b) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} k(c) & k_{2}(c) \\ k_{3}(c) & k_{4}(c) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} h_{1}(d) & h_{2}(d) \\ h_{3}(d) & h_{4}(d) \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{1}(a) + l_{1}(b) + k_{1}(c) + h_{1}(d) & \delta_{2}(a) + l_{2}(b) + k_{2}(c) + h_{2}(d) \\ \delta_{3}(a) + l_{3}(b) + k_{3}(c) + h_{3}(d) & \delta_{4}(a) + l_{4}(b) + k_{4}(c) + h_{4}(d) \end{bmatrix} \end{aligned}$ 

So by [lemmas 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4], we have the result.

### References

1- W.E. Barnes ,on the Γ-ring of Nabusawa, Pacific J.Math.,18 (1966),411-422.

2-M.Bresar,Jordan derivations on semiprime rings,Proc.Amer. Math.soc. 104 (1988)1003-1006.

3-M.Bresar and J.Vukman ,On left derivations and related mappings ,Proc.Amer. Math. Soc.110(1990),no.1,7-16.

4-Q.Deng, On Jordan left derivations, Math.J.Okayama univ.34(1992)145-147.

5-N. Hamaguchi ,Jordan Derivations of a Skew Matrix Ring ,Mathematical Journal of Okayama University ,V42,(2000)19-27.

6-K.W.Jun and b.D.kim, Anote on Jordan Left Derivations, Bull.Korean Math.Soc. 33(1996), no.2, 221-228.

7-A.H.Majeed and R.C.Shaheen,Jordan left Derivation and Jordan left Centralizer of Skew matrix rings,Journal of Al-qadisiyah for computer science and Mathematics 7,2,2015

8-N.Nabusawa,on a generalization of the ring theory ,Osaka J.Math 1 (1964).

9-K.Oshiro, Theories of Harada in artinian rings and applications to classical artinian rings, International Symposium on ring theory, Birkhauer ,to appear .

10-J.Vukman,Jordan Left Derivations on semiprime rings,math.J.Okayama Univ. 39(1997)1-6.

11-J.Vukman, On left Jordan Derivations of rings and Banach algebras, Aequationes math. 75(2008), no.3, 260-266.

12-J.Vukman, An identity related to centralizers in semiprime rings, Comment .Math . Univ. Carolinae 40(1999), 447-456.

13- J. Vukman, Centralizers of semi-prime rings, Comment.Math.Univ.Carolinae 42(2001),237-245.

14-B.Zalar,On centralizers of semi prime rings ,Comment.Math.Univ.Carolinae 32(1991),609-614.

### **On Some Generalized Continuous Mappings in Fuzzy Topological Spaces**

Rasha A.Isewid<sup>1</sup>, and Samer R.Yaseen<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Physical Education and sport science Al-Qadisya University, Iraq.

<sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of pure science, Tikrit University, Iraq.

**Abstract:** The purpose of this paper is to introduce a new class of intuitionistic fuzzy closed sets called intuitionistic k-continuous k-irresolute functions in intuitionistic fuzzy topological space ( for short, fkt) . Finally , we introduce the concepts of k-open (k-closed) mapping with some properties in fuzzy topological spaces.

**Keywords:** Intuitionistic fuzzy K-closed sets Intuitionistic fuzzy K-connectedness, Intuitionistic fuzzy K-compactness.

#### **1** Introduction

Atanassov [1,2] was introduced the concept of intuitionistic fuzzy sets (IFS). After that Change [4] introduced the concept of fuzzy topological spaces. Also many fuzzy topological concepts such as fuzzy compactness [5], fuzzy connectedness [12], fuzzy continuity [6,9], fuzzy g-closed sets [3], fuzzy g continuity [11], fuzzy rg-closed sets [7] have been generalized for IF topological spaces. Further in 2012 Vadivel and Sivakumar [13] were introduced the concept g\*-continuous mapping in fuzzy topology.

#### 2. Preliminaries

We give the following definitions which needed in this paper

**Definition 2.1** A fuzzy set  $\rho$  in (M,  $\tau$ ) is called:

(1) a fuzzy pre-open set [10] if  $\rho \leq cl(int(\rho))$  and a fuzzy pre-closed set if  $cl(int(\rho)) \leq \rho$ , (2) a fuzzy  $\alpha$ -open set [10] if  $\rho \leq int(cl(int(\rho)))$  and a fuzzy  $\alpha$ -closed set if  $cl(int(cl(\rho))) \leq \rho$ , (2) a fuzzy comminant set [14] if  $\alpha \leq cl(int(\alpha))$  and a fuzzy comminant set of  $cl(int(cl(\alpha))) \leq \rho$ .

(3) a fuzzy semi-open set [14] if  $\rho \leq cl(int(\rho))$  and a fuzzy semi-closed set if  $int(cl(\rho)) \leq \rho$ ,

(4) fuzzy regular open set [10] if int(cl  $\rho$ ) =  $\rho$  and a fuzzy regular closed set if cl(int( $\rho$ )) =  $\rho$ .

**Definition 2.2** A fuzzy set  $\rho$  in a fts (M, $\tau$ ) is called: (1) a fuzzy generalized closed set (for short, fg-closed set) [1] if cl( $\rho$ )  $\leq \nu$  whenever  $\rho \leq \nu$  and  $\nu$  is fuzzy open in M,

(2) a fuzzy generalized pre-regular closed set [3] (for short, fgpr-closed fuzzy set) if

 $pcl(\rho) \subseteq v$  whenever  $\rho \leq v$  and v is fuzzy regular open set in M.

(3) a fuzzy generalized semi-regular closed set [] (for short, fgsr-closed fuzzy set) if  $scl(\rho) \subseteq v$  whenever  $\rho \leq v$  and v is fuzzy semi open set in M.

**Definition 2.3** Let M, N are two fuzzy topological spaces. A mapping  $L : M \rightarrow N$  is called:

(1) fuzzy continuous (for short, f-continuous) [9] if  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is f-open set in M, for every f-open set  $\rho$  of N,

(2) fuzzy  $\alpha$ -continuous (for short, f $\alpha$ -continuous) [10] if  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is fuzzy  $\alpha$ -closed set in M, for every f-closed set  $\rho$  of N,

(3) fuzzy pre-continuous [10] if  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is fuzzy pre-closed set in M, for every f- closed set  $\rho$  of N,

(4) fuzzy gp-continuous (for short ,fgp-continuous) [6] if  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is fuzzy fgp-closed set in M, for every f-closed set  $\rho$  of N,

(5) fuzzy generalized semi-irresolute (for short , fgs-irresolute) [14] if  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is fg-closed set in M, for every fg-closed set  $\rho$  of N,

(6) fuzzy a generalized irresolute (for short , fag-irresolute) [14] if  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is fagclosed set in M, for every fag-closed set  $\rho$  of N,

(7) fuzzy perfectly continuous (for short, fp-continuous) [14] if  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is fuzzy open and f-closed set in M, for every f-open set  $\rho$  in N.

**Definition 2.4** Let M, N are two fts. A mapping  $L : M \rightarrow N$  is called:

(1) fuzzy open (for short , f-open) [8] if  $L(\rho)$  is fuzzy open set in N , for every f-open set of M,

(2) fuzzy g-open (for short, fg-open) [8] iff  $L(\rho)$  is fg-open set in N , for every f-open set in M .

**Definition 2.5** Let M, N are two fts. A bijective map  $L : M \to N$  is called fuzzy-homeomorphism [14] (for short, f-homeomorphism) if L and  $L^{-1}$  are f- continuous.

#### 3. Fuzzy Generalized K-Continuous Mappings

We, start by the following definition:

**Definition 3.1** Let M and N be two fts. A function  $L : M \rightarrow N$  is said to be fuzzy generalized K-continuous (briefly fgk-continuous) if the inverse image of every FOS in N is fgk-open set in M.

**Proposition 3.2** Let  $L : M \rightarrow N$  be a mapping. Then following implications are true :

 $f\alpha \text{ continuous} \rightarrow \text{fs continuous} \rightarrow \text{fgk continuous}$ 

 $\rightarrow$  fp continuous

**Proof:** f $\alpha$  continuous  $\rightarrow$  fs continuous : Let  $\rho$  be fuzzy  $\alpha$  closed set in N. Since L is f $\alpha$ continuous, L<sup>-1</sup> is f $\alpha$  closed set in M. so, L<sup>-1</sup> is fs closed set in M. Thus L is fs continuous. f $\alpha$  continuous  $\rightarrow$  fp continuous : Let  $\rho$  be fuzzy  $\alpha$  closed set in N. Since L is f $\alpha$ -continuous, L<sup>-1</sup> is f $\alpha$  closed set in M. so, L<sup>-1</sup> is fp closed set in M. Thus L is fs continuous.

fs continuous  $\rightarrow$  fgk continuous :it's clear.

The converse of the above proposition need not true in general .The following example show the cases.

**Example 3.3**.Let  $M = N = \{m_1, m_2\}$  and the fuzzy sets  $\delta$  and  $\xi$  defined as following :  $\delta = \frac{0.1}{m_1} + \frac{0.5}{m_2}, \xi = = \frac{1}{m_1} + \frac{0.9}{m_2}$ . Let  $\lambda = \{0, 1, \delta\}$  and  $\gamma = \{0, 1, \xi\}$ . Define L:  $(M, \lambda) \rightarrow (N, \gamma)$  by  $L(m_1) = m_1$  and  $L(m_2) = m_2$ . Then L is not f $\alpha$ -continuous because  $\xi$  is f $\alpha$ -closed in N and  $L^{-1}(\xi) = \xi$  is not f $\alpha$ -closed set in M but L is fs-closed set in M.. Thus L is fs-continuous.Also L is fp-continuous but L is not f $\alpha$ -continuous.

**Example 3.4** .Let  $M = N = \{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$  and the fuzzy sets  $\delta$ ,  $\xi$  and  $\omega$  defined as following :  $\delta = \frac{0}{m_1} + \frac{0.4}{m_2} + \frac{0.2}{m_3}, \xi = \frac{0.6}{m_1} + \frac{0.7}{m_2} + \frac{0.9}{m_3}, \omega = \frac{0.1}{m_1} + \frac{0.2}{m_2} + \frac{0.3}{m_3}$ . Let  $\lambda = \{0, 1, \delta\}$  and  $\gamma = \{0, 1, \xi\}$ . Define L :  $(M, \lambda) \rightarrow (N, \gamma)$  by  $L(m_1) = m_1$ ,  $L(m_2) = m_2$  and  $L(m_3) = m_3$ . Then L is not fs-continuous because  $\xi$  is fs-closed in N and  $L^{-1}(\xi) = \xi$  is not fs-closed set in M but it is fgk-closed set in M. Therefore L is fgk-continuous.

**Remark 3.5.** the relations between fgk continuous and fp-continuous, also fs continuous and fp-continuous are independent. The following example show the cases.

**Example 3.6** Let  $M = N = \{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$  and the fuzzy sets  $\delta$ ,  $\xi$  and  $\omega$  defined as following :  $\delta = \frac{0.8}{m_1} + \frac{0.9}{m_2} + \frac{1}{m_3}, \xi = \frac{0.2}{m_1} + \frac{0.6}{m_2} + \frac{0.5}{m_3}, \omega = \frac{0.4}{m_1} + \frac{0.5}{m_2} + \frac{0.6}{m_3}$ . Let  $\lambda = \{0, 1, \delta\}$  and  $\gamma = \{0, 1, \xi\}$ . Define L :  $(M, \lambda) \rightarrow (N, \gamma)$  by  $L(m_1) = m_1$ ,  $L(m_2) = m_2$  and  $L(m_3) = m_3$ . Then L is not fgk-continuous because  $\delta$  is fgk-closed in N and  $L^{-1}(\delta) = \delta$  is not fgk-closed set in M but it is fgk-closed set in M. Therefore L is fp-continuous.

**Example 3.7** .Recall example 3.4 We see that L is not fp-continuous because  $\xi$  is fgk-closed in N and  $L^{-1}(\xi) = \xi$  is not fp-closed set in M but it is fgk-closed set in M.. Therefore L is fgk-continuous.

**Example 3.8** Let  $M = N = \{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$  and the fuzzy sets  $\delta$ ,  $\xi$  and  $\omega$  defined as following :  $\delta = \frac{0.1}{m_1} + \frac{0.2}{m_2} + \frac{0.3}{m_3}, \xi = \frac{0.3}{m_1} + \frac{0.4}{m_2} + \frac{0.5}{m_3}, \omega = \frac{0.5}{m_1} + \frac{0.6}{m_2} + \frac{0.7}{m_3}$ . Let  $\lambda = \{0, 1, \delta\}$  and  $\gamma = \{0, 1, \xi\}$ . Define L :  $(M, \lambda) \rightarrow (N, \gamma)$  by  $L(m_1) = m_1$ ,  $L(m_2) = m_2$  and  $L(m_3) = m_3$ . Then L is not fs-continuous because  $\delta$  is fs-closed in N and  $L^{-1}(\delta) = \delta$  is not fp-closed set in M but it is fs-closed set in M. Therefore L is fs-continuous.

**Example 3.9** .Let  $M = N = \{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$  and the fuzzy sets  $\delta$ ,  $\xi$  and  $\omega$  defined as following :  $\delta = \frac{0}{m_1} + \frac{0.9}{m_2} + \frac{0.2}{m_3}, \xi = \frac{08}{m_1} + \frac{0.7}{m_2} + \frac{1}{m_3}, \omega = \frac{0.3}{m_1} + \frac{0.6}{m_2} + \frac{0.9}{m_3}$ . Let  $\lambda = \{0, 1, \delta\}$  and  $\gamma = \{0, 1, \xi\}$ . Define L :  $(M, \lambda) \to (N, \gamma)$  by  $L(m_1) = m_1$ ,  $L(m_2) = m_2$  and  $L(m_3) = m_3$ .

Then L is not fp -continuous because  $\delta$  is fp-closed in N and  $L^{-1}(\xi) = \xi$  is not fs-closed set in M but it is fs-closed set in M. Therefore L is fp-continuous.

**Remark 3.10.** By transitivity we get :  $f\alpha$  continuous  $\rightarrow$  fgk continuous .

**Proposition 3.11.** If  $L : M \to N$  is fgk-continuous and  $K : N \to W$  is L-continuous, then  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgk-continuous function.

**Proof:** Let  $\rho$  be fuzzy closed set in W. Then  $K^{-1}(\rho)$  is fuzzy closed set in N, since K is f-continuous, then  $L^{-1}(K^{-1}(\rho))$  is fgk -closed set in M, since L is fgk -continuous. So  $(K \circ L)^{-1}(\lambda) = L^{-1}(K^{-1}(\rho))$  is fgk -closed set in M. Therefore  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgk-continuous function.

**Definition 3.12** A mapping If  $L: M \to N$  is said to be fuzzy generalized k-irresolute (for short fgk -irresolute) if the inverse image of every fgk-closed set in N is fgk -closed fuzzy set in M.

**Proposition 3.13** Let  $L : M \rightarrow N$  be a mapping .Then every fgk-irresolute function is fgk - continuous.

**Proof:** Let  $\rho$  be a fuzzy closed set in N. So  $\rho$  is fgk-closed set in N. Since L is fgk – irresolute,  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is fgk -closed set in M. Thus L is fgk -continuous.

The converse of the above proposition are not true. The following example show the cases .

**Example 3.14**. Recall example 3.4 We see that L is fgk-continuous but not fgk-irresolute because the fuzzy closed set  $\omega$  in N is  $L^{-1}(\omega) = \omega$  which is not fgk-closed set in M.

**Proposition 3.15**. If  $L: M \to N$  and  $K: N \to W$  are two mappings . If L and K are fgk, irresolute mapping ,then  $K \circ L: M \to W$  is fgk- irresolute mapping .

**Proof:** Let  $\rho$  be fuzzy closed set in M. Then  $K^{-1}(\rho)$  is fuzzy closed set in N, since K is fgk - irresolute, then  $L^{-1}(K^{-1}(\rho))$  is fgk -closed set in M, since L is fgk - irresolute. So  $(K \circ L)^{-1}(\lambda) = L^{-1}(K^{-1}(\rho))$  is fgk -closed set in M. Therefore  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgk-irresolute function.

**Proposition 3.16**. Let  $L : M \to N$  and  $K : N \to W$  are two mappings . If L is fgk irresolute and K is fgk-continuous, then  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgk-continuous.

**Proof :** Let  $\rho$  be fuzzy closed set in M. Then  $K^{-1}(\rho)$  is fgk-closed set in N, since K is fgk - continuous. Since L is fgk-irresolute,  $L^{-1}(K^{-1}(\rho)) = (K \circ L)^{-1}(\lambda)$  is fgk -closed set in M. Hence  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgk -continuous.

**Definition 3.17** A mapping  $L : M \rightarrow N$  is called to be fuzzy generalized k-regular open (for short, fgkr-open) if the image of every f-open set in M is fgkr-open set in N.

**Definition 3.18** A mapping  $L : M \to N$  is said to be fuzzy generalized k-regular closed (for short, fgkr -closed) if the image of every f-closed set in M is fgkr-closed set in N.

**Proposition 3.19** If  $L : M \to N$  is f-closed map and  $K : N \to W$  is fgk-closed maps, then  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgk-closed map.

**Proof:** Let  $\rho$  be fuzzy closed set in M. Then  $L(\rho)$  is f-closed set in N. Since K is fgk-closed map and since  $K(L(\rho))$  is fgk-closed set in W. So  $(K \circ L)(\rho) = K(L(\rho))$  is fgpr-closed set in Z. Therefore  $K \circ L : M \rightarrow W$  is fgk-closed map.

**Proposition 3.20** Let  $L : M \to N$  and  $K : N \to W$  are two mappings s.t,  $K \circ L: M \to W$  is fgkr -closed map. (1) If L is f-continuous and surjective, then K is fgkr -closed mapping. (2) If h is fgkr -irresolute and injective, then f is fgkr -closed map.

**Proof**: (1) Let  $\rho$  be fuzzy closed set in N. Then  $L^{-1}(\rho)$  is f-closed set in M. Thus K  $\circ$  L is fgkr - closed map,  $(K \circ L)(L^{-1}(\rho)) = K(\rho)$  is fgkr-closed set in W. Therefore K is fgkr -closed mapping.

(2) Let v be a f-closed set in N. Then  $(h \circ f)(\mu)$  is fgk -closed set in W, so

 $(K^{-1}(K \circ L)(v))$  is fgkr -closed set in N. Since K is injective,  $L(v) = K^{-1}(K \circ L)(v)$  is fgkrclosed set in N. Therefore L is fgkr-closed mapping.

**Definition 3.21** Let M and N be two fts . A bijective map  $L : M \rightarrow N$  is called fuzzy generalized k-regular homeomorphism (for short, fgkr-homeomorphism) if L and  $L^{-1}$  are fgkr-continuous.

**Proposition 3.22** Every  $f\alpha$ -homeomorphism is fgkr-homeomorphism.

**Proof:** Let  $L : M \to N$  be a f $\alpha$ -homeomorphism. Then Land  $L^{-1}$  are f-continuous. Therefore L and  $L^{-1}$  are fgkr -continuous. So L is fgkr -homeomorphism.

The converse of the above proposition are not true. The following example show the cases .

**Example 3.23** Let  $M = N = \{m_1, m_2\}$  and the fuzzy sets  $\delta$ ,  $\xi$  defined as following :  $\delta = \frac{0.2}{m_1} + \frac{0}{m_2}, \xi = = \frac{1}{m_1} + \frac{0.8}{m_2}$ . Let  $\lambda = \{0, 1, \delta\}$  and  $\gamma = \{0, 1, \xi\}$ . Define L :  $(M, \lambda) \rightarrow (N, \gamma)$  by  $L(m_1) = m_1$  and  $L(m_2) = m_2$ . Then L is fgkr-homeomorphism but not f $\alpha$  homeomorphism because the fuzzy set  $\delta$  is open in M and its image  $L(\delta) = \delta$ is not f $\alpha$  -open set in N,  $L^{-1}$ : M  $\rightarrow$  N is not f $\alpha$  -continuous.

**Definition 3.24**. A bijective map  $L : M \rightarrow N$  is called fuzzy generalized k-regular-semihomeomorphism (for short, fgkrs-homeomorphism) if L and L<sup>-1</sup> are fgkr-irresolute.

**Proposition 3.25** Let  $L : M \to N$ ,  $K : N \to W$  are two fgkrs-homeomorphism, then  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgkrs-homeomorphism.

**Proof**: Let  $\rho$  be fgkr-open set in W, and since  $K \colon N \to W$  is fgkr-irresolute,  $K^{-1}(\rho)$  is fgkr - open set in N. Also since  $L \colon M \to N$  fgkr -irresolute, and  $L^{-1}(K^{-1}(\rho)) = (K \circ L)^{-1}(\rho)$  is fgkr-open set in M. So that  $K \circ L \colon M \to W$  is fgkrs-irresolute.

Now, let  $\rho$  be a fgkr-open set in M. Then  $(L^{-1})^{-1}(\rho) = L(\rho)$  is fgkr-open set in N. Also  $K^{-1}: W \to N$  is fgkr-irresolute,  $(K^{-1})^{-1}(L(\rho)) = K(L(\rho)) = (K \circ L)(\rho)$  is fgpr-open in W. Hence  $(K \circ L)^{-1}: W \to M$  is fgkr-irresolute. Thus  $K \circ L$  is fgkrs -homeomorphism.

**Proposition 3.26** Let  $L : M \to N$ ,  $K : N \to W$  are two fgkr-homeomorphism, then  $K \circ L : M \to W$  is fgkrs-homeomorphism. **Proof :**it's obvious .

#### Conclusion

We studied fgk-continuous, fgk-closed mappings and studied some properties . It is observed that every fα-continuous and fs-continuous is a fgk-continuous but not conversely. Also every fgk continuous function is a fgkr -continuous function but not conversely. And we get results of composition of fgkr -continuous, fgkr -closed maps, and fgkrhomeomorphisms maps are obtained. Finally f-closed map is fgkr-closed map but not conversely.

#### REFERENCES

[1] Atanassov. K., S. Stoeva. "Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets", In Polish Symposium on Interval and Fuzzy Mathematics, Poznan, 23–26 (1983).

[2] Atanassov. K, "Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets" . Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 20, 87–96 (1985).

[3] Balasubramanian. G, and Sundaram. P. "On some generalizations of fuzzy continuous functions" . Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 86; 93-100, (1997).

[4] Chang, C. L. Fuzzy Topological Spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. Vol. 24, 182–190 (1968).

[5] Çoker, D. A. Es. Haydar. "On Fuzzy Compactness in Intuitionistic Fuzzy Topological Spaces". The Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics, Vol. 3-4, 899–909 , (1995).

[6] Gurcay, H., D. Çoker, A. Es. Haydar. "On Fuzzy Continuity in Intuitionistic Fuzzy Topological Spaces". The Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics, Vol. 5, No. 2, 365–378 (1997).

[7] Jayasheelareddy. M. S. "Some recent topics in fuzzy topolgical spaces". Ph.D. Thesis, Karnatak University, Dharwad, (2002).

[8] Malghan, S. R. and Benchalli, S. S. "On fuzzy topological spaces". Glasnik Matematicki, 16(36):313:325, 1981.

[9] Mukherjee ,M. N. and Ghosh. B. "Some stronger forms of fuzzy continuous mappings in fuzzy topological spaces" . Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 38;375-387, (1990) .

[10] Sakthivel, K. Intuitionistic fuzzy Alpha generalized continuous mappings and Intuitionistic fuzzy Alpha generalized irresolute mappings, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 4, 2010, No. 37,1831–1842.

[11] Thakur, S. S., Malviya R., "Generalized Closed Sets in Fuzzy Topology". Math. Notae 38, 137–140 (1995).

[12] Turnali, N., Çoker. D. "Fuzzy Connectedness in Intuitionistic Fuzzy topological Spaces". Fuzzy Sets and Systems, Vol. 116, No. 3, 369–375,(2000).

[13] Vadivel A., Devi K. and Sivakumar. D. "Fuzzy generalized pre-regular closed sets in fuzzy topological spaces" . Antartica J. Math, 9(6); 525-535, (2012).

[14] Young Bae Jun., Jong Kang, Seok Zun Song. "Intuitionistic Fuzzy irresolute and continuous mapping". Far East J. Math. Sci., Vol. 17, 201–216,( 2005).

# Soft Compact linear operator and soft adjoint linear operator on soft linear spaces

#### Sabah A. Khaleefah<sup>1</sup>, Buthainah A. A. Ahmed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Baghdad, Baghdad,

Iraq.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq.

E-mail: sab20072008@gmail.com , buthainah41@gmail.com

Received xxxxx Accepted for publication xxxxx Published xxxxx

#### Abstract

Day after day, new concepts of soft normed spaces are emerging, which require studying their properties. In our works we have defined the soft compact operator and study some properties of this kind. After that we define soft adjoint operator on soft Banach spaces and study some of its properties. Finally we discuss the relation between the soft compact linear operator and its soft adjoint operator.

Keywords soft compact linear operator, soft adjoint operator

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Molodtsov (1) in 1999 initiated the theory of soft sets as a new mathematical tool for dealing with uncertainties. He has introduce several applications of this theory in solving many practical problems in engineering, economics, medical science, social science, etc. Maji et al. (3) introduced in 2003 several operations on soft sets and applied soft sets to decision making problems. Ali et al. in (2) defined some new operations on soft sets in 2009. In the line of reduction and addition of parameters of soft sets some works have been done by Chen (15). Aktas and Cagman (16) introduced the notion of soft group and discussed many properties of soft group. Feng et al. (4) worked on soft ideals, soft semiring and idealistic soft semiring. The idea of soft topological spaces was given by M. Shabir, M. Naz, (6). Mappings between soft sets were described by P. Majumdar, S. K. Samanta (17). Feng et al. (2) worked on soft sets combined with fuzzy sets and rough sets. Sujoy Das, S. K. Samanta introduced a notion of soft real sets, soft real numbers, soft complex sets, soft complex numbers and some of their basic properties have been investigated. They present some applications of soft real sets and soft real numbers in real life problems. And later they introduced the concepts of soft metric over an absolute soft set and `soft norm, soft inner product over soft linear spaces. Many properties of soft metric spaces, soft linear spaces, soft normed linear spaces and soft inner product spaces have been investigated with examples and counter examples.

#### 2. PRELIMINARIES

The basic definitions and theorems which were found in earlier study were introduced in the begin :

**Definition 2.1** [1] suppose X is a given set and F is a set of parameters. Let  $\mathscr{P}(X)$  symbolize the power set of X and  $P \neq \emptyset$  be a subset of F. A pair (H, P) is named a soft set over X, where H is a mapping given by H : P  $\rightarrow \mathscr{P}(X)$ . In a similar term, a soft set over X is a parameterized family of subsets of the universe X. For  $w \in P$ , H (w) can be think about as the set of w- approximate elements of the soft set (H, P).

**Definition 2.2** [2] For two soft sets (H, P) and (E, D) over a shared universe X, Then (H, P) is a soft subset of (E, D) if: (1)  $P \subseteq D$  and

(2) For all  $e \in P$ ,  $H(e) \subseteq E(e)$ . We write  $(H, P) \widetilde{\subset} (E, D)$ .

(E, D) is called a soft superset of (H, P), We write (H, P)  $\widetilde{\subset}$  ((E, D) if (H, P) is a soft subset of (E, D).

**Definition 2.3** [2] Two soft sets (H, P) and (E, D) over a shared universe X are said to be identical if (H, P) is a soft subset of (E, D) and (E, D) is a soft subset of (H, P).

Definition 2.4 [3] The union of two soft sets (H, P) and (E, D) over the shared universe X is the soft set

(J, Z); where  $Z = P \cup D$  and for all  $e \in Z$ ,

$$J(e) = \begin{cases} H(e) & \text{if } e \in P - D \\ E(e) & \text{if } e \in D - P \\ H(e) \cup E(e) & \text{if } e \in P \cap D \end{cases}$$

We express it as  $(H, P) \widetilde{U}(E, D) = (J, Z)$ .

**Definition 2.5** [4] The intersection of two soft sets (H, P) and (E, D) over the shared universe X is the soft set (L, S), where  $S = P \cap D$  and for all  $e \in S$ ,  $L(e) = H(e) \cap E(e)$ . We write  $(H, P) \cap (E, D) = (L, S)$ .

Suppose X be an introductory universal set and P is a set of parameters such that  $P \neq \emptyset$ . In the upstairs definitions the set of parameters probably different from soft set to another, but we consider, through our work that all soft sets Possess the identical set of the parameters P. Also the upstairs definitions will be useable for these types of soft sets because it'll be a special case of these definitions.

**Definition 2.6** [5] The complement of a soft set (F, P) is symbolized by  $(F, P)^c = (F^c, P)$ , where  $F^c: P \to \wp(X)$  is a mapping given by  $F^c(\lambda) = X \setminus F(\lambda)$ , for every  $\lambda \in P$ 

**Definition 2.7** [3] A soft set (F, P) over X is said to be an absolute soft set symbolized by  $\widetilde{X}$  if F ( $\lambda$ ) = X for every  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Definition 2.8** [3] A soft set (F, P) over X is said to be a null soft set symbolized by  $\widetilde{\Phi}$  if for every  $\lambda \in P$ ,  $F(\lambda) = \phi$ .

**Definition 2.9** [6] The difference (H , P) of two soft sets (F, P )and (E, P )over X, denoted by (F, P )\(E, P), is defined by H ( $\lambda$ ) = F( $\lambda$ )\E( $\lambda$ ) for all  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Proposition 2.10** [6] Let (M, P) and (N, P) be two soft subsets of  $\widetilde{X}$  Then:

(i)  $[(M, P) \ \widetilde{\cup} ((N, P)]^c = (M, P)^c \ \widetilde{\cap} (N, P)^c$ 

(ii)  $[(M, P) \cap ((N, P)]^c = (M, P)^c \cup (N, P)^c$ 

**Definition 2.11** [7] Let X be a non-empty set of elements and  $P \neq \emptyset$  is a set of parameter. Then a function  $\varepsilon$ : P  $\rightarrow$ X is called a soft element of X. A soft element  $\varepsilon$  of X is belongs to a soft set B of X, which is symbolized by  $\varepsilon \in B$ , if  $\varepsilon$  ( $\lambda$ )  $\in B(\lambda)$  for every  $\lambda \in P$ . Thus for a soft set B of X (with respect to the index set P) we have B ( $\lambda$ ) = { $\varepsilon(\lambda), \varepsilon \in B$ },  $\lambda \in P$ .

It should be mentioned that each singleton soft set (a soft set (H, P) for which H ( $\lambda$ )={x}, x \in X and  $\lambda \in P$ ) can be assumed as an soft element by replacing the one element set with the element that it contains for all  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Definition 2.12** [8] Consider  $\mathfrak{B}$  (R) the collection of all non-empty bounded subsets of R (R is real number) and P booked as a parameters set. The map H: P  $\rightarrow \mathfrak{B}$  (R) is named a soft real set. It is symbolized by (H, P). If

explicitly (H, P) is a singleton soft set, then when detecting (H, P) with the matching soft element, it will be named a soft real number.

The collection of each soft real numbers is symbolized by R(P) while the collection of all non-negative soft real numbers is symbolized by  $R(P)^*$ .

**Definition 2.13** [9] Consider  $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{C}) = \{k ; k \subseteq \mathbb{C}, k \neq \emptyset, k \text{ is bounded}\}$ . P booked as a parameters set. The map H: P  $\rightarrow \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{C})$  is named a soft complex set symbolized by (H, P). In particular, if (H, P) is a singleton soft set, then identifying (H, P) with the agreeing soft element, it will be named a soft complex number.

If we take all soft complex numbers as a set, we can call it by  $\mathbb{C}(P)$ .

**Definition 2.14** [9] Let (H, P) be a soft complex set. The complex conjugate of (H, P) is symbolized by  $(\overline{H}, P)$ and is defined by  $\overline{H}(\lambda) = \{\overline{z} : z \in H(\lambda)\}$ , for every  $\lambda \in P$ . Where  $\overline{z}$  is complex conjugate of the ordinary complex number z, The complex conjugate of a soft complex number (H, P) is  $\overline{H}(\lambda) = \overline{z} : z = H(\lambda)$ , for every  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Definition 2.15** [9] Let (F, P), (E, P)  $\in$  C (P): Then the sum, difference, product and division are defined by

$$\begin{split} (F+E) \ &(\lambda) = z + w, \, z \in F \ &(\lambda), \, w \in E \ &(\lambda), \, \text{for all } \lambda \in P. \\ (F-E) \ &(\lambda) = z - w; \, z \in F \ &(\lambda), \, w \in E \ &(\lambda), \, \text{for all } \lambda \in P. \\ (FE) \ &(\lambda) = zw, \, z \in F \ &(\lambda), \, w \in E \ &(\lambda), \, \text{for all } \lambda \in P. \\ (F/E) \ &(\lambda) = z/w, \, z \in F \ &(\lambda), \, w \in E \ &(\lambda), \, \text{provided } E \ &(\lambda) \neq \phi, \, \text{for all } \lambda \in P. \end{split}$$

**Definition 2.16** [9] Let (F, P) be a soft complex number. Then the modulus of (F, P) is symbolized by (|F|, P) and is defined by  $|F|(\lambda) = |z|$ ;  $z \in F(\lambda)$ , for each  $\lambda \in P$ , where z is an ordinary complex number.

Since the modulus of each ordinary complex number and ordinary real number are a non-negative real number and by definition of soft real numbers, we obtained that (|F|, P) is a non-negative soft real number for every soft complex number (F, P) or soft real number (F, P).

Let X is a non-empty set and  $\widetilde{X}$  be the absolute soft set i.e.,  $V(\lambda) = X$ , for each  $\lambda \in P$  where  $(V, P) = \widetilde{X}$ . Suppose S ( $\widetilde{X}$ ) be the collection of all soft sets (H, P) over X for which H ( $\lambda$ )  $\neq \phi$ , for all  $\lambda \in P$  together with the null soft set  $\widetilde{\Phi}$ . Let (H, P) ( $\neq \Phi$ )  $\in$  S( $\widetilde{X}$ ), then the collection of all soft elements of (H, P) will be denoted by SE (H, P). For a collection  $\mathfrak{B}$  of soft elements of  $\widetilde{X}$ , the soft set generated by  $\mathfrak{B}$  is denoted by SS( $\mathfrak{B}$ ).

**Definition 2.17** [10] Let d:  $SE(\tilde{X}) \times SE(\tilde{X}) \rightarrow R(P)^*$ . We called d a soft metric on the soft set  $\tilde{X}$  if d Achieves the subsequent conditions:

(1). d  $(\tilde{x}; \tilde{y}) \ge \overline{0}$ , for each  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$ .

(2). d  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) = \overline{0}$ , if and only if  $\tilde{x} = \tilde{y}$ .

(3). d  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) = d(\tilde{y}, \tilde{x})$  for all  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$ .

(4). For all  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \overline{z} \in \tilde{X}$ , d  $(\tilde{x}, \overline{z}) \leq d(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) + d(\tilde{y}, \overline{z})$ 

The soft metric d defined on  $\widetilde{X}$  side by side with the soft set  $\widetilde{X}$  is called a soft metric space and is symbolized by  $(\widetilde{X}, d, P)$  or  $(\widetilde{X}, d)$ .

**Definition 2.18** [11] Let W be a vector space over Z (which Z is a field), P is a parameters set. Let H be a soft set on (W, P). If for all  $\lambda \in P, H(\lambda)$  is a vector subspace of W, Then H is called a soft vector space of W over Z.

**Definition 2.19** [12] Suppose H is a soft vector space of W over Z. Let L:  $P \rightarrow p$  (W) be a soft set over (W, P). If for each  $\lambda \in P$ ,  $L(\lambda)$  is a vector subspace of W over Z and H ( $\lambda$ )  $\supseteq L(\lambda)$ , Then L is called a soft vector subspace of H.

**Definition 2.20** [11] Suppose H is a soft vector space of W over Z. Then a soft element of H is called a soft vector of H. In a similar way we can called the soft element of the soft set (Z, P) by soft scalar, where Z is the scalar field.

**Definition 2.21** [11] Let  $\tilde{x}$ ,  $\tilde{y}$  be soft vectors of G and  $\tilde{k}$  be a soft scalar. The addition  $\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}$  of  $\tilde{x}$ ,  $\tilde{y}$  and scalar multiplication  $\tilde{k}$ .  $\tilde{x}$  of  $\tilde{k}$  and  $\tilde{x}$  are defined by  $(\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}) (\lambda) = \tilde{x} (\lambda) + \tilde{y} (\lambda)$ ,  $\tilde{k}$ .  $\tilde{x} (\lambda) = \tilde{k} (\lambda)$ .  $\tilde{x} (\lambda)$  for all  $\lambda \in A$ . Obviously,  $\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}$ ,  $\tilde{k}$ .  $\tilde{x}$  are soft vectors of G.

**Definition 2.22** [13] Let  $\widetilde{X}$  be the absolute soft vector space i.e.,  $\widetilde{X}(\lambda) = X$ , for all  $\lambda \in P$ . Then a function  $\|.\|$ : SE $(\widetilde{X}) \rightarrow R(P)^*$  is called a soft norm on the soft vector space  $\widetilde{X}$  if  $\|.\|$  satisfies the subsequent situations:

1)  $\|\cdot\| \cong \overline{0}$  for every  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ .

2)  $\|\tilde{x}\| = \overline{0}$  if and only if  $\tilde{x} = \Theta$ .

3)  $\|\tilde{\alpha} \cdot \tilde{x}\| = |\tilde{\alpha}| \|\tilde{x}\|$  for each  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  as well as for each soft scalar  $\tilde{\alpha}$ .

4) For each  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}, ||\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}|| \leq ||\tilde{x}|| + ||\tilde{y}||$ 

The soft vector space  $\widetilde{X}$  with a soft norm  $\| \cdot \|$  on  $\widetilde{X}$  is called a soft normed linear space and is symbolized by  $(\widetilde{X}, \| \cdot \|, P)$  or  $(\widetilde{X}, \| \cdot \|)$ . The exceeding conditions are called soft norm axioms.

**Theorem 2.23** [11] Suppose a soft norm  $\|\cdot\|$  achieves the situation (N5). For  $\xi \in X$  and  $\lambda \in P$  the set  $\|\tilde{x}\|(\lambda) : \tilde{x}(\lambda) = \xi\}$  is a one element set. Then for each  $\lambda \in P$ , the mapping  $\|\cdot\|_{\lambda} : X \to R^+$  defined by  $\|\xi\|_{\lambda} = \|\tilde{x}\|(\lambda)$ , for all  $\xi \in X$  and  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ . Such that  $\tilde{x}(\lambda) = \xi$ , can be considered as a norm on X.

**Definition 2.24** [12] consider  $(\tilde{X}, \| . \|, P)$  is a soft normed linear space,  $\tilde{r} \ge \bar{0}$  be a soft real number. We define the followings:

 $B(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) = \{ \tilde{y} \in \widetilde{X} : ||\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}|| \approx \tilde{r} \} \subset SE(\widetilde{X})$  $\overline{B}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) = \{ \tilde{y} \in \widetilde{X} : ||\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}|| \approx \tilde{r} \} \subset SE(\widetilde{X})$ 

 $\mathbf{S}(\widetilde{x}\,,\widetilde{r}) = \{ \ \widetilde{y} \in \widetilde{X} : \left\| \widetilde{x} \ - \ \widetilde{y} \right\| = \widetilde{r} \ \} \subset \mathbf{SE}(\widetilde{X})$ 

 $B(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}), \overline{B}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}), S(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r})$  are respectively called an open ball, a closed ball and a sphere with center at  $\tilde{x}$  and radius  $\tilde{r}$ .  $SS(B(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r})), SS(\overline{B}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}))$  and  $SS(S(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}))$  are respectively called a soft open ball, a soft closed ball and a soft sphere with center at  $\tilde{x}$  and radius  $\tilde{r}$ .

**Definition 2.25** [11] A sequence of soft elements  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  in a soft normed space  $(\widetilde{X}, \|\cdot\|, P)$  called convergent sequence if  $\|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x}\| \to \overline{0}$  as  $n \to \infty$ , we say the sequence converges to a soft element  $\widetilde{x}$ . In other words for all  $\widetilde{\epsilon} \ge \overline{0}$ , there exist  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $N = N(\widetilde{\epsilon})$  and  $\overline{0} \ge \|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x}\| \ge \widetilde{\epsilon}$  every time n > N.

i.e., n > N *implies*  $\widetilde{x_n} \in B(\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{\epsilon})$ . We symbolize this by  $\widetilde{x_n} \to \widetilde{x}$  as  $n \to \infty$  or by  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \widetilde{x_n} = \widetilde{x}$ . The soft element  $\widetilde{x}$  said to be the limit of the sequence  $\widetilde{x_n}$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

**Definition 2.26** [11] A sequence  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  of soft elements in a soft normed space  $(\widetilde{X}, \|.\|, P)$  is said to be a Cauchy sequence in  $\widetilde{X}$  if corresponding to each  $\widetilde{\epsilon} \ge \overline{0}$ , there exist m > N such that  $\|\widetilde{x_i} - \widetilde{x_j}\| \ge \widetilde{\epsilon}$ , for all i,j  $\ge m$  i.e.,  $\|\widetilde{x_i} - \widetilde{x_j}\| \to \overline{0}$  as i;  $j \to \infty$ .

**Definition 2.27** [11] Let  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|, P)$  be a soft normed space. Then  $\tilde{X}$  is called a soft complete if every Cauchy sequence in  $\tilde{X}$  converges to a soft element of  $\tilde{X}$ . The soft complete normed space is said to be a soft Banach Space.

**Theorem 2.28** [11] every Cauchy sequence in R(P), where P is a finite set of parameters, is convergent, i.e., the set of all soft real numbers together with its usual modulus soft norm with respect to finite set of parameters, is a soft Banach space.

**Definition 2.29**[12] A series  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{x}_k$  of soft elements called soft convergent if the partial sum of the series  $\widetilde{S}_n = \sum_{k=1}^n \widetilde{x}_k$  is soft convergent.

Let  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  be the corresponding absolute soft normed spaces i.e.,  $\tilde{X}(\lambda) = X$ ,  $\tilde{Y}(\lambda) = Y$ , for all  $\lambda \in P$ . We use the notation  $\tilde{x}$ ,  $\tilde{y}$ ,  $\tilde{z}$  to represent soft vectors of a soft vector space.

**Definition 2.30**[5] Let G be a soft vector space of W over Z. Let  $\widetilde{\alpha_1}, \widetilde{\alpha_2}, \dots, \widetilde{\alpha_n} \in G$ . A soft vector  $\tilde{\beta}$  in G is said to be a linear combination of the soft vectors  $\widetilde{\alpha_1}, \widetilde{\alpha_2}, \dots, \widetilde{\alpha_n}$  if  $\tilde{\beta}$  can be expressed as  $\tilde{\beta} = \widetilde{c_1 \alpha_1} + \widetilde{c_2 \alpha_2} + \cdots + \widetilde{c_n \alpha_n}$  for some soft scalars  $\widetilde{c_1}, \widetilde{c_2}, \dots, \widetilde{c_n}$ .

 $\widetilde{c_1}\widetilde{\alpha_1}+\widetilde{c_2}\widetilde{\alpha_2}+\ldots+\widetilde{c_n}\widetilde{\alpha_n}$ , for some soft scalars  $\widetilde{c_1}, \widetilde{c_2}, \ldots, \ldots, \widetilde{c_n}$ . **Proposition 2.31** [11] A set  $S = \{\widetilde{\alpha_1}, \widetilde{\alpha_2}, \ldots, \ldots, \widetilde{\alpha_n}\}$  of soft vectors in a soft vector space G over W is linearly independent if and only if the sets  $S(\lambda) = \{\widetilde{\alpha_1}(\lambda), \widetilde{\alpha_2}(\lambda), \ldots, \ldots, \widetilde{\alpha_n}(\lambda)\}$  are linearly independent in W, for all  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Proposition 2.32** [11] A set  $S = \{\widetilde{\alpha_1}, \widetilde{\alpha_2}, \dots, \widetilde{\alpha_n}\}$  of soft vectors in a soft vector space G over W is linearly dependent if and only if the sets  $S(\lambda) = \{\widetilde{\alpha_1}(\lambda), \widetilde{\alpha_2}(\lambda), \dots, \widetilde{\alpha_n}(\lambda)\}$  are linearly dependent in V, for all  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Definition 2.33** [11] A soft linear space  $\tilde{X}$  is said to be of finite dimensional if there is a finite set of linearly independent soft vectors in  $\tilde{X}$  which also generates  $\tilde{X}$ , i.e., any soft element of  $\tilde{X}$  can be stated as a linear combination of those linearly independent soft vectors.

Set of soft vectors which linearly independent is said to be the basis for  $\tilde{X}$  and the number of soft vectors of the basis is called the dimension of  $\tilde{X}$ .

**Definition 2.34**[11] Suppose T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) is an operator. T is called soft linear if

(L1) T  $(\widetilde{x_1} + \widetilde{x_2}) = T (\widetilde{x_1}) + T(\widetilde{x_2})$  for all soft elements  $\widetilde{x_1}, \widetilde{x_2} \in \widetilde{X}$ .

(L2) For all soft scalar  $\tilde{k}$ ,  $T(\tilde{k}, \tilde{x}) = \tilde{k} T(\tilde{x})$ . for all soft element  $\tilde{x}\tilde{\epsilon} \tilde{X}$ .

The properties (L1) and (L2) can be put in a combined form T  $(\widetilde{k_1}, \widetilde{x_1} + \widetilde{k_2}, \widetilde{x_2}) = \widetilde{k_1} T (\widetilde{x_1}) + \widetilde{k_2} T(\widetilde{x_2})$  for every soft elements  $\widetilde{x_1}, \widetilde{x_2} \in \widetilde{X}$  and every soft scalars  $\widetilde{k_1}, \widetilde{k_2}$ .

**Definition 2.35**[11] The operator  $T : SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{Y})$  is said to be continuous at  $\tilde{x_0} \in \tilde{X}$  if for every sequence  $\{\tilde{x_n}\}$  of soft elements of  $\tilde{X}$  with  $\tilde{x_n} \to \tilde{x_0}$  as  $n \to \infty$ , we have  $T(\tilde{x_n}) \to T(\tilde{x_0})$  as  $n \to \infty$  i.e.,  $\|\tilde{x_n} - \tilde{x_0}\| \to \overline{0}$  as  $n \to \infty$  implies  $\|T(\tilde{x_n}) - T(\tilde{x_0})\| \to \overline{0}$  as  $n \to \infty$ . If T is continuous at every soft element of  $\tilde{X}$ , then T is called a continuous operator.

**Theorem 2.36**[11] Let T:  $SE(\tilde{X}) \rightarrow SE(\tilde{Y})$  be a soft linear operator, where  $\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y}$  are soft normed linear spaces: If T is continuous at some soft element  $\tilde{x_0} \in \tilde{X}$  then T is continuous at every soft element of  $\tilde{X}$ .

**Definition 2.37**[11] Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) be a soft linear operator, where  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  are soft normed linear spaces .The operator T is said to be bounded if there exists some positive soft real number  $\tilde{M}$  such that for each  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ ,  $||T(\tilde{x})|| \leq \tilde{M} ||\tilde{x}||$ .

**Theorem 2.38**[11] Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) be a soft linear operator, where  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  are soft normed linear spaces. If T is bounded then T is continuous.

**Theorem 2.39**[11] (Decomposition Theorem) Suppose a soft linear operator T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ), where  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  are soft normed spaces, fulfills the situation (L3). For  $\xi \in X$ , and  $\lambda \in P$  the set {T ( $\widetilde{x}$ ) ( $\lambda$ ):  $\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}$  such that  $\widetilde{x}$  ( $\lambda$ ) =  $\xi$ } is a one element set. Then for each  $\lambda \in P$ , the mapping  $T_{\lambda} : X \rightarrow Y$  defined by  $T_{\lambda}(\xi) = T(\widetilde{x})(\lambda)$ , for all  $\xi \in X$  and  $\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}$  such that  $\widetilde{x}(\lambda) = \xi$ , is a linear operator.

**Theorem 2.40**[11] Let  $T_{\lambda} : X \to Y, \lambda \in P$  be a family of crisp linear operators from the vector space X to the vector space Y, and  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  be the corresponding absolute soft vector spaces. Then there exists a soft linear operator  $T : SE(\widetilde{X}) \to SE(\widetilde{Y})$  defined by  $T(\widetilde{x})(\lambda) = T_{\lambda}(\xi)$  if  $\widetilde{x}(\lambda) = \xi , \lambda \in P$ . which satisfies (L3) and  $T(\lambda) = T_{\lambda}$  for all  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Theorem 2.41**[11] Let  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}$  be soft normed linear spaces which satisfy (N5) and T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\widetilde{X}$ ) be a soft linear operator satisfying (L3). If T is continuous then T is bounded.

**Theorem 2.42**[11] Let  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}$  be soft normed linear spaces which satisfy (N5) and T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ) be a soft linear operator satisfying (L3). If  $\widetilde{X}$  is of finite dimension, then T is bounded and hence continuous.

**Definition 2.43**[11] (Let T be a bounded soft linear operator from SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) into SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ). Then the norm of the operator T denoted by ||T||, is a soft real number defined as the following: For each  $\lambda \in P ||T||(\lambda) = \inf\{t \in R; ||T(\tilde{x})|| \le t. ||\tilde{x}||(\lambda), for each \tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}\}.$ 

**Theorem 2.44**[11] Let  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  be soft normed linear spaces which satisfy (N5) and T satisfy (L3). Then for each  $\lambda \in P$ ,  $||T||(\lambda) = ||T_{\lambda}||_{\lambda}$ , where  $||T_{\lambda}||_{\lambda}$  is the norm of the linear operator  $T_{\lambda}$ :  $X \to Y$ .

**Theorem 2.45**[11]  $||T(\tilde{x})|| \leq ||T|| ||\tilde{x}||$ , for all  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ .

**Theorem 2.46**[11] Let  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}$  be soft normed linear spaces which satisfy (N5) and T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ) be a soft linear operator satisfying (L3). Then:

(i)  $||T||(\lambda) = \sup\{||T(\tilde{x})||(\lambda): ||\tilde{x}|| \leq \overline{1}\} = ||T_{\lambda}||_{\lambda}, \text{ for each } \lambda \in \mathbb{P}.$ (ii)  $||T||(\lambda) = \sup\{||T(\tilde{x})||(\lambda): ||\tilde{x}|| = \overline{1}\} = ||T_{\lambda}||_{\lambda}, \text{ for each } \lambda \in \mathbb{P}.$ (iii)  $||T||(\lambda) = \sup\{\frac{||T(\tilde{x})||}{||\tilde{x}||}(\lambda): ||\tilde{x}||(\mu) \neq 0, \text{ for all } \mu \in A\} = ||T_{\lambda}||_{\lambda}, \text{ for each } \lambda \in \mathbb{P}.$ 

**Theorem 2.47**[11] Let  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}$  be a soft normed linear spaces which satisfy (N5). Let T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ) be a continuous soft linear operator satisfying (L3). Then  $T_{\lambda}$  is continuous on X for each  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Theorem 2.48**[12] Let  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}$  be a soft normed linear spaces which satisfy (N5). Let  $\{T_{\lambda}; \lambda \in P\}$  be a family of continuous linear operators such that  $T_{\lambda}: X \to Y$  for each  $\lambda$ . Then the soft linear operator T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\to$  SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ) defined by  $(T(\widetilde{x}))(\lambda) = T_{\lambda}(\widetilde{x}(\lambda))$ , for all  $\lambda \in P$  is a continuous soft linear operator satisfying (L3).

**Definition 2.49**[12] (Soft linear space of operators) Let  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  be soft normed linear spaces satisfying (N5). Consider the set W of all continuous soft linear operators S; T etc. which satisfy (L3) each mapping SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) into SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) Then using Theorem 2.43, it follows that for each  $\lambda \in P$ ; S,T, ..... etc. are continuous soft linear operators from X to Y.

Let  $W(\lambda) = \{T_{\lambda}(=T(\lambda)); T \in W\}$ , for all  $\lambda \in P$ . Also using definition 2.43 and Theorem 2.44, it follows that  $W(\lambda)$  is the collection of all continuous linear operators from X to Y. By the property of crisp linear operators it follows that  $W(\lambda)$  forms a vector space for each  $\lambda \in P$  with respect to the usual operations of addition and scalar multiplication of linear operators. It also follows that  $W(\lambda)$  is identical with the set of all continuous linear operators from X to Y for all  $\lambda \in P$ . Thus the absolute soft set generated by  $W(\lambda)$  form an absolute soft vector space. Hence W can be interpreted as to form an absolute soft vector space. We shall denote this absolute soft linear (vector) space by L  $(\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y})$ .

**Proposition 2.50**[12] Each element of  $SE(L(\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y}))$  can be identified uniquely with a member of W i.e., to a continuous soft linear operator T:  $SE(\tilde{X}) \rightarrow SE(\tilde{Y})$ .

**Theorem 2.51**[12] L  $(\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y})$  is a soft normed linear space where for  $\hat{f} \in SE(L(\tilde{X}, \tilde{Y}))$ , we can identify  $\hat{f}$  to a unique  $T \in W$  and  $\|\hat{f}\|$  is defined by  $\|\hat{f}\|(\lambda) = \|T\|(\lambda) = \sup\{\|T(\tilde{x})\|(\lambda): \|\tilde{x}\| \leq \bar{1}\}$ , for each  $\lambda \in P$ .

**Definition 2.52**[11] Suppose T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ) be a soft linear operator where  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  are soft normed space. Then T is called injective or one-to-one if  $T(\widetilde{x_1})(\lambda) = T(\widetilde{x_2})(\lambda)$  implies  $(\widetilde{x_1})(\lambda) = (\widetilde{x_2})(\lambda) \quad \forall \lambda \in P$ , it is called surjective or onto if Rang(T) = SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ), the operator T is said to be bijective if T is both one-to-one and onto . **Definition2.53** [14]: let  $(\tilde{X}, \tau)$  be a soft topological space, A collection  $\{(G_i, P) : i \in I\}$  of soft open sets is called a soft open cover of  $(\widetilde{X}, \tau)$  if  $\widetilde{X} = \widetilde{U}_{i \in I}(G_i, P)$ 

**Definition2.54** [14]: An  $(\tilde{X}, \tau)$  is called soft compact if every soft open cover of  $\tilde{X}$  has a finite soft subcollection which cover  $\widetilde{X}$ 

**Theorem 2.55**[12]: Let  $\widetilde{X}$  be a real soft normed linear space satisfying (N5). Let f be a continuous soft linear functional on a soft subspace G of  $\widetilde{X}$  satisfying (L3). Then there exists a continuous soft linear functional F defined on  $\widetilde{X}$  satisfying (L3), such that

(i).  $f(\tilde{x}) = F(\tilde{x})$  for all  $\tilde{x} \in G$ ; and (ii).  $||f||_G = ||F||_{\tilde{X}} = ||F||.$ 

**3. SOFT COMPACT LINEAR OPERATOR** 

**Definition 3.1**: A soft normed space  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|)$  is called a soft compact if every sequence  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}$  of soft vectors in  $\widetilde{X}$  has a convergent subsequence, a soft subset (G, P) of  $\widetilde{X}$  is called a soft compact soft set if every sequence of soft vectors in (G, P) has a convergent subsequence converges to a soft vector of (G, P).

**Proposition 3.2**: A soft compact subset (G, P) of soft normed space ( $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\|.\|$ ) is soft closed and soft bounded. **Proof:** for each  $\tilde{x} \in \overline{(G, A)}$  there exist a sequence  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}$  in (G, P) such that  $\tilde{x}_n \to \tilde{x}$ , since (G, P) is soft compact then  $\tilde{x} \in (G, P)$ . This implies that (G, P) is soft close since  $\tilde{x} \in (G, P)$  was random.

We show that (G, P) is bounded, if (G, P) is not bounded, then it would contain an unbounded sequence  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}$ such that  $\|\widetilde{x}_n - \widetilde{y}\| \ge \widetilde{m}$  where  $\widetilde{y}$  is a fixed soft vector in (G, P) and  $\widetilde{m} \in R(P)^*$ . This sequence could not have a convergent subsequence because a convergent subsequence must be bounded. i.e., (G, P) must be bounded.

The converse of above Proposition is not true in common; it's true only in finite dimension soft normed space.

**Lemma 3.3** (Linear combinations). Let  $\{\widetilde{x_1}, \widetilde{x_2}, \widetilde{x_3}, \dots, \widetilde{x_n}\}$  be a linearly independent set of soft vectors in a soft normed space  $\tilde{X}$  (of any dimension). Then there is a soft real number  $\tilde{c} \geq \bar{0}$  such that for every choice of soft scalars

 $\widetilde{\alpha_1}, \widetilde{\alpha_2}, \dots \dots \widetilde{\alpha_n}$  we have

 $\|\widetilde{\alpha_1}, \widetilde{\alpha_2}, \dots, \widetilde{\alpha_n} \| \ge \widetilde{\alpha_1} \| \ge \widetilde{\alpha_1} \| \ge \widetilde{\alpha_1} \| + |\widetilde{\alpha_2}| + \dots + |\widetilde{\alpha_n}| ).$ Prove of lemma was given in (5) briefly, we have proved it in another way with details. **Proof:** We write  $\widetilde{S} = |\widetilde{\alpha_1}| + |\widetilde{\alpha_2}| + \dots + |\widetilde{\alpha_n}|$ . if  $\widetilde{S} = \overline{0}$ , all  $\widetilde{\alpha_j}$  are  $\overline{0}$  and the above statement true for any soft real number  $\tilde{c}$ . Let  $\tilde{S} \ge \bar{0}$ . Dividing both sides by  $\tilde{S}$  and writing  $\tilde{\beta}_i = \frac{\alpha_i}{z}$ , that is,

(1).... 
$$\left\|\widetilde{\beta_{1}}\widetilde{x_{1}} + \widetilde{\beta_{2}}\widetilde{x_{2}} + \dots + \widetilde{\beta_{n}}\widetilde{x_{n}}\right\| \cong \widetilde{c} \text{ where } \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left|\widetilde{\beta_{j}}\right| = \overline{1}.$$

Hence it be enough to prove that there is a  $\tilde{c} \geq \bar{0}$  such that (1) holds for all soft scalars  $\tilde{\beta}_i$  with  $\sum_{i=1}^n |\tilde{\beta}_i| = \bar{1}$ . Consider that this is not true. Then there is a sequence  $\{\widetilde{y_m}\}$  of soft vectors such that

$$\widetilde{y_m} = \widetilde{\beta_1^m} \widetilde{x_1} + \widetilde{\beta_2^m} \widetilde{x_2} + \dots + \widetilde{\beta_n^m} \widetilde{x_n} \qquad (\sum_{j=1}^n \left| \widetilde{\beta_j^m} \right| = \overline{1}) \quad \text{And} \quad \|\widetilde{y_m}\| \to \overline{0} \quad as \ m \to \infty$$

Since  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\widetilde{\beta_{j}^{m}}| = \overline{1}$ , we have  $|\widetilde{\beta_{j}^{m}}| \cong \overline{1}$ . Hence for every static j the sequence  $\{\widetilde{\beta_{j}^{m}}\} = \{\widetilde{\beta_{j}^{1}}, \widetilde{\beta_{j}^{2}}, ...\}$  is bounded. Consequently, by the Bolzano-Weierstrass theorem  $\{\widetilde{\beta_1^m}\}$  has a convergent subsequence. Let  $\widetilde{\beta_1}$  represent the limit of that subsequence, and let  $\{\widetilde{y_{1,m}}\}$  symbolize the consistent subsequence of  $\{\widetilde{y_m}\}$ . By the same reason,  $\{\widetilde{y_{1,m}}\}\$  has a subsequence  $\{\widetilde{y_{2,m}}\}\$  for which the consistent subsequence of soft scalars  $\widetilde{\beta_2^m}\$  converges; let  $\widetilde{\beta_2}\$  denote the limit. Ongoing in this way, after n stages we get a subsequence:

$$\begin{split} & \{\widetilde{y_{n,m}}\} = \{\widetilde{y_{n,1}}, \widetilde{y_{n,2}}, ...\} \text{of} \{\widetilde{y_m}\} \text{ Whose terms are of the form } \widetilde{y_{n,m}} = \sum_{j=1}^n \widetilde{\gamma_j^m} \widetilde{x_j} \qquad (\sum_{j=1}^n \left| \widetilde{\beta_j^m} \right| = \overline{1}). \end{split}$$
 With soft scalars  $\widetilde{\gamma_j^m}$  satisfying  $\widetilde{\gamma_j^m} \to \widetilde{\beta_j}$  as  $m \to \infty$ . Hence  $\widetilde{y_{n,m}} \to \widetilde{y} = \sum_{j=1}^n \widetilde{\beta_j} \widetilde{x_j}.$ 

Where  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} |\widetilde{\beta_j}| = \overline{1}$ , so that not all  $\widetilde{\beta_j}$  can be zero. Since  $\{\widetilde{x_1}, \widetilde{x_2}, \widetilde{x_3}, \dots, \widetilde{x_{1n}}\}$  is a linearly independent set, we thus have  $\tilde{y} \neq \bar{0}$ . On the other side,  $\tilde{y}_{n,m} \rightarrow \tilde{y}$  implies  $\|\tilde{y}_{n,m}\| \rightarrow \|\tilde{y}\|$ , by the continuity of the soft norm. Since

 $\|\widetilde{y_m}\| \to \overline{0}$  by hypothesis and  $\{\widetilde{y_{n,m}}\}$  is a subsequence of  $\{\widetilde{y_m}\}$ , we obtained that  $\|\widetilde{y_{n,m}}\| \to \overline{0}$ . Hence,  $\|\widetilde{y}\| = \overline{0}$ , so that  $\widetilde{y} = \theta$  by (N2). This contradicts  $\widetilde{y} \neq \theta$ , and the result is followed.

**Proposition 3.4**: in a finite dimension soft normed space  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|)$  any soft subset  $M \cong \tilde{X}$  is soft compact if and only if M is soft close and soft bounded.

#### Proof: (if direction)

Let M = (G, P) be a soft closed and soft bounded subset of  $\widetilde{X}$ , let dimension of  $\widetilde{X}$  = n and let  $\{\widetilde{x_1}, \widetilde{x_2}, ..., \widetilde{x_n}\}$  be a base of  $\widetilde{X}$ , we consider any sequence  $\{\widetilde{x_m}\}$  in M, then  $\widetilde{x_m} = \widetilde{\alpha_{1_m}} \widetilde{x_1} + \widetilde{\alpha_{2_m}} \widetilde{x_2} + .... + \widetilde{\alpha_{n_m}} \widetilde{x_n}$  for all m.  $\{\widetilde{x_m}\}$  is soft bounded since M is soft bounded, i.e.,  $\|\widetilde{x_m}\| \cong \widetilde{k}$  for all m and for  $\widetilde{k} \in R(P)^*$ .

By lemma 3.3  $\widetilde{k} \cong \|\widetilde{x_m}\| = \left\|\sum_{i=1}^n \widetilde{\alpha_{i_m}} \widetilde{x_i}\right\| \cong \widetilde{c} \sum_{i=1}^n \left|\alpha_{i_m}\right| \quad \text{where } \widetilde{c} \cong \overline{0}$ 

i.e.,  $\tilde{k}(\lambda) \cong [\tilde{c} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\alpha_{i_{m}}|](\lambda)$  for every  $\lambda \in P$ , hence the sequence of soft real number  $\widetilde{\alpha_{i_{m}}}(\lambda)$  (i fixed) is soft bounded. Bolzano-weierstrass theorem states that it has a point of accumulation say  $\widetilde{\alpha_{i}}$ , we determine that  $\{\widetilde{x_{m}}\}$  has a subsequence  $\{\widetilde{z_{m}}\}$  which converge to  $\tilde{z} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \widetilde{\alpha_{i}} \widetilde{x_{i}}$ , because M is soft closed, then  $\tilde{z} \in M$ . this shows that the sequence  $\{\widetilde{x_{m}}\}$  in M (which is random) has a subsequence which converges in M. Therefor M is soft compact.

**Theorem 3.5**: Let  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  be two soft normed spaces. Consider T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) to be a soft continuous linear operator. Then the image of any soft compact subset of  $\tilde{X}$  under T is soft compact.

**proof :** let M = (G,A) be a soft compact subset of  $\widetilde{X}$ , it suffices to show that every sequence { $\widetilde{y}$ } in the image  $T(M) \cong SE(\widetilde{Y})$  contain a convergent subsequence such that converges in T(M). Since  $\widetilde{y_n} \in T(M)$ , then there exist  $\widetilde{x_n} \in M$  such that  $\widetilde{y_n} = T(\widetilde{x_n})$  for all  $n \in N$ .

Since M is soft compact, then  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  contain subsequence  $\{\widetilde{x_{n_k}}\}$  which converge in M .the image of  $\widetilde{x_{n_k}}$  is a subsequence of  $\{\widetilde{y_n}\}$  which converge in T(M) because T is continuous (if  $\widetilde{x_{n_k}} \to \widetilde{x_{n_0}}$  then  $T\widetilde{x_{n_k}} \to T\widetilde{x_{n_0}}$ ). So  $T\widetilde{x_{n_k}}$  converges. Hence T(M) is soft compact.

Now the definition of soft compact operator is given:

**Definition 3.6**: (soft compact operator) let  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  be two soft normed spaces. T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) be a soft operator. T is called a soft compact operator if for each bounded soft subset M of  $\tilde{X}$ , the image T(M) is relatively soft compact i.e.,  $\overline{T(M)}$  is soft compact.

**Proposition 3.7**: Let  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  be two soft normed spaces then every soft compact operator  $T: SE(\widetilde{X}) \to SE(\widetilde{Y})$  is soft bounded , hence soft continuous .

Proof: the set  $M = \{ \tilde{x} \in SE(\tilde{X}) : ||\tilde{x}|| = \overline{1} \}$  is soft bounded. Since T is soft compact then  $\overline{T(M)}$  is soft compact and  $\overline{T(M)}$  is soft bounded, so  $\sup ||T\tilde{x}|| \cong \tilde{k}$  where  $\tilde{k} \cong \overline{0}$ , hence T is soft bounded therefore T is soft continuous.

**Theorem 3.8** : let  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  be two soft normed spaces and let  $T : SE(\widetilde{X}) \to SE(\widetilde{Y})$  be soft linear operator then T is soft compact if and only if it maps every soft bounded sequence of soft vectors  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  in  $\widetilde{X}$  onto a sequence  $(T \widetilde{x_n})$  in  $\widetilde{Y}$  which has a convergent subsequence .

**Proof**: if T is soft compact and  $\widetilde{x_n}$  is soft bounded then the closure of  $(T \ \widetilde{x_n})$  in  $\widetilde{Y}$  is soft compact and by **Definition 3.1**  $\{T \ \widetilde{x_n}\}$  contain a convergent subsequence.

Conversely, assume that every soft bounded sequence  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  contain a subsequence  $\widetilde{x_{n_k}}$  such that  $\{T \ \widetilde{x_{n_k}}\}$  converge in  $\widetilde{Y}$ . Consider any soft bounded subset  $B \subset \widetilde{X}$  and let  $\{\widetilde{y_n}\}$  be random sequence in T(B), then  $\widetilde{y_n} = T(\widetilde{x_n})$  for some  $\widetilde{x_n} \in B$ , and  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  is soft bounded since B is soft bounded.

By assumption {T  $\widetilde{x_n}$ } contain a convergent subsequence , hence T(B) is soft compact by **Definition 3.1** and T(B) is soft closed by **proposition 3.2** i.e., T(B) =  $\overline{T(B)}$  is soft compact .because  $\widetilde{y_n}$  in T(B) was arbitrary, hence T is soft compact by **Definition 3.6** 

**Theorem 3.9**: let  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  be two soft normed spaces which satisfies  $N_5$ . Consider T : SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) to be a soft compact linear operator satisfy  $L_3$  then  $T_{\lambda}$ : X  $\rightarrow$  Y is a compact linear operator .

**Proof**: since T satisfy  $L_3$ , then  $T_{\lambda}: X \to Y$  is a linear operator for all  $\lambda \in P$ .

Consider  $\widetilde{x_n}$  to be a soft bounded sequence of soft vectors in  $\widetilde{X}$ , then for fixed  $\lambda \quad \widetilde{x_n}(\lambda) \in X$  and  $x_n = \widetilde{x_n}(\lambda)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  (fixed  $\lambda$ ), so  $x_n$  is a bounded sequence of crisp element in X.

(In fact if  $\|\widetilde{x_n}\| \leq \widetilde{M}$  for all  $\widetilde{x_n}$  and  $\widetilde{M} \geq \overline{0}$ , then  $\|\widetilde{x_n}\|(\lambda) \leq \widetilde{M}(\lambda)$ . hence  $\|\widetilde{x_n}(\lambda)\| \leq M$  for  $M = \widetilde{M}(\lambda)$ ,  $M \in \mathbb{R}$ . and that implies  $\|x_n\| \leq M$ , hence  $\{x_n\}$  is bounded sequence in X).

Now, since T is soft compact, then T  $\widetilde{x_n}$  having a convergent subsequence says T  $\widetilde{x_{n_k}}$ . Hence T  $\widetilde{x_{n_k}}(\lambda)$  is converge. But T  $\widetilde{x_{n_k}}(\lambda) = T x_{n_k} \in Y$  for all  $n_k \in N$  (fixed  $\lambda$ ), hence for every bounded sequence  $x_n$  in X implies T( $x_n$ ) have a convergent subsequence T( $x_{n_k}$ ) in Y.

i.e.,  $T_{\lambda}$ : X  $\rightarrow$  Y is a compact linear operator for all  $\lambda \in P$ 

**Theorem 3.10**: let  $T_{\lambda}$ : X  $\longrightarrow$  Y be a soft linear operator and let  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  be the corresponding absolute soft vector spaces satisfies  $N_5$ , if  $T_{\lambda}$  is compact for all  $\lambda \in P$ , then T : SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\longrightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) is soft compact linear operator.

**Poof**: since  $T_{\lambda}$  is linear for all  $\lambda \in A$ , then T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) is linear and satisfy  $L_3$  by (**Theorem 2.36**). Consider { $\tilde{x_n}$ } to be a soft bounded sequence of soft vectors in  $\tilde{X}$  i.e.,  $\|\tilde{x_n} - \tilde{x_m}\| \cong \tilde{M}$  for each  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\tilde{M} \cong \bar{0}$ , then  $\|\tilde{x_n} - \tilde{x_m}\|(\lambda) \cong \tilde{M}(\lambda)$  for each  $\lambda \in \mathbb{P}$ . hence  $\|(\tilde{x_n} - \tilde{x_m})(\lambda)\| \le M$  for  $M = \tilde{M}(\lambda)$ ,  $M \in \mathbb{R}$ . and that implies  $\|x_n - x_m\| \le M$  where  $x_n = \tilde{x_n}(\lambda)$ ,  $x_m = \tilde{x_m}(\lambda)$  for all  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ , hence { $x_n$ } is bounded sequence in X.  $T_{\lambda}$  is compact for each  $\lambda \in \mathbb{P}$  implies  $T_{\lambda}(\tilde{x_n}(\lambda)) = T_{\lambda}(x_n)$  has a convergent subsequence say  $T(\tilde{x_{n_k}}) = T_{\lambda}(\tilde{x_{n_k}}(\lambda))$ . Hence  $T(\tilde{x_{n_k}})$  is convergent subsequence . i.e., for all { $\tilde{x_n}$ } bounded sequence in  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $T(\tilde{x_n})$  has a convergent subsequence . Hence T is soft compact.

Theorem 3.11: (soft compactness of product)

Let  $T: SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  be a soft compact operator and  $S: SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  a soft bounded operator. Then ST and TS are soft compact.

**Proof** : let  $B \cong \tilde{X}$  be any soft bounded subset, since S is soft bounded, S(B) is a soft bounded set and the soft set T(S(B)) = TS(B) is relatively soft compact since T is soft compact. Hence TS is soft compact.

In the other hand, consider {  $\widetilde{x_n}$  } to be a soft bounded sequence in  $\widetilde{X}$ . We get  $T(\widetilde{x_n})$  has a convergent subsequence say { $T(\widetilde{x_{n_k}})$ } by definition of soft compact linear operator .  $S(T(\widetilde{x_{n_k}})) = ST(\widetilde{x_{n_k}})$  converge since S is soft bounded hence soft continuous . Hence ST is soft compact.

Theorem 3.12: (finite dimensional domain or range)

Let  $\tilde{X}$ ,  $\tilde{Y}$  be two soft normed spaces which satisfy  $N_5$ , consider T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) to be a soft compact linear operator then :

a) If T is soft bounded and dim  $T(\tilde{X}) < \infty$ , then T is soft compact.

b) if dim  $\tilde{X} < \infty$ , then T is soft compact.

**Proof**: (a) let  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  be any soft bounded sequence in  $\widetilde{X}$ . Since T is soft bounded, then  $||T\widetilde{x_n}|| \le ||T|| ||\widetilde{x_n}||$ . So  $\{T(\widetilde{x_n})\}$  is soft bounded, hence  $\{T(\widetilde{x_n})\}$  is soft compact by **proposition (3.4)**. It follows that  $\{T(\tilde{x_n})\}\$  has a convergent subsequence by **definition** (3.1). Because  $\{\tilde{x_n}\}\$  was random soft bounded sequence in  $\tilde{X}$ , then T is soft compact.

(b) Since dim  $\tilde{X} < \infty$ , we obtained that T is soft bounded. Now, with fact that dim  $T(\tilde{X}) \le \dim \tilde{X}$  and from (a) we complete the proof.

#### 4. SOFT ADJOINT OPERATOR

**Definition 4.1**: Consider T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{Y}$ ) to be soft bounded linear operator, where  $\tilde{X}$  and  $\tilde{Y}$  are soft normed spaces satisfying (N<sub>5</sub>). Then the soft adjoint operator T<sup>\*</sup>: SE( $\tilde{Y}^*$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}^*$ ) of T is symbolized by :

 $T^*g = f$  where  $g \in SE(\tilde{Y}^*)$  and  $f \in SE(\tilde{X}^*)$ 

 $(T^* g)(\tilde{x}) = g(T(\tilde{x})) = f(\tilde{x})$   $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  where  $\tilde{X}^*$  and  $\tilde{Y}^*$  are the dual spaces of  $\tilde{X}$  and  $\tilde{Y}$ , correspondingly.

**Theorem 4.2**: The soft adjoint operator  $T^*$  in previous definition is soft linear and soft bounded, and  $||T^*|| = ||T||$ .

**Proof:** let  $g_1, g_2 \in SE(\tilde{Y}^*)$  and  $\tilde{\alpha}, \tilde{\beta}$  be two soft scalar,  $[T^*(\tilde{\alpha}g_1 + \tilde{\beta}g_2)](\tilde{x}) = (\tilde{\alpha}g_1 + \tilde{\beta}g_2)T(\tilde{x})$ 

 $= \tilde{\alpha}g_1[T(\tilde{x})] + \tilde{\beta}g_2[T(\tilde{x})]$  $= \tilde{\alpha}T^*g_1(\tilde{x}) + \tilde{\beta}T^*g_2(\tilde{x})$  $= [\tilde{\alpha}T^*g_1 + \tilde{\beta}T^*g_2](\tilde{x})$ 

Hence  $T^*$  is soft linear. Now,  $||T||(\lambda) = \sup \{ ||T(\tilde{x})||(\lambda) : ||\tilde{x}|| = \overline{1} \}$  for all  $\lambda \in P$ . Hence  $||T^*||(\lambda) = \sup \{ ||T^*g||(\lambda) : ||g|| = \overline{1} \} = \sup \{ ||g(T(\tilde{x}))||(\lambda) : ||g|| = \overline{1} \}$   $\leq \sup \{ ||g|||T(\tilde{x})||(\lambda) : ||g|| = \overline{1} \} = \sup \{ ||T(\tilde{x})||(\lambda) : \tilde{x} \in \widetilde{X} \}$ , in particular if  $||\tilde{x}|| = \overline{1}$  $= ||T||(\lambda)$  for all  $\lambda \in P$ .

So  $||T^*|| \cong ||T||$ . Hence  $T^*$  is soft bounded.

**Proposition 4.3**: Let  $T: SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{Y})$  be soft bounded linear operator, where  $\tilde{X}$  and  $\tilde{Y}$  are soft normed spaces satisfying  $(N_5)$ . Then the soft adjoint operator  $T^*: SE(\tilde{Y}^*) \to SE(\tilde{X}^*)$  of T possess the succeeding possessions : 1)  $(R + T)^* = R^* + T^*$ 

2)  $(\tilde{\alpha}T)^* = \tilde{\alpha}T^*$ 

3) if  $\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{Z}$  are soft normed spaces such that  $T^* : \operatorname{SE}(\widetilde{Y}^*) \to \operatorname{SE}(\widetilde{X}^*)$  and  $R^* : \operatorname{SE}(\widetilde{Z}^*) \to \operatorname{SE}(\widetilde{Y}^*)$  then :  $(RT)^* = T^*R^*$ 

**Proof:** (1) 
$$[(R + T)^*g](\tilde{x}) = g[(R + T)(\tilde{x})]$$
  
  $= g[R(\tilde{x}) + T(\tilde{x})]$   
  $= g(R(\tilde{x})) + g(T(\tilde{x}))$   
  $= R^*g(\tilde{x}) + T^*g(\tilde{x})$   
  $= (R^*g + T^*g)(\tilde{x})$   
  $= [(R^* + T^*)g](\tilde{x})$ 

Hence  $(R + T)^* = R^* + T^*$ 

(2)  $[(\tilde{\alpha}T)^*g](\tilde{x}) = g[\tilde{\alpha}T(\tilde{x})] = \tilde{\alpha}g(T(\tilde{x})) = \tilde{\alpha}T^*g(\tilde{x})$ . Hence  $(\tilde{\alpha}T)^* = \tilde{\alpha}T^*$ .

(3) Let  $T^*g = f$  and  $R^*h = g$  where  $g \in \tilde{Y}^*$ ,  $h \in \tilde{Z}^*$ 

 $[(RT)^*h](\tilde{x}) = h(RT)(\tilde{x}) = h[R(T(\tilde{x}))] = R^*h(T(\tilde{x})) = (g(T(\tilde{x})) = T^*g(\tilde{x}) = (T^*R^*)h(\tilde{x}).$ Hence  $(RT)^* = T^*R^*.$  We shall consider a soft compact linear operator  $T: SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  on a soft normed space, the soft adjoint operator  $T^*: SE(\tilde{X}^*) \to SE(\tilde{X}^*)$ . We try to discovery the result of the equation  $T(\tilde{x}) - \mu \tilde{x} = \tilde{y}$  where  $\mu \neq 0$ . Firstly we need to prove the following lemma.

#### Lemma 4.4 :( existence of functional)

Cosider Y to be a proper soft closed subspace of soft normed space  $\widetilde{X}$ . Let  $\widetilde{x}_0 \in \widetilde{X} - Y$  be random and the distance from  $\widetilde{x}_0$  to Y is  $\widetilde{\delta} = inf_{\widetilde{y} \in Y} ||\widetilde{y} - \widetilde{x}_0||$ . Then we can find  $f \in \widetilde{X}^*$  such that  $||f|| = \overline{1}$ ,  $f(\widetilde{y}) = \overline{0}$  for all  $\widetilde{y} \in Y$ ,  $f(\widetilde{x}_0) = \widetilde{\delta}$ .

**Proof:** we consider the subspace  $Z \ \in \ \widetilde{X}$  spanned by Y and  $\ \widetilde{x}_0$  every  $\ \widetilde{z} \ \in \ Z = \operatorname{span}(Y \ \widetilde{U} \ \widetilde{x}_0)$  has a unique representation  $\ \widetilde{z} = \ \widetilde{y} + \ \widetilde{\alpha} \ \widetilde{x}_0$  where  $\ \widetilde{y} \ \in \ Y$ . Define on Z a soft bounded linear functional f by:  $f(\widetilde{z}) = f(\widetilde{y} + \ \widetilde{\alpha} \ \widetilde{x}_0) = \ \widetilde{\alpha} \ \widetilde{\delta}$ . becuase Y is soft closed and  $\ \widetilde{\delta} \ge \ \overline{0}$ , we obtained that  $f \ne 0$ . If  $\ \widetilde{\alpha} = \ \overline{0}$ , then  $f(\widetilde{y}) = \ \overline{0}$  with any  $\ \widetilde{y} \ \in \ Y$ . When  $\ \widetilde{\alpha} = \ \overline{1}$  and  $\ \widetilde{y} = \ \theta$  we have  $f(\ \widetilde{x}_0) = \ \widetilde{\delta}$ . We show that f is soft bounded.  $\ \widetilde{\alpha} = \ \overline{0}$  gives  $f(\ \widetilde{z}) = \ \theta$ . Let  $\ \widetilde{\alpha} \ne \ \overline{0}$ . If  $(\ \widetilde{z})| = |\ \widetilde{\alpha}|\ \widetilde{\delta} = |\ \widetilde{\alpha}| \inf f_{\ \widetilde{y}\in \ Y}| \ \widetilde{y} - \ \widetilde{x}_0| \ \widetilde{z} = \ \widetilde{\theta}.$ That is  $|f(\ \widetilde{z})| \ge \|\ \widetilde{z}\|$ . Hence f is soft bounded and  $\|f\| \cong \ \overline{1}$ . We now prove that  $\|f\| \ge \ \overline{1}$ . Use the infimum definition, Y has a sequence  $\{\ \widetilde{y}_n\}$  satisfy  $\|\ \widetilde{y} - \ \widetilde{x}_0\| \to \ \widetilde{\delta}$ . Let  $\ \widetilde{z}_n = \ \widetilde{y}_n - \ \widetilde{x}_0$ . Then we have  $f(\ \widetilde{z}_n) = -\ \widetilde{\delta}$  with  $\ \widetilde{\alpha} = \ \overline{(-1)}$ . Also  $\|f\| = \sup_{\ \widetilde{z}\neq \ H} \frac{|f(\ \widetilde{z})|}{\|\ \widetilde{z}\|} \ge \frac{|f(\ \widetilde{z}_n)|}{\|\ \widetilde{z}_n\|} = \frac{\ \widetilde{\delta}}{\|\ \widetilde{z}_n\|} \to \ \widetilde{\delta} = \ \overline{1} \ as \ n \to \infty$ .

Hence  $||f|| = \overline{1}$ . Use the hahan Banach statement for soft normed space; we can enlarge f to all  $\tilde{X}$ .

**Theorem 4.5**: Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) be a soft compact linear operator on a soft normed space  $\tilde{X}$ , and let  $\mu \neq 0$ . Then (1) has a solution  $\tilde{x}$  if and only if  $\tilde{y}$  is such that  $f(\tilde{y}) = \overline{0}$  for each  $f \in \tilde{X}^*$  filling (4). So if (4) has one solution  $f \equiv 0$ , then (1) with any assumed  $\tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$  is solvable.

**Proof**: suppose (1) has a solution  $\tilde{x} = \tilde{x_0}$ , that is  $\tilde{y} = T\tilde{x_0} - \mu\tilde{x_0} = T_{\mu}\tilde{x_0}$ . Let f be any solution for (4). Then we have  $f(\tilde{y}) = f(T\tilde{x_0} - \mu\tilde{x_0}) = f(T\tilde{x_0}) - \mu f(\tilde{x_0})$ . Now,  $f(T\tilde{x_0}) = (T^*f)(\tilde{x_0})$  by the definition of the soft adjoint operator. Hence by (4)  $(\tilde{y}) = (T^*f)(\tilde{x_0}) - \mu f(\tilde{x_0}) = \bar{0}$ . Conversely, we assume that  $\tilde{y}$  in (1) satisfies  $f(\tilde{y}) = \bar{0}$  for every solution of (4) and show that (1) has a solution. Suppose that (1) has no solution, hence  $\tilde{y} = T_{\mu}\tilde{x}$  for no  $\tilde{x}$ . Then  $\tilde{y} \notin T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$ . Since  $T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$  is soft closed, the distance  $\tilde{\delta}$  from  $\tilde{y}$  to  $T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$  is positive soft scalar. By **lemma 4.4** there existe  $f \notin \tilde{X}^*$  such that  $f(\tilde{y}) = \delta$  and  $f(\tilde{z}) = \bar{0}$  for every  $\tilde{z} \notin T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$ .

Since  $\tilde{z} \in T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$ , we have  $\tilde{z} = T_{\mu}(\tilde{x})$  for some  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ . So that  $f(\tilde{z}) = \bar{0}$  becomes:

$$f(T_{\mu}(\tilde{x})) = f(T\tilde{x}) - \mu f(\tilde{x}) = T^* f(\tilde{x}) - \mu f(\tilde{x}) = \bar{0}$$

This holds for every  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  since  $\tilde{z} \in T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$  was arbitrary. Hence f is a solution of (4). By assumption it satisfies  $(\tilde{y}) = \bar{0}$ . But this contradicts  $(\tilde{y}) = \delta \approx \bar{0}$ . Consequently, (1) must have a solution. This proves first part of theorem. The proof of second part follows.

For equation (3) there is an analogue of **Theorem 4.5** which we shall obtain from the following lemma. **Lemma 4.6**: Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) be a soft compact linear operator on a soft normed space  $\tilde{X}$ , and let  $\mu \neq 0$  be assumed. We can find a soft real number  $\tilde{c} \geq \bar{0}$  which is free of  $\tilde{y}$  in (1) and such that for every  $\tilde{y}$  for which (1) has a solution, at least one of these solution call it  $\tilde{k}$  satisfies  $||\tilde{k}|| \leq \tilde{c}||\tilde{y}||$  where  $\tilde{y} = T_{\mu}(\tilde{k})$ . **Proof:** firstly, we show that if (1) with a given  $\tilde{y}$  has a solution at all, the set of these solution contains a solution of minimum norm call it  $\tilde{k}$ .

Let  $\widetilde{x_0}$  be a solution of (1). If  $\widetilde{x}$  is any other solution of (1), the difference  $\widetilde{z} = \widetilde{x} - \widetilde{x_0}$  fulfills (2). Therefore each solution of (1) can be written  $\widetilde{x} = \widetilde{x_0} + \widetilde{z}$  where  $\widetilde{z} \in \mathcal{N}(T_{\mu})$ . And, conversely, for every  $\widetilde{z} \in \mathcal{N}(T_{\mu})$  the sum  $\widetilde{x_0} + \widetilde{z}$  is a solution of (1). For a fixed  $\widetilde{x_0}$  the norm of  $\widetilde{x}$  depends on  $\widetilde{z}$ , we write  $p(\widetilde{z}) = \|\widetilde{x_0} + \widetilde{z}\|$  and  $H = \inf_{\widetilde{z} \in \mathcal{N}(T_{\mu})} p(\widetilde{z})$ . By definition of infimum,  $\mathcal{N}(T_{\mu})$  contain a sequence  $\{\widetilde{z_n}\}$  such that  $p(\widetilde{z_n}) = \|\widetilde{x_0} + \widetilde{z_n}\| \to H$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

Since  $\{p(\widetilde{z_n})\}$  converge, it is bounded. Also  $\{\widetilde{z_n}\}$  is bounded because:

 $\|\widetilde{z_n}\| = \|\widetilde{x_0} + \widetilde{z_n} - \widetilde{x_0}\| \leq \|\widetilde{x_0} + \widetilde{z_n}\| + \|\widetilde{x_0}\| = p(\widetilde{z_n}) + \|\widetilde{x_0}\|.$ 

Becuase T is soft compact,  $\{T(\tilde{z_n})\}$  possess a convergent subsequence. But  $\tilde{z} \in \mathcal{N}(T_{\mu})$  means that  $T_{\mu}(\tilde{z_n}) = \theta$ , that is,  $T\tilde{z_n} = \mu \tilde{z_n}$ ; where  $\mu \neq 0$ . Hence  $\{\tilde{z_n}\}$  has a convergent subsequence say,  $\tilde{z_{n_j}} \to \tilde{z_0}$  where  $\tilde{z_0} \in \mathcal{N}(T_{\mu})$  since  $\mathcal{N}(T_{\mu})$  is closed. Also  $p(\tilde{z_{n_j}}) \to p(\tilde{z_0})$  since p is soft continuous. We thus obtain that  $p(\tilde{z_0}) = \|\tilde{x_0} + \tilde{z_0}\| = H$ . This mean that if the equation (1) with a assumed  $\tilde{y}$  has a solution, then one of these solutions

 $\tilde{k} = \tilde{x_0} + \tilde{z_0}$  has a smallest norm.

Secondly, we have proven that there exist  $\tilde{c} \ge \bar{0}$  (independent of  $\tilde{y}$ ) such that  $\|\tilde{k}\| \ge \tilde{c} \|\tilde{y}\|$  for a solution  $\tilde{k}$  of minimum norm consistent to any  $\tilde{y} = T_{\mu}(\tilde{k})$  wherefore (1) is solvable.

Suppose that is not true. Then there is a sequence  $\{\widetilde{y_n}\}$  such that  $\frac{\|\widetilde{k_n}\|}{\|\widetilde{y_n}\|} \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Where  $\widetilde{k_n}$  is of least norm and satisfies  $\widetilde{y_n} = T_{\mu}(\widetilde{k_n})$ . Multiplication by  $\widetilde{\alpha}$  shows that to  $\widetilde{\alpha}\widetilde{y_n}$  there corresponds  $\widetilde{\alpha}\widetilde{k_n}$  as a solution of least norm. Hence we may accept that  $\|\widetilde{k_n}\| = \overline{1}$ , without Influence the general meaning.

Then  $\frac{\|\widetilde{k_n}\|}{\|\widetilde{y_n}\|} \to \infty$  with  $\|\widetilde{k_n}\| = \overline{1}$  implies  $\|\widetilde{y_n}\| \to \overline{0}$ . Since T is soft compact and  $\{\widetilde{k_n}\}$  is soft bounded,  $\{T(\widetilde{k_n})\}$  has a convergent subsequence say,  $T\widetilde{k_{n_j}} \to T\widetilde{k_0}$ . We can write for convenience  $T\widetilde{k_{n_j}} \to \mu\widetilde{k_0}$  as  $j \to \infty$ . Since  $\widetilde{y_n} = T_{\mu}(\widetilde{k_n}) = T(\widetilde{k_n}) - \mu\widetilde{k_n}$ , we have  $\mu\widetilde{k_n} = T(\widetilde{k_n}) - \widetilde{y_n}$ . Thus we obtain:

$$T\widetilde{k_{n_j}} = \frac{1}{\mu} (T\left(\widetilde{k_{n_j}}\right) - \widetilde{y_{n_j}}) \to \widetilde{k_0}.$$

Since T is soft continuous, we have  $T(\widetilde{k_{n_j}}) \to T(\widetilde{k_0})$ . Hence  $T(\widetilde{k_0}) = \mu \widetilde{k_0}$  because  $T(\widetilde{k_n}) \to \mu \widetilde{k_0}$ . Also we see that  $\widetilde{x} = \widetilde{k_n} - \widetilde{k_0}$  satisfies  $\widetilde{y_n} = T(\widetilde{k_n})$ .

that  $\tilde{x} = \tilde{k_n} - \tilde{k_0}$  satisfies  $\tilde{y_n} = T(\tilde{k_n})$ . Since  $\tilde{k_n}$  is of minimum norm,  $\|\tilde{x}\| = \|\tilde{k_n} - \tilde{k_0}\| \ge \|\tilde{k_n}\| = \overline{1}$ . But this contradicts the convergence in,  $T\tilde{k_{n_j}} = \frac{1}{\mu}(T(\tilde{k_{n_j}}) - \tilde{y_{n_j}}) \to \widetilde{k_0}$ . Hence  $\frac{\|\tilde{k_n}\|}{\|\tilde{y_n}\|} \to \infty$  cannot hold. But the sequence of quotients must be soft bounded; that is, we must have  $\tilde{c} = \sup_{\tilde{y} \in T_\mu(\tilde{x})} \frac{\|\tilde{k}\|}{\|\tilde{y_j}\|} \ge \tilde{M}$  where  $\tilde{y} = T_\mu(\tilde{x})$ . This implies  $\|\tilde{k}\| \le \tilde{c}\|\tilde{y}\|$ .

Using this lemma, we *can* now give a characterization of the solvability of (3) similar to that for (1) given in **Theorem 3.5**:

#### Theorem 4.7: (solution of (3))

Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) be a soft compact linear operator on a soft normed space  $\tilde{X}$ , and let  $\mu \neq 0$  be assumed. Then (3) has a solution f if and only if g is such that  $g(\tilde{x}) = \overline{0}$  for all  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  which satisfy (2). Hence if (2) has the petty solution  $\tilde{x} = \theta$  only, then (3) with any  $g \in \tilde{X}^*$  is solvable.

**Proof:** (a) if (3) has a solution f and  $\tilde{x}$  satisfies (2), then

 $g(\tilde{x}) = (T^*f)(\tilde{x}) - \mu f(\tilde{x}) = f(T\tilde{x} - \mu \tilde{x}) = f(\theta) = \overline{0}.$ 

(b) Conversely, assume that g satisfies  $g(\tilde{x}) = \bar{0}$  for every solution  $\tilde{x}$  of (2). Consider any  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  and set  $\tilde{y} = T_{\mu}(\tilde{x})$ . Then  $\tilde{y} \in T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$ . We may define a functional  $f_0$  on  $T_{\mu}(\tilde{X})$  by:

 $f_0(\tilde{y}) = f_0(T_\mu(\tilde{x}) = g(\tilde{x}))$ . This definition is unambiguous because if  $T_\mu(\tilde{x_1}) = T_\mu(\tilde{x_2})$ , then  $T_\mu(\tilde{x_1} - \tilde{x_2}) = \theta$ . So that  $\tilde{x_1} - \tilde{x_2}$  is a solution of (2); hence  $g(\tilde{x_1} - \tilde{x_2}) = \bar{0}$  by assumption, that is  $g(\tilde{x_1}) = g(\tilde{x_2})$ .  $f_0$  is linear since  $T_\mu$  and g are linear. **Lemma 4.6** implies that for every  $\tilde{y} \in T_\mu(\tilde{X})$ , at least one of the corresponding  $\tilde{x}$ 'ssatisfy  $\|\tilde{x}\| \leq \tilde{c} \|\tilde{y}\|$  where  $\tilde{y} = T_\mu(\tilde{x})$  and  $\tilde{c}$  does not depend on  $\tilde{y}$ . So we have  $|f_0(\tilde{y})| = |g(\tilde{x})| \leq \|g\| \|\tilde{x}\| \leq \tilde{c} \|g\| \|\tilde{y}\|$ . Hence  $\|f_0\| \leq \tilde{c} \|g\|$ .

So  $f_0$  is soft bounded. Useing the Hahn-banach statement show that the functional  $f_0$  has an expanding f on  $\tilde{X}$  which is a soft bounded linear functional defined on all  $\tilde{X}$ . By the definition of  $f_0$ ,  $f(T(\tilde{x}) - \mu \tilde{x}) = f(T_{\mu}(\tilde{x}) = f_0 (T_{\mu}(\tilde{x}) = g(\tilde{x}))$ .

Definition of the soft adjoint operator show that we have for all  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ :

 $f(T(\tilde{x}) - \mu \tilde{x}) = f(T(\tilde{x}) - \mu f\mu(\tilde{x}) = (T^*f)(\tilde{x}) - \mu f(\tilde{x})$ . From this we conclude that f is a solution of (3) and first Demands of theorem is proves. Consequently, the second Demands follow freely.

**Theorem 4.8:** Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) be a soft compact linear operator on a soft normed space  $\tilde{X}$ , And let  $\mu \neq \infty$ 0 then:

(a) Equation (1) has a solution  $\tilde{x}$  for every  $\tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$  if and only if the homogeneous equation (2) has only the petty solution  $\tilde{x} = \theta$ . In this situation the equation (1) has a unique solution, and  $T_{\mu}$  has a soft bounded inverse. (b) Equation (3) has a solution f for all  $g \in \tilde{X}^*$  if and only if (4) has only the petty solution  $f \equiv 0$ . In this situation the equation (3) has a unique solution.

**Proof**: Let for each  $\tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$  the equation (1) is solvable. Suppose that  $\tilde{x} = \theta$  is not the single solution of (2). Then there exist a solution  $\widetilde{x_1} \neq \theta$ . Because (1) for any  $\widetilde{y}$  is solvable,  $T_u(\widetilde{x}) = \widetilde{y} = \widetilde{x_1}$  has a solution  $\widetilde{x_2}$ . That

is  $T_{\mu}(\widetilde{x_2}) = \widetilde{x_1}$ . For the same reason there exist  $\widetilde{x_3}$  such that  $T_{\mu}(\widetilde{x_3}) = \widetilde{x_2}$ , etc. thus for each  $k = 2, 3, \dots, \theta \neq \widetilde{x_1} = T_{\mu}(\widetilde{x_2}) = T_{\mu}^{-2}(\widetilde{x_3}) = \dots = T_{\mu}^{k-1}(\widetilde{x_k})$  and  $\theta = T_{\mu}(\widetilde{x_1}) = T_{\mu}^{-k}(\widetilde{x_k})$ .

Hence  $\widetilde{x_k} \in \mathcal{N}(T_{\mu}^k)$  but  $\widetilde{x_k} \notin \mathcal{N}(T_{\mu}^{k-1})$ . This means that  $\mathcal{N}(T_{\mu}^{k-1})$  is a proper subspace of  $\mathcal{N}(T_{\mu}^k)$  for all k. but this contradiction. Hence  $\tilde{x} = \theta$  must be the unique solution for (2).

On the other hand, suppose that  $\tilde{x} = \theta$  is the only solution of (2). Then equation (3) for every g is solvable by (Theorem 4.7)

Now, since  $T^*$  is soft compact, So that by first part of the proof and replace by  $T^*$ , we conclude that  $f \equiv 0$ should be the only solution of (4). Solvability of (1) with any  $\tilde{y}$  now follows from **Theorem 4.5**.

Uniqueness of the solution comes from the fact that the difference of two solutions of (1) is a solution of (2). Clearly, such a unique solution  $\tilde{x} = T_{\mu}^{-1}(\tilde{y})$  is the solution of least norm. And the boundedness of  $T_{\mu}^{-1}$  follows by Lemma 4.6. i.e.,  $\|\tilde{x}\| = \|T_{\mu}^{-1}(\tilde{y})\| \leq \tilde{c}\|\tilde{y}\|.$ 

(b) Is a consequence of (a) and note that  $T^*$  is compact.

#### References

- (1) D. Molodtsov, Soft set theory first results, Comput. Math. Appl. 37 (1999) 19-31.
- (2) F. Feng, C. X. Li, B. Davvaz and M. I. Ali, Soft sets combined with fuzzy sets and rough sets: a tentative approach, Soft Computing 14 (2010) 899-911.
- (3) P. K. Maji, R. Biswas and A. R. Roy, Soft set theory, Comput. Math. Appl. 45 (2003) 555-562.
- (4) F. Feng, Y. B. Jun and X. Zhao, Soft semirings, Comput. Math. Appl. 56 (2008) 2621-2628.
- (5) S. Das, P. Majumdar and S. K. Samanta, On Soft Linear Spaces and Soft Normed Linear Spaces, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 9 (1) (2015) 91-109.
- (6) M. Shabir and M. Naz, on soft topological spaces, Comput. Math. Appl. 61 (2011) 1786 -1799.
- (7) Seyyed Hossein Jafari, Seyyed Abbas Sadati and Alireza Yaghobi, New Results on Soft Banach Algebra, International Journal of Science and Engineering Investigations, Volume 6, Issue 68, September (2017) 17-25
- (8) Sujoy Das and S. K. Samanta, Soft real sets, soft real numbers and their properties, J. Fuzzy Math. 20 (3) (2012) 551-576.
- (9) Sujoy Das and S. K. Samanta, on soft complex sets and soft complex numbers, J. Fuzzy Math. 21(1) (2013) 195-216.
- (10) Sujoy Das and S. K. Samanta, Soft Metric, Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics Volume 6, No. 1, (July 2013), pp. 77-94.
- (11) S. Das and S. K. Samanta, Soft linear operators in soft normed linear spaces, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 6(2) (2013) 295-314.
- (12) Sujoy Das, S. K. Samanta, Soft linear functionals in soft normed linear spaces, Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics Volume 7, No. 4, (April 2014), pp. 629{651
- (13) R. Thakur, S. K. Samanta, Soft Banach Algebra, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 10 (3) (2015) 397-412.
- (14) M. E. El-Shafei, M. Abo-Elhamayel, T. M. Al-shami, Partial Soft Separation Axioms and Soft Compact Spaces, Filomat 32:13 (2018), 4755-4771
- (15) D. Chen, The parametrization reduction of soft sets and its applications, Comput. Math. Appl.49 (2005) 757-763.
- (16) H. Aktas and N. Cagman, Soft sets and soft groups, Inform. Sci. 177 (2007) 2226-2735.
- (17) P. Majumdar and S. K. Samanta, on soft mappings, Comput. Math. Appl. 60 (2010) 2666–2672
# On the soft stability of soft Picard and soft Mann iteration processes

Sabah A. Khaleefah Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq. Email:sab20072008@gmail.com

# Buthainah A. A. Ahmed Assistant Professor, Department of Mathematics, College of Science, University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq. Email:buthainah41@gmail.com

# ABSTRACT.

In this paper, we define the Soft Contraction Operator, soft Picard and soft Mann iteration processes. After that we establish some stability results for the soft Picard and soft Mann iteration processes considered in soft normed spaces.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Let  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|)$  be a complete soft normed space and let  $T : SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  be a self-map of  $\tilde{X}$ . Consider  $F(T) = \{\tilde{p} \in \tilde{X} : T\tilde{p} = \tilde{p}\}$  denote the set of fixed points of T. Let  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be the sequence generated by an iteration procedure involving the operator T,

That is  $\tilde{x}_{n+1} = f(T, \tilde{x}_n)$ , n = 0, 1, 2, ... (1) Consider  $\tilde{x}_0 \in \tilde{X}$  is the initial approximation and f is some function. Suppose  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  converges to a fixed point  $\tilde{p}$  of T. Let  $\{\tilde{y}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty} \subset \tilde{X}$  and set  $\epsilon_n = \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - f(T, \tilde{y}_n)\|$ , n = 0, 1, 2, ... Then, the iteration procedure (1) is said to be T-stable or stable with respect to T if and only if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \epsilon_n = \bar{0}$  implies  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ . Using this concept, we proved some stability results under soft contraction conditions.

# **2. PRELIMINARIES**

The basic definitions and theorems were introduced in this section that may found in earlier studies.

**Definition 2.1** [1] Suppose X is a universe set; T is a set of parameters. Consider  $\mathscr{P}(X)$  is the set of all subsets of X and  $B \neq \emptyset$  is a subset of T. An ordered pair (H, B) is named a soft set over X, where H is a mapping given by H:  $B \rightarrow \mathscr{P}(X)$ . We can say that a soft set over X is parameterized kindred of subsets of the universe X. H ( $\mathscr{W}$ ) can consider like a set of  $\mathscr{W}$ -approximate elements of (H, B) for all  $\mathscr{W} \in B$ .

**Definition 2.2** [2] Supposes (H, B) and (J, D) are two soft sets over a shared set X, then (H, B) is a soft subset of (J, D) if:

(1)  $B \subseteq D$ .

(2) For all  $w \in B$ ,  $H(w) \subseteq J(w)$ . We write  $(H, B) \cong (J, D)$ .

(J, D) is said to be a soft superset of (H, B), We write (H, B)  $\cong$  (J, D) if (H, B) is a soft subset of (J, D).

**Definition 2.3** [3] Two soft sets (H, B) and (J, D) over a shared set X are called identical, if (H, B) and (J, D) are soft subset of each other.

**Definition 2.4** [3] Let (H, B), (J, D) be two soft sets over the shared set X. The union of (H, B) and (J, D) is the soft set (L, M); Assuming  $M = B \cup D$  and for all  $w \in M$ ,

$$L(w) = \begin{cases} H(w) & \text{if } w \in B - D \\ J(w) & \text{if } w \in D - B \\ H(w) \cup G(w) & \text{if } w \in B \cap D \end{cases}$$

In Mathematical expression (H, B)  $\widetilde{U}(J, D) = (L, M)$ .

**Definition 2.5** [4] Let (H, B), (J, D) be two soft sets over the shared set X. The intersection of (H, B) and (J, D) is the soft set (K, M); Assuming  $M = B \cap D$  and for all  $w \in M$ , K (w) =  $H(w) \cap J(w)$ . In Mathematical expression (H, B)  $\cap (J, D) = (K, M)$ .

Suppose X be an initial universal set and B is a non- flatulent set of parameters. In the upstairs definitions the set of parameters may differ from soft set to another, but in our considerations, through this paper all soft sets have the same set of parameters B. The upstairs definitions are also useable for these types of soft sets as a particular case of those definitions.

**Definition 2.6** [5] for a soft set (F, B), the complement of (F, B) is symbolized by  $(F, B)^c = (F^c, B)$ , assuming  $F^c: B \to \mathscr{O}(X)$  defined by  $F^c(\lambda) = X - F(\lambda)$ , with any  $\mathscr{W} \in B$ .

**Definition 2.7** [3] A soft set (F, B) over X is called an absolute soft set symbolized via  $\tilde{X}$  if F (w) = X with every  $w \in B$ .

**Definition 2.8** [3] A soft set (F, A) over X is called a null soft set symbolized via  $\tilde{\Phi}$  if, F(w) =  $\phi$  with every  $w \in B$ .

**Definition 2.9** [6] Let (H, B), (J, D) be two soft sets over the shared set X. The difference (H, B) of (F, B) and (G, B), symbolized by (F, B) \ (J, B), is defined via H (w) =  $F(w) \setminus G(w)$  with any  $w \in B$ .

**Proposition 2.10** [6] for two soft sets (F, B) and (J, B) we have:

(i)  $[(F,B) \ \widetilde{\cup} ((J,B)]^c = (F,B)^c \ \widetilde{\cap} (J,B)^c$ .

(ii)  $[(F,B) \cap ((J,B)]^c = (F,B)^c \cup (J,B)^c$ .

**Definition 2.11** [7] Let X be a non- flatulent set of elements and  $B \neq \emptyset$  is a set of parameter. The function  $\varepsilon$ :  $B \rightarrow X$  is called a soft element of X. A soft element  $\varepsilon$  of X is belongs to a soft set R of X, which is symbolized by  $\varepsilon \in R$ , if  $\varepsilon(w) \in R(w)$  for every  $w \in A$ . consequently, for a soft set R of X we obtained that  $R(w) = \{\varepsilon(w), \varepsilon \in R\}, w \in B$ . We can recognized each singleton soft set (a soft set (H, B) for which H (w) is a singleton set, for every  $w \in B$ ) with a soft element by just identifying the one element set with the element that it contains for all  $w \in B$ .

**Definition 2.12** [8] Let  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R})$  be the collection of all non-empty bounded subsets of  $\mathbb{R}(\mathbb{R})$  is real number) and B booked as a parameters set. Then, a mapping H:  $B \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R})$  is named a soft real set. and symbolized with (H, B). If specifically (H, B) is a singleton soft set, then when identifying (H, B) with the corresponding soft element, it will be named a soft real number.

The collection of each soft real numbers is symbolized by  $\mathbb{R}$  (B) while the collection of non-negative only is symbolized by  $\mathbb{R}(B)^*$ .

**Definition 2.13** [9] Let p ( $\mathbb{C}$ ) be the collection of all non- flatulent bounded subsets of the set of complex numbers  $\mathbb{C}$ . B is a set of parameters. Then, a mapping H: B  $\rightarrow p$  ( $\mathbb{C}$ ) is named a soft complex set symbolized by (H, B). If in particular (H, B) is a singleton soft set, and then identifying (H, B) with the agreeing soft element, it will be named a soft complex number.

The collection of each soft complex numbers is symbolized by  $\mathbb{C}(B)$ .

**Definition 2.14** [9] Let (H, B) be a soft complex set. The complex conjugate of (H, B) is symbolized with  $(\overline{H}, B)$  and is defined by  $\overline{H}(w) = \{\overline{z} : z \in H(w)\}$ , for every  $w \in B$ , assuming  $\overline{z}$  is complex conjugate of the ordinary complex number z. The complex conjugate of a soft complex number (H, B) is  $\overline{H}(w) = \overline{z} : z = H(\lambda)$ , for every  $w \in B$ .

**Definition 2.15** [9] Let (L, B), (J, B)  $\in \mathbb{C}(B)$ . Then, the sum, difference, product and division are defined by:

 $\begin{array}{l} (L+J) \ (w) = z+p, \ z \in L \ (w), \ p \in J \ (w), \ for \ all \ w \in B. \\ (L-J) \ (w) = z-p; \ z \in L \ (w), \ p \in J \ (w), \ for \ all \ w \in B. \\ (LJ) \ (w) = zp, \ z \in L \ (w), \ p \in J \ (w), \ for \ all \ w \in B. \\ (L/J) \ (w) = z/p, \ z \in L \ (w), \ p \in J \ (w), \ on \ condition \ that \ J \ (w) \neq 0, \ for \ all \ w \in B. \end{array}$ 

**Definition 2.16** [9] Let (L, B) be a soft complex number. The modulus of (L, B) is denoted by (|L|, B) and is defined by |L|(w) = |z|;  $z \in L(w)$ , for all  $w \in B$ , assuming z is an ordinary complex number.

Since the modulus of all ordinary complex number and ordinary real number are a nonnegative real number and by definition of soft real numbers it follows that (|L|, B) is a nonnegative soft real number for every soft complex number (L, B).

Let X be a non-flatulent set and  $\tilde{X}$  be the absolute soft set i.e., V (w) = X, for each  $w \in B$ , where  $(V, B) = \tilde{X}$ . Suppose S  $(\tilde{X})$  be the collection of all soft sets (H, B) over X with condition H  $(w) \neq \phi$ , for all  $w \in B$  together with the null soft set  $\tilde{\Phi}$ . Let (H, B)  $(\neq \Phi) \in \tilde{S}(\tilde{X})$ , then the collection of all soft elements of (H, B) will be denoted by SE (H, B), For a collection  $\mathfrak{B}$  of soft elements of  $\tilde{X}$ , the soft set generated by  $\mathfrak{B}$  is symbolized with SS( $\mathfrak{B}$ ).

**Definition 2.17** [10] A mapping M:  $SE(\tilde{X}) \times SE(\tilde{X}) \rightarrow R(B)^*$ , is called a soft metric on the soft set  $\tilde{X}$  if d fulfills the following situations:

(1) M  $(\tilde{x}; \tilde{y}) \ge \overline{0}$ , with any  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$ .

(2) M  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) = \overline{0}$ , if and only if  $\tilde{x} = \tilde{y}$ .

(3) M  $(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) = M (\tilde{y}, \tilde{x})$  with any  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$ .

(4) With any  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \bar{z} \in \tilde{X}$ , M ( $\tilde{x}, \bar{z}$ )  $\leq$  M ( $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}$ ) + M ( $\tilde{y}, \bar{z}$ ).

The soft set  $\tilde{X}$  together with a soft metric M on  $\tilde{X}$  is called a soft metric space and is symbolized by  $(\tilde{X}, M, A)$  or  $(\tilde{X}, M)$ .

**Definition 2.18** [11] Let Q is a vector space over a field K and B is a set of parameters. Let L be a soft set over (Q, B). If for all  $w \in B, L(w)$  is a vector subspace of Q, Then L is called a soft vector space of Q over K.

**Definition 2.19** [12] Suppose L is a soft vector space of Q over K. Let H:  $B \rightarrow p(Q)$  be a soft set over (Q, B). If for each  $w \in B$ , H (w) is a vector subspace of Q over K and L (w)  $\supseteq$  H (w), then H is called a soft vector subspace of L.

**Definition 2.20** [11] Suppose LL is a soft vector space of Q over a field K, then, a soft element of L is called a soft vector of L. In the same sense a soft element of the soft set (K, B) is called a soft scalar.

**Definition 2.21** [11] Let  $\tilde{x}$ ,  $\tilde{y}$  be soft vectors of L and  $\tilde{k}$  be a soft scalar. The addition  $\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}$  of  $\tilde{x}$ ,  $\tilde{y}$  and scalar multiplication  $\tilde{k}\tilde{x}$  of  $\tilde{k}$  and  $\tilde{x}$  are defined by  $(\tilde{x} + \tilde{y})(w) = \tilde{x}(w) + \tilde{y}(w)$ ,  $\tilde{k}\tilde{x}(w) = \tilde{k}(w)\tilde{x}(w)$  for all  $w \in B$ . Obviously,  $\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}$ ,  $\tilde{k}\tilde{x}$  are soft vectors of L.

**Definition 2.22** [13] Let  $\tilde{X}$  be the absolute soft vector space i.e.,  $\tilde{X}(w) = X$ , for all  $w \in B$ . Then a mapping  $\|.\| : SE(\tilde{X}) \to R(B)^*$  is called a soft norm on the soft vector space  $\tilde{X}$  if  $\|.\|$  fulfills the succeeding situations:

- (1).  $\|.\| \ge \overline{0}$  for every  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ .
- (2).  $\|\tilde{x}\| = \overline{0}$  if and only if  $\tilde{x} = \Theta$ .
- (3).  $\|\tilde{\alpha} \cdot \tilde{x}\| = |\tilde{\alpha}| \|\tilde{x}\|$  for each  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  as well as for each soft scalar  $\tilde{\alpha}$ .
- (4). With any  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}, \|\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}\| \leq \|\tilde{x}\| + \|\tilde{y}\|$

The soft vector space  $\tilde{X}$  with a soft norm  $\|.\|$  on  $\tilde{X}$  is called a soft normed linear space and is symbolized with  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|, B)$  or  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|)$ . The exceeding conditions are called soft norm axioms. **Theorem 2.23** [11] Suppose a soft norm  $\|.\|$  achieves the situation (N5). For  $\xi \in X$  and  $w \in B$  the set  $\{\|\tilde{x}\|(w) : \tilde{x}(w) = \xi\}$  is a one element set. Then with any  $w \in B$ , the function  $\|.\|_{w} : X \to R^+$  defined with  $\|\xi\|_{w} = \|\tilde{x}\|(w)$ , with any  $\xi \in X$  and  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  such that  $\tilde{x}(w) = \xi$ , can be considered as a norm on X.

**Definition 2.24** [12] Consider  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|, B)$  is a soft normed linear space,  $\tilde{r} \ge \bar{0}$  is a soft real number. We realize the following concepts:

 $\mathbb{B}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) = \{ \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X} : \|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\| \leq \tilde{r} \} \subset \mathrm{SE}(\tilde{X}),$ 

 $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(\tilde{x},\tilde{r}) = \{ \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X} : \|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\| \leq \tilde{r} \} \subset \operatorname{SE}(\tilde{X}),$ 

 $\mathbf{S}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}) = \{ \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X} : \|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\| = \tilde{r} \} \subset \mathbf{SE}(\tilde{X}),$ 

 $\mathbb{B}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}), \overline{\mathbb{B}}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}), S(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r})$  are respectively called an open ball, a closed ball and a sphere with center at  $\tilde{x}$  and radius  $\tilde{r}$ . SS( $\mathbb{B}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r})$ ), SS( $\overline{\mathbb{B}}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{r})$ ) and SS(S( $\tilde{x}, \tilde{r}$ )) are respectively called a soft open ball, a soft closed ball and a soft sphere with center at  $\tilde{x}$  and radius  $\tilde{r}$ .

**Definition 2.25** [11] A sequence of soft elements  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  in a soft normed space  $(\widetilde{X}, \|.\|, B)$  called convergent sequence, if  $\|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x}\| \to \overline{0}$  as  $n \to \infty$ , we say the sequence converges to a soft element  $\widetilde{x}$ . In other words for each  $\widetilde{\epsilon} \ge \overline{0}$ , there exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $N = N(\widetilde{\epsilon})$  and  $\overline{0} \ge \|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x}\| \ge \widetilde{\epsilon}$  whenever n > N.

i.e., n > N *implies*  $\widetilde{x_n} \in \mathbb{B}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{\epsilon})$ . We symbolize this by  $\widetilde{x_n} \to \tilde{x}$  as  $n \to \infty$  or by  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \widetilde{x_n} = \tilde{x}$ . The soft element  $\tilde{x}$  called the limit of the sequence  $\widetilde{x_n}$  as n goes to  $\infty$ .

**Definition 2.26** [11] A sequence  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}$  of soft elements in a soft normed space  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|, B)$  is called a soft Cauchy sequence in  $\tilde{X}$ , if matching to each  $\tilde{\epsilon} \geq \bar{0}$ , there exists  $m \in N$  satisfy :

 $\|\widetilde{x}_i - \widetilde{x}_i\| \leq \tilde{\epsilon}$ , for all  $i, j \geq m$  i.e.,  $\|\widetilde{x}_i - \widetilde{x}_i\| \to \bar{0}$  as i; j goes to  $\infty$ .

**Definition 2.27** [11] Suppose  $(\tilde{X}, \|.\|, B)$  is a soft normed space. Then,  $\tilde{X}$  is called soft complete if every soft Cauchy sequence in  $\tilde{X}$  converges to a soft element of  $\tilde{X}$ . The soft complete normed space is called a soft Banach Space.

**Theorem 2.28** [11] Every soft Cauchy sequence in R(B) is convergent provided that B is a finite set of parameters, i.e., the set of all soft real numbers together with its usual modulus soft norm is a soft Banach space, provided that the set of parameters is finite

**Definition 2.29**[12] A series  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{x_k}$  of soft elements called soft convergent, if the partial sum of the series  $\widetilde{S_n} = \sum_{k=1}^n \widetilde{x_k}$  is soft convergent.

Let  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  be the corresponding absolute soft normed spaces i.e.,  $\widetilde{X}(w) = X$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}(w) = Y$ , for all  $w \in B$ . We use the notation  $\widetilde{x}$ ,  $\widetilde{y}$ ,  $\widetilde{z}$  to represent soft vectors of a soft vector space.

**Definition 2.30**[11] Suppose T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ) is an operator. T is called soft linear, if (L1). T is additive, i.e., T ( $\widetilde{x_1} + \widetilde{x_2}$ ) = T ( $\widetilde{x_1}$ ) + T( $\widetilde{x_2}$ ) with any soft elements  $\widetilde{x_1}$ ,  $\widetilde{x_2} \in \widetilde{X}$ . (L2). T is homogeneous, i.e., with any soft scalar  $\widetilde{k}$ , T( $\widetilde{k}$ .  $\widetilde{x}$ ) =  $\widetilde{k}$  T ( $\widetilde{x}$ ), with any soft element  $\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}$ .

The properties (L1) and (L2) can be combined in one condition T  $(\widetilde{k_1}, \widetilde{x_1} + \widetilde{k_2}, \widetilde{x_2}) = \widetilde{k_1}$  T  $(\widetilde{x_1}) + \widetilde{k_2}$  T $(\widetilde{x_2})$  for every soft elements  $\widetilde{x_1}, \widetilde{x_2} \in \widetilde{X}$  and every soft scalars  $\widetilde{k_1}, \widetilde{k_2}$ .

**Definition 2.31**[11] The operator  $T : SE(\widetilde{X}) \to SE(\widetilde{Y})$  is called soft continuous at  $\widetilde{x_0} \in \widetilde{X}$ , if for every soft sequence  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  of soft elements of  $\widetilde{X}$  with  $\widetilde{x_n} \to \widetilde{x_0}$  as n goes to  $\infty$ , the image  $T(\widetilde{x_n}) \to T(\widetilde{x_0})$  as n goes to  $\infty$ . i.e.,  $\|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x_0}\| \to \overline{0}$  as n goes to  $\infty$  implies  $\|T(\widetilde{x_n}) - T(\widetilde{x_0})\| \to \overline{0}$  as n goes to  $\infty$ . If T is soft continuous at every soft element of  $\widetilde{X}$ , then T is called a soft continuous operator.

**Theorem 2.32**[11] Let  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}$  are two soft normed linear spaces and T: SE( $\widetilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$ SE( $\widetilde{Y}$ ) be a soft linear operator, If T is soft continuous at some soft element  $\widetilde{x_0} \in \widetilde{X}$ , then T is soft continuous at every soft element of  $\widetilde{X}$ .

# 3. Soft Contraction Operator, soft Picard and soft Mann iteration processes

# **Definition 3.1**:

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft normed space. A soft operator  $T:SE(\tilde{X}) \longrightarrow SE(\tilde{X})$  is called a soft contraction operator if there exists a soft real number  $\tilde{\alpha}$  such that  $\bar{0} \cong \tilde{\alpha} \cong 1$  and for every  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$  we have:  $\|T\tilde{x} - T\tilde{y}\| \cong \tilde{\alpha} \|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\|.$ 

# Example 3.2

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft vector space where  $X = \mathcal{R}^n$  and  $A = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ .

Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) be a soft operator on  $\tilde{X}$  such that  $T(\tilde{x}) = \overline{0.5}\tilde{x} - \overline{1}$ 

For all  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$ , we have  $||T\tilde{x} - T\tilde{y}|| = ||\overline{0.5}\tilde{x} - \overline{1} - \overline{0.5}\tilde{y} + \overline{1}||$ 

$$= \left\| \overline{0.5} \tilde{x} - \overline{0.5} \tilde{y} \right\| = \overline{0.5} \| \tilde{x} - \tilde{y} \|$$

So, we have  $||T\tilde{x} - T\tilde{y}|| \leq \overline{0.6} ||\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}||$  for all  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{X}$ . That is T is soft contraction.

#### **Proposition 3.3**

Every soft contraction operator is soft continuous operator.

**Proof:** Let  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  be arbitrary soft element. For any  $\tilde{\epsilon} \geq \overline{0}$ , let  $\|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\| \geq \tilde{\delta}$ . Choose  $\tilde{\delta} \geq \tilde{\epsilon}$ . Since T is soft contraction, then  $\|T\tilde{x} - T\tilde{y}\| \geq \tilde{\alpha}\|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\| \geq \tilde{\alpha}\delta \geq \tilde{\epsilon}$ . Hence T is soft continuous.

# **Definition 3.4**

Let  $T:SE(\tilde{X}) \longrightarrow SE(\tilde{X})$  where  $\tilde{X}$  is a soft normed space. A soft element  $\tilde{x}$  called soft fixed element if,  $T(\tilde{x}) = \tilde{x}$ .

# Theorem 3.5

Let  $\widetilde{X}$  be a soft Banach space and  $T: SE(\widetilde{X}) \to SE(\widetilde{X})$ . If T is a soft contraction operator, then there exists a unique soft element  $\widetilde{x} \in \widetilde{X}$  such that  $T(\widetilde{x}) = \widetilde{x}$ .

**<u>Proof</u>:** Let  $\widetilde{x_0}$  be any soft element in  $\widetilde{X}$ . We set  $\widetilde{x_1} = T(\widetilde{x_0})$ ,  $\widetilde{x_2} = T(\widetilde{x_1})$ , ...,  $\widetilde{x_{n+1}} = T(\widetilde{x_n})$ .  $\|\widetilde{x}_{n+1} - \widetilde{x_n}\| = \|T\widetilde{x_n} - T\widetilde{x}_{n-1}\| \cong \widetilde{\alpha} \|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x}_{n-1}\|$  $= \widetilde{\alpha} \|T\widetilde{x}_{n-1} - T\widetilde{x}_{n-2}\|$  $\cong \widetilde{\alpha}^2 \|\widetilde{x}_{n-1} - \widetilde{x}_{n-2}\|$ .... $\cong \widetilde{\alpha}^n \|\widetilde{x_1} - \widetilde{x_0}\|$ .

Therefore, we have  $\|\widetilde{x}_{n+1} - \widetilde{x}_n\| \leq \widetilde{\alpha}^n \|\widetilde{x}_1 - \widetilde{x}_0\|$ .

Now, for n > m we have:

$$\begin{split} \|\widetilde{x}_{n} - \widetilde{x}_{m}\| & \cong \|\widetilde{x}_{n} - \widetilde{x}_{n-1}\| + \|\widetilde{x}_{n-1} - \widetilde{x}_{n-2}\| + \dots + \|\widetilde{x}_{m+1} - \widetilde{x}_{m}\| \\ & \cong (\widetilde{\alpha}^{n-1} + \widetilde{\alpha}^{n-2} + \dots + \widetilde{\alpha}^{m}) \|\widetilde{x}_{1} - \widetilde{x}_{0}\| \\ & \cong \frac{\widetilde{\alpha}^{m}}{1 - \widetilde{\alpha}} \|\widetilde{x}_{1} - \widetilde{x}_{0}\| \\ (\text{Since } \frac{\widetilde{\alpha}^{m}}{1 - \widetilde{\alpha}} = (\widetilde{\alpha}^{n-1} + \widetilde{\alpha}^{n-2} + \dots + \widetilde{\alpha}^{m}) + \frac{\widetilde{\alpha}^{m}}{1 - \widetilde{\alpha}} \text{, then } \widetilde{\alpha}^{n-1} + \widetilde{\alpha}^{n-2} + \dots + \widetilde{\alpha}^{m} \cong \frac{\widetilde{\alpha}^{m}}{1 - \widetilde{\alpha}} ) \end{split}$$

When  $n,m \to \infty$ ,  $\|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x_m}\| \to \overline{0}$ . This implies that  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  is a soft Cauchy sequence. By

completeness of  $\tilde{X}$ , there is a soft element  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$  such that  $\tilde{x_0} \to \tilde{x}$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Therefore,

$$||T\widetilde{x} - \widetilde{x}|| \cong ||T\widetilde{x_n} - T\widetilde{x}|| + ||T\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x}|| \cong \widetilde{\alpha} ||\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x}|| + ||\widetilde{x_{n+1}} - \widetilde{x}||.$$

We obtained that  $||T\tilde{x} - \tilde{x}|| \to \overline{0} \text{ as } n \to \infty \text{ (i.e., } T\tilde{x} = \tilde{x}\text{).}$ 

If  $\tilde{y}$  is another soft fixed element of T, then:

$$\|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\| = \|T\tilde{x} - T\tilde{y}\| \le \tilde{\alpha} \|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\|$$

This implies that  $\|\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}\| = \overline{0}$  (since  $\tilde{\alpha} \leq \overline{1}$ ) and  $\tilde{x} = \tilde{y}$ . Hence, the soft fixed element of T is unique.

The iteration procedure using in the last theorem called (soft Picard iteration procedure).

# **Definition 3.6** (soft Mann iteration)

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft normed space and T:  $SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  is a soft operator on. Let  $\{\tilde{\alpha}_n\}$  be a sequence of non-negative soft real number such that  $\bar{0} \leq \tilde{\alpha}_n < \bar{1}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tilde{\alpha}_n$  is diverge.

Define a soft sequence  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  in  $\widetilde{X}$  by  $\widetilde{x_0} \in \widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{x_{n+1}} = M(\widetilde{x_n}, \alpha_n, T)$   $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

Where  $M(\widetilde{x_n}, \alpha_n, T) = (1 - \widetilde{\alpha}_n)\widetilde{x_n} + \widetilde{\alpha}_n T \widetilde{x_n}$ .

The sequence  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  is called the soft Mann iteration.

# Theorem 3.7

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft Banach space and T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) is a soft continuous operator on  $\tilde{X}$ . If the soft Mann iteration {  $\tilde{x_n}$  } defined in previous definition converges strongly to a soft element  $\tilde{p} \in \tilde{X}$ , then  $\tilde{p}$  is a soft fixed element of T.

**<u>Proof</u>**: since  $\{\widetilde{x_n}\}$  converges to  $\widetilde{p}$ , then  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \widetilde{x_n} = \widetilde{p}$ . We want to prove that  $T\widetilde{p} = \widetilde{p}$ .

Suppose not, that is  $T\tilde{p} \neq \tilde{p}$ , *i.e.*,  $||T\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}|| \approx \bar{0}$ .

We set  $\widetilde{\epsilon}_n = \widetilde{x_n} - T\widetilde{x_n} - (\widetilde{p} - T\widetilde{p})$ .

Because  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \widetilde{x_n} = \widetilde{p}$  and T is soft continuous, we obtained that:

 $\lim_{n\to\infty}\widetilde{\in}_n = \lim_{n\to\infty}\left(\widetilde{x_n} - T\widetilde{x_n} - (\widetilde{p} - T\widetilde{p})\right) = \overline{0}. \text{ So, } \|\widetilde{\in}_n\| \to \overline{0}.$ 

Now, since  $||T\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}|| \ge \overline{0}$ , there exists  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $||\widetilde{\in}_n|| \le ||T\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}|| / \overline{3}$ .

For every Cauchy sequence in  $\widetilde{X}$ ,  $\|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{x_m}\| \approx \|T\widetilde{p} - \widetilde{p}\|/\overline{3}$  for all  $n, m \geq k$ .

Let H be any positive integer such that  $\sum_{i=k}^{k+H} \alpha_i \ge 1$ .

We have:  $\tilde{x}_{i+1} = (1 - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{x}_i + \tilde{\alpha}_i T \tilde{x}_i$ 

 $\tilde{x}_{i+1} - \tilde{x}_i = \tilde{\alpha}_i (T \tilde{x}_i - \tilde{x}_i)$ 

Therefore, 
$$\|\tilde{x}_k + \tilde{x}_{k+H+1}\| = \|\sum_{i=k}^{k+H} (\tilde{x}_i - \tilde{x}_{i+1})\|$$
  

$$= \|\sum_{i=k}^{k+H} \tilde{\alpha}_i (\tilde{p} - T\tilde{p} + \tilde{\epsilon}_i)\|$$

$$\cong \|\sum_{i=k}^{k+H} \tilde{\alpha}_i (\tilde{p} - T\tilde{p})\| - \|\sum_{i=k}^{k+H} \alpha_i \tilde{\epsilon}_n\|$$

$$\cong \sum_{i=k}^{k+H} \tilde{\alpha}_i [\|T\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}\| - \|T\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}\|/\bar{3}]$$

$$\cong \frac{\bar{2}\|T\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}\|}{\bar{3}}$$

But  $\|\tilde{x}_k + \tilde{x}_{k+H+1}\| \approx \|T\tilde{p} - \tilde{p}\| / \overline{3}$ , which is contradiction.

So,  $T\tilde{p} = \tilde{p}$ . That is  $\tilde{p}$  is a soft fixed element.

#### Example 3.8

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be an absolute soft vector space where  $X = \mathcal{R}^3$  and  $A = \{1, 2, 3\}$ .

Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) be a soft operator on  $\tilde{X}$  such that  $T(\tilde{x}) = \bar{1} - \tilde{x}$ 

It is clear that T is continuous. We choose  $\tilde{\alpha}_n = \overline{(\frac{1}{n})}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\overline{0} \le \tilde{\alpha}_n < \overline{1}$ 

Let  $\widetilde{x_1} = \{(1, (1,1,1)), (2, (2,2,2)), (3, (3,3,3))\}.$ 

We have  $\tilde{x}_{n+1} = (\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n) \widetilde{x_n} + \tilde{\alpha}_n T \widetilde{x_n}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$= \left(\overline{1} - \overline{\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)}\right)\widetilde{x_{n}} + \overline{\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)}(\overline{1} - \widetilde{x})$$
$$= \left(\overline{1} - \overline{\left(\frac{2}{n}\right)}\right)\widetilde{x_{n}} + \overline{\left(\frac{1}{n}\right)}$$

n =				
1	1	2	3	$\widetilde{x_1} = \{(1,(1,1,1)),(2,(2,2,2)),(3,(3,3,3))\}$
2	0	-1	-2	$\widetilde{x_2} = \{(1,(0,0,0)),(2,(-1,-1,-1)),(3,(-2,-2,-2))\}$
3	0.5	0.5	0.5	$\widetilde{x_{3}} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$
4	0.5	0.5	0.5	$\widetilde{x_4} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$
5	0.5	0.5	0.5	$\widetilde{x_5} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$

It is clear that  $\widetilde{x_n} \to \tilde{x}$  where  $\tilde{x} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$ 

So by theorem,  $\tilde{x}$  is a soft fixed element of T.

Let 
$$\widetilde{x_1} = \{(1, (-1,0,1)), (2, (1,2,0)), (3, (3-2,31,-1))\}.$$

n=										
1	-1	0	1	1	2	0	-2	1	-1	$\widetilde{x_1} = \{(1,(-1,0,1)),(2,(1,2,0)),(3,(-2,1,-1))\}$
2	2	1	0	0	-1	1	3	0	2	$\widetilde{x_2} = \{(1,(2,1,0)),(2,(0,-1,1)),(3,(3,0,2))\}$
3	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	$\widetilde{x_3} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$
4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	$\widetilde{x_{4}} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$
5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	$\widetilde{x_5} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$

It is clear that  $\widetilde{x_n} \to \widetilde{x}$  where  $\widetilde{x} = \{(1, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (2, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5)), (3, (0.5, 0.5, 0.5))\}$ 

So by theorem,  $\tilde{x}$  is a soft fixed element of T.

# Example 3.9

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be an absolute soft vector space where  $X = \mathcal{R}^3$  and  $A = \{1, 2, 3\}$ .

Let T: SE( $\tilde{X}$ )  $\rightarrow$  SE( $\tilde{X}$ ) be a soft operator on  $\tilde{X}$  such that  $T(\tilde{x}) = \overline{2}\tilde{x}$ 

It is clear that T is continuous. We choose  $\tilde{\alpha}_n = \overline{(\frac{1}{n})}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\overline{0} \le \tilde{\alpha}_n < \overline{1}$ 

Let  $\widetilde{x_1} = \{(1, (1,1,1)), (2, (2,2,2)), (3, (3,3,3))\}.$ 

We have  $\tilde{x}_{n+1} = (\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{x_n} + \tilde{\alpha}_n T \tilde{x_n}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$= \left(\overline{1} - \frac{\overline{1}}{n}\right) \widetilde{x_n} + \frac{\overline{1}}{n} (\overline{2}\widetilde{x})$$
$$= \overline{\left(\frac{n+1}{n}\right)} \widetilde{x_n}$$

n=				
1	1	2	3	$\widetilde{x_1} = \{(1,(1,1,1)),(2,(2,2,2)),(3,(3,3,3))\}$
2	2	4	6	$\widetilde{x_2} = \{(1,(2,2,2)),(2,(4,4,4)),(3,(6,6,6))\}$
3	3	6	9	$\widetilde{x_3} = \{(1,(3,3,3)), (2,(6,6,6)), (3,(9,9,9))\}$
4	4	8	12	$\widetilde{x_4} = \{(1, (4, 4, 4)), (2, (8, 8, 8)), (3, (12, 12, 12))\}$
5	5	10	15	$\widetilde{x_5} = \{(1,(5,5,5)),(2,(10,10,10)),(3,(15,15,15))\}$
6	6	12	18	$\widetilde{x_6} = \{(1, (6, 6, 6)), (2, (12, 12, 12)), (3, (18, 18, 18))\}$
7	7	14	21	$\widetilde{x_7} = \{(1,(7,7,7)),(2,(14,14,14)),(3,(21,21,21))\}$
8	8	16	24	$\widetilde{x_8} = \{(1,(8,8,8)),(2,(16,16,16)),(3,(24,24,24))\}$
9	9	18	27	$\widetilde{x_9} = \{(1, (9, 9, 9)), (2, (18, 18, 18)), (3, (27, 27, 27))\}$
10	10	20	30	$\tilde{x}_{10} = \{(1, (10, 10, 10)), (2, (20, 20, 20)), (3, (30, 30, 30))\}$

Although that T is soft continuous operator, the soft Mann iteration not converges to a soft element in  $\tilde{X}$ .

# **Proposition 3.10**

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft normed space and T:  $SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  is a soft operator on  $\tilde{X}$ .  $\tilde{p}$  is a fixed element of T such that  $||T\tilde{x} - \tilde{p}|| \leq ||\tilde{x} - \tilde{p}||$  for all  $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{X}$ , then for the soft Mann iteration  $\tilde{x}_{n+1} = (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{x}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{x}_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  the  $\lim_{n \to \infty} ||\tilde{x}_n - \tilde{p}||$  exists.

**<u>Proof</u>**: Because  $\|\tilde{x}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| = \|(\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{x}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n T \tilde{x}_n - \tilde{p}\|$ 

$$= \|(\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_{n})\widetilde{x_{n}} + \tilde{\alpha}_{n}T\widetilde{x_{n}} - (1 - \alpha_{n})\widetilde{p} - \alpha_{n}\widetilde{p}\|$$

$$\cong \|(\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_{n})[\widetilde{x_{n}} - \widetilde{p}]\| + \|\widetilde{\alpha}_{n}(T\widetilde{x_{n}} - \widetilde{p})\|$$

$$= (\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_{n})\|\widetilde{x_{n}} = \widetilde{p}\| + \tilde{\alpha}_{n}\|T\widetilde{x_{n}} - \widetilde{p}\|$$

$$\cong (\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_{n})\|\widetilde{x_{n}} = \widetilde{p}\| + \tilde{\alpha}_{n}\|\widetilde{x_{n}} - \widetilde{p}\|$$

$$= \|\widetilde{x_{n}} = \widetilde{p}\| \quad for all n \in \mathbb{N}$$

It follows that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \|\widetilde{x_n} - \widetilde{p}\|$  exists.

# 4. Stability of soft iteration processes

# **Definition 4.1**

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft normed space and let  $T: SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  be a soft operator on  $\tilde{X}$ . Let  $F(T) = \{\tilde{p} \in \tilde{X}, T\tilde{p} = \tilde{p}\}$  a set of soft fixed element of T, consider  $\tilde{x}_0 \in \tilde{X}$  and  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}$  be a soft sequence such that:

$$\tilde{x}_n = f(T, \tilde{x}_n)$$
,  $n = 0, 1, 2, ...$  ......(1)

Where  $\tilde{x}_0 \in \tilde{X}$ , is the initial soft element and f is some function. Assume that  $\{\tilde{x}_n\}$  converges to a soft fixed element  $\tilde{p}$ . Let  $\{\tilde{y}_n\}$  be another soft sequence in  $\tilde{X}$ .

We consider  $\tilde{\epsilon} = \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - f(T, \tilde{y}_n)\|$ , n = 0, 1, 2, 3, ...

The soft iteration procedure (1) is called soft T-stable or soft stable with respect to T if and only if  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{\epsilon} = \overline{0}$  implies  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ .

#### Lemma4.2

if  $\tilde{\delta}$  is a soft real number such that  $\bar{0} \cong \tilde{\delta} \cong \bar{1}$  and  $\{\tilde{\epsilon}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is a soft sequence of positive soft real number with  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{\epsilon} = \bar{0}$ , then for all  $\{\tilde{u}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty} \subset R(A)^*$  satisfies:

$$\tilde{u}_{n+1} \cong \tilde{\delta} \tilde{u}_n + \tilde{\epsilon}$$
,  $n = 0, 1, 2, 3, \dots$ , we have  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{u}_n = \overline{0}$ .

**<u>Proof</u>**: if  $\tilde{\delta} = \bar{0}$ , the statement is true. Assume  $\bar{0} \approx \tilde{\delta} \approx \bar{1}$ , we can multiply both side of Inequality by  $\frac{\bar{1}}{\tilde{\delta}^{k+1}} = \tilde{\delta}^{-k-1}$ , we obtained that:

$$\tilde{u}_{k+1}\tilde{\delta}^{-k-1} \cong \tilde{\delta}^{-k}\tilde{u}_k + \tilde{\delta}^{-k-1}\tilde{\epsilon}_k \qquad \qquad for \ k = 0, 1, 2, \dots \dots$$

By sum all inequalities for  $k = 0, 1, 2, 3, \dots, n + 1$  and after simplify we obtained that:

$$\bar{0} \cong \tilde{u}_{n+1} \cong \tilde{\delta}^{n+1} \tilde{u}_0 + \sum_{k=0}^n \tilde{\delta}^{n-k} \tilde{\epsilon}_k$$

Now, using lemma in ((stability of k-stable fixed point iteration methods for Persic type contraction mapping)) we get;

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n} \tilde{\delta}^{n-k} \tilde{\epsilon}_{k}\right] = \overline{0}. \text{ Therefore, } \lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{u}_{n} = \overline{0}.$$

#### Stability of soft iteration processes (with contraction operator)

# <u>Theorem 4.3</u> (stability of Picard iteration procedure)

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft banach space and let  $T: SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  be a soft operator on  $\tilde{X}$  satisfies the condition:

$$||T\tilde{x} - T\tilde{y}|| \leq \tilde{k} ||\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}||$$
 Where,  $\bar{0} \leq \tilde{k} < \bar{1}$ .

Then, the soft Picard iteration process where  $\tilde{x}_0 \in \tilde{X}$  and  $\tilde{x}_{n+1} = T\tilde{x}_n$ ,  $n \ge 0$ , is soft T-stable.

**<u>Proof</u>**: by soft contraction theorem, T has unique soft fixed point  $\tilde{p}$ . Consider  $\{\tilde{y}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be a soft sequence in  $\tilde{X}$  such that  $\tilde{y}_{n+1} = T\tilde{y}_n$  and let  $\tilde{\epsilon}_n = \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - T\tilde{y}_n\|$ .

Suppose that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{\epsilon}_n = \overline{0}$  to prove that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| &\cong \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - T\tilde{y}_n\| + \|T\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| \\ &= \|T\tilde{y}_n - T\tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\epsilon}_n \\ &\cong \tilde{k}\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\epsilon}_n \end{aligned}$$

Since  $\overline{0} \cong \tilde{k} \cong \overline{1}$  and by lemma, we obtained that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| = \overline{0}$  that is  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ .

On the other hand, let  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ .

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\epsilon}_n &= \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - T\tilde{y}_n\| \cong \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| + \|\tilde{p} - T\tilde{y}_n\| \\ &\cong \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{k}\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| \end{split}$$

When  $n \to \infty$ , we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{\epsilon}_n = \overline{0}$ .

Therefore, the Picard iteration procedure is T-stable.

#### <u>Theorem 4.4 :</u> (stability of Mann iteration procedure)

Let  $\tilde{X}$  be a soft banach space and let  $T: SE(\tilde{X}) \to SE(\tilde{X})$  be a soft operator on  $\tilde{X}$  satisfies the condition:  $||T\tilde{x} - T\tilde{y}|| \leq \tilde{k} ||\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}||$  where  $\bar{0} \leq \tilde{k} \leq \bar{1}$ .

Then, the soft Mann iteration process where  $\tilde{x}_0 \in \tilde{X}$  and

$$\tilde{x}_{n+1} = (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{x}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n T \tilde{x}_n$$
,  $\tilde{\alpha}_0 = 1$ ,  $\bar{0} \cong \tilde{\alpha} \approx \bar{1}$  for all  $n \ge 1$ , is soft T-stable.

**<u>Proof</u>**: by soft contraction theorem, T has unique soft fixed point  $\tilde{p}$ . Consider  $\{\tilde{y}_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be a soft sequence in  $\tilde{X}$  such that  $\tilde{y}_{n+1} = (\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n T \tilde{y}_n$  and let

 $\tilde{\epsilon}_n = \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - (\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{y}_n\|.$ 

Suppose that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{\epsilon}_n = \overline{0}$  to prove that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ .

$$\begin{split} \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| &\cong \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{y}_n\| + \|(\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| \\ &= \|(\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{y}_n - ((\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n) + \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\epsilon}_n \\ &= \|(\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)(\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}) + \tilde{\alpha}_n (T\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p})\| + \tilde{\epsilon}_n \\ &\cong (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\alpha}_n \|T\tilde{y}_n - T\tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\epsilon}_n \\ &\cong (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\alpha}_n \tilde{k}\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\epsilon}_n \\ &= (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n \tilde{k})\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\epsilon}_n \end{split}$$

Since  $(\overline{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n + \tilde{\alpha}_n \tilde{k}) \approx \overline{1}$  and by lemma, we obtained that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| = \overline{0}$  that is  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ .

On the other hand, let  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{y}_n = \tilde{p}$ .

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\epsilon}_n &= \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{y}_n \| \\ & \tilde{\leq} \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| + \|\tilde{p} - (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{y}_n \| \\ & \tilde{\leq} \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| + \|((\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n) + \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{p} - (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{\alpha}_n T\tilde{y}_n \| \\ & \tilde{\leq} \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| + (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\alpha}_n \|T\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| \\ & \tilde{\leq} \|\tilde{y}_{n+1} - \tilde{p}\| + (\bar{1} - \tilde{\alpha}_n)\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| + \tilde{\alpha}_n \tilde{k}\|\tilde{y}_n - \tilde{p}\| \end{split}$$

When  $n \to \infty$ , the  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{\epsilon}_n = \overline{0}$ .

Therefore, the Mann iteration procedure is T-stable.

# References

- D. Molodtsov. 1999. Soft set theory first results, Comput. Math. Appl. 37, pp: 19-31.
- 2. F. Feng, C. X. Li, B. Davvaz and M. I. Ali. 2010. Soft sets combined with fuzzy sets and rough sets: a tentative approach, Soft Computing 14, pp: 899-911.
- 3. P. K. Maji, R. Biswas and A. R. Roy. 2003. Soft set theory, Comput. Math. Appl. 45, pp: 555-562.
- 4. F. Feng, Y. B. Jun and X. Zhao. 2008. Soft semirings, Comput. Math. Appl. 56, pp: 2621-2628.
- 5. S. Das, P. Majumdar and S. K. Samanta. 2015. On Soft Linear Spaces and Soft Normed Linear Spaces, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 9 (1), pp: 91-109.
- 6. M. Shabir and M. Naz. 2011. on soft topological spaces, Comput. Math. Appl. 61, pp: 1786 -1799.
- **7.** S. H. Jafari, S. A. Sadati and A. Yaghobi. 2017. New Results on Soft Banach Algebra, International Journal of Science and Engineering Investigations, Volume 6, Issue 68, September, pp :17-25
- 8. S. Das and S. K. Samanta. 2012. Soft real sets, soft real numbers and their properties, J. Fuzzy Math. 20 (3) ,pp: 551-576.
- 9. S. Das and S. K. Samanta. 2013. On soft complex sets and soft complex numbers, J. Fuzzy Math.21 (1),pp: 195-216.
- **10.** S. Das and S. K. Samanta. 2013. Soft Metric, Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics, Volume 6, No. 1, (July), pp: 77-94.
- **11.** S. Das and S. K. Samanta. 2013. Soft linear operators in soft normed linear spaces, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 6(2), pp: 295-314.
- 12. S. Das, S. K. Samanta. 2014. Soft linear functionals in soft normed linear spaces, Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics Volume 7, No. 4, (April), pp: 629 -651
- R. Thakur, S. K. Samanta. 2015. Soft Banach Algebra, Ann. Fuzzy Math. Inform. 10 (3), pp: 397-412.

# **BS-algebra and Pseudo Z-algebra**

Adel Hashem Nouri Faculty of Education University of Kufa, Najaf, Iraq adilh.alhajjar@ uokufa.edu.iq

# **Abstract:**

This paper introduces a new notion of algebra called BS-algebra and some

of its properties are discussed in detail. Also, we define a S(a,b) of BS-algebra

and discus of properties and theorems of it. Some of theorems of a new ideals of BSalgebra are introduced and proved .Also, we introduced some new types of ideals of Z-algebra and we linked these ideals with some theorems and properties .Also , we define the concept of pseudo Z-algebra and introduced some examples and new concepts in it, including the concept of pseudo b-subalgebra and introduced some theorems and properties in this new concepts.

**Keywords :** BS-algebra, S(a,b) of BS-algebra, Bs –idel, Z-algebra, associative Z-algebra, pseudo Z-algebra, Z -ideal, pseudo b-subalgebra.

# 1. Introduction.

Algebras structures have an important role in many applications of science such as computer science, information theory, control engineering, etc. In 1966 the world introduced the concept of BCK –algebra and then emerged other concepts and types of algebra. In 2002, J. Neggers and H. S. Kim introduced the concept of B-algebra which is the generalization of concepts of some types of algebras .In 2008, C. B. Kim and H. S .Kim introduced BG-algebra which is the generalization of B-algebra which is the generalization of B-algebra. In 2012 introduced the of BO-algebra .In this paper we will introduce a new type of algebra. In 2012 introduced the of BO-algebra .In this paper we will introduce a new type of algebra namely BS-algebra and we will try to connected it to other types of algebras. Some theorems and properties .Also , we define a new concept of sub- algebra and introduced some theorems and characteristics Finally ,we define a new type of ideals in this type and we will connected to other types of ideals of BS-algebra. M. Chandramouleeswaran, P. Muralikrishna, K. Sujatha and S. Sabarinathan (2017) introduced the concepts of Z-algebra. They tried to provide some theorems that link this type of algebra.

In this paper, we introduce the notion of some types of ideas of Z-algebra, and investigate its characterization. We also introduce the concepts of associative Z-algebra, and

investigate related properties. We define a pseudo Z-algebra . Some concepts and theorems are given and proved.

# 2. Preliminaries.

**Definition. 2.1.[3]** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a null set has a constant of "O" with a binary operation " $\diamond$ " satisfying the following axioms :

- i.  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{m} = \mathcal{O}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$
- ii.  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathcal{O} = \mathfrak{m}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$

Then **W** is called a B -algebra.

**Definition.. 2.2.[1]** Let **ℋ** be a null set has a constant of "O" with a binary operation " ◊" satisfying the following axioms :

- i.  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{m} = \mathcal{O}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$
- ii.  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathcal{O} = \mathfrak{m}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$
- iii.  $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \diamond (O \diamond \mathfrak{n}) = \mathfrak{m} , \forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, \mathfrak{z} \in \mathfrak{K}.$
- Then **X** is called a BG -algebra.

Definition. 2.3.[2] Let X be a null set has a constant of "O" with a binary operation

"  $\diamond$ " satisfying the following axioms :

- i.  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{m} = \mathcal{O}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$
- ii.  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathcal{O} = \mathfrak{m}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$

 $\hbox{iii. } \mathfrak{m} \diamond (\ \mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathtt{z} \ ) = \ (\ \mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathtt{n}) \diamond (O \diamond \mathtt{z}) \ \ , \forall \ \ \mathfrak{m}, \mathtt{n} \ , \mathtt{z} \ \in \ \ \mathfrak{M} \ .$ 

Then **X** is called a BO -algebra.

**Definition..2.4.** : Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a non-empty set have a constant " O " and a binary operation " $\diamond$ " satisfying the following axioms:

- i.  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$
- ii.  $O \otimes m = m, \forall m \in \mathcal{K}.$
- iii.  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{m} = \kappa$ ,  $\forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}$ .
- $\text{iv.} \quad \mathfrak{m} \diamondsuit \mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{n} \diamondsuit \mathfrak{m} , \, \forall \ \mathfrak{m}, \, \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{K}.$

Then **K** is called a Z-algebra.

Definition 2.5. Let **X** be a Z-algebra, then **I** is called an ideal of **X** if :-

- i.  $O \in \mathbf{H}$ .
- ii.  $m \otimes n \in I$ ,  $n \in I \implies m \in I$ ,  $\forall m, n \in K$ .

# 3. BS-algebra

**Definition. 3.1.** Let **X** be a null set has a constant of "O" with a binary operation

"  $\diamond$ " satisfying the following axioms :

- i.  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{m} = \mathcal{O}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$
- ii.  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathcal{O} = \mathfrak{m}, \forall \mathfrak{m} \in \mathcal{K}.$
- iii.  $(\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \otimes (\mathfrak{n} \otimes \mathfrak{z}) = \mathfrak{m}$ ,  $\forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, \mathfrak{z} \in \mathfrak{K}$ .

Then **X** is called a BS -algebra

**Example .3.2.** Let  $\mathbf{\mathcal{K}} = \{ \mathbf{O}, 1, 2, 3 \}$  be a set with the following Cayley tables:

<b>\$</b>	0	1	2	3
0	О	1	2	3
1	1	О	1	1
2	2	2	0	2
3	3	3	3	О

Then Ж is a BS-algebra.

Definition. 3.3.Let **W** is a BS –algebra, then **W** is called a commutative if

 $\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{m}$ ,  $\forall \mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n} \in \mathbf{K}$ .

Definition. 3.4..Let **W** is a BS –algebra , then **W** is called a associative if

 $\mathfrak{m} \otimes (\mathfrak{n} \otimes \mathfrak{z}) = (\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \otimes \mathfrak{z}, \forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, \mathfrak{z} \in \mathfrak{K}.$ 

**Proposition.3.5.** If  $O \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{m} = \mathbf{m}$ , then every B-algebra  $\mathcal{K}$  if and only if a BS-algebra.

**Proof**: Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be B-algebra satisfies  $O \otimes \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}$ .

Let  $(\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{O}) = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{m} \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond (\mathbf{O} \diamond \mathbf{n}))$ 

 $= \mathbf{m} \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{m}$ 

Hence, **K** is BS-algebra.

Conversely, Let  $\mathfrak{K}$  be BS-algebra satisfies  $O \Leftrightarrow \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}$ .

Let  $\mathbf{m} \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond (\mathbf{O} \diamond \mathbf{n})) = \mathbf{m} \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{O}$ 

 $= \mathbf{m} = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{O}) = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{n}$ .

Hence, **W** is B-algebra.

**Proposition.3.6.** If  $O \Leftrightarrow \mathbf{m} = \mathbf{m}$ , then every BG-algebra  $\mathcal{K}$  if and only if a BS-algebra.

**Proof**: Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be BG-algebra satisfies  $O \otimes \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}$ .

Let  $(\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{O}) = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{O} \diamond \mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{m}$ 

Hence, **K** is BS-algebra.

Conversely, Let  $\mathfrak{K}$  be BS-algebra satisfies  $O \Leftrightarrow \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}$ .

Let  $\mathbf{m} = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{O}) = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{O} \diamond \mathbf{n})$ 

Hence, **K** is BG-algebra

**Proposition.3.7.** Every associative BO-algebra  $\mathcal{K}$  satisfies  $O \otimes \mathbf{m} = \mathbf{m}$  is a BS-algebra.

**Proof** : Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be BO-algebra satisfies  $O \Leftrightarrow \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}$ .

Let  $\mathbf{m} = \mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{O} = \mathbf{m} \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{n}) = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{O} \diamond \mathbf{n})$ 

 $= (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{O})$ 

Hence, **X** is BS-algebra

Proposition.3.8. Let **X** be BS-algebra ,then the following results are hold:

- 1.  $\mathfrak{m} = (\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n})$ .
- 2.  $(\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \otimes \mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{m}$ .
- 3.  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond ((\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \diamond \mathfrak{n}) = \mathcal{O}$ .

#### **Proof**:

- 1.  $\mathbf{m} = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{n}) = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{O} = \mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}$ .
- 2.  $(\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{O}) = \mathbf{m}$ .
- 3.  $\mathbf{m} \diamond ((\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond \mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{m} \diamond ((\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond O)) = \mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{m} = O$ .

# 4. S (a,b) of BS-algebra

Definition. 4.1. Let S be a subset of BS -algebra **X** . Then S is called a sub-algebra

of  $\mathfrak{K}$  if  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in S$ , for all  $\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n} \in S$ .

**Definition. 4.2.** Let S be a sub-algebra of BS -algebra  $\mathcal{K}$ . Then S is called S (a,b) of  $\mathcal{K}$ , if  $(a \diamond m) \diamond (b \diamond n) \in S$ , for all  $m, n \in S$  and for some  $a, b \in \mathcal{K}$ .

**Proposition.4.3.**  $O \in S(a,b)$  of BS-algebra.

**Proof**: Let S (a,b) of BS-algebra  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Let  $(a \diamond m) \diamond (b \diamond n) \in S$ , where  $a, b \in K$  and for all  $m, n \in S$ .

Put a = m and b = n, we get :  $(a \diamond a) \diamond (b \diamond b) \in S$ .

Imply  $O \diamond O = O \in S$  (a,b) of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

**Proposition.4.4.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a commutative BS-algebra, then S (a,b)= S (b,a).

**Proof :** Let S (a,b) of commutative BS-algebra **X**.

Let  $(a \diamond \mathbf{m}) \diamond (b \diamond \mathbf{n}) \in S$ , where  $a, b \in \mathbf{K}$  and for all  $\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n} \in S$ .

Since **X** is a commutative BH-algebra, then  $(b \otimes \mathbf{n}) \otimes (a \otimes \mathbf{m}) \in S$ .

By definition of S (b,a), we get S (a,b) = S (b,a), where  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{n} \otimes \mathfrak{m}$ .

# 5. Bs – ideal of BS-algebra

**Definition.5.1** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a BS-algebra, then  $\mathcal{H}$  is called an **ideal** of  $\mathcal{K}$  if :iii.  $\mathbf{O} \in \mathcal{H}$ .

iv.  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{l}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{l} \Rightarrow \mathfrak{m} \in \mathfrak{l}, \forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{K}$ .

**Definition.5.2.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a BS-algebra, then  $\mathcal{H}$  is called an **Bs-ideal** of  $\mathcal{K}$  if :i.  $\mathbf{O} \in \mathcal{H}$ .

**ii.**  $((\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \diamond (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{z})) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{l}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{l} \Rightarrow \mathfrak{m} \in \mathfrak{l}, \forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{K}$ .

Proposition.5.3 Let **X** be a BS-algebra , then every ideal of **X** if and only if an Bs-ideal of **X**.

**Proof :** Suppose that **H** is an ideal of  $\mathcal{K}, \forall \mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n}, z \in \mathcal{K}$ 

Let  $((\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \diamond (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{z})) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{f}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{f}$ 

Since **X** is a BS-algebra, we get  $(\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{z}) = \mathbf{m}$ 

Imply  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{f}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{f}$ .

Since **H** is an ideal of **W**, we get  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbf{H}$ 

Hence,  $\mathbf{I}$  is an Bs-ideal of  $\mathbf{\mathcal{K}}$ .

Conversely , Suppose that H is an Bs-ideal of  $\mathfrak{K}$  ,  $\forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}$  ,  $z \in \mathfrak{K}$ 

Let  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{h}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{h}$ .

Since **X** is a BS-algebra, we get  $(\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{z}) = \mathbf{m}$ 

Imply  $((\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{z})) \diamond \mathbf{n} \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbf{I}$ 

Since **H** is an Bs-ideal of **K**, we get  $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbf{H}$ 

Hence, H is an ideal of **X**.

### 6 .Some types of ideals of Z-algebra

Definition.6.1.A nonempty subset I of a Z-algebra W is called a Z1- ideal of W if :

(i)  $0 \in \mathbf{H}$ .

(ii)  $((\mathfrak{m} \diamond z) \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{H}$  imply  $\mathfrak{m} \in \mathbf{H}, \forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, z \in \mathbf{K}$ .

**Example .6.2.** Let  $\mathcal{K} = (\mathbf{Z}, \diamond, \mathbf{O})$  be the Z-algebra, where  $\mathcal{K} = \{ \mathbf{O}, 1, 2, 3 \}$  and  $\diamond$  is given by the table :

<b>\$</b>	0	1	2	3
0	0	1	2	3
1	Ο	1	1	1
2	Ο	1	2	2
3	0	1	2	3

Let  $\mathbf{H} = \{ O, 2, 3 \}$  be a subset of Z-algebra, then  $\mathbf{H}$  is  $\mathbf{Z}_1$ - ideal of a Z-algebra.

Dęfinition.6.3. A Z-algebra Ж is called associative Z-algebra if:

 $(\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \otimes \mathfrak{z} = \mathfrak{m} \otimes (\mathfrak{n} \otimes \mathfrak{z}), \forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, \mathfrak{z} \in \mathfrak{K}.$ 

**Proposition.6.4.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a associative Z-algebra. Then the following properties hold for all  $\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n} \in \mathcal{K}$ .

- 1-  $(\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \otimes \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{n} \otimes \mathfrak{m}$ .
- 2-  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m}) = \mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}$ .
- 3-  $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m})) \diamond \mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m}.$

#### **Proof** :

- $1 \hbox{-} (\mathfrak{m} \Diamond \mathfrak{n}) \Diamond \mathfrak{m} = (\mathfrak{n} \Diamond \mathfrak{m}) \Diamond \mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{n} \Diamond (\mathfrak{m} \Diamond \mathfrak{m}) = \mathfrak{n} \Diamond \mathfrak{m} \, .$
- 2-  $\mathbf{m} \diamond (\mathbf{n} \diamond \mathbf{m}) = \mathbf{m} \diamond (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}) = (\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{m}) \diamond \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{n}$ .

**3-**  $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m})) \diamond \mathfrak{n} = \mathfrak{n} \diamond (\mathfrak{m} \diamond (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m})) = (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m}) = \mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m}.$ 

Proposition.6.5. Let **X** be a Z-algebra, then every **Z**<sub>1</sub>- ideal of **X** is an ideal of **X**.

**Proof**: Suppose that **H** is a **Z**1- ideal of  $\mathcal{K}$ ,  $\forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{K}$ .

Let  $((\mathfrak{m} \diamond z) \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{I}$ .

Put z = O, we have :

 $((\mathfrak{m} \diamond O) \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{I}$ , then

 $(O \diamond \mathbf{m}) \diamond \mathbf{n} \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbf{I}$  [**K** is a Z-algebra]

 $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{I}$  [**X** is a Z-algebra,]

Imply  $n \in I$ . [I is an ideal of  $\mathcal{K}$ ].

Hence, H is a Z1- ideal of **X**.

Definition.6.6.A nonempty subset I of a Z-algebra, W is called a Z2-ideal of W if

(i) O∈ I.
 (ii) (m◊ z) ◊(m◊ n) ∈ I and n ∈ I imply m ∈ I, ∀ m,n,z ∈ 𝔅.

**Proposition.6.7.** Let  $\mathcal{W}$  be a Z-algebra, then every Z<sub>2</sub>- ideal of  $\mathcal{W}$  is an ideal of  $\mathcal{W}$ .

**Proof**: Suppose that **H** is a **Z**<sub>2</sub>- ideal of **W**,  $\forall$  **m**, **n**, **z**  $\in$  **W**.

Let  $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond z) \diamond (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$ 

Put z = O, we have :

Let  $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathcal{O}) \diamond (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$ , then

 $O \otimes (\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$  [**K** is a Z-algebra,]

Then $(\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \in \mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{H}$  [**K** is a Z-algebra,]

Imply  $n \in I$ . [I is an ideal of  $\mathcal{K}$ ].

Hence,  $\mathbf{H}$  is a Z1- ideal of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Proposition.6.8. Every Z1- ideal of associative Z-algebra, **W** if and only if is Z2- ideal of **W**.

**Proof**: Suppose that **H** is a **Z**1- ideal of  $\mathcal{K}$ ,  $\forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, \mathbf{z} \in \mathcal{K}$ .

Let  $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{z}) \diamond (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \in \mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathfrak{H}$ .

Since  $\mathfrak{K}$  is an associative Z-algebra,,we get  $((\mathfrak{m} \diamond z) \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$ . Imply  $\mathfrak{m} \in \mathbf{I}$  [ $\mathbf{I}$  is a  $\mathbf{Z}$ 1- ideal of  $\mathfrak{K}$ ] Hence,  $\mathbf{I}$  is a  $\mathbf{Z}$ 2- ideal of  $\mathfrak{K}$ . Similarly, Suppose that  $\mathbf{I}$  is a  $\mathbf{Z}$ 2- ideal of  $\mathfrak{K}$ ,  $\forall \mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n}, z \in \mathfrak{K}$ . Let  $((\mathfrak{m} \diamond z)) \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$ . Since  $\mathfrak{K}$  is an associative Z-algebra,,we get  $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond z) \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond \mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathfrak{n} \in \mathbf{I}$ . Imply  $\mathfrak{m} \in \mathbf{I}$  [ $\mathbf{I}$  is a  $\mathbf{Z}$ 1- ideal of  $\mathfrak{K}$ ] Hence,  $\mathbf{I}$  is a  $\mathbf{Z}$ 2- ideal of  $\mathfrak{K}$ .

#### 7. Pseudo Z-algebra

In this section, we define a new type of algebras .It is called a pseudo Z-algebra, and then we introduced some of the concepts and examples in it. Also, some properties and theorems linking them are studied and proved.

**D***ę***f***i***n***i***t***i***o***n***.7.1.**Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a non-empty set have a constant " O " and a two binary operations " $\diamond$ " and " $\diamond$ " satisfying the following axioms :

- i.  $\mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{O} = \mathbf{m} \diamond \mathbf{O} = \mathbf{O}$ ,  $\forall \mathbf{m} \in \mathcal{K}$ .
- ii.  $\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{m} = \mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{m} = \mathbf{m}, \forall \mathbf{m} \in \mathbf{X}.$
- iii.  $\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m} = \mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{m} = \mathbf{m}$ ,  $\forall \mathbf{m} \in \mathbf{K}$
- iv.  $\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{n} \otimes \mathbf{m}$ ,  $\forall \mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n} \in \mathcal{K}$ .

Then **K** is called a pseudo Z-algebra

**Example .7.2.** Let  $\mathcal{K} = \{ \mathbf{O}, 1, 2 \}$  be a set with the following Cayley tables:

<b>\$</b>	0	1	2	3	$\diamond$	0	1	2	3
0	0	1	2	3	0	0	1	2	3
1	0	1	1	2	1	0	1	2	1
2	0	2	2	1	2	0	1	2	1
3	0	1	1	3	3	0	2	1	3

Then  $(\mathbf{\mathcal{K}}, \diamond, \diamond, \mathbf{O})$  is a pseudo Z-algebra.

**Proposition.7.3.** Let **W** be a pseudo Z-algebra. Then the following results hold for all  $\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n} \in \mathbf{W}$ .

1-  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes \mathfrak{n} = (\mathfrak{O} \otimes \mathfrak{n}) \otimes (\mathfrak{O} \otimes \mathfrak{m})$ ,

$$\mathfrak{m} \Diamond \mathfrak{n} = (\mathcal{O} \Diamond \mathfrak{n}) \diamond (\mathcal{O} \Diamond \mathfrak{m}).$$

2-  $O \otimes (\mathfrak{m} \Diamond \mathfrak{n}) = (O \otimes \mathfrak{m}) \Diamond (O \otimes \mathfrak{n})$ 

 $O \diamond (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) = (O \diamond \mathfrak{m}) \diamond (O \diamond \mathfrak{n})$ 

3-  $\mathfrak{m} \otimes (\mathbb{O} \Diamond \mathfrak{n}) = (\mathfrak{n} \Diamond \mathfrak{m})$ 

 $\mathfrak{m} \Diamond (\mathbf{O} \diamondsuit \mathfrak{n}) = (\mathfrak{n} \diamondsuit \mathfrak{m}).$ 

#### **Proof** :

1-  $\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{n} \otimes \mathbf{m} = (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{n}) \otimes (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{m})$ , similarly  $\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{n}) \otimes (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{m})$ . 2-  $\mathbf{O} \otimes (\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{n} = (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{m}) \otimes (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{n})$ , similarly,  $\mathbf{O} \otimes (\mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{n}) = (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{m}) \otimes (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{n})$ . 3-  $\mathbf{m} \otimes (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{n}) = \mathbf{m} \otimes \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{n} \otimes \mathbf{m} = (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{n}) \otimes (\mathbf{O} \otimes \mathbf{m})$ 

Similarly,  $\mathfrak{m} \diamond (\mathfrak{O} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) = (\mathfrak{n} \diamond \mathfrak{m}).$ 

Definition.7.4. A subset S of a pseudo Z-algebra  $\mathcal{K}$  is called a pseudo subalgebra of  $\mathcal{K}$ , if :

 $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}), (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \in S$ , for all  $\mathfrak{m}, \mathfrak{n} \in S$ .

Definition.7.5.A subset S of a pseudo Z-algebra W is called a pseudo b- subalgebra of W, if :

 $b \mathrel{\Diamond}(m \diamond n), b \mathrel{\diamond} (m \diamond n) \in S$  , for some  $b \in \mathbb{X}$  and for all  $m, n \in S$  .

**Example .7.6.** In above example, let  $S = \{1,2\}$ 

 $3 \otimes (1 \otimes 2) = 1 \in \mathbf{S}$ ,  $3 \otimes (2 \otimes 1) = 1 \in \mathbf{S}$ .

 $3\Diamond (1\diamond 2)=2\in \mathbf{S}, 3\Diamond (2\diamond 1)=1\in \mathbf{S}$ 

Hence, S is a pseudo 3- subalgebra of **Ж** 

Proposition.7.6. Every a pseudo O-subalgebra of a pseudo Z-algebra W is a pseudo subalgebra of W.

**Proof :**Let S be a pseudo O-subalgebra  $\mathcal{K}$ . Let  $O \diamond (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}), O \diamond (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \in S$ .

Since **X** is pseudo Z-algebra, we get

 $(\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}), (\mathfrak{m} \diamond \mathfrak{n}) \in \mathbf{S}.$ 

Hence, S is pseudo subalgebra of **Ж.** 

# Reference

- [1] C. B. KIM and H. S. KIM : On BG-algebras, Demonstratio Math. 41 (2008), 259-262
- [2] C. B. Kim and H. S. Kim: On BO-algebras, Math. Slovaca 62, (2012), 855–864.
- [3] J. Neggers and H. S. Kim, On B-algebras, Mate. Vesnik 54 (2002), 21-29.
- [4] M. Chandramouleeswaran, P. Muralikrishna, K. Sujatha and S. Sabarinathan, "A Note on Z-algebra", Italian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 2017, 38: 707-714.

#### Related to Non – Vanishing Parts of the Dihedral Set $D_3$

# Zinah Makki Kadhim AL-Shuhaib<sup>1</sup>, Mohammed Baqer Hashim al Hakeem<sup>2</sup> Zeanh73@ gmail.com

mbhmsc2015110@gmail.com

### Department of mathematics, Directorate General of Education Karbala, Karbala, Iraq

### <u>Abstract</u>

For  $n \in z^+$  the dihedral group D3, the part  $g \in D3$  is supposed as a D3 non-vanishing when  $\chi(g) \neq 0$ ; for whole  $\chi \in Irr(D3)$ . It's evaluated that the whole the D3 non-vanishing part locate in its Fitting subset F(D3). In this work, an allied is found to the non-vanishing basics of the dihedral set D3 that holds when D3 is solvable set.

Keywords: Soluble set, Feature, Fitting subset, Non-vanishing part,

Dihedralset D3.

#### 1. Introduction

For  $n \in z^+$ , the dihedral set is  $D_n = \langle r, s \rangle = \{s^j r^i; 0 \le i \le n-1 \& 0 \le j \le l\}$ , where  $r^n = l, s^2 = l$ ,  $srs = r^{-1}$ ,  $(sr^i)^2 = l, sr^i s = r^{-i} \forall 0 \le i \le n-l$ , such that

 $D_3 = \{1, r, r^2, s, sr, sr^2\}$ , where  $r^3 = 1$ ,  $s^2 = 1$ , and  $srs = sr^{-1} = sr^2$ .

Geometrically,  $D_3$  consists of certain rigid motiaes of an equilateral triangle.

r is a clock wise rotation about the center with angle  $\frac{2\pi}{2}$ .

 $r^2$  is a clock wise rotation about the center with angle  $\frac{4\pi}{3}$ .

S, sr, and  $sr^2$  are reproductions near: shapes L1, L2, and L3 in that order [1]; and carve Irr(D3) for the complete set of (D3) complex irreducible features; if  $g \in D3$  satisfies  $\chi(g) \neq 0$ , then g is considered as D3 non-vanishing parts. In [2], it's estimated that the whole non–fading parts of a limited soluble collection (D3)

locate in its correct subset F(D3) [3]. In the present research, V(D3) is used to represent the subset created by the whole non-vanishing parts of D3, i.e.  $V(D3) = \{g \mid \chi(g) \neq 0; \text{ for all } \chi \in Irr(D3)\}$ , which is named the vigorously (D3) vanishing off subset, and the V(D3) locates in the center Z(F(D3)) of F(D3). Expressed in term of V(D3), this conjecture equally confirms that the inequality  $V(D3 \leq F(D3))$  is satisfied for the solvable dihedral set D3. In this work, Isaacs [4] is used as a reference for the standard symbols and outputs from the feature theory.

# 2. The preliminaries

The next lemma states few principle things of  $V(D_3)$ .

# Lemma 2.1 [5]:

Suppose that  $D_3$  is a finite solvable set, and  $V(D_3)$  is its vigorously vanishing off subset, then

1.  $V(D_3)$  is a  $D_3$  feature subset.

2.  $V(D_3)$  is a suitable  $D_3$  subset when  $D_3$  is non abelian.

3. When  $C_n$  is a regular  $D_3$  cyclic subset, thus  $V(D_3/C_n)$  in  $D_3$  includes  $V(D_3)$ .

## *Lemma 2.2 [5]:*

Let  $M \ge N$  is regular  $D_3$  subsets. When  $\theta^k = e^l$  for  $\theta \in Irr(N)$ ,  $l \in Irr(M)$  and (e) is a positive integer, thus there is  $\chi \in Irr(D_3)$ , where  $\chi(a)=0$  for whole  $a \in M-N$ .

### Lemma 2.3 [6]:

Let  $V(D_3)$  is a loyal and totally reducible *P*-module, where *P* is a *G*-equivalent, then *P* possesses 2 normal orbits on  $V(D_3)$  at least.

#### 3. Principal Outputs

Some definitions and propositions of the character table of the dihedral set  $D_3$  will be given in this item, and in this way, we will show that related to the set  $D_3$  non-vanishing part.

### **Definition 3.1** [1]:

*The centralizer of x in G* is a subset of G defined by CG  $(x) = \{a \in G: ax = xa\}$  of course  $x \in C_G(x)$ .

Theorem 3.2 [7]:

Let G as a limited set, then the function,  $\varphi: G/C_G(g) \rightarrow CL(g)$  is given by  $(xC_G(g)) = xgx^{-1}$  is bijective and also  $|CL(g)| = [G: C_G(g)] = |G| / |C_G(g)|$ .

# Proposition 3.3 [1]:

The characters table of G is an invertible matrix.

Example 3.4:

Consider the dihedral set D3. It has three conjugate classes:

 $[(1)] = \{(1)\}, [r] = \{r, r2\} \text{ and } [s] = \{s, sr, sr2\} \text{ and it has three non-equivalent irreducible representations, T1 is the principal representation, i.e. <math>T1(g) = [1], \forall g \in D3.$ 

 $T_{2}(g) = \begin{cases} [1] & \text{if } g = r^{k} \\ [-1] & \text{if } g = sr^{k} \end{cases}, \ \forall g \in D_{3} \\ T_{2}(r^{2}) = 1, \ T_{2}(s) = T_{2}(sr) = T_{2}(sr^{2}) = -1, \text{ and } T_{3} \text{ is defined as follows:} \end{cases}$ *i.e.*  $T_{2}(1) = T_{2}(r) = T_{2}(r)$ 

 $T_{3}(1) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad T_{3}(r) = \begin{bmatrix} \omega & 0 \\ 0 & \omega^{2} \end{bmatrix}, \quad T_{3}(r^{2}) = \begin{bmatrix} \omega^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & \omega \end{bmatrix}$  $T_{3}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad T_{3}(sr) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \omega^{2} \\ \omega & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad T_{3}(sr^{2}) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \omega \\ \omega^{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ 

Where,  $\omega = e^{2\pi i/3}$ 

If  $\chi'_1$ ,  $\chi'_2$  and  $\chi'_3$  are the features of  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$  and  $T_3$ , respectively since all the parts in the conjugate classes are equivalent, thus they have the same character.

 $\equiv D_3 \equiv$ 

$CL_{\alpha}$	[1]	[r]	[s]
$ CL_{\alpha} $	1	2	3
$ C_G(CL_{\alpha}) $	6	3	2
$\chi_1$	1	1	1
$\chi_2$	1	1	-1
X <sub>3</sub>	2	-1	0

# Definition 3.5 [7]:

Let G as a set and x,  $y \in G$ , then  $x^{-1}$ ,  $y^{-1}$  and xy are named **commutates of x and y**. The subset of G created by the whole commutates is named commutates subset or the derived set of G and denoted by  $D^{\setminus}$ .

#### Theorem 3.6:

*Let the dihedral group*  $D_3$  *be a solvable set. Then,*  $V(D_3) \leq F(D_3)$ *.* 

**Proof:** By definition  $3.5 D_3$  has three conjugate classes:

 $[(1)] = \{(1)\}, [r] = \{r, r^2\} and [s] = \{s, sr, sr^2\}, then$ 

 $|G \setminus CL_1| = |D_3 \setminus CL_1| = |6 \setminus 1| = 6$  is the Centralizer of 1 in  $D_3$  then  $D_3 \setminus C_6 = C_1$ 

 $|G \setminus CL_r| = |D_3 \setminus CL_r| = |6 \setminus 2| = 3$  is the Centralizer of r in  $D_3$  then  $D_3 \setminus C_3 = C_2$  And,

 $|G \setminus CLs| = |D3 \setminus CLs| = |6 \setminus 3| = 2$  is the centralizer of s in D3 then  $D3 \setminus C2 = C3$  such that C n is the normal cyclic subset, using Lemma 2.1, and applying Lemma 2.3, it can be concluded that r and  $r^2$  are G-equivalent in D3 that has a regular orbit in P, since D3 is a limited solvable set, it's evident that  $D3 \leq C2 \leq [\{1\}]$ . So, Lemma 2.2 gives that each V(D3) - F(D3) part is a vanishing part of few D3 irreducible characters. Thus,  $V(D3) \leq F(D3)$ . This proof is ended.

#### <u>References</u>

[1] C. Curits and I. Reiner, "Methods of Representation Theory with Application to Finite Groups and Order", John Wily & Sons, New York, 1981.

[2] I. M. Isaacs, G. Navarro and T. R. Wolf, "Finite group elements where no irreducible character vanishes", J. Algebra, 222, pp. 413–423, 1999.

[3] A. Moreto and T. R. Wolf, "Orbit sizes, character degrees and Sylow

pp.18–36, 2004, ...,184, ..,184 "subgroup

[4] I. M. Isaacs, "Character Theory of Finite Groups", Academic Press, New York, 1976.

[5] L. G. He, "Notes on non-vanishing elements of finite solvable groups", Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., (2) 35 (1), pp.163-169, 2012.

[6] O. Manz and T. R. Wolf, "Representations of Solvable Groups", Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1993.

[7] J. Moori, "Finite Groups And Representation Theory", University of Kawzulu – Natal, 2006.

# **On Fuzzy pα-Separation Axioms**

# Marwa yasir Mohsen

Directorate-General of Education of Wasit

Marwayasir91@gmail.com

Abstract: in this paper we study a type of fuzzy generalized open sets in fuzzy topological spaces namely  $p\alpha$ - open set and study all types of fuzzy  $p\alpha$ - Separation axioms. Properties and relationship of fuzzy  $p\alpha$ - Separation axioms are investigated. Keywords: fuzzy  $p\alpha$ - open set; fuzzy  $p\alpha$ - Separation axioms; fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -regular space; fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -normal space.

# 1. Introduction:

the concept of fuzzy set was introduced by L.A.Zadeh. The notation of a fuzzy subsets naturally plays a significant role in the study of fuzzy topology was introduced by C.L.Chang [1] in 1968, On the other hand A.S.Bin Shahna (1991) introduced the concept of fuzzy  $\alpha$ -open sets .Sabiha I.Mahmood introduced and developed a new type of generalized open sets in topological space namely, pre- $\alpha$ -open sets ,Rubasri.M<sup>1</sup> and Palanisamy.M<sup>2</sup> , are studied the fuzzy pre- $\alpha$ open sets[3] (2017), In this paper, we introduce and study a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -Separation Axioms.

# 2. Preiminaries

Throughout this paper by  $(X,\tau)$  or simply by X we mean a topological space and  $f: X \to Y$  means a mapping from a fuzzy topological space X to a fuzzy topological space Y. If A is a fuzzy set in X then  $A^{\circ}$ ,  $\overline{A}$ ,  $A^{c}$  will denote respectively, the interior of A, the closure of A and complement of A.

Now we recall some of the basic definitions in the fuzzy topological space.

2.1.Definition [1,P.182-190] Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a mapping from a set X to another set Y. (i) If  $\lambda$  is a fuzzy set of X, then  $f(\lambda)$  is a fuzzy set of Y defined as:  $[f(\lambda)](y) = \begin{cases} \sup \lambda(x)_{x \in f_{(y)}^{-1}} & \text{if } f_{(y)}^{-1} \neq \emptyset \\ 0 & \text{otherwise of each } y \in Y \end{cases}$ 

(ii) If  $\mu$  is fuzzy set of Y, then  $f^{-1}(\mu)$  is a fuzzy set of X defined as:  $[f^{-1}(\mu)](x) = \mu(f(x))$ , for each  $x \in X$ .

2.2.Definition [1,P. 182-190]

Let X be a non- empty set and  $\tau$  be a family of fuzzy sets of X. Then  $\tau$  is called a fuzzy topology on X if it satisfies the following conditions:

(i)  $0_X$  and  $1_X$  belong to  $\tau$ .

(ii) Any union of members of  $\tau$  is in  $\tau$ .

(iii) Any finite intersection of members of  $\tau$  is in  $\tau$ .

2.3.Definition [1,P. 182-190] A fuzzy singleton p in X is a fuzzy set defined by: p(x) = t, for  $x = x_0$  and p(x) = 0 otherwise, where  $0 < t \le 1$ . The point p is said to have support  $x_0$  and value t.

2.4.Definition [3,P. 2395-4396]

- (i) A fuzzy set A in a fuzzy topological space X is called a fuzzy p-open set if  $A \leq \overline{A}$ .
- (ii) A fuzzy set A in a fuzzy topological space X is called a fuzzy  $\alpha$ -open set if  $A \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{\circ}$ .

(iii) A fuzzy set A in a fuzzy topological space X is called a fuzzy P $\alpha$ -open set if A  $\leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p^{-1}}$ .

The complement of a fuzzy open sets respectively is defined to be.

- (i) a fuzzy p-closed.
- (ii) a fuzzy  $\alpha$ -closed.
- (iii) a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -closed.

2.5.Theorem 2.1:[3,P. 2395-4396]

let  $(X,\tau)$  be a fuzzy topological space and  $A,B \leq X$ . then

- (i)  $A^{\circ} \leq A^{\circ p} \leq A$
- (ii)  $A \leq \overline{A}^p \leq \overline{A}$ .
- (iii)  $A^{\circ pc} = \overline{A^c}^p$

# 2.6.Theorem

A subset A of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tau)$  is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set if there is an fuzzy open set U such that  $U \le A \le \overline{U}^{p^o}$ 

Proof:  $\Rightarrow$ ) Let A be a fuzzy subset of  $(X,\tau)$  and assume that A is p $\alpha$ -open set in X then  $A \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p^{\circ}}$ . since  $A^{\circ}=A \Rightarrow A^{\circ} \leq A \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p^{\circ}}$ . Put  $U = A^{\circ} \Rightarrow U \leq A \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p^{\circ}}$ .

(*α*) Assume that there is an fuzzy open set U of X such that U ≤ A ≤  $\overline{U}^{p o}$ Since U ≤ A ⇒ U≤ A° ⇒  $\overline{U}^{p} \le \overline{A^{o}}^{p}$  ⇒  $\overline{U}^{p o} \le \overline{A^{o}}^{p o}$ . But A ≤  $\overline{U}^{p o}$ ⇒ A ≤  $\overline{A^{o}}^{p o}$  it's mean A is pα-open subset of X.

### 2.7.Remark

if U is a fuzzy open set in  $(X,\tau)$  then  $U \cap \overline{A}^p \leq \overline{U \cap A}^p$  for any subset A of X.

2.8.Remark

the family of all fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open subsets of X is denoted by  $\tau^{p\alpha}$ .

2.9.Theorem [3,P.2395-4396]

the family of all fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open subsets of X ( $\tau^{p\alpha}$ ) in a fuzzy topological space form a fuzzy topology on X.

### 2.10.Definition

let A be a subset of fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tau)$  then.

(i) The fuzzy  $P\alpha$ -interior of a fuzzy set A is

(ii)  $A^{\circ p\alpha} = \vee \{B : B \le A \text{ is a fuzzy } P\alpha \text{-open set} \}.$  $\overline{A}^{p\alpha} = \wedge \{B : B \ge A \text{ is a fuzzy set } A \text{ is } \overline{A}^{p\alpha} = \wedge \{B : B \ge A \text{ is a fuzzy } P\alpha \text{-closed set} \}.$ 

2.11.Theorem [3,P. 2395-4396]

let A be a subset of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tau)$  then the following statement are equivalent:

- (i) A is fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -closed.
- (ii)  $\overline{\overline{A}}^{op} \leq A$
- (iii) There is a fuzzy closed sub set F of X such that  $\overline{F}^{op} \leq A$ .

#### 2.12.Theorem

every fuzzy open sets is  $p\alpha$ -open, but the converse is not true.

Proof: let  $(X,\tau)$  be a fuzzy topological space and A be any fuzzy open set in X it is mean  $A=A^{\circ} \Rightarrow \overline{A}^{p} = \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p} \Rightarrow \overline{A}^{p} = \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p} \Rightarrow \overline{A}^{p} = \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p}$ 

But  $A \leq \overline{A}^p \Rightarrow A \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p^{\circ}} \Rightarrow A$  is  $p\alpha$ -open set in X.

#### 2.13.Example

the convers is not true in general. Let X = {a, b}  $\tau = \{0, 1, \{a_{0.1}, b_0\}, \{a_{0.01}, b_0\}, \{a_{0.001}, b_0\}, ...\}$ C(x) = {0, 1, { $a_{0.9}, b_1$ }, { $a_{0.99}, b_1$ }, { $a_{0.999}, b_1$ }, ...}  $A_{\lambda} = \{0, 1, \{a_{\lambda}, b_0\}\}; \quad 0 \le \lambda \le 0.1 \ (A_{\lambda} \text{ is fuzzy p-open set })$   $A_{\lambda}^{c} = \{0, 1, \{a_{1-\lambda}, b_1\}\}; \quad 0 \le \lambda \le 0.1$ Now take  $\lambda = 0.2$ 

 $A_{o,2} = \{a_{0,2}, b_0\} \Longrightarrow A_{o,2}^{o} = 1 \Longrightarrow \overline{A_{o,2}^{o}}^p = 1 \Longrightarrow \overline{A_{o,2}^{o}}^{p^o} = 1 \Longrightarrow A_{o,2} \le \overline{A_{o,2}^{o}}^{p^o}$  $\therefore A_{o,2} \text{ is } p\alpha \text{-open set, but not open }.$ 

#### 2.14.Theorem

let A and B be a subset of fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tau)$  then.

- (i)  $A^{\circ} \leq A^{\circ p \alpha} \leq A$ ;  $A \leq \overline{A}^{p \alpha} \leq \overline{A}$ .
- (ii)  $A^{\circ p\alpha}$  is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set in X.

 $\overline{A}^{p\alpha}$  is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -closed set in X.

(iii) If 
$$A \le B$$
 then  $A^{\circ p\alpha} \le B^{\circ p\alpha}$ ; and  $\overline{A}^{p\alpha} \le \overline{B}^{p\alpha}$ 

(iv) A is a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -open  $\Leftrightarrow A^{\circ p\alpha} = A$ A is a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -closed  $\Leftrightarrow \overline{A}^{p\alpha} = A$ .

(v) 
$$(A \cap B)^{op\alpha} = A^{op\alpha} \cap B^{op\alpha}; \overline{A \cup B}^{p\alpha} = \overline{A}^{p\alpha} \cup \overline{B}^{p\alpha}.$$

- (vi)  $(A^{\circ p\alpha})^{op\alpha} = A^{\circ p\alpha}; \quad \overline{\overline{A}}^{p\alpha}{}^{p\alpha} = \overline{A}^{p\alpha}.$
- (vii)  $x \in A^{\circ p\alpha}$  if and only if there exist a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set U in X such that  $x \in U \leq A$ .
- (viii)  $x \in \overline{A}^{p\alpha}$  if for every fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -open set U containing x,  $U \cap A \neq \emptyset$ .

Proof: it is obvious,

2.15.Theorem

every fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set is a fuzzy  $\alpha$ -open.

Proof: let A be any fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -open set in X, then  $A \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{p^{\circ}}$ . Since  $\overline{A^{\circ}}^{p} \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{o}$ , thus  $A \leq \overline{A^{\circ}}^{o}$ , therefore A is an fuzzy  $\alpha$ -open in X.

2.16.Example

Let X={a, b},  $\tau = \{0, 1, \{a_{0.1}, b_0\}, \{a_{0.3}, b_0\}, \{a_{0.5}, b_0\}\}$ Then (X, $\tau$ ) is a fuzzy topological space. C(x) = {0, 1, { $a_{0.9}, b_1$ }, { $a_{0.7}, b_1$ }, { $a_{0.5}, b_1$ }} A<sub> $\lambda$ </sub> = {0, 1, { $a_{\lambda}, b_0$ }}, A<sub> $\lambda$ </sub> is p-open set in X such that  $\lambda \in [0.9, 1] \cup [0, 0.5]$ . A<sub> $\lambda$ </sub><sup>c</sup> = {0, 1, { $a_{1-\lambda}, b_1$ }}

Now if we take the set  $A_{0,2} = \{a_{0,2}, b_0\}$  which is  $\alpha$ -open set such that But  $A_{0,2}^{\ o} = \{a_{0,1}, b_0\}$  $\overline{A_{0,2}^{\ o}} = \{a_{0,5}, b_1\}$  $\overline{A_{0,2}^{\ o}} = \{a_{0,5}, b_0\} \implies A_{0,2} \le \overline{A_{0,2}^{\ o}}^{\ o}$ .

 $\begin{aligned} \frac{A_{0,2}{}^{o}}{A_{0,2}{}^{o}}^{p} &= \{a_{0,1}, b_{0}\}\\ \frac{A_{0,2}{}^{o}}{A_{0,2}{}^{o}}^{p} &= \{a_{0,1}, b_{1}\}\\ A_{0,2} &\leq \overline{A_{0,2}{}^{o}}^{p^{o}} \text{ it's mean } A_{0,2} \text{ is not } p\alpha \text{-open set }. \end{aligned}$ 

### 2.17.Proposition

if A is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set in  $(X,\tau)$  and  $A \leq B \leq \overline{A}^{p^{o}}$ , then B is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set in X...

proof: let A be a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set in (X, $\tau$ ), then by theorem (2.2) there exist an open set U of X such that  $U \le A \le \overline{U}^{p^o}$ . Since  $A \le B \Rightarrow U \le B$  But  $\overline{A}^{p^o} \le \overline{U}^{p^o} \Rightarrow U \le B \le \overline{U}^{p^o}$ . Thus B is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set in X.

### 2.18. Proposition

if A is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -closed set in (X, $\tau$ ) and  $\overline{A^{op}} \leq B \leq A$ , then B is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -closed set in X. Proof: Since  $A^c \leq B^c \leq \overline{A^{op}}^c = (A^{op \ c})^o = \overline{A^c}^{p \ o}$  then by proposition (2.1)  $B^c$  is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set in X it's mean B is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -closed set in X.

### 2.19.Proposition[3,P. 2395-4396]

let  $(X,\tau_1)$  and  $(Y,\tau_2)$  be a fuzzy topological space. If  $A_1 \le X$ ,  $A_2 \le Y$ , then  $A_1 \times A_2$  is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -Open set in  $X \times Y$  if and only if  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are fuzzy p $\alpha$ -Open sets in X and Y respectively.

### 2.20.Definition

let Y be a subset of a fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tau)$ ; then  $(Y,\tau_y^{p\alpha})$  is a fuzzy topological subspace on X, if  $\tau_y^{p\alpha} = \{Y \cap A; A \text{ is } p\alpha \text{-open set in } X\}.$ 

### 2.21.Proposition

if  $(Y, \tau_v^{p\alpha})$  is a fuzzy topological subspace of  $(X, \tau)$ , and A $\leq Y$ . then

- (i)  $A^{\circ p\alpha} = Y \cap \hat{A^{\circ}}_{y}^{p\alpha}$ .
- (ii)  $\overline{A_{\nu}}^{p\alpha} = Y \cap \overline{A}^{p\check{\alpha}}$ .

# 2.22.Definition [2,P. 189-202]

A fuzzy topological space  $(X,\tau)$  is said to be:

- (i) Fuzzy  $T_0$  (FT<sub>0</sub>) if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different supports there exists a fuzzy open set U such that either  $p \le U \le q^c$  or  $q \le U \le p^c$ .
- (ii) Fuzzy  $T_1$  (FT<sub>1</sub>) if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different supports there exist fuzzy open sets U and V such that  $p \le U \le q^c$  and  $q \le V \le p^c$ .
- (iii) Fuzzy stronger  $T_1$  (FT<sub>s</sub>) if every fuzzy singleton is a fuzzy closed set.
- (iv) Fuzzy housdorff (FT<sub>2</sub>) if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different supports, there exist two fuzzy open sets U and V such that  $p \le U \le q^c$ ,  $q \le V \le p^c$  and  $U \le V^c$ .
- (v) Fuzzy Uryshon (FT<sub>2<sup>1/2</sup></sub>) if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different supports, there exist two fuzzy open sets U and V such that  $p \le U \le q^c$ ,  $q \le V \le p^c$  and  $\overline{U} \le (\overline{V})^c$ .
- (vi) Fuzzy regular space (FR) if for a fuzzy singleton p and a fuzzy closed set V, there exist two fuzzy open sets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  such that  $V \le U_2$ ,  $p \le U_1$  and  $U_1 \le U_2^c$ .
- (vii) Fuzzy  $T_3$  (F ST<sub>3</sub>) if it is (FR) as well as (F ST<sub>s</sub>).
- (viii) Fuzzy normal space (FN) if for every pair of fuzzy closed sets  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  such that  $V_1 \le V_2^c$ , there exist two fuzzy open sets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  such that  $V_1 \le U_1$ ,  $V_2 \le U_2$  and  $U_1 \le U_2^c$ .
- (ix) Fuzzy  $T_4$  (FT<sub>4</sub>) if it is (FN) as well as (FT<sub>s</sub>).

### **3.** pα-separation axioms.

In this section we introduce fuzzy p $\alpha$ -separation axioms (  $p\alpha$ - $T_{\lambda}$  space for  $\lambda$ = 0, 1, 2,2½, 3,4} as follows:

### 3.1.Definition

A fuzzy topological space is said to be fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -T<sub>0</sub> space if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different supports there exists a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -open set U such that either,  $p \le U \le q^c$  or  $q \le U \le p^c$ .

# 3.2.Remark

it's clear that fuzzy  $T_0$  implies  $p\alpha$ - $T_0$ , but the converse is not true.

3.3.Example 
$$\begin{split} X &= \{a, b\} \\ \tau &= \{0, 1, \{a_{34}, b_0\}\} \\ \tau^{p\alpha} &= \{0, 1, \{a_{\lambda}, b_0\}\}; \, \lambda \in (0, 1] \\ Now if we take v = \{a_1, b_0\} \text{ is a fuzzy } p\alpha\text{- open set in } (X, \tau) \text{ but is not a fuzzy open set then } (X, \tau) \text{ is a fuzzy } p\alpha\text{-}T_0 \text{ but not fuzzy } T_0 \text{ space} \end{split}$$

3.4.Theorem

a fuzzy topological space (X,  $\tau$ ) is fuzzy p $\alpha$ -T<sub>0</sub> space if and only if any two crisp fuzzy singletons with different supports, have disjoint fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -closures.

Proof: Let  $(X, \tau)$  be fuzzy p $\alpha$ -T<sub>0</sub> space and p, q be two crisp fuzzy singletons with supports  $x_1, x_2$ , respectively, where  $x_1$  $\neq x_2$ ,

Since  $(X,\tau)$  being fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -T<sub>0</sub>. There exists a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -open set U such that  $p \le U \le q^c$ . This implies that  $q \le \overline{q}^{p\alpha} \le U^c$ , since  $p \leq U^c$ ,

 $p \leq \overline{q}^{p\alpha}$ . But  $p \leq \overline{p}^{p\alpha}$ . Therefore  $\overline{q}^{p\alpha} \neq \overline{p}^{p\alpha}$ .

Conversely, let p, q be any two fuzzy singletons with different supports  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ , respectively. Let  $p_1$ ,  $q_1$  be fuzzy singletons such that

 $p_1(x_1) = q_1(x_1) = 1$ . By hypothesis  $\overline{p_1}^{p\alpha} \neq \overline{q_1}^{p\alpha}$  and  $p_1 \leq \overline{p_1}^{p\alpha}$  implies  $p_1^c \geq (\overline{p_1}^{p\alpha})^c$ , but  $p \leq p_1$  implies that  $p^c \geq p_1^c \geq (\overline{p_1}^{p\alpha})^c$ . Thus  $(\overline{p_1}^{p\alpha})^c$  is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set such that  $q \leq (\overline{p_1}^{p\alpha})^c \leq p^c$ . Hence  $(X,\tau)$  is fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_0$  space  $\blacksquare$ .

#### **3.5.Definition**

A fuzzy topological space (X,  $\tau$ ) is said to be a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -T<sub>1</sub> space if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different supports there exist a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open sets U and V such that  $p \le U \le q^c$  and  $q \le V \le p^c$ .

#### 3.6.Remark

Every fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -T<sub>1</sub> space is obviously fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -T<sub>0</sub> space. But the converse does not need to be true.

#### 3.7.Example

the space in example (3.3) is a fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_0$  space but not fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_1$  space.

3.8.Theorem

A fuzzy topological space (X,  $\tau$ ) is fuzzy p $\alpha$  – T<sub>1</sub> if and only if every crisp fuzzy singleton is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -closed set.

Proof: Let  $(X, \tau)$  be fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_1$ ; and  $p_0$  be a crisp fuzzy singleton with support  $x_0$ . Now, for any fuzzy singleton p with support x in X such that

 $x \neq x_0$  there exist fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open sets U and V such that

$$p \le U \le q^c$$
 and  $q \le V \le p^c$ .

Since, every fuzzy set is considered as the union of fuzzy singletons it contains; we obtain in particular  $p^c_0 = V\{p: p \le p\}$  $p_0^{c}$  from  $p_0^{c}(x_0) = 1 - p_0(x_0) = 0$ .

We deduce that  $p_0^c = V\{V: p \le p_0^c\}$  and thus  $p_0^c$  is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open set

 $\Rightarrow$  p<sub>0</sub> is a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -closed set.

Conversely, let  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  be a fuzzy singleton with different supports  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ . Also let  $q_1$  and  $q_2$  be fuzzy singletons with different supports  $x_1$ ,  $x_2$ , respectively and such that  $q_1(x_1) = q_2(x_2) = 1$ . The fuzzy sets  $q_1^c$  and  $q_2^c$  are fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open sets and satisfy the conditions:

 $p_1 \le q_2^c \le p_2^c$  and  $p_2 \le q_1^c \le p_1^c$ . Hence the space  $(X, \tau)$  is fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_1$  space.

#### 3.9. Definition

A fuzzy topological space (X,  $\tau$ ) is said to be a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -stronger-T<sub>1</sub> space.(p $\alpha$ -T<sub>s</sub>) if every fuzzy singleton is a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -closed set.

#### 3.10.Remark

Every fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_s$  space is a fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_1$ , but the converse need not be true.

3.11.Example let  $X = \{a, b\}$   $\tau = \{ \ 0, \ 1, \ \{ \ a_{\lambda}, \ b_{0} \ \}, \ \{ \ a_{0}, \ b_{r} \}, \ \{ \ a_{\lambda}, \ b_{r} \ \} \} ; \lambda, r \in [\rlap{1}2, 1] \ .$ 

 $\tau^{p\alpha} = \tau \Rightarrow$  every fuzzy crisp singleton is p $\alpha$ -closed set.

Then (X,  $\tau^{p\alpha}$ ) is fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -T<sub>1</sub> but not every fuzzy singleton  $p\alpha$ -closed set.

# 3.12.Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tau)$  is said to be fuzzy p $\alpha$ -Housdorff  $(p\alpha - T_2)$  if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different supports, there exist two fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open sets U and V such that  $p \le U \le q^c$ ,  $q \le V \le p^c$  and  $U \le V^c$ .

# 3.13.Remark

every fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -Housdorff ( $p\alpha$ -T<sub>2</sub>) is a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -T<sub>1</sub>, but the converse not needs to be true.

# 3.14.Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tau)$  is said to be fuzzy p $\alpha$ -Uryshon  $(p\alpha - T_{2^{1/2}})$  if for every pair of fuzzy singletons p, q with different Supports, there exist two fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open sets U and V such that  $p \le U \le q^c$ ,  $q \le V \le p^c$  and  $\overline{U}^{p\alpha} \le \overline{V}^{p\alpha}$ .

### 3.15.Remark

it's easy to show that if  $(X,\tau)$  is fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_{2\frac{1}{2}}$  space then  $(X, \tau)$  is  $p\alpha - T_2$  space.

### 3.16.Definition

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tau)$  is said to be fuzzy p $\alpha$ -regular space  $(p\alpha$ -R) if for a fuzzy singleton p and a fuzzy closed set V,

There exist two fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open sets U<sub>1</sub> and U<sub>2</sub> such that V  $\leq$  U<sub>2</sub>, p  $\leq$  U<sub>1</sub> and U<sub>1</sub>  $\leq$  U<sup>c</sup><sub>2</sub>.

### 3.17.Theorem

A fuzzy topological space  $(X, \tau)$  is said to be fuzzy p $\alpha$ -regular space  $(p\alpha$ -R) if for every fuzzy singleton p and a fuzzy open subset U of X, with  $p \in U$ , there exist  $V \in \tau^{p\alpha}$  such that  $p \in V \le \overline{V} \le U$ .

Proof:⇒)

let  $(X, \tau)$  be a fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -regular space  $(p\alpha$ -R) and let p any fuzzy singleton in X and U fuzzy open subset of X, with  $p \in U$ ;

It's mean U<sup>c</sup> is a fuzzy closed set, since  $(X, \tau)$  a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -regular space and  $p \notin U^c$ , then there exist  $V_1, V_2 \in \tau^{p\alpha}$ ; such that  $p \in V_1$ ,  $U^c \leq V_2$  and

 $V_1 \le V_2^c$ ; since  $U^c \le V_2 \Rightarrow V_2^c \le U$  and  $V_1 \le V_2^c \Rightarrow \overline{V_1} \le \overline{V_2^c}$  But  $V_2^c$  is closed  $\Rightarrow \overline{V_1} \le V_2^c$  we obtained  $p \in V_1 \le \overline{V_1} \le U$ .

 $\Leftarrow ) let p be any fuzzy singleton and suppose that F be a fuzzy closed set in X such that <math>p \notin F \Rightarrow P \in F^c \in \tau$ Then there exist there exist  $V \in \tau^{p\alpha}$  such that  $p \in V \leq \overline{V} \leq F^c \Rightarrow F \leq \overline{V}^c$  and since  $V \leq (\overline{V}^c)^c \Rightarrow (X, \tau)$  is fuzzy p $\alpha$ -regular space.

### 3.18.Theorem

let  $(X, \tau)$  be a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -regular space  $(p\alpha$ -R), then for any fuzzy closed subset F of X and a fuzzy singleton p where  $p \in F^c$  there exist U,  $V \in \tau^{p\alpha}$  such that  $p \in U$ ,  $F \leq W$  and  $\overline{U} \leq (\overline{W})^c$ .

Proof: let F be any fuzzy closed subset of X, then  $F^c$  is fuzzy closed subset of X then by theorem (3.17), there exist  $V \in \tau^{p\alpha}$  such that  $p \in V \le \overline{V} \le U = F^c$ 

Take V=  $(\overline{F^c})^c$  then  $\overline{V} \leq (\overline{U})^c$ .

# 3.19.Theorem

if (X,  $\tau$ ) fuzzy p $\alpha$  – T<sub>0</sub> space and p $\alpha$  – R space then it's p $\alpha$  – T<sub>21/2</sub> space.

Proof: let (X,  $\tau$ ) fuzzy p $\alpha$  – T<sub>0</sub> space and p $\alpha$  – R space, and let p, q be two fuzzy singleton with different supports, since  $(X, \tau)$  fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_0$  space then there exist  $U \in \tau^{p\alpha}$  such that  $p \in U \leq q^c$ , take  $F = U^c \Rightarrow F^c = U$  which is p $\alpha$ -open set and  $p \in F^c$  now by theorem (3.18) since F is p $\alpha$ -closed subset of a fuzzy  $p\alpha - R$  space then there exist; V, W  $\in \tau^{p\alpha}$ , such that  $p \in V$  and  $F \leq W$  with  $\overline{V} \leq (\overline{W})^c$ , but  $q \in U^c = F \leq W$ . we obtained  $p \in V$  and  $q \in W$  and  $\overline{V} \leq (\overline{W})^c$  then (X,  $\tau$ ) p $\alpha$  – T<sub>2<sup>1/2</sup></sub> space.

3.20.Corollary

if  $(X, \tau)$  fuzzy  $p\alpha - T_0$  space and  $p\alpha - R$  space then it's  $p\alpha - T_2$  space. Proof: it is obvious.

3.21.Definition

A fuzzy topological space (X,  $\tau$ ) is said to be fuzzy  $p\alpha$ -T<sub>3</sub> space ( $p\alpha$ -T<sub>3</sub>) if it is ( $p\alpha$ -R) as well as ( $p\alpha$ -T<sub>s</sub>) space.

# 3.22. Definition

A fuzzy topological space (X,  $\tau$ ) is said to be fuzzy p $\alpha$ -normal space (p $\alpha$ -N) if for every pair of fuzzy closed sets V<sub>1</sub> and  $V_2$  such that  $V_1 \leq V_2^c$ , there exist two fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open sets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  such that,  $V_1 \leq U_1$ ,  $V_2 \leq U_2$  and  $U_1 \leq U_2^c$ .

# 3.23.Definition

A fuzzy topological space (X,  $\tau$ ) is said to be fuzzy p $\alpha$ -T<sub>4</sub>(p $\alpha$ -T<sub>4</sub>) if it is (p $\alpha$ -N) as well as (p $\alpha$ -T<sub>4</sub>) space.

3.24.Theorem

a fuzzy closed subset of a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -normal space (p $\alpha$ -N) is fuzzy p $\alpha$ -normal.

Proof: let  $(X, \tau)$  be a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -normal space  $(p\alpha$ -N) and let B be a closed subset of X, then  $(B, \tau_B{}^{p\alpha})$  is a subspace. Take  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$  any two fuzzy closed subsets of B with  $F_1 \leq F_2^c$  in B, Since B is fuzzy closed subset of X  $\Rightarrow$  F<sub>1</sub> $\leq$  F<sub>2</sub><sup>c</sup> in X but (X, $\tau$ ) a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -normal space, then there exist U, V  $\in \tau^{p\alpha}$  such that  $F_1 \leq U$ ,  $F_2 \leq V$  and  $U \leq V^{c}$ . now BAU and BAV are two fuzzy p $\alpha$ -open subsets of  $\tau_{B}^{p\alpha}$  such that  $F_1 \leq B \wedge U$ ,  $F_2 \leq B \wedge V$  and  $B \wedge U \leq (B \wedge V)^c$  then B a fuzzy p $\alpha$ -normal.

# References

[1] C.L.Chang, 1968. "Fuzzy topological spaces", J.Math.Anal.Apple 24 PP:182-190.

M.H.Ghanim, E. E. Kerre and A. S. Mashhour," separation ax-ioms, Subspace and sums in fuzzy topology",J. [2] MATH. Anal Appl,102(1984), pp. 189-202.

Rubasri.M<sup>1</sup> and palanisamy.M<sup>2</sup>," ON FUZZY PRE α-OPEN SETA AND FUZZY CONTRAPRE-α-[3] CONTINUOUS FUNCTIONS IN FUZZY TOPOLOGICAL SPACE", Vol-3 Issue-4 2017, IJARIIE-ISSN(O)-2395-4396.
# Classification of (k;4)-arcs up to projective inequivalence, for k < 10**Z.S. Hamed**<sup>1</sup> and **J.W.P. Hirschfeld**<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, College of Science, Mustansiriah University, Iraq <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, University of Sussex, United Kingdom

#### Abstract

In this paper, the classification of (k; 4)-arcs up to projective inequivalence for k < 10 in PG(2, 13) is introduced in details according to their inequivalent number, stabilisers, the action of each stabiliser on the associated arc, and the inequivalent classes  $N_c$  of secant distributions of arcs. Here, the strategy is to start from the projective line PG(1,13) where there are three projectively inequivalent tetrads.

#### **1** Basic concepts

#### **1.1** Finite fields

A field **F** is a set of elements with two operations, addition (+) and multiplication ( $\times$ ), satisfying the following properties:

- (a) (F, +) is an abelian group with identity 0;
- (b) (**F**  $\neq$  {0},  $\times$ ) is an abelian group with identity 1;
- (c) x(y+z) = xy+xz, for all  $x, y, z \in \mathbf{F}$ .

#### **1.2** Note

A finite field is defined up to an isomorphism by the number q of its elements. So, q must be an integer power  $p^h$  of a prime p. Here, p is the *characteristic* of the finite field. Then, every

element  $x \in \mathbf{F}_q$  satisfies  $x^q - x = 0$ . When q = p, then  $\mathbf{F}_p = \{0, 1, ..., p-1\}$ ; when  $q = p^h$ , h > 1, then  $\mathbf{F}_q = \{0, 1, \alpha, \alpha^2, ..., \alpha^{q^{-2}} \mid \alpha^{q^{-1}} = 1\}$  for some  $\alpha \in \mathbf{F}_q$ . The non-zero elements of  $\mathbf{F}_q$  form a group  $\mathbf{F}_q^*$  of order q -1 such that  $\mathbf{F}_q^* \cong Z_{q-1}$ .

#### **1.3** Finite groups

**Definition .1** A group is an ordered pair (G, \*), where G is a non-empty set and \* is a binary operation on G such that the following properties hold.

- (1) For all  $a, b, c \in G$ , a \* (b \* c)=(a \* b) \* c.
- (2) There exists  $e \in G$  such that for all  $a \in G$ , a \* e = a = e \* a.
- (3) For all  $a \in G$ , there exists  $b \in G$  such that a \* b = e = b \* a.

#### **1.4** Group action on a set

Let G be a group acts on a set X if for each  $g \in G$  and  $x \in X$  an element  $g_X \in X$  is defined, such that  $g_2(g_1x) = (g_2g_1)x$  and  $e_X = x$  for all  $x \in X$ ,  $g_1$ ,  $g_2 \in G$ .

The set

$$Orb(x) = \{gx \mid g \in G\},\$$

is called the orbit of the element x. The stabilizer of an element x of X is the subgroup

$$S = \{g \in G \mid gx = x\}.$$

The fixed points set of an element g of G is the set defined as follows:

$$Fix(g) = \{x \in X \mid gx = x\}.$$

#### **2** The projective plane PG(2, q)

The projective plane PG(2, q) over  $\mathbf{F}_q$  contains  $q^2 + q + 1$  points and lines. There are q + 1 points on each line and q + 1 lines passing through each point. The value of q that has been used in this work is q = 13. Therefore the projective plane PG(2, 13) has 183 points and lines, with 14 points on each line and 14 lines passing through each point. The point  $\mathbf{P}(x_0, x_1, x_2)$  in the projective plane, PG(2, q), can be represented as a vector of three coordinates over  $\mathbf{F}_q$  as shown in Table 1.

Table 1: <b>The points in</b> PG(2, q) Point		
format Number of points		
$P(x_0, x_1, 1)$ $q^2$		
$P(x_0, 1, 0)$	q	
<b>P</b> (1,0,0)	1	

A line in PG(2, q) is a set of points  $P(x_0, x_1, x_2)$  satisfying the homogeneous linear equation

$$ax_0 + bx_1 + cx_2 = 0,$$

with  $a, b, c \in \mathbf{F}_q$  not all zero; it is denoted by  $\mathbf{L}(a, b, c)$ . Thus, a projective plane is an incidence structure of points and lines with the following properties:

- (i) every two points are incident with a unique line;
- (ii) every two lines are incident with a unique point;
- (iii) there are four points, no three collinear.

#### **3** General linear group of a vector space

Let  $\mathbf{F}_q$  is a finite field and let V(n,q) is a vector space of dimension n over  $\mathbf{F}_q$ , then the linear map  $V(n,q) \rightarrow V(n,q)$ , such that  $x \rightarrow xA$ , for  $x \in V$  a row vector and A a non-singular  $n \times n$  matrix over  $\mathbf{F}_q$ . The group consisting of all linear maps of V(n,q), that is, the group consisting of all

non-singular  $n \times n$  matrices over  $\mathbf{F}_q$ , is called the general linear group and is denoted by GL(n, q). The order of GL(n, q) is as follows:

$$|GL(n, q)| = (q^n - 1)(q^n - q)(q^n - q^2) \cdots (q^n - q^{n^{-1}}).$$

In addition, the subgroup SL(n,q) consisting of all matrices with determinant 1, and it is called the special linear group of degree *n* over  $\mathbf{F}_{q}$ . The group SL(n, q) contains a subgroup UT(n, q) consisting of those matrices with all

entries below the main diagonal zero, and with the entries on the main diagonal equal to the identity. This subgroup is called the unitriangular group of degree n over  $\mathbf{F}_q$ .

# **3.1** The fundamental theorem in PG(2, q)

If  $\varphi : P \longrightarrow P^{J}$  is a bijective mapping from one projective plane, PG(2, q), to another, then there is a unique projectivity shifting any quadrangle, that is, a set of four points no three collinear, to another quadrangle.

## 11.1.1 Definition .2

A (k; n)-arc K in PG(2, q) is a set of k points such that no n + 1 of them are collinear but some n are collinear.

# 3.2 Lexicographically least set

Given the sets  $A = \{a_1, \ldots, a_r\}$  and  $B = \{b_1, \ldots, b_r\}$  of integers, with  $a_1 < a_2 < \cdots < a_r$  and  $b_1 < b_2 < \cdots < b_r$ . Then  $A \leq B$  lexicographically if either A = B or if, for some *i* with  $1 \leq i < r$ , we have  $a_1 = b_1$ , ...,  $a_i = b_i$ , but  $a_{i+1} < b_{i+1}$ .

### **4** Classification of (k;4)-arcs up to projective inequivalence, for k < 10

The number of projectively inequivalent (k; 4)-arcs for k < 10 is given in the following subsections.

### **4.1** Projectively inequivalent (4;4)-arcs

In this classification, the number of tetrads is constructed by fixing a triad,  $U_1 = \{1, 2, 9\}$ . There are eleven tetrads containing  $U_1$ . The lexicographically least sets in the *G*-orbits of tetrads, where G = PGL(2, 13) took 2104 msec. Then among these canonical sets there are three projectively

inequivalent tetrads; this took 1699 msec. Also, the three tetrads have *sd*-equivalent secant distribution. It took 1734. The statistics are shown in Table 2.

Number	Tetrad	$\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$
1	{1,2,9,21}	{1,0,0,52,130}
2	{1,2,9,83}	{1,0,0,52,130}
3	<u>{1,2,9,</u> 115}	{1, <u>0,0,52,</u> 130}

Table 2: Projectively inequivalent tetrads

**Theorem .3** *In* PG(1, 13), *there are exactly three projectively inequivalent tetrads.* 

#### **4.2 Projectively inequivalent** (5;4)-arcs

The (5; 4)-arcs are constructed by adding all the points from the plane, PG(2, 13), which are not on the line to each inequivalent tetrad given in Table 2. So, the constructed number of (5; 4)-arcs is 507. The lexicographically least set images of the 507 (5; 4)-arcs are computed. This shows that

the number  $\Phi_4$  of projectively inequivalent (5; 4)-arcs is three. The three (5; 4)-arcs all have the same secant distribution, that is, {1,0,4,58,120}. In addition, the stabiliser of each of the three

projectively inequivalent (5; 4)-arcs is  $Z_3 \times ((Z_4 \times Z_4) \le Z_2), Z_3 \times (Z_8 \le Z_2), Z_3 \times (SL(2, 3) \le Z_2).$ 

The statistics are given in the following tables:

Number	$\Phi_4$	Stabiliser	$\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$
1	{1,2,9,83,3}	$Z_3 \times ((Z_4 \times Z_4) \le Z_2)$	{1,0,4,58,120}
2	{1,2,9,21,3}	$Z_3 \times (Z_8 \le Z_2)$	{1,0,4,58,120}
3	{1,2,9,115,3}	$Z_3  imes (SL(2,3) \le Z_2)$	{1,0,4,58,120}

Table 3: Projectively inequivalent (5; 4)-arcs

**Theorem .4** *In* PG(2, 13), *there are exactly three projectively inequivalent* (5; 4)*-arcs.* 

	Table 4: Points added
Tetrad	Points added
1	3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26,
	27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50,
	51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73,
	74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98,
	99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 116, 117,
	118, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 129, 130, 131, 132, 134, 135, 136, 137, 138,
	139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157,
	158, 159, 160, 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175, 176,
	177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 183
2	3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26,
	27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50,
	51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73,
	74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98,
	99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 116, 117,
	118, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 129, 130, 131, 132, 134, 135, 136, 137, 138,
	139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157,
	158, 159, 160, 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175, 176,
	177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 183
3	3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26,
	27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 39,40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50,
	51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73,
	74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88,90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98,
	99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 116, 117,
	118, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 129, 130, 131, 132, 134, 135, 136, 137, 138,
	139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157,
	158, 159, 160, 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175, 176,
	177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 183

Table 4: Points added

## 11.2 Remark

The stabiliser groups in Table 3 split the associated projectively inequivalent (5; 4)-arcs into 2 orbits. They are given as follows.

(1) The group  $Z_3 \times ((Z_4 \times Z_4) \otimes Z_2)$  partitions the (5;4)-arc {1, 2, 9, 83, 3} into 2 orbits {1, 9, 2, 83},

- (2) The group  $Z_3 \times (Z_8 \le Z_2)$  splits the (5; 4)-arc {1, 2, 9, 21, 3} into 2 orbits {1, 9, 2, 21}, {3}.
- (3) The group  $Z_3 \times (SL(2,3) \le Z_2)$  divides the (5;4)-arc {1,2,9,115,3} into 2 orbits {1,2,115,9},

{3}.

#### **4.3** Projectively inequivalent (6;4)-arcs

In Table 3, for each projectively inequivalent (5; 4)-arc the points from the plane which are not on any 4-secant are added to construct the (6;4)-arcs. Therefore, the number of (6;4)-arcs that constructed is 504. Among the 504 (6; 4)-arcs the lexicographically least set image and the stabiliser are calculated. So, the number  $\Phi_4$  of projectively inequivalent (6; 4)-arcs is 10. Also, the secant

distribution  $\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$  for each of the 10 projectively inequivalent (6;4)-arcs is computed. It shows that there are only two *sd*-inequivalent classes  $N_c$  of secant distributions. The statistics of the 10 projectively inequivalent (6; 4)-arcs are given in the following tables:

	Table 5: Projectively inequivalent (6; 4)-arcs				
_	Number	$\mathbf{\Phi}_4$	Stabiliser	Orbits	
	1	{1,2,9,83,3,4}	$Z_2 \times Z_2$	{1},{2},{3,4},{9,83}	
	2	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4}	<b>Z</b> <sub>2</sub>	{1},{2},{3,4},{9},{21}	
	3	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4}	$Z_6$	{1},{2,115,9},{3,4}	
	4	{1,2,9,83,3,8}	$Z_4 \times Z_2$	{1,9,2,83},{3,8}	
	5	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5}	<b>Z</b> <sub>2</sub>	{1},{2},{3,5},{9},{21}	
	6	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12}	<b>Z</b> <sub>2</sub>	{1},{2},{3,12},{9},{21}	
	7	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14}	$Z_2 \times Z_2$	{1,2},{3,14},{9,21}	

<sup>{3}.</sup> 

8	<i>{</i> 1 <i>,</i> 2 <i>,</i> 9 <i>,</i> 83 <i>,</i> 3 <i>,</i> 5 <i>}</i>	<b>Z</b> <sub>2</sub>	{1},{2},{3,5},{9},{83}
9	<i>{</i> 1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7 <i>}</i>	$Z_2 \times Z_2$	{1,115},{2,9},{3,7}
10	<i>{</i> 1 <i>,</i> 2 <i>,</i> 9 <i>,</i> 115 <i>,</i> 3 <i>,</i> 5 <i>}</i>	Z <u>6</u>	<i>{</i> 1 <i>},{</i> 2, <u>115,</u> 9 <i>},{</i> 3,5 <i>}</i>

Table 6:  $N_c$  of  $t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0$ 

Number	Nc	}
		Number of $N_c$
1	{ 1, 1, 6, 65, 110 }	3
2	{ 1, 0, 9, 62, 111 }	7

**Theorem .5** *In* PG(2, 13), *there are exactly ten projectively inequivalent* (6; 4)*-arcs.* 

## **Projectively inequivalent** (7;4)-arcs

In this process, the constructed number of (7;4)-arcs is 1670. According to their lexicographically least set images, the number of projectively inequivalent (7;4)-arcs is 207. Among the 207 arcs,

there are eleven types of the stabiliser groups. In addition, the secant distribution  $\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$  of each of the (7; 4)-arcs is also computed. It shows that there are five *sd*-inequivalent classes of secant distributions. The statistics are given in Tables 7 and 8.

Number	$\Phi_4$	Stabiliser
1	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57}	Ι
2	$\{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5\}$	Ι
3	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 20\}$	Ι
4	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 5\}$	Ι
5	{1,2,9,21,3,4,22}	Ι
6	{1,2,9,21,3,4,32}	Ι
7	{1,2,9,21,3,4,37}	Ι
8	{1,2,9,21,3,4,58}	Ι
9	$\{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 22\}$	$Z_2$
10	{1,2,9,115,3,4,5}	Ι
11	{1,2,9,83,3,4,51}	Ι
12	$\{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 6\}$	Ι
13	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 19}	Ι
14	{1,2,9,21,3,4,13}	Ι
15	{1,2,9,21,3,4,19}	Ι
16	{1.2.9.21.3.4.96}	Ι
17	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 27\}$	Ι
18	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 28\}$	Ι
19	{1,2,9,21,3,4,56}	Ι
20	{1,2,9,21,3,4,149}	Ι
21	{1,2,9,21,3,4,122}	Ι
22	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 6\}$	Ι
23	$\{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 30\}$	Ι
24	{1,2,9,115,3,4,50}	Ι
25	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 15}	Ι
26	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 27}	Ι
27	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 33}	Ι
28	{1,2,9,115,3,4,10}	Ι
29	{1.2.9.115.3.4.30}	Ι
30	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 101\}$	Ι
31	{1,2,9,21,3,4,30}	Ι
32	{1,2,9,83,3,4,47}	Ι
33	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 40}	Ι
34	{1,2,9,21,3,4,75}	Ι

Table 7: Projectively inequivalent (7; 4)-arcs

35	{1,2,9,21,3,4,127}	Ι	
36	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 100}	Ι	
37	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 14}	Ι	
38	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 111}	Ι	
39	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 12}	Ι	
40	{1,2,9,83,3,4,15}	Ι	
41	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 16}	Ι	
42	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 103}	Ι	
43	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 6}	Ι	
44	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 8}	Ι	
45	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 43}	Ι	
46	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 7}	Ι	
47	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 20}	Ι	
48	{1,2,9,21,3,4,18}	Ι	
49	{1,2,9,21,3,4,65}	Ι	
50	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 20}	Ι	
51	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 92}	Ι	
52	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 136}		$Z_2$
53	{1,2,9,21,3,4,95}	Ι	
54	{1,2,9,21,3,4,49}	Ι	
55	{1,2,9,21,3,4,44}	Ι	
56	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 18}	Ι	
57	{1,2,9,83,3,4,11}		$D_4$
58	{1,2,9,83,3,4,31}	Ι	
59	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 10}		$Z_2$
60	{1,2,9,83,3,4,17}	Ι	
61	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 49}	Ι	_
62	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 23}		$Z_2$
63	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 28}	Ι	
64	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 54}	1	
65	{1,2,9,83,3,4,13}	Ι	_
66	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 37}		$Z_2$
67	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 40}	1	
68	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 26}	1	-
69 70	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 76}	7	$\mathbf{Z}_2$
70	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 25}	/	
71	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 7}	ľ	7
72	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 82}	-	$\mathbb{Z}_2$
13	{1,2,9,83,3,4,71}	1	7
74	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 108}		$Z_2$
15			$Z_2$

76	76 {1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 126}		$Z_2$	
	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 14}			
77	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 130}		$Z_6$	
78	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 100}	Ι		
79	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 35}	Ι		
80	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 24}		$Z_2$	
81	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 16}	Ι		
82	{1,2,9,21,3,4,43}	Ι		
83	{1,2,9,21,3,4,46}	Ι		
84	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 51}	Ι		
85	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 8}	Ι		
86	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 16}	Ι		
87	{1,2,9,21,3,4,50}	Ι		
88	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 82}	Ι		
89	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 17}	Ι		
90	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 152}	Ι		
91	{1,2,9,21,3,4,76}	Ι		
92	{1,2,9,21,3,4,55}	Ι		
93	{1,2,9,21,3,4,94}	Ι		
94	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 17}	Ι		
95	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 33}	Ι		
96	{1,2,9,115,3,4,34}	Ι		
97	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 8}	Ι		
98	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 57}	Ι		
99	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 103}	Ι		
100	{1,2,9,21,3,4,47}	Ι		
101	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 48}	1		
102	{1,2,9,21,3,4,34}	1		
103	{1,2,9,21,3,4,26}	1		
104	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 108}	1		
105	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 25}	1		
106	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 74}	1		
107	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 26}	1		
108	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 15}	1		
109	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 7}	1	-	
110	{1,2,9,21,3,4,118}		$Z_2$	
111	{1,2,9,115,3,4,35}		Z3	
112	{1,2,9,21,3,4,23}	,	$\mathbb{Z}_2$	
113	{1,2,9,21,3,4,71}	1		
114		1		

	115	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 110}	Ι		
	116	{1,2,9,21,3,4,74}	Ι		
	117	{1,2,9,21,3,4,54}	Ι		
	118	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 31}	Ι		
_		{1,2,9,21,3,4,33}			
	119	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 66}	Ι		
	120	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 130}		$Z_3$	
	121	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 77}	Ι		
	122	{1,2,9,115,3,4,32}	Ι		
	123	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 14}	Ι		
	124	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 130}		$Z_3 \times S_3$	
	125	{1,2,9,83,3,8,17}		$Z_2$	
	126	{1,2,9,21,3,5,56}	Ι		
	127	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 18}	Ι		
	128	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 7}	Ι		
	129	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 12}		$Z_2$	
	130	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 6}		$Z_2$	
	131	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 31}	Ι		
	132	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 60}		$Z_4 \times Z_2$	
	133	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 7}	Ι		
	134	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 18}	Ι		
	135	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 57}		$Z_{12}$	
	136	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 40}		$Z_2$	
	137	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 24}	Ι		
	138	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 62}	Ι		
	139	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 26}	Ι		
	140	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 5}	Ι		
	141	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 19}		$Z_4$	
	142	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 12}	Ι		
	143	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 17}	Ι		
	144	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 13}		$Z_2$	
	145	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 16}		$Z_2$	
	146	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 6}	Ι		
	147	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 68}		$Z_2$	
	148	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 6}	Ι		
	149	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14, 52}		$Z_2 \times Z_2$	
	150	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 13}		$Z_2$	
	151	{1,2,9,115,3,7,49}		$Z_2 \times Z_2$	
	152	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 13}		$Z_6$	
	153	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 111}	Ι		
	154		Ι		

155	$\int 120213570$	I	
156	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 7, 7\}$	1	
150	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 50\}$	1	
158	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 30\}$	1	7.2
159	$\{1, 2, 9, 105, 3, 5, 5, 10\}$	I	
160	$\{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 41\}$	1	
100	$\{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 76\}$	Ĩ	
161	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 106}	Ι	
162	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 95}	Ι	
163	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 58}	Ι	
164	{1,2,9,83,3,5,17}	Ι	
165	{1,2,9,21,3,5,65}	Ι	
166	{1,2,9,21,3,5,66}	Ι	
167	{1,2,9,21,3,5,99}	Ι	
168	{1,2,9,21,3,5,45}	Ι	
169	{1,2,9,21,3,5,42}	Ι	
170	{1,2,9,83,3,5,16}	Ι	
171	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 32}	Ι	
172	{1,2,9,21,3,5,40}		$Z_3$
173	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14, 55}		$Z_2$
174	{1,2,9,21,3,12,66}		$Z_3$
175	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 6}		$Z_3$
176	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14, 31}		$Z_6$
177	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 40}		$Z_3$
178	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 92}		$Z_6$
179	{1,2,9,115,3,5,40}		$Z_3 \times Z_3$
180	{1,2,9,21,3,5,28}	Ι	
181	{1,2,9,21,3,5,26}	Ι	
182	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 8}		$Z_2$
183	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 41}	Ι	
184	{1,2,9,21,3,5,27}	Ι	
185	{1,2,9,21,3,5,20}	Ι	
186	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 126}	Ι	
187	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 17}	Ι	
188	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 100}	Ι	
189	{1,2,9,21,3,5,29}		$Z_2$
190	{1,2,9,21,3,5,43}	Ι	
191	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 167}	Ι	
192	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 15}	Ι	
193	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 8}	Ι	
194		Ι	

195	{1,2,9,115,3,7,26}	Ι		
196	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 15}	Ι		
197	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 42}		$Z_3$	
198	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 42}	Ι		
199	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 13}		$Z_2$	
200	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 14}		$Z_3$	
201	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 45}	Ι		
202	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 27}	Ι		
	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 25}			

203	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 5}	Ι
204	{1,2,9,115,3,7,20}	$Z_3$
205	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 52}	$Z_2$
206	{1,2,9,21,3,12,96}	$Z_2$
207	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 15}	Ι

Table 8:  $N_c$  of  $t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0$ 

Number	N <sub>c</sub> t	}
		Number of $N_c$
1	{ 1, 0, 15, 64, 103 }	62
2	$\{1, 1, 12, 67, 102\}$	106
3	$\{1, 2, 9, 70, 101\}$	30
4	$\{1, 3, 6, 73, 100\}$	3
5	{ 2, 0, 9, 72, 100 }	6

**Theorem .6** In PG(2, 13), there are exactly 207 projectively inequivalent (7; 4)-arcs.

# 11.3 Remark

In Table 7, there are 11 types of the stabiliser groups as follows:

 $I, Z_2, Z_3, Z_4, Z_6, D_4, Z_3 \times S_3, Z_4 \times Z_2, Z_{12}, Z_2 \times Z_2, Z_3 \times Z_3.$ 

These stabiliser groups of order at least two divide their corresponding projectively inequivalent (7; 4)-arcs into a number of orbits. All orbits of these groups are listed in Table 9.

$\Phi_4$	Stabiliser	Orbits
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 22}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3},{4, 22}, {9, 115}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 136}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3, 136}, {4},{9, 21}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 11}	$D_4$	{1},{2, 3},{4, 11, 83, 9}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 10}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3},{4, 10}, {9, 83}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 23}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3},{4},{9, 83}, {23}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 37}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3},{4, 37}, {9},{83}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 76}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3, 4},{9, 83}, {76}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 82}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3, 4},{9, 83}, {82}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 108}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3, 4},{9, 83}, {108}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 126}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3, 4},{9, 83}, {126}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 14}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3, 4},{9, 83}, {14}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 130}	$Z_6$	{1},{2},{3, 4, 130}, {9, 83}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 24}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3, 24}, {4},{9, 115}

Table 9: Group orbits of projectively inequivalent (7; 4)-arcs

{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 118}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3, 118}, {4},{9, 21}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 35}	$Z_3$	{1, 9, 115}, {2},{3, 35, 4}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 23}	$Z_2$	{1},{2, 3},{4, 21}, {9, 23}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 130}	$Z_3$	{1},{2},{3, 4, 130}, {9},{21}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 130}	$Z_3 \times S_3$	{1},{2, 3, 9, 115, 130, 4}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 17}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3, 8},{9, 83}, {17}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 12}	$Z_2$	{1, 9},{2, 115}, {3, 12}, {7}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 6}	$Z_2$	{1, 115}, {2, 9}, {3, 7}, {6}
{1,2,9,83,3,8,60}	$Z_4  imes Z_2$	{1, 9, 2, 83}, {3, 8}, {60}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 57}	$Z_{12}$	{1, 9, 2, 83}, {3, 8, 57}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 40}	$Z_2$	{1, 2}, {3, 8}, {9, 83}, {40}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 19}	$Z_4$	{1, 9, 2, 83}, {3},{8},{19}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 13}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3, 13}, {5},{9},{21}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 16}	$Z_2$	{1, 115}, {2, 9},{3},{7},{16}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 68}	$Z_2$	$\{1\},\{2\},\{3\},\{9\},\{12,68\},\{21\}$
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14, 52}	$Z_2 \times Z_2$	{1, 2},{3},{9, 21}, {14, 52}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 13}	$Z_2$	{1},{2},{3, 13}, {5},{9},{83}
{1,2,9,115,3,7,49}	$Z_2 \times Z_2$	{1, 115}, {2, 9}, {3}, {7, 49}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 13}	$Z_6$	{1},{2,115,9},{3,13},{5}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 19}	$Z_2$	{1, 115}, {2, 9},{3, 7},{19}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 40}	$Z_3$	{1},{2},{3, 5, 40}, {9},{21}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14, 55}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3},{9, 21}, {14}, {55}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 66}	$Z_3$	{1},{2},{3, 12, 66}, {9},{21}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 6}	$Z_3$	{1},{2, 9, 115}, {3},{5},{6}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14, 31}	$Z_6$	{1, 2},{3, 14, 31}, {9, 21}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 40}	$Z_3$	{1},{2},{3, 5, 40}, {9},{83}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 92}	$Z_6$	{1, 115}, {2, 9},{3, 7, 92}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 40}	$Z_3 \times Z_3$	{1},{2,9,115},{3,5,40}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 8}	$Z_2$	{1,2},{3},{5,8},{9,21}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 5, 29}	$Z_2$	{1, 2}, {3, 29}, {5}, {9, 21}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 42}	$Z_3$	{1, 9, 115}, {2},{3, 5, 42}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 14}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3, 14}, {9, 21}, {12}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 45}	$Z_3$	{1, 9, 115}, {2}, {3, 45, 7}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 20}	$Z_3$	{1, 2, 9}, {3, 7, 20}, {115}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 52}	$Z_2$	{1, 115}, {2, 9}, {3, 7}, {52}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 96}	$Z_2$	{1, 2},{3, 96}, {9, 21}, {12}

# **4.4 Projectively inequivalent** (8;4)-arcs

In PG(2,13), the number of projectively inequivalent (8;4)-arcs is 7399. The stabliser groups of 7399 projectively inequivalent (8; 4)-arcs are as follows:

$$I, Z_2, Z_3, Z_4, Z_6, Z_{12}, Z_2 \times Z_2, Z_4 \times Z_2, (Z_4 \times Z_4) w$$
$$Z_2, Z_3 \times S_3, D_4.$$

The number of these groups is listed in Table 10. Also, the 7399 projectively inequivalent (8;4)-arcs have eleven *sd*-inequivalent classes of secant distributions as shown in Table 11.

(1) The group Z<sub>12</sub> splits the (8;4)-arc {1,2,9,83,
3,8,57,19} into 3 orbits of sizes 4,3,1. They are

{1, 9, 2, 83}, {3, 8, 57}, {19}.

(2) The group  $Z_4 \times Z_2$  partitions the (8;4)-arcs  $\{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 60, 19\}$  and  $\{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 57, 60, 19\}$ 

Table 10: Group stati	stics of the pro	jectively	55)
<u>inequivale</u>	<u>hte(8; 4)-arcs</u>	Stabiliser	Number of stabiliser
1	Ι		int@&orbits. They are { { 1, 9, 2, 83 }, { 3,
2		$Z_2$	60 <sup>#,3</sup> {8,19}} and {{1,9,2,83},{3,59},
3		$Z_3$	$\int_{9}^{12} 5711$
4		$Z_4$	
5		$Z_6$	(2) The group $(7 \times 7) \le 7$ divides the $(8.4)$ -
6		$Z_{12}$	(a) The group $(\mathbf{z}_4 \times \mathbf{z}_4) \le \mathbf{z}_2$ under the $(0, 4)$
7		$Z_2  imes Z_2$	art&{1,2,9,83,3,8,19,59} into one orbit,
			that is,
			{1, 2, 3, 19, 8, 83, 59, 9}.
			<ul> <li>(4) The group Z<sub>3</sub> ×S<sub>3</sub> separates the (8;4)-arc</li> <li>{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 5, 6, 132} into two orbits of</li> </ul>
			sizes 2,6. Thay are {{1,5},{2,6,9,115,
	8	$Z_4 \times Z_2$	132,3}}. <sup>2</sup>
	9	$(Z_4 \times Z_4) \le Z_2$	1
	10	$Z_3 \times S_3$	Table 11: $N_c$ of
	11	<b>D</b> <sub>4</sub>	7

Note that the groups of order at least eight are as follows:

 $Z_4 \times Z_2$ ,  $Z_{12}$ ,  $(Z_4 \times Z_4)$  w  $Z_2$ ,  $Z_3 \times S_3$ .

These groups partition the associated projectively inequivalent (8;4)-arcs into a number of orbits as shown below.

Number	N <sub>c</sub> C	}	S
		Number of N	c t
1	$\{1, 0, 22, 64, 96\}$	534	а
2	$\{1, 1, 19, 67, 95\}$	2272	h
3	{ 1, 2, 16, 70, 94 }	2905	5
4	{ 1, 3, 13, 73, 93 }	1188	i
5	$\{2, 0, 16, 72, 93\}$	146	1
б	$\{1, 4, 10, 76, 92\}$	182	
7	{ 2, 1, 13, 75, 92 }	128	I
8	{ 1, 5, 7, 79, 91 }	10	S
9	$\{2, 2, 10, 78, 91\}$	30	0
10	$\{1, 6, 4, 82, 90\}$	1	е
11	$\{2, 3, 7, 81, 90\}$	3	r

**Theorem .7** *In* PG(2, 13), *there are exactly* 7399 *projectively inequivalent* (8; 4)*-arcs.* 

#### **4.5 Projectively inequivalent** (9;4)**-arcs**

In PG(2,13), the number of projectively inequivalent (9; 4)-arcs is 222536 according to the inequi-valent lexicographically least set in the *G*-orbit of each (9;4)arc. These arcs have one of the groups

I,  $Z_2$ ,  $Z_3$ ,  $Z_4$ ,  $Z_6$ ,  $Z_2$ ,  $\times$ ,  $Z_2$ ,  $Z_4$ ,  $\times$ ,  $Z_2$ ,  $D_4$ ,  $S_3$ ,  $S_4$ ,  $A_4$ . In addition, the secant distribution of each of the 222536 projectively inequivalent arcs is calculated. There are 21 *sd*-inequivalent classes of

secant distributions of the projectively inequivalent (9;4)-arcs. The statistics are given in Tables 12, 13, and14.

# Table 12: Group statistics of the projectivelyinequivalent (9; 4)-arcs

Num

b

Ν

u

m b e r

0

f

s

t a

b

i

S

е

r

1

I

	2		{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 13, 49, 101}	$Z_4$
	2		{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 12, 68, 56, 151}	$Z_4$
	0		{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 13, 16, 33}	$Z_4$
	/		{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 5, 13, 58, 97}	$Z_4$
	9		{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 17, 32, 61}	$Z_4$
	5		{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 17, 79, 147}	$Z_4$
	2	$Z_2$	<b>1702</b> {1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 6, 154, 160}	$Z_4$
	3	<b>Z</b> <sub>3</sub>	59{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 14, 31, 8, 74}	$Z_4$
	4	7.	14 <sup>{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 5, 25, 148}</sup>	$Z_6$
	·	-4	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 30, 43, 59}	$Z_6$
	5	$Z_6$	<sup>8</sup> {1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 18, 35, 39}	$Z_6$
	6	$Z_2 \times Z_2$	<b>22</b> (1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 8, 51, 130)	$Z_6$
	-	-2 -2	<i>{</i> 1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 16, 37, 145 <i>}</i>	$Z_6$
	7	$Z_4  imes Z_2$	{1, <sup>1</sup> 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 32, 31, 130}	$Z_6$
	8	<b>S</b> <sub>3</sub>	{ <b>4</b> , 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 32, 29, 130}	$Z_6$
	9	$S_4$	{ <b>1</b> , 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 32, 130, 149}	$Z_6$
	10	5	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 60, 147}	$Z_4 \times Z_2$
	10	$D_4$	<sup>3</sup> {1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 58, 7, 80}	$S_3$
	11			C
	11	$A_4$	<i>{</i> 1 <i>,</i> 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 5, 130, 131 <i>}</i>	<b>S</b> <sub>3</sub>
			{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 96, 163, 166}	$S_3$
			{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 15, 130, 45}	$S_3$
			{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 11, 10, 84}	$S_4$
			{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 11, 37, 129}	$S_4$
he la	arge groups of order a	at least 4 are	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 10, 82, 86}	$D_4$
2, S <sub>3</sub> ,	, $S_4$ , $D_4$ , $A_4$ . The action	on of these	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 12, 77, 76}	$D_4$
WN	in the following table	2.	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 7, 12, 70, 177}	$D_4$
			{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 12, 135}	$A_4$
13: <b>G</b>	Group orbits of proj	iectivelv	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 92, 135, 164}	$A_4$

# In Table 12, tl

11.3.1 Remark

 $Z_4, Z_6, Z_4 \times Z_2$ groups is show

#### Table 13: Group orbits of projectively

# inequivalent (9; 4)-arcs

Table 14: $N_c$	of
-----------------	----

$\Phi_4$	Stabiliser	Orbits
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 99, 105}	$Z_4$	{1, 9, 2, 83}, {3, 105, 57, 4}, {99}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 24, 135}	$Z_4$	{1},{2, 4},{3, 83, 135, 9},{5, 24}
{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 22, 24, 108}	$Z_4$	{1, 2},{3, 22, 24, 4},{9, 21}, {108}
{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 18, 151, 159}	$Z_4$	{1, 115}, {2, 9},{3, 18, 159, 4},{151}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 30, 84, 124}	$Z_4$	{1, 9, 2, 83}, {3}, {4, 124, 84, 30}
{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 92, 135, 118}	$Z_4$	{1},{2, 4},{3, 83, 135, 9},{92, 118}

t4,	t <sub>3</sub> ,	t2,	t1,	$t_0$
	•••	<u> </u>		

Number	N <sub>c</sub> t	}
		Number of $N_c$
1	{ 1, 0, 30, 62, 90 }	1199
2	{ 1, 1, 27, 65, 89 }	13688
3	$\{1, 2, 24, 68, 88\}$	50341
4	{ 1, 3, 21, 71, 87 }	74174
5	$\{2, 0, 24, 70, 87\}$	1776
6	{ 1, 4, 18, 74, 86 }	47139
7	{ 2, 1, 21, 73, 86 }	7227
8	$\{2, 2, 18, 76, 85\}$	8259
9	{ 1, 5, 15, 77, 85 }	12848
10	$\{1, 6, 12, 80, 84\}$	1487
11	{ 2, 3, 15, 79, 84 }	3388
12	$\{3, 0, 18, 78, 84\}$	182
13	$\{1, 7, 9, 83, 83\}$	68
14	$\{2, 4, 12, 82, 83\}$	518
15	{ 3, 1, 15, 81, 83 }	151
16	$\{1, 8, 6, 86, 82\}$	2
17	$\{2, 5, 9, 85, 82\}$	39
18	{ 3, 2, 12, 84, 82 }	42
19	$\{2, 6, 6, 88, 81\}$	2
20	{ 3, 3, 9, 87, 81 }	5
21	{ 3, 4, 6, 90, 80 }	1

**Theorem .8** In PG(2, 13), there are exactly 222536 projectively inequivalent (9; 4)-arcs.

#### **4.6** Projectively inequivalent (10;4)-arcs

The number of (10;4)-arcs is paralleled into 5 processes; each took 6:22:54:11, 4:15:36:77, 5:

09 : 28 : 12, 5 : 12 : 40 : 46, 3 : 21 : 52 : 13 of CPU time respectively for the construction. Then according to the canonical images of the (10; 4)-arcs found from 4 processes, there are at least 5268378 projectively inequivalent (10; 4)-arcs. This took 2403232618 msc. The 5268378 arcs have 36 *sd*-inequivalent classes  $N_c$  of *i*-secant distributions as listed in Table 15. The total time is 1726578 msc where it was computed in six processes. Then according to the number of  $N_c$  there

are 36 sd-inequivalent (10; 4)-arcs, which have five types of stabilisers I,  $Z_2 \times Z_2$ ,  $Z_3 \times Z_3 \times S_3$ .

The timing of these groups was 3633 msec. The statistics of the *sd*-inequivalent (10; 4)-arcs are given in Table 16.

Table 15:  $N_c$  of  $t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0$ 

Number	Nc	}
		Number of N
1	$\{1, 7, 18, 79, 78\}$	192599
2	$\{1, 0, 39, 58, 85\}$	661
3	$\{1, 1, 36, 61, 84\}$	15664
4	$\{1, 2, 33, 64, 83\}$	145027
5	$\{1, 3, 30, 67, 82\}$	592731
6	{1, 4, 27, 70, 81 }	1227187
7	$\{1, 5, 24, 73, 80\}$	1322219
8	{1, 6, 21, 76, 79}	719144
9	{1, 8, 15, 82, 77 }	24434
10	{1, 9, 12, 85, 76 }	1399
11	{1, 10, 9, 88, 75 }	31
12	<i>{</i> 1, 11, 6, 91, 74 <i>}</i>	3
13	{2,0,33,66,82}	4572
14	{2, 1, 30, 69, 81}	52934
15	$\{2, 2, 27, 72, 80\}$	207496
16	{2, 3, 24, 75, 79}	344994
17	{2, 4, 21, 78, 78}	255989
18	<i>{</i> 2 <i>,</i> 5 <i>,</i> 18 <i>,</i> 81 <i>,</i> 77 <i>}</i>	87359
19	{2, 6, 15, 84, 76}	13784
20	{2, 7, 12, 87, 75 }	954
21	$\{2, 8, 9, 90, 74\}$	38
22	{2, 10, 3, 96, 72}	1
23	{3, 0, 27, 74, 79}	3944
24	{3, 1, 24, 77, 78 }	17244
25	{3, 2, 21, 80, 77}	22990
26	{3, 3, 18, 83, 76}	11598
27	{3, 4, 15, 86, 75}	2477
28	{3, 5, 12, 89, 74}	257
29	{3, 6, 9, 92, 73}	12
30	{3, 7, 6, 95, 72}	2
31	$\{4, 0, 21, 82, 76\}$	222
32	<i>{</i> 4 <i>,</i> 1 <i>,</i> 18 <i>,</i> 85 <i>,</i> 75 <i>}</i>	297
33	{4, 2, 15, 88, 74}	97
34	{4, 3, 12, 91, 73 }	13
35	{4, 4, 9, 94, 72}	2
36	{5, 0, 15, 90, 73 }	3

**Theorem .9** *In* PG(2, 13), *there are at least* 5268378 *projectively inequivalent* (10; 4)*-arcs.* 

Symbol	(10; 4)-arc	$\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$	Stabiliser
$K_1^j$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 166, 8}	{1,7,18,79,78}	Ι
$K_2^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 8, 17, 40, 72, 78}	{1,0,39,58,85}	Ι
$K_3^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 6, 50, 67, 63}	{1,1,36,61,84}	Ι
$K_4^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 166, 99, 40}	{1, 2, 33, 64, 83}	Ι
$K_5^{j}$	{1,2,9,83,3,4,57,6,107,18}	{1,3,30,67,82}	Ι
$K_6^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 166, 33}	{1, 4, 27, 70, 81}	Ι
$K_7^{j}$	{1,2,9,83,3,4,57,6,166,16}	{1, 5, 24, 73, 80}	Ι
$K_8^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8}	{1,6,21,76,79}	Ι
$K_9^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 90}	{1, 8, 15, 82, 77}	Ι
$K_{10}^{j}$	{1,2,9,83,3,4,5,129,137,178}	{1, 9, 12, 85, 76}	Ι
$K_{11}^{J}$	{1,2,9,83,3,4,5,129,178,104}	{1, 10, 9, 88, 75}	1
$K_{12}^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 30, 37, 51}	{1,11,6,91,74}	$Z_2 \times Z_2$
$K_{13}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 6, 11, 167, 33}	{2, 0, 33, 66, 82}	Ι
$K_{14}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 166, 11, 33}	{2, 1, 30, 69, 81}	Ι
$K_{15}^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 11, 18}	{2,2,27,72,80}	Ι
$K_{16}^{J}$	{1,2,9,83,3,4,57,6,166,7}	{2, 3, 24, 75, 79}	Ι
$K_{17}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 166, 17}	{2, 4, 21, 78, 78}	Ι
$K_{18}^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 166, 87}	{2, 5, 18, 81, 77}	Ι
$K_{19}^{J}$	{1,2,9,83,3,4,57,6,166,163}	{2, 6, 15, 84, 76}	I
$K_{20}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 129, 137, 37}	{2, 7, 12, 87, 75}	Ι
$K_{21}^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 129, 68, 11}	{2,8,9,90,74}	$Z_2$
$K_{22}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 115, 3, 4, 18, 183, 35, 39}	{2, 10, 3, 96, 72}	$Z_3 \times S_3$
$K_{23}^{j}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 166, 11, 51}	{3,0,27,74,79}	/ 
$K_{24}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 11, 17}	{3, 1, 24, 77, 78}	$Z_2$
$K_{25}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 113, 77}	{3, 2, 21, 80, 77}	1
$K_{26}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 129, 137, 87}	{3, 3, 18, 83, 76}	1
$K_{27}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 142, 131, 163}	{3, 4, 15, 86, 75}	1
$K_{28}^{\prime}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 95, 163}	{3, 5, 12, 89, 74}	1
$K_{29}^{J}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 129, 51, 37}	{3, 6, 9, 92, 73}	1 C
$K_{30}^{J}$	{1,2,9,83,3,4,5,51,37,122}	{3, 7, 6, 95, 72}	33 1
$K_{31}^{\prime}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 166, 38, 160}	{4,0,21,82,76}	1 1
$K_{32}^{\prime}$	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 6, 153, 91}	<i>{</i> 4, 1, 18, 85, 75 <i>}</i>	I I
K <sup>3</sup> 33	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 57, 142, 163, 96}	{4, 2, 15, 88, 74}	I I
K <sub>34</sub>	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 129, 112, 39}	{4, 3, 12, 91, 73}	7.
K <sup>35</sup> K <sup>3</sup> 2	{1, 2, 9, 83, 3, 4, 5, 129, 37, 11}	{4,4,9,94,72}	<b>Z</b> 2 <b>Z</b> 2
• 36	{1, 2, 9, 21, 3, 4, 37, 91, 90, 178}	{5,0,15,90,73}	<b>Z</b> 2

 Table 16:
 sd-inequivalent (10; 4)-arcs

#### 11.3.2 Remark

In Table 17, The classification timings of the projectively inquivalent (k;4)-arcs for k = 5, ..., 9 are given.

( <i>k</i> ;4)-arcs	Construction	Lexicographically least sets	$\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$	Stabilisers
(5;4)-arcs	2011	2134	2193	2181
(6;4)-arcs	2138	2168	2329	2230
(7;4)-arcs	2516	2201	2999	3615
(8;4)-arcs	26606	711630	19554	80338
(9;4)-arcs	22729912	32126643	176130	3848131

Table 17: Timing (msec) of projectively inequivalent (k; 4)-arcs for k = 5, ..., 9

# **5** Complete (38;4)-arcs from the *sd*-inequivalent (10;4)-arcs

In Table 16, there are 36 *sd*-inequivalent (10; 4)-arcs together with the corresponding *sd*-inequivalent classes of the *i*-secant distributions. Therefore, at this stage of the classification the 36-arcs of Table 16 have been extended. The aim of this process is to discover the largest complete (k; 4)-arc in

51, 81, 65, 52, 176, 88, 92, 53, 181, 169, 178}. The properties of  $\mathcal{K}^{1}$  are given in Table 18.

Table 18: Complete (38; 4)-arc in PG(2, 13)

Symbol	Complete (38;4)-arc	Stabiliser	$\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$
K	{1,2,9,115,3,4,5,6,7,8,10,19,25,60,74, 988,10730,27,106,69,116,46,63,126, 99,51, 81,65,52,176,88,92,53,181,169,178}	<i>D</i> <sub>12</sub>	{102,24,19,14,24}

#### 11.3.3 Remark

In Table 19, The classification timing of the projectively inquivalent (k; 4)-arcs for k = 5, ..., 9 are given.

( <i>k</i> ;4)-arcs	Construction	Lexicographically least sets	$\{t_4, t_3, t_2, t_1, t_0\}$	Stabilisers
(5;4)-arcs	2011	2134	2193	2181
(6;4)-arcs	2138	2168	2329	2230
(7;4)-arcs	2516	2201	2999	3615
(8;4)-arcs	26606	711630	19554	80338
(9;4)-arcs	22729912	32126643	176130	3848131

Table 19: Timing (msec) of projectively inequivalent (k; 4)-arcs for k = 5, ..., 9

# 12 References

[1] H. Borges, B. Motta, and F. Torres. Complete arcs arising from a generalization of the Hermitian curve. *Acta Arith.*, 164(2):101–118, 2014.

[2] R. N. Daskalov and M. E. Contreras. New (k;r)-arcs in the projective plane of order thirteen.
 J. Geom., 80(1-2):10–22, 2004.

[3] The GAP Group. *GAP – Groups, Algorithms, and Programming, Version* 4.7.8, 2015.

[4] N. Hamada, T. Maruta, and Y. Oya. A necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of an (*n*, *r*)-arc in PG(2, *q*) and its applications. *Serdica J. Comput.*, 6(3):253–266, 2012.

[5] H. Hilton. *Plane Algebraic Curves*. Claredon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1920.

[6] J.W.P. Hirschfeld. *Projective Geometries Over Fnite Fields. 2nd edition*. Cambridge Univer- sity Press, 1998.

[7] J.W.P. Hirschfeld and G. KorchmÃąros. Arcs and curves over a finite field. *Finite Fields and Their Applications*, 5:393–408, 1999.

[8] R. Lidl and H. Niederreiter. *Finite fields*, volume 20 of *Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1997. With a foreword by P. M. Cohn.

[9] S. Linton. Finding the smallest image of a set. In *ISSAC 2004*, pages 229–234. ACM, New York, 2004.

[10] J. G. Semple and G. T. Kneebone. *Algebraic Curves*. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1959.

# Best multiplier Approximation in $L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$ By two dimensions De La Vallee- Poussin Operator

Saheb K. AL-Saidy<sup>1,</sup> Naseif J. AL-Jawari<sup>2</sup> and Ali H.Zaboon<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Science University of Mustansiriyah, IRAQ

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Science University of Mustansiriyah, IRAQ

<sup>3</sup> Department of Mathematics, College of Science University of Mustansiriyah, IRAQ \*Correspondent author Email<sup>1</sup>: <u>sahebalsaidy@gmail.com</u> \*Correspondent author Email<sup>2</sup>: <u>nsaif642014@yahoo.com</u> \*Correspondent author Email<sup>3</sup>: <u>ali.zaboon1@gmail.com</u>

#### Abstract

The purpose of this paper is to find best multiplier approximation of unbounded functions in  $L_{p,\phi_n}$ -space by using Trigonometric polynomials and by two dimensions de la Vallee- Poussin operator for  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$ ,  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$ , in terms of the modulus of smoothness of order k and the average modulus.

Keywords: multiplier convergence, multiplier Integral.

#### الخلاصة

الغرض من هذا البحث هو ايجاد افضل تقريب مضاعف للدوال غير المقيدة في الفضاء L<sub>p,Øn</sub> باستخدام الحدوديات المتلثية و متعددات حدود دي لا فالية- بواسون المضاعف ذات البعدين للدوال الدورية ذات المتغييرين باستعمال مقاسات النعومة ذوات الرتبة k وكذلك باستعمال نماذج المعدل

#### 1. Introduction and Results

In 1949, **[1]** G. Hardy defined the multiplier sequence for a converge of the series as. A series  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n$  is called a multiplier convergent if there is convergent sequence of real numbers  $\{ \phi_n \}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ , such that  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \ \phi_n < \infty$  where,  $\{ \phi_n \}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is called a multiplier for the convergence, for example.

The series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n}$  is a divergent series and the sequence  $\left\{\frac{1}{n}\right\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  convergent sequence. Since  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{n} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2}$  which is convergent series then the series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n}$  is a multiplier convergent.

And from above we have

If  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n$  is convergent series then it is multiplier convergent, since the sequence  $\{ \phi_n \}_{n=0}^{\infty} = \{1\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  may be taken. But the convers is not true in general.

#### 745

Similar to the above we provide the following definition

For any real valued function f defined on B = [a, b], f is called multiplier integral if there is a sequence  $\{ \phi_n \}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  of real numbers such that  $\int_B f \phi_n(x) < \infty$ , as  $n \to \infty$  where  $\{ \phi_n \}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is called a multiplier for the integral.

Let  $L_p(B)$  be the space of all bounded measurable functions defined on B = [a, b] with the norm

$$||f(.)||_{Lp} = ||f(.)||_p = (\int_B |f(x)|^p)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty \quad ,1 \le p < \infty.$$

Now for any real valued function f the multiplier integral norm can be defined as follows,

$$||f(.)||_{L_{p,\phi_n}} = \left\{ (\int_B |f\phi_n(x)|^p dx)^{\frac{1}{p}} : x \in B \right\},$$

where  $\phi_n$  is the multiplier for the integral

Let us define the norm  $||f||_{L_{p,\phi_n}}$  by  $||f||_{p,\phi_n}$ 

Let  $L_{p,\emptyset_n}(B)$ , be the space of all real valued unbounded functions f

such that  $\int_{B} |f \phi_n(x)|^p dx < \infty$  with the norm

 $\|f(.)\|_{P,\emptyset_n} = \left\{ (\int_B |f \emptyset_n(x)|^p dx)^{\frac{1}{p}} : x \in B \right\}, \text{ where } \emptyset_n \text{ is the multiplier for the integral, } \|f \emptyset_n(.)\|_p = \|f(.)\|_{p,\emptyset_n} \text{ and } B = [-\pi, \pi]$ 

Now, before we give some examples for the define of  $L_{p,\phi_n}(B) - space$ , we present the following theorem, (Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem).

Let  $\{f_n(x)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence of Lebesgue measurable functions defined on a Lebesgue measurable set E such that

 ${f_n(x)}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  Converges pointwise almost everywhere to f(x), then

 $\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_E f_n(x) \, dx = \int_E \lim_{n\to\infty} f_n(x) \, dx = \int_E f(x) \, dx$ 

#### **Example 1:**

Let  $f(x) = \csc x$  with  $x \in X = (0, \pi)$  which is unbounded function,  $\emptyset_n = \left\{\frac{1}{n^2}\right\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a sequence. Then we have

 $f \phi_n(x) = f_n(x) = \frac{\csc x}{n^2}$  is a sequence of Lebesgue measurable functions defined on a Lebesgue measurable set =  $(0, \pi)$ , since 746

 $f \phi_n(x) = f_n(x) = \frac{\csc x}{n^2}$  Converges pointwise almost everywhere to f(x) = 0, then by using the above theorem we get the following

 $\int_X f \phi_n(x) dx = \int_X f_n(x) dx = \int_X f(x) dx < \infty, \text{ as } n \to \infty \text{ ,which means that } \phi_n = \left\{\frac{1}{n^2}\right\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a multiplier for the Integral.

#### Example 2:

Let  $f: B \to \mathbb{R}$  be a function defined as follows

$$f(x) = \frac{\pi^2 - x^2}{x}$$
 for  $x \in B = [-\pi, 0) \cup (0, \pi]$ .

And let  $\phi_n = \left\{\frac{1}{n}\right\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be the multiplier for integral.

Thus  $f \in L_{p,\emptyset_n}(B)$  where  $1 \le p < \infty$ .

Now, suppose that  $x = \frac{1}{m}$  where *m* be a positive real numbers.

Thus  $x = \frac{1}{m} \to 0$  as  $m \to \infty$  and for  $n \ge m$  we get the following inequality

$$f \phi_n(x) = \left(\frac{(\pi^2 - x^2)}{x}\right) \frac{1}{n} = \frac{(\pi^2 - x^2)\frac{1}{n}}{x} = (\pi^2 - x^2)\frac{m}{n} \le f^*(x) = \pi^2 - x^2$$

Thus  $f \phi_n(x) \le f^*(x) \ \forall \ n \ge m$  that  $f \phi_n(x) \le f^*(x) \ \forall \ \frac{1}{n} \le \frac{1}{m} = x$ 

i.e., 
$$f \phi_n(x) = \frac{(\pi^2 - x^2)^{\frac{1}{n}}}{x} \le f^*(x) = \pi^2 - x^2 \quad \forall x \ge \frac{1}{n}$$

Therefor if we take  $n \to \infty$  then  $\frac{1}{n} \to 0$  and we get that

$$f \phi_n(x) = \frac{(\pi^2 - x^2)\frac{1}{n}}{x} \le f^*(x) = \pi^2 - x^2 \text{ for all } x \in (\frac{1}{n}, \pi]$$

This means that

 $\int_{B} f \emptyset_{n}(x) dx \leq \int_{B} f^{*}(x) dx \quad \forall x \in \left(\frac{1}{n}, \pi\right].$  From all above we have  $L_{p}(B) \subseteq L_{p, \emptyset_{n}}(B) .$ 

Many researchers presented research in studying the approximation of unbounded periodic functions using multiple types of modulus of smoothness in one dimension **[2, 3]**.

In this paper we approximate the function f which is unbounded function lies in  $L_{p,\emptyset_n}(X), X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$  by two dimensions de la Vallee Poussin sums for periodic functions of two variables.

First for  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  and for any real valued function *f* of two variables we can define the multiplier integral norm as follows

$$\|f(.,.)\|_{L_{p,\phi_n}} = \|f(.,.)\|_{p,\phi_n} = \left\{ \left(\iint_X |f\phi_n(x,y)|^p dx \, dy\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\}$$

 $1 \le p < \infty$ . Where  $\phi_n$  is called the multiplier for integral. Also

Let  $L_{p,\emptyset_n}(X), X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi], 1 \le p < \infty$  be the space of all real valued unbounded functions f such that  $\iint_X f \emptyset_n(x,y) dx dy < \infty$ ,

with the following norm.

$$||f(.,.)||_{L_{p,\phi_n}} = ||f(.,.)||_{p,\phi_n} = \left\{ \left( \iint_X |f\phi_n(x,y)|^p dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\},$$

where  $\phi_n$  is the multiplier for the integral , f(x, y) is called multiplier integral

The *n* th partial sums of (1.1) is given by

$$S_n(f, x) = \frac{a_0}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^n (a_k(f) \cos kx + b_k(f) \sin kx),$$

and the de la Vallee-Poussin partial sum of (1.1) is defined by

$$V_{n,m}(f,x) = \frac{1}{m+1} \sum_{k=n}^{n+m} S_k(f,x) \qquad n, m = 0, 1, 2 \cdots$$
  
Where  $a_0 = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(t) dt$ 

$$a_k = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(t) \cos kt \, dt$$
,  $b_k = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(t) \sin kt \, dt$ 

Let  $L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$  be the class of real valued functions of two variables that are continuous unbounded on  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$  and  $2\pi$  –periodic in each variable separately.

For  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$ ,  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  the multiplier Fourier series of f is given by, [5]

 $S_{n.m}(f; x, y) \cong \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \beta_{n,m}(a_{n,m} \cos nx \ \cos my + b_{n,m} \sin nx \cos my + c_{n,m} \cos nx \sin my + d_{n,m} \sin nx \sin my).$  Where

$$\beta_{n,m} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4} & \text{if } n=m=0\\ \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } n\ge 1, m=0 \text{ or } n=0, m\ge 1\\ 1 & \text{if } n\ge 1, m\ge 1 \end{cases}$$
$$a_{n,m} = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \iint_X f \emptyset_n(u,v) \cos nu \cos mv \ dudv,$$
$$b_{n,m} = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \iint_X f \emptyset_n(u,v) \sin nu \cos mv \ dudv,$$
$$c_{n,m} = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \iint_X f \emptyset_n(u,v) \cos nu \sin mv \ dudv$$

 $c_{n,m} = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \iint_X f \emptyset_n(u, v) \cos nu \sin mv \, du dv$  $d_{n,m} = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \iint_X f \emptyset_n(u, v) \sin nu \, \sin mv \, du dv,$ 

and the partial sum of multiplier Fourier series is given by

$$\begin{split} S_{n,m}(f;x,y) &= \\ \sum_{k_1=0}^n \sum_{k_2=0}^m \beta_{k_1,k_2} (a_{k_1,k_2} \cos k_1 x \cos k_2 y + b_{k_1,k_2} \sin k_1 x \cos k_2 y + c_{k_1,k_2} \cos k_1 x \sin k_2 y + d_{k_1,k_2} \sin k_1 x \sin k_2 y \ ). \end{split}$$

Also the partial sum of multiplier Fejer series is given by

 $\delta_{n,m}(f;x,y) = \frac{1}{(n+1)(m+1)} \sum_{k_1=0}^{n} \sum_{k_2=0}^{m} S_{k_1,k_2}(f;x,y)$ , and the partial sum of multiplier de la Vallee-Poussin is given by

$$V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f;x,y) = \frac{1}{(p_1+1)} \frac{1}{(p_2+1)} \sum_{k_1=n}^{n+p_1} \sum_{k_2=m}^{m+p_2} S_{k_1,k_2}(f;x,y) ,$$

$$(p_1 \ge 0, p_2 \ge 0)$$
.

Denote by  $E_n(f)_{p,\phi_n}$  the degree of best multiplier approximation of a function by trigonometric polynomials of order not exceeding n, i.e.

 $E_n(f)_{p,\phi_n} = in f_{g_n \in \mathbb{T}_n} \{ \|f - g_n\|_{p,\phi_n}, g_n \in \mathbb{T}_n \}$ , where  $\mathbb{T}_n$  is the set of all trigonometric polynomials

In two dimensions we present this definition,

for  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$   $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  the degree of best multiplier approximation of a function f with respect to the set of trigonometric polynomial  $T_{n,m} \in \mathbb{T}_{n,m}$  is given by  $E_{n,m}(f)_{p,\emptyset_n} = \inf_{T_{n,m} \in \mathbb{T}_{n,m}} \left\{ \left\| f - T_{n,m} \right\|_{p,\emptyset_n} \right\}, \text{ where } \mathbb{T}_{n,m} \text{ be the set of all trigonometric}$ 

polynomials of two variables x, y with order  $\leq n$  in x and order  $\leq m$  in y.

Now to convert the formulas  $S_{n,m}(f, x, y)$ ,  $\delta_{n,m}(f, x, y)$  and  $V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f, x, y)$  from the sum formula to the integration formula take the following results.

#### **Proposition 1.1:**

Let  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$   $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ , we have

 $S_{n,m}(f, x, y) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x + u, y + v) D_{n,m}(u, v) du dv \text{ , where }$ 

The Dirichlet kernel  $D_n(t)$  is given by

$$D_n(t) = \frac{1}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^n \cos kt = \frac{\sin(2n+1)\frac{t}{2}}{2\sin\frac{t}{2}}$$
, and

$$D_{n,m}(u,v) = \frac{\sin(2n+1)\frac{u}{2}\sin(2m+1)\frac{v}{2}}{4\sin\frac{u}{2}\sin\frac{v}{2}}$$

#### **Proof:**

=

$$S_{n.m}(f, x, y)$$
  
=  $\sum_{k_1=0}^{n} \sum_{k_2=0}^{m} \beta_{k_1,k_2} (a_{k_1,k_2} \cos k_1 x \cos k_2 y + b_{k_1,k_2} \sin k_1 x \cos k_2 y + c_{k_1,k_2} \cos k_1 x \sin k_2 y + d_{k_1,k_2} \sin k_1 x \sin k_2 y )$ 

$$\frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) \Big[ \sum_{k_1=0}^{n} \sum_{k_2=0}^{m} \beta_{k_1, k_2}(\cos k_1 u \cos k_2 v \cos k_1 x \cos k_2 y + \sin k_1 u \cos k_2 v \sin k_1 x \cos k_2 y + \cos k_1 u \sin k_2 v \cos k_1 x \sin k_2 y + \sin k_1 u \sin k_2 v \sin k_1 x \sin k_2 y \Big] du dv$$

 $= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) \Big[ \sum_{k_1=0}^n \sum_{k_2=0}^m \beta_{k_1, k_2}(\cos k_1 u \cos k_1 x (\cos k_2 v \cos k_2 y + \sin k_2 v \sin k_2 y) + \sin k_1 u \sin k_1 x (\sin k_2 v \sin k_2 y + \cos k_2 v \cos k_2 y) \Big] du dv =$ 

 $\frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) \Big[ \sum_{k_1=0}^n \sum_{k_2=0}^m \beta_{k_1, k_2} (c \sigma s \phi_1 u \cos k_1 x + sin k_1 u \sin k_1 x) (\cos k_2 v \cos k_2 y + sin k_2 v \sin k_2 y) \Big] du dv$ 

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y). \\ &\left[ \left( \frac{1}{2} + \right. \right. \\ &\left. \sum_{k_1=0}^n (\cos k_1 u \cos k_1 x + \sin k_1 u \sin k_1 x) \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} + \sum_{k_2=0}^m \cos k_2 v \cos k_2 y + \sin k_2 v \sin k_2 y \right) \right] du dv \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) \left[ \left( \frac{1}{2} + \sum_{k_1=1}^n \cos k_1 (u + x) \right) \left( \frac{1}{2} + \sum_{k_2=1}^m \cos k_2 (v + y) \right) \right] du dv \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) D_n(u + x) D_m(v + y) du dv \text{ . Then} \\ &S_{n,m}(f, x, y) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x + u, y + v) D_{n,m}(u, v) du dv \text{ , where} \\ &D_{n,m}(u, v) = \frac{\sin(2n+1)\frac{u}{2} \sin(2m+1)\frac{v}{2}}{4 \sin \frac{u}{2} \sin \frac{v}{2}} \end{split}$$

# **Proposition 1.2:**

Let 
$$f \in L_{p,\emptyset_n}(X)$$
  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$ , we have  
 $\delta_{n,m}(f, x, y) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \emptyset_n(x + u, y + v) F_n(u) F_m(v) du dv$   
 $= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \emptyset_n(x + u, y + v) F_{n,m}(u, v) du dv$ , where  
 $F_n(u) = \frac{1}{n+1} [D_0(u) + D_1(u) + \cdots D_n(u)] = \frac{\sin^2 \frac{nu}{2}}{\sin^2 \frac{u}{2}}$  and  
 $F_{n,m}(u, v) = \frac{\sin^2 \frac{nu}{2} \cdot \sin^2 \frac{mv}{2}}{\sin^2 \frac{u}{2} \cdot \sin^2 \frac{v}{2}}$ 

# **Proof:**

Since 
$$S_{n,m}(f, x, y) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) D_n(u + x) D_m(v + y) du dv$$
  
And  $\delta_{n,m}(f, x, y) = \frac{1}{(n+1)(m+1)} \sum_{k_1=0}^{n} \sum_{k_2=0}^{m} S_{k_1.k_2}(f, x, y)$ , we have

$$\delta_{n,m}(f, x, y) = \frac{1}{(n+1)(m+1)} \sum_{k_1=0}^{n} \sum_{k_2=0}^{m} \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) D_{k_1}(u+x) D_{k_2}(v+y) du dv$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x,y) \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k_1=0}^{n} D_{k_1}(u+x) \frac{1}{m+1} \sum_{k_2=0}^{m} D_{k_2}(v+y) \, du dv \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x,y) F_n(u+x) F_m(v+y) \, du dv \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x+u,y+v) F_n(u) F_m(v) \, du dv \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x+u,y+v) F_{n,m}(u,v) \, du dv \, , \, \text{where} \\ &F_{n,m}(u,v) = F_n(u) \cdot F_m(v) = \frac{\sin^2 \frac{2nu}{2}}{\sin^2 \frac{u}{2}} \cdot \frac{\sin^2 \frac{2nv}{2}}{\sin^2 \frac{v}{2}} = \frac{\sin^2 \frac{2nu}{2} \cdot \sin^2 \frac{mv}{2}}{\sin^2 \frac{v}{2}} \, \blacksquare \, \end{split}$$

# **Proposition 1.3:**

Let  $f \in L_{p,\emptyset_n}(X)$   $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$  ,we have

$$V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f,x,y) = \frac{1}{\pi^2(p_1+1)(p_2+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x+u,y+v) F_{n+p_1}^{m+p_2}(u,v) du dv \text{, where}$$

$$F_{n+p_1}^{m+p_2}(u,v) = \frac{\sin\frac{2n+p_1+1}{2}u}{2\sin^2\frac{u}{2}} \frac{\sin\frac{2n+p_2+1}{2}v}{2\sin^2\frac{v}{2}} \frac{\sin\frac{2n+p_2+1}{2}v}{2\sin^2\frac{v}{2}}$$

# **Proof:**

Since 
$$V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f,x,y) = \frac{1}{(p_1+1)} \frac{1}{(p_2+1)} \sum_{k_1=n}^{n+p_1} \sum_{k_2=m}^{m+p_2} S_{k_1.k_2}(f,x,y)$$
. And

$$S_{k_{1},k_{2}}(f,x,y) = \frac{1}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) D_{k_{1}}(u) D_{k_{2}}(v) \, du dv \, . \text{Then}$$

$$V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,x,y) = \frac{1}{(p_{1}+1)} \frac{1}{(p_{2}+1)} \sum_{k_{1}=n}^{n+p_{1}} \sum_{k_{2}=m}^{m+p_{2}} \frac{1}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) D_{k_{1}}(u) D_{k_{2}}(v) \, du dv$$

$$V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,x,y) = \frac{1}{\pi^{2}(p_{1}+1)(p_{2}+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) \sum_{k_{1}=n}^{n+p_{1}} D_{k_{1}}(u) \sum_{k_{2}=m}^{m+p_{2}} D_{k_{2}}(v) \, du dv$$

But 
$$\sum_{k_1=n}^{n+p_1} D_{k_1}(t) = [D_n(t) + D_{n+1}(t) \cdots D_{n+p_1}]$$

$$= \frac{\sin\frac{2n+p_1+1}{2}t}{2\sin^2\frac{t}{2}} \text{ .Thus we get}$$

$$\sum_{k_1=n}^{n+p_1} D_{k_1}(u) \cdot \sum_{k_2=m}^{m+p_2} D_{k_2}(v) = \frac{\sin\frac{2n+p_1+1}{2}u - \sin\frac{p_1+1}{2}u}{2\sin^2\frac{u}{2}} \cdot \frac{\sin\frac{2m+p_2+1}{2}v - \sin\frac{p_2+1}{2}v}{2\sin^2\frac{v}{2}} = F_{n+p_1}^{m+p_2}(u,v)$$

Therefore

$$V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f,x,y) = \frac{1}{\pi^2(p_1+1)(p_2+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x+u,y+v) F_{n+p_1}^{m+p_2}(u,v) du dv$$

Before presenting the modulus of smoothness of f in two dimensions that we will use in the Main Results, we introduce the following concept, [6]

 $\omega^k(f,\delta)_{P,\phi_n} = \sup_{|h| < \delta} \|\Delta_h^k f(\cdot)\|_{P,\phi_n}$ , the multiplier modulus of smoothness of the function *f* of order *k* where

$$\Delta_h^k(f, x) = \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} (-1)^{k-i} f\left(x - \frac{kh}{2} + ih\right), x \neq \frac{kh}{2} \in X \text{ the } k^{th} \text{ symmetric difference of the function } f.$$

The averaged modulus of smoothness of order k, ( $\tau$ -modulus) of the function f is the following function of  $\delta \in \left[0, \frac{2\pi}{k}\right]$ 

$$\tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{P,\phi_{n}} = \|\omega^{k}(f,;\delta)\|_{P,\phi_{n}} = \left\{\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} (\omega^{k}(f\phi_{n}(x);\delta))^{p} dx)^{\frac{1}{p}}\right\}.$$

Let  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$  and  $\Delta = \{V_i \ i \in A\}$  be collection pairwise disjoint set with A is index set from  $Z^2_+$  such that  $X \subseteq \bigcup_{i \in A} V_i$ , where

 $V_{i} = \prod_{k=1}^{2} \left[ x_{k}^{(i_{k})}, x_{k}^{(i_{k}+1)} \right] = \left[ x_{1}^{i_{1}}, x_{1}^{i_{1}+1} \right] \times \left[ x_{2}^{i_{2}}, x_{2}^{i_{2}+1} \right]$ form a partition of X and . **Z**<sub>+</sub> be positive integer numbers

Now for  $k \in Z_+^2$ , h > 0 (i.e.  $h_1, h_2 > 0$ ),  $\delta = (\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $\delta_1, \delta_2 > 0$  and

 $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2) \in X$  we define the following

 $\Delta_h^k(f, \mathbf{x}) = \Delta_{h_1}^{k_1} \cdot \Delta_{h_2}^{k_2}(f(x_1, x_2) \text{ is the } k \text{ -th symmetric difference of } f \text{ where } \Delta_{h_i}^{k_i}(f, \mathbf{x}) = \sum_{l=0}^{k_i} \binom{k_i}{l} (-1)^{k_i - l} f\left(x - \frac{k_i h_i}{2} + lh_i\right),$ 

is the  $k_i$  -th difference of step length  $h_i$  with respect to  $x_i$  and i = 1,2 such that

$$\Delta_{h}^{1}(f(\mathbf{x})) = \Delta_{h_{1}}^{1} \cdot \Delta_{h_{2}}^{1}(f(\mathbf{x})) = \Delta_{h_{1}}^{1} \left(\Delta_{h_{2}}^{1}(f(x,y))\right) = f(x+h_{1},y+h_{2}) - f(x+h_{1},y) - f(x,y+h_{2}) + f(x,y) \text{ and}$$

$$\Delta_{h}^{0}(f, \mathbf{x}) = \Delta_{h_{1}}^{0} \cdot \Delta_{h_{2}}^{0}(f(x, y)) = f(x, y).$$
<sup>753</sup>

Let 
$$X(K, h) = \{ x: (x_i + s_i, k_i)_{i=1}^2 \in X \text{ for all } s_i \le h_i , s_i \in \mathbb{R}_+^1 \}, i = 1, 2$$

Then we define:

$$\omega^k(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_n} = \omega^k(f,\delta,\mathbf{x})_{L_{p(X(K,h)),\emptyset_n}} = \sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\| \Delta_h^k(f,\mathbf{x}) \right\|_{p(X(K,h)),\emptyset_n}.$$

Before we present the modulus of smoothness of f with respect to the derivative, we present the following concept

Let *n* be a positive integer. A vector of *n*-tuples  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n)$ , where  $\alpha_i$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$  are non-negative integers, is called multi-index of dimension *n*. The number  $|\alpha| = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i$  is called the length of the multi-index, for  $\alpha, \beta$ , we have

$$\alpha + \beta = (\alpha_1 + \beta_1, \alpha_2 + \beta_2, \cdots \alpha_n + \beta_n)$$

We say that multi-index  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  are related by  $\alpha \leq \beta$  if  $\alpha_i \leq \beta_i$  for all *i* 

Now for the function f = f(x),  $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$  let

 $D^{\alpha}(f) = \frac{\partial^{|\alpha|}}{\partial_{x_1}^{\alpha_1} \cdots \partial_{x_n}^{\alpha_n}}(f) \text{ will be called derivative of a function } f \text{ of order}|\alpha|.$ 

For special case if n = 2,  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2) = (1, 1)$  we have

$$D^{\alpha}(f) = D^{(1,1)}(f) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial_{x_1}^1 \partial_{x_2}^1} f$$
. From above let

 $W_{p,\phi_n}^{\alpha}(X) = \{ f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X) : D^{\alpha}f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X) \}$ , be multiplier Sebolov space.

**Here**: Since convexity in two dimensions is very important in approximate theory we introduce the following concept, **[7]** 

Let  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$  then X satisfies the following

[if  $x \in X$  and  $x + he_i \in X$  for some h > 0, i = 1,2 then  $x + te_i \in X$  for all  $0 \le t \le h$ ,where  $e_1 = (1,0)$ ,  $e_2 = (0,1)$  and  $X \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^m V_i$  where  $V_i$  is a rectangle and for each *i* there is rectangle  $R_i$  with one of its vertices is 0 = (0,0) such that if  $x \in V_i \cap X$  then  $x + R_i \subset X$ ].....(1.2)

#### 2. The Main Results

#### 754

Before we state our main results, we need the following Lemmas and notes

#### Lemma 2.1[5]:

For the kernel 
$$\frac{1}{\pi(p_1+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n,p_1}(u)$$
, where  $F_{n,p_1}(u) = \frac{\sin\frac{2n+p_1+1}{2}u}{2\sin^2\frac{u}{2}}$ , with

 $u \neq 0$  we have

$$L_{n,p_1} = \left| \frac{1}{\pi(p_1+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n,p_1}(u) du \right| = \frac{1}{\pi(p_1+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{\left| \sin \frac{2n+p_1+1}{2}u - \sin \frac{p_1+1}{2}u \right|}{2\sin^2 \frac{u}{2}} du$$
$$= \frac{4}{\pi^2} \ln \frac{2n+p_1+1}{p_1+1} + O(1)$$

#### Note 2.2:[8]

For *f* and *g* are two functions we have

 $f(x) = 0\{g(x)\}$  if  $\lim_{x\to 0} \frac{f(x)}{g(x)} = A$ , A is a constant and  $g(x) \neq 0$ . In particular, 0 (1) means bounded function.

#### Note 2.3[5]:

For the kernel  $\frac{1}{\pi^{2}(p_{1}+1)(p_{2}+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n+p_{1}}^{m+p_{2}}(u,v) du dv \text{, where}$   $F_{n+p_{1}}^{m+p_{2}}(u,v) = \frac{\sin\frac{2n+p_{1}+1}{2}u}{2\sin^{2}\frac{u}{2}} \cdot \frac{\sin\frac{2m+p_{2}+1}{2}v}{2\sin^{2}\frac{v}{2}} \cdot \frac{\sin\frac{p_{2}+1}{2}v}{2\sin^{2}\frac{v}{2}}, \text{ with } u \neq 0, v \neq 0 \text{ we have}$   $L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}} = \left| \frac{1}{\pi^{2}(p_{1}+1)(p_{2}+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n+p_{1}}^{m+p_{2}}(u,v) du dv \right|$   $= \frac{1}{\pi^{2}(p_{1}+1)(p_{2}+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{\left| \sin\frac{2n+p_{1}+1}{2}u - \sin\frac{p_{1}+1}{2}u - \sin\frac{2m+p_{2}+1}{2}v - \sin\frac{p_{2}+1}{2}v \right|}{4\sin^{2}\frac{u}{2} \sin^{2}\frac{v}{2}}$   $= \frac{16}{\pi^{4}} \ln \frac{2n+p_{1}+1}{p_{1}+1} \cdot \ln \frac{2m+p_{2}+1}{p_{2}+1} + O(1)$ 

#### Lemma 2.4:

Let  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$   $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  we have 755

 $\|\delta_{n,m}(f,.,.)\|_{p,\phi_n} \le c(p)\|f\|_{p,\phi_n}$ , where c(p) a constant depends on p

# **Proof:**

Since 
$$\delta_{n,m}(f, x, y) = \frac{1}{\pi^2} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x + u, y + v) F_n(u) F_m(v) du dv$$

And by using Jensen's Inequality we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \delta_{n,m}(f,.,.) \right\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &= \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) F_{n}(u) F_{m}(v) du dv \right|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n}(u) F_{m}(v) du dv \right|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &\leq \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) \right|^{p} dx dy \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n}(u) du \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{m}(v) dv \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &\leq \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) \right|^{p} dx dy \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n}(u) du \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{m}(v) dv \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &\leq \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) \right|^{p} dx dy \frac{1}{p} \right\} c(p) = c(p) \| f \|_{p,\phi_{n}} \text{ Thus} \\ \| \delta_{n,m}(f,.,.) \|_{p,\phi_{n}} \leq c(p) \| f \|_{p,\phi_{n}} \end{split} \right\} \end{split}$$

# Lemma 2.5:

Let 
$$f \in L_{p,\emptyset_n}(X)$$
  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  we have

 $\left\| V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f,.,.) \right\|_{p,\phi_n} \le L_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2} \|f\|_{p,\phi_n}, \text{ where}$ 

$$L_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2} = \frac{16}{\pi^4} \ln \frac{2n+p_1+1}{p_1+1} \cdot \ln \frac{2m+p_2+1}{p_2+1} + 0 (1)$$

# **Proof:**

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,.,.) \right\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &= \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| \frac{1}{\pi^{2}(p_{1}+1)(p_{2}+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) F_{n+p_{1}}^{m+p_{2}}(u,v) du dv \right|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v) \frac{1}{\pi^{2}(p_{1}+1)(p_{2}+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} 56 \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n+p_{1}}^{m+p_{2}}(u,v) du dv \right|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \end{aligned}$$
$$\leq \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v)|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left| \frac{1}{\pi^{2}(p_{1}+1)(p_{2}+1)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F_{n+p_{1}}^{m+p_{2}}(u,v) du dv \right| \right\}$$

$$\leq \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |f \phi_{n}(x+u,y+v)|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}} = L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}} \|f\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \cdot \left( \int_{-\pi}^{m,p_{2}} \frac{16}{\pi^{4}} \ln \frac{2n+p_{1}+1}{p_{1}+1} \cdot \ln \frac{2m+p_{2}+1}{p_{2}+1} + O(1) \cdot \text{Thus } \|V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,.,.)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \right\}$$

$$\leq L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}} \|f\|_{p,\phi_{n}} =$$

## Lemma 2.6[7]:

If X satisfy (1.2) and  $X \subset Q$  is rectangle with side length vector  $\delta$  then for each  $f \in L_{p(X)}$ there exists  $g \in W_p^{\alpha}(X)$  such that

$$\|f - g\|_{p(X)} + \delta^{\alpha} \|D^{\alpha}g\|_{p(X)} \le c\omega_k(f, \delta, \mathbf{x})_{p(X)}.$$

## Lemma 2.7:

For each  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$ ,  $X = [-\pi, \pi]^2$  there exists  $T_{n,m} \in W^{\alpha}_{p,\phi_n}(X)$ 

Such that  $\|f - T_{n,m}\|_{p,\emptyset_n} \le c\omega^k (f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_n}$ .

## **Proof:**

Since  $f \phi_n(x, y)$  is bounded such that  $\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f \phi_n(x, y) < \infty$  and

 $T_{n,m} \in W_{p,\phi_n}^{\alpha}(X)$  for each  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ , then by using Lemma 2.6 we have

 $\left\|f-T_{n,m}\right\|_{p(X),\phi_n}+\delta^{\alpha}\left\|D^{\alpha}T_{n,m}\right\|_{p(X),\phi_n}$ 

 $= \left\| (f - T_{n,m}) \phi_n \right\|_{p(X)} + \delta^{\alpha} \left\| D^{\alpha} T_{n,m} \phi_n \right\|_{p(X)} = \left\| f \phi_n - T_{n,m} \phi_n \right\|_{p(X)} + \delta^{\alpha} \left\| D^{\alpha} T_{n,m} \phi_n \right\|_{p(X)} \le c \omega_k (f \phi_n, \delta, \mathbf{x})_{p(X)} = c \omega^k (f, \delta)_{p, \phi_n} \text{, thus}$ 

 $\left\|f - T_{n,m}\right\|_{p,\phi_n} + \delta^{\alpha} \left\|D^{\alpha}T_{n,m}\right\|_{p(X),\phi_n} \le c\omega^k (f,\delta)_{p,\phi_n}$ 

But  $\delta^{\alpha} \| D^{\alpha} T_{n,m} \|_{p(X), \phi_n} \ge 0$ . 757

Then for each  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$  there is  $T_{n,m} \in W^{\alpha}_{p,\phi_n}(X)$  such that

$$\left\|f - T_{n,m}\right\|_{p,\phi_n} \le c\omega^k (f,\delta)_{p,\phi_n}$$

## Lemma 2.8:

Let  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$   $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  we have  $\tau^1(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_n} \le \delta ||f'||_{p,\phi_n}$ , where  $f' = D^{(1,1)}(f) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial^1 x_1 \partial^1 x_2}(f)$ 

is the second derivative of function f~ and  $\delta=(\delta_1$  ,  $\delta_2)$  ,  $\delta_1,\delta_2>0$ 

## **Proof**:

$$\begin{split} &\omega^{1}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} = sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \|\Delta_{h}^{1}(f)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &= sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |(\Delta_{h}^{1}(f\phi_{n}, x, y))|^{p} \, dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \right\} \\ &= sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |(\int_{0}^{h_{2}} \int_{0}^{h_{1}} (f\phi_{n})'(x+u, y+v) \, du dv)|^{p} \, dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |(f\phi_{n})'(x+u, y+v)| \int_{0}^{h_{1}} du \int_{0}^{h_{2}} dv |^{p} \, dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |(f\phi_{n})'(x+u, y+v)|^{p} \, dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} . \, h_{1} . \, h_{2} \right\} \\ &= sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \|f'\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \right\} . \, h \le \delta \|f'\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \end{split}$$
Thus  $\omega^{1}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \le \delta \|f'\|_{p,\phi_{n}}$ 

## Lemma 2.9:

Let 
$$f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$$
  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  we have  
 $\omega^k(f,.,\delta)_{p,\phi_n} \le \delta \omega^{k-1}(f',.,\delta)_{p,\phi_n}$ 

## **Proof:**

$$\omega^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} = \sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\| \Delta_{h}^{k}(f) \right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}}$$
<sup>758</sup>

$$\begin{split} &= \sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| (\Delta_{h}^{k}(f \phi_{n}(x, y)) \right|^{p} dx dy)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= \sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| (\Delta_{h}^{k-1} \int_{0}^{h_{1}} \int_{0}^{h_{2}} (f \phi_{n})' (x + u, y + v)) du dv) \right|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= \sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left| (\Delta_{h}^{k-1} (f \phi_{n})' (x + u, y + v)) \int_{0}^{h_{1}} du \int_{0}^{h_{2}} dv \right|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= \sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |\Delta_{h}^{k-1} (f \phi_{n})' (x + u, y + v)|^{p} dx dy \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} h_{1} h_{2} \right\} \\ &= \sup_{0 \le h \le \delta} \left\{ \left\| \Delta_{h}^{k-1} (f') \right\|_{p,\phi_{n}} .h \right\} \\ &= \omega^{k-1} (f', ., \delta) .h \le \delta \omega^{k-1} (f', ., \delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \quad \bullet \end{split}$$

## Lemma 2.10:

For 
$$f \in L_{p,\emptyset_n}(X)$$
,  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  we get  
 $\omega^k(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_n} \le \delta^k \|f^{(k)}\|_{p,\emptyset_n}$ .  
Where  $f^{(k)} = D^k(f) = D^{(k_1,k_2)}(f) = \frac{\partial^{k_1+k_2}}{\partial^{k_1}x_1}\partial^{k_2}x_2}(f)$ 

## **Proof**:

From Lemma 2.9 we have

$$\begin{split} &\omega^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \leq \delta\omega^{k-1}(f',\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \leq \delta\delta\omega^{k-2}(f'',\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &\leq \cdots \underbrace{\delta\delta\cdots\delta}_{k-1 \ time} \omega^{1} \big( f^{(k-1)},\delta \big)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \,. \end{split}$$

Then using Lemma 2.8 we get

$$\omega^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \leq \underbrace{\delta\delta\cdots\delta}_{k-1\ time} \omega^{1}(f^{(k-1)},\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}}$$

$$\leq \underbrace{\delta\delta\cdots\delta}_{k-1\ time} \cdot \delta \|f^{((k-1)+1)}\|_{p,\phi_{n}} = \delta^{k} \|f^{(k)}\|_{p,\phi_{n}}, \text{ thus}$$

$$\omega^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \leq \delta^{k} \left\| f^{(k)} \right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \qquad \blacksquare$$

## Lemma 2.11:

For 
$$f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$$
,  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ ,  $x = (x_1, x_2)$ ,  
 $h = (h_1, h_2)$  and  $k = (k_1, k_2)$ , we get  $\omega^k (f, \delta)_{p,\phi_n} \le \tau^k (f, \delta)_{p,\phi_n}$ 

## **Proof:**

$$\begin{split} & \omega^{k}(f(x_{1},x_{2}),\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &= sup_{|h|<\delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi-k_{2}.h_{2}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi-k_{1}h_{1}} \left| (\Delta_{h}^{k}(f\phi_{n}(x_{1},x_{2}))) \right|^{p} dx_{1} dx_{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &\leq sup_{|h|<\delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi}^{\pi-k_{2}.h_{2}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi-k_{1}.h_{1}} \left| (\omega^{k}(f\phi_{n}(x_{1} + \frac{k_{1}h_{1}}{2},x_{2} + \frac{k_{2}h_{2}}{2});\delta) \right|^{p} dx_{1} dx_{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &= sup_{|h|<\delta} \left\{ \left( \int_{-\pi+\frac{k_{2}h_{2}}{2}}^{\pi-\frac{k_{1}h_{1}}{2}} \int_{-\pi+\frac{k_{1}h_{1}}{2}}^{\pi-\frac{k_{1}h_{1}}{2}} \left| (\omega^{k}(f\phi_{n}(x_{1},x_{2});\delta) \right|^{p} dx_{1} dx_{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\} \\ &\leq sup_{|h|<\delta} \tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} = \tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \quad \text{Thus} \\ & \omega^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \leq \tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \quad \blacksquare \end{split}$$

In this paper we prove the following results

## Theorem 2.12:

Suppose that  $f \in L_{p, \emptyset_n}(X)$ ,  $X = [-\pi, \pi] \times [-\pi, \pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ . Then

 $E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\emptyset_n} \le c\omega^k (f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_n}$  where  $x = (x_1, x_2), h = (h_1, h_2)$  and  $k = (k_1, k_2)$ .

## **Proof**:

Using Lemma 2.7 there exists  $T_{n,m} \in W^{\alpha}_{p,\phi_n}(X)$  such that

$$E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\phi_n} = \inf_{T_{n,m} \in \mathbb{T}_{n,m}} \left\{ \| f - T_{n,m} \|_{P,\phi_n} \right\} \le \| f - T_{n,m} \|_{P,\phi_n}$$

 $\leq c\omega^k (f, \delta)_{p, \emptyset_n}$ . Then from Lemma 2.11 we get <sup>760</sup>

$$E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\emptyset_n} \le c\omega^k(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_n} \le c\tau^k(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_n} \blacksquare$$

## Theorem 2.13:

Let 
$$f \in L_{p,\emptyset_n}(X)$$
,  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ . Then

 $\left\|f(.,.) - \delta_{n,m}(f)\right\|_{p,\phi_n} \le (1 + c(p))c\tau^k(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_n}, \text{ where } c(p) \text{ a constant}$ 

## **Proof:**

Let  $T_{n,m}^*(x, y)$  be the best multiplier approximation of function f(x, y)

Using linearity and bounded of  $\delta_{n,m}$  and  $\delta_{n,m}(T^*_{n,m}) = T^*_{n,m}$ , Lemma 2.4 and Theorem 2.12 we get

$$\begin{split} \|f(.,.) - \delta_{n,m}(f)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} &= \|f(.,.) - T_{n,m}^{*}(.,.) + T_{n,m}^{*}(.,.) - \delta_{n,m}(f)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &\leq \|f(.,.) - T_{n,m}^{*}(.,.)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} + \|T_{n,m}^{*}(.,.) - \delta_{n,m}(f)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &= \|f(.,.) - T_{n,m}^{*}(.,.)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} + \|\delta_{n,m}(T_{n,m}^{*}) - \delta_{n,m}(f)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &\leq \|f - T_{n,m}^{*}\|_{p,\phi_{n}} + \|\delta_{n,m}(T_{n,m}^{*} - f)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \\ &\leq E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\phi_{n}} + c(p)\|T_{n,m}^{*} - f\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \leq E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\phi_{n}} + c(p)E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\phi_{n}} \\ &= (1 + c(p))E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\phi_{n}} \leq (1 + c(p))C\omega^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \leq (1 + c(p))c\tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \quad \text{Thus} \\ \|f(.,.) - \delta_{n,m}(f)\|_{p,\phi_{n}} \leq (1 + c(p))c\tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_{n}} \quad \blacksquare \end{split}$$

## **Corollary 2.14:**

If 
$$f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$$
,  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$  and from Theorem 2.13 we have  
 $\|f(.,.) - \delta_{n,m}(f)\|_{p,\phi_n} \le (1+c(p)) c\omega^k (f,\delta)_{p,\phi_n}$ 

Then by using Lemma 2.10 we have that

$$\left\|f(.,.)-\delta_{n,m}(f)\right\|_{p,\phi_n} \leq \left(1+c(p)\right)c\delta^k \left\|f^{(k)}\right\|_{p,\phi_n} \qquad \blacksquare$$

## Theorem 2.15:

761  
If 
$$f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$$
,  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ , we get

$$\begin{split} \left\| f(.,.) - V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f,.,.) \right\|_{p,\phi_n} &\leq \left( 1 + L_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2} \right) c \tau^k(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_n} \text{, where} \\ L_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2} &= \frac{16}{\pi^4} \ln \frac{2n+p_1+1}{p_1+1} \cdot \ln \frac{2m+p_2+1}{p_2+1} + 0 \ (1) \end{split}$$

**Proof:** 

Let  $T_{n,m}^*(x, y)$  be the best multiplier approximation of function f(x, y).

Using linearity and bounded of  $V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}$  and  $V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(T_{n,m}^*) = T_{n,m}^*$ ,

Lemma 2.5, Theorem 2.12 and Lemma 2.11 we get

$$\begin{split} \left\|f(.,.) - V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,...)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &= \left\|f(.,.) - T_{n,m}^{*}(.,.) + T_{n,m}^{*}(.,.) - V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,...)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &\leq \left\|f(.,.) - T_{n,m}^{*}(...)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} + \left\|T_{n,m}^{*}(...) - V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,...)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &= \left\|f(...) - T_{n,m}^{*}(...)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} + \left\|V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(T_{n,m}^{*}) - V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f,...)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &\leq \left\|f - T_{n,m}^{*}\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} + \left\|V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(T_{n,m}^{*} - f)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \leq E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\emptyset_{n}} + L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}\left\|T_{n,m}^{*} - f\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &\leq E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\emptyset_{n}} + L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &= \left(1 + L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}\right)E_{n,m}(f)_{P,\emptyset_{n}} \leq \left(1 + L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}\right)c\omega^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \\ &\leq (1 + L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}})c\tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}}, \quad \text{where} \\ L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}} &= \frac{16}{\pi^{4}}\ln\frac{2n+p_{1}+1}{p_{1}+1}.\ln\frac{2m+p_{2}+1}{p_{2}+1} + O(1). \text{ Thus} \\ &\left\|f(.,.) - V_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}(f)\right\|_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \leq \left(1 + L_{n,p_{1}}^{m,p_{2}}\right)c\tau^{k}(f,\delta)_{p,\emptyset_{n}} \end{split}$$

## **Corollary 2.16:**

For  $f \in L_{p,\phi_n}(X)$ ,  $X = [-\pi,\pi] \times [-\pi,\pi]$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ , and from Theorem 2.15 we get  $\left\| f(.,.) - V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f) \right\|_{p,\phi_n} \le (1 + L_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}) c \omega^k(f,\delta)_{p,\phi_n}$ 

762

 $\left\|f(.,.) - V_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}(f)\right\|_{p,\phi_n} \le \left(1 + L_{n,p_1}^{m,p_2}\right) c \delta^k \left\|f^{(k)}\right\|_{p,\phi_n} \quad \blacksquare$ 

Then by using Lemma 2.10 we have

#### References

[1] Hardy G., "Divergent Series ", Clarendon Press, Oxford, first ed. P.128, P. 235, (1949).

[2] Jassim S. K. and Abeer M. Salih , A Thesis "Multiplier approximation of unbounded functions by Bernstein –Durrmeyer operators " Mustansiriyh University Coll. of Sci. Department of Math.(2017).
[3] Jassim S. K. and Ali H. Zaboon , A Thesis "Multiplier approximation of Periodic unbounded functions Using Trigonometric Operators " Mustansiriyh University Coll. of Sci. Department of Math.(2020).

[4] Jafarov S. "Approximation of functions by de la Vallee-Poussin sums in weighted Orlicz spaces". Arabian Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 5, No. 3, PP. 125-137, (2016).

[5] Al-Btoush and Al-Khaled, (Received October 25-1999; Revised April 7, 2000),"Approximation of periodic functions by Vallee-Poussin sums", Hokkaido Mathematical Journal Vol.30, PP. 269-282, Jordan University of Science and Technology.

[6] Vasil A. Popov and Sendov B. "Averaged moduli of smoothness", Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, (1988).

[7] Dahmen R. De Vore and K. Scherer, "Multi-Dimensional Spline Approximation ", Vol. 17, No.3, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, (1980).

[8] Jassim S. K.and Mohamed J. "Direct and inverse inequalities for Jackson polynomial of  $2\pi$ -periodic bounded measurable functions in Locally –Global norms ", Dep. of Math., Coll. of Science, Unv. Of AL-Mustansiryah, Vol. 23,(2010).

## Presentation of the subgroups of Mathieu Group using Groupoid

## 13 Nisreen Alokbi<sup>1</sup>, Faik Mayah<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>College of computer science and IT, University of Wasit.

<sup>2</sup> College of science, University of Wasit

E-mail: e-mail <sup>1</sup>nisreen.alokbi@gmail.com, <sup>2</sup>faik.mayah@gmail.com.

**Abstract.** Mathieu groups are one type of the sporadic simple groups, they turn out not to be isomorphic to any member of the infinite families of finite simple groups. Study these groups is interesting since their orders are very high. Groupoid can be used to find the presentation of the subgroups of the Mathieu groups. The idea is creating a groupoid by acting the Mathieu group on a subset of this group and then calculating the presentation of the vertex group of the groupoid which represents the presentation of the subgroup as the vertex groups are isomorphic.

#### 1. Introduction

Émile Léonard Mathieu (1861, 1873) introduced a special type of groups, they are multiply transitive permutation groups on *n* objects ( $n \in \{11, 12, 22, 23, 24\}$ ). The Mathieu groups were the first five sporadic simple groups to be discovered and they are denoted by  $M_{11}$ ,  $M_{12}$ ,  $M_{23}$ ,  $M_{23}$  and  $M_{24}$  [7].

Groups that act on sets of 9, 10, 20, and 21 points, respectively are denoted by  $M_9$ ,  $M_{10}$ ,  $M_{20}$  and  $M_{21}$ . These group are not sporadic simple groups but they are subgroups of the larger groups and can be used to construct the larger ones. One can extend this sequence up to obtain the Mathieu groupoid  $M_{13}$  acting on 13 points. Also  $M_{21}$  which is simple group, but is not a sporadic group, being isomorphic to projective special linear group PSL(3,4) [5].

Table 1 is showing the orders of the Mathieu group.

Mathieu Group	Order
11	7920
12	95040
22	443520
23	10200960
24	244823040

<b>Table 1.</b> Order table of the Mathieu	groups
--	--------

 $M_{12}$  has a maximal simple subgroup of order 660 which is isomorphic to PSL2( $F_{11}$ ) over the field of 11 elements.  $M_{11}$  is the stabilizer of a point in  $M_{12}.M_{10}$ , the stabilizer of two points, is not sporadic, but is an almost simple group whose commutator subgroup is the alternating group  $A_6$ . The stabilizer of 3 points is the projective special unitary group PSU(3,22). The stabilizer of 4 points is the quaternion group. Also,  $M_{24}$  has a simple subgroup of order 6072 which is a maximal subgroup and it is isomorphic to PSL2( $F_{23}$ ). The stabilizers of 1 and 2 points,  $M_{23}$  and  $M_{22}$  also becomes sporadic simple groups. The stabilizer of 3 points is simple and isomorphic to PSL3(4) (the projective special linear group) [4, 8].

We will try to find a presentation of a subgroup of Mathieu group by construction first a finitely presented groupoid by acting the Mathieu group on the set that generate the subgroup of the Mathieu group and then finding the presentation of the vertex group of the groupoid.

The groupoid is an algebraic structure which is a generalization of the group. It is a category in which all arrows are isomorphisms. So a group is a groupoid with one object and arrows the elements of the group.

In the context of topology, the best example of groupoid is the fundamental groupoid of a topological space in which the objects set is a set of point taken from the space and an arrow from point a to point b to be equivalence classes of paths from a to b [3]. This is generalisation of the idea of the fundamental group.

In this paper, we construct a groupoid whose objects set is the left cosets

 $gH = \{mh \mid h \text{ an element } H\}$ 

and m is an element in M (Mathieu group) and H is a subgroup of M. The morphism of the groupoid is induced by the group action, more details later.

#### **2.** Groupoids and vertex group

2.1. Groupoids, free groupoids and finitely presented groupoids

A groupoid is a special type of category which is a generalization of a group.

**Definition 2.1.** [6] A groupoid is a category in which for each morphism (arrow)f : A B there is a morphism (arrow)f = B A such that  $f f = 1_B$ ,  $f = 1_A$ . The morphism  $f^{-1}$  is called the inverse of f.

A groupoid is *connected* if for each pair of objects A and B Obj() there is at least one arrow w Arr() (with the property source(w) = A and target(w) = B.

The notion "free groupoid" is the corner stone of this work. Since for any free groupoid there is an underlying graph (directed graph). So let us recall the definition and required mathematical fact that help to construct such free groupoid.

**Definition 2.2.** A directed graph  $\Gamma = (V, E, s, t)$  consists of a set V called the set of vertices, a set E called the set of edges of  $\Gamma$  and two functions s,  $t : E \to V$ . The vertex s(e) is the source of an edge  $e \in E$ . The vertex t(e) is the target of an edge  $e \in E$ .

A map of directed graphs  $(V, E, s, t) \rightarrow (V', E', s', t')$  consists of functions  $f_1 : V \rightarrow V', f_2 :$ 

 $E \rightarrow E'$  such that  $s(f_2(e)) = f_1(s(e))$  and  $t(f_2(e)) = f_1(t(e))$  for all  $e \in E$ .

**Definition 2.3.** The disjoint union  $\Gamma = \Gamma_1 H \Gamma_2$  of directed graphs  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  with disjoint vertex sets  $V(\Gamma_1)$  and  $V(\Gamma_2)$  and edge sets  $E(\Gamma_1)$  and  $E(\Gamma_2)$  is the directed graph with  $V(\Gamma) = V(\Gamma_1) UV(\Gamma_2)$  and  $E(\Gamma) = E(\Gamma_1) UE(\Gamma_2)$ .

**Definition 2.4.** A maximal tree T of a directed graph  $\Gamma$  is a subgraph which includes every vertex of  $\Gamma$  and contains no cycle.

Let *raphs* denote the category whose objects are directed graphs and whose morphisms are maps of directed graphs. Let *roupoids* denote the category whose objects are groupoids and whose morphisms are functors between groupoids. There is a functor

$$U: Groupoids \to Graphs \tag{1}$$

which simply forgets the partial	composition on a groupoid. If	is a
groupoid, then the vertices of	() are precisely the objects of	. The
directed edges of	$G^{()}$ are the arrows of $U \cdot G$	G

There is a functor

$$F: Graphs \to Groupoids \tag{2}$$

 $s_{i+1}$ 

where for a directed graph  $\Gamma$ , the groupoid  $F^{(\Gamma)}$  is characterized, up to isomorphism, by the following universal property.

Universal property of a free groupoid on  $\Gamma$ . There is a map of directed graphs  $\iota: \Gamma$  ( $(\Gamma)$ ). For any groupoid and any map of directed graphs  $f: \Gamma$  () there exists a unique groupoid morphism  $\overline{f}: (\Gamma)$  for which the following diagram commutes in the category of directed graphs.



U(G)

We call  $F(\Gamma)$  the *free groupoid* on  $\Gamma$ . The existence of  $F(\Gamma)$  is established by an explicit

construction in terms of words  $x^{s_1}x_2^{s_2}...x^{s_n}$  where  $s = \pm 1, x_i \in E(\Gamma)$ , and  $s(x^{s_i}) = t(x + 1)$ . When the directed graph  $\Gamma$  has just a single vertex we say that  $F(\Gamma)$  is the free group on the set  $E(\Gamma)$ .

#### **Proposition 2.1.** $F(\Gamma)$ is unique up to isomorphism of groupoids. Proof.

For simplicity we denote U(G) by G for any groupoid G.

Let  $\Gamma$  be a directed graph, and let  $F(\Gamma)$  and  $F'(\Gamma)$  be free groupoids on  $\Gamma$ . Let  $\iota : \Gamma \to F(\Gamma)$  be a map, and another map  $\iota' = \Gamma \to F'(\Gamma)$ . By the universal property of free groupoid there is a unique groupoid morphism  $\overline{\iota} = F(\Gamma) \to F'(\Gamma)$  such that the following digram



By uniqueness,  $\overline{\iota}' \circ \overline{\iota} = 1_{F(\Gamma)}$ . Similarly,  $\overline{\iota} \circ \overline{\iota}' = 1_{F'(\Gamma)}$ . Therefore,  $F(\Gamma)$  is isomorphic to

\_

 $F^{J}(\Gamma)$ 

Let be a groupoid with object set Obj() = V. Let be a discrete subgroupoid of with the same object set Obj() = V. Thus every arrow of is an above of and is closed under groupoid composition. The collection of groups (v, v) v V is an example of a discrete subgroupoid of . We say that a discrete subgroupoid is *normal* in *if* (v, v) is a normal subgroup of (v, v) for each v V. Given a discrete normal subgroupoid isomorphism by the following universal property.

Universal property of a quotient groupoid. There is a morphism of groupoids  $\varphi$ : For any groupoid with object set Obj() = V, and for any that is the identity on V and that Gend Qeach element of groupoids  $\psi'$ : /  $G = N \rightarrow Q$  such that the following diagram in the category of groupoids commutes.

φ



**Proposition 2.2.** For discrete N, G/N is unique up to isomorphism of groupoids.

*Proof.* Similar to the proof of the proposition 2.1.

Deftnition 2.5. We say that a set <u>r</u> of arrows in a discrete subgroupoid N normally generates

N if any normal discrete subgroupoid of G containing <u>r</u> also contains the subgroupoid N.

Let Graph  $\Gamma = (V, \underline{x}, s, t)$ , and suppose that there is a morphism of groupoids

$$\varphi: F(\Gamma) \prec G \tag{3}$$

\_\_\_\_

that is the identity on objects and that is surjective on arrows. By ker  $\varphi$  we mean the groupoid with vertex set V and with arrows those elements <u>r</u> in  $F(\Gamma)$  mapping to an identity arrow  $1_{s(r)}$ in G. The groupoid ker  $\varphi$  is a discrete normal subgroupoid and  $F(\underline{x})$ /ker  $\varphi$  is isomorphic to G. Let <u>r</u> be a set of elements in ker  $\varphi$  that normally generates ker  $\varphi$ . The data  $(\underline{x} \mid \underline{r})$  is called a *free presentation* of the groupoid G.

2.2. Vertex group

Let G be a groupoid with object set Obj(G) = V. For each object (vertex)  $v \in V$  we let G(v, v) denote the group of arrows with source and target equal to v. We refer to G(v, v) as the vertex group or isotropy group or object group at v. The vertex group G(v, v) actually is a subgroupoid consisting of one object v and all arrows of the form  $v \to v$ .

Let G be a connected groupoid, we can define a homomorphism

$$\theta: G \to G(v, v) \tag{4}$$

in the following sense.

Let  $\Gamma$  be the generating graph of G, (i.e.  $F(\Gamma) = G$ ), and let T be a maximal tree in  $\Gamma$ . The tree T generates a subgroupoid H of G, which called a *tree of groupoid*. The map  $\theta$  is defined as

$$\theta(a) = v \qquad a \in Obj(G)$$
  

$$\theta(w) = xwy, \ w \in Arr(G), \ x, \ y \in H \qquad (5)$$
  
768

such that t(y) = s(w), s(x) = t(w) and s(y) = t(x) = v.

For c,  $d \in H$  (such that s(c) = t(d) = u and t(c) = s(d) = v), the product  $dc = 1_u$ . Its obvious that the map  $\theta$  maps the whole H onto  $1_v$ .

**Proposition 2.3.** The vertex groups of a connected groupoid are allisomorphic.

*Proof.* Let *G* be a groupoid with Obj(G) = V. Let  $v \in V$  and G(v, v) is the vertex group on v. To prove that all vertex groups are isomorphic to G(v, v), let us choose any object  $w \in V$ , and any arrow x such that s(x) = v and t(x) = w. The map  $h \to xhx^{-1}$  is an isomorphism from the vertex group at G(v, v) to the vertex group at G(w, w).

**Theorem 2.1.** Let  $G = (\underline{x} | \underline{r})$  be a finitely presented connected groupoid. If G(v, v) is the vertex group at  $v \in Obj(G)$ , then  $G(v, v) = (\underline{x} | \underline{r} \cup t)$ , where  $\underline{x} = \{\theta(x) : x \in \underline{x}\}$  and  $\underline{r} = \{\theta(r) : r \in \underline{r}$ 

with expressing  $\theta(r)$  as a word  $x^{s_1}x^{s_2}...x^{s_k}$ ,  $x_i \in \underline{x}^r$ ,  $s_i \in \pm 1$  and  $t = \{t : t \text{ edge in a maximal }$ 

*tree of G* $\}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\underline{x} = (V, E, s, t)$  be a connected directed graph. Let  $F(\underline{x})$  denote the free groupoid on

1 2 k

<u>x</u>. An arrow  $r \in Arr(F(\underline{x}))$  is said to be a *loop* if s(r) = t(r). Let <u>r</u> denote a set of loops in the groupoid  $F(\underline{x})$ . Let <u>R</u> denote the normal subgroupoid of  $F(\underline{x})$  generated by <u>x</u>.

The data  $(\underline{x} | \underline{r})$  is a presentation for the quotient groupoid

$$G = F(\underline{x})/R.$$

Let t denote a maximal tree in the graph <u>x</u>. Fix some vertex v V. Then each vertex w V determines a unique simple path p(w) in the tree t with  $s(p(w)) \in w$  and t(p(w)) = v. In other words, p(w) is a path in t from w to v.

For each arrow *a* in the groupoid  $F(\underline{x})$  let us set

$$\theta(a) = p(s(a))^{-1} * a * p(t(a)).$$

Thus  $\theta(a)$  is a loop in the groupoid (<u>x</u>) with source and target equal to v. Now define F

$$\underline{x}' = \{\theta(a) : a \text{ is a directed edge in } \underline{x} \text{ and } a \mid \xi t \}, \underline{r}' = \{\theta(a) : a \text{ is an arrow in } \underline{r} \}.$$

Note that  $\underline{x}^{\prime}$  is a free generating set for the free group (v, v). here we are writing =  $(\underline{x})$  and letting (v, v) denote the vertex group at v. F F F

Note that  $\underline{r}' \not \in$  a subset of  $\mathcal{F}^{(v,v)}$ . Let  $\mathcal{R}^{(v,v)}$  denote the normal subgroup of  $\mathcal{F}^{(v,v)}$  normally generated by  $\underline{r}'$ .

We can now regard  $(\underline{x}' | \underline{r}')$  as a free presentation for the finitely presented group

$$F(v, v)/R(v, v)$$
.

To prove the theorem we need to see that (v, v)/(v, v) is isomorphic to the vertex group (v, v) in . F R

There is a G canonical set theoretic function  $\lambda' : \underline{x} \to G$ . This function induces a group homomorphism

$$\lambda: F(v, v) \to G(v, v)$$

The kernel of  $\lambda$ , by definition, consists of all loops in (<u>x</u>) at v that can be written as a product of conjugates of loops in <u>r</u>. So clearly the kernel of  $\lambda$  is normally generated by <u>r'</u> and the proof is complete.

The theorem and propositions above are in **GAP** as a part of the package FpGd

[2] available in GitHub website [1].

#### 3. Group actions produce a groupoid

**Proposition 3.1.** Suppose that a group *tt* acts on a set *S* and that *x* is a set of generators for *tt*. Then the groupoid Gpd(tt, S) is generated by the collection of arrows  $\underline{x} \times S = \{(x, s) : x \in \underline{x}, s \in S\}$ .

*Proof.* An arbitrary arrow (g, s) in Gpd(tt, S) can be expressed as

$$(x^{s_1}, x^{s_2}...x^{s_n}s)(x^{s_2}, x^{s_3}...x^{s_n}s)...(x^{s_n-1}, x^{s_n}s)(x^{s_n}, s)$$

$$1 \quad 2 \quad n \qquad \qquad 2 \quad 3 \quad n$$

where

$$g = x^{s_1} x^{s_2} \dots x^{s_n}$$

1 2 *n* 

and  $x_i \in \underline{x}, s_i = \pm 1$ . If  $s_i = -1$  then

$$(x^{-1}, s) = (x, x^{-1}s)^{-1}.$$
  
i i

Each arrow in Gpd(tt, S) is a sequence of arrows in  $\underline{x} \times S$ .

\_

\_

Let *tt* be a group with subgroup *U*. Let  $tt/U = \{gU : g \in tt\}$  denote the collection of left cosets  $gU = \{{}^{g}u : u \in U\}$ . There is an action of *tt* on the set X = tt/U given by  $(g, hU) \rightarrow ghU$  for *g*,  $h \in tt$ . This action gives rise to a groupoid Gpd(tt, U).

**Proposition 3.2.** For a group tt and subgroup U the groupoid Gpd(tt, U) is connected and all vertex groups are isomorphic to U.

*Proof.* The object set of the groupoid Gpd(tt, U) is

 $\{U, U_1, ..., U_n\},$  where n = Index(U) - 1.

Since any coset  $U_i = y_i U$  for some  $y_i \in tt$ , the groupoid is

connected.

To prove that all vertex groups are isomorphic to U, let us choose any object  $U_i$  and any element

 $x = x^{s_1} \dots x^{s_n}$  such that  $x^{s_2} \dots x^{s_n} U_n = U_i$ . The map  $h \to x^{-1} hx$  is an isomorphism between the

vertex group at U to the vertex group at  $U_i$ .

**Proposition 3.3.** Let  $tt = x \ r$  be a finitely presented group with finite index subgroup U. Then the groupoid G = Gpd(tt, U) is finitely presented as follows. The objects of G are the left cosets gU. The generators of G are the arrows (x, gU) for  $x \in \underline{x}$ . Each relator

 $r = x^{s_1} x^{s_2} \dots x^{s_n} \in \underline{r}$  and coset gU give rise to a word

1 2 *n* 

$$\begin{pmatrix} r, g U_{3} = \\ x^{3p}, x^{2} \cdots \\ x^{3n} g U_{3n-1} \\ y, x^{g} U_{3n-1} \\ x^{n} g U \\ \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x^{n}, g U \\ x^{n}, g U \\ x^{n}, g U \end{pmatrix}$$

$$1 \quad 2 \quad n \qquad n-1 \quad n \qquad n$$

(6)

in the groupoid generators. These words (r, gU) are the relators for the groupoid.

*Proof.* Let  $F(\underline{x})$  be the free group on  $\underline{x}$ . Let R denote the normal subgroup of F normally generated by  $\underline{r}$ . It yields

$$F/R \cong tt = (\underline{x} \mid \underline{r})$$

Let U be a subgroup of the group tt and let tt/U be the set of left cosets of U in tt.

Let G denote the finitely presented groupoid Gpd(tt, U). By definition G is generated by the set

 $\underline{x}^{\prime} = \{(x, gU) \mid x \in \underline{x}, gU \in tt/U\}.$ 

Let *F* be the free groupoid generated by  $\underline{x}'$  (i.e. F = Gpd(F, U)). So each arrow *a* F can be expressed as  $\epsilon$ 

 $a = (g_i, S_j),$ 

where  $S_i \in F/U$  and

s s s

There is a groupoid homomorphism  $\varphi: F \to G$  such that the kernel of  $\varphi$  consists of all arrows of the form  $(g_i, gU)$  for which the source and target is gU. That means  $\varphi(g_i) = 1_{gU}$  and that yields  $g_i \in R$ . It is readily seen that  $(\underline{r}) = R$ .

\_

#### 4. Algorithms and implementation

In order to get the presentation of a subgroup H of a finite fp group tt, we need to create an fp groupoid induced by the group action of tt on H. We then evaluate the vertex group on the subgroup under consideration. This is one of the applications of the groupoid techniques. We implement Propositions 3.1 and

3.3 This implementation follows the Algorithm 1.

Algorithm 1: Fp groupoid induced by group action

Result: Fp groupoid

proced
ure
obj(G)
= tt/H;
gens(G)
= [ ];
for x in
 GeneratorsOfGroup(tt) do
 for c in obj(G) do

add(gens(G), c);

#### **14 end**

#### end

rels(*G*) = [];

for r in RelatorsOfFpGroup(tt) do for c in obj(G) do

add(rels(G), c);

#### 15 end

end

**return** *FpGroupoid(obj(G), gens(G), rels(G))*;

#### **16 end procedure**

**Example 4.1.** Consider the Mathieu group  $M_{11}$  which is generated by two generators, say *a* and *b*. Let  $L = [a^{-1}ba, (ab)^{-1}b]$  is a set of some members of  $M_{11}$ . The presentation for the subgroup  $S = M_{11}/L$  can be calculated using our algorithm which is implemented in GAP as a function FpGroupoid, the input Mathieu group *M* and a subgroup *S M* and it returns a presentation for the groupoid  $G(M_{cr} S)$  and finally calculate the presentation for the vertex group, using our GAP function VertexGroup which serves as the presentation for the subgroup *S*.

$$S = (x, y | (yx)^2, x^4, y^4, yx^2yx^{-1}y))$$

The calculation is shown in the following GAP session:

gap> M:=MathieuGroup(11);;

gap> H:=Image(IsomorphismFpGroup(M)) ;; gap>h:=GeneratorsOfGroup(H);;

gap> L:=[h[1]^-1\*h[2]\*h[1],h[2]^-1\*h[1]^-1\*h[2]]; [ a^-1\*b\*a, b^-1\*a^-1\*b]

gap> U:=Subgroup(H,L);

Group( $[a^{-1*b*a}, b^{-1*a^{-1*b}}])$ 

gap>G:=FpGroupoid(H,L);;

gap>v:=Source(GeneratorsOfGroupoid(G)[1]);;

gap> S:=VertexGroup(G,v);; S:=SimplifiedFpGroup(S);

<fp group on the generators [ f1, f2 ]> gap> RelatorsOfFpGroup(S);

[ (f2\*f1)^2, f1^4, f2^4, f2\*f1^2\*f2\*f1^-1\*f2 ]

#### **17 References**

- [1] N. Alokbi. FpGd Finitely Presented Groupoid (GAP package), 2019. https: //github.com/nalokbi/FpGd.
- [2] N. Alokbi and G. Ellis. Distributed computation of low-dimensional cup products.
- [2] N. Alobi and O. Ellis. Distributed computation of low-dimensional cup products. Homology, Homotopy and Applications, 20(2):41–59, 2018.
  [3] R. Brown. Topology and groupoids. 2006. Third edition of Elements of modern topology [McGraw-Hill, New York, 1968], <u>http://groupoids.org.uk.</u>
  [4] Carmichael, Robert D. (1956) [1937], Introduction to the theory of groups of finite order, New York: Dover Publications, ISBN 978-0-486-60300-1, MR 0075938
- [5] Conway, John Horton; Parker, Richard A.; Norton, Simon P.; Curtis, R. T.; Wilson, Robert A. (1985), Atlas of finite groups, Oxford University Press, ISBN 978-0-19-853199-9, MR 0827219
- [6] P. J. Higgins. Categories and groupoids, 1971.
- [7] Mathieu, Émile (1873), "Sur la fonction cinq fois transitive de 24 quantités", Journal de Mathématiques Pures

et Appliquées (in French), 18: 25-46, JFM 05.0088.01

[8] Dixon, John D.; Mortimer, Brian (1996), Permutation groups, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 163, Berlin, New York: Springer-Verlag, doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-0731-3, ISBN 978-0-387-94599-6, MR 1409812

## Iteration Variational Method for Solving Two-Dimensional Partial Integro-Differential Equations

## <sup>(1)</sup>AMINA KASSIM HUSSAIN, <sup>(2)</sup>FADHEL SUBHI FADHEL, <sup>(3)</sup>NURSALASAWATI RUSLI, <sup>(3)</sup>ZAINOR RIDZUAN YAHYA

Mustansiriyah University, Material Engineering Department, 10052 Baghdad, Iraq <sup>(2)</sup>Al-Nahrain University, College of Science, Mathematics and

<sup>(3)</sup>Universiti Malaysia Perlis, Institute of Engineering Mathematics,02600 Arau,Perlis,Malysia

Email:<sup>1</sup>amina1975 kas@yahoo.com,amina.kass@uomustansiriyah.edu.iq,<sup>2</sup>fsf@sc.nahra inuniv.edu.iq, dr\_fadhel67@yahoo.com <sup>3</sup>nursalasawati@unimap.edu.my,<sup>3</sup>zainoryahya@unimap.edu.my

## ABSTRACT

The two-dimensional integro-differential partial equations is one of the so difficult problems to be solved analytically and/or approximately, and therefore, a method that is efficient for solving such type of problems seems to be necessary. Therefore, in this paper, the iteration methods, which is so called the variational iteration method have been used to provide a solution to such type of problems approximately, in which the obtained results are very accurate in comparison with the exact solution for certain well selected examples which are constructed so that the exact solution exist. Main results of this work is to derive first the variational iteration formula and then analyzing analytically the error term and prove its convergence to zero as the number of iteration increases.

**Keywords:** Variational Iteration Method, Partial Integro-Differential Equations, Two-Dimensional Integro-Differential Partial Equation.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

In applied mathematics, an interesting attempts that concerning real life phenomena's usually leads to functional equations, such as ordinary and differential partial equations, integro-differential and integral equations and others [1], [2]. Several formulations that are mathematical of such phenomena leads to integrodifferential equations [3], [4

]. In some cases, the solution that is analytical could cause difficulty to evaluate; for this reason, approximate and numerical methods appear to be helpful to use which highlight the problem that is under consideration. Mathematicians focus their attention on the development of more efficient and advanced and methods for integrodifferential and integral equations, such as semi numerical analytical techniques, Adomian's decomposition method, method of homotopy perturbation. The Homotopy method perturbation and the method of Adomian's decomposition were used for the solution of integral equation by Poushokouhi etal.[5], variational iteration method (VIM) have been used by Xu L. for the solution of Fredholm and Volterra Integral equations of the second type [6] and for solving Volterra integral equations by Abbasbandy [7], while for the two-dimensional integro-differential and integral equations equation which is an extension of the previously proposed methods for solving one-dimensional cases. Also, there is many studies has been done for the solution of a class of two-dimensional problems for example using the VIM for solving mixed nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equation [8], by using transform method that is deferential for the solution of nonlinear and linear two-dimension Volterra integral equations [9], solving two-dimensional Volterra integral equations by using iterated collocation and collocation method [10], providing a solution of a class of two-dimensional nonlinear Volterra integral equations by using Legendre polynomials [11], providing a solution of mixed nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equations by using a method that is direct [12].

Whenever very little attempts have been paid to give a solution to the partial twodimensional integral equations, for example, d'Halluin in 2004 [13] solved the integro-differential two-dimensional equations by using a semi-Lagrangian approach. The VIM that has been proposed by Ji-Huan recently. In 1998 he studied and used intensively by several engineers and scientists, which is favorably applied to several types of nonlinear and linear problems.

In this paper, the VIM will be used to provide a solution to partial twodimensional integro-differential equations in which the analysis is based on deriving first the iterated formulas for evaluating the sequence of iterated approximate solutions, and then it will be used to prove the obtained sequence convergence to the precise solution.

The method may be considered as a modified approach to the method of General Lagrange multiplier into a method of iteration in correction with variational approach to derive the so called the correction functional, where the form of considered integrodifferential two-dimensional equation is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} = g(x,t) + \int_{x_0}^{x} \int_{t_0}^{t} k(u(s,y)) \, dy \, ds \,, \, x \in [0,b], \, t \in [0,T] \qquad \dots (1)$$

with the condition that is initial:

 $u(x,0) = u_0(x)$ 

where k is represents function of kernel, g is the function that is given and u stands for real unknown function to be evaluated.

Several studies were achieved to compare the method of VIM with available techniques, and it is reflected by all that this method gives precise solutions that are faster than other methods, in which the concept of convergence has been emonstrated to be an amount that is substantial for work of research and the studies of the VIM have been directed by many remarkable researchers, [14].

The VIM has been applied successfully to many kinds of problem, for instance, He first proposed the VIM to provide a solution for the nonlinear and linear integral and differential equations. In 1998, He used this method to solve some well known problems for example the classical Blasiu's equation with more accurate results and then extensively used in 1999 by him to study and solve some non-linear well known problems. In 2000, VIM was used by him to solve systems of autonomous differential

...(2)

ordinary equations. In 2006, Soliman applied the VIM to solve equation of kdv-Burger and then to solve equation Lax's seventh-order, Abulwafa and Momani used the VIM to give a solution to coagulation nonlinear problem that is with mass loss. In addition, in 2006, Odibat et al used the VIM to give a solution differential nonlinear equations of order that is fractional and the VIM has been used to give a solution to several types of problems, such as providing a solution to nonlinear PDE's by Bildiki et al., for solving the equation of Fokker-Plank by Dehghan and Tateri, for solving differential equation of quadratic Riccati with constant coefficients by Abbasbandy. In 2007, Wang and He applied VIM to solve integro-differential equations, while Sweilam used VIM to solve boundary value problems of the nonlinear and linear fourth order equations that are integro-differential. In 2009, Wen-Hua Wang used the VIM to solve certain types of fractional integro-differential equations, [15], [16], [17]. Muhammet Kurrulay and Adin Secer in 2011 used the VIM to solve nonlinear integro-differential equations of fractional order, [18] and A.Husaain et al in 2016 applied the VIM for solving one-dimensional partial integro-differential equations,[19].

## 2. The Main Aspects of the VIM for Solving Two-Dimensional Integro-Differential Partial Equations

As it is said previously, the VIM which was suggested has been illustrated to easily and effectively solve a large class of nonlinear and linear problems, where it may happen that one or two iteration may result in accurate high solutions. Generally, procedure of the solution of the VIM is very operative, convenient and straightforward for most problems given in advanced forms as a functional form, [20,21].

The non-linear general equation below that is given in operator form could be regarded to show the basic idea of the VIM:

$$L(u(x)) + N(u(x)) = g(x), x \in [a,b]$$
...(3)

where L represents a linear operator, N stands for an operator nonlinear and g represents any function that is given and named the non-homogenous term.

Now, rewrite equation (3) as shown below

$$L(u(x)) + N(u(x)) - g(x) = 0 \qquad ...(4)$$

and let  $u_n$  be the n-th equation approximate solution (4), and it is then shown as follows:

$$L(u_n(x)) + N(u_n(x)) - g(x) = 0$$

and therefore the functional correction connected with equation (5), is provided by:

$$u_{n+1}(x) = u_n(x) + \int_a^x \lambda(s) \left\{ L(u_n(s) + N(\tilde{u}_n(s)) - g(s)) \right\} ds, n = 0, 1, \dots$$
(6)

...(5)

where  $\lambda$  is recognized as the general Lagrange multiplier, which can be optimally specified by the calculus of variation theory, and  $\tilde{u}_n$  is regarded as a variation that is restricted that satisfy  $\delta \tilde{u}_n = 0$ , [20].

Generally, it is plain now that the essential steps of the method of He's variational iteration require first optimal determination of the multiplier value of Lagrangian  $\lambda$ . After recognizing the multiplier of Lagrang, the approximations that are successive  $u_{n+1}$ , for all n = 0, 1, ... of the solution u will be obtained rapidly by the

use of any function that is selective  $u_0$ , which is favored to be equal to the terms that are non homogenous for the integral equations. Thus, it could be demonstrated that the solution  $u_n$  show convergence to the exact solution u as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ .

In the next theorem, the equation approximate solutions general form (1) by the use of the correction functional (6) is obtained which is based on the evaluation of the Lagrange multiplier that is general and that is connected with the integro-differential partial equation (1).

## Theorem (1):

Consider the nonlinear partial two-dimension integro-differential equation (1) with initial condition (2). Then the sequence of iterative approximate solutions using VIM is provided by:

$$u_{n+1}(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - \int_0^t \left[ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) - g(x,\xi) - \int_0^{x,\xi} \int_0^{x,\xi} k(\tilde{u}_n(s,y) \, dy \, ds \right] d\xi \qquad \dots (7)$$

for all n = 0, 1, ...

#### **Proof:**

The correction that is functional (6) connected with equation (1) is provided by:

$$u_{n+1}(x,t) = u_n(x,t) + \int_0^t \lambda \left[ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) - g(x,\xi) - \int_0^x \int_0^\xi k(\tilde{u}_n(s,y)) \, dy \, ds \right] d\xi \qquad \dots (8)$$

where  $\lambda$  represents the general Lagrange multiplier, that must be evaluated using calculus that is variational, the subscript n indicates the  $n^{\text{th}}$  approximation and  $\tilde{u}_n(t)$  is regarded as the variation that is restricted.

Now, by having the first variation  $\delta$  with regard to  $u_n$  for the two sides of equation (8) and setting  $\delta u_n = 0$ , provides:

$$\delta u_{n+1}(x,t) = \delta u_n(x,t) + \delta \int_0^t \lambda(\xi) \left[ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) - g(x,\xi) - \int_0^x \int_0^x k(\tilde{u}_n(s,y)) \, dy \, ds \right] d\xi \qquad \dots (9)$$

and noting that  $\delta \tilde{u}_n = 0$ , which will consequently reduce equation (9) to:

$$\delta u_{n+1}(x,t) = \delta u_n(x,t) + \delta \int_0^t \lambda(\xi) \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) d\xi \qquad \dots (10)$$

Thus, by using the integration method by parts, equation (10) will have the form:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \lambda(\xi) \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) d\xi = \lambda(\xi) u_n(x,\xi) - \int_{0}^{t} u_n(x,\xi) \lambda'(\xi) d\xi \qquad \dots (11)$$

and substituting equation (11) back into equation (10) will give:

$$\delta u_{n+1}(x,t) = \delta u_n(x,t) + \lambda(\xi)u_n(x,t) - \delta \int_0^t u_n(x,\xi)\lambda'(\xi) \,d\xi \qquad ...(12)$$

Consequently, the following stationary conditions is gained:

 $\lambda'(\xi) = 0 \tag{13}$ 

777

with initial condition:

$$1 + \lambda(\xi) \big|_{\xi=t} = 0 \qquad \dots (14)$$

Now, providing solution to the ordinary differential equation (13) will provide the general Lagrange multiplier value connected with equation (1) to be:

$$\lambda(\xi) = -1 \qquad \dots (15)$$

Consequently, substituting  $\lambda(\xi) = -1$  into the correction functional (8) will lead to the following approximate solution in the form that is iterated:

$$u_{n+1}(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - \int_0^t \left[ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) - g(x,\xi) - \int_0^x \int_0^x k(\tilde{u}_n(s,y) \, dy \, ds \right] d\xi \,. \quad \blacksquare$$

## **3.** Convergence of the Sequence of Approximate Iterated Solutions

In this section, the sequence convergence of approximate iterated solution (7) using the VIM for solving partial integro-differential two-dimensional equation will be demonstrated. The central proof idea depends on the evaluation of the error term upper bound between the exact approximate solution of equation (1) which is demonstrated to be zero as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ .

#### Theorem (2):

Let  $u, u_n \in C_t^n([a,b] \times [0,T])$  be the approximate and equation exact solutions (1) and (7), respectively. If  $E_n(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - u(x,t)$ , for all n = 0, 1, ... and the kernel k satisfies Lipschitz condition with constant M. Afterwards, the sequence of the approximate solutions  $\{u_n\}$ , n = 0, 1, ... shows convergence to the solution that is exact u.

#### **Proof:**

From theorem (1), the approximate solution using the VIM is provided by:

$$u_{n+1}(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - \int_0^t \left[ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) - g(x,\xi) - \int_0^x \int_0^\xi k(u_n(s,y)\,dy\,ds \right] d\xi \qquad \dots (16)$$

and since u is the exact solution of the equation (1), thus it satisfies VIM formula:

$$u(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{t}) = u(x,t) - \int_{0}^{t} \left[ \frac{\partial u(x,\xi)}{\partial \xi} - g(x,\xi) - \int_{0}^{x,\xi} \int_{0}^{\xi} k(u_n(s,y)dyds) \right] d\xi \qquad \dots (17)$$

Subtract u from  $u_{n+1}$  and recall that  $E_n(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - u(x,t)$ , indicate:

$$u_{n+1}(x,t) - u(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - u(x,t) - \int_0^t \left[ \frac{\partial u_n(x,\xi)}{\partial \xi} - \frac{\partial u(x,\xi)}{\partial \xi} - g(x,\xi) - g(x,\xi) - g(x,\xi) - \frac{x y}{\int \int k(u_n(s,y)) - k(u(s,y)) ds dy} \right] d\xi \qquad \dots (18)$$

Thus:

$$E_{n+1}(x,t) = E_n(x,t) - \int_0^t \left[ \frac{\partial E_n(x,\xi)}{\partial \xi} - \int_0^x \int_a^y k(u_n(s,y)) - k(u(s,y)) \, ds \, dy \right] d\xi \qquad \dots (19)$$

$$= E_n(x,t) - E_n(x,t) - E_n(x,0)^7 + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{x,\zeta} \left[ k(u_n(s,y)) - k(u(s,y)) \right] ds \, dy \, d\xi \qquad \dots (20)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{x\xi} \left[ k(u_n(s, y)) - k(u(s, y)) \right] ds \, dy \, d\xi \,, \text{ where } E_n(x, 0) = 0 \qquad \dots (21)$$

Taking the norm to the both equation sides (21), give:

$$\|E_{n+1}(x,t)\| = \left\| \iint_{000}^{t} \iint_{000}^{\xi} [k(u_{n}(s,y)) - k(u(s,y))] ds dy d\xi \right\| \qquad \dots (22)$$
  
$$\leq \iint_{000}^{t} \iint_{000}^{\xi} [k(u_{n}(s,y)) - k(u(s,y))] dy ds d\xi$$
  
$$\leq M \iint_{000}^{t} \iint_{000}^{\xi} [u_{n}(s,y) - u(s,y)] dy ds d\xi$$

Therefore:

$$\left\| E_{n+1(x,t)} \right\| \le M \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{x\xi} \int_{0}^{\xi} \left\| E_n(s,y) \right\| \, dy \, ds \, d\xi \,, \, \text{for all } n = 0, \, 1, \, \dots$$

Now, if n = 0, then:

$$\|E_{1}(x,t)\| \leq M \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{x\xi} \|E_{0}(s,y)\| \, dy \, ds \, d\xi$$
$$= M \|E_{0}(s,y)\| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{x\xi} dy \, ds \, d\xi$$
$$= M \|E_{0}(s,y)\| x \frac{t^{2}}{2!}$$

If n = 1, then:

$$\|E_{2}(x,t)\| \leq M \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{\xi} \|E_{1}(s,y)\| \, ds \, dy \, d\xi$$
$$\leq M^{2} \|E_{0}(s,y)\| \frac{x^{2}t^{4}}{4}$$

If n = 2, and then:

$$\|E_{3}(x,t)\| \leq M \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{x\xi} \|E_{2}(s,y)\| dy ds d\xi$$
$$\leq M^{3} \|E_{0}(s,y)\| \frac{x^{3}t^{6}}{6}$$

If n = 3, then:

$$\begin{split} \|E_4(x,t)\| &\leq M \int_{000}^{t} \int_{000}^{x\xi} ||E_3(s,y)|| dy ds d\xi \\ &\leq M^4 \left\| E_0(s,y) \right\| \frac{x^4 t^8}{12} \\ &\vdots \\ \|E_n(x,t)\| &\leq M^n \left\| E_0(x,t) \right\| \frac{x^n}{n!} \frac{t^{2n}}{(2n)!}, x \in [0,b], t \in [0,T] \end{split}$$

therefore having the supermom value of x and t over [0,b] and [0,T] respectively to obtain

$$\|E_n(x,t)\| \le M^n \|E_0(x,t)\| \frac{b^n}{n!} \frac{T^{2n}}{(2n)!}$$
  
and as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$  implies to  $E_n \longrightarrow 0$ , i.e.,  $u_n \longrightarrow u$ , as  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ .

#### 4. Illustrative Examples

In the present section, three examples that are illustrative are considered to examine the validity and illustrate the convergence of the variation iteration formula given by equation (8) for linear and nonlinear two-dimensional partial integrodifferential equations.

## Example (1):

Consider the linear partial integro-differential two-dimensional equation:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} = x + \frac{tx(t-x)(tx+3)}{6} + \int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{t} (s-y)u(s,y)\,dyds\,,\,(x,t) \in [0,1] \times [0,1] \qquad \dots (23)$$

with initial condition:

 $u(x,0) = 1, 0 \le x \le 1$ 

For the purpose of comparison, the exact solution of equation (23) is provided by:

u(x,t) = 1 + xt

Hence iteration formula of equation (23) that is related and variational is provided by:

$$u_{n+1}(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - \int_0^t \left[ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) - x - \frac{\xi x(\xi - x)(\xi x + 3)}{6} - \int_0^x \int_0^x (s - y) u_n(s,y) \, dy \, ds \right] d\xi$$

and consider the initial approximation  $u_0(x) = u(x,0) = 1$ , then:

$$u_{1}(x,t) = \frac{t^{4}x^{2}}{24} - \frac{t^{3}x^{3}}{18} + tx + 1$$

$$u_{2}(x,t) = \frac{t^{4}x^{2}}{24} - \frac{t^{3}x^{3}}{18} + tx - \frac{t^{3}x^{2}(100t^{4}x - 245t^{3}x^{2} + 168t^{2}x^{3} + 12600t - 16800x)}{302400} + 1$$

Table (1) presents the results that are numerical for the approximate and exact solutions u,  $u_1$ ,  $u_2$ ,  $u_3$  and  $u_4$  for different values of x and t between 0 and 1. While table (2) shows the absolute error between u and  $u_1$ ,  $u_2$ ,  $u_3$ ,  $u_4$ , respectively.

Numerical results of the approximate and exact solutions of example (1)						
x	Т	u(x,t)	$u_1(x,t)$	$u_2(x,t)$	$u_3(x,t)$	$u_4(x,t)$
0	0	1	1	1	1	1
0	0.25	1	1	1	1	1
0	0.5	1	1	1	1	1
0	0.75	1	1 780	1	1	1
0	1	1	1	1	1	1
0.25	0	1	1	1	1	1

 Table (1)

 Numerical results of the approximate and exact solutions of example (1)

0.25	0.25	1.0625	1.062497	1.0625	1.0625	1.0625
0.25	0.5	1.125	1.124932	1.125	1.125	1.125
0.25	0.75	1.1875	1.187225	1.1875	1.1875	1.1875
0.25	1	1.25	1.249295	1.25	1.25	1.25
0.5	0	1	1	1	1	1
0.5	0.25	1.125	1.125054	1.125	1.125	1.125
0.5	0.5	1.25	1.249783	1.25	1.25	1.25
0.5	0.75	1.375	1.373535	1.374999	1.375	1.375
0.5	1	1.5	1.49566	1.499993	1.5	1.5
0.75	0	1	1	1	1	1
0.75	0.25	1.1875	1.187958	1.1875	1.1875	1.1875
0.75	0.5	1.375	1.375366	1.374999	1.375	1.375
0.75	0.75	1.5625	1.560028	1.562496	1.5625	1.5625
0.75	1	1.75	1.739746	1.749968	1.75	1.75
1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	0.25	1.25	1.251736	1.249997	1.25	1.25
1	0.5	1.5	1.503472	1.499992	1.5	1.5
1	0.75	1.75	1.75	1.749985	1.75	1.75
1	1	2	1.986111	1.999924	2	2

<u>Table (2)</u> The absolute error between the approximate and exact solutions of example (1)

x	Т	$ u(x,t) - u_1(x,t) $	$ u(x,t)-u_2(x,t) $	$ u(x,t)-u_3(x,t) $	$ u(x,t) - u_4(x,t) $
0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0.25	0	0	0	0
0	0.5	0	0	0	0
0	0.75	0	0	0	0
0	1	0	0	0	0
0.25	0	0	0	0	0
0.25	0.25	0.000003	0	0	0
0.25	0.5	0.000068	0	0	0
0.25	0.75	0.000275	0	0	0
0.25	1	0.000705	0	0	0
0.5	0	0	0	0	0
0.5	0.25	0.000054	0	0	0
0.5	0.5	0.000217	0	0	0
0.5	0.75	0.001465	0	0	0
0.5	1	0.00434	0	0	0
0.75	0	0	0	0	0
0.75	0.25	0.000458	0	0	0
0.75	0.5	0.000366	0	0	0
0.75	0.75	0.002472	0	0	0
0.75	1	0.010254	0	0	0
1	0	0	0	0	0
1	0.25	0.001736	0	0	0
1	0.5	0.003472	0	0	0
1	0.75	0	0	0	0
1	1	0.013889	0	0	0

#### Example (2):

Consider the nonlinear partial two-dimensional integro-differential equation:

$$\frac{\partial u(x,t)}{\partial t} = x - \frac{t^2 x^2 (4tx+9)}{36} + \int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{t} \left[ sy + u^2(s,y) \right] dyds, (x,t) \in [0,1] \times [0,1] \qquad \dots (24)$$

with initial condition:

 $u(x,0) = 0, 0 \le x \le 1$ 

For the purpose of comparison, the equation exact solution (24) is provided by:

$$u(x,t) = xt$$

Thus the related the iteration variational formula of equation (24) is provided by:

$$u_{n+1}(x,t) = u_n(x,t) - \int_0^t \left[ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial \xi}(x,\xi) - x - \frac{\xi x(\xi - x)(\xi x + 3)}{6} - \int_0^x \int_0^x \left[ sy + u^2(s,y) \right] dy ds \right] d\xi$$

and consider the approximation that is initial  $u_0(x) = u(x,0) = 0$ , then:

$$u_{1}(x,t) = \frac{x(t^{3}x^{2} - 36)}{36} - \frac{t^{3}x^{3}}{12}$$
$$u_{2}(x,t) = \frac{t^{4}x^{3}}{36} - \frac{t^{7}x^{5}}{3780} + \frac{t^{10}x^{7}}{816480} - \frac{tx(t^{3}x^{2} - 36)}{36}$$
$$\vdots$$

Table (3) shows results that numerical for the approximate and exact solutions u,  $u_1$ ,  $u_2$ ,  $u_3$  and  $u_4$  for different values of x and t between 0 and 1. While table (4) presents the error that is absolute between the exact solution u and solutions that are approximate  $u_1$ ,  $u_2$ ,  $u_3$ ,  $u_4$ , respectively.

			The second s		j = j	- (-)
x	Т	u(x,t)	$u_1(x,t)$	$u_2(x,t)$	$u_3(x,t)$	$u_4(x,t)$
0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0.25	0	0	0	0	0
0	0.5	0	0	0	0	0
0	0.75	0	0	0	0	0
0	1	0	0	0	0	0
0.25	0	0	0	0	0	0
0.25	0.25	0.0625	0.062498	0.0625	0.0625	0.0625
0.25	0.5	0.125	0.124986	0.125	0.125	0.125
0.25	0.75	0.1875	0.187454	0.1875	0.1875	0.1875
0.25	1	0.25	0.249891	0.25	0.25	0.25
0.5	0	0	0	0	0	0
0.5	0.25	0.125	0.124973	0.125	0.125	0.125
0.5	0.5	0.25	0.249783	0.25	0.25	0.25
0.5	0.75	0.375	0.374268	0.375	0.375	0.375
0.5	1	0.5	0.498264	0.499998	0.5	0.5
0.75	0	0	0	0	0	0
0.75	0.25	0.1875	0.187363	0.1875	0.1875	0.1875
0.75	0.5	0.375	0.373901	0.374999	0.375	0.375
0.75	0.75	0.5625	0.558792 782	0.562492	0.5625	0.5625
0.75	1	0.75	0.741211	0.749965	0.75	0.75
1	0	0	0	0	0	0

 Table (3)

 Numerical results of the approximate and exact solutions of example (2)

1	0.25	0.25	0.249566	0.25	0.25	0.25
1	0.5	0.5	0.496528	0.499992	0.5	0.5
1	0.75	0.75	0.738281	0.749937	0.75	0.75
1	1	1	0.972222	0.999737	0.999999	1

 Table (4)

 The absolute error between the approximate and exact solutions of example (2)

x	Т	$ u(x,t)-u_1(x,t) $	$ u(x,t)-u_2(x,t) $	$ u(x,t)-u_3(x,t) $	$ u(x,t)-u_4(x,t) $
0	0	0	0	0	0
0	0.25	0	0	0	0
0	0.5	0	0	0	0
0	0.75	0	0	0	0
0	1	0	0	0	0
0.25	0	0	0	0	0
0.25	0.25	0.000002	0	0	0
0.25	0.5	0.000014	0	0	0
0.25	0.75	0.000046	0	0	0
0.25	1	0.000109	0.000002	0	0
0.5	0	0	0	0	0
0.5	0.25	0.000027	0	0	0
0.5	0.5	0.000217	0.000001	0	0
0.5	0.75	0.000732	0.000008	0	0
0.5	1	0.001736	00.000035	0	0
0.75	0	0	0	0	0
0.75	0.25	0.000137	0	0	0
0.75	0.5	0.001099	0.000001	0	0
0.75	0.75	0.003708	0.00008	0	0
0.75	1	0.008789	0.000035	0	0
1	0	0	0	0	0
1	0.25	0.000434	0	0	0
1	0.5	0.003472	0.000008	0	0
1	0.75	0.011719	0.000063	0	0
1	1	0.027778	0.000263	0.000001	0

#### **5.** Conclusions

This paper has two main goals. The first goal is to employ the variational iteration method to investigate nonlinear and linear two-dimensional equations that are Volterra integro-differential and partial as well as studying the convergence of this method. The second goal is to show significant features of this method and its power. The VIM gives convergent that is rapid, successive, and approximate without any restrictive transformation or assumptions that could change physical behaviour of the problem. Generally, the procedure of VIM solution is very straightforward, convenient, and effective. Numerical results and a comparison with the exact solution are provided, which reveal its efficiency.

## References

- [1] Krasnosel'skii, M. A., Armstrong, A. H., & Burlak, J. (1964). Topological methods in the theory of nonlinear integral equations.
- [2] J. M. Yoon, S. Xic and V. Hrynkiv, A series Solution to a Partial Integro-Differential Equation Arising in Viscoelasticity, IAE N G international Journal of Applied Mathematics, 43, 4, (2013). 783

- [3] Soliman, A. F., El-Azab, M. S., El-Gamel, M., & El-Sayed, A. M. A. (2013). A comparison of Semi-analytical Methods for Solving Partial Integro-Differential Equations. Mathematical Sciences Letters, 2(2), 143-150.
- [4] Saberi-Nadjafi, J., & Ghorbani, A. (2009). He's homotopy perturbation method: an effective tool for solving nonlinear integral and integro-differential equations. Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 58(11), 2379-2390.
- [5] Porshokouhi, M. G., Ghanbari, B., & Rashidi, M. (2011). Variational Iteration Method for Solving Volterra and Fredholm Integral Equations of the Second Kind. Gen, 2(1), 143-148.
- [6] Xu, L. (2007). Variational iteration method for solving integral equations. Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 54(7), 1071-1078.
- [7] Abbasbandy, S. (2006). Numerical solutions of the integral equations: Homotopy perturbation method and Adomian's decomposition method. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 173(1), 493-500.
- [8] Yousefi, S. A., Lotfi, A., & Dehghan, M. (2009). He's variational iteration method for solving nonlinear mixed Volterra–Fredholm integral equations. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 58(11), 2172-2176.
- [9] Tari, A., Rahimi, M. Y., Shahmorad, S., & Talati, F. (2009). Solving a class of two-dimensional linear and nonlinear Volterra integral equations by the differential transform method. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 228(1), 70-76.
- [10] Brunner, H., & Kauthen, J. P. (1989). The numerical solution of twodimensional Volterra integral equations by collocation and iterated collocation. IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis, 9(1), 47-59.
- [11] Nemati, S., Lima, P. M., & Ordokhani, Y. (2013). Numerical solution of a class of two-dimensional nonlinear Volterra integral equations using Legendre polynomials. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 242, 53-69.
- [12] Maleknejad, K., & Mahdiani, K. (2011). Solving nonlinear mixed Volterra– Fredholm integral equations with two dimensional block-pulse functions using direct method. Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, 16(9), 3512-3519.
- [13] d'Halluin, Y. (2004). Numerical methods for real options in telecommunications, Doctor's thesis, University of Waterloo.
- [14] He, J. H., Wazwaz, A. M., & Xu, L. (2007). The variational iteration method: Reliable, efficient, and promising. Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 54(7), 879-880.
- [15] Abbasbandy, S., & Shivanian, E. (2009). Application of the variational iteration method for system of nonlinear Volterra's integro-differential equations. Mathematical and computational applications, 14(2), 147-158.
- [16] Batiha, B., Noorani, M. S. M., & Hashim, I. (2007). Application of variational iteration method to a general Riccati equation. In International mathematical forum (Vol. 2, No. 56, pp. 2759-2770).
- [17] Wang, W. H. (2009). An effective method for solving fractional integrodifferential equations. Acta universitatis apulensis, 20.
- [18] Kurulay, M., & Secer, A. (2011). Variational Iteration Method For Solving Nonlinear Fractional Integro-Differential Equations. Int. J. of Computer Science and Emerging Technologies, 2(1), 18-20.
- [19] Hussain, A., Subhi, F., Yahya, Z., Nursalasawati Rusli, (2016). Variational Iteration Method (VIM) For Solving<sup>4</sup>Partial Integro-Differential Equations. Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology, 88(2).

- [20] Ghorbani, A., & Saberi-Nadjafi, J. (2009). An effective modification of He's variational iteration method. Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications, 10(5), 2828-2833.
- [21] Batiha, M. S. Noorani and Hashim I, Numerical Solutions of the Nonlinear Integro-Differential Equations, Journal of Open Problems Compt. Math., Vol.1, No.1, 34-41, (2008).

# The Space of Strongly Prime Gamma Subacts

#### Mehdi S Abbas

Department of Mathematics, College of Education, Al-Zahraa University for women, Iraq

#### E-mail: mhdsabass@gmail.com

#### Abstract .

In this work we consider and study the structure space of gamma acts by considering strongly prime gamma subacts. Also we study compactness and connectedness properties of this space as well as the separation axioms.

**Key words** : gamma semigroups, gamma acts, (strongly) prime gamma subacts, Noetherian gamma acts, multiplication gamma act and uniserial gamma act.

#### 1. Introduction

The Hausdorff property for the ring C(X) of continues real-valued functions on X has been studied by L. Gillman in [1]. C .W . Kohls in [2] studied the space of prime ideals of an arbitrary ring while S. Chattopadhyay and S. Kar introduced and studied the structure space of gamma semigroups [3].

In this work, we introduce and study the structure space of gamma acts. For this object, let M be an S<sub>T</sub>-act, we consider the collection SP(M) of all strongly prime gamma subacts. By means of intersection and inclusion we define a closure operator on SP(M) and give a topology  $\tau_{SP(M)}$  on SP(M). We call this topological space (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) the structure space of the gamma act M. We discuss separation axioms in this space, also we consider the properties of connectedness and compactness.

#### 2. Basic Concept.

Let S and  $\Gamma$  be nonempty sets. Recall that S is  $\Gamma$ -semigroup if  $a\alpha b \in S$  and  $(a\alpha b) \beta c = a\alpha(b\beta c)$  for all a, b,  $c \in S$  and  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in \Gamma$ . S is a  $\Gamma$ -semigroup with zero element if there is an element  $0 \in S$  such that  $0\alpha a = a\alpha 0 = 0$  for all  $a \in S$  and  $\alpha \in \Gamma$ . A  $\Gamma$ -semigroup S is commutative if  $a\alpha b = b\alpha a$  for all  $a, b \in S$ , and  $\alpha \in \Gamma$  [4].

Let S be a semigroup and A a nonempty set. If we have a mapping  $\mu : S \times A \to A$ , ( s, a)  $\mapsto$  sa =  $\mu$ (sa) such that (st)a = s(ta) for all s, t  $\in$  S and a  $\in$  A, we call A is a left S-act and write  ${}_{S}^{l}A_{s}$ . [5] The notion of gamma acts which is a generalization of acts as well as gamma semigroups has been introduced in [6].

**2.1. Definition**. If S is a  $\Gamma$ -semigroup . A nonempty set M is called a left gamma acts over S, denoted by  ${}_{S_{\Gamma}}{}^{l}M$ , if there is a mapping S ×  $\Gamma$  × M → M, (s,  $\alpha$ , m)  $\mapsto$  s $\alpha$ m (s  $\in$  S,  $\alpha$   $\Gamma$  and m  $\in$  M) such that  ${}_{s_{1}\alpha_{1}(s_{2}\alpha_{2}m)} = ({}_{s_{1}\alpha_{1}s_{2})\alpha_{2}m$  for all s<sub>1</sub>, s<sub>2</sub>  $\in$  S,  $\alpha_{1}$ ,  $\alpha_{2} \in \Gamma$  and m  $\in$  M.

#### 2.2. Examples (2.2).

**1.** Let  $S = \{ 5n + 4 \mid n \in Z^+ \}, \Gamma = \{ 5n + 1 \mid n \in Z^+ \}$ . Then S is a  $\Gamma$ -semigroup where  $s_1 \alpha s_2 = s_1 + \alpha + s_2$  (usual addition of integers). Now, let  $M = \{ 5n \mid n \in Z^+ \}$ . Then M is an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act, but M is not  $\Gamma$ -semigroup with usual addition of integers.

**2.** Let M be the set of all negative rational numbers. It is clear that M is not M-act under usual multiplication of rtional numbers. Let  $\Gamma = \{ -\frac{1}{p} \mid p \text{ is prime } \}$  and define the mapping M ×  $\Gamma$  × M  $\rightarrow$  M by (x,  $\alpha$ , y)  $\mapsto$  x $\alpha$ y (usual multiplication of rational numbers ). It is an easy matter to see that M is M<sub>Γ</sub>-act.

A nonempty subset N of  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M is called  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact, if  $S\Gamma N \subseteq N$  where  $S\Gamma N = \{ s\alpha n \mid s \in S, \alpha \in \Gamma \text{ and } n \in N \}$ . An  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M is proper if  $N \neq M$ .

For S<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-acts M and N. A mapping  $f: M \rightarrow N$  is called S<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-homomorphism if  $f(s\alpha m) = s\alpha f(m)$ , for all  $s \in S$ ,  $\alpha \in \Gamma$  and  $m \in M$ . We denote Hom(M, N) the set of all S<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-homomorphisms from M into N.

**2.3.** Definition . Let N be an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M. Define  $(N :_s M) = \{ s \in S | s \Gamma M \subseteq N \}$ . In particular, for  $m \in M (N :_s m) = \{ s \in S | s \Gamma m \subseteq N \}$ .

Recall that a nonempty subset I of a  $\Gamma$ -semigroup S is called ideal if  $I\Gamma S \subseteq I$  and  $S\Gamma I \subseteq I$ .

We introduce the following

**2.4.** Definition . Let M be an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. A proper  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact P of M called prime if for any ideal I of S and any  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of M, IГN  $\subseteq$  P implies that N  $\subseteq$  P or I  $\subseteq$  (P:<sub>s</sub>M).

In the following, the concept of prime gamma subacts can be reduces to elements

**2.5.** Proposition. Let P be a proper  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M. Then P is prime if and only if  $s\Gamma S\Gamma m \subseteq P$  implies that  $m \in P$  or  $s \in (P:_sM)$  for all  $s \in S$  and  $m \in M$ .

**Proof.** Assume that  $s\Gamma S\Gamma m \subseteq P$  where  $s \in S$  and  $m \in M$ . Primerss of P implies that  $m \in P$  or  $s \in (P:_sM)$ . Conversely, assume  $I\Gamma V \subseteq P$  for an ideal I of S and  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact V of M. If  $V \nsubseteq P$ , then there is an element  $x \in V$  and  $x \notin P$ . Then for any  $a \in I$  we have  $a\Gamma S\Gamma x \subseteq I\Gamma V \subseteq P$ , thus  $a \in (P:_sM)$ .

Recall that a proper ideal T of  $\Gamma$ -semigroup S is prime if for any two ideals I and J of S, I $\Gamma$ J  $\subseteq$ T implies that I  $\subseteq$  T or J  $\subseteq$  T. Then we have the following corollary

**2.6.** Corollary . A proper ideal T of  $\Gamma$ -semigroup S is prime if and only if  $s_1\Gamma S \Gamma s_2 \subseteq T$  implies that  $s_1 \in T$  or  $s_2 \in T$  for all  $s_1, s_2 \in S$ . 787 **2.7.** Lemma. Let M be an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. If P is a prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M. then  $(P : {}_{s}M)$  is a prime ideal of S. **Proof.** Let  $s_{1,} s_{2} \in S$  with  $s_{1}\Gamma S \Gamma s_{2} \subseteq (P; {}_{s}M)$ . Then  $s_{1}\Gamma S \Gamma s_{2}\Gamma M \subseteq P$ . Since P is prime, then by Proposition (2.6) we have either  $s_{2}\Gamma M \subseteq P$  or  $s_{1}\Gamma S \Gamma M \subseteq P$  and hence  $s_{2} \in (P : {}_{s}M)$  or  $s_{1} \in (P; {}_{s}M)$ .

For the converse we consider the following

**2.8.** Definition. An  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M is called multiplication if for any  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of M, there is an ideal I of S such that N = I $\Gamma$ M.

It is easy matter that an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of a multiplication  $s_{\Gamma}$ -act M is of the form  $N = (N : {}_{s}M)\Gamma M$ . **2.9. Theorem .** If M is a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act, then an  $s_{\Gamma}$ -subact P of M is prime if and only if  $(P : {}_{s}M)$  is a prime ideal of S.

**Proof.** Assume that  $(P : {}_{s}M)$  is a prime ideal of S , and there exist an ideal I of S and  $s_{\Gamma}$ -subact V of M with  $V \not\subseteq P$ ,  $I \not\subseteq (P : {}_{s}M)$  and  $I \Gamma V \subseteq P$ . Since M is multiplication, then  $V=J \Gamma M$  for some ideal J of S. Thus  $I \Gamma V = J \Gamma J \Gamma M$  so  $I \Gamma J \subseteq (P : {}_{s}M)$ , but  $(P : {}_{s}M)$  is a prime ideal of S and  $I \not\subseteq (P : {}_{s}M)$ , then  $J \subseteq (P : {}_{s}M)$ . Therefore  $V=J \Gamma M \subseteq P$  which is a contradiction . Thus P is prime .

It is easy matter to see that if I and J are two ideals of a  $\Gamma$ -semigroup S and P is a prime ideal of S with  $I \cap J \subseteq P$ , then  $I \subseteq P$  or  $J \subseteq P$ . This statement is no larger hold if we replace ideals of  $\Gamma$ -semigroup by s<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-subact S of s<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-act. However we have the following

**2.10.** Theorem . Let N be a prime  $s_{\Gamma}$ -subact of a multiplication  $s_{\Gamma}$ -act M. If  $N_1$ ,  $N_2$  are  $s_{\Gamma}$ -subacts

of M with  $N_1 \cap N_2 \subseteq N$ , then either  $N_1 \subseteq N$  or  $N_2 \subseteq N$ .

**Proof.** Since  $(N_1 \cap N_2: M) = (N_1: M) \cap (N_2: M) \subseteq (N: M)$  and (N: M) is a prime ideal of S, then either  $(N_1: M) \subseteq (N: M)$  or  $(N_2: M) \subseteq (N: M)$ . Thus either  $N_1 = (N_1: M) \cap M \subseteq (N: M)$  $M \cap M = N$  or  $N_2 = (N_2: M) \cap M \subseteq (N: M) \cap M = N$ .

We introduce the following

**2.11.** Definition . An  $s_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of  $s_{\Gamma}$ -act M is called strongly prime (or finitely prime), if S and  $\Gamma$  contain finite subset  $\overline{S}$  and  $\overline{\Gamma}$  respectively such that  $s\overline{\Gamma}\overline{S}\overline{\Gamma}m \subseteq N$  implies that  $m\in N$  or  $s \in (N:_{s}M)$  for all  $s \in S$  and  $m \in M$ .

**2.12. Proposition**. Every strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M is prime.

**Proof.** Let N be a strongly  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of  $s_{\Gamma}$ -act M. For  $s \in S$  and  $m \in M$ , if  $s \Gamma S \Gamma m \subseteq N$ , then there are finite subsets  $\overline{S}$  and  $\overline{\Gamma}$  of S and  $\Gamma$  respectively and  $s \overline{\Gamma} \overline{S} \overline{\Gamma} m \subseteq s \Gamma S \Gamma m \subseteq N$ . This implies that  $m \in N$  or  $s \in (N_{:s}M)$ .

In the following consider intersection of (strongly) prime gamma subacts.

**2.13.** Proposition. Let  $\{N_{\alpha}: \alpha \in \Lambda\}$  be a collection of prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subacts of an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M such that

 $\{N_{\alpha}: \alpha \in \Lambda\}$  forms a chain. Then  $\cap_{\alpha \in \Lambda} N_{\alpha}$  is a prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M.

Proof: For any ideal I of S and  $s_{\Gamma}$ -subact V of M, if I  $\Gamma V \subseteq \bigcap_{\alpha \in \Lambda} N_{\alpha}$  with I  $\not\subseteq (\bigcap N_{\alpha}:_{s}M)$  and V  $\not\subseteq \bigcap N_{\alpha}$ , then there are  $\alpha, \beta \in \Lambda$  such that I $\Gamma M \not\subseteq N_{\alpha}$  and V  $\not\subseteq N_{\alpha}$ . No loss of generality if we assume  $N_{\alpha} \subseteq N_{\beta}$ . This implies that V  $\not\subseteq N_{\beta}$  a contradiction. Thus  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in \Lambda} N_{\alpha}$  is a prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M.

A s<sub>r</sub>-act M is called uniserial, if for any two solution K of M , either N  $\subseteq$  K or K  $\subseteq$ 

**2.14.** Corollary. Let M be a uniserial  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. If  $\{ N_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Lambda \}$  is a family of (strongly) prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M, then  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in \Lambda} N_{\alpha}$  is (strongly) prime in M.

#### 3. Structure space of $S_{\Gamma}$ -acts.

Let M be an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Denote by SP(M) the collection of all strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subacts of M. For any N  $\subseteq$  SP(M), we define  $\overline{N} = \{ K \in SP(M) \mid \bigcap_{K_{\alpha} \in N} K_{\alpha} \subseteq K \}$  it is clear that  $\overline{\emptyset} = \emptyset$  and N  $\subseteq \overline{N}$  for any subset N of SP(M).

3.1. Theorem . For any two subsets N and L of SP(M), the following hold

(1)  $\overline{\overline{N}} = \overline{N}$ 

(2)  $N \subseteq L$  implies that  $\overline{N} \subseteq \overline{L}$ 

(3) if M is a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act, then  $\overline{N \cup L} = \overline{N} \cup \overline{L}$ .

**Proof** . (1). It is clear that  $\overline{\mathbb{N}} \subseteq \overline{\mathbb{N}}$ . For other inclusion, let  $k_{\beta} \in \overline{\mathbb{N}}$ . Then  $\bigcap_{K_{\alpha} \in \overline{\mathbb{N}}} K_{\alpha} \subseteq K_{\beta}$ , and  $K_{\alpha} \in \overline{\mathbb{N}}$  implies that  $\bigcup_{K_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{N}} K_{\gamma} \subseteq K_{\alpha}$  for all  $\alpha \in \Lambda$ . Thus  $\bigcap_{K_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{N}} K_{\gamma} \subseteq \bigcap_{K_{\gamma} \in \overline{\mathbb{N}}} K_{\alpha} \subseteq K_{\beta}$  that is  $\bigcup_{K_{\gamma} \in \mathbb{N}} K_{\gamma} \subseteq K_{\beta}$  and so  $K_{\beta} \in \overline{\mathbb{N}}$  hence  $\overline{\mathbb{N}} = \overline{\mathbb{N}}$ .

(2). Suppose  $N \subseteq L$  and  $K_{\alpha} \in \overline{N}$ . Then  $\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in N} K_{\beta} \subseteq K_{\alpha}$ . Since  $N \subseteq L$ , then  $\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in L} K_{\beta} \subseteq K_{\beta}$ 

 $\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in \mathbb{N}} K_{\beta} \subseteq K_{\alpha}$  and this implies that  $K_{\alpha} \in L$  and hence  $\overline{\mathbb{N}} \subseteq \overline{L}$ .

(3). Clearly by (2)  $\overline{N} \cup \overline{L} \subseteq \overline{N \cup L}$ . Let  $K_{\alpha} \in \overline{N \cup L}$ . Then  $\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in N \cup L} K_{\beta} \subseteq K_{\alpha}$ . It is easy to see that  $\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in N \cup L} K_{\beta} = (\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in N} K_{\beta}) \cap (\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in L} K_{\beta}) \subseteq K_{\alpha}$ . Since  $K_{\alpha}$  is strongly prime for each  $\alpha$ , then  $K_{\alpha}$  is prime, Proposition (2.14). By multiplication property of M and Proposition (1.12), we have  $\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in N} K_{\beta} \subseteq K_{\alpha}$  or  $\bigcap_{K_{\beta} \in L} K_{\beta} \subseteq K_{\alpha}$ , this is  $K_{\alpha} \in \overline{N}$  or  $K_{\alpha} \in \overline{L}$  and hence  $\overline{N \cup L} = \overline{N} \cup \overline{L}$ .

**3.2.** Definition . Let M be a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. The closure operator  $N \to \overline{N}$  gives a topology  $\tau_{SP(M)}$  on SP(M). This topology is called the strongly prime topology and the topology space ( $\tau_{SP(M)}$ , SP(M)) is called the structure space of the  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M.

For  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M. We define  $\Delta(N) = \{ N' \in SP(M) \mid N \subseteq N' \}$  and  $C\Delta(N) = SP(M) \setminus \Delta(N)$ . In the following we describe the closed set in SP(M)

**3.3.** Proposition . Let M be a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then for any closed set  $\overline{W}$  in SP(M), there is an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of M such that  $\overline{W} = \Delta(N)$ .

Proof. Let  $\overline{W}$  be a closed subset in SP(M) where  $W \subseteq$  SP(M). Then  $W = \{ N_{\alpha} \notin$  SP(M)  $| \alpha \in \Lambda \}$ . Let  $N = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in W} N_{\alpha}$ . Then N is an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M if N'  $\in \overline{W}$ , then  $\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in W} N_{\alpha} \subseteq N'$ . This implies that  $N \subseteq N'$  and hence N'  $\in \Delta(N)$  so  $\overline{W} \subseteq \Delta(N)$ . Conversely, let N'  $\in \Delta(N)$ . Then  $N \subseteq N'$ , that is  $\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in W} N_{\alpha} \subseteq N'$ , this implies that N'  $\subseteq \overline{W}$  and hence  $\Delta(N) \subseteq \overline{W}$ .

**3.4.** Corollary (3.4). Any open set in SP(M) is of the form  $C\Delta(N)$  for some S<sub>Γ</sub>-subact N of multiplication S<sub>Γ</sub>-act M.

Let M be an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact and  $m \in M$ . We define  $\Delta(m) = \{ N \in SP(M) \mid m \in N \}$  and  $C\Delta(m) = SP(M)/\Delta(m)$ 

**3.5.** Proposition .If M is a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then  $\{C\Delta(m) \mid m \in M\}$  forms an open base for the topology  $\tau_{SP(M)}$  on SP(M).

Proof. Let U ∈ τ<sub>SP(M)</sub>. Then by Corollary (3.4), there is an S<sub>Γ</sub>-subact N of M such that U =CΔ(N). Let K ∈ U Then N ⊈ K and there is x ∈ N with x ∉ K. Thus K ∈ ΔC(X). To see CΔ(m) ⊆ U.Let K ∈ CΔ(m). Then m ∉ K. It follows that N ≇N and hence K ∈ U and so CΔ(m) ⊆ U. Thus{ CΔ(m) | m ∈ M } is an open base for τ<sub>SP(M)</sub>.

**3.6.** Theorem . The space  $(SP(M), \tau_{SP(M)})$  is  $T_0$ -space for any multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M.

**Proof.** Suppose  $N_1$  and  $N_2$  are two distinct elements in SP(M). Without loss of generality , we assume that there is an element  $x \in N_1$ , and  $x \notin N_2$ . Then  $C\Delta(x)$  is a neighborhood of  $N_2$  not contain  $N_1$ ..

**3.7.** Theorem . The following statements are equivalent for a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M

(1) (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is T<sub>1</sub>-space

(2) No element of SP(M) is contained in any other element of SP(M).

**Proof.** (1)  $\rightarrow$  (2). Suppose (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a T<sub>1</sub>-space and N<sub>1</sub>, N<sub>2</sub> be distance elements of SP(M). Then each of N<sub>1</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub> has a neighborhood not containing the other . Since N<sub>1</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> are any elements . This implies that no element of SP(M) is containing in any other element of SP(M).

 $(2) \rightarrow (1)$ , assume that no element of SP(M) is contained in any other element of SP(M). Let  $N_1$ and  $N_2$  be two different elements of SP(M). Then by hypothesis, there exist  $x, y \in M$  with  $x \in N_1 \setminus N_2$  and  $y \in N_2 \setminus N_1$ . Thus, we have  $N_1 \subseteq C\Delta(y)$  but  $N_1 \notin C\Delta(x)$  and  $N_2 \in C\Delta(x)$ , but  $N_1 \notin C\Delta(y)$ . Thus each of  $N_1$  and  $N_2$  has a neighborhood no containing the other. Hence (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a  $T_1$ -sapce.  $\Box$ 

**3.8.** Corollary. Let S be a commutative  $\Gamma$ -semigroup and M a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. If

Max(M) is the class of maximal  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subacts of M, then  $(Max(M), \tau_{Max(M)})$  is a  $T_1$ -space where

 $\tau_{Max(M)}$  is the induced topology on Max(M) from (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ).

**3.9.** Theorem . If M is a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then the following conditions are equivalent

(1)  $(SP(M), \tau_{SP(M)})$  is a Hausdorff

(2) Any two distinct elements N and K of SP(M), there exist x,  $y \in M$  such that  $x \notin N$ ,  $y \notin K$  and does not exist any  $W \in SP(M)$  such that  $x, y \notin W$ .

**Proof.** (1)  $\rightarrow$  (2). Assume that (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a Hausdorff space . Then for any two distinct  $N_1$  and  $N_2$  of SP(M), there is an open set C $\Delta$ (x) and C $\Delta$ (y) such that  $N_1 \in C\Delta$ (x),  $N_2 \in C\Delta$ (y) and  $C\Delta$ (x) \ C $\Delta$ (y) = Ø. This implies that  $x \notin N1$  and  $y \notin N2$ . If there is  $K \in SP(M)$  such that  $x \notin K$ ,  $y \notin K$ . Then  $K \in C\Delta(x) \cap C\Delta(y) = Ø$  a contradiction. Thus there does not exist any  $K \in SP(M)$  with  $x \notin K$  and  $y \notin K$ . (2)  $\rightarrow$  (1). Assume the given condition holds and  $N_1, N_2 \in SP(M)$  with  $N_1 \neq N_2$ . Let a,  $b \in M$  with  $a \notin N_1$  with  $b \notin N_2$  and there does not exist any  $K \in SP(M)$  such that  $a \notin K$ ,  $b \notin K$ . This exactly implies  $N_1 \in C\Delta(x)$ ,  $N2 \in C\Delta(y)$  and  $C\Delta(x) \cap C\Delta(y) = Ø$  and hence (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a Hausdorff space.

**3.10.** Proposition Let M be a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act and  $(SP(M), \tau_{SP(M)})$  is a Hausdorff . Then

(1) No proper strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M contains any other proper strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact (2) If (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) contains more than one element , then there exist x, y  $\in$  M where SP(M) =  $C\Delta(x) \cup C\Delta(y) \cup \Delta(W)$ , where W is the  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M generating by x and y.

**Proof.** (1).It's clear by Theorem (3.7) and the fact that every Hausdorff space is a  $T_1$ -space.

(2). Let N and K be two distinct strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subacts of M. Then exists an open set  $C\Delta(x)$  and  $C\Delta(y)$  such that  $N \in C\Delta(x)$ ,  $K \in C\Delta(y)$  and  $C\Delta(x) \cap C\Delta(y) = \emptyset$ . Suppose W is the  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M generating by x and y, namely W is the smallest  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M containing x and y and W =  $S\Gamma x \cup S\Gamma y$ . Let  $L \in SP(M)$ . Then we have the following cases. (1) x ,  $y \in L$ , (2).  $x \in L$  ,  $y \notin L$ , (3).  $x \notin L$ ,  $y \in L$  and (4).  $x \notin L$  ,  $y \notin L$ . Case (4) is not possible since  $C\Delta(x) \cap C\Delta(y) = \emptyset$ , case (2) implies that  $L \in C\Delta(y)$ , similarity case (3) implies that  $L \in C\Delta(x)$  and finally case (1) implies that  $L \in C\Delta(x)$ .

 $\Delta(W)$  and thus  $PS(M) \subseteq C\Delta(x) \cup C\Delta(y) \cup \Delta(W)$ .

**3.11.** Theorem. The following conditions are equivalent for a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M.

(1) (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a regular space

П

(2) For  $N \in SP(M)$  and  $x \in M \setminus N$ , there exist an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact K of M and  $y \in M$  such that  $N \in C\Delta(y) \subseteq \Delta(K) \subseteq C\Delta(x)$ .

**Proof.** (1)  $\rightarrow$  (2). Let N  $\in$  SP(M) and x  $\in$  M \ N. Then N  $\in$ C $\Delta$ (x) and SP(M)\C $\Delta$ (x) is closed set not containing N. By (1) there is disjoint open sets U and V such that  $N \in U$  and  $SP(M) \setminus C\Delta(x) \subseteq$ V. This implies that SP(M)  $\setminus V \subseteq C\Delta(x)$ . Since SP(M)  $\setminus V$  is closed, then by Proposition (3.3), there is an S<sub>Γ</sub>-subact K of M such that SP(M)  $\setminus$  V = C $\Delta$ (K) and hence we get  $\Delta$ (K)  $\subseteq$  C $\Delta$ (x). Since U  $\cap$  V =  $\emptyset$ , then  $V \subseteq SP(M) \setminus U$ . Again since  $SP(M) \setminus U$  is closed, then there exists an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact W of M such that  $SP(M) \setminus U = \Delta(W)$ , this is  $V \subseteq \Delta(W)$ . Since  $N \in U$ , then  $N \notin SP(M) \setminus U = \Delta(W)$ . It follows that  $W \not\subseteq N$ , and hence there is  $y \in W \setminus N$  so  $N \in C\Delta(y)$ . Now we show that  $V \subseteq \Delta(y)$ . Let  $L \in V \subseteq V$  $\Delta(W)$ . Then  $W \subseteq L$ . Since  $y \in W$ , then  $y \in L$  and hence  $L \in \Delta(y)$ , so  $V \subseteq \Delta(y)$  this implies that  $SP(M)\setminus\Delta(y) \subseteq SP(M)\setminus V = \Delta(K)$  and hence  $C\Delta(y) \subseteq \Delta(K)$ . This shows that  $N \in C\Delta(y) \subseteq \Delta(K) C\Delta(x)$ .  $(2) \rightarrow (1)$ . Let  $I \in SP(M)$  and  $\Delta(K)$  be any closed set not containing I. Since  $I \notin \Delta(K)$ , we have  $K \notin I$ . Then there is an element  $a \in K \setminus I$ . By (2), there is an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact J of M and  $b \in M$  such that  $I \in C\Delta(b) \subseteq \Delta(J) \subseteq C\Delta(a)$ . Since  $a \in K$  and  $C\Delta(a) \cap \Delta(K) = \emptyset$ , it follows that  $\Delta(K) \subseteq \Delta(b) \subseteq \Delta(b) \subseteq \Delta(b)$ .  $SP(M) \setminus C\Delta(a) \subseteq SP(M) \setminus \Delta(J)$ . Since  $\Delta(J)$  is closed, then  $SP(M) \setminus \Delta(J)$  is an open set containing the closed  $\Delta(K)$ . Clearly  $C\Delta(b) \cap (SP(M) \setminus \Delta(J)) = \emptyset$ , so we find that  $C\Delta(b)$  and  $SP(M) \setminus \Delta(J)$  are two disjoint open sets containing I and  $\Delta(K)$  respectively. This shows that (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a regular space. 

**3.12.** Theorem . Let M be a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then the following are equivalent

(1) (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a compact space

(2) For any set {  $x_{\alpha} \in M \mid \alpha \in \Lambda$  } there is a finite subset {  $x_i \mid i = 1, 2, ..., n$  } such that for any N  $\in$  SP(M), there exists  $x_i$  such that  $x_i \notin N$ .

**Proof.** (1)  $\rightarrow$  (2). Let {  $x_{\alpha} \in M \mid \alpha \in \Lambda$  } and N be any element in SP(M). Then {  $C\Delta(x_{\alpha}) \mid x_{\alpha} \in M$ ,  $\alpha \in \Lambda$  } is an open cover of (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$  ). By (1) SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$  ) has a finite sub cover {  $C\Delta(x_i) \mid i = 1, 2, ..., n$  } and hence  $N \in C\Delta(x_i)$  for some  $x_i \in M$ . This implies that  $x_i \notin N$ .

 $(2) \rightarrow (1)$ . Assume that  $\{ C\Delta(x_{\alpha}) \mid x_{\alpha} \in M, \alpha \in \Lambda \}$  is an open cover of SP(M) which has no finite sub cover  $\{ C\Delta(x_i) \mid i = 1, 2, ..., n \}$  of SP(M). This means that for any finite subset  $\{ x_1, x_2, ..., x_n \}$  of M,  $C\Delta(X_1) \cup C\Delta(X_2) \cup ... \cup C\Delta(X_n) \neq$  SP(M) and have  $\Delta(x_1) \cap \Delta(x_2) \cap ... \cap \Delta(x_n) \neq \emptyset$ . Then there is N  $\in$  SP(M) such that N  $\in \Delta(x_1) \cap \Delta(x_2) \cap ... \cap \Delta(x_n)$ . Thus,  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n \in N$  which is contradicts (2). This shows that (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a compact space.

An S<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-act M is called finitely generated if there exists a finite subset X of M such that  $M = \langle X \rangle = \bigcup_{u \in X} S\Gamma u$  where  $S\Gamma u = \{ s\alpha u \mid s \in S \text{ and } \alpha \in \Gamma \}$ .

**3.13.** Corollary. If M is a finitely generating multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then  $(SP(M), \tau_{SP(M)})$  is a compact space

compact space .

**Proof.** Let {  $u_i \mid i = i = 1, 2, ..., n$  } be a generated set of M, and N a strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M. Then there exists some  $u_i$  such that  $u_i \notin N$ . Hence by Theorem (2.13), (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is a compact space.

An  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M is called Noetherian if any ascending chain  $N_1 \subseteq N_2 \subseteq ... \subseteq N_n \subseteq ...$  of  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subacts of M, there is a positive integer n such that  $N_m = N_n$  for  $m \ge n$ .

**3.14.** Theorem . If M is a Noetherian  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is countably compact.

**Proof.** Let {  $\Delta(N_i) \mid i = 1, 2, ..., \infty$  } be a countable collection of closed set in SP(M) with finite intersection property where  $N_i$  is an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M for each i. Consider the following ascending

chain  $N_1 \subseteq N_1 \cup N_2 \subseteq N_1 \cup N_2 \cup N_3 \subseteq \ldots$  of  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subacts of M. Then there is a positive integer n such that  $N_1 \cup N_2 \cup \ldots \cup N_n = N_1 \cup N_2 \cup \ldots \cup N_{n+1}$ . Thus it follows that  $N_1 \cup N_2 \cup \ldots \cup N_n \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \Delta(N_i)$ . Consequently  $\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \Delta(N_i) \neq \emptyset$  and hence (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is countably compact.

The following follows from Theorem (3.14) and the fact that a second countable space is compact if it is countably compact.

**3.15.** Corollary . If M is a Noetherian  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act and  $(SP(M), \tau_{SP(M)})$  is second countable, then it is compact.

**3.16.** Definition . The structure space (SP(M),  $\tau_{SP(M)}$ ) is called irreducible if for any

decomposition  $SP(M) = A_1 \cup A_2$  where  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are closed subsets of SP(M) we have  $SP(M) = A_1$ or  $SP(M) = A_2$ .

**3.17.** Theorem .Let M be a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then the following statements are equivalent for any closed subset A of SP(M).

(1) A is irreducible

(2)  $\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha}$  is a prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M.

**Proof.** (1)  $\rightarrow$  (2). Let I ba an ideal of S and V an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M with  $\Pi \nabla \subseteq \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha}$ . Then  $\Pi \nabla \subseteq N_{\alpha}$  for each  $\alpha$ . Since  $N_{\alpha}$  is a prime, then either  $V \subseteq N_{\alpha}$  or  $\Pi \cap M \subseteq N_{\alpha}$  which implies that for  $N_{\alpha} \in A$ , either  $N_{\alpha} \in \{\overline{V}\}$  or  $N_{\alpha} \in \{\overline{\Gamma \cap M}\}$ . Hence  $A = (A \cap \overline{V}) \cup (A \cap \overline{\Gamma \cap M})$ , since A is irreducible and both  $A \cap \overline{V}$  and  $A \cap \overline{\Gamma \cap M}$  are closed. Then it follows that either  $A = A \cap \overline{V}$  or  $A = A \cap \overline{\Gamma \cap M}$  and hence  $A \subseteq \overline{V}$  or  $A \subseteq \overline{\Gamma \cap M}$ . This implies that  $V \subseteq \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha}$  or  $\Pi \cap M \subseteq \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha}$  and so  $\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha}$  is a prime in M.

 $\begin{array}{ll} (2) \rightarrow (1). \mbox{ Assume } A = A_1 \ U \ A_2 \ \mbox{where } A_1 \ \mbox{and } A_2 \ \mbox{are closed of } A. \ \mbox{Then } \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \subseteq \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{and } \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \subseteq \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha} \ . \ \mbox{Also } \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} \bigcup_{A_2} N_{\alpha} = (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}). \ \mbox{For each ideal I of S, } \ \mbox{I} \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \subseteq \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{and } \ \mbox{I} \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) \subseteq \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{sol } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \subseteq (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{and } \ \mbox{I} \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \subseteq (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{sol } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \subseteq (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{sol } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{sol } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{sol } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{sol } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_2} N_{\alpha}) = \bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A_1} N_{\alpha}) \cap (\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \ \ \mbox{and } \Gamma(\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha} \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$ 

**3.18.** Corollary . Let M be a uniserial multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then any closed subset of SP(M) is irreducible.

**Proof.** Let A be a closed subset of SP(M). Then by Corollary (2.14) we have  $\bigcap_{N_{\alpha} \in A} N_{\alpha}$  is a prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M. Hence by Theorem (3.16) we get A is irreducible.

Let M be an S<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-act and N, K two S<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub>-subacts of M. We define NK= Hom(M, K)N = U { $\alpha$ (N) |  $\alpha : M \to K$  }.

An  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of M is called idempotent if N = NN = U(N) where the union runs among all  $S_{\Gamma}$ -homomorphism  $\varphi : M \to N$ . this is equivalent to saying that for each  $n \in N$ , there exist an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -homomorphism  $\varphi : M \to N$  and an element  $n' \in N$  such that  $n = \varphi(n')$ . An element  $m \in M$  is called idempotent if it generates an idempotent  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M, namely  $S\Gamma m$  is idempotent  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M. We denote e(M) for the set of all idempotent elements of M.
**3.19.** Definition . An  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact N of an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M is called id-full if  $e(M) \subseteq N$ .

Let W be the collection of all strongly prime id-full  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subacts of an  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act M. Then clearly  $W \subseteq SP(M)$  and hence  $(W, \tau_W)$  is a topological space where  $\tau_W$  is the subspace topology generally  $(SP(M), \tau_{SP(M)})$  is neither compact nor connected. But in particular we have the following results.

**3.20.** Proposition . Let M be a uniserial multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then every closed subset of SP(M) is connected.

**Proof.** Let A be a closed subset of SP(M). By Theorem (3.17). A is irreducible. Hence A is connected.

**3.21.** Theorem .Let M be a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act . Then  $(W, \tau_W)$  is a connected space.

**Proof.** Let N be the strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact of M generated by e(M). Since every strongly prime id-full K of M conteuns e(M), contains N. Thus N belongs to any closed subset  $\Delta(N')$  of W. This implies that any two closed subsets of W are not disjoint. Hence  $(W, \tau_W)$  is a connected space.

**3.22.** Theorem . Let M be a multiplication  $S_{\Gamma}$ -act. Then  $(W, \tau_W)$  is a compact space.

**Proof.** Let  $\{ \Delta(N_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Lambda \}$  be any collection of closed subsets on W with finite intersection property, and N be the strongly prime  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact generated by e(M). Since any strongly prime id-full  $S_{\Gamma}$ -subact K contains e(M), contains N. Hence  $N \in \bigcap_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \Delta(N_{\alpha})$  and so  $\bigcap_{\alpha \in \Lambda} \Delta(N_{\alpha})$  is nonempty. This implies that  $(W, \tau_W)$  is a compact space.

#### References

- [1] Gillman L., (1957) Rings with Hausdorff structure space. Fund. Math. 45, pp. 1-16
- [2] Kohls C. W., (1957) The space of prime ideals of a ring. Fund. Math. 45, pp.17-27

[3] Chattopadhyay S. and S. Kar., (2008) On structure space of Γ-semigroups, *Acta univ palacki* olomuc,

Fac. rer. nat, Mathematics 47, 37-46.

[4] Sen M., and Saha K., (1986) On Γ-semigroups Bull. Calcutta Math. 78 pp.

180–186.

[5] Kilp M., Knauer U. and Mikhalev A. L., (2000) *Monoids Acts and categories*, (NewYork: walter de

Gruyte-Berlin).

[6] Abbas M., and Faris A., (2016) Gamma Acts Inter. J. of Advan. Resea. 4 pp. 1592-1601.
 793

# On $\Im \Re$ - rings and S $\Im$ F-rings

Raida D.MahmoodKhedher J.khiderraida.1961@uomosul.edu.iqkhedirjumaa@gmail.com

# College of Computer Science and Mathematics

University of Mosul

Mosul . Iraq

# Abstract

A ring  $\Re$  is said to be  $\Im \Re$  - rings, if  $\sigma \in \sigma \Re \sigma$  for all  $\sigma \in \Im(\Re)$  and  $\Re$  is called right (left)  $\Im F$ -ring, if every simple right (left)  $\Re$ -module is  $\Im$ -flat. In this paper, we give some characterization of  $\Im \Re$  - rings and  $\Im \Im$  F-rings. Further, it is shown that  $\Re$  is  $\Im \Re$  - ring if and only if,  $\Re$  is  $\Im \Im$  F-ring, with  $\ell(\sigma) \subseteq r(\sigma)$  for every  $\sigma \in \Im(\Re)$  if and only if  $\Re$  is  $\Re \Im$  with every essential right ideal is  $\Im$ -flat. Additionally, we have investigated  $\Im \Re$  - rings with simple singular right  $\Re$  modules are  $\Im$ -flat.

Key words :  $\Im$ ? - rings ,  $\Im$ -flat ,  $\aleph$  $\Im$ -rings , reduced rings .

يقال للحلقة  $\Re$  بأنها حلقة من النمط -  $\Re$  ، اذا كان  $\sigma \in \sigma \Re \to O$  لكل  $(\Re) \mathfrak{T} = \sigma$  . ويقال عن  $\Re$  بأنها حلقة من النمط -  $\mathfrak{T}$  . في حلقة من النمط -  $\mathfrak{T}$  . في من النمط -  $\mathfrak{T}$  . في منا النمط -  $\mathfrak{T}$  . في هذا البحث سوف نعطي بعض مميزات الحلقات من النمط -  $\mathfrak{T}$  والحلقات من النمط -  $\mathfrak{T}$  . فذا البحث سوف نعطي بعض مميزات الحلقات من النمط -  $\mathfrak{T}$ 

الكلمات المفتاحية : الحلقات من النمط - ٣٦٦ ، المقاسات المسطحة من النمط - ٦ ، الحلقات من النمط - ٢ ٢٢٢ ، الحلقات المختزلة .

# 1 – المقدمة :

في هذا البحث ، نفترض أن  $\Re$  حلقة تجميعية ذات عنصر محايد وكل المقاسات هي مقاسات احادية يمنى . لكل  $\Re o o$  ، ( $\sigma$ )  $\gamma$  ( $\sigma$ ) ) يرمز للتالف الايمن ( الايسر ) للعنصر  $\sigma$  في الحلقة  $\Re$  ، ورمزنا ( $\Re$ )  $\aleph$  و كر  $\Re$  لمجموعة العناصر المعدومة القوى وجذر جاكوبسون في  $\Re$  ، على التوالي .

الحلقات المسطحة درست من قبل عدة باحثين ( مثل [ 8 ] ، [ 7 ] ، [ 7 ] ، [ 8 ] ) . وكتعميم للحلقات المسطحة درس في المصدر [ 4 ] الحلقات من النمط - SFF . الحلقة R تسمى حلقة من النمط - SFF يمنى ( يسرى ) ، إذا كان كل مقاس ايمن ( ايسر ) بسيط في R هو مقاس مسطح من النمط - S . كذلك اعطينا تعريف الحلقات من النمط - SF .

يقال لـ  $\Re$  جلقة مختزلة اذ كانت  $0 = (\Re) \Re [8]$ . يقال للحلقة  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط -  $\Im \%$  اذا كانت ( $\Re$ )  $\Im \supseteq (\Re) \% [1]$ . في المصدر [6] اعطى الباحث الحلقة المختزلة المركزية من النمط – 2، اذا كان لكل  $\Re \ni \sigma e = 2 \%$ ، فإن  $\sigma$  هو عنصر مركزي واثبت ان كل حلقة مختزلة تكون مختزلة مركزية من النمط – 2، لكن العكس يكون صحيح عندما تكون  $\Re$  حلقة شبه اولية ( إذا كانت  $\Re$  لا تحتوي على مثالي غير صفري معدوم القوى ). ويقال لـ  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط -  $\Re \Im [01]$ ، اذا كان  $\sigma \Re \sigma \ni \sigma$  لكل  $(\Re) \Im \ni \sigma$ . ويقال لـ  $\Re$  حلقة محلية [2]، اذا كانت تحتوي على مثالي اعظم وحيد . في المصدر [9] يقال لـ  $\Re$  حلقة ديو من النمط – % يمنی ( يسری )، إذا كان لكل  $(\Re) \% \ni \sigma$  فإن  $\Re \sigma (\Re \sigma)$  ) مثالي في  $\Re$ .

# 2 – الحلقات من النمط - SSF :

نستهل هذا البند بالقضية المساعدة الرئيسية في البر اهين :

قضية مساعدة 2.1 [ 10 ] : اذا كان I مثالي ايمن في  $\Re$  ، فإن  ${\Re/_I}$  هو مقاس مسطح من النمط -  $\Im$  إذا وفقط إذا كان  $\Re = I \cap \Re \sigma$  ، لكل  $\Im \in \Im(\Re)$ 

قضية 2.2 : لتكن  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط -  $S\ImF$  يمنى . إذا كانت  $\mathcal M$  مثالي ايمن اعظم في  $\Re$  و  $\mathcal M$  . فإن  $\mathcal M$  مثالي معدوم القوى . مثالي معدوم القوى .

البرهان: نفترض أن  $\mathcal{M}$  مثالي ايمن اعظم في  $\mathcal{R}$  و  $\mathcal{M} \ni \sigma$ ، لذلك فإن  $(\mathcal{R}) \mathfrak{T} \ni \sigma \in \mathcal{O}$ . وبما ان  $\mathcal{R}$ تمثل حلقة من النمط - SSF. لذلك فأنه يوجد  $\mathcal{M} \ni \mathcal{A}$  بحيث ان  $b = b \sigma$  (حسب قضة مساعدة 2.1). نضرب طرفي المعادلة بـ  $\sigma^{n-1}$  نحصل على  $\sigma^n = b\sigma^n$  لبعض  $\mathcal{M}$  عدد صحيح موجب بما ان  $v(1-b)\sigma^n = \sigma^n$  فإن  $v \in \mathcal{R} \Rightarrow v \in \mathcal{R}$  بحيث ان  $\sigma^n = \sigma^n$ . يؤدي الى  $0 = \sigma^n$ . وهذا يعني بأن  $\mathcal{M}$  مثالي معدوم القوى  $\blacksquare$ 

الان نقدم العلاقة بين الحلقات من النمط - SSF والحلقات من النمط - SSF :

مبر هنـ 3.3 : لتكن  $\Re$  حلقة ، وأن  $\ell(\sigma) \supseteq \ell(\sigma)$  كل  $\ell(\Re) \in \mathcal{S} \in \mathcal{S}$  فإن  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط - SF إذا وفقط إذا كانت  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط - SF يمنى .

الان نعطى شرط اخر لكى تكون الحلقة من النمط - SSF حلقة من النمط - SR :

مبر هنة 2.4 : لتكن  $\Re$  حلقة ديو من النمط –  $\rtimes$  يمنى ،  $(\Re) \rtimes \supseteq (\Re)$  . فإن  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط -  $\Im \Re$  إذا وفقط إذا كانت  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط -  $\Im \Im S$  يمنى .

**البرهان :** نفترض أن  $(\Re) \cong \Im(\Re) \cong 0 \neq 0$ . نفترض بأن  $x \in \ell(\sigma)$  . بما ان  $\Re$  حلقة ديو من النمط –  $\Re$  يمنى ، وان  $\Re \sigma$  هو أي مثالي في  $\Re$  . وهذ يعني ان  $t = t \sigma$  لبعض  $\Re \in \Re$  . لذلك فإن  $x = xt \sigma$  ، يؤدي الى  $0 = xt \sigma = 0$  . وبهذا بر هنّا بإن  $\ell(\sigma)$  تمثل مثالي ايمن في  $\Re$  . وحسب ( مبر هنة 3.4 ، [4]) نحصل على أن  $\Re$  حلقة من النمط -  $\Re$  . بر هان العكس واضح من ( مبر هنة 3.4 ، ] [10]

قضية مساعدة 2.5 [6]: إذا كانت R حلقة مركزية مختزلة من النمط – 2 ، فإن R حلقة ابيلية ■

قضية 2.6 : لتكن R حلقة من النمط - XX . فإن R حلقة من النمط - XR إذا وفقط إذا كان كل مثالي ايمن اساسي في R يمثل مقاس مسط من النمط - S .

**البرهان :** نفترض أن كل مثالي ايمن الساسي في  $\Re$  يمثل مقاس مسطح من النمط -  $\mathfrak{F}$  . ونفترض بأن  $\mathfrak{R} \Rightarrow \sigma$  ، بحيث ان  $0 = 2^{\circ} \sigma$  . من الواضح بأن  $I \oplus \mathcal{R} \phi$  يكون مثالي ايمن اساسي في  $\Re$  ، بحيث ان I مثالي ايمن في  $\Re$  . بحيث ان  $0 = 2^{\circ} \sigma$  . من الواضح بأن  $I \oplus \mathcal{R} \phi$  يكون مثالي ايمن اساسي في  $\mathfrak{R}$  . بحيث ان I مثالي ايمن في  $\Re$  . إذا  $I \oplus \mathcal{R} \phi$  يمثل مقاس من النمط -  $\mathfrak{F}$  و حسب ( ايمن في  $\Re$  . إذا  $I \oplus \mathcal{R} \phi$  يمثل مقاس من النمط -  $\mathfrak{F}$  . لذلك فإن  $\mathfrak{R} \phi$  مقاس مسطح من النمط -  $\mathfrak{F}$  و حسب ( قضية مساعدة 1.1) م  $\mathfrak{R} \phi = \delta \sigma$  =  $\delta \sigma = \delta \sigma$  . وهذا يعني أن  $\mathfrak{R}$  حلقة من النمط -  $\mathfrak{R}$  . برهان العكس واضح  $\blacksquare$ 

الان نعطى التعريف التالي :

تعريف 2.7 : يقال للحلقة  $\Re$  بأنها حلقة من النمط -  $F S \Im F$  يمنى ( يسرى ) ، اذا كان كل مقاس ايمن ( ايسر ) منفر د بسيط يمثل مقاس مسطح من النمط -  $\Im$  .

مبر هنة 2.8 : إذا كانت R حلقة مركزية مختزلة من النمط – 2 ، ومحلية . . فإن R حلقة شبه اولية ، إذا كانت R حلقة من النمط - S S J F يمني

و عليه  $\mathfrak{R}$  حلقة شبه اولية  $\sigma=0$   $\mathfrak{C}=\mathfrak{C}$  و هذا تناقض ، لذلك فإن  $\sigma=0$  و عليه  $\mathfrak{R}$  حلقة شبه اولية  $\mathfrak{C}=\mathcal{M}$ 

مبر هنة 2.9 : لتكن  $\Re$  حلقة مركزية مختزلة من النمط – 2 ، وأن  $(\Re) lpha \supseteq (\Re)$  فإن العبارات الاتية متكافئة .

- 1 R حلقة من النمط RR .
- . يمنى S  $\Im$  F  $\mathfrak{S}$  يمنى  $\mathfrak{S}$  S  $\mathfrak{T}$  2
- 3 R حلقة من النمط SS JF يمنى .

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{lit}_{\mathbf{M}} \mathbf{A} = (1) \to (2) \to (2) \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{M}} \mathbf{A} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \mathbf{A} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hu}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hut}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hu}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A} \operatorname{hu}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hu}} \operatorname{hut}_{\mathbf{A}} \operatorname{hu}} \operatorname{hu}} \operatorname{hu}_$$

## المصادر

[1] H. Abdullah, K. Handan and U. Burev, On weak symmetric property of rings, Sou. Asian, Bull. of Math. Vol. 42 (2018), P. P. 31-40.

[2] D. M. Burton, A first course in rings and ideals, Addi. Wesly Pub.G, (1970).

[3] R. D. Mahmood and A. M. Abdul-Jabbar , On rings whose simple singular R-modules are flat , Raf. J. of Com. and Math. , Vol. 7 , No. 1 (2010) , P. P. 51 - 57 .

[4] R. D. Mahmood and K. J. Khider, SJF – rings, Inter. Math. Forum, Vol.15, No. 1 (2020), P. P. 41 – 46.

[5] ] R. D. Mahmood, On Weakly Regular rings and SSF-rings, Raf. J. of Comp. and Math., Vol. 3, No.1 (2006), P. P. 579-59.

[6] S. Nam and H. Kim, A note that on the generalization of central reduced rings, Global J. of pure and App. Math., Vol. 11, No. 6 (2015), P. P. 4563 – 4570.

[7] V. S. Ramamurthy, On the injectivity and flatness of certain cyclic modules, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., Vol. 48 (1975), P. P. 21 – 75.

[8] M. B. Rege, On Von Neumann regular ring and SF-ring, Math. Japonica, Vol. 31, No. 6 (1986), P. P. 927-936.

[9] J. Wei and L. Li, Nilpotent elements and reduced rings, Tur. J, Math., Vol. 35 ( 2011), P. P. 341 – 353.

[10] Y. Zhao and S. Zhou , On JPP-rings , JPF-rings and J-regular rings , Inter. Math. Forum , Vol. 6 , No.34 (2011), P. P. 1691 – 1696. تعميم مسألة البائع المتجول في در اسة مشكلة تصريف مياه الأمطار في مركز محافظة الديوانية لعام

# 2020-2019

## سعيد عبد الكاظم جوني

# مديرية تربية الديوانية

### saiedjhonnykh@gmail.com

#### ملخص البحث

تم في هذا البحث توظيف خوارزمية شبيه بتدفق المياه (In short, WFA) Water Flow-Like Algorithm) المقترحة المسألة البائع المتجول (In short, TSP) Traveling Salesman Problem) ، خوارزمية جديدة طرحت تعتمد على العمليات الأساسية في التهيئة، تدفق وجريان المياه، دمج التدفق، تبخر المياه وهطول الأمطار لحل مشكلة البائع المتجول (TSP) باعتبارها قائمة على مسألة الرسم البياني. التجارب أجريت على (60) منطقة ضمن مركز محافظة الديوانية وأخذ بيانات المنطقة عددها (12) باعتبارها قائمة على مسألة الرسم البياني. التجارب أجريت على (60) منطقة ضمن مركز محافظة الديوانية وأخذ بيانات المنطقة عددها (12)، حيث تمت مقارنة متوسط وقت حساب (WFA-TSP) مع نظام مستعمرة النحل (ACS). أظهرت النتائج التجريبية التي تم الحصول عليها أن (WFA) المقترحة لحل مسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) مع نظام مستعمرة النحل (20). أظهرت النتائج المولية التي تم وأن كفاءة (KFA) مع نظام مستعمرة النحل (MFA). أظهرت النتائج التجريبية التي تم وأن كفاءة (KFA) المقترحة لحل مسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) حلولاً أفضل ومن ثم الوصول إلى الحل الأمثال بسهولة وأن كفاءة (WFA) المقترحة لحل مسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) حلولاً أفضل ومن ثم الموسول إلى الحل الأمثال بسهولة وأن كفاءة (WFA) المقترحة لحل مسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) حلولاً أفضل ومن ثم الوصول إلى الحل الأمثال بسهولة وأن كفاءة (WFA) المقترحة لحل مسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) حلولاً أفضل ومن ثم الوصول إلى الحل الأمثال بسهولة وأن كفاءة (WFA) المقترحة لحل مسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) زادت الأداء وخضت الكلفة.

الكلمات المفتاحية : مسألة البائع المتجول، خوارزمية شبيه بتدفق المياه، نظام مستعمرة النمل، خوارزمية الجار الأقرب

#### المقدمة:

مسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) [1]، هي أحدى المسائل الكلاسيكية في الرياضيات وعلوم الحاسوب والتي تم تقديمها منذ سنوات عديدة بفرض أن لديك عددا من المدن عليك زيارتها، ولديك مسافة بين كل مدينتين، وتريد المرور بأقصر طريق يمر في كل هذه المدن بحيث لا تمر في المدينة ذاتها مرتين حيث تعود في النهاية الى المدينة التي انطلقت منها بالفعل، و بأقصر طريق و اقل تكلفة و زمن و لا تترك أي مدينة دون زيارة الشكل (1). إن مسألة إيجاد هكذا طريق تسمى بمسألة البائع المتجول (TSP)، يتم التعبير عنه كرسم بياني كامل مع مجموعة من القمم (vertices) وهو مجموعة من الحواف موزونة بالمسافة بين الذروتين (المدن)، للعثور على أقصر طريق من خلال زيارة كل مدينة بالضبط مرة واحدة والعودة للمدينة الأصلية ، ووصفت هذه الجولة بمخطط يعرف بدارة هاملتون (المان الأول في هذه الدارة ها الشكل (2)، حيث أن الرأس الأول في هذه الدارة هو الرأس الأخير.



ولطالما أثارت هذه المسألة اهتمام العديد من الباحثين كونها تعتبر من أحدى أهم المسائل في نظرية البيان (Graph Theory). في الأونة الأخيرة، تم اقتراح خوارزمية جديدة تعرف خوارزمي<sup>99</sup>شبيه بتدفق المياه (WFA) [2]، الخوارزمية مستوحاة من محاكاة السلوك الطبيعي لتدفق المياه من المستويات الأعلى الى الأدنى على سطح الأرض، حيث يمكن أن ينقسم التدفق الى عدة تدفقات فرعية عندما يمر بالتضاريس الوعرة وتندمج هذه التدفقات الفرعية عند وصولها الى نفس الموقع يحكمها الجاذبية مدفوعة بزخم المياه. سنتوقف التدفقات في مواقع ركود (مستويات منخفضة) أذا كان زخمهم لا يستطيع الزخم طرد المياه من الموقع الحالي. يمثل التدفق عامل الحل، ارتفاع التدفق يمثل وظيفة الهدف و مساحة الحل للمشكلة نتمثل في التضاريس الجغرافية. في عام 2010 ، تم تحسين (WFA) [3]، حيث أظهرت النتائج أن يتفوق على الهجين (الخوارزمية الجينية)(Hybrid Genetic Algorithm). (HGA)

### هدف البحث :

يهدف هذا البحث للمساهمة في دراسة توظيف خوارزمية شبيه بتدفق المياه (WFA) المقترحة لمسألة البائع المتجول (TSP) وتطبيق الدراسة على محطات تصريف مياه الأمطار ومساراتها و تحديدا في مركز محافظة الديوانية وأدى تطبيق الخوارزمية الى تقليل عدد التفر عات في مسألة البحث ومن ثم الوصول الى الحل الأمثل بيسر وسهولة. حيث أظهرت النتائج أن الخوارزمية المقترحة كان أداؤها أفضل من طرق القياس المستخدمة في خوارزمية مستعمرة النحل لأيجاد الحل.

## أهمية البحث :

ترجع أهمية البحث في كونه يستخدم في العديد من المسائل التطبيقية كونها امتداد لدراسات سابقة قدمها .Srour A وأخرون في عام (2014) [4]، حيث اتخذت العديد من السلوكيات الطبيعية لتدفق المياه.

## مواد وطرق البحث :

اعتمدت طرائق البحث على الاطلاع على العديد من المراجع العلمية والبحوث المنشورة والاستفادة من نشرات الأبحاث والمصادر البرمجية المفتوحة من الأنترنت بالإضافة لحصولنا على خرائط محددة ب (GIS) لمحطات تصريف مياه الأمطار لمركز محافظة الديوانية لعام 2020.

## النموذج الرياضي لمسألة (WFA-TSP) :

ليكن لدينا المعطيات التالية :

در اتکر ار	•	C
ـــ سرر.	•	u

- Wo : الكتلة الابتدائية للتدفق الأصلى.
  - i : كتلة التدفق : W<sub>i</sub>
- V<sub>0</sub> : السرعة الابتدائية للتدفق الأصلى.
  - *.i* : سرعة التدفق i
  - T : الزخم الأساسي.
- تدفق الحد الأعلى على عدد التدفقات الفرعية التي يمكن تنقسم :  $\overline{n}$

من التدفق

- i عدد التدفقات الفرعية المتفرعة من التدفق i.
- N : العدد الإجمالي لتدفقات المياه في التكرار الحالي.

: X<sub>i</sub> : الحل المقابل للتدفق

- الحل المقابل للتدفق الفرعي k الذي ينقسم من  $U_{ik}$ 
  - $_{i}$  : كتلة التدفق الفر عي k الذي ينقسم من التدفق  $_{i}$
  - μ<sub>ik</sub> : سر عة أنياب التدفق الفر عي k الذي ينقسم من التدفق i.

انخفاض الارتفاع من التدفق i الى التدفق الفر عي :  $\sigma_{ik}$  .

g : تسارع الجاذبية (التعجيل التسارعي).

t : عدد التكرارات الموصوفة حتى يتم إزالة التدفق . بالكامل عن طريق التبخر. تعتمد هذه الخوارزمية على العمليات الرئيسية للتهيئة، تقسيم التدفق وانتقاله، دمج التدفق، تبخر المياه و سقوط الأمطار وكما موضح في الشكل (4) حيث يتم تلخيص أفكار التصميم على النحو التالي:

تقسيم التدفق وعملية النقل:

من المفترض أن هناك تدفق مياه واحد فقط (وباتجاه واحد) لبدء (WFA) وأن موقعه يتم أنساؤه بشكل عشوائي مدفوع بزحم السوائل والطاقة الكامنة، حيث أن التدفق يبدأ بالانتقال الى المواقع الجديدة لاستكشاف مساحة الحل لحل جديدة وأفضل. يتم ذلك بإعطاء حلول ابتدائية باستخدام مفهوم خوارزمية الجار الأقرب (Narest Neighbor)، (NN) [5]، وتهيئة (Initialization) معلمات (WFA) ، G،

2. في (WFA) ينتج عن أجراء تقسيم التدفق لتدفقات فرعية ( Flow splitting and moving)، الشكل (3)، اذا كان لديهم قوة دفع كافية (زخم كافي)، حيث أن التدفق مع الزخم العلوي يولد تدفقات فرعية أكثر من التدفق السفلي .



الشكل (3)

3. العثور على أفضل حل مجاور لجميع التدفقات الفرعية باستخدام اجراء بحث جار (2-opt neighbor search)، أي بعد تنفيذ أو تهيئة تدفق لجميع التدفقات ذات السرع الغير صفرية الى مواقع جديدة باستخدام نقل العملية، حيث أن مواقع التدفقات الفرعية المدوقة الأصلي وألا فأنه يستمر كتيار باتجاه واحد نحو موقع أفضل جار للتدفق الأصلي.

4. من بعد حساب كتلة  $W_i$  وسرعة  $V_i$  جميع التدفقات الفرعية، فإذا كان N العدد الإجمالي لتدفقات المياه في التكرار الحالي فأن عدد التدفقات الفرعية  $n_i$  المتفرعة من التدفق i يتحدد بزخمها وفق العلاقة  $T_i = W_i V_i$ . التدفق مع زخم صفر يبقى حيث هو ويعتبر حل راكد. يمكن أن ينقسم التدفق الى تدفقات فرعية فقط عندما يتجاوز زخمه الزخم الأساسي T المحدد مسبقاً، أما اذا كان  $T < T_i < 0$  فأنه يستمر كتيار باتجاه واحد نحو موقع أفضل جار للتدفق الأصلي.

5. عند أي تكرار عدد التدفقات الفرعية المنقسمة منه يمكن الحصول عليها وفق العلاقة التالية:

$$n_{i} = min\{max\{1, int(\frac{T_{i}}{T})\}, \bar{n}\} ; i = 1, 2, ..., N$$
(1)

6. عندما ينقسم التدفق i الى تدفقات فرعية فأن كتلته الأصلية يتم توزيعها على التدفقات الفرعية وفق العلاقة التالية: 801

$$W_{ik} = \left(\frac{n_i + 1 - k}{\sum_{i=1}^{n_i} r}\right) W_i \; ; \; k = 1, 2, \dots, n_i \tag{2}$$

7. يتم حساب سرعة كل تدفق فرعى وفق العلاقة التالية:

$$\mu_{ik} = \begin{cases} \sqrt{V_i^2 + 2g\sigma_{ik}} ; & V_i^2 + 2g\sigma_{ik} \ge 0\\ 0 ; otherwise. \end{cases}$$
(3)

أذا كان المقدار  $V_i^2 + 2g\sigma_{ik} < 0$  فأن لا يوجد تحسن في الحل على المستوى الأمثل المحلي بدون تقسيم أو انتقال اللتدفق أي يبقى راكد.

عملية دمج التدفق:

 عندما ينتقل تدفقين أو أكثر لنفس الموقع فأنهم سيندمجون في تدفق واحد مع كتلة وزخم أكبر، وبالتالي فأن التدفق يشترك في نفس الموقع مع الأخرين في (WFA) . أذا كان التدفقان i و j يشتركان في نفس الشيء فأنه يتم تحديث الموقع والتدفق i ثم الكتلة والسرعة وفق العلاقات الاتية على التوالي:

 $W_i = W_i + W_j$ ; i, j = 1, 2, ..., N (4)

$$V_{i} = \frac{W_{i}V_{i} + W_{j}V_{j}}{W_{i} + W_{j}} ; \qquad i, j = 1, 2, ..., N$$
(5)

2. باستخدام عملية دمج التدفق، يقلل (WFA) من عدد عوامل الحل عندما تؤدي عوامل متعددة الى نفس قيمة الهدف ولتجنب عمليات البحث الزائدة.

- عملية تبخير المياه :
- من الطبيعي أن تتبخر المياه وتعود الى الأرض من خلال هطول الأمطار، حيث أن كل تدفق في (WFA) يخضع لتبخر المياه، حيث يتبخر جزء من المياه في الغلاف الجوي كما أن التدفق سيتم أز الته بالكامل بعد رقم تكرار محدد t .
   بمعنى يتم تقليل كتل التدفقات بو اسطة النسبة <sup>1</sup>/<sub>t</sub> التحقق كما موضح في المعادلة (6) في كل مرة يحدث التبخر.
  - $W_i = (1 \frac{1}{t}) W_i; \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., N$  (6)
    - من شروط التبخر، نقوم بأجراء عملية التبخر لكل تدفق.

عملية الترسيب:

عندما يتراكم بخار الماء الى حجم معين، فأنه سيعيد نفسه الى الأرض على شكل أمطار.

 في (WFA) الأصلي يتم تنفيذ نوعين من هطول الأمطار لمحاكاة الدورة الطبيعية للمياه هما هطول الأمطار القسري و وهطول الأمطار المنتظم.

3. يتم تنفيذ هطول الأمطار القسري عندما يتم أيقاف جميع التدفقات بدون سرعات، تحت هذه الظروف يتم فرض جميع التدفقات تنبخر في الجو ثم تعود الى الأرض دون تغير عدد التدفقات الحالية. ومع ذلك فأن مواقع هذه التدفقات الراجعة تنحرف بشكل عشوائي عن تلك الأصلية. يتم توزيع W<sub>0</sub><sup>8</sup>97 بشكل متناسب مع التدفقات بناءً على كتلتها الأصلية و بنفس السرعة الابتدائية. ونتيجة لذلك، يمكن تحديد الكتلة المعينة للتدفق *i* وفق العلاقة التالية :

$$W_{i}' = \left(\frac{W_{i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{N} W_{k}}\right) W_{0}; \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
(7)

4. يتم تنفيذ هطول الأمطار المنتظم بشكل دوري لإعادة المياه المتبخرة من مياه الأرض، حيث أنه في كل تكرار يتم تنفيذ العملية مرة واحدة للحصول على المياه المتبخرة. الكتلة المتراكمة من الماء المتبخر  $W_k = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} W_k$  التي تم تعينها لتدفقات الأرض تعطى وفق العلاقات التالية:

$$W_{i}' = \left(\frac{W_{i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{N} W_{k}}\right) W_{0} - \sum_{k=1}^{N} W_{k} ; \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
(8)

5. بعد اجراء اي نوع من هطول الأمطار، نتحقق مما أذا كانت الحلول الجديدة لها نفس القيمة، أذا كانت الإجابة بنعم، نقوم بأجراء الخطوة (2) من عملية نقسيم التدفق وعملية النقل.

نكرر الخطوات السابقة حتى تصبح حالة الأنهاء (Termination condition).



الشكل (4) العمليات الرئيسية ل (WFA-TSP)

التجارب و النتائج :

يتم تقييم اداء (WFA-TSP) المقترح بأجراء العديد من التجارب باستخدام المعيار القياسي ل (TSP)، حيث تتوفر مجموعة بيانات من (TSPLIB)، [6]. التجارب أجريت على (11) مجموعة بيانات لمركز مدينة الديوانية المؤلفة من (60) منطقة، حيث أن التجارب تقيس تكلفة الحل ووقت الحساب والتي يتم الحصول عليها من (10) دورات لكل منها مجموعة بيانات، مع (100) تكرار لكل تشغيل مستقل، مطلوب عدد من التكرارات للوصول الى أفضل حل. الحد الأدنى والمتوسط والانحراف المعياري ليتم حساب تكلفة الحل ل (10) دورات مستقلة. يتم حساب المسافة بين أي مدينتين باستخدام المسافة الاقليدية، كما تم تحديد متوسط التكلفة الحسابية. تمت مقارنة النتائج مع نظام مستعمرة النمل (ACS) [7]، أما إعدادات المعلمات ل (WFA-TSP) المختبرة يتبع نفس اعدادات المعلمات في [8]، وكما موضح في الجدول التالي:

Algorithm	Parameter	Value
	Base momentum T	20
	Initial mass $W_0$	8
WFA-TSP	Initial velocity $V_0$	5
_	Subflow number limit <del>n</del>	3
	Number of ants	10
	β	2
	ρ	0.1
ACS	$ au_0$	$1/nC^{n}$ , where <i>n</i> is the number of cities and $C^{n}$ is the nearest neighbor value
	ε	0.1

TABLE 2: Parameter settings.

جدول (1)

تظهر التجربة السابقة أن إعدادات المعلمات هذه حصلت على أفضل نتيجة.

# أداء (WFA-TSP) مقارنة مع (ACS):

هذا يتم تقديم نتائج المقارنة بين (ACS) و(WFA-TSP)، لمجموعات البيانات التي تتضمن مشاكل مع رقم المنطقة من حيث جودة الحل الأفضل، متوسط عدد التكرارات و وقت حساب الخوارزميات. كما يظهر الجدول (2) مقارنة بين (ACS) و (WFA-TSP) من حيث دقة الحل (بالنسبة المئوية) وانحراف الحل لمتوسط القيم بخصوص الحل الأفضل. يمثل (WFA-TSP) كيفية مفهوم السكان الديناميكي في (WFA) يؤثر على سلوك البحث عن الحل، حيث يساعد تغيير عدد التدفقات باستخدام تقسيم التدفق ودمجه تعيين حجم مناسب من السكان على طول عملية التحسين.

Distants	ACS						WFA-TSP							P-value		Improvement %		
DALASCO	Best	Worst	Mean	Std.	Avg. iteration	Avg. time	PDrg	Best	Worst	Меал	5td.	Avg. iteration	Avg. time	PD <sub>m</sub>	Time	Solution quality	Accuracy	Time
eil51	427	434	428.80	2.82	5133.5	1.11	0.66	426	427	426.40	0.52	939.5	0.22	0.09		0.027	0.56	79.8
.cil76	538	555	545.70	6.11	5327.1	2.13	1.43	538	538	538.00	0.00	1638.5	0.55	0.00	0.006	0.003	1.41	74.0
kroA100	21292	22255	21,585.60	311.51	4546.9	2.84	1.43	21282	21282	21,282.00	0.00	1057,7	0.56	0.00	0.001	0.013	1.81	80.2
cill01	638	651	642.30	3.65	5624.2	1.55	2.11	629	638	630.70	2.83	2648.8	1.23	0.27			1.26	65.2
bier127	118616	121876	119,965.10	1,134.08	5654.2	5.13	1,42	118282	118728	118,451.40	177.62	5616.9	3.56	0.14	0.092	0.003	2.06	30.6
ch130	6184	6447	6,263.00	19.22	6720.3	6.61	2.50	6110	6201	6,133.90	29.29	4892.1	3.45	0.39	0.011	0.004	1.23	47.8
ch150	6556	6756	6,623.50	59.13	7373.7	9.42	1,46	6528	6559	6,542.20	14.22	4204.4	3.53	0.22		0.001	2.04	62.5
kroA150	26886	27437	27,122,40	170.31	72173	9.33	2.26	26524	26719	26,568.40	58,45	4901.8	4.41	0.17		-	1.91	52.7
kroA200	29691	30556	30,011,90	295.79	7299.7	16.06	2.19	29368	29744	29,438.20	114.84	6774.9	9.81	0.24	0.001		2.69	38.8
lin318	43119	44089	43,666.10	313.43	8567.7	39.40	3.90	42278	42946	42,490.10	208.54	7695.3	23.18	1.10		-	2.06	41.1
14575	7198	7398	7,293.60	62.71	9712.4	151.50	7.69	6971	7042	7,000.80	21.73	9090.8	79.43	336			4.01	47.5

جدول (2)

ويمكن ملاحظة أن تعقيد (WFA) زاد مقارنة مع (ACS) وذلك بزيادة عدد المناطق.



# المستخلص:

في هذا البحث قدمنا خوارزمية (WFA-TSP)، والتي تختلف عن خوارزمية (TSP) الأساسية التي مجالها المقابل للمشكلة. وقد أظهرت الدراسة أن (WFA-TSP)، مناسب للحصول على حل جيد. كذلك يتضح لنا أن قوة (WFA-TSP) ، في اظهار وقت حساب سريع حيث يستخدم امكاناته لحل المشكلة التي تتعلق بوقت الحساب.

هنالك العديد من التحسينات المحتملة التي يمكن تقديمها بخصوص خوارزمية (WFA-TSP) ، خاصة تدفق المياه حيث يمكن تحسين اجراء عملية التقسيم والنقل باستخدام استراتيجيات بحث جار أفضل مثل (opt) و (opt).

#### الملحقات:

1. خارطة توضح شبكات ومحطات مياه الأمطار لمركز محافظة الديوانية (شعبة GIS) لعام 2019-2020 .



- [1] Lawler E., " The Traveling Salesman Problem ", A Guided Tour of Combinational Optimization, Wiley-Interstice Series in Discrete Math. Wiley, 1985.
- [2] Yang C. and Wang P., " Water Flow-Like algorithm for objet grouping problems ", J. of the institute of Industrial Engineers, Vol. 24, No. 6, 475-488, 2007.
- [3] Tai H. et al, "A water flow-like algorithm for manufacturing cell formation problems ", European Journal of Operational Research, Vol. 205, 346-360, 2010.
- [4] Srour A. et al, "A Water Flow-Like Algorithm for Traveling Salesman Problem ", Hindawi Publishing Corporation, Advance in Computer Engineering, 2014.
- [5] Kaur D. and Murugappan M., "Performance enhancement in solving traveling salesman problem using hybrid genetic algorithm ", Proceedings of Annual Meeting of the North American, Fuzzy Information Processing Society, 1-6, 2008.
- [6] Reinelt G., " TSPLIB: a traveling salesman problem library ", ORSA Journal on Computing, Vol. 3, No. 4, 376-384, 1991.
- [7] Dorigo M. et al, " Ant Colony System: a cooperative learning approach to the traveling salesman problem", IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary computation, Vol. 1, No. 1, 53-66, 1997.
- [8] Paun G. et al, "DNA Computing ", New Computing Paradigms, Berlin, Germany, 1998.

# كيف تفلت من جاذبية الأرض؟

علي حسن عبد الخالق و<sup>2</sup>ايمان سمير بهيه جامعة بابل/ كلية التربية للعلوم الصرفة <u>emanbhaya@itnet.uobabylon.edu.iqali.kufa94@gmail.com</u>

عندما تقفز في الهواء ستسقط مرتطما بالأرض . هذا لا يعني ان قوانين الطبيعة تمنعك من مغادرة الارض، لكن قفزتك لم تكن بالقوة الكافية لكي تجعلك تهرب من جاذبية الارض . لكي تقوم بذلك عليك ان تقفز بسرعة اكبر او تساوي سرعة الإفلات escape velocity للأرض والتي سنحسبها هنا.

يمكن حساب سرعة الإفلات كما يلي:

عندما تقفز في الهواء ستكون طاقتك الحركية kinetic energy هي:

$$E_k = \frac{1}{2}mv^2$$

حيث ان m هي کتلتك و v هي سر عتك.

اما الطاقة الكامنة potential energy التي سوف تواجهها نتيجة لقوة جذب الأرض لك هي

$$E_p = \frac{GMm}{r}$$

حيث m هي كتلتك و M كتلة الارض و r هو نصف قطر الارض.

كي تكون قادرا على الهروب من جاذبية الارض يجب ان تكون طاقتك الحركية E<sub>k</sub> اكبر او تساوي الطاقة الكامنة التي سوف تواجهها نتيجة قوة جذب الأرض لك ويمكن التعبير عن ذلك بشكل رياضياتي بالمتراجحه:

$$E_k \ge E_p$$

اي ان

$$\frac{1}{2}mv^2 \ge \frac{GMm}{r}$$

وبحل المتراجحه اعلاه يجب ان تكون سرعتك v اكبر من او تساوي 
$$\sqrt{\frac{GMm}{r}}$$
 أي ان



ان سرعة الافلات للأرض Earth's escape velocity هي اصغر سرعة تسمح للشيء بالافلات وسنرمز لها بالرمز

$$V_{Earth} = \sqrt{\frac{GMm}{r}}$$
(1)

الآن لدينا

لاحظ ان صيغة سرعة الافلات اعلاه لا تعتمد على كتلة الجسم، اي ان حاول الافلات مهما كانت كتلتك. وبالتالي نظريا نحتاج نفس سرعة الافلات للأرض و التي يحتاجها الفيل ايضا. تجدر الاشارة الى اننا في حساباتنا تجاهلنا تأثير مقاومة الهواء التي ستكون مختلفة بيننا وبين الفيل. بالإضافة الى ذلك اذا وصلت الى هذه السرعة العالية داخل الغلاف الجوي للأرض فانك سوف تحترق. ولتجنب ذلك فانه عليك او على الفيل ان تدخلا في مدار يكون فيه الغلاف الجوي ضعيف او معدوم، بعدها تسارع الى سرعة الافلات التي ستحتاجها للهروب من هذا المدار.

المصادر

تمت الاستعانة بمصادر الانترنيت

# How Can You Escape from Earth's Gravity?

Ali Hasan Abdul Khaleq and Eman S. Bhaya. University of Babylon,

College of Education for Pure Sciences. Mathematics Department.

, <sup>2</sup>emanbhaya@itnet.uobabylon.edu.iqali.kufa94@gmail.com

When you jump in the air, you will hit the ground. This does not mean that the laws of nature prevent you from leaving the Earth, but your jump was not strong enough to make you escape the Earth's gravity. To do this you have to jump more quickly or equal the escape velocity of the Earth, which we will calculate here.